Appalachian Studies Bibliography Cumulation 1994-2012

CONTENTS

Agriculture and Land Use	3
Appalachian Studies	21
Archaeology and Physical Anthropology	41
Architecture, Historic Buildings, Historic Sites	53
Arts and Crafts	67
Biography	87
Civil War, Military	95
Coal, Industry, Labor, Railroads, Transportation	129
Description and Travel, Recreation and Sports	213
Economic Conditions, Economic Development, Economic Policy, Poverty	256
Education	292
Environment, Geology, Natural History, Rivers, Parks	314
Ethnicity and Race, African Americans, Immigrants, Native Americans	356
Folklore	449
Frontier and Pioneer Life, Pre-Industrial Appalachia	471
Health and Medicine	502

Literature, Language, Dialect	522
Mass Media, Stereotypes	726
Migration, Population, Urban Appalachians	752
Music and Dance	763
Politics and Government	836
Religion	851
Social Conditions, Social Life and Customs	866
Women and Gender Studies	963
Dissertations	987

AGRICULTURE and LAND USE

Mountain farms, gardening, ginseng, absentee landowners

Adams, Alison O. 2011. "A Mess of Poke" [essay; photos; sound clip]. *Southern Spaces*, 17 October 2011. "Adams discusses perceptions of poke and her experiences preparing the dish." Recommended Resources include Harlan, Ky. Poke Sallet Festival. http://www.southernspaces.org/2011/mess-poke.

Addis, Clifton. 2010. "A Beekeeper's Tale." Student interview by Jeff Talley. *Foxfire Magazine* 44, no. 1-2 (Spring-Summer): 65-73. Beekeeping in Rabun Co., Georgia.

Alexander, Bill. 2011. "History on the Road: Asheville, North Carolina, and the Cradle of Forestry." *Forest History Today* 17 (Spring-Fall): 103-109.

Algeo, Katie. 1997. "The Rise of Tobacco as a Southern Appalachian Staple: Madison County, North Carolina" [1870s to present]. *Southeastern Geographer* 37 (May): 46-60.

Amberg, Rob. 1997. "Tobacco: '...You Had to Do Something to Live...': An Interview with Dellie Norton" [1899?-1993; Madison County, N.C.]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 1, ed. R. S. Brunk, 124-137. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services Inc.

Anderson, Annette. 2002. "Pittman Center, Tennessee: Planning with Citizens for Sustainable Development" [least developed gateway to Great Smoky Mountains]. In *Culture, Environment, and Conservation in the Appalachian South*, ed. B. Howell, 182-193. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Anderson, Belinda. 1999. "Going to the State Fair with the Tuckwillers: 'Something for Everybody'" [Greenbrier Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Summer): 30-39.

Atkins, Anna B. Shue. 1999. "She Didn't Go Sangin' Alone!" [Droop Mountain; herb gathering; reminiscence]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Fall): 27-29.

Ball, Donald B. 2007. "The History and Use of Tub Mills in Southern Appalachia" [traditional material culture; a small, vertical water mill with blades radiating outward; water flow strikes horizontally, not dropping vertically; diagrams, photos, references]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 63, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 3-55.

Ball, Donald B. 2008. "Notes on the Use of Tubmills in Southern Appalachia." *Material Culture* 40, no. 2: 1-20. Late 19-century transplantation from Europe.

Barnett, Janice Willis. 2011. "Getting Green at Celo" [1,200-acre tract in Yancy Co., N.C.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 20-22. Subsistence farming land trust founded in 1937 as a Utopian community.

Barringer, Felicity. 2005. "In Appalachia, Stalking the Wild Ginseng Gets Tougher" [declining harvests]. *New York Times*, 7 May, 10(A).

Bartemes, David W. 2001. "Don Bosco: Agricultural Education in Randolph County" [1950s reminiscences of a 500-acre vocational working farm and rural Catholic school run by priests]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Spring): 32-37.

Beeson, Lillian Poe. 2000. "Butchering as Ritual" [hog butchering; Barbour Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Winter): 58-61.

Berry, Wendell. 2003. "Going to Work" ["virtues of humility, reverence, proper scale, and good workmanship"]. In *The Essential Agrarian Reader: The Future of Culture, Community, and the Land*, ed. N. Wirzba, 259-266. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Berry, Wendell. 2003. "The Agrarian Standard." In *The Essential Agrarian Reader: The Future of Culture, Community, and the Land*, ed. N. Wirzba, 23-33. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Berry, Wendell. 2003. *Citizenship Papers* [19 essays]. Washington, D.C.: Shoemaker & Hoard. 189 pp.

Berry, Wendell. 2004. "A Citizen and a Native: An Interview with Wendell Berry" [on his Ky. farm]. Interview by Jim Minick. *Appalachian Journal* 31, no. 3-4 (Spring-Summer): 300-313.

Berry, Wendell. 2005. *The Way of Ignorance: And Other Essays*. Emeryville, Calif.: Shoemaker & Hoard. 180 pp.

Berry, Wendell. 2010. *Bringing It to the Table: On Farming and Food.* Introduction by Michael Pollan. Berkeley, Calif.: Counterpoint. 234 pp. Family farms, sustainable agriculture, and excerpts from his novels and stories.

Best, Bill. 1998. "Heirloom Beans" [merits of; 18 types characterized]. *Appalachian Heritage* 26 (Winter): 6-14.

Best, Bill. 1998. "Heirloom Tomatoes" [types, varieties, anecdotes]. *Appalachian Heritage* 26 (Fall): 19-29.

Best, Bill. 2000. "Returning to Sustainability in Appalachia" [insights; rules]. *Appalachian Heritage* 28 (Winter): 21-28.

Best, Bill. 2007. "Growing Greasy Cut-Shorts" [heirloom beans]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 75-77.

Best, Bill. 2010. "A Descent from the Beanstalk?" *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 28-29. In this allegory involving Jack and the Giant [corporations "San

Monto," "Agra Con," and "Gill Car," chauffeured by the Supreme Court], heirloom seed champion Bill Best takes aim at corporate farms, genetic modification of food, and pesticide use.

Best, Michael. 1998. "Sustainable Agriculture for Appalachia" [cultural, environmental, and financial factors]. *Appalachian Heritage* 26 (Fall): 30-33.

Best, Michael. 2000. "Direct Marketing Hogs in Southern Appalachia." *Appalachian Heritage* 28 (Fall): 13-17.

Best, Michael, and Curtis W. Wood, section editors. 2006. "Agriculture" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 396-439 (with introductory essay, 396-402). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Billings, Dwight, and Kathleen M. Blee. 1995. "Agriculture and Poverty in the Kentucky Mountains: Beech Creek, 1850-1910." In *Appalachia in the Making: The Mountain South in the Nineteenth Century*, ed. M. Pudup, D. Billings, and A. Waller, 233-269. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Birdsall, Stephen S. 2001. "Tobacco Farmers and Landscape Change in North Carolina's Old Belt Region." *Southeastern Geographer* 41 (May): 65-73.

Black, Jane. 2011. "Local Food Has Been No Easy Sell in Appalachia." *New York Times*, 27 June, 5(D). 1,323 words. Harvest Table restaurant, Meadowview, Va., buys only local produce, meat, and cheese.

Black, Kate. 2010. "Kentucky Garden Stories: Planting Resistance" [from interviews]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 16, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 122-130. The author confronts stereotypes and observes that vegetable gardeners "are center stage in an unfolding national drama about health, sustainability, and environmental and corporate responsibility."

Black, Kate. 2012. "Tom Collins: A Mother's Beans." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 4 (Fall): 90-92. Essay on a mountain gardener, Breathitt County, Ky.

Bourne, Joel. 2000. "On the Trail of the 'Sang Poachers" [ginseng]. *Audubon* 102 (March/April): 84-90.

Boyer, Jefferson C. 2006. "Reinventing the Appalachian Commons" *Social Analysis* 50, no. 3 (Winter): 217-232. Resource sharing and social reciprocity; from a forum on "The Global Idea of The Commons."

Brunn, Stanley D. 2001. "Citizen Reaction to a Proposed Time Zone Boundary Change in Kentucky: Juxtaposing Boundaries on the Land / In the Mind" [Wayne Co.]. *Southeastern Geographer* 41 (November): 246-258.

Buckley, Geoffrey L., Timothy G. Anderson, and Nancy R. Bain. 2000. "Living on the Fringe: A Geographic Profile of Appalachian Ohio." In A Geographic Perspective of Pittsburgh and the

Alleghenies: From Precambrian to Post-Industrial, ed. K. Patrick and J. Scarpaci, 140-147. Washington, D.C.: Association of American Geographers.

Campbell, Brian C. 2010. "'Closest to Everlastin': Ozark Agricultural Biodiversity and Subsistence Traditions" [online essay; photos]. *Southern Spaces*, 20 September. Contents: Introduction | The Biophysical Geography of the Ozark Highlands | Willodean: Ozark Subsistence Traditions in the Present | Corn (Zea Mays), an Ozark Staple | Agroecological Knowledge | The Future of Ozark Subsistence and Agricultural Biodiversity | Recommended Resources. http://www.southernspaces.org/2010/closest-everlastin-ozark-agricultural-biodiversity-and-subsistence-traditions.

Carlisle, Fred. 1999. "Mark Givens: The Last Full-Time Farmer in Clover Hollow" [Giles Co., Va.; profile]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 16 (Summer): 12-16.

Chesky, Anne. 2009. "Can Agritourism Save the Family Farm in Appalachia? A Study of Two Historic Family Farms in Valle Crucis, North Carolina." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 15, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 87-98.

Chesky, Anne. 2012. "Creating Community Connections: Saving an Historically Agrarian Town on the Cusp of Suburbanization" [Riceville Valley, near Asheville, N.C.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 18, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 220-233. Explores the ideological gaps between land-owning old-timers and newcomers who want to save the land from development.

Clayton, Richard R. 1995. *Marijuana in the "Third World": Appalachia, U.S.A.* Prepared for the United Nations Research Institute for Social Development, Geneva, and the United Nations University, Tokyo. Studies on the Impact of the Illegal Drug Trade, vol. 5. Boulder, Colo.: Lynn Rienner Publishers. 123 pp.

Coggeshall, John M. 2011. "Menace and Majesty: The Jocassee Gorges Region of Upper South Carolina." In *Museums and Memory: Selected Papers from the Annual Meeting of the Southern Anthropological Society, Staunton, Virginia, March, 2008*, ed. M. Huber, 167-179. Knoxville, Tenn.: Newfound Press. Cultural meaning of the land; wilderness vs. development.

Colyer, Dale. 2001. "Changes in Appalachian Agriculture: 1965-2000" [county outline maps; tables]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 7 (Fall): 349-374.

Cooke, David, and Christopher Porter. 2011. "Halting the Patterns of Loss: Grow Appalachia's First Season." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 25-28. Bountiful rural community gardening project, Growing Appalachia, began as a partnership between five Ky. nonprofit groups.

Copenhaver, Ben. 2010. "Ginseng: Digging for Treasure in Brooke County." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 3 (Fall): 59-61.

Copenheaver, Carolyn A., et al. 2007. "The Geography of Grist, Flour, and Saw Mills: Indicators of Land Use in Virginia" [Giles Co.; tables, maps]. *Southeastern Geographer* 47, no.

1 (May): 138-154. Eighteen grist and flour mills, and 26 saw mills identified; operated 1800-1950.

Core, Earl L. [1975] 1999. "Goldenseal" [medicinal herb]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Fall): 22-23. Reprint, originally published: vol. 1, no. 1.

Crawford, Martin. 1994. "Mountain Farmers and the Market Economy: Ashe County During the 1850s." *North Carolina Historical Review* 71 (October): 430-450.

Davis, Donald Edward. 2005. "Homeplace Geography" [West Chickamauga Valley roots, Catoosa Co., Ga.; family landmarks lost to modernization]. In *Crossroads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 4-13. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Davis, Emili. 1996. "Bob Massee: 'I Was Born in the Apple Business'." *Foxfire Magazine* 30 (Fall/Winter): 107-118. Rabun Co., Ga.; orchards.

Davis, Jenna, Howard Prater, and George Prater. 1999. "The Praters' Bees" [Rabun Co., Ga.; interview with beekeepers]. *Foxfire Magazine* 33 (Spring/Summer): 68-76.

Debats, Donald A. 2012. "A Republic of Maps: Presenting a View of the Citizenry" [Ky., 1879]. *Australasian Journal of American Studies* 31, no. 2 (December): 1-26. Land ownership maps; Garrard and Lincoln Counties, Ky.

Dickerson, Leah, Beth Shirley, and Laurence Holden. 1999. "Barker's Creek Grist Mill Revisited" [Rabun Co., Ga.; student interview with Holden who explains the milling process]. *Foxfire Magazine* 33 (Spring/Summer): 49-53.

Dolney, Timothy J. 2007. "Land Use Patterns and Their Proximity to Abandoned Mine Lands in the State of Pennsylvania" [30,000 AMLs; tables, maps]. *Pennsylvania Geographer* 45, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 80-98.

Donegia, Wayman A. 2007. "How We Fed Ourselves Back Then: Eating Well in Barbour County" [Depression-era, 40-acre family farm]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 2 (Summer): 26-31.

Duncan, Barbara R. 1997. "American Ginseng in Western North Carolina: A Cross-Cultural Examination" [Cherokee; European; Appalachian; African-American]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 1, ed. R. S. Brunk, 201-213. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services Inc.

Ellenberg, George B. 2007. *Mule South to Tractor South: Mules, Machines, and the Transformation of the Cotton South* [history of the mule]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 219 pp.

Engelhardt, Elizabeth. 2009. "The Henderson County Curb Market at Eighty-Five" [N.C.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25, no.1 (Spring/Summer): 20-23.

Enman, John A. 2009. "Pennsylvania County Borders: Plain and Fancy." *Pennsylvania Geographer* 47, no. 1 (Spring-Summer): 103-119. Natural feature determinants of county borders, 1798-1878.

Eskridge, Anna E., and Derek H. Alderman. 2010. "Alien Invaders, Plant Thugs, and the Southern Curse: Framing Kudzu as Environmental Other through Discourses of Fear." *Southeastern Geographer* 50, no. 1 (Spring): 110-129.

Eslinger, Ellen. 2009. "Farming on the Kentucky Frontier" [eighteenth-century; crops, livestock, diet, and farm implements]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 107, no. 1 (Winter): 3-32.

Falck, Zachary. 2010. "Keystone Cuisine: Mushrooms from Underground Farms" [Butler and Armstrong Cos.]. *Pennsylvania History* 93, no. 4 (Winter 2010-11): 9-11. The nation's largest single grower since the 1960s; "Moonlight Mushrooms" brand; grown in abandoned limestone mines.

Feather, Carl E. 2001. "A Fence Full of Apples: Espalier in Sistersville" [orchards]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Fall): 19-21.

Feather, Carl E. 2001. "Apple Royalty: Berkeley County's Miller Family" [apple orcharding history]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Fall): 6-13.

Feather, Carl E. 2001. "Heirloom Apples" [Raleigh Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Summer): 14-18.

Feather, Carl E. 2008. "Pressing Cider in Preston County." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 3 (Fall): 64-66. Old timers hand press 100 bushels of Golden Delicious and Stayman apples purchased in Romney. Newburg Rotary Club; 30-year tradition.

Feather, Carl E. 2010. "'Farmer Lessons' in Preston County." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 4 (Winter): 64-65. Farmsteading with neighbors' help and raising alpacas.

Feather, Carl E. 2010. "The Great Pumpkin of Preston County." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 3 (Fall): 66-67. State prize-winner, 1,021 pounds.

Feather, Carl E. 2011. "'We're Very Blessed': Sweet Life at Laurel Fork Farm" [Tucker Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 1 (Spring): 16-21. Eighteen years of homesteading and self-sufficiency on 175 acres.

Feather, Carl E. 2011. "Selling Daylilies in Bunker Hill" [Berkeley Co. nursery]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 2 (Summer): 66-67.

Ferleger, Louis A., and John D. Metz. 2006. "Goods, Chattels, Lands and Tenements': Probate and the Pattern of Material Culture in Three Upland Georgia Counties, 1880-1910" [Crawford, Franklin and Jackson Cos.]. *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 90, no. 4 (Winter): 525-546.

Filipiak, Jeffrey. 2011. "The Work of Local Culture: Wendell Berry and Communities as the Source of Farming Knowledge." *Agricultural History* 85, no. 2 (Spring): 174-194.

Fischer, Karin. 2009. "Notes from Academe: In Appalachia, a Researcher Makes Honey from Coal" [Eastern Ky.; beekeeping project on reclaimed mine sites]. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, 15 November. http://chronicle.com/article/In-Appalachia-a-Researcher/49141/?sid=wb&utm_source=wb&utm_medium=en.

Forestry in the South [six articles]. 2002. Guest editor, Don Voth. *Southern Rural Sociology* 18, no. 2: 1-131.

Garrett, Martin A., Jr. 1998. "Evidence on the Use of Oxen in the Postbellum South" [farming and timbering]. *Social Science History* 22 (Summer): 225-249.

Gerstell, Richard. 1998. *American Shad in the Susquehanna River Basin: A Three-Hundred Year History* [conservation and cultural history; Pa., N.Y., Md.]. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 217 pp.

Gervich, Curt D., Max Stephensen, Jr., and Marc J. Stern. 2012. "Exploring Producers', Staff Members', and Board Members' Cognitive Frame on Decision Making in an Appalachian Organic Farming Venture." *Journal of Rural Social Sciences* 27, no. 1: 52–83. Blue Ridge Sustainability Forum; Blue Mountain Organic Vegetables (BMOV). http://www.ag.auburn.edu/auxiliary/srsa/pages/TOCs/JRSS%20vol27-1.htm.

Grantham, Kelli. 1998. "The Butternut Tree" [fungal disease-threatened; interview with three forestry researchers]. *Foxfire Magazine* 32 (Spring/Summer): 10-16.

Gray, Elmer. 1999. "Preservation and Utilization of Appalachian Crop Germ Plasm" [case for Appalachian seed bank]. *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Fall): 35-43.

Gregg, Sara M. 2004. "Uncovering the Subsistence Economy in the Twentieth-Century South: Blue Ridge Mountain Farms" [challenges critical 1929 study; defends farmers' agricultural methods]. *Agricultural History* 78, no. 4 (Fall): 417-437.

Gregory, Michael M. 2002. "Exploring 250 Years of Land Use in Western Virginia: Viewing a Landscape through Artifacts, Documents, and Oral History" [Denmark community of Rockbridge Co.]. In *Culture, Environment, and Conservation in the Appalachian South*, ed. B. Howell, 60-81. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Groover, Mark D. 2003. An Archaeological Study of Rural Capitalism and Material Life: The Gibbs Farmstead in Southern Appalachia, 1790-1920 [Knox Co., Tenn.; four generations].

Contributions to Global Historical Archaeology. New York: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers. 320 pp.

Hahn, Steven. [1983] 2006. The Roots of Southern Populism: Yeoman Farmers and the Transformation of the Georgia Upcountry, 1850-1890. Rev. ed. New York: Oxford University Press. 354 pp.

Hall, James Baker, and Wendell Berry. 2004. *Tobacco Harvest: An Elegy* [duotone photographs, 1973 Henry Co., Ky.]. Photographs by James Baker Hall; essay by Wendell Berry. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 78 pp.

Halweil, Brian. 2003. "The Smoke Clears: Ex-Tobacco Farmers Kick the Habit and Go Organic." *E Magazine: The Environmental Magazine* 14 (July/August): 23-25.

Halweil, Brian. 2003. "This Old Barn, This New Money" [shift to organic crops by tobacco farmers; Appalachian Sustainable Development, nonprofit group]. *World Watch* 16 (July/August): 24-29.

Harless, Marion. 1999. "In Search of Wild Goldenseal" [yellowroot]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Fall): 24-26.

Harmon, Carolyn. 2007. "Tending the Herd in Jackson County: Mitzie Rival and Her Goats." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 2 (Summer): 32-37.

Hatch, Elvin. 2003. "Delivering the Goods: Cash, Subsistence Farms, and Identity in a Blue Ridge County in the 1930s" [N.C.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Spring): 6-47.

Henson, Zachary, and Conner Bailey. 2009. "CAFOs, Culture and Conflict on Sand Mountain: Framing Rights and Responsibilities in Appalachian Alabama" [Large Confined Animal Feed Operations]. *Southern Rural Sociology* 24, no. 1: 153-174. http://www.ag.auburn.edu/auxiliary/srsa/pages/TOCs/vol24-1.htm.

Herrin, Roberta. 2007. "The Husk of Wildness" [gathering ground cherries and digging potatoes]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 2-3.

Hillman, Jimmye S. 2012. *Hogs, Mules, and Yellow Dogs: Growing Up on a Mississippi Subsistence Farm* [b. 1923; Greene Co., southern Miss.]. Foreword by Robert Hass. Tucson: University of Arizona Press. 267 pp. Not Appalachian, but many parallels.

Hopkins, James F. [1951] 1998. A History of the Hemp Industry in Kentucky [1840s peak; updated bibliography]. Foreword by Thomas D. Clark. Reprint. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Hopp, Steven. 2008. "Tending Community: An Interview with Steven Hopp." Interview by Jim Minick. *Appalachian Heritage*, 36, no. 4 (Fall): 76-81. Hopp is the husband of Barbara

Kingsolver and co-author, with his wife and daughter, of the book *Animal*, *Vegetable*, *Miracle* (2007).

Hopp, Steven. 2009. "Invent Something Local': An Interview with Steven Hopp," by Jim Minick. *Appalachian Journal* 36, no. 3-4 (Spring-Summer): 200-214. Hopp, of Washington Co., Va., and husband of Barbara Kingsolver, has created the Meadowview Farmers' Guild to build a local economy network sourcing local food and products, as an alternative to corporate controlled, big box chain stores and restaurants.

Howell, Eck. 1998. "We Drove Cattle from Beverly to Osceola" [1930s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Summer): 51-55.

Hundley, Kathy O. Smith. 2004. "Guy Kelley: The Beekeeper of Bloomingrose" [Boone Co.; 55 years experience]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Summer): 38-45.

Huso, Deborah R. 2003. "The Taste of Earth" [in praise of Blue Ridge family farmlife]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 20 (Spring): 22-23.

Jarrell, Tracy Turner. 2011. "'Sheep!' Sheep Production in Watauga and Ashe Counties in North Carolina from the 1930s to Now." *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 4 (Summer): 362-407. Revised version of a paper that won the 2010 Carl Ross Award for best student essay from the Appalachian Studies Association; and includes additional research from her M.A. thesis.

Johannsen, Kristin L. 2002. "Root Rustlers" [ginseng; poaching]. *Mother Jones* 27 (July/August): 18.

Johannsen, Kristin. 2006. *Ginseng Dreams: The Secret World of America's Most Valuable Plant*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 215 pp.

Johnson, Mike, and Linda Johnson. 2012. "Secret Hidden Away in a Valley" [Ga.]. Interview by student Emily Thurmond. *Foxfire Magazine* 46, no. 1-2 (Spring/Summer): 2-10. Rabun County grist mill, now a bed and breakfast.

Joslin, Michael. 2007. "Sang Season: Digging Spirit-Frisking Ginseng" [93-year-old Joe Willis]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 57-60, and photo of ginseng laid out to dry, inside back cover.

Keller, Kenneth W. 2000. "The Wheat Trade on the Upper Potomac, 1800-1860" [western Va.; Md.; Pa.]. In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia, 1800-1900*, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 21-33. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Kight, Caitlin. 2011. "The Herbal Sage: Blending 'Green' Teas for Good Health, for the Environment, and for the Economy." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 42-43. Whole Foods supplier Herbal Sage Tea Company is based in southeastern Ohio.

Kilbourne, Carl G. 2000. "A New Sustainable Cash Crop for Mountain Farmers" [hardwood tree farming]. *Appalachian Heritage* 28 (Spring): 13-18.

Kingsolver, Barbara, with Steven L. Hopp and Camille Kingsolver. *Animal, Vegetable, Miracle: A Year of Food Life* [local growing; sustainable agriculture; Va.]. Drawings by Richard A. Houser. New York: HarperCollins. 370 pp.

Kingsolver, Barbara. 2003. "Foreword." In *The Essential Agrarian Reader: The Future of Culture, Community, and the Land*, ed. N. Wirzba, ix-xvii. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Koons, Kenneth E. 2000. "The Staple of Our Country': Wheat in the Regional Farm Economy of the Nineteenth-Century Valley of Virginia" [Shenandoah Valley]. In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia, 1800-1900*, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 3-20. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Lafferty, Patricia Black. 2001. "Obert Parsons: Boone County Apple Expert" [70-year-old; on planting, grafting, growing trees, and making apple butter]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Fall): 22-25.

LaLone, Mary B. 2008. "Running the Family Farm: Accommodation and Adaptation in an Appalachian Region." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 14, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 62-98. New River Valley of Va.; 1930s to present; oral history documentation; Census data tables.

LaLone, Mary B., Peg Wimmer, and Reva K. Spence, ed. 2003. *Appalachian Farming Life: Memories and Perspectives on Family Farming in Virginia's New River Valley* [30 oral history interviews]. Radford, Va.: Brightside Press. 428 pp.

Larsen, Torben Huus. 2010. Enduring Pastoral: Recycling the Middle Landscape Ideal in the Tennessee Valley. Architecture, Technology, Culture (series), no. 4. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Rodopi. 209 pp. Contents: The Museum of Appalachia and the pastoral simulacrum | Estates, trails, and national parks: early examples of the pastoralized space | A "machine-driven Arcadia": the TVA and the transformation of the Tennessee Valley: 1933 to 1942 | A breakdown of ideologies: the Tellico Dam and the Tennessee-Tombigbee Waterway | "You don't get that authenticity at Disney!": Dollywood, Jack Daniel's, and the emergence of the hyper-pastoral | Beyond the hyper-pastoral: a conclusion.

Lester, Connie L. 2006. *Up from the Mudsills of Hell: The Farmers' Alliance, Populism, and Progressive Agriculture in Tennessee, 1870-1915.* Athens: University of Georgia Press. 321 pp.

Link, Doris Lucas, David Brady, and Nancy Kate Givens. 2002. "Defending the Community: Citizen Involvement in Impact Assessment and Cultural Heritage Conservation" [Giles Co., Va.; fighting proposed power line route; cultural, genealogical attachment to place]. In *Culture*, *Environment, and Conservation in the Appalachian South*, ed. B. Howell, 137-152. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Liu, Zheng, Ron Fleming, Angelos Pagoulatos, and Wuyang Hu. 2010. "The Supply of Private Acreage for Public Recreational Use in Southern and Central Appalachia." *Growth and Change* 41, no. 4 (December): 540-555.

Lutts, Ralph H. 2004. "Like Manna From God: The American Chestnut Trade in Southwestern Virginia" [1900-1930; commons, blight, disappearance]. *Environmental History* 9 (July): 497-525.

Manget, Luke. 2012. "Sangin' in the Mountains: The Ginseng Economy of the Southern Appalachians, 1865-1900" [Cherokee Co., N.C.]. *Appalachian Journal* 40, no. 1-2 (Fall 2012/Winter 2013): 28-56.

Mannon, Anita G. 2001. *Work Horse Tales: Adventures in the Forests of Appalachia* [impressions of Suffolks trained for horselogging; Va. Blue Ridge]. Philadelphia: Xlibris. 114 pp.

Marion, Jeff Daniel. 2005. "Leaf by Leaf" [1960s memoir; measuring rural tobacco patches for the Agricultural Stabilization Control Office]. In *Crossroads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 54-66. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Marra, John L. 1997. "Ben Gravely's Garden Tractor" [story of Gravely Motor Plow and Cultivator Company, founded 1922, Dunbar, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Summer): 26-35.

McCaig, Donald. [2004] 2007. *A Useful Dog* [seven short pieces about working sheepdogs]. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 80 pp. Originally published: Carrollton, Oh.: Press on Scroll Road.

McDaniel, Lynda. 2001. "Growing for the Future: Appalachian Harvest" [Va.; Appalachian Sustainable Development; organic, value-added fruits, vegetables; forestry]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (September-December): 10-17.

McNeil, Robert B. 2005. "Old Deeds Tell a New Story" [18th- and 19th-century plats of Blacksburg, Va. compared]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 9: 43-54.

Miller, Char. 2012. "Neither Crooked Nor Shady: The Weeks Act, Theodore Roosevelt, and the Virtue of Eastern National Forests, 1899-1911." *Theodore Roosevelt Association Journal* 33, no. 4 (Fall): 15-24.

Miller, Daniel. 2008. "Using AquacultureAsa Post-Mining Land Use in West Virginia." *Mine Water and the Environment* 27, no. 2: 122-126

Miller, E. Willard. 2000. "The Evolution of Rural Villages in Western Pennsylvania." In A Geographic Perspective of Pittsburgh and the Alleghenies: From Precambrian to Post-

Industrial, ed. K. Patrick and J. Scarpaci, 125-132. Washington, D.C.: Association of American Geographers.

Millimet, Lisa Gray. 1997. "'All They Knew Was Pull and Get It': Daniel Richmond About Then and Now" [interview; training draft steer; homesteading in Raleigh Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Summer): 10-17.

Milnes, Gerald. [1984] 1999. "Boy, That Was a Fine Bean!': A Harvesttime Interview with an Old-Fashioned Gardener" [Ruby Morris, Braxton Co.; heirloom vegetables]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Fall): 10-17. Reprint, originally published vol. 10, no. 3.

Milnes, Gerald. [1984] 1999. "Seed Saving" [heirloom vegetables]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Fall): 18-20. Reprint, originally published: vol. 10, no. 3.

Minick, Jim. 2005. "A Citizen and a Native: An Interview with Wendell Berry." *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 3, no. 1 (Winter). Online at http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-1/view/Minick.htm. Reprinted from *Appalachian Journal* 31, no. 3-4: 300-313.

Minick, Jim. 2007. "Looking for Land" [Wythe Co., Va.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 29-31.

Minick, Jim. 2009. "New Religion" [Va., berry farm; growing "organic"]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25, no.1 (Spring/Summer): 87-88.

Minick, Jim. 2010. "Affinity." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 33-34. Excerpt from *The Blueberry Years: A Memoir of Farm and Family* (Thomas Dunne, 2010).

Minick, Jim. 2010. *The Blueberry Years: A Memoir of Farm and Family* [b. 1964]. New York: Thomas Dunne Books. 352 pp. Personal narrative of organic, pick-your-own blueberry farm challenges and blessings, Floyd Co., Va.

Mitcham, Robert. 2011. "From the Ground to the Jar" [Rabun Co., Ga.]. Interview by Jennifer Mitcham. *Foxfire Magazine* 45, no. 1-2 (Spring-Summer): 22-40. Biography of Jennifer's grandfather, Robert (b. 1943), who started the thriving family-owned and operated business Hillside Orchard Farms in 1983. See also: Alisha Argoe's interview with Robert's wife, "Hillside Stories with Patsy," 41-46.

Morrison, Charles M. 2010. "I Remember Chickens." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 1 (Spring): 18-23. Raising chickens on a 1950s Upshur Co. farm. Sidebar: "A Horse Called Fred," by Hobart Everson, 24-25 [1930s trick horse; horse drawn farming; Barbour Co.].

Mt. Pleasant, Jane. 1998. "The Three Sisters" [Native-American cropping systems in Appalachian N.Y.]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 25 (Spring): 26-29.

Napton, Darrell, Terry L. Sohl, and Roger F. Auch. 2003. "Land Use and Land Cover Change in the North Central Appalachians Ecoregion" [northern Pa., southern N.Y.]. *Pennsylvania Geographer* 41 (Fall/Winter): 46-66.

Nava, Margaret M. 2010. "City Slickers." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 30-31. Gardening trials of first-year homesteaders in 1978 W. Va.

Nickens, T. Edward. 2001. "Catching Bandits in the Smokies" [ginseng poachers]. *National Wildlife* 39 (February/March): 34-39.

Nolt, John. 2001. "Living Sustainably Appalachian Style" [East Tenn. family]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 18 (Winter): 3-6.

Olsen, Marty. 2008. "Shadows of the Past." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 2 (Summer): 50-57. Short photo essay of family farms in Lewis and Gilmer Counties.

Otey, James Armistead, and James Otey Hoge, Jr. 2002. "The Diaries of James Armistead Otey." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 6: 74-134. Diary entries from 1889-90 reflect the daily life of a farmer at Walnut Spring, near Blacksburg, Montgomery County, Va. See also: vol. 7 (2003): 77-134, "The Diaries of James Armistead Otey," which prints entries for the year 1909.

Parsonsk, Rachel. 2012. "Eat What You Are': Community-Supported Agriculture at Oakwyn Farms" [southern W. Va.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 52-53.

Perez, Karni R. 2006. Fishing for Gold: The Story of Alabama's Catfish Industry. Fire Ant Books. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 263 pp.

Peterson, Ronan K. 1995. "Sanging in Poplar, North Carolina: Zelotes Peterson, Ginseng Hunter." *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 42 (Winter-Spring): 53-61.

Pritts, Kim Derek. 1996. *Ginseng: How to Find, Grow, and Use America's Forest Gold*. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 160 pp.

Prunty, Merle C. [1961] 2010. "Idle Rural Land Phenomena in Madison County, Georgia." *Southeastern Geographer* 50, no. 1 (Spring): 5-14. Article reprinted for the journal's 50th anniversary (originally published, 1: 39-49), followed by "Commentary," by John Fraser Hart, 15-16.

Ramey, David. 2009. "Lessons from an Appalachian Stockyard: Coal Served as Dietary Supplement for Pigs." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25, no.1 (Spring/Summer): 42-44.

Rasmussen, Barbara. 1994. *Absentee Landowning and Exploitation in West Virginia*, 1760-1920. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 222 pp.

Ray, Janisse. 2012. *The Seed Underground: A Growing Revolution to Save Food*. White River Junction, Vt.: Chelsea Green. 217 pp. Heirloom seed saving and swapping. Ray is author of *Ecology of a Cracker Childhood* (1999).

Roberts, Katherine. 2009. "Sunday Dinner in Ritchie County" [preparation; produce; family farm]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 3 (Fall): 26-33.

Rotenstein, David S. 2010. "Model for the Nation: \$ale, Slaughter, and Processing at the East Liberty Stockyards" [1870s-90s; Pittsburgh]. *Pennsylvania History* 93, no. 4 (Winter 2010-11): 36-47.

Salatin, Joel. 2009. "'Anything Worth Doing...': An Interview with Joel Salatin," by Anne E. Chesky. *Appalachian Journal* 36, no. 3-4 (Spring-Summer): 228-241. Sustainable farming in Swoope, Va. Salatin "defends local food systems, small farms, and a farmer's right to work outside of the conventional food production system."

Salstrom, Paul. 2003. "The Neonatives: Back-to-the-Land in Appalachia's 1970's." *Appalachian Journal* 30 (Summer): 308-323.

Salstrom, Paul. 2007. From Pioneering to Persevering: Family Farming in Indiana to 1880. West Lafayette, Ind.: Purdue University Press. 208 pp. Relationships with Ky., Ohio Valley, and Ill.

Shambaugh, Helen Bradfield. 2001. "Apple Butter Time" [local history how-to; Morgan Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Fall): 26-29.

Smith, Barbara. 2011. "Randolph County Cattleman, Herman Isner" [92 years old; memoir]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 1 (Spring): 22-29.

Smith, Kimberly K. 2003. *Wendell Berry and the Agrarian Tradition: A Common Grace*. American Political Thought. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas. 270 pp.

Smith, R. T. 2006. "Singing 'Sang" [Editor's Note; on ginseng]. *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 56, no. 3 (Winter): 197-202.

Spears, James. 1996. "Of Mules and Men" [all about mules; bibliography]. Special issue, *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 58, no. 1: 1-45.

Stout, Lee. 2009. *Ice Cream U: The Story of the Nation's Most Successful Collegiate Creamery*. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Libraries. 63 pp. History of Penn State's Creamery and its role in the growth of the state's dairy business.

Strom, Claire. 2009. Making Catfish Bait Out of Government Boys: The Fight against Cattle Ticks and the Transformation of the Yeoman South. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 297

pp. Federal tick eradication program begun in 1906 and the economic struggle and violent resistance it engendered.

Stroud, Hubert B. 2007. "Problems Associated with Amenity-Based Subdivisions in the Poconos: The Case of Pike County, Pennsylvania" [rapid growth; a "suburb of the suburbs" of metro N.Y. and N.J.]. *Pennsylvania Geographer* 45, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 66-79.

Stryk, Suzanne. 2005. "Tobacco" [artist's reflections; Cozart Warehouse, Abingdon, Va.]. In *Crossroads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 50-53. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Stutler, Judith. 1997. "Randolph County Horsepower" [environmentally friendly logging with Percheron draft horses]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Summer): 18-19.

Sultana, Selima, and Joe Weber. 2007. "Journey-to-Work Patterns in the Age of Sprawl: Evidence from Two Midsize Southern Metropolitan Areas." [Birmingham and Tuscaloosa, Ala.]. *Professional Geographer* 59, no. 2 (May): 193-208.

Taylor, David A. 2006. *Ginseng, The Divine Root*. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 308 pp.

Taylor, David. 2002. "Getting to the Root of Ginseng" [W. Va.; health aspects]. *Smithsonian* 33 (July): 98-102.

Tevis, Jamie Griggs. 2001. "Tobacco" [reminiscences of cash crop tending; Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Winter): 12-15.

Thomas, Sarah. 2008. "Vitis Appalachia." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 12-16. Wineries in W. Va., Ky., Va., N.C., and Tenn.

Towers, George. 2010. "Rediscovering Rural Appalachian Communities with Historical GIS" [Summers County, W. Va.]. *Southeastern Geographer* 50, no. 1 (Spring): 58-82.

Towers, George. 2011. "Cultural Dasymetric Population Mapping with Historical GIS: A Case Study from the Southern Appalachians." *International Journal of Applied Geospatial Research* 2, no. 4 (October-December): 38-56.

Trachtman, Paul. 2005. "Wendell Berry" [profile of the farmer/poet; farming issues]. *Smithsonian* 36, no. 8 (November): 54-55.

Van Willigen, John, and Anne van Willigen. 2006. *Food and Everyday Life on Kentucky Family Farms*, 1920-1950 [FSA photographs]. Kentucky Remembered: An Oral History Series. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 260 pp.

Van Willigen, John, and Susan C. Eastwood. 1998. *Tobacco Culture: Farming Kentucky's Burley Belt* [Central Ky.; production steps, from oral histories]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 213 pp.

Veteto, James R., et al., ed. 2011. Place-Based Foods of Appalachia: From Rarity to Community Restoration and Market Recovery. College Park, Md.: Sustainable Agriculture Research and Education (SARE), and Renewing America's Food Traditions (RAFT). 34 pp. "The first-ever report of the status of 1,412 place-based heirloom foods in central and southern Appalachia," including lists of those varieties, their heirloom names, rarity, and geographic states. Contents: Apple-achia: the most diverse foodshed in the US, Canada and northern Mexico / James R. Veteto -- The serendipitous saga of rescuing the noble bean / Bill Best --Preserving the wild mountain Muscadines of Madison County [N.C.] / Chuck Blethen -- Nancy Hall [heirloom sweet potato variety]: respected elder boards the Ark / Doug Elliott -- Squeezing spitters and pippins: Foggy Ridge Cider, Dugspur, Virginia / Fred Sauceman -- Saving the past for the future: heirloom corns of Appalachia / Ira Wallace -- Wild spring greens keep the Cherokee connected to the Earth / Kevin Welch -- The best apple in the world can live in our memories and in our orchards [Virginia Beauty] / Ron Joyner -- Tom Brown's quest to save apples from extinction / Tom Brown -- Way down yonder [paw paws] / Doug Elliott. http://www.southernsare.org/Educational-Resources/Project-Products/Southern-SARE-Project-Products/Place-Based-Foods-of-Appalachia.

Veteto, James. 2008. "The History and Survival of Traditional Heirloom Vegetable Varieties in the Southern Appalachian Mountains of Western North Carolina." *Agriculture and Human Values* 25, no. 1 (January): 121-134. More than 134 varieties still being grown.

Walker, Melissa. 1998. "Farm Wives and Commercial Farming: The Case of Loudon County, Tennessee." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 57 (Spring/Summer): 42-61.

Walker, Melissa. 2000. "Culling the Men Out from the Boys: Concepts of Success in the Recollections of a Southern Farmer" [Depression-era Blount Co., Tenn.]. *Oral History Review* 27 (Summer/Fall): 1-18.

Walker, Melissa. 2006. *Southern Farmers and Their Stories: Memory and Meaning in Oral History* [from 475 interviews with 531 people in 14 Southern states]. New Directions in Southern History. Lexington, Ky.: University Press of Kentucky. 324 pp.

Walker, Mike. 2006. "Raising Calves in Monroe County" [Pickaway, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 1 (Spring): 44-49. Sidebar by Gene Bailey, "Grandma and the Gentleman" [i.e., bull, kept for breeding neighbors' cows during the 1930s and 40s for needed extra income, 50-51].

Ware, Mark D. 2006. *Spotza, Keelers, and Stirred Sugar* [maple sugaring history]. Somerset, Pa.: Historical and Genealogical Society of Somerset County. 150 pp.

Warren, Sarah T. 2005. "Public Interests in Private Property: Conflicts Over Wood Chip Mills in North Carolina" [forest policy; resource exploitation]. *Southern Rural Sociology* 19, no. 2: 114-131.

Way, Albert. 2004. "'A World Properly Put Together': Environmental Knowledge in Charles Frazier's *Cold Mountain*" [novel, 1997; film, 2003]. *Southern Cultures* 10, no. 4 (Winter): 33-54.

Whaley, Abe. 2005. "Once Unique, Soon a Place Like Any Other" [unregulated single-family housing construction on East Tenn. mountain tops]. *Newsweek*, 14 November, 13.

Wheelock, Perry Carpenter. 2007. Farming Along the Chesapeake and Ohio Canal, 1828-1971: A Study of Agricultural Sites in the C&O Canal National Historical Park [Western Md.]. Hagerstown, Md.: U.S. Dept. of Interior, National Park Service, Chesapeake & Ohio Canal National Historical Park. 121 pp.

Whitcomb, Robert, and Judith Whitcomb. 1998. "Mountain Cattle Drives" [1940s-50s Randolph Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Summer): 48-50.

White, John. 2003. "Early Life on the Nuzum Dairy Farm" [interview with Pauline Nuzum Burns, b. 1904; Harrison Co. family dairy]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Spring): 38-43.

Wildsmith, Dana. 2010. *Back to Abnormal: Surviving with an Old Farm in the New South* [essays; Barrow Co., Ga.]. Foreword by Fred Chappell. Louisville, Ky.: MotesBooks. 167 pp.

Williams, Charles E. 2008. "A Comparative Survey and Review of Agricultural Use of Post-Mining Landscapes in Pennsylvania and the Appalachian Region." *Pennsylvania Geographer* 46, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 22-45.

Wiltse, Charles M. 2012. *Prosperity Far Distant: The Journal of an Ohio Farmer*, 1933-1934 [Pike Co.]. Edited by Michael J. Birkner. Athens: Ohio University Press. 272 pp. "Fresh from receiving a doctorate from Cornell University in 1933, but unable to find work, Charles M. Wiltse joined his parents on the small farm they had recently purchased in southern Ohio. There, the Wiltses scratched out a living selling eggs, corn, and other farm goods at prices that were barely enough to keep the farm intact. In wry and often affecting prose, Wiltse recorded a year in the life of this quintessentially American place during the Great Depression."

Wirtz, Ann Greenleaf. 2010. *The Henderson County Curb Market: A Blue Ridge Heritage Since 1924*. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 172 pp. Farmers market, Hendersonville, N.C.; profiles of vendors.

Wirzba, Norman, ed. 2003. *The Essential Agrarian Reader: The Future of Culture, Community, and the Land*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 276 pp. Fifteen essays, several celebrating the 25th anniversary of the publication of Wendell Berry's *The Unsettling of America* (Sierra Club Books, 1977).

Woodside, Jane Harris. 2001. "Planting a New Industry in the North Carolina Mountains" [Graham Co.; using native plants, wildcrafting, as economic development strategy]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 18 (Winter): 7-10.

Wotring, Keith. 2008. "Water Witching in Preston County: A Visit with Keith Wotring" [b. 1926]. Interview by Donetta Sisler. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 1 (Spring): 54-59.

Yarnell, Susan L. 1998. *The Southern Appalachians: A History of the Landscape* [prehistory to 20th century]. General Technical Report SRS, no. 18. Asheville, N.C.: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 45 pp. http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/pubs/viewpub.jsp?index=331.

APPALACHIAN STUDIES

Broad studies, academic programs, bibliographies

Abramson, Rudy, and Jean Haskell, ed. 2006. *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 1832 pp. Weatherford Award winner for nonfiction. Thirty subject divisions; 2000 signed entries; 1000 writers (indexed); Table of Contents: Foreword / William Ferris -- An appreciation / Henry Louis Gates Jr. -- Guide for readers -- Introduction -- The landscape: Geology; Ecology; Environment -- The people: Family and community; Images and icons; Race, ethnicity, and identity; Settlement and migration; Urban Appalachian experience -- Work and the economy: Agriculture; Business, industry, and technology; Labor; Tourism; Transportation -- Cultural traditions: Architecture; Crafts; Folklore and folklife; Food and cooking; Humor; Language; Literature; Music; Performing arts; Religion; Sports and recreation; Visual arts -- Institutions: Cultural institutions; Education; Government; Health; Media.

Abramson, Rudy, and Jean Haskell, ed. 2006. "Introduction." In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, ixx-xxvii. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Alexander, J. Trent, and Chad Berry. 2010. "Who Is Appalachian?: Self-Reported Appalachian Ancestry in the 2000 Census." *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 1 (Fall): 46-54. Migrant identity; tables.

Anglin, Mary K. 2010. "Moving Forward: Gender and Globalization in/of Appalachian Studies." *Appalachian Journal* 37, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 268-285.

Appalachia by the Numbers [new column, last page of each issue]. 2007. *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 2 (Winter): 272. List of ironic statistics in the spirit of *Harper's Magazine*'s monthly "Harper's Index."

Appalachian High. 2010. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 1-72. "This issue…explores various interpretations…associated with the word 'high,' from…prescription drug abuse…to the adrenaline rush of jumping off a bridge in West Virginia…from raptor flight high overhead to…sugar 'high' after swigging a Mountain Dew."

Appalachian Journal Index, 1991-1996. 1996. Special issue, Appalachian Journal 23 (Summer): 352-479.

Appalachian Journal Index, 1996-2001. 2001. Special issue, Appalachian Journal 28 (Summer): 408-519.

Appalachian Journal Roundtable Discussion: A Conversation About Teaching Appalachian Studies. 2002. Introduction and Reflections by Sandra Hayslette & Chad Berry. "We're *All* Appalachian" by Mark Banker; "The Power of Stories" by Steve Fisher; "The Culture and the Classroom" by Roberta Herrin; "Appalachian Literature and Senior Learners" by Marianne Worthington; "The Education of a Sociologist of Appalachia" by Susan H. Ambler; "Hillbilly

Trinkets and Doodads" by Grace Toney Edwards; "Faith in Ourselves, Faith in Our Future" by Stephen D. Mooney. *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Summer): 416-441.

Appalachian Museums & Archives. 2000. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 17 (Winter): 1-40.

Appalachian Rivers, Lakes & Streams: A Region's Life Reflected in its Waters. 2001. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 18 (Spring): 1-44.

Baehr, Theodore, Jr., Mark V. Wetherington, and Michael Toomey, compilers. 2004. "A Topical Bibliography of Articles from The East Tennessee Historical Society's *Publications* 1-61 (1929-1989) and *The Journal of East Tennessee History* 62-74 (1990-2002)." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 75 (2003): 91-112.

Ballard, Sandra, and Edwin T. Arnold, ed. 2002. "A Festschrift Featuring Works Presented at a Symposium in Honor of J. W. Williamson, Editor of the *Appalachian Journal*, 1972-2000" [retiring, founding editor]. *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Fall 2001-Winter 2002): 1-272.

Ballard, Sandra L., ed. 2007. "A Special Issue on Appalachian Activism in Honor of Stephen L. Fisher." Appalachian Journal 34, no. 2 (Winter): 276-464. Essays, poetry, interview, and the following Activist Stories essays: "Plant Both Annuals and Perennials" by Nina Gregg and Doug Gamble -- "Buying, Eating, and Acting Locally" by Chad Berry -- "Separate Paths Lead to Just Connections" by Susan Ambler and Kathie Shiba -- "Peaks and Valleys" by Guy & Candie Carawan -- "Active Living" by Loyal Jones -- "Appalachian Stepchild to Child of Appalachia" by Bill Best -- "Letter to the Carnegie Foundation" by Richard A. Couto -- "The Class of '74: Appalachian Teachers' Workshop, Berea College" by Grace Toney Edwards -- "Crossing the Campus-Community Divide: New Trends in Research Collaboration" by Phil Obermiller --"Scholars and Activists in Cincinnati" by Michael E. Maloney -- "Inspiring Transformative Community-Based Learning" by Gordon B. McKinney -- "Living an Inspired Life: Teaching Social Activism" by Theresa L. Burriss -- "Common Causes" by Jeff Boyer -- "Thinking Back on Fighting Back" by Fran Ansley -- "Teaching and Community Work in Appalachia" by Chris Baker -- "Feminist Praxis" by Mary K. Anglin -- "Connecting the Academy and the Community" by Dwight B. Billings -- "Road Work" by Herb Reid -- "Reflections on Struggle" by Elizabeth C. Fine -- "The Work Poetry Can Do" by Diane Gilliam -- "The Mountaineer Queer Ponders His Risk-List" by Jeff Mann -- "Inspiration" by John Hennen -- "On Discovering Teachers: An Escape From the Classroom" by George Loveland -- "Chainsaw Activism; Or, a Chainsaw as an Activist's Tool" by Jim Minick -- "Serendipity and Strip Mining" by Chad Montrie -- "Getting Ready to Learn" by Guy Larry Osborne -- and "We're All Activists" by Melinda Bollar Wagner.

Banker, Mark T. 2010. Appalachians All: East Tennesseans and the Elusive History of an American Region. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 328 pp. "Appalachians All intertwines the histories of three communities—Knoxville with its urban life, Cades Cove with its farming, logging, and tourism legacies, and the Clearfork Valley with its coal production—to tell a larger story of East Tennessee and its inhabitants."

Barney, Sandra. 1997. "Coming to Terms with Northern Appalachia" [Pa.]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 14 (Winter): 8-10.

Beaver, Patricia D. 2010. "An Appalachian Odyssey: Interview with Patricia D. Beaver," by Bruce E. Stewart. *Appalachian Journal* 37, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 164-182, including selected bibliography of her books and articles, 181-182. Beaver (b. 1948) became the first director of the Center for Appalachian Studies, in 1979, at Appalachian State University.

Berry, Chad. 2000. "Upon What Will I Hang My Hat in the Future? Appalachia and Awaiting Post-Postmodernity" [directions for scholarship]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 6 no. 1-2 (Spring/Fall): 121-130.

Best, Bill, comp, ed. [1997] 2000. *One Hundred Years of Appalachian Visions, 1897-1996*. 2nd ed. Berea, Ky.: Appalachian Imprints. 233 pp. Selected essays, articles, and poems of 57 writers reflecting on Appalachian identity.

Best, Bill. [1973] 1999. From Existence to Essence: A Conceptual and Mythological Model for an Appalachian Studies Curriculum. Berea, Ky.: Appalachian Imprints. 148 pp. Reprints the author's Ed.D. thesis, University of Massachusetts, plus results of a 1966 follow-up study.

Best, Bill. 2011. "Remembering the First Appalachian Studies Conference, October 1970." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 54-57. Clinch Valley College, Wise, Va., sponsored by the Council of the Southern Mountains, planned by Bill Best. Plus Project Torchlight, Upward Bound, Appalachian Volunteers, and evolution of – and resistance to – Appalachian Studies at Berea College and locally.

Bial, Raymond. 1997. *Mist Over the Mountains: Appalachia and Its People* [children's literature; photographs]. Boston: Houghton Mifflin. 48 pp.

Biggers, Jeff. 2006. *The United States of Appalachia: How Southern Mountaineers Brought Independence, Culture, and Enlightenment to America*. New York: Shoemaker & Hoard. 238 pp. Chapters: Rank strangers | The trail of words | The first Washington, D.C. | Down from the mountain | The emancipators | All the news that's fit to print | The great American industrial saga | We shall overcome.

Billings, Dwight B., Mary Beth Pudup, and Altina Waller. 1995. "Taking Exception with Exceptionalism: The Emergence and Transformation of Historical Studies of Appalachia." In *Appalachia in the Making: The Mountain South in the Nineteenth Century*, ed. M. Pudup, D. Billings, and A. Waller, 1-24. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Billings, Dwight B., Chad Berry, and John C. Inscoe. 2002. "Three Responses to Larry Griffin and Ashley Thompson" ["Appalachia and the South: Collective Memory, Identity, and Representation." *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Spring): 296-327]: "Insularity, Advocacy, and Postmodernism in Appalachian Studies" by Dwight B. Billings; "Looking for Common Ground" by Chad Berry; and "Encouraging Cross-Pollination" by John C. Inscoe. *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Spring): 328-340.

Billings, Dwight. 2003. "Practicing Sociology in Appalachia: Interview with Dwight Billings." Interview by Caroline E. Knight, Sarah Poteete, Amy Sparrow, and Jessica C. Wrye. *Appalachian Journal* 30 (Winter-Spring): 164-180.

Billings, Dwight B. 2004. "Appalachia." In *Poverty in the United States: An Encyclopedia of History, Politics, and Policy*, ed. G. Mink, and A. O'Connor, 93-97. Santa Barbara, Calif.: ABC-CLIO.

Billings, Dwight B. 2007. "Appalachian Studies and the Sociology of Appalachia." Chap. 44 in 21st Century Sociology: A Reference Handbook, Vol. 2, ed. C. Bryant and D. Peck, 390-396 -- bibliographic references, 543-546. Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage.

Billings, Dwight. 2009. "Writing Appalachia: Old Ways, New Ways, and WVU Ways." Introduction in *Culture, Class, and Politics in Modern Appalachia: Essays in Honor of Ronald L. Lewis*, ed. J. Egolf, K. Fones-Wolf, and L. Martin, 1-28. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. Paper first given as keynote lecture at 2007 WVU conference, "Transforming Appalachian Scholarship."

Birdsall, Stephen S., and others, ed. 2009. "Appalachia and the Ozarks" [textbook overview]. Chap. 8. In *Regional Landscapes of the United States and Canada*, 7th ed., 145-163. Hoboken, N.J.: J. Wiley. Maps, tables, review questions.

Blaustein, Richard. 1998. Review essay of *One Hundred Years of Appalachian Visions, 1897-1996*, by Bill Best (Berea, Ky.: Appalachian Imprints, 1997). *Appalachian Journal* 25 (Winter): 186-196.

Bolgiano, Chris. 2011. "On Becoming Appalachian" [op-ed essay]. *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 2-3 (Winter/Spring): 164-168. "...can someone who is not from this region become Appalachian?"

Brodsky, Marc, and Gene Hyde. 2012. "Surviving the Downturn: Challenges Faced by Appalachian Regional Collections during a Time of Reduced Resources." *Journal of Archival Organization* 10, no. 3-4 (July): 165-190. Interviews with directors of 13 archival repositories at state universities and private colleges in the Appalachian region.

Bronner, Simon J. 2006. *Encyclopedia of American Folklife*. 4 vols. Armonk, N.Y.: M.E. Sharpe. 350 entries including the following: Allegheny Region -- Appalachia -- Banjo -- Baptists, Old Regular -- Barns -- Baskets and Basketry -- Blue Ridge -- Bluegrass Music -- Cincinatti -- Cockfighting -- Death and Funerals -- Ethnic and Immigrant Folklife -- Family -- Folk Art -- Folk Festivals -- Folk Music and Song -- Folk Society -- Folk Speech and Language -- Folklife and Folk Culture -- Folklife Organizations -- Folklore -- Folklorists -- Foodways -- Gay Communities -- Gospel Music -- Gravemarkers -- Healing and Medicine -- Healing, Faith -- Hillbilly -- Humor -- Hunting -- Ku Klux Klan -- Landscape -- Legends -- Lumbering -- Lutherans -- Märchen -- Medicine, Folk -- Memorial Day -- Miners, Anthracite -- Miners, Bituminous -- Northern Appalachian Region -- Old-Time Music -- Oral and Folk History --

Ozarks – Pennsylvania Culture Region -- Pentecostals -- Pittsburgh -- Pottery – Prisoners -- Psychobilly -- Public Folklife -- Quilting -- Railroaders -- Region -- Religion -- Rugs and Rug Making -- Scottish Communities -- Shakers -- Shenandoah Valley Region -- Snake Handling Sects -- Southeastern Indians -- Steelworkers -- Storytelling -- Unions -- Urban Folklife -- Women -- Wood.

Brown, Jo. B., comp. 1995. "Annual Bibliography, 1994." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 1 (Fall): 121-134.

Brown, Jo. B., comp. 1996. "Annual Bibliography, 1995." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Spring): 159-177.

Brown, Jo. B., comp. 1997. "Annual Bibliography, 1996." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 3 (Spring): 99-122.

Brown, Jo. B., comp. 1998. "Annual Bibliography, 1997." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 4 (Spring): 115-152.

Brown, Jo. B., comp. 1999. "Annual Bibliography, 1998." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 5 (Spring): 77-113.

Brown, Jo. B., comp. 2000. "Annual Bibliography, 1999." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 6 no. 1-2 (Spring/Fall): 172-208.

Brown, Jo. B., comp. 2001. "Annual Bibliography, 2000." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 7 (Spring): 104-143.

Brown, Jo. B., comp. 2002. "Annual Bibliography, 2001." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Spring): 168-213.

Brown, Jo. B., comp. 2003. "Annual Bibliography, 2002." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Spring): 147-215.

Brown, Jo. B., comp. 2004. "Annual Bibliography, 2003." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10 (Spring/Fall): 167-200.

Brown, Jo. B., comp. 2005. "Annual Bibliography, 2004." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 11, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 243-278.

Brown, Jo. B., comp. 2007. "Annual Bibliography, 2005." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 13, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 167-210.

Brown, Jo. B., comp. 2007. "Annual Bibliography, 2006." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 13, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 211-254.

Brown, Jo. B., comp. 2008. "Annual Bibliography, 2007." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 14, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 174-218.

Brown, Jo. B., comp. 2009. "Annual Bibliography, 2008." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 15, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 155-194.

Brown, Jo. B., comp. 2010. "Annual Bibliography, 2009." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 16, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 156-199.

Brown, Jo. B., comp. 2011. "Annual Bibliography, 2010." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 17, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 214-256.

Brown, Jo. B., comp. 2012. "Annual Bibliography, 2011." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 18, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 244-300.

Brown, Logan, Theresa Burchett-Anderson, Donavan Cain, and Jinny Turman Deal, with Howard Dorgan. 2003. "Where Have We Been? Where Are We Going? A History of the Appalachian Studies Association" [with responses by Richard B. Drake, 86-87; Howard Dorgan, 88-90; Phillip J. Obermiller, 90-92]. *Appalachian Journal* 31 (Fall): 30-92.

Bryant, Ron D., comp. 2000. *Kentucky History: An Annotated Bibliography*. Bibliographies of the States of the United States, no. 9. Westport, Conn.: Greenwood Press. 553 pp.

Burch, John R., comp. 2009. *The Bibliography of Appalachia: More Than 4,700 Books, Articles, Monographs and Dissertations, Topically Arranged and Indexed.* Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 25. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 222 pp. Divided into twenty-four topical areas, with separate author and subject indexes.

Burriss, Theresa L., and Steven Salaita. 2008. "Q&A: Appalachian Inside and Out." *Pluck: The Journal of Affrilachian Arts & Culture*, no. 3: 24-30. East Tennessean Burris and Virginian (child of Middle Eastern parents) Salaita discuss cultural identity.

Campbell, John C. [1921, 1969] 2004. *The Southern Highlander & His Homeland* [seminal cultural study]. Foreword by Rupert B. Vance; Introduction by Henry D. Shapiro. Reprint. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 405 pp. Originally published: New York: Russell Sage Foundation. 405 pp.

Campbell, Olive Dame. 2012. *Appalachian Travels: The Diary of Olive Dame Campbell* [1882-1954]. Edited by Elizabeth McCutchen Williams. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 294 pp. "In 1908 and 1909, noted social reformer and 'songcatcher' Olive Dame Campbell traveled with her husband, John C. Campbell [author of *The Southern Highlander and His Homeland* (1921)], through the Southern Highlands region of Appalachia to survey the social and economic conditions....*Appalachian Travels* offers an invaluable account of mountain society at the turn of the twentieth century." Contents: October 1908: Virginia, Tennessee, North Carolina, Georgia | November 1908: Tennessee and Kentucky | December 1908: Kentucky

| January 1909: Kentucky and Tennessee | February 1909: Tennessee | March 1909: North Carolina | Appendix: Publications by Olive Dame Campbell | Glossary.

Celebrating Appalachian Institutions. 2006. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 1-72.

Center for Appalachian Studies and Services: Celebrating 20 Years. 2003. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 20, no. 2-3 (Summer/Winter): 38-56. Essays in tribute to ETSU's CASS in this possibly final issue of the Center's journal, by Ted Olson, Arthur H. DeRosier Jr., Richard Blaustein, Patricia Beaver, Jack Higgs, Jean Haskell, Phil Leonard, Christina Tortora and Judy B. Bernstein, Kathleen Curtis Wilson, Richard M. Kesner, Norma Myers, Jackson A. Berea, Jill Oxendine, Thomas G. Burton, Margaret A. Mackay, and Jack Tottle.

Center for Virtual Appalachia [website]. 2001. Provided by The Institute for Regional Analysis and Public Policy, Morehead State University, Morehead, Ky. Extensive website includes search engine, maps, news, and six major headers: Overview of Appalachia; People and Culture; Data Sources; Landscape and Environment; Appalachia on the Web; Explore the CVA Site. http://cva.morehead-st.edu/index.html.

Chase, Nan K. 2007. *Asheville: A History* [N.C.]. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 19. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 281 pp.

Commemorating 30 Years of Service to the People of Appalachia. 1995. Special issue, *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 28 (Winter/Spring): 1-80.

Conner, Tiffani R. 2009. "Building and Maintaining a Statewide Digital Library." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 81: 58-66. Digitized primary source material from Tenn. archives searchable by topic, era, county, and institution. http://www.volunteervoices.org/.

Conway, Cecelia. 2002. "Appalachia" [definition, overview]. In *The Companion to Southern Literature: Themes, Genres, Places, People, Movements, and Motifs*, ed. J. Flora and L. Mackethan, 39-43. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Cooper, Christopher A., H. Gibbs Knotts, and Katy L. Elders. 2011. "A Geography of Appalachian Identity." *Southeastern Geographer* 51, no. 3 (Fall): 457-472. Map, tables. "Our measure...is based on the relative number of businesses in a city that include the word 'Appalachian' in their name....We also...determine that poverty level, percent Black, elevation, and population density," are predictors.

Cooper, Christopher, Gibbs Knotts, and Don Livingston. 2010. "Appalachian Identity and Policy Opinions" ["Many...in Appalachia do not identify with the region"]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 16, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 26-41. Appalachian identifiers are older, have lived in the region a larger portion of their lives, are more highly educated, and their identity "is strongly related to opinions on growth and development policies." Tables, charts, and appendix (survey questions).

Copely, Rich. 2010. "'The Grandfather of Appalachian Studies' Receives Honor" [Loyal Jones]. *Lexington Herald-Leader*, 24 October. 1,264 words. "Retired Berea College professor…Loyal Jones will receive the Governor's Awards in the Arts Folklife Heritage Award this week."

http://www.kentucky.com/entertainment/music-news-reviews/article44056725.html/.

Cunningham, Rodger. 1996. "Post the Lost Past: Malcolm Chapman's *The Celts: The Construction of a Myth*" [St. Martin's Press, 1992; review essay]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Fall): 263-276.

Cunningham, Rodger. 2003. "Appalachian Studies among the Posts" [modernism, structuralism, colonialism; 25 years of Appalachian Studies began with Henry Shapiro's *Appalachia on Our Mind* (1978)]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Fall): 377-386.

Dickinson, W. Calvin, and Eloise R. Hitchcock, ed. 1999. *A Bibliography of Tennessee History, 1973-1996*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 453 pp. Arranged by county and historical period.

Digital Library of Appalachia. 2007. The DLA database includes photographs, manuscripts, diaries, letters, articles, music and oral history recordings drawn from library special collections of the Appalachian College Association, a consortium of 35 small, private, liberal arts colleges in the Central Appalachia Region. http://www.aca-dla.org/.

Dirlik, Arif. 2002. "Civic Scholarship: Comments on 'Appalachia As a Global Region: Toward Critical Regionalism and Civic Professionalism" [by Herbert Reid and Betsy Taylor, *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Spring 2002): 9-32]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Spring 2002): 33-41.

Drake, Richard B. 2000. "Appalachian Notes and Appalachian Studies: A Memoir" [quarterly journal, 1973-1985]. Appalachian Heritage 28 (Fall): 19-23.

Drake, Richard B. 2000. "Early Interpreters of Appalachian Culture" [Who's who list of scholars]. *Appalachian Heritage* 28 (Winter): 5-7.

Drake, Richard B. 2001. *A History of Appalachia*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 304 pp. Comprehensive history.

Drake, Richard. 1996. Reviews of *Appalachia in the Making: The Mountain South in the Nineteenth Century*, ed. M. Pudup, D. Billings, and A. Waller (University of North Carolina Press, 1995), and *The First Frontier: Transition to Capitalism in Southern Appalachia*, by Wilma A. Dunaway (University of North Carolina Press, 1996). *Appalachian Heritage* 24 (Summer): 54-62.

Dunaway, Wilma. 2004. "Revisionist With a Cause: Interview With Wilma Dunaway." By Erin Casto, Sara E. Harris, Eddie Huffman, Melanie Keyes, Sharon Price, and Paul Robertson, with Patricia Beaver. *Appalachian Journal* 31 (Winter): 166-191.

e-WV: The West Virginia Encyclopedia [2000 articles online]. 2010. Charleston: West Virginia Humanities Council. Based on the *West Virginia Encyclopedia* (2006); includes tabs for Browse by Category, Index A-Z, Events, Exhibits, Features, See WV, plus video and audio clips, interactive maps, and a 12,000-item time line. http://www.wvencyclopedia.org/.

Edgar, Walter B., ed. 2006. *The South Carolina Encyclopedia* [1,927 entries by 598 contributors]. A Project of the Humanities Council SC. Columbia, S.C.: University of South Carolina Press. 1077 pp.

Edwards, Grace Toney, JoAnn Aust Asbury, and Ricky L. Cox, ed. 2006. *A Handbook to Appalachia: An Introduction to the Region*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 296 pp. Primer; 12 separately-authored chapters, each with "Suggested Readings" list: History, People, Natural Resources, Economics, Politics, Health Care, Education, Folklife, Literature, Religion, Visual Arts, Appalachians Outside the Region.

Eller, Ronald D. 2004. "Night Comes to the Cumberlands: A Biography of a Depressed Area, Harry Monroe Caudill" [1963 landmark study]. In Poverty in the United States: An Encyclopedia of History, Politics, and Policy, ed. G. Mink, and A. O'Connor, 507-508. Santa Barbara, Calif.: ABC-CLIO.

Engaging Appalachia [theme]. 2012. Special issue, *Prism: A Journal of Regional Engagement*, vol. 1, no. 1 (Spring): 1-79. Edited by Joe Gershtenson; published by Eastern Kentucky University Libraries, Richmond, Ky. This inaugural issue features seven articles from nineteen authors.

Evans, Mari-Lynn, Holly George-Warren, and Robert Santelli, ed. 2004. The Appalachians: America's First and Last Frontier. New York: Random House. 255 pp. Profusely illustrated historical portrait in 30 brief chapters, and companion volume to three-hour PBS documentary: Part 1. The first frontier -- The land / Bill Richardson -- The landscape of the Southern Appalachians / T. Addison Richards -- Wild thing: the Joyce Kilmer Memorial Forest / Ted Olson -- The mountain melting pot: Appalachia's diverse ethnic and racial groups / Ted Olson --Appalachia's Scots-Irish ancestry / John Trew -- The Civil War in Appalachia / Gordon B. McKinney -- Storytelling in Appalachia / Judy Prozzillo Byers -- Part 2. Feuds, coal, white lightning, and good ol' mountain music -- The Great Mountain Feud / Tom Robertson --Appalachian myths and the legacy of coal / Ronald L. Lewis -- Moonshine on the mountain / Tom Robertson -- The Bristol sessions / Charles Wolfe -- The story of my family: the Carter family / Rita Forrester -- Falling in love with the Carters / Johnny Cash -- Part 3. Boom or bust --A hillbilly timeline / Holly George-Warren -- Discoveries of the people: an introduction to the music of Appalachia / Paul Burch -- A West Virginia life / Robert C. Byrd -- Blue Kentucky girl / Martha Hume -- Readin', writin', and Route 21: the road from West Virginia to Ohio / David Giffels -- My West Virginia / Alan B. Mollohan -- Part 4. Memories: keeping the spirit in the modern world -- The trunk in the attic / Gary Carden -- Black Mountain breakdown / Lee Smith - - Killing our hills: the devastation of mountaintop removal / Vivian Stockman -- Fighting for my Appalachian home / Julia Bonds -- Religion in Appalachia: examples of the diversity / Howard Dorgan -- Preaching to the chickens / Gary Carden -- The Jolo Church of the Lord Jesus / Shannon Bell -- The picture man / Shelby Lee Adams -- The quare gene / Tony Earley -- Full circle / Edwin Sweeney -- The train passes through but doesn't stop / Jason Ringenberg].

Fine, Elizabeth C., ed. 1995. *Appalachia and the Politics of Culture. Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association*, vol. 7. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services. 162 pp.

Fisher, Steve, and Barbara Ellen Smith. 2011. "A Reaction to 'Action, Scholarship, Reflection, Renewal': Forging an Unbroken Chain" [intergenerational dialogue and organizing for social justice; scholarship and activism; 1960s Appalachian Volunteers]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 17, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 25-27. Reaction to David Walls' keynote address at 2011 annual conference of the Appalachian Studies Association.

Fletcher, Arthur Lloyd. [1963] 2006. *Ashe County: A History, a new edition* [N.C.]. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 14. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 431 pp. Originally published: Ashe County Research Association.

Florin, John, and Richard Pillsbury. 2006. "Appalachia" [concise overview of the Region]. In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 2: *Geography*, ed. R. Pillsbury, 42-45. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Forbes, Harold M., comp. 2007– . "Recent Publications." *West Virginia History*, n.s. 1. Annual bibliography of books, articles, and theses; fall issue.

Fowler, John D. 1998. "Appalachia's Agony: A Historiographical Essay on Modernization and Development in the Appalachian Region." *Filson Club Historical Quarterly* 72 (July): 305-328.

Gaventa, John. 2002. "Appalachian Studies in Global Context: Reflections on the Beginnings-Challenges for the Future" [article based on the author's keynote address at the 25th annual meeting of the Appalachian Studies Association, Helen, Ga., March 2002; with comments on "Appalachia As a Global Region: Toward Critical Regionalism and Civic Professionalism" by Herbert Reid and Betsy Taylor, *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Spring 2002): 9-32]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Spring 2002): 79-90.

Griffin, Larry J., and Ashley B. Thompson. 2002. "Appalachia and the South: Collective Memory, Identity, and Representation" [cultural politics]. *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Spring): 296-327.

Guerrant, Edward O. [1838-1916]. [1910] 2005. *The Galax Gatherers: The Gospel among the Highlanders* [home missionaries]. Foreword by Durwood Dunn; Introduction by Mark Huddle. Appalachian Echoes. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 220 pp. Originally published: Richmond, Va.: Onward Press.

Hanlon, Tina L., and Judy A. Teaford, ed. 2000. *AppLit* [award winning web site containing resources for readers and teachers of Appalachian literature: articles, authors, bibliographies, fiction & poems, lesson plans, links, study guides]. http://www.ferrum.edu/applit/.

Hay, Fred J. 2004. "From 'Mountain Whites' to 'Appalachians (People)': A Description of the Journey, Concluding with a Brief Sermon" [changing the standard Library of Congress Subject Heading]. *ANSS-L Monthly Questions and Answers: Publications and Bibliographies* (Anthropology and Sociology Section of the Association of College and Research Libraries). http://anssacrl.wordpress.com/publications/cataloging-qa/2005-saco-process/. See also: http://wikis.ala.org/acrl/index.php/SACO_process.

Hay, Fred J. 2008. "Alleghania, Appalachian America, or Appalachia: A Region (re)Discovered, (re)Defined, and Documented." *Journal of the Society of North Carolina Archivists* 6, no.1 (Summer).

Herrin, Roberta T., and Sheila Quinn Oliver, comps. 2010. *Appalachian Children's Literature: An Annotated Bibliography* [18th century to present; 2000 entries arranged by author]. Foreword by George Ella Lyon; preface [history] by Roberta Herrin, 3-11. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 26. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 347 pp., including: Appendix I: Counties in Appalachia; Appendix II: Grade Levels (Authors, Titles); Author, Title, Illustrator Index; Subject Index.

Herrin, Roberta Teague. 2010. "Studying Appalachia from Ripshin to the University: A Conversation with Roberta Herrin" [biography; b. 1949; Tenn.]. Interview by Beth Bissmeyer, Lindsey Martin, and Chad Berry. *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 1 (Fall): 20-34. Herrin has been director of the Center for Appalachian Studies and Services (CASS) at East Tennessee State University since 2004.

Herrin, Roberta Teague. 2010. "The High, the Low, and the In-Between." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 2. Musings on our tendency to focus on dualities and extremes at the expense of the center/heart/humanness that binds – and its reflection in Appalachian experience.

Herrin, Roberta. 2006. "The Tending To" [Center for Appalachian Studies and Services]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 2-3. CASS takes measure of itself as an 'institution' as it moves 22 years worth of files to a new space at East Tennessee State University.

Higgs, Robert J., Ambrose N. Manning, and Jim Wayne Miller, ed. 1995. *Appalachia Inside Out: A Sequel to* Voices from the Hills. *Volume 1: Conflict and Change; Volume 2: Culture and Custom.* Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 753 pp.

Higgs, Robert J., and Ambrose N. Manning, ed. 1996. *Voices from the Hills: Selected Readings of Southern Appalachia*. 2nd ed. Reprint. Dubuque, Ia.: Kendall/Hunt. 540 pp. Originally published: New York: Frederick Ungar; co-published with Appalachian Consortium Press, Boone, N.C., 1975.

House, Silas. 2008. "A Conscious Heart." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 14, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 7-19. Transcript of keynote speech at 2008 Appalachian Studies Conference. Topics include mountaintop removal mining; citizen apathy and activism; the power of words ["language is political"]; self-image; and promoting regional pride.

Hsiung, David C. 1997. *Two Worlds in the Tennessee Mountains: Exploring the Origins of Appalachian Stereotypes* [winner, 1996 Appalachian Studies Award]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 224 pp.

Hurt, R. Douglas. 2001. "A Guide to Reading the Social History of the Ohio Valley, 1780-1830." *Ohio Valley History* 1, no. 2 (Spring): 29-35. Extensive narrative bibliography on the historiography of the Ohio River Valley listing dozens of important sources.

Hutchins Library, Special Collections & Archives. 2006. *Records of the Council of the Southern Mountains: Online Exhibition* ["summaries of CSM's activism in Appalachia during the 1970s and 1980s...also a number of photos included, a timeline documenting CSM's projects and activities, and a page including various resources"]. Berea College, Berea, Ky. http://www.berea.edu/hutchinslibrary/specialcollections/exhibit/exhibitsaa101exhibit.asp.

Hutchins Library, Special Collections & Archives. 2006. *Guide to the Council of the Southern Mountains Records*, 1970-1989 [finding aid; "collection documents changes in welfare rights, miners' rights, mine health and safety, strip mining, and women's rights, among other things, in the Southern Appalachian Region"]. Berea College, Berea, Ky. http://www.berea.edu/hutchinslibrary/specialcollections/saa101.asp.

Hyde, Gene. 2008. "Appalachian Special Collections and Appalachian Studies: The Relationship Between Collections, Curricula, and the Development of Interdisciplinary Regional Studies Programs." *Journal of the Society of North Carolina Archivists* 6, no.1 (Summer).

Inscoe, John C. 2002. "The Discovery of Appalachia: Regional RevisionismAsScholarly Renaissance" [narrative history, reviewing several dozen standard studies]. In *A Companion to the American South*, ed. J. Boles, 369-386. Blackwell Companions to American History, no. 3. Malden, Mass.: Blackwell.

Kahn, Si. 2012. "Organizing, Culture, and Resistance in Appalachia: Past, Present, and Future." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 18, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 8-24. Keynote address from the 2012 Appalachian Studies Association Annual Conference, Indiana, Pa., March 23, 2012. With responses by: William H. Turner, "Si Kahn Sings to a Harlan County Choirboy," 25-27; and Marat Moore, "The Wide Reach of Si Kahn," 27-30. Si Kahn has worked almost 50 years as a civil rights, union and community organizer and musician in Appalachia.

Keefe, Susan E., ed. 2005. *Appalachian Cultural Competency: A Guide for Medical, Mental Health, and Social Service Professionals*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 343 pp. [15 essays, expert, well-grounded: Pt. I. Preparing for work in an Appalachian community: Adopting the reflexive practitioner role / Pt. II. Acquiring cultural competency: Understanding

and respecting the Appalachian "difference" / Pt. III. Transcending stereotypes in research and practice: Examples from health and wellness / Pt. IV. Choosing a theoretical paradigm: Application of the cultural model in mental health research and services].

Keefe, Susan Emley. 2001. "Appalachian Americans: The Formation of 'Reluctant' Ethnics." Chap. 7 in *Many Americas: Critical Perspectives on Race, Racism, and Ethnicity*, ed. G. Campbell, 129-153. Dubuque, Iowa: Kendall/Hunt. Chapter subsections: Defining the region [maps]; Racial and cultural diversity; Formation of the ethnic group; Construction of cultural "otherness"; Appalachian culture and values [explicated]: egalitarianism, individualism and independence, personalism, avoidance of conflict, familism, religious world view, sense of place; Contemporary ethnic identity; Conclusion.

Kephart, Horace. [1922] 2001. Our Southern Highlanders: A Narrative of Adventure in the Southern Appalachians and a Study of Life among the Mountaineers. Reprint of rev. ed. (Macmillan Company, 1922). Alexander, N.C.: Land of the Sky Books. 469 pp. Originally published: New York: Outing Pub. Co., 1913 [Note: the standard, modern reprint edition of this seminal study is Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press, 1976, with its Introduction by George Ellison, ix-xlvi, and his Note on Location of Kephart Materials, xlvii-xlviii].

Legnini, Jessica. 2009. "Radicals, Reunion, and Repatriation: Harlan County and the Constraints of History." *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 107, no. 4 (Autumn): 471-512. Historiography -- "an examination of the 'historical construction' of Harlan County," both inside and out: "...varying perspectives of coal miners, coal companies, reformers, government and civic organizations, present-day museums, contemporary observers, and...historical markers."

Lewis, Ronald L. [1999] 2001. "Beyond Isolation and Homogeneity: Diversity and the History of Appalachia." In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 21-43. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Lewis, Ronald L., and Dwight B. Billings. 1997. "Appalachian Culture and Economic Development: A Retrospective View on the Theory and Literature" [excerpt from "A Socioeconomic Review of Appalachia": A Report Prepared for the Appalachian Regional Commission]. Journal of Appalachian Studies 3 (Spring): 3-42.

Ludke, Robert L., Phillip J. Obermiller, Eric W. Rademacher, and Shiloh K. Turner. 2010. "Identifying Appalachian Adults: An Empirical Study." *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 1 (Fall): 36-45. Identifies "several approaches to eliciting Appalachian identity." "The question 'Where is Appalachia?' is subtly different from the question 'Who is Appalachian?'."

Macneal, Douglas. 1997. "How Can You Call Pittsburgh Appalachian?" *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Winter): 10-13.

McCann, Eugene J. 1998. "Mapping Appalachia: Toward a Critical Understanding." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 4 (Spring): 87-113. "Official" maps versus grassroots, GIS-participatory mapping.

McKinney, Gordon B. 1996. "The Future of the Appalachian Past." *Appalachian Heritage* 24 (Winter): 14-21. Survey of contemporary scholars' more honest assessments of the Region's past.

Milligan, Sarah. 2012. "Oral History in Kentucky." *Ohio Valley History* 12, no. 1 (Spring): 73-83. Kentucky Oral History Commission (KOHC). "For over thirty-five years, the state has been a national leader in oral history, growing strong university-centered programs as well as hundreds of grassroots projects."

Mitchell, Alison C. 2001. "Researching Appalachia and the WPA at the Library of Congress." *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 23, no. 2 (Spring): 17-19. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/index.html.

Montgomery, Michael. 1994. "The Contributions of Joseph Sargent Hall to Appalachian Studies." In *Appalachian Adaptations to a Changing World*, ed. Norma Myers. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 6: 89-98. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Morley, Margaret W. [1913] 2006. *The Carolina Mountains* [mountain life, customs, natural history, description and travel]. Fairview, N.C.: Bright Mountain Books. 358 pp. Originally published: Boston: Houghton Mifflin.

Murray, Robert. 2008. "Our Ditch-Digger." Student interview by Chelsea Forester. *Foxfire Magazine* 42, special edition (Spring): 4-18. Murray is Curator, Foxfire Museum and Heritage Center, Mountain City, Ga.

New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture, The. 2006—. Edited by Charles Reagan Wilson, James G. Thomas Jr., and Ann J. Abadie. Sponsored by The Center for the Study of Southern Culture at the University of Mississippi. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina. (Rev. ed. of Encyclopedia of Southern Culture, 1989). V. 1. Religion | v. 2. Geography | v. 3. History | v. 4. Myth, Manners, and Memory | v. 5. Language | v. 6. Ethnicity | v. 7. Foodways | v. 8. Environment | v. 9. Literature | v. 10. Law & Politics | v. 11. Agriculture and Industry | v. 12. Music | v. 13. Gender | v. 14. Folklife | v. 15. Urbanization | v. 16. Sports & Recreation | v. 17. Education | v. 18. Media | v. 19. Violence | v. 20. Social Class | v. 21. Art & Architecture | v. 23. Science & Medicine | v. 23. Folk Art | v. 24. Race. |

New Georgia Encyclopedia, The. 2004. [Internet resource, continually updated. "Articles, images, sound, and moving image material as well as links to other Web sites related to the history, culture, and life of the state"]. Athens: Georgia Humanities Council and the University of Georgia Press. http://www.newgeorgiaencyclopedia.org/nge/Home.jsp.

Noe, Kenneth W. 2002. "Appalachia Before Mr. Peabody: Some Recent Literature on the Southern Mountain Region" [narrative accounting of landmark studies since the 1970s]. *Virginia Magazine of History and Biography* 110 (no. 1): 5-34.

Northern Appalachia [W. Va., Ohio, Pa., N.Y.]. 1997. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Winter): 1-48.

Now & Then Magazine. 2003. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 20, no. 2-3 (Summer/Winter): 57-64. [20th anniversary tribute essays from past and present editors in this possibly final issue, by Nancy Fischman, Fred Waage, Pat Arnow, Laurene Scalf, Linda Parsons Marion, and Marianne Worthington; includes list of issue titles].

Obermiller, Phillip J., and Michael E. Maloney, ed. 2002. *Appalachia: Social Context Past and Present*. 4th ed. Foreword by Loyal Jones. Dubuque, Iowa: Kendall/Hunt. 450 pp. Textbook anthology: 39 chapters plus selected bibliographies.

Obermiller, Phillip J., and Michael E. Maloney, ed. 2007. *Appalachia: Social Context Past and Present*. 5th ed. Dubuque, Iowa: Kendall/Hunt. 416 pp. Standard textbook with 37 authoritative essays arranged under the following headings: I. What Is Appalachia? II. Appalachian Diversity. III. Migration and Urbanization. IV. Appalachian Stereotypes. V. The New Appalachian Culture. VI. Health and the Environment. VII. The Political Economy of Appalachia. VIII. Policy Issues. IX. Resistance and Community Organizing. X. References. XI. Appalachian Studies Bibliography. XII. Selected Films. XIII. Selected Websites.

Ohio Historical Society. 2005. *Ohio History Central: An Online Encyclopedia of Ohio History* [indexed by location (Southeast Ohio), topic, media, time period, category]. Columbus: Ohio Historical Society, begun 1998, updated regularly. http://www.ohiohistorycentral.org/ohc/.

Olson, Ted, comp. and ed. 2011. "Future of Appalachian Studies: A Roundtable." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 17, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 188-213. Response #1: Appalachian Studies is not like other disciplines / Patricia Beaver -- Response #2: Appalachian Studies 2.0 / Chad Berry -- Response #3: Place matters / Dwight B. Billings -- Response #4: Cultural hermeneutics and the current crises / Rodger Cunningham -- Response #5: Greening Appalachian Studies: sustainable development / Donald E. Davis -- Response #6: Planting by signs / Jean Haskell -- Response #7: Can the region survive? / Helen Matthews Lewis -- Response #8: Thinking outside the ball / Phillip J. Obermiller -- Response #9: Roundtable: the future of Appalachian Studies / Douglas Reichert Powell.

Olson, Ted, comp. and ed. 2010. "Native and Fine and Enduring: A Roundtable on David Whisnant's *All That Is Native and Fine*" [*All That Is Native & Fine: The Politics of Culture in an American Region*, University of North Carolina Press, 1983, 2009]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 16, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 101-121. Response #1: Understanding the politics of culture / Maureen Mullinax -- Response #2: The end of an era of innocence / Burt Feintuch -- Response #3: A book that makes sense of it all / Michael Ann Williams -- Response #4: All that is native and fine and the politics of tradition / Jane Becker -- Response #5: *All That Is Native and Fine*: staying power / Anthony Harkins -- Response #6: I've endured: the legacy of culture workers in

Maryland / Clifford Murphy -- Response #7: The messy and complex politics of cultural intervention / Amanda Fickey -- Response [to the above responders]: A work of many hands: notes on reading about my book / David Whisnant.

Oxendine, Jill. 2006. "On Creating an Encyclopedia of Appalachia" [managing editor; *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, University of Tennessee Press, 2006]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 1 (Spring): 43-45.

Perkins, Alfred. 1995. "John Stephenson and the College of Appalachia: A Chronicle and a Tribute." *Appalachian Heritage* 23 (Spring): 19-23.

Powell, William Stevens, and Jay Mazzocchi, ed. 2006. *Encyclopedia of North Carolina* [2000 entries by 550 contributors, 400 illustrations]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 1314 pp.

Pudup, Mary Beth, Dwight B. Billings, and Altina L. Waller, ed. 1995. *Appalachia in the Making: The Mountain South in the Nineteenth Century*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 391 pp. Fourteen essays: by Mary K. Anglin, Alan Banks, Dwight B. Billings, Kathleen M. Blee, Wilma A. Dunaway, John R. Finger, John C. Inscoe, Ronald L. Lewis, Ralph Mann, Gordon B. McKinney, Mary Beth Pudup, Paul Salstrom, Altina L. Waller, and John Alexander Williams.

Raine, James Watt. [1924, 1969] 1997. *The Land of Saddle-Bags: A Study of the Mountain People of Appalachia*. Foreword by Dwight Billings, ix-xliv. Reprint. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 260 pp.

Rehder, John B. 2004. *Appalachian Folkways* [cultural milieu; chapters cover public image, geography, ethnicity, architecture, jobs, foodways, folk remedies, music, art, festivals, and speech]. Creating the North American Landscape. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 353 pp.

Reid, Herbert, and Betsy Taylor. 2002. "Appalachia As a Global Region: Toward Critical Regionalism and Civic Professionalism" [globalization, identity, and the role of Appalachian Studies]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Spring): 9-32.

Reid, Herbert G. 1996. "Global Adjustments, Throwaway Regions, Appalachian Studies: Resituating *The Kentucky Cycle* on the Postmodern Frontier." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Fall): 235-262.

Reid, Herbert G. 2005. "Appalachia and the 'Sacrament of Co-existence': Beyond Post-colonial Trauma and Regional Identity Traps" [overview and reflections on *Appalachia on Our Mind: The Southern Mountains and Mountaineers in the American Consciousness, 1870-1920*, by Henry D. Shapiro (University of North Carolina Press, 1978)]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 11, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 164-181.

Remembering John B. Stephenson. 1995. Special Commemorative Section. *Appalachian Heritage* 23 (Winter): 3-26.

Riddel, Frank S. 2008. *Historical Atlas of West Virginia*. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 306 pp. 127 maps and eight sections: Geography; History; Evolution of Counties; Development of Transportation; Natural Resources and Extractive Industries; Education; Population; and Legislative, Judicial, and Congressional Districts.

Salstrom, Paul. 1995. "Newer Appalachia as One of America's Last Frontiers." In *Appalachia in the Making: The Mountain South in the Nineteenth Century*, ed. M. Pudup, D. Billings, and A. Waller, 76-102. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Sanders, Randy. 2007. "We 'Dig' Appalachia." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 44-48. Responses to the question, "What does it mean to you to be an Appalachian," by Rebecca Anderson, Anne Pope, and Mark Musick.

Sather, Nancy. 1999. "Appalachian Heritage: A Celebration of the Vernacular" [overview and accolade for this regional literary journal]. Appalachian Heritage 27 (Summer): 7-8.

Sawyer, David. 1995. "Bodhisattva in Berea: John Stephenson and the Tibetans." *Appalachian Heritage* 23 (Spring): 16-18.

Scott, Shaunna L. 1995. "Teaching for Democracy: Reflections on Teaching Appalachian Studies." In *Appalachia and the Politics of Culture*, ed. E. C. Fine. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 7: 131-139. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Scott, Shaunna L. 2001. "Civics Lessons from Another Place: A Case Study of the Northern Ireland Women's Festival Day Project." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 7 (Fall): 187-225.

Scott, Shaunna L. 2009. "Discovering What the People Knew: The 1979 Appalachian Land Ownership Study." *Action Research* 7, no. 2 (June): 185-205. Landmark community-based study of land ownership and taxation.

Scott, Shaunna. 2008. "The Appalachian Land Ownership Study Revisited" [taxation; corporate and absentee ownership; Ky., W. Va., Tenn., Va., N.C., Ala.; county outline map]. *Appalachian Journal* 35, no. 3 (Spring): 236-252. Goals not met after 25 years from 1979-83 landmark study, *Who Owns Appalachia?: Land Ownership and Its Impact* (University Press of Kentucky, 1983).

Shapiro, Henry D. 1996. Review essay of *Appalachia in the Making: The Mountain South in the Nineteenth Century* (ed. M. Pudup, D. Billings, and A. Waller, University of North Carolina Press, 1995). *Appalachian Journal* 24 (Fall): 81-91.

Shapiro, Henry D. 2005. "How Region Changed Its Meaning and Appalachia Changed Its Standing in the Twentieth Century" [1990s: regionalism, pluralism, exploitation, and

stereotyping]. In *Bridging Southern Cultures: An Interdisciplinary Approach*, ed. J. Lowe, 265-287. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Smith, Barbara Ellen, et al. 2010. "Appalachian Identity: A Roundtable Discussion." *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 1 (Fall): 56-77. Introduction / Barbara Ellen Smith – Claiming Appalachia--and the questions that go with it / Steve Fisher – Thoughts on the importance of identifying Appalachians / Phillip J. Obermiller – Appalachian regionalism: corollaries to Sheldon Kopp's eschatological laundry list* / David E. Whisnant – Objecting to insider/outsider politics and the uncritical celebration of Appalachia / Emily Satterwhite – Reflections on identity and the roots of prejudice / Roger Cunningham – Works cited in Appalachian identity roundtable discussion [32 references].

Smith, Barbara Ellen, Steve Fisher, Emily Satterwhite, and Phillip Obermiller. 2012. Letters to the Editor [four], in response to Tal Stanley's reflections (38, no. 4: 356-361) on their "Roundtable on Regional Identity" (38, no. 1: 56-77). *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 1-2 (Fall 2011/Winter 2012): 28-34.

Smith, Barbara Ellen. 2002. "The Place of Appalachia" [political identity; globalization]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Spring): 42-49.

Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge [published annually in May]. Vol. 1— . 1997— . Published by the Montgomery County Branch Association for the Preservation of Virginia Antiquities; in conjunction with Pocahontas Press, Inc., Blacksburg, Va.

Snyder, Bob. 1995. "The Appalachian Band in the Moral Spectrum." *Appalachian Journal* 22 (Spring): 250-261.

Stanley, Tal. 2011. "On Appalachian Identity" [op-ed essay]. *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 4 (Summer): 356-361. An appreciation and reflection on the 2010 Roundtable Discussion on Appalachian Identity (*Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 1 (Fall): 56-77), with Barbara Ellen Smith, Steve Fisher, Phillip Obermiller, David Whisnant, Emily Satterwhite, and Roger Cunningham.

Straw, Richard A., and H. Tyler Blethen, ed. 2004. *High Mountains Rising: Appalachia in Time and Place*. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 240 pp. Fourteen essays; primer on history and culture by leading scholars.

Straw, Richard. 2006. "Appalachian History" [1700s to 1970s; with suggested readings]. In *A Handbook to Appalachia: An Introduction to the Region*, ed. G. Edwards, J. Asbury, and R. Cox, 1-26. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Sullivan, Ken. 2006. *The West Virginia Encyclopedia* [2200 articles by 600 writers; numerous photographs; appendices include biographical directory of contributors, and list of W. Va. species]. Charleston: West Virginia Humanities Council. 927 pp.

Sullivan, Ken. 2008. "Making Book: *The Encyclopedia of Appalachia* Takes Its Place in a Crowded Field" [University of Tennessee Press, 2006; review essay]. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 2, no. 1 (Spring): 91-98.

Tenkotte, Paul A., and James C. Claypool, ed. 2009. *The Encyclopedia of Northern Kentucky* [2000 entries]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 1047 pp. Eleven-county area bounded by Appalachian counties on one side and the Ohio River on the other.

Tennessee Electronic Atlas (TEA). 2002. Dir. Bruce A. Ralston. Housed at Knoxville: Department of Geography, University of Tennessee. http://tnatlas.geog.utk.edu/tea/tea.asp.

Tennessee Encyclopedia of History and Culture, The [free online edition; 1500 entries]. 2002. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Text copyright 1998 by The Tennessee Historical Society, Nashville. http://tennesseeencyclopedia.net.

Thompson, Deborah, and Irene Moser. 2006. "Appalachian Folklife" [lore, food, crafts, music, dance, storytelling; with suggested readings]. In *A Handbook to Appalachia: An Introduction to the Region*, ed. G. Edwards, J. Asbury, and R. Cox, 143-162. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Tucker, Bruce. 2002. Review essay on four books: Dwight B. Billings and Kathleen Blee, *The Road to Poverty: The Making of Wealth and Hardship in Appalachia* (2000); Jane Becker, *Selling Tradition: Appalachia and the Construction of an American Folk, 1930-1940* (1998); Dwight B. Billings, Gurney Norman, and Katherine Ledford, ed., *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes* (1999); Chad Berry, *Southern Migrants, Northern Exiles* (2000). *Canadian Review of American Studies* 32, no. 3: 321-332.

Tucker, Bruce. 2003. "Harry Caudill and the Problem of the Past." Rethinking Appalachian Studies Series. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Spring): 114-146.

Wallenstein, Peter. 2000. "The Grinch That Stole Southern History: Anthem for an Appalachian Perspective." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 4: 67-81. "...frames an alternative way of viewing the history of the South....Arguing that much of southern history can best be understood as a three-cornered struggle among blackbelt whites, blackbelt blacks, and the people of Appalachia, the author argues against what he calls a 'plantation approach to southern history" (the 'Grinch' of the essay's title)."

Walls, David. 2011. "Action, Scholarship, Reflection, Renewal" [plenary session]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 17, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 9-25. With Responses by Sarah Riley (15-20), and Jason Howard (20-23). Plus, "A Reaction to 'Action, Scholarship, Reflection, Renewal': Forging an Unbroken Chain," by Steve Fisher and Barbara Ellen Smith (25-27). Keynote address at annual conference of the Appalachian Studies Association, Richmond, Ky., March 11, 2011, by the last director of the Appalachian Volunteers. Discusses the 1976 symposium in Boone, N.C. in honor of Cratis Williams that led to the founding of the Appalachian Studies Conference.

West, Carroll Van, ed. 1998. *Tennessee Encyclopedia of History and Culture* [1500 entries; 29 major essays; index]. Nashville: Tennessee Historical Society. 1193 pp.

Whaley, Abe. 2007. "Digging Appalachia: Cycles of Interest from Beyond Our Borders" [national attention]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 49-53.

Williams, Elizabeth M. 2009. "John C. Campbell and the Social Survey." In *CrossRoads: A Southern Culture Annual*, 2009, ed. Ted Olson and Ajay Kalra, 249-270. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. Survey of Southern Appalachia conducted for the Russell Sage Foundation. Campbell is author of the seminal work, *The Southern Highlander and His Homeland* (1921).

Williams, John Alexander. 1993. "Appalachia" [with maps, bibliography]. In *Encyclopedia of American Social History*, Vol. 3, ed. M. Cayton, et al., 1031-1044. New York: Scribner.

Williams, John Alexander. 1996. "Appalachia." In *American Folklore: An Encyclopedia*, ed. J. H. Brunvand, 35-38. Garland Reference Library of the Humanities, vol. 1551. New York: Garland.

Williams, John Alexander. 1996. "Counting Yesterday's People: Using Aggregate Data To Address the Problem of Appalachia's Boundaries." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Spring): 3-27.

Williams, John Alexander. [1976] 2001. *West Virginia: A History*. 2nd ed. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 220 pp. Originally published by W.W. Norton as *West Virginia: A Bicentennial History*.

Williams, John Alexander. 2001. "Appalachian History: Regional History in the Post-Modern Zone" [adapted from the introduction to *Appalachia: A History* (2002)]. *Appalachian Journal* 28 (Winter): 168-187.

Williams, John Alexander. 2002. *Appalachia: A History* [Weatherford Award winner]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 496 pp.

ARCHAEOLOGY and PHYSICAL ANTHROPOLOGY

Prehistoric, pre-European (For Cultural Anthropology/Ethnology, see: Social Conditions)

Abrams, Eliot M., and AnnCorinne Freter, ed. 2005. *The Emergence of the Moundbuilders: The Archaeology of Tribal Societies in Southeastern Ohio* [Hocking River Valley; 12 essays]. Athens: Ohio University Press. 264 pp.

Adovasio, J. M. 2006. "The Great Journey: A Personal Odyssey" [principal archaeological investigator, Meadowcroft Rockshelter, Washington Co., Pa.; one of the oldest settlements in North America. Excavation begun 1973]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 89, no. 2 (Summer): 34-43.

Adovasio, J. M., and Jake Page. 2002. "Searching for the First Americans: A 500-Year Quest" [Meadowcroft Village rock shelter, Pa.]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 85 (Summer): 14-29.

Adovasio, J. M., et al. 2001. "The Archaic of the Upper Ohio Valley: A View from Meadowcroft Rockshelter" [Washington Co., Pa.]. In *Archaic Transitions in Ohio and Kentucky Prehistory*, ed. O. Prufer, S. Pedde, and R. Meindl, 141-182. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press.

Adovasio, J. M., with Jake Page. 2002. *The First Americans: In Pursuit of Archaeology's Greatest Mystery* [pre-Clovis human presence; earliest site in Southwestern Pa.]. New York: Random House. 328 pp.

Anderson, Rebecca, Charles H. Faulkner, Richard A. Holt, and Jennifer G. Luedke. 2009. "The Lones Dowell Farm: An Archaeological, Architectural, and Ethnohistoric Study." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 81: 42-57. Knox County; settled 1790s; slaves presence documented.

Anderson, Ryan, ed. 2011. "Appalachia." Special issue, *Anthropologies: A Collaborative Online Project*, Issue 8 (November 1, 2011). Contents: Introduction: Appalachia / Ryan Anderson -- Biocultural perspectives in Appalachian anthropology / Britteny M. Howell -- Crossing county lines in Appalachia / Ann Kingsolver -- Ain't no place like home: Appalachia, anthropology, and autoethnography [with five embedded videos] / Tammy L. Clemons -- My life in the field: Why I study Appalachia / Shanna L. Scott -- Cultural industries and invasive species: Ecological threats to handicraft production in Central Appalachia / Amanda Fickey & Lynne Rieske-Kinney -- When stereotype is the research topic: Reflections on working on stigmatizing disease and clarifying critiques among the "last group of people it's OK to make fun of" / Sarah Raskin -- Landscapes for reclamation, Eastern Kentucky [photos] / Ryan Anderson. http://www.anthropologiesproject.org/2011/11/issue-8.html.

Bamann, Susan E., et al. 2008. "Analysis of Site Preservation and Cultural Traditions at 31WK223, A Stratified Archaic to Woodland Period Site in the Eastern Foothills of the Appalachian Mountains" [Reddies River, Wilkes Co.]. *North Carolina Archaeology* 56: 58-95.

Barnhart, Terry A. 1998. "In Search of the Mound Builders: The State Archaeological Association of Ohio, 1875-1885." *Ohio History* 107 (Summer-Autumn): 125-170. http://publications.ohiohistory.org/ohstemplate.cfm?action=toc&vol=107.

Beaman, Thomas E. 2012. "You Can Go Home Again: A New Look Homeward into the Excavated Cistern of Thomas Wolfe's "Dixieland." *North Carolina Archaeology* 61 (October): 38-70. Excavations in 1975 and 1978 yielded 45,661 artifacts which illustrate "consumer consumption patterns in this early twentieth-century uplands setting" [Asheville, N.C., boarding house].

Beck, Robin A., Jr. and Moore, David G. 2002. "The Burke Phase: A Mississippian Frontier in the North Carolina Foothills" [15th-16th centuries; earthen mounds and ceramics; upper Catawba and Yadkin Rivers]. *Southeastern Archaeology* 21 (Winter): 192-205.

Blackburn, Marion P. 2009. "Spain's Appalachian Outpost" [N.C.; 16th century Spanish settlement destroyed by Native Americans]. *Archaeology: A Magazine Dealing with the Antiquity of the World* 62, no. 4 (July/August): 38-43.

Broughton, William C. 2012. "NAGPRA's Impact on Academic Research in North Carolina and the Southeast." *North Carolina Archaeology* 61 (October): 94-121. Tables, figures. Native American Graves Protection and Repatriation Act (NAGPRA) of 1990.

Brown, James. 2006. "Where's the Power in Mound Building? An Eastern Woodlands Perspective." In *Leadership and Polity in Mississippian Society*, ed. B. Butler and P. Welch, 197-213. Carbondale: Center for Archaeological Investigations, Southern Illinois University, Carbondale.

Carr, Christopher, and D. Troy Case, ed. 2005. *Gathering Hopewell: Society, Ritual, and Ritual Interaction* [Ohio]. Interdisciplinary Contributions to Archaeology. New York: Kluwer Academic. 807 pp.

Carr, Kurt W., James M. Adovasio, and David R. Pedler. 2001. "Paleoindian Populations in Trans-Appalachia: The View from Pennsylvania" [12 sites]. In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 67-87. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Carstens, Kenneth Charles, and Patty Jo Watson, ed. 1996. *Of Caves and Shell Mounds* [Green River Region, Ky.; 14 essays]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 209 pp.

Case, D. Troy, and Christopher Carr. 2008. *The Scioto Hopewell and Their Neighbors: Bioarchaeological Documentation and Cultural Understanding* [Ohio]. New York: Springer. 774 pp.

Charles, Douglas K., and Jane E. Buikstra, ed. 2006. *Recreating Hopewell* [28 chapters; Section 1: Hopewell in Ohio; Section 2: Hopewell/Middle Woodland outside Ohio; Section 3: New Approaches to Hopewell Material Culture]. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 657 pp.

Claassen, Cheryl. 2001. "Engendering Appalachian Archaeology" [feminist perspective]. In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 300-305. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Clay, R. Berle. 2009. "Where Have All the Houses Gone? Webb's Adena House in Historical Context" [Adena-Hopewell cultures]. *Southeastern Archaeology* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 43-63.

Cobb, Charles R. 2001. "Geography, History, and the Appalachian 'Axis Mundi'" [on the importance of prehistoric upland settings]. In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 306-310. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Collins, Michael B. 2006. "Meadowcroft: Shelter in a Storm" [excavation; 16,000-year-old human settlement]. Western Pennsylvania History 89, no.2 (Summer): 46-51.

Cornette, Alan K. 2005. Sandstone Chronicles: Rock Art of the Red River Gorge, an Appalachian Journey [Ky.; petroglyphs, cave paintings]. Slade, Ky.: Earth MacroVision, Inc. 282 pp.

Coy, Fred E., Jr., Thomas C. Fuller, Larry G. Meadows, and James L. Swauger. 1996. *Rock Art of Kentucky*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 192 pp.

Cremeens, David L., and Jonathan C. Lothrop. 2001. "Geomorphology of Upland Regolith in the Unglaciated Appalachian Plateau: Implications for Prehistoric Archaeology" [W. Va.]. In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 31-48. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Dancey, William S. 2001. "An Evolutionary View of Appalachian Archaeology." In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 311-318. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Dancey, William S., and Paul J. Panchero, ed. 1997. *Ohio Hopewell Community Organization* [200 B.C. to 400 A.D.; 15 essays]. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press. 433 pp.

DeSantis, Larisa R. G. 2007. "Reconstructing the Ancient Ecology of the Gray Fossil Site in Tennessee." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 22-24.

DeWeese, Georgina G., W. Jeff Bishop, Henri D. Grissino-Mayer, Brian K. Parrish, and S. Michael Edwards. 2012. "Dendrochronological Dating of the Chief John Ross House, Rossville, Georgia" [1816-17; Cherokee]. *Southeastern Archaeology* 31, no. 2 (Winter): 221-230.

Digging Appalachia. 2007. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 1-80. Articles on geology, archaeology, farming, and mountaintop removal.

Drye, Willie. 2004. "Evidence of 16th-Century Spanish Fort in Appalachia?" [Western N.C.; Fort San Juan, 1566-1568]. *National Geographic News*, 22 November, 18 paras. http://news.nationalgeographic.com/news/2004/11/1122_041122_spanish_fort.html#main.

Dupier, Charles Mayer, Jr. 2000. "Prehistoric Trails in the Upper Cumberland River Basin" [Ky.]. Filson Club History Quarterly 74 (Fall): 367-382.

Dye, David H., ed. 2008. *Cave Archaeology of the Eastern Woodlands: Essays in Honor of Patty Jo Watson* [Ky., Tenn., Mo. sites; rock art; gypsum and saltpeter mining]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 278 pp.

Faulkner, Charles H. 2006. "An Early Scotch-Irish Family: The Ramsey House Archaeological Project" [Knox Co., 1797]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 77, Supplement: 59-64.

Faulkner, Charles H. 2008. *The Ramseys at Swan Pond: The Archaeology and History of an East Tennessee Farm* [built 1797; Knoxville region; farm life; material culture; biography]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 168 pp.

Fenton, James P. 2001. "Early Woodland Burial Mounds of Kentucky: Symbolic Elements in the Cultural Landscape." In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 137-149. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Fenton, Jim. 2000. "Environmental Factors, Settlement Patterns, and Prehistoric Occupation on the Allegheny Plateau: Some Lessons Learned" [GIS; Beckley, W. Va.]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 15-16, 1999, Boone, North Carolina*, 50-58. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Franklin, Jay D. 2007. "Archaeological Explorations: Rock Shelters and Caves on the Upper Cumberland Plateau of Tennessee." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 12-13.

Franklin, Jay D., Renee Walker, Maureen A. Hays, and Chase W. Beck. 2010. "Late Archaic Site Use at Sachsen Cave Shelter, Upper Cumberland Plateau, Tennessee." *North American Archaeologist* 31, no. 3-4: 447-479.

Garrow, Patrick H. 2000. "Beneath the City: Urban Archaeology in Tennessee" [Knoxville]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 59 (Fall): 218-231.

Genheimer, Robert A. 2007. "Birds and the Missing Frog: Animal Effigy Smoking Pipes from Cincinnati's Madisonville and Turpin Sites." *Ohio Valley History* 7, no. 4 (Winter): 1-14.

Glanville, Jim. 2004. "Conquistadors at Saltville in 1567?: A Review of the Archeological and Documentary Evidence." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 8: 70-108. Saltville, Va. (Smyth Co.); Juan Pardo expedition (1566-68); maps and primary documents.

Glanville, Jim. 2005. "Improper Archeology, 'Fabulous Saltville,' and the Ancient History of Southwest Virginia" [amateur archaeologists' findings; maps, tables]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 9: 55-100.

Glanville, Jim. 2006. "The Blade from Glade" [steel blade unearthed, Glade Spring, Washington Co., Va.; from West Africa, not Spanish conquistadors]. Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge 10: 38-47.

Glanville, Jim. 2009. "Brief Note: Conquistadors at Saltville: An Interim Update" [1567; Saltville, Va.]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 13: 137-139, with map.

Gougeon, Ramie A. 2006. "Different but the Same: Social Integration of Households in Mississippian Chiefdoms" [northwest Ga.]. In *Leadership and Polity in Mississippian Society*, ed. B. Butler and P. Welch, 178-194. Carbondale: Center for Archaeological Investigations, Southern Illinois University, Carbondale.

Gremillion, Kristen J. 2006. "Central Place Foraging and Food Production on the Cumberland Plateau, Eastern Kentucky" [3000-4000 years ago; North Fork of the Red River]. Chap. 3 in *Behavioral Ecology and the Transition to Agriculture*, ed. D. Kennett and B. Winterhalder, 41-62. Origins of Human Behavior and Culture, no. 1. Berkeley: University of California Press.

Gremillion Kristen J., Jason Windingstad, and Sarah C. Sherwood. 2008. "Forest Opening, Habitat Use, and Food Production on the Cumberland Plateau, Kentucky: Adaptive Flexibility in Marginal Settings." *American Antiquity* 73, no3 (July): 387-411.

Hally, David J. 2002. "'As caves below the ground': Making Sense of Aboriginal House Form in the Protohistoric Southeast" [Cherokee]. In *Between Contacts and Colonies: Archaeological Perspectives on the Protohistoric Southeast*, ed. C. Wesson and M. Rees, 90-109. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Hally, David J. 2008. *King: The Social Archaeology of a Late Mississippian Town in Northwestern Georgia* [King site on the Coosa River]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 589 pp., plus compact disc containing Appendices A-H.

Hasenstab, Robert J., and William C. Johnson. 2001. "Hilltops of the Allegheny Plateau: A Preferred Microenvironment for Late Prehistoric Horticulturalists." In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 3-18. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Hatch, James W., and Gregory H. Bondar. 2001. "Late Woodland Palisaded Villages from Ontario to the Carolinas: Their Potential for Accurate Population Estimates." In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 149-167. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Hawley, Marlin F., and David H. Dye. 2011. "George A. Lidberg Jr. and Depression-Era Archaeology in Tennessee." *Southeastern Archaeology* 30, no. 2 (Winter): 399. Biography; WPA salvage archaeology program; six sites including Chickamauga basin, 1938-39.

Hedeen, Stanley. 2008. *Big Bone Lick: The Cradle of American Paleontology*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 182 pp. Fossil site in Boone Co.

Hockensmith, Charles D. 2009. *The Millstone Quarries of Powell County, Kentucky* [six quarries; remains documented; records]. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 202 pp.

Hofstra, Warren R., and Karl Raitz. 2010. "Introduction: The Valley Road in Time and Space." In *The Great Valley Road of Virginia: Shenandoah Landscapes from Prehistory to the Present*, ed. W. Hofstra and K. Raitz, 2-16. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press.

Jantz, Claire. 2002. "Cades Cove: Reconstructing Human Impacts on the Environment Before Euro-American Settlement" [Tenn., Great Smoky Mountains National Park]. In *Culture, Environment, and Conservation in the Appalachian South*, ed. B. Howell, 42-59. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Jefferies, Richard W. 2001. "Mississippian Settlement in the Cumberland Gap Vicinity" [Ky., Va., Tenn.]. In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 198-221. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Jones, Charles Colcock. [1873] 1999. *Antiquities of the Southern Indians, Particularly of the Georgia Tribes*. Reprint, edited with an introduction by Frank T. Schnell. Classics in Southeastern Archaeology. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 534 pp. Originally published: New York: D. Appleton and Co.

Kimball, Larry R., Thomas R. Whyte, and Gary D. Crites. 2010. "The Biltmore Mound and Hopewellian Mound Use in the Southern Appalachians." *Southeastern Archaeology* 29, no. 1 (Summer): 44-58. On the Swannanoa River, Asheville, N.C.

King, Adam. 2003. *Etowah: The Political History of a Chiefdom Capital* [mid-1500s, northern Ga.]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 216 pp.

King, Adam. 2006. "Leadership Strategies and the Nature of Mississippian Chiefdoms in Northern Georgia." In *Leadership and Polity in Mississippian Society*, ed. B. Butler and P. Welch, 73-90. Carbondale: Center for Archaeological Investigations, Southern Illinois University, Carbondale.

Lambert, Patricia M. 2002. "Bioarchaeology at Coweeta Creek: Continuity and Change in Native Health and Lifeways in Protohistoric Western North Carolina" [Macon Co.; Cherokee; 13th-18th centuries]. *Southeastern Archaeology* 21 (Summer): 36-48.

Lane, Leon, and David G. Anderson. 2001. "Paleoindian Occupations of the Southern Appalachians: A View from the Cumberland Plateau of Kentucky and Tennessee." In

Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 88-102. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Lapham, Heather A. 2005. *Hunting for Hides: Deerskins, Status, and Cultural Change in the Protohistoric Appalachians*. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 184 pp.

Lawler, Andrew. 2006. "Spain Makes a Stand" [1560s Spanish Fort San Juan excavation; near Morganton, N.C.]. *Smithsonian* 36, no. 12 (March): 33-34.

Lewis, R. Barry, ed. 1996. Kentucky *Archaeology*. Perspectives on Kentucky's Past, Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 289 pp.

Means, Bernard K. 2007. *Circular Villages of the Monongahela Tradition* [Southwestern Pa., and contiguous W. Va., Ohio, and Md.]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 196 pp.

Milner, George R. 2004. *The Moundbuilders: Ancient Peoples of Eastern North America*. New York: Thames & Hudson. 224 pp.

Moore, Harry. 2004. *The Bone Hunters: The Discovery of Miocene Fossils in Gray, Tennessee* [near Johnson City; highway project]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 102 pp.

Moore, Harry. 2007. "Highways and Bones" [prehistoric animal bones uncovered in highway construction; SR 75, Gray, Tenn., May 2000]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 18-21.

Myers, Maureen S. 2006. "Leadership at the Edge" [southwestern Va./northeastern Tenn.]. In *Leadership and Polity in Mississippian Society*, ed. B. Butler and P. Welch, 156-177. Carbondale: Center for Archaeological Investigations, Southern Illinois University, Carbondale.

Nass, John P. 2001. "Subsistence-Settlement Change and Continuity in Western Pennsylvania" [and Upper Ohio Valley]. In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 177-197. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Peres, Tanya M. 2008. "Foodways, Economic Status, and the Antebellum Upland South in Central Kentucky." *Historical Archaeology* 42, no. 4: 88-104.

Prezzano, Susan C., and Christina B. Rieth. 2001. "Late Prehistoric Cultures of the Upper Susquehanna Valley" [N.Y., Pa.]. In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 168-176. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Pritchard, Erin E., ed. 2009. *TVA Archaeology: Seventy-Five Years of Prehistoric Site Research*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 352 pp. Contents: TVA: built for the people of the United States / Patricia Bernard Ezzell -- In the beginning... / Danny E. Olinger and A. Eric Howard -- The Normandy Archaeological Project / Charles H. Faulkner -- The Tellico Archaeological Project / Gerald F. Schroedl -- The geoarchaeology of the Tennessee Valley: methodological and archaeological milestones / Sarah C. Sherwood -- Viewing Jonathan Creek

through ceramics and radiocarbon dates: regional prominence in the thirteenth century / Sissel Schroeder -- Archaeological time constructs and the construction of Hiwassee Island mound / Lynne P. Sullivan -- Prehistoric cave art sites and TVA: an update on Painted Bluff, 1st and 18th unnamed caves / Jan Simek, Sarah A. Blankenship, and Alan Cressler -- The Dust Cave Archaeological Project, Lauderdale County, Alabama / Boyce N. Driskell -- Understanding cultural pattern and process in the Tennessee River Valley: the role of cultural resource management investigations in archaeological research / Scott C. Meeks -- The future of archaeology and stewardship at TVA / Erin E. Pritchard.

Prufer, Olaf H., Sara E. Pedde, and Richard S. Meindl, ed. 2001. *Archaic Traditions in Ohio and Kentucky Prehistory* [8000-1000 B.C.]. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press. 359 pp.

Purtill, Matthew P. 2012. A Persistent Place: A Landscape Approach to the Prehistoric Archaeology of the Greenlee Tract in Southern Ohio [Adams Co.]. Cincinnati: Gray & Pape. 244 pp.

Rafferty, Sean M., and Rob Mann, ed. 2004. *Smoking and Culture: The Archaeology of Tobacco Pipes in Eastern North America* [Native American]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 324 pp.

Rodning, Christopher B. 2001. "Architecture and Landscape in Late Prehistoric Western North Carolina." In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 238-249. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Rodning, Christopher B. 2002. "William Bartram and the Archaeology of the Appalachian Summit" [Cherokee communities]. In *Between Contacts and Colonies: Archaeological Perspectives on the Protohistoric Southeast*, ed. C. Wesson and M. Rees, 67-89. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Rodning, Christopher B. 2008. "Temporal Variation in Qualla Pottery at Coweeta Creek" [1300-1838]. *North Carolina Archaeology* 57: 1-49.

Rodning, Christopher B. 2009. "Domestic Houses at Coweeta Creek" [1600s]. *Southeastern Archaeology* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 1-26. Cherokee structures, Coweeta Creek site, upper Little Tennessee Valley, southwestern N.C.

Rodning, Christopher B. 2009. "Mounds, Myths, and Cherokee Townhouses in Southwestern North Carolina" [1560-1720]. *American Antiquity* 74, no. 4 (October): 627-663.

Rodning, Christopher B. 2010. "Architectural Symbolism and Cherokee Townhouses." *Southeastern Archaeology* 29, no. 1 (Summer): 59-79. Coweeta Creek site, southwestern N.C.

Rodning Christopher B. 2011. "Cherokee Townhouses: Architectural Adaptation to European Contact in the Southern Appalachians" [17th-18th centuries]. *North American Archaeologist* 32, no. 2: 131-190.

Rodning Christopher B. 2011. "Mortuary Practices, Gender Ideology, and the Cherokee Town at the Coweeta Creek Site." *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 30, no. 2 (June): 145-173. Upper Little Tennessee Valley in southwestern North Carolina, 15th through 18th centuries.

Rodning, Christopher B. 2012. "Late Prehistoric and Protohistoric Shell Gorgets from Southwestern North Carolina" [Cherokee mythology]. *Southeastern Archaeology* 31, no. 1 (Summer): 33-56. Tables; maps; figures.

Rodning, Christopher B., and Amber M. VanDerwarker. 2002. "Revisiting Coweeta Creek: Reconstructing Ancient Cherokee Lifeways in Southwestern North Carolina." *Southeastern Archaeology* 21 (Summer): 1-9.

Rodning, Christopher B., and David G. Moore. 2010. "South Appalachian Mississippian and Protohistoric Mortuary Practices in Southwestern North Carolina." *Southeastern Archaeology* 29, no. 1 (Summer): 80-100. Warren Wilson, Garden Creek, and Coweeta Creek sites.

Romain, William F. 2009. *Shamans of the Lost World: A Cognitive Approach to the Prehistoric Religion of the Ohio Hopewell*. Lanham, Md.: AltaMira Press. 261 pp.

Sarvis, Will. 2000. "Prehistoric Southwest Virginia: Aboriginal Occupation, Land Use, and Environmental Worldview" [9500 B.C.-1607 A.D.]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 4: 125-151.

Sassaman, Kenneth E. 2001. "Articulating Hidden Histories of the Mid-Holocene in the Southern Appalachians." In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 103-120. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Schroedl, Gerald F. 2000. "Cherokee Ethnohistory and Archaeology from 1540 to 1838" [Ga., S.C., Tenn., N.C.]. In *Indians of the Greater Southeast: Historical Archaeology and Ethnohistory*, ed. B. McEwan, 204-241. Gainesville: University Press of Florida.

Schroedl, Gerald F. 2001. "Cherokee Archaeology since the 1970s." In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 278-297. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Schroedl, Gerald F. 2002. "The Complimentary Roles of Research, Cultural Resource Management, and Public Outreach in the Chattooga Archaeological Project" [Oconee Co., S.C.; Cherokee]. In *Culture, Environment, and Conservation in the Appalachian South*, ed. B. Howell, 153-169. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Scofield, David. 2006. "Legacy of the Land" [Meadowcroft Rockshelter landscape; 16,000-year-old cave; Washington Co., Pa.]. Western Pennsylvania History 89, no. 2 (Summer): 10-15.

Simek, Jan F., and Alan Cressler. 2005. "Images in Darkness: Prehistoric Cave Art in Southeastern North America" [27 sites considered]. Chap. 4 in *Discovering North American*

Rock Art, ed. L. Loendorf, C. Chippindale, and D. Whitley, 93-113. Tucson: University of Arizona Press.

Simek, Jan F., Susan R. Frankenberg, and Charles H. Faulkner. 2001. "Toward an Understanding of Prehistoric Cave Art in Southern Appalachia" [Ky., Tenn., Ga., Ala.]. In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 49-64. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Smith, Kevin E., and James V. Miller. 2009. *Speaking With the Ancestors: Mississippian Stone Statuary of the Tennessee-Cumberland Region* [figurines; Tenn., Ky., north Ga.]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 234 pp.

Spurlock, Linda B., Olaf H. Prufer, and Thomas R. Pigott, ed. 2006. *Caves and Culture:* 10,000 *Years of Ohio History* [17 chapters; rockshelters, southeastern Ohio]. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press. 463 pp.

Steere, Benjamin A., Paul A. Webb, and Bruce S. Idol. 2012. "A 'New' Account of Mound and Village Sites in Western North Carolina: The Travels of Captain R. D. Wainwright." *North Carolina Archaeology* 61 (October): 1-37. Amateur archaeologist Wainright's narratives of surface exacavations, 1913-1914, plus an overview of archaeological research, 1870s-1933.

Sullivan, Lynne P. 2006. "Gendered Contexts of Mississippian Leadership in Southern Appalachia" [East Tenn.]. In *Leadership and Polity in Mississippian Society*, ed. B. Butler and P. Welch, 264-285. Carbondale: Center for Archaeological Investigations, Southern Illinois University, Carbondale.

Sullivan, Lynne P., and Susan C. Prezzano, ed. 2001. *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands* [23 chapters]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 410 pp.

Sullivan, Lynne P., and Susan C. Prezzano. 2001. "A Conscious Appalachian Archaeology" [cultural diversity, marginality, traditions, landscape]. In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 323-331. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Sullivan, Lynne P., and Susan C. Prezzano. 2001. "Introduction: The Concept of Appalachian Archaeology." In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, xix-xxxiii. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Sullivan, Lynne P., Bobby R. Braly, Michaelyn S. Harle, and Shannon D. Koerner. 2011. "Remembering New Deal Archaeology in the Southeast: A Legacy in Museum Collections." In *Museums and Memory: Selected Papers from the Annual Meeting of the Southern Anthropological Society, Staunton, Virginia, March*, 2008, ed. M. Huber, 65-108. Knoxville, Tenn.: Newfound Press.

Tipton, J. Ann. 2007. "Treasure Hunter Finds British Coin Dated 1743" [Holston River, Tenn.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 61-62. Reprinted from the *Kingsport Times-News*, 28 Aug 2005.

Tushingham, Shannon, Jane Hill, and Charles H. McNutt, ed. 2002. *Histories of Southeastern Archeology* [individual state histories]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 384 pp.

VanDerwarker, Amber M., and Kandace R. Detwiler. 2002. "Gendered Practice in Cherokee Foodways: A Spatial Analysis of Plant Remains from the Coweeta Creek Site" [N.C.]. *Southeastern Archaeology* 21 (Summer): 21-28.

Versaggi, Nina M., LouAnn Wurst, T. Cregg Madrigal, and Andrea Lain. 2001. "Adding Complexity to Late Archaic Research in the Northeastern Appalachians." In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 121-133. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Walker, Renee B. 2002. "Early Holocene Ecological Adaptations in North Alabama." In *Culture, Environment, and Conservation in the Appalachian South*, ed. B. Howell, 21-41. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Wallace, Steven. 2007. "Why Is It Called the 'Rhino Pit'?" [unearthing an ancient rhinoceros family; Gray Fossil Site; Tenn.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 25-28.

Waselkov, Gregory A., and Marvin T. Smith. 2000. "Upper Creek Archaeology" [Ala.]. In *Indians of the Greater Southeast: Historical Archaeology and Ethnohistory*, ed. B. McEwan, 242-264. Gainesville: University Press of Florida.

Watson, Patty Jo. 2001. "Ridges, Rises, and Rocks; Caves, Coves, Terraces, and Hollows: Appalachian Archaeology at the Millennium." In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 319-322. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Welch, Paul D. 2001. "Political Economy in Late Prehistoric Southern Appalachia." In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 222-238. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Whyte, Thomas R. 2007. "Proto-Iroquoian Divergence in the Late Archaic-Early Woodland Period Transition of the Appalachian Highlands." *Southeastern Archaeology* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 134-144. "...the linguistic separation of Cherokee and Northern Iroquois, is estimated to have begun almost 4,000 years ago. Linguistic and molecular studies are consistent with a proto-Iroquoian homeland in the Appalachian region."

Whyte, Thomas R., Scott A. Fleeman, and Cathleen D. Evans. 2011. "An Alternative Ontology and Experimental Study of Pottery Punctation in Southern Appalachian Region Prehistory." *Southeastern Archaeology* 30, no. 2 (Winter): 390-398. "Feathers of various birds may have been used."

Wilson, Gregory D., and Christopher B. Rodning. 2002. "Boiling, Baking, and Pottery Breaking: A Functional Analysis of Ceramic Vessels from Coweeta Creek" [Macon Co. N.C.; Cherokee]. *Southeastern Archaeology* 21 (Summer): 29-35.

Wilson, Gregory D., Jon Marcoux, and Brad Koldehoff. 2006. "Square Pegs in Round Holes: Organizational Diversity Between Early Moundville and Cahokia" [Ala.; Ill.]. In *Leadership and Polity in Mississippian Society*, ed. B. Butler and P. Welch, 43-72. Carbondale: Center for Archaeological Investigations, Southern Illinois University, Carbondale.

Woodall, J. Ned. 2009. "The T. Jones Site: Ecology and Agency in the Upper Yadkin Valley of North Carolina" [Wilkes Co.]. *North Carolina Archaeology* 58 (October): 1-58. Occupation dates between AD 1400 and 1600.

Woodward, Susan L., and Jerry N. McDonald. 2001. *Indian Mounds of the Middle Ohio Valley:* A Guide to Mounds and Earthworks of the Adena, Hopewell, Cole, and Fort Ancient People [Ind., Ky., Oh., W. Va.]. Second edition. Blacksburg, Va.: McDonald & Woodward. 304 pp.

ARCHITECTURE, HISTORIC BUILDINGS, HISTORIC SITES

Homes, outbuildings, significant structures and landscapes, guidebooks

Allan, Randy. 2006. *Lemuel Chenoweth*, 1811-1887: Bridging the Gaps [accomplished W. Va. covered bridge builder]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 166 pp.

Allen, John C., Andrew Lewis, and Walter Smalling. 2011. *Uncommon Vernacular: The Early Houses of Jefferson County, West Virginia: 1735-1835* [survey of 250 buildings]. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 367 pp. Architectural drawings, floor plans, and maps by Andrew Lewis, and 700 photographs by Walter Smalling. Jefferson County is in W. Va.'s eastern panhandle, in the Shenandoah Valley.

Allen, Karen Ebert. 1997. "Historic American Engineering Record for the Fayette Station Bridge" [New River Gorge, W. Va.]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 11-12, 1997, Glade Springs Resort, Daniels, West Virginia,* 40-47. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Anderson, Belinda. 2000. "Living in the Quiet Zone" [adjacent mammoth radio telescopes at the National Radio Astronomy Observatory, Green Bank, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Fall): 50-55.

Anderson, Colleen. 2001. "Visiting Historic Malden" [listed on the National Register of Historic Places]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Fall): 40-41.

Architecture in Appalachia: Articles, Essays, Fiction, Poetry, and Reviews. 1999. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 16 (Spring): 1-44.

Austin, Linda T. 2009. "Unrealized Expectations: Cumberland, the New Deal's Only Homestead Project" [1934; experimental subsistence community; Crossville, Tenn.]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 68, no. 3 (Winter): 433-450.

Austin, Peter. 1997. "The Work of Rafael Guastavino in Western North Carolina" [vaulting in Biltmore House and Basilica of St. Lawrence]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 1, ed. R. S. Brunk, 63-79. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services Inc.

Beckman, James A. 2006. *Harpers Ferry* [W. Va.; postcard history; John Brown; Storer College]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 p.

Billings, Dwight B., and Kate Black. 2011. "Preserving Teges Creek" [i.e., Beech Creek, pseud.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 2 (Spring): 47-49. Testimony "submitted to the...Kentucky Energy and Environment Cabinet in 2010 in response to a call for comment on a request for a permit to strip mine a parcel of land in Clay County." Teges Creek is the site of James S. Brown's landmark work, *Beech Creek: A Study of a Kentucky Mountain Neighborhood* (1941), and follow-up studies: *Mountain Families in Transition: A Case Study of Appalachian Migration* (1971), by Harry Schwarzweller, James Brown, and J. J. Mangalam; and *The Road to*

Poverty: The Making of Wealth and Hardship in Appalachia (2000), by Dwight Billings and Kathleen Blee.

Binnicker, Margaret Duncan. 2000. "A Garden City in Appalachia Tennessee: Grosvenor Atterbury's Design for Erwin" [Unicoi Co., 1916; designed for CC&O Railway]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 59 (Fall): 274-289.

Bishir, Catherine W., Michael T. Southern, and Jennifer F. Martin. 1999. *A Guide to the Historic Architecture of Western North Carolina* [1200 buildings; 370 photos]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 488 pp.

Blalock, Presley, ed. 2009. "A Visit to the Foxfire Museum: Students Tour Their Appalachian Heritage." *Foxfire Magazine* 43, no. 3-4 (Fall/Winter): 73-80. Brief reflections of 15 students; Mountain City, Ga.

Brosi, George. 2011. "Save the Don West Homeplace: An Editorial" [1906-1992; Gilmer Co., Ga.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 2 (Spring): 8-9. "...poet, essayist, educator, and activist....and promoter of mountain music and mountain culture," Don West was Featured Author, fall 2008 issue.

Brown, Fred. 2005. *Marking Time: East Tennessee Historical Markers and the Stories Behind Them* [local history sites]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 356 pp.

Brunk, Andrew James. 1997. "Robert Duncanson's View of Asheville, North Carolina, 1850" [free black artist; earliest known painting of Asheville]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 1, ed. R. S. Brunk, 114-123. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services Inc.

Bryan, John Morrill, and Richard Morris Hunt. 1994. *Biltmore Estate: The Most Distinguished Private Place*. New York: Rizzoli. "Original architectural drawings, sketches, plans, 19th century photographs, and new color photographs give the history and description of this architectural landmark," in Asheville, N.C.

Burchett-Anderson, Theresa. 2006. "Museum Review: Southwest Virginia Museum Historical State Park" [Big Stone Gap, Va.]. *Appalachian Journal* 33, no. 2 (Winter): 246-248.

Carlisle, Barbara. 2006. "The Barter Theatre Legend" [founded 1932, Abingdon, Va.; history, productions, actors]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 44-49.

Carlisle, Fred. 2004. "The Past in the Present: The Greater Newport Rural Historic District" [Giles Co., Va.; 34 square miles; community action project]. *Appalachian Journal* 32 (Fall): 50-66.

Cary, Michael D., and Timothy Kelly, ed. 2007. *This American Courthouse: One Hundred Years of Service to the People of Westmoreland County* [founded 1773; Greensburg, Pa.]. Latrobe, Pa.: Publications of the Saint Vincent College Center for Northern Appalachian Studies.

131 pp. Contents: Westmoreland County Courthouses: Hanna's Tavern to Courthouse Square / James V. Steeley -- Westmoreland County Jailhouses / Helene Smith -- William Kauffmann: Courthouse Architect / Joseph Benkovich -- Architectural Style / Timothy Kelly -- The Courthouse in the Community / Michael D. Carey -- Legal Environment: Early Twentieth Century / Mark Sorice -- The Social Environment of the County Seat in the Early Twentieth Century / Erin L. Pearson -- History of the Westmoreland County Bar Association / R. Louis DeRose and H. Nevin Wollman -- The Changing Role of the Judge / Daniel J. Ackerman.

Chambers, S. Allen. 2004. *Buildings of West Virginia* [architectural guidebook; 1000 entries, 375 photographs, 60 maps]. Buildings of the United States. New York: Oxford University Press. 663 pp.

Coleman, Ralph S. 1999. "Black Iron Tongue" [trailer home opinion]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 16 (Spring): 34-35.

Condee, William Faricy. 2005. *Coal and Culture: Opera Houses in Appalachia* [used as multipurpose community facilities; 1860s-1930s; Ky., Ohio, Pa., W. Va]. Athens: Ohio University Press. 210 pp.

Conte, Bob. 2010. "Debunking the Bunker." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 4 (Winter): 25-29. The Greenbrier Hotel's hidden government bomb shelter, kept secret for 30 years, was revealed in a 1992 *Washington Post Magazine* article.

Conte, Bob. 2010. "Hidden in Plain Sight: The Greenbrier's Bunker." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 4 (Winter): 18-24. White Sulphur Springs resort hotel's top-secret underground facility built 1958-1962 and designed as a Cold War bomb shelter for the U.S. Congress.

Cox, Joyce, and W. Eugene Cox, comps. and ed. 2001. *History of Washington County, Tennessee* [250 years; reference text; winner of American Association of State and Local History's Award of Merit, 2002]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 1,290 pp.

Craig, Christopher. 2009. "The Curio House at Harpers Ferry." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 2 (Summer): 60-65. History of 100-year-old Laurel Lodge inn.

Culvahouse, Tim. 2007. *The Tennessee Valley Authority: Design and Persuasion* [landscape; visual art; photo-essay]. New York: Princeton Architectural Press. 144 pp.

Dart, Susan. 1997. *The Old Home Place* [Polk Co., N.C.; John Hiram Johnson House; listed in National Register of Historic Places]. Louisville, Ky.: Chicago Spectrum Press. 101 pp.

Dempsey, Sarah. 2001. "Norton House: Malden's Best-Kept Secret" [historic 1840 house in Kanawha Valley]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Fall): 37-39.

Dickinson, W. Calvin, Michael E. Birdwell, and Homer D. Kemp. 2002. *Upper Cumberland Historic Architecture* [eight-county region above Carthage]. Franklin, Tenn.: Hillsboro Press. 148 pp.

Dickinson, W. Calvin. 2004. "Sheltering the People: Folk Architecture in the Upper Cumberland Region" [Ky., Tenn.]. In *Rural Life and Culture in the Upper Cumberland*, ed. M. Birdwell and W. Dickinson, 35-48. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Donnelly, Lu, H. David Brumble, and Franklin Toker, ed. 2010. *Buildings of Pennsylvania: Pittsburgh and Western Pennsylvania*. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 641 pp. Encyclopedic, with generous local histories. Contents: The western capital: Pittsburgh and Allegheny County | Rolling hills and rolling mills | Ridge and valley | Great forest | Oil and water.

Donnelly, Lu. 2010. "Architecture Around Us: Log Chapels." *Pennsylvania History* 93, no. 4 (Winter 2010-11): 14-17. Nineteenth-century log churches.

Drake, Dawn M. 2009. "Rural Architecture as a Historical Cultural Indicator: The Case of Barns in Monroe County, Pennsylvania." *Pennsylvania Geographer* 47, no. 1 (Fall/Winter): 90-113.

Emrick, Michael. 1996. "Blount Mansion: Architectural Analysis and the Reinterpretation of a Tennessee Landmark" [built 1792; Gov. William Blount; Knoxville]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 55 (Winter): 310-319.

Ensminger, Robert F. [1992] 2003. *The Pennsylvania Barn: Its Origin, Evolution, and Distribution in North America* [maps, figures, photos]. 2nd ed. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 348 pp.

Fanslow, Mary. 2003. "From Timbering to Tourism: The Wonderland Hotel's Early Years" [Tenn. mountains; early 20th-century; new lumber wealth; class hierarchy]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Fall): 433-449.

Faulkner, Charles H. 2000. "Knoxville and the Southern Appalachian Frontier: An Archaeological Perspective" [four 18th-century homes]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 59 (Fall): 158-173.

Feather, Carl E. 2011. "Berkeley Castle: Living in a Landmark" [history; Berkeley Springs, Morgan Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 4 (Winter): 8-15. The 8,500-square-foot castle, now privately owned, began construction in 1885 and "is thought to be modeled, on half scale, after England's Berkeley Castle where King Edward II was murdered in 1327."

Feather, Carl. 2010. "'Just a Little Bit of History': Finding the Fairfax Stone." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 1 (Spring): 50-55. Historical boundary marker of 1746

land grant by King Charles II; located two miles off a back road at the convergence of Tucker, Grant, and Preston Cos., near Garrett Co., Md., "at the headspring of the Potomac River."

Gorman, Michelle. 1999. "Turning Trash into Treasure: Recycling from a Waste Stream Builds a House" [Athens Co., Ohio]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 16 (Spring): 18-22.

Griffith, Clay. 2001. "An Inventory of Douglas Ellington's Architectural Work in Western North Carolina" [Asheville; b. 1886]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 2, ed. R. S. Brunk, 91-119. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services, Inc.

Hansley, Richard. 2011. *Asheville's Historic Architecture* [N.C.]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 173 pp.

Hardy, Michael C. 2005. A Short History of Old Watauga County. [N.C.]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 238 pp.

Harris, Frances Katherine Parr. 1999. "West Virginia Homeplaces: A Study of Architectural Resources in the Appalachian Corridor H Project Area" [federal highway; historic preservation]. M.H.P. thesis, University of Georgia. 94 pp. *Masters Abstracts International* 37: 1344.

Harshaw, Lou. 2007. *Asheville: Mountain Majesty* [N.C.; history, urban development; Blue Ridge Parkway; Grove Park Inn; Biltmore Estate]. Fairview, N.C.: Bright Mountain Books. 358 pp.

Harvey, Jeffrey. 2002. "Fidler's Mill: Rediscovering an Upshur County Landmark." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Summer): 18-23.

Hill, David. Interview by Jane Harris Woodside. 1999. "Reading the Landscape: An Interview with David Hill" [landscape architect]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 16 (Spring): 23-26.

Historic West Virginia Jail Spared from Wrecking Ball [Charles Town, W. Va.; trial site for 1920s Mine Wars and abolitionist John Brown (1859)]. 2001. *United Mine Workers Journal* 112 (March-April): 23.

Hornyak, Deanna. 1996. "Arthurdale: Homesteading in West Virginia" [New Deal subsistence community]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 13 (Summer): 25-30.

Howell, Benita J. 2001. "Rugby, Tennessee's Master Planner: Franklin Webster Smith of Boston" [1880s Utopian experiment]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 73: 23-38.

Howell, Benita J., and Susan E. Neff. 2002. "Victorian Environmental Planning in Rugby, Tennessee: A Blueprint for the Future" [Morgan Co., Tenn.; Big South Fork National River and Recreation Area]. In *Culture, Environment, and Conservation in the Appalachian South*, ed. B. Howell, 170-181. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Huddleston, Eugene, and Adelaide Ballou. 1997. "The New River and the American Landscape Tradition: Part II" [W. Va.; survey of historic landscape paintings]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 11-12, 1997, Glade Springs Resort, Daniels, West Virginia,* 110-119. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Hughes, Delos D. 2001. "The Housing Ideal at Cumberland Homesteads" [1930s Crossville, Tenn.; New Deal program to create subsistence homestead community; (cf. Arthurdale, W. Va. project)]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 60 (Spring): 38-53.

Hughes, Thomas. [1881] 2008. *Rugby, Tennessee: Some Account of the Settlement Founded on the Cumberland Plateau* [utopian, collective settlement]. Reprint, with an introduction by Benita J. Howell. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 168 pp. Originally published: London: Macmillan.

Humes, Harry. 1997. "The Girard Theater" [Girardville, Pa]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 14 (Winter): 19.

Irwin, John Rice. 2012. The Unlikely Story of the Museum of Appalachia and How It Came to Be: As Told by Its Founder [Norris, Tenn.]. Atglen, Pa.: Schiffer. 144 pp.

Johnson, Bruce E. 1997. "Built Without an Architect: Architectural Inspirations for the Grove Park Inn" [1912; Asheville; using native fieldstone]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 1, ed. R. S. Brunk, 214-227. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services Inc.

Johnson, Mary E. 2006. "'There's Nothing New, Everything Is Old Today': Looking Back on One Hundred Years of West Virginia Archives and History" [1905-2005; centennial of the state archives]. *West Virginia History* 60 (2004-2006): 49-82.

Johnson, Mary. 1997. "An 'Ever Present Bone of Contention': The Heyward Shepherd Memorial" [to the first victim of John Brown's raiders, a free black, 1859, Harpers Ferry, W. Va.; dedicated 1931 by The United Daughters of the Confederacy and The Sons of Confederate Veterans]. West Virginia History 56: 1-26.

Johnson, Rody. 2000. "Old Sweet Springs: A Lewis Family Legacy" [Monroe Co. mineral springs resort; founded 1790; Grand Hotel built 1835]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Summer): 60-65.

Jones, Robbie D. 1997. *The Historic Architecture of Sevier County, Tennessee*. Sevierville, Tenn.: Smoky Mountain Historical Society. 408 pp.

Jourdan, Katherine M. 2000. *Historic West Virginia: The National Register of Historic Places* [805 locations]. Charleston, W. Va.: Division of Culture and History, State Historic Preservation Office. 156 pp.

Jourdan, Katherine M., ed. 2000. *Historic West Virginia: The National Register of Historic Places* [descriptions; by county]. Charleston, W. Va.: Division of Culture and History, State Historic Preservation Office. 156 pp.

Kapsch, Robert J. 2000. "Benjamin Wright and the Design and Construction of the Monocacy Aqueduct" [Va.; C&O Canal]. In *Canal History and Technology Proceedings* 19: 181-222. Easton, Pa.: Canal History and Technology Press.

Kemp, Emory L., and Beverly B. Fluty. 1999. *The Wheeling Suspension Bridge: A Pictorial History* [W. Va.; landmark structure completed 1859]. Charleston, W. Va.: Pictorial Histories Publishing Company. 82 pp.

Kemp-Rye, Mark. 1999. "Saved-Again!: Restoring the Barrackville Covered Bridge" [built 1853]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Fall): 56-61.

Laughlin, Robert W. M., and Melissa C. Jurgensen. 2007. *Kentucky's Covered Bridges* [vintage photos; over 700 once existed, 13 remain; photos of 130 discovered]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.:Arcadia. 128 pp.

Kidney, Walter C. [1985] 1997. *Pittsburgh's Landmark Architecture: The Historic Buildings of Pittsburgh and Allegheny County*. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Pittsburgh History & Landmarks Foundation. 717 pp. With 1500 photos of 645 sites. Updates the 1985 edition of *Landmark Architecture: Pittsburgh and Allegheny County*.

Lockman, Felix J., Francis Dunnington Ghigo, and Dana Scott Balser, ed. 2007. *But It Was Fun: The First Forty Years of Radio Astronomy at Green Bank* [giant radio telescopes]. Green Bank, W. Va.: National Radio Astronomy Observatory. 583 pp.

Lynn, Joy, and Chuck Lynn. 2011. "Esau in the Coal Fields: Owing Our Souls to the Company Store." Interview by Michael Kline. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 3 (Summer): 69-84, with photo, 68. Whipple Colliery Company Store, Oak Hill, W. Va., built 1893. Interview with restorers Joy and Chuck Lynn.

Marcoux, Jon Bernard. 2012. *The Cherokees of Tuckaleechee Cove*. Ann Arbor: Museum of Anthropology, University of Michigan [Memoirs, no. 52]. 284 pp. Townsend, Tenn., archaeological dig.

Martin, Louis C. 2006. "The Pine Bank Bridge and its Changing Meaning through the Years" [1871 covered bridge, Greene Co., Pa.]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 89, no 2 (Summer): 26-33.

Maskey, Vishakha, Cheryl Brown, and Ge Lin. 2009. "Assessing Factors Associated With Listing a Historic Resource in the National Register of Historic Places" [W. Va.]. *Economic Development Quarterly* 23, no. 4 (November): 342-350.

McCleary, Ann E. 2000. "Forging a Regional Identity: Development of Rural Vernacular Architecture in the Central Shenandoah Valley, 1790-1850." In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia, 1800-1900*, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 92-110. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

McDonald, Travis C., Jr. 2000. "Constructing Optimism: Thomas Jefferson's Poplar Forest" [adjacent present-day Lynchburg, Va.]. Chap. 10 in *People, Power, Places: Perspectives in Vernacular Architecture, VIII*, ed. S. McMurry and A. Adams, 176-200. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

McGehee, Margaret. 1998. "A Castle in the Wilderness: Rugby Colony, Tennessee, 1880-1887." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 70: 62-89.

McNelis, Jim. 2012. "Growing Up in Arthurdale" [Preston Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 2 (Summer): 8-17. Sidebar: "Dancing with Mrs. Roosevelt." "…established in 1933 by the federal government at the encouragement of First Lady Eleanor Roosevelt. The model homestead community – the first of its kind – offered struggling families from nearby mining towns a fresh start with a home of their own, five acres of tillable land, and other amenities."

Melling, Carol. 2008. *Crossings: Bridge Building in West Virginia* [history]. With an introduction by Governor Joe Manchin. Edited by Terry Lively and Randall Nichols. Photography by Eric Steele and David Bowen. Louisville, Ky.: Four-Colour Imports. 124 pp.

Michael, Edwin Daryl. 2005. "Life in the Levi Shinn House" [National Register log structure; built 1778, Shinnston, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 3 (Fall): 58-65.

Milbauer, John A. 1996/97. "Pennsylvania Extended in the Cherokee Country: A Study of Log Architecture" [transplanted to Oklahoma]. *Pennsylvania Folklife* 46 (Winter): 92-101.

Miller, Larry L. 2001. *Tennessee Place-Names* [1900 entries]. Bloomington: Indiana University Press. 248 pp.

Milnes, Gerald. 1998. "The Barns of Pendleton County." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Spring): 50-55.

Morningstar, William. 2000. "Kentucky Phantoms: A Road Trip" [10 photos of dilapidated buildings, from an exhibition]. *Appalachian Heritage* 28 (Winter): 8-12.

Moyer, Teresa S., and Paul A. Shackel. 2008. *The Making of Harpers Ferry National Historical Park: A Devil, Two Rivers, and a Dream*. American Association for State and Local History book series. Lanham, Md.: Altamira Press. 235 pp. Harpers Ferry became a National Monument in 1944, and a National Historical Park in 1963.

Muller, Edward K., Ronald C. Carlisle, et al. 1994. *Westmoreland County, Pennsylvania: An Inventory of Historic Engineering and Industrial Sites*. Historic American Buildings Survey/Historic American Engineering Record. America's Industrial Heritage Project. Washington, D.C.: GPO. 399 pp.

Murray-Wooley, Carolyn. 2008. *Early Stone Houses of Kentucky*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 227 pp. Frontier homes and families; photos.

Newton, Stephen. 2009. "Down by the Old Mill Stream: *Now & Then* Visits Three Historic Mills." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25, no.1 (Spring/Summer): 30-32. St. John Milling Company, Watauga, Tenn.; White's Mill, Abingdon, Va.; Old French Mill, Dandridge, Tenn.

Noblitt, Philip T. 1996. A Mansion in the Mountains: The Story of Moses & Bertha Cone & Their Blowing Rock Manor. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers, Inc. 207 pp.

Patteson, Stuart. 2004. "A Brave New Deal World: The Cumberland Homesteads" [1930s experimental resettlement subsistence community, Crossville, Tenn.]. In *Rural Life and Culture in the Upper Cumberland*, ed. M. Birdwell and W. Dickinson, 196-210. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Payne, Dale. 2012. *West Virginia Company Stores*. Fayetteville, W. Va.: D. Payne. 240 pp. Photos of more than 200 stores, with descriptive information about each one including the coal company that operated it.

Phillips, Laura A. W. 1987. *Simple Treasures: The Architectural Legacy of Surry County* [N.C.]. Siloam(?), N.C.: Surry County Historical Society. 287 pp. Photographs of homes and buildings with histories; essays; glossary.

Phillips, Laura A. W., and Deborah Thompson. 1998. *Transylvania: The Architectural History of a Mountain County* [N.C.]. Raleigh, N.C.: Transylvania County Joint Historic Preservation Commission in association with Marblehead Publishing. 336 pp.

Platania, Joseph. 2010. "Huntington's Memorial Arch." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 3 (Fall): 48-51. Forty-two feet high, built in the 1920s to honor local veterans of WWI.

Platt, Frederick. 2011. "Horace Trumbauer in Fairmont." *West Virginia History*, n.s. 5, no. 1 (Spring): 53-74. Nationally famous architect Trumbauer built Spanish Mission and Tudor Revival mansions and an office building (1907-1911) for the children of Fairmont coal magnate, James Otis Watson, "the father of the West Virginia coal industry."

Plowden, Kate. 2001. "Karl Bittner's Sculptural Work at Biltmore" [Asheville; 1890s]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 2, ed. R. S. Brunk, 343-361. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services, Inc.

Prince, Jeanie. 2002. "Back to the Future: Huntington's Heritage Farm Museum." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Summer): 44-49.

Pyszka, Kimberly. 2011. "The Massengale Family and Other Mountain Folk of Rugby, Morgan County, Tennessee." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 70, no. 1 (Spring): 4-25. English utopian community, the Rugby Colony, established 1880.

Raitz, Karl, ed. 1996. *The National Road* [Cumberland Road]. George F. Thompson, project director and director of photography; cartography by Gyula Pauer. The Road and American Culture. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 489 pp.

Ralston, Jeannie. 1996. "Bark Grinders and Fly Minders Tell a Tale of Appalachia" [Museum of Appalachia, Norris, Tenn.]. *Smithsonian* 26 (February): 44-50, 52-53.

Rehder, John B. 2012. *Tennessee Log Buildings: A Folk Tradition*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 160 pp. Illustrated with over 100 images. Rehder is also the author of *Appalachian Folkways* (2004).

Richardson, Jerry. 1999. "Renovation: From Linoleum to Congoleum: A Memoir" [Lynch, Ky.; privatized coal company-town houses]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 16 (Spring): 27-29.

Rickman, Ellen Erwin. 2005. *Biltmore Estate* [Asheville, N.C.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Ridner, Judith. 2000. "Status, Culture, and the Structural World in the Valley of Pennsylvania" [Carlisle, Pa.]. In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia*, 1800-1900, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 77-91. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Roberts, Katherine. 2004. "Ritchie County Cellar Houses" [19th century, hand-cut stone foundations, built into hillsides, used for cold food-storage]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Fall): 40-45.

Roberts, Kathy. 2005. "Tygart Valley Homestead: New Deal Communities in Randolph County" [198 houses built; 1930s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 2 (Summer): 10-19, 21. Sidebar: "The Homestead Movement in West Virginia," by Gordon Simmons, 18-19.

Robertson, Blanche R. 1997. "The Waterpowered Mills of Reems Creek" [profiles ten mills]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 1, ed. R. S. Brunk, 82-96. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services Inc.

Robinson, Ed. 2007. *Historic Inns of Southern West Virginia* [vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Ross, Deborah McHenry. 2010. "A Wonderland of Books: Recalling Carnegie Library in Parkersburg" [built 1905]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 3 (Fall): 52-53.

Rybczynski, Witold. 1999. A Clearing in the Distance: Frederick Law Olmsted and America in the Nineteenth Century [biography; landscape architect of the Biltmore Estate, Asheville, N.C.]. New York: Scribner. 480 pp.

Schimizzi, Sandra Wolk, with Valeria Sofranko Wolk. 2010. *Norvelt: A New Deal Subsistence Homestead* [Pa.; Westmoreland Co.]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. "In 1933, the town of Norvelt became the fourth of 99 planned subsistence homestead communities...for dislocated miners and industrial workers." Named for Eleanor Roosevelt.

Shackel, Paul A. 2000. *Archaeology and Created Memory: Public History in a National Park* [Harpers Ferry, W. Va.]. Contributions to Global Historical Archaeology series. New York: Plenum. 191 pp.

Shaluta, Stephen J. 2010. *Mail Pouch Barns of West Virginia* [140 color photos]. Charleston, W.Va: Quarrier Press. 140 pp.

Shaluta, Steve, Jr. 2004. *Covered Bridges in West Virginia* [color photographs of 17 remaining bridges]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. Unpaged.

Sims, Elizabeth. 2008. "Appalachia As a Playground for the Privileged." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 28-33. Background on the region's resorts including W. Va.'s Greenbrier and N.C.'s Biltmore.

Spence, Joe E., and George R. Kiley, ed. 1997. *Landmarks of Loudon County: Its History through Architecture* [Tenn.]. Gloucester Point, Va.: Hallmark Publishing Co. 176 pp.

Stewart, Doug. 1997. "Saving American Steel" [preserving silent mills as museums]. *Smithsonian* 28 (August): 84-93.

Stipes, R. Jay, and Karen B. Stipes. 2000. "Witness Trees of the New River Region in Virginia" [centuries-old landmark trees]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 15-16, 1999, Boone, North Carolina*, 42-49. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Sully, Susan. 2007. *The Southern Cottage: From the Blue Ridge Mountains to the Florida Keys*. New York: Rizzoli. 206 pp. Profiles of 18 rescued and renovated cottage homes including structures in Roanoke Valley, Va., Cashiers, N.C., and two showcase homes in Flat Rock, N.C.

Tate, Bryan. 2002. "Appalachian Pioneers and Log Houses" [Sullivan Co., Tenn.]. *Journal of Alabama Archaeology* 48 (June): 1-18.

Tate, Bryan. 2002. "Sullivan County Log Homes" [East Tenn.; 1779-1840 settlement patterns; house types: single-pen, double-pen, saddlebag, dogtrot, and I-houses]. *Material Culture* 34, no. 2: 41-53.

Terrell, Bob. 1997. *Historic Asheville* [N.C.; "200 years of history"]. Alexander, N.C.: WorldComm. 256 pp.

Thomas, Sarah. 2011. "Reviving Adaland." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 32. Restored historic mansion near Philippi, Barbour Co., W. Va., built in 1870 and placed on the National Register of Historic Places in 1994.

Tiro, Karim M. 2009. "The Pioneer Museum: Blue Licks Battlefield State Resort Park" [Mt. Olivet, Ky.]. *Ohio Valley History* 9, no. 1 (Spring): 65-71. Battle of Blue Licks, 1782; Daniel Boone.

Turnquist, Gary M. 2000. "Historic Preservation in a New River Valley Community: Grassy Creek, North Carolina" [added to National Register of Historic Places, 1976]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 15-16, 1999, Boone, North Carolina*, 78-86. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Turpen, James. 2002. "Tallulah Falls Township according to Local Historian James Turpen" [Ga.]. Interview by student Samantha Tyler. *Foxfire Magazine* 36 (Fall/Winter): 126-139.

Vivian, Daniel J. 2001. "Public Architecture, Civic Aspirations and the Price of 'Progress': A History of the Buncombe County Courthouse." In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 2, ed. R. S. Brunk, 154-177. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services, Inc.

Waggoner, Lynda S. 2011. *Fallingwater* [pictorial]. Edited by Lynda S. Waggoner, photographed by Christopher Little. New York: Rizzoli. 328 pp. 150 oversize photos, with essays by seven contributors. Recently restored, Fallingwater was built in 1936 by Frank Lloyd Wright for Edgar Kaufmann in the Laurel Highlands of Pa.'s Allegheny Mountains.

Wallace, Jim. 2012. *A History of the West Virginia Capitol: The House of State* [Charleston, W. Va., completed 1932]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 156 pp. Profusely illustrated.

Watkins, Charles Alan, and Elizabeth Lawson. 1999. "Invershiel: A New Old World in the Blue Ridge Mountains" [Linville, N.C.; 1960s Scottish-motif planned village]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 16 (Spring): 3-8.

Webb, Franklin F., and Ricky L. Cox. 2012. *The Water-Powered Mills of Floyd County*, *Virginia: Illustrated Histories*, 1770-2010. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies series, no. 30. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 348 pp. "Topics covered include the difficulties involved in identifying early mills, the importance of mill site selection, water wheel types, laws regulating mills, the decline of milling and physical remains at abandoned mill sites. It also provides individual histories of 140 grist, flour, and feed mills, a few of which also processed wool; based primarily on oral histories, records, newspapers."

Wesolowsky, Tony. 1996. "A Jewel in the Crown of Old King Coal: Eckley Miners' Village." *Pennsylvania Heritage* 22 (Winter): 30-37. Recreated anthracite community; Luzerne County, Pa.

West, Carroll Van. 1995. *Tennessee's Historic Landscapes: A Traveler's Guide*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 503 pp.

West, Carroll Van. 2001. *Tennessee's New Deal Landscape: A Guidebook* [250 historic sites]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 281 pp.

West, Carroll Van, section editor. 2006. "Architecture" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 729-766 (with introductory essay, 729-734). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Weston State Hospital. 2009. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 1 (Spring): 36-37. Construction of Lewis County's Trans-Allegheny Asylum for the Insane, the largest cutstone building in North America and declared a National Historic landmark in 1990, was begun in 1858 and completed in 1881.

White, Warren H. 2003. Covered Bridges in the Southeastern United States: A Comprehensive Illustrated Catalog. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 214 pp.

Whitley, Phyllis Campbell. 2011. "Finding the Barns of Summers County." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 4 (Winter): 52-55. The author has documented more than 200 barns in the area.

Whitley, Phyllis Campbell. 2011. *Barns of Summers County: West Virginia Heritage*. Manakin-Sabot, Va.: Dementi Milestone Publishing. 240 pp. Color photos and histories of 230 barns built before 1950.

Wilhelm, Hubert. 2008. "The Pennsylvania-Dutch Barn in Southeastern Ohio." *Material Culture* 39, no. 1: 51-60. Late-18th century to the mid-19th century transitional region.

Williams, Michael Ann. [1991] 2004. *Homeplace: The Social Use and Meaning of the Folk Dwelling in Southwestern North Carolina*. Reprint. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. Originally published: Athens: University of Georgia Press. 190 pp.

Wood, Miriam, and David Simmons. 2007. *Covered Bridges: Ohio, Kentucky, West Virginia*. Photographs by Bill Miller. Wooster, Ohio: Wooster Book Company. 289 pp.

Woodside, Jane Harris. 1996. "Looking for Main Street America." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 13 (Spring): 9-14. West Virginia University's involvement in documenting construction of the Cumberland Road.

Zaunders, Bo. 2004. *The Great Bridge-Building Contest* [children's literature; 1850 (West) Virginia; Lemuel Chenoweth's renowned covered bridge in Philippi]. Illustrated by Roxie Munro. New York: Harry N. Abrams. 32 pp.

Zuchowski, Dave. 1999. "The House with No Square Corners" [Frank Lloyd Wright's "Kentuck Knob"; Laurel Highlands, Pa.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 16 (Spring): 14-17.

ARTS and CRAFTS

Wood and stone carving, quilting, weaving, basketry, chair making and woodworking, pottery, photography, painting, glass artistry, and more

Alexander, Bill. 2004. *Mountain Berry Baskets and Mountain Poetry*. Rev. ed. Knoxville, Tenn.: B. Alexander. 64 pp.

Alvarez, Raymond. 2012. "In Close Touch with Reality: Photographer Lewis Hine." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 1 (Spring): 44-49. "Hine (1874-1940), one of the most important American photographers of the 20th century, did some of his most memorable work in West Virginia."

Alvic, Philis. 2003. *Weavers of the Southern Highlands* [comprehensive history; missionary-era weaving centers; craft revival movement]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 233 pp.

Amberg, Rob. 1995. "Photographs of Lasting Value': An Interview With Earl Dotter." *The Southern Quarterly* 34 (Fall): 99-103.

Anderson, Belinda. 2001. "Jim Costa: West Virginia Renaissance Man" [curates and restores regional heritage items: pioneer tools, farming, blacksmithing, cabinetry, home tending]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Fall): 42-49.

Anderson, Colleen. 1999. "Redeeming the Wood: Self-Taught Woodcarver Herman Hayes" [Hurricane, W. Va.; b. 1923]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Summer): 20-29.

Appalachia. 2006. In *Milton Rogovin: The Making of a Social Documentary Photographer*, by Milton Rogovin and Melanie Herzog, 56-65, photos [1962-1971] and text, plus frontispiece photo. Tucson: Center for Creative Photography, The University of Arizona.

Appalachian Photography. 1997. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Summer): 1-41.

Archambeault, James. 2006. *James Archambeault's Historic Kentucky* [color photographs: full-page and captioned]. Foreword by Wendell Berry. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 153 pp.

Ardery, Julia S. 1998. *The Temptation: Edgar Tolson and the Genesis of Twentieth-Century Folk Art* [Ky. woodcarver]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 376 p.

Ardrey, Julia S. 1996. "How Edgar Tolson Made It: Oral Sources and Folk Art's Success." *Oral History Review* 23 (Winter): 1-18, cover photo. Wolfe Co., Ky. woodcarver; on the art of oral history documentation.

Argoe, April, and Bridget English. 2005. "Weavin' Stories: An Interview with Sonja Stikeleather" [Dillard, Ga.; b. 1939; rug weaving]. *Foxfire Magazine* 39 (Spring/Summer): 10-20.

Baron, Jennifer, Greg Langel, Elizabeth Perry, and Mark Stroup, ed. 2009. *Pittsburgh Signs Project: 250 Signs of Western Pennsylvania*. Pittsburgh: Carnegie Mellon University Press. 203 pp. Contents: I believe in neon / Jennifer Baron -- Learning from Pittsburgh / Greg Langel -- Privavate / Elizabeth Perry -- An invitation / Mark Stroup.

Austin, Peter. 2001. "The Ironwork of Tony Lord" [1930s Asheville blacksmith and architect]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 2, ed. R. S. Brunk, 35-57. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services, Inc.

B. B. Maurer West Virginia Folklife Award 2001: Dick Schnacke, Mountain Toy Maker [New Martinsville, W. Va.]. 2000-2001. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 6: i.

Barker, Garry. 1995. *Notes From a Native Son: Essays on the Appalachian Experience*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 207 pp.

Barnwell, Tim. 2009. *Hands in Harmony: Traditional Crafts and Music in Appalachia* [80 full-page duotone photos of artisans and craftsmen, with biographies and oral histories]. New York: W. W. Norton. 188 pp., plus CD with 20 songs by featured musicians.

Bartlett, Larry. 1998. "Rural Murals: New Deal Art in West Virginia [sidebar lists 16 Post Office Art sites]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Fall): 36-41.

Battlo, Jean. 2008. "Coal Art: The 'Other' West Virginia Coal Industry" [jewelry and molded figurines]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 4 (Winter): 10-15. Sidebar, "Coal Sculptor James Stewart," 16-17. Boone County; self-taught, award-winning carver.

Becker, Jane S. 1998. *Selling Tradition: Appalachia and the Construction of an American Folk, 1930-1940* [folk revival; cultural politics]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 331 pp.

Bell, Michael W. 2003. "'First Rate & Fashionable': Handmade Nineteenth Century Furniture at the Tennessee State Museum." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 62 (Spring): 5-109.

Bezner, Lili Corbus. 1998. "Photographer Bayard Wootten in 1930s Appalachia" [N.C.; pioneering female photographer]. *Southern Quarterly* 36 (Summer): 20-37.

Binnicker, Margaret D. 2004. "Southern Potteries Incorporated" [Unicoi Co., 1917-1957; sidebar in Chap. 12, "Ceramic Crafts and Potters"]. In *A History of Tennessee Arts: Creating Traditions, Expanding Horizons*, ed. C. West and M. Binnicker, 222-223. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press

Bissmeyer, Beth. 2009. "Debbie Littledeer" [featured artist; N.C.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 2 (Spring): 56-60. Eighteen of Littledeer's silk screen prints of mountain settings illustrate this issue.

Bodell, Dorothy H. 2005. "'Thou Art the Potter': A History of Bodell Pottery" [Blacksburg, Va., 1860s-1920s; photos]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 9: 18-26.

Boggs, Boyd. 2003. "'I Never Gave Up': Boyd Boggs of Gilmer County" [b. 1922; painter, sketch artist, glass decorator]. Interview by Ginny Hawker. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Fall): 10-16.

Bonesteel, Georgia. 2008. "Appalachian Quilting" [N.C.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 35-36. Special issue—"Fabric of Appalachia."

Brackner, Joey. 2006. *Alabama Folk Pottery* [comprehensive study; Ch. 8, "The Mountains," 123-147; oversize, photographs]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 311 pp.

Bradshaw, Thelma Finster. 2001. *Howard Finster: The Early Years: A Private Portrait of America's Premier Folk Artist* [1916-2001; Summerville, Ga.]. Birmingham, Ala.: Cranehill Publishers. 151 pp.

Bridge Over New River Saluted by Postal Service. 2011. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 53. West Virginia's New River Gorge Bridge is depicted in a new \$4.95 Priority Mail stamp issued by the USPS, illustrated by artist Dan Cosgrove.

Brosi, George. 2011. "Angel Clark: Featured Photographer." *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 4 (Fall): 123. Eighteen of Clark's photos appear in the special "Frank X Walker" issue.

Brosi, George. 2011. "Featured Artist: Paul Brett Johnson" [1947-2011]. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 3 (Summer): 122-122. Award winning children's book author and illustrator, from Knott County, Ky. Ten of his paintings illustrate this issue.

Brosi, George. 2012. "Larry D. Thacker: Featured Photographer." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 1 (Winter): 112. Fifteen of Middlesborough, Ky., writer Thacker's photographs appear in this special "Mark Powell" issue.

Brown, Brooke A., and Jennifer Francis Alkire, ed. 2005. *Art & Soul: West Virginians in the Arts* [colorful profiles of 50 literary, performing, and visual artists]. Morgantown, W. Va.: Appalachian Education Initiative. 101 pp.

Brunner, Warren E., and Albert J. Fritsch. 2010. *Mountain Moments*. Photographs by Warren Brunner, reflections by Albert Fritsch. Morley, Mo.: Acclaim Press. 168 pp. Oversize volume; 270 color images.

Burrison, John A. [1983] 2001. *Brothers in Clay: The Story of Georgia Folk Pottery*. Reprint. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 352 pp.

Burrison, John A. 2010. From Mud to Jug: The Folk Potters and Pottery of Northeast Georgia. Athens: University of Georgia Press in collaboration with the Folk Pottery Museum of Northeast Georgia. 161 pp. History, families, photos, text, interview excerpts, index of potters.

Burriss, Theresa L. 2007. "Inside the Outsider: A Provocative Art Experience at the William King Regional Arts Center" [Abingdon, Va.]. *Pluck: The Journal of Affrilachian Arts & Culture*, no. 2: 13-17. Artist Ollie Cox returns to the formerly segregated school he was barred from attending – now an arts center.

Bye, Ole. 2007. "Coalfields, 2002" [thirteen black & white photos; Va.]. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 3, no. 2 (Summer/Fall): Photography section. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-2/photo/index.html.

Bye, Ole. 2007. "Night Shift" [24 black & white photos]. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 3, no. 2 (Summer/Fall): Photography section. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-2/photo/index.html.

Casto, James E. 2002. "West Virginia's Showcase for Entrepreneurs" [Charleston retail shop features work of 200 artisans, specialty food producers, and microbusinesses]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (January-December): 28-33.

Caveny, Dale. 2007. "Hurrying Slowly with T. J. Worthington" [painter of musicians, Sparta, N.C.]. *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 11 (June-July). http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-11/tjworthington.html.

Cawley, Lucinda Reddington, Lorraine DeAngelis Ezbiansky, and Denise Rocheleau Nordberg. 1997. *Saved for the People of Pennsylvania: Quilts from the State Museum of Pennsylvania* [photographs and details]. Harrisburg: Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission. 67 pp.

Chastain, Patti. 1998. "Pine Needle Baskets: An Interview with Mrs. Diane Taylor" [Tiger, Ga.]. *Foxfire Magazine* 32 (Spring/Summer): 41-46.

Cheek, Mary Margaret. 1994. "Romanticizing Democracy: the Mountain Art of Howard Murry." *Appalachian Journal* 21 (Winter): 152-171.

Cheek, Pauline Binkley. 1997. "The Hooked Rug Workers of Madison County, North Carolina: A Narrative Record" [1930s and 40s; interviews]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 1, ed. R. S. Brunk, 8-35. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services Inc.

Cochran, Marie T. 2010. "M. Anna Fariello: Folklife Researcher and Museum Curator" [2010 Brown-Hudson Folklore Award winner]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 57, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 8-12.

Coe, Debbie, and Randy Coe. 2012. Fenton Art Glass: A Centennial of Glass Making 1907 to 2007 and Beyond [W. Va.]. 2d ed. Atglen, Pa.: Schiffer. 248 pp.

Cogswell, Robert. 2011. "Cannon County Basketry: The Sweezy Project." Photographs by Sam Sweezy [1998]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 66, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall, 2010): 1-57. Essay on local history and tradition followed by profiles of more than a dozen, mostly elderly basketmakers.

Cogswell, Robert. 2012. "Cannon County Basketry, Broader Documentation." *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 68, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 3-75. This second in a series on the white oak basketmaking tradition of Tennessee's Eastern Highland Rim (whose artisans were also chairmakers) includes historic photographs and extensive documentation of many families involved over several generations. See also: "Cannon County Basketry: The Sweezy Project," vol. 66, no. 1-2 (2011), by Robert Cogswell.

Cole, Samantha. 2009. "Featured Artist: Tom Martin" [Ky. outdoorsman and writer]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 1 (Winter): 30-42. Eighteen of Martin's photographs illustrate this issue.

Cole, Samantha. 2009. "Frederic S. Miller." *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 3 (Summer): 102. Son of Jim Wayne and Mary Ellen Miller, and whose artwork illustrates this special issue featuring Jim Wayne Miller.

Cole, Samantha. 2010. "Builder Levy" [Featured Photographer]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 2 (Spring): 96. Twenty of Levy's b&w photos are reprinted in this issue. See his documentary collection, *Images of Appalachian Coalfields* (1989; introduction by Helen M. Lewis).

Coleman, Martha Caroline. 2012. "Martha Manning: A Century of West Virginia Stained Glass" [Morgantown]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 3 (Fall): 20-25.

Cox, Reuben. 2009. *The Work of Joe Webb: Appalachian Master of Rustic Architecture* [1881-1950]. Photographs and essay by Reuben Cox. [Winston-Salem, N.C.?]: Jargon Society; Athens, Ga.: Distributed by University of Georgia Press. 120 pp. Tritone photos of 1920s-30s log cabins in Highlands, N.C.

Cuthbert, John A. 2000. *Early Art and Artists in West Virginia: An Introduction and Biographical Directory* [19th-20th century portraiture and landscape painting; 136 plates]. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 312 pp.

Cuthbert, John A., and Jessie Poesch. 1997. *David Hunter Strother: "One of the Best Draughtsmen the Country Possesses"* [1816-1888; pseud. "Porte Crayon"; illustrator/essayist for *Harper's Weekly*]. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 168 pp.

Dickinson, W. Calvin, and Michael E. Birdwell. 2004. "Made on the Mountain: Upper Cumberland Arts and Crafts" [Ky., Tenn.; wood, clay, fibers, paint]. In *Rural Life and Culture*

in the Upper Cumberland, ed. M. Birdwell and W. Dickinson, 246-273. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Dotter, Earl. 1995. "Portfolio." The Southern Quarterly 34 (Fall): 104-112.

Dunn, Dallas. 2002. "Gravedigger Dallas Dunn" [Kanawha Co.; occupation]. Interview by Amber Griffith. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Winter): 40-45.

Edwards, David. 2010. "Ann W. Olson" [Featured Artist]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 3 (Summer): 115. Seventeen of Olson's photographs are featured in this issue. She has illustrated two books by George Ella Lyon: *A Wordful Child* (1993), and *Counting on the Woods* (1998).

Ellison, Elizabeth. 2007. "Art for This Issue–Elizabeth Ellison" [40 paintings and drawings by this Bryson City, N.C., artist]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no.2 (Spring).

Fabric of Appalachia. 2008. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 1-80. Essays, stories, and poetry about sewing, quilting, and woven fabrics.

Fariello, Anna. 2003. "Arts and Crafts in Appalachia: The Third Wave" [1930s Appalachian Craft Revival]. *Style 1900* 16 (February): 70-75.

Fariello, M. Anna. 2006. "The Folklorist's Digital Toolkit" [Western Carolina University; digitization as a preservation tool documenting Craft Revival images: http://craftrevival.wcu.edu]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 53, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 50-59.

Fariello, M. Anna. 2006. "Visual Arts in Appalachia" [with suggested readings, resources]. In *A Handbook to Appalachia: An Introduction to the Region*, ed. G. Edwards, J. Asbury, and R. Cox, 217-236. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Fariello, M. Anna, section editor. 2006. "Visual Arts" [signed articles]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 1407-1455 (with introductory essay, 1407-1413). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Feather, Carl E. 2006. "Woodcarver Matt Wilkinson: Boone County's Tool Man" [pocket-knife carved, identical replicas of tool hardware]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 4 (Winter): 24-31.

Feather, Carl E. 2009. "'I Have All I Need Here': Glass Artist Ron Hinkle" [Upshur Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 4 (Winter): 56-63. www.ronhinkle.com/.

Feather, Carl E. 2010. "Doyle Kisner: Tucker County's Single-Handed Clock Man." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 4 (Winter): 36-42. Profile of one-handed, 86-year-old clock repairman and wordworker.

Feather, Carl E. 2011. "Modeling History." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 1 (Spring): 8-15. John Bowman constructs balsa wood steamboat models at his home in Wheeling, "birthplace of the American steamboat."

Feather, Carl E. 2012. "Allegheny Treenware: Carving Out a Living in Preston County." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 4 (Winter): 48-55. Stan Jennings produces a line of award-winning, carved wooden kitchen utensils.

Foster, Gary S. 1996. "The Tobacco-Stick Quail Trap: A Live Trap of the Upland South" [details construction and use]. *Tennessee Anthropologist* 21 (Fall): 131-138.

Fountain, Samantha. 2007. "Quilt History" [at Foxfire program]. *Foxfire Magazine* 41 (Fall/Winter): 66-74.

Garton, George. 2008. "First Lady and the Ramp Egg." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 1 (Spring): 60-61. Official 2007 Easter egg display at the White House; W. Va. submission; Laura Bush.

Garver, Thomas H. 2004. "The Last Days of Steam: O. Winston Link and Virginia" [gallery/profile; 1950s photos of steam locomotives in social settings]. *Virginia Quarterly Review* 80 (Winter): 212-221.

Gayheart, Willard, and Donia S. Eley. 2003. *Willard Gayheart, Appalachian Artist* [Ky. pencil artist]. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 9. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 190 pp.

Goodrich, Frances Louisa. [1931] 2010. *Mountain Homespun: A Facsimile of the Original, Published in 1931* [hand weaving]. Reprint, with a new preface and introduction by Jan Davidson. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 91 pp.

Graff, Elissa R. 2012. "Preserving Traditional Culture in the Cumberland Gap Region." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 18, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 234-243. Lincoln Memorial University-UNC Asheville undergraduate research project to record and preserve the stories and work of craftspeople in Bell Co., Ky., Claiborne Co., Tenn., and Lee Co., Va.

Gray, Pamela Lee. 2002. *Ohio Valley Pottery Towns* [vintage photos]. Chicago: Arcadia. 128 pp. Contents: The potter and the trade | East Liverpool, Ohio | Wellsville, Ohio | Beaver Area, Pennsylvania | Chester, West Virginia | Newell, West Virginia | East Palestine, Ohio | Celebrating the future | Resources for research.

Greer, Jerry D. 2000. *Appalachia: The Southern Highlands* [color photographs: N.C., Tenn., Va., W. Va.]. Appalachia Landscape Series. Johnson City, Tenn.: Mountain Trail Press.

Greer, Jerry D. 2004. *Blue Ridge Mountains: America's First Frontier* [color photos]. Foreword by Donald Davis. Johnson City, Tenn.: Mountain Trail Press. 72 pp.

Gritton, Joy L. 2001. "Made in Japan with the Exception of Two: Native American and Appalachian Arts Come of Age" [traditional arts' form and function vs. outside patrons' "modern applications"; missions, movements, guilds, schools, markets]. Chap. 8 in *Painters, Patrons, and Identity: Essays in Native American Art to Honor J. J. Brody*, ed. J. Szabo, 163-186. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press.

Gritton, Joy. 2006. "William Morris, Walmart, and Appalachian Arts: A Personal Reflection" [Arts and Crafts movement]. *Journal of Kentucky Studies* 23, (September): 77-80.

Hanson, Todd A. 2012. "Putney: 'Model' Coal Town in Kanawha County." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 3 (Fall): 42-49. Scale model company town on display at the Exhibition Coal Mine museum at Beckley.

Harris, Patricia, and David Lyon. 2005. "Kentucky's Art Will Make People Sing, Too" [profiles locations including Morehead's Kentucky Folk Art Center, Berea, Renfro Valley, and Hindman]. *Christian Science Monitor*, 18 May: 16 (Travel Section). http://www.csmonitor.com/2005/0518/p16s03-trgn.html.

Harwell, Jane M. 1995. "Ed Briggs: Reviving a Traditional Craft With a Contemporary Eye" [bowl carving]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 42 (Winter-Spring): 35-52.

Hassel, Ken. 2007. "An Interview with the NR Editors: Elon University, 6 January 2006." *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 3, no. 2 (Summer/Fall): Featured Artist section. 1600 words. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-2/photo/index.html.

Hassel, Ken. 2007. "Ken Hassel: A Life of Coal" [Grundy, Va.]. A podcast series edited & produced by Joseph Champagne. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 3, no. 2 (Summer/Fall): Featured Artist section. Contents, four podcasts with photos: Prologue: The Working Spirit: A Portrait of Factory Labor / I. Beginning A Life of Coal: A New Area, A Familiar People / II. Into The Mine: Working Under the Surface / III. Needless Apprehension: Meeting the People. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-2/photo/index.html.

Hassel, Ken. 2007. "Ken Hassel: Portrait of Dante" [Va.; 60 black & white portraits]. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 3, no. 2 (Summer/Fall): Featured Artist section. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-2/photo/index.html.

Hawthorne, Ann, and Robin Dreyer. 1996. "Penland School of Crafts" [profile]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 29 (January-April): 34-39.

Hearne, Janet. 1997. "Ken Murray: Advocating for Appalachia" [photographer]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Summer): 26-29.

Herrin, Roberta. 2008. "A Meditation on Fabric." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 2. Special issue—"Fabric of Appalachia."

Hewitt, Mark, and Nancy Sweezy. 2005. *The Potter's Eye: Art and Tradition in North Carolina Pottery* [statewide scope; catalog of an exhibition; salt glaze, alkaline glaze]. Photography by Jason Dowdle. Chapel Hill: Published for the North Carolina Museum of Art by the University of North Carolina Press. 274 pp.

Hoffman, Carl. 2004-2005. "Kentucky's Creative Marketing Boosts Artisan Businesses" [Kentucky Artisan Center at Berea on I-75; and Kentucky Artisan Heritage Trails (KAHT) developed by EKU's Center for Economic Development, Entrepreneurship, and Technology]. *Appalachia Magazine: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission*. 13 para. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS3423.

Holbrook, Jaime. 1996. "The Art of Making a Cherokee Arrow" [oral history]. *Foxfire Magazine* 30 (Fall/Winter): 119-123.

Horton, Laurel. 1999. "'If Quilts Could Talk': Voices from the Late-Twentieth Century." *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 21, no. 3 (Summer): 7-12. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/index.html.

Horton, Laurel. 1999. "Blue Ridge Quiltmaking in the Late Twentieth Century." *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 21, no. 3 (Summer): 3-6. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/index.html.

Horton, Laurel. 2005. *Mary Black's Family Quilts: Memory and Meaning in Everyday Life* [Spartanburg; 16 quilts over six generations]. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 184 pp.

Hunter Library, Western Carolina University. 2011 (date accessed). "Craft Revival: Shaping Western North Carolina Past and Present" [1890s-1940s] (digital collection). Project director, Anne Fariello. "During the late 19th and early 20th centuries, mountain craftsmen formed the cornerstone of a revived interest in things handmade to create a movement known as the Craft Revival. Although craftsmen left few written records of their own, their story survives in samples of their work, accounts of their sales, and newspaper clippings celebrating their talent in collections throughout the Appalachian region. A research-based website interprets the Craft Revival and includes an archival repository of over 4,500 documents, photographs, and craft objects." http://www.wcu.edu/library/DigitalCollections/CraftRevival/.

Irwin, John Rice. 2004. "Musical Instrument Makers" [sidebar in Chap. 8, "Woodcraft"; excerpted from *A People and Their Music* (2000)]. In *A History of Tennessee Arts: Creating Traditions, Expanding Horizons*, ed. C. West and M. Binnicker, 165-166. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Isbell, Robert; photographs by Arthur Tilley. 1999. *The Keepers: Mountain Folk Holding On to Old Skills and Talents* [profiles 15 folk artists, mostly N.C.]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 240 pp.

Israel, Jerry. 1997. "The Mace Family of Chair Makers" [125 years of chair making]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 1, ed. R. S. Brunk, 176-200. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services Inc.

Jeff Fetty, Spencer, West Virginia, USA. 2012. Chapter in *Metal Design International 2009*. Immenstadt, Germany: Verlag Hephaistos, comp. T. Schumacher, 123-145. Showcases the work of metal sculptor, Jeff Fetty, one of eight world-class artists described in this yearbook.

Johnson, Andrea. 1998. "An Interview with Tom Landreth" [Ga. landscape painter]. *Foxfire Magazine* 32 (Fall/Winter): 135-143.

Johnson, Bruce E. 2001. "'To serve unnoticed and to work unseen': Eleanor Vance, Charlotte Yale and the Origins of Biltmore Estate Industries [missionary craftspeople; 1905-1917; woodwork]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 2, ed. R. S. Brunk, 241-266. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services, Inc.

Johnson, Kim. 2005. "Rube Stump: Calhoun County's King of Swing" [1925-2005; crafting wooden porch swings]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 2 (Summer): 28-33.

Johnson, Mary Elizabeth, with photographs by J. D. Schwalm. 2001. *Mississippi Quilts*. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 224 pp.

Jones, Michael Owen. [1975, 1989] 2003. *Craftsman of the Cumberlands: Tradition and Creativity* [Chester Cornett, 1913-1981; Perry Co., Ky., chairmaker]. Reprint. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 289 pp. Originally published as *The Hand Make Object and Its Maker*.

Joslin, Michael. 2005. *Highland Handcrafters: Appalachian Craftspeople* [N.C.; profiles of 50 varied artisans]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 224 pp.

Joslin, Michael. 2008. "A New Face in the Fields: Alpacas in Appalachia" [N.C.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 37-40. Special issue—"Fabric of Appalachia."

Kilby, WC. 2012. "Michael Kiernan: Featured Photographer." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 4 (Fall): 115. Seventeen of Kiernan's photos illustrate this special issue on writer Nikki Giovanni.

Kirby, Jim. 2009. *Harpers Ferry: A Crossroads in Time* [W. Va.; color photos]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Mountain Trail Press. 120 pp.

Knight, Joan. 2002. *Virginia Quilt Museum* [Harrisonburg; catalog]. Photographs by Polly Frye. Charlottesville, Va.: Howell Press. 134 pp.

Knight, Lydia F. 2008. "From Quilts to Chenille Bedspreads to Carpets." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 30-33. Special issue—"Fabric of Appalachia"; Catherine Evans Whitener, b. 1880, Whitfield County, Ga.

Knowles, Susan W. 2004. "Arrowmont School of Arts and Crafts" [sidebar in Chap. 13, "Tennessee Textiles"]. In *A History of Tennessee Arts: Creating Traditions, Expanding Horizons*, ed. C. West and M. Binnicker, 240. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Knowles, Susan W. 2004. "Fine Craft/Fine Art" [Studio Craft movement; sidebar in Chap. 9, "Basketmaking"]. In *A History of Tennessee Arts: Creating Traditions, Expanding Horizons*, ed. C. West and M. Binnicker, 182. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Kube, Paul A. 2005. *Wagon-Making in the United States During the Late-19th through Mid-20th Centuries: A Study of the Gruber Wagon Works at Mt. Pleasant, Pennsylvania* [estbl. 1885; 103 photos, illustrations, glossary]. Blacksburg, Va.: McDonald & Woodward Publishing Company. 258 pp.

Kurtik, Frank J., and Gary Grimes. 2002. "Gravestone Carvers of Westmoreland County." *Western Pennsylvania History* 85 (Winter 2002-2003): 40-44.

L'Ecuyer, Kelly H. 2002. "Uplifting the Southern Highlander: Handcrafts at Biltmore Estate Industries" [1901-1917; Asheville, N.C.]. *Winterthur Portfolio* 37, no. 2-3: 123-146.

Lauterer, Maggie Palmer. 1997. "The Carvings of Wade Hampton Martin" [b. 1920; woodcarver]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 1, ed. R. S. Brunk, 98-113. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services Inc.

Leftwich, Rodney Henderson. 2001. "The Nonconnah Pottery of Tennessee and Western North Carolina: 1904-1918" [later Pisgah Forest Pottery]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 2, ed. R. S. Brunk, 70-90. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services, Inc.

Levy, Builder. 2005. *Builder Levy: Photographer*. New York: A.R.T. Press. 167 pp. Documentary, sepia tone portraits from 1970s- 80s W. Va. and Ky. Contents: New York City -- Appalachian coalfields -- Mongolia -- Cuba -- Demonstrations – Artist's Statement – Notes on the photographs, and afterword, "Builder Levy's Appalachian Photographs," by Walter Rosenblum, 152-153.

Lewis, Johanna Miller. 1995. *Artisans in the North Carolina Backcountry*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 240 pp.

Lilly, John, and Lloyd Gainer. 2007. "The Photography of Lloyd Gainer: Worth 10,000 Words" [1890-1905; Parkersburg; exceptional portraiture]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 4 (Winter): 40-49.

Lilly, John. 2000. "Blacksville Pottery: Local Hands and Native Clay." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Spring): 44-51.

Lilly, John. 2003. "Weaver Dorothy Thompson" [Canaan Valley, Tucker Co.; b. 1920]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Winter): 10-17.

Lindsey, Jack L. 1997. "The Woodwork of Samuel Wilson Jacobs" [African-American folk artist]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 1, ed. R. S. Brunk, 80-81. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services Inc.

Link, O. Winston, and Thomas H. Garver. [1995] 2008. *The Last Steam Railroad in America*. Photographs by O. Winston Link; text by Thomas H. Garver. New York: Abradale Press; Harry N. Abrams. 144 pp. Originally published in 1987 as *Steam, Steel & Stars: America's Last Steam Railroad*. Norfolk and Western Railway; 1950s Va., W. Va., N.C.

Lohman, Jon. 2007. *In Good Keeping: Virginia's Folklife Apprenticeships* [40 masters profiled]. Photographs by Morgan Miller. Charlottesville: Virginia Foundation for the Humanities. 227 pp.

Long, Frank W. 1997. *Confessions of a Depression Muralist* [W.P.A. artist based in Berea, Ky., 1932-42]. Foreword by Sue Bridwell Beckham. Columbia: University of Missouri Press. 179 pp.

Mack, Charles R. 2006. *Talking with the Turners: Conversations with Southern Folk Potters* [37 potters from S.C., N.C., Ky., Ga., Ala.; "Thematic excerpts transcribed from interviews taped in the field in 1981 and preserved in the folklife resource center of the McKissick Museum of the University of South Carolina with...photography, and a CD recording of the potters' voices."]. Columbia, S.C.: University of South Carolina Press in cooperation with McKissick Museum. 233 pp., plus CD sound disc.

Maloney, Michael. 1997. "Murals" [arts project to paint murals on public buildings in Southeastern Ohio]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Winter): 29-33, 48.

Marcengill, Roger. 2002. "It's 'Blacksmithing,' not 'Welding'" [Oconee Co., S.C. blacksmith]. Interview by student Stephanie Jobbitt. *Foxfire Magazine* 36 (Fall/Winter): 104-111.

Matheny, Paul. 2001. "Face Vessels and Contemporary South Carolina Folk Pottery" [face jugs; Spartanburg and Greenville Cos., S.C.]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 48 (Spring/Summer-Fall/Winter): 22-27.

Maxwell, Dan. 2002. "The Hammer and the Forge" [blacksmith; Rabun Co., Ga.]. Interview by student Cheryl Binnie. *Foxfire Magazine* 36 (Spring/Summer): 58-69.

May, Russell. 2007. "Illustrations: Russell May Paintings" [1921-1990; eastern Ky. commercial artist; 25 paintings illustrate this issue]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no.3 (Fall).

McCann, Matt. 2012. "When Steam Locomotion Ground to a Halt." *Lens: Photography, Video and Visual Journalism* (blog). *New York Times*, 16 November. 760 words; 12 photos. Profile of photographer O. Winston Link who "became famous for photographing a moribund technology, lugging his flashbulbs and Rolleiflex around the hills of Appalachia in search of steam locomotives." http://nyti.ms/1yHY16s.

McCann, Monica. 2009. "Stecoah Valley Cultural Arts Center" [Graham Co., N.C.; 2009 Community Traditions Award]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 56, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 30-33.

McClain, LouWanda, and Buddy English. 1999. "Uncle Buddy" [Rabun Co., Ga.; student interview with folk artist English]. *Foxfire Magazine* 33 (Fall/Winter): 149-153.

McCombs, Douglas. 2002. "Western Pennsylvania Folk: Art from the People." Western Pennsylvania History 85 (Winter 2002-2003): 10-20.

McDaniel, Lynda. 1999. "A Celebration of Art" [William King Regional Arts Center, Abingdon, Va.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (September-December): 34-38.

McGowan, Thomas, ed. 1997. "A Treasury of Tar Heel Folk Artists: The North Carolina Folk Heritage Award, 1989-1996." Special issue, *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 44 (nos. 1-2): 1-155. Photographs and biographical sketches of over 100 artists.

McGowan, Thomas. 1998. "Lula Belle and Glenn Bolick: Musicians and Traditional Potters" [Watauga Co., N.C.]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 45 (Summer-Fall): 117-119.

McKinley, Gale. 2001. "About Fishing, Making Split Oak Baskets, and Other Affairs of Everyday Life: The McKinley Family of Anderson, South Carolina" [split oak fish baskets]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 48 (Spring/Summer-Fall/Winter): 28-36.

McLaughlin, Jean W., ed. 2004. *The Nature of Craft and the Penland Experience* ["Published on the occasion of the exhibition at the Mint Museum of Craft + Design, Charlotte, NC, celebrating the 75th anniversary of Penland School of Crafts"]. New York: Lark Books. 228 pp.

Meredith, Donna. 2012. *Magic in the Mountains: Kelsey Murphy, Robert Bonkamp, and the West Virginia Cameo Glass Revolution* [Pilgrim Glass; Ceredo, W. Va.]. Tallahassee, Fla.: Wild Women Writers. 235 pp.

Meredith, Donna. 2012. "Visions of Heaven: Cameo Glass Artist Kelsey Murphy" [Wayne Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 3 (Fall): 60-65. Sidebar: "Museum of American Glass" [Weston, W. Va.].

Miller, Richard Kidwell, and John A. Cuthbert. [2004] 2011. *Richard Kidwell Miller* [exhibition catalogue, 25 paintings; b. 1930, Fairmont, W. Va.]. Curated with an essay by John

A. Cuthbert. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press, 104 pp. Originally published: West Virginia Historical Art Collection, West Virginia University Libraries.

Milnes, Gerald. 2000. "Passing It On: West Virginia Folk Arts Apprenticeship Program." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Winter): 35-37.

Milnes, Gerald. 2002. "Carved in Stone: West Virginia Grave Markers." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Winter): 46-52.

Milnes, Gerald. 2005. "Cole Boats" [jon boat crafting, since 1834; Gauley Bridge, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 4 (Winter): 43-45.

Milspaw, Yvonne J. 1997. "Regional Style in Quilt Design" [upstate N.Y., Pa., Appalachia, Utah]. *Journal of American Folklore* 110 (Fall): 363-390.

Miner, Mark A. 1999. "AL-ED-HA: Fayette County's Forgotten 'Mountain Poet'" [Allen Edward Harbaugh, 1849-1916; sketch artist, sign painter, poet]. Western Pennsylvania History 82 (Fall): 106-116.

Mitchell, James R.; photographs by Michael Keller. "Sharing the Weight: A Visit with Glassmaker Jennings Bonnell" [decorative paperweights]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Winter): 48-55. Includes sidebar photo essay on "The Students of Jennings Bonnell."

Moore, Bob. 2006. "Homer L. Wells: Midland Trail's Mystery Photographer" [1898-1974; vintage photographs along scenic Rt. 60 from 1920s-40s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 3 (Fall): 18-24. Sidebar, "Midland Trail Association" [maps], 25.

Moore, Catherine. 2004. "Whimmydiddles and FlipperDingers: A Visit with Toymaker Dick Schnacke" [New Martinsville; 40 years crafting]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Winter): 10-17.

Moore, Catherine. 2005. "Ties That Bind: The Hahn Brothers of Hardy County" [sawmill craftsmen in their 80s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 2 (Summer): 22-27.

Morgan, Catherine. 2000. "A Long Rest" [folk artist James Harold Jennings, d. 2000; Pinnacle, Va.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 28 (Spring): 32-35.

Morrison, Veronica, and Janie P. Taylor. 1999. "Mountain Handicrafts: A Part of Our Heritage: An Interview with Janie P. Taylor" [Rabun Co., Ga.; embroidery, patchwork, lacework]. *Foxfire Magazine* 33 (Spring/Summer): 40-48.

Newton, Stephen. 2008. "J. Scott Graham: Blue Ridge Parkway's Passionate Photographer." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 55-56. Graham's books include *Blue Ridge Parkway: America's Favorite Journey*, and *Traveling the Blue Ridge Parkway: A Guide to America's Most Scenic Drive*.

Page, Don. 2004. "Hearth & Fair: Don Page and the Roots of GOLDENSEAL" [folklife magazine, 1973-74 predecessor of *Goldenseal*, and outgrowth of the renowned Mountain State Art & Craft Fair near Ripley]. Interview by John LillyNo location*Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Spring): 52-59.

Parron, Suzi, and Donna Sue Groves. 2012. *Barn Quilts and the American Quilt Trail Movement*. Athens: Swallow Press/Ohio University Press. 234 pp. "...featuring the colorful patterns of quilt squares writ large on barns....through twenty-nine states," beginning in Appalachia. Interviews; color photos.

Patterson, Daniel W. 2012. *The True Image: Gravestone Art and the Culture of Scotch Irish Settlers in the Pennsylvania and Carolina Backcountry*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 481 pp. Carving traditions and markings of the Bigham family which immigrated to Pennsylvania in the late 1730s.

Peterson, Ronan Kyle. 1998. "'I'll Tell You What — It All Depends on the Wood': Making Handles with Joe Willis" [b. 1913; axe handle woodworking; Mitchell Co., N.C.]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 45 (Summer-Fall): 129-143.

Phillips, Keifer. 2010. "Building a Shaving Horse with Student Keifer Phillips." Interview by Foxfire students. *Foxfire Magazine* 44, no. 1-2 (Spring-Summer): 57-64.

Pierson, Jeff. 2006. "Finding a Face in the Stone': Folk Artist Earl Gray" [self-taught stone carver; Cabell Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 1 (Spring): 56-61.

Plant, Ian J., and Jerry D. Greer. 2005. *West Virginia: Wonder and Light* [color photos; mountains and canyons]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Mountain Trail Press. 72 pp.

Pomeroy, Dan. 2004. "Mountain Summer Schools" [Gatlinburg, Monteagle; sidebar in Chap. 6, "Painting in the Twentieth Century"]. In *A History of Tennessee Arts: Creating Traditions*, *Expanding Horizons*, ed. C. West and M. Binnicker, 112-113. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Porter, Benjamin. 2001. "Herbert W. Pelton: '...Expert in Taking Pictures of This Kind" [panoramic photos, postcards; early 20th-century Asheville]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 2, ed. R. S. Brunk, 314-342. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services, Inc.

Prine, Charles W. 2000. *Planemakers of Western Pennsylvania and Environs* [woodworking handtools; 19th-century]. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Historical Society of Western Pennsylvania. 117 pp.

Ramsey, Bets. 2004. "Tennessee Quilts As Art." In *A History of Tennessee Arts: Creating Traditions, Expanding Horizons*, ed. C. West and M. Binnicker, 247-260. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Rapp, Wayne. 2006. Celebrating, Honoring, and Valuing Rich Traditions: The History of the Ohio Appalachian Arts Program. Lancaster, Ohio: Lucky Press. 152 pp.

Reul, Myrtle R. 1998. "Zebedee John Crouse: Mountain Photographer" [1871-1960]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Summer): 26-33.

Reul, Myrtle. 1997. *Photographer of the Hills and Prairielands* [W. Va.; turn-of-century photographs of Barbour, Taylor, and Harrison Counties]. Self-published. Printed by Athens Printing Co., Athens, Ga. 252 pp.

Rogers, Stephen T. 2004. "Jugs, Jars, Bowls, and Churns: Tennessee's Ceramic Crafts and Potters" [with sidebars on patriarch Andrew Lafever, b. 1774, and renowned potter C. A. Haun, executed as a Union sympathizer 1861]. In *A History of Tennessee Arts: Creating Traditions, Expanding Horizons*, ed. C. West and M. Binnicker, 213-227. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Romano, Carolyn. 2012. "Pat Arnow: Featured Photographer." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 138-139. Nineteen of Arnow's photographs illustrate this special issue featuring author Harriette Simpson Arnow.

Rood, Kermit. 2008. "How To Make Rope The Old-Timey Way." Interview by student Katie Justus. *Foxfire Magazine* 42 (Fall-Winter): 53-56.

Roper, Don. 2001. "Creativity and Ingenuity on the Mill Hill: Reflections on Cotton Mill Toys and Other Objects" [Piedmont, S.C.]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 48 (Spring/Summer-Fall/Winter): 37-46.

Runnels, Leslie (Guest Writer). 2006. "Traditional Textiles: Giving the Old Ways New Life–Foxfire's Resident Artist, Sharon Grist." *Foxfire Magazine* 40 (Fall/Winter): 148-156.

Sanders, Randy. 2011. "Travis Graves: Art Maker." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 48-50. Profile of Johnson City, Tenn., sculptor, painter, videographer whose art addresses our relationship with nature.

Sayers, Robert. [1971] 2005. "Potters in a Changing South" [Meaders Pottery, Cleveland, Ga.; Brown Pottery, Arden, N.C.]. In *Culture, Ethnicity, and Justice in the South: The Southern Anthropological Society, 1968-1971,* 397-411. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. (Reprint, from *Proceedings No. 4. The Not So Solid South: Anthropological Studies in a Regional Subculture*, ed. J. Morland, 93-107).

Scarborough, Quincy J. The Craven Family of Southern Folk Potters: North Carolina, Georgia, Tennessee, Arkansas and Missouri. Fayetteville, N.C.: Quincy Scarborough Companies, 2005. 143 pp.

Shaluta, Steve. 2009. "Historical Grafton, West Virginia" [photos]. Steve Shaluta Photography. http://www.steveshaluta.com/Grafton/. Commercial portfolio with hundreds of b&w photos of

this northern W. Va. railroad town. Links to other galleries of W. Va. seasonal and landscape photos.

Shombert, Dave. 2000. "Turning and Learning: Paul Weinberger's Woodshop" [Weston, W. Va.; segmented turning]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Winter): 28-34.

Simmonds, William G. 2004. *Advertising Barns: Vanishing American Landmarks* [e.g., "Chew Mail Pouch Tobacco"; photos]. St. Paul, Minn.: MBI Publishing. 128 pp.

Simons, Nathaniel. 2008. "Bow Making in West Virginia" [traditional; of osage and hickory]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 3 (Fall): 30-33.

Six, Dean. 2002. West Virginia Glass between the Wars [20 companies; 500 photos]. Atglen, Pa.: Schiffer Publishing. 160 pp.

Six, Dean. 2003. "Stained Glass in West Virginia: A Brief History" [early 1900s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Spring): 15.

Six, Dean. 2003. *Viking Glass: 1944-1970* [catalog; New Martinsville, W. Va.]. Atglen, Pa.: Schiffer. 160 pp.

Six, Dean. 2008. "The Best Thing I Ever Did': Willa Norman and Fenton Glass." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 2 (Summer): 16-17. 32-year employee; Williamstown, W. Va.

Six, Dean. 2008. "Fenton: A Century of Art Glass in Williamstown." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 2 (Summer): 8-13, plus sidebar with color photos of 12 exhibition pieces, 14-15. Handcrafted glass factory, founded 1905.

Sloan, Juli. 2007. "Dean Hill" [Featured Artist; photographer, b. Morgan Co., Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 1 (Winter): 124.

Smith, Barbara. 2003. "Bringing Back the Beauty: Stained Glass Restoration in Randolph County" [100-year-old courthouse dome]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Spring): 10-17, and cover photo.

Snyder, Jeffrey B. 1998. Morgantown Glass from Depression Glass through the 1960s

[W. Va.; glassware catalog and price guide]. Atglen, Pa.: Schiffer Publishing. 224 pp.

Sorrell, Robert. 2008. "Hope Frazier: Remembering the Art of Brushy" [d. 2007]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 41-42. Newspaper editor and photographer discusses her 2007 multimedia exhibition at ETSU documenting mountaintop removal destruction on Ford Mountain and the community of Brushy, Ky.

Taylor, Terry B. 1997. "Sunset Mountain Pottery" [1929-1935]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 1, ed. R. S. Brunk, 50-62. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services Inc.

Teasley, Christi. 2004. "Tennessee Textiles." In *A History of Tennessee Arts: Creating Traditions, Expanding Horizons*, ed. C. West and M. Binnicker, 229-245. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Thomas, Florence. 2004. *The Art of Florence Thomas* [biography; reproductions of 124 of her paintings; Ashe Co., N.C.]. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 144 pp.

Toplovich, Ann. 2004. "Joe L. Evins Appalachian Center for Crafts" [created 1970s; sidebar in Chap. 9, "Basketmaking"]. In *A History of Tennessee Arts: Creating Traditions, Expanding Horizons*, ed. C. West and M. Binnicker, 176-177. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Trammell, Susan. 2010. "The Life of a Saddle Maker" [Rome, Ga.]. Student interview by Kelsey Henry, Marina Defore, Leah Gober, and Austin Carpenter. *Foxfire Magazine* 44, no. 3-4 (Fall-Winter): 30-41.

Tricarico, Barbara., ed. 2006. Quilts of Virginia, 1607-1899: The Birth of America Through the Eye of a Needle [428 color photos]. Atglen, Pa.: Schiffer. 160 pp.

Turpin, Steve. 2001. "Steve Turpin: A Devilishly Creative Potter" [Ga.; face jugs]. Interview by student Jared Weber. *Foxfire Magazine* 35 (Spring/Summer): 38-47.

Valentine, Fawn. 2000. West Virginia Quilts and Quiltmakers: Echoes from the Hills [heritage documentary]. Athens: Ohio University Press. 282 pp.

Valentine, Fawn. 2001. "'Quilt of Happy Memories': Mabel Moore of Nallen" [interview; profiles of 95-year-old quilter and lumber company town]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Spring): 11-19.

Van Dommelen, David B. 2004. *Allen H. Eaton: Dean of American Crafts* [1878-1962; author of *Handicrafts of the Southern Highlands* (New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1937)]. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Local History Company. 216 pp.

Vance, Barry. 2009. "Dwelling in the Backcountry" [portfolio]. *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 59, no.3 (Winter): 79-88, and cover illustration. Nine of Vance's paintings of Blue Ridge and Allegheny Mountains scenes in the Potomac Highlands, matched with prose and poetry passages by Billy Edd Wheeler, John O'Brien, Charles Wright, Wendell Berry, Louise McNeill, Ann Pancake, and others.

Venable, Sam; photographs by Paul Efird. 2000. *Mountain Hands: A Portrait of Southern Appalachia* [profiles forty craftspeople]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 272 pp.

Wahlman, Maude Southwell, Adrian Swain, and Amalia K. Amaki. 1998. *African-American Folk Art in Kentucky* [from an exhibition]. Morehead: Kentucky Folk Art Center. 17 leaves.

Watkins, Charles Alan. 1997. "Why Have There Been No Great Appalachian Photographers?" *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Summer): 21-25.

Watts, Missy, and Candi Forester. 1998. "The Unique Artwork of Tubby Brown" [interview with Commerce, Ga., folk-artist]. *Foxfire Magazine* 32 (Spring/Summer): 23-27.

Weinstein, Emily Eve. 2009. *Moon Book: A Pictorial Journal of a Year of Painting the Full Moon*. Point Pleasant, W. Va.: Discovery Press. 82 pp. Reproductions of approximately 70 oil paintings of settings under a full moon, mostly in N.C.

West, Carroll Van, and Margaret Duncan Binnicker, ed. 2004. *A History of Tennessee Arts: Creating Traditions, Expanding Horizons* [26 chapters: visual, architecture, craft, literary, performance (speech, theater, dance, film, music)]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 472 pp.

West, Carroll Van. 2004. "Tennessee Basketmaking." In *A History of Tennessee Arts: Creating Traditions, Expanding Horizons*, ed. C. West and M. Binnicker, 175-183. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

West Virginia Museum of American Glass. 2003. *L.G. Wright Glass* [catalog, decorative glass; New Martinsville, W. Va.]. Atglen, Pa.: Schiffer. 192 pp.

White, Betsy K. 2006. *Great Road Style: The Decorative Arts Legacy of Southwest Virginia and Northeast Tennessee*. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 212 pp.

Williams, Joe. 2012. "Joe Williams's Point of Life!" Interview by student Brittany Houck. *Foxfire Magazine* 46, no. 1-2 (Spring/Summer): 38-48. Making and lacing bark berry buckets.

Wilson, Kathleen Curtis. 1996. "A Handmade Vision" [Western N.C. partnership]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 13 (Summer): 20-24.

Wilson, Kathleen Curtis. 1997. "The Handweaving of Allie Josephine Mast, 1861-1936" [Valle Crucis, N.C.]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 1, ed. R. S. Brunk, 138-155. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services Inc.

Wilson, Kathleen Curtis. 2001. *Textile Art from Southern Appalachia: The Quiet Work of Women* [46 bed covers; 1830-1930]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 106 pp.

Wilson, Kathleen Curtis, section editor. 2006. "Crafts" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 769-841 (with introductory essay, 769-775). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Wilson, Priscilla. 2002. "The 'Gourd' Life' [gourd artisan]. Interview by student Stephanie Jobbitt. *Foxfire Magazine* 36 (Spring/Summer): 25-36.

Winter, John. 2012. "Cracked Crucible: Freeform Photos from Fenton [art glass; Wood Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 3 (Fall): 26-35, 73. Photo essay.

Wright, Jack. 2002. "Appalachian *Art Brut:* Reflections on the Life of Fred J. Carter" [Clintwood, Va. painter and sculptor; 1911-1992]. *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Fall 2001-Winter 2002): 144-163.

Zug, Charles G. 2009. "Sidney G. Luck: Fifth Generation Potter" [2009 Brown-Hudson Folklore Award; Randolph Co.]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 56, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 10-13.

Zug, Charles G., III. 1997. "E. A. McKillop: 'A Born Carving Man" [woodcarver; d. 1950]. In May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina, Vol. 1, ed. R. S. Brunk, 36-49. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services Inc.

BIOGRAPHY

Significant figures, obituaries and tributes

Anderson, Maggie. 2012. "Irene Durrett McKinney (1939-2012)." *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 228-233. McKinney served for eighteen years as West Virginia's poet laureate, 1994-2012.

Ballard, Sandra L., ed. 2000. "Letters: *Appalachian Journal* Editor Gets Mail" [letters of tribute to retiring J. W. (Jerry Wayne) Williamson]. *Appalachian Journal* 28 (Fall): 22-67.

Biggers, Jeff. 1999. "The Fugitive of Southern Appalachian Literature: Reconsidering the Poetry of Don West" [1906-1992; overview of his life and writings; primary bibliography]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 5 (Fall): 159-180.

Biggers, Jeff. 2011. "Thousands Pay Tribute to Judy Bonds: She Has Been to the Mountaintop-and We Must Fight Harder to Save It" [d. Jan. 3; Charleston, W. Va.]. *Huffington Post* (blog), 4 January. 1,314 words. Activist, orator, and "godmother of the anti-mountaintop removal movement." Video clips. http://www.huffingtonpost.com/jeff-biggers/thousands-pay-tribute-to_b_804001.html.

Bittman, Mark. 2012. "Wendell Berry, American Hero," *Opinionator* (blog). *New York Times*, 24 April. 1,233 words. Profile of Berry from a visit one month before his April 23rd, NEH Jefferson Lecture at the Kennedy Center for the Performing Arts. http://opinionator.blogs.nytimes.com/2012/04/24/wendell-berry-american-hero/?src=me&ref=general.

Bogess, Carol. 2001. "James Still's funeral May 1, 2001: A Tribute." *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 1, no. 1 (November): nonfiction section. http://scholar.lib.vt.edu/ejournals/nreview/issue1-1/1-1_content/non-fiction/boggess.htm .

Boggess, Carol. 2003. "The Still Life in *River of Earth*: Exploring the Novel's Biographical Context" [c. 1940; James Still, 1906-1940 period]. *Appalachian Journal* 30 (Summer): 324-344.

Bronner, Simon J. 2006. "Obituary: W.K. McNeil (1940-2005)." *Journal of American Folklore* 119, no. 473 (Summer): 356-361.

Brosi, George. 2012. "Mike Mullins: A Tribute" [1848-2012]. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 8-9. Executive director of Hindman Settlement School (Knott Co., Ky.), leading the school since 1977. "...an irreplaceable part of the community of Eastern Kentucky natives who cared deeply about our region and acted valiantly and effectively on behalf of our land and people."

Brown, Meredith Mason. 2008. *Frontiersman: Daniel Boone and the Making of America*. Southern Biography Series. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 375 pp.

Burton, Thomas. 2004. "Ray Hicks: A Man Who Became a Name" [1922-2003; N.C. storyteller]. *Appalachian Journal* 31 (Winter): 138-143.

Claypool, James C. 2009. *Our Fellow Kentuckians: Rascals, Heroes and Just Plain Uncommon Folk*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 126 pp. Two page biographies of 39 figures including Christopher Gist | Daniel Boone | Simon Kenton | Henry Clay | Kit Carson | Jim Bowie | Jefferson Davis | Abraham Lincoln | Cassius Marcellus Clay | Judge Roy Bean | A.B. "Happy" Chandler | Bill Monroe | Loretta Lynn | Harland Sanders | Muhammad Ali | Helen Thomas | George Clooney.

DeRosier, Linda Scott. 1999. *Creeker: A Woman's Journey* [b. 1941; acclaimed Eastern Ky. memoir; see also her succeeding *Songs of Life and Grace* (2003)]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 272 pp.

Dick, David. 2005. *Jesse Stuart: The Heritage: A Biography*. Foreword by Wade Hall; afterword by Thomas D. Clark. North Middletown, Ky.: Plum Lick Pub. 292 pp.

Douglass, Thomas E. 1998. A Room Forever: The Life, Work, and Letters of Breece D'J Pancake [W. Va. author; d.1979 at age 26]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 280 pp.

Draper, Lyman C. 1998. *The Life of Daniel Boone* [Draper d. 1891]. Edited with an introduction by Ted Franklin Belue. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 596 pp.

Edwards, Grace Toney. 2012. "Breece D'J Pancake: A Life Too Short" [1952-1979]. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 3 (Summer): 11-17.

Egerton, John. 2000. "His Own Drummer" [tribute to Jim Wayne Miller, d. 1996]. *Appalachian Journal* 28 (Fall): 122-127.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 1999. "I Jumped at the Chance: Loyal Jones Interviews Sidney Saylor Farr, 22 September 1999" [Farr retires after fourteen years as editor of *Appalachian Heritage*]. *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Fall): 9-25.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2007. *My Appalachia: A Memoir* [Stoney Fork, Bell Co., Ky.; b. 1932; former editor of *Appalachian Heritage*]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 231 pp.

Fisher, Stephen L. 2007. "We're All in This Together' - and Other Lessons Learned Along the Way: Reflections on 35 Years at Emory & Henry College" [scholar, social activist, and former president of the Appalachian Studies Association]. *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 280-300. Selected bibliography of works by Stephen L. Fisher [53 items], 297-300.

Fisher, Steve. 1999. "Anger and Hope, In Nearly Equal Measure: An Interview with Steve Fisher" [President, Appalachian Studies Association, 1998/99]. *Appalachian Journal* 26 (Winter): 170-187.

Ford, Thomas D., and J. Randolph Osborne. 2001. *John B. Stephenson: Appalachian Humanist* [former Berea College president and Appalachian Center director]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 349 pp.

Fowler, Virginia C. 2012. "Tennessean by Birth" [Nikki Giovanni; biography]. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 3 (Fall): 15-22.

Gifford, James M., and Erin R. Kazee. 2010. *Jesse Stuart: An Extraordinary Life*. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 479 pp. Biography, 1906-2001, family photos.

Giles, Janice Holt. [1975] 2002. *Wellspring* [Ky.; 1905-1979; autobiography, fiction, essays]. Reprint, with a foreword by Wade Hall. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 288 pp.

Goodell, Jeff. 2010. "Don Blankenship: The Dark Lord of Coal Country" [W. Va.; Massey Energy CEO retiring]. *Rolling Stone*, 9 December: 82-89, 128. 7,777 words. http://www.rollingstone.com/politics/news/17390/236336.

Gozemba, Patricia A. 2002. "No Ordinary Teacher: Helen Lewis of Highlander." In *Pockets of Hope: How Students and Teachers Change the World*, by E. de los Reyes and P. Gozemba, 177-210. Series in Language and Ideology. Westport, Conn.: Bergin and Garvey.

Hansel, Pauletta, and Richard Hague. 2012. "Migrating Home: Richard Hague, Pauletta Hansel, and an Urban Appalachian Aesthetic" [poets; Cincinnati]. Interview by Rhonda Pettit. *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 330-347.

Hatfield, Coleman C., and Robert Y. Spence. 2003. *The Tale of the Devil: The Biography of Devil Anse Hatfield* [1839-1921; Hatfield-McCoy Feud]. From original manuscripts by grandson Coleman A. Hatfield. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 320 pp.

Herrin, Roberta T. 2012. "C. Howard Dorgan (1932-2012)" [tribute]. *Appalachian Journal* 40, no. 1-2 (Fall 2012/Winter 2013): 24-27. Appalachian State University professor; 1997-98 president of the Appalachian Studies Association; 2000 recipient of ASA's Cratis Williams/James Brown Service Award; and author of several books including *The Old Regular Baptists of Central Appalachia* (1989).

Hicks, Ronda Lee. 2009. *Beech Mountain Man: The Memoirs of Ronda Lee Hicks*. Interviewed by Thomas Burton, with a foreword by John Shelton Reed. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 133 pp. Cousin to N.C. storyteller Ray Hicks, Ronda tells autobiographical stories of his fighting, drinking, and womanizing at the same time reflecting details of traditional mountain life.

Higgs, Jack. 1997. "Jim Wayne Miller, 1936-1996" [tribute]. *Appalachian Journal* 24 (Winter): 124-125.

Homer H. Hickam, Jr. [W. Va. aerospace engineer; author of *Rocket Boys* (1998)]. 2000. In *Current Biography Yearbook 2000*. New York: H. W. Wilson.

Howard, Victor B. 1996. *The Evangelical War Against Slavery and Caste: The Life and Times of John G. Fee.* Selinsgrove, Pa.: Susquehanna University Press. 253 pp.

Hunter Library, Western Carolina University. 2005. "Horace Kephart: Revealing an Enigma" (digital collection). "Throughout 2004, Hunter Library celebrated the 100-year anniversary of Horace Kephart's arrival in western North Carolina. As an extension of these events, Special Collections and the Mountain Heritage Center joined together in creating an online exhibit of Kephart's life and works." It includes Kephart's photographs, a bibliography of his writings and timeline of his life, plus summary and manuscript information from his books including the classic, *Our Southern Highlanders* (1913), and *The Book of Camping and Woodcraft* (1906). http://www.wcu.edu/library/DigitalCollections/Kephart/.

Inscoe, John C. 2006. "Sense of Place, Sense of Being: The Intersection of Geography and Spirit in Recent Appalachian Autobiography." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 12, no. 2 (Fall): 156-168. Review essay of six books: *Zoro's Field: My Life in the Appalachian Woods* (2005), by Thomas Rain Crowe; *Moving Out, Finding Home: Essays on Identity, Place, Community and Class* (2005), by Bob Fox; *Beauty Before Comfort: A Memoir* (2003), by Allison Glock; *Loving Mountains, Loving Men* (2005), by Jeff Mann; *Finding a Clear Path* (2005), by Jim Minick; and *The Glass Castle* (2005), by Jeannette Walls.

Jones, G. C. (Green C.). [1985] 2004. *Growing Up Hard in Harlan County* [Ky., b. 1913; classic memoir]. Foreword by Cratis Williams. Reprint. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 177 pp.

Jones, Libby Falk. 2006. "I stay a little bit angry': Portrait of Helen Lewis, Activist Teacher." *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 3 (Summer): 52-60.

Jones, Loyal. 2000. "Interview with Loyal Jones." By Lori Briscoe, Erica S. Collins, Amanda Deal, Ron Hancock, and Kristyn McGraw. *Appalachian Journal* 27 (Summer): 378-403.

Langfitt, Frank. 2012. "Educator Revives Hindman School" [originally published Feb. 4, 1990]. *Kentucky.com*, February 20. 1990 Profile of Mike Mullins, Executive Director of Hindman Settlement School since 1977, who died Feb. 20, 2012. http://www.kentucky.com/2012/02/20/2076347/published-feb-4-1990-educator.htm.

Levy, Buddy. 2005. *American Legend: The Real-Life Adventures of David Crockett*. New York: Berkley Books. 339 pp.

Lewis, Helen Matthews. 2011. "Mountain Feminist: Helen Matthews Lewis, Appalachian Studies, and the Long Women's Movement" [b. 1924, Jackson Co., Ga.]. Interview by Jessica Wilkerson, compiled and introduced by J. Wilkerson and David P. Cline. *Southern Cultures* 17, no. 3 (Fall): 48-65.

Lewis, Helen Matthews. 2012. *Helen Matthews Lewis: Living Social Justice in Appalachia*. Edited by Patricia D. Beaver and Judith Jennings. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

263 pp. Contents: Introduction / Stephen L. Fisher -- The Making of an Unruly Woman, 1924-1955 / Judith Jennings -- Breaking New Ground, 1955-1977 / Patricia Beaver -- From Local to Global, 1975-1985 / John Gaventa -- Participatory Research, 1983-1999 / Juliet Merrifield -- Telling Our Stories, 1999-2010 / Bill Leonard -- The Final Word -- Chronology.

Lewis, Helen. 2000. "Unruly Woman: An Interview with Helen Lewis" [b. 1924]. Interview by Lori Briscoe, Erica S. Collins, Amanda Deal, Ron Hancock, and Kristyn McGraw. *Appalachian Journal* 27 (Winter): 164-189.

Lewis, Ronald L. 2012. "'Do What Lights Your Fire': An Interview with Ron Lewis" [b. 1934; WVU professor emeritus of history]. By Ashley Brewer, Donna Corriher, Jesse Edgerton, Hannah Furgiuele, Coty Hogue, Rebecca Jones, Blaze Edward Pappas, Shannon Perry, with Patricia D. Beaver. *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 1-2 (Fall 2011/Winter 2012): 36-55.

Lofaro, Michael A. 2004. "The Many Lives of Daniel Boone" [literature about Boone]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 102, no. 4: 488-511.

Lorence, James J. 2007. *A Hard Journey: The Life of Don West* [1906-1992; radical, labor organizer, leftist activist, writer, poet, educator, ordained minister, "Appalachian Hero"]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 308 pp. Weatherford Award winner for nonfiction.

McGowan, Thomas, and Daniel W. Patterson. 2005. "Twenty Dollar Non-Blues: Cece Conway: Folklorist, Organizer of Festivals, and Lovable Colleague" [2005 Brown-Hudson Folklore Award]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 52, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 55-59.

McGowan, Thomas. 2002. "Representing Cratis Williams: A Review Essay" [reviews the memoir *The Cratis Williams Chronicles: I Come to Boone* (1999) and the documentary film *Cratis Williams: Living the Divided Life* (1999)]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 49 (Spring/Summer): 1-33.

Mitchell, Ted. 1997. *Thomas Wolfe: A Writer's Life* [biography; 1900-1938]. Asheville, N.C.: Thomas Wolfe Memorial Historic Site. 114 pp.

Morgan, Robert. 2007. "Simon Kenton" [biographical background on Kenton, 1755-1836, stemming from research on *Boone: A Biography* (2007)]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 3 (Summer): 93-97.

Morgan, Robert. 2007. *Boone: A Biography* [Daniel Boone, 1734-1820]. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 538 pp.

Mullins, Mike. 2010. "My Friend, Mr. Still" [James Still (1906-2001), Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 4 (Fall): 12-18. Based on a speech at the Mountain Literary Festival at Lincoln Memorial University, June 24, 2006.

Olsen, Lyle [Foreword], et al. 1994. *One for the Higger: Jack Higgs, a Man for All Seasons* [poetry, short stories, memoirs, and essays honoring Robert J. (Jack) Higgs]. Johnson City,

Tenn.: East Tennessee State University Press. 204 pp. Contents: One for the Higger: Jack Higgs, a man for all seasons / Thomas Burton -- Jack Higgs and the mighty Knicks of Knoxville: a memoir / Neil D. Isaacs -- The unshined shoe / Robert J. Higgs -- The caring gardener of leisure / Lyle Olsen -- Mountain gloom and mountain glory in the old and new worlds / Jean Haskell Speer -- Energy (poem) / Don Johnson -- Smokemont: memories of a fish hatchery childhood / John Morefield -- The liberal arts and higher education today / Bert C. Bach -- The uncertainty of history / Richard C. Crepeau -- Suzanne Lenglen: symbol for an age / Susan J. Bandy -- "And hope for all the language is": Whitman, Dickinson, and the reader / Ron Giles -- "Who the Hell are you, kid?": language, nostalgia and identity in the baseball poem / Don Johnson -- The lonely marathon / Kevin Lewis -- The comparison of black and Appalachian storytelling / Loyal Jones -- His lake (poem) / Betty J. Williams -- Red-eye and Jack Higgs / Mick Davenport -- Thoreau could have predicted it / Anne S. Darden -- Diving deep: notes on "Grabbling" -- Grabbling (poem) / Don Johnson -- Wet-one-up: cheating honestly / Lyle Olsen.

Perry, Thomas David. 2012. *Beyond Mayberry: A Memoir of Andy Griffith and Mount Airy, North Carolina* [1926-2012]. Ararat, Va.: Laurel Hill Publishing. 214 pp. Mount Airy was Griffith's birthplace and the setting for *The Andy Griffith Show* series which aired originally 1960-1968 (CBS) and was the number one show on television.

Peters, Jason, ed. 2007. Wendell Berry: Life and Work [27 essays]. Culture of the Land: A Series in the New Agrarianism. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 349 pp. Contents: Introduction / Jason Peters -- Ain't they the berries! / Ed McClanahan -- Wendell Berry on war and peace; or, Port William versus the empire / Bill Kauffman -- Words addressed to our condition exactly / Scott Russell Sanders -- The best noise in the world / Donald Hall -- Wendell Berry's political vision / Kimberly K. Smith -- How Wendell Berry single-handedly preserved three hundred years of agrarian wisdom / David Kline -- Memory and hope in the world of Port William / John Leax -- Politics, nature, and value in Wendell Berry's "art of the commonplace" / Eric Trethewey -- Berry Britannica / John Lane -- Wendell Berry and the twentieth-century agrarian "series" / Allan Carlson -- A citizen of the real world / Bill McKibben -- Sexuality and the sacramental imagination: it all turns on affection / P. Travis Kroeker -- A practical education: Wendell Berry the professor / Morris A. Grubbs -- An economy of gratitude / Norman Wirzba --Letters from a humble radical / Wes Jackson -- Wendell Berry and the limits of populism / Erich T. Freyfogle -- Hemingway's Nick and Wendell Berry's art / David Crowe -- At his desk as on his land / Hayden Carruth -- Wendell Berry and the traditionalist critique of meritocracy / Jeremy Beer -- Looking the technological gift horse in the mouth / Sven Birkerts -- Wendell Berry: agrarian artist / Gene Logsdon -- Education, heresy, and the "deadly disease of the world" / Jason Peters -- Wendell's window and the wind's eye / James Baker Hall -- The art of buying nothing / Barbara Kingsolver -- Fidelity / Katherine Dalton -- Wendell Berry and the alternative tradition in American political thought / Patrick J. Deneen -- A long shelf / Jack Shoemaker -- Afterword / George Core -- Chronology -- Selected Bibliography.

Remembering Jim Wayne Miller [1936-1996]. 1997. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 25 (Fall): 3-54.

Remembering Senator Jennings Randolph [W. Va.; helped found ARC; d. 1998]. 1998. "Eulogy to Senator Jennings Randolph," by Senator Robert C. Byrd, and "Tribute to a Pioneer,"

by James E. Casto. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (May-August): 18-21.

Rourke, Constance. [1934] 1998. *Davy Crockett* [biography]. Reprint, with an introduction by Michael A. Lofaro. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 276 pp. Originally published: New York: Harcourt, Brace and Company.

Schudel, Matt. 2011. "Forceful Voice of Working Class" ["Hazel Dickens, Bluegrass Pioneer Who Sang of Miners and Downtrodden, Dies at 75"]. Washington Post, 23 April, METRO, 6(B). 989 words. Born 1935, Mercer County, W. Va.

Settle, Mary Lee. 1998. *Addie: A Memoir* [autobiography via memoir of grandmother; W. Va.]. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 237 pp.

Smith, Betty N. 1998. *Jane Hicks Gentry: A Singer Among Singers* [d. 1925; N.C. storyteller and informant to ballad collector Cecil Sharp]. Lexington, Ky.: University Press of Kentucky. 226 pp.

Still, James. 2001. "A Man Singing to Himself: An Autobiographical Essay" [1906-2001]. In *From the Mountain, From the Valley: New and Collected Poems*, ed. Ted Olson, 5-24. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Taylor, Richard. 2004. "Daniel Boone as American Icon: A Literary View" [surveys many writings and attributions]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 102, no. 4: 512-533.

Waggoner, Eric G. 2005. "Radical Rhetoric, American Iconography, and *The Autobiography of Mother Jones*" [1925]. *Appalachian Journal* 32, no. 2 (Winter): 192-210.

Wallis, Michael. 2011. *David Crockett: The Lion of the West* [biography]. New York: W.W. Norton. 380 pp.

West Virginia Biographical Dictionary [brief sketches of 233 men and 4 women]. 1999. St. Clair Shores, Mich.: Somerset Publishers. 294 pp.

Whisnant, David. 2000. "On the Other Hand...: An Interview with David Whisnant" [b. 1938; N.C.]. Interview by Lori Briscoe, Erica S. Collins, Amanda Deal, Ron Hancock, and Kristyn McGraw. *Appalachian Journal* 27 (Spring): 272-296.

Williams, Ann. 1999. "My Father, Don West." *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 5: 40-42.

Williams, Cratis D. 1999. *Cratis Williams Chronicles: I Come to Boone*. Edited by David Cratis Williams and Patricia D. Beaver. Boone, N.C.: Appalachian Consortium Press. 144 pp.

Williams, Cratis D. 2003. *Tales from Sacred Wind: Coming of Age in Appalachia: The Cratis Williams Chronicles* [Part 1 of 3; b. 1911, Caines Creek, Lawrence Co., Ky.]. Edited by David

Cratis Williams and Patricia D. Beaver. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 8. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 444 pp.

Williamson, J. W. 2004. "Remembering Henry D. Shapiro (1938-2004)" [author of *Appalachia On Our Mind* (1978)]. *Appalachian Journal* 31 (Winter): 136-137.

Williamson, Jerry W. 2000. "A Cold Day in Hell: An Interview with Jerry Williamson." By Patricia Beaver and Helen Lewis. *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Fall): 78-115.

Williamson, Jerry Wayne. 2012. "Jo Carson (1946-2011)." *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 224-227. Well known for her character sketches she called "People Pieces," Carson is the author of nine books, including *Stories I Ain't Told Nobody Yet* (1989), and more than 30 plays.

Wolfe, Margaret Ripley. 2002. "Lifting Up His Eyes unto the Hills: Harry M. Caudill and His Appalachia." *Filson History Quarterly* 76 (Winter): 1-32.

CIVIL WAR, MILITARY

Wartime impact and involvement

Adamson, June. 1997. "The SED in Oak Ridge, 1943-1946: Using a Secret Newsletter by a Secret Army detachment to Learn More About a Secret City in Tennessee" [Secret Engineering Detachment]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 56 (Fall): 196-211.

Alvin C. York ("Sergeant York"). 2012. Special issue, *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 71, no. 4 (Winter): 276-340. York, 1887-1964, was born and raised in Fentress County, Tenn. Contents: "Re-Fighting the Meuse-Argonne: Alvin York and the Battle over World War I Site Commemoration," by Brad Posey -- "Where Sergeant York Won His Medal of Honor: An Example of Applied Geographic Information Science," by Thomas J. Nolan -- "Alvin Cullum York: The Myth, The Man and the Legacy," by Michael E. Birdwell.

Anderson, Robert E. 2007. *One of Lincoln's Best* [General Joseph A. J. Lightburn, 1824-1901]. Morgantown, W. Va.: R.E. Anderson. 87 pp.

Athey, Lou. 1996. "Loyalty and Civil Liberty in Fayette County During the Civil War." *West Virginia History* 55 (1996): 1-24.

Ayers, Edward L. 2003. *In the Presence of Mine Enemies: War in the Heart of America, 1859-1863* [Franklin Co., Pa.; Augusta Co., Va.]. New York: W.W. Norton. 472 pp.

Ayers, Edward L., Gary W. Gallagher, and Andrew J. Torget, ed. 2006. *Crucible of the Civil War: Virginia from Secession to Commemoration* [W. Va.; Va. group identity; shaded county outline maps]. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 226 pp.

Baber, Bob Henry, Jason Gum, and Mark Romano, ed. 2012. *Heroes Among Us: A Tradition of Service: The West Virginia Veterans' Legacy Project* [profiles; quotes; photos; Civil War to Iraq/Afghanistan]. Glenville, W. Va.: Glenville State College Press. 195 pp. "Designed by Lund Bailey; dedicated to Professor Larry Sypolt, 1949-2012, the Father of the WV Veterans' Legacy Project."

Babits, Lawrence Edward, and Joshua B. Howard. 2009. *Long, Obstinate, and Bloody: The Battle of Guilford Courthouse* [1781; Greensboro, N.C.]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 300 pp.

Baggett, James Alex. 2009. *Homegrown Yankees: Tennessee's Union Cavalry in the Civil War* [most East Tennesseans]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 444 pp.

Ballard, Sandra L., and Leila E. Weinstein, ed. 2007. *Neighbor to Neighbor: A Memoir of Family, Community, and Civil War in Appalachian North Carolina* [Ashe Co.; William Albert Wilson, 1861-1951; essays by Patricia D. Beaver, Martin Crawford, John C. Inscoe]. Boone, N.C.: Center for Appalachian Studies, Appalachian State University. 180 pp.

Barbour, Russ. 2003. "Major General Charles R. Fox" [profile of highly decorated veteran; b. 1912]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Summer): 10-17.

Bard, David. 2004. *The Civil War in the New River Valley 1861-1865: 3 One-Day Driving Tours* [W. Va.-Va.; guidebook, 43 maps, chronology]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 144 pp.

Barksdale, Kevin T. 2004. "Beneath the Golden Stairs': Gender, Unionization, and Mobilization in World War II West Virginia" [Glendale; Marx Toy Workers Union]. *Ohio Valley History* 4 (Spring): 21-42.

Barnes, Kenneth C. 2001. "The Williams Clan's Civil War: How an Arkansas Farm Family Became a Guerrilla Band." In *Enemies of the Country: New Perspectives on Unionists in the Civil War South*, ed. J. Inscoe and R. Kenzer, 188-207. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Beaver, Patricia D. 2007. "The Civil War on the North Fork of the New River: Sustaining Community." In *Neighbor to Neighbor: A Memoir of Family, Community, and Civil War in Appalachian North Carolina* [Ashe Co.], ed. S. Ballard and L. Weinstein, 20-36. Boone, N.C.: Center for Appalachian Studies, Appalachian State University.

Berkey, Jonathan M. 2001. "Fighting the Devil with Fire: David Hunter Strother's Private Civil War." In *Enemies of the Country: New Perspectives on Unionists in the Civil War South*, ed. J. Inscoe and R. Kenzer, 18-36. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Bernstein, Steven. 2011. The Confederacy's Last Northern Offensive: Jubal Early, the Army of the Valley and the Raid on Washington [1864]. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 236 pp.

Bertsch, Friedrich, and Wilhelm Stängel. 2010. *A German Hurrah! Civil War Letters of Friedrich Bertsch and Wilhelm Stängel, 9th Ohio Infantry*. Translated and edited by Joseph R. Reinhart. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press. 370 pp. Camp life, political and social observations; campaigns in western Va., Ky., and parts of Tenn., Ala. and Miss.

Billinger, Robert D. 2008. *Nazi POWs in the Tar Heel State*. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 246 pp. Five permanent N.C. camps, 13 branch camps, 10,000 POWs.

Birdwell, Michael E. 2003. "Old Hickory and the Hindenburg Line: The 30th Division in World War I." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 74 (2002): 1-32.

Birdwell, Michael E. 2004. "Gobble Like a Turkey: Alvin C. York and American Popular Culture" [immortalized WWI Tenn. hero]. In *Rural Life and Culture in the Upper Cumberland*, ed. M. Birdwell and W. Dickinson, 159-177. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Black, Robert C. [1952] 1998. *The Railroads of the Confederacy*. Reprint, with a new foreword by Gary W. Gallagher. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 360 pp.

Blackwell, Joshua Beau. 2011. *The 1865 Stoneman's Raid Begins: Leave Nothing for the Rebellion to Stand Upon*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 190 pp. Focuses on mountain counties of N.C. and S.C.

Bohannon, Keith S. 2001. "They Had Determined to Root Us Out: Dual Memoirs by a Unionist Couple in Blue Ridge Georgia." In *Enemies of the Country: New Perspectives on Unionists in the Civil War South*, ed. J. Inscoe and R. Kenzer, 97-120. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Bollier, Sam. 2009. "Our Own Paradise Invaded': Imagining Civil War-Era East Tennessee" [outside and Northern perceptions, and self-perceptions]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 68, no. 3 (Winter): 391-410.

Bonnstetter, Cathy Meo. 2001. "You Never Forget': Taylor County's Color Guard" [VFW Post 3081]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Winter): 9-13.

Booth, George Wilson. [1898] 2000. A Maryland Boy in Lee's Army: Personal Reminiscences of a Maryland Soldier in the War Between the States, 1861-1865 [Shenandoah Valley campaigns; Va., W. Va.]. Reprint. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 184 pp. Originally published: Baltimore: privately published.

Boynton, Henry V. 2010. *The Battles of Chickamauga and Chattanooga and the Organizations Engaged* [1863]. Edited with a new introduction by Timothy B. Smith. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. This volume combines Boynton's [1835-1905] three short books, *The Battle of Chickamauga, Georgia*; *Battles about Chattanooga*, *Tennessee*; and *The Campaign for Chattanooga*.

Brady, Lisa M. 2012. "Ravaged Ground: Sheridan in the Shenandoah Valley, 1864." Chap. 3 in *War Upon the Land: Military Strategy and the Transformation of Southern Landscapes During the American Civil War*, by L. Brady, 72-92. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Bragg, Rick. 2003. *I Am a Soldier, Too: The Jessica Lynch Story* [Iraq War, 2003; prisoner of war; W. Va. native, b. 1983]. New York: Knopf. 207 pp.

Brooks, Jason. 1997. "No Law In ... The Civil War in the New River Valley" [Va., W. Va.]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 11-12, 1997, Glade Springs Resort, Daniels, West Virginia, 1-10. Glen Jean, W. Va.*: National Park Service.

Bryan, Charles F. 2004. "'Tories' Amidst Rebels: Confederate Occupation of East Tennessee, 1861-63." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 75 (2003): 43-61.

Burns, G. Frank, Kelly Sergio, and Rex Bennett. 2004. "Somewhere in Tennessee: The Cumberland Wartime, 1940-1947" [Camp Forrest; war games, 21-county area]. In *Rural Life and Culture in the Upper Cumberland*, ed. M. Birdwell and W. Dickinson, 227-245. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Butko, Brian, and Nicholas P. Ciotola, ed. 2003. *Industry and Infantry: The Civil War in Western Pennsylvania* [collection of eight articles]. Pittsburgh: Historical Society of Western Pennsylvania. 126 pp.

Caleo, Robert L. 2007. "A Most Serious Wound': The Memorial of George Farragut." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 79: 63-79.

Carmichael, Peter S. 2003. "So Far From God and So Close to Stonewall Jackson: The Executions of Three Shenandoah Valley Soldiers." *Virginia Magazine of History and Biography* 111 (no. 1): 33-66.

Chapman, Reid, and Deborah Miles. 2006. *Asheville and Western North Carolina in World War II* [vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Chronology of Major Events in Appalachia's Civil War. 1997. In *The Civil War in Appalachia: Collected Essays*, ed. K. Noe and S. Wilson, xxxv-xxxvii. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Cohen, Stan. [1990] 2003. A Pictorial Guide to West Virginia's Civil War Sites and Related Information. Charleston, W.Va: Quarrier Press. 120 pp.

Collins, Darrell L. 2007. The Jones-Imboden Raid: The Confederate Attempt to Destroy the Baltimore & Ohio Railroad and Retake West Virginia. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 217 pp.

Cooling, B. Franklin. 1999. "A People's War: Partisan Conflict in Tennessee and Kentucky." In *Guerrillas, Unionists, and Violence on the Confederate Home Front*, ed. D. Sutherland, 113-132. Fayetteville: University of Arkansas Press.

Cooling, Benjamin Franklin. 1997. Fort Donelson's Legacy: War and Society in Tennessee and Kentucky, 1862-1863. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 420 pp.

Cooling, Benjamin Franklin. 2011. *To the Battles of Franklin and Nashville and Beyond: Stabilization and Reconstruction in Tennessee and Kentucky*, 1864-1866. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 256 pp.

Cordes, Kathleen Ann. 1999. "Overmountain Victory National Historic Trail." In *America's National Historic Trails* [guidebook], by K. Cordes, 40-63. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press.

Cozzens, Peter. 2008. *Shenandoah 1862: Stonewall Jackson's Valley Campaign*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 623 pp.

Craig, Tom Moore, ed. 2009. *Upcountry South Carolina Goes to War: Letters of the Anderson, Brockman, and Moore Families, 1853-1865* [Spartanburg Co.]. Introduction by Tom Moore Craig, and Melissa Walker. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 190 pp.

Crawford, Martin. 1997. "The Dynamics of Mountain Unionism: Federal Volunteers of Ashe County, North Carolina." In *The Civil War in Appalachia: Collected Essays*, ed. K. Noe and S. Wilson, 55-77. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Crawford, Martin. 2001. *Ashe County's Civil War: Community and Society in the Appalachian South* [N.C.]. A Nation Divided: New Studies in Civil War History series. Charlottesville: University Press of Virginia. 238 pp.

Crawford, Martin. 2007. "Ashe County's Civil War, 1863-1865." In *Neighbor to Neighbor: A Memoir of Family, Community, and Civil War in Appalachian North Carolina*, ed. S. Ballard and L. Weinstein, 37-43. Boone, N.C.: Center for Appalachian Studies, Appalachian State University. (Reprinted from *Ashe County's Civil War: Community and Society in the Appalachian South*, University Press of Virginia, 2001).

Cubbison, Douglas R. 1999. "'That Awful Storm of Iron and Smoke': Union Artillery at Moccasin Bend, Chattanooga, September-November, 1863." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 58 (Winter): 268-283.

Cubbison, Douglas R. 2002. "Tactical Genius Above the Clouds: 'Fighting Joe' Hooker and John White Geary at the Battle of Lookout Mountain, November 24, 1863." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 61 (Winter): 266-289.

Dameron, J. David. 2003. King's Mountain: The Defeat of the Loyalists, October 7, 1780 [S.C.]. Cambridge, Mass.: Da Capo Press. 128 pp.

Daniel, Larry J. 2004. *Days of Glory: The Army of the Cumberland*, 1861-1865 [authoritative regimental history]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 490 pp.

Daniel, Larry J. 2012. *Battle of Stones River: The Forgotten Conflict between the Confederate Army of Tennessee and the Union Army of the Cumberland* [Tenn.; Dec. 31, 1862-Jan. 2, 1863]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 313 pp.

Danielson, Joseph Wesley. 2012. War's Desolating Scourge: The Union's Occupation of North Alabama. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas. 218 pp.

Dao, James. 2005. "A New Campaign to Preserve an Old Mining Battlefield" [1921, Battle of Blair Mountain, West Virginia Mine Wars]. *New York Times*, 15 May, 22(A).

Davis, Don. 2007. *Stonewall Jackson*. Great Generals series. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. 204 pp.

Davis, John Walker, and Jennifer Lynn Gross. 2012. "Calhoun County, Alabama: Confederate Iron Furnaces and the Remaking of History." Chap. 9 in *Destination Dixie: Tourism and Southern History*, ed K. Cox, 204-222. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. "...story of white residents...who developed a local celebration of the Civil War centered on the preservation

of an iron furnace....this annual tourist attraction ignores the significant history of African Americans...including that of the former slaves who built the furnace."

Davis, Robert S., Jr. 1996. "Memoirs of a Partisan War: Sion Darnell Remembers North Georgia, 1861-1865." *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 80 (Spring): 93-116.

Davis, Robert S., Jr. 2001. "White and Black in Blue: The Recruitment of Federal Units in Civil War North Georgia." *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 85 (Fall): 347-374.

Davis, Robert S., Jr. 2001. "White and Black in Blue: The Recruitment of Federal Units in Civil War North Georgia." *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 85 (Fall): 347-374.

Davis, Robert Scott. 2009. "Joe Ritchey of Tennessee: An American Desperado in Legends, the Newspapers, and a Federal Pension File" [Chattanooga; Unionist]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 68, no. 2 (Summer): 152-173.

Davis, Robert Scott. 2011. "War on the Edge: Civil War Era Politics and Its Legacy in an Appalachian County" [Pickens Co., Ga.; Confederate opposition/Union loyalty]. Chap. 1 in *Breaking the Heartland: The Civil War in Georgia*, ed. J. Fowler and D. Parker, 1-18. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Davis, William C., and James I. Robertson, ed. 2007. *Virginia at War, 1862* [nine essays]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 243 pp.

Davis, William C., and James I. Robertson, ed. 2009. *Virginia at War, 1863* [eight essays]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 218 pp.

Davis, William C., and James I. Robertson, ed. 2009. *Virginia at War, 1864* [ten essays]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 242 pp.

Davis, William C., and Meredith L. Swentor, ed. 1999. *Bluegrass Confederate: The Headquarters Diary of Edward O. Guerrant* [stationed in Appalachian Va., Tenn., and Ky.]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 584 pp.

Delfino, Susanna. 2000. "'To Maintain the Civil Rights of the People': The Tribulations of Duff Green, Iron Manufacturer in Civil War East Tennessee." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 72: 49-61.

Dement, Rebekah. 2009. "The Phenomenon of Five Thousand Soldiers Milling Around One Business Block: World War II and Tullahoma, Tennessee" [economic impact; Camp Forrest; Franklin and Coffee Cos.]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 68, no. 3 (Fall): 296-323.

Dickinson, Jack L. 2001. *Cooney Ricketts: A Child of the Regiment*. Charleston, W. Va.: Pictorial Histories Publishing Co. 157 pp. Story of a 13 year old boy from Guyandotte, (W.)Va. who joined up with the 8th Virginia Cavalry in 1861.

Dollar, Kent T., Larry H. Whiteaker, and W. Calvin Dickinson, ed. 2009. Sister States, Enemy States: The Civil War in Kentucky and Tennessee [16 essays]. Lexington, Ky.: University Press of Kentucky. 391 pp. Contents: Part 1. Secession in Kentucky and Tennessee -- Beleaguered loyalties: Kentucky unionism / Gary R. Matthews -- Not a pariah, but a keystone: Kentucky and secession / Thomas C. Mackey -- The vortex of secession: west Tennesseans and the rush to war / Derek W. Frisby -- "An unconditional, straight-out Union man": Parson Brownlow and the secession crisis in East Tennessee / Robert Tracy McKenzie -- "We can never live in a southern confederacy": the Civil War in East Tennessee / John D. Fowler -- Part 2. Traitors, blacks, and guerrillas in wartime Kentucky and Tennessee -- "Battle against the traitors": unionist middle Tennesseans in the Ninth Kentucky Infantry and what they fought for / Kenneth W. Noe --"Time by the forelock": Champ Ferguson and the borderland style of warfare / Brian D. McKnight -- "I shoot the men and burn their houses": home fires in the line of fire / Michael R. Bradley -- Freedom is better than slavery: black families and soldiers in Civil War Kentucky / Marion B. Lucas -- A long way from freedom: Camp Nelson refugees / Richard D. Sears -- "Not much a friend to traiters no matter how beautiful": the Union military and Confederate women in Civil War Kentucky / Kristen L. Streater -- Part 3. War's impact in Kentucky and Tennessee --"My trust is still firmly fixed in God": Alfred T. Fielder, his Christian faith, and the ordeal of war / Kent T. Dollar -- An interrupted life: Colonel Sidney Smith Stanton / W. Calvin Dickinson -- The failure of restoration: wartime reconstruction in Tennessee, 1862-1865 / Jonathan M. Atkins -- Reconstruction power play: the 1867 mayoral election in Nashville, Tennessee / Ben H. Severance -- After the horror: Kentucky in reconstruction / B. Franklin Cooling.

Dickinson, W. Calvin, and Shelly Christian. 2012. "Oh! God! Give Us Peace! Peace on Any Terms!": Three East Tennessee Women View the Civil War." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 84: 63-77. Examines the diaries of Mary Katherine Sproul (Overton Co.), Amanda McDowell (White Co.), and Lucy Virginia French (Warren Co.).

Dixon, David. 2003. Bushy Run Battlefield: Pennsylvania Trail of History Guide [1763; French and Indian War]. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 48 pp.

Dotson, Paul Randolph Jr. 1998. "Desertion and Unionism in Floyd County, Virginia, 1861-1865." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 2: 91-118. "Almost a fourth of Floyd's soldiers deserted their units and returned to hide out in the mountains around their homes."

Dotson, Rand. 2000. "'The Grave and Scandalous Evil Infected to Your People': The Erosion of Confederate Loyalty in Floyd County, Virginia" [1864]. *Virginia Magazine of History and Biography* 108 (no. 4): 393-434.

Duff, Levi Bird. 2009. *To Petersburg with the Army of the Potomac: The Civil War Letters of Levi Bird Duff, 105th Pennsylvania Volunteers* ["Wildcat Regiment," from western Pa.]. Edited by Jonathan E. Helmreich. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 232 pp.

Dugger, Shepherd M. [1974] 2001. War Trails of the Blue Ridge: Containing an Authentic Description of the Battle of Kings Mountain, the Incidents Leading up to and the Echoes of the Aftermath of This Epochal Engagement and Other Stories Whose Scenes Are Laid in the Blue

Ridge [S.C., 1780]. Reprint. Banner Elk, N.C.: Pudding Stone Press. Originally published, 1932.

Duncan, Richard R. 2007. Beleaguered Winchester: A Virginia Community at War,

1861-1865 [Shenandoah Valley Campaigns]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 380 pp.

Dunkelman, Mark H. 2004. "Blood Marked Their Tracks: A Union Regiment's Hard March to the Relief of Knoxville in 1863" [154th New York Volunteer Infantry]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 63 (Spring): 2-17.

Dunkerly, Robert. 2007. *The Battle of King's Mountain: Eyewitness Accounts* [S.C., 1780; American accounts; Loyalist accounts]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 158 pp.

Earle, Jonathan Halperin. 2008. *John Brown's Raid on Harpers Ferry: A Brief History with Documents* [1859]. Boston: Bedford/St. Martin's. 158 pp.

Earnest, John Guilford. 2003. *All Right Let Them Come: The Civil War Diary of an East Tennessee Confederate* [d. 1932]. Edited by Charles Swift Northen III. Voices of the Civil War. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 115 pp.

Eberly, Robert E. 2005. *Bouquets from the Cannon's Mouth: Soldiering with the Eighth Regiment of the Pennsylvania Reserves* [Civil War; traces the daily lives of four Fayette Co., Pa., men]. Shippensburg, Pa: White Mane Books. 372 pp.

Ecelbarger, Gary L. 2008. *Three Days in the Shenandoah: Stonewall Jackson at Front Royal and Winchester*. Campaigns and Commanders, vol. 14. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press. 273 pp.

Edgar, Alfred Mallory. 2011. *My Reminiscences of the Civil War with the Stonewall Brigade and the Immortal 600* [27th Virginia Infantry, CSA; b. 1837, Greenbrier Co., (W.)Va.]. Charleston, W. Va.: 35th Star Publishing. 171 pp.

Edgar, Alfred Mallory. 2011. *My Reminiscences of the Civil War with the Stonewall Brigade and the Immortal 600* [1837-1913, Greenbrier Co., (W.)Va.]. Charleston, W. Va.: 35th Star Publishing. 171 pp. Confederate Captain's personal narrative as a Greenbrier Rifles volunteer, 27th Virginia Infantry regiment, of the Stonewall Brigade.

Elliott, Ron. 2010. From Hilltop to Mountaintop: The Life and Legacy of One Iwo Jima Flag Raiser. Morley, Mo.: Dark Horse Books. 256 pp. Biography of Hilltop, Kentucky (Fleming Co.) farm boy, Franklin R. Sousley (1925-1945), one of the six Marine flag-raisers on Mt. Suribachi immortalized by Joe Rosenthal's famous WWII photograph.

Ellis, Allen. 1996. "Captain Daniel Ellis: An Annotated Bibliography" [Civil War; East Tenn.]. *Bulletin of Bibliography* 53 (December): 369-377.

Ellis, Allen. 2003. "The Lost Adventures of Daniel Ellis" [piloted 4000 Civil War Confederate refugees through the mountains to Union territory]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 74 (2002): 58-68.

Ellis, Jack D. 2003. *Patriots & Heroes: Eastern Kentucky Soldiers of WWII* [biographies]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 409 p.

Emerson, W. Eric. 2012. "The USS *Asheville* and the Limits of Navalism in Western North Carolina." *North Carolina Historical Review* 89, no. 3 (July): 301-330. Discusses four warships named USS *Asheville*, commissioned in: 1918 (patrol gunboat, sunk 1942 by Japanese forces); 1942 (WWII patrol frigate); 1966 (high speed gunboat, Vietnam); and 1991 (submarine).

Engel, Mary Ella. 2010. "Gathering Georgians to Zion: John Hamilton Morgan's 1876 Mission to Georgia." Chap. 7 in *Reconstructing Appalachia: The Civil War's Aftermath*, ed. A. Slap, 185-209. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Eye, Sara Marie. 2009. "Frances Neves and Her Family: Upcountry Women in the Civil War" [Greenville Co.; Mush Creek Community]. In *South Carolina Women: Their Lives and Times*, ed. M. Spruill, V. Littlefield, and J. Johnson, 255-272. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Fain, Eliza Rhea Anderson. 2004. *Sanctified Trial: The Diary of Eliza Rhea Anderson Fain, A Confederate Woman in East Tennessee* [1816-1892; Rogersville]. Edited by John N. Fain. Voices of the Civil War Series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 410 pp.

Fain, John N. 1997. "The Diary of Hiram Fain of Rogersville: An East Tennessee Secessionist." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 69: 97-114.

Feather, Carl E. 2007. "Top Kick': Gereald Bland and His Military Museum" [Civil War to Desert Storm; Petersburg]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 3 (Fall): 18-23.

Feather, Carl E. 2012. "Remembrance, Reflection, and Honor: Rowlesburg's World War II Museum" [Preston Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 3 (Fall): 60-65. Sidebar: "Military Memories in Weston" [Lewis Co.; McVaney's Mountaineer Military Museum: Korea and Vietnam].

Fields, Truman. 2001. "Uncle Dock and the Civil War" [border allegiances, Perry Co., Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Winter): 27-28.

First West Virginia Infantry, The. 1996. West Virginia History 55 (1996): 41-94. Civil War; lists name, occupation, hometown, physical description.

Fisher, Noel C. 1997. War at Every Door: Partisan Politics and Guerrilla Violence in East Tennessee, 1860-1869. Civil War in America series. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 250 pp.

Fisher, Noel C. 1999. "Definitions of Victory: East Tennessee Unionists in the Civil War and Reconstruction." In *Guerrillas, Unionists, and Violence on the Confederate Home Front*, ed. D. Sutherland, 89-111. Fayetteville: University of Arkansas Press.

Fisher, Noel. 2001. "Feelin' Mighty Southern: Recent Scholarship on Southern Appalachia in the Civil War." *Civil War History* 47 (December): 334-346.

Fones-Wolf, Ken. 2007. "Traitors in Wheeling': Secessionism in an Appalachian Unionist City" [W. Va.; social bases of Confederate support]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 13, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 75-95.

Fones-Wolf, Ken. 2010. "A House Redivided: From Sectionalism to Political Economy in West Virginia. Chap. 9 in *Reconstructing Appalachia: The Civil War's Aftermath*, ed. A. Slap, 237-268. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Fowler, John D. 2004. *Mountaineers in Gray: The Nineteenth Tennessee Volunteer Infantry Regiment, C.S.A.* [East Tenn.]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 296 pp.

Fox, Arthur. 2011. "Pittsburgh Builds a Brown Water Navy for the Civil War." *Western Pennsylvania History* 94, no. 2 (Summer): 48-60. Steamship producing region: Allegheny, Beaver, Fayette, and Washington Counties.

Freehling, William W., and Craig M. Simpson, ed. 2010. *Showdown in Virginia: The 1861 Convention and the Fate of the Union*. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 210 pp. Collection of "the essential core of the speeches" debating secession, condensed from the *Proceedings of the Virginia State Convention of 1861*.

Furman, Jan. 1997. "A Former Slave in Federal Service: John McCline's Experience in Appalachia" [Tenn.]. In *The Civil War in Appalachia: Collected Essays*, ed. K. Noe and S. Wilson, 187-198. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Gabriel, H. William. 1999. "William P. Hickman in the New River Valley, 1852-64." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 3: 52-82. Reprints letters of Rev. Hickman, a Presbyterian preacher in Wythe, Pulaski, and Montgomery counties, Va., who was killed by Union forces in 1864 in the Battle of Cloyd's Mountain (near Dublin, Pulaski County) fighting alongside the Confederate Montgomery home guard.

Gaerte, Andrew. 2011. "A Rattlesnake Flag of the American Revolution" ["Don't Tread on Me"]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 94, no. 3 (Fall): 42-45. Westmoreland County flag on display in the Fort Pitt Museum in Pittsburgh, one of only a few surviving flags carried during the War for Independence.

Gallagher, Gary W., ed. 2003. *The Shenandoah Valley Campaign of 1862* [eight essays]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 255 pp.

Gallagher, Gary W., ed. 2006. *The Shenandoah Valley Campaign of 1864* [11 chapters]. Military Campaigns of the Civil War. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 392 pp.

Gallagher, Gary W., ed. 2009. *The Shenandoah Valley Campaign of 1862* [11 essays]. Military Campaigns of the Civil War series. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 416 pp. Contents: You must either attack Richmond or give up the job and come to the defence of Washington: Abraham Lincoln and the 1862 Shenandoah Valley Campaign / Gary W. Gallagher -- The metamorphosis in Stonewall Jackson's public image / Robert K. Krick -- Such men as Shields, Banks, and Fremont: federal command in western Virginia, March-June 1862 / William J. Miller -- In the very midst of the war track: the valley's civilians and the Shenandoah Campaign / Jonathan M. Berkey -- Placed on the pages of history in letters of blood: reporting on and remembering the 12th Georgia Infantry in the 1862 Valley Campaign / Keith S. Bohannon -- Turner Ashby's appeal / Peter S. Carmichael -- Maryland's ablest Confederate: Gen. Charles S. Winder of the Stonewall Brigade / Robert E.L. Krick -- Prejudices and partialities: the Garnett controversy revisited / A. Cash Koeniger.

Geiger, Joe. 2012. Holding the Line: The Battle of Allegheny Mountain and Confederate Defense of the Staunton-Parkersburg Turnpike, 1861-62 [(W.)Va.]. Charleston, W.Va: Quarrier Press. 263 pp.

Gibbs, Joseph. 2002. *Three Years in the Bloody Eleventh: The Campaigns of a Pennsylvania Reserve Regiment* [Western Pa.]. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 378 pp.

Gilliam, Hubert, and Jim Glanville. 2006. "An Unexpected Enemy and the Turn of the Tide: Andrew Creswell's 'King's Mountain Letter'" [1780 battle (S.C.); letter reprinted and discussed]. Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge 10: 5-19.

Gindlesperger, James, and Suzanne Gindlesperger. 2012. *So You Think You Know Antietam?: The Stories Behind America's Bloodiest Day* [Sept. 17, 1862]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 234 pp.

Gooden, Randall S. 2010. "'Neither War nor Peace': West Virginia's Reconstruction Experience." Chap. 8 in *Reconstructing Appalachia: The Civil War's Aftermath*, ed. A. Slap, 211-236. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Gott, Kendall D. 2003. Where the South Lost the War: An Analysis of the Fort Henry-Fort Donelson Campaign, February 1862. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 346 pp.

Graves, William T. 2002. *James Williams: An American Patriot in the Carolina Backcountry* [Battle of King's Mountain, S.C., 1780]. San Jose: Writers Club Press. 138 pp.

Graves, William T. 2002. *James Williams: An American Patriot in the Carolina Backcountry* [S.C. Revolutionary War hero; Battle of King's Mountain]. Charlotte, N.C.: William T. Graves. 138 pp.

Grebner, Constantin. [1987] 2009. We Were the Ninth: A History of the Ninth Regiment, Ohio Volunteer Infantry, April 17, 1861, to June 7, 1864. Translated and edited by Frederic Trautmann. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press. 322 pp. Translation of: "Die Neuner." Formed by Cincinnati Germans, the 9th Ohio Volunteer Infantry saw combat in campaigns including West Virginia, Perryville, Ky., Chickamauga and Chattanooga, and Atlanta.

Green, John Williams. [1956] 2002. *Johnny Green of the Orphan Brigade: The Journal of a Confederate Soldier* [seven states]. Reprint. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 218 pp.

Greenlee, Arthur B., and Greenlee Family. [1918-1919] 2003. "'I will write you a few lines': World War I Letters of the Greenlee Family [Mason Co.; Parris Island, S.C.; Quantico, Va.; France]. West Virginia History 59 (2001-2003): 85-141.

Groce, W. Todd. 1997. "The Social Origins of East Tennessee's Confederate Leadership." In *The Civil War in Appalachia: Collected Essays*, ed. K. Noe and S. Wilson, 30-54. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Groce, W. Todd. 1999. *Mountain Rebels: East Tennessee Confederates and the Civil War, 1860-1870*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 240 pp.

Haga, Pauline. 2008. "On Hallowed Ground: Jimmie McGrady and Beckley's American Legion Cemetery." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 3 (Fall): 48-52. Raleigh County; maintenance of 227 markers.

Hall, Granville Davisson. [1902] 2000. *The Rending of Virginia: A History* [birth of W. Va.]. Reprint, with an introduction by John Edmund Stealey, III. Appalachian Echoes series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 672 pp. Originally published: Chicago: Mayer & Miller.

Hall, Susan G. 2000. *Appalachian Ohio and the Civil War, 1862-1863*. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 264 pp.

Harding, French. 2000. *French Harding: Civil War Memoirs* [1838-1919; W. Va.; Confederate infantry commander and cavalry officer in the Virginias]. Edited with an afterword by Victor L. Thacker. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 268 pp.

Hardy, Michael C. 2010. *The Fifty-Eighth North Carolina Troops: Tar Heels in the Army of Tennessee*. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 253 pp. Recruited from western N.C.; fought at Chickamauga and North Ga.

Hardy, William E. 2005. "The Toils and Opportunities of War: A Michigan Chaplain in Civil War East Tennessee" [seven personal letters: portrait of Knoxville]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 77: 76-93.

Hardy's Union Militia in the Civil War: Letters from the West Virginia Adjutant General's Papers [correspondence from Hardy County]. 2006. *West Virginia History* 60 (2004-2006): 83-110.

Harris, William C. 2003. "East Tennessee's Civil War Refugees and the Impact of the War on Civilians." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 75 (2003): 62-75.

Harrold, Stanley. 2010. *Border War: Fighting Over Slavery Before the Civil War*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 292 pp. "...examines the previously neglected cross-border clash of attitudes and traditions dating many generations back."

Hartley, Chris J. 2010. *Stoneman's Raid*, 1865 [N.C., Va.]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 512 pp. Gen. George Stoneman's two-month cavalry raid across six Confederate states, from Knoxville across the mountains to southwestern Va.; inspiration for The Band's song, "The Night They Drove Old Dixie Down."

Hartwig, D. Scott. 2012. *To Antietam Creek: The Maryland Campaign of September 1862*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 794 pp. "... from the controversial return of George B. McClellan as commander of the Army of the Potomac through the Confederate invasion, the siege and capture of Harpers Ferry, the day-long Battle of South Mountain, and, ultimately, to the eve of the great and terrible Battle of Antietam."

Hatfield, Philip. 2011. *The Other Feud: William Anderson "Devil Anse" Hatfield in the Civil War.* [United States: CreateSpace]. 112 pp. Confederate army service, 1861-1865.

Heady, Hilda R. 2011. "Rural Veterans: Invisible Heroes, Special People, Special Issues." *Journal of Rural Social Sciences* 26, no. 3: 1-13. This is one of eleven articles comprising a special issue on rural veterans," 1-227. http://www.ag.auburn.edu/auxiliary/srsa/pages/TOCs/JRSS%20vol26-3.htm.

Heaton, Lynda Rees. 2012. "War Experiences of Samuel Wheeler, Private in the First West Virginia Cavalry" [1840-1919; memoir; Part I, 1862-63]. West Virginia History, n.s. 6, no. 2 (Fall): 45-69.

Hébert, Keith S. 2010. "Reconstruction-Era Violence in North Georgia: The Mossy Creek Ku Klux Klan's Defense of Local Autonomy." Chap. 2 in *Reconstructing Appalachia: The Civil War's Aftermath*, ed. A. Slap, 49-70. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Hébert, Keith S. 2011. "'The Bottomless Pit of Hell': The Confederate Home Front in Bartow County, 1864-1865" [Atlanta Campaign; guerrilla anarchy]. Chap. 7 in *Breaking the Heartland: The Civil War in Georgia*, ed. J. Fowler and D. Parker, 127-149. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Henry, Cornelia Catherine Smith (1836-1917). 2008. Fear in North Carolina: The Civil War Journals and Letters of the Henry Family [Confederate; Asheville]. Compiled by Karen L. Clinard, and Richard Russell. Asheville, N.C.: Reminiscing Books. 444 pp.

Hersko, Ralph E. 2004. *Braddock's Road Across Northern and Western Virginia: A 250th Anniversary Retrospective*. Haverford, Pa.: Infinity Publishing. 126 pp. British Major General Edward Braddock's disastrous expedition against the French at Fort Duquesne (today Pittsburgh) in the summer of 1755, with a young George Washington as one of his aides-de-camp.

Hess, Earl J. 2012. The Civil War in the West: Victory and Defeat from the Appalachians to the Mississippi. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 392 pp. Contents: Spring and summer 1861 | Fall 1861 | Fort Henry to Corinth | Occupation | The Gulf | Kentucky and Corinth | Winter campaigns | The Vicksburg Campaign and siege | Occupation and Port Hudson | From Tullahoma to Knoxville | Administering the Western conquests | Atlanta | Behind the lines | Fall turning point | The last campaigns | End game.

Hess, Earl J. 2012. *The Knoxville Campaign: Burnside and Longstreet in East Tennessee* [1863]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 402 pp.

Hettle, Wallace. 2011. *Inventing Stonewall Jackson: A Civil War Hero in History and Memory* [biography]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 200 pp.

Hoobler, James A. 2008. *Historic Photos of Chickamauga Chattanooga* [1863; Ga. and Tenn.]. Nashville, Tenn: Turner Publishing. 205 pp.

Hopkins, Bruce. 2006. *Bright Wings to Fly: An Appalachian Family in the Civil War* [Pike County, Ky.; war's effect on families of Greasy Creek]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 204 pp.

Horwitz, Tony. 2011. *Midnight Rising: John Brown and the Raid That Sparked the Civil War*. New York: Henry Holt. 365 pp. Harpers Ferry, (W.)Va., 1859.

Houston, Alan. 2011. "Wagons for War: How Benjamin Franklin Helped Braddock's March to the Forks" [of the Ohio; 1755]. Western Pennsylvania History 95, no. 1 (Spring): 22-37.

Hunt, Robert Eno. 2010. *The Good Men Who Won the War: Army of the Cumberland Veterans and Emancipation Memory*. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 178 pp. "...mostly Illinoisans, Ohioans, Indianans, and, significantly, Kentucky Unionists."

Hunter, Edna Best. 2006. "'I Worked at Oak Ridge': An Early Narrative of Life in the Secret City." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 78: 73-83. Manhattan Project, 1944-45.

Huster, Lysbeth, and Joyce Ann Irons. 2008. "Remembering Fairmont during World War II: An Interview with Lysbeth Huster and Joyce Ann Irons." Interview by Kashka Nelson, editing by C. Belmont Keeney. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 2, no. 1 (Spring): 83-90.

Hutchinson, Jack T. 2005. Divided Loyalties: The Border States of the Upper South: Delaware, Maryland, West Virginia, Kentucky, and Missouri: Their Cultural Heritage and Divided Civil War Loyalties. Canton, Ga.: J.T. Hutchinson. 366 pp. Maps, tables, bibliography and sources.

Hutton, T.R.C. 2010. "UnReconstructed Appalachia: The Persistence of War in Appalachia." Chap. 3 in *Reconstructing Appalachia: The Civil War's Aftermath*, ed. A. Slap, 71-104. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Hylton, Lorenzo Dow, and Barbara Hylton. 2012. "A Floyd County Family in Wartime: The Civil War Letters of Lorenzo and Barbara Hylton" [Va.; 1862-1864]. Edited by James Robertson. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 16: 27-44. Lorenzo served in the Confederate 54th Virginia Infantry Regiment; Va., Tenn., Ga.; d. 1864.

Inscoe, John C. 1997. "'Moving through Deserter Country': Fugitive Accounts of the Inner Civil War in Southern Appalachia." In *The Civil War in Appalachia: Collected Essays*, ed. K. Noe and S. Wilson, 158-186. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Inscoe, John C. 2005. "'Talking Heroines': Elite Mountain Women as Chroniclers of Stoneman's Raid, April 1865" [N.C.; Confederate allegiance]. In *Inside the Confederate Nation: Essays in Honor of Emory M. Thomas*, ed. L. Gordon and J. Inscoe, 230-247. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 381 pp.

Inscoe, John C. 2006. "Guerrilla War and Remembrance" [examines 'The Early Life of William Albert Wilson,' a Civil War memoir from Ashe Co., N.C.]. *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 1 (Fall): 74-97.

Inscoe, John C. 2007. "Guerrilla War and Remembrance." In *Neighbor to Neighbor: A Memoir of Family, Community, and Civil War in Appalachian North Carolina* [Ashe Co.], ed. S. Ballard and L. Weinstein, 44-69. Boone, N.C.: Center for Appalachian Studies, Appalachian State University.

Inscoe, John C. 2010. "'A Northern Wedge Thrust into the Heart of the Confederacy': Explaining Civil War Loyalties in the Age of Appalachian Discovery, 1900-1921." Chap. 12 in *Reconstructing Appalachia: The Civil War's Aftermath*, ed. A. Slap, 323-348. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Inscoe, John C., and Gordon B. McKinney. 2000. *The Heart of Confederate Appalachia: Western North Carolina in the Civil War*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 384 pp.

Inscoe, John C., and Gordon B. McKinney. 2001. "Highland Households Divided: Family Deceptions, Diversions, and Divisions in Southern Appalachia's Inner Civil War." In *Enemies of the Country: New Perspectives on Unionists in the Civil War South*, ed. J. Inscoe and R. Kenzer, 54-72. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Inscoe, John C., and Robert C. Kenzer, ed. 2001. *Enemies of the Country: New Perspectives on Unionists in the Civil War South* [ten essays; selected bibliography]. Introduction by John C. Inscoe. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Iseminger, Gordon L. 2004. "The Second Raid on Harpers Ferry, July 29, 1899: The Other Bodies That Lay A'Mouldering in Their Graves" [reinterment]. *Pennsylvania History* 71 (Spring): 129-163.

Janney, Caroline E. "'I Yield to No Man an Iota of My Convictions': Chickamauga and Chattanooga National Military Park and the Limits of Reconciliation" [1895]. *Journal of the Civil War Era* 2, no. 3 (September): 394-420.

Jehl, Douglas, and Jayson Blair. 2003. "Rescue in Iraq and a 'Big Stir' in West Virginia" [POW Jessica Lynch; Palestine, W. Va.]. *New York Times*, 3 April, 1(A).

Jenkins, Kirk C. 2003. *The Battle Rages Higher: The Union's Fifteenth Kentucky Infantry* [regimental history: western campaigns, incl. Chickamauga, Chattanooga, Atlanta]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 452 pp.

John Brown/ Boyd B. Stutler Collection Database, The [West Virginia State Archives]. 2003. *West Virginia History* 59 (2001-2003): 36-43. http://www.wvculture.org/history/.

Johnson, Clint. 1999. *Touring Virginia's and West Virginia's Civil War Sites*. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 407 pp.

Johnson, Mary E., and Joe Geiger, Jr. 2000. "West Virginia's Militia and Home Guard in the Civil War" [includes muster lists for Barbour, Boone, Braxton, and Brooke Cos., pp. 79-167]. West Virginia History 58 (1999-2000): 68-167.

Johnson, Uzal. 2011. *Captured at Kings Mountain: The Journal of Uzal Johnson, a Loyalist Surgeon* [1780, Battle of Kings Mountain]. Edited by Wade S. Kolb and Robert M. Weir. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 182 pp.

Jones, Carroll C. 2009. *The 25th North Carolina Troops in the Civil War: History and Roster of a Mountain-Bred Regiment*. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 314 pp. Comprised of troops from Buncombe, Haywood, Henderson, Jackson, Cherokee, and Transylvania Counties, N.C., and counties in northwest Georgia.

Jones, Carroll. 2010. *Captain Lenoir's Diary: Tom Lenoir and His Civil War Company from Western North Carolina* ["Haywood Highlanders"]. Wilmington, N.C.: Winoca Press. 478 pp. Confederate Infantry Regiment 25th, Company F.

Jones, James B. 2006. *Tennessee Civil War Sourcebook* [online resource]. http://www.tennessee.civilwarsourcebook.com/. 7000 primary source entries include diaries, newspapers, Civil War records, ship logs, letters, and historical articles.

Jones, James B., Jr. 2004. "'Fevers Ran High': The Civil War in the Cumberland" [Ky., Tenn.]. In *Rural Life and Culture in the Upper Cumberland*, ed. M. Birdwell and W. Dickinson, 73-104. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Jones, K. Randell, and James T. Broyhill. 2011. *Before They Were Heroes at King's Mountain* [Overmountain Men; 1780]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: Daniel Boone Footsteps. 588 pp. This unabridged edition is a compilation of three regional/state editions.

Jones, William S. 2008. "The Civil War in Van Buren County, 1861-1865." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 67, no. 1 (Spring): 56-64.

Jordan, Weymouth T., Jr. 2000. "'O what a turbill affair': Alexander W. Reynolds and His North Carolina-Virginia Brigade at Missionary Ridge, Tennessee, November 25, 1863" [reexamines Reynold's role as scapegoat in Confederate defeat]. *North Carolina Historical Review* 77 (July): 312-336.

Kanon, Tom. 1999. "Glories in the Field': John Cocke vs. Andrew Jackson during The War of 1812." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 71: 47-65.

Keith, Jeannette. 2001. "The Politics of Southern Draft Resistance, 1917-1918: Class, Race, and Conscription in the Rural South." *Journal of American History* 87 (March): 1335-1361.

Keller, S. Roger. 2000. *Isaac Shelby: A Driving Force in America's Struggle for Independence* [biography]. Shippensburg, Pa.: Burd Street Press. 120 p. "A native of Maryland and later resident of the Carolinas, Isaac Shelby fought in three wars: Lord Dunmore's, the American Revolution, and the War of 1812. After leading Kentucky to statehood he served as her first governor."

Kelley, Lucas P. 2012. "A Divided State in a Divided Nation: An Exploration of East Tennessee's Support of the Union in the Secession Crisis of 1860-1861." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 84: 3-22.

Kesterson, Brian Stuart. 2009. *West Virginia National Guard*, 1898-1919 [pictorial retrospective]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Kiefer, Geraldine Wojno, and James K. Bryant II. 2010. "Strategy and Sublimity: A Gallery of Valley Pike Images during the Civil War." Chap. 5 in *The Great Valley Road of Virginia: Shenandoah Landscapes from Prehistory to the Present*, ed. W. Hofstra and K. Raitz, 135-152. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press.

Kilborn, Peter T. 2003. "Town Holds Ex-P.O.W. in a Close Embrace" [Jessica Lynch; Palestine, W. Va.]. *New York Times*, 13 June, 24(A).

King-Owen, Scott. 2011. "Conditional Confederates: Absenteeism among Western North Carolina Soldiers, 1861–1865" [tables]. *Civil War History* 57, no. 4 (December): 349-379.

Kopperman, Paul E. [1977] 2003. *Braddock at the Monongahela*. Reprint. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press. 352 pp. Account of the 1755 French and Indian defeat of Gen. Edward Braddock's army while marching on French Fort Duquesne.

Kraus, Michael G., David M. Neville, and Kenneth C. Turner. 2012. *The Civil War in Pennsylvania: A Photographic History*. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Senator John Heinz History Center. 312 pp. Contents: From Frontier Colony to the Threshold of War | The War till Gettysburg | Defending the State | Emancipation to War's End | Aftermath. "Most of the images are from private collectors and have never been published."

Lambert, Lois J. 2005. *Ninety-First Ohio Volunteer Infantry: With the Civil War Letters of Lieutenant Colonel Benjamin Franklin Coates and an Annotated Roster of the Men of Company C* [recruits from Adams, Scioto, Lawrence, Gallia, Jackson, and Pike Cos.]. Milford, Ohio: Little Miami Publishing Co. 209 pp.

Lang, Phyllis Martin. 2001. "'My Dear Mother': The Civil War Letters of Thomas Walton Patton" [60th North Carolina Regiment]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 2, ed. R. S. Brunk, 10-34. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services, Inc.

Laver, Harry S. 2008. *Citizens More Than Soldiers: The Kentucky Militia and Society in the Early Republic*. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 216 pp.

Lawton, Christopher R. 2008. "The Pilgrim's Progress: Thomas J. Jackson's Journey Toward Civility and Citizenship" [later "Stonewall" Jackson]. *Virginia Magazine of History and Biography* 116, no. 1 (January): 2-41. Details Jackson's life from orphan in [West] Virginia to West Point to gentleman in 1850s Lexington, Va.

Lee, David D. [1985] 2002. *Sergeant York: An American Hero* [1887-1964; WWI]. Reprint. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 162 pp.

Lee, Tom. 2010. "The Lost Cause That Wasn't: East Tennessee and the Myth of Unionist Appalachia." Chap. 11 in *Reconstructing Appalachia: The Civil War's Aftermath*, ed. A. Slap, 293-322. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Lepa, Jack H. The Shenandoah Valley Campaign of 1864. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 252 pp.

Lesser, W. Hunter. 2004. *Rebels at the Gate: Lee and McClellan on the Front Line of a Nation Divided* [1861; western Va.]. Naperville, Ill.: Sourcebooks. 375 pp.

Lewis, Patrick A. 2009. "All Men of Decency Ought to Quit the Army': Benjamin F. Buckner, Manhood, and Proslavery Unionism in Kentucky" [Winchester, Clark Co.]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 107, no. 4 (Autumn): 513-549.

Lilly, John. 2001. "USS *West Virginia*: A Tale of Three Ships" [1903-1920; 1923-1941; raised and refitted 1943-1947; 1990 (submarine). *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Winter): 16-21. http://www.wvculture.org/history/usswv/usswv.html.

Linton, Roger C. 2004. *Chickamauga: A Battlefield History in Images* [1863; guidebook; historical photographs]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 160 pp.

Lollis, Edward W. 2009. "The Oak Ridge International Friendship Bell." In *The Atomic Bomb and American Society: New Perspectives*, ed. R. Mariner and G. Piehler, 344-380. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Story of the controversial, large bronze bell cast in Japan, dedicated in 1996 as a public monument in Oak Ridge, Tenn., and inscribed with two panels symbolizing Tennessee and Japan.

Long, Kate. 2010. "Phyllis and Carl Guthrie: A Wartime Romance." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 1 (Spring): 8-13. WWII, South Charleston, Naval Ordnance plant "Rosie the Riveter" job. Sidebar: "U.S. Naval Ordnance Plant: A Brief History," 14-15.

Lowry, Terry, and Stan Cohen. 2000. *Images of the Civil War in West Virginia* [475 photos, images, drawings]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 206 pp.

Lowry, Terry. [1985] 2011. *September Blood: The Battle of Carnifex Ferry* [1861]. Reprint, with a new introduction by the author. Charleston, W.Va: Quarrier Press. 170 pp.

Lucas, Marion B. 2001. "John G. Fee, the Berea Exiles, and the 1862 Confederate Invasion of Kentucky" [abolitionist founder of Berea College]. *Filson Club Quarterly* 75 (Spring): 155-180.

Lynch, Michael. 2009. "Creating Regional Heroes: Traditional Interpretations of the Battle of King's Mountain" [1780; backcountry mountaineers]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 68, no. 3 (Fall): 224-249.

MacKenzie, Scott A. 2010. "The Slaveholders' War: The Secession Crisis in Kanawha County, Western Virginia, 1860-1861" [map, tables]. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 4, no. 1 (Spring): 33-57. "While salt furnaces substituted for cotton plantations there, local slaveholders exhibited many of the same traits as their eastern counterparts."

Mackey, Robert R. 2004. *The Uncivil War: Irregular Warfare in the Upper South, 1861-1865* [three case studies: Arkansas; Mosby's Rangers; Forrest and Morgan]. Campaigns and Commanders Series. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press. 288 pp.

Madarasz, Anne. 2011. "Offerings" [at Flight 93 Memorial, Shanksville, Pa.]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 94, no. 3 (Fall): 37-41. Efforts to collect and save artifacts left in tribute at the 9/11/01 crash site, as is done with offerings left at the Vietnam Veterans Memorial Wall in Washington, D.C.

Mahon, Michael. 2005. "The Shenandoah Valley of Virginia." In *Virginia at War, 1861*, ed. W. Davis and J. Robertson, 131-147. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Mann, Ralph. 1997. "Ezekiel Counts's Sand Lick Company: Civil War and Localism in the Mountain South" [Va.; desertion]. In *The Civil War in Appalachia: Collected Essays*, ed. K. Noe and S. Wilson, 78-103. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Manufactured History: Re-Fighting the Battle of Point Pleasant [1774; western Va.]. 1997. *West Virginia History* 56: 76-87. Debate over whether this was the first battle of the American Revolution.

Marshall, Anne E. 2010. "Civil War Memory in Eastern Kentucky is 'Predominately White': The Confederate Flag in Unionist Appalachia." Chap. 13 in *Reconstructing Appalachia: The Civil War's Aftermath*, ed. A. Slap, 349-366. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Marshall, Anne E. 2010. *Creating a Confederate Kentucky: The Lost Cause and Civil War Memory in a Border State*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 233 pp. Contents: A marked change in the sentiments of the people: slavery, Civil War, and emancipation in Kentucky, 1792-1865 -- The rebel spirit in Kentucky: the politics of readjustment, 1865-1877 -- Wicked and lawless men: violence and Confederate identity, 1865-1885 -- What shall be the moral to young Kentuckians? Civil War memorial activity in the commonwealth, 1865-1895 -- Two Kentuckys: Civil War identity in Appalachian Kentucky, 1865-1915 -- A place full of colored people, pretty girls, and polite men: literature, Confederate identity, and Kentucky's reputation, 1890-1915 -- A manifest aversion to the Union cause: war memory in Kentucky, 1895-1935.

Mays, Thomas D. 1998. *The Saltville Massacre* [Va.; African American soldiers; 1864]. Civil War Campaigns and Commanders Series. Abilene, Tex.: McWhiney Foundation Press. 91 pp.

Mays, Thomas D. 2008. *Cumberland Blood: Champ Ferguson's Civil War* [1821-1865]. Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press. 194 pp. Notorious Ky. guerilla, criminal, and killer; Ky./Tenn. borderland.

McAIntire, Dennis P. 2002. *Lee at Chattanooga: A Novel of What Might Have Been* [1863 Battle]. Nashville, Tenn.: Cumberland House. 276 pp.

McClellan, George B. [1864] 2008. Report of Maj.-Gen. George B. McClellan, August 4, 1863: With an Account of the Campaign in Western Virginia. Proctorville, Ohio: M.S. Phillips. 74 pp. Originally published: New York: Sheldon & Co.

McGee, David H. 1997. "'Home and Friends': Kinship, Community, and Elite Women in Caldwell County, North Carolina, during the Civil War." *North Carolina Historical Review*74 (October): 363-388.

McGehee, C. Stuart. 2005. "The Tarnished Thirty-Fifth Star" [W. Va. statehood]. In *Virginia at War*, 1861, ed. W. Davis and J. Robertson, 149-157. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

McGehee, Stuart. 2008. "Marching to Glory: Bluefield's American Legion Junior Drum & Bugle Corps." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 3 (Fall): 58-63. Competitions, 1930s-1950s.

McGinty, Brian. 2009. *John Brown's Trial* [Harpers Ferry (W.)Va., 1859]. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press. 350 pp.

McGuire, Samuel B. 2012. "Rally Union Men in Defence of your State!': Appalachian Militiamen in the Kirk-Holden War, 1870." *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 294-323. "The same negative stereotypes espoused by critics of Kirk's troops in and outside the mountain South would, in time, come to stereotype *all* Southern mountaineers."

McKain, David L. 2004. *The Civil War and Northwestern Virginia: The Military, Political and Economic Events Surrounding the Creation of West Virginia, and the Role of Parkersburg, West Virginia in Those Events*. Parkersburg, W. Va.: D. L. McKain. 203 pp. With illustrations, timeline, and 25 appendices.

McKenzie, Robert Tracy. 1997. "'Oh! Ours Is a Deplorable Condition': The Economic Impact of the Civil War in Upper East Tennessee." In *The Civil War in Appalachia: Collected Essays*, ed. K. Noe and S. Wilson, 199-226. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

McKenzie, Robert Tracy. 2001. "Prudent Silence and Strict Neutrality: The Parameters of Unionism in Parson Brownlow's Knoxville, 1860-1863." In *Enemies of the Country: New Perspectives on Unionists in the Civil War South*, ed. J. Inscoe and R. Kenzer, 73-96. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

McKenzie, Robert Tracy. 2002. "Contesting Secession: Parson Brownlow and the Rhetoric of Proslavery Unionism, 1860-1861" [East Tenn.]. *Civil War History* 48 (December): 294-312.

McKenzie, Robert Tracy. 2006. "A Teenage Confederate Experiences Union Occupation: The Diary of Susan Amelia Ramsey, September 1863-April 1864" [Knoxville]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 78: 60-72.

McKenzie, Robert Tracy. 2006. *Lincolnites and Rebels: A Divided Town in the American Civil War* [Knoxville, Tenn., violence]. New York: Oxford University Press. 306 pp.

McKinney, Gordon B. 1997. "Premature Industrialization in Appalachia: The Asheville Armory, 1862-1863." In *The Civil War in Appalachia: Collected Essays*, ed. K. Noe and S. Wilson, 227-241. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

McKinney, Gordon B. 2004. "The Civil War and Reconstruction." In *High Mountains Rising: Appalachia in Time and Place*, ed. R. Straw and H. Blethen, 46-58. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

McKinney, Gordon B. 2005. "Layers of Loyalty: Confederate Nationalism and Amnesty Letters from Western North Carolina." *Civil War History* 51, no. 1: 5-22.

McKinney, Gordon B. 2010. "Introduction: Appalachia, 1865-1910." In *Reconstructing Appalachia: The Civil War's Aftermath*, ed. A. Slap, 1-22. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

McKinney, Tim. 2000. *West Virginia Civil War Almanac*. Vol. 2 [soldiers register]. Charleston, W. Va.: Pictorial Histories Publishing Company.

McKinney, Tim. 2004. *The Civil War in Greenbrier County, West Virginia*. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 416 pp.

McKnight, Brian D. 2005. "Hope and Humiliation: Humphrey Marshall and the Confederacy's Last Chance in Eastern Kentucky" [1862; inability to recruit Ky. troops]. *Ohio Valley History* 5, no. 3 (Fall): 3-20.

McKnight, Brian Dallas. [2006] 2012. *Contested Borderland: The Civil War in Appalachian Kentucky and Virginia* [ambivalent allegiance; guerrilla warfare]. Reprint. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 312 pp.

McKnight, Brian Dallas. 2011. *Confederate Outlaw: Champ Ferguson and the Civil War in Appalachia* [1821-1865 (hanged)]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 252 pp. Contents: The "natural man" -- Exiled to Tennessee -- Fight on the Cumberland -- The tensions of the borderland -- Stability and partition -- Lessons of perseverance -- The borderland guerrilla lifestyle -- A terrible career's grand climax -- Revelation of a clear conscience -- Quiet resurrections of an unlikely hero. "Hollywood used Ferguson's life to create the composite role played by Clint Eastwood in *The Outlaw Josey Wales*." See also: Thomas D. Mays, *Cumberland Blood: Champ Ferguson's Civil War* (Southern Illinois University Press, 2008).

Miller, E. Lynn. 2003. Fresh Fish: A Civil War Prisoner's Story [Confederate soldier Isaac Moore Gregory (1830-1908) from Braxton Co., W. Va.]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 150 pp.

Mosgrove, George Dallas. [1895] 1999. *Kentucky Cavaliers in Dixie: Reminiscences of a Confederate Cavalryman* [1862-1865; eastern Tenn., Ky., western Va.]. Reprint. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 282 pp. Originally published: Louisville, Ky.: Courier-Journal Job Printing Co.

Murfin, James V. [1965] 2004. *The Gleam of Bayonets: The Battle of Antietam and Robert E. Lee's Maryland Campaign, September 1862*. Introduction by James I. Robertson, Jr. Reprint, with a new foreword by Scott Hartwig. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 451 pp. Originally published: New York: T. Yoseloff.

Naron, Levi H. 2005. *Chickasaw, A Mississippi Scout for the Union: The Civil War Memoir of Levi H. Naron.* As recounted by R. W. Surby; edited by Thomas D. Cockrell and Michael B. Ballard. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 181 pp.

Nash, Steven E. 2010. "The Other War Was but the Beginning': The Politics of Loyalty in Western North Carolina, 1865-1867." Chap. 4 in *Reconstructing Appalachia: The Civil War's Aftermath*, ed. A. Slap, 105-134. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Nelson, Kelli. 2012. "'In Tongues of Stone': Civil War Monuments and the Evolution of Historical Memory in East Tennessee, 1890-1931." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 84: 40-62.

Nelson, Truman. [1973] 2009. *The Old Man: John Brown at Harper's Ferry* [(W.)Va.; biography]. Chicago, Ill.: Haymarket. 304 pp. Originally published: New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.

Nicholls, Lewis D. 2006. A Masterful Retreat: The Story of the 7th Division's Retreat Across Eastern Kentucky from Sept. 17 - Oct. 3, 1862 [Cumberland Gap Campaign]. Ashland, Ky.?: Avant Garde Publishing. 181 pp.

Noe, Kenneth W. 1997. "Exterminating Savages: The Union Army and Mountain Guerrillas in Southern West Virginia, 1861-1862." In *The Civil War in Appalachia: Collected Essays*, ed. K. Noe and S. Wilson, 104-130. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Noe, Kenneth W. [1999] 2001. "'Deadened Color and Colder Horror': Rebecca Harding Davis and the Myth of Unionist Appalachia." In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 67-84. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Noe, Kenneth W. 2003. "Who Were the Bushwhackers? Age, Class, Kin, and Western Virginia's Confederate Guerrillas, 1861-1862." *Civil War History* 49 (March): 5-31.

Noe, Kenneth W. 2003. *Perryville: This Grand Havoc of Battle* [Ky.'s fateful battle]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 494 pp.

Noe, Kenneth W., and Shannon H. Wilson, ed. 1997. *The Civil War in Appalachia: Collected Essays*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 320 pp.

Noe, Kenneth W., and Shannon H. Wilson. 1997. "Introduction: Appalachia's Civil War in Historical Perspective." In *The Civil War in Appalachia: Collected Essays*, ed. K. Noe and S. Wilson, xi-xxxiii. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

O'Brien, Sean Michael. 1999. *Mountain Partisans: Guerrilla Warfare in the Southern Appalachians*, 1861-1865. Westport, Conn.: Praeger Publishers. 221 pp.

O'Bryant, Jeff. 2009. A Brief History of Catoosa County: Up into the Hills [Ga.; site of Battle of Chickamauga, 1863]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 157 pp.

O'Connor, Miriah. 2012. "Theresa O'Brien's Diary: Love and Devotion Behind the Line." *Western Pennsylvania History* 95, no. 2 (Summer): 30-41. She accompanied her husband during a nine-month enlistment in 1862, and describes daily activities and military life.

Opdycke, Emerson. 2003. *To Battle for God and the Right: The Civil War Letterbooks of Emerson Opdycke* [Brigadier General, Army of the Cumberland; Tenn., Ga.]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 332 pp.

Osborn, Kyle. 2010. "Reconstructing Race: Parson Brownlow and the Rhetoric of Race in Postwar East Tennessee. Chap. 6 in *Reconstructing Appalachia: The Civil War's Aftermath*, ed. A. Slap, 163-183. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Osborn, Richard. 2008. "William Preston, Revolutionary (1779-1780)." *The Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 12: 5-33. Virginia frontier militia leader; Montgomery County.

Parker, Robert W., and Catherine M. Wright. 2008. *Lee's Last Casualty: The Life and Letters of Sgt. Robert W. Parker, Second Virginia Cavalry*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 240 pp. The "Confederate Everyman"; Bedford County, Va.

Patchan, Scott C. 2007. *Shenandoah Summer: The 1864 Valley Campaign*. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 394 pp.

Pearson, Brooks C. 2005. "Comparative Accuracy in Four Civil War Maps of the Shenandoah Valley: A GIS Analysis" [1862 campaign; Shenandoah River]. *Professional Geographer* 57, no. 3 (August): 376-394.

Perry, Robert. 1998. *Jack May's War: Colonel Andrew Jackson May and the Civil War in Eastern Kentucky, Eastern Tennessee, and Southwestern Virginia*. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 249 pp.

Peter, Frances Dallam. 2000. A Union Woman in Civil War Kentucky: The Diary of Frances Peter [Lexington]. Edited by John David Smith and William Cooper, Jr. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 222 pp.

Piatt, G. Sam, ed. 2012. *Men of Valor: Combat Stories of WWII Veterans from Southern Ohio and Eastern Kentucky*. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 310 pp. "...more than sixty-five local combat veterans...share their experiences."

Porter, John Marion. 2011. *One of Morgan's Men: Memoirs of Lieutenant John M. Porter of the Ninth Kentucky Cavalry* [Confederate raider John Hunt Morgan]. Edited by Kent Masterson Brown. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 300 pp.

Power, J. Tracy. 2005. *Stonewall Jackson: Hero of the Confederacy* [juvenile literature]. Library of American Lives and Times. New York: PowerPlus Books. 112 pp.

Preston, John David. 2008. *The Civil War in the Big Sandy Valley of Kentucky*. 2nd ed. Baltimore, Md.: Gateway Press. 520 pp.

Rafuse, Ethan Sepp. 2008. *Antietam, South Mountain, and Harpers Ferry: A Battlefield Guide*. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 263 pp.

Ramsey, J. G. M. [1954] 2002. *Dr. J. G. M. Ramsey: Autobiography and Letters* [1797-1884; East Tenn.]. Introduction by Robert Tracy McKenzie. Appalachian Echoes. Reprint. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 367 pp. Originally published by the Tennessee Historical Commission.

Raney, Theophilus. 2004. "Civil War Letters to Blacksburg: The Correspondence of Pvt. Theophilus Raney." Edited by James I. Robertson, Jr. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 8: 5-30. Raney left his Montgomery Co., Va., farm and family in 1861 to join the Confederate 54th Virginia Infantry Regiment. Fourteen of his letters home are reprinted.

Rawling, C. J. [1887] 2002. *History of the First Regiment Virginia Infantry*. Reprint, with an introduction by Tim McKinney. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 320 pp. Originally published: Philadelphia: J. B. Lippincott Company. (Note: the spine title and book jacket title of this reprint reads *History of the First Regiment West Virginia Infantry*)

Reardon, Carol. 2003. "David Emmons Johnston: A Soldier's Life in the Confederate Army" [b. 1845, Giles Co., Va.]. In *The Human Tradition in the Old South*, ed. J. Klotter, 169-185. Wilmington, Del.: Scholarly Resources.

Reasoner, James. 2002. *Chickamauga* [fiction; 1863]. Nashville, Tenn.: Cumberland House. 394 pp. "In this seventh volume of the ten-volume Civil War Battle Series, the action spans the area from Pennsylvania and Virginia to Georgia, Mississippi, and Illinois. The seven members of the Brannon clan of Culpeper County, Virginia, experience a wide range of the many hardships of war."

Redding, Nicholas A. 2012. A History and Guide to Civil War Shepherdstown: Victory and Defeat in West Virginia's Oldest Town. Lynchburg, Va.: Schroeder Publications. 144 pp.

Woodworth, Steven E., and Charles D. Grear, eds. 2012. *The Chattanooga Campaign*. Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press. 226 pp. Contents: A perfect storm of ineffectiveness: the First Corps and the loss of Lookout Mountain / Alex Mendoza -- "Lookout Mountain frowned down upon us": the Union army and the struggle for Lookout Valley / Stewart Bennett -- "The very ground seemed alive": Sherman's assault on the north end of Missionary Ridge / Steven E. Woodworth -- Baptizing the hills and valleys: Cleburne's defense of Tunnel Hill / John R. Lundberg -- What happened on Orchard Knob? Ordering the attack on Missionary Ridge / Brooks D. Simpson -- This grand and imposing array of brave men: the capture of Rossville Gap and the defeat of the Confederate left / Sam Davis Elliott -- Saving the Army of Tennessee: the Confederate rearguard at Ringgold Gap / Justin S. Solonick -- From the Chickamauga with "Old Rosy" to Missionary Ridge with Grant: the fall 1863 struggle for Chattanooga and the press / Ethan S. Rafuse -- "What I am doing I do not consider desertion": trans-Mississippian reactions to Chickamauga and Chattanooga / Charles D. Grear -- A

Chattanooga plan: the gateway city's critical role in Civil War battlefield preservation / Timothy B. Smith.

Rice, Connie Park. 2012. "Letters from a Father: Col. Joseph Snider to Miss Mary Edith Snider" [1862-1864]. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 6, no. 1 (Spring): 73-86. Reprints of ten letters to his daughter from Joseph Snider (b. 1827, Monongalia Co.) of the Seventh West Virginia Infantry and Fourth West Virginia Cavalry.

Ridenour, Hugh. 2012. "Garlin M. Conner: The Elusive Medal of Honor" [1919-1998; Clinton Co., Ky.]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 110, no. 1 (Winter): 67-91. Summary of distinguished WWII combat record. "That Conner is an American hero with a war record equaled by very few other soldiers is undisputed."

Robertson, George F. 19--? [1932]. A Small Boy's Recollections of the Civil War (War Between the States) [Greeneville, Tenn.]. Reprint place and publisher unknown. 116 pp. Originally published: Clover, S.C.: G.F. Robertson.

Robertson, James I., Jr. 2001. *Standing Like a Stone Wall: The Life of General Thomas J. Jackson* [1824-1863; juvenile literature; W. Va.]. New York: Atheneum. 185 pp.

Robertson, James I., Jr. 2005. "John Preston Sheffey and the Civil War in Southwestern Virginia" [discusses letters home to Marion, Va., from a Confederate junior officer]. Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge 9: 5-17.

Robinson, Shirley. 2011. "We Have Been Looking For You a Long Time': Union Soldiers and Identity Formation in the Appalachian South." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 83: 3-24. Northerners' changed perceptions of the Appalachian South.

Rogers, Stephen T. 2010. "Tilghman Vestal: Tennessee Potter and Civil War Conscientious Objector" [Quaker; Surry Co.]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 69, no. 1 (Spring): 2-17.

Rubin, Ben. 2010. "The Rhetoric of Revenge: Atrocity and Identity in the Revolutionary Carolinas." *Journal of Backcountry Studies* (online), vol 5, no. 2 (Fall): 46 pp. Battle of Kings Mountain; 1780-81; Whig and Tory viewpoints from the journals of two young men. http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ojs/index.php/jbc/issue/view/17.

Sandow, Robert M. 2009. *Deserter Country: Civil War Opposition in the Pennsylvania Appalachians*. New York: Fordham University Press. 234 pp. Contents: The lumber region as Pennsylvania's Appalachia -- Patterns of protest: the raftsmen's rebellion of 1857 -- The limits of patriotism: early mobilization in the mountains -- The rhetoric of loyalty: partisan perspectives on treason -- Everyday resistance in Pennsylvania's deserter country -- "Collisions with the people": federal intervention in deserter country -- Epilogue: contested memories of the Civil War.

Sandow, Robert M. 2010. "Grudges and Loyalties Die So Slowly': Contested Memories of the Civil War in Pennsylvania's Appalachia." Chap. 10 in *Reconstructing Appalachia: The Civil War's Aftermath*, ed. A. Slap, 269-292. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Sarris, Jonathan D. 1999. "'Shot for Being Bushwhackers': Guerrilla War and Extralegal Violence in a North Georgia Community, 1862-1865" [Lumpkin Co.]. In *Guerrillas, Unionists, and Violence on the Confederate Home Front*, ed. D. Sutherland, 31-44. Fayetteville: University of Arkansas Press.

Sarris, Jonathan Dean. 2006. *A Separate Civil War: Communities in Conflict in the Mountain South* [North Ga.; Fannin and Lumpkin Cos.]. A Nation Divided. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 238 pp.

Sarris, Jonathan. 1997. "An Execution in Lumpkin County: Localized Loyalties in North Georgia's Civil War." In *The Civil War in Appalachia: Collected Essays*, ed. K. Noe and S. Wilson, 131-157. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Sauers, Richard Allen. 2000. *The Devastating Hand of War: Romney, West Virginia, During the Civil War* [Hampshire Co.]. 2nd ed. Glen Ferris, W.Va: Gauley Mount Press. 115 pp.

Scoggins, Michael C. 2005. *The Day It Rained Militia: Huck's Defeat and the Revolution in the South Carolina Backcountry, May-July 1780* [York Co.]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 316 pp.

Sears, Richard D. 2002. *Camp Nelson, Kentucky: A Civil War History* [Jessamine Co.; black recruiting and emancipation center]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 401 pp.

Severance, Ben H. 2005. *Tennessee's Radical Army: The State Guard and Its Role in Reconstruction*, 1867-1869 [most mustered in East Tenn.]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 327 pp.

Seymour, Digby Gordon. [1963, 1982] 2002. *Divided Loyalties: Fort Sanders and the Civil War in East Tennessee* [1863; Knoxville]. 3rd ed. Knoxville: East Tennessee Historical Society. 241 pp. First published by University of Tennessee Press.

Shaffer, John W. 2003. *Clash of Loyalties: A Border County in the Civil War* [Barbour Co., W. Va.]. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 3. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 264 pp.

Sheffey, John Preston. 2004. *Soldier of Southwestern Virginia: The Civil War Letters of Captain John Preston Sheffey* [Confederate Army, 8th Virginia Cavalry Regiment]. Edited by James I. Robertson, Jr. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 239 pp.

Showalter, Henry. 2006. "Montgomery County in August 1862: A Showalter Observation" [Va.; Confederate draft; Mennonite pacifist reactions in a personal letter, reprinted]. Edited by

James I. Robertson, Jr. Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge 10: 33-37.

Simpson, Darlene Brown. 1999. "Thomas Winton Fisher, Confederate Soldier and 19th Century Pilgrim from Wythe County, Virginia: Part 1." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 3: 4-27. Fisher (b. 1837) joined the 51st Regiment Virginia Infantry in 1862. His 1862-63 wartime experiences and hardship are described, and several of his letters home are reprinted.

Simpson, Darlene Brown. 2000. "Thomas Winton Fisher, Confederate Soldier and 19th Century Pilgrim: Part 2." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 4: 82-124. Continues letter excerpts from a previous article (vol. 3, 1999), covering wartime experiences, 1863-65.

Sinco, Luis. 2007. "Rescue Operation Aims to Save a Wounded Warrior" [Iraq; native of Jonancy, Ky.]. *Los Angeles Times*, 12 November. 3264 words; second of two parts. Story excerpted in *Appalachian Journal* 35, no.3 (Spring 2008): 157-159. http://www.latimes.com/news/nationworld/nation/la-na-marlboro12nov12,0,4839662.story.

Sinco, Luis. 2007. "Two Lives Blurred Together by a Photo." *Los Angeles Times*, 11 November. 2859 words; first of two parts. Story excerpted in *Appalachian Journal* 35, no.3 (Spring 2008): 153-157. Iraq veteran James Blake Miller, subject of iconic/ironic "Marlboro Marine" combat photo, discharged suffering from PTSD. http://www.latimes.com/news/nationworld/nation/la-na-marlboro11nov11,0,4380908.story.

Slap, Andrew L, ed. 2010. *Reconstructing Appalachia: The Civil War's Aftermath* [14 papers]. New Directions in Southern History series. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 379 pp. [Compare this book, as a sequel, to *Civil War in Appalachia: Collected Essays*, ed. K. Noe and S. Wilson (University of Tennessee Press, 1997)].

Slap, Andrew L. 2010. "A New Frontier: Historians, Appalachian History, and the Aftermath of the Civil War." Chap. 1 in *Reconstructing Appalachia: The Civil War's Aftermath*, ed. A. Slap, 23-48. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Smith, Marion O. 1997. "In Quest of a Supply of Saltpeter and Gunpowder in Early Civil War Tennessee." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 56 (Summer): 96-111.

Smith, Timothy B. 2009. *A Chickamauga Memorial: The Establishment of America's First Civil War National Military Park* [Chickamauga and Chattanooga National Military Park, Ga./Tenn.]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 211 pp.

Snell, Mark A. 2011. *West Virginia and the Civil War: Mountaineers Are Always Free*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 255 pp. Contents: "Let us organize a legislature" -- The first campaign and other firsts -- "There stands Jackson like a stone wall": (West) Virginians at Manassas -- Toward statehood -- West Virginians at war, 1862 -- 1863, the thirty-fifth star in the

flag -- West Virginians at war: spring and summer 1864 -- "Follow him to the death": the end of the war and beyond -- Epilogue. Mountaineers remember their war.

Speer, Allen Paul, comp. and ed. 1997. *Voices from Cemetery Hill: The Civil War Diary, Reports, and Letters of Colonel William Henry Asbury Speer (1861-1864)* [of Yadkin Co., N.C.]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 235 pp.

Speer, Ed. 2002. "Tennessee Notes: The Private War of Lafayette Jones: A Civil War Tragedy in Northeast Tennessee" [Johnson and Carter Cos.]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 61 (Winter): 290-301.

Spencer, James. 2011. "Victory Loan Tour of 1945." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 3 (Fall): 42-47. Six national train tour bond drives "raised approximately \$21 billion...to pay down the national debt following World War II," making "several stops in West Virginia.

Spruill, Matt. 2003. *Storming the Heights: A Guide to the Battle of Chattanooga* [1863]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 341 pp.

Starnes, Richard D. 1997. "The Stirring Strains of Dixie': The Civil War and Southern Identity in Haywood County, North Carolina." *North Carolina Historical Review* 74 (July): 238-259.

Stephenson, Darl L. 2001. *Headquarters in the Brush: Blazer's Independent Union Scouts* [W. Va.]. Athens: Ohio University Press. 355 pp.

Stephenson, R. S. 2005. Special issue, "Clash of the Empires: The British, French & Indian War 1754-1763." *Western Pennsylvania History* 88, no. 1-2: i-ix, 1-108. Essays, art, and photos to accompany a 250th-anniversary exhibition at the Senator John Heinz Pittsburgh Regional History Center in Pittsburgh.

Stephenson, R. Scott. 2005. *Clash of Empires: The British, French & Indian War, 1754-1763*. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Senator John Heinz Pittsburgh Regional History Center. 108 pp. Contents: An expedition to save New France -- A people between -- The storm rising in the West -- The great warpaths -- The backcountry war -- The fight for Canada -- The world on fire -- First rebels -- The triumph of Britannia? -- Canadians. Catalogue to accompany a landmark traveling exhibit.

Stevens, Peter F. 2000. *Rebels in Blue: The Story of Keith and Malinda Blalock* [N.C.; Confederate deserters and Unionists]. Dallas, Tex.: Taylor Publishing Co. 254 pp.

Storey, Margaret M. 2003. "Civil War Unionists and the Political Culture of Loyalty in Alabama, 1860-1861" [seven subregions]. *Journal of Southern History* 69 (February): 71-106.

Storie, Melanie Greer. 2009. "Heroic Courage and Unfaltering Devotion": A Gathering of East Tennessee Veterans" [exploits recounted; 1896]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 68, no. 2 (Summer): 174-197.

Storie, Melanie K. 2011. "Deconstructing the Myth: The 13th Tennessee Volunteer Cavalry and the Death of General John Hunt Morgan." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 82, (2010): 101-119. Regiment members from Carter and Johnson Counties, Tennessee.

Strasser, William A. 1999. "A Terrible Calamity Has Befallen Us': Unionist Women in Civil War East Tennessee." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 71: 66-88.

Strasser, William A., Jr. 2000. "Our Women Played Well Their Parts': Confederate Women in Civil War East Tennessee." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 59 (Summer): 88-107.

Sturm, Jesse Tyler. 2002. "From a 'Whirlpool of Death...to Victory": Civil War Remembrances of Jesse Tyler Sturm, 14th West Virginia Infantry [b. 1844, Marion Co., (W.)Va.; Union Army service in Shenandoah Valley]. Charleston: West Virginia History, West Virginia Division of Culture and History. 160 pp. Originally published 1911 as a newspaper series.

Suggestions for Further Reading [bibliography: 76 books, articles, dissertations]. 1997. In *The Civil War in Appalachia: Collected Essays*, ed. K. Noe and S. Wilson, 265-269. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Sutherland, Daniel E. 2009. A Savage Conflict: The Decisive Role of Guerrillas in the American Civil War. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 435 pp. Organized chronologically and thematically.

Swisher, James K. 2008. *The Revolutionary War in the Southern Back Country* [popular history]. Gretna, La.: Pelican Publishing Co. 380 pp. Contents: Revolution -- Clash at Point Pleasant -- The Cherokee War of 1776: Unconscionable Betrayal -- Thunder on Spring Hill: The Struggle for Savannah -- The Redcoats Return to Charlestown -- The Battle of Camden: A Disparaging Defeat -- The Rise of Partisan Warfare -- Battle at Kings Mountain: The Fatal Miscalculations of Patrick Ferguson -- The Fight at Hannah's Cowpens: A Complete Victory of Tactical Ingenuity -- Duel in North Carolina: The Battle of Guilford Court House.

Tanner, Borgon. 2001. "Two Days That Changed Our Lives" [Dec. 7, 1941; New Martinsville, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Winter): 14-15.

Taylor, Richard. 2006. *Sue Mundy: A Novel of the Civil War*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 347 pp. Historical fiction; Ky.; guerilla warfare; i.e., Marcellus Jerome Clark.

Taylor, William D. 2008. "A Fit Representation of Pandemonium": East Tennessee Confederate Soldiers in the Campaign for Vicksburg [1863]. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 558 pp.

Tennessee Civil War National Heritage Area [master plan]. 2002. Special issue, *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 61 (Summer): 81-153.

Trainor, Sean. 2011. "Pennsylvania and the American Civil War: An Annotated Guide to Online Resources." *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 135, no. 4 (October): 513-523.

Tucker, Spencer. 2003. Brigadier General John D. Imboden: Confederate Commander in the Shenandoah. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 372 pp.

United States. 2007. Senate-House Joint Field Hearing on Issues Facing Veterans in the Rural Areas of Appalachia: Joint Hearing Before the Committee on Veterans' Affairs, United States Senate, and the Committee on Veterans' Affairs, House of Representatives, One Hundred Tenth Congress, First Session, May 29, 2007 [medical care; Ohio]. Washington: U.S. G.P.O. 50 pp. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS87941.

Varat, Daniel R. 2001. "Loyal to the Core': Western North Carolina in the Great War" [WWI participation; Sergeant York]. *North Carolina Historical Review* 78 (July): 345-377.

Wakelyn, Jon L. 1999. "The Politics of Violence: Unionist Pamphleteers in Virginia's Inner Civil War" [W.Va statehood]. In *Guerrillas, Unionists, and Violence on the Confederate Home Front*, ed. D. Sutherland, 59-74. Fayetteville: University of Arkansas Press.

Wallenstein, Peter. 1997. "'Helping to Save the Union': The Social Origins, Wartime Experiences, and Military Impact of White Union Troops from East Tennessee." In *The Civil War in Appalachia: Collected Essays*, ed. K. Noe and S. Wilson, 1-29. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Ward, Mary Genevieve. [1932] 2004. *Civil War Legends of Rich Mountain and Beverly, West Virginia* [Battle of Rich Mountain, 1861]. Edited by Randy Allen. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 162 pp. Originally submitted as the author's M.A. thesis, George Peabody College for Teachers.

Wasmer, Robert A. 2009. "Partisan Warfare in Monroe County, Tennessee, During the Civil War: The Murder of Joseph M. Divine." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 68, no. 1 (Spring): 66-97.

Watford, Christopher M., ed. 2003. *The Civil War in North Carolina: Soldiers' and Civilians' Letters and Diaries*, 1861-1865. Volume 2: *The Mountains*. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 248 pp.

Watson, Thomas Shelby, with Perry A. Brantley. 2008. *Confederate Guerrilla Sue Mundy: A Biography of Kentucky Soldier Jerome Clarke* [1844-1865; central Ky.]. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 238 pp.

Weitz, Mark A. 2000. "I Never Will Forget the Name of You': The Home Front, Desertion, and Oath Swearing in Wartime Tennessee." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 59 (Spring): 38-59.

West, Stephen A. 2005. "Minute Men, Yeomen, and the Mobilization for Secession in the South Carolina Upcountry [1860; tables]. *Journal of Southern History* 71, no. 1: 75-104.

Whetsell, Robert C. 2007. "Climbing to Victory: WWII Assault Training at Seneca Rocks" [mountain training; 1943-44 Pendleton Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 3 (Fall): 8-15. Sidebar: "West Virginia Maneuver Area" [100, 000 soldiers trained in a five-county mountain area, 1943-44], by Donald L. Rice, 16-17, reprinted from 1991.

Whisonant, Robert C. 1998. "Mineral Fights -- Civil War Battles for Southwestern Virginia's Lead and Salt." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 2: 76-90. Also discusses the history and technology of the lead and salt operations, along with Virginia's mineral contributions to the Confederacy.

Who Held Aloft This Old Banner?: The Flag of the 'Mountain Rifles from Grainger'. 2008. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 80: 60-75. Reprinted from the *Philadelphia Record*, 11 June, 1911. Civil War Confederate company flag, Grainger County.

Williams, Helen Byrnside. 2010. "South Charleston During World War II" [memoir]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 1 (Spring): 16-19.

Williams, Rusty. 2010. *My Old Confederate Home: A Respectable Place for Civil War Veterans* [Kentucky]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 313 pp.

Wilson, Shannon H. 1999. "Sergeant York Is the Berea Kind" [impact on Berea College when two student WWI enlistees are killed in battle]. *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Winter): 6-17.

Wilson, William Albert. 2006. "An Excerpt from 'The Early Life of William Albert Wilson': A Civil War Memoir of Community in Ashe County, North Carolina" [1861-1951; guerrilla warfare; family stories]. *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 1 (Fall): 42-72.

Wilson, William Albert. 2007. "The Early Years of William Albert Wilson" 61-1951]. In *Neighbor to Neighbor: A Memoir of Family, Community, and Civil War in Appalachian North Carolina*, ed. S. Ballard and L. Weinstein, 70-144. Boone, N.C.: Center for Appalachian Studies, Appalachian State University. (Reprinted from *Memoirs of William Albert Wilson (His Youth)*, Manuscript, Ashe County Public Library, Jefferson, N.C.).

Wineman, Bradford A. 2009. "Trains, Canals, and Turnpikes: Transportation in Civil War Virginia, 1861-1865. In *Virginia at War, 1864*, ed. W. Davis and J. Robertson, 65-80. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Winkler, Gary S. 2009. *Tortured: Lynndie England, Abu Ghraib and the Photographs that Shocked the World* [Iraq War, 2003]. Keyser, W. Va.: Bad Apple Books. 250 pp. The first part of the book highlights England's early years (b. 1982) in Fort Ashby, W. Va., adjacent Cumberland, Md. Compare the account, *I Am a Soldier, Too* (2003), by Jessica Lynch of Palestine, W. Va.

Winkler, Gary S. 2009. *Tortured: Lynndie England, Abu Ghraib and the Photographs That Shocked the World* [2003 Iraq; hometown: Fort Ashby, W. Va.]. Keyser, W. Va.: Bad Apple Books. 250 pp.

Wissolik, Richard David, and Barbara J. Wissolik, ed. 2007. *An Honor to Serve* [WWII experiences of 45 veterans]. Publications of the Saint Vincent College Center for Northern Appalachian Studies. Latrobe, Pa.: Saint Vincent College. 538 pp.

Wittenberg, Eric J. 2011. *The Battle of White Sulphur Springs: Averell Fails to Secure West Virginia* 63]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 189 pp. Union general William Averell defeated by Confederate colonel George S. Patton after a two-day battle.

Woodward, Eddie. 2003. "An Affair of Outposts: Edward Johnson, the Army of the Northwest, and the Battle of Allegheny Mountain" [Dec. 1861]. *West Virginia History* 59 (2001-2003): 1-35.

Woodworth, Steven E. 1998. *Six Armies in Tennessee: The Chickamauga and Chattanooga Campaigns*. Great Campaigns of the Civil War. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 257 pp.

Woodworth, Steven E. 1999. *Chickamauga: A Battlefield Guide with a Section on Chattanooga* [1863]. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 181 pp.

Woodworth, Steven E., ed. 2010. *The Chickamauga Campaign* 63; Ga., Tenn.]. Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press. 199 pp. Eight essays.

Woodworth, Steven E., and Charles D. Grear, eds. 2012. *The Chattanooga Campaign*. Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press. 226 pp. Contents: A perfect storm of ineffectiveness: the First Corps and the loss of Lookout Mountain / Alex Mendoza -- "Lookout Mountain frowned down upon us": the Union army and the struggle for Lookout Valley / Stewart Bennett -- "The very ground seemed alive": Sherman's assault on the north end of Missionary Ridge / Steven E. Woodworth -- Baptizing the hills and valleys: Cleburne's defense of Tunnel Hill / John R. Lundberg -- What happened on Orchard Knob? Ordering the attack on Missionary Ridge / Brooks D. Simpson -- This grand and imposing array of brave men: the capture of Rossville Gap and the defeat of the Confederate left / Sam Davis Elliott -- Saving the Army of Tennessee: the Confederate rearguard at Ringgold Gap / Justin S. Solonick -- From the Chickamauga with "Old Rosy" to Missionary Ridge with Grant: the fall 1863 struggle for Chattanooga and the press / Ethan S. Rafuse -- "What I am doing I do not consider desertion": trans-Mississippian reactions to Chickamauga and Chattanooga / Charles D. Grear -- A Chattanooga plan: the gateway city's critical role in Civil War battlefield preservation / Timothy B. Smith.

Yandle, Paul D. 2010. "William S. Pearson, Mountain North Carolina, and the Solid South." Introd. in *Well-Nigh Reconstructed: A Political Novel*, by Brinsley Matthews [rpt. of 1882], xilxxvi. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Autobiographical, historical fiction; 1870s N.C.; disillusionment with Reconstruction.

Yandle, Paul. 2010. "'Resistless Uprising'?: Thomas Dixon's Uncle and Western North Carolinians as Klansmen and Statesmen." Chap. 5 in *Reconstructing Appalachia: The Civil War's Aftermath*, ed. A. Slap, 135-161. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

COAL, INDUSTRY, LABOR, RAILROADS, TRANSPORTATION

Includes lumber, iron & steel, oil & gas, hydraulic fracturing (fracking), automobile, chemical, hydroelectric, nuclear, glass, textile, livestock, mining, and tourist trade Industries; labor unions and strikes; highways, canals and river transportation

Abramson, Rudy. 2001. "Mountaintop Removal: Necessity or Nightmare?" Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 18 (Winter): 20-24.

Adams, Sean Patrick. 2004. *Old Dominion, Industrial Commonwealth: Coal, Politics, and Economy in Antebellum America* [Pa. and western Va.]. Studies in Early American Economy and Society from the Library Company of Philadelphia. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 303 pp.

Adams, Sean Patrick. 2008. "Warming the Poor and Growing Consumers: Fuel Philanthropy in the Early Republic's Urban North." *Journal of American History* 95, no. 1 (June): 69-94. Anthracite coal; Philadelphia, New York, Boston; 1800-1830s.

Aldreich, Mark. 1997. "The Perils of Mining Anthracite: Regulation, Technology and Safety, 1870-1945." *Pennsylvania History* 64 (Summer): 361-383.

Almond, Kenny. 2011. "The Appalachian Blow-Out" [Ga.]. Student interview by Shannon Dunlap. *Foxfire Magazine* 45, no. 3-4 (Fall-Winter): 4-10. Brief observations of a Georgia Blue Granite rock quarrying site.

Amberg, Rob. 2007. "I-26, Corridor of Change: Rob Amberg, Madison County, North Carolina" [multimedia photo essay]. *Southern Spaces*, 5 June. Space, Place, and Appalachia series. Essay sections: Interactive Map and Photo Essay | Introduction | About Madison County | The Arrival of I-26 | Recommended Resources | Overview. http://www.southernspaces.org/contents/2007/amberg/2a.htm.

Amberg, Rob. 2009. *The New Road: I-26 and the Footprints of Progress in Appalachia* [Madison Co., N.C.]. Chicago: Center for American Places at Columbia College Chicago. 187 pp. Photo-documentary and oral history of the social effects and physical displacements of this enormous interstate highway intruder in western N.C.

Anderson, Timothy G. 2001. "From Ravaged to Recovered: The Landscape of Southern Ohio's Hanging Rock Region" [19th-century charcoal furnace ironmaking, boom-bust, relic landscape]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 18 (Winter): 29-33.

Andrews, Thomas G. 2008. *Killing for Coal: America's Deadliest Labor War*. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press. 386 pp. Colorado labor conflict and 1914 Ludlow massacre.

Angstadt, Colleen M., and John E. Benhart. 2000. "A Review of the Iron and Steel Industry of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania." In *A Geographic Perspective of Pittsburgh and the Alleghenies:*

From Precambrian to Post-Industrial, ed. K. Patrick and J. Scarpaci, 164-170. Washington, D.C.: Association of American Geographers.

Apelt, Brian. 2001. *The Corporation: A Centennial Biography of United States Steel Corporation, 1901-2001*. Edited by Warren Hull. Pittsburgh: Cathedral Publishing, University of Pittsburgh. 547 pp.

Appalachia's Agony [editorial; disgrace of mountaintop removal mining; Clean Water Act; Obama campaign pledge]. 2009. *New York Times*, 16 March, 22(A). 455 words.

Archer, William R., and the Princeton Railroad Museum. 2007. *The Virginian Railway* [Va., W. Va.; photo retrospective; Tidewater Railway Company]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Armes, Ethel. [1910] 2011. The Story of Coal and Iron in Alabama. Reprint with a new preface by James R. Bennet. Library of Alabama Classics series. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. Originally published: Birmingham, Ala., under auspices of the Chamber of Commerce. Contents: The planting of the seed -- Records of early growth -- First furnace and first railroad --Early records of Jefferson and Walker Counties -- Iron making and coal mining in Tuskaloosa County, 1830-1861 -- Bibb and Shelby Counties, 1820-1861 -- Pioneer iron making in northeastern Alabama, 1830-1861, and first state geological survey -- Early railroad enterprises -- Internal conditions of state and outbreak of war -- Confederate arsenal and naval foundry --Coal mining in Civil War period -- Iron making in war period -- Iron making in war period (continued): the fall of Selma -- Resurrection of the iron works 1866-1870 -- The founding of a great workshop town, 1869-1872 -- Reconstruction of Oxmoor and advent of Louisville and Nashville railroad into Alabama 1872-1873 -- Life saving measures 1873-1878 -- Birmingham militant 1876-1880 -- A chapter of progress 1880-1886 -- The northeastern counties 1870-1890 -- The great boom of Birmingham 1886-1887 -- More big business 1886: records of Sloss Iron and Steel Company and pioneer mining and manufacturing company -- Advent of Tennessee Company into Alabama (1886) and its early trials and tribulations -- A series of lively incidents in the Birmingham and Sheffield districts 1887 -- The march of the T.C.I. 1888-1895 -- Affairs of Birmingham district 1890-1909: Birmingham Coal and Iron Company: Dimmick Pipe Company Southern Iron and Steel Company: Sloss-Sheffield Steel and Iron Company -- Present day affairs of Birmingham district history of the T.C.I. (continued): organization of Alabama Consolidated Coal and Iron Company -- The making of Walker County: Pratt Consolidated Coal Company, Galloway Coal Company, Corona Coal Company, Empire Coal Company and others -- The triumph of the T.C.I. See also: digital version of 1910 edition: https://archive.org/details/storyofcoalironi00arme.

Arnold, Andrew B. 2003. "Between the Laws: Informal Definitions of Job and Property Rights in Central Pennsylvania, 1870-1884" [coal miners' unions]. *Journal of Pennsylvania History* 70 (Winter): 28-54.

Arnold, Bill, and Lori Arnold, with Joyann Dwire. 2004. *Miracle at Dormel Farms: The Story of the Quecreek Mine Rescue* [Somerset, Pa.; nine trapped miners; July 2002]. Somerset, Pa.: Dormel Enterprises (www.quecreekrescue.org). 126 pp.

Ashe County Historical Society. 2011. *The Virginia Creeper in Ashe County* [N.C.; railroad; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Norfolk and Western Abingdon [Va.] Line ran timber, passengers, and eventually tourists between Abingdon and Whitetop Mountain, N.C., from 1914 to 1977.

Atkins, Joseph B. 2008. *Covering for the Bosses: Labor and the Southern Press*. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 264 pp.

Aurand, Harold W. 2002. "The Lattimer Massacre: Who Owns History? -- An Introduction" 97; Luzerne Co.]. *Pennsylvania History* 69 (Winter): 5-10.

Aurand, Harold W. 2003. *Coalcracker Culture: Work and Values in Pennsylvania Anthracite,* 1835-1935. Selinsgrove, Pa.: Susquehanna University Press. 158 pp.

Aurora Lights. 2009. "Journey up Coal River" [W. Va.; e-Appalachia Award for Outstanding Website winner]. http://auroralights.org/map_project/. Interactive multimedia and mapping website combining music, photography, and narrative. Themed sidebar webpages: History and social geography -- Land use -- A community & strip mining -- Public health and coal slurry -- What is mountaintop removal? -- Renewable energy.

Austin, Kelly, and Brett Clark. 2012. "Tearing Down Mountains: Using Spatial and Metabolic Analysis to Investigate the Socio-Ecological Contradictions of Coal Extraction in Appalachia." *Critical Sociology* 38, no. 3 (May): 437-457. "We employ a political-economy perspective in order to assess the uneven capitalist development and socio-ecological contradictions of mountaintop removal."

Bagdon, Philip V. 2000. "Cass: A Short History," 38-41; "'Hell's Acre': A Visit to East Cass," 42-44 [railroad and timber company town; today a tourist center]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Summer): 38-44.

Bagdon, Philip V. 2001. *Shay Logging Locomotives at Cass, West Virginia, 1900-60* [interviews, photographs, service profiles]. Lynchburg, Va.: TLC Publishing. 112 pp.

Bagdon, Philip V. 2002. *Meadow River Lumber Company: West Virginia's Last Logging Railroad* [Rainelle, W. Va., 1910-1970; Shay locomotives; photo history]. Lynchburg, Va.: TLC Publishing. 76 pp.

Bailey, Alfred Reno. 2005. *Cliffside: Portrait of a Carolina Mill Town* [Rutherford Co., N.C., textile mill; vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, SC: Arcadia, 2005. 128 pp.

Bailey, Brent, Evan Hansen, Holly Groschner, Rory McIlmoil, Laura Hartz, Jen Shaver, and Anne Hereford. 2012. *A Windfall for Coal Country? Exploring the Barriers to Wind Development in Appalachia* [W. Va., Pa., Md., Va., Ky.]. Morgantown, W. Va.: Downstream Strategies in partnership with The Mountain Institute, Appalachian Program. 113 pp. Figures, maps, graphs. http://www.downstreamstrategies.com/documents/reports_publication/DS_windtechnical-report-final.pdf.

Bailey, Kenneth R. 2012. "The *Scioto* Disaster" [steamboat, 1882]. *West Virginia History: A Journal of Regional Studies* 6, no. 1 (2012): 49-72. Description of the Ohio River steamboat collision between East Liverpool and Moundsville in which seventy people drowned, and the trial and aftermath. See also Timothy Brooks' account, "A Pall of Egyptain Gloom," http://www.eastliverpoolhistoricalsociety.org/scioto1.htm.

Bailey, Perry. 2010. *The West Georgia Mills and Their People: The Sons and Daughters of Fullerville and Villa Rica* [cotton mill towns]. [No location]: CreateSpace. 223 pp.

Bailey, Rebecca J. 2008. *Matewan Before the Massacre: Politics, Coal, and the Roots of Conflict in a West Virginia Mining Community* [Mingo Co., 1895-1920]. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 8. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 292 pp.

Bailey, Rebecca. 2009. "The Matewan Massacre: Before and After" [W. Va.; 1920]. In *Culture, Class, and Politics in Modern Appalachia: Essays in Honor of Ronald L. Lewis*, ed. J. Egolf, K. Fones-Wolf, and L. Martin, 166-203. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Baker, Bruce E. 2006. "'The First Anarchist that Ever Came to Atlanta': Hiram F. Hover from New York to the New South." In *Radicalism in the South Since Reconstruction*, ed. C. Green, R. Rubin, and J. Smethurst, 39-56. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. Labor organizing in Knoxville and piedmont N.C., S.C., Ga., 1885-90.

Baker, Pamela L. 2002. "The Washington National Road Bill and the Struggle to Adopt a Federal System of Internal Improvement" [1830; map, tables]. *Journal of the Early Republic* 22 (Fall): 437-464.

Baldridge, Terry L. 2007. *Eastern Kentucky Railway* [photo retrospective; 36 miles: Greenup, Carter, Lawrence Cos.]. Images of Rail. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1997. "ANDROS Does the Dirty Work" [Oak Ridge, Tenn.-based REMOTEC manufactures remote-controlled robots]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 30 (Jan.-Apr.): 24-29.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1997. "Two Sides of the Road" [Tioga Co., Pa., road improvements]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 30 (Sept.-Dec.): 26-31.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1999. "Summit Emphasizes Need for Transportation Connections" [Appalachian Intermodal Transportation Summit, Lexington, Ky., May 17-18]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (May-August): 27-32. (Eight full-page, color maps are appended covering Transportation Systems in the Appalachian Region: highway system; bus routes; freight railroads; flat car/container facilities; passenger railroads; waterways and ports; commercial airline service; general aviation service, pp. 33-40). http://www.arc.gov/infopubs/appalach/mayaug99/summit.htm.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2001. "Keeping the Line Open: The Mississippi Railway Cooperative" [Itawamba Co., Miss.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (May-August): 10-15.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2001. "Short Line Railroads: Local Lifelines for Business" [Ohio Central Railroad System]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (May-August): 2-9.

Banerjee, Neela. 2006. "Taking On a Coal Mining Practice as a Matter of Faith" [Christians against mountaintop removal; Hale Gap, Va.; photos]. *New York Times*, 28 October, 9(A). 1203 words.

Banks, Alan. 1995. "Class Formation in the Southeastern Kentucky Coalfields, 1890-1920." In *Appalachia in the Making: The Mountain South in the Nineteenth Century*, ed. M. Pudup, D. Billings, and A. Waller, 321-346. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Banks, Alan. [1999] 2001. "Miners Talk Back: Labor Activism in Southeastern Kentucky in 1922." In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 215-227. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Barkey, Fred. 2001. "West Virginia's Belgian and French Glassworkers" [labor history; window-glass industry]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Summer): 28-29.

Barkley, Artie, ed. 2005. 100 Years Against the Mountain: Shay No. 5 at Cass, WV: with Stories by Artie Barkley [and others; six essays]. West Chester, Pa.: Greenhill Station Productions. 72 pp. Pictorial; narrow-gauge Shay steam locomotives; railroad and lumber company town.

Barnes, L. Diane. 1999. "Urban Rivalry in the Upper Ohio Valley: Wheeling and Pittsburgh in the Nineteenth Century." *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 123 (July): 201-226.

Barry, Dan. 2007. "A Way of Life, Seen Through Coal-Tinted Glasses" [Logan, W. Va.]. This Land (weekly column). *New York Times*, 14 January, 18(A). 954 words.

Barry, Dan. 2011. "As the Mountaintops Fall, a Coal Town Vanishes" [W. Va.]. *New York Times*, 13 April, 1(A). 2,775 words. Mountaintop removal, Lindytown, Massey Energy. Multimedia slide show; readers' comments. http://www.nytimes.com/2011/04/13/us/13lindytown.html.

Barry, Joyce. 2001. "Mountaineers Are Always Free? An Examination of the Effects of Mountaintop Removal in West Virginia." *Women's Studies Quarterly* 29 (Spring-Summer): 116-130.

Barton, John, and Stephen Winick. 2006. "'A Big, Breezy, Wholesome, Smiling, Man': Captain Pearl R. Nye Goes Online" [b. 1872 near Chillicothe, Oh.; lived and worked on the Ohio and Erie Canal; song lyrics, correspondence, and 75 songs to be digitized, capturing life on the canal, 1825-1913]. *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 28, no. 3 (Summer): 13-14. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/pdf/afcnews-summer-2006.pdf.

Bates, Artie Ann. 2008. "White Opium, Black Coal, and the Appalachian Revolution" [Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 2 (Spring): 56-59. Points out the overlapping entropic forces of drug addiction to Oxycontin and dependence on coal mining to generate electricity.

Battlo, Jean. 2000. *Terror of the Tug* [drama; Mother Jones; 1920-21 coal strike]. Welch, W. Va.(?): McArts Publication. 95 pp.

Baumann, Nick. 2010. "The West Virginia Mine Disaster" (blog). *Mother Jones*, 6 April. http://motherjones.com/mojo/2010/04/west-virginia-mine-disaster. Upper Big Branch mine, Montcoal, W. Va.; 29 dead; includes a nine-minute YouTube video clip of a April 7, 2008, ABC News *Nightline* exposé, "Massey Coal's Don Blankenship Shows His Hand," by jesthufaxmaam.

Beamer, Glenn. 2007. "Sustaining the Rust Belt: A Retrospective Analysis of the Employee Purchase of Weirton Steel" [W. Va.; 11,000 employees; 1983-2003]. *Labor History* 48, no. 3 (August): 277-299.

Beatty, Bess. 2000. *Alamance: The Holt Family and Industrialization in a North Carolina County, 1837-1900* [textile industry]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 248 pp.

Beauregard, Erving E. 1998. "L. Milton Ronsheim and Strip Coal Mining in Ohio" [regulatory campaign]. *Journal of Unconventional History* 9 (no. 3): 16-33.

Beik, Mildred A. 1996. "The UMWA and New Immigrant Miners in Pennsylvania Bituminous: The Case of Windber." In *The United Mine Workers of America: A Model of Industrial Solidarity?*, ed. J. Laslett, 320-344. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Beik, Mildred A. 1996. *The Miners of Windber: The Struggles of New Immigrants for Unionization, 1890s-1930s.* University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 447 pp.

Bell, Shannon Elizabeth, and Richard York. 2010. "Community Economic Identity: The Coal Industry and Ideology Construction in West Virginia." *Rural Sociology* 75, no. 1 (March): 111–143. Analysis of "the efforts of the West Virginia coal industry, which, through its (faux) 'grassroots' front group 'Friends of Coal,' attempts to construct the image that West Virginia's economy and cultural identity are centered on coal production."

Benhart, John E. 2007. *Appalachian Aspirations: The Geography of Urbanization and Development in the Upper Tennessee River Valley, 1865-1900* [capitalism; railroads; Roane and Loudon Cos.]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 184 pp.

Bennett, James R., and Karen R. Utz. 2010. *Iron & Steel: A Guide to Birmingham Area Industrial Heritage Sites* [guidebook]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 128 pp. Contents: Tannehill Ironworks Historical State Park | Shelby Ironworks Park -- Billy Gould Coke Ovens Park -- Brierfield Ironworks Historical State Park -- Oxmoor Furnace Site -- Irondale Furnace Park -- Helena Rolling Mill Site -- Red Mountain Park, iron ore mines -- Lewisburg Coke Ovens Park -- Sloss Furnaces National Historic Landmark -- Ruffner Mountain Nature Center -- Blocton Coke Ovens Park -- Vulcan Park and Museum -- Glossary.

Berkes, Howard, with contributions from Anne Hawke. 2011. "Report Blasts Massey for 'Deviance' in Safety Culture" [April 5, 2010, explosion that killed 29 miners in Montcoal, W. Va.]. *NPR News Investigations*. NPR radio, 19 May. Results of first investigative report; sidebars and graphics: "Major Findings"; "How the Blast Happened & Mapping the Loss"; "Fear Factor"; "An Unexpected Finding"; and related stories. http://n.pr/m6d4qf.

Berkes, Howard. 2012. "Black Lung Returns to Coal Country." *NPR News*, special series. NPR radio, July 2012 [transcripts and podcasts; tables, illustrations, multimedia links, and related stories]. "An investigation by NPR and the Center for Public Integrity found federal regulators and the mining industry are failing to protect miners from the excessive toxic coal mine dust that causes black lung. The disease is now being diagnosed in younger miners and evolving more quickly to complicated stages." Broadcasts: As Mine Protections Fail, Black Lung Cases Surge, 9 July (12:29 min.) / Howard Berkes -- Black-Lung Rule Loopholes Leave Miners Vulnerable, 10 July (7:56 min.) / Howard Berkes -- What Is Black Lung [graphic], 9 July / Alyson Hurt, Howard Berkes, Alicia Cypress -- Documenting 'Dirty' Jobs: Miners At Work, 9 July / Becky Lettenberger, photos by Earl Dotter -- Black Lung: Why Respirators Are Not A Solution, 9 July / Howard Berkes -- Surface Coal Miners At Risk For Black Lung, 9 July / Howard Berkes -- Republican Lawmakers Seek To Block Funding On Black Lung Regulation, 17 July / Howard Berkes -- Federal Mine Agency Considering Tougher Response On Black Lung, 13 July / Howard Berkes. http://www.npr.org/series/156453033/black-lung-returns-to-coal-country.

Bethell, Thomas N. 1996. "No Higher Calling." *Appalachian Heritage* 24 (Winter): 6-13. Interview with Davitt McAteer, Assistant Secretary of Labor for Mine Safety and Health.

Bible, Robin. 2002. "Stringtowns: Early Logging Communities in the Great Smoky Mountains" [Elkmont, Tremont]. *Forest History Today* (Spring): 29-32.

Biery, Thomas A. 1999. *Chessie System, Cumberland Action* [Western Md.; diesel locomotives; pictorial]. Hanover, Pa.: Railroad Press. 112 pp.

Biggers, Jeff. 2008. "Clean' Coal? Don't Try to Shovel That" ["oxymoron"]. Washington Post, 2 March, 2(B). 882 words. Bush administration plans to reduce carbon emissions.

Biggers, Jeff. 2009. "The Coalfield Uprising" [grassroots environmental activism]. *Nation* 289, no. 12 (October 19): 16-21.

Biggers, Jeff. 2010. Reckoning at Eagle Creek: The Secret Legacy of Coal in the Heartland [Illinois; 200 years; memoir and jeremiad]. New York: Nation Books. 300 pp. Contents: 4.5

hours: the choices we made -- In the name of the Shawnee: removing the Earth's liver -- Black diamonds, black lives: the entangled roots of slavery and coal -- Who killed the miners?: an anatomy of denial -- Black waters, black waters: murder of Little Egypt -- The short swift time of clean coal on Earth: dirty coal has left the building.

Biggers, Jeff. 2011. "The Historic Cost of the State of the Union: Mr. President, Welcome to the Saudi Arabia of Coal." *Huffington Post* (blog), 25 May. 1,274 words. http://www.huffingtonpost.com/jeff-biggers/the-historic-cost-of-the_b_438405.html.

Biggers, Jeff. 2012. "Appeal to Action: Appalachian Leaders Launch Mountaintop Removal Moratorium Now Campaign." *Huffington Post* (blog), 12 July. 2,023 words. http://www.huffingtonpost.com/jeff-biggers/mountaintop-removal-moratorium-now-campaign_b_895472.html.

Biggers, Jeff. 2012. "Maria Gunnoe Testifies Before Congress: The Fact Is Mountaintop Removal Is Killing People" [Boone Co., W. Va.]. *AlterNet* (blog), 1 June. 1,926 words. Transcript of Gunnoe's statement with a link to a slide show of 38 images she entered into the record. http://blogs.alternet.org/speakeasy/2012/06/01/maria-gunnoe-testifies-before-congress-the-fact-is-mountaintop-removal-is-killing-people/. See also: "Bathtub Photo Lands Coal Activist in Child-Porn Hot Water," by Philip Bump, *Grist* (blog), 4 June, 483 words, http://grist.org/climate-energy/bathtub-photo-lands-coal-activist-in-child-porn-hot-water/.

Biggers, Jeff. 2012— . "Reckoning in Appalachia" (blog). "Dispatches from coalfield front lines by author Jeff Biggers, collected from the Huffington Post, Al Jazeera America, The Guardian, Washington Post, Salon, The Nation, Public Radio International, Alternet, EcoWatch, CNN, MSNBC, Midwest Energy News, Yes Magazine, and other news sites, 2001— ." https://reckoninginappalachia.com/about/.

Billings, Dwight B. 2008. "Supporting 'A Conscious Heart' and Oppositional Knowledge in the Struggle Against Mountaintop Removal Coal Mining." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 14, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 20-27. Response to keynote address at 2008 Appalachian Studies Conference by Silas House ["A Conscious Heart," *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 14:7-19]. See also Edwina Pendarvis's "Response," pp. 28-33.

Billings, Sean, and Johanna S. Billings. 2001. "Colorful Sands: Glassmaking and the Peachblow Craze" [begun 1886; W. Va.]. *Canal History and Technology Proceedings* 20: 112-138. Easton, Pa.: Canal History and Technology Press.

Birdsong, Shelley C. 1997. "Cotton Hill Station Road and Bridge: An Example of Early Federally Funded Road Construction in Fayette County" [W. Va., Good Roads Movement]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 11-12, 1997, Glade Springs Resort, Daniels, West Virginia,* 48-58. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Birdwell, Michael E., and Jack Hurst, section editors. 2006. "Business, Industry, and Technology" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 441-549 (with introductory essay, 441-447). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Black, Brian. 1999. "'A Triumph of Individualism': The Rule of Capture and the Ethic of Extraction in Pennsylvania's Oil Boom" [1860s]. *Pennsylvania History* 66 (Autumn): 448-471.

Black, Brian. 2000. *Petrolia: The Landscape of America's First Oil Boom* [western Pa.]. Creating the North American Landscape series. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 248 pp.

Blankenship, Sarah A. 2008. "Cagle Saltpetre Cave in Van Buren County, Tennessee: The Archaeology of Nineteenth-Century Saltpeter Caves in the Midsouth" [gun powder; Civil War]. Chap. 13 in *Cave Archaeology of the Eastern Woodlands: Essays in Honor of Patty Jo Watson*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Blatz, Perry K. 1994. *Democratic Miners: Work and Labor Relations in the Anthracite Coal Industry, 1875-1925.* SUNY Series in American Labor History. Albany: State University of New York Press. 304 pp.

Blatz, Perry K. 1996. "Workplace Militancy and Unionization: The UMWA and the Anthracite Miners, 1890-1912." In *The United Mine Workers of America: A Model of Industrial Solidarity?*, ed. J. Laslett, 51-71. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Blatz, Perry K. 1999. "Titanic Struggles, 1873-1916" [coal, steel, strikes]. In *Keystone of Democracy: A History of Pennsylvania Workers*, ed. H. Harris, P. Blatz, 83-148, 158-160. Harrisburg: Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission.

Blatz, Perry K. 2002. "Reflections on Lattimer: A Complex and Significant Event" [1897 massacre of 19; anthracite region]. *Pennsylvania History* 69 (Winter): 42-51.

Blatz, Perry K. 2011. "Boundaries of Responsibility: Philadelphia, Pittsburgh, and the Pennsylvania Riot Damage Law, 1834-1880" [race and labor riots; 1877 railroad strike]. *Pennsylvania History* 78, no. 4 (Autumn): 393-425.

Blatz, Perry. 2011. "Pittsburgh: The Fiery Scape Goat for the Country" [riot; July 21, 1877]. Western Pennsylvania History 94, no. 3 (Fall): 46-61, photos and lithographs. Pennsylvania Rail Road (PRR) workers strike; burning of Union Depot; destruction of freight yards including 100 locomotives and 2,000 railroad cars; 25 dead; "...the most violently destructive 24 hours in Pittsburgh's history."

Blizzard, William C. 2005. *When Miners March: The Story of Coal Miners in West Virginia* [1921; Battle of Blair Mountain]. Gay, W. Va.: Appalachian Community Services. 349 pp.

Blizzard, William C. 2006. "Son of the Struggle: A Visit with William C. Blizzard" [b. 1916; son of Bill Blizzard, UMW leader during the West Virginia Mine Wars and 1921 Battle of Blair Mountain]. Interview by C. Belmont 'Chuck' Keeney. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 2 (Summer): 20-25. Sidebar, "Blair Mountain: A Brief Overview," by Gordon Simmons, 26.

Blizzard, William C. 2010. *When Miners March*. Edited by Wess Harris. Oakland, Calif.: PM Press. 407 pp. Expanded version of the 2004 edition. Battle of Blair Mountain, 1921 armed insurrection; W. Va. Mine Wars.

Brown, Marilyn A. 2009. *Energy Efficiency in Appalachia: How Much More Is Available, At What Cost, and By When*? [online resource]. Washington, D.C.: Appalachian Regional Commission. 235 pp. Prepared by Southeast Energy Efficiency Alliance, in partnership with the Georgia Institute of Technology, American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, and Alliance to Save Energy. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS125456.

Boal, William M. 2006. "New Estimates of Paid-up Membership in the United Mine Workers, 1902–29, by State and Province" [reconciles industry and union data]. *Labor History* 47, no. 4 (November): 537-546.

Bogart, Mary, and William C. Hattan. 2000. Conquering the Appalachians: Building the Western Maryland and Carolina, Clinchfield & Ohio Railroads through the Appalachian Mountains: Taken from the Journals, Records, and Photographs of William C. Hattan, a Civil Engineer Who Built Much of It. Rochester, N.Y.: Railroad Research Publications. 206 pp.

Bonasso, Russell F. 2003. *Fire in the Hole* [b. 1922; retrospective on coal camp life; appendix lists historic U.S. coal mine disasters, 1839-2000]. Fairmont, W. Va.: R. F. Bonasso. 194 pp.

Bondurant, Lewis. 2009. "Echoes of Buffalo Creek: Lewis Bondurant" [deadly 1972 flood; Logan Co.]. Interview by Margo Blevin Denton. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 4 (Winter): 18-25. This is the third of three articles comprising a Special Report, pp. 9-25.

Bone, J. H. A. [1865] 2006. Petroleum and Petroleum Wells; What Petroleum Is, Where It Is Found, and What It Is Used For; Where to Sink Petroleum Wells, and How to Sink Them: With a Complete Guide Book and Description of the Oil Regions of Pennsylvania, West Virginia, Kentucky and Ohio. 2nd rev. ed. Chicora, Pa.: Mechling Bookbindery. Reprint, originally published: Philadelphia: J.B. Lippincott & Co. 153 pp.

Booker, Clyde G. 2010. *Dyin' for a Job: An American Tragedy* [1930s Hawk's Nest Tunnel project; W. Va.; black laborers; silicosis]. Dubuque, Iowa: Kendall Hunt. 166 pp.

Bossen, Howard, and Eric Freedman. 2012. "'Molten Light: The Intertwined History of Steel and Photography'-- The Roles of Oral Histories and Other First-Person Accounts." *Oral History Review* 39, no. 1 (Winter-Spring): 1-14.

Bowman, John. 2008. *Wheeling: The Birthplace of the American Steamboat*. Wheeling, W. Va.: J. Bowman. 103 pp. Steamboat building history, 1815-1900; Ohio River, Monongahela River.

Bowman, John. 2009. A Pictorial History of Wheeling and Ohio River Steamboats [W. Va., Ohio, Pa.]. Wheeling, W. Va.: J. Bowman. 370 pp. "A guide to the steamboats on the upper

Ohio River from the 1850s through the 1940s, arranged alphabetically by the name of the boat. Includes over 400 illustrations."

Bowman, John. 2010. Steamboats on the Western Rivers in the Civil War. Wheeling, W.Va: John Bowman. 114 pp. Includes contemporary photographs of gun-boats and their histories, and a list of 500 river steamboats that served both sides in the war.

Boyer, Peter J. 2002. "Rescue at Quecreek" [Pa.; nine trapped miners]. *New Yorker* 78, 18 November, 56-73.

Bragg, Melody. 1998. Window to the Past: Part IV: Southern W. Va. Mine Disasters [and other historic events]. Glen Jean, W. Va.: GEM Publications. 89 pp.

Brannon, Charles E. 2007. "Tales of a B&O Fireman" [1947; steam locomotives; Shinnston]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 4: 22-27.

Brasier, Kathryn J., et al. 2011. "Residents' Perceptions of Community and Environmental Impacts from Development of Natural Gas in the Marcellus Shale: A Comparison of Pennsylvania and New York Cases." *Journal of Rural Social Sciences* 26, no. 1: 32-61. http://www.ag.auburn.edu/auxiliary/srsa/pages/TOCs/JRSS%20vol26-1.htm.

Brattain, Michelle. 1997. "A Town as Small as That': Tallapoosa, Georgia and Operation Dixie, 1945-1950" [Haralson Co.; textile industry]. *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 81 (Summer): 395-425.

Brattain, Michelle. 1997. "Making Friends and Enemies: Textile Workers and Political Action in Post-World War II Georgia" [Floyd County]. *The Journal of Southern History* 63 (February): 91-138.

Brice, William R. 2009. *Myth, Legend, Reality: Edwin Laurentine Drake and the Early Oil Industry*. Foreword by Brent D. Glass, Director, Smithsonian National Museum of American History. Oil City, Pa.: Oil Region Alliance of Business, Industry & Tourism. 661 pp.

Brino, Anthony, and Brian Nearing. 2011. "Shale Gas Fracking without the Hazards." *Daily Yonder*, 7 November. 2,143 words, plus map; "Lower 48 States Shale Plays"; and diagram comparing conventional fracking with more advantageous liquid propane fracking. http://www.dailyyonder.com/getting-gas-without-hazards/2011/11/07/3590.

Brisbin, Richard A. [2002] 2010. A Strike Like No Other Strike: Law & Resistance During the Pittston Coal Strike of 1989-1990 [Va., W. Va., Ky.]. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 350 pp. Originally published: Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.

Brisbin, Richard A., Jr. 2002. A Strike Like No Other Strike: Law and Resistance during the Pittston Coal Strike of 1989-1990. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 350 pp.

Brook, Tom Vanden. 2006. "Recruits Hungry for Good Jobs Head Off to Coal Mines" [W. Va.; increased demand for coal and miners; recent Sago disaster]. *USA Today*, 15 February, 1(B). http://www.usatoday.com/money/economy/employment/2006-02-14-miners-cover-usat_x.htm.

Brosi, George. 2012. "The War on Coal: An Editorial." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 4 (Fall): 8-9. "...leaders of the coal business [need] to work with environmentalists to devise laws that...protect the environment...in a way that minimizes...excess hassle for coal operators."

Brown, Earl E. 2010. *Commerce on Early American Waterways: The Transport of Goods by Arks, Rafts and Log Drives* [Pa.]. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 234 pp. Contents: Introduction: The use of rivers and streams to transport heavy loads to market -- Early colonial America -- The Susquehanna is opened to the Chesapeake Bay -- Arks on the Penns Creek -- Waterways from 1791 to the early 1800s -- Rafting on the North Branch [Susquehanna] -- Rafting on the Main Branch -- Rafts on the West Branch -- Tales of the West Branch -- Log driving -- Woodhicks -- The Mississippi watershed -- Appendix: Ark and raft construction.

Brown, Edwin L., and Colin J. Davis, ed. 1999. *It Is Union and Liberty: Alabama Coal Miners and the UMW* [1898-1998]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 184 pp.

Brown, Fred. 1995. "Tillman Cadle: Mountain Warrior." *Appalachian Heritage* 23 (Fall): 35-45.

Brown, Fred. 2008. *Steam in the Heart: Life and Times Along the Morehead & North Fork Rails* [Rowan Co., Ky.; 1887-2008]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 176 pp.

Brown, Patrick. 2010. *Industrial Pioneers: Scranton, Pennsylvania, and the Transformation of America, 1840-1902* [Lackawanna Co.; iron, coal, railroads]. Archbald, Pa.: Tribute Books. 131 pp.

Bruno, Robert. 1999. "Everyday Constructions of Culture and Class: The Case of Youngstown Steelworkers [Ohio; 1944-1979]. *Labor History* 40 (May): 143-176.

Buckley, Geoffrey L. 2004. *Extracting Appalachia: Images of the Consolidation Coal Company, 1910-1945* [interprets 92 photos from Smithsonian's vast CCC archive]. Athens: Ohio University Press. 215 pp.

Buckley, Geoffrey L., and Timothy G. Anderson. 1999. "The Consolidation Coal Company Photograph Collection, 1910-1945." *Appalachian Journal* 27 (Fall): 62-83.

Bullard, Loring. 2012. "Missouri Salt: The Rise and Fall of a Frontier Industry." *Missouri Historical Review* 106, no. 2 (January): 91-101. Nathan Boone founded one of the first salt licks in Missouri. Includes overview of Daniel Boone at Blue Licks, Ky., and a history of salt making.

Bumgarner, Matthew C. 1996. *Legacy of the Carolina & North-Western Railway*. Johnson City, Tenn.: The Overmountain Press. 190 pp.

Burdette, Cody A. 2003. "The Section Man" [1944 Fayette Co.; warm boyhood memories of a black "maintenance of way" railroad worker]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Fall): 36-37.

Burdette, Cody A. 2004. "The BC&G and the Last Stand of Steam" [Buffalo Creek and Gauley Railroad; 1950s Clay Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Fall): 24-29.

Burns, Daniel J. 2007. *Homestead and the Steel Valley*. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Vintage photos; Monongahela Valley, Pa.

Burns, Daniel. 2006. "Pittsburgh's Rivers: A Glimpse into History, Travel, and Adventure" [Allegheny, Ohio, Monongahela; 18th-century to present]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 89, no. 1 (Spring): 12-17.

Burns, Shirley Stewart, Mari-Lynn Evans, and Silas House, ed. 2009. *Coal Country: Rising Up against Mountaintop Removal Mining*. San Francisco: Sierra Club Books. 294 pp. This manifesto, a companion book to the documentary film of the same title, includes images, commentary, oral history, and 44 essays by writers including Wendell Berry, Silas House, Denise Giardina, Robert F. Kennedy Jr., Ken Hechler, Erik Reece, Jack Spadaro, Ashley Judd, George Ella Lyon, Kathy Mattea, Michael Shnayerson, John Hennen, Jeff Goodell, Jeff Biggers, Penny Loeb, Mary Anne Hitt, Ann Pancake, Maria Gunnoe, Larry Gibson, and Julia "Judy" Bonds. Photos by Builder Levy, Jim Clark, Mark Schmerling, Vivian Stockman, and others.

Burns, Shirley Stewart. 2007. *Bringing Down the Mountains: The Impact of Mountaintop Removal Surface Coal Mining on Southern West Virginia Communities, 1970-2004* [authoritative study]. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 5. Morgantown: West Virginia. University Press. 232 pp.

Burns, Shirley Stewart. 2009. "Mountaintop Removal in Central Appalachia" [photo-essay]. *Southern Spaces*, 30 September. "Adapted speech and excerpt from her book." http://southernspaces.org/2009/mountaintop-removal-central-appalachia.

Burns, Shirley Stewart. 2009. "To Dance with the Devil: The Social Impact of Mountaintop Removal Surface Coal Mining." In *Culture, Class, and Politics in Modern Appalachia: Essays in Honor of Ronald L. Lewis*, ed. J. Egolf, K. Fones-Wolf, and L. Martin, 305-328. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Burton, Mark L, Richard V. Hatcher, and Thomas Maraffa, section editors. 2006. "Transportation" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 685-725 (with introductory essay, 685-690). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Bush, Darrell. 2009. "'Hand Tools and Hard Work': Oil and Gas Man Darrell Bush" [b. 1921; Gilmer Co.]. Interview by Richard S. Bailey. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 4 (Winter): 33-37.

Butler, Tom, and George Wuerthner, ed. 2009. *Plundering Appalachia: The Tragedy of Mountaintop-Removal Coal Mining* [essays and large-format color photographs of devastated sites]. San Rafael, Calif.: Earth Aware. 208 pp. Essayists include: Wendell Berry, John Blair, Teri Blanton, Judy Bonds, Tom Butler, Harry Caudill, Samir Doshi, Kai Erikson, Lisa Evans, Ross Gelbspan, Denise Giardina, Maria Gunnoe, Jerry Hardt, Ken Hechler, Richard Heinberg, Mary Ann Hitt, Rebecca Howell, Mary Hufford, Robert F. Kennedy, Jr., Pam Maggard, Chad Montrie, David Orr, Carl Pope, Cindy Rank, Erik Reece, Jack Spadaro, Vivian Stockman, Lucious Thompson, Douglas Tompkins, Carol Warren, Matthew Wasson, and George Wuerthner.

Bye, Ole. 2007. "Era Incognita: What Will Happen to Appalachia?" [essay]. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 3, no. 2 (Summer/Fall): Photography section. 600 words. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-2/photo/index.html.

Byer, Alan. 2006. "Recalling Bob Caruthers: Last of the BC&G Steam Railroaders" [1964; Clay Co., W. Va.; "demise of the last steam-powered common carrier east of the Mississippi"]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 4 (Winter): 10-16. Sidebar, "Buffalo Creek & Gauley Railroad," 17.

Cameron, Laurie. 2011. "The Howes Tannery: Making Leather in Pocahontas County" [1903-1994]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 3 (Fall): 50-61. "...largest producer of shoe sole leather in the world." Sidebar on "DeFord's Tannery at Berkeley Springs," by Jeanne Mozier, 57. Eight-step photoessay on the "Tanning Process" (c. 1972), 58-61.

Caplinger, Michael. 1997. *Bridges Over Time: A Technological Context for the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad Main Stem at Harpers Ferry, West Virginia* [railroad bridges; transportation]. Monograph Series. Morgantown, W. Va.: Institute for the History of Technology and Industrial Archaeology, West Virginia University.

Carlisle, Fred. 1999. "Insiders, Outsiders, and the Struggle for Community" [opposition to proposed high-voltage power line bridging W. Va. and Va.]. *Appalachian Journal* 26 (Spring): 240-251.

Carlton, David L., and Peter Coclanis. 2005. "Southern Textiles in Global Context" [1860s-1960s]. In *Global Perspectives on Industrial Transformation in the American South*, ed. S. Delfino and M. Gillespie, 151-174. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

Carpenter, Richard C. 2003. A Railroad Atlas of the United States in 1946. Vol. 1, The Mid-Atlantic States [Pa., W. Va., Va., Md., Del., N.J., D.C.; 180 maps]. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 297 pp.

Carson III, Homer S. 2005. "Penal Reform and Construction of the Western North Carolina Railroad 1875-1892" [convict labor, Swannanoa tunnel, 1877-1879; tables]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 11, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 205-225.

Casto, James E. 1995. *Towboat on the Ohio*. Ohio River Valley Series. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 184 pp.

Casto, James E. 2004. *Southern West Virginia Coal Country* [vintage postcards, historical retrospective]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Chafin, Andrew. 2008. *Ordinary Hero: Sid Hatfield: The Legend of Matewan* [1893-1921]. Abingdon, Va.: Mate Creek Bookworks. 145 pp.

Churchill, Ward. 2004. "From the Pinkertons to the PATRIOT Act: The Trajectory of Political Policing in the United States, 1870 to the Present." *CR: The New Centennial Review* 4, no. 1: 1-72.

Ciotola, Nicholas P. 2007. "The Darkest Month: Coal Mining Disasters of December 1907" [Monongah, W. Va. and Darr, Pa.]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 90, no. 4 (Winter 2007-08): 24-33.

Clark, Daniel J. 1997. *Like Night & Day: Unionization in a Southern Mill Town*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 260 pp.

Clark, Paul F. 1996. "Legacy of Democratic Reform: The Trumka Administration and the Challenge of the Eighties." In *The United Mine Workers of America: A Model of Industrial Solidarity?*, ed. J. Laslett, 459-483. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Clark, Sara. 2008. "In the Shadow of the Fourth Circuit: Ohio Valley Environmental Coalition v. United States Army Corps of Engineers." *Ecology Law Quarterly* 35, no. 1 (February): 143-149. Analysis of court ruling regarding violations of the Clean Water Act.

Clarke, Alan R. 2006. *The Western Maryland Railway in West Virginia: The Photographs of G. H. Broadwater* [maps on lining papers]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 176 pp.

Clarke, Alan R. 2008. *The West Virginia and Pittsburgh Railroad: The B & O's Road to the Hardwoods* [history; maps; photos]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 224 pp.

Clarke, Alan. 2002. *West Virginia's Coal and Coke Railway: A B&O Predecessor* [1905-1917; Charleston to Elkins]. Lynchburg, Va.: TLC Publishing. 170 pp.

Clarke, Alan. 2003. *The West Virginia Central and Pittsburgh Railway: A Western Maryland Predecessor*. Lynchburg, Va.: TLC Publishing. 176 pp.

Clarke, Kevin. 1999. "And Every Mountain Brought Low" [castigates mountaintop removal mining]. *U.S. Catholic* 64 (September): 23.

Coal-Mining 'Dinosaurs' Cling to Dark, Dangerous Life [AP story; Good Spring, Pa.; profiles families working their dwindling, privately-owned anthracite mines]. 2004. *USA Today*, 30 November. http://www.usatoday.com/news/nation/2004-11-30-coal-miners_x.htm.

Cohen, Isaac. 1996. "Monopoly, Competition, and Collective Bargaining: Pennsylvania and South Wales Compared." In *The United Mine Workers of America: A Model of Industrial Solidarity?*, ed. J. Laslett, 395-416. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Cohen, Nicole. 2012. "A Disappearing Town In The Shadow of Big Coal" [documentary photos of Franz Jantzen; Ohio Valley]. *NPR News*. NPR radio, 4 April. Transcript: 715 words. "Ten years ago this spring, the residents of Cheshire, Ohio, had a decision to make: They could stay in their homes and suffer the effects of pollution from a nearby coal-burning power plant; or they could let that plant's owner buy them out and, building by building, dismantle their town. In April 2002, they chose to sell." http://n.pr/H9UYKi.

Cole, David. 1996. "Logging on Forney's Creek" [Smoky Mountains, N.C.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 24 (Spring): 48-55.

Cole, Wayne A. 2005. Ghost Rails, 1850-1980. Volume 1, Abandoned Railroads, Their Industries, Last Runs, Eastern Ohio and Western Pennsylvania. Darlington, Pa.: ColeBooks. 144 pp.

Cole, Wayne A. 2005. *Ghost Rails. Volume II, Western Allegheny Railroad Company*. Darlington, Pa.: ColeBooks. 224 pp.

Cole, Wayne A. 2007. *Ghost Rails. Volume III, Electrics of the Upper Ohio Valley* [railways: Pa., Ohio, W. Va.]. Darlington, Pa.: ColeBooks. 312 pp.

Cole, Wayne A. 2008. *Ghost Rails. IV, Industrial Shortlines* [western Pa.]. Darlington, Pa.: ColeBooks. 152 pp.

Collins, Alan R., Evan Hansen, and Michael Hendryx. 2012. "Wind Versus Coal: Comparing the Local Economic Impacts of Energy Resource Development in Appalachia." *Energy Policy* 50 (November): 551-561. Coal River Mountain, Raleigh County, W. Va.; mountaintop removal.

Combes, Richard S. 2001. "Aircraft Manufacturing in Georgia: A Case Study of Federal Industrial Investment" [Bell Bomber plant; Marietta, Ga.]. In *The Second Wave: Southern Industrialization from the 1940s to the 1970s*, ed. P. Scranton, 24-42. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Cook, Jeffery. 2009. "Mining Reform After Monongah: The Conservative Response to Mine Disasters" [1907 W. Va. mine explosion; U.S. Bureau of Mines establishment]. In *Culture*, *Class, and Politics in Modern Appalachia: Essays in Honor of Ronald L. Lewis*, ed. J. Egolf, K. Fones-Wolf, and L. Martin, 253-282. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Coomer, James. 1997. *Life on the Ohio* [memoir]. Ohio River Valley Series. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 197 pp. The author is a third generation river captain and "has been observing and participating in life on the inland waterways for nearly fifty years....with its

immense towboats, gigantic locks and dams, and millions of tons of cargo....and the colorful language of river people."

Copeland, Claudia. 2005. "Controversies over Redefining 'Fill Material' Under the Clean Water Act" [updated Feb. 2; coal mining overburden; mountaintop removal]. *CRS Report for Congress* RL31411. Washington, D.C.: Congressional Research Service, Library of Congress. 12 pp. http://opencrs.com/document/RL31411/.

Copeland, Claudia. 2005. "Mountaintop Mining: Background on Current Controversies." *CRS Report for Congress* RS21421 [updated Feb. 1]. Washington, D.C.: Congressional Research Service, Library of Congress. 6 pp. http://opencrs.com/document/RS21421/.

Corbin, David A. 2008. "Coal Mining." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 11: *Agriculture and Industry*, 286-289. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Corbin, David Alan, ed. 2011. *Gun Thugs, Rednecks, and Radicals: A Documentary History of the West Virginia Mine Wars* [1912-1921]. Oakland, Calif.: PM Press. 275 pp. "... collects material from the leaders, the miners, and the journalists....Also included are U.S. Senate committee testimonies from miners and their family members describing life and work in the coal camps."

Corso, Paola. 2008. "Coke, Clairton, and Cancer: A Three-Decade Push for Reforms." *Western Pennsylvania History* 91, no. 1 (Spring): 40-49. Landmark OSHA standard (1977) for lower coke emissions. Clairton, Pa., is the largest producer of coke in the United States.

Cotham, Perry C. 1995. *Toil, Turmoil, & Triumph: A Portrait of the Tennessee Labor Movement*. Franklin, Tenn.: Hillsboro Press. 352 pp. Including sections on child labor, convict labor, textile workers, coal miners, Depression years, CIO and ALCOA, Highlander Folk School, and more.

Council, R. Bruce, and Nicholas Honerkamp. 2000. "Antebellum Iron: Bluff Furnace and the East Tennessee Iron Manufacturing Company" [1847-1860]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 59 (Fall): 204-217.

Cox, Annette. 2012. "The Loray, North Carolina's 'Million Dollar Mill': The 'Monstrous Hen' of Southern Textiles" [Gastonia, N.C.; 1900-1935]. *North Carolina Historical Review* 89, no. 3 (July): 241-275. Labor organizing, strikes (1919, 1934), and outsider management.

Cox, Thomas R. 2010. The Lumberman's Frontier: Three Centuries of Land Use, Society, and Change in America's Forests. Corvallis: Oregon State University Press. 531 pp.

Cramblet, Laura L., and Mort Gamble. 2011. "The Bethany Trolley" [Brooke Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 2 (Summer): 16-23. Wellsburg-to-Bethany trolley line [Bethany College], 1908-1929, through tunnels, over a viaduct, along Buffalo Creek Valley.

Crandall, William "Rick," and Richard E. Crandall. 2002. "Revisiting the Hawk's Nest Tunnel Incident: Lessons Learned from an American Tragedy" [1930s W. Va.; 400 to 2000 silicosis deaths, majority black]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Fall): 261-283.

Crockett, Maureen. 2005. "Follow the Coal: A Visit with Oreste Leombruno" [Italian American miner, 65; coke ovens]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 3 (Fall): 6-13.

Crowell, Douglas L. 1997. "Death Underground: The Millfield Mining Tragedy" [Ohio; 1930; 82 killed]. *Timeline* 14 (no. 5): 42-54.

Crowl, Thomas E. 2001. "Cherry Valley's Coke Ovens" [Register of Historic Places; Leetonia, Columbiana Co., Ohio]. *Timeline: A Publication of the Ohio Historical Society* 18 (July-August): 28-41.

Culvahouse, Tim, ed. 2007. *The Tennessee Valley Authority: Design and Persuasion*. New York: Princeton Architectural Press. 144 pp. Eight essays.

Curra, Thomas M., and Greg Matkosky. 2002. *Stories from the Mines* [anthracite coal; immigrants; 70 archival photos; companion documentary film (2000)]. Scranton, Pa.: University of Scranton Press. 82 pp.

Daniel, Clete. 2001. *Culture of Misfortune: An Interpretive History of Textile Unionism in the United States*. Ithaca, N.Y.: Cornell University Press. 352 pp.

Darrah, William Culp. [1972] 2006. *Pithole, the Vanished City: A Story of the Early Days of the Petroleum Industry* [1865-1877; pop. 20,000; today a ghost town]. Oil City, Pa.: Oil Region Alliance. 252 pp. Originally published: Gettysburg, Pa.

David, John P., and Jan Young. 2010. "Mannington to Upper Big Branch: The Promise Betrayed." *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 3 (Summer): 49-59. Coal mine explosions: Mannington [Farmington], W. Va., 1968 (78 dead); Upper Big Branch, W. Va., 2010 (29 dead). Discusses UMWA reform and the 1960 Coal Mine Health and Safety Act, and more recent union busting, lack of safe working conditions, and Massey Energy.

David, John. 2010. "Toughen Mining Regulations Now." *Charleston Gazette*, 19 April, Op-Ed Commentary. 900 words. Upper Big Branch Mine disaster, 29 dead, April 5, 2010, Montcoal, W. Va. Discusses dangerous loopholes allowed to evolve in the Coal Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969 and the 1977 Federal Mine Safety and Health Act. http://www.wvgazette.com/Opinion/OpEdCommentaries/201004190517.

Davidson, Cameron. 2007. "SCARFACE" [photo essay: mountaintop removal mining]. Text by Michelle Nijhuis. *Audubon* 109 (March/April): 76-83.

Davies, John. 1999. "Authority, Community, and Conflict: Rioting and Aftermath in a Late-Nineteenth Century Pennsylvania Coal Town" [1888; Shenandoah; Schuylkill Co.]. *Pennsylvania History* 66 (Summer): 339-363.

Davis, Charles E., and Robert J. Duffy. 2009. "King Coal vs. Reclamation Federal Regulation of Mountaintop Removal Mining in Appalachia" [Ky., W. Va.]. *Administration & Society* 41, no. 6 (October): 674-692. "...analyzes President George W. Bush's efforts to promote the development of coal resources...despite statutory constraints posed by federal environmental laws."

Davis, George. 2009. "Where Once There Were Mountains: The Grassroots Struggle Against Mountaintop Removal Coal Mining in Central Appalachia." *Environmental Politics* 18, no. 1: 135-140.

Davis, Robert S. 2005. "The Story of the Georgia Marble Dynasty" [Pickens Co.; Georgia Marble Company, incorporated 1837]. Georgia History in Pictures. *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 89, no. 3 (Fall): 368-388.

Dawson, Christopher J. 2008. *Steel Remembered: Photographs from the LTV Steel Collection*. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press; published in cooperation with the Western Reserve Historical Society. 153 pp. Contents: Making Steel – Corrigan, McKinney Steel – Otis Steel – Republic Steel.

Dean, William H. 2007. Coal, Steamboats, Timber and Trains: The Early Industrial History of St. Albans, West Virginia & the Coal River, 1850-1925. Charleston, W.Va: Pictorial Histories. 250 pp.

Debbage, Keith G., and Jacob F. Kidd. 2011. "Renewable Energy in North Carolina: The Potential Supply Chain and Connections to Existing Renewable and Energy Efficiency Firms." *Southeastern Geographer* 51, no. 1 (Spring): 69-88. Wind, biomass/geothermal, and solar renewables "tightly concentrated along the I-85 corridor between Charlotte, the Triad and the Research Triangle region with significant outposts in Hickory, Wilmington and especially Asheville."

DeKok, David. [1986] 2000. *Unseen Danger: A Tragedy of People, Government, and the Centralia Mine Fire* [Pa.; uncontrolled underground mine fire, ignited 1962]. San Jose, Calif.: ToExcel. 299 pp. Originally published, Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

DeKok, David. 2010. Fire Underground: The Ongoing Tragedy of the Centralia Mine Fire. Guilford, Conn.: Globe Pequot. 284 pp. History of an underground anthracite coal mine fire burning since 1962 which has decimated the town of Centralia, Pa.

DellaMea, Christopher. 2010. "Coalfields of the Appalachian Mountains: An Encyclopedia of Appalachian Coal Towns" [website]. http://coalcampusa.com/. Maps and selected, captioned photos. Contents: Western Pennsylvania -- Eastern Ohio -- Western Maryland -- Northern West Virginia -- Southern West Virginia -- Southwestern Virginia -- Eastern Kentucky -- Eastern Tennessee and Northern Alabama -- The Industrial Heartland: Coal's Destination.

DellaMea, Christopher. 2010. Exploring Appalachia's Coalfields: West Virginia, Pennsylvania, Kentucky, Ohio, Virginia, Maryland. San Francisco: Blurb.com. 71 pp. "A photographic record of the coal camps...company stores, tipples, coke ovens, and rail yards that...comprised the historic landscape."

DellaMea, Christopher. 2010. Exploring the Rust Belt: Pennsylvania, Ohio, West Virginia, Indiana. San Francisco: Blurb.com. 77 pp. Industrial landscape photographs; Ohio River Valley.

DeMarchi, Jane. 1997. *Historical Mining Disasters* [lists over 500 in the U.S. since 1900]. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Labor, Mine Safety and Health Administration. 49 pp.

DiCiccio, Carmen. 1996. *Coal and Coke in Pennsylvania*. Harrisburg: Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission. 224 pp. Industrial history, 1840-1945; southwestern Pa.

Dickinson, W. Calvin, and Patrick D. Reagan. 1998. "Business, Labor, and the Blue Eagle: The Harriman Hosiery Mills Strike, 1933-1934." In *Tennessee History: The Land, The People, and the Culture*, ed. C. Van West, 391-412. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Dickinson, W. Calvin, and Patrick D. Reagan. 1996. "Business, Labor, and the Blue Eagle: The Harriman Hosiery Mills Strike, 1933-1934" [Roane Co., Tenn.]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 55 (Fall): 240-255.

Dionne, E. J. 2010. "An Old, Sad Story at a West Virginia Mine. *Washington Post*, 8 April, 21(A). 724 words. Explosion and deaths of 29 at Upper Big Branch Mine in Montcoal.

Dix, Keith. 1996. "Mechanization, Workplace Control, and the End of the Hand-Loading Era." In *The United Mine Workers of America: A Model of Industrial Solidarity?*, ed. J. Laslett, 167-200. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Dixon, Thomas W. 2002. *Steam Locomotive Coaling Stations and Diesel Locomotive Fueling Stations* [photo-documentary]. Lynchburg, Va.: TLC Publishing. 80 pp.

Dixon, Thomas W. 2006. *Chesapeake & Ohio Railway in the Coal Fields of West Virginia and Kentucky: Mines - Towns - Trains*. Clifton Forge, Va.: Chesapeake & Ohio Historical Society. 108 pp.

Dixon, Thomas W. 2009. West Virginia Railroads: Railroading in the Mountain State [Vol. 1; history to 1960s; pictorial]. Forest, Va.: TLC Publishing. 128 pp. Contents: Foreword | Introduction | Baltimore and Ohio | Chesapeake and Ohio | Norfolk and Western | Virginia | New York Central (Kanawha and Michigan) | Railroads in the Northern Panhandle | Shortlines | Logging Railroads.

Dixon, Thomas W. 2010. *West Virginia Railroads: Volume 2, Chesapeake & Ohio.* Forest, Va.: TLC Publishing. 144 pp. Photos; late steam and early diesel periods. Contents: Introduction -- Alleghany Sub-Division -- Greenbrier Sub-Division -- New River Sub-Division --

New River Branch Lines -- Kanawha Sub-Division -- Kanawha Branch Lines -- Passenger Trains.

Dixon, Thomas W. 2010. West Virginia Railroads. Volume 2, Chesapeake & Ohio [1935-1965]. Forest, Va.: TLC Publishing. 144 pp. Photos, maps, drawings.

Dixon, Thomas W. 2012. West Virginia Railroads, Vol. 5: Geared Logging Locomotives [pictorial]. Forest, Va.: TLC Pub. Inc. "...a general history of the geared Shay, Climax, and Heisier type locomotives that were so prevalent...from 1890s until the 1950s."

Dixon, Thomas W., comp. 2007. *Chessie System Railroads in West Virginia* [pictorial; locomotives; map]. Clifton Forge, Va: Chesapeake & Ohio Historical Society. 64 pp.

Dotson-Lewis, Betty L. 2007. *Sago Mine Disaster: Appalachian Coalfield Stories* [Jan. 2, 2006; Tallmansville, W. Va.; 12 dead, one survivor]. West Conshohocken, Pa.: Infinity Publishing. 301 pp.

Dotter, Earl. 1998. *The Quiet Sickness: A Photographic Chronicle of Hazardous Work in America* [150 photographs, many of coal miners]. Fairfax, Va: American Industrial Hygiene Association. 153 pp.

Drobney, Jeffrey A. 1997. Lumbermen and Log Sawyers: Life, Labor, and Culture in the North Florida Timber Industry, 1830-1930 [southern timber industry]. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 241 pp.

Dublin, Thomas, and Melissa Doak. 2001. "Miner's Son, Miners' Photographer: The Life and Work of George Harvan" [online magazine; links to 280 photographs, oral history audio, essays; Pa.'s anthracite coal region, 1946-99]. *The Journal for MultiMedia History* 3:(2000). http://www.albany.edu/jmmh.

Dublin, Thomas, and Walter Licht. 2005. *The Face of Decline: The Pennsylvania Anthracite Region in the Twentieth Century*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press. 277 pp.

Dublin, Thomas; photographs by George Harvan. 1998. When the Mines Closed: Stories of Struggles in Hard Times [Pa. anthracite region; 90 interviews; 80 photos]. Ithaca, N.Y.: Cornell University Press. 257 pp.

Durden, Robert F. 1999. "Electrifying the Piedmont Carolinas: The Beginning of the Duke Power Company, 1904-1925: Part 1" [including electrification of cotton mills]. *North Carolina Historical Review* 76 (October): 410-440.

Dye, Steve. 2009. "Building Rigs the Old Way: Oilman U.S. Dye" [b. 1880; Wood Co.; derricks erected for drillers]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 4 (Winter): 26-32.

Eckholm, Erik. 2010. "A Mining Bellwether." *New York Times*, 15 July, 16(A). 1,251 words. Reprinted in *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 1 (Fall): 5-8. Obama's E.P.A. and Arch Coal's Spruce 1 mountaintop removal proposal showdown/test case at Pigeonroost Hollow, W. Va. -- previously permitted by the Army Corps of Engineers in 2007.

Edwards, Pamela C. 2004. "Southern Industrialization and Northern Industrial Networks: The New South Textile Industry in Columbia and Lyman, South Carolina" [Spartanburg]. *South Carolina Historical Magazine* 105 (October): 282-305.

Eelman, Bruce W. 2008. Entrepreneurs in the Southern Upcountry: Commercial Culture in Spartanburg, South Carolina, 1845-1880. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 313 pp.

Eggert, Gerald G. 2000. *Making Iron on the Bald Eagle: Roland Curtin's Ironworks and Workers' Community* [Centre Co., Pa.; 1810-1922]. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 189 pp.

Egolf, Jennifer, Ken Fones-Wolf, and Louis C. Martin, ed. 2009. *Culture, Class, and Politics in Modern Appalachia: Essays in Honor of Ronald L. Lewis*. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 347 pp. Twelve papers delivered at WVU's 2007 U.S. Senator Rush Holt Conference, "Transforming Appalachian Scholarship: A Conference Honoring the Contributions of Ronald L. Lewis" [WVU History Dept., 1979-2007].

Egolf, Jennifer. 2009. "Radical Challenge and Conservative Triumph: The Struggle to Define American Identity in the Somerset County Coal Strike, 1922-1923" [Pa.; culture change; native-born immigrants; Red Scare]. In *Culture, Class, and Politics in Modern Appalachia: Essays in Honor of Ronald L. Lewis*, ed. J. Egolf, K. Fones-Wolf, and L. Martin, 88-117. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Eilperin, Juliet. 2011. "Coal Mining Provides Conundrum for Obama" [coal production moves west; Powder River Basin, Wyo., Mont.]. Washington Post, 26 December, 2(A). 1,373 words. Photo gallery, map, chart. "Central Appalachia now produces just 17 percent of the nation's coal compared with 70 percent in the 1970s....operators are concerned about what they'll do when they're finished mining on their current permits."

Elkins, Crystal. 2009. "Echoes of Buffalo Creek: Leon Ball" [recollections of 1972 flood disaster; Logan Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 4 (Winter): 14-17. This is the second of three articles comprising a Special Report, pp. 9-25.

Ellis, Ruddy. 2002. "The Dick's Creek Tunnel" [history of mysterious, pre-Civil War, unfinished Blue Ridge Railroad tunnel; Ga.]. Interview by student Jonathan Garland. *Foxfire Magazine* 36 (Spring/Summer): 70-80.

Ellis, Ruddy. 2009. "Historical Railroads" [drilling Stumphouse Mountain Tunnel and Dick's Creek Tunnel, Rabun Co., Ga.; diagrams]. Interview by Brandi Allen. *Foxfire Magazine* 43, no. 1-2 (Spring/Summer): 63-77.

English, Beth Anne. 2006. A Common Thread: Labor, Politics, and Capital Mobility in the Textile Industry [Ala.]. Politics and Culture in the Twentieth-Century South. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 236 pp.

English, Beth. 2005. "Beginnings of the Global Economy: Capital Mobility and the 1890s U.S. Textile Industry." In *Global Perspectives on Industrial Transformation in the American South*, ed. S. Delfino and M. Gillespie, 175-198. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

Epstein, Paul R., Jonathan J. Buonocore, Kevin Eckerle, Michael Hendryx, et al. 2011. "Full Cost Accounting for the Life Cycle of Coal" [Appalachian focus]. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1219, no. 1 (February): 73-98. Seven charts, 1 graph, 3 maps. "Each stage in the life cycle of coal-extraction, transport, processing, and combustion-generates a waste stream....We estimate that the life cycle effects of coal and the waste stream generated are costing the U.S. public a third to over one-half of a trillion dollars annually....making wind, solar, and other forms of nonfossil fuel power generation...economically competitive."

Estep, Bill. 2011. "100 Years of Coal Mining in Harlan County." *Lexington Herald-Leader*, 21 August. 2,083 words. Historic photo, statistical charts, related stories. http://www.kentucky.com/2011/08/21/1852406/100-years-of-coal-in-harlan-county.html#disqus_thread.

Estep, Janet. 2010. "Danger in the Hole: 1958 Mine Rescue Team." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 1 (Spring): 34-39. Nicholas County explosion; 14 dead; Richwood Sewell Mine.

Evans, Curtis J. 2001. *The Conquest of Labor: Daniel Pratt and Southern Industrialization* [1799-1873; textiles; Prattville, Ala.]. Southern Biography Series. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 337 pp.

Ewen, Linda Ann. 2006. "The Great Anti-Injunction Strike of 1976: Context and Implications for Appalachia" [record wildcat coal strike; social injustices]. Ch. 7 in *Radicalism in the South since Reconstruction*, ed. C. Green, R. Rubin, and J. Smethurst, 147-165. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Ezzell, Patricia Bernard. 2003. *TVA Photography: Thirty Years of Life in the Tennessee Valley* [1933-1963; by TVA's official historian; photographs by Lewis Hine, Charles Krutch, Emil Sienknecht, and Billy Glenn]. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 177 pp.

Ezzell, Patricia Bernard. 2008. TVA Photography, 1963-2008: Challenges and Changes in the Tennessee Valley. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 192 pp. Sequel to TVA Photography: Thirty Years of Life in the Tennessee Valley (2003).

Fagge, Roger. 1996. Power, Culture and Conflict in the Coalfields: West Virginia and South Wales, 1900-22. Manchester and New York: Manchester University Press. 290 pp.

Fahlman, Betsy and Eric Jon Schruers, ed. 2008. *Wonders of Work and Labor: The Steidle Collection of American Industrial Art* [steel and coal art collection]. University Park, Pa: Earth and Mineral Sciences Museum & Art Gallery [Pennsylvania State University]. 176 pp. Contents: Foreword / Russell Wm. Graham -- The art of industry: themes of labor, technology, and process in American art / Betsy Fahlman -- Bessemer blasts and coal tipples: the art of Pennsylvania industry / Betsy Fahlman and Eric Schruers -- Edward Steidle and the creation of the industrial art collection / Eric Schruers -- Selected bibliography -- Color plates [76 plates] -- Steidle collection catalog, 1928-1953.

Failing, Anne. 2000. "The Lonaconing Silk Mill, 1907-1957: An Allegany High School, Maryland, Student Service Alliance Oral History." *Labor's Heritage* (Fall 1999/Winter 2000): 54-75.

Fallows, James. 2010. "Dirty Coal, Clean Coal." *Atlantic Monthly* 306, no. 5 (December): 64-78. http://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/2010/12/dirty-coal-clean-future/8307/ [includes a four-minute video interview].

Fannin, Mark. 2003. *Labor's Promised Land: Radical Visions of Gender, Race, and Religion in the South*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 355 pp.

Feather, Carl E. 2007. LH&W Railroad: The Mason Family's Backyard Train" [steam-powered excursionary railroad; Clarksburg]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 4 (Winter): 34-39.

Feather, Carl E. 2012. "The Lady is a Fireman: Amy McGrew of Cass." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 1 (Spring): 32-37. Cass Scenic Railroad, Pocahontas County.

Feldman, Glenn. 2011. "You Know What it Means to Have 9,000 Negroes Idle: Rethinking the Great 1908 Alabama Coal Strike." *Alabama Review* 64, no. 3 (July): 175-223. "...the union's indulgence of racism early in the strike did affect the quality and tenor of working-class and community support for the strikers."

Ferrandiz, Susan, creator. 2001? "McIntyre, Pennsylvania: The Everyday Life of a Coal Mining Company Town: 1910-1947" [website; photos, documents, letters, bibliography, related websites]. http://www.mcintyrepa.com/frontpage.htm.

Fields, Zack. 2007. "Progress at Gunpoint: Struggle in the Coal Fields of Southern West Virginia, 1890-1920." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 11: 77-100.

Filippelli, Ronald L. 1999. "Colonial Work, Colonial Workers." In *Keystone of Democracy: A History of Pennsylvania Workers*, ed. H. Harris, P. Blatz, 1-36. Harrisburg: Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission.

Fink, Leon. 2006. "When Community Comes Home to Roost: The Southern Milltown as Lost Cause" [Cooleemee, N.C.]. *Journal of Social History* 40, no. 1: 119-145.

Fischer, Karin. 2004. "Boon or Boondoggle" [Appalachian Development Highway System: 26 corridors] *Planning* 70 (May): 30-33.

Fischetti, Mark. 2010. "The Drillers Are Coming" [natural gas]. *Scientific American* 303, no. 1 (July): 82-85. Hydraulic fracturing; Marcellus Shale; N.Y. to Tenn.

Fishback, Price V. 1995. "An Alternative View of Violence in Labor Disputes in the Early 1900s: The Bituminous Coal Industry, 1890-1930." *Labor History* 36 (Summer): 426-456.

Fishback, Price V. 1996. "The Miner's Work Environment: Safety and Company Towns in the Early 1900s." In *The United Mine Workers of America: A Model of Industrial Solidarity?*, ed. J. Laslett, 201-223. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Fitzgerald, Jenrose. 2012. "The Messy Politics of 'Clean Coal': The Shaping of a Contested Term in Appalachia's Energy Debate." *Organization & Environment* 25, no. 4 (December): 437-451.

Flanary, Ron, Dave Oroszi, and Garland McKee. 1990. *The Louisville and Nashville in the Appalachians: A Look at the Corbin Division and Its Predecessors*. Silver Spring, Md.: Old Line Graphics. 128 pp. Captioned, color photos of the trains; essays; maps: Cincinnati, Kentucky, Cumberland Valley, Knoxville, and Atlanta.

Flannery, James L. 2009. *The Glass House Boys of Pittsburgh: Law, Technology, and Child Labor* [glass industry; 19th-century to 1915]. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press. 224 pp.

Flynn, Sean. 2009. "Black Tide" [TVA's Kingston, Tenn., coal ash pond collapse and billion gallon flood, Dec. 22, 2008]. *GQ* Feature. Republished at: http://www.truthout.org/060409EA.

Folmar, John Kent. 2009. *California, Pa., 1849-1881: The History of a Boat Building Town: Steamboats, Including Transports, Tinclads & Rams in the Civil War; Education, Politics, Temperance, Religion, and Social Life, &c.* [Washington Co., Pa.]. California, Pa.: Yohogania Press. 466 pp.

Fones-Wolf, Elizabeth, and Ken Fones-Wolf. 2003. "Cold War Americanism: Business, Pageantry, and Antiunionism in Weirton, West Virginia." *Business History Review* 77 (Spring): 61-91.

Fones-Wolf, Elizabeth, and Ken Fones-Wolf. 2012. "Religion, Human Relations, and Union Avoidance in the 1950s: The Electrical Industry's Southern Strategy and Its Limits" [GE, Westinghouse, Magnavox, and Singer]. *Enterprise & Society* 13, no. 1 (March): 154-185. Case studies of organizing drives in Rome, Ga., and Greeneville, Tenn.

Fones-Wolf, Ken. 1995. "A Craftsman's Paradise in Appalachia: Glassworkers and the Transformation of Clarksburg, 1900-1933." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 1 (Fall): 67-85.

Fones-Wolf, Ken. 1996. "From Craft to Industrial Unionism in the Window-Glass Industry: Clarksburg, West Virginia, 1900-1937." *Labor History* 37 (Winter, 1995-96): 28-49.

Fones-Wolf, Ken. 1999. "An Industrial Giant Takes Shape, 1800-1872." In *Keystone of Democracy: A History of Pennsylvania Workers*, ed. H. Harris, P. Blatz, 37-74, 80-81. Harrisburg: Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission.

Fones-Wolf, Ken. 2000. "Work, Culture and Politics in Industrializing West Virginia: The Glassworkers of Clarksburg and Moundsville, 1891-1919" [7,350 employed by 1910 -- 800 more than iron and steel]. *West Virginia History* 58 (1999-2000): 1-23.

Fones-Wolf, Ken. 2004. "Transatlantic Craft Migrations and Transnational Spaces: Belgian Window Glass Workers in America, 1880-1920." *Labor History* 45 (August): 299-321. Craft communities: southwestern Pa., northern W. Va.

Fones-Wolf, Ken. 2007. *Glass Towns: Industry, Labor, and Political Economy in Appalachia, 1890-1930s*. The Working Class in American History. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 236 pp. Labor history; W. Va.: Moundsville, Clarksburg, Fairmont.

Foster, Debbie, and Jack Kennedy. 2006. *H.J. Heinz Company* [vintage photos; Pittsburgh; biography]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Heinz, H. J. (Henry John), 1844-1919. Contents: The founder's dream | The commitment to quality | The test of hard times | The postwar boom | New brands and new businesses | Global expansion | The premier global food company.

Fox, Maier B. 1996. "Afterword: Prospects for the UMWA." In *The United Mine Workers of America: A Model of Industrial Solidarity?*, ed. J. Laslett, 545-554. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Fracking: A Roundtable [plenary session from the 2012 Appalachian Studies Association Annual Conference, Indiana, Pa.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 18, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 31-47. Presentations: Shale gas development issues / Ronald E. Bishop -- Environmental impacts of horizontal gas well drilling and hydrological fracturing / David J. Lampe -- Monitoring a public water resource exposed to Marcellus Shale development: the case of Beaver Run Reservoir [Westmoreland Co. Pa.] / Brian W. Okey -- The shale rush / Tom Wilber -- Pennsylvania's fracking land grab: threats and opportunities" [Monongahela and Allegheny River watersheds contamination] / Myron Arnowitt.

Fracking: Gas Drilling's Environmental Threat (series). 2008—. *ProPublica: Journalism in the Public Interest*. Web site with dozens of informative articles, feature stories, comments, graphics, and multimedia links. http://www.propublica.org/series/fracking.

Fraley, Jill M. 2012. "The Political Rhetoric of Property and Natural Resource Ownership: A Meditation on Chance, Taxation and Appalachia." *Society and Natural Resources* 25, no. 2

(February): 127-140. Compares "alternative methods of natural resource ownership in the United States and Australia."

Frederickson, Mary E. 2011. Looking South: Race, Gender, and the Transformation of Labor from Reconstruction to Globalization. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 302 pp. Contents: Introduction: labor transformation and networks of resistance -- Labor, race, and Homer Plessy's freedom claim -- Transformation and resistance: a war of images in the post-Plessy South -- "I got so mad, I just had to get something off my chest": the contested terrain of women's organizations in the American South -- Beyond heroines and girl strikers: gender and organized labor in the South -- Labor looks south: theory and practice in Southern textile organizing -- "Living in two worlds": civil rights and Southern textiles -- Transformation and resistance in the nueva New South -- Back to the future: mapping workers across the global South -- Coda: Southern workers on the world stage.

Freese, Barbara. 2003. *Coal: A Human History* [from ancient times to present]. Cambridge, Mass.: Perseus Publishing. 308 pp.

French, Buddy. 1999. "My First Night in the Mines" [1966; McDowell Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Winter): 25-35.

Friend, Daniel J. 2003. "The Norwalk: Martinsburg's Motor Car" [Norwalk Motor Car Company, 1912-1922]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Summer): 30-37.

Fuchs, Steve, with Rick Acton. 2011. *My C&O: The Transition of Chesapeake & Ohio Railway into CSX Transportation* [photos; history; Oh., Ky., and W. Va.]. Dayton, Ohio: St Alban Media. 160 pp.

Fultz, Arnold. 2008. *Fixing the Ungodly Mess: A Pathway to Change* [coal and devastation]. Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse. 251 pp.

Futej, Gerald M., and Max S. Robin, ed. 2007. 100 Years and Still Counting: The Town of Cass, WV [illustrated history]. West Chester, Pa.: Greenhill Station Productions. 100 pp. Ten essays, historic photos, and documents tell the story of this important railroad and lumber company town in Pocahontas County, W. Va.

Futej, Gerald M., and Max S. Robin, ed. 2010. Western Maryland Railway Shay No. 6: The Last Shay Built by Lima. West Chester, Pa.: Greenhill Station Publications. 104 pp. Contents: Short trains and stiff grades / by George A. Fizer -- Birth of the big six / by Fred Bartels -- WM Shay on heavy grades / compiled by Gerald M. Futej -- Obituary for a locomotive / compiled by Gerald M. Futej -- Baltimore's sleeping giant / by Don McFall -- From Baltimore to Cass / by Fred Bartels -- Going home / by Jerry Moyer -- Two locomotives for Cass / by Max S. Robin -- Restoration of the big six / by Fred Bartels -- Arch tubes or siphons / by Gerald M. Futej -- Shay no. 6 returns to service / by Gerald M. Futej.

Futej, Gerald M., and Max S. Robin, ed. 2010. Western Maryland Railway Shay No. 6: The Last Shay Built by Lima. West Chester, Pa.: Greenhill Station Publications. 104 pp. Eleven essays; Steam locomotives; b&w pictorial.

Futej, Gerald M., and Max S. Robin, ed. 2012. *Sawdust on Leatherbark: The Mills at Cass, WV*. West Chester, Pa.: Greenhill Station Productions. 104 pp. History of this massive lumber and milling operation, 1902-1960; Pocahontas County; photos and illustrations.

Gabriel, H. William. 2000. "Robert S. Hickman: Keeping the Company Store," 45-46; "Frank Edwin Mower: Keeping Cass Alive," 47-49. [railroad and timber company town; today a tourist center]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Summer): 45-49.

Gagnon, Michael J. 2012. *Transition to an Industrial South: Athens, Georgia, 1830-1870*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 290 pp. Focuses on cotton textile industry.

Galuszka, Peter A. 2012. Thunder on the Mountain: Death at Massey and the Dirty Secrets Behind Big Coal. New York: St. Martin's Press. 283 pp. Contents: Death at Upper Big Branch -- Renegade CEO -- Up the Hollow -- The roots of Massey Energy -- Big Coal's ugly and bright future -- Strip-mining on steroids -- Dark as a dungeon -- Coal country culture wars -- Pulling the trigger on Don -- Asia's appetite -- Alpha's rotten apple. "On April 5, 2010, an explosion ripped through Massey Energy's Upper Big Branch Mine, killing twenty-nine coal miners. This tragedy was the deadliest mine disaster in the United States in forty years--a disaster that never should have happened. These deaths were rooted in the cynical corporate culture of Massey and its notorious former CEO Don Blankenship, and were part of a cycle of poverty, exploitation, and environmental abuse that has dominated Appalachia since coal was first discovered there. And the cycle continues unabated as coal companies bury the most insidious dangers deep underground and hide the true costs. But the disaster goes beyond West Virginia. It casts a global shadow, calling into bitter question why coal miners in the United States are sacrificed to erect cities on the other side of the world, and how the world's voracious appetite for energy is satisfied at such horrendous cost."

Galuszka, Peter. 1997. "Strip-Mining on Steroids" [costs; dangers]. *Business Week* 17 November, 70.

Garay, Ronald. 2011. *U.S. Steel and Gary, West Virginia: Corporate Paternalism in Appalachia* [Gary Hollow coal camps, McDowell Co.]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 265 pp. Contents: Origins and settlement -- Iron and steelmaking science and manufacturing -- Pocahontas Coalfield and the N&W -- Gary at the beginning -- Labor issues and labor organization -- Coal power and town life -- Steel industry in decline -- An era begins to close -- The signs are all around -- Tough but hopeful times -- U.S. Steel, Marathon Oil, and depression -- A bleak year -- U.S. Steel and asset redeployment -- The new U.S. Steel -- Muted optimism -- Disengagement -- Prosperity and uncertainty. See also: *Gary Hollow: A History of the Largest Coal Mining Operation in the World* (2005), by Alex P. Schust.

Gartner, Paul. 2006. "'One Day More': Activist Songwriter Elaine Purkey" [UMW organizer, teacher, public speaker]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 2 (Summer): 14-19.

Gates, Frederick B. 2007. "The Impact of the Western & Atlantic Railroad on the Development of the Georgia Upcountry, 1840-1860" [market-oriented capitalism]. *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 91, no. 2 (Summer): 169-184.

Geiger, Kim, Doug Smith, and Tom Hamburger. 2011. "Miners' Survivors Feel Let Down: A Year After a Blast Killed 29, a Safety Bill Has Failed and Efforts to Boost Enforcement Are Mired In Appeals" [Upper Big Branch mine, W. Va.]. *Los Angeles Times*, 8 May, 18(A). 1190 words, including sidebar links to a spreadsheet, "Mining Money Flooded Congress before Safety Vote" showing up and down votes of House members, and a graphic showing the jump in mining industry political contributions. http://www.latimes.com/news/nationworld/nation/la-na-coal-mine-safety-20110508,0,3265401.story?page=1.

Gennett, Andrew. 2002. Sound Wormy: Memoir of Andrew Gennett, Lumberman [1874-1942; Ga., N.C., Tenn.]. Edited by Nicole Hayler, with a foreword by John Alger. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 218 pp.

Genoways, Ted, ed. 2010. "The Price of Paperless: Inside the Mines that Feed the Tech Revolution" [electronics: iPads, circuit boards, copper wiring, rechargeable batteries, televisions, cell phones]. Special issue, *Virginia Quarterly Review* 86, no. 4 (Fall): 1-198. Ten graphic essays from around the globe on the human and environmental devastation caused by mining (cf. U.S. coal mining): The price of the paperless revolution / Ted Genoways -- Mother of God, child of Zeus [Peru; gold mines; mercury poisoning] / Jessica Benko and Bear Guerra -- Here everything is poison [Kosovo lead mines] / J. Malcolm Garcia -- Jharia burning [India; coal] / Allison Joyce -- The pit [Butte, Mont.; copper; poisoned lake] / Nathaniel Miller -- Father Copper [Chile] / Annie Murphy -- The underground giant: life in the hard rock mines of Quebec and Ontario / Louie Palu -- The solution: Bolivia's lithium dreams / Matthew Power -- Tin Fever [Congo] / Delphine Schrank -- Digging out [Afghanistan; coal, iron ore, gemstones] / Elliott D. Woods. http://www.vqronline.org/issues/2010/fall/.

George, Michael, and Frank Strack. 2000. *Passage Through Time: A Milepost Guide for the Great Smoky Mountains Railroad* [N.C.]. Collegedale, Tenn.: College Press. 176 pp. Extends from Asheville to Murphy, passing through Waynesville, Dillsboro, Bryson City, and Andrews.

Giardina, Denise. 2010. "Mourning in the Mountains" [W. Va.]. *New York Times*, 7 April, 27(A). 560 words. Op-ed reaction to coal mine explosion that killed 29 at Massey Energy's Upper Big Branch mine, April 5, in Raleigh County.

Gilbert, Joan. 1998. *Life on the Lehigh Canal: An Interview with Richard Arner* [1820-1942 history; 46-mile conduit for anthracite coal]. *Pennsylvania Heritage* 24 (Spring): 12-19.

Gildart, Keith. 2009. "Mining Memories: Reading Coalfield Autobiographies" [18 Welsh miners, 1980s Wales, UK]. *Labor History* 50, no. 2 (May): 139-161.

Gillespie, Kim. 1995. "Storming Heaven' in the Decade of Greed." In *Appalachia and the Politics of Culture*, ed. E. C. Fine. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 7: 101-110. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Gillespie, Michael. 2001. Come Hell or High Water: A Lively History of Steamboating on the Mississippi and Ohio Rivers. Stoddard, Wis.: Heritage Press. 295 pp.

Gilley, Jennifer, and Stephen Burnett. 1998. "Deconstructing and Reconstructing Pittsburgh's Man of Steel: Reading Joe Magarac against the Context of the 20th-Century Steel Industry" [media hero; folk hero]. *Journal of American Folklore* 111 (Fall): 392-408.

Gisolfi, Monica R. 2009. "Leaving the Farm to Save the Farm: The Poultry Industry and the Problem of 'Public Work,' 1950-1970" [Upcountry Ga.]. Chap. 3 in *Migration and the Transformation of the Southern Workplace Since 1945*, ed. R. Cassanello and C. Davis, 64-79. Gainesville: University Press of Florida.

Glass, Brent D. 1997. "Massacre at Lattimer: An American Rite of Passage: An Interview with Michael Novak" [immigrant miners; Hazelton, Pa.; 1897]. *Pennsylvania Heritage* 23 (Fall): 4-13.

Glass, Ira, prod. 2011. "440: Game Changer" [fracking]. Narr. Ira Glass. *This American Life* from WBEZ [radio program]. Originally aired July 8, 2011. 60 min. Marcellus Shale gas drilling in Pennsylvania. "Host Ira Glass tells the stories of two professors, each making a calculation that no one had made before. One gets acclaim. One ends up out of a job." Act One: You've Got Shale. "...how Pennsylvania's universities, politicans and industry have united to develop natural gas." Act Two: Ground War. "Sarah takes us to Mt. Pleasant, PA, where a gas exploration company called Range Resources has leased 95% of the township's land." http://www.thisamericanlife.org/radio-archives/episode/440/game-changer.

Glenn, Anne Fitten. 2012. *Asheville Beer: An Intoxicating History of Mountain Brewing*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 192 pp.

Godbey, Emily. 2006. "Disaster Tourism and the Melodrama of Authenticity: Revisiting the 1889 Johnstown Flood" [1889; 2,000 killed]. *Pennsylvania History* 73, no. 3 (Summer): 273-315.

Goforth, James A. 1998 [1991]. *When Steam Ran the Clinchfield* [Railroad; numerous photos]. Johnson City, Tenn: Overmountain Press. 105 pp. Originally published: Erwin, Tenn.: Gem Publishers.

Goldbeck, Christine M. 2001. "Rivers of Steel" [southwestern Pa.; Rivers of Steel National and State Heritage Area, cultural conservation plans]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 18 (Spring): 30-34.

Goldbeck, Christine. 2003. "Breaker Boy, Bootlegger, Bookworm, Bard" [anthracite miner Joe Machulsky, b. 1914]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 20, no. 2-3 (Summer/Winter): 18-21.

Goldbeck, Christine. 2003. "Going Underground" [exploring abandoned anthracite mines in northeastern Pa.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 20 (Spring): 24-27.

Goode, James B. 1997. *Ancient Sunshine: The Story of Coal* [history of mining; adolescent audience]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 96 pp.

Goodell, Jeff. 2001. "How Coal Got It's Glow Back" [political controversies; 2001 energy demands, prices]. *New York Times Magazine*, 22 July, 30-39.

Goodell, Jeff. 2002. *Our Story: 77 Hours That Tested Our Friendship and Our Faith* [Somerset, Pa.; nine trapped miners rescued]. By the Quecreek Miners, as told to Jeff Goodell. New York: Hyperion. 176 pp.

Goodell, Jeff. 2006. "Cooking the Climate with Coal." Natural History 115 (May): 36-41.

Goodell, Jeff. 2006. *Big Coal: The Dirty Secret behind America's Energy Future* ["shatters the myth of cheap coal energy"]. Boston: Houghton Mifflin. 324 pp.

Goodell, Jeff. 2008. "Big Coal's Campaign of Lies." *Rolling Stone*, 7 August: 65-66. U.S. Senate rejects Climate Security Act to cut greenhouse-gas emissions.

Goodell, Jeff. 2012. "The Big Fracking Bubble: The Scam Behind the Gas Boom." *Rolling Stone*, no. 1152: 48-55. "It's not only toxic – it's driven by a right-wing billionaire who profits more from flipping land than drilling for gas." http://www.rollingstone.com/politics/news/the-big-fracking-bubble-the-scam-behind-the-gas-boom-20120301?print=true.

Gorn, Elliot J. 2001. *Mother Jones: The Most Dangerous Woman in America* [1843?-1930]. New York: Hill and Wang. 408 pp.

Gottlieb, Peter. 1999. "Shaping a New Labor Movement, 1917-1941." In *Keystone of Democracy: A History of Pennsylvania Workers*, ed. H. Harris, P. Blatz, 161-201, 211-212. Harrisburg: Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission.

Gratton, Brian, and Jon Moen. 2004. "Immigration, Culture, and Child Labor in the United States, 1880-1920." *The Journal of Interdisciplinary History* 34, no. 3 (Winter): 355-391.

Gratz, David E., and Terry E. Arbogast. 2003. *The Monongahela Railway* [Monongahela River Valley, W. Va. and Pa.; photos, maps, tables]. Washingtonville, Ohio: M2FQ Publications. 212 pp.

Gray, Pamela Lee. 2002. *Ohio Valley Pottery Towns* [photo-retrospective: East Liverpool, Ohio | Wellsville, Ohio | Beaver Area, Pennsylvania | Chester, West Virginia | Newell, West Virginia | East Palestine, Ohio]. Images of America. Chicago, Ill.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Gray, Sam. 1997. "I-26 and the Will of God: Introduction" [photo-essay; highway corridor; Madison Co., N.C.]. *Southern Quarterly* 35 (Spring): 116-127.

Gray, Sam. 2001. "The Roads of Madison County: An Interpretive History" [construction of Interstate 26]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 2, ed. R. S. Brunk, 288-313. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services, Inc.

Green, Brian. 1997. "The Consolidated Gold Mine" [Dahlonega, Ga.; 1896-1906]. Foxfire Magazine 31 (Fall/Winter): 149-158.

Green, Chris. 2006. "Selective Bibliography of Books, Films, and Web Sites about Coal & Central Appalachia." In *Coal: A Poetry Anthology*, ed. C. Green, 311-318 unnumbered. Ashland, Ky.: Blair Mountain Press. [1. About coal / 2. Accidents & safety / 3. African-American miners / 4. Black lung / 5. Buffalo Creek / 6. Coal industry / 7. Coal towns / 8. History & Culture / 9. Labor struggles: Harlan County, Kentucky / 10. Labor struggles: UMWA & Mother Jones / 11. Labor struggles: West Virginia / 12. Language / 13. Literature / 14. Song / 15. Stripmining and Mountaintop Removal / 16. Women].

Green, Hardy. 2010. *The Company Town: The Industrial Edens and Satanic Mills That Shaped the American Economy*. New York: Basic Books. 248 pp. Includes coal-mining towns, steel-mill towns, textile-mill towns, timber-mill towns, oil towns, utopian towns, Oak Ridge, Tenn., and automobile industry.

Green, James R. 1996. "Tying the Knot of Solidarity': The Pittston Strike of 1989-1990." In *The United Mine Workers of America: A Model of Industrial Solidarity?*, ed. J. Laslett, 513-544. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Green, Jerry E. 2004. "Steubenville, Ohio, and the Nineteenth-Century Steamboat Trade" [1820s-1880s; tables]. *Ohio History* 113 (Winter-Spring): 18-30. http://publications.ohiohistory.org/pdf/113WSgreen.pdf.

Green, Jerry. 2010. "Wheeling and the Development of the Inland Riverboat Trade" [W. Va.]. *Ohio Valley History* 10, no. 2 (Summer): 46-70. Nineteenth-century illustrations. Appendix 1: "Riverboats Built in Wheeling, by Year" [approx. 190]; Appendix 2: "Wheeling Captains and Their Associated Boats" [54 names].

Griswold, Eliza. 2011. "The Fracturing of Pennsylvania." *New York Times*, 11 November. 5,703 words, plus video clip. Residents of Amwell Township, southwestern Pa., relate their experiences with an invasive, Marcellus Shale hydrofracking industry [Range Resources]. http://www.nytimes.com/2011/11/20/magazine/fracking-amwell-township.html?_r=2&pagewanted=all%3Fsrc%3Dtp&smid=fb-share.

Grom, Robert M. 2008. *Braddock, Allegheny County* [Pa.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Site of British General Edward Braddock's defeat by French and Indians in 1755, Whiskey Rebellion gatherings, and Andrew Carnegie's first library and steel mill (predecessor of U.S. Steel Corporation).

Gruenwald, Kim M. 2012. "The invention of the steam-boat was intended for US': Steamboats and Western Identity in the Early Republic." *Ohio Valley History* 12, no. 3 (Fall): 3-20.

Guillerman, Michael D. 2009. *Face Boss: The Memoir of a Western Kentucky Coal Miner*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 347 pp. Union County; Peabody Coal Company; details the risks and dangers but also the good times and camaraderie as well as gender, race, and union relationships.

Hahn, Thomas Swiftwater. 1997. *The Chesapeake & Ohio Canal Lock-Houses and Lock-Keepers*. Monograph series. Morgantown, W. Va.: Institute for the History of Technology & Industrial Archaeology. 105 pp.

Hales, Peter Bacon. 1997. *Atomic Spaces: Living on the Manhattan Project* [social history of workers, not scientists or military; including 1940s Oak Ridge, Tenn.]. Champaign: University of Illinois Press. 448 pp.

Hall, Jacquelyn Dowd, et al. [1987] 2000. *Like a Family: The Making of a Southern Cotton Mill World*. Reprint, with a foreword by Michael Frisch, and a new afterword by the authors. Fred W. Morrison Series in Southern Studies. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 520 pp.

Hall, Randal L. 2012. *Mountains on the Market: Industry, the Environment, and the South* [southwestern Va.; 250 years of industrialization and environmental exploitation]. New Directions in Southern History series. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 288 pp. Contents: Industrial inroads and pragmatic patriots | Turnpikes to ore and more | Wheels and rails in the new America | Corporate peaks in the valley | Left behind.

Hansen, Evan, et al. 2008. The Long-Term Economic Benefits of Wind Versus Mountaintop Removal Coal on Coal River Mountain, West Virginia [Raleigh Co.; tables, maps]. Morgantown, W. Va.: Downstream Strategies. 52 pp.

Hardy, Charles, III. 1999. "Fish or Foul: A History of the Delaware River Basin through the Perspective of the American Shad, 1682 to the Present" [northeastern Pa.]. *Pennsylvania History* 66 (Autumn): 506-534.

Hargrove, Erwin C. 1994. *Prisoners of Myth: The Leadership of the Tennessee Valley Authority*, 1933-1990. Princeton: Princeton University Press. 374 pp.

Hargrove, Erwin C. [1994] 2001. *Prisoners of Myth: The Leadership of the Tennessee Valley Authority, 1933-1990.* Reprint, with a new preface. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 374 pp. Originally published by Princeton University Press.

Harkinson, Josh. 2011. "First Big Coal Broke the Union, Then It Broke This Town: A West Virginia Community Gets Wiped Off the Map." *Mother Jones* 36, no. 2 (March/April). Massey Energy; Twilight, W. Va. http://motherjones.com/environment/2011/03/massey-energy-twilight-west-virginia.

Harris, Howard. 1999. "Hard Times and New Hopes, 1970-1997" [job loss]. In *Keystone of Democracy: A History of Pennsylvania Workers*, ed. H. Harris, P. Blatz, 275-325, 334-335. Harrisburg: Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission.

Harris, Paul. 2005. "They Flattened This Mountaintop to Find Coal -- And Created a Wasteland: A Ravaged U.S. State is Fighting Back against Mining Bosses Who Backed Bush" [mountaintop removal]. *The Observer* (London), 16 January, 25. 1055 words. http://www.guardian.co.uk/usa/story/0,12271,1391483,00.html.

Harris, Wess, comp., ed. 2012. *Dead Ringers: Why Miners March: Buried Truth from the Mountains* [W. Va.]. Gay, W. Va.: Appalachian Community Services. 168 pp. Contents: Esau in the coal fields [forced sexual servitude] / Michael Kline -- Goldenseal buried truth -- Behind the coal curtain / Michael Kline -- West Virginia's gilded history / Tom Rhule -- Handwritten memories / James Kilgore -- Battle of Blair Mountain pamphlet / Logan District Mines Information Bureau -- Victory on Blair Mountain! / Wess Harris -- Baseball and treason / Bill Kovarik -- John L. Lewis: 40 years of upset stomachs / William C. Blizzard -- Images: past and present -- An open letter: Roberts to Reid-Smith -- Cecil Roberts shares his story: an interview / Michael Kline -- Hidden coffins unearth needed history / Fr. John S. Rausch -- *When Miners March* [2010]: a review / Theresa Burriss.

Harris, Wess. 2011. "What If We Really Won the Battle of Blair Mountain?" *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 3 (Summer): 87-91, with nine photos of hero Bill Blizzard (and Peter and Mike Seeger) throughout this issue. Argues that 10,000 union miners actually won the 1921 Battle of Blair Mountain (Logan Co., W. Va.) against coal operators and federal troops in "the largest armed insurrection since the Civil War."

Harshbarger, Dwight. 2009. Witness at Hawk's Nest: A Novel [1930; silicosis industrial disaster; W. Va.]. Huntington, W. Va.: Mid-Atlantic Highlands. 260 pp.

Harvey, Willard A., Jr. 1997. *Railroads of the Ohio Valley, 1947-1960. Book Two: Huntington, West Virginia to Cincinnati, Ohio* [captioned photographs]. Telford, Pa.: Silver Brook Junction Publishing Company. 95 pp.

Haskew, Barbara S., and Robert B. Jones. 2004. "Labor Strife in the Southern Stove Industry: Shootout at South Pittsburg" [1927; Marion Co.]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 63 (Winter): 266-283.

Hasler, Richard. 2005. "The Tragedy of Privatization: Moving Mountains in Appalachia, a Southern African Critique" [property rights; morality]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 11, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 95-103.

Hawkins, Jay W. 2009. *Glasshouses & Glass Manufacturers of the Pittsburgh Region, 1795-1910*. New York: iUniverse. 584 pp. "By the close of the 19th century, the Pittsburgh region was producing more than half of all domestic w indow glass...in the United States."

Healey, Richard G. 2007. *The Pennsylvania Anthracite Coal Industry, 1860-1902: Economic Cycles, Business Decision-Making and Regional Dynamics*. Scranton, Pa.: University of Scranton Press. 512 pp.

Heinberg, Richard. 2009. *Blackout: Coal, Climate and the Last Energy Crisis*. Gabriola Island, B.C., Canada: New Society Publishers. 201 pp.

Hennen, John C., Jr. 1999. "Putting the 'You' in Union" [Danie Joe Stewart, organizer; Highlands Regional Medical Center, Prestonsburg, Ky.; 1975]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 5 (Fall): 227-240.

Hennen, John C., and Ronald L. Lewis, section editors. 2006. "Labor" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 551-609 (with introductory essay, 551-557). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Hensley, Julia, Stephen Hensley, and Jim Kevin. 1998. "A Forgotten Pioneer" [Edward Chalmers Huffaker of Chuckey City, Tenn.: aviation pioneer, engineer, surveyor, inventor]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 15 (Winter): 6-12.

Herod, Andrew. 1997. "Reinterpreting Organized Labor's Experience in the Southeast: 1947 to Present." *Southeastern Geographer* 37 (November): 214-237.

Hevener, John W. [1978] 2002. *Which Side Are You On?: The Harlan County Coal Miners*, 1931-39 [Weatherford Award winner]. Reprint, with a foreword by Robert Gipe. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 216 pp.

Hicks, Enoch E. 2006. *Appalachian Legacy* [b. 1931; coal mining biography; War, W. Va.]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 246 pp.

High, Mike. 1997. *The C&O Canal Companion* [guidebook; 185-mile C&O Canal National Historical Park]. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 269 pp.

High, Steven C., and David W. Lewis. 2007. *Corporate Wasteland: The Landscape and Memory of Deindustrialization*. Ithaca, N.Y.: IRL Press. 193 pp. Chap. 3, "From Cradle to Grave: The Politics of Memory in Youngstown, Ohio," 64-86; Chap. 7, "King Coal: The Coal Counties of West Virginia" [brief overview], 144-148.

Hildebrand, John R. 2001. *Iron Horses in the Valley: The Valley and Shenandoah Valley Railroads*, 1866-1882. Shippensburg, Pa.: Burd Street Press. 128 pp.

Hildebrand, John R. 2001. "Triumph and Tragedy: A Railroad Struggle Instrumental in Creating Roanoke, Virginia." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 5: 65-99. Shenandoah Valley Railroad; 1870s-80s.

Hill, Jack. 2011. *The Cambria and Indiana Railroad: 90 Years, 1904-1994*. [No location]: CreateSpace. 111 pp. West-central Pennsylvania; coal industry.

Hindman, Hugh D. 2002. *Child Labor: An American History* [includes chapters on coal mines, textile mills, and glass manufacturing]. Armonk, N.Y.: M. E. Sharpe. 431 pp.

Hines, Elizabeth, and Michael S. Smith. 2002. "Gold Is Where You Find It: Placer Mining in North Carolina, 1799-1849." *Earth Sciences History* 21 (no.2): 119-149.

Hinshaw, John. 2002. *Steel and Steelworkers: Race and Class Struggle in Twentieth Century Pittsburgh*. Albany: State University of New York Press. 348 pp.

Holbrook, Chris. 2007. "From Harry Caudill to Erik Reece: A Review of Lost Mountain." *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 2 (Winter): 228-234. Review essay of Lost Mountain: A Year in the Vanishing Wilderness: Radical Strip Mining and the Devastation of Appalachia, by Erik Reece (Riverhead Books, 2006).

Holleran, Philip M. 1996. "Explaining the Decline of Child Labor in Pennsylvania Silk Mills, 1899-1919." *Pennsylvania History* 63 (Winter): 78-95.

Holleran, Philip M. 1997. "Family Income and Child Labor in Carolina Cotton Mills." *Social Science History* 21 (Fall): 299-320.

Hoover, Robert B. 1998. "Bridging the Past & Present: Reflections on the Western Maryland Railway" [connecting Casselman, Youghiogheny, and Upper Potomac River Valleys]. *Pittsburgh History* 81 (Spring): 26-38.

House, Silas, and Jason Howard. 2009. *Something's Rising: Appalachians Fighting Mountaintop Removal*. Foreword by Lee Smith. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 306 pp. Profiles, with oral histories, from twelve activists: Jean Ritchie, Denise Giardina, Bev May (nurse), Carl Shoupe (miner), Kathy Mattea, Judy Bonds (local activist), Pat Hudson (grassroots organizer), Jack Spadaro, Nathan Hall, Ann Shelby and Jessie Lynne Keltner, and Larry Bush.

Howard, Jason. 2012. "Appalachia Turns on Itself." *New York Times* [op-ed], 9 July, 19(A). 702 words. "The region is engaged in a war over coal, with miners and their families pitted against environmental activists." http://nyti.ms/N8pqWE.

Howard, Walter T. 2001. "The National Miners Union: Communists and Miners in the Pennsylvania Anthracite, 1928-1931." *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 125 (January-April): 91-124.

Howard, Walter T. 2002. "Radicals Not Wanted': Communists and the 1929 Wilkes-Barre Silk Mill Strikes." *Pennsylvania History* 69 (Summer): 342-366.

Howard, Walter T. 2005. Forgotten Radicals: Communists in the Pennsylvania Anthracite, 1919-1950. Lanham, Md.: University Press of America. 268 pp.

Howard, Walter T., ed. 2004. Anthracite Reds. 2 vols. New York: iUniverse. Vol. 1: A Documentary History of Communists in Northeastern Pennsylvania during the 1920s. Vol. 2: A Documentary History of Communists in Northeastern Pennsylvania during the Great Depression.

Hubacher, Max. 2003. "Reminiscences of Nitro – 1925 to 1934" [W. Va.]. Compiled by William D. Wintz. In Great Kanawha Valley Chemical Heritage, Symposium Proceedings, May 3, 2003, Institute, West Virginia, comp. Lee R. Maddex, 37-47. Morgantown, W. Va.: Institute for the History of Technology and Industrial Archaeology.

Huber, Patrick. 2006. "Red Necks and Red Bandanas: Appalachian Coal Miners and the Coloring of Union Identity, 1912-1936." *Western Folklore* 65, no. 1: 195-210.

Huddleston, Eugene, John Joseph, and Everett Young. 1997. *Chesapeake & Ohio, Coal, and Color* [railroad photodocumentary: W. Va., Ky., Oh.]. Clifton Forge, Va.: Chesapeake & Ohio Historical Society. 120 pp.

Huddleston, Eugene L. 2002. *Appalachian Conquest: C&O, N&W, Virginian and Clinchfield Cross the Mountains* [photo-documentary; steam locomotives]. Lynchburg, Va.: TLC Publishing. 138 pp.

Hulsemann, Karsten. 2001. "Greenfields in the Heart of Dixie: How the American Auto Industry Discovered the South." In *The Second Wave: Southern Industrialization from the 1940s to the 1970s*, ed. P. Scranton, 219-254. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Hydro, Vincent, Jr. 2000. "The Lehigh Coal and Navigation Company's Mauch Chunk Railroad, Part III: Panther Creek Operations & The Switchback Railroad" [Pa.]. In *Canal History and Technology Proceedings* 19: 7-68. Easton, Pa.: Canal History and Technology Press.

Ingalls, Gerald L., and Tyrel G. Moore. 2001. "Old, But New: An Inventory of Textile Mill Reuse in the Charlotte Urban Region" [N.C.; 118 mills built between 1880 and 1930]. *Southeastern Geographer* 41 (May): 74-88.

Inhofe, James M., and Benjamin L. Cardin. 2010. "Mountaintop Removal Mining: The Coal Industry vs. the Environment - Should Congress and the Obama Administration Take Steps to Ban Mountaintop Mining?" *Congressional Digest* 89, no. 5: 129-160.

Irons, Janet. 2000. Testing the New Deal: The General Textile Strike of 1934 in the American South. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 262 pp.

Jacquet, Jeffrey, and Richard C. Stedman. 2011. "Natural Gas Landowner Coalitions in New York State: Emerging Benefits of Collective Natural Resource Management [Marcellus Shale]. *Journal of Rural Social Sciences* 26, no. 1: 62-91. Rural landowners in N.Y. organize to collectively bargain with natural gas companies.

http://www.ag.auburn.edu/auxiliary/srsa/pages/TOCs/JRSS%20vol26-1.htm.

Janosov, Robert A. 1997. "Concrete City: Garden Village of the Anthracite Region" [company housing; 1914; Luzerne Co., Pa.] . *Pennsylvania Heritage* 23 (Summer): 32-39.

Jenkins, Chris L. 2005. "Next Generation Moves Into the Black: As Older Va. Coal Miners Retire, Young Workers Drawn to Industry's New Boom" [dateline: Nora, Va.; coal price doubles to nearly \$60 a ton]. Washington Post, 15 August, 1(B).

Johannsen, Kristin, Bobbie Ann Mason, and Mary Ann Taylor-Hall, ed. 2005. *Missing Mountains: We Went to the Mountaintop but It Wasn't There* [mountaintop removal mining resistance: "essays, poems, stories, and personal testimonials by Kentuckians"]. Introduction by Silas House; afterword by Wendell Berry. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind. 209 pp.

Johnson, Leland, and Daniel Shaffer. 1994. *Oak Ridge National Laboratory: The First Fifty Years*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 270 pp.

Johnson, Leland R., and Charles E. Parrish. 1999. *Engineering the Kentucky River: The Commonwealth's Waterway* [1836-1917; history, commerce, 14 locks and dams]. Foreword by Thomas D. Clark. Louisville, Ky.: Louisville Engineer District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 232 pp.

Johnson, Mary. 1995. "A Nineteenth-Century Mill Village: Virginius Island, 1800-60." [Harpers Ferry, W. Va.]. West Virginia History 54 (1995): 1-27.

Jones, Barbara L. 2006. *Born of Fire: The Valley of Work: Industrial Scenes of Southwestern Pennsylvania* [Pittsburgh industry-inspired artwork, early 20th-century; Westmoreland Museum of American Art exhibition]. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press. 160 pp.

Jones, Bill, and Ronald L. Lewis. 2007. "Gender and Transnationality among Welsh Tinplate Workers in Pittsburgh: The Hattie Williams Affair, 1895." *Labor History* 48, no. 2 (May): 175-194.

Jones, James Alexander (1853-1941). 2005. Kelly's Creek Chronicles, Kanawha County, West Virginia: The Illustrated Diary of James Alexander Jones, Coal Miner Kept during the Period,

1870 to 1939. Edited by William Roosevelt Hudnall. New Canton, Va.: Kelly's Creek Publishers. 222 pp.

Jones, June. 2006. "Whitcomb Boulder" [landmark, monstrous boulder that fell on railroad tracks from New River cliffs at Hawks Nest State Park]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 4 (Winter): 18-19.

Jordan, Sam. 2003. "Laying Track in Nicholas County" [1940s C&O railroad crew, racially mixed. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Winter): 26-35.

Juravich, Tom, and Kate Bronfenbrenner. 1999. *Ravenswood: The Steelworkers' Victory and the Revival of American Labor* [W. Va. aluminum plant; 1990 labor lockout]. Ithaca, N.Y.: ILR Press. 245 pp.

Justice, Jack. 2002. "A Coal Miner" [labor injustices endured by the author's father in 1940s Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 30 (Summer): 9-14.

Kapsch, Robert J. 2007. *The Potomac Canal: George Washington and the Waterway West* [1755-1828; color reproductions of 19th-century illustrations and maps; Potomac River navigation; Shenandoah River navigation, 1790-1890]. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 373 pp.

Karan, Pradyumna P., ed. 2001. *Japan in the Bluegrass* [automobile manufacturing plants in Ky.]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 341 pp.

Karig, Martin Robert. 2007. *Coal Cars: The First Three Hundred Years* [train freight car history, photos, specifications]. Scranton: University of Scranton Press. 420 pp.

Kaufman, Bruce E. 1997. "The Emergence and Growth of a Nonunion Sector in the Southern Paper Industry." In *Southern Labor in Transition*, *1940-1995*, ed. R. Zieger, 295-329. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Keeney, Charles Belmont. 2006. "A Republican for Labor: T. C. Townsend and the West Virginia Labor Movement, 1921-1932" [1877-1940; defense counsel for Logan Co. chapter of the UMWA after the 1921 Battle of Blair Mountain; Republican candidate for governor in 1932]. West Virginia History 60 (2004-2006): 1-22.

Keller, Kenneth W. 2010. "The Best Thoroughfare in the South." Chap. 6 in *The Great Valley Road of Virginia: Shenandoah Landscapes from Prehistory to the Present*, ed. W. Hofstra and K. Raitz, 153-189. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press.

Keller, Vagel C., and Jaron Hawkins. 2008. *Underground Coal Mining in Western Maryland, 1876-1977: A Reference Guide* [Allegany and Garrett Cos.]. Frostburg, Md.: Lewis J. Ort Library, Frostburg State University. 462 pp. Contents: The coal seams of Western Maryland | History & technology of Maryland's underground coal mines | Coal mines in the era before regulation (1820-1875) | Jennings Run | Braddock (Preston) Run | Frostburg area | The Upper

Georges Creek Valley | The Lower Georges Creek Valley | The Upper Potomac Basin | The Upper Youghiogheny Basin | The Lower Youghiogheny Basin | The Casselman (Castleman) Basin. See also: supplementary volume, *Coal Company Index*, comp. by Sarah McIntire, 98 pp.

Kemp, Emory. 2000. *The Great Kanawha Navigation* [Kanawha River, W. Va.; 19th-century lock and dam project]. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 300 pp.

Kennedy, Michael V. 1998. "Working Agreements: The Use of Subcontracting in the Pennsylvania Iron Industry, 1725-1789." *Pennsylvania History* 65 (Autumn): 492-508.

Kennedy, Robert F., Jr. 2009. "Hope in the Mountains" [op-ed]. *Washington Post*, 25 March, 15(A). 764 words. "In a bold departure from Bush-era energy policy, the Obama administration suspended a coal company's permit to dump debris from its proposed mountaintop mining operation into a West Virginia valley and stream."

Kenny, Kevin. 1998. *Making Sense of the Molly Maguires* [Irish; Pa.'s anthracite region]. New York: Oxford University Press. 368 pp.

Kentucky Coal Miners: A People Not Forgotten [six student interviews; Harlan Co., Ky.]. 2009. Special issue, *Foxfire Magazine* 43, no. 1-2 (Spring/Summer): 1-80.

Kerns, Megan Jewell. 2007. "The Geography of Sorrow: Mountaintop Removal in Appalachia." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 6-8.

Ketchersid, William L. 2008. "Major Campbell Wallace: Southern Railroad Leader." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 67, no. 2 (Summer): 90-105. Knoxville; 1850s-60s; East Tennessee and Georgia Railroad; Western and Atlantic Railroad.

Kitch, Carolyn L. 2012. *Pennsylvania in Public Memory: Reclaiming the Industrial Past*. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 260 pp. Contents: Introduction: Public Memory and the Legacies of Labor -- "Almost a Nation": The History of Industrial Heritage in Pennsylvania -- "A Journey That Will Inspire": Regions, Routes, and Rails -- "Overcomin' What Nature Put in Your Way": Rural Heritage and Pioneer Mythology -- "Where I Came From, How I Got Here": Ethnic Diversity, Cultural Tourism, and the Memory of Immigration -- "Deep Veins of Loss": Sacrifice and Heroism in Coal Country -- "From Our Family to Yours": Personal Meanings of Work in Factory Tourism -- "Steel Made This Town": An Unfinished Story in Uncertain Times -- "What's the Use of Wond'rin'?": The Questions of Industrial Heritage -- Epilogue: The Future of Pennsylvania's Past.

Kline, Carrie Nobel. 1998. "Ohio River Voices: Echoes of the Army Corps" [interview; towboat navigation]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Spring): 28-35.

Knapp, Richard F., and Brent D. Glass. 1999. *Gold Mining in North Carolina*. Raleigh: North Carolina Department of Cultural Resources, Division of Archives and History. 192 pp.

Knies, Michael. 2001. "The D&H Coal Company: New Insights from the James Archbald Papers" [1840s Pa. anthracite region; Delaware & Hudson Canal Co.; and Pennsylvania Coal Company projects]. *Canal History and Technology Proceedings* 20: 53-80.

Knipe, Edward E., and Helen M. Lewis. [1971] 2005. "The Impact of Coal Mining on the Traditional Mountain Subculture" [Southwest Va.]. In *Culture, Ethnicity, and Justice in the South: The Southern Anthropological Society, 1968-1971*, 329-341. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. (Reprint, from *Proceedings No. 4. The Not So Solid South: Anthropological Studies in a Regional Subculture*, ed. J. Morland, 25-37).

Knowles, A. K. 2006. "The White Hands 'Damn Them ... Won't Stick': Labor Scarcity and Spatial Discipline in the Antebellum Iron Industry." *Journal of Historical Geography* 32, no. 1 (January): 57-73.

Kobus, Ken, and Jack Consoli. 1997. *The Pennsy in the Steel City:150 Years of the Pennsylvania Railroad in Pittsburgh*. Upper Darby, Pa.: Pennsylvania Railroad Technical and Historical Society. 87 pp.

Kohn, David. 2002. "The 300-Million-Gallon Warning" [Martin Co., Ky. coal slurry flood, Oct. 2000]. *Mother Jones* 27 (March/April): 22.

Kohn, Rita T., ed. 2011. Full Steam Ahead: Reflections on the Impact of the First Steamboat on the Ohio River, 1811-2011 [eleven essays]. Indianapolis: Indiana Historical Society Press. 240 pp. Contents: Harbinger of revolution / Leland R. Johnson -- Structural evolution of the western rivers steamboat / Captain Alan L. Bates -- A synoptic history of towboating and its origins / Jack E. Custer -- The era of town building below the falls: whatever will benefit a part will benefit the whole / Rick Bell -- Omen of evil: steamboats and the colonization of the Ohio River Valley / Thomas C. Buchanan -- The steamboat and black urban life in the Ohio Valley / Joe William Trotter Jr. -- Steamboat music / Sandra M. Custere -- The steamboat New Orleans and its impact on navigation on Ohio River tributaries / Gerald W. Sutphin -- The Ohio River: a world-class inland waterway / Robert Willis -- Afterword: The river today and tomorrow / Kenneth A. Wheeler -- Appendix 1: Belle of Louisville: sole survivor of the pioneering New Orleans / Linda Harris and Kadie Engstrom -- Appendix 2: The Rivers Institute at Hanover College: A list of materials on river people, steamboats, and the Ohio Mississippi River system in the Agnes Brown Duggan Library / Douglas Denne and Katherine McCardwell.

Kosola, William. 2000. "The B&O Railroad and C&O Canal's 'Race up the Potomac" [from 1828; to Cumberland, Md.]. *Pennsylvania Geographer* 37 (Spring/Summer): 100-117.

Krause, Paul. 1992. *The Battle for Homestead, 1880-1892: Politics, Culture, and Steel* [Pa.]. Pittsburgh Series in Social and Labor History. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 548 pp. History of Homestead Steel Works; Homestead Strike, 1892.

Kusnetz, Nicholas. 2011. "Danger in Honeycomb of Old Wells: Yesteryear's Energy Prospectors Left a Legacy to Be Reckoned With." *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*, 4 April, 1(A). 1669

words. Abandoned oil and gas wells; groundwater pollution. http://www.post-gazette.com/news/nation/2011/04/04/Danger-in-honeycomb-of-old-wells/stories/201104040149.

Lane, Ron, and Ted Schnepf. 1999. West Virginia Narrow Gauge: Mann's Creek Railway [New River Gorge; coal and timber]. Lynchburg, Va.: TLC Publishing. 200 pp.

Larson, Andrew H. [1916] 2003. "Report on the Meadow River Lumber Company of Rainelle, W. Va., by Andrew H. Larson, May 2, 1916 [tables, drawings, inventory; Fayette and Greenbrier Cos.]. West Virginia History 59 (2001-2003): 44-84.

Laslett, John H. M. 1996. "British Immigrant Colliers, and the Origins and Early Development of the UMWA, 1870-1912." In *The United Mine Workers of America: A Model of Industrial Solidarity?*, ed. J. Laslett, 29-50. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Laslett, John H. M. 1996. "Introduction: 'A Model of Industrial Solidarity': Interpreting the UMWA's First Hundred Years, 1890-1990." In *The United Mine Workers of America: A Model of Industrial Solidarity?*, ed. J. Laslett, 1-28. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Laslett, John H. M., ed. 1996. *The United Mine Workers of America: A Model of Industrial Solidarity?* University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press in association with the Pennsylvania State University Libraries. 576 pp.

Lattimer Massacre of 1897, The [seven papers]. 2002. Special issue, *Pennsylvania History* 69 (Winter): 1-78.

Leloudis, James, and Kathryn Walbert, creators. 2000. "Like a Family: The Making of a Southern Cotton Mill World." Website; oral narratives, images, based on the book of the same name by Jacquelyn Dowd Hall (1987, 2000). http://www.ibiblio.org/sohp.

Leonard, Joseph W. [2005] 2010. Anthracite Roots: Generations of Coal Mining in Schuylkill County, Pennsylvania. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 95 pp.

Letwin, Daniel. 1995. "Interracial Unionism, Gender, and 'Social Equality' in the Alabama Coalfields, 1878-1908." *The Journal of Southern History* 61 (August): 519-554.

Letwin, Daniel. 2002. "Labor Relations in the Industrializing South." In *A Companion to the American South*, ed. J. Boles, 424-443. Blackwell Companions to American History, no. 3. Malden, Mass.: Blackwell.

Lewis, Lloyd D. 2011. West Virginia Railroads, Vol. 4: Virginian Railway [pictorial]. Forest, Va.: TLC Publishing. 128 pp. "...intended for the almost exclusive haulage of coal from West Virginia mines to Norfolk, Virginia."

Lewis, Ronald L. 1995. "Railroads, Deforestation, and the Transformation of Agriculture in the West Virginia Back Counties, 1880-1920." In *Appalachia in the Making: The Mountain South*

in the Nineteenth Century, ed. M. Pudup, D. Billings, and A. Waller, 297-320. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Lewis, Ronald L. 1998. *Transforming the Appalachian Countryside: Railroads, Deforestation, and Social Change in West Virginia, 1880-1920* [consequences of industrial exploitation]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 348 pp.

Lewis, Ronald L. 2004. "Industrialization" [history]. In *High Mountains Rising: Appalachia in Time and Place*, ed. R. Straw and H. Blethen, 59-73. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Lewis, Ronald L. 2009. "Publications" [bibliography of Lewis's published books and papers to date]. In *Culture, Class, and Politics in Modern Appalachia: Essays in Honor of Ronald L. Lewis*, ed. J. Egolf, K. Fones-Wolf, and L. Martin, 329-334. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Lewis, Ronald L., ed. 2007. "Letter from John A. Williams of Algoma Mine to Mr. and Mrs. William Thomas of Brynawel, Aberdare, Wales, 1895" [detailing the life of an immigrant Welsh coal miner in McDowell Co.]. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 1, no. 2 (Fall): 69-89.

Lewis, W. David. 1994. Sloss Furnaces and the Rise of the Birmingham District: An Industrial Epic. History of American Science and Technology Series. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 645 pp.

Lieber, James B. 1995. Friendly Takeover: How an Employee Buyout Saved a Steel Town. New York: Viking. 382 pp.

Lilly, John. 2004. "Forever Trains: Railroad Photographer Jay Potter" [b&w photos]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Fall): 16-23.

Lilly, John. 2009. "Echoes of Buffalo Creek: An Introduction" [deadly 1972 flood; Logan Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 4 (Winter): 9-13. This is the first of three articles comprising a Special Report, pp. 9-25.

Lilly, John. 2011. "The Fighter: Larry Gibson of Kayford Mountain" [Kanawha Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 4 (Winter): 30-35. Environmental activist fighting to save his home opposes mountaintop removal mining affecting 187,000 acres around his homeplace.

Lilly, John. 2011. "Where the Coal People Meet: 2011 Bluefield Coal Show." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 4 (Winter): 24-29. Biennial gathering of industry exhibitors and friends of coal.

Lindberg, T. Ty, Emily S. Bernhardt, Raven Bier, A. M. Helton, R. Brittany Merola, Avner Vengosh, and Richard T. Di Giulio. 2011. "Cumulative Impacts of Mountaintop Mining on an Appalachian Watershed" [Upper Mud River, W. Va.; technical study]. PNAS 108, no. 52 (27 December): 20929-20934. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.

Linkon, Sherry Lee, and John Russo. 2012. "Border Crossings: Interdisciplinarity in New Working-Class Studies" [Ohio]. *Labor History* 53, no. 3 (August): 373-387. Youngstown (Mahoning Co.); Vacant Properties Map.

Linkon, Sherry Lee, and John Russo. 2002. *Steeltown U.S.A.: Work and Memory in Youngstown* [Ohio; deindustrialization]. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas. 288 pp.

Lockard, Duane. 1998. *Coal: A Memoir and Critique*. Charlottesville: University Press of Virginia. 225 pp.

Lockard, Duane. 2005. "A Miner's Life: Clyde Lockard's Diary" [1943-65; Marion Co.; b. 1889]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 2 (Summer): 38-45.

Loeb, Penny. 1997. "Shear Madness" [W. Va.; mountaintop removal strip mining]. *U.S. News & World Report*, 11 August, 26-29, 32-36. See more information including photo and audio essays, and directory information online: http:// usnews.com/usnews/news/coalhigh.htm.

Loeb, Penny. 2004. "Deluge Without End" [W. Va. floods: "Four years of unprecedented rainfall"... "regulators struggle to reform the logging and mining industries that bear much of the responsibility"]. *Southern Exposure* 32: 50-67.

Loeb, Penny. 2007. *Moving Mountains: How One Woman and Her Community Won Justice from Big Coal* [Patricia Bragg; Pie, W. Va.]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 306 pp.

Lopez, Steven Henry. 2004. *Reorganizing the Rust Belt: An Inside Study of the American Labor Movement* [post-industrial Pittsburgh region; case studies]. Berkeley: University of California Press. 292 pp.

Love, Steve, and David Giffels. 1999. *Wheels of Fortune: The Story of Rubber in Akron* [tire companies; outmigrant blacks and white Appalachians]. Foreword by Rita Dove. Ohio History and Culture series. Akron, Ohio: University of Akron Press. 359 pp.

Lovelace, Jeff. 1994. *Mount Mitchell: Its Railroad and Toll Road*. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 86 pp.

Loveland, George. 2005. *Under the Workers' Caps: From Champion Mill to Blue Ridge Paper* [Western N.C. paper mill; employee ownership]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 201 pp.

Lowitt, Richard. 2006. "Tennessee Valley Authority." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 8: *Environment*, ed. M. Melosi, 154-159. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. See also, "Tellico Dam," 273-274, by Gordon E. Harvey.

Lucier, Paul. 2008. *Scientists & Swindlers: Consulting on Coal and Oil in America, 1820-1890*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 426 pp. Chapters 7-9 cover the Pa. oil boom

(Venango Co., Drake's oil well, Oil Creek, Petrolia, Pithole), with lesser mention of the concurrent W. Va. oil boom and Appalachian coal fields.

Lumber Mill Life [Nicholas Co.; 1930s-50s]. Special report, *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Winter): 10-27.

Lundy-Jones, Meghan. 2010. "Not So High Any More: Middle School Lessons About Mountaintop Removal." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 47-49. From Black Mountains, N.C., to Kayford Mountain, W. Va.

Lustgarten, Abrahm. 2012. "New Study Predicts Frack Fluids Can Migrate to Aquifers Within Years." Fracking: Gas Drilling's Environmental Threat series. *ProPublica*, 1 May. 869 words, with sidebar links: "Impact: Focusing Public Attention—and Staying With a Story Relentlessly"; "Drilling Regulatory Staffing in Your State"; Graphics: "What Is Hydraulic Fracturing?"; and Video: "Fracking: The Music Video." http://www.propublica.org/article/new-study-predicts-frack-fluids-can-migrate-to-aquifers-within-years.

Lyday, Margaret M. 2002. "An Interdisciplinary Approach: Michael Novak's *The Guns of Lattimer*" [Basic Books (1978); 1897 killings]. *Pennsylvania History* 69 (Winter): 71-78.

MacDonald, Samuel A. 2005. *The Agony of an American Wilderness: Loggers, Environmentalists, and the Struggle for Control of a Forgotten Forest* [Allegheny National Forest, Pa.]. Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers. 187 pp.

Macoughtry, William O. 2006. "'I Like to Tell This History': William O. Macoughtry, Jr., Recalls the Treason Trials" [author, 96, recalls 1922 trials in Charles Town, W. Va., of UMW leaders after the Battle of Blair Mountain]. Interview by Daniel J. Friend. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 2 (Summer): 27-31.

Madarasz, Anne. 1998. *Glass: Shattering Notions* ["A Companion to the Historical Society of Western Pennsylvania Exhibition 'Glass, Shattering Notions', the Senator John Heinz Pittsburgh Regional History Center, Opening April 1998"]. Pittsburgh, Pa.: The Society. 163 pp. "Before Pittsburgh was the Steel City, it was the Glass City. By 1902, the region had more than 100 glass factories. By 1920, the larger Ohio Valley was producing 80 percent of the national output."

Madarasz, Anne. 2000. "Pittsburgh Wool" [demise of Pittsburgh Wool Co., the nation's last pullery with intact machinery]. Western Pennsylvania History 83 (Summer): 64-65.

Maddex, Lee R. 1992. "Nuttallburg Mine Complex: A Case Study in Mining Technology" [W. Va.]. In *New River Symposium Proceedings, April 9-11, 1992, Beckley, West Virginia*, 20-29. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service, New River Gorge National River.

Maddex, Lee R. 1996. "Furnaces in Blast on the Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad: A Study of the Early Virginias Iron Industry." *Canal History and Technology Proceedings* 15: 81-95. Easton, Pa.: Canal History and Technology Press.

Maddex, Lee R. 1996. "The Quinnimont Furnace: A New Look at Fayette County's Iron Furnace" [W. Va.]. In *New River Symposium Proceedings, April 7-8, 1995, Daniels, West Virginia,* 77-86. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service, New River Gorge National River.

Maddex, Lee. 2001. "A Little Group of Iron Workers: The La Belle Iron Works and the Formation of the Wheeling Steel Corporation" [W. Va.]. *Canal History and Technology Proceedings* 20: 81-95. Easton, Pa.: Canal History and Technology Press.

Maher, Kris. 2006. "As Demand for Coal Rises, Risky Mines Play Bigger Role" ["alarming upswing in coal mining accidents"; "rise in the number of small, undercapitalized mines"]. *Wall Street Journal*, 6 June, 1(A), 10(A).

Maher, Regis M. 1999. *Patches of History: The 1920s & 1930s: Heyday of Fayette County Coal & Coke in Pennsylvania* [personal narratives; company towns]. Dunbar, Pa.: Stefano's Printing. 212 pp.

Malloy, Daniel, and Lillian Thomas. 2011. "Miner Interviews Reveal Fear, Chaos" [MSHA transcripts from Upper Big Branch Mine disaster, 29 dead, April 5, 2010, Montcoal, W. Va.]. *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*, 10 May, 1(A). 1098 words, plus web link to transcripts of interviews. http://www.post-gazette.com/pg/11130/1145367-455.stm.

Manganiello, Christopher J. 2012. "Hitching the New South to 'White Coal': Water and Power, 1890-1933." *Journal of Southern History* 78, no. 2 (May): 255-292. Water-generated power, including TVA; map (1924 transmission network).

Mapping Mortality: A Post-Gazette Series That Examines Air Pollution in Western Pennsylvania. 2010. *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*, 12 December-16 December: daily stories with sidebars, interactive maps, multimedia, and Facebook page comments. http://www.post-gazette.com/pg/03001/1108747-209.stm#ixzz1aOAZlb25.

Marcus, Irwin M. 2002. "Migration, Milling, Mining: The Johnstown Heritage Discovery Center and the Windber Coal Heritage Center" [museum review]. *Pennsylvania History* 69 (Winter): 85-93.

Marrs, Aaron W. 2009. *Railroads in the Old South: Pursuing Progress in a Slave Society*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 268 pp.

Martin, Lou. 2010. "Factory Workers in the Hills of West Virginia: The Values and Politics of Rural Industrial Workers in Hancock County, 1930–1965." *Labor: Studies in Working Class History of the Americas* 7, no. 3 (Fall): 53-78.

Martin, Louis C. 2007. "Tin Plate Towns, 1890-1910: Local Labor Movements and Workers' Responses to the Crisis in the Steelworkers' Union" [Wheeling, W. Va., and Apollo and New Castle, Pa.]. *Pennsylvania History* 74, no. 4 (Autumn): 492-528.

Martinek, Jason D. 2011. "The Amazons of Allegheny: The Fire, the Riot and the Textile Strike of 1845." Western Pennsylvania History 94, no. 1 (Spring): 38-48.

Mason, Matthew E. 1998. "The Hands Here Are Disposed to be Turbulent': Unrest Among the Irish Trackmen of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, 1829-1851" [Washington to Wheeling; labor riots]. *Labor History* 39 (August): 253-272.

Mattea, Kathy. 2010. "A Call to My Appalachian Brothers and Sisters." *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 3 (Summer): 44-47. Text of a speech at the "I Love Mountains" rally against mountaintop removal mining at the Kentucky State Capitol, February 7, 2010.

McAteer, Davitt. 2008. "Letter to the Editor." *Appalachian Journal* 36, no. 1-2 (Fall 2008/Winter 2009): 4-6. Gives evidence of more than 500 deaths in the Monongah, W. Va., mine explosion of 1907 contrary to smaller company numbers cited in Joseph Tropea's review (vol. 35, no. 4) of McAteer's book, *Monongah: The Tragic Story of the 1907 Mine Disaster, the Worst Industrial Accident in U.S. History* (2007).

McAteer, J. Davitt. 2007. *Monongah: The Tragic Story of the Worst Industrial Accident in US History* [1907 coal mine explosion; est. 500 deaths, mostly immigrants]. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 6. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 331 pp.

McCall, Pete. 2001. "Getting Serious About Clean Coal." *United Mine Workers Journal* 112 (March-April): 4-8.

McClelland, Jean. 2003. "Central City Bung Company" [wooden stoppers used for brewery barrels; "Bung Capital of the World"; 1890s, Huntington]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Winter): 52-55. See also appended: "The City of Central City: A Brief History" [Huntington], 56-61.

McClure, William G., and Jeremy F. Plant. 2005. *Virginian Railway in Color* [200 photos; 1950s-60s; Va. and southern W. Va.; eventually part of Norfolk & Western]. Scotch Plains, N.J.: Morning Sun Books. 126 pp.

McClure, William G., and Jeremy F. Plant. 2007. *Norfolk and Western Steam in Color* [steam locomotive photos from various routes]. Scotch Plains, N.J.: Morning Sun Books. 128 pp.

McCollester, Charles J. 2008. *The Point of Pittsburgh: Production and Struggle at the Forks of the Ohio*. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Battle of Homestead Foundation. 456 pp. Labor history through workers' stories, 1740s-1960s.

McColloch, Mark. 1999. "Glory Days: 1941-1969" [union membership; stability]. In *Keystone of Democracy: A History of Pennsylvania Workers*, ed. H. Harris, P. Blatz, 213-256, 271-273. Harrisburg: Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission.

McCombs, Douglas. 2001. "O is for Oil" [boom oil industry overview]. Western Pennsylvania History 84 (Fall): 26-28.

McCormick, Charles H. 1997. *Seeing Reds: Federal Surveillance of Radicals in the Pittsburgh Mill District, 1917-1921* [includes steel and coal strikes of 1919]. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 244 pp.

McDaniel, Lynda. 2000. "Tourism Rides High in the Southern Alleghenies" [Pa.; bicycle tourism]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 33 (May-August): 26-31.

McDevitt, Bette. 2012. "Preserving History with the Pump House Gang." *Western Pennsylvania History* 95, no. 2 (Summer): 14-17. Battle of Homestead Foundation, commemorates the 1892 steelworkers strike and showdown with Pinkerton Agency guards.

McDonough, Judith. 1997. "Worker Solidarity, Judicial Oppression, and Police Repression in the Westmoreland County, Pennsylvania Coal Miner's Strike, 1910-11. *Pennsylvania History* 64 (Summer): 384-406.

McGraw, Seamus. 2011. *The End of Country*. New York: Random House. 245 pp. Journalist's account of the arrival of big-business Marcellus Shale hydrofrack drilling in rural Susquehanna County, Pa., and accompanying economic, energy policy, and geopolitical issues.

McGuinness, Marci Lynn. 1998. *Along the Baltimore & Ohio Railroad: From Cumberland to Uniontown* [Md. to Pa.]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp. Antique photos, ca. 1890s.

McIlmoil, Rory, Laura Hartz, Anne Hereford, and Evan Hansen. 2012. *The Impact of Coal on the Virginia State Budget* (12 December 2012). Morgantown, W. Va.: Downstream Strategies. 72 pp. Tables, maps, charts. "...the net impact of the Virginia coal industry, when taking all revenues and expenditures into account, amounted to a net cost to the Commonwealth of \$21.9 million in Fiscal Year 2009." See also two other reports by McIlmoil and others related to this one focusing on Tennessee and West Virginia.

http://www.downstreamstrategies.com/documents/reports_publication/ds_impact_of_coal_on_virginia_state_budget_final_12-10-12.pdf.

McKibben, Bill. 2012. "Why Not Frack?" [gas drilling]. *New York Review of Books* 59, no. 4 (March 8): 13-15. Review essay of *The End of Country*, by Seamus McGraw (Random House, 2011); *Under the Surface: Fracking, Fortunes, and the Fate of the Marcellus Shale*, by Tom Wilber (Cornell University Press, 2012); and *Gasland*, a documentary film by Josh Fox (Docurama Films, 2010). http://www.nybooks.com/articles/archives/2012/mar/08/why-not-frack/.

McKinney, Gary S. 2003. Oil on the Brain: The Discovery of Oil and the Excitement of the Boom in Northwestern Pennsylvania [1859]. Chicora, Pa.: Mechling Bookbindery. 308 pp.

McKinney, Gary S. 2008. *Oil on the Brain: The Discovery of Oil and the Excitement of the Boom in Northwestern Pennsylvania, Armstrong, Butler, Clarion, Venango Counties.* 3rd ed. Chicora, Pa.: Mechling Bookbindery. 512 pp.

McKinney, Gordon B. 1999. "The Blair Committee Investigation of 1883: Industrialization in the Southern Mountains" [Birmingham, Chattanooga; capital and labor]. *Appalachian Journal* 26 (Winter): 150-166.

McKinney, Gordon. 2002. "Zeb Vance and the Construction of the Western North Carolina Railroad" [1870s governor; black convict labor]. *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Fall 2001-Winter 2002): 58-67.

McKiven, Henry M., Jr. 1995. *Iron & Steel: Class, Race, and Community in Birmingham, Alabama, 1875-1920.* Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 223 pp.

McKnight, Connie L. 2009. "Coal: Not My Job, But My Life" [b. 1957, Harlan Co., Ky.]. Interview by Jeanie Buchanan and Laura Daniti. *Foxfire Magazine* 43, no. 1-2 (Spring/Summer): 55-62.

McNeil, Bryan T. 2011. *Combating Mountaintop Removal: New Directions in the Fight against Big Coal* [Coal River Mountain Watch group, Boone Co., W. Va.]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 204 pp. Contents: Welcome to Coal River | Fighting back - again | What are we fighting for? | Strained solidarities | The chase | Whose development is it? | Gender, solidarity, and symbolic capital | Commons environmentalism and community activism.

McNeil, Bryan. 2005. "Global Forces, Local Worlds: Mountaintop Removal and Appalachian Communities" [Coal River, W. Va.; Massey Energy; community-based opposition]. In *The American South in a Global World*, ed. J. Peacock, H. Watson, and C. Matthews, 99-110. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

McQuaid, John. 2009. "Mining the Mountains" [Ansted, W. Va.; mountaintop removal destruction; controversy]. *Smithsonian* 39, no. 10 (January): 74-85.

McSpirit, Stephanie, Shaunna L. Scott, Sharon Hardesty, and Robert Welch. 2005. "EPA Actions in Post Disaster Martin County, Kentucky: An Analysis of Bureaucratic Slippage and Agency Recreancy" [Oct. 2000 coal sludge flood; A. T. Massey Coal Co.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 11, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 30-59. Addendum: "The Commonwealth of Kentucky Releases Monies for Independent, Outside Assessment of the Martin County Watershed, May 2005," by Stephanie McSpirit and Nina McCoy, 59-63.

Meislik, Miriam. 2008. *Historic Photos of Pittsburgh*. Nashville, Tenn.: Turner Publishing Co. 206 pp. Archival images, 1860s to present. See also: http://digital.library.pitt.edu/pittsburgh/.

Merlavage, Bill. 2008. *Steam Engines of Maryland & West Virginia* [pictorial]. San Francisco: Blurb.com. 110 pp., unpaginated. 110 color photos.

Metheny, Karen Bescherer. 2007. From the Miners' Doublehouse: Archaeology and Landscape in a Pennsylvania Coal Company Town [Helvetia; case study; oral history]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 305 pp.

Metz, Lance E. 2000. "The Prosecution of the Molly Maguires in Carbon County" [Pa.]. In *Canal History and Technology Proceedings* 19: 126-142. Easton, Pa.: Canal History and Technology Press.

Metzgar, Jack. 2000. *Striking Steel: Solidarity Remembered* [collective bargaining history; 1950s; memoir: Johnstown, Pa.]. Philadelphia: Temple University Press. 264 pp.

Miller, Edward H. 2007. *The Hocking Valley Railway* [history]. Foreword by Thomas W. Dixon. Athens: Ohio University Press. 347 pp.

Miller-Lanning, Darlene. 2009. "Interesting Alike to Our Sight and Pride': Art and History Research at the Scranton Iron Furnaces." *Pennsylvania History* 76, no. 4 (Autumn): 484-494. Maps, survey documents, artistic prints; 1840s and 1850s; Lackawanna Co.

Mills, Donald L., Jr. 2010. *The Kanawha & Michigan Railroad Bridgeline to the Lakes*, 1888-1922. Huntington, W. Va.: Mid-Atlantic Highlands. 218 pp. "...a predecessor component of Norfolk Southern that operated between Corning, Ohio, and Gauley Bridge, West Virginia."

Milnes, Gerald. 1997. "The First Run of the C&O: The New River Fights Back" [1873 account of railroad passage through newly opened New River Gorge, W. Va.]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 11-12, 1997, Glade Springs Resort, Daniels, West Virginia,* 29-40. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Minchin, Timothy J. 1997. What Do We Need a Union For?: The TWUA in the South, 1945-1955 [Textile Workers Union of America]. Fred W. Morrison Series in Southern Studies. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 285 pp.

Minchin, Timothy J. 2001. "Permanent Replacements and the Breakdown of the 'Social Accord' in Calera, Alabama, 1974-1999" [cement industry, labor relations, strike; Shelby Co.]. *Labor History* 42 (November): 371-396.

Minchin, Timothy J. 2005. *Don't Sleep with Stevens!: The J. P. Stevens Campaign and the Struggle to Organize the South, 1963-80* [textile workers]. New Perspectives on the History of the South. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 239 pp.

Minchin, Timothy J. 2005. Fighting Against the Odds: A History of Southern Labor

Since World War II. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 232 pp.

Minchin, Timothy J. 2008. "An Uphill Fight: Ernest F. Hollings and the Struggle to Protect the South Carolina Textile Industry, 1959-2005." *South Carolina Historical Magazine* 109, no. 3 (July): 187-211.

Minchin, Timothy J. 2009. "It Knocked This City to Its Knees': The Closure of Pillowtex Mills in Kannapolis, North Carolina and the Decline of the US Textile Industry" [2003; formerly Cannon Mills]. *Labor History* 50, no. 3 (August): 287-311. Mass layoff of nearly 5000 workers.

Minchin, Timothy J. 2012. "'Us is spelled U.S.': The Crafted With Pride Campaign and the Fight Against Deindustrialization in the Textile and Apparel Industry." *Labor History* 53, no. 1 (February): 1-23.

Minchin, Timothy J. 2012. "Shutdowns in the Sun-Belt: The Decline of Textile and Apparel Industry and Deindustrialization in the South." In *Life and Labor in the New New South*, ed. R. Zieger, 258-288. Gainesville: University Press of Florida.

Mitchell, Broadus. [1921] 2001. *The Rise of Cotton Mills in the South*. Reprint, with a new introduction by David L. Carlton. Southern Classics. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 281 pp. Originally published: Baltimore: Johns Hopkins Press.

Mitchelson, Ronald L., and others. 1997. "The Changing South: Transportation and Communications Since 1947." *Southeastern Geographer* 37 (November): 268-294.

Mittal, Anu K. 2010. "Surface Coal Mining Information on Clean Water Act Section 404 Permit Reviews Under Enhanced Coordination Procedures in Appalachia, Focusing on West Virgina." Washington: U.S. Govt. Accountability Office. 36 pp. (GovDoc: GA 1.41:GAO-11-101 R.) Summary: http://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-11-101 R. Full report: http://purl.fdlp.gov/GPO/gpo7518.

Model for the Creation of a Coal History Museum in North Central WV Based on Models Found in Southern WV and Wales. 2009. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 11: 39-41. "2008 Appalachian Teaching Project," Fairmont State University.

Modell, Judith; photographs by Charlee Brodsky. 1998. *A Town Without Steel: Envisioning Homestead* [Pa. mill town; deindustrialization]. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 284 pp.

Monti, Richard A., and Sandra Skowron, ed. 2008. *Forging Ahead: Pittsburgh at 250*. Pittsburgh: Trib Total Media [Tribine-Review]. 152 pp. Contents: Forging ahead -- Evolution of the region -- Industry and steel -- Immigration and growth -- Renaissance -- Conflict, mayhem and disasters -- Soldiering -- Technology, medicine and education -- Art and architecture -- Sports -- Uniquely Pittsburgh.

Montrie, Chad. 2002. "Agriculture, Christian Stewardship, and Aesthetics: Ohio Farmers' Opposition to Coal Surface Mining in the 1940s." *Ohio History* 111 (Winter-Spring): 44-63. http://publications.ohiohistory.org/ohstemplate.cfm?action=toc&vol=111.

Montrie, Chad. 2003. *To Save the Land and People: A History of Opposition to Surface Coal Mining in Appalachia* [1960s-70s]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 245 pp.

Montrie, Chad. 2005. "'To Have, Hold, Develop, and Defend': Natural Rights and the Movement to Abolish Strip Mining in Eastern Kentucky" [1954-1977; 1960s activism]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 11, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 64-82.

Montrie, Chad. 2007. "Continuity in the Midst of Change: Work and Environment for West Virginia Mountaineers" [19th-century to 1960s; farmer to miner to factory hand]. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 1, no. 1 (Spring): 1-22.

Montrie, Chad. 2008. "Degrees of Separation: Nature and the Shift from Farmer to Miner to Factory Hand in Southern West Virginia." Chap. 4 in *Making a Living: Work and Environment in the United States*, 71-90. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Mooney, Chris. 2012. "The Truth About Fracking" [groundwater contamination]. *Scientific American* 305, no. 5 (November): 80-85. Diagrams, illustrations. http://www.nature.com/scientificamerican/journal/v305/n5/full/scientificamerican1111-80.html.

Moore, Marat. 2008. "Chest-Messaging in the Coalfields: A Look Back at the T-Shirts of the Pittston Strike." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 26-28. UMWA slogans; 1989-90 Southwest Va.: Dickenson and Russell Counties.

Moore, Toby. 2000. "Emerging Memorial Landscapes of Labor Conflict in the Cotton Textile South" *Professional Geographer* 52 (November): 684-696.

Moore, Toby. 2001. "Dismantling the South's Cotton Mill Village System." In *The Second Wave: Southern Industrialization from the 1940s to the 1970s*, ed. P. Scranton, 114-145. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Morgenstern, Wes, ed. 1999. Working on the Western Maryland Railway: A Collection of Employee Interviews [29 interviews; 1930s-1970s; Md., Pa., W. Va., Va.]. Union Bridge, Md.: Western Maryland Railway Historical Society. 176 pp.

Morrison, Roger. 1997. "New River Lead Mines, Austinville, Va." [1760-1996]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 11-12, 1997, Glade Springs Resort, Daniels, West Virginia,* 100-109. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Morrison, Roger. 2000. "John Marshall and the James River & Kanawha Canal" [1818]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 15-16, 1999, Boone, North Carolina*, 59-67. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Mosher, Anne E. 2004. *Capital's Utopia: Vandergrift, Pennsylvania, 1855-1916* [steel company's model industrial town]. Creating the North American Landscape. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 249 pp.

Mouawad, Jad, and Clifford Krauss. 2009. "Dark Side of a Natural Gas Boom" [Pa.]. *New York Times*, 8 December, 1(B). 1649 words. Marcellus shale; pollution from drilling.

Mountaintop Removal Mining: The Coal Industry vs. the Environment. 2010. Special issue, *Congressional Digest: A Pro & Con Monthly* 89, no. 5 (May): 129-160. Contents: Foreword -- Mountaintop mining overview: background, regulations, and current controversies -- Surface coal mining guidelines: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency actions -- Surface coal mining in Appalachia: scale and impact of operations -- Legislative background on mountaintop mining: recent action in Congress -- Pro & Con: "Should Congress and the Obama administration take steps to ban mountaintop mining?" PRO: Sen. Benjamin Cardin; Maria Gunnoe; Margaret A. Palmer. CON: Sen. James Inhofe; National Mining Association; West Virginia Department of Environmental Protection. http://congressionaldigest.com/issue/mountaintop-removal-mining/.

Mulcahy, Richard P. 2000. A Social Contract for the Coal Fields: The Rise and Fall of the United Mine Workers of America Welfare and Retirement Fund [1946-1978]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 274 pp.

Mulcahy, Richard P. 2012. "Musmanno's Fury." *Western Pennsylvania History* 95, no. 4 (Winter 2012-2013): 44-57. Michael A. Musmanno (1897-1968), justice of the Pennsylvania Supreme Court and author of *Black Fury* (1966), was a champion of immigrants and workers and fought to outlaw the Coal & Iron Police used by coal operators.

Muller, Edward K. 2006. "The Steel Valley" [Monongahela River Valley]. In *Pittsburgh and the Appalachians: Cultural and Natural Resources in a Postindustrial Age*, ed. J. Scarpaci, 36-48. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press.

Muller, Edward. 2000. "The Steel Valley" [Monongahela Valley restructuring]. In *A Geographic Perspective of Pittsburgh and the Alleghenies: From Precambrian to Post-Industrial*, ed. K. Patrick and J. Scarpaci, 79-86. Washington, D.C.: Association of American Geographers.

Muller, Nicholas Z., Robert Mendelsohn, and William Nordhaus. 2011. "Environmental Accounting for Pollution in the United States Economy." *American Economic Review* 101, no. 5 (August): 1649-1675. "The paper estimates the air pollution damages for each industry in the United States....The largest industrial contributor to external costs is coal-fired electric generation." http://www.aeaweb.org/articles.php?doi=10.1257/aer.101.5.1649.

Muncy, Robyn. 2009. "Coal-Fired Reforms: Social Citizenship, Dissident Miners, and the Great Society." *Journal of American History* 96, no. 1 (June): 72-98. Traces connections among UMWA Welfare and Retirement Fund, fears of miner riots if hospitals were closed, and Kennedy administration task force and eventual creation of an economic development program for Appalachia.

Musick, Ruth Ann, comp. [1952] 2004. "Early Mines and Mining Methods in Monongah (Oral History Project Completed by Dr. Ruth Ann Musick's Folk Literature Class, 1952, Fairmont State College)." *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 9: 27-34.

Musson, Robert. 2012. *Brewing in Greater Pittsburgh* [vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp. Includes 220 historic images of "the most prominent brewers in the Greater Pittsburgh area" and surrounding counties in southwestern Pa.

Myers, Edward J. 1998. "Night Trains Are Forever" [O. Winston Link's photographs of steam locomotives]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 15 (Winter): 13-16.

Myers, Mark. 2009. "Depression, Recovery, Instability: The NRA and the McDowell County, West Virginia, Coal Industry, 1920-1938" [National Recovery Administration]. In *Culture, Class, and Politics in Modern Appalachia: Essays in Honor of Ronald L. Lewis*, ed. J. Egolf, K. Fones-Wolf, and L. Martin, 283-304. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Nance, Karen N. Cartwright. 2003. "Oscar Cartwright, Sr.: A West Virginia CIO Organizer" [Congress of Industrial Organizations; 1930s-40s]. In *Great Kanawha Valley Chemical Heritage, Symposium Proceedings, May 3, 2003, Institute, West Virginia*, comp. Lee R. Maddex, 65-77. Morgantown, W. Va.: Institute for the History of Technology and Industrial Archaeology.

National Committee for the Defense of Political Prisoners. [1932, 1970] 2008. *Harlan Miners Speak: Report on Terrorism in the Kentucky Coal Fields* [testimonies; essays]. New edition, with a new introduction by John C. Hennen. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 348 pp. Originally published: New York: Harcourt, Brace and Company, 1932. The Committee of eleven left-leaning writers was headed by Theodore Dreiser and included Sherwood Anderson and John Dos Passos. The Report is an outside investigation of labor repression and civil rights violations against striking miners who had turned in desperation from the UMW to the NMU (National Miners Union, affiliated with the American Communist Party).

Navarro, Mireya. 2011. "With Gas Drilling Next Door, County in New York Gets an Economic Lift." *New York Times*, 27 December, 18(A). 1,265 words, map, photos. Hyrofracking boom in Bradford and Susquehanna Counties, Pa., is affecting neighboring N.Y. counties of Chemung (Elmira) and Broome (Binghamton), economically and environmentally. www.nytimes.com/2011/12/28/nyregion/hydrofracking-gives-chemung-county-ny-economic-boost.html.

Nelson, Sue. 2009. "Silicon Valley's Secret Recipe" [Spruce Pine, Mitchell Co., N.C.; high-purity quartz source for silicon wafers]. BBC Radio 4. London, England: BBC, 2 August: 949 words. http://news.bbc.co.uk/go/pr/fr/-/2/hi/technology/8178580.stm.

Nesbitt, J. Todd. 2012. "Southern West Virginia and the Contradiction of Coal." *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 1-2 (Fall 2011/Winter 2012): 136-140. Review essay of *Removing Mountains: Extracting Nature and Identity in the Appalachian Coalfields*, by Rebecca R. Scott (University of Minnesota Press, 2010).

Noe, Kenneth. 1994. *Southwest Virginia's Railroad: Modernization and the Sectional Crisis*. Champaign: University of Illinois Press. 221 pp.

Norwood, Stephen H. 2002. *Strikebreaking & Intimidation: Mercenaries and Masculinity in Twentieth-Century America*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 328 pp.

Nyden, Paul J. 1997. "Coal Companies Abandon Workers Comp" [award-winning article reprinted from W. Va.'s Charleston Gazette]. *Southern Exposure* 25 (Spring/Summer): 39-41.

Nyden, Paul J. 2007. "Rank-and-File Rebellions in the Coalfields, 1964-80." *Monthly Review* 58, no. 10 (March): 38-53. Topics include: 1969 Black Lung Strike; "Jock" Yablonski and "Tony" Boyle; Miners for Democracy; mine tragedies in Ky. and W. Va.; UMW president Arnold Miller; McDowell County, W. Va.; A. T. Massey Coal's union busting; 1989 Pittston strike; coal town life; political involvement of coal operators; and absentee ownership. http://monthlyreview.org/2007/03/01/rank-and-file-rebellions-in-the-coalfields-1964-80.

Nystrom, Eric. 2007. "Miner, Minstrel, Memory: Or, Why the Smithsonian has Bill Keating's Pants" [authenticity issue; anthracite miner troubadour, 1886-1964]. *Pennsylvania Magazine of History & Biography* 131, no. 1 (January): 81-101.

O'Bradovich, Mike. 2009. "Mike O'Bradovich: Three Stories from the Mines" [Harlan Co., Ky.; environment; pollution; near-death experience]. Interview by Foxfire students. *Foxfire Magazine* 43, no. 1-2 (Spring/Summer): 43-54.

O'Donnell, James H. 2009. *Out of the Mud: Hiram Carpenter and the Ohio River Valley, 1880-1950*. Huntington, W.Va: The John Deaver Drinko Academy. 121 pp. St. Marys, W. Va.; business and industrial development.

O'Leary, Sean. 2012. "The Impact of the Decline of Coal and the Rise of Natural Gas on Local Severance Tax Revenue (December 11, 2012)." West Virginia Center on Budget & Policy, Charleston, W. Va. 888 words, plus chart. http://www.wvpolicy.org/the-impact-of-the-decline-of-coal-and-the-rise-of-natural-gas-on-local-severance-tax-revenue.

Olwell, Russell B. 2004. At Work in the Atomic City: A Labor and Social History of Oak Ridge, Tennessee. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 165 pp.

Olwell, Russell. 1998. "Help Wanted for Secret City: Recruiting Workers for the Manhattan Project at Oak Ridge, Tennessee, 1942-1946." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 58 (Spring): 52-69.

Olwell, Russell. 2004. At Work in the Atomic City: A Labor and Social History of Oak Ridge, Tennessee [1940s; Manhattan Project]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 165 pp.

One-Hundred-Ten Years Strong: UMWA Time Line, 1890-2000 [60 key events]. 2000. *United Mine Workers Journal* 111 (January-February): 8-15.

Oppegard, Tony. 1996. "Coal Companies Are Lying, Miners Are Dying..." *Appalachian Heritage* 24 (Fall): 22-28. Reprints testimony of three disabled, retired miners before a federal advisory committee on the elimination of pneumoconiosis.

Oppegard, Tony. 1996. "Mine Safety and the Right Wing's Agenda." *Appalachian Heritage* 24 (Spring): 5-9.

Orr, John W. 2001. *Set Up Running: The Life of a Pennsylvania Railroad Engineman, 1904-1949.* University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 376 pp.

Outland, Robert B. 2004. *Tapping the Pines: The Naval Stores Industry in the American South* [pine tar, pitch, turpentine; N.C., S.C., Ga.; 17th-20th centuries; forced labor]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 352 pp.

Page, Lewis Wendell. 1999. *Belmont Coal Mines of Jackson County, Alabama: (1877-1940)*. Birmingham, Ala.: Page Publishing Company. 240 pp.

Painter, Jacqueline B. 2001. "Stackhouse, Putnam, and Runion: Villages on the French Broad River" [1880-1920 railroad, timber, mining era]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 2, ed. R. S. Brunk, 120-140. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services, Inc.

Palmer, M. A., et al. 2010. "Mountaintop Mining Consequences" [water pollution; tables]. *Science* 372, no. 5962 (January 8): 148-149. Policy Forum; Science and Regulation; "Our analyses...revealed serious environmental impacts that mitigation practices cannot successfully address."

Palus, Matthew M., and Paul A. Shackel. 2006. *They Worked Regular: Craft, Labor, and Family in the Industrial Community of Virginius Island* [19th-century W. Va.; Shenandoah River adj. Harpers Ferry]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 147 pp.

Papa, Carrie, ed. 2004. A Mile Deep and Black as Pitch: An Oral History of the Franklin and Sterling Hill Mines [Sussex Co., N.J.]. Blacksburg, Va.: McDonald & Woodward. 378 pp.

Parks, Richard. 2007. "In Search of Western Pennsylvania's Stone Iron Furnaces" [profiles of several of 135 still visible]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 90, no. 1 (Spring): 36-41.

Parrish, Charles E., and Leland R. Johnson. 1998. "J. Stoddard Johnston Versus the Army Engineers on Canalization of the Kentucky River" [1880-1917; 14 dams; 255 miles]. *Filson Club History Quarterly* 72 (January): 3-23.

Parrish, Charles E., and Leland R. Johnson. 1997. "Engineering the Kentucky River: A Disastrous Debut" [Carrollton to Beattyville]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 95 (Autumn): 369-394.

Parsons, Rachel. 2011. "Boogie, Chilluns': On Saving Mountains and Crossing the Imaginary Line" [Raleigh Co., W. Va.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 51-52. Account of 2009 nonviolent civil disobedience and arrest protesting Massey Energy's

massive slurry pond above Marsh Fork Elementary School and nearby mountaintop removal mining.

Patton, Randall L. 1997. "A World of Opportunity . . . Within the Tufting Empire?": Labor Relations in North Georgia's Carpet Industry, 1960-1975." *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 81 (Summer): 426-451.

Patton, Randall L. 1998. "Textile Organizing in a Sunbelt South Community: Northwest Georgia's Carpet Industry in the Early 1960s" [Dalton, Ga.; TWUA failed campaign]. *Labor History* 39 (August): 291-309.

Patton, Randall L. 2002. *Shaw Industries: A History* [dominant carpet mfr.; Dalton, Ga.; interviews]. University of Georgia Press. 217 pp.

Patton, Randall L., with David B. Parker. 1999. *Carpet Capital: The Rise of a New South Industry* [tufted carpet industry; northwest Ga.]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 341 pp.

Patton, Randall L., with David B. Parker. [1999] 2003. *Carpet Capital: The Rise of a New South Industry* [early 19th-century to 1930s; Dalton, Ga.]. Reprint. Economy and Society in the Modern South. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 341 pp.

Patton, Randall. 2001. "Regional Advantage in the New South: The Creation of North Georgia's Carpet Industry, 1945-1970" [Dalton, Ga.]. In *The Second Wave: Southern Industrialization from the 1940s to the 1970s*, ed. P. Scranton, 81-113. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Payne, Dale. 2008. A Pictorial History of Cabin Creek: A Collection of Photographs from the Earliest Days on Cabin Creek: Combined with a Brief History of Each Community [W. Va.], Vol. 1. North Kansas City, Mo.: Technical Communication Services. 217 pp. See also: Vol. 2 (2008); Vol. 3 (2010).

Payne, Dale. 2011. *The Mine War, 1912-1913, Cabin Creek & Paint Creek: Commemorating the 100th Anniversary.* Fayetteville, W. Va.: D. Payne. 168 pp. Photographs, maps, documents.

Peach, Sara. 2012. "Mining May Have Harmed 22% of Streams in Southern West Virginia." *Chemical & Engineering News*, 26 July. "Water Pollution: As mined land has grown, sensitive insect species have disappeared, researchers find," using NASA satellite images, 1976-2005, then mapping chemical and biological data from 223 streams.

Pendarvis, Edwina. 2008. "Don't Feed the Bear': A Response to Silas House's Speech, 'A Conscious Heart'" [mountaintop removal mining]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 14, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 28-33. Response to keynote address at 2008 Appalachian Studies Conference by Silas House ["A Conscious Heart," *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 14:7-19]. See also Dwight Billings's "Response," pp. 20-27.

Percival, Gwendoline E., and Chester J. Kulesa. 1995. *Illustrating an Anthracite Era: The Photographic Legacy of John Horgan, Jr.* [photographs]. Harrisburg: Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission and Anthracite Heritage Museum and Iron Furnaces Associates. 73 pp.

Peresie, Jennifer L. 1997. "Crusader With a Camera: Lewis Hine and His Battle Against Child 'Slavery'" [photographs; coal and textile industries]. *Pennsylvania Heritage* 23 (Summer): 4-13.

Perich, Terry, and Kathleen Perich. 2006. *Jeannette* [Pa.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Founded in 1888 in Westmoreland County, and known as the Glass City, Jeannette "produced more glass in various forms than any other city in the world."

Perry, Marlene West, and Dale Payne. 2007. *The History of Eskdale, Early 1800's - 1950's:* "The Shopping Center and Capitol of Cabin Creek" [Kanawha Co., W. Va.]. [No place; no publisher]. 176 pp.

Peterson, Nadine Miller, and Dan Zagorski. 2001. "Zinc Mining in the Saucon Valley Region of Pennsylvania, 1846-1986" [Lehigh Co.]. *Canal History and Technology Proceedings* 20: 139-162. Easton, Pa.: Canal History and Technology Press.

Peyton, Billy Joe, and Anne-Marie Turnage. 1996. *Unite...The Most Remote Quarters: An Archaeological and Historical Survey of the Staunton-Parkersburg Turnpike*. Technical Report. Morgantown, W. Va.: Institute for the History of Technology & Industrial Archaeology. 99 pp.

Phelan, Craig. 1996. "John Mitchell and the Politics of the Trade Agreement, 1898-1917." In *The United Mine Workers of America: A Model of Industrial Solidarity?*, ed. J. Laslett, 72-103. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Phelan, Craig. 1996. "The Making of a Labor Leader: John Mitchell and the Anthracite Strike of 1900." *Pennsylvania History* 63 (Winter): 53-77.

Pittston 20 Years Later [1989 coal strike, southwest Va.]. 2009. Special Commemorative Issue. Photos by Earl Dotter. *United Mine Workers Journal* 120, no. 2 (March-April): 4-12; sidebar on resultant 1992 "Coal Act." http://www.umwa.org/files/u1/UMWJrlMarApr09FIN.pdf.

Plant, Jeremy F. 2008. Western Maryland in Color. Vol. 2, Steam and First Generation Diesels. Scotch Plains, N.J.: Morning Sun Books. 128 pp. Color photos; Western Maryland Railway Company; W. Va.

Plasky, Joe. 2007. "Worth Their Weight in Gold': Recalling Red Jacket Safety Day" [annual picnic festival and mine rescue contest; 1940s-50s Mingo Co.; Red Jacket Coal Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 2 (Summer): 38-45.

Platania, Joseph. 1999. "The Elusive Jarvis-Huntington: Early Automobiles of West Virginia" [1912; W. Va.-built]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Fall): 42-46.

Pope, James Gray. 2003. "The Western Pennsylvania Coal Strike of 1933, Part II: Lawmaking from Above and the Demise of Democracy in the United Mine Workers." *Labor History* 44 (May): 235-264.

Pope, James Gray. 2003. "The Western Pennsylvania Coal Strike of 1933, Part I: Lawmaking from Below and the Revival of the United Mine Workers." *Labor History* 44 (February): 15-48.

Portelli, Alessandro. 2010. *They Say in Harlan County: An Oral History* [Ky.; UMWA]. New York: Oxford University Press. 446 pp. Weatherford Award winner for nonfiction. Draws on 150 interviews collected over 25 years at this site of 1930s and 1970s labor strikes made famous by the 1976 documentary, "Harlan County U.S.A."

Portelli, Alessandro. 2012. "Their Words Still Haunt Me': An Interview with Alessandro Portelli." By Jesse Buckwalter, Kristen R. Dearmin, Rebekah Epling, Jameson Jones, Aaron Lancaster, Skye McFarland, Trevor McKenzie, Rachel Lanier Roberts, Leigh Walters, Bill Ward II, with Patricia D. Beaver. *Appalachian Journal* 40, no. 1-2 (Fall 2012/Winter 2013): 78-93. Includes a bibliography, "Works by Alessandro Portelli," 93 [19 books, 1969-2011], including *They Say in Harlan County: An Oral History* (2011).

Post, Robert C. 2003. "'The Last Steam Railroad in America': Shaffers Crossing, Roanoke, Virginia, 1958." *Technology and Culture* 44 (July): 560-565.

Presnell, Lowell. 2001. *Mines, Miners, and Minerals: Western North Carolina's Mountain Empire* [history: incl. iron, gems, gold, mica, etc.]. Alexander, N.C.: Land of Sky Books. 256 pp.

Prevade, Daniel. 2012. "Horror & Heroism: The Aetna Chemical Explosion." *Western Pennsylvania History* 95, no. 3 (Fall): 48-61. Two-hundred died in this 1918 disaster at a dynamite manufacturing plant near Oakdale, Pa.

Prince, R. P., and A. Milton Stanley. 2000. "What Does 'K-25' Stand For?: Deciphering the Origins of the Manhattan Project Code Names in Oak Ridge" [Tenn.; 1945]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 72: 82-86.

Pritt, Troy Wye, and Troy Lynn Pritt. 2005. "Wye Plummer Pritt: Fifty Years as a Track Man" [Western Maryland Railroad, 1900-1950]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 4 (Winter): 54-59.

Puckett, Anita. 1998. "Rights, Place, Orders, and Imperatives in Rural Eastern Kentucky Taskfocused Discourse." In *More Than Class: Studying Power in U.S. Workplaces*, ed. A. Kingsolver, 96-123. Albany: State University of New York Press.

Pugh, Chris. 1998. "Smart Road" [experimental high-tech highway; Blacksburg, Va., to I-81]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 15 (Winter): 25-29.

Purdy, Jedediah S. 1998. "Rape of the Appalachians" [real costs of mountaintop removal strip mining]. *American Prospect* no. 41 (November/December): 28-33.

Quigley, Joan. 2007. *The Day the Earth Caved In: An American Mining Tragedy* [Centralia, Pa.; 40-year underground mine fire; social consequences]. New York: Random House. 237 pp.

Quinn, Edythe Ann. 1997. "The New York Milk Strikes" [Appalachian N.Y.; Dairymen's League; 1894-1997]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Winter): 38-41, 48.

Raitz, Karl. 1999. "American Roads, Roadside America" [including National Road/U.S. 40]. *Geographical Review* 88 (July): 363-387.

Rakes, Paul H. 1999. "Technology in Transition: The Dilemmas of Early Twentieth-Century Coal Mining." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 5 (Spring): 27-60.

Rakes, Paul H. 2008. "West Virginia Coal Mine Fatalities: The Subculture of Danger and a Statistical Overview of the Pre-enforcement Era" [graphs, 1897-1989]. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 2, no. 1 (Spring): 1-26.

Rakes, Paul. 2009. "A Combat Scenario: Early Coal Mining and the Culture of Danger." In *Culture, Class, and Politics in Modern Appalachia: Essays in Honor of Ronald L. Lewis*, ed. J. Egolf, K. Fones-Wolf, and L. Martin, 56-87. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. Coal mining disasters and deaths analogous to battlefield experiences.

Rau, William Herman. 2002. *Traveling the Pennsylvania Railroad: The Photographs of William H. Rau* [1890s railroad scenery across Pa.]. Edited by John C. Van Horne with Eileen E. Drelick; essays by Kenneith Finkel, Mary Panzer, and John R. Stilgoe. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press in cooperation with the Library Company of Philadelphia. 260 pp.

Ray, Jack H., and Glenn Ray. 1995. "Social Relations and Leisure Activities in Underground Coal Mines of Northern Appalachia." *Tennessee Anthropologist* 20 (Spring): 18-34.

Reece, Erik. 2005. "Death of a Mountain: Radical Strip Mining and the Leveling of Appalachia" [mountaintop removal, Lost Mountain, Ky.; excerpt from forthcoming book]. *Harper's Magazine* 310 (April): 41-60. See also: http://www.wesjones.com/death.htm#Title.

Reece, Erik. 2006. "Harlan County Blues" [indicts industrial and government safety policies in recent Sago, W.Va, and Harlan Co., Ky., miner deaths; reissue of 1976 documentary "Harlan County U.S.A."]. *Nation*, 17 July, 5-8.

Reece, Erik. 2006. "Who Killed the Miners?" [W. Va.; January death toll numbers 16 at Sago and Alma mines]. *Nation*, 27 February, 5-8.

Reece, Erik. 2006. Lost Mountain: A Year in the Vanishing Wilderness: Radical Strip Mining and the Devastation of Appalachia [mountaintop removal; Perry Co., Ky., 2003-2004].

Foreword by Wendell Berry; photographs by John J. Cox. New York: Riverhead Books. 250 pp.

Reece, Erik. 2011. "Ky. Voices: Coal Industry 'Gift' Cost UK a Celebration." *Lexington Herald-Leader*, 6 March. 901 words. Kentucky writer Wendell Berry accepts the National Humanities Medal from President Obama subsequent to his withdrawing 100 boxes of his papers from U.Ky. archives in response to its renaming the men's basketball dorm, "Wildcat Coal Lodge," in exchange for a multimillion dollar gift from a coal company. http://www.kentucky.com/2011/03/06/1659827/ky-voices-coal-industry-gift-cost.html#ixzz1FpEvL4Xe.

Rees, Jonathan. 1997. "Homestead in Context: Andrew Carnegie and the Decline of the Amalgamated Association of Iron and Steel Workers" [1880-90s]. *Pennsylvania History* 64 (Autumn): 509-533.

Rees, Jonathan. 2004. *Managing the Mills: Labor Policy in the American Steel Industry during the Nonunion Era*. Lanham, Md.: University Press of America. 298 pp.

Reevy, Tony. 2012. O. Winston Link, Life Along the Line: A Photographic Portrait of America's Last Great Steam Railroad [N&W; Va.; 1950s]. Foreword by Scott Lothes; afterword by Conway Link. New York: Abrams. 239 pp., with 183 photos, and a compact disc with sound recordings of Norfolk and Western trains, by Link [1914-2001].

Reilly, Robert T. [1962] 2000. *Rebels in the Shadows* [juvenile literature; 1870s anthracite region; Molly Maguires]. Reprint, with a foreword by Margaret Mary Kimmel. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 192 pp. Originally published: Milwaukee, Wis.: Bruce Publishing Company.

Reliving Coal's Heritage in Pennsylvania [profiles website "The Coal and Coke Heritage Center: Preserving the History of the Connellsville (Pa.) Coke Region, 1870-1970" [http://www.coalandcoke.org]. 2001. *United Mine Workers Journal* 112 (September-October): 23.

Revkin, Andrew C. 2012. "Songs of this Fossil Age: A Coal Miner's Death Foretold" [ballad; two video clips]. *Dot Earth* (blog). *New York Times*, 29 February, Opinion. 639 words. http://dotearth.blogs.nytimes.com/2012/02/29/songs-of-this-fossil-age-a-coal-miners-death-foretold/?emc=eta1.

Rhodes, Rick. 2007. *The Ohio River: In American History and Voyaging on Today's River: Along with the Allegheny, Monongahela, Kanawha, Muskingum, Kentucky, Green and Wabash Rivers* [300 years of river local history]. Edited by Bill Byrnes. St. Petersburg, Fla.: Heron Island Guides. 320 pp.

Rhodes, Rick. 2008. The Ohio River: In American History: Along with the Allegheny, Monongahela, Kanawha, Muskingum, Kentucky, Green and Wabash Rivers. Photographs and

sketches by Rick Rhodes; edited by Bill Byrnes. St. Petersburg, Fla.: Heron Island Guides. 224 pp. Abridged, updated version of 2007 edition.

Ribble, Rufus, George A. Bragg, Morgan G. Bragg, and Melody Bragg. 2005. *West Virginia Coalfield Photography 1900-2005: Panoramic Photography* [500 historical images]. Beaver, W. Va.: GEM Publications. 184 pp.

Richards, J. Stuart. 2007. *Death in the Mines: Disasters and Rescues in the Anthracite Coal Fields of Pennsylvania*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 125 pp. Contents: Fire in the mines | Explosion in the mines | Cave ins / Roof Collapse/ In-Rush of Water.

Richards, John Stuart. 2002. *Early Coal Mining in the Anthracite Region* [Pa.; pictorial retrospective]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Ricketts, Elizabeth. 1998. "The Struggle for Civil Liberties and Unionization in the Coal Fields: The Free Speech Case of Vintondale, Pennsylvania, 1922" [western Pa.; Cambria Co.]. *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 122 (October): 319-352.

Rittenhouse, Ron. 2007. *Monongah Coal Mine Disaster 1907-2007: Pictorial History of a Monumental Tragedy* [with names of approx. 350 miners killed; Marion Co., W. Va.]. Westover, W. Va.: R. Rittenhouse. 94 pp.

Robertson, David. 2006. *Hard As the Rock Itself: Place and Identity in the American Mining Town* [Toluca, Ill., Cokedale, Colo., Picher, Okla.]. Mining the American West. Boulder: University Press of Colorado. 216 pp.

Robertson, Scott. 2006. "The Tennessee Valley Authority in the Twenty-First Century: It's Not Easy Being Green" [power generation switch; table]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 27-29.

Romano, Mark. 2009. *Brooks Run, We Mine Coal: Snapshots in Time, 2008-2009* [W. Va.; pictorial]. Summersville, W. Va.: Images by Romano. 367 pp.

Roscigno, Vincent J., and William F. Danaher. 2004. *The Voice of Southern Labor: Radio, Music, and Textile Strikes, 1929-1934*. Social Movements, Protest, & Contention, vol. 19. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press. 216 pp. [cf. earlier studies: *Like a Family: The Making of a Southern Cotton Mill World* (1987), and *Gastonia 1929: The Story of the Loray Mill Strike* (1995)].

Rose, James D. 2001. *Duquesne and the Rise of Steel Unionism*. The Working Class in American History. Champaign: University of Illinois Press. 284 pp.

Rose, Mariel. 2009. "Moving Capital, Moving Workers, and the Mountain Work Ethic" [Western N.C.]. Chap. 7 in *Migration and the Transformation of the Southern Workplace Since 1945*, ed. R. Cassanello and C. Davis, 174-201. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. Migration of both corporations and foreign workers into the region.

Ross, Philip W. 1993. "Makin' Hole, Pumpin' Oil": An Oral History of a West Virginia Oil Field [Pleasants Co.; interviews]. Technical Report, no. 9. Morgantown: West Virginia University, Institute for the History of Technology and Industrial Archaeology. 117 pp.

Rossel, Jorg. 2002. "Industrial Structure, Union Strategy, and Strike Activity in American Bituminous Coal Mining, 1881-1894." *Social Science History* 26 (Spring): 1-32.

Rotenstein, David S. 1997. "Leather Bound: Nineteenth-Century Leather Tanners in Allegheny City." *Pittsburgh History* 80 (Spring): 32-47.

Roth, Philip. 1996. *Allegheny Oil: The Historic Petroleum Industry on the Allegheny National Forest*. Technical Report, Morgantown, W. Va.: Institute for the History of Technology & Industrial Archaeology, West Virginia University, in partnership with Allegheny National Forest. 96 pp.

Rottenberg, Dan. 2003. *In the Kingdom of Coal: An American Family and the Rock That Changed the World* [two-family saga: coal baron and coal miner]. New York: Routledge. 320 pp.

Rubin, Mary H. 2003. *Hagerstown: Railroading Around the Hub City* [Md.]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp. Antique photos.

Rubin, Mary H. 2003. *The Chesapeake and Ohio Canal* [begun 1828; 180 miles Georgetown to Cumberland, Md.; vintage photographs collection]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Rumley, Jim. 2001. *Cooleemee: The Life & Times of a Mill Town* [textile workers, Davies Co., N.C.]. Cooleemee, N.C.: Cooleemee Historical Association. 434 pp.

Russ, Kurt C., John M. McDaniel, and Katherine T. Wood. 2000. "Archaeology of Nineteenth-Century Iron Manufacturing in Southwestern Virginia: Longdale Iron Mining Complex." In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia, 1800-1900*, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 135-144. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Sabin, Paul. 1999. "A Dive Into Nature's Great *Grab-Bag*': Nature, Gender and Capitalism in the Early Pennsylvania Oil Industry" [1860s]. *Pennsylvania History* 66 (Autumn): 472-505.

Sale, Anna. 2006. "Chasing the Answers to the Questions Sago Raised" [Sago, W. Va. mine disaster, Jan. 2, 2006]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 2 (Spring): 67-70.

Sallee, Shelley. 2004. *The Whiteness of Child Labor Reform in the New South* [Ala., mill families, social order, early 1900s]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 207 pp.

Salmond, John A. 1995. *Gastonia 1929: The Story of the Loray Mill Strike*. [Gastonia, N.C.]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 240 pp.

Salmond, John A. 1998. "'The Burlington Dynamite Plot': The 1934 Textile Strike and Its Aftermath in Burlington, North Carolina" [Alamance Co.]. *North Carolina Historical Review* 75 (October): 398-434.

Salmond, John A. 2002. *The General Textile Strike of 1934: From Maine to Alabama*. Columbia: University of Missouri Press. 295 pp.

Salmond, John A. 2004. *Southern Struggles: The Southern Labor Movement and the Civil Rights Struggle* [textile strikes: 1929 Marion, N.C., 1934 Honea Path, S.C.; 1968 shootings, Orangeburg, S.C.]. New Perspectives on the History of the South. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 212 pp.

Salstrom, Paul, introd. 2000. "Transforming the Appalachian Countryside: Railroads, Deforestation, and Social Change in West Virginia, 1810-1920: A Round Table." Summary by Ronald L. Lewis; Comments by Altina Waller; Comments by John Alexander Williams; "National Forests as the New Appalachian Commons," by Chris Bolgiano; Response by Ronald L. Lewis. *West Virginia History* 58 (1999-2000): 44-67.

Sarvis, Will. 1995. "The Potts Valley Branch Railroad and Tri-State Incline Lumber Operation in West Virginia and Virginia, 1892-1932." *West Virginia History* 54: 42-58.

Sauceman, Fred. 2006. "Sago" [one couple's experience; Sago, W. Va. mine disaster, Jan. 2, 2006]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 22, no. 1 (Spring): 21-25.

Sauls, Charles Edmund. 2009. *The Linthead*. Mustang, Okla.: Tate Publishing. 83 pp. Memoir (b. 1930) of growing up in the Depression-era cotton mill town of Fullerville, Georgia.

Scarpaci, Joseph L., with Kevin J. Patrick, ed. 2006. *Pittsburgh and the Appalachians: Cultural and Natural Resources in a Postindustrial Age* [deindustrialization in recent decades]. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press. 264 pp.

Schaltenbrand, Phil. 1996. *Stoneware of Southwestern Pennsylvania*. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 216 pp. Rev. ed. of: *Old Pots: Salt-Glazed Stoneware of the Greensboro-New Geneva Region* (Hanover, Pa.: Everybodys Press, 1977).

Scheberle, Denise. 2011. "Refusing to Bow to King Coal: Tales of Our Energy Future and Mountaintop Removal in Appalachian Coal Country." *Nature & Culture* 6, no. 1 (March): 91-96. Review essay of three books: *Coal River* (2008), by Michael Shnayerson; *Big Coal* (2006), by Jeff Goodell: and *Something's Rising: Appalachians Fighting Mountaintop Removal* (2009), by Silas House and Jason Howard.

Schmidt, James D. 2010. *Industrial Violence and the Legal Origins of Child Labor*. New York: Cambridge University Press. 279 pp. "Drawing on archival case records from the Appalachian South between the 1880s and the 1920s."

Schmidt, Ronald G., and William S. Hooks. 1994. Whistle Over the Mountain: Timber, Track & Trails in the Tennessee Smokies. Yellow Springs, Ohio: Graphicom Press, Inc. 170 pp.

Scholtz, Leigh Ann, and Laura Guertin. 2010. "Using Tombstone Records from Centralia, PA, to Evaluate the Effects of Mining Activities on Male Survivorship" [tables; 1870-1999]. *Pennsylvania Geographer* 48, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 3-15. Gender comparisons. Established 1866 and now a ghost town due to underground mine fire burning since 1962.

Schust, Alex P. 2005. *Gary Hollow: A History of the Largest Coal Mining Operation in the World* [McDowell Co., W. Va.; 500 photographs; 1930s-50s; African Americans and immigrants; UMW; Norfolk and Western Railway Company]. Harwood, Md.: Two Mule Pub. 474 pp. See also: *U.S. Steel and Gary, West Virginia: Corporate Paternalism in Appalachia* (2011), by Ronald Garay.

Schust, Alex P. 2010. *Billion Dollar Coalfield: West Virginia's McDowell County and the Industrialization of America*. Harwood, Md.: Two Mule Publishing. 633 pp. "...a record of the coal operators and the railroad that industrialized the county;" 1888-1988; Norfolk and Western Railway Company. See the author's two other McDowell County historical accounts, *Gary Hollow* (2005), and *Coalwood* (2006).

Schust, Alex P., and David R. Goad. 2006. *Coalwood: A History of the West Virginia Mining Communities of Coalwood, Caretta, and Six* [McDowell Co.]. Harwood, Md.: Two Mule Publishing Co. 394 pp.

Schwartz-Barcott, T. P. 2008. *After the Disaster: Re-Creating Community and Well-Being at Buffalo Creek Since the Notorious Coal Mining Disaster in 1972* [Logan Co., W. Va., flash flood; 125 dead]. Amherst, N.Y.: Cambria Press. 517 pp. Assesses conclusions reached in Kai Erikson's classic study, *Everything in Its Path: Destruction of Community in the Buffalo Creek Flood* (1976).

Scott, Rebecca R. 2007. "Dependent Masculinity and Political Culture in Pro-Mountaintop Removal Discourse: Or, How I Learned to Stop Worrying and Love the Dragline" [Blair, W. Va.]. *Feminist Studies* 33, no. 3 (Fall): 484-509. "This article examines the popular support for MTR: how do people learn to love the destruction of their environment?"

Scott, Rebecca R. 2010. *Removing Mountains: Extracting Nature and Identity in the Appalachian Coalfields*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press. 271 pp. Contents: Introduction: the logic of extraction -- Hillbillies and coal miners: representations of a national sacrifice zone -- Men moving mountains: coal mining masculinities and mountaintop removal -- The gendered politics of pro-mountaintop removal discourse -- ATVs in action: transgression, property rights, and tourism on the Hatfield-McCoy trail -- Coal heritage/coal history: Appalachia, America, and mountaintop removal -- Traces of history: "white" people, black coal -- Conclusion: coal facts.

Scott, Shaunna L. 1996. "Dead Work: The Construction and Reconstruction of the Harlan Miners Memorial" [Harlan Co., Ky.]. *Qualitative Sociology* 19 (Fall): 365-393.

Scott, Shaunna L., Stephanie McSpirit, and Sharon Hardesty. 2012. "Risky Business: Coal Waste Emergency Planning in West Virginia and Kentucky." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 18, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 149-175. Tables. Mingo and Wyoming Cos., W. Va., and Martin Co., Ky.

Scott, Shaunna L., Stephanie McSpirit, Patrick Breheny, and Britteny M. Howell. 2012. "The Long-Term Effects of a Coal Waste Disaster on Social Trust in Appalachian Kentucky." *Organization & Environment* 25, no. 4 (December): 402-418. Coal sludge impoundment rupture, October 2000, Martin County, Ky.

Scott, Shaunna L., Stephanie McSpirit, Sharon Hardesty, and Robert Welch. 2005. "Post Disaster Interviews with Martin County Citizens: 'Gray Clouds' of Blame and Distrust" [Ky.; Oct. 2000 coal waste flood]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 11, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 7-29.

Scott, Shaunna. 1996. Review essay of *The Court-Martial of Mother Jones*, ed. Edward M. Steel (University Press of Kentucky, 1995). *Appalachian Journal* 24 (Fall): 93-97.

Scott, Thomas A. 2001. "Winning World War II in an Atlanta Suburb: Local Boosters and the Recruitment of Bell Bomber" [Marietta, Ga.; Cobb Co.]. In *The Second Wave: Southern Industrialization from the 1940s to the 1970s*, ed. P. Scranton, 1-23. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Scotts Run. 1994. West Virginia History 53: 1-117. Special issue, with an introduction by Ronald L. Lewis.

Seager, David R. 2001. "Barre, Vermont Granite Workers and the Struggle Against Silicosis, 1890-1960" [references W. Va.'s silicosis disaster, 1930-36, Hawks Nest Tunnel, Gauley Bridge]. *Labor History* 42 (February): 61-79.

Sergent, James. 2009. "There's Coal in the Hills of Harlan County" [Benham, Ky.; longwall mining explained; hazards]. Interview by Foxfire students. *Foxfire Magazine* 43, no. 1-2 (Spring/Summer): 3-10.

Shapiro, Henry D. 2008. "Industrialization in Appalachia." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 11: *Agriculture and Industry*, 256-259. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Shapiro, Karin A. 1998. *A New South Rebellion: The Battle against Convict Labor in the Tennessee Coalfields, 1871-1896*. Fred W. Morrison Series in Southern Studies. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 333 pp.

Shapiro, Tricia. 2010. *Mountain Justice: Homegrown Resistance to Mountaintop Removal, for the Future of Us All*. Oakland, Calif.: AK Press. 371 pp. Contents: Flyover | Mountain People | A New Movement | West Virginia | Tennessee | Beyond Mountain Justice Summer | Climate Ground Zero.

Shifflett, Crandall A. [1991] 1995. *Coal Towns: Life, Work and Culture in Company Towns of Southern Appalachia, 1880-1960.* Reprint. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 280 pp.

Shnayerson, Michael. 2007. "The Rape of Appalachia" [Coal River Valley, W. Va.]. In *The Best American Science and Nature Writing* 2007, ed. R. Preston, 228-248. Boston: Houghton Mifflin. First published in *Vanity Fair*, May 2006.

Shnayerson, Michael. 2008. *Coal River*. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux. 321 pp. Southern W. Va. mountaintop removal mining; grassroots Coal River Mountain Watch v. Massey Energy's CEO, Don Blankenship.

Shogan, Robert. 2004. *The Battle of Blair Mountain: The Story of America's Largest Labor Uprising* [1921, W. Va. mine wars]. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press. 304 pp.

Silverman, Sharon Hernes. 1998. "A Blast from the Past: Cornwall Iron Furnace" [18th-century National Historic Landmark; Lebanon Co., Pa.]. *Pennsylvania Heritage* 24 (Spring): 20-31.

Silverman, Sherman E. 2000. "Brownsville, PA., and Brockport, NY: A Contrast in Town Development as Influenced by Transportation" [19th century; Monongahela Valley, Pa.; Erie Canal, N.Y.]. *Pennsylvania Geographer* 38 (Spring/Summer): 57-93.

Silverman, Sherman E. 2000. "The Persistence of Mount Savage, Maryland: An Historical Geography" [coal and railroad town]. In *A Geographic Perspective of Pittsburgh and the Alleghenies: From Precambrian to Post-Industrial*, ed. K. Patrick and J. Scarpaci, 10-16. Washington, D.C.: Association of American Geographers.

Simon, Bryant. 1998. *A Fabric of Defeat: The Politics of South Carolina Millhands*, 1910-1948. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 345 pp.

Simon, Bryant. 1998. A Fabric of Defeat: The Politics of South Carolina Millhands, 1910-1948. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 345 pp.

Simson, William. 2001. Parades Amid the Standoff in the Old Red Scar: Interpreting Film Images of Striking Industrial Operatives in the East Tennessee Copper Basin, 1939-1940" [Ducktown]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 7 (Fall): 227-255.

Simson, William. 2011. "Munitions and Victory Gardens from the Old Red Scar: Managing the Chemicals Industry in the Ducktown Copper Basin during World War II." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 83: 56-71.

Singer, Alan J. 1996. "'Something of a Man': John L. Lewis, the UMWA, and the CIO, 1919-1943." In *The United Mine Workers of America: A Model of Industrial Solidarity?*, ed. J. Laslett, 104-150. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Six, Dean. 2012. *West Virginia Glass Towns* [early 1800's to present]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 230 pp. Alphabetical list of 57 towns identifying 450 hot glass manufacturers in those communities, documenting dates of operation and products they made, plus photos and blueprint maps.

Skidmore, Hubert. [1941] 2004. *Hawk's Nest: A Novel* [1930 silicosis industrial disaster at Gauley Bridge, W. Va.]. Reprint. Appalachian Echoes. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 350 pp. Original run of several hundred copies published, New York: Doubleday, Doran & Co., before ceasing at request of Union Carbide.

Skrabec, Quentin R. 2004. *The Boys of Braddock: Andrew Carnegie and the Men Who Changed Industrial History*. Westminster, Md.: Heritage Books. 230 pp. Steel industry; Braddock, Pa.; Edgar Thomson Works.

Skrabec, Quentin R. 2010. *Henry Clay Frick: The Life of the Perfect Capitalist*. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 262 pp. Pittsburgh coke and coal capitalist Frick (1849-1919), "reviled in his own time, infamous in ours, was blamed for the Johnstown Flood [1889] as well as the violent Homestead Strike of 1892 and survived multiple assassination attempts, yet at the same time was an ardent philanthropist, giving over \$100 million during his own lifetime and insisting on anonymity."

Skrabec, Quentin R. 2010. *The World's Richest Neighborhood: How Pittsburgh's East Enders Forged American Industry*. New York: Algora. 233 pp. "The residents of Pittsburgh's East End controlled as much a 40% of America's assets at the turn of the last century The story of this neighborhood is a story of America at its greatest point of wealth and includes rags-to-riches stories, political corruption, scandals, and greed." Subjects include George Westinghouse, Henry Clay Frick, Andrew Carnegie, H. J. Heinz, Andrew Mellon, and others.

Skrabec, Quentin R. 2012. *The Carnegie Boys The Lieutenants of Andrew Carnegie That Changed America*. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 239 pp. "This chronicle offers a new, more complex perspective on Carnegie [1935-1919] demonstrating how he and his lieutenants helped to shape America's view of capitalism."

Slavin, Peter. 2011. "Goin' to the Mountain: Inside Activists' Five-Day, 50-Mile March to Protect a West Virginia Mountain from Strip Mining" [Blair Mountain]. *In These Times*, 28 June. 2,565 words. http://www.inthesetimes.com/article/11571/goin_to_the_mountain/.

Slavishak, Edward Steven. 2008. *Bodies of Work: Civic Display and Labor in Industrial Pittsburgh*. Durham, N.C.: Duke University Press. 354 pp. Contents: The magic of the nineteenth century: industrial change and work in Pittsburgh -- Working-class muscle in the Battle of Homestead -- The working body as a civic image -- The Pittsburgh Survey [1907-08] and the body as evidence -- "Delicately built": the "problem" of working women in Pittsburgh -- Hiding and displaying the broken body -- Epilogue: "That's work, and that's what people like to watch!"

Sleight-Brennan, Sandra. 2002. "Appalachia's Vanishing Mountains" [mountaintop removal overview]. *Contemporary Review* 281 (October): 232-235.

Smith, Barbara. 1998. "A 'Dam' Good Worker: Dam Builder Ralph Poling" [Tygart Dam, 1934-1938; Grafton, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Winter): 37-43.

Smith, Barbara. 1998. "Glory Days for Grafton: Building the Tygart Dam" [Tygart River; 1934-1938]. Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life 24 (Winter): 32-36.

Smith, Barbara. 1999. "'I Know Them All': Monongah's Faithful Father Briggs" [91-year-old patron of fallen miners at site of nation's worst mine disaster in 1907]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Winter): 21-24.

Smith, Kenneth L. [1986] 2006. *Sawmill: The Story of Cutting the Last Great Virgin Forest East of the Rockies* [Ouachita Mountains]. Reprint. Fayetteville: University of Arkansas Press. 260 pp.

Smith, Melvin. 2011. "The Power of Water" [Rabun Co., Ga.]. Interview by Eric Dyer. *Foxfire Magazine* 45, no. 3-4 (Fall-Winter): 11-16. Student interview with forty-two-year employee of Georgia Power, Melvin Smith, about the inner workings of hydro plants including the dam at Tallulah Falls (Chattooga River).

Smith, Robert Michael. 2003. From Blackjacks to Briefcases: A History of Commercialized Strikebreaking and Unionbusting in the United States. Athens: Ohio University Press. 179 pp.

Sninsky, Ed. 2009. "Student Steelworker: Every Job in the Homestead Plant." *Western Pennsylvania History* 92, no. 3 (Fall): 44-57. Describes many jobs he held at the Homestead Steel Works in the early 1950s as the author worked his way through college.

Snyder, Joseph. 2012. *Baltimore and Ohio: The Passenger Trains and Services of America's First Common-Carrier Railroad, 1827-1971.* Shepherdstown, W. Va.: Juniper House. 250 pp. Well-researched, engaging history divided into ten eras; lushly illustrated with photos, dramatic painted scenes and drawings, timetables, menus, advertisements, and more.

Soderlund, Jean R., and Catherine S. Parzynski, ed. 2008. *Backcountry Crucibles: The Lehigh Valley from Settlement to Steel* [Pa.; 14 papers]. Bethlehem, Pa.: Lehigh University Press. 349 pp.

Solomon, Brian. 2008. *Railroads of Pennsylvania: Your Guide to Pennsylvania's Historic Trains and Railway Sites*. St. Paul, Minn.: Voyageur Press. 160 pp. Pt. 1: Anthracite Country; Pt. 3: Through the Mountains; map; color photos.

Southern Railway (U.S.). [1917] 1995. *The Floods of July 1916: How the Southern Railway Organization Met an Emergency* [N.C., S.C.; photos]. Reprint. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 131 pp.

Spatial Analysis of Coal Mining Impacts on Eastern Kentucky Watersheds. 2010. Morgantown, W. Va.: Downstream Strategies; Louisville, Ky.: Kentucky Waterways Alliance. 27 pp. Maps, charts. "Using publicly accessible data, this report uses GIS to model, quantify, and report [coal mining] impacts."

 $http://www.downstreamstrategies.com/documents/reports_publication/downstreamstrategies-Eastern KYGISR eport Final.pdf.\\$

Spadaro, Jack. 2005. "Mountaintop Removal and the Destruction of Appalachia" [speech at the 2005 Appalachian Studies Association annual meeting by former head of National Mine Health and Safety Academy]. *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 2 (Spring): 37-40.

Spadaro, Jack. 2007. "Interview with Jack Spadaro: On Being a Whistleblower for Mine Safety and Health" [2003 demotion; Martin Co., Ky., slurry spill cover-up]. Interview by Annie Bryant, Phil Jamison, Carl Jenkins, Susan Pepper, and Leila Weinstein, with Patricia D. Beaver. *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 326-350.

Spangler, Patricia. 2008. *The Hawks Nest Tunnel: An Unabridged History*. Proctorville, Oh.: Wythe-North Publishing. 264 pp. Union Carbide Corporation; 1936; Gauley Mountain, W. Va.; Congressional investigation; interviews; media coverage; hundreds of African American worker deaths from silicosis.

Stahl, Ray, and Ned L. Irwin. 2012. *The Last Empire Builder: A Life of George L. Carter, 1857-1936*. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University. 240 pp. "Carter created three 'empires'--in iron, railroads, and coal....weaving...the southern Appalachian region into the fabric of the American nation." Carter constructed the Carolina, Clinchfield & Ohio Railway, engineered the first deep mine shafts in W. Va., and was at one time the owner of the largest private coal company in America, the Carter Coal Company.

Standiford, Les. 2005. *Meet You in Hell: Andrew Carnegie, Henry Clay Frick, and the Bitter Partnership that Transformed America* [steel industry; Homestead Strike, 1892; Pinkerton detectives]. New York: Crown Publishers. 319 pp.

Stankowski, Edward F. 2004. *Memory of Steel* [biography: Pittsburgh, 1980s steel industry collapse]. Lima, Ohio: Wyndham Hall Press. 122 pp.

Stealey, John E., III. 2003. "An Overview of the Antebellum Great Kanawha Salt Industry" [W. Va.]. In *Great Kanawha Valley Chemical Heritage, Symposium Proceedings, May 3, 2003, Institute, West Virginia*, comp. Lee R. Maddex, 1-13. Morgantown, W. Va.: Institute for the History of Technology and Industrial Archaeology.

Stealey, John Edmund, III, ed. 2000. *Kanawhan Prelude to Nineteenth-Century Monopoly in the United States: The Virginia Salt Combinations* [history of salt industry in Va. (W. Va.); reprints 19 documents of incorporation, 1817-1851]. Richmond: Virginia Historical Society. 133 pp.

Stealey, John Edmund, III. 1999. "Kanawhan Prelude to Nineteenth-Century Monopoly in the United States: The Virginia Salt Combinations" [history of salt industry; 1808-1860s; Va. (W. Va.)]. Virginia Magazine of History and Biography 107 (no. 4): 349-477.

Steele, John Washington. [1902] 2006. *Coal Oil Johnny: Story of His Career As Told by Himself* [1843-1921]. Chicora, Pa.: Mechling Bookbindery. 211 pp. Originally self published: Franklin, Pa. Steele ("Coal Oil Johnny") made and lost an oil fortune along 1860s Oil Creek, Venango Co. Pa, and lost it in Philadelphia.

Stepenoff, Bonnie. 1997. "Keeping It in the Family: Mother Jones and the Pennsylvania Silk Strike of 1900-1901" [Klots silk mill; Carbondale, Pa.]. *Labor History* 38 (Fall): 432-449.

Stepenoff, Bonnie. 1999. *Their Father's Daughters: Silk Mill Workers in Northeastern Pennsylvania, 1880-1960.* Selinsgrove, Pa.: Susquehanna University Press. 199 pp.

Sterba, Christopher M. 1996. "Family, Work, and Nation: Hazelton, Pennsylvania, and the 1934 General Strike in Textiles." *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 120 (January/April): 3-35.

Stern, Gerald M. 2008. *The Scotia Widows: Inside Their Lawsuit against Big Daddy Coal*. New York: Random House. 145 pp. Blue Diamond Coal Company, Letcher County, Ky. The March 9, 1976 explosion killed 15 miners, and two days later a second explosion killed 11 rescue workers.

Stewart, Bonnie E. 2011. *No. 9: The 1968 Farmington Mine Disaster* [W. Va.]. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 288 pp. 78 miners died in Consolidation Coal Company's No. 9 Mine explosion, November 20, 1968 at Farmington. "Based on public records and interviews...*No.9* describes the conditions underground before and after the disaster and the legal struggles of the miners' widows to gain justice and transform coal mine safety legislation."

Sticklen, Shainna. 2007. "Coal Mining: A Family Business in West Virginia." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 9-11.

Stoker, Louise Dawson, and Dana Stoker Cochran. 2005. *Bramwell: A Town of Millionaires* [W. Va.; 19th-century coal boom; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Stolarik, M. Mark. 1997. "Slovak-Americans in the Great Steel Strike" [1919; Pa.]. *Pennsylvania History* 64 (Summer): 407-418.

Stomberg, Joseph. 2006. "Appalachian Coal Region." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 8: *Environment*, ed. M. Melosi, 181-184. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Stover, R. Brooks. 2010. *The Elk River Coal & Lumber Company: The History of the Company, Its Railroads and Its Towns with Accounts by the People Who Lived It* [Clay Co., W. Va.]. [No location]: R.B. Stover. 216 pp.

Stradling, David. 2001. "Cities of the Valley." *Ohio Valley History* 1, no. 1 (Winter): 37-42.

Straub, Jim. 2008. "Braddock, Pennsylvania." *Monthly Review: An Independent Socialist Magazine* 60, no. 7 (December): 39-52. "...explores the strategy used by Mayor John Fetterman in improving urban services for the existing old residents".... "many of whom are elderly or struggling with health issues, addiction, or poverty." Located on the Monongahela River adjacent to Pittsburgh, the "town's existence is a legacy of the Edgar Thomson Steel Works, which in 1875 was the first major steel mill built in the country," and is the setting for Thomas Bell's 1941 novel, *Out of This Furnace* (University of Pittsburgh Press, 1976).

Strickland, JL. 2012. "A Natural-Born Linthead." *Southern Cultures* 18, no. 4 (Winter): 96-106. Growing up in a cotton textile mill town in "the Valley" (Alabama's Chattahoochee River Valley) where her parents had migrated from backwoods Randolph County.

Striffler, Steve. 2009. "Tyson Foods, Holly Farms, and the Rise of Big Chicken" [Wilkesboro, N.C.]. Chap. 6 in *Migration and the Transformation of the Southern Workplace Since 1945*, ed. R. Cassanello and C. Davis, 145-173. Gainesville: University Press of Florida.

Striking a Balance: Conserving & Developing Appalachia's Natural Resources. 2001. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 18 (Winter): 1-44.

Sturr, Chris, and Amy Offner. 2003. "Flattening Appalachia" [criticizes mining techniques]. *Dollars & Sense* no. 248 (July/August): 10-11.

Suggs, George G., Jr. 2002. "My World Is Gone": Memories of Life in a Southern Cotton Mill World [Bladenboro, N.C.]. Detroit, Mich.: Wayne State University Press. 188 pp.

Swain, George T. [1927] 2009. *The Blair Mountain War: Battle of the Rednecks, "No armed mob will cross Logan County.*" Chapmanville, W.Va: Woodland Press. 70 pp. Originally published in Logan, W. Va.; reprinted from the author's *The History of Logan County* (b. 1887).

Swartz, Gordon Lloyd, III. 1998. "Locomotive Engineer Gilbert King: 'I Like Railroading'" [W. Va.; B&O rail line; 1940s-50s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Summer): 34-41.

Swope, Christopher. 2006. "The Battles of Blair Mountain." *Preservation* 58, no. 3: 34-39. Logan Co., W. Va.; anti-strip mining initiative; National Historic Landmark nomination, 2002.

Tabb, Rick, and Josephine Dellinger. 2012. *Clifton Forge* [Va.; photo retrospective]. Published on behalf of the C&O Historical Society and the Clifton Forge Woman's Club. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. "It was a strategic location on the Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad, which developed a large railroad yard and locomotive and repair shops....a classic railroad boomtown...until the shops closed in the late 1980s."

Taft, Michael. 2004. "George Korson: Pioneer Collector of Industrial Folklore" [1927-1967: Pa. coal miners; field recordings]. *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 26, no. 1 (Winter): 6-8. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/news-text-winter2004.html.

Tams, W. P., Jr. [1963, 1983] 2001. *The Smokeless Coal Fields of West Virginia: A Brief History*. Reprint, with a new introduction by Ronald D. Eller. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 120 pp.

Tanner, Borgon. 2010. "Into the Woods with Ely-Thomas: One Day's Drama at Jetsville." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 1 (Spring): 40-49. Lumber and track crews repair railroad bridges and roads after a 1954 flash flood; Greenbrier and Nicholas Counties.

Tanner, Borgon. 2011. "Wetzel & Tyler Railway" [trolley]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 2 (Summer): 10-15. Rural electric streetcar line connecting the Ohio River towns of New Martinsville, Paden City, and Sistersville, 1903-1925.

Tarr, Joel A., ed. 2003. *Devastation and Renewal: An Environmental History of Pittsburgh and Its Region* [8 contributors; steel and coal pollution; reclamation]. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press. 281 pp.

Tate, Curtis. 2012. "Tunnel Trouble: Building and Rebuilding the Cincinnati Southern, 1869-1999." *Ohio Valley History* 12, no. 3 (Fall): 68-77. Cincinnati to Chattanooga, 338 miles, 105 bridges, 27 tunnels.

Tedesco, Marie. 2006. "Claiming Public Space, Asserting Class Identity, and Displaying Patriotism: The 1929 Rayon Workers' Strike Parades in Elizabethton, Tennessee" [American Bemberg and American Glanzstoff plants]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 12, no. 2 (Fall): 55-87.

Teter, Betsy Wakefield, ed. 2002. *Textile Town: Spartanburg County, South Carolina* [history, 1816 to present]. Spartanburg, S.C.: Hub City Writers Project. 346 pp.

Thesing, William B. 2000. "General Bibliography on Coal Mining in Art, Literature, and Film." In *Caverns of Night: Coal Mines in Art, Literature, and Film*, ed. W. Thesing, 267-270. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press.

Thesing, William B., ed. 2000. *Caverns of Night: Coal Mines in Art, Literature, and Film*. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 281 pp.

Thomas, Erin Ann. 2012. *Coal in Our Veins: A Personal Journey*. Logan: Utah State University Press. 274 pp. "Thomas employs historical research, autobiography, and journalism to intertwine the history of coal, her ancestors' lives mining coal, and the societal and environmental impacts." Wales, Utah, and West Virgina [Sago Mine collapse, 2006].

Thornton, Tim. 2006. "Young and Eager, Activists Aim for a Clearer Focus" [Va.; Mountain Justice Summer; anti-mountaintop removal]. *Roanoke Times*, 3 July, A5. Reprinted in

Appalachian Journal 34, no. 2 (Winter 2007): 153-156, titled "We Knew the Sixties Would Come Back!"

Timko, Stephen M. 2012. *Appalachian Coal Mines and Railroads in Color. Vol. 1, Kentucky*. Photographs by Everett N. Young. Scotch Plains, N.J.: Morning Sun Books. 128 pp.

Toker, Franklin. 2009. "The River Towns: Valleys of Industry" [Monongahela, Ohio, and Allegheny Rivers]. Chap. 8 in *Pittsburgh: A New Portrait*, by F. Toker, 382-441. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press. Book based on a previous work by the author, *Pittsburgh: An Urban Portrait*, originally published by Penn State Press (1986) and reprinted by University of Pittsburgh Press (1989).

Transportation in Appalachia: Articles, Essays, Poetry, and Reviews. 1998. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 15 (Winter): 1-40.

Treese, Lorett. [2003] 2012. *Railroads of Pennsylvania*. 2nd ed. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 344 pp.

Trifonoff, Karen M. 2000. "The Mine Fire in Centralia, Pennsylvania" [historical geography; 38-year-old underground mine fire; Columbia Co.]. *Pennsylvania Geographer* 38 (Fall/Winter): 3-24.

Tropea, Joseph L. 2008. "Revisiting Monongah." *Appalachian Journal* 35, no. 4 (Summer): 358-364. Review essay of Davitt McAteer's *Monongah: The Tragic Story of the 1907 Monongah Mine Disaster, the Worst Industrial Accident in US History* (West Virginia University Press, 2007).

Turcott, Jean Whitford. 2000. "'The Vortex of Party Strife': The Funding Debate and Construction of the New York and Erie Railroad, 1832-1851" [N.Y.'s southern tier Appalachian counties]. In *Canal History and Technology Proceedings* 19: 91-125. Easton, Pa.: Canal History and Technology Press.

Uchimura, Kazuko. 2010. "Coal Operators and Market Competition: The Case of West Virginia's Smokeless Coalfields and the Fairmont Field, 1853-1933." *West Virginia History*, n.s. 4, no. 2 (Fall): 59-86. Competing with northern rivals in coalfields of Pa., Oh., Ill., and Ind.

U.S. Coal Mine Safety and Health Administration. 2004. *Report of Investigation: Underground Coal Mine Nonfatal Entrapment, July 24, 2002: Quecreek #1 Mine, ID no. 36-08746, Black Wolf Coal Company, Inc., Quecreek, Somerset County, Pennsylvania.* By accident investigators Edwin P. Brady, et al. Arlington, Va.: Mine Safety and Health Administration. 133 pp. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS34985.

United States Government Accountability Office. 2009. Surface Coal Mining: Characteristics of Mining in Mountainous Areas of Kentucky and West Virginia: Report to Congressional Requesters. Washington, D.C.: GPO. 82 pp. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS119902.

United States. 2010. Surface Coal Mining Financial Assurances for, and Long-Term Oversight of, Mines with Valley Fills in Four Appalachian States: Report to Congressional Requesters [W. Va., Tenn., Va., Ky.]. Rev. ed. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Govt. Accountability Office. 63 pp. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS121933.

United States. Congress. 2006. *Sago Mine Disaster and an Overview of Mine Safety: Hearing before a Subcommittee of the Committee on Appropriations, United States Senate* [W. Va.; 12 deaths]. 109th Cong., 2nd sess., 23 January. (S. hrg.; 109-534). Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office. 83 pp.

United States. EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). 2011. The Effects of Mountaintop Mines and Valley Fills on Aquatic Ecosystems of the Central Appalachian Coalfields.

Washington, D.C.: Office of Research and Development, National Center for Environmental Assessment. EPA/600/R-10/023F. 153 pp. http://www.epa.gov/ncea/. "Our conclusions, based on evidence from the peer-reviewed literature, and from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's Programmatic Environmental Impact Statement released in 2005, are that MTM-VF lead directly to five principal alterations of stream ecosystems: (1) springs, and ephemeral, intermittent, and small perennial streams are permanently lost with the removal of the mountain and from burial under fill, (2) concentrations of major chemical ions are persistently elevated downstream, (3) degraded water quality reaches levels that are acutely lethal to standard laboratory test organisms, (4) selenium concentrations are elevated, reaching concentrations that have caused toxic effects in fish and birds and (5) macroinvertebrate and fish communities are consistently degraded." http://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/risk/recordisplay.cfm?deid=225743.

United States. EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). 2011. *A Field-Based Aquatic Life Benchmark for Conductivity in Central Appalachian Streams*. Washington, D.C.: Office of Research and Development, National Center for Environmental Assessment. EPA/600/R-10/023F. 275 pp. http://www.epa.gov/ncea/. "The impetus for the benchmark is the observation that high conductivities [salt mixture] in streams below surface coal mining operations, especially mountaintop mining and valley fills, are associated with impairment of aquatic life." http://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/cfm/recordisplay.cfm?deid=233809.

United States. Government Accountability Office. 2009. "Surface Coal Mining Characteristics of Mining in Mountainous Areas of Kentucky and West Virginia: Report to Congressional Requesters." Washington: U.S. Govt. Accountability Office. 82 pp. (GovDoc: GA 1.13:GAO-10-21.) Highlights: http://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-10-21. Full report: http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS119902.

United States. Government Accountability Office. 2010. "Surface Coal Mining: Financial Assurances for, and Long-Term Oversight of, Mines with Valley Fills in Four Appalachian States: Report to Congressional Requesters." Washington: U.S. Govt. Accountability Office. 63 pp. (GovDoc: GA 1.13:GAO-10-206.) Highlights: http://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-10-206. Full report: http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS121933.

United States. 2012. Learning from the Upper Big Branch Tragedy: Hearing Before the Committee on Education and the Workforce, U.S. House of Representatives, One Hundred

Twelfth Congress, Second Session, Hearing Held in Washington, DC, March 27, 2012. Serial no. 112-56. Washington: U.S. Government Printing Office. 129 pp. Contents: Investing in mine safety: preventing another disaster. Twenty-nine miners died in the Upper Big Branch mine explosion, April 5, 2010, at Montcoal, Raleigh County, W. Va. https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CHRG-112hhrg73385/pdf/CHRG-112hhrg73385.pdf.

United States. 2012. Jobs at Risk: Community Impacts of the Obama Administration's Effort to Rewrite the Stream Buffer Zone Rule: Oversight Field Hearing Before the Subcommittee on Energy and Mineral Resources of the Committee on Natural Resources, U.S. House of Representatives, One Hundred Twelfth Congress, First Session, Monday, September 26, 2011, in Charleston, West Virginia. Serial no. 112-66. Washington: U.S. Government Printing Office. 119 pp. Contents: As the mountaintops fall, a coal town vanishes | Project's fate may predict the future of mining | Coal curriculum called unfit for 4th graders | Manchin calls for calm in the coalfields. http://purl.fdlp.gov/GPO/gpo31311.

Updike, William D. 2003. "The Red Sand Site (46Ka354): Archaeological and Historical Investigations of a Nineteenth-Century Kanawha Valley Saltworks" [W. Va.]. In *Great Kanawha Valley Chemical Heritage, Symposium Proceedings, May 3, 2003, Institute, West Virginia*, comp. Lee R. Maddex, 15-30. Morgantown, W. Va.: Institute for the History of Technology and Industrial Archaeology.

Urbina, Ian, and Jo Craven McGinty. 2011. "Learning Too Late of Perils in Gas Well Leases" [Marcellus Shale; Dimock, Pa.]. With research contributed by Jeremy Ashkenas and Kitty Bennett. *New York Times*, 2 December, 1(A), Drilling Down series. 2,522 words. Sidebar links to: previous articles in this series; 111,000 oil and gas leases from Tex., N.Y., Oh., Pa., W. Va.; "A Layman's Guide to Lease Terms"; and Readers' Comments. "Energy company officials say that standard leases include language that protects landowners. But a review of more than 111,000 leases, addenda and related documents by The New York Times suggests otherwise." http://www.nytimes.com/2011/12/02/us/drilling-down-fighting-over-oil-and-gas-well-leases.html?_r=1&nl=todaysheadlines&emc=tha2.

Urbina, Ian. 2011. "Drilling Down" (series). *New York Times*. Investigative series on hydraulic fracturing ("hydrofracking") drilling for natural gas, detailing the environmental effects of dumping contaminated water, with a focus on Pennsylvania.

Urbina, Ian. 2011. "Gas Wells Recycle Water, but Toxic Risks Persist" [Pa.]. *New York Times*, 2 March, 1(A), Drilling Down series. 2234 words. Sidebar (interactive graphic): "Chemicals and Toxic Materials That Come With Hydrofracking." Sidebar: "Documents: Politics, Recycling and Tracking of Natural Gas Waste," includes annotated copies of six of the most significant of 3,000 state and federal documents obtained through open record requests, with links to 1,000 of them. http://www.nytimes.com/2011/03/02/us/02gas.html?_r=1.

Urbina, Ian. 2011. "Regulation Lax as Gas Wells' Tainted Water Hits Rivers" [Pa.]. *New York Times*, 27 February, 1(A), Drilling Down series. 4086 words. Articles in this series will examine the risks of natural-gas "hydrofracking" of the Marcellus Shale and efforts to regulate this rapidly growing industry. http://www.nytimes.com/2011/02/27/us/27gas.html.

Utility's Appalachian Connection Clears Environmental Hurdle [environmentally controversial \$287-million electric transmission line to extend 90 miles between W. Va. and Va. and cross the Jefferson National Forest and Appalachian Trail]. 2003. *ENR: Engineering News-Record*, 13 January, 18.

Vance, Warren. 2004. "Close Call at Altman" [1947 Boone Co.; collision course train flagged down]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Fall): 30-31.

Varano, Charles S. 1999. Forced Choices: Class, Community, and Worker Ownership [Weirton Steel Corp., Weirton, W. Va.]. SUNY Series in the Sociology of Work and Organizations. Albany: State University of New York Press. 396 pp.

Varat, Daniel R. 2007. "A Successful Strike: 'The Entire Community Is With the Employees'" [1924 walkout; Champion Fibre Company (paper mill), Haywood Co., N.C.]. *Appalachian Journal* 35, no. 1-2 (Fall 2007/Winter 2008): 28-52.

Vick, Alison. 2012. "We Are a Distinct and Peculiar People': Oliver Perry Temple and the Knoxville Industrial Association Address of 1869." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 84: 87-100.

Victory Through Chemistry. 2012. Special Report, *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 1 (Spring): 23-31. "'Just Get It Done': Synthetic Rubber in Institute"; "The Union Carbide Story: Franklin Jividen Recalled"; and "The U.S. Rubber Story: Frank Sayre Recalls," by Warren Woomer; plus sidebar, "Synthetic Rubber: How It's Made," by Ed Hile.

Vollers, Maryanne. 1999. "Razing Appalachia" [W. Va.; mountaintop removal]. *Mother Jones* 24 (July/August): 36-43, 86-87. http://www.motherjones.com/news/feature/1999/07/mountaintop.html.

Waite, John R. 2003. *The Blue Ridge Stemwinder: An Illustrated History of the East Tennessee & Western North Carolina Railroad and the Linville River Railway* [1760-2000; "Tweetsie"]. Design and cartography by Chris H. Ford. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 386 pp.

Waite, John R. 2003. *The Blue Ridge Stemwinder: An Illustrated History of the East Tennessee and Western North Carolina Railroad and the Linville River Railway*. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 387 pp.

Walcott, Susan M. 2011. "The Furniture Foothills and the Spatial Fix Globalization in the Furniture Industry" [N.C. Piedmont; recession]. *Southeastern Geographer* 51, no. 1 (Spring): 6-30.

Waldrep, G. C., III. 2000. *Southern Workers and the Search for Community: Spartanburg, South Carolina* [textile mill villages; 1930s labor activism]. The Working Class in American History series. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 272 pp. http://www.press.uillinois.edu/epub/books/waldrep/toc.html.

Walker, Melissa, and James C. Cobb, ed. 2008. *Agriculture and Industry*, Vol. 11 of *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 354 pp. Agriculture: 63 essays; Industry: 50 essays.

Walker, Mike. 2004. SPV's Comprehensive Railroad Atlas of North America: Appalachia & Piedmont [106 maps: Ky., W. Va., Va., Tenn., N.C.]. Canterbury, Kent, England: Stuart Andrews. 100 pp.

Wallace, Anthony F. C. 2004. "The Perception of Risk in Nineteenth-Century Anthracite Mining Operations." In *Modernity & Mind: Essays on Culture Change*, vol. 2, ed. Robert Steven Grumet, 201-211. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.

Waples, David A. 2005. *The Natural Gas Industry in Appalachia: A History from the First Discovery to the Maturity of the Industry*. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 276 pp.

Ward, Ken, Jr. 1999. "Mining the Mountains" [mountaintop removal]. *Southern Exposure* 27 (Fall): 45-49. Reprinted from the *Charleston Gazette*, W. Va.

Ward, Ken, Jr. 2001. "Mountaintop Removal: Federal Strip Mining Law Ignored" [W. Va.]. *IRE Journal* 24 (July/August): 12-13, 30.

Ward, Ken. 2006. "Beyond Sago; Coal Mine Safety in America, One by One Disasters Make Headlines, but Most Miners Killed on the Job Die Alone; Poor Safety Checks, Ignored Plans at Fault" [series of special reports on coal mine safety after a deadly year]. *Charleston Gazette* (W. Va.) 5 November, 1(E), 4066 words.

Ward, Ken, Jr. 2009. *Coal Tattoo* [blog], *Charleston Gazette* [W. Va.]. http://blogs.wvgazette.com/coaltattoo/. Taking its name from the Billy Ed Wheeler song, *Coal Tattoo* "attempts to build on the newspaper's longtime coverage of all things coal — with a focus on mountaintop removal, coal-mine safety and climate change."

Ward, Ken, Jr. 2012. "Coal Pornography: What Is This Really All About?" *Coal Tattoo* (blog). *Charleston Gazette*, 6 June. 2,006 words. West Virginian Maria Gunnoe's hearing testimony before a Congressional subcommittee about the effects of mountaintop removal included a coal-polluted-water bathtub photo of a little girl; she was detained afterwards by Capitol police, at Republican committee members' urging, on suspicion of child pornography. http://blogs.wvgazette.com/coaltattoo/2012/06/06/coal-pornography-what-is-this-all-really-about/

Ward, Ken, Jr. 2012. "Slurry Safety: Learning from the CONSOL Collapse." *Coal Tattoo* (blog). *Charleston Gazette*, 6 December. 1,593 words. "It's been nearly a week since the terrible collapse of a 'saddle dike' at CONSOL Energy's Robinson Run complex in Harrison County, W. Va. Crews are still looking for the body of a United Mine Workers dozer operator who was killed when he and his machine were dumped into the operation's huge Nolan Run

slurry impoundment." http://blogs.wvgazette.com/coaltattoo/2012/12/06/slurry-safety-learning-from-the-consol-collapse/.

Ward, Ken, Jr. 2012. "Obama Brings Back Streamlined Coal Mine Permits." *Charleston-Gazette*, 16 February. 374 words. "Despite a promise to stop the practice, the Obama administration this week said it would resume allowing coal companies to obtain strip-mine permits through a streamlined process previously thrown out by a federal judge." http://www.wvgazette.com/News/201202160210.

Warren, Kenneth. 2001. *Big Steel: The First Century of the United States Steel Corporation*, 1901-2001 [Pa.]. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 405 pp.

Warren, Kenneth. 2001. Wealth, Waste, and Alienation: Growth and Decline in the Connellsville Coke Industry [Pa.]. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 297 pp.

Warren, Kenneth. 2008. *Bethlehem Steel: Builder and Arsenal of America*. Pittsburgh, Pa: University of Pittsburgh Press. 322 pp. Rise and demise; 1850s to 2001.

Warrick, Joby. 2007. "Into the Darkness - Deep in the dangerous mines of West Virginia, thousands willingly risk their lives -- for coal, a good paycheck and each other"]. *Washington Post*, 21 January, W10 (Magazine). 7466 words. (Correction: Magazine article incorrectly said that 350 rail cars could carry 4 million tons of coal. It would take about 40,000 typical cars, or 350 to 400 typical coal trains, to carry that amount).

Welcome to Elkridge, Fayette County, WV. 2005. [web page; community scrapbook; coal camp; local history, photographs, sound clips; subpages: Coal Mining; Community; Depression; Grow Up; History; Memorial Day; Memories; World War]. http://freepages.genealogy.rootsweb.com/~elkridge/index.htm.

Wesolowsky, Tony. 1995. "A Jewel in the Crown of Old King Coal: Eckley Miners' Village." *Pennsylvania Heritage* 22 (Winter): 30-37.

West Virginia. 2011. *Upper Big Branch: The April 5, 2010, Explosion: A Failure of Basic Coal Mine Safety Practices* [Whitesville, W. Va.]. Shepherdstown, W. Va.: Governor's Independent Investigation Panel [J. Davitt McAteer, Katie Beall, James A. Beck, Jr., Patrick C. McGinley, Celeste Monforton, Deborah C. Roberts, Beth Spence, and Suzanne Weise]. 126 pp. Report posted online by Robert C. Byrd National Technology Transfer Center, Wheeling Jesuit College, Wheeling, W. Va. http://www.nttc.edu/ubb/.

Whalen, Robert W. 1998. "Recollecting the Cotton Mill Wars: Proletarian Literature of the 1929-1931 Southern Textile Strikes." *North Carolina Historical Review* 75 (October): 370-397.

Whalen, Robert Weldon. 2001. "Like Fire in Broom Straw": Southern Journalism and the Textile Strikes of 1929-31. Contributions in American History, no. 191. Westport, Conn.: Greenwood. 125 pp.

Whisnant, Ann Mitchell. 2003. "Public and Private Tourism Development in 1930s Appalachia: The Blue Ridge Parkway Meets Little Switzerland." In *Southern Journeys: Tourism, History, and Culture in the Modern South*, ed. R. Starnes, 88-113. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Wilber, Tom. 2012. *Under the Surface: Fracking, Fortunes and the Fate of the Marcellus Shale* [N.Y., Pa.]. Ithaca, N.Y.: Cornell University Press. 272 pp. "...the first book-length journalistic overview of shale gas development and the controversies surrounding it....Control over drilling rights is at stake."

Williamson, J. W. 2003. "The Dangerous Mother Jones." *Appalachian Journal* 30 (Winter-Spring): 214-225. Review essay of *Mother Jones: The Most Dangerous Woman in America*, by Elliott J. Gorn (New York: Hill and Wang, 2001).

Wilson, Kathleen Curtis. 1995. "Fabric and Fiction: The Clinch Valley Blanket Mills, 1890-1950." In *Appalachia and the Politics of Culture*, ed. E. C. Fine. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 7: 50-56. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Wilson, Shannon H. 1998. "A Little Journey Into Harlan County: William J. Hutchins and the Harlan County Troubles, 1932" [excerpts of Berea College president's impressions of Harlan Co., Ky., during coal strike]. *Appalachian Heritage* 26 (Spring): 7-12.

Wingerd, Mary Lethert. 1996. "Rethinking Paternalism: Power and Parochialism in a Southern Mill Village" [Cooleemee, N.C.]. *Journal of American History* 83 (December): 872-902.

Wishart, Ryan. 2012. "Coal River's Last Mountain: King Coal's 'Après moi le déluge' Reign." *Organization & Environment* 25, no. 4 (December): 470-485. Failed proposal to substitute wind energy for mountaintop removal coal mining; Coal River Valley, W. Va.

Withers, Bob. 2001. "Capturing Steam: Railroad Photographer J. J. Young" [1940s-50s Wheeling, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Summer): 10-23.

Withers, Bob. 2004. "Grafton's B&O Station: Revisiting a Railroad Treasure" [built 1911; railroad hub]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Fall): 10-15.

Withers, Bob. 2007. "The Caboose Man: A Visit with Jim Mullins of Madison" [b. 1932; Chesapeake and Ohio Railway; builds small-scale replicas]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 4 (Winter): 16-21.

Withers, Bob. 2007. *The Baltimore and Ohio Railroad in West Virginia* [vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Withers, Bob. 2008. "The Cardinal and Its Rolling History Lesson." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 4 (Winter): 24-31. Amtrak train; New River Gorge.

Withers, Bob. 2008. "The Duke of Prince: Ticket Agent Marvin Plumley." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 4 (Winter): 32-37. Fayette County, New River Gorge; 40-year railroad career.

Withers, Bob. 2011. *West Virginia Railroads: Volume 3, Baltimore & Ohio*. Forest, Va.: TLC Publishing. 128 pp. Photos; late steam and early diesel periods. Contents: Introduction -- Cumberland Division -- Monongah Division -- Wheeling Division -- Pittsburgh Division -- Passenger Trains.

Wolensky, Kenneth C. 2000. "A Working Class Haven in the Pocono Mountains: Unity House -- ILGWU" [International Ladies' Garment Workers' Union]. In *Canal History and Technology Proceedings* 19: 69-90. Easton, Pa.: Canal History and Technology Press.

Wolensky, Kenneth C. 2005. "The No. 9 Mine and Wash Shanty Museum, Lansford, Pennsylvania" [interprets anthracite coal mining culture]. *Pennsylvania History* 72, no. 4 (Autumn): 531-534.

Wolensky, Kenneth C., and Robert P. Wolensky. 1999. "Min Matheson and the Wyoming Valley District of the ILGWU" [organizing; International Ladies' Garment Workers' Union]. In *Keystone of Democracy: A History of Pennsylvania Workers*, ed. H. Harris, P. Blatz, 265-269. Harrisburg: Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission.

Wolensky, Kenneth C., Nicole H. Wolensky, and Robert P. Wolensky. 2002. *Fighting for the Union Label: The Women's Garment Industry and the ILGWU in Pennsylvania* [International Ladies' Garment Workers' Union; deindustrialization of the anthracite region; Wyoming Valley Oral History Project]. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 275 pp.

Wolensky, Robert P. 1997. "Those Men Killed Up at Knox" [1959 mine disaster; Luzerne Co., Pa.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Winter): 17-19.

Wolensky, Robert P., and Joseph M. Keating. 2008. *Tragedy at Avondale: The Causes, Consequences, and Legacy of the Pennsylvania Anthracite Coal Industry's Most Deadly Mining Disaster, September 6, 1869.* Easton, Pa.: Canal History and Technology Press. 191 pp. Fire killed 108, mostly Welch; Pa.'s first major mining legislation followed; ethnic conflict with Irish.

Wolensky, Robert P., and Kenneth C. Wolensky. 1998. "Disaster — or Murder? — in the Mines" [1959; 12 die when flooding Susquehanna River pours into Luzerne Co., Pa. mine]. *Pennsylvania Heritage* 24 (Spring): 4-11.

Wolensky, Robert P., Kenneth C. Wolensky, and Nicole H. Wolensky. 1999. *The Knox Mine Disaster, January 22, 1959: The Final Years of the Northern Anthracite Industry and the Effort to Rebuild a Regional Economy*. Harrisburg, Pa.: Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission. 164 pp.

Wolensky, Robert P., Kenneth C. Wolensky, and Nicole H. Wolensky. 2005. *Voices of the Knox Mine Disaster: Stories, Remembrances, and Reflections of the Anthracite Coal Industry's*

Last Major Catastrophe, January 22, 1959. Harrisburg: Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission. 268 pp.

Wolfe, Eugene. [1993] 1999. "No Christmas at Monongah: December 6, 1907" [nation's worst mine disaster; 361 known dead, mostly eastern Euopean immigrants]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Winter): 12-20. Reprint, originally published vol. 19, no. 4.

Wolfe, Hugh, and Ed Wolfe. 2001. *Appalachian Coal Hauler: The Interstate Railroad's Mine Runs and Coal Trains* [photo-documentary]. Lynchburg, Va.: TLC Publishing. 160 pp.

Wolfe, Margaret Ripley. 1999. "The Towns of King Coal" [company towns, 1890s to 1930s]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 97 (Spring): 189-201.

Wollman, David H., and Donald R. Inman. 1999. *Portraits in Steel: An Illustrated History of Jones & Laughlin Steel Corporation* [Pittsburgh]. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press. 331 pp.

Woodrum, Robert H. 2005. "The Rebirth of the UMWA and Racial Anxiety in Alabama, 1933-1942" [murder of black coal miner Jack Bloodworth, 1942]. *Alabama Review* 58, no. 4 (October): 243-281.

Woodrum, Robert H. 2009. "Wearing Their Own Tombstones on Their Backs": Globalization and the Coalfields of Alabama and Columbia, 1970-2003." Chap. 5 in *Migration and the Transformation of the Southern Workplace Since 1945*, ed. R. Cassanello and C. Davis, 114-144. Gainesville: University Press of Florida.

Woods, Brad R., and Jason S. Gordon. 2011. "Mountaintop Removal and Job Creation: Exploring the Relationship Using Spatial Regression" [W. Va.]. *Annals of The Association of American Geographers* 101, no. 4 (July): 806-815. Maps, tables. Study area: ten southern W. Va. counties.

Woomer, Warren. 2003. "Institute Goes to War: The Buna-S Synthetic Rubber Story" [W. Va.; WWII]. In *Great Kanawha Valley Chemical Heritage, Symposium Proceedings, May 3, 2003, Institute, West Virginia*, comp. Lee R. Maddex, 49-64. Morgantown, W. Va.: Institute for the History of Technology and Industrial Archaeology.

Workers Champion Employee Ownership in Western North Carolina [Canton paper mill; Champion International]. *Southern Exposure* 27 (Summer): 11.

Workman, Michael E. 2000. "The Kay Moor Mine, 1901-1962: A Case Study of Underground Mechanization in the Bituminous Coal Fields of Southern West Virginia." In *Canal History and Technology Proceedings* 19: 143-179. Easton, Pa.: Canal History and Technology Press.

Workman, Michael E. 2009. "Sadly in Need of Organization': Labor Relations in the Fairmont Field, 1890-1918" [central-northern W. Va.; immigrant miners; unionization]. In *Culture, Class*,

and Politics in Modern Appalachia: Essays in Honor of Ronald L. Lewis, ed. J. Egolf, K. Fones-Wolf, and L. Martin, 141-165. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Workman, Michael E., Paul Salstrom, and Philip W. Ross. 1994. *Northern West Virginia Coal Fields: Historical Context*. Technical Report, no. 10. Morgantown: West Virginia University, Institute for the History of Technology and Industrial Archaeology. 185 pp, with 16 fold-out maps; tables; appendices. Contents: The Fairmont Coal Field / Michael Workman -- The Upper Potomac Coal Field / Paul Salstrom -- The Elkins Coal Field / Paul Salstrom -- The Northern Panhandle Coal Field / Paul Salstrom -- The Kanawha Coal Field / Philip W. Ross.

Worley, Howard V. 2006. West Side Belt Railroad [1800-1928; history, photos, maps]. Pittsburgh Railroad History, no. 3 [The Pittsburgh & West Virginia Railway and Wabash Pittsburgh Terminal Railway are the first two books in this series]. Saxonburg, Pa.: Howdy Productions. 159 pp.

Wright, G. Richard, and Kenneth H. Wheeler. 2009. "New Men in the Old South: Joseph E. Brown and his Associates in Georgia's Etowah Valley." *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 93, no. 4 (Winter): 363-387. Civil War governor; iron furnaces; Cherokee frontier; slavery.

Wymard, Ellie. 2007. *Talking Steel Towns: The Men and Women of America's Steel Valley* [1892-1980s; interviews]. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Carnegie Mellon University Press. 96 pp.

Youngner, Rina C. 2006. *Industry in Art: Pittsburgh, 1812-1920* [historic illustrations: immigrants; steel; labor unrest and strikes]. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 188 pp.

Zehl, Valerie A. 1997. "Who Are These Anthracite People?: Pennsylvania Anthracite Heritage Museum" [Scranton, Pa.]. *Pennsylvania Heritage* 23 (Winter): 14-21.

Zeller, Tom, Jr. 2010. "A Battle in Mining Country Pits Coal Against Wind." *New York Times*, 14 August, 1(BU). 2,928 words. Rock Creek, W. Va.; Coal River Mountain and Massey Energy; map, graphics, video, audio, photos, blog. http://www.nytimes.com/2010/08/15/business/energy-environment/15coal.html?dbk.

Zeller, Tom, Jr. 2010. "Energy Debate Yields Little Middle Ground." Green: A Blog About Energy and the Environment (blog), *New York Times*, 22 January. 778 words. Debate between environmentalist Robert Kennedy, Jr., and Massey Energy CEO Don Blankenship over mountaintop removal mining and the future of coal.

http://green.blogs.nytimes.com/2010/01/22/energy-debate-yields-little-middle-ground/.

Zieger, Robert H. 1996. "John L. Lewis and the Labor Movement, 1940-1960." In *The United Mine Workers of America: A Model of Industrial Solidarity?*, ed. J. Laslett, 151-166. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Zieger, Robert H. 1997. "From Primordial Folk to Redundant Workers: Southern Textile Workers and Social Observers, 1920-1990." In *Southern Labor in Transition, 1940-1995*, ed. R. Zieger, 273-294. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Zipper, Carl. 2001. "The Bush Energy Policy and Appalachia: Back to the Coal Mines?" *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 18 (Winter): 15-19.

DESCRIPTION and TRAVEL, RECREATION and SPORTS

Car trips, hiking, biking, camping, canoeing, hunting and fishing, white water rafting, mountain climbing, guidebooks, and sports teams

A Heritage Journey Through the Great Smoky Mountains. 1998. Franklin, N.C.: Smoky Mountain Host of North Carolina. 48 pp. A detailed guide of N.C.'s seven westernmost counties.

Abraham, Michael. 2010. *The Spine of the Virginias: Journeys along the Border between Virginia and West Virginia*. Blacksburg, Va.: Pocahontas Press. 418 pp. "...vignettes of people and places."

Abraham, Michael. 2011. *Harmonic Highways: Motorcycling Virginia's Crooked Road*. Blacksburg, Va.: Pocahontas Press. 303 pp. Virginia's Heritage Music Trail tourism initiative.

Ackerman, Jennifer. 1997. "A Grand Allegheny Resort" [The Homestead; Hot Springs, Va.; built 1766]. *New York Times*, 6 April, 12, 16 (sec. 5).

Adamich, Tom. 2003. "The Dirt Was Flying': Racing Pioneer Dave Kurtz" [1950s stock car racer]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Summer): 38-44.

Adams, Charles S., comp, ed. 1997. *Roadside Markers in West Virginia* [text of 820 markers]. Rev. ed., published by Charles S. Adams, 201 Ryan Ct., Shepherdstown, W. Va. 25443. 92 pp.

Adams, Kevin. 1994. North Carolina Waterfalls: Where to Find Them, How to Photograph Them. Winston-Salem: John F. Blair. 208 pp.

Adams, Kevin. 2002. Waterfalls of Virginia and West Virginia: A Hiking and Photography Guide [200 falls]. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 256 pp.

Adams, Kevin. 2003. *Hiking Great Smoky Mountains National Park* [80 hikes detailed]. Guilford, Conn.: Falcon. 287 pp.

Adams, Noah. 2001. Far Appalachia: Following the New River North [N.C.-Va.-W. Va.; travelogue]. New York: Delacorte Press. 238 pp.

Adkins, Leonard M. 2000. Fifty Hikes in Maryland: Walks, Hikes, and Backpacks from the Allegheny Plateau to the Atlantic Ocean. Woodstock, Vt.: Backcountry Guides. 287 pp.

Adkins, Leonard M. 2000. Fifty Hikes in Northern Virginia: Walks, Hikes, and Backpacks from the Allegheny Mountains to the Chesapeake Bay. 2nd ed. Woodstock, Vt.: Backcountry Guides. 287 pp.

Adkins, Leonard M. 2002. Fifty Hikes in Southern Virginia: Walks, Hikes, and Backpacks from the Cumberland Gap to the Atlantic Ocean. Woodstock, Vt.: Backcountry Guides. 302 pp.

Adkins, Leonard M. 2002. *Maryland: An Explorer's Guide* [incl. "Mountains of Western Maryland"]. Woodstock, Vt.: Countryman Press. 494 pp.

Adkins, Leonard M. 2003. Walking the Blue Ridge: A Guide to the Trails of the Blue Ridge Parkway [100 hikes over 70 trails]. 3rd ed. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 242 pp.

Adkins, Leonard M. 2005. 50 Hikes in West Virginia: From the Allegheny Mountains to the Ohio River [guidebook]. Woodstock, Vt.: Countryman Press. 320 pp.

Adkins, Leonard M. 2007. West Virginia: An Explorer's Guide [authoritative guidebook; nine subregions; maps]. Woodstock, Vt.: Countryman Press. 536 pp.

Adkins, Leonard M. 2011. West Virginia: An Explorer's Guide. 2nd ed. Woodstock, Vt.: Countryman Press. 496 pp. Contents: What's where in West Virginia. EASTERN PANHANDLE: Where the Potomac and the Shenandoah meet: Harpers Ferry, Charles Town, and Shepherdstown | South of The Potomac: Martinsburg, Berkeley Springs, and the Cacapon River and Mountain. POTOMAC HIGHLANDS: Soaring with eagles along the Potomac's South Branch: Romney and Moorefield | The land of Canaan: Canaan Valley, Blackwater Falls, and Dolly Sods | Reaching for the sky: Spruce Knob; Seneca Rocks, and Cranberry Glades | Snowshoe Mountain. SOUTHERN WEST VIRGINIA: Old towns, surviving and alive: Lewisburg, White Sulphur Springs, and Union | The Southern Border: Bluefield, Hinton, Pineville, Princeton, and Welch | Along the New and Gauley Rivers: Beckley, Fayetteville, and Summersville. THE HATFIELD-MCCOY MOUNTAINS. CENTRAL WEST VIRGINIA: shimmering lakes, tumbling waters, sparkling glass, and easygoing towns. MOUNTAINEER COUNTRY: Morgantown and vicinity | The Clarksburg/Fairmont environs. THE METRO VALLEY: Life along the Kanawha River: the State Capital and surrounding area | River towns: Huntington and Point Pleasant. THE MID-OHIO VALLEY: beside the waters of the Ohio and Little Kanawha Rivers. NORTHERN PANHANDLE.

Adkins, Leonard M. 2012. *Along the Appalachian Trail: Georgia, North Carolina, and Tennessee*. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Two-hundred vintage photographs.

Alfrey, Adam H. 2012. *The Great Smoky Mountains National Park*. Postcard History Series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Allen, James Lane. 2004 [1886]. "Through the Cumberland Gap on Horseback" [Burnside, Cumberland Falls, Williamsburg, Barbourville, Pineville, Yellow Creek, Ky.; Cumberland Gap, Tenn.]. In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia, 1840-1900*, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 249-274. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Originally published: *Harper's Monthly* 73 (June 1886): 50-66.

Amberg, Rob. 2012. Review essay of the web resource, *Driving Through Time: The Digital Blue Ridge Parkway* [in North Carolina; http://docsouth.unc.edu/blueridgeparkway/]. *Southern Spaces*, 3 April. 1,000 words, plus interactive maps, illustrations, and recommended resources. http://southernspaces.org/2012/driving-through-time-digital-blue-ridge-parkway.

Anderson, Colleen. 1998. *The New West Virginia One-Day Trip Book: More Than 200 Affordable Adventures in the Mountain State*. McLean, Va.: EPM Publications. 336 pp.

Anderson, Gary. 2011. "Norris Lake Vocabulary" [Tenn.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 21-22. Language and idiom of road signs has gone upscale along with the invasion of gated communities.

Andrews, James and Kenneth Wise. 1997. *The Best Overnight Hikes in the Great Smoky Mountains*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 104 pp.

Antonik, John. 1994. 100 Seasons: The History of WVU Baseball, 1892-1994. Edited by Kevin Keys. [No location]: Printing, Pioneer Press. 64 pp.

Antonik, John. 2010. *Roll Out the Carpet: 101 Seasons of West Virginia University Basketball*. Foreword by Rod Thorn; afterword by Bob Huggins. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 276 pp.

Antonik, John. 2012. *The Backyard Brawl: Stories from One of the Weirdest, Wildest, Longest Running, and Most Intense Rivalries in College Football History* [WVU vs. Pitt]. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 288 pp.

Appalachian Adventure: From Georgia to Maine–A Spectacular Journey on the Great American Trail. 2005. Atlanta, Ga.: Longstreet Press. 181 pp. Text, photos, stories detailing a March-October, 1995 hike along the Appalachian Trail, by the staffs of *The Atlanta Journal-Constitution*, *The News & Observer* of Raleigh, *The Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*, *The Hartford Courant*, and *The Maine Sunday Telegram*.

Appalachian Trail Conservancy. 2012. *The Appalachian Trail: Celebrating America's Hiking Trail* [history]. Text by Brian B. King; foreword by Bill Bryson. New York: Rizzoli. 334 pp., plus folded map. Oversized volume with more than 300 color photos and images; in celebration of the trail's 75th anniversary.

Appalachian Trail on My Mind [collected color photos; various photographers; literary captions]. 2002. Guilford, Conn.: Globe Pequot Press. 96 pp.

Appalachian Whitewater: The Southern States. 3rd ed. 1997. Birmingham: Menasha Ridge Press. 256 pp.

Ascher, Barbara Lazear. 2005. "Blues Traveler" [i.e., Blue Ridge; Manhattanite revisits hometown; Floyd Co., Va.]. *National Geographic Traveler* 22, no. 3 (April): 114-119.

Bailey, Barbara Copenhaver. 2003. "Brooke County Trapping" [1940s-50s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Winter): 49-51.

Bailey, Wayne. 2002. *Wayne's Turkey World: 60 Years of Hunting* [W. Va.; master field biologist]. Edited with a foreword by Jim Casada. Milton, N.C.: W. Bailey, (Richtman's Printing Inc., Bismarck, N.D.). 168 pp.

Baker, Andrew J. 2005. "When the Thunder Dies" [NASCAR; rise and fall of the North Wilkesboro Speedway, N.C.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 21, no. 2 (Fall): 13-15.

Ballew, Bill. 2007. *A History of Professional Baseball in Asheville* [N.C.; 1920s-80s; photos]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 126 pp.

Bannon, James. 1997. West Virginia: A Guide to Backcountry Travel & Adventure. Asheville: Out There Press. 264 pp.

Bardugon, Thom. 2011. "Falconry: An Ancient Sport in a Modern World, Part II" [Cleveland, Ga.]. Interview by Ethan Phillips. *Foxfire Magazine* 45, no. 1-2 (Spring-Summer): 72-80. Hunting with a red-tailed hawk. See also: Part I, "An Interview with Buster Brown," 60-71.

Barnes, Tony. 2006. *Seneca: The Climber's Guide* [W. Va., rock climbing; Spruce Knob-Seneca Rocks National Recreation Area; 437 routes detailed]. 2nd ed. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Earthbound Sports. 231 pp.

Barnett, Bob. 2005. "When the 'Big Green' Rolled: Newell's Championship Season" [1951-52 state championship basketball]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 1 (Spring): 10-17.

Barnett, C. Robert, and Michele Schiavone, section editors. "Sports and Recreation" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 1361-1405 (with introductory essay, 1361-1367). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Barrell, Allison. 2004. "'Bring Your Own Towel': Nudism, Federal Courts, and the Timberline Lodge" [Tenn. nudist resort]. In *Rural Life and Culture in the Upper Cumberland*, ed. M. Birdwell and W. Dickinson, 323-333. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Barrick, Michael. 1998. "The Hillbilly Highway" [people and places along Interstate 77, W. Va. to N.C.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 15 (Winter): 21-24.

Batchelor, John E. 2012. *Chefs of the Mountains: Restaurants and Recipes from Western North Carolina*. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 338 pp. "...profiles more than 40 well-established and up-and-coming chefs from the region....with recipes from each chef."

Baxter, Philip. 2010. "Rafting the Chattooga River" [Ga.]. Interview by Jeanie Buchanan. *Foxfire Magazine* 44, no. 1-2 (Spring-Summer): 3-18. The Chattooga was the setting for the 1972 film, "Deliverance."

Bechdel, Tom. 2006. *Coyote Hunting: The Eastern Coyote*. Terra Alta, W. Va.: Headline Books. 89 pp.

Becker, Carl M. 1998. *Home and Away: The Rise and Fall of Professional Football on the Banks of the Ohio River, 1919-1934* [Portsmouth and Ironton, Ohio, and Ashland, Ky.]. Athens: Ohio University Press. 367 pp.

Becker, Carl. 1999. "'Beat the Tanks': A Chronicle of the Ashland Armcos, 1925-30" [Ky., Ohio; early, semi-professional football]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 97 (Autumn): 403-443.

Beekman, Scott. 2010. NASCAR Nation: A History of Stock Car Racing in the United States. Santa Barbara, Calif: Praeger. 175 pp.

Believe: The Story of the 2007 West Virginia Mountaineer Football Team. 2008. Morgantown, W. Va.: Pediment Publishing. 160 pp. After losing its head coach, WVU went on to defeat #3 Oklahoma at the 2008 Fiesta Bowl. Newspaper columns and commentary, photographs.

Benner, Bob, and David Benner. 2005. *Carolina Whitewater: A Paddler's Guide to the Western Carolinas*. 9th ed. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 262 pp.

Bernstein, Danny. 2012. Hiking North Carolina's Blue Ridge Mountains: Blue Ridge Parkway, Grandfather Mountain, Great Smoky Mountains National Park, Hickory Nut Gorge, Linville Gorge, NC State Parks, Pisgah National Forest and Much More. Almond, N.C.: Milestone Press. 377. Day hikes guidebook.

Birchard, William, Robert D. Proudman, and others. 2000. *Appalachian Trail Design*, *Construction, and Maintenance*. 2nd ed. Harpers Ferry, W.Va: Appalachian Trail Conference. 237 pp. "Here are eight decades of experience gathered by the citizen-volunteers who design, build, and maintain the world-famous Appalachian Trail....from laying out trail routes to cutting and marking trail and 'hardening' treadway through wet or fragile areas."

Blake, Christopher, ed. 2005. *River of Cliffs: A Linville Gorge Reader* [N.C.; literary collection]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 157 pp.

Bolgiano, Chris. 1997. "Trailing Lonesome Pines" [Big Stone Gap, Va.; Breaks Interstate Park, Ky. and Va.; and setting for novelist John Fox Jr.]. *New York Times*, 6 April, 13-14 (sec. 5).

Borowiec, Andrew. 2000. *Along the Ohio* [Ohio River Valley; 80 duotone photos]. Creating the North American Landscape. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 128 pp.

Boyd, Robin. 2006. *Mountain Biker's Guide to West Virginia* [trails at 19 locations]. Photography by Daniel Boyd. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 144 pp.

Bratton, Susan. 2012. *The Spirit of the Appalachian Trail: Community, Environment, and Belief on a Long-Distance Hiking Path*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 284 pp. "...addresses the spiritual dimensions of hiking the Appalachian Trail....how long-distance walking might enhance both body and mind."

Brill, David. [1990] 2003. *As Far as the Eye Can See: Reflections of an Appalachian Trail Hiker*. Reprint. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 190 pp. Originally published: Nashville: Rutledge Hill Press.

Brosi, George. 2009. "This Side of the Mountain" [heritage tourism]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 3 (Summer): 6-7. Brainstorming ideas with the ARC for "asset-based community development" along the lines of Va.'s "The Crooked Road" musical heritage route -- projects that "celebrate our heritage, encourage learning...promote economic development" and offer "a stage not a cage" for local people.

Brown, Buster. 2011. "Falconry: An Ancient Sport in a Modern World, Part I' [Cleveland, Ga.]. Interview by Ethan Phillips. *Foxfire Magazine* 45, no. 1-2 (Spring-Summer): 60-71. Hunting with a red-tailed hawk. See also: Part II, "An Interview with Thom Bardugon," 72-80.

Brown, Dick. 2008. King of the Mountain: The Story of Jerry Moore's Rise from the Depths of Despair to Lead the Appalachian State University Mountaineers to Three Straight National Championships [football coach; b. 1939]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: DB Ink. 213 pp.

Brown, Fred, and Nell Jones, ed. 1991. *The Georgia Conservancy's Guide to the North Georgia Mountains*. 2nd ed. Foreword by Jimmy Carter. Atlanta, Ga.: Longstreet Press. 251 pp.

Brown, Fred, et al. 2007. *The Riverkeeper's Guide to the Chattahoochee River: From Its Origin at Chattahoochee Gap to Apalachicola Bay* [Ga.; guidebook]. Illustrations by Garry Pound. Atlanta: CI Publishing. 352 pp.

Brown, Rodger Lyle. 1997. *Ghost Dancing on the Cracker Circuit: The Culture of Festivals in the American South*. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 204 pp. Contents: Ch. 1. Stuffing Sin in a Lard Bucket: Rattlesnake Roundup at Whigham, Georgia -- Ch. 2. History's All We Have Left: The Tobacco Festival (Clarkton, North Carolina), Swine Time (Climax, Georgia), and the Banana Festival (South Fulton, Tennessee) -- Ch. 3. Honoring the Cob: Hillbilly Days at Pikeville, Kentucky -- Ch. 4. This Year's Hernando: The De Soto Celebration at Bradenton, Florida -- Ch. 5. Destiny in Dayton: The Scopes Trial Play and Festival at Dayton, Tennessee -- Ch. 6. "Hey, Barney. Hey, Andy.": Mule Day at Calvary, Georgia -- Ch. 7. Aunt Bee's Death Certificate: Mayberry Days at Mount Airy, North Carolina.

Brown, Scott E. 2004. *Pennsylvania Waterfalls: A Guide for Hikers and Photographers* [52 hikes/falls; maps, color photos, local history]. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 143 pp.

Bruce, Dan. 2001. *The Thru-Hiker's Handbook: Georgia to Maine 2001: #1 Guide for Long-Distance Hikes on the Appalachian Trail*. 11th ed. Hot Springs, N.C.: Center for Appalachian Trail Studies. 173 pp.

Bryson, Bill. 1998. A Walk in the Woods: Rediscovering America on the Appalachian Trail [more humor than guidebook]. New York: Broadway Books. 288 pp.

Buhite, Russell D. 2004. "The Continental League and Its Western Carolina League Affiliate: Branch Rickey's Second Finest Hour" [eight minor league teams/towns]. *North Carolina Historical Review* 81 (October): 426-460.

Bunce, Oliver Bell. 2004 [1871]. "On Lookout Mountain (with Illustrations by Harry Fenn)" [Chattanooga, Lookout Mountain, Rock City, Tenn.]. In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia, 1840-1900*, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 59-69. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Originally published: *Appleton's Journal* 6 (26 Aug. 1871): 238-242.

Burnett, John. 2004. "Fishing in Berwind" [details 1950s boyhood creek-fishing, McDowell Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Summer): 46-49.

Campbell, Ben E. 2011. "Destination Country Roads." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 12-13. Memoir; W. Va.; 1970 short-bed Chevy truck.

Campbell, Bill, and Nye Simmons. 2003. *The Smoky Mountains Photographer's Guide* [tips, locations, color photos]. Edited by Steve Kemp. Knoxville, Tenn.: Little River Publishing. 128 pp.

Car Racing in Appalachia: From 'Shine to Shrines. 2005. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 21, no. 2 (Fall): 1-44.

Carpenter, Frank O. 2004 [1890]. "The Great Smoky Mountains and Thunderhead Peak" [Maryville, Tuckaleechee Cove (Townsend), Thunderhead Mountain (Great Smoky Mountains National Park), Tenn./N.C.]. In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia, 1840-1900*, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 331-339. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Originally published: *Appalachia* 6 (Dec. 1890): 138-146.

Carr, Margaret S. 2011. "Ray." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 5-7. Long distance truck-driving with Ray Shipley of Washington County, Tenn.

Carroll, Steven, and Mark Miller. 2003. *Hiking, West Virginia* [70 trails guidebook]. Guilford, Conn.: Falcon. 258 pp.

Caruso, Gary. 2012. *Marietta College Baseball: The Story of the 'Etta Express* [Ohio]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 239 pp. "The Marietta College Pioneers...own a record five NCAA Division III National Championships, including 2011."

Caruso, Mario. 2008. *West Virginia Rider's Guide*. Hot Springs, Ark.: Mario Caruso. 144 pp. Motorcycle tour guidebook includes dozens of rides, narrative, dining and lodging suggestions.

Casto, James E. 2011. *Highway to History: A Midland Trail Scrapbook* [vintage W. Va. photos]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 112 pp. U.S. Route 60, White Sulphur Springs to Huntington, 189 miles.

Casto, James E., and Gerald S. Ratliff. *West Virginia: Mountain Majesty*. [photographs]. Charleston, W. Va.: West Virginia Division of Culture and History. 260 pp.

Cater, Steve. 1996. New River Gorge Trail Guide: Hiking and Biking Trails of the New River Gorge Area, Cranberry Glades and the Greenbrier Trail [W. Va.]. Fayetteville, W. Va.: King Coal Propaganda. 92 pp.

Cater, Steve. 2006. *New River Gorge, Meadow River and Summersville Lake Rock Climbers' Guidebook Comprehensive* [W. Va.; 72 walls, photos, diagrams]. 3rd ed. Fayetteville, W. Va.: King Coal Propaganda. 255 pp.

Chamberlin, Silas. 2010. "To Ensure Permanency': Expanding and Protecting Hiking Opportunities in Twentieth-Century Pennsylvania" [1900-1950]. *Pennsylvania History* 77, no. 2 (Spring): 193-216. Horse Shoe Trail Club, Alpine Club, and others; Appalachian Trail.

Chambers, Thomas A. 2002. *Drinking the Waters: Creating an American Leisure Class at Nineteenth-Century Mineral Springs* [White Sulphur Springs, W. Va.; Saratoga Springs, N.Y.]. Washington: Smithsonian Institution Press. 282 pp.

Che, Deborah. 2006. "Going to the Mountains: Deer Hunters in the Allegheny National Forest Region." In *Pittsburgh and the Appalachians: Cultural and Natural Resources in a Postindustrial Age*, ed. J. Scarpaci, 203-219. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press.

Clabough, Casey. 2007. "To Bristol: Along the Warrior's Path: An Excerpt from the Book *The Warrior's Path*" [University of Tennessee Press, 2007]. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 3, no. 2 (Summer/Fall): nonfiction section, 5600 words. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-2/non-fiction/Nonfiction1Clabough.htm.

Clabough, Casey. 2007. *The Warrior's Path: Reflections along an Ancient Route* [500 mile trail, Md. to Tenn.; frontier life]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 188 pp.

Clarke, Liz. 2008. *One Helluva Ride: How NASCAR Swept the Nation*. New York: Villard. 293 pp. History; Dale Earnhardt.

Clauson-Wicker, Su. 2005. West Virginia: Off the Beaten Path: A Guide to Unique Places [eight subregions]. 5th ed. Foreward by Jay Rockefeller. Insiders' Guide Series; Off the Beaten Path Series. Guilford, Conn.: Globe Pequot Press. 195 pp.

Clauson-Wicker, Su. 2000. *Inn-to-Inn Walking Guide: Virginia and West Virginia* [20 hikes]. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 199 pp.

Clauson-Wicker, Su. 2002. "Riding Route 52: The Old Coal Road" [Bluefield to Williamson, 95 miles]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Spring): 10-19.

Colbert, Judy. 2008. *Virginia: Off the Beaten Path: A Guide to Unique Places*. 10th ed. Guilford, Conn.: Globe Pequot Press. 256 pp. Arranged by five subregions, including Western Virginia and Southwestern Virginia.

Comm, Joseph A. 2010. *Rock Springs Park* [Chester, W. Va.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp. Landmark amusement park, 1897-1970.

Compton, Stephen C. 2004. *Early Tourism in Western North Carolina* [pictorial retrospective]. Images of America. Charleston, SC: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Connelly, John. 1999. *Appalachian Whitewater: The Northern States*. 3rd ed. [guidebook includes N.Y., Pa., Md., and W. Va.]. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 258 pp.

Conte, Robert S. [1989] 1998. *The History of the Greenbrier: America's Resort* [five star hotel; White Sulphur Springs, W. Va.]. Rev. ed. Charleston, W. Va.: Pictorial Histories Publishing Company. 333 pp.

Cook, Joe, and Monica Cook. 2000. *River Song: A Journey Down the Cattahoochee and Apalachicola Rivers* [200 photographs; North Ga. source]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 224 pp.

Cooke, George. 2004 [1840]. "Sketches of Georgia" [Habersham Co., Tallulah Gorge, Toccoa Falls, Mt. Yonah, Clarkesville, Dahlonega, Athens]. In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia*, 1840-1900, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 41-48. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Originally published: *Southern Literary Messenger* 6 (Nov. 1840): 775-777.

Cordes, Kathleen Ann. 2001. *America's National Scenic Trails* [incl. Appalachian and Potomac]. Photographs by Jane Lammers. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press. 384 pp.

Costa, Tom. 2011. "James Buckingham's Travels in Southern Appalachia, 1839." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 15: 1-22. Travel descriptions of an Englishman (b. 1786): Tenn., Va., N.C., slavery, health spas, mountains, towns.

Cottrill, David. 2004. "Oakhurst Links: Golfing the Old-Time Way" [Greenbrier Co.; home to America's first organized golf club in the 1880s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Summer): 62-65.

Crockett, Maureen. 2008. "Berdines: A Visit to Ritchie County's Old-Time 5 & Dime." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 3 (Fall): 24-29. "Eclectic emporium," opened 1908.

Czarnecki, Greg, and Karen Czarnecki. 1999. *Longstreet Highroad Guide to the Pennsylvania Mountains* [detailed guidebook; five subregions; maps]. Atlanta, Ga.: Longstreet Press. 306 pp.

Daniel, Diane. 2011. Farm Fresh North Carolina: The Go-to Guide to Great Farmers' Markets, Farm Stands, Farms, Apple Orchards, U-Picks, Kids' Activities, Lodging, Dining, Choose-and-Cut Christmas Trees, Vineyards and Wineries, and More. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 282 pp. Arranged by subregions: Mountains, Charlotte, Triad, Triangle, Coastal.

Davidson, Paul, Ward Eister, Dirk Davidson, and Charlie Walbridge. [1972] 1995. *Wildwater West Virginia, Fourth Edition*. Birmingham: Menasha Ridge Press. 283 pp.

Davis, Rebecca Harding. [1875] 2004. "The Yares of the Black Mountains" [Old Fort, Asheville, North Fork Valley (Swannanoa), N.C.]. In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia, 1840-1900*, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 173-192. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Originally published: *Lippincott's* 16 (July 1875): 35-47. Reprint in *Silhouettes of American Life*, New York: Scribner's, 1892.

Davis, Ren, and Helen Davis. 2001. *Georgia Walks: Discovery Hikes Through the Peach State's Natural and Human History* [52 walks; 7 subregions]. Atlanta: Peachtree. 439 pp.

De Hart, Allen, and Bruce Sundquist. 1999. *Monongahela National Forest Hiking Guide*. 7th ed. Charleston, W. Va.: West Virginia Highlands Conservancy. 342 pp.

De Hart, Allen, and Bruce Sundquist. 2006. *Monongahela National Forest Hiking Guide*. 8th ed. Charleston, W.Va: West Virginia Highlands Conservancy. 356 pp.

De Hart, Allen. [1984] 1995. *The Trails of Virginia: Hiking the Old Dominion*. Rev. ed. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 421 pp.

De Hart, Allen. 1996. *North Carolina Hiking Trails*. 3rd ed. Boston: Appalachian Mountain Club. 512 pp.

De Hart, Allen. 1997. West Virginia Hiking Trails: Hiking the Mountain State [guidebook]. 2nd ed. Boston: Appalachian Mountain Club. 416 pp.

De Hart, Allen. 2000. *Hiking North Carolina's Mountains-to-Sea Trail*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 371 pp.

De Hart, Allen. 2005. *North Carolina Hiking Trails* [guidebook]. 4th ed. Boston: Appalachian Mountain Club Books. 592 pp.

Deeds, Jean. 1996. *There Are Mountains to Climb* [thru-hiking the Appalachian Trail at 51]. Indianapolis: Silverwood Press. 216 pp.

Deford, Frank. 2005. "Let's Cut to the Chase: Cut the Chases" [NASCAR; Daytona 500]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 21, no. 2 (Fall): 44.

DeLaughter, Jerry. 2004. *Smokies Road Guide* [Great Smoky Mountains National Park, guidebook to 14 auto tours; color photos]. Gatlinburg, Tenn.: Great Smoky Mountains Association. 154 pp.

DeLeon, Clark. 2001. Pennsylvania Curiosities: Quirky Characters, Roadside Oddities & Other Offbeat Stuff. Curiosities Series. Guilford, Conn.: Globe Pequot Press. 207 pp.

Dickson, Scott. 2005. *In Search of Mayberry: A Guide to North Carolina's Favorite Small Towns*. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 116 pp.

Dimmock, George. 2004 [1877]. "A Trip to Mt. Mitchell in North Carolina" [Wolf Creek, Tenn.; Warm Springs (Hot Springs), Marshall, Asheville, North Fork (Swannanoa) Valley, Mount Mitchell, N.C.]. In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia, 1840-1900*, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 319-329. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Originally published: *Appalachia* 1 (June 1877): 141-151.

Driver, David. 1998. "The Pride of Nitro: Baseball Star Lew Burdette" [1957 World Series pitcher]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Fall): 56-63.

Du Bois, W. E. B. 2004 [1899]. "A Negro Schoolmaster in the New South" [Nashville, Lebanon, Watertown, Tenn.]. In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia, 1840-1900*, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 295-304. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Originally published: *Atlantic Monthly* 83 (Jan. 1899): 99-105.

Dye, Amanda. 2005. "And the Crowd Goes Wild" [NASCAR fan loyalty]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 21, no. 2 (Fall): 6-9.

Dyen, Doris J. 2006. "Routes to Roots: Searching for the Streetlife of Memory" [heritage tourism, Southwestern Pa.; Rivers of Steel National Heritage Area]. *Journal of American Folklore* 119, no. 471 (Winter): 19-29.

Earls, Stephanie. 1997. "A King-Sized Reunion: Capon Springs Resort" [history of Hampshire Co. mineral springs]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Spring): 9-17.

Eberhart, M. J. [2000] 2007. *Ten Million Steps: Nimblewill Nomad's Epic 10-Month Trek from the Florida Keys to Quebec* [4400-mile thru-hike; Eastern Continental Divide, Appalachian Trail; 60-year-old]. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 528 pp. Originally self-published.

Edelstein, Robert. 2005. Full Throttle: The Life and Fast Times of NASCAR Legend Curtis Turner [1924-1970]. Woodstock, N.Y.: Overlook Press. 334 pp.

Ellifritt, Duane. 2011. "Baseball Crazy in Doddridge County" [1940s-1950s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 2 (Summer): 24-29.

Emblidge, David, ed. 1996. *The Appalachian Trail Reader* [excerpts from essays, journals, diaries, poems]. New York: Oxford University Press. 382 pp.

Eubanks, Georgann. 2010. *Literary Trails of the North Carolina Piedmont: A Guidebook* [18 driving and walking tours]. Photographs by Donna Campbell. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 455 pp. Contents: Trail One: The Western Piedmont: Mystery and History; Trail Two: The Eastern Piedmont: Writers' Beginnings. See also the author's *Literary Trails of the North Carolina Mountains: A Guidebook* (2007).

Fanslow, Mary. 2008. "What Do They Do at the Springs?: An Overview of Five East Tennessee Resorts." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 80: 1-27. Montvale Springs, Alleghany Springs, Sunshine Rest, Kinzel Springs, Cloudland Hotel; early 19th to mid-20th century.

Fariello, M. Anna. 2006. *Blue Ridge Roadways: A Virginia Field Guide to Cultural Sites* [five auto loop tours; 16-county area]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 318 pp.

Fazio, Wende. 2000. *West Virginia* [juvenile literature]. America the Beautiful. Second series. New York: Children's Press. 144 pp.

Feather, Carl E. 2000. "Our Lady of the Pines: The Small Church With a Big Heart" [Preston Co.; "smallest church in 48 states"]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Spring): 52-57.

Feather, Carl E. 2008. "Selling Side-by-Side at Seneca Rocks." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 3 (Fall): 18-23. Two general stores: Yokum's and Harper's, opened 1902 and 1923; "part store and part museum;" Pendleton County.

Feather, Carl E. 2008. "Yokum's Vacationland: Carving Out a Big Life at Seneca Rocks." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 3 (Fall): 10-17. Pendleton County teepees, cabins, restaurant, campgrounds; Carl and Shirley Yokum, married 70 years.

Feather, Carl E. 2009. "Koolwink Motel: The American Dream in Romney" [opened in 1936; Hampshire Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 1 (Spring): 54-61.

Feather, Carl E. 2010. "Motoring Memories in Kingwood." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 2 (Summer): 66-67. Landmark Westbrook's Esso gas station museum in Preston County, started in 1926.

Field, Harold. 1998. "Our Cruise on the South Branch: The Log Book, July 13-27, 1919" [canoeing the South Branch of the Potomac River]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Summer): 9-17.

Fielden, Greg. 2004. *NASCAR Chronicle* [history, stock car racing; chronology; profusely illustrated]. By Greg Fielden and the auto editors of Consumer Guide. Lincolnwood, Ill.: Publications International. 504 pp.

Fields, Jay, and Brad Campbell. [1996] 2003. *The Craft Heritage Trails of Western North Carolina* [directory]. 3rd ed. Asheville, N.C.: HandMade in America. 237 pp. Contents: Blue Ridge Parkway -- Penland Craft School -- Southern Highland Craft Guild -- Urban Trail -- Biltmore and Craft -- Haywood Community College -- John C. Campbell Folk School.

Finley, Lori. 1994. *Mountain Biking the Appalachians: Northwest North Carolina/Southwest Virginia*. Winston-Salem: John F. Blair. 191 pp.

Finoli, David, and Tom Aikens. 2004. *The Birthplace of Professional Football: Southwestern Pennsylvania* [Westmoreland Co.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp. Illustrated history. "In Latrobe, the first all-professional club was fielded in 1897 These stories also come from towns such as Jeannette and Greensburg."

Fisher, Ron; photographs by Richard Alexander Cooke III. [1992] 1998. *Blue Ridge Range: The Gentle Mountains*. 2nd ed. National Geographic Park Profiles. Washington, D.C.: National Geographic Society. 199 pp.

Fisher, Ronald M. 1997. "On the Trail" [Va.; Appalachian Trail; Mount Rogers National Recreation Area; Rhododendron Gap]. *Audubon* 99 (March/April): 32-33.

Flowers, Pam. 2012. *Ellie's Long Walk: The True Story of Two Friends on the Appalachian Trail* [juvenile literature]. Illustrations by Bill Farnsworth. Portland, Ore.: WestWinds Press. 32 pp. True story of Ellie, an abandoned black Lab puppy and her new owner, Flowers, who hike the 2,000 trail.

Forest, G. (Gil). 1994. *Great Adventures in the Southern Appalachians*. Winston-Salem: John F. Blair. 235 pp.

Frankenburg, Dirk, ed. 2000. Exploring North Carolina's Natural Areas: Parks, Nature Preserves, and Hiking Trails [38 driving "eco-tours"]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 544 pp.

Fresina, Mike. 2005. For the Love of NASCAR: An A-to-Z Primer for NASCAR Fans of All Ages [juvenile literature]. Foreword by Richard Petty; illustrated by Mark Anderson. Chicago, Ill.: Triumph Books. 44 pp.

Friend, Daniel J. 2008. "The Norwalk Comes Home." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 4 (Winter): 9. Last known 1914 Norwalk Underslung Six touring motor car, manufactured in Martinsburg, W. Va., is relocated cross-country from Colorado.

Fulks, Danny. 2005. "Magic Transports & Devil Rides" [late 1940s car culture, Appalachian Ohio]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 21, no. 2 (Fall): 37-39.

Gamble, Mort. 2009. "Circus! Life Under the Big Top" [workers, performers, study and teaching]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 3 (Fall): 34-43.

Garrett County Historical Society, comp. *Ghost Towns of the Upper Potomac* [W. Va.-Md.]. Oakland, Md.: Garrett County Historical Museum. 44 pp.

Garvey, Edward B. 1997. *The New Appalachian Trail* [guidebook, and veteran through-hiker's account at 75]. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 256 pp.

Gasque, Jim. [1948] 2008. *Hunting and Fishing in the Great Smokies: The Classic Guide for Sportsmen*. Reprint. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 256 pp. Originally published: New York: Knopf.

Geiger, Charles. 2005. *Pennsylvania, Landscapes and People* [four sections: physical landscapes, human landscapes, economic activity, urban-environmental issues]. Dubuque, Iowa: Kendall/Hunt. 239 pp.

George, Sue. 2006. *Road Cycling in Central Virginia: A Guide* [45 bicycle routes: Shenandoah Valley/Blue Ridge and western Piedmont]. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 173 pp.

Georgia Appalachian Trail Club. [1995] 1997. Friendships of the Trail: The History of the Georgia Appalachian Trail Club, 1930-1980. Harpers Ferry, W. Va.: Appalachian Trail Conference. Previously published, Atlanta: The Club.

Getting Around Appalachia. 2011. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 1-60. Traveling, transporting, traversing theme.

Gildart, Bert, and Jane Gildart. 1998. *Hiking Shenandoah National Park* [guidebook]. Helena, Mont.: Falcon Publishing Company. 189 pp.

Goldsmith, C. Franklin, Shannon Hamrick, and H. James Hamrick. 2000. *The Best Hikes of Pisgah National Forest* [N.C.; 50 day hikes]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair Publisher. 256 pp.

Golenbock, Peter. 2004. NASCAR Confidential: Stories of the Men and Women Who Made Stock Car Racing Great [interviews]. St. Paul, Minn.: Motorbooks International. 404 pp.

Gooch, Bob. 2004. *Lake Fishing in Virginia* [guidebook to 32 lakes; 5 in Southwestern Va.]. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 152 pp.

Good, Don. 2005. "Car Racing in Appalachia: A Historical and Cultural View." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 21, no. 2 (Fall): 3-5.

Gordon, Joan Morse. 2002. *The Road Taken: A Journey in Time Down Pennsylvania Route 45* [central Pa.]. Pittsburgh: Local History Company. 184 pp.

Gove, Doris. 1998. *Hikes in the Southern Appalachians: Georgia, North Carolina, Tennessee* [32 day hikes]. Exploring the Appalachian Trail. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 381 pp.

Gove, Doris. 2012. *Hikes in the Southern Appalachians: Georgia, North Carolina, Tennessee* [guidebook; 45 hikes]. 2nd ed. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 381 pp.

Grady, Pat. 2012. "Feel the Fall Magic: The Cashiers Valley Leaf Festival" [N.C.]. Interview by student Cailey Horn. *Foxfire Magazine* 46, no. 1-2 (Spring/Summer): 76-80.

Grafton, Emily. 2003. West Virginia Adventure Guide to the Natural History of Blackwater Falls State Park. Terra Alta, W. Va.: Headline Books. 224 pp.

Graham, J. Scott, and Elizabeth C. Hunter. 2003. *Blue Ridge Parkway: America's Favorite Journey* [oversize book; full-page color photos]. Photographs by J. Scott Graham, essays by Elizabeth C. Hunter. Johnson City, Tenn.: J. S. Graham. 141 pp.

Green, Fess B. 2003. Wilderness Road Odyssey: A Cyclist's Journey through Present and Past [maps, photos, attractions]. Blacksburg, Va.: Pocahontas Press. Chronicles 850 miles bicycled between 1994-1998 through six states, from Philadelphia down the Shenandoah Valley to Cumberland Gap, Tenn., up to Louisville, Ky., and Clarksville, Ind., following the original route of the Wilderness Road described by John Filson [1747-1788] in his 1784 book, *The Discovery, Settlement and Present State of Kentucke*.

Green, Judy Lee. 2005. "Daddy Gets the Dirt Track Fever" [1950s Chattanooga, Tenn., car racing]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 21, no. 2 (Fall): 34-36.

Green, Judy Lee. 2011. "Cadillac Hearse." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 15-16. Memoir essay; 1950 summer vacation traversing Great Smoky Mountains.

Greer, Jerry D., Nye Simmons, and Charles W. Maynard. 2012. *Blue Ridge Parkway: An Extraordinary Journey Along the World's Oldest Mountains* [guidebook]. Photography by Jerry Greer and Nye Simmons; essays by Charles W. Maynard. Johnson City, Tenn.: Mountain Trail Press. 120 pp.

Hackett, Clifford. 2008. "Fire on Fairfax Street!" *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 1 (Spring): 34-39. Berkeley Springs hotel fires and other fires, 1844-2006; Morgan County.

Hagebak, Hawk. 2001. *Motorcycle Adventures: North Georgia, Western North Carolina, East Tennessee*. Almond, N.C.: Milestone Press. 144 pp.

Hall, Adrienne. 2000. A Journey North: One Woman's Story of Hiking the Appalachian Trail [Ga. to Me.]. Boston: Appalachian Mountain Club Books. 224 pp.

Hall, Randal L. 2002. "Before NASCAR: The Corporate and Civic Promotion of Automobile Racing in the American South, 1903-1927." *The Journal of Southern History* 68 (August): 629-668.

Hall, Randal L. 2007. "Carnival of Speed: The Auto Racing Business in the Emerging South, 1930-1950." *North Carolina Historical Review* 84, no. 3 (July): 245-275.

Halsey, David H. 2008. "Road Trip: An Eye-Opening Journey to Pocahontas County in 1947" [from Wyoming Co., when the author was 12 years old]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 2 (Summer): 34-41.

Hammond, Mary Ellen, and Jim Parham. 2000. *Natural Adventures in the Mountains of North Georgia* [guidebook]. Almond, N.C.: Milestone Press. 144 pp.

Hammond, Mary Ellen, and Jim Parham. 1999. *Natural Adventures in the Mountains of Western North Carolina* [50 outdoor activities]. Almond, N.C.: Milestone Press. 144 pp.

Hansen, Dorothy. 2001. "A Walk in the Woods" [Appalachian Trail thru-hiker]. Interview by student Adam Hunter. *Foxfire Magazine* 35 (Fall/Winter): 141-152.

Hargan, Jim. 2002. *The Blue Ridge and Smoky Mountains: An Explorer's Guide*. Woodstock, Vt.: Countryman Press. 464 pp.

Hargan, Jim. 2005. *The Shenandoah Valley and the Mountains of the Virginias* [detailed guidebook; "includes Virginia's Blue Ridge and Appalachian Mountains & West Virginia's Alleghenies & New River Region"]. Explorer's Guide. Woodstock, Vt.: Countryman Press. 462 pp.

Hargan, Jim. 2008. *The Blue Ridge & Smoky Mountains: An Explorer's Guide*. 3rd ed. Woodstock, Vt.: Countryman Press. 520 pp. Encyclopedic; photos; scenic drives.

Harney, William Wallace. 2004 [1873]. "A Strange Land and a Peculiar People" [Cumberland Gap Region: Southeastern Ky., East Tenn.]. In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia*, 1840-1900, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 217-232. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Originally published: *Lippincott's* 12 (Oct. 1873): 429-438.

Harris, Nathan, Shannon Carey, and Berhard Gross. 2001. "Essential Great Smokies: An Insider's Guide to the National Park." *National Geographic Traveler* 18 (May/June): 100-109.

Hart, David. 2002. Flyfisher's Guide to Virginia: Including West Virginia's Best Fly Waters. Belgrade, Mont.: Wilderness Adventures Press. 600 pp.

Hart, William A. 2009. *3000 Miles in the Great Smokies*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 252 pp. Recounts various hikes since the 1960s. Contents: The human element | Smoky Mountain stories | Scenes and reflections | Animal observations | Black bear experiences | Bird sightings |

Snake encounters | Things that buzz, flit, creep or crawl | Trout fishing outings | Remembering the past | Off-trail excursions | Bewildered and defeated | Weather.

Hastings, Anne M. 1997. "Fox Hunting: History and Change in a Mountain Sport" [Watauga Co., N.C. focus]. *Appalachian Journal* 25 (Fall): 30-46.

Hedrick, John. 2009. *Appalachian Trail Guide to Shenandoah National Park, with Side Trails*. Vienna, Va.: Potomac Appalachian Trail Club. 329 pp., with three folded maps.

Henderson, Catherine. 1996. Fairs, Festivals & Funnin' in West Virginia [guidebook; by month]. St. Albans, W. Va.: H & H Publications. 330 pp.

Herrin, Roberta. 2011. "The Linguistics of Getting Around Appalachia." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 2. Special issue, "Getting Around Appalachia" [traversing, transporting]. "From the 1700s....Motivated by history, curiosity, passion, reverence, and, sometimes, plain old indignation, we get around Appalachia."

Higgs, Robert J. 1996. "What Is an Arena Like Neyland Stadium Doing in a Place Like Appalachia?" [University of Tennessee]. *Appalachian Heritage* 24 (Spring): 30-39.

Higgs, Robert J. 2009. "Do Sporting Spirits Inhabit Numbers?: The Old Passion for Shutouts and Lopsided Scores in and around Appalachia" [football; 1899-1939; Tenn.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25, no.2 (Fall/Winter): 29-31.

Hiking the Red: A Complete Trail Guide to Kentucky's Red River Gorge: Including Natural Bridge State Park. 2000. By members of the Bluegrass Group Sierra Club. Louisville, Ky.: Harmony House. 101 pp.

Hill, Michael R. 2007. *Guide to North Carolina Highway Historical Markers*. 10th ed. Raleigh: Division of Archives and History, Dept. of Cultural Resources. 265 pp. See also online: www.ncmarkers.com.

Hinkel, James R. 1998. *Parkway Byways: Explore the Charming Countryside Close to the Blue Ridge Parkway, the Shenandoah National Park, the Great Smoky Mountain National Park* [describes 19 loop trips]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 227 pp.

Hollis, Tim. 2007. *The Land of the Smokies: Great Mountain Memories* [N.C. and Tenn.; local history and tourist nostalgia from the 1950s and 1960s; 200 illustrations]. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 228 pp.

Homan, Tim. 1998. *The Hiking Trails of Joyce Kilmer-Slickrock and Citico Creek Wildernesses* [Nantahala National Forest, N.C.; Cherokee National Forest, Tenn.]. 2nd ed. Atlanta: Peachtree Publishers. 228 pp.

Homan, Tim. 2002. Hiking Trails of the Southern Nantahala Wilderness, Ellicott Rock Wilderness, and Chattooga National Wild and Scenic River. Atlanta, Ga.: Peachtree Publishers. 261 pp.

Homan, Tim. 2004. Hiking the Benton Mackaye Trail: A Guide to the Benton MacKaye Trail from Georgia's Springer Mountain to Tennessee's Ocoee River. Atlanta, Ga.: Peachtree Publishers. 276 pp.

Hood, Mary. 1996. "Tropic of Conscience" [history of northwest Ga.; Cherokee Removal]. In *The New Georgia Guide*, 105-135. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Horn, Peter Joseph, Jr., and Bill Tanner. 1999. "Tallulah Whitewater" [Tallulah Gorge, Ga., class four and five rapids; interview with park superintendent Tanner]. *Foxfire Magazine* 33 (Fall/Winter): 83-91.

Horst, Eric J. 2001. *Rock Climbing: Virginia, West Virginia, and Maryland* [guidebook: 1200 routes, 23 areas]. Guilford, Conn.: Falcon. 420 pp.

Howell, Benita J., section editor. 2006. "Tourism" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 611-683 (with introductory essay, 611-616). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Howes, Jay, and Christine Goldbeck. 2002. "The Remarkable Baseball Career of Pete Gray" [b. Nanticoke, Pa.; 1915-2002; one-armed player for 1940s St. Louis Browns]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Winter): 18-19.

Hubbs, Hal, Charles Maynard, and David Morris. [1991] 2009. *Family Hiking in the Smokies: Time Well Spent* [guidebook]. 4th ed. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 100 pp. First published as the title, *Time Well Spent: Family Hiking in the Smokies* (Seymour, Tenn. : Panther Press).

Huddle, David. 2001. "Hamlet in the Hills" [Ivanhoe, Va.]. *Preservation* (National Trust for Historic Preservation) 53 (May/June): 22-27.

Hudson, Jim. 1996. *Rail Trails Along the Greenbrier River*. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 116 pp.

Hudson, Joyce Rockwood. 1993. *Looking for De Soto: A Search Through the South for the Spaniard's Trail* [1539-1543; retracing the explorer's route through 11 states, Fla. to Tex.]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 230 pp.

Hugenberg, Lawrence W., and Barbara S. Hugenberg. 2008. "If It Ain't Rubbin', It Ain't Racin': NASCAR, American Values, and Fandom." *Journal of Popular Culture* 41, no. 4 (August): 635-657.

Hugo, Beverly. 2000. Women & Thru-Hiking on the Appalachian Trail: Practical Advice from Hundreds of Women Long Distance Hikers. Sevierville, Tenn.: Insight Publishing. 180 pp.

Humphreys, J. R. 1989. *Timeless Towns and Haunted Places: From Florida to Maine*. New York: St. Martin's Press. 216 pp. "Anecdotal side trips" including 20 Appalachian towns in four states.

Hunter Library, Western Carolina University. 2011 (date accessed). "Travel Western North Carolina" (digital collection). These travelogues allow viewers to visit 27 towns and communities throughout western North Carolina over three generations, from the 1890s, 1910s, and 1930s. Early photographs, printed ephemera and descriptions of the communities are provided for each stop, from Murphy to Asheville. Source references and readings appended. http://www.wcu.edu/library/DigitalCollections/TravelWNC/.

Hurt, Douglas A. 2005. "Dialed In? Geographic Expansion and Regional Identity in NASCAR's Nextel Cup Series" [maps: 1949-2003]. *Southeastern Geographer* 45, no. 1 (May): 120-137.

Hutchins, Frank. 1995. Mountain Biking in West Virginia. Charleston: Quarrier Press. 193 pp.

Igelman, Jack, and Corey Hadden. 2005. *Backpacker, Trekking the Southern Appalachians: The Carolinas, Tennessee, Georgia*. Seattle, Wash.: Mountaineers Books. 285 pp. Detailed guidebook with maps to 25 multi-day outings averaging 30-50 miles.

Ingram, Bruce. 2002. *The New River Guide* [fishing; W. Va., Va.]. Corvallis, Ore.: Ecopress. 174 pp.

Ingram, Bruce. 2005. "Turkey Talk with Peck Martin" [handcrafting turkey box calls]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 3 (Fall): 24-29.

Inscoe, John C. 1996. "Appalachian Otherness, Real and Perceived" [history of northeast Ga.]. In *The New Georgia Guide*, 165-203. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Jacobs, Jimmy. 2001. *Trout Streams of Southern Appalachia: Fly-Casting in Georgia, Kentucky, North Carolina, South Carolina, and Tennessee*. 2nd ed. Woodstock, Vt.: Backcountry Guides. 336 pp.

Jacobs, Jimmy. 2009. Trout Streams of Southern Appalachia: Fly-Casting in Georgia, Kentucky, North Carolina, South Carolina, and Tennessee. 3rd ed. Woodstock, Vt.: Countryman Press. 384 pp. Contents: Trout fishing in Southern Appalachia -- Hatches and flies -- Part I. Georgia. Chattahoochee River system -- Chattooga River system -- Chestatee River system -- Conasauga River system -- Etowah River system -- Tallulah River system -- Toccoa River system -- Part II. Kentucky. Big Sandy River system -- Cumberland River system -- Kentucky River system -- Licking River system -- Red River system -- Part III. North Carolina. Broad River system -- Catawba River system -- Cheoah River system -- French Broad River system -- Hiwassee River system -- Little Tennessee River system -- New River system --

Nolichucky River system -- Pigeon River system -- Savannah River system -- Tuckasegee River system -- Watauga River system -- Yadkin River system -- Part IV. South Carolina. Chattooga River system -- Chauga River system -- Keowee River system -- Saluda River system -- Part V. Tennessee. French Broad River system -- Hiwassee River system -- Little River system -- Little Tennessee River system -- Nolichucky River system -- Ocoee River system -- South Holston River system -- Tellico River system -- Watauga River system.

Jenkins, Gary C. 2001. "Canoeing the Tennessee in Modern Times: Travel Journals of the River Before the Tennessee Valley Authority" [1927-1930; Newport, Tenn. to Chattanooga; Chattanooga to Florence, Ala.]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 60 (Summer): 90-107.

Johann, Margaret. 2004 [1897]. "A Little Moonshiner" [Western N.C.]. In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia, 1840-1900*, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 285-294. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Originally published: *Christian Observer* 85 (21 July, 1897): 700-701.

Johnson, Randy. 2010. *Best Easy Day Hikes: Blue Ridge Parkway*. 2nd ed. Guilford, Conn.: Falcon Press. 152 pp.

Johnson, Skip, with Rob Johnson. 2005. *Upper River* [Elk River, W. Va.: 172 miles; local history]. Edited by Peter and Elizabeth Silitch. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 301 pp.

Jones, Anne B., and Rex White. 2007. *All Around the Track: Oral Histories of Drivers, Mechanics, Officials, Owners, Journalists and Others in Motorsports Past and Present* [58 profiles covering 60 years of NASCAR]. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 244 pp.

Jones, K. Randell. 2005. *In the Footsteps of Daniel Boone* [historic sites guidebook]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 244 pp.

Jones, K. Randell. 2006. *In the Footsteps of Davy Crockett* [historic sites guidebook]. In the Footsteps Series. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 254 pp.

Jones, K. Randell. 2012. *Trailing Daniel Boone*. Winston-Salem, N.C.: Daniel Boone Footsteps. 278 pp. During 1912-1915, the Daughters of the American Revolution in N.C., Tenn., Va., and Ky. erected 45 metal tablets across 400 miles to mark Daniel Boone's westward path.

Jones, Louise Coffin. 2004 [1879]. "In the Backwoods of Carolina" [Greensboro, Boone Trail, Upper Yadkin River Valley (Yadkin or Wilkes Co.), N.C.]. In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia, 1840-1900*, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 233-248. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Originally published: *Lippincott's* 24 (Dec. 1879): 747-756.

Jones, Steve. 1999. *Mountain Bike! The Southern Appalachian and Smoky Mountains: A Guide to the Classic Trails*. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 331 pp.

Joy, David. 2011. *Growing Gills: A Fly Fisherman's Journey*. Fairview, N.C.: Bright Mountain Books. 196 pp. Outer Banks, Piedmont, and Appalachian Mountains.

Keating, Steve. 2011. *A Dolly Sods North -- Blackwater Companion: A Guide to Hiking Through the History, Geology and Ecology of the Region* [Tucker Co., Canaan Valley, W. Va.]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 400 pp.

Keith, Jeanette. 2004. "Good Times: Vacationing at Red Boiling Springs" [Macon Co., Tenn.; 1920s-1940s]. In *Rural Life and Culture in the Upper Cumberland*, ed. M. Birdwell and W. Dickinson, 178-195. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Kennedy, Payson, and Gerald Thurmond. 2006. "Payson Kennedy, the Nantahala Outdoor Center, & Troubled Times in North Carolina's Whitewater Recreation Industry" [interview; establ. 1972; whitewater rafting, mountain biking]. *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 1 (Fall): 22-40.

Kennedy, Philip Pendleton. 2002 [1853]. *The Blackwater Chronicle: A Narrative of an Expedition into the Land of Canaan, in Randolph County, (West) Virginia*. Illustrated by David Hunter Strother. Reprint, edited with a preface by Timothy Sweet. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 2. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. Originally published: New York: Redfield.

Kight, Caitlin. 2011. "Find Two More and Circle Up Four: Dancing an Appalachian Big Circle Set." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 40-42. Description and history of Big Circle Dancing which "centers on the formation of 'figures'...made by the motions of the dancers"...."Related forms are known as Big Circle Clogging and Kentucky Running Set."

Kirk, Don, and Greg Ward. [1985] 2011. *The Ultimate Fly-Fishing Guide to the Great Smoky Mountains*. Rev. ed. Birmingham, Ala: Menasha Ridge Press. 270 pp.

Klass, Raymond. 2005. *Mammoth Cave National Park: Reflections* [photos]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 120 pp.

Knight, Lydia F. 2011. "A Hundred Miles on a Clear Day" [Tenn.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 33-34. History of the Lookout Mountain Incline, and the Chattanooga and Lookout Mountain Railway.

Knopp, Brian Lee. 2009. *Mayhem in Mayberry: Misadventures of a P.I. in Southern Appalachia* [western N.C.; memoir]. Asheville, N.C.: Cosmic Pigbite Press. 163 pp.

Knopp, Brian Lee. 2011. "James Bond Lost in Kudzu." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 19-20. Private investigator's typical day.

Kriegel, Mark. 2004. *Namath: A Biography*. New York: Viking. 512 pp. Joe Namath, b. 1943, Beaver Falls, Pa. "Discusses the football star's upbringing as the son of a Hungarian immigrant in the steel country of Pennsylvania, his achievements at the University of Alabama," and his legendary career as quarterback with the New York Jets.

Kummerow, Burton K., Christine H. O'Toole, and R. Scott Stephenson. 2008. *Pennsylvania's Forbes Trail: Gateways and Getaways Along the Legendary Route from Philadelphia to Pittsburgh* [today's Rt. 30]. Lanham, Md.: Taylor Trade. 204 pp. Detailed, well-illustrated local histories along Gen. Forbes's route for his 1758 march on French Fort Duquesne.

Kurutz, Steven. 2004. "Harlan County A.T.V." [organized off-road riding]. *New York Times*, 17 December, 1(F). 20 paras.

Kuska, Bob. 2008. *Cinderella Ball: A Look Inside Small-College Basketball in West Virginia*. 289 pp. Alderson-Broaddus College, Philippi, W. Va.

Kuska, Bob. 2009. "Top Score: Morris Harvey's George King" [basketball; Charleston, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 1 (Spring): 38-43. "In 1949 and 1950, King led the nation in scoring with 29.1 and 31.2 points-per-game averages."

Kyle, Gerard, Alan Graefe, and Robert Manning. 2005. "Testing the Dimensionality of Place Attachment in Recreational Settings" [Appalachian Trail; technical statistical analysis]. *Environment and Behavior* 37 (March): 153-177.

Kyle, Gerard, Alan Graefe, Robert Manning, and James Bacon. 2003. "An Examination of the Relationship between Leisure Activity Involvement and Place Attachment among Hikers Along the Appalachian Trail" [tables]. *Journal of Leisure Research* 35, no. 3: 249-273.

Kyriakoudes, Louis M., and Peter A. Coclanis. 2008. "The 'Tennessee Test of Manhood': Professional Wrestling and Southern Cultural Stereotypes." In *Southern Cultures: The Fifteenth Anniversary Reader*, ed. H. Watson and L. Griffin, 353-370. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Lambert, Kenneth. 2009. "Down Home Fly Tyin'." Interview by Robin Atkins. *Foxfire Magazine* 43, no. 3-4 (Fall/Winter): 27-35. Dillard, Ga.; fly-fishing.

Lane, John. 2007. *Circling Home* [Spartanburg, S.C.; natural history]. A Wormsloe Foundation Nature Book. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 206 pp.

Lanman, Charles. 2004 [1848]. "Dahlonega (Letters from the Alleghany Mountains)" [Dahlonega, Lumpkin Co., Union Co., Ga.]. In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia*, 1840-1900, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 49-57. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Originally published: *Daily National Intelligencer*, 3 May 1848, 3.

Lantz, Bob. 2003. *Tennessee Rivers: A Paddler's Guidebook* [updates *A Canoeing and Kayaking Guide to the Streams of Tennessee*, by Bob Sehlinger and Bob Lantz. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press, 1983]. Outdoor Tennessee Series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 214 pp.

Lattea, Charlene M. 2003. *The North Bend Rail Trail: A Guide to the Trail & Its History* [78 miles, Parkersburg to Clarksburg]. Field photography by Michael E. Workman. Morgantown, W. Va.: West Virginia University, Institute for the History of Technology and Industrial Archaeology. 164 pp.

Lavender, Dave. 2008. Dave Trippin: A Day Tripper's Guide to the Appalachian Galaxy of Ohio, Kentucky, and West Virginia. Photographs by Toril Lavender. Huntington, W. Va.: Lavender Publishing. 288 pp.

Lawrence, H. Lea. 1998. *The Fly Fisherman's Guide to the Great Smoky Mountains National Park*. Nashville, Tenn.: Cumberland House. 181 pp.

Lazenby, Roland. 2009. *Jerry West: The Life and Legend of a Basketball Icon*. New York: ESPN Books, and Ballantine Books. 422 pp. Born 1938 near Cabin Creek, W. Va.; later player for and general manager of the Los Angeles Lakers, and general manager of the Memphis Grizzlies.

Lea, Bill. 2007. *Cades Cove: Window to a Secret World*. Johnson City, Tenn.: Mountain Trail Press. 119 pp. Scenic photographs.

Leavengood, Betty. 2007. "The Legendary Pennsboro Speedway: Fast Times in Ritchie County" [created 1887; converted to car racing, 1926]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 3 (Fall): 46-51. Sidebar: "The Hillbilly Hundred" [100-lap, Labor Day race], 52-53.

Letcher, Gary. 2004. Waterfalls of the Mid-Atlantic States: 200 Falls in Maryland, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania [concise directions, descriptions; maps; photos]. Woodstock, Vt.: Countryman Press. 211 pp.

Lewis, Charlene M. Boyer. 2002. *Ladies and Gentlemen on Display: Planter Society at the Virginia Springs*, 1790-1860 [Blue Ridge and Appalachian Mountains]. Charlottesville: University Press of Virginia. 293 pp.

Lewis, Jehu. 2004 [1873]. "The Grandfather of North Carolina" [Lenoir (Lower Creek Valley), Johns River Valley, The Globe, Grandfather Mountain, N.C.]. In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia, 1840-1900*, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 307-317. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Originally published: *Lakeside Monthly* 10 (Sept. 1873): 218-224.

Lillard, David and Gwyn Hicks. 1998. *Hikes in the Virginias: Virginia, West Virginia* [45 day hikes]. Exploring the Appalachian Trail. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 416 pp.

Lillard, David Edwin. 2002. *Appalachian Trail Names: Origins of Place Names Along the AT* [1100 names]. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole. 148 pp.

Lilly, John. 2005. "Hunting for the State: Charles Rand's 1914 Adventure" [collecting specimens for state museum]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 4 (Winter): 18-20.

Lilly, John. 2012. "Fly Fishing: Up a Creek with Danny Wickline" [Monroe Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 2 (Summer): 32-39.

Littlefield, Jon, and Robert A. Siudzinski. 2012. "Hike Your Own Hike': Equipment and Serious Leisure Along the Appalachian Trail." *Leisure Studies* 31, no. 4 (October): 465-486.

Lloyd, Earl. 2009. "'Moonfixer': Basketball Pioneer Earl Lloyd" [b. 1928]. Interview by Michael Hawkins. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 1 (Spring): 44-47. Lloyd, the first African American to play in the NBA, was a star player for West Virginia State College in the 1940s.

Lloyd, Theresa. 1998. "In Your Blood': Wagon Training through Southern Appalachia" [modern teamsters; pioneer lore]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 15 (Winter): 33-36.

Lloyd, Theresa. 2004. "Going to the Mountain: Vincent Parker's Last Wagon Train" [western North Carolina Wagon Train tradition, since 1950s]. In *CrossRoads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 325-335. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Logue, Victoria, and Frank Logue. 1997. *Touring the Backroads of North and South Georgia*. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 459 pp.

Longstreet Highroad Guide to the Georgia Mountains [detailed guidebook; four subregions; maps]. [1987] 2000. By the Georgia Conservancy, with Fred Brown and Nell Jones. Foreword by Jimmy Carter. Atlanta, Ga.: Longstreet Press. 272 pp. Originally titled *The Highroad Guide to the Georgia Mountains*.

Lowther, Mic. 2000. *Walking North* [family hikes the Appalachian Trail]. Seattle, Wash.: Elton-Wolf Publishing. 367 pp.

Luty, Bronsen B. 1997. "Motoring to Conneaut Lake: A Memoir" [1914 route northward from Pittsburgh toward Erie on unpaved roads]. *Pittsburgh History* 80 (Spring): 8-24.

MacGregor, Jeff. 2005. Sunday Money: Speed! Lust! Madness! Death!: A Hot Lap around America with NASCAR [history of stock car racing]. Photographs by Olya Evanitsky. New York: HarperCollins. 370 pp.

Madarasz, Anne. 2012. "Cradle of Quarterbacks." *Western Pennsylvania History* 95, no. 3 (Fall): 38-47. Profiles six Pro Football Hall of Fame quarterbacks who hail from western Pennsylvania: George Blanda, Johnny Unitas, Joe Namath, Joe Montana, Jim Kelly, and Dan Marino.

Manning, Russ. 1999. *One Hundred Hikes in the Great Smoky Mountains National Park*. 2nd ed. Seattle, Wash.: Mountaineers. 272 pp.

Manning, Russ. 1999. *The Historic Cumberland Plateau: An Explorer's Guide*. 2nd ed. Outdoor Tennessee Series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 344 pp.

Manning, Russ. 2000. Forty Hikes in Tennessee's South Cumberland. 3rd ed. Seattle, Wash.: Mountaineers. 112 pp.

Manning, Russ. 2000. *One Hundred Trails of the Big South Fork: Tennessee and Kentucky*. 4th ed. Seattle, Wash.: Mountaineers. 237 pp.

Manning, Russ. 2000. Seventy Five Hikes in Virginia's Shenandoah National Park. 2nd ed. Seattle, Wash.: Mountaineers. 192 pp.

Marcoplos, Lucas. 2006. "Drafting Away from It All" [NASCAR; Nashville]. *Southern Cultures* 12, no. 1: 33-41.

Marking Our Past: West Virginia's Historical Highway Markers [guidebook]. 2002. Charleston: West Virginia Division of Culture and History. 209 pp.

Marshall, Ian. 1998. *Story Line: Exploring the Literature of the Appalachian Trail* [fiction and nonfiction; over three centuries]. Charlottesville: University Press of Virginia. 336 pp.

Martin, C. Brenden. 2007. *Tourism in the Mountain South: A Double-Edged Sword* [history, post-Civil War to present; development vs. preservation]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 246 pp.

Martin, Douglas. 2002. "Earl Shaffer, First to Hike Length of Appalachian Trail in Both Directions, Dies at 83." *New York Times*, 12 May, 33 (sec. 1).

Maunula, Marko. 2007. "Of Chickens and Men: Cockfighting and Equality in the South." *Southern Cultures* 13, no. 4 (Winter): 76-85.

Maynard, Mark. 2011. *Teamwork: Ashland's 1961 Championship Basketball Season*. Foreward by Billy Reed. Ashland, Ky: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 174 pp. "...the greatest Sweet Sixteen (Kentucky state tournament) champion of them all."

McCarley, Christy. 2005. "Racing and Education" [NASCAR; business and broadcasting career options]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 21, no. 2 (Fall): 16-18.

McDade, Arthur. 2000. *The Natural Arches of the Big South Fork: A Guide to Selected Landforms* [Ky./Tenn; hiking guidebook]. Outdoor Tennessee Series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 109 pp.

McDaniel, Lynda. 1998. *Highroad Guide to the North Carolina Mountains* [detailed guidebook; eight subregions; maps]. Atlanta, Ga.: Longstreet Press. 308 pp.

Menzer, Joe. 2001. The Wildest Ride: A History of NASCAR (or, How a Bunch of Good Ol' Boys Built a Billion-Dollar Industry Out of Wrecking Cars). New York: Simon & Schuster. 331 pp.

Meriwether, Lee. 2004 [1888]. "Mountain Life in Tennessee" [Memphis to Tusculum; Camp Creek area of Greene Co.]. In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia*, 1840-1900, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 275-284. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Originally published: *Cosmopolitan* 4 (Feb. 1888): 456-460.

Metzger, William. 2003. *The Great Allegheny Passage Companion: Guide to History & Heritage along the Trail* [100 miles, Pittsburgh to Myersdale, Pa., rail-trail; mile-by-mile guide, maps]. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Local History Co. 202 pp.

Miller, Don. [2001] 2011. Overtime Kids: The Untold Story of a Small-Town Kentucky Basketball Team's Unlikely Rise to the State Championship [1956; Carr Creek High School, Knott Co., Ky.]. Nashville, Tenn.: Turner. 205 pp. Originally published: Paducah, Ky.: Turner, with a different subtitle.

Miller, Joe. 2007. 100 Classic Hikes in North Carolina: Coastal Carolina/Piedmont/Blue Ridge Parkway/Pigsah National Forset/ Great Smoky Mountains. Seattle, Wash.: Mountaineers Books. 237 pp.

Miller, Joe. 2011. *Backpacking North Carolina: The Definitive Guide to 43 Can't-Miss Trips from Mountains to Sea*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 238 pp. Contents: Black Mountains | Grandfather Mountain | Linville Gorge | Wilson Creek | Other trips in the vicinity | Shining Rock Wilderness | Great Smoky Mountains National Park | Appalachian Trail | Fires Creek | Joyce Kilmer-Slickrock Wilderness | Piedmont | Coast.

Miller, Leonard W. 2004. *Silent Thunder: Breaking Through Cultural, Racial, and Class Barriers in Motorsports* [black race car driver; NASCAR]. Trenton, N.J.: Red Sea Press. 201 pp.

Miner, Curtis. 2000. "Gridirons & Iron Men: Western Pennsylvania As a Football Region." *Western Pennsylvania History* 83 (Winter): 196-219.

Mitchell, Jeff. 2007. *Hiking the Allegheny National Forest: Exploring the Wilderness of Northwestern Pennsylvania*. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 162 pp. Fifty day-hikes.

Mitchelson, Ronald L., and Derek H. Alderman. 2011. "Mapping NASCAR Valley: Charlotte as a Knowledge Community." *Southeastern Geographer* 51, no. 1 (Spring): 31-48.

Mittlefehldt, Sarah. 2010. "The People's Path: Conflict and Cooperation in the Acquisition of the Appalachian Trail." *Environmental History* 15, no. 4 (October): 643-669. National Trails Act of 1968; eminent domain.

Molloy, Johnny. 1996. *Trial by Trail: Backpacking in the Smoky Mountains*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 192 pp.

Molloy, Johnny. 1997. *The Best in Tent Camping: Smoky Mountains: A Guide for Campers Who Hate Rvs, Concrete Slabs, and Loud Portable Stereos* [50 best sites; Tenn., Ga., N.C., S.C.]. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 170 pp.

Molloy, Johnny. 1998. *Day and Overnight Hikes in Shenandoah National Park* [profiles more than 40 hikes]. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 128 pp.

Molloy, Johnny. 2000. Day and Overnight Hikes in West Virginia's Monongahela National Forest. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 128 pp.

Molloy, Johnny. 2000. *The Best Tent Camping: West Virginia*. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 177 pp.

Molloy, Johnny. 2005. The Best in Tent Camping, Tennessee: A Guide for Car Campers Who Hate RVs, Concrete Slabs, and Loud Portable Stereos [25 sites in East Tenn.]. Birmingham, Ala: Menasha Ridge Press. 170 pp.

Molloy, Johnny. 2006. The Best in Tent Camping, Kentucky: A Guide for Car Campers Who Hate RVs, Concrete Slabs, and Loud Portable Stereos. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 166 pp.

Molloy, Johnny. 2007. *The Best in Tent Camping: The Southern Appalachian and Smoky Mountains: A Guide for Car Campers Who Hate RVs, Concrete Slabs, and Loud Portable Stereos* [50 campgrounds: Tenn., N.C., S.C., Ga.]. 4th ed. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 176 pp.

Molloy, Johnny. 2008. *Mount Rogers National Recreation Area Guidebook: A Complete Resource for Outdoor Enthusiasts* [Va.]. 2nd ed. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 240 pp. Details 430 miles of trails; maps.

Molloy, Johnny. 2012. *Great Smoky Mountains National Park: Must-Do Hikes for Everyone* [N.C., Tenn.; guidebook]. Top Trails series. Birmingham, Ala.: Wilderness Press. 378 pp.

Molloy, Johnny. 2012. *Shenandoah National Park: Must-Do Hikes for Everyone* [Va.; guidebook]. Top Trails series. Birmingham, Ala.: Wilderness Press. 338 pp.

Moore, Harry, and Fred Brown. 2001. *Discovering October Roads: Fall Colors and Geology in Rural East Tennessee*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 160 pp.

Morton, Hugh. 2003. *Hugh Morton's North Carolina* [photographs spanning 60 years: landscapes, people, sports]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 207 pp.

Moyer, Ben. 2002. *Out Back: Reflections from the Appalachian Outdoors* [Allegheny Mountains sportsman columns from *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette* feature writer]. Dunbar, Pa.: Stefano's Printing. 132 pp.

Moyer, Justin. 2010. "Game Plan: As West Virginia Expands its Casino Gambling, a Poker Player Seeks Out the Action at Two Vastly Different Venues [Charles Town Races and the Greenbrier]. *Washington Post*, 18 July, 1(F). 1816 words. http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2010/07/15/AR2010071506012.html?wpisrc=nl_travel.

Mozier, Jeanne. 1999. Way Out in West Virginia: A Must-Have Guide to the Oddities and Wonders of the Mountain State. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 254 pp.

Mozier, Jeanne. 2008. "It Feels Like Coming Home': Old-Time Hospitality at the Park View Inn" [1933-1972]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 1 (Spring): 41-46. Sidebar, "Betty Lou Harmison: Muse of the Park View Inn," 47. Site of the former Berkeley Springs Hotel.

Muench, David. [1991] 1997. *Uncommon Places: A Celebration of Appalachian Trail Country* [landscape photographs]. Harpers Ferry, W. Va.: Appalachian Trail Conference. 147 pp.

Mueser, Roland. 1998. Long-Distance Hiking: Lessons from the Appalachian Trail [guidebook]. Camden, Me.: Ragged Mountain Press. 224 pp.

Muller, Edward K., ed. 2009. *An Uncommon Passage: Traveling Through History on the Great Allegheny Passage Trail* [Western Pa./Western Md. rail trail following the Monongahela, Youghiogheny and Casselman Rivers to the Potomac]. Photographs by Paul G. Wiegman. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 290 pp. Contents: The living passage: flora, fauna, and the natural environment -- "The best passage through the mountains": Braddock's road in the war for empire, 1752-1758 -- Migration on the passage: western settlement, 1763-1840 -- A passage to commerce: the industrial revolution, 1860-1920 -- The spirit of the passage: where past and future meet -- The Great Allegheny Passage Trail: a community effort.

Mulvihill, Keith. 2007. "Twisting Roads Take You to the Heart of Appalachia" [attractions where Tenn., Ky., Va. intersect]. *New York Times*, 27 July, 3(F), American Journeys. 1716 words.

Murphy, Tim. 2003. *Road Cycling the Blue Ridge High Country* [25 routes, N.C., Va., Tenn.]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 266 pp.

Natchez Trace Parkway Association. 2012. *Building the Natchez Trace Parkway* [photos; Miss., Ala., Tenn.: Natchez to Nashville]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Contents: Relics of the past: "Pave the Trace," 1907-1934 | Moonshine and meatloaf: the road to yesterday--the

parkway of tomorrow, 1934-1954 | Mission 66: building a modern park, 1955-1969 | A National Bicentennial project: "Finish the Trace," 1970-2005.

Nava, Margaret M. 2011. "The Red Demon." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 9-11. Memoir essay; a junked 1938 Ford half-ton pickup gets a second life as a W. Va. farm vehicle.

Nava, Margaret M. 2011. "Up and Over" [Monongahela Incline]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 31-32. "While a total of seventeen inclines operated in Pittsburgh between 1870 and 1901, today only two remain – the Monongahela and the Duquesne."

Neely, Jack, and Aaron Jay. 1999. *The Marble City: A Photographic Tour of Knoxville's Graveyards*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 55 pp.

New Georgia Guide [regional travel guide]. 1996. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 800 pp.

Newman, Linda, and Boyd Newman. 2000. *Great Hikes in the Poconos and Northeast Pennsylvania* [42 hikes]. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 288 pp.

Nickens, T. Edward. 2001. "Bed and Breakfast" [Appalachian Trail, Fontana Dam Shelter]. *Smithsonian* 32 (July): 24-26.

Niemeyer, Lucian, and Julia Davis. 1994. *Shenandoah: Daughter of the Stars*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 212 pp.

Noe, Barbara A. 2001. *The Official Rails-to-Trails Conservancy Guidebook: Maryland, Delaware, Virginia and West Virginia*. Great Rail-Trails Series. Guilford, Conn.: Globe Pequot Press. 213 pp.

Noonan, Peggy. 2005. "Almost Heaven: A Visit to West Virginia" [New York editor's impressions]. *Wall Street Journal*, 4 August. 2238 words. http://www.opinionjournal.com/columnists/pnoonan/?id=110007054.

North Carolina Birding Trail: Mountain Trail Guide. 2009. Chapel Hill: Distributed by University of North Carolina Press. 190 pp. Spiral-bound with maps, site descriptions, color photographs, species and habitats, and visitor amenities.

North, E. Lee. 1998. *The 55 West Virginias: A Guide to the State's Counties* [by county: local history sketch, census profile, map]. Rev. ed. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 129 pp.

O'Donnell, Kevin E. 2004. "Introduction: Scenery, Markets, and Mountaineers." In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia*, 1840-1900, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 1-38. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

O'Donnell, Kevin E., and Helen Hollingsworth, ed. 2004. *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia*, *1840-1900* [anthology of 18 historic articles; maps, engravings]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 385 pp.

O'Neill, Brian. 2009. *The Paris of Appalachia: Pittsburgh in the Twenty-First Century*. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Carnegie Mellon University Press. 151 pp. Profiles by a Pittsburgh Post-Gazette columnist.

Ochsendorf, Gene, interviewer. 2000. "'Coach': A Visit With Bill Weber" [Randolph Co. high school basketball coach for 43 years]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Summer): 19-24.

Olsen, Christopher J. 2009. "NASCAR and Masculinity." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 13: *Gender*, 198-201. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Orphan, Stephanie. 2002. "Appalachian State Establishes Racing Collection" [ASU Library; history of stock car racing]. *College & Research Libraries News* 63 (December): 772-773.

Painter, Jacqueline Burgin. 1994. *An Appalachian Medley: Hot Springs and the Gentry Family*. Volume I. Asheville: Biltmore Press. 244 pp.

Pantas, Lee James. 2011. The Ultimate Guide to Asheville & the Western North Carolina Mountains: Including Boone, Hendersonville, Hickory, Lenoir, Morganton, and Waynesville. 4th ed. Asheville, N.C.: R. Brent and Company. 508 pp.

Parham, Jim. 1998. Road Bike North Georgia: 25 Great Rides in the Mountains and Valleys of North Georgia. Almond, N.C.: Milestone Press. 136 pp.

Parham, Jim. 2006. *Off the Beaten Track: Western NC Smokies*. Mountain Bike Guide Series, vol.1. Almond, N.C.: Milestone Press. 120 pp.

Parham, Jim. 2009. *Off the Beaten Track: North Georgia*. Mountain Bike Guide Series, vol. 3. Almond, N.C.: Milestone Press. 187 pp.

Parker, Arthur. 1999. *The Monongahela: River of Dreams, River of Sweat* [W. Va. and Pa.]. University Park: Penn State University Press. 200 pp.

Payne, John. 2011. "Bad Luck on the Middle Fork" [Barbour Co.; b. 1920]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 2 (Summer): 37-42. Ill-fated 1930s fly-fishing/camping trip; Middle Fork and Tygart Valley Rivers.

Payne, Steve, ed. 2000. West Virginia in Pictures [color photos]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 64 pp.

Perloff, Susan, and Sara Pitzer. 2000. *Pennsylvania: Off the Beaten Path* [guidebook]. 5th ed. Guilford, Conn.: Globe Pequot Press. 163 pp.

Perrier, Dianne. 2011. *Interstate 81: The Great Warriors Trace* [local histories]. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 218 pp. Contents: The Great Warriors Trace -- New York: wars for an empire -- Pennsylvania: the nation's arsenal -- Maryland: grand anticipation -- West Virginia: fearful reality -- The Shenandoah Valley of Virginia: seeing the elephant -- Southwestern Virginia: the march of the elephant ends -- Tennessee: when cloudshadows pass -- Annihilating space.

Peters, Greg. 2005. "Ripple Effects" [Bristol Motor Speedway, economic effects; Tenn., Va.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 21, no. 2 (Fall): 10-11.

Phillips, Brian. 2010. "Hiking the Appalachian Trail with Brian Phillips." Interview by Michaela Allen. *Foxfire Magazine* 44, no. 1-2 (Spring-Summer): 19-33.

Phillips, Benny. 2001. *Bristol Motor Speedway: 40 Years of Thunder* [Tenn.; stock car racing drivers]. Charlotte, N.C.: UMI Publications. 159 pp.

Pierce, Dan. 2008. "The Most Southern Sport on Earth: NASCAR and the Unions." In *Southern Cultures: The Fifteenth Anniversary Reader*, ed. H. Watson and L. Griffin, 409-433. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Pierce, Daniel S. 2010. *Real NASCAR: White Lightning, Red Clay, and Big Bill France*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 348 pp. Stock car racing history, 1930s-1970s.

Pierce, Daniel S. 2012. "NASCAR vs. Football." *Southern Cultures* 18, no. 4 (Winter): 26-42. Essay: which is more important to Southern U.S. identity?

Platania, Joseph. 2004. "Jack Dempsey Comes to Huntington" [1932 prizefight with two local heavyweights; parents were from Logan Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Fall): 60-61.

Plott, Bob. 2008. A History of Hunting in the Great Smoky Mountains [N.C.]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 126 pp. Contents: Foreword by George Ellison -- The origins of hunting in the Great Smoky Mountains -- The early Cherokee hunter -- The market hunters -- Man hunters -- The Smoky Mountain rifle -- The dawn of the Golden Age -- Tennessee ridge runners -- The last frontier -- Hazel Creek and Deep Creek—a sportsman's paradise -- Full circle -- Bibliography -- About the author.

Plott, Bob. 2009. Legendary Hunters of the Southern Highlands: A Century of Sport and Survival in the Great Smoky Mountains [N.C.]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 158 pp.

Plott, Robert. 2007. *The Story of the Plott Hound: Strike & Stay*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 188 pp. State dog of N.C.; 18th-century German origins; boar and bear hunting.

Poole, David, and James McLaurin. 2006. "Then Junior Said to Jeff. . .": The Best NASCAR Stories Ever Told. Chicago: Triumph Books. 182 pp.

Porter, Randy. 1998. *Mountain Bike! Virginia: A Guide to the Classic Trails*. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 384 pp.

Porter, Randy. 2004. The Best in Tent Camping, Virginia: A Guide for Car Campers Who Hate RVs, Concrete Slabs, and Loud Portable Stereos [50 sites]. 2nd ed. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 178 pp.

Powell, Nancy. 1997. What to See and Do in the Lost River and South Branch Valleys, Hardy County, West Virginia. Lost River, W. Va.: Lost River Educational Foundation. 204 pp.

Pyda, Bill. 2001. "Shouts for Bruno" [Bruno Sammartino, 1960s televised studio wrestling champ beloved to southwestern Pennsylvanians]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 84 (Spring): 12-21.

Pyle, Lizbeth A. 2000. "The Whitewater Industry in West Virginia, Southwestern Pennsylvania, and Western Maryland." In *A Geographic Perspective of Pittsburgh and the Alleghenies: From Precambrian to Post-Industrial*, ed. K. Patrick and J. Scarpaci, 104-109. Washington, D.C.: Association of American Geographers.

Pyle, Lizbeth A. 2006. "Central Appalachia's Whitewater Recreation I ndustry" [W. Va., Pa., Md.: Gauley, New, Cheat, Tygart, Youghiogheny Rivers]. In *Pittsburgh and the Appalachians: Cultural and Natural Resources in a Postindustrial Age*, ed. J. Scarpaci, 191-202. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press.

Quigel, James P. Jr., and Louis E. Hunsinger Jr. 2001. *Gateway to the Majors: Williamsport and Minor League Baseball* [Pa.; 1865 to present; also home to Little League World Series]. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 190 pp.

Rail-Trails Mid-Atlantic: The Official Rails-to-Trails Conservancy Guidebook [58 trails: Del., Md., Va., W. Va., D.C.]. 2007. Berkeley: Calif.: Wilderness Press. 195 pp.

Raitz, Karl. 2010. "U.S. 11 and a Modern Geography of Culture and Connection." Chap. 8 in *The Great Valley Road of Virginia: Shenandoah Landscapes from Prehistory to the Present*, ed. W. Hofstra and K. Raitz, 239-296. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press.

Ralph, Julian. 2004 [1895]. "From 'The Industrial Region of Northern Alabama, Tennessee, and Georgia'" [excerpt; Chattanooga, Lookout Mountain, Tenn.]. In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia, 1840-1900*, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 71-82. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Originally published: *Harper's Monthly* 90 (March 1895): 607-626; excerpt reproduced here: 607-615.

Ray, John. 2011. "The Georgia Bartram Trail" [Rabun Co., Ga.]. Interview by Alyssa LaManna. *Foxfire Magazine* 45, no. 3-4 (Fall-Winter): 74-83. Hiking to the top of Georgia's second highest mountain with guidebook writer, John Ray.

Regan, Neil. 2010. *Great Waterfalls of North Carolina: A Guide for Hikers, Photographers, and Waterfall Enthusiasts*. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 149 pp. 65 waterfalls in the Blue Ridge and Great Smoky mountains.

Reid, Robert L., ed. [1991] 2010. *Always a River: The Ohio River and the American Experience*. 2nd ed. [new introduction, map, index]. Bloomington, Ind.: Quarry Books. 260 pp. Contents: The force of moving water / Scott Russell Sanders -- The Ohio Valley revisited: images from Nicholas Cresswell and Reuben Gold Thwaites / John A. Jakle -- Settlement and selected landscape imprints in the Ohio Valley / Hubert G.H. Wilhelm -- The Ohio River: artery of movement / Michael Allen -- River of opportunity: economic consequences of the Ohio / Darrel E. Bigham -- Engineering the Ohio / Leland R. Johnson -- An ecopolitical system of global significance / Boyd Keenan.

Rennick, Robert M. 1997. From Red Hot to Monkey's Eyebrow: Unusual Kentucky Place Names. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 80 pp.

Rennick, Robert. M. 2000. Post Offices of Northeastern Kentucky: A Survey of the Post Offices of Greenup, Lawrence, Carter, Boyd, and Elliot Counties [name origins; many defunct offices]. Lake Grove, Oregon: The Depot. 140 pp.

Rice, Bill. 2011. "Mountain State Forest Festival" [Elkins]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 3 (Fall): 9-19. History since 1930; parade; festival queen; visiting U.S. Presidents; the Riding Tournament.

Richards, Constance E., and Kenneth L. Richards. 2006. *Insiders' Guide to North Carolina's Mountains: Including Asheville, Biltmore Estate, and the Blue Ridge Parkway*. 8th ed. Insiders' Guide Series. Guilford, Conn.: Globe Pequot Press. 467 pp.

Ridpath, B. David. 2012. *Tainted Glory: Marshall University, the NCAA, and One Man's Fight for Justice* [1997-2001; violations; football; W. Va.]. Bloomington, Ind.: iUniverse. 264 pp.

Roberts, Katherine. 1997. "Augusta Festival" [Elkins, W. Va., annual heritage festival of concerts, crafts, dancing, jam sessions, and traditional arts workshops]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Summer): 53-59.

Rogers, Hiram. 2002. Fifty Hikes in Kentucky: From the Appalachian Mountains to the Land Between the Lakes [guidebook]. Woodstock, Vt.: Backcountry Guides. 258 pp.

Rogers, Hiram. 2004. Backroad Bicycling in the Blue Ridge and Smoky Mountains: 27 Rides for Touring and Mountain Bikes from North Georgia to Southwest Virginia. Woodstock, Vt.: Backcountry Guides. 215 pp.

Rubin, Robert Alden. 2000. *On the Beaten Path: An Appalachian Pilgrimage* [Appalachian Trail through-hiker]. New York: Lyons Press. 256 pp.

Runolfson, Kevin. 2010. *The Things You Find on the Appalachian Trail: A Memoir of Discovery, Endurance and a Lazy Dog.* Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 222 pp.

Russell, L. D. 2007. *Godspeed: Racing Is My Religion* [NASCAR and Christianity]. New York: Continuum. 182 pp.

Sabatke, Mark D. 2007. *Discovering the C & O Canal and Adjacent Potomac River* [Chesapeake & Ohio Canal, mile-by-mile guidebook, 185 mi.; b&w photos;]. Rockville, Md.: Schreiber. 175 pp.

Sakowski, Carolyn. 2011. *Touring the Western North Carolina Backroads*. 3rd ed. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 316 pp.

Salazar, Deborah A. 2002. "Noodling: An American Folk Fishing Technique" [hand fishing]. *Journal of Popular Culture* 35 (Spring): 145-155.

Samsel, Jeff. 2003. *Catfishing in the South* [comprehensive guide; includes Appalachian rivers and lakes]. Outdoor Tennessee Series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 175 pp.

Sanders, Brad. 2002. *Guide to William Bartram's Travels: Following the Trail of America's First Great Naturalist*. Athens, Ga.: Fevertree Press. 371 pp.

Sanders, Randy. 2011. "Allegiance." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 37-39. Allegiance Footware manufacturer, Mountain City, Tenn., "NOT MADE IN CHINA."

Sauceman, Fred. 2011. "A Sixties Summertime Memory of Frog Hunting." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 13-14. "Most every hardware store carried frog gigs in those days."

Savitt, Robert P. 2011. *The Blue Ridge League* [vintage photos]. Images of Baseball series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. "Between 1915 and 1930, nine towns in the Blue Ridge Mountains of Pennsylvania, Maryland, and West Virginia hosted teams in one of the most successful Class D minor leagues in professional baseball": Chambersburg, Waynesboro, Gettysburg, and Hanover, Pa.; Cumberland, Hagerstown, and Frederick, Md.; Piedmont and Martinsburg, W. Va.

Scherer, Glenn and Don Hopey. 1998. *Hikes in the Mid-Atlantic States: Maryland, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, New York* [32 day hikes]. Exploring the Appalachian Trail. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 371 pp.

Schneck, Marcus. 2003. *Backroads of Pennsylvania: Your Guide to Pennsylvania's Most Scenic Backroad Adventures* [eight subregions; 35 driving tours; full-page color photos]. Text by Marcus Schneck; photography by Glenn Davis. Stillwater, Minn.: Voyageur Press. 160 pp.

Schultz, Katey. 2011. "Lost Crossings" [swinging footbridges; N.C.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 29-30. "Mitchell and Yancey counties are home to thirteen of the state's twenty-three remaining footbridges."

Seaton, Carter Taylor. 2011. "Don't Judge a City by It's Label" [Huntington, W. Va.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 45-46. Site of "Jamie Oliver's Food Revolution," 2009-2010 reality TV series.

Sehlinger, Bob, and Joe Surkiewicz. 1999. *The Unofficial Guide to the Great Smoky and Blue Ridge Region*. 3rd ed, New York: Macmillan. 460 pp.

Sehlinger, Bob, et al. 2000. Appalachian Whitewater: The Southern Mountains: The Premier Canoeing and Kayaking Streams of Alabama, Georgia, Kentucky, Maryland, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee, Virginia, and West Virginia. 4th ed. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 278 pp.

Seldon, Lynn. 1999. *Country Roads of West Virginia: Drives, Day Trips, and Weekend Excursions*. Chicago: Country Roads Press. 128 pp.

Setzer, Lynn. 1997. *A Season on the Trail: An American Odyssey*" [Appalachian Trail]. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 192 pp.

Setzer, Lynn. 2001. A Season on the Appalachian Trail [compilation of stories]. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 222 pp.

Shaffer, Earl and Bart Smith. 2002. *The Appalachian Trail: Calling Me Back to the Hills* [pictorial; first AT thru-hiker, 1948, repeats hike in 1978; d. 2002]. Englewood, Colo.: Westcliffe. 128 pp.

Shaffer, Earl V. [1983] 2000. *Walking with Spring: The First Thru-Hike of the Appalachian Trail* [1948]. Reprint. Harpers Ferry, W.Va: Appalachian Trail Conference. 152 pp. Shaffer was the first person to hike the entire trail, from Georgia to Maine, completed in less than five months.

Shapiro, Leonard. 2005. "Coal Miners' Sons: From Small Town to the NFL, the Jones Brothers Stick Together" [Big Stone Gap, Va.; Julius and Thomas Jones; Dallas Cowboys, Chicago Bears]. Washington Post, 16 September, 1(E).

Shelton, Napier. 2011. *Potomac Pathway: A Nature Guide to the C&O Canal* [184 mile trail; Cumberland, Md., to Washington, D.C.]. Atglen, Pa.: Schiffer. 160 pp.

Simon, F. Kevin. [1939] 1996. *Kentucky: A Guide the Bluegrass State*. Reprint, with a foreword by Thomas D. Clark. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 554 pp. Originally published: Washington: Works Progress Administration.

Sitton, Thad. 2010. *Gray Ghosts and Red Rangers: American Hilltop Fox Chasing*. Austin: University of Texas Press. 250 pp.

Skelton, William H., ed. 2005. *Cherokee National Forest Hiking Guide* [Tenn.-N.C.]. 2nd ed. Written by the Harvey Broome Group of the Tennessee Chapter of the Sierra Club; with a new foreword by Lamar Alexander. Outdoor Tennessee Series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 566 pp. First edition published as *Wilderness Trails of Tennessee's Cherokee National Forest* (1992).

Skinner, Elizabeth, and Charlie Skinner. 1999. *Bicycling the Blue Ridge: A Guide to the Skyline Drive and the Blue Ridge Parkway* [575 miles]. 3rd ed. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 224 pp.

Sloane, Bruce. 1999. Scenic Driving Virginia [22 tours]. Helena, Mont.: Falcon. 174 pp.

Sloane, Bruce. 2002. *Scenic Driving: West Virginia* [guidebook; 24 tours]. Guilford, Conn.: Globe Pequot. 195 pp.

Smith, Chris. 2002. *It's More Than Winning!* [basketball autobiography of VPI All American; 1958-1961]. Charleston, W. Va.: Chris Smith Publishing. 512 pp., plus 100 pp. of illustrations.

Smith, M. W. (Michael W.). 2004. Fishing the Shenandoah Valley: An Angler's Guide [11 locations]. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 90 pp.

Smith, M. W. 2002. *Fishing the New River Valley: An Angler's Guide* [Va.]. Charlottesville: University Press of Virginia. 94 pp.

Smith, M. W. 2003. *Fishing the Roanoke Valley: An Anglers Guide* [Va.]. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 78 pp.

Smith, M. W. 2005. *Fishing the Greenbrier Valley: An Angler's Guide* [W. Va.]. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 82 pp.

Soltis, Stephen, and Stacy Soltis. 2001. *West Virginia: Off the Beaten Path* [guidebook]. 3rd ed., revised and updated by Thomas R. Fletcher. Guilford, Conn.: Globe Pequot. 169 pp.

Soslow, Robin. 2012. "Tennessee's Cumberland Plateau Is So Cool" [spelunking]. *Washington Post*, 29 July, 6(F). 1,249 words. Photos, map, links. Falls Creek Falls State Park: 9,600 caves, the highest waterfall in the eastern U.S, and one of the world's largest stands of hemlocks, some 400 years old.

Speer, Ed. 2002. *The Tennessee Handbook* [guidebook to Constitutions, governors, counties, cities and towns, rivers and lakes, etc.]. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 276 pp.

Spornick, Charles D., Alan R. Cattier, and Robert J. Greene. 2003. *An Outdoor Guide to Bartram's Travels* [1773-77; 50 Southeastern tours, maps; Georgia; Cherokee country]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 405 pp.

Squeri, Lawrence Louis. 2002. *Better in the Poconos: The Story of Pennsylvania's Vacationland* [Pike, Monroe, Carbon Cos.]. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 276 pp.

Stager, Claudette, and Martha Carver, ed. 2006. *Looking Beyond the Highway: Dixie Roads and Culture*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 298 pp. Seventeen chapters including: Drivin' the Dixie Highway in Tennessee / Martha Carver -- Heading south without getting sidetracked: the Dixie Highway in Georgia / Jeffrey L. Durbin -- The Dollarway Road and road improvement districts in Arkansas, 1913-1921 / Christie H. McLaren -- Tourist lodging in the Great Smoky Mountains and the transition from regional to national style / Blythe Semmer -- Caving and clogging: keepin' cool in Tennessee's caves / Ruth Nichols Keenoy and Robbie D. Jones -- Get right with God: Harrison Mayes's advertising campaign for the Lord / Martha Carver -- Buy one, get two free: fireworks / Karl Puljak -- Seeing the scenic Upland South: mother nature and the morphology of tourist landscapes / Kevin J. Patrick -- Pilgrimage route to paradise: the sacred and profane along the Dixie Highway / Robert M. Craig.

Stancil, Cale, and Ed Beard. 2009. "Cale Stancil, Ed Beard, and the Plott Hounds: Foxfire Interviews Local Bear Hunters." *Foxfire Magazine*, 43 no. 3-4 (Fall/Winter): 36-42. Personal hunting experiences; Ga.; N.C.

Stancil, Cale. 2009. "Plott History by Cale Stancil: A Research Project." *Foxfire Magazine* 43, no. 3-4 (Fall/Winter): 43-51. Traces the history of this breed of hunting dog, now the N.C. state dog, beginning in 1750 Germany.

Stancil, Walter. 2003. "Bearing It" [bear hunting; Ga.]. Interview by student Samantha Tyler. *Foxfire* 37 (Spring/Summer): 67-74.

Steelhammer, Rick. 2010. West Virginia Curiosities: Quirky Characters, Roadside Oddities & Other Offbeat Stuff [guidebook]. Guilford, Conn.: Globe Pequot. 213 pp. Contents: Southern coalfields | Metro Valley | Greenbrier Valley | Northern Hills and Northern Panhandle | Potomac Highlands and Eastern Panhandle.

Stover, Kara Perdue. 2007. "Coach Bobby Stover: The Making of a Clay County Legend" [coach and high school teacher; mining town of Widen, 1958-63]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 3 (Fall): 36-39.

Strain, Paula. 1997. *The Blue Hills of Maryland* [Washington and Frederick Cos., Md.; South Mountain, Pa. and Md.]. Harpers Ferry, W. Va.: Appalachian Trail Conference.

Strother, David Hunter ["Porte Crayon"]. 2004 [1858]. "A Winter in the South (4th Paper of 7)" [Bald Mountain, Yancey Co., N.C.; Spivey Creek, Unicoi Co., Tenn.; Jonesborough, Tenn.]. In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia, 1840-1900*, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 99-130. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Originally published: *Harper's Monthly* 16 (Jan. 1858): 167-183.

Sturtevant, Lynne. 2011. *A Guide to Historic Marietta, Ohio*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 142 pp. Contents: History: ancient roots and great expectations -- Downtown: echoes of 1900 -- Harmar: the West Side -- The Downtown Residential District: mansions, mounds, and Marietta College -- The campus Martius Museum complex: Native Americans, pioneers and rivermen -- The Appalachian countryside: Belpre, scenic byways and the Wayne National Forest -- Williamstown: Fenton Glass, Henderson Hall and the Ohio River Islands National Wildlife Refuge -- Blennerhassett Island: glamour and treason.

Summerlin, Cathy, and Vernon Summerlin. 1997. *Traveling the Southern Highlands: A Complete Vacation Guide to the Mountains of Northeast Georgia, East Tennessee, Western North Carolina, and Southwest Virginia* [44 points of interest profiled; directory information]. Nashville: Rutledge Hill Press. 347 pp.

Summerlin, Vernon, and Cathy Summerlin. 1999. *Longstreet Highroad Guide to the Tennessee Mountains*. Atlanta, Ga.: Longstreet Press. 340 pp.

Sutcliffe, Andrea. 1999. *Touring the Shenandoah Valley Backroads* [14 day trips]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 249 pp.

Sutter, L.M. 2009. *Ball, Bat, and Bitumen: A History of Coalfield Baseball in the Appalachian South.* Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 21. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 204 pp. Early 1900s to 1950s, based on interviews, covering leagues within mining communities in Va., Ky., and W. Va.

Sutton, Allan. 1997. *Potomac Trails: D.C., Virginia, Maryland, and West Virginia* [guidebook to 100 hikes in Shenandoah Valley, Blue Ridge and Allegheny Mts.]. Golden, Colo.: Fulcrum Publishing. 226 pp.

Tedesco, Marie. 2006. "A Renaissance among the Minors: Ninety-Five Years of Appalachian League Baseball." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 15-18.

Tennis, Joe. 2003. Southwest Virginia Crossroads: An Almanac of Place Names and Places to See. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 250 pp.

Tennis, Joe. 2004. *Southwest Virginia Crossroads: An Almanac of Place Names and Places to See* [17 counties; hundreds of landmarks described; directory]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 166 pp.

Theriault, William D. 1998. "Shannondale Springs" [19th-century mineral springs/hotel; Jefferson Co.]. *West Virginia History* 57: 1-26.

Thomas, Sarah Anne Loudin. 2010. "Acrophobics Welcome." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 22-23. Rappelling and B.A.S.E. jumping from 876-foot-high New River Gorge Bridge near Fayetteville, W. Va.

Thomas, Sarah. 2011. "Navitat" [Canopy Adventures--through trees]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 35-36. "...a three-hour canopy tour with ten ziplines, several rapells, and a couple of rope bridges" [N.C.].

Thompson, M. Douglas. 2006. Son of Bits and Pieces of the Past Along the Ohio [vast collection of local miscellanea arranged under 25 topics; W.Va, Oh., Ky.]. Russell, Ky.: Printed by Russell Printing. 319 pp. Sequel to Bits and Pieces of the Past along the Ohio, 1981.

Thompson, Neal. 2006. *Driving with the Devil: Southern Moonshine, Detroit Wheels, and the Birth of NASCAR*. New York: Crown Publishers. 411 pp.

Thwaites, Reuben Gold. 1997. *Pilgrims on the Ohio: The River Journey & Photographs of Reuben Gold Thwaites, 1894* [historical photographs of a 1100-mile rowboat journey]. Essays by Robert L Reid and Dan Hughes Fuller. Indianapolis: Indiana Historical Society. 105 pp.

Thwaites, Reuben Gold. 1999 [1897]. *Afloat on the Ohio: An Historical Pilgrimage of a Thousand Miles in a Skiff, from Redstone to Cairo*. Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press. 334 pp. Originally published: Chicago: Way & Williams.

Thwaites, Tom. 2000. *Fifty Hikes in Western Pennsylvania*. 3rd ed. Woodstock, Vt.: Countryman Press. 213 pp.

Tolley-Stokes, Rebecca. 2011. "Around and Around She Rolls: Roller Derby in Appalachia." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 43-44. The Hard Knox Rollergirls (Knoxville), the Blue Ridge Rollergirls (Asheville), and the Steel City Derby Demons (Pittsburgh) all formed in 2006. In 2010 the Appalachian Rollergirls of Boone, N.C. formed, and Johnson City's (Tenn.) Brat League was established in 2008 accepting 6- to 11-year-olds.

Tooman, L. Alex. 1997. "Applications of Life-Cycle Model in Tourism" [social impact; Smoky Mountain region]. *Annals of Tourism Research* 24 (January): 214-234.

Toops, Connie. 2000. "Blossoming Interests" [springtime flowers blossom along the Appalachians, Va., Tenn, N.C.]. *National Parks* 74 (March/April): 40-44.

Torrey, Bradford. 2004 [1895]. "A Week on Walden's Ridge I" [Chattanooga, Walden's Ridge, Signal Mountain, Fairmount, Tenn.]. In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia*, 1840-1900, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 83-95. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Originally published: *Atlantic Monthly* 75 (May 1895): 605-613.

Trevathan, Kim. 2001. *Paddling the Tennessee River: A Voyage on Easy Water* [652 mi., Knoxville to Paducah]. Outdoor Tennessee Series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 294 pp.

Trevathan, Kim. 2006. *Coldhearted River: A Canoe Odyssey Down the Cumberland* [700 mi. from Harlan, Ky.; Tenn.]. Photographs by Randy Russell. Outdoor Tennessee Series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 266 pp.

Venable, Sam. 2002. *Rock-Elephant: A Story of Friendship and Fishing*. Outdoor Tennessee Series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 180 pp.

Waddell, Michael E., with Michael Schoby. 2010. *Hunting Booger Bottom: Life Lessons from the Field* [hunting stories]. Foreword by Ted Nugent. New York: Harper. 212 pp. The author grew up in Georgia and is a popular TV host on the Outdoor Channel.

Wadness, Kenneth. 1997. Sojourn in the Wilderness: A Seven Month Journey on the Appalachian Trail [190 color photos]. Foreword by Bill Irwin. Louisville, Ky.: Harmony House. 231 pp.

Waggoner, Eric G. 1997. "Pulling the Weight, Doing the Work: Barbour County's Horse Pull" [annual draft horse pulling contest and festivities]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Summer): 20-25.

Walker, Anne. 2010. "An R.C. Dash and a MoonPie Toss" [R.C. Cola]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 15. The annual R.C.-MoonPie Festival, nearly twenty years old, is held in Bell Buckle, Tenn.

Warner, Charles Dudley. 2004 [1885]. "On Horseback II" [Cranberry, Bakersville, Burnsville, N.C.; Roan Mountain, Tenn./N.C.]. In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia*, 1840-1900, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 193-214. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Originally published: *Atlantic Monthly* 56 (Aug. 1885): 194-207.

Watkins, W. Merle, and Bill Watkins. 2001. "The World's Fair In a Rowboat" [1904; rowed a boat 1,120 miles from Grafton, W. Va. to the St. Louis World's Fair]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Summer): 66-71.

Watson, James. 2010. "High Life at the Beer Wash." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 19-20. Four-stall car wash converted to a bar in tourist-destination Roan Mountain, Tenn.

Weaver, Steve. 2010. "The Runaway Airplane!" *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 1 (Spring): 20-27. New pilot's harrowing adventure in a single engine plane; 1962 Wood County.

Wells, Dianne, comp. [1969] 2002. *Roadside History: A Guide to Kentucky Highway Markers* [combines first Guide (1969), supplements, and updates]. Edited by Melba Porter Hay and Thomas H. Appleton, Jr. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 400 pp.

West, Jerry, and Jonathan Coleman. 2011. West by West: My Charmed, Tormented Life. New York: Little, Brown. 338 pp. "Basketball great Jerry West tells his story--from his tough childhood in West Virginia, to his unbelievable college success at West Virginia University, his 40-year career with the Los Angeles Lakers, and his relationships with NBA legends."

West Virginia Atlas & Gazetteer: Topographic Maps of the Entire State [44 maps; 1: 150,000 scale]. 1997. Yarmouth, Me.: DeLorme. 64 pp.

West Virginia Getaways: A Guide to the State's Bed & Breakfasts and Country Inns. 1999. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 292 pp.

White, Rex, as told to Anne B. Jones. 2005. *Gold Thunder: Autobiography of a NASCAR Champion* [b. 1930, Taylorsville, N.C.]. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 214 pp.

Wilkinson, Stephan. 2002. "Touring the Southern Appalachian Mountains in a Cadillac CTS" [Marion, Va. to Maryville, Tenn.]. *Conde Nast Traveler* 37 (March): 76, 81-82.

Williams, Danny. 1997. "Stonewall Jackson Heritage Jubilee" [W. Va.'s largest annual celebration of traditional products and music; Lewis Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Summer): 60-63.

Williams, Robert L. 1999. *One Hundred Practically Perfect Places in the North Carolina Mountains*. Dallas, N.C.: Southeastern Publishing. 437 pp.

Williams, Robert Leonard, Elizabeth W. Williams, and Robert L. Williams. [1995, 2001] 2012. 50 Hikes in the Mountains of North Carolina: Walks and Hikes from the Blue Ridge Mountains to the Great Smokies. 3rd ed. Woodstock, Vt.: Backcountry Guides. 239 pp.

Williams, Robert Leonard, Elizabeth W. Williams, and Robert L. Williams, III. [1995] 2001. Fifty Hikes in the Mountains of North Carolina: Walks and Hikes from the Blue Ridge Mountains to the Great Smokies. 2nd ed. Fifty Hikes Series. Woodstock, Vt.: Countryman Press. 240 pp.

Williams, Robert Leonard. 2001. 100 Practically Perfect Places in the North Carolina Mountains. Dallas, N.C.: Southeastern Publishing. 446 pp. Guidebook; driving tours.

Winegar, Deane, and Garvey Winegar. *Highroad Guide to the Virginia Mountains* [detailed guidebook; six subregions; maps]. Atlanta, Ga.: Longstreet Press. 340 pp.

Winters, Kelly. 2001. *Walking Home: A Woman's Pilgrimage on the Appalachian Trail*. Los Angeles: Alyson Books. 335 pp.

Wise, Kenneth and James Andrews. 1997. *The Best Short Hikes in the Great Smoky Mountains*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 136 pp.

Wise, Kenneth. 1996. *Hiking Trails of the Great Smoky Mountains: A Comprehensive Guide*. Outdoor Tennessee Series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 480 pp.

Withrow, Dolly. 2011. "Memorable Appalachian Journeys" [W. Va.]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 26, no. 2 (Winter): 17-18.

Wohlpart, A. James. 2011. "Journey to the Great Mountain" [Appalachian Trail; Mt. Katahdin]. *Studies in American Indian Literatures* 23, no. 3 (Fall): 111-127. References Linda Hogan's book, *Dwellings: A Spiritual History of the Living World* (1995).

Wood, Denise. 2003. *NASCAR Women* [race drivers' spouses]. Phoenix, Ariz.: David Bull. 144 pp.

Wood, Perry Allen. 2007. Silent Speedways of the Carolinas: The Grand National Histories of 29 Former Tracks [stock-car racing]. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 298 pp.

Woolson, Constance Fenimore. 2004 [1875]. "The French Broad" [Asheville, Warm Springs (Hot Springs), N.C.; Paint Rock, N.C./Tenn.]. In *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia, 1840-1900*, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth, 131-172. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Originally published: *Harper's Monthly* 50 (Apr. 1875): 617-636.

WPA Guide to 1930s Alabama. [1941] 2000. Compiled by Workers of the Writers' Program of the Works Projects Administration in the State of Alabama. New introduction by Harvey H.

Jackson III, vii-xxxv. Reprint. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 442 pp. Originally published as *Alabama: A Guide to the Deep South*, New York: R. R. Smith.

Wyatt, Edward. 2002. "Cape Cod Too Much? How About Appalachia?" [seasonal and second home market; W. Va., Tenn., Ark.]. *New York Times*, 19 April, 1(F).

Yates, Brock W. 2004. *NASCAR off the Record* [stock car racing stories]. St. Paul, Minn.: Motorbrooks International. 256 pp.

Yates, David W., with photographs by William A. Bake. 1997. *Valle Crucis* [N.C.; historic Watauga River Valley]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 97 pp.

Young, Jay. 2011. Whitewater Rafting on West Virginia's New & Gauley Rivers: Come On In, the Water's Weird. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 126 pp. Local lore and history; New River Gorge National River.

Zavatsky, George. 2002. *Kids Love the Virginias: A Parent's Guide to Exploring Fun Places in Virginia & West Virginia with Children ... Year Round!* [900 listings]. By George & Michele Zavatsky. Columbus, Ohio: Kids Love Publications. 262 pp.

ECONOMIC CONDITIONS, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, ECONOMIC POLICY, POVERTY

Includes Appalachian Regional Commission programs, community action efforts, unemployment, housing, and hunger

Allen-Smith, Joyce E., Ronald C. Wimberley, and Libby V. Morris. 2000. "America's Forgotten People and Places: Ending the Legacy of Poverty in the Rural South" [Appalachia; Miss. Delta; and Black Belt]. *Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics* 32 (August): 319-329.

Analysis of Global Competitiveness of Selected Industries and Clusters in the Appalachian Region [maps, tables, charts]. 2004. Prepared by Jack Faucett Associates, and Economic Development Research Group. Transportation and Trade Studies of the Appalachian Region, no. 1. Washington, D.C.: Appalachian Regional Commission, Online Resource Center. 180 pp. http://arc.gov/index.do?nodeId=2583.

Anderson, Cynthia D., Michael D. Schulman, and Philip Wood. 2003. "Place, Race, and State: Sustaining the Textile Security Zone in a Changing Southern Labor Market." In *Communities of Work: Rural Restructuring in Local and Global Contexts*, ed. W. Falk, M. Schulman, and A. Tickamyer, 31-54. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Anglin, Mary K. 2002. Lessons from Appalachia in the 20th Century: Poverty, Power, and the 'Grassroots'" [Ky., Va., N.C.]. *American Anthropologist* 104 (June): 565-582.

Appalachian Entrepreneurs and Innovators. 1995. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 12 (Winter): 1-40.

Appalachian Journal Roundtable Discussion: Robert S. Weise's *Grasping at Independence: Debt, Male Authority, and Mineral Rights in Appalachian Kentucky, 1850-1915* (University of Tennessee Press, 2001). 2002. Compiled with assistance from Paul Salstrom, with contributions by John Hennen, Shaunna L. Scott, Altina Waller, Dwight B. Billings, with a response from Robert S. Weise. *Appalachian Journal* 30 (Fall): 76-113.

Appalachian Kentucky and the War on Poverty. 2009. Special issue, *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 107, no. 3 (Summer): 300-417, with cover photo of Robert F. Kennedy, Letcher County, 1968. Five articles, by Susan Youngblood Ashmore, Robert S. Weise, Thomas Kiffmeyer, Edward R. Schmitt, and John R. Burch Jr.

Appalachian Regional Commission. 1994. *General Economic Indicators: Appalachia and United States, 1965-: Latest Data Available.* Washington, D.C.: The Commission. 1 volume (various pagings).

Appalachian Regional Commission. 2004. *Moving Appalachia Forward: Appalachian Regional Commission Strategic Plan*, 2005-2010. Washington, D.C.: Appalachian Regional Commission. 33 pp. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS102811.

Appalachian Regional Commission. 2007. Energizing Appalachia: A Regional Blueprint for Economic and Energy Development. Washington, D.C.: Appalachian Regional Commission. 27 pp. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS89063.

Appalachian Regional Commission. 2010. *Moving Appalachia Forward: Appalachian Regional Commission Strategic Plan, 2011-2016.* Washington, D.C.: Appalachian Regional Commission. 38 pp. http://www.arc.gov/images/newsroom/publications/sp/arcstrategicplan2011-2016.pdf.

Appalachian Visions: How the Region Sees Its Future. 1996. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 13 (Summer): 1-48.

Archer, Bill. 2009. "Sharp's Camp" [poor farm, living conditions; Mercer Co.; establ. 1920]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 2 (Summer): 34-37.

Ashmore, Susan Youngblood. 2009. "Introduction" [special issue, "Appalachian Kentucky and the War on Poverty"]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 107, no. 3 (Summer): 301-306.

Auletta, Ken. [1982] 1999. "Appalachia: The White Underclass." Chap. 12 in *The Underclass*. Reprint. Woodstock, N.Y.: Overlook Press. Originally published: New York: Random House.

Bagi, Faqir S., Richard J. Reeder, and Samuel D. Calhoun. 1999. "Federal Funding's Unique Role in Appalachia" [underfunding]. *Rural Development Perspectives* 14 (May): 14-21.

Bailey, Jason. 1998. "Cracks in the Pavement" [Tenn.; critical of proposed highway connecting Tri-Cities Regional Airport with Pigeon Forge/Gatlinburg]. *Appalachian Heritage* 26 (Summer): 31-34.

Baker, Alyson. 2002. "The Flanary & Co. Store: A Century of Connections between Southern Appalachia and the Wider World" [Wise, Va.; Carl A. Ross Appalachian Undergraduate Student Paper Award for 2002]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Fall): 421-430.

Baker, Chris. 2005. "Collaborations for Change: Who is Playing and Who Is Winning in Community-Based Organization Led Development in Rural Appalachia" [Ky., W. Va.; Southern Appalachian Labor School]. *Humanity and Society* 29, no. 3-4 (August-November): 327-350.

Baker, Chris. 2006. "The Southern Appalachian Labor School: Communities of Difference and Development in Southern West Virginia" [Fayette Co.; volunteers, families, and alliances; with programs dedicated to housing, health care, after-school and daycare, job training, and other basic needs]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 30-33.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1996. "Appalachia's Distressed Counties: Catching Up and Ready to Grow" [Pike and Martin Counties, Ky.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 29 (January-April): 4-13.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1997. "Alabama's 'Waste Not, Want Not' Help to Small Business" [WRATT Foundation]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 30 (May-August): 14-17.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1997. "Going for the Goals" [Va.'s New River Valley Planning District]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 30 (Sept.-Dec.): 14-19.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1997. "Planning Means Business" [Tupelo and Lee Co., Miss.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 30 (Sept.-Dec.): 32-35.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1997. "Small is BIG Business in Eastern Tennessee" [Tennessee Small Business Development Center (TSBDC)]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 30 (May-August): 6-13.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1997. "The Power of Vision: Making the Strategic Plan Come Alive" [local development districts in Northwest Pa. and Western N.C.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 30 (Sept.-Dec.): 6-13.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1997. "Vision and Involvement: Empowered Communities" [four community economic development projects in S.C., Ky., Va., and Miss.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 30 (Jan.-Apr.): 6-13.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1997. "WINGS: Women Entrepreneurs Take Flight" [Women' Initiative Networking Groups (WINGS); Ky.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 30 (May-August): 30-35.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1998. "A Tale of Two Water Systems" [Amonate, Va.; Bishop, W. Va.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (May-August): 32-35.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1998. "Growing Your Own" [Greene Co., Pa., small business development]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (May-August): 22-25.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1998. "Handmade Communities" [N.C.'s Rural Small Town Revitalization Project]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (May-August): 26-31.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1998. "Once Distressed, Jackson County Moves On" [N.C.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (September-December): 4-9.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1998. "Reskilling the Workplace" [Ohio Industrial Training Program]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (May-August): 14-19.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1998. "Supplying the Demand for Training" [Northeastern Pennsylvania Industrial Resource Center]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (January-April): 4-13.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1998. "The Town That Helped Itself — To Water" [Smith Ridge, Va., water system financing assistance]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (September-December): 34-39.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1998. "Visionary Gene L. MacDonald" [Ohio; profiles Whisman-award-winning president of a local development district]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (May-August): 36-37.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1999. "A Factory Without Walls: Microbusinesses in Appalachia" [Garrett Co., Md.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (September-December): 2-7.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1999. "Balancing Growth and Preservation" [S.C. Highway 11: Cherokee Foothills Scenic Highway Corridor Management Plan]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (May-August): 22-26.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1999. "Conference Highlights: Ideas That Work" [ARC fall conference goals, Wheeling, W. Va., October 12-13]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (September-December): 12-21.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1999. "The Process for Change" [Appalachian Community Learning Project; Ala., Tenn., Ohio, W. Va.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (January-April): 18-23.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2000. "Building for the Future" [investing in infrastructure: Tishomingo Co., Miss., and Muskingum Co., Ohio]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 33 (January-April): 8-13.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2000. "Infrastructure: Foundation for Development" [public investments leverage private]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 33 (May-August): 2-7.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2000. "Kentucky's Blueprint for Home Ownership" [advocacy and assistance for affordable housing]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 33 (September-December): 2-9.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2000. "Launching Technology Jobs" [Tenn.; Technology 2020 public-private partnership]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 33 (January-April): 22-27.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2000. "Tools for Entrepreneurship" [highlights of ARC-sponsored conference, September 18-19, Clermont Co., Ohio]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 33 (September-December): 16-23.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2001. "Building Clusters: Building on Local Strengths" [Pa.'s wood-related businesses initiative]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (September-December): 2-9.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2001. "Developing Three-Star Communities" [Tenn.'s Three-Star program for community development; Campbell and Jefferson Cos.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (May-August): 30-33.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2003. "Conference Report: Telecommunications and the Future of Appalachian Communities" [ARC, fall 2003, Abingdon, Va.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 36 (July-December): 2-7. Appended overview of 25 concurrent sessions, "Best Practices," 8-13.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2003. "Creating Opportunity through Information Technology" [Blue Ridge Business Development Center, Sparta, N.C.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 36 (July-December): 14-19.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2003. "Investing in a High-Tech Future" [West Virginia High Technology Consortium Foundation, Fairmont, W. Va.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 36 (January-June): 27-31.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2004-2005. "AllCoNet: A Mountain County Connects" [Allegany County, Md.; high-speed Internet access]. *Appalachia Magazine: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission*. 21 para. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS3423.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2004-2005. "ARC Fall Conference Focuses on the 'Rural Advantage'" [October 5-6, at Muskingum College, New Concord, Ohio; theme: "Winning the Economic Future: The Rural Advantage"]. *Appalachia Magazine: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission*. 31 para. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS3423.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2004-2005. "Progress through Partnership: Reflections on ARC's 40th Anniversary" [interview with ARC Federal Co-Chair Anne B. Pope, and Ohio Governor Bob Taft, 2005 ARC States' Co-Chair]. *Appalachia Magazine: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission*. 21 para. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS3423.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2004-2005. "West Virginia's Shop Window on the World" [West Virginia Development Office helps small businesses compete in foreign markets]. *Appalachia Magazine: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission*. 24 para. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS3423.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2008. "Appalachian Angels: Growing High-Tech Businesses in Western North Carolina." *Appalachia Magazine: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 39: 34-40. Profiles the Blue Ridge Entrepreneurial Council and the Blue Ridge Angel Investors Network.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2008. "Catskill Connectivity: A New York County Adds Wireless." *Appalachia Magazine: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 39: 26-33. Delaware County; Delhi CyberCommunity. http://www.arc.gov/index.do?nodeId=3176.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2008. "Cultivating Entrepreneurship: A Pennsylvania Town-Gown Partnership." *Appalachia Magazine: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 39: 2-9. Huntington County; Juniata College Center for Entrepreneurial Leadership. http://www.arc.gov/index.do?nodeId=3175.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2008. "Rural Action: Revitalizing Appalachian Communities" [Ohio]. *Appalachia Magazine: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 39: 10-17. Sustainable economies/communities/environment. http://www.arc.gov/index.do?nodeId=3173.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1996. "Appalachian Highways: Almost Home but a Long Way to Go" [3,025 mile Appalachian Development Highway System]. Photography by Ann Hawthorne and Ken Murray. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 29 (May-August): 4-13.

Baldwin, Fred. 2002. "'Serious Business': Teaching Entrepreneurship Skills to Youths" [Hale Co., Ala.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (January-December): 10-15.

Baldwin, Fred. 2002. "Creating Opportunities: Tennessee's Southeast Regional Skills Center" [Marion Co.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (January-December): 22-27.

Baldwin, Fred. 2002. "The New Appalachia: Capacity and Collaboration" [ARC conference, Prestonsburg, Ky., Nov. 7-8, 2001]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (January-December): 2-9.

Barker, Garry. 1999. "'Our Contemporary Ancestors' Discovered (Again)" [federal help and national attention per 1890s and 1960s]. *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Summer): 10-11.

Bartlett, Lesley, and Jefferson C. Boyer. 2009. "Participation Versus Mobilization: Cultural Styles of Political Action in an Appalachian County" [Watauga Co., N.C.]. In *Participatory Development in Appalachia: Cultural Identity, Community, and Sustainability*, ed. S. Keefe, 115-139. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Bauman, Robert. 2006. "Changes in the Appalachian Wage Gap, 1970-2000" [tables]. *Growth and Change* 37, no. 3 (September): 416-443.

Beaver, Patricia D. 2006. "The Civil War on the North Fork of the New River: The Cultural Politics of Elevation & Sustaining Community" [Ashe Co., N.C.; Civil War to present]. *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 1 (Fall): 98-116.

Benac, David. 2006. "Whose Forest Is This? Hillfolk, Industrialists, and Government in the Ozarks" [1900-1930s; subsistence lifestyles, forests, conservation]. *Missouri Historical Review* 101, no. 1: 17-35.

Benhart, John, Jr. 2000. "Applying GIS to Historical Geographical Analysis: Reconstructing an Urban Place from the Past" [Harriman, Tenn.; regional development, 1860-1900; maps]. *Pennsylvania Geographer* 37 (Spring/Summer): 76-99.

Bennett, Sara Lynne Rieder. 2008. "Contextual Affordances of Rural Appalachian Individuals" [Ky.]. *Journal of Career Development* 34, no. 3 (March): 241-262. Barriers; vocational psychology.

Berry, Wendell. 2010. What Matters?: Economics for a Renewed Commonwealth. Foreword by Herman E. Daly. Berkeley, Calif.: Counterpoint. 193 pp.

Bickel, Robert, and Meghan McDonough. 1997. "Opportunity, Community, and Reckless Lives: Social Distress Among Adolescents in West Virginia" [as a response to socioeconomic, not cultural/fatalistic, conditions]. *Journal of Social Distress and the Homeless* 6 (January): 29-44.

Billings, Dwight B., and Kathleen M. Blee. 2004. "Social Origins of Appalachian Poverty: Markets, Cultural Strategies, and the State in an Appalachian Kentucky Community, 1804-1940" [Beech Creek study; Clay Co.]. *Rethinking Marxism* 16 (January): 19-36.

Billings, Dwight B., and Kathleen M. Blee. 2000. *The Road to Poverty: The Making of Wealth and Inequality in Appalachia* [Clay Co., Ky.; longitudinal study]. New York: Cambridge University Press. 520 pp. Weatherford Award winner.

Billings, Dwight B., and Ronald L. Lewis. 1995. "Appalachian Culture and Economic Development." Report Number 6 to the Appalachian Regional Commission; Paper presented at the Southern Regional Science Association Meetings, San Antonio, TX, April 20-23, 1995. Morgantown: West Virginia University, Regional Research Institute. 60 pp. "This paper assesses the social theory underlying Appalachian economic development policy during the past thirty years. This theory assumes a region-wide subculture still being shaped by the geographical and cultural isolation of the frontier past We argue that current historical research and cultural theory challenge the commonplace assumption about the persistence, even the existence, of a traditional Appalachian subculture, and suggest that investment in human resources as well as infrastructure would yield a more effective policy."

Bindas, Kenneth J. 2007. *Remembering the Great Depression in the Rural South* [600 Ga., Ala., and Tenn. reminiscences, collected 1980s-1990s; FSA photos]. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 184 pp.

Bishops Speak Out on Behalf of Appalachia. 1996. *Christian Century* 113 (January 3-10): 6. Reviews a 73-page pastoral message from 25 bishops.

Black, Dan A., and Seth G. Sanders. 2004. "Labor Market Performance, Poverty, and Income Inequality in Appalachia" [distressed counties, 1990-2000; maps, tables]. Demographic and Socioeconomic Change in Appalachia series. Washington, D.C.: Appalachian Regional Commission, Online Resource Center. 60 pp.

http://www.arc.gov/research/researchreportdetails.asp?REPORT_ID=32.

Black, Dan A., Mark Mather, and Seth G. Sanders. 2007. *Standards of Living in Appalachia*, 1960-2000 [trends in housing and consumption; graphs, charts]. Washington, D.C.: Population Reference Bureau; Appalachian Regional Commission. 18 pp. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS100131.

Boettner, Ted. 2012. "Reducing Child Care Assistance: The Impact on West Virginia's Low-Income Working Families" (November 9, 2012). West Virginia Center on Budget & Policy, Charleston, W. Va. 925 words. http://www.wvpolicy.org/reducing-child-care-assistance-the-impact-on-west-virginias-low-income-working-families.

Bohland, James, and Anita Puckett. 2000. "Decline of Space, The Ascent of Place: Internet Technology in Appalachia." In *A Geographic Perspective of Pittsburgh and the Alleghenies: From Precambrian to Post-Industrial*, ed. K. Patrick and J. Scarpaci, 182-188. Washington, D.C.: Association of American Geographers.

Bolton, Charles C. 1994. *Poor Whites of the Antebellum South: Tenants and Laborers in Central North Carolina and Northeast Mississippi*. Durham: Duke University Press. 258 pp. Contents: A window into the world of Antebellum poor whites: the story of Edward Isham -- "A third class of white people": poor whites in North Carolina's central Piedmont -- A troubling presence: white poverty in a slave society -- Poverty moves West: the migration of poor whites to the Old Southwest -- Poor whites in the cotton South: Northeast Mississippi -- Electoral politics and the popular presence: the political world of the Antebellum South -- Electoral politics versus the popular presence: the secession crisis in North Carolina -- Electoral politics versus the popular presence: the secession crisis in Mississippi -- Epilogue: Poor whites and the "New South."

Bragg, Rick. 2009. *The Most They Ever Had.* San Francisco, Calif.: MacAdam Cage. 156 pp. Stories of hard lives of cotton textile mill workers in Jacksonville, Ala.

Brosi, George. 2010. "This Side of the Mountain" [editorial on high-speed Internet haves and have-nots, and need for universal access]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 2 (Spring): 6-7.

Buckley, Geoffrey L., Timothy G. Anderson, and Nancy R. Bain. 2006. "Living on the Fringe: A Geographic Profile of Appalachian Ohio" [settlement era; coal economy]. In *Pittsburgh and the Appalachians: Cultural and Natural Resources in a Postindustrial Age*, ed. J. Scarpaci, 178-190. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press.

Bukenya, James O., Tesfa G. Gebremedhin, and Peter V. Schaeffer. 2003. "Analysis of Quality of Life and Rural Development: Evidence from West Virginia Data." *Growth and Change* 34 (Spring): 202-218.

Burch, John R., Jr 2009. "The Turner Family of Breathitt County, Kentucky, and the War on Poverty" [1965-66]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 107, no. 3 (Summer): 401-417. One corrupt family's control over federal money funneled through the Middle Kentucky River Area Development Council, local OEO Community Action Program.

Burch, John R., Jr. 2008. *Owsley County, Kentucky, and the Perpetuation of Poverty* [1850s-1960s; tables]. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 18. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 221 pp.

Cahill, Kevin J. 1998. "Fertilizing the Weeds: The Rural Rehabilitation Program in West Virginia" [Depression-era; standard loan program's mixed results]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 4 (Fall): 285-297.

Calzonetti, Frank J., T. Allison, and Jay Gatrell. 1999. "Science and Technology Capability and Economic Development in Lagging States: The Case of West Virginia Manufacturing." *Southeastern Geographer* 39 (May): 22-45.

Casto, James E. 1998. "A Caring Company" [Ritchie Co., W. Va.; corporate citizenship]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (May-August): 26-29.

Casto, James E. 1999. "Special Report: President Clinton Visits Appalachia" [Jackson Co. and Hazard, Ky.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (May-August): 2-7.

Casto, James E. 2000. "Learning Skills, Building Futures" [Fayette Co., W. Va.; unemployed youth build houses]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 33 (September-December): 10-15.

Casto, James E. 2001. "Targeting Resources for Local Growth" [Kentucky Appalachian Community Development Initiative]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (May-August): 28-32.

Casto, James E. 1996. "West Virginia's Corridor L Opens the Door to Tourists" [new 70-mile north/south highway in Central W. Va.]. Photography by Ann Hawthorne. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 29 (May-August): 14-19.

Catholic Bishops of Appalachia Present. [1975; 1995] 2007. This Land Is Home to Me (1975): A Pastoral Letter on Powerlessness in Appalachia by the Catholic Bishops of the Region & At Home in the Web of Life (1995): A Pastoral Message on Sustainable Communities in Appalachia, Celebrating the 20th Anniversary of "This Land Is Home to Me" from the Catholic Bishops of Appalachia. Combined edition. Appalachian pastoral letters, with photos by Warren Brunner. Martin, Ky.: Catholic Committee of Appalachia. 120 pp. http://www.ccappal.org/CCAbook040307.pdf.

Caudill, Harry M. [1976] 2010. *The Watches of the Night*. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 290 pp. Originally published: Boston: Little, Brown. "Sequel to *Night Comes to the Cumberlands*" (1963).

Caudill, Harry. [1963] 2001. *Night Comes to the Cumberlands*. Reprint, with an afterword by James K. Caudill. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 404 pp. Originally published: Boston: Little, Brown.

Che, Deborah. 2005. "Constructing a Prison in the Forest: Conflicts Over Nature, Paradise, and Identity" [postindustrial prison development; Forest Co., Pa.]. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers* 95 (December): 809-831.

Chiang, Elizabeth. 2004. "The Great Storm That Swept Through: The Effects of Globalization on Indiana County" [1980s deindustrialization and colonization]. *Pennsylvania History* 71 (Spring): 165-190.

Cho, Seong-Hoon, David H. Newman, and David N. Wear. 2003. "Impacts of Second Home Development on Housing Prices in the Southern Appalachian Highlands." *Review of Urban and Regional Development Studies* 15 (November): 208-225.

Cirillo, Marie. 2002. "From the Ground Up: The Community-Building of Marie Cirillo" [activist, ex-Glenmary Sister; Clearfork Valley, Campbell Co., Tenn.]. An Interview by Caroline E. Knight, Sarah Poteete, Amy Sparrow, and Jessica C. Wrye [conducted Sept. 25, 2001, Boone, N.C.]. *Appalachian Journal* 30 (Fall): 30-56.

Coclanis, Peter A., and Louis M. Kyriakoudes. 2007. "Selling Which South? Economic Change in Rural and Small-Town North Carolina in an Era of Globalization, 1940–2007" [tables; shaded county outline map]. *Southern Cultures* 13, no. 4 (Winter): 86-102.

Cohen, Stuart. 2009. *The Likes of Us: America in the Eyes of the Farm Security Administration* [photos]. Edited with a foreword by Peter Bacon Hales. Boston: David R. Godine. 183 pp. Depression-era, documentary settings and portraits by Ben Shahn, Walker Evans, Dorothea Lange, Sheldon Dick, Marion Post Wolcott, Russell Lee, and Carl Mydans, including settings in W. Va., Ky., Pa., Oh., Ala., and Ark.

Colias, Christopher. 2002. "Almost Heaven Still? Post-Industrial Development and Local Response in Fayette County, West Virginia" [New River Gorge area]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Spring): 91-119.

Collins, Timothy, Ronald D. Eller, and Glen Edward Taul. 1996. *KRADD: Historic Trends and Geographic Patterns* [Kentucky River Area Development District]. Lexington: University of Kentucky Appalachian Center. 58 pp.

Communities of Hope: Preparing for the Future in Appalachian Kentucky: Report of the Kentucky Appalachian Task Force. 1995. Lexington: University of Kentucky Appalachian Center. 96 pp.

Cook, Samuel R. 1998. "The Great Depression, Subsistence, and Views of Poverty in Wyoming County, West Virginia." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 4 (Fall): 271-283.

Cooper, John. 2010. "Living Through the Great Depression" [memoir; b. 1919; Gilmer Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 1 (Spring): 28-33.

Cornett, Tim. 2009. *Bell County, Kentucky: A Brief History*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 158 pp. Contents: Early residents -- Walker enters Kentucky -- Walden, Finley and Boone -- The Wilderness Road -- Early settlements -- Kentucky becomes a state and Cumberland Ford -- The Civil War and the tragedy of Cumberland Ford -- Josh Bell County formed -- Cumberland Ford thrives and Middlesborough begins -- Mining and railroads come to the county -- Pineville incorporated -- Middlesborough: tent city to magic city -- Boom and then bust -- Surviving the bust and the first legal hanging -- Coal creates new boom -- Growth continues -- Mine accidents and economic woes -- Improving roads and the last hanging -- World war brings another boom -- Education improves in the '20s -- Hollywood comes to Bell County and the first park is created -- The Crash, Kettle Island mine disaster and union trouble -- The Depression, a female sheriff and chaining the rock -- Battle of Fork Ridge and world war -- Tragedy and disaster -- On to fame and fortune -- Radio stations and national park -- Broadform deeds and strip mining -- Rhodes, Yeary and Job -- Flood and floodwall -- Closing the twentieth century.

Costa, Tom. 1995. "Connecting Appalachia: A Survey of Recent Work in Early American History With Reference to Southern Appalachia." In *Appalachia and the Politics of Culture*, ed. E. C. Fine. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 7: 67-78. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Couto, Richard A. 1995. "The Spatial Distribution of Wealth and Poverty in Appalachia." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 1 (Fall): 99-120.

Couto, Richard A. 1999. *Making Democracy Work Better: Mediating Structures, Social Capital, and the Democratic Prospect* [negative effects of 1980s market capitalism in Appalachia]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 336 pp.

Couto, Richard A. 2004. "Appalachia and Market Economics: The Invisible Hand and Its Powerful Arm" [Conclusion to Special Issue, "Appalachian Counts: The Region in the 2000 Census"]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10, no. 3: 407-420.

Couto, Richard. 1994. *An American Challenge: A Report on Economic Trends and Social Issues in Appalachia*. Report issued by the Commission of Religion in Appalachia. Dubuque, IA: Kendall/Hunt. 291 pp.

Cowan, Tadlock. 2005. "California's San Joaquin Valley: A Region in Transition" [socioeconomic comparison of California's eight-county Central Valley with 68 counties in Central Appalachia]. *CRS Report for Congress* RL33184. Washington, D.C.: Congressional Research Service, Library of Congress. 365 pp. http://opencrs.com/document/RL33184/.

Deaton, B. James, and Ekaterina Niman. 2012. "An Empirical Examination of the Relationship between Mining Employment and Poverty in the Appalachian Region." *Applied Economics* 44, no. 3: 303-312.

Deaton, B. James. 2005. "Land 'in Heirs': Building a Hypothesis Concerning Tenancy in Common and the Persistence of Poverty in Central Appalachia" [Letcher Co., Ky.; strip mining]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 11, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 83-94.

Dewees, Sarah, Linda Lobao, and Louis E. Swanson. 2003. "Local Economic Development in an Age of Devolution: The Question of Rural Localities" [Ohio River Valley Region; tables]. *Rural Sociology* 68 (June): 182-206.

Dilger, Robert Jay, et al. 2004. *Welfare Reform in West Virginia* [1996 welfare reform law outcomes]. Contributors: Robert Jay Dilger, Eleanor H. Blakely, Melissa Latimer, Barry L. Locke, F. Carson Mencken, L. Christopher Plein, Lucinda A. Potter, and David Williams. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 326 pp.

Dobkins, Linda Harris. 2000. "Economic Prospects in Appalachian Virginia: A Comparative Analysis of Employment Specialization" [1947-1995; tables]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 6 no. 1-2 (Spring/Fall): 131-150.

Dotson, Rand. 2007. *Roanoke, Virginia, 1882-1912: Magic City of the New South* [industrialization]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 338 pp.

Dodge, J. R. (Jacob Richards). 2011 [1865]. West Virginia: Its Farms and Forests, Mines and Oilwells. West Virginia Classics series, no. 1. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 227 pp. Tables. Originally published: Philadelphia: J.B. Lippincott & Co. Original subtitle: "With a Glimpse of Its Scenery, a Photograph of Its Population, and an Exhibit of Its Industrial Statistics."

Dorsey, Christopher. 2011. Southern West Virginia and the Struggle for Modernity. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 28. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 218 pp. Contents: The rediscovery of Appalachia and the coming of industrialization -- Life and death in the early company towns -- The coming of the unions and the Paint Creek-Cabin Creek Strike -- Profiles in corruption and failed government: the Matewan Massacre and the battle for Blair Mountain -- FDR's legacy: the great Depression and continuing problems with public welfare, agriculture, and unemployment -- Health and the mountaineer: perspectives on public and occupational health -- Democracy lost: political corruption and the impact on political involvement -- Culture, identity, and modernization -- Mountaintop removal and the battle for hearts and minds.

Dotson, Rand. 2008. "New South Boomtown: Roanoke, Virginia, 1882-1884." *Virginia Magazine of History and Biography* 116, no. 2 (March): 150-190. Urbanization and industrialization.

Dunaway, Wilma A. 1999. "Crisis, Transition, and Resistance Movements: A Conversation with Immanuel Wallerstein" [interview; comparison with Myles Horton and Paulo Freire]. *Appalachian Journal* 26 (Spring): 284-305.

Duncan, Cynthia M. 1999. *Worlds Apart: Why Poverty Persists in Rural America* [case studies: Ky. (Harlan Co.?), Miss., N.H.]. Foreword by Robert Coles. New Haven: Yale University Press. 325 pp.

Duncan, Cynthia M. 2001. "Civic Life in Gray Mountain: Sizing Up the Legacy of New England's Blue-Collar Middle Class" [incl. an Appalachian coal county and Miss. Delta plantation; 350 interviews]. *Journal of Socio-Economics* 30 (no. 2): 133-137.

Duncan, Cynthia M. 2001. "Social Capital in America's Poor Rural Communities" [Appalachia and Miss. Delta]. In *Social Capital and Poor Communities*, ed. S. Saegert, J. Thompson, and M. Warren, 60-86. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.

Duncan, Cynthia. 2006. "Why Poverty Persists in Appalachia: An Interview with Cynthia Duncan" [29 December 2005]. *FRONTLINE*, 9 January. Boston: WGBH Educational Foundation. Duncan responds to *FRONTLINE*'s documentary, "Country Boys" (PBS, 2006). She is the author of *Worlds Apart: Why Poverty Persists in Rural America* (1999). http://www.pbs.org/wgbh/pages/frontline/countryboys/readings/duncan.html.

Eelman, Bruce W. 2004. "Entrepreneurs in the Southern Upcountry: The Case of Spartanburg, South Carolina, 1815-1880." *Enterprise & Society* 5 (March): 77-106.

Eller, Ron D., and Anne Whisman. 1996. "John Whisman, Builder of Dreams: Two Remembrances" [d.1995; instrumental in setting up the Appalachian Regional Commission]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 29 (January-April): 40-44.

Eller, Ron. 1997. Conversation on Distressed Counties [interview with Ron Eller, Amy K. Glasmeier, and Greg Bischak; 108 of Appalachia's 406 counties are classified as distressed]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (September-December): 10-17.

Eller, Ronald D. 1994. *Kentucky's Distressed Communities: A Report on Poverty in Appalachian Kentucky*, by Ronald D. Eller with others. Lexington: University of Kentucky, Appalachian Center. 48 pp., plus appendices A-D.

Eller, Ronald D. 2004. "Modernization, 1940-2000." In *High Mountains Rising: Appalachia in Time and Place*, ed. R. Straw and H. Blethen, 197-219. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Eller, Ronald D. 2008. *Uneven Ground: Appalachia Since 1945*. Introductory poem by Jim Wayne Miller, "How America Came to the Mountains." Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 326 pp. Weatherford Award winner for nonfiction. Landmark study on Appalachian public policy; paradox of progress; coal company exploitation; political corruption.

Eller, Ronald D. 2012. "History's Lessons for the Future of Appalachia." *West Virginia History*, n.s. 6, no. 2 (Fall): 35-44. Keynote address at Third Annual Meeting of the Society of Appalachian Historians, West Virginia University, May 21–22, 2012.

Feser, Edward, and Harvey Goldstein. 2002. Regional Technology Assets and Opportunities: The Geographic Clustering of High-Tech Industry, Science and Innovation in Appalachia [tables, figures, maps; title page title: Technology Clusters in Appalachia]. Report prepared for the Appalachian Regional Commission by Edward Feser and Harvey Goldstein, principal investigators; Henry Renski and Catherine Renault, research assistants. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Office of Economic Development, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 132 pp.

Fisher, Steve. 2000. "Grassroots Rule: Richard Couto on the Democratic Prospect for Appalachia." *Appalachian Journal* 27 (Summer): 368-376. Review essay of *Making Democracy Work Better: Mediating Structures, Social Capital, and the Democratic Prospect*, by R. Couto (University of North Carolina Press, 1999).

Flynt, Wayne. [1989] 2002. *Poor but Proud: Alabama's Poor Whites* [1865-1930s; awardwinning study]. Reprint. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 469 pp.

Flynt, Wayne. 2008. "Memoir and Historical Reality: White Poverty Through the Eyes of Rick Bragg and Barbara Robinette Moss" [Calhoun Co., Ala.]. *Southern Humanities Review* 42, no. 4 (Fall): 305-327.

Fritsch, Al, and Kristin Johannsen. 2004. *Ecotourism in Appalachia: Marketing the Mountains* [benefits, pitfalls, criteria]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 320 pp.

Fuellhart, Kurt, and Paul Marr. 2007. "Economic Impacts of Trucking and Warehousing in South-Central Pennsylvania" [I-81 corridor; \$2.5 billion in regional output, 28,000 jobs, and \$1.41 billion in value added]. *Pennsylvania Geographer* 45, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 85-103.

Gatrell, Jay D., and Frank J. Calzonetti. 2003. "Growing Competitiveness in Appalachia: Strategic Science & Technology Planning in West Virginia" [clustering technology development; federal support; tables, maps]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Fall): 283-320.

Gebremariam, Gebremeskel H., Tesfa G. Gebremedhin, and Peter V. Schaeffer. 2011. "Employment, Income, and Migration in Appalachia: A Spatial Simultaneous Equations Approach" [1990-2000]. *Journal of Regional Science* 51, no. 1 (February): 102-120.

Gilliom, John. 1997. "Everyday Surveillance, Everyday Resistance: Computer Monitoring in the Lives of the Appalachian Poor" [48 Ohio welfare mothers]. Studies in Law, Politics, and Society 16: 275-297.

Gilliom, John. 2001. Overseers of the Poor: Surveillance, Resistance, and the Limits of Privacy [welfare mothers; Ohio]. Chicago Series in Law and Society. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. 262 pp.

Gioielli, Robert. 2005. "Suburbs v. Slot Machines: The Committee of 500 and the Battle over Gambling in Northern Kentucky" [1950s Newport, Campbell Co.]. *Ohio Valley History* 5, no. 2 (Summer): 61-84.

Glasmeier, Amy K., and Tracey L. Farrigan. 2003. "Poverty, Sustainability, and the Culture of Despair: Can Sustainable Development Strategies Support Poverty Alleviation in America's Most Environmentally Challenged Communities?" [Appalachia]. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 590 (November): 131-149.

Glasmeier, Amy. 2006. "Appalachia: A Land Apart in a Wealthy Nation" [maps, figures, tables]. In *An Atlas of Poverty in America: One Nation, Pulling Apart, 1960-2003*, 52-55. New York: Routledge.

Glen, John M. 1995. "The War on Poverty in Appalachia: Oral History from the 'Top Down' and the 'Bottom Up'." *Oral History Review* 22 (Summer): 67-93.

Godden, Richard, and Martin Crawford, ed. 2006. Reading Southern Poverty between the Wars, 1918-1939. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 247 pp. Contents: 1. Ted Ownby. Three Agrarianisms and the Idea of a South without Poverty -- 2. Stuart Kidd. Dissonant Encounters: FSA Photographers and the Southern Underclass, 1935-43 -- 3. Siobhan Davis. Not Readily Visualized by Industrial Workers and Urban Dwellers: Published Images of Rural Women from the FSA Collection, 1935-37 -- 4. Vivien M. L. Miller. Murder, "Convict Flogging Affairs," and Debt Peonage: The Roaring Twenties in the American South -- 5. Clive Webb. "Ain't Worth a Damn for Nothin'": The New Deal and Child Labor in Southern Textiles -- 6. Andrew Warnes. From Memphis to Bandung: The Political Uses of Hunger in Richard Wright's Black Boy -- 7. John C. Inscoe. "All Manner of Defeated, Shiftless, Shifty, Pathetic, and Interesting Good People": Autobiographical Encounters with Southern Poverty -- 8. James C. Giesen. Creating "Nate Shaw": The Making and Remaking of All God's Dangers -- 9. Richard Gray. A Southern Writer and Class War in the Mountains: Grace Lumpkin's To Make My Bread -- 10. Peter Nicolaisen. Rural Poverty and the Heroics of Farming: Elizabeth Madox Roberts's *The Time of* Man and Ellen Glasgow's Barren Ground -- 11. John T. Matthews. Trashing Modernism: Erskine Caldwell on the Southern Poor -- 12. Robert H. Brinkmeyer Jr. Marginalization and Mobility: Segregation and the Representation of Southern Poor Whites.

Gold & Green: Together Again ["study ranks states on 20 'gold' economic and 20 'green' environmental indicators to provide a telling snapshot that diffuses the 'jobs versus the environment' myth"]. Special report from the Institute for Southern Studies. *Southern Exposure* 29: 3-5. http://216.22.129.158.

Goode, James B. 1996. "The Kentucky Appalachian Task Force: Re-Democratization of Appalachia." [*Communities of Hope* final report, and timeline]. *Appalachian Heritage* 24 (Fall): 36-48.

Graham, Julie, Stephen Healy, and Kenneth Byrne. 2002. "Constructing the Community Economy: Civic Professionalism and the Politics of Sustainable Regions" [with comments on "Appalachia as a Global Region: Toward Critical Regionalism and Civic Professionalism" by

Herbert Reid and Betsy Taylor, *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Spring 2002): 9-32]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Spring 2002): 50-61.

Grant, John A. 1999. *Coxey's 38-Day March: Through the Alleghenies in Search of Economic Justice* [Jacob Coxey, 1854-1951]. Edited by Anthony E. Crosby. Frostburg, Md.: Council of the Alleghenies. 202 pp. "Coxey's Army" of unemployed men, one of a number of "industrial armies" of unemployed men in 1894, paraded from town to town from Ohio to Washington.

Green, Jordan. 1997. "Marijuana Is a Major Kentucky Cash Crop, But Who Profits?" *Southern Exposure* 25 (Spring/Summer): 4-5.

Gritter, Elizabeth, and Billy E. Barnes. 2005. "Forty Years after the War on Poverty: Interview with Photographer Billy E. Barnes." *Southern Cultures* 11, no. 4 (Winter): 78-95.

Hammer, Roger, Robin Blakely, and Paul Voss. 2003. "The Effects of Integrating the U.S. Census Bureau's Small Area Income and Poverty Estimates into the Appalachian Regional Commission's Designation of Economically Distressed Counties." *Economic Development Quarterly* 17 (May): 165-174.

Harrington, Michael. [1962] 1997. *The Other America: Poverty in the United States*. New introduction by Irving Howe. New York: Simon & Schuster. 231 pp. Originally published: New York: Macmillan. Classic report that led to President Johnson's 1964 "War on Poverty."

Harshman, Cheryl. 2007. "Marx Toy Company: Making Memories in Glen Dale" [Marshall Co.; estab. 1919; once the world's largest toy manufacturer; closed 1979]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 4 (Winter): 8-13. Sidebar: "The Official Marx Toy Museum" [Moundsville], 14-15.

Hartshorn, Truman A., and Susan M. Walcott. 2000. "The Three Georgias: Emerging Realignments at the Dawn of the New Millennium" [economic growth; rural poverty; county outline maps]. *Southeastern Geographer* 40 (November): 127-150.

Hatch, Elvin. 2008. "Modernity with a Mountain Inflection." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 14, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 145-159. Western N.C.; subsistence farming; modernity and consumerism; the social meaning of wealth.

Hatch, Elvin. 2009. "A New Company in Town: Lessons on Local Identity and Community Development in the Mountain South." In *Participatory Development in Appalachia: Cultural Identity, Community, and Sustainability*, ed. S. Keefe, 45-65. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Hathaway, James T., and James C. Hughes. 2006. "Factory Outlet Malls: Prime Outlets at Grove City" [Pa.]. In *Pittsburgh and the Appalachians: Cultural and Natural Resources in a Postindustrial Age*, ed. J. Scarpaci, 141-149. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press.

Haynes, Ada F. 1997. *Poverty in Central Appalachia: Underdevelopment and Exploitation*. Garland Studies in the History of American Labor. New York: Garland. 225 pp.

Hayward, Peter, and Jason Parent. 2009. "Modeling the Influence of the Modifiable Areal Unit Problem (MAUP) on Poverty in Pennsylvania." *Pennsylvania Geographer* 47, no. 1 (Spring-Summer): 120-135. Shaded county outline maps.

Hedges, Chris, and Joe Sacco. 2012. "Days of Devastation: Welch, West Virginia." Chap. 3 in *Days of Destruction, Days of Revolt*, by C. Hedges and J. Sacco, 115-175. New York: Nation Books. Graphic drawings, descriptions, and oral histories show the horrific toll of corporate capitalism on this historic coal town.

Helmick, James Russell. 2009. "It Was a Hard Life': Growing Up at the Pendleton County Poor Farm" [b. 1926]. Interview by William D. Rexroad. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 2 (Summer): 38-43.

Henderson, Debra A., Ann R. Tickamyer. 2008. "Lost in Appalachia: The Unexpected Impact of Welfare Reform on Older Women in Rural Communities." *Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare* 35, no. 3 (September): 153-171.

Hennen, John C. 1996. *The Americanization of West Virginia: Creating a Modern Industrial State*, 1916-1925. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 217 pp.

Hennen, John. 2011. "Caudill's *Watches of the Night* Revisited" [review essay; Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation (2010); originally published: Little, Brown (1976) – a "sequel to *Night Comes to the Cumberlands*" (1963), by Harry Caudill]. *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 4 (Summer): 442-447.

Hinsdale, Mary Ann, Helen Lewis, and Maxine Waller. 1995. *It Comes From the People: Community Development and Local Theology.* Philadelphia: Temple University Press. 400 pp.

Hipple, F. Steb, and Douglas P. Dotterweich. 1997. "The Sources of Income Growth in the New River Valley" [N.C., Va., W. Va.; since 1970s]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 11-12, 1997, Glade Springs Resort, Daniels, West Virginia,* 59-66. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Hoffman, Carl. 1998. "Bringing High Tech Home" [Galax, Va.; Printed Circuit Solutions Manufacturing, Inc.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (May-August): 38-44.

Hoffman, Carl. 1998. "Going Global Pays Off" [Alabama International Trade Center]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (May-August): 20-25.

Hoffman, Carl. 1998. "Hammering Home Skills" [Va.; job training in housing rehabilitation]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (September-December): 18-21.

Hoffman, Carl. 1998. "North Carolina Connects" [computer network connects 12 child-care centers in four N.C. counties]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (May-August): 30-35.

Hoffman, Carl. 1999. "BIC Makes It Happen" [Business Innovation Center; small business growth, Tompkins Co., N.Y.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (January-April): 24-29.

Hoffman, Carl. 1999. "Starting with the Business Basics" [Va.; small business loans]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (September-December): 8-11.

Hoffman, Carl. 2000. "Mining Fresh Water for Aquaculture" [Mingo Co., W. Va.; utilizing coal mine water discharge for fish farming]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 33 (May-August): 20-25.

Hoffman, Carl. 2001. "Bringing a Community Online" [Marietta, Washington Co., Ohio ISP]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (May-August): 22-27.

Hoffman, Carl. 2001. "Providing a Home for Start-Ups" [Ala.; Shoals Entrepreneurial Center]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (January-April): 16-21.

Hoffman, Carl. 2003. "A Voice for Appalachia" [Dave Lollis; Ky.-based community corporation for affordable loans]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 36 (January-June): 32-37.

Hoffman, Carl. 2003. "Hands-on Training for Community Leadership" [Brushy Fork Leadership Development Program, outreach arm of Berea College]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 36 (July-December): 32-36.

Hoffman, Carl. 2003. "Shoals Commercial Culinary Center: Helping Specialty Food Businesses Take Off" [Florence, Ala.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 36 (July-December): 26-31.

Hoffman, Nancy. 2001. Eleanor Roosevelt and the Arthurdale Experiment [W. Va.; New

Deal subsistence homestead program; adolescent literature]. North Haven, Conn.: Linnet Books. 109 pp.

Howard, Patricia Brake. 1998. "Tennessee in War and Peace: The Impact of World War II on State Economic Trends." In *Tennessee History: The Land, The People, and the Culture*, ed. C. Van West, 413-435. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Hunter, Elizabeth. 1997. "Sustaining the Harvest" [Clinch Powell Sustainable Development Initiative (CPSDI); Scott Co., Va., and Hancock Co., Tenn.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 30 (May-August): 24-29.

Irving, Shelley K. 2008. "State Welfare Rules, TANF Exits, and Geographic Context: Does Place Matter?" *Rural Sociology* 73, no. 4 (December): 605-630. Temporary Assistance for Needy Families; tables; 1996-2003.

Isserman, Andrew, and Terance Rephann. 1995. "The Economic Effects of the Appalachian Regional Commission: An Empirical Assessment of 26 Years of Regional Development Planning." *Journal of the American Planning Association* 61 (Summer): 345-364.

Isserman, Andrew M. 1997. "Appalachia Then and Now: An Update of "The Realities of Deprivation" Report to the President in 1964" [excerpt from "A Socioeconomic Review of Appalachia": A Report Prepared for the Appalachian Regional Commission]. Journal of Appalachian Studies 3 (Spring): 43-69. [maps, pp. 62-69]

Isserman, Andrew M., Edward Feser, and Drake Warren. 2007. "Why Some Rural Communities Prosper While Others Do Not" [measurements of rural prosperity; national scope; maps; tables]. A Report to USDA Rural Development, 23 May 2007. 42 pp. Accessed Nov. 11, 2007. http://www.ace.uiuc.edu/Reap/IssermanFeserWarren_070523_RuralProsperity.pdf.

Isserman, Andrew M., Edward Feser, and Drake E. Warren. 2009. "Why Some Rural Places Prosper and Others Do Not." *International Regional Science Review* 32, no. 3 (July): 300-342.

James, Ryan. 2010. "Where is the South? Using Beta Convergence to Define a Fuzzy Region." *Southeastern Geographer* 50, no. 3 (Fall): 346-365. Technical study using post-WWII economic changes in relation to historic poverty as a starting point. Tables; maps.

Jensen, J. Bradford, and Amy K. Glasmeier. 2001. "Restructuring Appalachian Manufacturing in 1963-1992: The Role of Branch Plants." *Growth and Change* 32 (Spring): 251-282.

Jolley, Harley E. 2007. *That Magnificent Army of Youth and Peace: The Civilian Conservation Corps in North Carolina*, 1933-1942. Raleigh: Office of Archives and History, North Carolina Dept. of Cultural Resources. 167 pp.

Jones, Diane Nelson. 2000. "Appalachia's War" [three-part series; results of the 1964 War on Poverty]. *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*, 26-28 November. Part 1: "Appalachia's War: The Poorest of the Poor Struggle Back" (Nov. 26, A1, 3178 words). Part 2: "Appalachia's War: A Tale of Two Successes" (Nov. 27, A1, 2151 words). Part 3: "Appalachia's War: Looking for Life after Coal" (Nov. 28, A1, 2003 words). www.post-gazette.com.

Jones, Diane Nelson. 2005. "The War: 40 Years Later" [War on Poverty]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 21, no. 1 (Spring): 9-11. Excerpts from series "Appalachia's War," which ran November 26, 27, 28, 2000, in the *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*, www.post-gazette.com.

Jones, Lu Ann. 2008. "Gender, Race, and Itinerant Commerce in the Rural New South." In *Other Souths: Diversity and Difference in the U.S. South, Reconstruction to Present*, ed. P. Holloway, 67-88. Athens: University of Georgia Press. Originally published in *Journal of*

Southern History 66, no. 2 (2000): 297-320. Itinerant merchants before WWII bypass country stores and reach blacks and women.

Juul, Kitty. 2012. "Appalachian Regional Coalition on Homelessness: Providing Shelter from the Storm" [tornado, Greene Co., Tenn., April 27, 2011]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 4-6. Sidebar: "Restoration Depot," by Bryan Gillespie, 7-8.

Keefe, Susan E. 2008. "Theorizing Modernity in Appalachia" [Western N.C. fieldwork]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 14, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 160-173. Mountaineers modernize on their own terms, welcoming material benefits, but "generally reject autonomous individualism, secularism, and acquisitiveness."

Keefe, Susan E. 2009. "Introduction: What Participatory Development Means for Appalachian Communities." In *Participatory Development in Appalachia: Cultural Identity, Community, and Sustainability*, ed. S. Keefe, 1-44. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Keefe, Susan E., ed. 2009. *Participatory Development in Appalachia: Cultural Identity, Community, and Sustainability*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 255 pp. Eleven essays by: Susan E. Keefe, Elvin Hatch, Helen Matthews Lewis, Samuel R. Cook, Lesley Bartlett and Jefferson C. Boyer, Melinda Bollar Wagner, Kathryn M. Borman and Patricia Z. Timm, Rhoda H. Halperin, Phillip J. Obermiller and Jennifer Jervis Tighe, Mary B. LaLone, Thomas Plaut, Suzanne Landis, and June Palmour Trevor.

Keith, Bruce, and Ronald Althouse, ed. 1999. *Inside West Virginia: Public Policy Perspectives for the 21st Century*. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 284 pp.

Kiffmeyer, Thomas J. 1998. "From Self-Help to Sedition: The Appalachian Volunteers in Eastern Kentucky, 1964-1970" [Pike Co.]. *The Journal of Southern History* 64 (February): 65-94.

Kiffmeyer, Thomas. 2008. *Reformers to Radicals: The Appalachian Volunteers and the War on Poverty* [1964-1966]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 284 pp. Council of the Southern Mountains; social activism; politics.

Kiffmeyer, Thomas. 2009. "We Are Ordered to Do Everything': The National Advisory Commission on Rural Poverty, American Social Thought, and the War on Poverty" [1967]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 107, no. 3 (Summer): 339-369. "People needed jobs and a way to earn a living, which this commission simply could not bring to Appalachia."

Kiffmeyer, Thomas. 2011. "Looking Back to the City in the Hills: The Council of the Southern Mountains and a Longer View of the War on Poverty in the Appalachian South, 1913-1970." In *The War on Poverty: A New Grassroots History*, 1964-1980, ed. A. Orleck and L Hazirjian, 359-386. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Kim, Josh Masnick, and F. Carson Mencken. 1999. "Household and Local Labor Market Determinants of Economic Well-Being in the State of West Virginia: A Multi-Level Analysis"

[tables]. In *Inside West Virginia: Public Policy Perspectives for the 21st Century*, ed. B. Keith and R. Althouse, 59-85. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Kingsolver, Ann E. 2011. *Tobacco Town Futures: Global Encounters in Rural Kentucky* [Nicholas County; globalization]. Long Grove, Ill.: Waveland Press. 183 pp.

Kleiner, Brian, Kimberley Raue, Gary Silverstein, Robyn Bell, and John Wells. 2004. *Evaluation of The Appalachian Regional Commission's Community Capacity-Building Projects* [100 projects funded by ARC, 1995-2003]. Report prepared by WESTAT (Rockville, Md.). Washington, D.C.: Appalachian Regional Commission, Online Resource Center. http://arc.gov/index.do?nodeId=2279.

Kleitches, Larry. 2011. "A Case Study of Attempted Consolidation in the Little Conemaugh River Valley" [Cambria County, Pa.; school consolidation]. *Pennsylvania Geographer* 49, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 65-96.

Kormos, Thelma, and John Kormos. 2007. *Why Not Smile: A Memoir of the Early Life of John Kormos As Told to Thelma Kormos*. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 261 pp. Biography of John Kormos, born 1926 in Rivesville, W. Va. to Hungarian-immigrant parents, diagnosed with polio, and orphaned with four siblings during the Depression.

Korstad, Robert Rodgers, and James L. Leloudis. 2010. "Fighting for the High Ground" [northwestern N.C. "mountain poverty": Watauga, Avery, Mitchell, and Yancey Counties (WAMY)]. Chap. 5 in *To Right These Wrongs: The North Carolina Fund and the Battle to End Poverty and Inequality in 1960s America*, by R. Korstad and J. Leloudis, 231-286. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Kristof, Nicholas D. 2012. "Profiting from a Child's Illiteracy" [Jackson, Ky., Breathitt Co.; "Appalachian hill country"]. *New York Times*, 7 December: Opinion Pages. 1,810 words. "...if kids learn to read, they are less likely to qualify for a monthly check [\$698 Supplemental Security Income] for having an intellectual disability."

http://www.nytimes.com/2012/12/09/opinion/sunday/kristof-profiting-from-a-childs-illiteracy.html?pagewanted=all&_r=0. [See response: Shawn Fremstad and Rebecca Vallas, "Analysts Criticize Kristof's Arguments for Cutting Supplemental Security for Children with Severe Disabilities," Institute for Public Accuracy (10 December, 2012). 659 words. http://www.accuracy.org/?s=vallas&post_type=news-

release&releasecategories=&smonth=&sday=10&syear=&emonth=&eday=&eyear=]; [See response: Ruffing, Kathy, and LaDonna Pavetti, "SSI and Children with Disabilities: Just the Facts." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities (14 December 2012). 1,303 words.

http://www.cbpp.org/cms/index.cfm?fa=view&id=3875]; [See response: Kaufmann, Greg, "This Week in Poverty: Kristof's Swing and Miss." *The Nation* (14 December 2012). 1,699 words. http://www.thenation.com/blog/171751/week-poverty-kristofs-swing-and-miss.

Latimer, Melissa, and F. Carson Mencken. 2003. "Socioeconomic Trends in Mining-Dependent Counties in Appalachia" [map; tables]. In *Communities of Work: Rural Restructuring in Local*

and Global Contexts, ed. W. Falk, M. Schulman, and A. Tickamyer, 79-103. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Latimer, Melissa, and Rachael A. Woldoff. 2010. "Good Country Living? Exploring Four Housing Outcomes among Poor Appalachians" [W. Va.; welfare expired]. *Sociological Forum* 25, no. 2 (June): 315-333. Three core explanations: community, individual, and family factors.

Latimer, Melissa. 2006. "'We Have Never Asked for Help That Was Not Desperately Needed': Patterns of Stigma Management among Former Welfare Recipients in West Virginia" [stereotypes; data from a 1999 survey of 962]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 12, no. 2 (Fall): 88-109.

Leonard, James M. 2009. "They Are Just Like the Rest of Us, Only with a Bigger Home." *Southeastern Geographer* 49, no. 3 (Fall): 267-290. Mingo County, W. Va. not highly segregated by socioeconomic status, rather reflects an inclusive "expanded family" atmosphere.

Lewis, Helen M. 2007. "Rebuilding Communities: A 12-Step Recovery Program." *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 317-325. A longer version of this article forthcoming in *Participatory Development in Appalachia: Cultural Identity, Community, and Sustainability*, ed. Susan E. Keefe (University of Tennessee Press).

Lewis, Helen Matthews. 2009. "Rebuilding Communities: A Twelve-Step Recovery Program." In *Participatory Development in Appalachia: Cultural Identity, Community, and Sustainability*, ed. S. Keefe, 68-88. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Lewis, Helen Matthews. 2011. "Entering the Unpredictable: Making the Road by Walking." *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 2 (Spring): 52-57. "Commencement Address given by Helen Lewis at Berea College on December 12, 2010. She received an honorary degree of Doctor of Humane Letters."

Liston, Linda. 1997. "Southern Ohio: A Workable Solution" [industrial siting, development, labor, resource directory]. *Site Selection* 42 (June/July):supplement, Southern Ohio, 1-16.

Lobao, Linda, Lawrence A. Brown, and Jon Moore. 2003. "Old Industrial Regions and the Political Economy of Development" [Ohio River Valley, 1970s-90s]. In *Communities of Work: Rural Restructuring in Local and Global Contexts*, ed. W. Falk, M. Schulman, and A. Tickamyer, 3-30. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Lukens, Robert D. 1997. "The New South on Display: The Appalachian Expositions of 1910 and 1911" [Knoxville]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 69: 1-28.

Maggard, Sally Ward. 1994. "From the Farm to Coal Camp to Back Office and McDonald's: Living in the Midst of Appalachia's Latest Transformation." In *Appalachian Adaptations to a Changing World*, ed. Norma Myers. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 6: 14-38. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Maloney, C. J. 2011. *Back to the Land: Arthurdale, FDR's New Deal, and the Costs of Economic Planning*. Hoboken, N.J.: Wiley. 292 pp. "Presents an economic and social history of Arthurdale, West Viriginia, a social engineering experiment undertaken during the New Deal."

Mannion, Elgin. 2006. "The Three-Ring Circus" [Appalachian Regional Commission's failure to create lasting, sustainable development; traces the history of political and economic exigencies since 1965]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 12, no. 1 (Spring): 111-125.

Marchioni, Michael P., and Lon Slone Felker. 1996. "Local Economic Development: Panacea or Prevarication?" *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Spring): 149-157.

Marr, Paul, and Eric Mock. 2005. "Warehousing in South-Central Pennsylvania's I-81 Corridor: A Case Study of Exit 29" [Shippensburg; increasing warehouse/distribution facilities]. *Pennsylvania Geographer* 43, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 32-49.

Marr, Paul, and Kurt Fuellhart. 2008. "A Transportation Assessment of the Warehousing and Trucking Industries in Franklin and Cumberland Counties, Pennsylvania." *Pennsylvania Geographer* 46, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 3-34. Harrisburg; intersection of I-81, I-83, and I-76.

Martin, Ann Smart. 2008. *Buying into the World of Goods: Early Consumers in Backcountry Virginia*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 260 pp. Upper Shenandoah Valley; merchants; material culture.

Martin, C. Bren. 1994. "From Golden Cornfields to Golden Arches: The Economic and Cultural Evolution of Pigeon Forge, Tennessee." In *Appalachian Adaptations to a Changing World*, ed. Norma Myers. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 6: 163-172. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Maunula, Marko. 2005. "Another Southern Paradox: The Arrival of Foreign Corporations - Change and Continuity in Spartanburg, South Carolina." In *Globalization and the American South*, ed. J. Cobb and W. Stueck, 164-184. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Maunula, Marko. 2009. *Guten Tag, Y'all: Globalization and the South Carolina Piedmont,* 1950-2000 [Spartanburg]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 162 pp.

McCall, Pete. 2000. "UMWA: Bridging the Gap...Lifting Families Out of Poverty [welfare, health, retirement funds]. *United Mine Workers Journal* 111 (May-June): 6-9.

McCleary, Ann E. 2010. "The Turnpike Towns." Chap. 7 in *The Great Valley Road of Virginia: Shenandoah Landscapes from Prehistory to the Present*, ed. W. Hofstra and K. Raitz, 190-238. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press.

McDaniel, Lynda. 2001. "Always Leading the Way" [profiles Gayle Faulkner Lawson (b. 1915), Harlan Co., Ky., community service leader]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (May-August): 33-37.

McDaniel, Lynda. 2001. "Ecotourism Takes Off in the 'Heart of Appalachia" [Va.; Heart of Appalachia Tourism Authority]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (May-August): 16-21.

McDaniel, Lynda. 2001. "It's All About People" [profiles Denise Schlegel, director of VISION, Schuylkill Co., Pa., -- a community based effort to improve quality of life]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (January-April): 34-38.

McDaniel, Lynda. 2002. "The Main Street Approach to Revitalizing Communities" [Cumberland, Md.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (January-December): 16-21.

McDaniel, Lynda. 2002. "Using Our Strengths: The Grassroots Leadership of Becky Anderson" [entrepreneurial assistance; Western N.C.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (January-December): 34-38.

McGraw, Dan. 1996. "Signs of Hope in Appalachia: Despite Poverty, the Region Starts to Deliver Growth" [sampling of high technology growth]. *U.S. News & World Report* May 6: 62-63.

McKenzie, Robert Tracy. 1994. "Wealth and Income: The Preindustrial Structure of East Tennessee in 1860." *Appalachian Journal* 21 (Spring): 260-279.

McKenzie, Robert Tracy. 1994. *One South or Many? Plantation Belt and Upcountry in Civil War-Era Tennessee*. New York: Cambridge University Press. 216 pp.

McKethan, Aaron N., and Nicholas C. Maynard. 2006. "The Military and Local Economic Development: Defense Department Procurement Activity in Four Appalachian Communities" [Madison Co., Ala.; Allegheny Co., Pa. (Pittsburgh); Tioga Co., Tenn.; adjacent counties]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 12, no. 2 (Fall): 140-155.

McKinney, Gordon. 1999. Review essay of *Worlds Apart: Why Poverty Persists in Rural America*, by Cynthia M. Duncan (Yale University Press, 1999). In *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Fall): 76-81.

Mellon, Steve. 2002. *After the Smoke Clears: Struggling to Get By in Rustbelt America* [photoessay case studies: Homestead and Braddock, Pa.; Matewan, W. Va.]. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press. 136 pp.

Mencken, F. Carson, and Charles M. Tolbert. 2005. "Federal Public Investment Spending and Economic Development in Appalachia" [1980s-90s; private capital accumulation; tables]. *Rural Sociology* 70, no. 4 (December): 514-539.

Mencken, F. Carson, and Sally Ward Maggard. 1999. "Informal Economic Activity in West Virginia: A Descriptive and Multivariate Analysis" [tables]. In *Inside West Virginia: Public*

Policy Perspectives for the 21st Century, ed. B. Keith and R. Althouse, 87-106. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Mencken, F. Carson, Christopher Bader, and Edward Clay Polson. 2006. "Integrating Civil Society and Economic Growth in Appalachia" [1990-1995]. *Growth and Change* 37, no. 1 (March): 107–127.

Mencken, F. Carson. 1996. "Income and Employment Change in Appalachia during the 1983-1988 Business Cycle Recovery: Locating Differential Effects in North Central, and Southern Appalachia." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Spring): 77-85.

Mencken, F. Carson. 1997. "A Study of the Region: Regional Differences in Socioeconomic Well-Being in Appalachia" [from census data: 399 counties]. *Sociological Focus* 30 (February): 79-97.

Mencken, F. Carson. 1998. "Persistent Differences in Well-Being Between Appalachian Subregions" [corrects his 1997 findings (below) for spatial autocorrelation and finds results unchanged; tables; figures]. *Growth and Change* 29 (Fall): 469-479.

Mencken, F. Carson. 2000. "Federal Spending and Economic Growth in Appalachian Counties" [1983-1988]. *Rural Sociology* 65 (March): 126-147.

Mencken, F. Carson. 2000. "Right-To-Work Laws and Local Economic Growth: Recent Evidence from Appalachia" [399 cos.; since 1980; no overall advantage detected]. *Sociological Focus* 33 (February): 79-94.

Miewald, Christiana E. 2001. "National Myths, State Policy, and Community-Directed Media: Representational Politics and the Reconfiguration of Welfare" [Appalachian region; mass media]. *Urban Geography* 22 (July 1-August 15): 424-439.

Miewald, Christiana. 2003. "Making Experience Count in Policy Creation: Lessons from Appalachian Kentucky" [low-income mothers; welfare reform; Kentucky Transitional Assistance Program]. In *Rediscovering the Other America: The Continuing Crisis of Poverty and Inequality in the United States*, ed. K. Kilty and E. Segal, 163-181. New York: Howarth Press. Copublished simultaneously as *Journal of Poverty* vol. 7, no. 1-2, 2003.

Miller, Brian E. 2008. "Public Art Helps Ohio Town Re-imagine Future" [Coshocton, Ohio]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 40-43.

Moore, Tyrel G. 1998. "A Southern West Virginia Mining Community Revisited" [McDowell and Wyoming Cos.; compares 1930s to 1990s]. *Southeastern Geographer* 38 (May): 1-21.

Moore, Tyrel G. 2005. "Defining Appalachia: Public Policy and Regional Dynamics in Appalachia's Low-Income Counties, 1965-2000." *The Journal of Geography* 104, no. 2 (March-April): 49-58.

Moreton, Bethany. 2009. *To Serve God and Wal-Mart: The Making of Christian Free Enterprise*. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press. 372 pp. Including the store's five-and-dime beginnings in the values, ideals, and culture of the rural Ozarks (Bentonville, Ark.).

Morris, Sara E. 2010. "Down in Tupelo Everybody Seems To Be Feeling Grand': Early Home Electrification Promotion in Northeast Mississippi." In *Mississippi Women: Their Histories*, *Their Lives*, ed., M. Swain, E. Payne, and M. Spruill, 192-210. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Mountain Association for Community Economic Development (MACED), and Kentucky Center for Economic Policy. 2012. *Promoting Long-Term Investment in Appalachian Kentucky: A Permanent Coal Severance Tax Fund*. Berea, Ky.: MACED. 10 pp. "With forecasts predicting eastern Kentucky coal production could decline 70 percent by the end of the decade, the region needs a long-term approach to transitioning the economy." http://www.maced.org/coal-severance.htm.

Mountain Man and the Surgeon, The [compares relative poverty of a poor man in a rich country with that of a rich man in a poor country (Congo)]. 2005. *Economist*, 24 December, 24-26.

Myers, Norma, ed. 1994. *Appalachian Adaptations to a Changing World [Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association*, vol. 6]. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services. 172 pp.

O'Dell, Gary A. 2005. "Community Self-Help Activism in Water/Sewer Development: Case Studies from McDowell County, West Virginia, and Letcher County, Kentucky" [1980s-2005]. *Appalachian Journal* 33, no. 1 (Fall): 54-76.

O'Mara, Margaret Pugh. 2004. "Area Redevelopment Act" [1961 congressional act preceding Kennedy's anti-poverty program and the 1965 Public Works and Economic Development Act and Appalachian Regional Development Act]. In *Poverty in the United States: An Encyclopedia of History, Politics, and Policy*, ed. G. Mink, and A. O'Connor, 100-101. Santa Barbara, Calif.: ABC-CLIO.

Obermiller, Phillip J., and William W. Philliber, ed. 1994. *Appalachia in an International Context: Cross-National Comparisons of Developing Regions*. New York: Praeger. 264 pp.

Oden, Michael, and Sharon Strover, with Nobuya Inagaki and Chris Lucas. 2004. "2004 Update of *Links to the Future* [2002]: The Role of Information and Telecommunications Technology In Appalachian Economic Development." Washington, D.C.: Appalachian Regional Commission, Online Resource Center. 32 pp.

http://www.arc.gov/research/researchreportdetails.asp?REPORT_ID=40.

Orr, Douglas M., Jr., and Alfred W. Stuart, ed. 2000. *The North Carolina Atlas: Portrait for a New Century*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 461 pp.

Osborne, Mary Nelle. 2007. "Without a Vision the People Perish" [East Tenn.; participatory research and community building]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 13, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 7-25.

Papa, Michael J., Arvind Singhal, and Wendy H. Papa. 2006. "Dialectic of Fragmentation and Unity in Rural Appalachia" [organizing the poor; case studies; Ohio]. Chap. 5 in *Organizing for Social Change: A Dialectic Journey of Theory and Praxis*, 196-230. New Delhi, India: Sage Publications.

Patrick, Kevin J., and Joseph L. Scarpaci, ed. 2000. *A Geographic Perspective of Pittsburgh and the Alleghenies: From Precambrian to Post-Industrial* [26 short papers; Western Pa.]. Prepared for the 96th Annual Meeting of the Association of American Geographers, April 4-8, 2000, Pittsburgh, Pa. Washington, D.C.: Association of American Geographers. 208 pp.

Perry, Huey. [1972] 2011. "They'll Cut Off Your Project": A Mingo County Chronicle [W. Va.]. Reprint, with a foreword by Jeff Biggers. West Virginia and Appalachian series, no. 13. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 288 pp. Originally published: New York: Praeger Publishers. Classic study of Mingo County's Economic Opportunity Commission project (part of LBJ's 1960s War on Poverty), and how it challenged the local political power structure.

Petzinger, Thomas, Jr. 1997. "June Holley Brings a Touch of Italy to Appalachian Effort" [Athens, Ohio; Appalachian Center for Economic Networks; marketing cooperative]. *Wall Street Journal* 24 October, 1(B).

Pickering, Kathleen Ann. 2006. "Welfare Reform in Appalachia, Kentucky" [McCreary and Owsley Cos.; interviews, 1999-2003]. Chap. 6 in *Welfare Reform in Persistent Rural Poverty: Dreams, Disenchantments, and Diversity*, 123-147. University Park, Pa: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Plaut, Thomas, and Susan Emley Keefe. 1999. *People, Politics and Economic Life: Exploring Appalachia with Qualitative Methods*. 2nd ed. Dubuque, Iowa: Kendall/Hunt in cooperation with Appalachian Consortium Press. 149 pp.

Porter, Rob, and Michael A. Tarrant. 2001. "A Case Study of Environmental Justice and Federal Tourism Sites in Southern Appalachia: A GIS Application" [inequalities for socioeconomic and racial groups]. *Journal of Travel Research* 40 (August): 27-40.

Priest, Karl. 2009. "Mission Hollow Memories." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 2 (Summer): 44-51. Personal narrative, 1950s; Union Mission children's home, Charleston. Sidebar: "They Were So Good to Me': Recalling Life at Brookside [Dewain Haynes], 52-53.

Pudup, Mary Beth. 1994. "Waiting for the Revolution." *Appalachian Journal* 21 (Winter): 172-181.

Rabinowitz, Amanda. 2012. "Starbucks Order Gives Ohio Mug Maker a Jolt." *Morning Edition*. NPR radio, 12 June. Podcast 4:12 min.; transcript 701 words. A struggling East Liverpool, Oh., pottery factory feels some economic revival with its biggest order ever. http://n.pr/LWgCjq.

Rice, William H. 2007. *Elkins, West Virginia 1889: The Magic City of the Wilderness*. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 256 pp. History; economic development; railroads and lumber.

Rivard, Betty, ed. 2012. *New Deal Photographs of West Virginia, 1934-1943*. Foreword by Carl Fleischhauer; Introduction by Jerry Bruce Thomas. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 240 pp. With more than 150 images by ten FSA photographers including Walker Evans, Marion Post Wolcott, Arthur Rothstein, and Ben Shahn. Contents: On the road -- Towns and cities -- Non-coal industries -- Northern coalfields, 1935 -- Northern coalfields, 1938 -- Arthurdale -- Eleanor -- Tygart Valley homesteads -- Southern coalfields, 1935 -- Southern coalfields, 1938 -- Wartime photo-essays, Richwood and Point Pleasant -- A West Virginia perspective / by Betty Rivard.

Rivard, Betty. 2010. "Revelation in the Mountains: West Virginia FSA Photographs." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 3 (Fall): 30-39. Documentary 1930s coalfield photos of Capel, McDowell County, by Farm Security Administration photographers Marion Post Wolcott and Ben Shahn.

Safford, Sean. 2009. Why the Garden Club Couldn't Save Youngstown: The Transformation of the Rust Belt [contrasts decline of Youngstown, Oh., with rebound of Allentown, Pa.]. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press. 212 pp.

Salstrom, Paul, and Steve Hollenhorst. 1994. "Increasing Dependency and the Touristization Rag." *Appalachian Journal* 21 (Summer): 410-420.

Salstrom, Paul. 1994. *Appalachia's Path to Dependency: Rethinking a Region's Economic History*, 1730-1940. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 204 pp.

Salstrom, Paul. 1996. "Appalachia's Informal Economy and the Transition to Capitalism." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Fall): 213-233.

Salstrom, Paul. 1997. "The Bucks Start Here: Alternative Currencies and the Coming Welfare Disaster." *Appalachian Journal* 25 (Fall): 84-97.

Salstrom, Paul. 2004. "The Great Depression." In *High Mountains Rising: Appalachia in Time and Place*, ed. R. Straw and H. Blethen, 74-87. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Sanders, Randy. 2007. "Wildness in the Garden of the Status Quo" [applauds 75 years of Highlander Folk School and Research Center, Tenn., and its heroes]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 28-31.

Santopietro, George D. 2002. "Analyzing Income Convergence at the County Level: The Case of Development in Central Appalachia" [Va., W. Va., Ky.; 1969-97]. *Journal of Economic Issues* 36 (December): 893-906.

Sarnoff, Susan. 2003. "Central Appalachia—Still the *Other* America" [celebrates 40th anniversary of Michael Harrington's *The Other America* (1962)]. In *Rediscovering the Other America: The Continuing Crisis of Poverty and Inequality in the United States*, ed. K. Kilty and E. Segal, 123-139. New York: Howarth Press. Co-published simultaneously as *Journal of Poverty*, vol. 7, no. 1-2, 2003.

Scarpaci, Joseph L. 2006. "Pittsburgh's Suburbs: Hollowing Out the Core" [tri-state area: Pa., Oh., W. Va.]. In *Pittsburgh and the Appalachians: Cultural and Natural Resources in a Postindustrial Age*, ed. J. Scarpaci, 125-140. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press.

Schmitt, Edward R. 2009. "The Appalachian Thread in the Antipoverty Politics of Robert F. Kennedy." *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 107, no. 3 (Summer): 371-400. Advocated for the poor; dealt with entrenched political machines; brought national attention to problems in the mountains.

Schmitt, Edward R. 2010. President of the Other America: Robert Kennedy and the Politics of Poverty. Amherst: University of Massachusetts Press. 324 pp.

Schumann, William R., and Carwyn Fowler. 2002. "Globalization, Identity, and Activism in Appalachia and Wales: Comparing the Political Economy of Representation in Two Marginal 'Regions'." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Fall): 333-361.

Scorsone, Eric A. 2003. "Economic Progress in Appalachian Kentucky Communities" [tables, maps]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Fall): 272-292.

Sessions, Jim. 1999. Review essay of *Worlds Apart: Why Poverty Persists in Rural America*, by Cynthia M. Duncan (Yale University Press, 1999). *Appalachian Journal* 27 (Fall): 99-104.

Seufert, Robert L., and Mark A. Carrozza. 2004. "Economic Advances and Disadvantages in Appalachia: Occupation, Labor Force Participation, and Unemployment" [figures; 2000 Census]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10, no. 3: 331-339.

Shannon, Thomas R. 2006. "The Economy of Appalachia" [history; with suggested readings]. In *A Handbook to Appalachia: An Introduction to the Region*, ed. G. Edwards, J. Asbury, and R. Cox, 67-84. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Shapira, Philip, and Terance Rephann. 1996. "The Adoption of New Technology in West Virginia: Implications for Manufacturing Modernization Policies." *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy* 14 (November): 431-450.

Shultz, Benjamin J. 2011. "Emerging Patterns of Growth and Change in the Southeast" [eight states, excluding W. Va.]. *Southeastern Geographer* 51, no. 4 (Winter): 550-563. Tables; shaded county outline maps. "Focusing on the economic duality of the South."

Shumway, J. Matthew, and Samuel M. Otterstrom. 2002. "Spatial Patterns of Migration and Income Change in Pennsylvania Counties." *Pennsylvania Geographer* 40 (Spring/Summer): 83-102.

Sinclair, Dean. 2004. "'Some Maps and a Lot of Trouble': Town Planner John Nolen in South Carolina" [Spartanburg and Columbia]. *South Carolina Historical Magazine* 105 (October): 258-281.

Smith, Barbara Ellen. 1999. "Legends of the Fall: Contesting Economic History" [Big Ridge, Alleghany Co., Va.]. In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 1-17. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Sobel, Russell S., ed. 2007. *Unleashing Capitalism: Why Prosperity Stops at the West Virginia Border and How to Fix It* [14 essays: government role policy reform]. Morgantown, W. Va.: The Public Policy Foundation of West Virginia. 237 pp.

Spaid, Elizabeth Levitan. 1997. "True Test of Welfare Reform Lies in Appalachia" [Prestonsburg, Floyd Co., Ky.; comments of Ron Eller, director of the Appalachian Center at the University of Kentucky]. *Christian Science Monitor* 2 October, 4.

Speakman, Joseph M. 2006. "The New Deal Arrives in Penn's Woods: The Beginnings of the Civilian Conservation Corps in Pennsylvania." *Pennsylvania Magazine of History & Biography* 130, no. 2 (April): 211-232.

Speakman, Joseph M. 2006. *At Work in Penn's Woods: The Civilian Conservation Corps in Pennsylvania* [1933-1942]. State College: Pennsylvania State University Press. 237 pp.

Stanley, Talmage A. 2007. "Renaming the World in the Valley of the Holston." *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 302-315. Recalling 30 years of friendship and accomplishments with social activist and professor Stephen L. Fisher, at the Appalachian Center for Community Service, Emory & Henry College, Va.

Starnes, Richard D. 2003. "'A Conspicuous Example of What is Termed the New South': Tourism and Urban Development in Asheville, North Carolina, 1880-1925." *North Carolina Historical Review* 80 (January): 52-80.

Starnes, Richard D. 2003. "Creating a 'Variety Vacationland': Tourism Development in North Carolina." In *Southern Journeys: Tourism, History, and Culture in the Modern South*, ed. R. Starnes, 138-153. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Starnes, Richard D. 2005. *Creating the Land of the Sky: Tourism and Society in Western North Carolina* [history; 1870s-1930s]. The Modern South series. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 240 pp.

Stephens, Heather M., and Mark D. Partridge. 2011. "Do Entrepreneurs Enhance Economic Growth in Lagging Regions?" [focus on Appalachia]. *Growth and Change* 42, no. 4 (December): 431–465. Maps, tables. Counties adjacent to ARC region used as a control group.

Strom, Stephanie. 2012. "For Ohio Pottery, a Small Revival: Starbucks Turns to Ohio, not China for Coffee Mugs." *New York Times*, 12 June, 1(B). 1,384 words, plus video clip (4:14 min.). Starbucks is contracting with American Mug in the upper Ohio River town of East Liverpool, formerly the pottery capital of the nation, currently in economic collapse due to global competition. http://nyti.ms/Lw3J0w.

Symposium on *The Road to Poverty: The Making of Wealth and Hardship in Appalachia*, by Dwight B. Billings and Kathleen M. Blee, New York: Cambridge University Press, 2000. 2000. Ronald L. Lewis, "A New Paradigm for Poverty," 9-14; Mary Beth Pudup, "The Road from Exceptionalism," 14-20; Stephan Weiler, "The Unexceptional Economics of Appalachia," 20-25; David Walls, "Which Way to the Road out of Poverty?" 25-28; "The Authors' Response," 29-33. In *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 6 no. 1-2 (Spring/Fall): 9-34.

Szalanski, Joseph. 2010. *Boarding the Westbound: Journey of a Depression-era Hobo*. Tarentum, Pa.: Word Association Publishers. 291 pp. "It's a journey that began in Poland, ended in a Western Pennsylvania steel mill, and wandered to all 48 states of 1932 America."

Tang, Mei, and Kathryn Russ. 2007. "Understanding and Facilitating Career Development of People of Appalachian Culture: An Integrated Approach" [values]. *Career Development Quarterly* 56, no. 1 (September): 34-46.

Taul, Glen. 1996. "Creating Communities of Hope in Eastern Kentucky" [state's strategic plan]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 13 (Summer): 33-36

Taylor, Stephen Wallace. 2001. *The New South's New Frontier: A Social History of Economic Development in Southwestern North Carolina*. Foreword by John David Smith. New Perspectives on the History of the South. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 186 pp.

Telecommunications and the Future of Appalachian Communities. 2003. Special issue, *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 36 (July-December): 1-40.

This Land Is Home to Me: A Pastoral Letter on Powerlessness in Appalachia. 25th anniversary edition [photo essay; signed by 24 Catholic bishops]. 1999. Edited by Edwin Daschbach and Anna Jean Maddox Rogucki. Techny, Ill.: Society of the Divine Word. 156 pp.

Thomas, Jerry Bruce. 1998. "Please Tell the President...Only an Absolute Dictatorship Will Save Us': Lorena Hickok Reports on the Great Depression in West Virginia, August 1933"

[transcripts of four letters to Eleanor Roosevelt on conditions in W. Va.]. *West Virginia History* 57: 135-161.

Thomas, Jerry Bruce. 1998. *An Appalachian New Deal: West Virginia in the Great Depression* [1929-1941]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 316 pp.

Thomas, Jerry Bruce. [1998] 2010. *An Appalachian New Deal: West Virginia in the Great Depression*. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 11. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 316 pp. Originally published: Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Thomas, Jerry Bruce. 2010. *An Appalachian Reawakening: West Virginia and the Perils of the New Machine Age, 1945-1972*. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 12. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 470 pp. Contents: Introduction -- A New Machine Age in the hills -- American paradox, Appalachian stereotype -- Civil rights in the New Machine Age -- Good intentions: the New Frontier and the War on Poverty -- Raising hell in the hills and hollows: AVs, VISTAs, and community action -- From the Silver Bridge to Farmington and rumblings at the grassroots -- The Black Lung Association, Miners for Democracy, and the New Feminism -- The strip mining dilemma and a climactic debate -- Buffalo Creek: Appalachian apotheosis -- Epilogue: another reawakening?

Thompson, J. W. 2002. "A Natural Death" [Ramsey Creek ecocemetery, Westminster, S.C.; "green" woodland burials]. *Landscape Architecture* 92 (October): 74-79, 134-137.

Thorne, Deborah, Ann Tickamyer, and Mark Thorne. 2004. "Poverty and Income in Appalachia" [trends; tables: 1989, 1999; gender inequality]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10, no. 3: 341-357.

Tickamyer, Ann, Julie White, Barry Tadlock, and Debra Henderson. 2000. "Where All the Counties Are Above Average: Top Down versus Bottom Up Perspectives on Welfare Reform" [29 Ohio Cos.; table]. Paper prepared for Rural Dimensions of Welfare Reform: A Research Conference on Rural Poverty, Welfare, and Food Assistance, Washington, D.C., May 5, 2000. Evanston and Chicago, Ill.: Joint Center for Poverty Research. 29 pp. http://www.jcpr.org/wp/wpprofile.cfm?id=197.

Tickamyer, Ann R., and Teresa A. Wood. 2003. "The Social and Economic Context of Informal Work" [1994 Kentucky Survey; tables]. In *Communities of Work: Rural Restructuring in Local and Global Contexts*, ed. W. Falk, M. Schulman, and A. Tickamyer, 394-418. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Tickamyer, Ann R., Debra A. Henderson, Julie Anne White, and Barry L. Tadlock. 2000. "Voices of Welfare Reform: Bureaucratic Rationality Versus the Perceptions of Welfare Participants" [four Appalachian Ohio counties]. *Affilia* 15 (Summer): 173-192.

Tickamyer, Ann R., et al. 2007. "The Spatial Politics of Public Policy: Devolution, Development, and Welfare Reform" [Ohio]. Chap. 5 in *The Sociology of Spatial Inequality*, ed.

L. Lobao, G. Hooks, and A. Tickamyer, 113-139. Albany: State University of New York Press. 274 pp.

Togyer, Jason. 2008. For the Love of Murphy's: The Behind-the-Counter Story of a Great American Retailer. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 279 pp. Examines the evolution of five-and-ten-cent stores. Chapter 3: "The Macy's of Appalachia."

Tonn, Bruce, Tim Ezzell, and Eric Ogle. 2010. "Experiential Learning and Sustainable Economic Development in Appalachian Communities: A Teaching Note." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 16, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 144-155. Tables. University of Tennessee graduate class collaboration with local and federal agencies to facilitate public workshops in disadvantaged East Tennessee communities.

Turner, John. 1994. "High Country Hunger: Adapting to Less Food Assistance." In *Appalachian Adaptations to a Changing World*, ed. Norma Myers. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 6: 48-58. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Twiss, Pamela C., and Thomas R. Mueller. 2004. "Housing Appalachians: Recent Trends" [problems; 2000 Census; tables, maps]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10, no. 3: 389-406.

U.S. House. 1998. Committee on Transportation and Infrastructure. Subcommittee on Public Buildings and Economic Development. *Reauthorization of the Economic Development Administration and the Appalachian Regional Commission: Hearings Before the Subcommittee on Public Buildings and Economic Development of the Committee on Transportation and Infrastructure.* 105th Cong., 1st sess. 10 and 17 July, 1997. 258 pp.

Ulack, Richard, Karl Raitz, and Gyula Pauer, ed. 1998. *Atlas of Kentucky* [census-based; 1000 thematic maps, charts, graphs, tables, photos]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 336 pp.

Walls, David. 2010. "The Appalachian Volunteers in Perspective." Essay review of *Reformers to Radicals: The Appalachian Volunteers and The War on Poverty*, by Thomas Kiffmeyer (University Press of Kentucky, 2008). *Appalachian Journal* 37, no. 1-2 (Fall 2009-Winter 2010): 100-105.

Watkins, Patsy G. 2011. "Same People, Same Time, Same Place: Contrasting Images of Destitute Ozark Mountaineers during the Great Depression." *Arkansas Historical Quarterly* 70, no. 3 (Autumn): 288-315. Discusses twelve photographs taken in 1935 by FSA photographers Arthur Rothstein and Ben Shahn to record rural poverty.

Weiler, Stephan. 1997. "The Economics of the Struggling Structurally Unemployed" [W. Va.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 3 (Spring): 71-97.

Weiler, Stephan. 2000. "Industrial Structure and Unemployment in Regional Labor Markets" [W. Va.'s 55 cos.; 1981-92]. *Industrial Relations* 39 (April): 336-359.

Weinbaum, Eve S. 2004. *To Move a Mountain: Fighting the Global Economy in Appalachia* [Tenn. plant closings; social justice activism]. New York: New Press. 340 pp.

Weisbrod, Glen, Teresa Lynch, and Margaret Collins. 2004. "Handbook: Assessing Local Economic Development Opportunities with ARC-LEAP, Appalachian Regional Commission Local Economic Assessment Package." Prepared by the Economic Development Research Group, Inc. Washington, D.C.: Appalachian Regional Commission, Online Resource Center. 35 pp. http://arc.gov/images/reports/arcleap/ARC-LEAP_Handbook.pdf.

Weise, Robert S. 2001. "New Towns for Red Bird, Kentucky: Isolation and Civic Society in Twentieth Century Discussions of Appalachian Poverty" [1960s; Leslie Co.; Council of the Southern Mountains]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 7 (Fall): 273-284.

Weise, Robert S. 2001. *Grasping at Independence: Debt, Male Authority, and Mineral Rights in Appalachian Kentucky, 1850-1915.* Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 374 pp.

Weise, Robert S. 2009. "A New Deal in the Cold War: Carl D. Perkins, Coal, and the Political Economy of Poverty in Eastern Kentucky, 1948-1964." *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 107, no. 3 (Summer): 307-338. Perkins, from Hindman, Ky., served as a Democratic Rep. in the U.S. Congress from 1949 until his death in 1984.

Wheeler, William Bruce. [1983] 2005. *Knoxville, Tennessee: A Mountain City in the New South* [1850-present: history, economy, social, political]. 2nd ed. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 249 pp. Rev. ed. of *Knoxville, Tennessee: Continuity and Change in an Appalachian City*, by Michael J. McDonald and William Bruce Wheeler.

Whisnant, David E. 1994. *Modernizing the Mountaineer: People, Power, and Planning in Appalachia*. Rev. ed. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 336 pp.

Whitaker, Stephen Paul. 2000. "A New Wave of Colonization: The Economics of the Tourism and Travel Industry in Appalachian Kentucky" [tables]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 6 no. 1-2 (Spring/Fall): 35-48.

White, Connie. 1994. "Fighting Back in Appalachia: Reports from the Front Plenary Session-Appalachian Studies Conference." In *Appalachian Adaptations to a Changing World*, ed. Norma Myers. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 6: 5-13. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

White, Julie, Ann R. Tickamyer, Debra A. Henderson, and Barry Tadlock. 2003. "Does Welfare to Work Work?: Rural Employers Comment." In *Communities of Work: Rural Restructuring in Local and Global Contexts*, ed. W. Falk, M. Schulman, and A. Tickamyer, 240-264. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Whitelegg, Drew. 2005. "'Selling Lifestyles, not Homes': Growth and Politics in Forsyth County, Georgia" [1990s Atlanta boom effects]. *Southeastern Geographer* 45, no. 1 (May):104-119.

Whitson, Risa, Lawrence E. Wood, Kurt Fuellhart, and Amy K. Glasmeier. 2006. "Appalachia: Rich in Natural Resources, Poor in Human Opportunity" [1960-2000: timber, coal, ARC]. In *Pittsburgh and the Appalachians: Cultural and Natural Resources in a Postindustrial Age*, ed. J. Scarpaci, 167-177. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press.

Wilson, Gregory S. 2009. *Communities Left Behind: The Area Redevelopment Administration*, 1945-1965. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 197 pp. American employment history between the New Deal and Great Society in Appalachia and the South; state and local priorities; racist politics.

Wiseman, Paul. 2010. "When the Textile Mill Goes, So Does a Way of Life" [Mount Airy, N.C., inspiration for Mayberry of *The Andy Griffith Show*]. *USA Today*, 10 March, 1(A). 1943 words. http://www.usatoday.com/money/economy/employment/2010-03-09-textile-jobs-lost-mount-airy_N.htm.

Wolensky, Kenneth. 1997. "Diamonds & Coal" [Wilkes-Barre, Pa., economic transformation]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Winter): 20-24.

Wolfe, Margaret Ripley. 2003. "Eastern Kentucky and the War on Poverty: Grass-Roots Activism, Regional Politics, and Creative Federalism in the Appalachian South during the 1960s." *Ohio Valley History* 3 (Spring): 31-44.

Wood, Lawrence E. 2001. "From Theory to Implementation: An Analysis of the Appalachian Regional Commission's Growth Center Policy." *Environment and Planning* 33 (March): 551-565.

Woodside, Jane Harris. 1996. "De-Mobilizing Appalachia." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 13 (Summer): 8-14.

Yanarella, Ernest J., and Susan Blankenship. 2006. "Big House on the Rural Landscape: Prison Recruitment as a Policy Tool of Local Economic Development" [negative consequences for communities]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 12, no. 2 (Fall): 110-139.

Zhou, Bin, and Wendy Shaw. 2000. "An Empirical Study of Institutional Characteristics of Regional Financial Markets: Evidence from Rural Kentucky" [banks; money supply]. *Southeastern Geographer* 40 (November): 209-224.

Ziliak, James Patrick, ed. 2012. *Appalachian Legacy: Economic Opportunity After the War on Poverty*. Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution Press. 216 pp. Tables; maps. Contents: Introduction: Progress and prospects for Appalachia / James P. Ziliak -- The Appalachian Regional Development Act and economic change / James P. Ziliak -- Inequality and human capital in Appalachia, 1960-2000 / Dan A. Black and Seth G. Sanders -- Family change and

poverty in Appalachia / Daniel T. Lichter and Lisa A. Cimbaluk -- Socioeconomic status, child health, and future outcomes: lessons for Appalachia / Janet Currie and Mariesa Herrmann -- Cities, economic development, and the role of place-based policies: prospects for Appalachia / Matthew E. Kahn -- Poverty traps and Appalachia / Steven N. Durlauf.

Zimmerman, Julie N., Sunny (Seonok) Ham, and Sarah Michelle Frank. 2008. "Does It or Doesn't It? Geographic Differences and the Costs of Living" [tables]. *Rural Sociology* 73, no. 3 (September): 463-486. Eight Ky. counties studied including three in Eastern Ky.

EDUCATION

Secondary, higher and adult education; illiteracy; mission and settlement schools

Adams, John D. 2012. "The Berea College Mission to the Mountains: Teacher Training, The Normal Department, and Rural Community Development." *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 110, no. 1 (Winter): 33-66.

Altieri, Laurie Brunson. 2011. "From Pencils to PCs." Interview by Shannon Dunlap. *Foxfire Magazine* 45, no. 1-2 (Spring-Summer): 3-14. Altieri reflects on *Foxfire*'s [Rabun Co., Ga.] early years in the 1970s when she was a staff member assisting founding editor, Eliot Wigginton.

Anderson, Stanley "Judd," ed. 2002. *Potbelly School Tales: West Virginia School Retirees Reminisce* [compilation of anecdotes written by retired school employees]. Beckley, W. Va.: Central Printing Company. 158 pp.

Asada, Hideko, Eric Swank, and Gregory T. Goldey. 2003. "The Acceptance of a Multicultural Education among Appalachian College Students" [437 students; Morehead State University (?)]. *Research in Higher Education* 44 (February): 99-120.

Atkins, Jonathan M. 1998. "Philanthropy in the Mountains: Martha Berry and the Early Years of the Berry Schools" [Floyd Co., Ga.; 1902-1940s; photographs]. *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 82 (Winter): 856-876.

Atwell, Nedra Skaggs. 2005. *Appalachian Women: Teaching the Future*. Lanham, Md.: University Press of America. 29 pp. "...effective strategies for school achievement."

Austin, Brad. 1997. "'College Would Be a Dead Old Dump Without It': Intercollegiate Athletics in East Tennessee during the Depression Era." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 69: 29-61.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1996. "Appalachia's Best-Kept Secret" [community colleges]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 29 (September-December): 4-11.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1997. "Learning to Lead the HI-Y Way" [Oh.-W. Va. high school YMCA leadership training at Camp Horseshoe, near St. George, W. Va.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 30 (Jan.-Apr.): 14-19.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1998. "High Expectations" [improving instruction and standards; Keyser, W. Va.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (May-August): 4-11.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1998. "On a Roll for Science + Math" [sponsored by NSF]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (May-August): 12-17.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1998. "Reading for Life" [Ga.; Barrow Co.'s adult learning center]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (September-December): 28-33.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1998. "Ron Soltis: Making Connections" [telecommunications network; Broome and Tioga Cos., N.Y.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (May-August): 36-40.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1999. "Taking the Classroom Home" [laptop computers for students, Hiawassee, Ga.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (January-April): 10-15.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1999. "Teaching and Learning Online" [wiring classrooms to the Internet: Morgan Co., Ohio; Fentress Co., Tenn.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (January-April): 4-9.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2000. "The Family-School Connection" [parental involvement program; Owsley County Elementary School, Booneville, Ky.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 33 (January-April): 2-7.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2001. "Colleges and Communities: Increasing Local Capacity" [Rural Community College Initiative; southeastern Ky.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (January-April): 2-9.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2001. "Learning to Work Smarter" [Alfred State College of Technology partners with area industry in New York's Southern Tier]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (January-April): 28-33.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2003. "A Regional Strategy for Technology Training" [Regional Center for Applied Technology, Kingsport, Tenn.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 36 (July-December): 20-25.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2003. "COAD: Pressing for Success" [Corporation for Ohio Appalachian Development; Athens headquarters]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 36 (January-June): 22-26.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2003. "Helping Kids Get Ready to Learn" [Ala. pre-kindergarten initiative]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 36 (January-June): 12-17.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2003. "Schools and the Community: Fostering Mutual Support" [ARC annual conference topic, Maryville, Tenn.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 36 (January-June): 2-6. Appended overviews of 15 concurrent sessions, "Best Practices," 7-11.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2008. "Hocking College: Thinking Globally in Southeastern Ohio" [Nelsonville; international students]. *Appalachia Magazine: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 39: 18-25. http://www.arc.gov/index.do?nodeId=3174.

Baldwin, Yvonne Honeycutt. 2006. *Cora Wilson Stewart and Kentucky's Moonlight Schools: Fighting for Literacy in America* [1875-1958; adult education; inspired nation-wide grassroots movement]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 248 pp.

Ballard, Sandra L. 2012. "Teaching by Way of Invitation, Local Stories, Call and Response: A Celebration of Folklorist Thomas A. McGowan's Teaching Career" [Appalachian State University English Dept., 1972-2011]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 58, no. 1 (Spring-Summer): 17-25. Part of a special "Thomas McGowan" issue (59 pp.), edited by Ballard, which includes essays, reflections of students and colleagues, and an article by Philip E. "Ted" Coyle on McGowan's tenure as editor of the *North Carolina Folklore Journal*, 49-59.

Banker, Mark. 1995. "Warren Wilson College: From Mountain Mission to Multicultural Community." *American Presbyterians* 73 (Summer): 111-123.

Berry, Chad. 2009. "Community Service, Not Philanthropy" [Berea College, Ky.; entrepreneurial leadership program]. *Academe: Bulletin of the AAUP* 95, no. 5 (September/October): 21-23.

Best, Bill. 2007. "I Always Used 'I'" [use of the first-person-pronoun in writing exercises to foster self-discovery]. *Appalachian Journal* 35, no. 1-2 (Fall 2007/Winter 2008): 54-57.

Best, Billy F. 2009. *The Appalachian Renaissance at Berea College: 1944-1994*. Berea, Ky.: Appalachian Imprints Publishing. 209 pp. Contents: PART I. INTRODUCTION | Context | Confessional | Francis Hutchins | W.D. Weatherford Jr. | John B. Stephenson | Summary of Part I. PART II. JAMES BROWN. PART III. TESTIMONIALS: Gary English | Jim Branscome | Betty Jean Hall | Leonard Marr | Sidney Farr | Phil Obermiller | Randy Osborne | Charles Haywood | Elmer Gray | G. Keith Parker | Raymond McClain, by Loyal Jones | Peter Hille | Theresa Purchett-Anderson | William Turner | Jane B. Stephenson. EPILOGUE.

Bickel, Robert, Caitlin Howley, and A. Stan Maynard. 2003. "'No Child Left Behind' in Poor, Appalachian School Districts: Confronting Contextual Factors in the Modern World" [W. Va.; tables]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Fall): 321-340.

Black, Dan A., Terra G. McKinnish, and Seth G. Sanders. 2005. "Tight Labor Markets and the Demand for Education: Evidence from the Coal Boom and Bust" [1970s and 80s; effect on high school dropout/enrollment rates]. *Industrial & Labor Relations Review* 59 (October): 3-15.

Bledsoe, Lydia. 2007. "Experiencing Appalachia: A Reading/Language Arts Unit for Middle School." *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 10: 6-13. Sidebar: "Celebrating West Virginia Authors and Literature in the Elementary Classroom," by Susan Long, 13.

Blevins, Brooks. 2003. *Lyon College, 1872-2002: The Perseverance and Promise of an Arkansas College* [Batesville, Ark.]. Fayetteville: University of Arkansas Press. 453 pp. Contents: Isaac Long on one end of a log -- A reluctant president in an age of change -- "Heroic and pathetic in the extreme" -- "Muddling through somehow" -- Little Haverford or Maryville of

the West: the college seeks a purpose -- Bricks and mortar: Paul McCain builds a campus -- Arkansas College in the wild West years -- Tossing our hats over the wall: the Griffith years.

Blevins, Brooks. 2011. "Mountain Mission Schools in Arkansas." *Arkansas Historical Quarterly* 70, no. 4 (Winter): 398-428. "...blossoming in the trans-Mississippi region took place a generation later than in the mountains back east".... "rhetoric and actions of mountain mission schools sponsored by southern denominations often differed from...those established by their more national counterparts".... "the world of mountain mission education turns out to have been surprisingly diverse."

Boyer, Jefferson C. 1997. "Building Sustainable Development at Appalachian State" [Sustainable Development Program at Appalachian State University]. In *Practicing Anthropology in the South*, ed. J. M. T. Wallace, 142-154. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 30. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Brosi, George. 2010. "This Side of the Mountain" [editorial on University of Kentucky's choice of "Wildcat Coal Lodge" as the name for a new dorm housing the men's basketball team]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 1 (Winter): 6-7.

Brown, Alice. 2008. "Core Resources, These Appalachian Colleges': An Interview with Alice Brown." Interview by Stephanie Roark Keener. *Appalachian Journal* 36, no. 1-2 (Fall 2008/Winter 2009): 54-85. Brown is retired director of the Appalachian College Association, a consortium of 37 schools in Ky., N.C., Tenn., Va., and W. Va. [map].

Bryan, Elizabeth, and Leigh Ann Simmons. 2009. "Family Involvement: Impacts on Post-Secondary Educational Success for First-Generation Appalachian College Students" [Ky.]. *Journal of College Student Development* 50, no. 4 (July-August): 391-406.

Buchanan, Candice. 2008. "The Early Coeducational Institution as Matchmaker: A Study of Romantic Attachments at Waynesburg College 1850-1875" [Greene Co.]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 91, no. 3 (Fall): 46-57.

Butera, Gretchen. 2005. "Collaboration in the Context of Appalachia: The Case of Cassie" [W. Va.; 4-year-old]. *Journal of Special Education* 39, no. 2 (Summer): 106-116.

Butler, Thomas, and Jacqueline Edmondson. 2012. "Sustaining a Rural Pennsylvania Community: Negotiating Rural Literacies and Sustainability." Chap. 13 in *Reclaiming the Rural: Essays on Literacy, Rhetoric, and Pedagogy*, ed. K. Donehower, C. Hogg, and E. Schell, 223-237. Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press.

Carney, Brent. 2004. *Bethany College* [Bethany, W. Va.; vintage photos; founded 1840 by Alexander Campbell]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Casto, James E. 1999. "Norma Gray: Leading the Way for Children" [River Valley, W. Va.; teacher training; child development programs for preschoolers]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (January-April): 36-40.

Casto, James E. 2001. "A Medical School for the Mountains: Training Doctors for Rural Care" [Ky.; Pikeville College School of Osteopathic Medicine; opened 1997]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (September-December): 24-29.

Casto, James E. 2001. "Work Begins at School" [school-to-work program; Clay County High School, W. Va.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (January-April): 22-27.

Casto, James E. 2005. *Marshall University* [Huntington, W. Va.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Caudill, Edward, Edward J. Larson, and Jesse Fox Mayshark. 2000. *The Scopes Trial: A Photographic History* [1925 Dayton, Tenn.]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 88 pp.

Collins, Belva C., and John W. Schuster. 2001. "Some Thoughts on the History of Rural Special Education: A First Hand Account" [Appalachia; four decades]. *Rural Special Education Quarterly* 20 (Winter/Spring): 22-29.

Collins, Timothy. 1999. "Research: The Region's Educational Needs" [and research opportunities]. Special conference issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Spring): 50-59.

Compton, G. C. 1999. "When the World Was Flat" [1958 Pike Co., Ky., sixth grade memories]. *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Fall): 26-28.

Courrier, Dinah W. 2000. *Potomac State College* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. College History Series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Cousins, James P. 2010. "Lexington's 'Established Order' and the Creation of Transylvania University" [Ky.]. *Ohio Valley History* 10, no. 4 (Winter): 3-24.

Dacy, Elizabeth. 2012. "WWC Develops Global Exchange for Sustainability." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 51-52. Forestry study partnership established between Warren Wilson College (Swannanoa, N.C.) and the Universidad Popular Autónoma del Estado de Puebla, in Mexico.

Davis, Curt. 2001. Forty Years in the One-Room Schools of Eastern Kentucky: A Memoir [Elliott Co.; b. 1910]. Edited by Laura Caudill. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 160 pp.

DeBord, Angela. 2003. "Telling Your Own Story: A Story Illumination Project" [pedagogical tool]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Fall): 363-376.

DeYoung, Alan J., Michele Glover, and Mary Jean Ronan Herzog, section editors. 2006. "Education" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 1517-1559 (with introductory essay, 1517-1521). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

DeYoung, Alan J. 1995. "Constructing and Staffing the Cultural Bridge: The School as Change Agent in Rural Appalachia" [West Virginia School System]. *Anthropology & Education Quarterly* 26 (June): 168-192.

DeYoung, Alan J. 1995. *The Life and Death of a Rural American High School*. New York: Garland. 342 pp.

DeYoung, Alan J., and Barbara Kent Lawrence. 1995. "On Hoosiers, Yankees, and Mountaineers." *Phi Delta Kappan* 77 (October): 104-112.

Dickey, Ouida, and Doyle Mathis. 2005. *Berry College: A History* [from 1902; Floyd Co., northwest Ga.]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 238 pp.

Dickson, Kay Reita. 1998. *Glade Valley School, 1909-1985* [mission school near Sparta, N.C.]. Raleigh, N.C.: Pentland Press. 297 pp.

Donehower, Kim. 2003. "Literacy Choices in an Appalachian Community" [Haines Gap, N.C.; "literacy sponsorship, ...identity, and social class and status factors"]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Fall): 341-362.

Drake, Richard B. 1998. "Berea's Appalachian Commitment" [Berea College, Ky.; record of successive administrations, 1850s-1990s]. *Appalachian Heritage* 26 (Summer): 6-21.

Education Strategies for Stronger Communities. 2003. Special issue, *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 36 (January-June): 1-40.

Eigelsbach, William B., and Jamie Sue Linder. 1998. "'If Not the People Who?': Prosecution Correspondence Preparatory to the Scopes Trial" [1925; Dayton, Tenn.]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 70: 109-145.

Ellis, William E. 2005. A History of Eastern Kentucky University: The School of Opportunity [from 1874]. Foreword by Thomas D. Clark. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 282 pp.

Ellis, William E. 2011. *A History of Education in Kentucky* [1775 to present]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 515 pp.

Ewen, Lynda Ann. 2002. "Environmental Activism in the Academy: A Teach-In Following the Martin County Sludge Disaster" [of Oct. 2000, Ky.; Marshall University community]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Spring): 164-167.

Fairlie, Charlotte. 1997. "No Frills Education" [Chatfield College, Brown Co., Ohio]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Winter): 34-37.

Feather, Carl E. 2007. "Katherine Reemsnyder of Buckhannon: A Wesleyan Family Legacy" [West Virginia Wesleyan College; 98 years old; reminiscences]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 3 (Fall): 30-35.

Fedukovich, Casie. 2009. "Strange Imports: Working-Class Appalachian Women in the Composition Classroom." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 15, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 140-154. Dominant language assertion, mountain dialect, identity and bridging cultural boundaries.

Fike, J. Michael. 2010. "From the Ashes: Saving Eglon School" [1923-1959; Preston Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 1 (Spring): 50-55. Destroyed by fire, the school was holding classes again in just three days thanks to a local church.

Fisher, Steve. 2002. "'Making Hope Practical and Despair Unconvincing': Some Thoughts on Transformative Education." *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Fall 2001-Winter 2002): 90-97.

Flatt, Donald F. 1997. *A Light to the Mountains: Morehead State University, 1887-1997*. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 412 pp.

Fleming, Dan B., Jr. 2006. "WVU's Mountaineer: Mascot with a Mission" [history; since 1927]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 3 (Fall): 30-35.

Fulks, Danny. 2003. "Country Cool" [Marshall University professor's fond memories of his W. Va. students]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 20 (Spring): 3-6.

Gay, James E. 1998. *Konnarock Training School: Its Spirit Lives On* [Lutheran mission school; Smyth and Washington Cos., Va.; 1924-1959]. Lynchburg, Va.: Warwick House Publishing. 141 pp.

Gereaux, Teresa Thomas. 1999. "The River Rock School" [Damascus, Va.; 1923 community-built]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 16 (Spring): 30-33.

Glen, John M. [1988] 1996. *Highlander: No Ordinary School*. 2nd ed. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 413 pp.

Glen, John M. 2004. "Highlander" [Highlander Research and Education Center; civil rights movement]. In *Poverty in the United States: An Encyclopedia of History, Politics, and Policy*, ed. G. Mink, and A. O'Connor, 364-366. Santa Barbara, Calif.: ABC-CLIO.

Godfrey, Florence Lewis. 2000. "Avery, Dear Avery" [1920s one-room school; Monongalia Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Fall): 30-35.

Gose, Ben. 1997. "A College Returns to Its Roots by Recruiting Appalachia's Poorest" [Alice Lloyd College, Ky.]. *Chronicle of Higher Education* 44 (January 9):A55-A56.

Gottlieb, Esther. 2000. "Appalachian Self-Fashioning: Regional Identities and Cultural Models." *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education* 22 (December): 341-359.

Gravitt, Van, moderator. 1999. "Needed Research for Colleges and Universities in Appalachia" (Breakout Session 3). Special conference issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Spring): 67-68.

Gray, Trula Vandell, with John Vandell. 2011. *A Coal Camp Chronicle: Rememberin' My Raisin'*. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 157 pp. Story of a young teacher who first arrived in Welch, McDowell County, W. Va., in the late 1930s to teach at Hemphill.

Greene, Amy. 2012. "God and Man in Tennessee" [op-ed]. *New York Times*, 28 April, 19(A). 753 words. A new state law allows creationism to be taught in the classroom. "By politicizing our faith, lawmakers are ignoring Tennessee's true religious roots and threatening the liberties they claim to protect." http://nyti.ms/1dzX0SX.

Griffith, Gretchen. 2012. Lessons Learned: The Story of Pilot Mountain School [Burke Co., N.C.; 1942-1973]. Fairview, N.C.: Ridgetop Books. 308 pp. Interviews with former teachers, principals, and students.

Haga, Pauline. 1999. "My Memories of Mark Twain High School" [Raleigh Co. company town school]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Fall): 38-41.

Haleman, Diana L., and Alan J. DeYoung. 2000. "A Reflective Essay Concerning Something Better: The Experiences of 'Appalachian' Rural Trust Schools." *Journal of Research in Rural Education* 16 (Spring): 3-7.

Hammersmith, Jack L. 2011. "James Morton Callahan: The Making of a West Virginia Historian" [1864-1956]. West Virginia History, n.s. 5, no. 1 (Spring): 25-52. Serving for many years as a WVU history professor and Dean, Callahan authored the first comprehensive history of the state.

Hardesty, David C., with Susan B. Hardesty. 2007. *Leading the Public University: Essays, Speeches, and Commentary* [WVU president, 1995-2007; history, biography]. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 429 pp.

Hardy, William E. 2008. "Advice from Monticello: The East Tennessee College Lottery Scheme and the Origins of Thomas Jefferson's Academical Village" [1809-1810]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 80: 28-46.

Harshman, Marc. 1996. Review essay of *The Life and Death of a Rural American High School: Farewell Little Kanawha*, by Alan J. DeYoung (New York: Garland, 1995). *Appalachian Journal* 23 (Winter): 208-217.

Haywood, Holly, and Eric Swank. 2008. "Rape Myths Among Appalachian College Students." *Violence and Victims* 23, no. 3 (May): 373-389. Eastern Ky.; 512 students surveyed.

Henderson, A. Scott. 2005. "Building Intelligent and Active Public Minds': Education and Social Reform in Greenville County During the 1930s." *The South Carolina Historical Magazine* 106, no. 1 (January): 34-58.

Hess, Earl J. 2011. *Lincoln Memorial University and the Shaping of Appalachia*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 319 pp. Located at Harrogate, Tenn., and founded in 1897 "to help disadvantaged Appalachian youth and reward the descendants of Union loyalists in the region." LMU graduates include James Still, Jesse Stuart, and Don West (all class of 1929), and Silas House served as Writer in Residence, 2005-2010.

Hicks, Deborah. 2002. *Reading Lives: Working-Class Children and Literacy Learning*. Language and Literacy Series. New York: Teachers College Press. 180 pp.

Hillis, Michael R., and Elizabeth Ralston. 2001. "Developing a Rationale for Multicultural Education in Rural Appalachia." *Rural Educator* 23 (Winter): 7-12.

Hitchcock, Susan Tyler. [1999] 2012. *The University of Virginia: A Pictorial History*. 2nd ed., updated and expanded by Mariflo Stephens. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press and University of Virginia Bookstore. 278 pp.

Hoffman, Carl. 1997. "Building Character on Campus" [Alice Lloyd College, Knott Co., Ky.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 30 (Sept.-Dec.): 36-40.

Hoffman, Carl. 1997. "Three-Dimensional Summer" [Summer Science Honors Academy at Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Tenn.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 30 (Sept.-Dec.): 20-25.

Hoffman, Carl. 1998. "Kids on Campus" [Ohio University's summer program for elementary school children]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (September-December): 22-27.

Hoffman, Carl. 1998. "The Spirit of Oneida" [Oneida, Tenn., rallies to save its dilapidated schools]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 31 (September-December): 40-44.

Hoffman, Carl. 1999. "Mission: Math & Science" [Challenger Learning Center, Hazard, Ky.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (September-December): 28-33.

Hoffman, Carl. 2000. "Breaking the Literacy Barrier" [adult learning center; Catoosa Co., Ga.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 33 (September-December): 24-31.

Hoffman, Carl. 2000. "Learning on the Information Highway" [Alleghany Co., N.C., cyber campus]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 33 (January-April): 8-13.

Hoffman, Carl. 2001. "The New Century Scholars" [educational partnership; N.C. school students (Jackson, Macon, Swain Cos.) and Southwestern Community College, Sylva].

Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission 34 (September-December): 18-23.

Hoffman, Carl. 2003. "Learning on the Education Express" [N.Y.; computer training, mobile classroom]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 36 (January-June): 18-21.

Hoffman, Carl. 1996. "A Dream, Hard Work, and Belief" [Floyd County, Ky., student retention and adult education program]. Photographs by Ken Murray. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 29 (May-August): 32-39.

Holcombe, David M. 2000. *Educating Our Hometown: The Story of Blue Ridge Community College* [Hendersonville, N.C.]. Edited by Louise H. Bailey. Alexander, N,C.: WorldComm. 224 p.

Hollow, Betty. 2003. *Ohio University, 1804-2004: The Spirit of a Singular Place*. Athens: Ohio University Press. 344 pp.

Horton, Myles. 2003. *The Myles Horton Reader: Education for Social Change* [co-founder of Highlander Folk School; d. 1990]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 317 pp.

House, Silas. 2010. "Appalachian Pride (In the Name of Love)." *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 3 (Summer): 62-75. Berea College convocation speech, "The Appalachian Lecture." Addresses cultural stereotyping and incorporates House's poem, "Double Creek Girl," and Don West's poem, "Mountain Heritage."

Howley, Caitlin. 2006. "Purpose and Place: Schooling and Appalachian Residence" [interviews with three white families from: rural W. Va., small town W. Va., rural Pa.; meaning attached to schooling]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 12, no. 1 (Spring): 58-78.

Hudson, Bert W. 2008. "Respecting Miss Skaggs." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 3 (Fall): 46-47. Early 1940s; one-room school; Bullpush Hollow, Kanawha County, company town.

Hunter, Elizabeth. 1997. "Ohio Puts Kids on College Track" [OACHE: Ohio Appalachian Center for Higher Education]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 30 (Jan.-Apr.): 30-35.

Israel, Charles A. 2004. *Before Scopes: Evangelicalism, Education, and Evolution in Tennessee*, 1870-1925. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 252 pp.

Israel, Kenneth Davidson. 1997. "Reuben Philips, Teacher & Musician" [traveling singing teacher; early 19th century]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 1, ed. R. S. Brunk, 165-175. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services Inc.

Issues in Higher Education in Appalachia. 1999. Special conference issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Spring): 1-74.

Jennings, Judi, moderator. 1999. "Collegiate Professional Programs" (Breakout Session 2). Special conference issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Spring): 65-66.

Jennings, Judi. 1999. "Collegiate Professional Programs and Community Service" [Appalachian colleges as models of leadership]. Special conference issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Spring): 23-27.

Jensen, Jane McEldowney. 2003. "The Influence of the Rural Community College Initiative on Increasing Civic Capacity in Distressed Rural Communities" [Appalachia]. *Community College Review* 31 (December): 24-39.

Johnson, Jerry, Aaron Thompson, and Kim Naugle. 2009. "Place-Conscious Capacity-Building: A Systemic Model for the Revitalisation and Renewal of Rural Schools and Communities through University-Based Regional Stewardship." *Rural Society* 19, no. 2 (August): 178-188.

Jones, Judy. 1999. "Appalachian Students Bridge Cultural Divide" [cross-cultural course offered jointly at Southeast Community College, Cumberland, Ky., and Sinte Gleska University, Mission, S.D., on the Lakota Sioux' Rosebud Reservation.]. *Black Issues in Higher Education*, 25 November, 24.

Jones, Nancy Bondurant. 2004. *Rooted on Blue Stone Hill: A History of James Madison University* [founded 1908, Harrisonburg, Va.]. Santa Fe, N.M.: Center for American Places. 287 pp.

Katz, Vincent. 2003. *Black Mountain College: Experiment in Art*. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press. 328 pp.

Kay, Trey. 2011. "Great Kanawha County Textbook War" [1974; censorship]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 3 (Fall): 34-41. Protest sign: "I have a 'Bible, I don't need those dirty books." This article is based on radio documentary, "The Great Textbook War," produced by Trey Kay and Deborah George, which won the George Foster Peabody and Edward R. Murrow awards. Recommended reading list: pro-textbook and anti-textbook.

Klein, Milton M. 1996. *Volunteer Moments: Vignettes of the History of the University of Tennessee*, 1794-1994. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 231 pp.

Klein, Milton M. 1997. "Academic Freedom at the University of Tennessee: The McCarthy Era" [Highlander Center involvement]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 69: 62-83.

Klinefelter, G. R. 1999. "Diary of Isolation" [diary entries of settlement school teacher Vera Stull; 1925-1934; Bell Co., Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Winter): 6-17.

Klotter, James C. 2006. "Promise, Pessimism, and Perseverance: An Overview of Higher Education History in Kentucky" [bibliography]. *Ohio Valley History* 6, no. 1 (Spring): 45-60.

Lalik, Rosary, and LaNette Dellinger. 2001. "Using Appalachian Literacies as a Basis for Literacy Learning at School: A Study of a Teacher-Authored Project" [rural elementary school]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 7 (Spring): 93-103.

Lorence, James J. 2006. "Teacher and Learner: Don West and the Democratic Classroom, 1942-1945" [Lula-Belton schools, Ga.]. *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 90, no. 3 (Fall): 418-441.

Loveland, George W. 2001. "A Greater Fairness: May Justus as Popular Educator" [1898-1989; Tenn. children's author]. *Journal of Research in Rural Education* 17 (Fall): 102-111. http://www.ferrum.edu/applit/articles/JustusArt.htm.

Loveland, George. 1999. "Educating for Social Justice: The Harry Lasker Library at Highlander" [Highlander Research and Education Center, New Market, Tenn.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 5 (Fall): 181-195.

Lucas, Marion B. 2000. "Berea College in the 1870s and 1880s: Student Life at a Racially Integrated Kentucky College." *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 98 (Winter): 1-22.

Lucas, Marion B. 2007. "'Dear Pa is in a Worry': The Life and Death of Burritt Hamilton Fee" [son of John Fee, President of Berea College; 1876]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 105, no. 4 (Autumn): 617-656.

Mack, Dwayne. 2005. "'Ain't Gonna Let Nobody Turn Me Around': Berea College's Participation in the Selma to Montgomery March" [Alabama,1965]. *Ohio Valley History* 5, no. 3 (Fall): 43-62.

Maggard, Sally, moderator. 1999. "Integration of Appalachian Studies into the Campus Mainstream" (Breakout Session 5). Special conference issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Spring): 72-74.

Maggard, Sally. 1999. "Integration of Appalachian Studies into the Campus Mainstream." Special conference issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Spring): 15-21.

Marietta, Sky. 2009. "Reading Achievement in Eastern Kentucky" [normal despite high poverty rate]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 2 (Spring): 56-60. Large family and social networks and teachers rooted in the community expose children to "a great deal of talk" and help build up a child's reservoir of words.

Martis, Kenneth C. 2005. "Representation of Appalachia in North American Geography College Textbooks" [analyzes regional courses in 210 institutions, and the four leading geography textbooks on North America]. *The Journal of Geography* 104, no. 2 (March-April): 85-92.

Mason, Carol. 2005. "An American Conflict: Representing the 1974 Kanawha County Textbook Controversy" [hillbilly stereotype factor]. *Appalachian Journal* 32, no. 3 (Spring): 352-378.

Mason, Carol. 2007. "Reproducing the Souls of White Folk." *Hypatia* 22, no. 2 (Spring): 98-121. Kanawha County, W. Va.; 1974 textbook controversy; white identity/racism.

Mason, Carol. 2009. Reading Appalachia from Left to Right: Conservatives and the 1974 Kanawha County Textbook Controversy [W. Va.]. Ithaca: Cornell University Press. 242 pp.

Mason, Carol. 2010. Review essay of "The Great Textbook War of 1974" [West Virginia Public Radio documentary, airdate October 22 and 29, and November 26, 2009]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 16, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 238-243.

Mason, Carol. 2011. "From Textbooks to Tea Parties: An Appalachian Antecedent of Anti-Obama Rebellion." *West Virginia History*, n.s. 5, no. 2 (Fall): 1-27. Drawing from the 1974 Kanawha County, W. Va., textbook controversy, and "cultural assumptions about Appalachia."

McDaniel, Lynda. 2000. "A Passion for Education" [profile of Wayne White, executive director, Ohio Appalachian Center for Higher Education]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 33 (September-December): 32-36.

McDaniel, Lynda. 2000. "Flying the Blue Ribbon Flag" [Ala.; Guntersville Elementary School; recognition for excellence]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 33 (January-April): 28-32.

McDaniel, Lynda. 2001. "A New School for Hancock County" [Tenn.; elementary school]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (May-August): 34-39.

McDaniel, Lynda. 2001. "Law and Community Service: The Appalachian School of Law" [Grundy, Va.; opened 1997]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 34 (January-April): 10-15.

McFadden, Anna Hicks, and Penny Smith. 2004. *The Social Construction of Educational Leadership: Southern Appalachian Ceilings*. New York: P. Lang. 296 pp.

McGhehee, C. Stuart, and Frank Wilson. 1998. *Bluefield State College: A Centennial History* (1895-1995) [W. Va.; founded as Bluefield Colored Institute]. Bluefield, W. Va.: Bluefield State College. 184 pp. (printed by Clinch Valley Printing Co., North Tazewell, Va.)

McSpirit, Stephanie, Sharon Hardesty, and Robert Welch. 2002. "Researching Issues and Building Civic Capacity After an Environmental Disaster" [EKU students' social survey project, Martin Co., Ky., after Oct. 2000 coal waste release]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Spring): 132-143.

Mead, Susan Virginia. 2009. "We Can Be Solutions: Frank X Walker as Catalyst for Student Inquiry and Action" [Affrilachian poet]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 25 (Spring): 18-25. Walker's influential poetry taught in Ferrum College sociology classes.

Means, Don. 2010. War in Kanawha County: School Textbook Protest in West Virginia in 1974 [censorship]. Bloomington, Ind.: iUniverse. 390 pp.

Meisel, Wayne, moderator. 1999. "Service and Learning" (Breakout Session 4). Special conference issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Spring): 69-71.

Meisel, Wayne. 1999. "Transformation Colliding: Students, Community, and Campus Connections" [Bonner Scholars Program; service learning]. Special conference issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Spring): 35-43.

Merrifield, Juliet, Mary Beth Bingman, David Hemphill, and Kathleen P. Bennett deMarrais. 1997. *Life at the Margins: Literacy, Language, and Technology in Everyday Life* [essays; Appalachia and Calif.]. New York: Teachers College Press. 228 pp.

Miller, Zell. 2007. *The Miracle of Brasstown Valley*. Macon, Ga.: Stroud & Hall. 180 pp. History of Young Harris College, Union County, Ga.

Miller, Zell. 2007. *The Miracle of Brasstown Valley* [Young Harris College history, Union County, Ga.]. Macon, Ga.: Stroud & Hall. Miller, b. 1932, served as Ga.'s governor 1991-1999, and as U.S. Senator 2000-2005.

Mohr, Clarence L., ed. 2011. *Education*. Vol. 17 of *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 375 pp. 136 signed essays and encyclopedic entries including: Desegregation | Religion and Education | Berea College | Black Mountain College | Highlander Folk School/Highlander Research and Education Center | Scopes Trial, plus many colleges and universities.

Montell, William Lynwood. 2011. *Tales from Kentucky One-Room School Teachers* [pioneer times to 1960s]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 293 pp. Contents: Initial teaching years | Teaching methods and philosophy | Bad boys and girls | Vignettes of one-room schoolhouse life | Disciplining students | Daily activities | Outhouses | Getting to and from school | Teacher and community relations | Students with special needs | Before and after consolidation | Home life of students.

Montgomery, Rebecca S. 2006. "Reforming the Mountaineers: Education and the Politics of Gender, Race, and Reproduction" [postbellum reformers; women's organizations]. Chap. 4 in *The Politics of Education in the New South: Women and Reform in Georgia, 1890-1930.* Pp. 141-184. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Moore, Alice, and Karl Priest. 2012. "America's First Modern Tea Party." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 2 (Summer): 60-65. A point by point response to "The Great Kanawha County Textbook War," by Trey Kay (37, no. 3: 34-41).

Moran, Jeffrey P. 2002. *The Scopes Trial: A Brief History with Documents* [1925 Dayton, Tenn.]. Bedford Series in History and Culture. New York: Palgrave. 230 pp.

Moyen, Eric Anthony. 2011. Frank L. McVey and the University of Kentucky: A Progressive President and the Modernization of a Southern University [1909-1940 presidency]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 382 pp.

Mullins, Mike. 2006. "It's Not a Job to Me': Mike Mullins and the Hindman Settlement School" [Knott Co., Ky.; director since 1977]. Interview by Dare Cook, Ashley Crabtree, Aaron Davis, Katie Gray, Michael Troy, with Patricia Beaver. *Appalachian Journal* 33, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 310-342.

Nelms, Willie. 1997. *Cora Wilson Stewart: Crusader against Illiteracy* [biography; 1911 founder of Moonlight Schools, Rowan Co., Ky.]. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 233 pp.

Norris, Joye, and Greg Walker-Wilson. 2004. "From Telling to Teaching in Appalachia: The Mountain Microenterprise Fund of North Carolina" [adult education]. In *Dialogue Education at Work: A Case Book*, ed. J. Vella, 123-133. San Francisco, Calif.: Jossey-Bass.

Offutt, Chris. 2002. "My First Lesson" [excerpt from *No Heroes* (2002)]. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, 31 May, B12.

Owens, Joshua. 2010. "The Virginia Frontier and a Movement Toward Public Education: A Case Study of the Transformation of Liberty Hall Academy to Washington College" [Augusta Co., Va.]. *Journal of Backcountry Studies*, vol. 5, no. 2 (Fall 2010): 9 pp. "Liberty Hall Academy was founded in 1776 as a frontier alternative for higher education. Originally an outpost for Presbyterian theology." http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ojs/index.php/jbc/issue/view/17. (See also, "A Case Study of the Founding Years of Liberty Hall Academy: The Struggle Between Enlightenment and Protestant Values on the Virginia Frontier," by Joshua Owens, vol. 4, no. 2, 2009).

Owens, William T. 2000. "Country Roads, Hollers, Coal Towns, and Much More" [Calif. teacher's guide to teaching about Appalachia]. *Social Studies* 91 (July/August): 178-186.

Owens, William T. 2001. "An Examination of Picture Story Books that Teach Children About Appalachia (Part 2)" [annotated bibliography of ten books]. *Southern Social Studies Journal* 27 (Fall): 3-19.

Owens, William T. 2001. "An Examination of Picture Story Books that Teach Children About Appalachia (Part 1)" [clarifies the term "Appalachia"]. *Southern Social Studies Journal* 27 (Spring): 26-48.

Painter, Jacqueline Burgin. [1987] 1996. *The Season of Dorland-Bell: History of an Appalachian Mission School* [Hot Springs, Va., and Asheville, N.C.]. Reprint. Boone, N.C.: Appalachian Consortium Press. Originally published: Asheville: Biltmore Press.

Parrott, Laurel, Linda Spatig, Patricia S. Kusimo, Carolyn C. Carter, and Marian Keyes. 2000. "Troubled Waters: Where Multiple Streams of Inequality Converge in the Math and Science Experiences of Nonprivileged Girls" [rural and urban adolescent Appalachian girls]. *Journal of Women and Minorities in Science and Engineering* 6 (no. 1): 45-71.

Pasternak, Donna L. 2003. "Learning Tolerant Practice in Appalachia" [multiculturalism; teaching of literature]. *Profession* (2003): 94-104.

Patrick, James. 2007. The Beginning of Collegiate Education West of the Appalachians, 1795-1833: The Achievement of Dr. Charles Coffin of Greeneville College and East Tennessee College. Lewiston, N.Y.: Edwin Mellen. 398 pp.

Patterson, Beverly B., section editor. 2006. "Cultural Institutions" [signed entries: museums, libraries, arts councils]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 1459-1515 (with introductory essay, 1459-1464). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Pezzoni, J. Daniel. 1997. "Our Native Stone: Architecture and Identity at Virginia Polytechnic Institute, 1872-1922." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 1: 37-52.

Priest, K. C. (Karl C.). 2010. Protester Voices: The 1974 Textbook Tea Party: A First Time First-Hand Protester Account of the Event That Launched the Fight for the Heart and Soul of America [Kanawha Co., W. Va.; censorship; conservative/creationist/textbook-opposing viewpoint]. Poca, W.Va: Praying Mantis. 353 pp.

Purcell, Aaron D. 2004. "'The Greatest Event Since the Civil War': Progressivism and the Summer School of the South at the University of Tennessee" [Knoxville, 1902-1918]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 76: 1-28.

Purcell-Gates, Victoria. 1995. *Other People's Words: The Cycle of Low Literacy*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press. 242 pp.

Rakoff, David. 2007. "A Basket Case in North Carolina" [John C. Campbell Folk School; "Quilting, blacksmithing, basket making at a folk school. Who knew crafting was cool?"]. *New York Times*, 20 May, 68(T), sec. 6, Travel Magazine. 1632 words.

Reynolds, George. 2006. "From the Hills to the Big City: An Interview with George Reynolds" [teacher for Foxfire for 19 years]. Interview by student Ana Merino. *Foxfire Magazine* 40 (Spring/Summer): 56-64.

Reynolds, Katherine Chaddock. 1998. *Visions and Vanities: John Andrew Rice of Black Mountain College* [N.C.]. Southern Biography Series. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 288 pp.

Roberts, William Pittman. 1998. *Georgia's Best Kept Secret: A History of North Georgia College* [Dahlonega; founded 1873]. Dahlonega, Ga.: North Georgia College Alumni Association. 324 pp.

Rogers, Kathee. 2002. "A Campus Called Home: The West Virginia Schools for the Deaf and the Blind" [Romney, W. Va.; since 1870]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Fall): 10-21.

Rosenfeld, Stuart A. 2001. "Rural Community Colleges: Creating Institutional Hybrids for the New Economy" [Md., N.C., Ky.]. 2001. *Rural America* 16 (Summer): 2-25.

Rumaker, Michael. 2003. *Black Mountain Days* [memoir; Black Mountain College, N.C.]. Asheville, N.C.: Black Mountain Press. 542 pp.

Russell, Jack. 1999. "Appalachia's Colleges and the Region's Future" [author is Director, Customer Relations and External Affairs, for the Appalachian Regional Commission]. Special conference issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Spring): 44-49.

Sampson, Alice V., and Roberta T. Herrin. 2007. "The Appalachian Teaching Project: An Opportunity for Academic-Community Activism." *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 352-383, including the following essays: "Substance, Evidence, and Credit Hours" by Robert Gipe; "Thoughts in the Presence of Fear" by Alan Banks; "Educating to Sustain In Appalachia" by Grace Toney Edwards; "Community Heritage as Asset Production by Anita Puckett; "View from the ASU Center for Appalachian Studies" by Patricia D. Beaver; "Building Sustainable Partnerships" by Tim Ezzell.

Sanders, Randy. 2006. "Mountain Miracles: The Crossnore School Story" [founded 1913; boarding school for mountain children, Avery Co., N.C.; traditional weaving revival]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 10-14.

Sawyer, David, moderator. 1999. "Students, Community, and Campus Connections" (Breakout Session 1) [Appalachian colleges and universities]. Special conference issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Spring): 61-64.

Sawyer, David. 1999. "Developing Student Leaders for Appalachia" [programs; principles]. Special conference issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Spring): 28-34.

Schmitzer, Jeanne Cannella. 1997. "Reaching Out to the Mountains: The Pack Horse Library of Eastern Kentucky" [1913-14; 1934-43]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 95 (Winter): 57-77.

Schramm, Robert W. 2001. *West Liberty State College* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. The College History Series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Schultz, Katey. 2006. "Inner Peace and Patience: On Guiding Adolescents" [Arthur Morgan School, Western N.C.; Montessori environment]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 50-54.

Scott, Shaunna L. 2002. "From Sociology of Appalachia to Sociology in Appalachia: Transforming SOC 534 into a Field Research Class" [Univ. of Ky.; Perry Co. student interviews and civic involvement]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Spring): 144-163.

Searles, P. David. 1995. "Dissention Among the Do-Gooders: Alice Lloyd and Her Critics in Appalachia." *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 93 (Spring): 180-206.

Searles, P. David. 1995. A College for Appalachia: Alice Lloyd on Caney Creek. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 216 pp.

Sears, Richard. 1996. A Utopian Experiment in Kentucky: Integration and Social Equality at Berea, 1866-1904. Berea College Contributions in American History, 170. Westport, Conn.: Greenwood Press. 228 pp.

Sexton, Donal J., and Myron J. Smith. 1994. *Glimpses of Tusculum: A Pictorial History of Tusculum College, 1794-1994* [Greeneville, Greene Co., Tenn.]. Marceline, Mo..: Walsworth Publishing. 176 pp.

Shaw, Thomas C., Allan J. DeYoung, and Eric W. Rademacher. 2004. "Educational Attainment in Appalachia: Growing with the Nation, But Challenges Remain" [tables; 2000 Census]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10, no. 3: 307-329.

Shepley, Nathan. 2009. "Places of Composition: Writing Contexts in Appalachian Ohio." *Composition Studies* 37, no. 2 (Fall): 75-90.

Shinn, Larry D. 1999. "Continuity and Change in Appalachia" [Berea College; mission]. Special conference issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Spring): 7-11.

Sizemore, Judy. 1999. Appalachian Literature, Appalachian Culture: Literature-Based, Cross-Curricular Activities for the Primary and Intermediate Classrooms. Edited by Ginny Eager. Berea, Ky.: Forward in the Fifth in association with Harmony House. 204 pp.

Slone, Ken. 2005. *Mountain Teacher* [reflections on a 30-year career teaching rural students; Big Sandy Technical and Community College, Prestonsburg, Ky.]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 253 pp.

Smardon, Regina. 2008. "Broken Brains and Broken Homes: The Meaning of Special Education in an Appalachian Community." *Anthropology & Education Quarterly* 39 (June): 161-180. Third graders; disability-labeling shapes performance and failure.

Smith Cadle, Irma. 2011. A School Named Lewis: Grassy Meadows, West Virginia [Greenbrier Co.]. McClain Printing. 60 pp. History of one-room school the author attended 1954-1959.

Smith Cadle, Irma. 2011. A School Named Lewis: Grassy Meadows, West Virginia. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 60 pp. One-room school house memories, Greenbrier County.

Smith, D. Clayton. 2006. "Appalachian and Rural Student Performance Differences on Kentucky's Educational Assessment: 8th Grade Results." *Southern Rural Sociology* 21, no.2: 47-64.

Smith, Jennifer Lund. 2009. "Lucy Craft Laney (1855-1933) and Martha Berry (1866-1942): Lighting Fires of Knowledge" [Berry College, Rome, Ga.]. In *Georgia Women: Their Lives and Times*, ed. A. Chirhart and B. Wood, 318-340. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Smith, Joe. 2012. "Turning the Pages." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 56-57. Book club for adults with disabilities, such as Down syndrome; East Tennessee State University.

Allen, Velma Bolyard. 2007. *Home among the Hills* [teacher's memoir, 1941-1989; Preston Co., W. Va.]. Edited by Anni L. Corley. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 154 pp.

Smith, Keith. 1999-2000. "Implementing Systemic Change for Math and Science in Rural Appalachia: The Appalachian Rural Systemic Initiative" [NSF project; 66 counties]. *Rural Educator* 21 (Winter): 3-8.

Smith, Tony, with Keith Gilbertson. 1999. "These Old Hills" [adult literacy students; biographical essays]. *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Summer): 20-29.

Snider, Louie Dawson. 2006. "Three Years at Three Mile School: Memories of a Calhoun County Educator" [1934-37; one-room school; 12 children]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 3 (Fall): 36-40.

Stack, Sam F. 2004. *Elsie Ripley Clapp, 1879-1965: Her Life and the Community School* [progessive education: Vassar; Ballard, Ky., 1929-1934; Arthurdale, W. Va., 1934-1936]. History of Schools and Schooling, vol. 42. New York: Peter Lang. 309 pp.

Stack, Sam F., Jr. 2008. "Implementing *Brown v. Board of Education* in West Virginia: The *Southern School News* Reports" [1954-1964]. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 2, no. 1 (Spring): 59-81.

Stallman, Judith I., and Thomas G. Johnson. 1996. "Community Factors in Secondary Educational Achievement in Appalachia. [Va. focus]. *Youth & Society* 27 (June): 469-484.

Stam, Doris Perry. 2010. *Mountain Educators: The Dougherty Family and the First Fifty Years of Appalachian* [Appalachian State University]. Boone, N.C.: Watauga Press. 216 pp. Established 1899, Boone, N.C., as Watauga Academy; 300 photographs.

Stanger, Nora. 2003. *Diamonds in the Dew: An Appalachian Experience* [Lawrence Co., Ohio; poverty; educational achievement]. Bloomington, Ind.: 1stBooks. 122 pp.

Stanley, Tal. 2002. "Appalachian Steward Ed Bingham" [d. 1999; Emory & Henry professor and pioneer in Appalachian Studies]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Winter): 11-14.

Stoddart, Jess. 2002. Challenge and Change in Appalachia: The Story of Hindman Settlement School [Knott Co., Ky.]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 352 pp.

Stone, May, and Katherine Pettit. 1997. *The Quare Women's Journals: May Stone & Katherine Pettit's Summers in the Kentucky Mountains and the Founding of the Hindman Settlement School*. Edited by Jess Stoddart. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 350 pp.

Talen, Emily. 2001. "School, Community, and Spatial Equity: An Empirical Investigation of Access to Elementary Schools in West Virginia" [Kanawha, Jackson, and Berkeley Cos.; "results indicate that access is negatively associated with achievement"]. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers* 91 (September): 465-486.

Teets, Sharon. 2006. "Education in Appalachia" [with suggested readings]. In *A Handbook to Appalachia: An Introduction to the Region*, ed. G. Edwards, J. Asbury, and R. Cox, 119-142. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Thompson, Ruth Anne. 1998. "'A Taste of Student Power': Protest at the University of Tennessee, 1964-1970." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 57 (Spring/Summer): 80-97.

Tice, Carolyn J. 2000. "Enhancing Family Literacy through Collaboration: Program Considerations" [Ohio; two-year evaluation]. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy* 44 (October): 138-145.

Towers, George. 2005. "West Virginia's Lost Youth: Appalachian Stereotypes and Residential Preferences" [stereotypes; outmigration]. *The Journal of Geography* 104, no. 2 (March-April): 74-84.

Valentine, Valerie. 2008. "Authenticity and Accuracy in Picture Storybooks Set in Appalachia." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 14, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 49-61. Fifty-two books examined using 26 descriptors covering ten values described by Loyal Jones. Tables.

Vejnar, Robert J. 2008. "From a Bishop and a Patriot to a Bishop and a Saint: Rival Understandings of the Naming of Emory and Henry College." *The Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 12: 35-61.

Waitt, Alden. 2006. "A Good Story Takes Awhile': Appalachian Literature in the High School Classroom" [Appalachian characters and themes for Appalachian youth; suggests works in three groupings: conformity and rebellion, class conflict, and multiculturalism]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 12, no. 1 (Spring): 79-101.

Wall, Dee Jay, and Fred Huff. 1999. "Teacher and Country Music Buff" [Stephens Co., Ga.; interview; retired educator Huff reminisces]. *Foxfire Magazine* 33 (Fall/Winter): 135-148.

Wallenstein, Peter. 1997. Virginia Tech, Land-Grant University, 1872-1997. Blacksburg, Va.: Pocahontas Press. 318 pp.

Waters, Michael, Craig Howley, and James Schultz. 2008. "An Initial Research Agenda for Rural Mathematics Education." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 14, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 125-144. Tables, figures, recommendations.

Wheeler, Frank T. 2000. *Tusculum College, Tennessee* [vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp. Founded in 1794 as Greenville College.

Wheeler, Kenneth H. 2008. "Higher Education in the Antebellum Ohio Valley: Slavery, Sectionalism, and the Erosion of Regional Identity." *Ohio Valley History* 8, no. 1 (Spring): 1-22. Closures of Augusta College, Hanover College, Western Baptist Theological Institute, and New Albany Theological Seminary; 1830s-1850s.

Williams, Cratis D. 1995. *I Become a Teacher: A Memoir of One-Room School Life in Eastern Kentucky*. Ashland: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 96 pp.

Wills, Brian Steel. 2004. *No Ordinary College: A History of the University of Virginia's College at Wise* [from 1953 Clinch Valley College beginnings]. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 290 pp.

Wills, Ridley, II.. 2007. "Highlander Folk School, Grundy County's 'Public Nuisance'" [social justice organizer training; integrated; founded at Monteagle, Tenn. by Myles Horton]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 66, no. 4 (Winter): 350-369.

Wilson, Eleanor Lambert. 2004. *My Journey to Appalachia: A Year at the Folk School* [1941; John C. Campbell Folk School, Brasstown, N.C.]. Fairview, N.C.: Bright Mountain Books. 182 pp.

Wilson, Kathleen Curtis. 2006. *Uplifting the South: Mary Mildred Sullivan's Legacy for Appalachia* [1836-1933; philanthropist; education scholarships]. Johnson City, Tenn: Overmountain Press, 2006.

Wilson, Shannon H. 1997. "Lincoln's Sons and Daughters: Berea College, Lincoln Memorial University, and the Myth of Unionist Appalachia, 1866-1910." In *The Civil War in Appalachia: Collected Essays*, ed. K. Noe and S. Wilson, 242-264. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Wilson, Shannon H. 2006. *Berea College: An Illustrated History* [Berea, Ky.; abolitionist-founded, 1855]. Lexington, Ky.: University Press of Kentucky. 246 pp.

Wilson, Steffen, and Jonathan Gore. 2009. "Appalachian Origin Moderates the Association between School Connectedness and GPA: Two Exploratory Studies" [survey of 187 eastern Ky. university undergrads]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 15, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 70-86. But no association found among non-Appalachian students.

Winter, Greg. 2004. "At a Frontier of School Reform, Getting Millions, Seeking More" [Breathitt Co., Ky.]. *New York Times*, 6 December, 1(A).

Winters, R. Oakley. 1999. "Technology and the Future of Appalachian Education" [telecommunications; education and training as exportable products]. Special conference issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Spring): 12-14.

Woodside, Jane Harris. 2003. "Transforming Lives: The Access Program" [Ohio Appalachian Center for Higher Education model for increasing college-going rate]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 20 (Spring): 7-11.

Young, Carl A. 2004. "Conversion as Curriculum: Learning to Teach English in Rural America" [poverty; challenges]. *English Journal* 93 (July): 82-88.

ENVIRONMENT, GEOLOGY, NATURAL HISTORY, RIVERS, PARKS

Conservation, pollution, mountains, forests, streams, wild flowers, wildlife, state and national parks, guidebooks

Abernathy, Greg, Deborah White, Ellis L. Laudermilk, and Marc Evans, ed. 2010. *Kentucky's Natural Heritage: An Illustrated Guide to Biodiversity*. Foreword by Wendell Berry. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 200 pp. Guidebook, with 250 color photos, maps and charts. Section headings: Introduction -- Physical overview -- Natural history -- Species and natural communities -- Threats -- Conservation.

Adams, Kevin, and Martha Casstevens. 1996. Wildflowers of the Southern Appalachians: How to Photograph and Identify Them. Winston-Salem: John F. Blair. 257 pp.

Adkins, Leonard M. 1998. *The Appalachian Trail: A Visitor's Guide* [naturalist guidebook]. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 221 pp.

Adkins, Leonard M.; photographs by Joe and Monica Cook. 1999. *Wildflowers of the Appalachian Trail* [guidebook]. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 128 pp.

Alderman, J. Anthony. 1997. *Wildflowers of the Blue Ridge Parkway* [field guide]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 222 pp.

Alderman, Leanna, and Eleanor Mahoney. *Above the Smoke: A Family Album of Pocahontas County Fire Towers* [W. Va.; Allegheny Mountains; 1920s-1970s; oral histories; companion sound disc available]. Dunmore, W. Va.: Pocahontas Communications Cooperative. 128 pp.

Allen, Thomas J. 1997. *The Butterflies of West Virginia and Their Caterpillars*. Pitt Series in Nature and Natural History, Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 350 pp.

Alligood, Leon. 1996. "State of the Forest: Doing Right by the Trees." *Southern Exposure* 24 (Summer): 34-39.

Aloian, Molly. 2011. *The Appalachians* [juvenile reader]. Mountains around the World series, no. 5. New York: Crabtree. 48 pp. Well-illustrated, informational, and engaging, this introductory text describes "the geography, climate, and ecology of the Appalachians and discusses their role in history and culture."

Amjad, Hassan, and Quartel-Ayne Amjad. 1997. "A Preliminary Study of Genus Trillium, Its Systematics, Morphological Variations and Flowering Cycles at the New River Gorge National River" [W. Va.]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 11-12, 1997, Glade Springs Resort, Daniels, West Virginia*, 90-99. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Anderson, Larry. 2002. *Benton MacKaye: Conservationist, Planner, and Creator of the Appalachian Trail*. Creating the North American Landscape. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 452 pp.

Anderson, Larry. 2002. *Benton MacKaye: Conservationist, Planner, and Creator of the Appalachian Trail*. Creating the North American Landscape. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 452 pp.

Anderson, Ora E. (1911-2006). 2007. *Out of the Woods: A Bird Watcher's Year* [Ohio; seasonal observations, poems, anecdotes]. Edited by Deborah Griffith, with illustrations by Julie Zickefoose. Athens: Ohio University Press. 176 pp.

Appalachia and the Environment. 1995. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 12 (Spring): 1-40.

Armstrong, W. F. 2006. *When Whip-Poor-Wills Call*. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 182 pp. Short essays and sketches drawn from this conservation officer's 40 years working in W. Va. wilderness areas.

Ausband, Stephen C. 2002. *Byrd's Line: A Natural History* [1728 survey of Va.-N.C. boundary]. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 187 pp.

Ayers, Harvard, Jenny Hager, and Charles E. Little, ed.; photographs by Jenny Hager. 1998. *An Appalachian Tragedy: Air Pollution and Tree Death in the Eastern Forests of North America* [essays; photographs]. San Francisco: Sierra Club Books. 216 pp.

Badger, Robert L. 1999. *Geology along Skyline Drive: Shenandoah National Park, Virginia.* Helena, Mont.: Falcon Publishing. 100 pp.

Bailey, Robert F. 2006. *Maryland's Forests and Parks: A Century of Progress* [vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1999. "Clean Water: North Carolina's Straight-Pipe Elimination Project" [Madison Co., wastewater problem; state assistance]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (September-December): 22-27.

Bales, Stephen Lyn. 2007. *Natural Histories: Stories from the Tennessee Valley*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 261 pp. Contents: WINTER. Carolina chickadee; River cane; Beaver; American toad -- SPRING. Freshwater mussels; Whip-poor-will; Periodical cicadas; Gray bat -- SUMMER. Passionflower; Darters; Pawpaw; Opossum -- FALL. Wild turkey; Osage orange; Eastern sycamore; Bald eagle.

Banks, Alan, Alice Jones, and Anne Blakeney. 2005. "Headwaters: A Student/Faculty Participatory Research Project in an Eastern Kentucky Community" [Letcher Co., Ky.; land use and water quality; tables, figures]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 11, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 104-132.

Bansemer, Roger. 1993. *Mountains in the Mist: Impressions of the Great Smokies* [200 stunning watercolors of mountain life]. Foreword by James A. Michener. Dallas, Tex.: Taylor Publishing. 182 pp.

Barnes, Thomas G. 2002. *Kentucky's Last Great Places* [landscape, nature photography]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 204 pp.

Barnes, Thomas G. 2011. *How to Find and Photograph Kentucky Wildflowers*. Morley, Mo.: Acclaim Press. 256 pp. Guidebook; natural locations in eastern, central, and western Ky.

Barnes, Thomas G., and S. Wilson Francis. 2004. *Wildflowers and Ferns of Kentucky* [guidebook; 650 species; 500 color photos]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 344 pp.

Barnes, Thomas G., Deborah L. White, and Marc Evans. 2008. *Rare Wildflowers of Kentucky* [220 color photos]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 190 pp.

Barrick, Michael. 2001. "Keeping West Virginia GREEN" [W. Va. parks as stewards of natural resources]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 18 (Winter): 34-38.

Bartlett, Richard A. 1995. *Troubled Waters: Champion International and the Pigeon River Controversy*. Outdoor Tennessee Series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 376 pp.

Bartram, William, and Dorinda G. Dallmeyer, ed. 2010. *Bartram's Living Legacy: The* Travels and the Nature of the South. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 567 pp. "In this unique anthology, Travels is joined with essays acknowledging the debt Southern nature writers owe the man called the 'South's Thoreau'." [Travels through North & South Carolina, Georgia, east & west Florida, the Cherokee country, the extensive territories of the Muscogulges, or Creek Confederacy, and the country of the Chactaws, by William Bartram (1739-1823)]. Seventeen essays, including: My Bartram / Janisse Ray -- Bartram's journey to the Cherokee / Christopher Camuto -- A moral imperative: who will speak for- / Thomas Rain Crowe.

Bartram, William. 2010. *William Bartram, the Search for Nature's Design: Selected Art, Letters, and Unpublished Writings* [1739-1823]. Edited by Thomas Hallock and Nancy E. Hoffmann. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 608 pp.

Bauer, Jennifer A. 2011. *Roan Mountain: History of an Appalachian Treasure* [Tenn.-N.C. border]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 190 pp. Contents: Ecology | Geography | Flora and fauna | Studying the natural world | Making a living | Logging | The iron mines | The narrow gauge railroad | People and places | Early days | General John T. Wilder | Cloudland | John Muir | Protecting a resource | The Southern Appalachian National Park Commission | The Civilian Conservation Corps | Building the roads | Roan Mountain State Park | The Southern Appalachian Highlands Conservancy | Friends of Roan Mountain | An historical gathering.

Bauman, Russell, and Chris Lucash. 1998. "Recovery of the Red Wolf" [interview with biologist for Southern Appalachian Reintroduction Project]. *Foxfire Magazine* 32 (Spring/Summer): 60-70.

Beanblossom, Robert. 2009. "The Big Burn of '52" [Mingo Co. forest fires; 600,000 acres]. Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life 35, no. 3 (Fall): 58-65.

Beane, Jeffrey C. [1980] 2010. *Amphibians & Reptiles of the Carolinas and Virginia*. 2nd ed. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 274 pp. Identification manual with color photos, descriptions, and range maps.

Behrend, Linda. 2001. "East Tennessee Journeys: The Photographs of Fred W. Behrend" [1896-1976; six photos]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 18 (Spring): 9-12.

Bentley, Stanley L. 2000. *Native Orchids of the Southern Appalachian Mountains* [199 photos; 52 species; 57 maps]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 235 pp.

Berry, Wendell. 1995. *Another Turn of the Crank: Essays*. Washington, D.C.: Counterpoint. 109 pp.

Berry, Wendell. 2000. *Life is a Miracle: An Essay Against Modern Superstition*. Washington, D.C.: Counterpoint. 124 pp.

Berry, Wendell. 2002. *The Art of the Commonplace: The Agrarian Essays of Wendell Berry* [21 essays; 1977-99]. Edited by Norman Wirzba. Washington, D.C.: Counterpoint. 330 pp.

Berry, Wendell. 2012. "It All Turns on Affection." Wendell E. Berry Lecture [2012 NEH Jefferson Lecture, April 23, Kennedy Center for the Performing Arts]. National Endowment for the Humanities. 8,050 words. Berry nominates "economy" [household and neighborly] "for an equal standing among the arts and humanities," in contrast to "boomer...pillage and run" behavior of both industries and individuals. Includes sidebar articles: Biography / by David Skinner -- Appreciation / by Mark Bittman -- Interview / by Jim Leach. http://www.neh.gov/about/awards/jefferson-lecture/wendell-e-berry-lecture. Video [77:30 min.; captions]: http://events.tvworldwide.com/Events/NEH2012JeffersonLecture.aspx.

Berry, Wendell. 2012. "Nature as an Ally: An Interview with Wendell Berry." By Sarah Leonard. Dissent 59, no. 2 (Spring): 42-47. http://www.dissentmagazine.org/article/nature-as-an-ally-an-interview-with-wendell-berry.

Berry, Wendell. 2012. *It All Turns on Affection: The Jefferson Lecture & Other Essays*. Berkeley, Calif.: Counterpoint. 125 pp. Contents: It all turns on affection | Landsman: Jim Leach in conversation with Wendell Berry and Tanya Berry | Starting from loss | The future of agriculture | A man of courage constant to the end | About civil disobedience | Maury Telleen, 1928-2011.

Black, Brian. 1997. "Recasting the Unalterable Order of Nature: Photography and the First Oil Boom [1860s northeastern Pa., landscape]. *Pennsylvania History* 64 (Spring): 275-299.

Blackmarr, Amy. 2003. *Above the Fall Line: The Trail from White Pine Cabin* [Dahlonega Region, Ga.; biography; natural history]. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 140 p.

Blagden, Tom, and Thomas Wyche. 1994. *South Carolina's Mountain Wilderness: The Blue Ridge Escarpment* [full-page color photographs]. Englewood, Colo.: Westcliffe Publishers. 128 pp.

Blevins, David, and Michael P. Schafale. 2011. *Wild North Carolina: Discovering the Wonders of our State's Natural Communities*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 176 pp. Twenty eight "communities" spotlighted, statewide; essays; full-page color photos.

Blouin, Nicole, Steve Bordonaro, and Marilou Wier Bordonaro. 2003. *Waterfalls of the Blue Ridge: A Hiking Guide to the Cascades of the Blue Ridge Mountains* [approx. 100 falls]. 3rd ed. Birmingham, Ala.: Menasha Ridge Press. 195 pp.

Bolgiano, Chris, and Glenn Novak, ed. 2007. *Mighty Giants: An American Chestnut Anthology* [original and classic articles by 27 authors including Jimmy Carter, Barbara Kingsolver, and John Egerton; numerous illustrations, photos, sidebars, stories]. Bennington, Vt: American Chestnut Foundation. 285 pp.

Bolgiano, Chris, and Jerry Roberts, ed. 2006. *The Eastern Cougar: Historic Accounts, Scientific Investigations, and New Evidence* [36 essays and articles, grouped: Identity, Reappearance, and Outlook; bibliography]. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 246 pp.

Bolgiano, Chris. 1998. "Communities in Crisis" [habitat loss; salamanders]. In *An Appalachian Tragedy: Air Pollution and Tree Death in the Eastern Forests of North America*, ed. H. Ayers, J. Hager, and C. E. Little, 116-125. San Francisco: Sierra Club Books.

Bolgiano, Chris. 1998. *The Appalachian Forest: A Search for Roots and Renewal* [natural history; cultural impact]. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 280 pp.

Bolgiano, Chris. 2001. "Confirming Eastern Cougar Presence" [sidebar, Eastern Cougar Foundation]. *Wild Earth* 11 (Spring): 54-56.

Bolgiano, Chris. 2002. Living in the Appalachian Forest: True Tales of Sustainable Forestry. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 200 pp.

Bolgiano, Chris. 2010. "Fracking: A New 'F' Word Enters the Language." *Southern Maryland Online*, 6 July. 784 words. Commentary and succinct overview of the environmental hazards of Marcellus Shale gas drilling. http://somd.com/news/headlines/2010/12115.shtml.

Bollinger, Gil. 1998. "The Giles County Earthquake of 1897 -- Virginia's Largest Temblor." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 2: 65-75. Account of continuing occurrence of earthquakes, May 3 to June 6, 1897, the largest of which measured magnitude 5.8, epicenter Pearisburg.

Bonta, Marcia. 1994. *Appalachian Autumn*. Pitt Series in Nature and Natural History. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 232 pp.

Bonta, Marcia. 1999. *Appalachian Summer* [central Pa.; nature diary essays]. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 236 pp.

Bonta, Marcia. 2005. *Appalachian Winter* [seasonal observations]. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press. 225 pp.

Borden, James D., and Roger W. Brucker. 2000. *Beyond Mammoth Cave: A Tale of Obesession in the World's Longest Cave* [Ky.]. Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press. 353 pp.

Brainard, Curtis. 2010. "Whither the Watershed: A Field Guide to Environmental Journalism in the Ohio River Valley." *Columbia Journalism Review—The Observatory*, 3 March. 3483 words. http://www.cjr.org/the_observatory/whither_the_watershed.php.

Branch, Michael, and Daniel Philippon. 1998. "A Place in the South" [the meaning of "place" to nature writers of Va.'s Blue Ridge Mountains and Shenandoah Valley]. *Appalachian Heritage* 26 (Winter): 18-25.

Branch, Michael P., and Daniel J. Philippon, ed. 1998. *The Height of Our Mountains: Nature Writing from Virginia's Blue Ridge Mountains and Shenandoah Valley* [anthology of 70 selections;1612-1996]. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 448 pp.

Braunschweig, Suzanne H., Erik T. Nilsen, and Thomas F. Wieboldt. 2000. "The Mid-Appalachian Shale Barrens" [Pa., W. Va., Va.]. In *Savannas, Barrens, and Rock Outcrop Plant Communities of North America*, ed. R. Anderson, 83-98. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Brewer, Carson. [1981] 2004. *A Wonderment of Mountains: The Great Smokies* [collection of conservation columns on mountain places, plants, people; author d. 2003]. Reprint, with a new foreword by Sam Venable. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 198 pp. Originally published: Knoxville: Tenpenny Pub.

Bridge, Gavin, and Phil McManus. 1999. "Sticks and Stones: Environmental Narratives and Discursive Regulation in the Forestry and Mining Sectors." *Antipode* 32 (January): 10-47.

Brill, David, and Bill Campbell. 2010. *Cumberland Odyssey: A Journey in Pictures and Words Along Tennessee's Cumberland Trail and Plateau*. Essays by David Brill, photography by Bill Campbell. Foreword by Howard H. Baker, Jr. Johnson City, Tenn.: Mountain Trail. 144 pp. Streams, waterfalls, birds, and fauna; Cumberland Trail State Park; "the world's largest hardwood-forested plateau."

Broome, Harvey. [1975] 2001. *Out Under the Sky of the Great Smokies: A Personal Journal* [1902-1968]. Illustrated by Larry Hirst. Reprint, with a new forword by Michael Frome. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 285 pp. Originally published: Knoxville: Greenbrier Press.

Brown, Fred. 2007. "A 'River of Earth': How It Helped Shape the People of Appalachia" [East Tenn. Valley and Ridge]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 14-17.

Brown, Margaret Lynn. 1995. "Re-creation of the Wilderness" [Great Smoky Mountains]. Special Section: Eminent Domain. *Southern Exposure* 23 (Summer): 25-29.

Brown, Margaret Lynn. 2000. *The Wild East: A Biography of the Great Smoky Mountains*. New Perspectives on the History of the South series. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 457 pp.

Brown, Paul Martin. 2004. Wild Orchids of the Southeastern United States, North of Peninsular Florida [field guide: ten states]. Gainesville, Fla.: University Press of Florida. 394 pp.

Brubaker, John H. 2002. *Down the Susquehanna to the Chesapeake* [history; N.Y., Pa., Md.]. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 277 pp.

Buckelew, Albert R., Jr., and George A. Hall. 1994. *The West Virginia Breeding Bird Atlas*. Pitt Series in Nature and Natural History. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 272 pp.

Buckley, Geoffrey L. 1998. "The Environmental Transformation of an Appalachian Valley, 1850-1906" [western Md.; mineral extraction]. *Geographical Review* 88 (April): 175-198.

Bugden, Joni L., Christopher D. Storie, and Carey L. Burda. 2011. "Mapping Existing and Potential River Cane (Arundinaria gigantea) Habitat in Western North Carolina" [technical study]. *Southeastern Geographer* 51, no. 1 (Spring): 150-164. River cane continues to "contribute to development of a traditional craft economy...of the Eastern Band of Cherokee Indian (EBCI) way of life," and is valuable to flora and fauna habitat.

Buhlmann, Kurt, Tracey Tuberville, and J. Whitfield Gibbons. 2008. *Turtles of the Southeast*. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 252 pp. Guidebook, 200 color photographs, 45 species.

Burkholder, Robert E. 2003. "'To See Things in Their Wholeness': Consilience, Natural History, and Teaching Literature Outdoors" [Appalachian Trail; Penn State Univ. senior seminar]. In *Teaching in the Field: Working with Students in the Outdoor Classroom*, ed. H. Crimmel, 17-32. Salt Lake City, Utah: University of Utah Press.

Byerly, Don W., and John J. Renton, section editors. 2006. "Geology" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 3-37 (with introductory essay, 3-7). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Cahalan, James M. 1997. "Part II — 'My People': Edward Abbey's Appalachian Roots in Indiana County, Pennsylvania." *Pittsburgh History* 79 (Winter 1996/1997): 160-178.

Cahalan, James M. 2001. Edward Abbey: A Life. Tucson: University of Arizona Press. 359 pp.

Campbell, Carlos C. [1967] 2005. *Memories of Old Smoky: Early Experiences in the Great Smoky Mountains* [1920s-1960s; author of *Birth of a National Park in the Great Smoky Mountains* (1960)]. Edited by Rebecca Campbell Arrants. Preface by George W. Fry, Park Superintendent (1963-69). Outdoor Tennessee Series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 216 pp. Originally self-published.

Campbell, Tyler A., et al. 2004. "Topographic Home Ranges of White-tailed Deer in the Central Appalachians." *Southeastern Naturalist* 3, no. 4: 645-652.

Camuto, Christopher. [1997] 2000. *Another Country: Journey Toward the Cherokee Mountains* [reintroduction of red wolf to Great Smoky Mountains National Park]. Reprint. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 351 pp. Originally published: New York: Henry Holt.

Camuto, Christopher. 2003. *Hunting From Home: A Year Afield in the Blue Ridge Mountains* [Va.]. New York: W.W. Norton. 320 pp.

Casner, Nicholas. 1999. "Angler Activist: Kenneth Reid, the Izaak Walton League, and the Crusade for Federal Water Pollution Control [1930s; Pa., W. Va.]. *Pennsylvania History* 66 (Autumn): 535-553.

Castle, Caron. 2010. "Reaching Up." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 41-43. Personal impressions, hiking at Bays Mountain Park, Kingsport, Tenn.

Casto, James E. 2009. *The Great Ohio River Flood of 1937* [photo retrospective]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Contents: Angry waters | The 1936 flood | Pennsylvania 1937 | West Virginia 1937 | Ohio 1937 | Kentucky 1937 | Indiana 1937 | Illinois | 1937 | Taming the river.

Cervin, Michael. 2009. "Tasting the Waters in Berkeley Springs." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 4 (Winter): 46-47. International Water Tasting competition.

Che, Deborah. 2000. "Going to the Mountains: Flatlander, Ohio-sian, and Up-here Deer: Hunters in the Allegheny National Forest Region." In *A Geographic Perspective of Pittsburgh and the Alleghenies: From Precambrian to Post-Industrial*, ed. K. Patrick and J. Scarpaci, 148-158. Washington, D.C.: Association of American Geographers.

Chew, V. Collins. 1997. *Underfoot: A Geologic Guide to the Appalachian Trail* [guidebook]. 2nd ed. Harpers Ferry, W. Va.: Appalachian Trail Conference.

Cincotta, Daniel A., Douglas B. Chambers, and Terence Messinger. 2000. "Recent Changes in the Distribution of Fish Species in the New River Basin in West Virginia and Virginia" [maps; table]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 15-16, 1999, Boone, North Carolina*, 98-106. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Clancy, Patrick. 1997. "Conserving the Youth: The Civilian Conservation Corps Experience in the Shenandoah National Park" [1933-1939]. *Virginia Magazine of History and Biography 105 (Autumn): 439-470.*

Clark, Jim. 1998. *West Virginia: The Allegheny Highlands* [photographs]. Englewood, Colo.: Westcliffe Publishers. 119 pp.

Clark, Jim. 2003. *Mountain Memories: An Appalachian Sense of Place* [nature photography]. Foreword by Kathy Mattea. Morgantown, W. Va.: Vandalia Press. 217 pp.

Clark, Ross C., and Timothy J. Weckman. 2008. *Annotated Catalog and Atlas of Kentucky Woody Plants*. Occasional Papers in Eastern Botany, no. 3. Supplement to *Castanea: The Journal of the Southern Appalachian Botanical Society*, September 2008. 114 pp. Technical descriptions, habitat, county outline maps.

Clark, Sandra H. B. 2001. *Birth of the Mountains: The Geologic Story of the Southern Appalachian Mountains*. Reston, Va.: U.S. Department of the Interior, U.S. Geological Survey. 23 pp. Online at http://pubs.usgs.gov/gip/birth/.

Clark, Sandra H. B. 2001. *The Southern Appalachians: A Changing World*. Reston, Va.: U.S. Dept. of the Interior, Geological Survey. Videocassette or CD (16 min.), and Teachers' Guide (16 pp.). Both online at http://pubs.usgs.gov/gip/so_app/.

Clark, Thomas D. [1984] 2004. *The Greening of the South: The Recovery of Land and Forest* [lumbering, deforestation]. Reprint. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 168 pp.

Clines, Francis X. 2000. "Cleanup Fights Hillbilly Stereotype." *New York Times*, 21 September, 18(A). 1,191 words. "40 counties of eastern Kentucky, intent on scrubbing forth a new national image, have banded together....an alliance of federal, state and volunteer workers" to clean up 'holler tipping' garbage dumps and 'straight pipes' that dump raw sewage into creeks. http://www.nytimes.com/2000/09/21/us/cleanup-fights-hillbilly-stereotype.html?scp=1&sq=cleanup%20fights%20hillbilly%20stereotype&st=cse.

Clines, Francis X. 2002. "100-Year Flood, for the Second Straight Year" [W. Va.]. *New York Times*, 9 May, 26(A).

Clines, Francis X. 2002. "Flooding in Appalachia Stirs Outrage Over a Mining Method." *New York Times*, 12 August, 8(A).

Cogbill, Charles V., Peter S. White, and Susan K. Wiser. 1997. "Predicting Treeline Elevation in the Southern Appalachians." *Castanea* 62 (September): 137-146.

Coggins, Allen R. 1999. *Place Names of the Smokies*. Gatlinburg, Tenn.: Great Smoky Mountains Natural History Association. 167 pp.

Collins, Timothy M., Edward K. Muller, and Joel A. Tarr. 2008. "Pittsburgh's Three Rivers: From Industrial Infrastructure to Environmental Asset." Chap. 4 in *Rivers in History: Perspectives on Waterways in Europe and North America*, ed. C. Mauch, and T. Zeller, 41-62. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press.

Colten, Craig E. 2008. "Southern Pollution Permissiveness" [maps; rivers]. *Southeastern Geographer* 48, no. 1 (May): 75-96.

Comp, T. Allan. 1997. "The Art Thing: New Partners in Old Coalfields" [community arts involvement addressing acid mine drainage in Southwestern Pa.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Winter): 25-28.

Constantz, George. 1994. *Hollows, Peepers, and Highlanders: An Appalachian Mountain Ecology*. Missoula, MT: Mountain Press. 264 pp.

Constantz, George. [1994] 2004. *Hollows, Peepers, and Highlanders: An Appalachian Mountain Ecology*. 2nd ed. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 359 pp. Originally published: Missoula, Mont.: Mountain Press.

Constantz, George, section editor. 2006. "Ecology" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 39-99 (with introductory essay, 39-44). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Core, Earl Lemley. 2005. *Spring Wild Flowers of West Virginia* [guidebook; 250 species]. 3rd ed. Line drawings by William A. Lunk. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 104 pp. Originally published 1939 by the state's Cooperative Extension.

Cotham, Steve. 2006. *The Great Smoky Mountains National Park* [history in photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Cox, John J., Nathan W. Seward, Jeffrey L. Larkin, and David S. Maehr. 2003. "Common Raven Nests in Eastern Kentucky" [investigates abundance]. *Southeastern Naturalist* 2, no. 1: 99-104.

Crawford, Colin. 1996. *Uproar at Dancing Rabbit Creek: Battling Over Race, Class, and the Environment* [Noxubee Co., Miss.; hazardous waste]. Reading, Mass.: Addison-Wesley. 384 pp.

Crews, Alvin, and David Carlock. 1998. "The Bear Facts" [black bears in Ga.; interview with wildlife biologist]. *Foxfire Magazine* 32 (Fall/Winter): 120-127.

Crockett, Maureen. 2004. *Jewels in Our Crown: The State Parks of West Virginia* [37 parks]. With photographs by Stephen J. Shaluta, Jr. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 130 pp.

Crowe, Thomas Rain. 2003. "The New Naturalists (The Southern Appalachian Mountains Are The Place To Look)." *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 2, no. 1 (Spring): nonfiction section, 18 para. http://scholar.lib.vt.edu/ejournals/nreview/issue2-1/nonfiction/crowe.html.

Crowe, Thomas Rain. 2005. *Zoro's Field: My Life in the Appalachian Woods* [N.C.; Waldenlike observations, poetry]. Foreword by Christopher Camuto. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 221 pp.

Crowe, Thomas Rain. 2008. *The End of Eden: Writings of an Environmental Activist*. Illustrations by Robert Johnson. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 171 pp. Great Smoky Mountains region.

Crutchfield, John. 2004. "Return to Mount Le Conte Or, A Short Treatise on Memory, Responsibility, and the American Black Bear" [author's 2003 backpacking trek in Great Smoky Mountains with his mother on her 60th birthday]. *Appalachian Journal* 32 (Fall): 114-122.

Dann, Kevin. 2000. "The Appalachian Trail and the American Primeval" [trail originator Benton MacKaye's inspiration]. In *Across the Great Border Fault: The Naturalist Myth in America*, 35-50. New Brunswick, N.J.: Rutgers University Press.

Davis, Donald E. 2006. "Upland: Growing Pains" [settlement, crops, livestock, mining]. Chap. 6 in *Southern United States: An Environmental History*, 133-157. Nature and Human Societies. Santa Barbara, Calif: ABC-CLIO.

Davis, Donald Edward. 2000. Where There Are Mountains: An Environmental History of the Southern Appalachians [human ecology; landmark text]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 320 pp.

Davis, Donald Edward. 2006. *Homeplace Geography: Essays for Appalachia* [20 environmental activist essays spanning 20 years]. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 221 pp.

Davis, Donald E., and Kevin E. O'Donnell, section editors. 2006. "Environment" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 101-145 (with introductory essay, 101-107). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Davis, Frank C. 2006. *My C.C.C. Days: Memories of the Civilian Conservation Corps*. [1934-1936, Great Smoky Mountains National Park, N.C.]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 58 pp.

Davis, Timothy, Todd A. Croteau, and Christopher H. Marston, ed. 2004. *America's National Park Roads and Parkways: Drawings from the Historic American Engineering Record* [331 oversize historic, interpretive drawings of roads, bridges, viaducts, tunnels; includes Great Smoky Mountains and Shenandoah National Parks, and Blue Ridge Parkway]. The Road and American Culture. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 379 pp.

De Hart, Allen. 2003. *The Trails of Virginia: Hiking the Old Dominion* [guidebook to 1400 trails state-wide]. 3rd ed. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 540 pp.

Dean, Lauretta, and Bill Tanner. 2010. "Nature's Wonder: Georgia's Amicalola Falls State Park" [Dawson Co.]. Interview by Ethan Phillips. *Foxfire Magazine* 44, no. 3-4 (Fall-Winter):

3-9. Amicalola Falls, the highest waterfall in Georgia at 729 feet, is located near the start of the Appalachian Trail.

Dean, Lauretta. 2011. "Rehabilitation: Giving Nature a Second Chance" [Ga.]. Student interview by Ethan Phillips. *Foxfire Magazine* 45, no. 3-4 (Fall-Winter): 17-27. Stories of wild animal rescues and rehabilitation by Amicaloa Falls State Park ranger Dean include: opossums, groundhogs, owls and raptors, a black bear, and a sparrow.

Dick, David, and Eulalie C. Dick. 2001. *Rivers of Kentucky* [visits to 38 rivers: lore, local history and literature, personalities]. Foreword by Gurney Norman. North Middletown, Ky.: Plum Lick Publishing, Inc. 265 pp.

Dixon, Sherie, and Bill Tanner. 1998. "The Tallulah Gorge" [oral history interview with superintendent of Tallulah Gorge State Park, Ga.]. *Foxfire Magazine* 32 (Fall/Winter): 106-119.

Dodd, C. Kenneth, Jr. 2004. *The Amphibians of Great Smoky Mountains National Park* [guidebook to salamanders and frogs]. Illustrations by Jacqualine Grant. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 283 pp.

Douglas, Joseph C. 2004. "Minerals, Moonshine, and Misanthropes: The Historic Use of Caves in the Upper Cumberland" [Ky, Tenn.; saltpeter, food storage, Indian mortuary, criminal hideout]. In *Rural Life and Culture in the Upper Cumberland*, ed. M. Birdwell and W. Dickinson, 15-34. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Duda, Mark Damian. 1999. West Virginia Wildlife Viewing Guide [63 locations]. Helena, Mont.: Falcon Publishing. 95 pp.

Duhigg, Charles, and Karl Russell. 2009. "Clean Water Laws Neglected, at a Cost" [W. Va.; toxic coal mine pollution; health costs]. *New York Times*, 13 September, 1(A). 5226 words. http://www.nytimes.com/2009/09/13/us/13water.html? r=2.

Duhigg, Charles, and Karl Russell. 2009. "Cleansing the Air at the Expense of Waterways" [Masontown, Pa.; Monongahela River]. Toxic Waters series. New York Times, 13 October, 1(A). 2142 words. Coal fired power plants in ten states are dumping chemical-laden scrubber wastewater back into rivers. http://www.nytimes.com/2009/10/13/us/13water.html?_r=1.

Edwards, Ernest P. 2006. *Birds of Shenandoah National Park, Blue Ridge Parkway, and Great Smoky Mountains National Park: A Field Guide* [55 full-color pages]. Principal illustrator, Edward Murrell Butler. Blacksburg, Va.: McDonald & Woodward. 142 pp.

Elkinton, David P. 2007. Fighting to Protect the Highlands: The First Forty Years of the West Virginia Highlands Conservancy [comprehensive history]. Blacksburg, Va: Pocahontas Press. 517 pp.

Ellis, Ron, ed. 2005. *Of Woods and Waters: A Kentucky Outdoors Reader* [74 reprints of essays, fiction, and poetry, 1889-2005, many Appalachian]. Lexington, Ky.: University Press of Kentucky. 389 pp.

Ellis, William E. 2000. *The Kentucky River* [social history; geography; photos]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 226 pp.

Ellison, George, ed. 2008. *High Vistas: An Anthology of Nature Writing from Western North Carolina and the Great Smoky Mountains, Volume 1: 1674-1900.* Charleston, S.C.: Natural History Press. 128 pp.

Ellison, George, ed. 2011. *High Vistas: An Anthology of Nature Writing from Western North Carolina and the Great Smoky Mountains, Volume 2: 1900-2009.* Charleston, S.C.: Natural History Press. 126 pp.

Ellison, George. 2005. *Mountain Passages: Natural and Cultural History of Western North Carolina and the Great Smoky Mountains*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 160 pp.

Ellison, George. 2006. *Blue Ridge Nature Journal: Reflections on the Appalachian Mountains in Essays and Art* [flora, fauna, watercolors]. Essays by George Ellison with paintings by Elizabeth Ellison. Charleston, S.C.: History Press, 2006.

Engle, Reed L. 1999. Everything Was Wonderful: A Pictorial History of the Civilian Conservation Corps in Shenandoah National Park [Va.; 1930s]. Luray, Va.: Shenandoah Natural History Association. 109 pp.

Environment and Environmental Activism in Appalachia, The. 2005. Special issue [nine essays], *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 11, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 1-321.

Environmental Histories of the Mid-Atlantic. 2012. Special issue, *Pennsylvania History* 79, no. 4 (Autumn): 327-570. Contents: Introduction / Allen Dieterich-Ward and David C. Hsiung --The changing nature of environmental history: an interview with Joel A. Tarr / Allen Dieterich-Ward -- Changes in the genre: a brief survey of early Mid-Atlantic environmental histories / Strother E. Roberts -- The rise of environmental tourism / Thomas A. Chambers --Environmental history of the Susquehanna Valley around the time of European contact / April M. Beisaw -- The legacy of extraction: reading patterns and ethics in Pennsylvania's landscape of energy / Brian Black and Marcy Ladson -- "Visit My Community": the need to extend environmental justice to the countryside / Vagel Keller -- "Typically American": trends in the history of environmental politics and policy in the Mid-Atlantic Region / James Longhurst --Dirt in the city: urban environmental history in the Mid-Atlantic / Ellen Stroud -- Mind over matter: social justice, the body, and environmental history / Skylar Harris -- Farm boundaries as agroecological systems / Peggy Eppig -- New paths toward a history of Pennsylvania outdoor recreation / Silas Chamberlin -- Using the environmental history of the Commonwealth to enhance Pennsylvania and U.S. history courses / Charles Hardy -- From seed men to bird women: Pennsylvanians and the environment / Stephen H. Cutcliffe -- Resurrecting the story of the Passenger Pigeon in Pennsylvania / David Soll -- The teacher and the forest: the

Pennsylvania Forestry Association, George Perkins Marsh, and the origins of conservation education / Peter Linehan -- "Archival Power" and the future of environmental movement history / James Longhurst -- How to make history matter: the Maurice K. Goddard Legacy Project / Brenda Barrett.

Faiers, Gregory E. 2000. "Lightning Damage in Pennsylvania: 1959-1998" [Pa. incurs more damage than any other state; maps, tables]. *Pennsylvania Geographer* 37 (Fall/Winter): 141-158.

Fala, Bob. 2012. Ramblin' Outdoors: A Favorite Selection of Wildlife Stories from the Woods and Waters. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 186 pp. Collection of Fala's columns over 25 years, from the Logan [W. Va.] Banner.

Fallon, Katie. 2011. *Cerulean Blues: A Personal Search for a Vanishing Songbird*. Washington, D.C.: Ruka Press. 210 pp. Migratory habitat vanishing due to deforestation, global warming, and mountaintop removal coal mining.

Feather, Carl E. 2006. "Cabwaylingo State Forest: Bonnie Watts' Playground" [Wayne Co.; built by the CCC in the 1930s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 3 (Fall): 56-61. Sidebar, "Crum Brothers: Witnesses to Change" [83-year-old twins grew up on state forest land].

Feather, Carl E. 2007. "Hobart Ellifritt and His Bluebird Motels" [b. 1921(?); placed and maintained nearly 4000 bluebird boxes along W. Va. highways]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 1 (Spring): 62-63.

Feather, Carl E. 2008. "Organ Cave: A World Within a World." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 2 (Summer): 42-49. Greenbrier County; "second longest cave system east of the Mississippi River."

Feather, Carl. 2010. "Building Blackwater: A Visit with Daniel 'Boone' Pase." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 1 (Spring): 56-61. Blackwater Falls State Park; 1955-1988 construction and maintenance; Thomas, W. Va.

Federman, Adam. 2012. "What Killed Dunkard Creek?: Residents in Pennsylvania and West Virginia Say Fracking Is To Blame." *Earth Island Journal* 26, no. 4 (Winter). 3,200 words. Aquatic poisoning of 65,000 fish, mussels, and salamanders in September, 2009. http://www.earthisland.org/journal/index.php/eij/article/what_killed_dunkard_creek.

Feldman, David Lewis, and Lyndsay Moseley. 2003. "Faith-Based Environmental Initiatives in Appalachia: Connecting Faith, Environmental Concern and Reform" [examines 20 faith-based organizations]. World Views: Environment, Culture, Religion 7 (November): 227-252.

Feldman, David Lewis. 2001. "Going Thirsty? Appalachia Faces Water Supply Problems" [droughts, demand, laws]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 18 (Spring): 3-8.

Feldstein, Albert L. 2009. *The Great Cumberland Floods: Disaster in the Queen City* [Cumberland, Md.; 1850s-1950s; photos]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 158 pp.

Fergus, Charles. [1984] 2007. *The Wingless Crow: Essays from the "Thornapples" Column*. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 156 pp. Previously published: Harrisburg: Pennsylvania Game Commission. 33 nature essays from *Pennsylvania Game News* magazine, 1970s-1990s.

First, Fred. 2005. "On Eagle Wings." *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 3, no. 1 (Winter): nonfiction section, 2100 words. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-1/non-fiction/First.htm.

First, Fred. 2006. "Fragments from Floyd: Photos and Front Porch Musings From Floyd County, Virginia" [blog, photo-gallery, nature conservation]. Fred First, proprietor. http://www.fragmentsfromfloyd.com/.

First, Fred. 2006. *Slow Road Home: A Blue Ridge Book of Days*. Floyd, Va.: Goose Creek Press. 216 pp. Reflective essays by naturalist First; Floyd County, Va.; online photojournal at http://www.fragmentsfromfloyd.com/.

First, Fred. 2009. What We Hold in Our Hands: A Slow Road Reader [seasonal observations, essays from a Blue Ridge homestead]. Floyd, Va.: Goose Creek Press. 233 pp. See also author's blog, fragmentsfromfloyd.com.

Fluvial Processes in Small Southeastern Watersheds. 2010. Special issue, *Southeastern Geographer* 50, no. 4 (Winter): 393-539. Eight papers including five Appalachian: Morphology and channel evolution of small streams in the southern Blue Ridge Mountains of western North Carolina [upper Little Tennessee River basin] / D. Leigh -- In-Channel benches in small watersheds: examples from the southern Piedmont [nine sites in Ala., Ga., S.C., N.C.] / D. Royall, L. Davis, and D. Kimbrow -- Comparison of changes in runoff and channel cross-sectional area as a consequence of urbanization for three Chattahoochee River subbasins, Georgia, USA [1961-2005] / B. Smucygz, J. Clayton, and Z. Comarova -- Temporal variability of bank erosion in East Tennessee headwater streams [Little River] / C. Harden, K. Chartrand, and E. Henry -- Legacy Hg-Cu contamination of active stream sediments in the Gold Hill Mining District, North Carolina / R. Pavlowsky, S. Lecce, G. Bassett, and D. Martin.

Ford, W. Mark, Michael A. Menzel, and Richard H. Odom. 2002. "Elevation, Aspect, and Cove Size Effects on Southern Appalachian Salamanders" [Ga., N.C., S.C.]. *Southeastern Naturalist* 1 (December): 315-324.

Forests--The Way They Were [law to protect Savage River State Forest, Md.]. 2002. *State Legislatures* 28 (July): 15.

Fortney, Ronald H., James Rentch, Harold S. Adams, and Steven Stephenson. 1997. "Vegetation of the Bluestone River Gorge in Southern West Virginia." In *Proceedings, New*

River Symposium, April 11-12, 1997, Glade Springs Resort, Daniels, West Virginia, 11-19. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Fraser, Rory, Steve Hollenhorst, and Alan Collins. 1999. "Shades of Green: Public Opinion and the Economics of Environmental Protection in West Virginia" [tables]. In *Inside West Virginia: Public Policy Perspectives for the 21st Century*, ed. B. Keith and R. Althouse, 107-133. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Freinkel, Susan. 2007. *American Chestnut: The Life, Death, and Rebirth of a Perfect Tree*. Berkeley: University of California Press. 284 pp.

Frick-Ruppert, Jennifer. 2010. *Mountain Nature: A Seasonal Natural History of the Southern Appalachians* [forest and animal ecology]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 224 pp.

Fritsch, Albert J., and Paul Gallimore. 2007. *Healing Appalachia: Sustainable Living Through Appropriate Technology* [details 30 earth-friendly technologies including: microhydropower, edible landscaping, wood heating, nontimber forest products, solar photovoltaics, retreat cabin sites, cordwood structures, yurts, regional heritage plants, composting toilets, cisterns and water catchments, food preservation]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 435 pp.

Frome, Michael. 2002. "Protecting the Public Options" [keynote address, Fontana Conservation Roundup, Fontana, N.C., 1975]. In *Greenspeak: Fifty Years of Environmental Muckraking and Advocacy*, by M. Frome, 66-80. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Frye, Bob. 2006. *Deer Wars: Science, Tradition, and the Battle Over Managing Whitetails in Pennsylvania*. Photographs by Gregory D. Sofranko. State College: Pennsylvania State University Press. 310 pp.

Gaddy, L. L. 2000. A Naturalist's Guide to the Southern Blue Ridge Front: Linville Gorge, North Carolina, to Tallulah Gorge, Georgia [hiking; 49 natural areas]. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 190 pp.

Garland, Mark S., and John Anderton, illustrator. 1997. *Watching Nature: A Mid-Atlantic Natural History* [Va., W. Va., and Middle Atlantic states]. Washington, D.C.: Smithsonian Institution Press. 256 pp.

Garnette, Bill. 2000. "A Spruce Knob Miracle" [1946 Navy pilot crash/rescue and other fatal wrecks on W. Va.'s highest peak]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Fall): 56-65.

Gensheimer, Lisa., with photographs by Ed Bernik. 2006. *Pennsylvania Wilds: Images from the Allegheny National Forest* [coffee table book; photographs and local history]. Bradford, Pa.: Forest Press. 138 pp., plus CD containing maps.

Gibbons, J. Whitfield, and Michael E. Dorcas. 2005. *Snakes of the Southeast* [field guide; 52 kinds of snakes]. A Wormsloe Foundation Nature Book. University of Georgia Press. 253 pp.

Gilfillan, Merrill. 1997. *Burnt House to Paw Paw: Appalachian Notes* [natural history; travels]. Profile Series, 3. Stockbridge, Mass.: Hard Press, Inc. 132 pp.

Gray, Sam. 2004. "I-26 and the Will of God" [N.C., Tenn.; poem-essay]. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 2, no. 2 (Winter-Spring):nonfiction section, 16 paras. http://nantahalareview.org/issue2-2/non-fiction/GRAY.htm.

Green, Paul. 2005. *Paul Green's Plant Book: An Alphabet of Flowers & Folklore*. Edited by Betsy Green Moyer and Ken Moore. Photography by Betsy Green Moyer and Byrd Green Cornwell. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Botanical Garden Foundation. 122 pp.

Greening of Appalachia. 2011. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 1-63.

Greer, Jerry D., and Charles W. Maynard. 2009. *The Blue Ridge, Ancient and Majestic: A Celebration of the World's Oldest Mountains*. Photography by Jerry D. Greer, essays by Charles W. Maynard. Johnson City, Tenn.: Mountain Trail Press. 192 pp. Oversize volume with full-page color photos. Forewords by: Dan Brown, Former Superintendent, Blue Ridge Parkway; and Carl Silverstein, Executive Director, Southern Appalachian Highlands Conservancy.

Gregg, Sara M. 2010. *Managing the Mountains: Land Use Planning, the New Deal, and the Creation of a Federal Landscape in Appalachia* [Va. and Vt.]. Yale Agrarian Studies Series. New Haven: Yale University Press. 285 pp. Contents: Introduction: Farms and forests: an Appalachian portrait -- 1: Origins -- A harvest of scarcity: self-sufficiency in the Blue Ridge Mountains -- Customs in common: community and agriculture in the Green Mountains -- Academics and partisans: federal land use planning, 1900-1933 -- 2: Projects -- Designing the Shenandoah National Park -- Cultivating the Vermont forest -- Reforming submarginal lands, 1933-1938 -- Epilogue: cellarholes and wilderness: the return of the Appalachian forest.

Haag, Kim H., and Stephen D. Porter. 1995. Water-Quality Assessment of the Kentucky River Basin, Kentucky: Nutrients, Sediments, and Pesticides in Streams, 1987-90. Water-Resources Investigations Report 94-4227. Louisville: U.S. Geological Survey.

Hague, Richard. 2011. "The Spring" [reflection; environmental stewardship]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 11-12.

Hall, Karen J. 2005. *The Blue Ridge Parkway* [postcard history; dedicated 1940; Va., N.C., Tenn.]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Hall, Karen J. 2007. *Building the Blue Ridge Parkway* [vintage photos; 469 mi., begun 1935]. Charleston, S.C: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Hall, Karen Lynn Jones. 2005. *The Blue Ridge Parkway*. Postcard History Series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Hallowell, Barbara G. 1998. *Mountain Year: A Southern Appalachian Nature Notebook* [80 brief essays; month-by-month]. Winston-Salem: John F. Blair. 290 pp.

Halverson, Jeff. 2005. "Queen of Rains: Hurricane Camille" [1969 flood-mudslide; Nelson Co., Va.; 158 deaths]. *Weatherwise* 58 (November/December): 24-29.

Haney, J. Christopher, David S. Lee, and Mark Wilbert. 2001. "A Half-Century Comparison of Breeding Birds in the Southern Appalachians" [Unicoi Mts.; N.C., Tenn.]. *The Condor* 103 (May): 268-277.

Hansen, Evan, Alan Collins, Sera Zegre, and Anne Hereford. 2010. *The Benefits of Acid Mine Drainage Remediation on the North Branch Potomac River*. Prepared for Maryland State Water Quality Advisory Committee, Garrett County, Maryland. Morgantown, W. Va.: Downstream Strategies. 92 pp. "...calculates the local economic benefits generated in these Maryland counties [Garrett and Allegany] stemming from acid mine drainage remediation on the North Branch, so that policy makers can make informed decisions about future funding to ensure that this remediation continues."

 $http://www.downstreamstrategies.com/documents/reports_publication/amd-remediation-nbp_downstreamstrategies.pdf.$

Harmon, Paul J., Donna Ford-Werntz, and William N. Grafton, ed. 2006. *Checklist and Atlas of the Vascular Flora of West Virginia* [93,000 specimens; maps; from dried, pressed plants in WVU Herbarium]. Elkins, W. Va.: West Virginia Division of Natural Resources, Wildlife Resources Section. 381 pp.

Hart, Pete. 2000. "Managing a Non-Traditional River Park" [W. Va.; New River Gorge National River (53 mi.); Gauley River National Recreation Area (26 mi.); Bluestone National Scenic River (10 mi.)]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 15-16, 1999, Boone, North Carolina*, 1-9. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Hart, William A., Jr. 1997. "George Masa: The Best Mountaineer" [1881-1933; Japanese-American photographer/mapper of the Great Smoky Mountains]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 1, ed. R. S. Brunk, 249-275. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services Inc.

Haskell, David George. 2012. *The Forest Unseen: A Year's Watch in Nature*. New York: Viking. 286 pp. Award-winning book; intimate daybook observations by a biologist on his visits to "a one-square-meter patch of old-growth Tennessee forest....as a window onto the entire natural world."

Hedeen, Stanley E. 2010. "From Billions to None: Destruction of the Passenger Pigeon in the Ohio Valley" [extinct 1910]. *Ohio Valley History* 10, no. 3 (Fall): 27-45.

Hemmerly, Thomas E. 2000. *Appalachian Wildflowers* [field guide; Ala. to Quebec]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 344 pp.

Herrin, Roberta. 2011. "Gold Is Not for All." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 2. [Special issue, "The Greening of Appalachia"]. "Gold can be fickle....the promise of 'gold' lured the extractive industries to Appalachia....Spring greening invites us to live so respectfully in the now that all things are venerated and honored and protected."

Hicks, Ray R. 2007. *Trees of West Virginia* [identification guidebook]. Drawings by Bruce Lyndon Cunningham. Nacogdoches, Tex.: Bruce Lyndon Cunningham Productions (www.forester-artist.com). 92 pp.

Hill, Dean. 2004. *Spirit of Appalachian Kentucky: A Photographic Journey* [seasonal nature photography]. West Liberty, Ky.: Mortgage the Farm. 112 pp.

Hill, Dean. 2008. *Appalachia, Spirit of the Seasons: A Continuing Photographic Journey* [123 photographs]. Foreword by Silas House. West Liberty, Ky.: Mortgage the Farm. 144 pp.

Holland, Dorothy. 2003. "Multiple Identities in Practice: On the Dilemmas of Being a Hunter and an Environmentalist in the U.S." [hunters faced with loss of commons land side with environmentalists]. *Focaal - European Journal of Anthropology* 42: 31-49.

Hood, Mary A. 2008. "Conhocton River: A New York State of Mind." In *RiverTime: Ecotravel on the World's Rivers*, by M. Hood, 51-60. Albany: State University of New York Press.

Hood, Mary A. 2008. "Cumberland River: Magnolias and Other Rare Plants of the Appalachians" [Ky.; forest trails]. In *RiverTime: Ecotravel on the World's Rivers*, by M. Hood, 41-50. Albany: State University of New York Press.

Hood, Mary A. 2008. "Ellijay River: Applesauce" [North Ga.]. In *RiverTime: Ecotravel on the World's Rivers*, by M. Hood, 75-79. Albany: State University of New York Press.

Hopey, Don. 2009. "Sudden Death of Ecosystem Ravages Long Creek" [Dunkard Creek, Blacksville, W. Va.]. *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*, 20 September, 1(A). 1,192 words, with graphic of the 150,000 acre W. Va./Pa. watershed. "Everything is being killed: 161 aquatic species have died," in this tributary of the Monongahela River. Possible polluters are nearby coal mining and Marcellus Shale gas drilling operations. http://www.post-gazette.com/pg/09263/999458-113.stm?cmpid=news.xml.

Hopkins, Bruce. 1996. *Smithsonian Guides to Natural America: Central Appalachia -- West Virginia, Kentucky and Tennessee*. Photography by Willard Clay and Kathy Clay. Washington: Smithsonian Books. 286 pp.

Horan, Jack. 1997. Where Nature Reigns: The Wilderness Areas of the Southern Appalachians. Asheboro, N.C.: Down Home Press. 280 pp.

Horn, Dennis, David Duhl, Thomas E. Hemmerly, and Tavia Cathcart. 2005. Wildflowers of Tennessee, the Ohio Valley, and the Southern Appalachians: The Official Field Guide of the

Tennessee Native Plant Society [flora of 16 states; 1250 species; 800 color photos]. Auburn, Wash.: Lone Pine. 496 pp.

Horn, Dennis, David Duhl, Thomas E. Hemmerly, and Tavia Cathcart, ed. 2005. Wildflowers of Tennessee, the Ohio Valley, and the Southern Appalachians: The Official Field Guide of the Tennessee Native Plant Society. Auburn, Wash.: Lone Pine Publishing. 496 pp.

Horning, Audrey J. 2000. "Shenandoah's Secret History" [settlement sites explored in Nicholson, Corbin, and Weakley hollows -- displaced by 1930s national park; Va.]. *Archaeology* 53 (January/February): 44-51.

Houk, Rose. 2003. *Great Smoky Mountains National Park: The Range of Life* [pictorial overview]. Gatlinburg, Tenn.: Great Smoky Mountains Association. 47 pp.

House, Silas. 2005. "A Place of Noble Trees" [Dale Hollow Lake, Ky.-Tenn.]. In of Woods and Waters: A Kentucky Outdoors Reader, 120-131. Lexington, Ky.: University Press of Kentucky.

Howard, Jason. 2009. We All Live Downstream: Writing About Mountaintop Removal. Louisville, Ky.: MotesBooks. 298 pp. Writers in this collection include Robert F. Kennedy Jr., Wendell Berry, Earl Hamner, Ashley Judd, Silas House, Denise Giardina, Erik Reece, Bobbie Ann Mason, Bob Edwards, Penny Loeb, Hal Crowther, Jean Ritchie, Terry Tempest Williams, Jeff Biggers, Ann Pancake, George Ella Lyon, and more.

Howell, Benita J. 2002. "Appalachian Culture and Environmental Planning: Expanding the Role of the Cultural Sciences." In *Culture, Environment, and Conservation in the Appalachian South*, ed. B. Howell, 1-16. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Howell, Benita J., ed. 2002. *Culture, Environment, and Conservation in the Appalachian South* [11 case studies]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 203 pp.

Hubbs, Hal, Charles Maynard, and David Morris. 2006. *Waterfalls of the Smokies* [pocket guidebook; 40 falls; Tenn., N.C.]. 2nd ed. Gatlinburg, Tenn.: Great Smoky Mountains Association. 206 pp.

Hufford, Mary. 1995. "Stalking the Mother Forest: Voices Beneath the Canopy" [Raleigh Co., W. Va.]. *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 17, no. 3 (Summer): 10-18, 20. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/index.html.

Hufford, Mary. 1997. "American Ginseng and the Idea of the Commons" ["a vernacular cultural domain that transcends state boundaries"; Southern W. Va.]. *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 19 no. 1 and 2 (Winter-Spring): 1-18. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/index.html.

Hufford, Mary. 1998. "Tending the Commons: Ramp Suppers, Biodiversity, and the Integrity of 'The Mountains'" [Big Coal River, W. Va.]. *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 20, no. 4 (Fall): 3-11. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/index.html.

Hufford, Mary. 1998. "Weathering the Storm: Cultural Survival in an Appalachian Valley" [Coal River, W. Va.]. In *An Appalachian Tragedy: Air Pollution and Tree Death in the Eastern Forests of North America*, ed. H. Ayers, J. Hager, and C. E. Little, 146-159. San Francisco: Sierra Club Books.

Hufford, Mary. 1999. "Working in the Cracks: Public Space, Ecological Crisis, and the Folklorist" [W. Va.; New River Gorge and Coal River; strip mining]. *Journal of Folklore Research* 36 (May-December): 157-167.

Hufford, Mary. 2001. "Tending the Commons: West Virginia Folklife Project Goes Online." *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 23, no. 1 (Winter): 10-12. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/index.html. http://memory.loc.gov/ammem/cmnshtml/cmnshome.html.

Hufford, Mary. 2002. "Interrupting the Monologue: Folklore, Ethnography, and Critical Regionalism" [with comments on "Appalachia as a Global Region: Toward Critical Regionalism and Civic Professionalism" by Herbert Reid and Betsy Taylor, *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Spring 2002): 9-32]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Spring 2002): 62-78.

Hufford, Mary. 2002. "Reclaiming the Commons: Narratives of Progress, Preservation, and Ginseng" [W. Va.]. In *Culture, Environment, and Conservation in the Appalachian South*, ed. B. Howell, 100-120. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Hufford, Mary. 2006. "Molly Mooching on Bradley Mountain: The Aesthetic Ecology of Appalachian Morels." *Gastronomica* 6, no. 2 (Spring): 49-56. Short cultural treatise on morel mushroom history, hunting, and preparation in southern W. Va.

Hugo, Nancy Ross, and Jeff Kirwan. 2008. *Remarkable Trees of Virginia*. Photography by Robert Llewellyn. Earlysville, Va.: Albemarle Books. 205 pp. Contents: Old trees -- Historic trees | Champion trees | Community trees | Unique trees | Fine specimens | Noteworthy species | Mighty oaks | Tree places.

Hullihen Williams Moore. 2004. *Shenandoah: Views of Our National Park* [essays; 51 duotone prints]. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 89 pp.

Humphries, W. Jeffrey. 2007. "Diurnal Seasonal Activity of Cryptobranchus alleganiensis (Hellbender) in North Carolina" [giant salamander; Transylvania Co.]. *Southeastern Naturalist* 6, no. 1 (March): 135-140.

Hunt, James B. 2012. *Restless Fires: Young John Muir's Thousand-Mile Walk to the Gulf in 1867/68*. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 235 pp. Indiana to Florida, traversing the Appalachian Mountains in Tennessee and Georgia.

Hyde, Arnout, Jr., and Ken Sullivan. 1994. *The Potomac: A Nation's River*. Charleston, WV: Cannon Graphics. 127 pp.

Jackson, Dot. 2011. "The Voice of the Turtle Returns, Sweet and Clear." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 7-9. Poisonous copper mining and smelting in southeastern Tennessee's denuded Copper Basin, where Tenn., Ga. and N.C. state lines converge, ceased in 1987 and the cleanup began.

Jackson, Laura E. 1989. *Mountain Treasures at Risk: The Future of the Southern Appalachian National Forests*. Washington, D.C.: The Wilderness Society. 50 pp., plus appendices (11 pp.).

Jones, Adam. 2004. *Great Smoky Mountains: Simply Beautiful* [oversize color photos]. Photography by Adam Jones, text by Steve Kemp. Helena, Mont.: Farcountry Press. 119 pp.

Jones, Robert Emmet, Mark J. Fly, and H. Ken Cordell. 1999. "How Green Is My Valley?: Tracking Rural and Urban Environmentalism in the Southern Appalachian Ecoregion" [1239 telephone interviews]. *Rural Sociology* 64 (September): 482-499.

Jones, Ronald L. 2005. *Plant Life of Kentucky: An Illustrated Guide to the Vascular Flora* [three regions: Appalachian Plateau, Interior Low Plateau, Mississippi Embayment]. With the assistance of John W. Thieret and Charles J. Lapham. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 834 pp.

Joslin, Michael. 2000. Appalachian Bounty: Nature's Gifts from the Mountains: A Collection of Essays and Photographs. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 229 pp.

Joslin, Michael. 2007. "Wild and Elusive: The Appalachian 'Painter'" [cougars; sightings]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 32-37.

Joslin, Michael. 2008. "The Man Who Saved a Mountain." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 17-21. Hugh Morton (d. 2006), steward of Grandfather Mountain, N.C.

Joslin, Michael. 2010. "High Time for Change." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 35-36. Rehabilitating raptors wantonly targeted by humans, at Blue Ridge Wildlife Institute at Lees-McRae College, Banner Elk, N.C.

Joslin, Michael. 2011. "New Hope for the American Chestnut." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 4-6. History, personal stories, and research on blight resistance.

Joslin, Michael. 2011. "Who Keeps Our Rivers Flowing?" *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 24-27. Litter, unchecked development, sedimentation: Elk and Watauga Rivers, western N.C.; Waterkeeper Alliance.

Joslin, Michael. 2012. *Mountain Spring: A Collection of Essays and Photographs Celebrating the Season in Appalachia* [N.C.]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 155 pp.

Judd, Richard William. 2009. *The Untilled Garden: Natural History and the Spirit of Conservation in America*, 1740-1840 [Appalachian to Mississippi frontier]. New York: Cambridge University Press. 318 pp.

Jurgelski, William M. 2008. "Burning Seasons, Burning Bans: Fire in the Southern Appalachian Mountains, 1750-2000." *Appalachian Journal* 35, no. 3 (Spring): 170-217. Forest fires, forestry practices, and human impact; extensive bibliographic references.

Justice, William S., C. Ritchie Bell, and Anne H. Lindsey. 2005. *Wild Flowers of North Carolina*. 2nd ed. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 352 pp.

Kaiser, Jocelyn. 1999. "Great Smokies Species Census Under Way." *Science*, 11 June, 1747-1748.

Kight, Caitlin. 2010. "High in Flight: Avian Appalachia." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 37-39. Remarkable underrated birding opportunities in the region.

Kirby, Jack Temple. 2006. *Mockingbird Song: Ecological Landscapes of the South* [human ecology; nine subregions are woven into this narrative; cf. recent studies by Donald E. Davis, Benita Howell, Margaret Lynn Brown, Donald Pierce, Wendell Berry]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 361 pp.

Kirkland, Joel. 2010. "Concerns Spread Over Environmental Costs of Producing Shale Gas" [Marcellus Shale gas drilling; Pa., W. Va.]. *New York Times*, 9 July: Energy & Environment. 2514 words. http://www.nytimes.com/cwire/2010/07/09/09climatewire-concerns-spread-over-environmental-costs-of-36415.html.

Knott, John R. 2002. "Into the Woods with Wendell Berry." Chap. 5 in *Imagining Wild America*, 133-161. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.

Lafon, Charles W. 2000. "Spatial Patterns of Ice Storm Occurrence in the New River Valley" [county outline maps]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 15-16, 1999, Boone, North Carolina*, 68-77. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Lane, John, and Gerald Thurmond, ed. 1999. *The Woods Stretched for Miles: New Nature Writing from the South* [18 essays: five Appalachian]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 255 pp.

Lane, John. 2002. *Waist Deep in Black Water* [personal accounts; Spartanburg, S.C.]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 187 pp.

Lane, John. 2004. "The Myth of the Chattooga: A Personal History" [excerpt from *Chattooga: Descending into the Myth of Deliverance River* (University of Georgia Press, 2004)]. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 2, no. 2 (Winter-Spring):nonfiction section, 75 paras. http://nantahalareview.org/issue2-2/non-fiction/LANE.htm.

Lane, John. 2004. *Chattooga: Descending into the Myth of Deliverance River* [Ga.-S.C. border; *Deliverance*, 1970 novel by James Dickey and 1972 film]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 210 pp.

Lane, John. 2012. *Begin with Rock, End with Water: Essays*. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 201 pp. In Lane's "consideration of his place...in the changing natural world...rivers such as the Chattooga, Youghigheny, Dead, Reedy, Micos, Yuribamba, and Tallahatchie figure prominently."

Lecce, Scott A. 2000. "Seasonality of Flooding in North Carolina" [maps; figures]. *Southeastern Geographer* 40 (November): 168-175.

Lefohn, Allen S., William Jackson, and Douglas S. Shadwick. 1997. "Effect of Surface Ozone Exposures on Vegetation Grown in the Southern Appalachian Mountains: Identification of Possible Areas of Concern." *Atmospheric Environment* (Oxford, England) 31 (June): 1695-1708.

Leland, John. 2010. Learning the Valley: Excursions into the Shenandoah Valley [25 short essays]. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 134 pp. Contents: Sugar Creek | Rock crystals | The Shenandoah sea | Caves | Rock castles | The Natural Bridge | Stone walls | Geological segregation | Massanutten | Forest communities | Cedars | Maple syrup | Poison ivy | Sassafras | Briar patch | Hedges | Vegetable armature | Mosquitoes | Spring ephemerals | Flying frass | My Civil War | Migration | Running the river | Hay bales | Sexual swarms.

Lembke, Janet. 2004. *Skinny Dipping: And Other Immersions in Water, Myth, and Being Human* [western Va.; personal essays]. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 177 pp.

Leonard, James, and Kevin Law. 2012. "Spatial and Temporal Variations in West Virginia's Precipitation, 1931–2000." *Southeastern Geographer* 52, no. 1 (Spring): 5-19. Maps, tables.

Leutze, Jay Erskine. 2012. *Stand Up That Mountain: The Battle to Save One Small Community in the Wilderness Along the Appalachian Trail*. New York: Scribner. 387 pp. "This is the true story of an outdoorsman living alone in Western North Carolina who teams up with his neighbors and environmental lawyers to save a treasured mountain peak from the mining company."

Lewis, Jonathon F. 2004. *Carter Caves State Resort Park: A Living History* [Carter Co., Ky.]. Charleston, W. Va.: Chapman Printing. 94 pp.

Lhotka, Laura, Conner Bailey, and Mark Dubois. 2008. "Ideologically Structured Information Exchange among Environmental Groups" [Ala.]. *Rural Sociology* 73, no. 2 (June): 230-249.

Based on interviews with leaders of 136 groups including the Alabama Department of Environmental Management, and the Alabama Rivers Coalition.

Liftig, Inez Fugate. 2001. "Lessons from Ganderbill Holler" [1950s Ky.; award-winning science teacher remembers girlhood forests and streams as her first classroom]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 18 (Spring): 13-17.

Linzey, Donald W. 2000. "Cougars in the Southern Appalachians" [Va.]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 15-16, 1999, Boone, North Carolina*, 10-14. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Linzey, Donald W. 2008. A Natural History Guide to Great Smoky Mountains National Park. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 292 pp.

Loucks, Orie. 1998. "In Changing Forests, A Search for Answers" [southern W. Va.; Ohio Valley]. In *An Appalachian Tragedy: Air Pollution and Tree Death in the Eastern Forests of North America*, ed. H. Ayers, J. Hager, and C. E. Little, 84-97. San Francisco: Sierra Club Books.

Luffman, Ingrid E. 2010. "Wake-up Call in East Tennessee? Correlating Flood Losses to National Flood Insurance Program Enrollment (1978-2006)." *Southeastern Geographer* 50, no. 3 (Fall): 305-322. Chattanooga, Elizabethton, and Pigeon Forge.

Maehr, David. 2001. "Restoring the Large Mammal Fauna in the East: What Follows the Elk? *Wild Earth* 11 (Spring): 50-53.

Maher, Neil M. 2008. *Nature's New Deal: The Civilian Conservation Corps and the Roots of the American Environmental Movement* [1933-]. New York: Oxford University Press. 316 pp.

Mann, Perry. 2011. *Mann & Nature: A Collection of Essays*. Delavan, Wisc.: Kettle Moraine Publishing. 156 pp. Thoreau-like essays and seasonal reflections from a farm in Summers County, W. Va. The author is father of Appalachian poet, novelist, essayist Jeff Mann.

Mannion, Elgin. 2002. "What's in a Name? Methodological Changes in Environmental Risk Assessment" [politics, EPA, regulatory reform]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Fall): 309-331.

Markham, Doug. 1997. *Boxes, Rockets, and Pens: A History of Wildlife Recovery in Tennessee*. Outdoor Tennessee Series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 144 pp.; 16 pp. of plates.

Marshall, Suzanne. 2002. "Lord, We're Just Trying to Save Your Water": Environmental Activism and Dissent in the Appalachian South [Ga., Ala., N.C.]. Southern Dissent. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 384 pp.

Mason, Bobbie Ann. 2006. "Pick Your Poison" [Op-Ed piece on nation's use of Ky. as storage site for variety of toxic wastes]. *New York Times*, 29 October, 13 (sec. 4). 567 words.

Mathews, Louise, and Carol Harden. 1999. "150 Years of Environmental Degradation and Reclamation in the Copper Basin, Tennessee" [Polk Co.; treeless landscape; copper mining]. *Southeastern Geographer* 39 (May): 1-21.

Matthews, Larry E. 2006. *Big Bone Cave* [Tenn.; history]. Huntsville, Ala: National Speleological Society. 220 pp.

Matthews, Larry E. 2007. *Caves of Chattanooga*. Huntsville, Ala.: National Speleological Society. 192 pp. Contents: Section 1. The caves of Lookout Mountain. Lookout Mountain Cave | Mystery Falls Cave | Ruby Falls Cave | Section 2. The caves of Raccoon Mountain. Raccoon Mountain Caverns | Section 3. The caves of Sand Mountain. Nickajack Cave | Sequoyah Caverns | Section 4. The caves of Walden Ridge. Mystic Caverns | Section 5. The caves of the Cumberland Plateau. Russell Cave National Monument | Wonder Cave.

Matthews, Larry E. 2008. *Caves of Knoxville and the Great Smoky Mountains*. Huntsville, Ala.: National Speleological Society. 296 pp. Contents: Cherokee Caverns | English Cave | Gap Cave | Indian Cave | Meredith Cave | New Mammoth Cave | Alum Cave | Forbidden Caverns | Gregorys Cave | The Lost Sea | Tuckaleechee Caverns | Appalachian Caverns | Bristol Caverns | Morrill Cave.

Matthews, Larry E., and Bill Walter. 2010. *Blue Spring Cave* [White Co., Ala.]. Huntsville, Ala: National Speleological Society. 340 pp. Well-documented account of 35 miles of passages explored since 1988 in the "longest known cave in Tennessee." Numerous photos.

Matthews, Larry E., and Bob Biddix. 2012. *Snail Shell Cave* [Rutherford Co., Tenn.]. Huntsville, Ala.: National Speleological Society. 241 pp. Photographs; maps; history 1950s to present.

Mayfield, Michael W., and John T. Morgan. 2005. "The 'Oldest River' as an Appalachian Popular Region" [New River]. *The Journal of Geography* 104, no. 2 (March-April): 59-64.

Maynard, Charles W. 2004. *The Appalachians* [elementary audience, ages 9-12]. Great Mountain Ranges of the World. New York: PowerKids Press. 24 pp.

Maynard, Charles W. 2008. *Going to Great Smoky Mountains National Park* [juvenile literature; natural history]. Helena, Mont.: Farcountry Press. 48 pp.

Maysilles, Duncan. 2011. *Ducktown Smoke: The Fight Over One of the South's Greatest Environmental Disasters* [copper smelting; Tenn.]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 333 pp. Contents: Introduction: the view from the mountain -- The setting, the Cherokees, and the first era of Ducktown mining, 1843-1878 -- The revival of Ducktown mining and the first smoke suits, 1890-1903 -- The farmers and the copper companies wage battle in the Tennessee courts -- Georgia enters the fray -- The Ducktown desert and Georgia's first smoke suit -- Will Shippen, forestry, and Georgia's second smoke suit, 1905-1907 -- Attorney general Hart, the National Farmers Union, and the search for a remedy, 1907-1910 -- The smoke

injunction and the great war, 1914-1918 -- Power dams, whitewater rafting, and the reclamation of the Ducktown desert, 1916-2010 -- Epilogue: the view from the mountain.

McAlexander, Hubert Horton. 2008. *Strawberry Plains Audubon Center: Four Centuries of a Mississippi Landscape*. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 181 pp. Marshall County wildlife center; multigenerational history of a 2,500-acre, bequeathed plantation.

McDearman, Karen M., and Robert L. Izlar. 2006. "Shenandoah Valley" [history; northern Va.]. In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 8: *Environment*, ed. M. Melosi, 270-272. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

McGraw, James B., and Mary Ann Furedi. 2005. "Deer Browsing and Population Viability of a Forest Understory Plant" [ginseng; five-year survey; W. Va.]. *Science*, 11 February: 920-922. See also related story by Erik Stokstad, 827.

McKinney, Gordon B. 2005. "The Fractured Land of the Sky: The Image of Western North Carolina during the 1986 Nuclear Waste Controversy" [tourism; land development]. *North Carolina Historical Review* 82, no. 3: 326-346.

McSpirit, Stephanie, Lynne Faltraco, and Conner Bailey, ed. 2012. Confronting Ecological *Crisis in Appalachia and the South: University and Community Partnerships* [14 essays]. Foreword by Scott J. Peters. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 269 pp. Contents: Introduction: Forging partnerships between communities and academic activists / Stephanie McSpirit, Lynne Faltraco, and Conner Bailey -- Confessions of the parasitic researcher to the man in the cowboy hat / Sherry Cable -- What difference did it make? The Appalachian Land Ownership Study after twenty-five years / Shaunna L. Scott -- Participatory action research: combating the poisoning of Dayhoit, Harlan County / Roy Silver -- The Martin County project: students, faculty, and citizens research the effects of a technological disaster / Stephanie McSpirit, and others -- Unsuitable: the fight to save Black Mountain, 1998-1999 / Robert Gipe --Building partnerships to challenge Chip Mills: citizen activists find academic allies / Lynne Faltraco and Conner Bailey -- Environmental justice from the roots: Tillery, North Carolina / Mansoureh Tajik -- The incineration of chemical weapons in Anniston, Alabama: the march for environmental justice / Suzanne Marshall, Rufus Kinney, and Antoinnette Hudson -- Expertise and alliances: how Kentuckians transformed the U.S. chemical weapons disposal program / Robert Futrell and Dick Futrell -- Headwaters: a student-faculty participatory research project in Eastern Kentucky / Alan Banks, Alice Jones, and Anne Blakeney -- Social theory, Appalachian studies, and the challenge of global regions: the UK Rockefeller Humanities Fellowship Program, 2001-2005 / Betsy Taylor, Lynne Faltraco, and Ana Isla -- Conclusion: Reflections on public scholarship in Appalachia and the South / Stephanie McSpirit, Lynne Faltraco, and Conner Bailey.

Medina, Barbara, and Victor Medina. 2002. Central Appalachian Wildflowers: A Field Guide to Common Wildflowers of the Central Appalachian Mountains, including Shenandoah National Park, the Catskill Mountains, and the Berkshire Mountains. Guilford, Conn.: Falcon. 183 pp.

Medina, Barbara F., and Victor Medina. 2002. Southern Appalachian Wildflowers: A Field Guide to Common Wildflowers of the Southern Appalachian Mountains, Including Great Smoky Mountains National Park, the Blue Ridge Parkway, and the Chattahoochee National Forest. Guilford, Conn.: Falcon. 215 pp.

Melosi, Martin, ed. 2007. *Environment*. Vol. 8 of *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 293 pp.

Messick, Robert. 2001. "Stalking Ancient Forests in the Southern Appalachians" [logging]. Wild Earth 11 (Spring): 72-75.

Michael, Edwin Daryl. 2002. *A Valley Called Canaan: 1885-2002* [historical novel; Canaan Valley, W. Va., natural history]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 223 pp.

Michaels, Art. 2003. *Pennsylvania Overlooks: A Guide for Sightseers and Outdoor People* [47 park and forest vistas]. State College: Pennsylvania State University Press. 240 pp.

Miller, Brian T., and Joyce L. Miller. 2005. "Prevalence of Physical Abnormalities in Eastern Hellbender (Cryptobranchus alleganiensis alleganiensis) Populations of Middle Tennessee" [large salamanders, 12-29 inches long; tributaries of the Cumberland and Tennessee Rivers]. *Southeastern Naturalist* 4, no. 3: 513-520.

Miller, Darren A. 2003. "Species Diversity, Reproduction, and Sex Ratios of Bats in Managed Pine Forest Landscapes of Mississippi." *Southeastern Naturalist* 2, no. 1: 59-72.

Miller, E. Willard, ed. 1995. *A Geography of Pennsylvania*. University Park: Pennsylvania State University. 406 pp.

Miller, James H., and Karl V. Miller. 2005. Forest Plants of the Southeast and Their Wildlife Uses [field guide; 330 species]. Rev. ed. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 454 pp.

Milnes, Gerald. 2009. "The Natural World: Bernard Cyrus." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 1 (Spring): 10-17. Wayne County self-taught botanist, old-time musician and instrument builder, and storyteller. Sidebar showcases Cyrus's photographs of West Virginia wild orchids, 18-19.

Minick, Jim. 1997. "Fingerprint" [journal entries: 1994 ice storm, loggers and logging]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 11-12, 1997, Glade Springs Resort, Daniels, West Virginia,* 120-125. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Minick, Jim. 2005. *Finding a Clear Path* [67 short ecological essays and reflections]. Morgantown, W. Va.: Vandalia Press. 277 pp.

Minteer, Ben A. 2001. "Wilderness and the Wise Province: Benton MacKaye's Pragmatic Vision." *Philosophy and Geography* 4 (no. 2): 185-202.

Mitchell, Michael S., and Roger A. Powell. 2003. "Response of Black Bears to Forest Management in the Southern Appalachian Mountains." *Journal of Wildlife Management* 67 (October): 692-705.

Mitchell, Michael S., John W. Zimmerman, and Roger A. Powell. 2002. "Test of a Habitat Suitability Index for Black Bears in the Southern Appalachians." *Wildlife Society Bulletin* 30 (Fall): 794-808.

Mohlenbrock, Robert H. 1999. "Bountiful Barrens" [Kate's Mountain, Greenbrier State Forest, W. Va.; rare plants, hiking trails, 1903 discovery]. *Natural History* 108 (October): 12-15.

Mohlenbrock, Robert H. 1999. "Bountiful Barrens" [Kate's Mountain, Greenbrier State Forest, W. Va.; rare plants, hiking trails, 1903 discovery]. *Natural History* 108 (October): 12-15.

Mohlenbrock, Robert H. 2002. "Through the Stone Door" [Savage Gulf State Natural Area; Cumberland Plateau canyons, Tenn.]. *Natural History* 111 (November): 66-67.

Mohlenbrock, Robert H. 2006. "Green Fingers" [N.Y.; Finger Lakes National Forest, Schuyler Co.]. *Natural History* 115, no. 3 (April): 82-83.

Mohlenbrock, Robert H. 2006. "Last Stands" [Pa.; Allegheny National Forest; Heart's Content Scenic Area; insect and disease threats]. *Natural History* 115, no. 9 (November): 60-61.

Mohlenbrock, Robert H. 2006. "Virginia Is for Hikers" [Massanutten Mountain, George Washington National Forest]. *Natural History* 115, no. 4 (May): 56-57.

Mohlenbrock, Robert H. 2009. "The Magic Rock Garden." *Natural History* 118, no. 3 (April): 36-37. Rare species that grow in glades along the Little Cahaba River in Bibb County, Alabama.

Mohlenbrock, Robert H. 2011. "Penn's Woods" [Pocono Mountains]. *Natural History* 119, no. 10 (November): 30-32. Four-county area of northeastern Pennsylvania; natural habitats; visitor information.

Mohlenbrock, Robert H. 2011. "Washington's Park Crossing the Delaware" [northeastern Pa.]. *Natural History* 119, no. 6 (June): 36-37. Delaware Water Gap National Recreation Area; Dingmans Falls.

Mohlenbrock, Robert H. 2012. "Knob Hill" [W. Va.]. *Natural History* 120, no. 8 (September-October): 40-41. Unusual plant habitats on 34-mile-long North Fork Mountain in the Monongahela National Forest.

Monfredo, William. 2000. "Significant Tornado Activity in Southwestern Pennsylvania" [historically high risk; tables]. *Pennsylvania Geographer* 37 (Fall/Winter): 43-63.

Montrie, Chad. 2000. "Expedient Environmentalism: Opposition to Coal Surface Mining in Appalachia and the United Mine Workers of America, 1945-1977." *Environmental History* 5 (January): 75-98.

Moore, Harry L. 1994. *A Geologic Trip Across Tennessee By Interstate 40*. Outdoor Tennessee Series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 339 pp.

Moore, Wayne. 1995. "Damming the Valley" [TVA]. Special Section: Eminent Domain. *Southern Exposure* 23 (Summer): 30-36.

Morrone, Michele, and Geoffrey L. Buckley, ed. 2011. *Mountains of Injustice: Social and Environmental Justice in Appalachia*. Foreword by Donald Edward Davis. Athens: Ohio University Press. 198 pp. Contents: Introduction: Environmental justice and Appalachia / Michele Morrone and Geoffrey L. Buckley -- The theoretical roots and sociology of environmental justice in Appalachia / Stephen J. Scanlan -- A legacy of extraction: ethics in the energy landscape of Appalachia / Brian Black -- Pollution or poverty: the dilemma of industry in Appalachia / Nancy Irwin Maxwell -- "We mean to stop them, one way or another": coal, power, and the fight against strip mining in Appalachia / Chad Montrie -- Commons environmentalism mobilized: the Western North Carolina alliance and the Cut the Clearcutting! Campaign / Kathryn Newfont -- Injustice in the handling of nuclear weapons waste: the case of David Witherspoon, Inc. / John Nolt -- Housewives from hell: perspectives on environmental justice and facility siting / Michele Morrone and Wren Kruse -- Stories about mountaintop removal in the Appalachian coalfields / Geoffrey L. Buckley and Laura Allen -- Afterword: An American sacrifice zone / Jedediah S. Purdy.

Nash, Steve. 1999. *Blue Ridge 2020: An Owner's Manual* [ecology; environmental risks]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 211 pp.

Nava, Margaret M. 2011. "How Green Are Our Mountains?" *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 16-18. Nineteen-sixties communes (Twin Oaks, The Farm, New Vrindaban) and today's legacy: Earthhaven Ecovillage (N.C.), the Foundation for Global Sustainability (Knoxville, Tenn.), and Berea College's Ecovillage (Ky.).

Ness, Erik. 2003. "The Path Taken: Benton MacKaye Brought Us the Appalachian Trail—and New Ways to Look at the American Landscape." *Historic Preservation: Quarterly of the National Council for Historic Sites and Buildings* 55 (July-August): 40-43.

New River Symposium. 1997. *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 11-12, 1997, Glade Springs Resort, Daniels, W. Va.* [13 papers]. Jointly sponsored by New River Gorge National River (National Park Service), and West Virginia Division of Culture and History. Published by Eastern National Park & Monument Association, c/o New River Gorge National Park, P.O. Box 246, Glen Jean, W. Va. 25846. 125 pp.

New River Symposium. 2000. *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 15-16, 1999, Boone, North Carolina*. [14 papers]. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service. 123 pp.

Newfont, Kathryn. 1999. "Grassroots Environmentalism: Origins of the Western North Carolina Alliance" [1982--]. *Appalachian Journal* 27 (Fall): 46-61.

Newfont, Kathryn. 2000. Review essay of *Where There Are Mountains: An Environmental History of the Southern Appalachians*, by Donald Edward Davis (University of Georgia Press, 2000). *Appalachian Journal* 28 (Fall): 130-136.

Newfont, Kathryn. 2012. Blue Ridge Commons: Environmental Activism and Forest History in Western North Carolina. Environmental History and the American South series. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 369 pp. Weatherford Award winner for nonfiction. Contents: Foreword / by Paul S. Sutter | "The custom of our country": the Appalachian forest commons | Response to devastation: organizing forests in the southern Appalachians | Plenty of trouble: creating federal forests in the Blue Ridge | De jure commons: national forests and Blue Ridge neighbors | Contested forests: commons, clearcutting, and wilderness | Wilderness as commons enclosure: RARE II opposition | Wilderness as commons defense: the southern Nantahala | Mobilizing commons defense: "oil fever" threatens the forests | Clearcutting returns: timber enclosure threatens the forests | Commons environmentalism mobilized: Western North Carolina Alliance's Cut the Clearcutting! campaign | Conclusion: An American commons in the Blue Ridge | Afterword: A call to commons.

Nicholson, Charles P. 1997. *Atlas of the Breeding Birds of Tennessee* [170 species]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 426 pp.

Nickens, T. Edward. 2002. "Saving Our Bald Spots" [mountain balds; species]. *Audubon* 104 (September): 24-29.

Nickens, T. Edward. 2003. "Jocassee's Gems" [Jocassee Gorge biodiversity; N.C./S.C.]. *National Wildlife* 41 (August/September): 39-46.

Nieman, Thomas J., and Zina R. Merkin. 1995. "Wildlife Management, Surface Mining, and Regional Planning." *Growth and Change* 26 (Summer): 405-424.

Noblitt, Phil. 1994. "The Blue Ridge Parkway and Myths of the Pioneer." *Appalachian Journal* 21 (Summer): 394-409.

Nolt, John. 2005. *A Land Imperiled: The Declining Health of the Southern Appalachian Bioregion* [history, air, water, biota, urbanization, food, energy, waste, transportation, future prospects, sustainability models]. Outdoor Tennessee Series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 435 pp.

Nourse, Hugh, and Carol Nourse. 2000. *Wildflowers of Georgia* [85 color photos]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 120 pp.

Nourse, Hugh O., and Carol Nourse. 2007. *Favorite Wildflower Walks in Georgia* [20 guided walks; color photos; Cumberland Plateau/Ridge and Valley, Blue Ridge, Piedmont, Coastal Plain]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 190 pp.

Ogard, Paulette Haywood. 2010. *Butterflies of Alabama: Glimpses into Their Lives* [84 species]. Photographs by Sara Bright. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 486 pp. Profusely illustrated; county outline maps; glossary; resources.

Olson, Ted. 2003. "In the Public Interest?: The Social and Cultural Impact of the Blue Ridge Parkway, a Depression-Era Appalachian 'Public Works' Project." In *The New Deal and Beyond: Social Welfare in the South since 1930*, ed. E. Green, 100-115. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Palmer, Tim. 1996. "Chapter Two: Appalachian Rivers of Green." In *America By Rivers*, 45-79. Washington, D.C.: Island Press.

Palmer-Ball, Brainard L., Jr. 1996. *The Kentucky Breeding Bird Atlas*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 384 pp.

Pasquill, Robert G. 2008. *The Civilian Conservation Corps in Alabama*, 1933-1942: A Great and Lasting Good. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 242 pp. Interviews on CD included. Forests, parks, TVA, soil conservation; camps listed.

Patrick, Kevin. 2004. *Pennsylvania Caves & Other Rocky Roadside Wonders* [show caves, coal mines, rock cities]. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 256 pp.

Pederson, Daniel. 1999. "The Search for Hidden Life" [taxonomic project to catalog every species of plant and animal in Great Smoky Mountains National Park]. *Newsweek*, 22 November, 82-83.

Pegram, Tim. 2007. *The Blue Ridge Parkway by Foot: A Park Ranger's Memoir* [469-mile backpacking trip]. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 16. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 310 pp.

Petersen, David. 1993. *Great Smoky Mountains National Park* [elementary-level text with photos]. Chicago: Childrens Press. 45 pp.

Philippon, Daniel J. 1997. *Landmarks of American Nature Writing, from Virginia's Blue Ridge Mountains and Shenandoah Valley* [annotated bibliography; 1612 (William Strachey) to 1974 (Annie Dillard)]. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Library. 64 pp.

Phillips, Douglas Jay. 2002. *Discovering Alabama Wetlands*. Photographs by Robert P. Falls. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 128 pp.

Phillips, Douglas Jay. 2006. *Discovering Alabama Forests* [forestry history]. Photographs by Robert P. Falls, Sr. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 108 pp.

Pierce, Daniel S. 2000. *The Great Smokies: From Natural Habitat to National Park*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 296 pp.

Pierce, Daniel S. 2003. "The Road to Nowhere: Tourism Development versus Environmentalism in the Great Smoky Mountains." In *Southern Journeys: Tourism, History, and Culture in the Modern South*, ed. R. Starnes, 196-214. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Platt, Carolyn V. 2012. *Ohio Hill Country: A Rewoven Landscape*. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press. 49 pp. The natural history of southeastern Ohio is charted through color photos, maps, charts, and Platt's narrative.

Porter, Rob, and Michael A. Tarrant. 2005. "Wilderness Non-Use Values and Environmental Justice in the North Georgia Appalachians." *Environmental Practice* 7, no. 2: 108-123.

Powell, Katrina, ed. 2009. "Answer at Once": Letters of Mountain Families in Shenandoah National Park, 1934-1938 [500 families were displaced with the park's creation]. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 174 pp.

Powell, Katrina M. 2002. "Writing the Geography of the Blue Ridge Mountains: How Displacement Recorded the Land" [Shenandoah National Park]. *Biography* 25 (Winter): 73-94.

Pritt, Charlotte. 1995. "Drawing the Lines in West Virginia." Special Section: Eminent Domain. *Southern Exposure* 23 (Summer): 19-24.

Prytherch, David L. 2000. "Digging Themselves a Hole: Dredging and the Changing Value of Western Pennsylvania's Rivers" [Allegheny and Ohio Rivers]. *Pennsylvania Geographer* 37 (Fall/Winter): 159-194.

Purvis, Jesse M., and Lisa Wilson. 2000. "Hydrologic Influences on Fecal Coliform Bacteria in a Tributary to New River Gorge National River." In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April* 15-16, 1999, Boone, North Carolina, 24-31. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Raitz, Karl. 2010. "The Lay of the Land." Chap. 1 in *The Great Valley Road of Virginia: Shenandoah Landscapes from Prehistory to the Present*, ed. W. Hofstra and K. Raitz, 17-56. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press.

Randolph, John N. 2005. *The Battle for Alabama's Wilderness: Saving the Great Gymnasiums of Nature* [Sipsey, Cheaha, and Dugger Mountain Wilderness Areas within Bankhead and Talladega National Forests]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 263 pp.

Rappole, John H. 2002. *Birds of the Mid-Atlantic Region and Where to Find Them* [field guide]. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University. 427 pp.

Rappole, John H. 2006. A Guide to the Birds of the Southeastern States: Florida, Georgia, Alabama, and Mississippi. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 330 pp.

Rappole, John H. 2007. Wildlife of the Mid-Atlantic: A Complete Reference Manual [550 species described]. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press. 327 pp.

Rashleigh, Brenda. 2004. "Fish Assemblage Groups in the Upper Tennessee River Basin" [map, diagram]. *Southeastern Naturalist* 3, no. 4: 621-636.

Ray, Janisse. 1999. *Ecology of a Cracker Childhood* [southern Ga.; forest ecology; biography]. Minneapolis, Minn.: Milkweed Editions. 285 pp.

Rehbein, Ed, and Randall Sanger. 2011. *West Virginia Waterfalls: The New River Gorge*. Terra Alta, W.Va: Headline Books. 112 pp. Captioned color photos, with maps, of 116 falls of the Gauley, Bluestone, and New Rivers.

Reiter, Chris. 2001. "Puc Puggy Lives! In the Footsteps of William Bartram, a Corps of Scientists and Volunteers Surveys the Biodiversity of the Appalachian Trail." *Wild Earth* 11 (Spring): 82-86.

Remo, Jonathan W. F., and J. Steven Kite. 2000. "Geologic Controls on Landslides in the New River Gorge, West Virginia" [between Hinton and Fayette Station]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 15-16, 1999, Boone, North Carolina*, 87-97. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Rentch, James S., and Ronald H. Fortney. 1997. "The Vegetation of West Virginia Grass Bald Communities." *Castanea* 62 (September): 147-160.

Rhoads, Ann Fowler, and Timothy A. Block. 2007. *The Plants of Pennsylvania: An Illustrated Manual* [authoritative classification; detailed drawings]. Illustrations by Anna Anisko. 2nd ed. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press. 1042 pp.

Rich, Jeff. 2011. *Watershed: The French Broad River* [N.C., Tenn.; 40 color photos; pollution]. Essays by Rod Slemmons and French Broad Riverkeeper, Hartwell Carson. Portland, Ore.: Photolucida. 94 pp.

Rohr, Karl. 2007. "In a Lusty but Not Boastful Manner: Harvey Broome and the Crafting of a Wilderness Philosophy" [correspondence; 1964 Wilderness Act; Great Smoky Mountains]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 13, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 137-152.

Roody, William C. 2002. *Mushrooms of West Virginia and the Central Appalachians* [identification guide; 400 species; color photos]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 520 pp.

Roth, Richard A. 2000. "American Heritage Rivers: A New Model for Watershed Planning in Appalachia." In *A Geographic Perspective of Pittsburgh and the Alleghenies: From Precambrian to Post-Industrial*, ed. K. Patrick and J. Scarpaci, 196-203. Washington, D.C.: Association of American Geographers.

Roth, Richard A. 2006. "American Heritage Rivers: A New Model for Watershed Planning in Appalachia" [New River Community Partners: N.C., Va., W. Va. watershed]. In *Pittsburgh and the Appalachians: Cultural and Natural Resources in a Postindustrial Age*, ed. J. Scarpaci, 220-231. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press.

Rouse, David L., and L. Sue Greer-Pitt. 2006. "Natural Resources and Environment of Appalachia" [with suggested readings]. In *A Handbook to Appalachia: An Introduction to the Region*, ed. G. Edwards, J. Asbury, and R. Cox, 51-66. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Rudel, Thomas K. 1995. "Did TVA Make a Difference: An Organizational Dilemma and Reforestation in the Southern Appalachians." *Society and Natural Resources* 8 (November-December): 493-508.

Ryan, Christopher W., and Michael R. Vaughan. 2004. "Den Characteristics of Black Bears in Southwestern Virginia." *Southeastern Naturalist* 3, no. 4: 659-668.

Sanderson, Carol A. 2006. *A Guide to Common Pennsylvania Wildflowers* [285 wildflowers; 300 color photos]. Reedsville, Pa.: Breezewood Publications. 230 pp.

Sarvis, Will. 2011. *The Jefferson National Forest: An Appalachian Environmental History*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 354 pp. Contents: Prehistoric southwestern Virginia - Agricultural settlers -- Turnpikes and romance in the mountains -- Industrial logging discovers Appalachia -- JNF and the rise of national conservation -- The Depression era -- World War II and postwar transitions -- The Mount Rogers National Recreation Area -- From commodity interests to ecological forestry -- Cultural resources -- Sacred land -- Old commons meets the new -- Epilogue -- Appendix A: Pioneer Forest: a case study in modern selective forest management -- Appendix B: Payment in lieu of taxes -- Appendix C: Miscellaneous statistics and recent budget data.

Scheuerman, Phillip. 2011. "The Environmental Health of Appalachia and the Role of the Environmental Health Program at ETSU" [East Tennessee State University, Johnson City]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 59-60.

Schiller, Mike. 2011. "Pittsburgh: City of Green Champions." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 44-47. Green Building Alliance and the region's many progressive projects.

Schoenbaum, Thomas J. [1979] 2007. *The New River Controversy* [1970s damming challenge; 1979 Weatherford Award winner]. Foreword by Sam J. Ervin, Jr. [N.C. senator; 1896-1985], with a new epilogue by R. Seth Woodard. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 15. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 202 pp. Originally published: Winston-Salem: J. F. Blair.

Shabecoff, Philip. 1998. "Afer Decades of Deception, A Time to Act" [legal imperative]. In *An Appalachian Tragedy: Air Pollution and Tree Death in the Eastern Forests of North America*, ed. H. Ayers, J. Hager, and C. E. Little, 184-197. San Francisco: Sierra Club Books.

Shaffner, Randolph P. 2009. *First Creation: 100 Years of Land Conservation* [photos]. Highlands, N.C.: Faraway Publishing. 96 pp. Highlands-Cashiers Plateau, Blue Ridge Mountains.

Shaluta, Stephen J. 2010. *West Virginia Beauty, Familiar and Rare*. Photographs by Steve Shaluta, text by Jeanne Mozier. Charleston, W.Va: Quarrier Press. 124 pp. Coffee-table size volume of captioned, full-page color photographs of outdoor settings.

Shaluta, Steve, and Edwin Michael. 2012. *Wild and Wonderful: The Wildlife of West Virginia*. Photographs by Steve Shaluta; text by Edwin Michael. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 72 pp.

Shaluta, Steve, Jr. 2004. *The State Parks of West Virginia* [full-page color photos]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 60 pp.

Sharber, Chad, and Alan Mills. 2000. "Defending the Wilderness" [Rockcastle Co., Ky.: Anglin Falls: John B. Stephenson Memorial Forest]. *Appalachian Heritage* 28 (Spring): 10-12.

Sharp, Llyn. 2000. "Water Quality Education for Teachers in the New River Valley" [Va.; Save Our Streams; K-12]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 15-16, 1999, Boone, North Carolina*, 32-41. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Sheffield, Ben. 1997. "Black Rock Mountain State Park" [Rabun County, Ga.; interview]. *Foxfire Magazine* 31 (Fall/Winter): 119-127.

Silver, Timothy. 2003. "Stories from Four Thousand Feet: Summer Solstice: Mount Mitchell, East Face." [Excerpt from *Mount Mitchell and the Black Mountains: An Environmental History of the Highest Peaks in Eastern America* (University of North Carolina Press, 2003)]. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 2, no. 1 (Spring): nonfiction section, 50 para. http://scholar.lib.vt.edu/ejournals/nreview/issue2-1/non-fiction/silver.htm.

Silver, Timothy. 2003. Mount Mitchell and the Black Mountains: An Environmental History of the Highest Peaks in Eastern America. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 322 pp.

Simmons, Jo Ann. 2001. "Learning Happens" [aquaculture labs teach rural students math, science; Ala.; PACERS Small Schools Co-op]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 18 (Spring): 18-21.

Simo, Melanie Louise. 2003. Forest & Garden: Traces of Wildness in a Modernizing Land, 1897-1949 [references to Benton MacKaye, Appalachian Trail]. Charlottesville: University Press of Virginia. 302 pp.

Skeate, Stewart T. 2005. *A Nature Guide to Northwest North Carolina*. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 215 pp.

Slavishak, Edward. 2012. "Loveliness but with an Edge: Looking at the Smoky Mountains, 1920-1945." *Journal of Social History* 45, no. 4 (Summer): 1074-1096.

Smith, Kathy Mays. 2001. *Gold Medal CCC Company 1538—A Documentary* [W. Va.]. Paducah, Ky.: Turner Publishing Co., 288 pp.

Smith, Richard M. 1998. *Wildflowers of the Southern Mountains* [Blue Ridge focus; 1200 species; 600 photos]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 456 pp.

Smith, Thomas G. 1999. "Voice For Wild and Scenic Rivers: John P. Saylor of Pennsylvania" [1950s-60s]. *Pennsylvania History* 66 (Autumn): 554-579.

Soraghan, Mike. 2011. "In Fish-Kill Mystery, EPA Scientist Points at Shale Drilling." *New York Times*, 12 October: Business section (Energy & Environment). 1,662 words. Massive 2009 aquatic kill on Dunkard Creek (W. Va./Pa. state line) placed initial blame on discharge from Consol Energy's Blacksville No. 2 coal mine.

http://www.nytimes.com/gwire/2011/10/12/12greenwire-in-fish-kill-mystery-epa-scientist-points-at-s-86563.html? Also reprinted from Greenwire in *Scientific American*, 12 October (2011). http://www.scientificamerican.com/article.cfm?id=epa-scientist-points-at-fracking-in-fish-kill-mystery&page=3.

Spira, Timothy P. 2011. Wildflowers & Plant Communities of the Southern Appalachian Mountains & Piedmont: A Naturalist's Guide to the Carolinas, Virginia, Tennessee, & Georgia. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 521 pp.

Starnes, Richard D. 2012. "Tourism, Landscape, and History in the Great Smoky Mountains National Park." Chap. 12 in *Destination Dixie: Tourism and Southern History*, ed K. Cox, 267-284. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. "...the park is an artificial creation of space, landscape, and historythe Smokies offer a useful and instructive example of how the land and the past have been woven together to create a tourist destination."

Stewart, Kevin G. 2007. Exploring the Geology of the Carolinas: A Field Guide to Favorite Places from Chimney Rock to Charleston [36 field trips; 11 in Blue Ridge region]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 298 pp.

Stewart, Mart A. 2002. "Southern Environmental History." In *A Companion to the American South*, ed. J. Boles, 409-423. Blackwell Companions to American History, no. 3. Malden, Mass.: Blackwell.

Stith, Matthew M. 2007. "Women Locked the Doors, Children Screamed, and Men Trembled in their Boots': Black Bears and People in Arkansas." *Arkansas Historical Quarterly* 66, no. 1 (Spring): 1-17.

Summers, Chuck. 1999. A Year in the Big South Fork National River and Recreation Area [Tenn./Ky.; photographs]. Foreword by Howard Baker, Jr. Jellico, Tenn.: Contemplative Images. 48 pp.

Sutter, Paul. 1999. "'A Retreat from Profit': Colonization, the Appalachian Trail, and the Social Roots of Benton MacKaye's Wilderness Advocacy." *Environmental History* 4 (October): 553-577.

Swanger, Rebecca Diane. 2010. "'Something akin to a second birth': Joseph Trimble Rothrock and the Formation of the Forestry Movement in Pennsylvania, 1839–1922." *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 134, no. 4 (October): 339-363.

Swanson, Drew A. 2008. "Marketing a Mountain: Changing Views of Environment and Landscape on Grandfather Mountain, North Carolina" [1880s to present]. *Appalachian Journal* 36, no. 1-2 (Fall 2008/Winter 2009): 30-53.

Swanson, Drew A. 2012. "Endangered Species and Threatened Landscapes in Appalachia: Managing the Wild and the Human in the American Mountain South." *Environment and History* 18, no. 1 (February): 35-60.

Swanson, Robert E., and Frances R. Swanson. 1994. A Field Guide to the Trees and Shrubs of the Southern Appalachians. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 368 pp.

Sypolt, Larry N. 2005. *Civilian Conservation Corps: A Selectively Annotated Bibliography* [2198 entries; 18 subject areas; 1930s work assignments, camps, parks, projects, etc.]. Westport, Conn.: Praeger. 228 pp.

Tager, Miles. 1999. *Grandfather Mountain: A Profile* [N.C.; history]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 126 pp.

Taylor, Curtis I. 1997. "Home Range and Movements of Wild Turkey Hens in the New River Valley, Summers County, West Virginia" [management; restoration]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 11-12, 1997, Glade Springs Resort, Daniels, West Virginia,* 67-79. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Tekiela, Stan. 2008. *Birds of West Virginia: Field Guide*. Cambridge, Minn.: Adventure Publications. 309 pp. "Companion to Birds of West Virginia Audio CDs."

Thomas, Sarah. 2007. "Ursus Americanus: Adapting to a World Less Wild" [backyard bear encounters]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 45-48.

Tilley, Stephen G., and James E. Huheey. 2004. *Reptiles & Amphibians of the Smokies* [field guide; Tenn., N.C.]. 2nd ed. Gatlinburg, Tenn.: Great Smoky Mountains Association. 143 pp.

Toshikatsu, Ue. 1998. *Asunaro: Living in the Mountains of Japan: Essays*. Selected and translated by Richard Jambor. Edited by Charles Moore; foreword by Jean Haskell. Johnson City, Tenn.: Center for Appalachian Studies and Services, East Tennessee State University. 193 pp. Thirty essays: Kii Peninsula; logging camps; reforestation; coal and charcoal production; absentee ownership; "values, attitudes, and practices...that resonate with Appalachia."

Travis, Karen. 2007. "The Perfect Ten" [gray wolf pups introduced; Bays Mountain Nature Preserve, Kingsport, Tenn.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 38-41.

Trimble, Ruth. 1996. "Kudos to Kudzu." Appalachian Heritage 24 (Fall): 59-60.

Trinkle, Holly. 2007. "A Talking Crow in the Family Tree" [oral history: crow's high jinks]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 6-8.

United States Army Corps of Engineers. 2004. *Monongahela River Navigation Charts: Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania to Fairmont, West Virginia* [atlas; terminals; landings; harbors; mileage]. Pittsburgh, Pa.: U.S. Army Engineer District. 34 col. maps.

United States Forest Service. 1995. *Monongahela National Forest: Endangered and Sensitive Plant Field Guide*. Elkins, W. Va.: U.S. Department of Agriculture. 65 pp.

Valentine, James. 2011. *Southern Appalachian Celebration: In Praise of Ancient Mountains, Old-Growth Forests, & Wilderness* [oversize color photos]. With text by Chris Bolgiano; Foreword by William H. Meadows, President, The Wilderness Society; and Introduction by Robert Zahner. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 136 pp.

Vermette, Stephen, and Lisa Hall. 2009. "Cave Climatology of Laurel Caverns, Pennsylvania" [Fayette Co.]. *Pennsylvania Geographer* 47, no. 1 (Fall/Winter): 124-140.

Waage, Frederick O. 2010. *Sinking Creek Journal: An Environmental Book of Days* [East Tenn.; seasonal reflections]. Bristol, Va.: Little Creek Books. 192 pp.

Wadley, Jeff, and Dwight McCarter. 2002. Mayday! Mayday! Aircraft Crashes in the Great Smoky Mountains National Park, 1920-2000. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 212 pp.

Waller, Robert A. 2003. "The Civilian Conservation Corps and the Emergence of South Carolina's State Park System, 1933-1942" [four of the 17 parks are in Appalachian counties]. *South Carolina Historical Magazine* 104 (April): 101-125.

Wapner, Kenneth. 1995. "Appalachian Trailblazing: A Town of 5,000 Adopts a Forest" [Pisgah National Forest, NC]. *Amicus Journal* 16 (Winter): 26-30.

Watkins, T. H. 1998. "The View from Brasstown Bald" [Chattahoochee National Forest, Ga.]. In *An Appalachian Tragedy: Air Pollution and Tree Death in the Eastern Forests of North America*, ed. H. Ayers, J. Hager, and C. E. Little, 40-53. San Francisco: Sierra Club Books.

Weidensaul, Scott. 1994. *Mountains of the Heart: A Natural History of the Appalachians*. Golden, Colo.: Fulcrum. 276 pp. "...shows how geology, ecology, climate, evolution, and more than 500 years of human history have shaped one of the continent's greatest landscapes."

Weigl, Peter D., and Travis W. Knowles. 1995. "Megaherbivores and Southern Appalachian Grass Balds." *Growth and Change* 26 (Summer): 365-382.

West Virginia Forestry Association. 2005. *Common Myths about Appalachian Forests* [industry-friendly refutations of ten "myths"]. Ripley, W. Va.: Public Lands and Timber Committees, West Virginia Forestry Association. 33 pp.

Whisnant, Anne Mitchell, and David E. Whisnant. 2009. "Blue Ridge Parkway, America's Favorite Journey' / 'Within a Day's Drive of Millions'" [Shenandoah NP]. *Journal of American History* 96, no. 3 (December): 797-803. Review essay of two new permanent exhibits: "Blue Ridge Parkway, America's Favorite Journey" (opened 2008), displayed at the Blue Ridge Parkway Visitor Center in Asheville, N.C.; and "Within a Day's Drive of Millions" (opened 2007), displayed at the Harry F. Byrd Visitor Center at the Shenandoah National Park at Big Meadows, Va.

Whisnant, Anne Mitchell. 2006. *Super-Scenic Motorway: A Blue Ridge Parkway History* [469 miles: Va., N.C.]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 464 pp.

Whitney, Amy G. 2005. "Home Range" [box turtle]. Nantahala: A Review of Writing and

Photography in Appalachia 3, no. 1 (Winter): nonfiction section, 3500 words. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-1/non-fiction/whitney.htm.

Wichrowski, Michael W., et al. 2005. "Activity and Movements of Reintroduced Elk in Southeastern Kentucky" [1999-2000]. *Southeastern Naturalist* 4, no. 2: 365-374.

Wildness. 2007. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 1-80. Oral history, fiction, poems, photos, recipes.

Wilhelm, Gene. 1997. *Appalachian Highlands: A Field Guide to Ecology*. Mount Vernon, Ky.: Appalachia - Science in the Public Interest. 168 pp.

Williams, Charles E. 2006. *Along the Allegheny River: The Northern Watershed* [vintage photos; western Pa.]. Postcard History Series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp. Contents: The Upper Allegheny Valley | The Conewango Valley | The Brokenstraw Valley | The Oil Creek Valley | The French Creek Valley | The Tionesta Creek Valley | The Clarion River Valley | The Middle Allegheny River Valley | References.

Williams, Charles E. 2006. *Along the Allegheny River: The Southern Watershed* [vintage photos; western Pa.]. Postcard History Series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Contents: The Red Bank Creek valley | The Mahoning Creek and Crooked Creek valleys | The Kiskiminetas River and Loyalhanna Creek valleys | The Conemaugh River valley | The Lower Allegheny River valley | References.

Williams, Jack. 2006. *East 40 Degrees: An Interpretive Atlas* [Appalachian Mountain chain, Ala. to Me.; geography, geology, local history, cities and towns]. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 248 pp.

Williams, Jonathan. 2004. Review of Wendell Berry's *Citizenship Papers* (Shoemaker & Hoard, 2003). *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 2, no. 2 (Winter-Spring): Review section, 6 paras. http://nantahalareview.org/issue2-2/view/WILLIAMS_Review.htm.

Williams, Lon, Lee Skabelund, and John Schmidt. 2000. "Preserving the Natural and Cultural Heritage along the New River" [proposed parkway]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 15-16, 1999, Boone, North Carolina*, 14-23. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Williams, Michael Ann. 2002. "When I Can Read My Title Clear': Anti-Environmentalism and Sense of Place in the Great Smoky Mountains." In *Culture, Environment, and Conservation in the Appalachian South*, ed. Benita Howell, 87-99. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Williams, Philip Lee. 1999. *Crossing Wildcat Ridge: A Memoir of Nature and Healing* [north-central Ga.]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 225 pp.

Williams, Wayne E., and S. Dwayne Stutzman. 2000. "A Visual Assessment of the New River" [Ashe and Alleghany Cos., N.C.; national scenic river portion (26.5 mi.)]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 15-16, 1999, Boone, North Carolina*, 117-123. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Williams, Wendy. 2004. "When Blade Meets Bat" [wind turbines; Backbone Mountain, W. Va.]. *Scientific American* 290 (February): 20-21.

Wilshusen, J. Peter. 1997. *Geology of the Appalachian Trail in Pennsylvania* [guidebook]. General Geology Report Series. Harpers Ferry, W. Va.: Appalachian Trail Conference.

Winchester, Renea. 2010. "Remembering" [memoir; 75th anniversary of Great Smoky Mountains National Park]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 2 (Spring): 65-68.

Wise, Kenneth, and Ronald H. Petersen. 1998. *A Natural History of Mount Le Conte* [Tenn.; Great Smoky Mountains]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 137 pp.

Wise, Kenneth. 2000. "'A Certain Class of Persons Ambitious': Smoky Mountain Exploration and the Buckley-Clingman Controversy" [1858; N.C.; search for highest peak/naming opportunity]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 72: 30-48.

Wiser, Susan K., and Peter S. White. 1999. "High-Elevation Outcrops and Barrens of the Southern Appalachian Mountains" [Tenn., N.C.]. In *Savannas, Barrens, and Rock Outcrop Plant Communities of North America*, ed. R. Anderson, 119-132. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Wofford, B. Eugene, and Edward W. Chester. 2002. *Guide to the Trees, Shrubs, and Woody Vines of Tennessee* [technical reference manual; 380 color plates]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 286 pp.

Zickefoose, Julie. 2006. *Letters from Eden: A Year at Home, in the Woods* [Ohio; seasonal observations by a field biologist and NPR commentator; numerous sketches, watercolors]. Boston: Houghton Mifflin. 224 pp.

Zumbrun, Francis. 2010. *A History of Green Ridge State Forest* [Allegany Co., Western Md.]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 157 pp.

ETHNICITY and RACE, AFRICAN AMERICANS, IMMIGRANTS, NATIVE AMERICANS

Includes Cherokee, Melungeon, and Latino studies, segregation and slavery, immigrant settlers and laborers, black miners, Jews

Adair, James. 2005 [1775]. *The History of the American Indians* [trader, ca.1709-1783; southeastern Indians; Catawba, Cherokee, Creek, Choctaw, and Chickasaw]. Edited by Kathryn E. Holland Braund. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 589 pp. Originally published: London: Edward and Charles Dilly.

Adams, Mikaela M. 2012. "Residency and Enrollment: Diaspora and the Catawba Indian Nation." *South Carolina Historical Magazine* 13, no. 1 (January): 24-49.

African-American Appalachian Issue [articles, poetry, fiction, book review, bibliography, photos]. 2008. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 3 (Summer): 1-124. Guest coeditor, William H. Turner; "This issue dedicated to Ed Cabbell, Pioneer in African-American Appalachian Studies." Includes 22 poems by Afrilachian poets and Effie Waller Smith (1879-1960).

Ailes, Jane, and Marie Tyler-McGraw. 2012. "Leaving Virginia for Liberia: Western Virginia Emigrants and Emancipators" [1830s-1860s]. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 6, no. 2 (Fall): 1-34. Tables. "...colonization proved inadequate and even harmful to many."

Alexander, J. Trent. 1998. "The Great Migration in Comparative Perspective: Interpreting the Urban Origins of Southern Black Migrants to Depression-Era Pittsburgh." *Social Science History* 22 (Fall): 349-376.

Alonso, Rosalyn Queen. 2009. "Growing Up Italian" [b. 1939]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 11: 34-35. Author profile on page 61.

Alther, Lisa. 2007. Kinfolks: Falling Off the Family Tree: The Search for my Melungeon Ancestors. New York: Arcade. 241 pp.

Altman, Heidi M. 2006. *Eastern Cherokee Fishing* [central to cultural identity, language; Western N.C.]. Contemporary American Indian Studies. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 138pp.

Altman, Heidi M., and Thomas N. Belt. 2011. "Moving Around in the Room: Cherokee Language, Worldview and Memory." In *Museums and Memory: Selected Papers from the Annual Meeting of the Southern Anthropological Society, Staunton, Virginia, March, 2008*, ed. M. Huber, 227-233. Knoxville, Tenn.: Newfound Press.

Altman, Heidi M., and Thomas N. Belt. 2008. "Reading History: Cherokee History through a Cherokee Lens." *Native South* 1: 90-98. Relationships between language, culture, and thought.

Alvarez, Raymond. 2009. "La Familia Fernandez: Recalling a Spanish Family in Clarksburg." Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life 35, no. 3 (Fall): 19-23. Author's grandparents immigrated from Asturias, Spain, in 1913 and 1917. Sidebar: "The Spanish Picnic" [annually 1930s-60s, Morris Park, Fairmont, W. Va.; recipe for Rice Paella], 24-25.

Alzo, Lisa A. 2001. *Three Slovak Women* [follows three generations; steel town Duquesne, Pa.; mill/miner immigrants]. Baltimore, Md.: Gateway Press. 111 pp.

Anderson, Eric Gary. 2007. "On Native Ground: Indigenous Presences and Countercolonial Strategies in Southern Narratives of Captivity, Removal, and Repossession." *Southern Spaces*, 9 August. 3,094 words, plus maps and Recommended Resources: Print; Links; Archives; Academic Assiociations; Tribal Nations. http://southernspaces.org/2007/native-ground-indigenous-presences-and-countercolonial-strategies-southern-narratives-captivity.

Andrew, John A. [1992] 2007. From Revivals to Removal: Jeremiah Evarts, the Cherokee Nation, and the Search for the Soul of America. Rpt. ed. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 434 pp. "Between the end of the Revolutionary War in 1781 and Andrew Jackson's retirement from the presidency in 1837, a generation of Americans acted out a great debate over the nature of the national character and the future political, economic, and religious course of the country. Jeremiah Evarts (1781-1831) and many others saw the debate as a battle over the soul of America."

Anglin, Mary K. 2004. "Erasures of the Past: Culture, Power, and Heterogeneity in Appalachia" [African Americans, Cherokees, Melungeons]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10 (Spring/Fall): 73-84.

Ansley, Fran, and Anne Lewis. 2011. "Going South, Coming North: Migration and Union Organizing in Morristown, Tennessee." *Southern Spaces*, 19 May. "This multimedia essay augments the 2007 Appalshop film 'Morristown: In the Air and Sun'." Contents: Introduction | Going South: A Trip to the Maquiladoras | Coming North: The Long Hard Crossing | Arriving in Morristown: New Kinds of Borders | Organizing in a Southern Industry: Immigrants Step Up | Looking Back and Ahead | Recommended Resources.

http://www.southernspaces.org/2011/going-south-coming-north-migration-and-union-organizing-morristown-tennessee.

Apperson, George M. 2000. "African Americans on the Tennessee Frontier: John Gloucester and His Contemporaries." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 59 (Spring): 2-19.

Arch-Smoker, Sallie. 2009. "New Language." *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 4 (Fall): 98-99. Confronting English language as a first-grader when the author's first language was Cherokee (Tsalagi).

Aretha, David. 2007. *The Trial of the Scottsboro Boys* [1931 rape trial; juvenile literature]. Civil Rights Series. Greensboro, N.C.: Morgan Reynolds. 128 pp.

Argeo, Luis. 2009. "Asturian West Virginia." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 3 (Fall): 14-18. Immigrants from the Asturias province of Spain came by the thousands to Harrison and Marion Counties to work in the zinc factories in the early 20th century.

Armstead, Robert, as told to S. L. Gardner. 2002. *Black Days, Black Dust: The Memories of an African American Coal Miner* [1927-2002; Marion Co., W. Va.]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 272 pp.

Arneach, Lloyd. 2008. *Long-Ago Stories of the Eastern Cherokee* [folklore]. Illustrations by Elizabeth Ellison. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 128 pp. "Native Cherokee and professional storyteller Lloyd Arneach recounts tales such as how the bear lost his long bushy tail and how the first strawberry came to be."

Atkinson, James R. 2004. *Splendid Land, Splendid People: The Chickasaw Indians to Removal* [Miss., upper Tombigbee River]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 366 pp.

Augusté, N. N. 2010. "A Lifetime of Devotion: The T. J. Blumer Collection on the Catawba Nation, 1756–Present." *Native South* 3: 118-124. Pottery, oral histories, personal diaries, papers, and photographs.

Bailey, Anne J. 2006. "The War Within: The Divided Loyalties of Native Americans." Chap. 2 in *Invisible Southerners: Ethnicity in the Civil War*, 24-46. Jack N. and Addie D. Averitt Lecture Series, no. 14. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Bailey, Kenneth R. 2002. "Strange Tongues: West Virginia and Immigrant Labor to 1920" [tables]. In *Transnational West Virginia: Ethnic Communities and Economic Change, 1840-1940*, ed. K. Fones-Wolf and R. Lewis, 242-258. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 1. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Bailey, Kenneth R. 2009. "The Other *Brown v. Board of Education.*" *West Virginia History*, n.s. 3, no. 2 (Fall): 53-73. Black opposition to segregation of Charleston's public library, 1923-1956.

Bailey, Ruth Knight. 2004. "Lost Tribes: Indian Mormons in the Blue Ridge Mountains of Virginia" [Amherst, Rockbridge, Nelson Cos.]. In *CrossRoads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 135-169. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Baine, Rodney M. 1995. "Indian Slavery in Colonial Georgia." *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 74 (Summer): 418-424.

Baker, Chris. 2012. "Hillbilly Norte: Latino Communities and Institutions in Change in Rural East Tennessee" [Morristown]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 14-16.

Ballard, Ross. 2002. "Doing Fine at 99: A Visit With Melvin Harris" [former miner, teacher; McDowell Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Spring): 30-35.

Banks, James W. 2004. *The Call of the Hawk* [fiction; 1779 Shawnee Indian captivity, based on a true story]. Baltimore: PublishAmerica. 310 pp.

Banks, Jay. 2005. *The Call of the Hawk* [fiction]. Baltimore, Md.: PublishAmerica. 310 pp. Shawnee Indian captivity, based on the author's great-great-great grandmother's life; 1786-1810, Greenbrier Valley, (W.)Va.

Banks, William H., Jr. 2004. *Plants of the Cherokee: Medicinal, Edible, and Useful Plants of the Eastern Cherokee Indians* [1950s masters thesis]. Gatlinburg, Tenn.: Great Smoky Mountains Association. 149 pp.

Bankston, Carl L. 2007. "New People in the New South: An Overview of Southern Immigration" [history; table from 2000 Census]. *Southern Cultures* 13, no. 4 (Winter): 24-44.

Banner, Stuart. 2005. *How the Indians Lost Their Land: Law and Power on the Frontier*. Cambridge, Mass: Belknap Press of Harvard University Press. 344 pp.

Barcus, Holly. 2007. "The Emergence of New Hispanic Settlement Patterns in Appalachia" [population tripled, 1980-2000; tables; shaded county outline maps]. *Professional Geographer* 59, no. 3 (August): 298-315.

Barkey, Frederick A. 2002. "'Here Come the Boomer 'Talys': Italian Immigrants and Industrial Conflict in the Upper Kanawha Valley, 1903-1917" [coal; strikes]. In *Transnational West Virginia: Ethnic Communities and Economic Change, 1840-1940*, ed. K. Fones-Wolf and R. Lewis, 160-189. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 1. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Barnard, Susan K., and Grace M. Schwartzman. 1998. "Tecumseh and the Creek Indian War of 1813-1814 in North Georgia." *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 82 (Fall): 489-506.

Barnes, Jodi. 2011. "An Archaeology of Community Life: Appalachia, 1865-1920" [Amherst Co., Va.]. *International Journal of Historical Archaeology* 15, no. 4 (December): 669-706. Maps, tables, photos. History of post-emancipation African American families who built a community in Virginia's Blue Ridge Mountains.

Barnes, Jodi. 2011. "Land Rich and Cash Poor: The Materiality of Poverty in Appalachia." *Historical Archaeology* 45, no. 3: 26-40. Blue Ridge Va., 1865-1920; considers "intersections of poverty, race, and class in the material lives of African American landowners and tenants."

Barr, Daniel P. 2006. "A Road for Warriors': The Western Delawares and the Seven Years War" [differentiated from the Eastern Delawares and the Ohio Indians]. *Pennsylvania History* 73, no. 1 (Winter): 1-36.

Barr, Daniel P. 2006. "This Land Is Ours and Not Yours': The Western Delawares and the Seven Years' War in the Upper Ohio Valley, 1755-1758." Chap. 2 in *The Boundaries between*

Us: Natives and Newcomers along the Frontiers of the Old Northwest Territory, 1750-1850, ed. D. Barr, 25-43. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press.

Barr, Daniel P., ed. 2006. *The Boundaries between Us: Natives and Newcomers along the Frontiers of the Old Northwest Territory, 1750-1850* [Ohio River Valley; 11 chapters]. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press. 261 pp.

Barrick, Michael. 1998. "An Appetite for Life" [Italian-Americans and eating in Clarksburg, W. Va.]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 15 (Spring): 3-5.

Bartoletti, Susan Campbell. 2000. *A Coal Miner's Bride: The Diary of Annetka Kaminska: Lattimer, Pennsylvania, 1896.* [Polish immigrants; Pa. anthracite region; young readers historical fiction]. Dear America series. New York: Scholastic. 219 pp.

Bartram, William. 2002. *William Bartram On the Southeastern Indians* [1739-1823]. Edited by Gregory A. Waselkov and Kathryn E. Braund. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 360 pp.

Basile, Victor A. 2009. "The Making of 'Little Italys' in the Appalachian Hills of West Virginia" [Clarksburg]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 11: 44-49.

Battlo, Jean. 1997. "Mining in the Melting Pot: The African American Influx into the McDowell County Mines." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Winter): 46-51.

Battlo, Jean. 1999. "Lavoro e Casa': Memories of an Italian Mining Family" [McDowell Co.; immigrated 1914]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Spring): 48-55.

Battlo, Jean. 2011. "Kimball's War Memorial" [McDowell Co.; WWI; dedicated 1928 in reaction to a 1923 memorial that had excluded blacks]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 1 (Spring): 44-45. "By 1910, McDowell County had the largest concentration of African Americans in the Appalachian region, representing 35% of the labor force in the Pocahontas coalfield. When World War I broke out, approximately 1,500 McDowell County blacks left the mines to serve in the armed forces."

Bauer, Margaret D. 2005. "'[He] didn't come here on the *Mayflower*': A Defense of Alex Haley's *Roots*" [Doubleday (1976); Haley's papers are in University of Tennessee archives]. In *Crossroads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 377-401. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Beard-Moose, Christina Taylor. 2009. *Public Indians, Private Cherokees: Tourism and Tradition on Tribal Ground*. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 185 pp. Contents: Researching the obvious: tourism and the Eastern Cherokee -- The trail of tourism -- Academic perspectives on tourism and the case of Cherokee, North Carolina -- Eastern Cherokee ingenuity -- Disneyfication on the boundary -- Mass tourism's effects on indigenous communities -- Epilogue: An Eastern Cherokee renaissance.

Beasley, Brenda Gale. 2002. "'Trail of the Whispering Giants': One Man's Monumental Tribute" [Peter Toth's numerous, giant, carved, Indian-head statues, include Sequoyah in his 50-state series]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 49 (Fall/Winter): 52-64.

Beaver, Patricia D., and Helen M. Lewis. 1998. "Uncovering the Trail of Ethnic Denial: Ethnicity in Appalachia" [whiteness; class; ethnicity]. In *Cultural Diversity in the U.S. South: Anthropological Contributions to a Region in Transition*, ed. C. Hill and P. Beaver, 51-68. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 31. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Beck, Monica L. 1998. "'A Fer Ways Off from the Big House': The Changing Nature of Slavery in the South Carolina Backcountry" [York Co.]. In *The Southern Colonial Backcountry: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Frontier Communities*, ed. D. Crass, et al., 108-136. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Beckerman, Ira. 2006. "Tribal Consultation in Pennsylvania: A Personal View from Within the Pennsylvania Department of Transportation" [burial sites; National Historic Preservation Act; Seneca, Cayuga, and Delaware tribes]. Chap. 12 in *Cross-Cultural Collaboration: Native Peoples and Archaeology in the Northeastern United States*, ed. J. Kerber, 183-196. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.

Beers, Paul G. 1994. "The Wythe County Lynching of Raymond Bird: Progressivism vs. Mob Violence in the '20s." *Appalachian Journal* 22 (Fall): 34-59.

Beik, Mildred Allen. 2002. "The Significance of the Lattimer Massacre: Who Owns Its History?" [1897; immigrants]. *Pennsylvania History* 69 (Winter): 58-70.

Belt, Roseanna S. 2010. "Jerry Wolfe: Cherokee Elder" [b. 1924, Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians; 2010 Brown-Hudson Folklore Award winner]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 57, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 19-21.

Belton, Sandra. 2000. *McKendree* [juvenile fiction; 1948 W. Va.; African-American girl's coming-of-age story]. New York: Greenwillow. 262 pp.

Bender, Margaret C. 2002. "The Gendering of *Langue* and *Parole*: Literacy in Cherokee" [1820s syllabary]. In *Southern Indians and Anthropologists: Culture, Politics, and Identity*, ed. L. Lefler and F. Gleach, 77-88. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 35. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Besmann, Wendy Lowe. 2002. *A Separate Circle: Jewish Life in Knoxville, Tennessee*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 216 pp.

Bess, Michael K. 2012. "Obreros in the Peach State: The Growth of Georgia's Working-Class Mexican Immigrant Communities from a Transnational Perspective" [Dalton]. In *Life and Labor in the New New South*, ed. R. Zieger, 214-235. Gainesville: University Press of Florida.

Bickley, Ancella R. 1997. "Dubie, Spanky, and Mr. Death: West Virginia's Pioneering Black Airmen" [W. Va.'s Tuskegee Airmen]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Summer): 42-44.

Bickley, Ancella R. 2001. "Camp War: Remembering CCC Company 3538-C" [McDowell Co.; 1935-1942; all-black Civilian Conservation Corps camp]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Winter): 22-29.

Bickley, Ancella R. 2001. *In Spite of Obstacles: A History of The West Virginia Schools for the Colored Deaf and Blind*, 1926-1955. Charleston: West Virginia Department of Education and the Arts, Division of Rehabilitation Service. 88 pp.

Bickley, Ancella R. 2003. "Lafadie Belle Whittico: Black Medical Pioneer in Mingo County" [b. 1911; first black nurse, 1930s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Winter): 40-45.

Bickley, Ancella R. 2004. "'Lifting as We Climb': Charleston Woman's Improvement League" [black women's service organization, founded 1898]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Winter): 54-59.

Bickley, Ancella R. 2008. "Carter G. Woodson: The West Virginia Connection" [1875-1950]. *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 3 (Summer): 58-69. "The Father of Black History"; special issue—"African-American Appalachia"

Bickley, Ancella. 2002. "The West Virginia Schools for the Colored Deaf and Blind" [Institute, W. Va.; 1926-1955]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Fall): 22-23.

Bickley, Ancella. 2006. "Education and Activism in Gary: A Visit with Jessie Moon Thomas" [African American; b. 1913; taught 42 years in McDowell Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 4 (Winter): 32-37.

Bickley, Ancella. 2011. "General Edward Greer: West Virginia's First Black General" [b. 1924, McDowell Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 4 (Winter): 42-47. Memories of segregated towns, Gary and Welch; served in Korea and Vietnam.

Biggers, Jeff. 2012. "Valley Girl: Appalachia's Future Poet Laureate Takes on Mountaintop Removal." *Huffington Post* (blog), 29 May. 475 words. Brief review of W. Va. Affrilachian writer Crystal Good's new chapbook, *Valley Girl*, with a four-minute video clip of Good reading her poem, "Boom Boom." http://www.huffingtonpost.com/jeff-biggers/crystal-good-poetry_b_1554062.html.

Bigham, Darrel E. 2006. On Jordan's Banks: Emancipation and Its Aftermath in the Ohio River Valley [Ashland, Ky., to Cairo, Ill.; African American life: border states; slavery]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 428 pp.

Bigham, Darrel E. 2006. Review Essay of *Frontiers of Freedom: Cincinnati's Black Community*, 1802-1868, by Nikki Marie Taylor (Ohio University Press, 2005) [with narrative bibliography of related regional titles]. *Ohio Valley History* 6, no. 2 (Summer): 41-47.

Bilharz, Joy A. 1998. *The Allegany Seneca and Kinzua Dam: Forced Relocation Through Two Generations* [1960s dam project; displacement of Seneca Indians; Cattaraugus Co., N.Y.]. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 194 pp.

Billingsley, Carolyn Earle. 2004. "Melungeons: A Study in Racial Complexity." *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 102, no. 2 (Spring): 207-223. Review essay of Wayne Winkler's *Walking Toward the Sunset: The Melungeons of Appalachia* (Mercer University Press, 2004).

Birchfield, D. L. 2009. "Robert J. Conley: Extraordinary Cherokee Author" [b. 1940]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 4 (Fall): 19-24.

Black, Samuel W. 2002. "African American Quilters of Western Pennsylvania." Western Pennsylvania History 85 (Winter 2002-2003): 26-31.

Black, Samuel. 2010. "America's Best Weekly: 110 Years of the *Pittsburgh Courier*." *Western Pennsylvania History* 93, no. 1 (Spring): 22-29. At one time the country's most widely-circulated black newspaper, first published January, 1910.

Blakeman, Scott. 1996. "Night Comes to Berea College: The Day Law and the African-American Reaction" [Berea, Ky.]. *Filson Club Quarterly* 70 (January): 3-26.

Blanton, Sherry. 1999. "Lives of Quiet Affirmation: The Jewish Women of Early Anniston, Alabama" [role of women in Jewish communal organization]. *Southern Jewish History* 2: 225-253.

Blaustein, Richard. 2003. *The Thistle and the Brier: Historical Links and Cultural Parallels between Scotland and Appalachia* [dialect and identity politics]. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 7. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 174 pp.

Blee, Kathleen M., and Dwight B. Billings. 2001. "Race and the Roots of Appalachian Poverty: Clay County, Kentucky, 1850-1910" [Beech Creek study]. In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 165-188. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Previously published under a different title in *Social Science History* 20 (1996): 345-373.

Blee, Kathleen M., and Dwight B. Billings. 1996. "Race Differences in the Origins and Consequences of Chronic Poverty in Rural Appalachia." *Social Science History* 20 (Fall): 345-373.

Blethen, H. Tyler, and Curtis W. Wood, Jr. 1998. From Ulster to Carolina: The Migration of the Scotch-Irish to Southwestern North Carolina. Rev. ed. Raleigh: North Carolina Department

of Cultural Resources, Division of Archives and History. Published in cooperation with the Appalachian Consortium, Boone, N.C. 71 pp.

Blethen, Tyler. 2002. "Museum of the Cherokee Indian, Qualla Boundary" [2001 Community Tradition Award winner]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 49 (Spring/Summer): 43-44.

Blumer, Thomas J. 2004. *Catawba Indian Pottery: The Survival of a Folk Tradition*. Contemporary American Indian Studies. University of Alabama Press. 223 pp.

Boudinot, Elias, and Harriett Gold Boudinot. 2005. *To Marry an Indian: The Marriage of Harriett Gold and Elias Boudinot in Letters*, 1823-1839 [Ga.; Cherokee]. Edited by Theresa Strouth Gaul. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 222 pp.

Boudinot, Elias. [1983] 1996. *Cherokee Editor: The Writings of Elias Boudinot*. Edited, with an introduction, by Theda Perdue. Rpt. ed. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 243 pp. Originally published: Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Boulware, Tyler. 2007. "The Effect of the Seven Years' War on the Cherokee Nation." *Early American Studies: An Interdisciplinary Journal* 5, no. 2 (Fall): 395-426.

Boulware, Tyler. 2011. *Deconstructing the Cherokee Nation: Town, Region, and Nation among Eighteenth-Century Cherokees*. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 234 pp. Contents: Town, region, and nation -- "The antient friendship and union": the Anglo-Cherokee alliance -- "In constant hostility with the Muskohge": the Cherokee-Creek War -- "The disaffected people of great Tellico": the struggle for empire in a Cherokee town -- "In a discontented mood": the crisis in Virginia -- "Every town wept for some": the Anglo-Cherokee War -- "Now all our talks are about lands": unstable borderlands -- "Half war half peace": the American Revolution in Cherokee country -- Epilogue: toward the Cherokee Nation.

Bourgeois, Ashley. 2010. "Don't Call It a Museum...: Director André Guess Talks About His Plans for the New August Wilson Center" [Pittsburgh (Hill District) playwright; 1945-2005]. *Pluck: The Journal of Affrilachian Arts & Culture*, no. 5: 38-41.

Bowes, John P. 2007. *Exiles and Pioneers: Eastern Indians in the Trans-Mississippi West* [Removal histories: Shawnee, Delaware, Wyandot, and Potawatomi]. Studies in North American Indian History. New York: Cambridge University Press. 272 pp.

Boyd, C. Clifford, Jr. 2004. "Native Americans" [Cherokees]. In *High Mountains Rising: Appalachia in Time and Place*, ed. R. Straw and H. Blethen, 7-16. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Boyd, Robert. 2001. "Colored Me" [1930s-40s East Tenn.]. In *Breathing the Same Air: An East Tennessee Anthology*, ed. D. Ivie and L. LaChance, 262-270. Knoxville, Tenn.: Celtic Cat Publishing.

Boyd, Robert. 2007. "The Colored Folk Churches in East Tennessee" [memoir]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 4 (Fall): 89-93.

Brattain, Michelle. 2001. *The Politics of Whiteness: Race, Workers, and Culture in the Modern South* [Rome and Floyd Cos., Ga., textile workers; 1900-1960s]. Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press. 301 pp.

Braund, Kathryn E. Holland, and Charlotte M. Porter, ed. 2010. *Fields of Vision: Essays on the Travels of William Bartram*. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 273 pp. Contents: 14 chapters including: The real world of Bartram's Travels / Edward J. Cashin -- William Bartram, Wrightsborough, and the prospects for the Georgia backcountry, 1765-1774 / Robert Scott Davis -- Where Bartram sat: historic Creek Indian architecture in the eighteenth century / Craig T. Sheldon, Jr. -- E. G. Squier's manuscript copy of William Bartram's Observations on the Creek and Cherokee Indians / Mark Williams.

Braund, Kathryn E. Holland. 2012. *Tohopeka: Rethinking the Creek War and the War of 1812*. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 312 pp.

Brennan, Margaret. 1999. "Wheeling's Irish Thread: An O'Brien Family Tale" [W. Va.; forebears of musicians Tim and Molly O'Brien]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Spring): 18-25.

Brewer, John M. 2006. *African Americans in Pittsburgh* [vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. "Photographs captured by famed [*Pittsburgh Courier*] photographer Charles 'Teenie' Harris show the candid experiences of residents."

Breyer, Stephen. 2003. "The Cherokee Indians and the Supreme Court" [Cherokee lawsuits against Ga. preceding 1836 Removal; U.S. Supreme Court Justice's keynote address at annual meeting of Georgia Historical Society, April 6, 2002]. *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 87 (Fall & Winter): 408-426.

Brignano, Mary. 2009. *Boundless Lives: Italian Americans of Western Pennsylvania*. Pittsburgh: Historical Society of Western Pennsylvania. 213 pp. "More than 100 immigrants and their descendants recall the years of separation...and most of all, the bonds of family."

Brodwin, Paul. 2005. "Bioethics in Action' and Human Population Genetics Research" [Human Genome Diversity Project and Melungeons]. *Culture, Medicine & Psychiatry* 29, no. 2 (June): 145-178.

Brooks, Elizabeth. 1997. "Elusive Neighbors" [Amish; Lawrence Co., Western Pa.]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 14 (Winter): 5-7.

Brosi, George, comp. 2008. "Bibliography of African-American Appalachian Books." *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 3 (Summer): 109-115. Special issue—"African-American Appalachia." Sixty-five items listed under the following headings: Biography, Children's

Books, Civil Rights, Coal, Essays, Literary Criticism, Local History, Novels, Poetry, Scholarly Studies, Short Stories, Slavery.

Brosi, George. 2006. "A Black Appalachian Treasure" [author Crystal Wilkinson, b. 1962, Casey Co., Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 2 (Spring): 8-12.

Brown, James W., and Rita T. Kohn. 2008. *Long Journey Home: Oral Histories of Contemporary Delaware Indians*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press. 416 pp.

Brown, Les M. 2000. "The Crime of Malachia Hayden: The Loss of Black Community" [race relations; North Cove, McDowell Co., N.C.]. *Appalachian Journal* 27 (Spring): 250-259.

Brown, Les M., and Joyce Compton Brown. 1998. "Riding the Rail to Legend: The North Cove 'Tally War' As Show of Force, As Manipulated Account, As Oral History" [N.C.; 1906; treatment of Italian railroad workers]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 4 (Fall): 225-238.

Brown, M. Christopher, II. 2002. "Good Intentions: Collegiate Desegregation and Transdemographic Enrollments" [Bluefield State College history; W. Va.]. *Review of Higher Education* 25 (Spring): 263-280.

Brown, Mary. 2009. "Mary Brown's Great-Grandmother's Recipe for Apple Stack Cake." *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 4 (Fall): 112-113. Accompanying poem, "Janie Picks Apples on Tuesday," p. 111. Mary Brown is a member of the Eastern Band of Cherokees.

Brown, Phil, ed. 2002. *In the Catskills: A Century of Jewish Experience in "the Mountains"*. [44 essays]. New York: Columbia University Press. 415 pp.

Brown, Ryan A., Daniel J. Hruschka, and Carol M. Worthman. 2009. "Cultural Models and Fertility Timing among Cherokee and White Youth in Appalachia: Beyond the Mode." *American Anthropologist* 111, no. 4 (December): 420-431.

Brown, Ryan, et al. 2008. "Cultural and Community Determinants of Subjective Social Status among Cherokee and White Youth" [tables]. *Ethnicity & Health* 13, no. 4 (September): 289-303.

Bruchac, Joseph, and Gayle Ross. 1995. *The Story of the Milky Way: A Cherokee Tale* [children's literature]. Paintings by Virginia A. Stroud. New York: Dial Books for Young Readers. 30 pp.

Bruchac, Joseph. 2001. *The Journal of Jesse Smoke: A Cherokee Boy* [juvenile fiction; 1838 Trail of Tears]. My Name is America. New York: Scholastic. 203 pp.

Brundage, W. Fitzhugh. 2001. "Racial Violence, Lynchings, and Modernization in the Mountain South." In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 302-316. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Bumgardner, Stan. 2011. "In the Beginning...: South Charleston's Belgian Roots" [glassworkers, early 1900s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 4 (Winter): 16-23. Banner Glass operated a Belgian cooperative, 1907-1920. Sidebar on "Hand-Blown Window Glass," 19. Sidebar, "Remembrances of Grandma and Grandpa Dumont," by Edgar Dumont, Jr., 22-23.

Burchett, Michael H. 1997. "Promise and Prejudice: Wise County, Virginia and the Great Migration, 1910-1920." *Journal of Negro History* 82 (Summer): 312-327.

Burin, Eric. 2006. "A Manumission in the Mountains: Slavery and the African Colonization Movement in Southwestern Virginia" [Christiansburg, 1847]. *Appalachian Journal* 33, no. 2 (Winter): 164-186.

Burke, Diane Mutti. 2010. On Slavery's Border: Missouri's Small-Slaveholding Households, 1815-1865. Early American Places series. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 413 pp.

Burnett, Nancy Svet. 2000. "Where the Rails Turn Up': Slovenes Come to Richwood" [1920s-40s; timber and coal boom town]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Winter): 38-45.

Burris, Theresa L. 2009. "New World and Third World Confluence: The New Historicist/Colonial Poetry of Affrilachian Frank X Walker.". *The Iron Mountain Review* 25 (Spring): 11-17.

Burriss, Theresa L. 2006. "Enticing Readers to Stretch" [critiques Affrilachian author Crystal Wilkinson's book of stories, *Water Street* (2002)]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 2 (Spring): 37-43.

Burriss, Theresa L. 2010. "No Break between Yesterday and Today: A Profile of West Virginia Poet Norman Jordan." *Pluck: The Journal of Affrilachian Arts & Culture*, no. 5: 42-45.

Burstin, Barbara Stern. 2008. *Steel City Jews: A History of Pittsburgh and Its Jewish Community*, 1840-1915. Pittsburgh, Pa.(?): Barbara S. Burstin. 366 pp.

Butcher, Jamie. 2005. "Religion, Race, Gender, and Education: The Allen School, Asheville, North Carolina, 1885 to 1974" [home mission school for black Appalachian girls]. *Appalachian Journal* 33, no. 1 (Fall): 78-109.

Byer, Alan. 2010. "Visiting the Balli Sisters of Helvetia." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 2 (Summer): 10-17. Swiss-Americans, renowned for their cheese making, whose immigrant father built a 200-acre mountaintop farm, Balli Ridge, in 1870s Randolph County.

Byers, A. Martin. 2004. *The Ohio Hopewell Episode: Paradigm Lost and Paradigm Gained* [Ohio River Valley]. Series on Ohio History and Culture. Akron, Ohio: University of Akron Press. 674 pp.

Byers, A. Martin, and DeeAnne Wymer. 2010. *Hopewell Settlement Patterns, Subsistence, and Symbolic Landscapes*. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 406 pp.

Byers, A. Martin. 2011. Sacred Games, Death, and Renewal in the Ancient Eastern Woodlands: The Ohio Hopewell System of Cult Sodality Heterarchies. Lanham, Md.: AltaMira Press. 547 pp.

Cadavid, Mauricio. 2012. "The Work I Do" [Barrow Co., Ga.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 8-10. The author discusses the adjustment from his native Columbia to the foothills of north Georgia.

Caldwell, A. B. [1923] 2012. *History of the American Negro: West Virginia Edition* [biographies of 118 black West Virginians, 1863-1923]. With a new introduction by Joe Trotter. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 352 pp. Originally published: Atlanta, Ga.: A. B. Caldwell Publishing Co.

Calhoun, Walker. 1995. "Walker Calhoun: Cherokee Song and Dance Man." Interview by Ted Olson. *Appalachian Journal* 23 (Fall): 70-77.

Calloway, Colin G. 1995. *The American Revolution in Indian Country: Crisis and Diversity in Native American Communities*. Cambridge Studies in North American Indian History series. New York: Cambridge University Press. 327 pp. Contents: Prologue: New worlds for all: Indian America by 1775 | Corn wars and civil wars: the American Revolution comes to Indian country | Odanak: Abenaki ambiguity in the North | Stockbridge: the New England patriots | Oquaga: dissension and destruction on the Susquehanna | Fort Niagara: the politics of hunger in a refugee community | Maquachake: the perils of neutrality in the Ohio country | Chota: Cherokee beloved town in a world at war | Tchoukafala: the continuing Chickasaw struggle for independence | Cuscowilla: Seminole loyalism and Seminole genesis | The peace that brought no peace | Epilogue: A world without Indians?

Calloway, Colin G. 2007. *The Shawnees and the War for America* [Ohio Valley; 18th-century]. The Penguin Library of American Indian History. New York: Viking. 216 pp.

Calloway, Colin G. 2008. *White People, Indians, and Highlanders: Tribal Peoples and Colonial Encounters in Scotland and America*. New York: Oxford University Press. 368 pp. Frontier shared struggles and interactions, 18th-century.

Campbell, Roberta M., section editor. 2006. "Race, Ethnicity, and Identity" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 240-283 (with introductory essay, 240-245). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Campbell, Roberta M. 2011. "The Myth of Appalachian Whiteness: Stereotyping and Racism from the Perspective of a White Appalachian Woman." Urban Appalachian Council Working Paper, no. 21. 16 pp. http://uacvoice.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/10/workingpaper21.pdf.

Campet, Fidel M. 2012. "Black Pittsburgh's Struggle to Maintain Citizenship Rights, 1790-1838." Western Pennsylvania History 94, no. 4 (Winter 2012-2013): 34-43.

Canady, Andrew McNeil. 2009. "The Limits to Improving Race Relations in the South: The YMCA Blue Ridge Assembly in Black Mountain, North Carolina, 1906-1930." *North Carolina Historical Review* 86, no. 4 (October): 404-436.

Cantrell, Roy H. 2010. *Cherokee Stories of the Past*. Winston-Salem, N.C.: Bandit Books. 81 pp. Twenty-two brief interviews and profiles of lifeways.

Carlson, Leonard A., and Mark A. Roberts. 2006. "Indian Lands, 'Squatterism,' and Slavery: Economic Interests and the Passage of the Indian Removal Act of 1830." *Explorations in Economic History* 43, no. 3: 486-504.

Carney, Ginny. 1996. "Cherokee/Appalachian Communities: Remembering the Pattern, ReSpinning the Web." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Spring): 115-121.

Carney, Virginia Moore. 2005. Eastern Band Cherokee Women: Cultural Persistence in Their Letters and Speeches [three centuries]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 230 pp.

Carson, James Taylor. 2002. "Dollars Never Fail to Melt Their Hearts: Native Women and the Market Revolution" [Creek, Cherokee, Choctaw, Chickasaw]. In *Neither Lady nor Slave: Working Women of the Old South*, ed. S. Delfino and M. Gillespie, 15-33. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Carson, James Taylor. 2010. "Choctaw and Chickasaw Women, 1690-1834." In *Mississippi Women: Their Histories*, *Their Lives*, ed., M. Swain, E. Anne Payne, and M. Spruill, 7-22. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Carter, Alice E. 1995. "Segregation and Integration in the Appalachian Coalfields: McDowell County Responds to the 'Brown' Decision." *West Virginia History* 54: 78-104.

Casey McDonald, Victoria A. 2012. *Just Over the Hill: Black Appalachians in Jackson County, Western North Carolina*. Sylva, N.C.: Catch the Spirit of Appalachia. 184 pp.

Cashin, Edward J. 2009. *Guardians of the Valley: Chickasaws in Colonial South Carolina and Georgia* [Savannah River Valley]. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 196 pp.

Cassanello, Robert, and Colin J. Davis, ed. 2009. *Migration and the Transformation of the Southern Workplace Since 1945*. Foreword by Richard Greenwald and Timothy J. Minchin. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 209 pp. Seven essays on topics including the poultry industry, "Latinos and Blacks," globalization and the coalfields of Alabama, and the mountain work ethic.

Caughey, John Walton. [1938] 2007. *McGillivray of the Creeks* [1750-1793; 214 letters to Spanish and American officials]. Reprint with new introduction by William J. Bauer, Jr. Southern Classics Series. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 424 pp.

Cegielski, Wendy, and Brad R. Lieb. 2011. "Hina' Falaa, 'The Long Path': An Analysis of Chickasaw Settlement Using GIS in Northeast Mississippi, 1650-1840." *Native South* 4: 24-54. Figures, maps.

Chambers, Ian. 2010. "The Movement of Great Tellico: The Role of Town and Clan in Cherokee Spatial Understanding" [1736; Overhill region; identity by clan]. *Native South* 3: 89-102.

Chepesiuk, Ronald. 2005. *The Scotch-Irish: From the North of Ireland to the Making of America*. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 172 pp.

Cherokee Edition. 2012. Special issue, *Foxfire Magazine* 46, no. 3-4 (Fall/Winter): 1-80. Interviews by Foxfire students: An image of leadership: interview with Chief Michell Hicks, Principal Chief of the Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians, 1 | The culture of the Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians: interview with Davy Arch [storyteller], 14 | The seven Cherokee Clans: interview with Davy Arch, 24 | The sport of stickball: interview with JerryWolfe, 28 | Traditional weaponry: interview with William Swimmer, 32 | Legends that will never die: interview with Davy Arch [stories], 36 | "The Legend of the Milky Way," as told by Amanda Crowe, 46 | The oral tradition, preserving tales that shaped a nation: interview with Jerry Wolfe [stories], 48 | There's a story in your heart, the life of storytelling: interview with Lloyd Arneach, 58 | Storytelling bonfire, by Jack Blackstock, 71 | Student Reflections, 73-79.

Cherokee issue. 2009. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 4 (Fall): 1-120. Featuring articles, poetry – several translated into Cherokee, traditional stories, fiction, memoirs, and artwork by and about members of the Eastern Band of Cherokees, Qualla Boundary, western North Carolina.

Childs, Becky, and Christine Mallinson. 2006. "The Significance of Lexical Items in the Construction of Ethnolinguistic Identity: A Case Study of Adolescent Spoken and Online Language" [group identity; Black Appalachian community of Texana, N.C.]. *American Speech* 81, no. 1 (Spring): 3-30.

Chirhart, Ann Short. 1998. "'Gardens of Education': Beulah Rucker and African-American Culture in the Twentieth-Century Georgia Upcountry" [black educator; 1910s-1960s; Gainesville, Hall Co., Ga.]. *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 82 (Winter): 829-847.

Christopher D. Haveman. 2012. "Last Evening I Saw the Sun Set for the Last Time': The 1832 Treaty of Washington and the Transfer of the Creeks' Alabama Land to White Ownership." *Native South* 5, no. 1: 61-94.

Cimprich, John. 2001. "Slavery's End in East Tennessee." In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 189-198. Lexington: University

Press of Kentucky. Previously published in *East Tennessee Historical Society Publications* (1980-1981): 78-89.

Ciotola, Nicholas P. 2005. *Italians of Pittsburgh and Western Pennsylvania* [immigrants; 200-vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Ciotola, Nicholas. 2001. "F is for Fireworks" [history of Italian immigrants' fireworks industries in Newcastle, Pa., including famous Zambellis]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 84 (Fall): 10-12.

Clark, Jerry E. [1993] 2007. *The Shawnee*. Rpt. ed. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 105 pp. Contents: 1. Introduction -- 2. History of the Shawnee -- 3. Social organization -- 4. Subsistence and technology -- 5. Ideology and expressive culture -- 6. Conservation, dependency, and migration -- 7. Relations with other Indians -- 8. Relations with Whites -- 9. Conclusion.

Cochran, Dana Stoker. 2008. "Anne Spencer: From Appalachia to the Harlem Renaissance" [1882-1975]. *Pluck: The Journal of Affrilachian Arts & Culture*, no. 3: 5-9. Raised in Bramwell, W. Va.

Coffey, David W. 2000. "Reconstruction and Redemption in Lexington, Virginia" [Rockbridge Co., Va.; 1865-1870]. In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia,* 1800-1900, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 206-220. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Cohodas, Nadine. 2012. *Princess Noire: The Tumultuous Reign of Nina Simone*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 449 pp. Originally published: New York: Pantheon Books, 2010. Simone, the "High Priestess of Soul," was born in Tryon, N.C. and attended high school in Asheville.

Cole, J. Timothy. 2003. *The Forest City Lynching of 1900: Populism, Racism, and White Supremacy in Rutherford County, North Carolina* [documents murder and lynching of Avery Mills]. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 10. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 195 pp.

Cometti, Elizabeth. 2002. "Swiss Immigration to West Virginia, 1864-1884: A Case Study" [Helvetia, Randolph Co.]. In *Transnational West Virginia: Ethnic Communities and Economic Change, 1840-1940*, ed. K. Fones-Wolf and R. Lewis, 50-70. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 1. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. Originally published: *Mississippi Valley Historical Review* 47 (June 1960): 66-87.

Confer, Clarissa W. 2007. *The Cherokee Nation in the Civil War*. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press. 199 pp.

Conkin, Paul. 2005. "Black Zack and Uncle Amon" [black farmers in post-Civil War, Greene Co., Tenn.]. Chap. 2 in *The Human Tradition in the New South*, ed. J. Klotter, 19-29. Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield.

Conley, Robert J. [1992] 2000. *The Way of the Priests* [Cherokee; historical fiction]. The Real People series. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press. 177 pp. Originally published: New York: Doubleday.

Conley, Robert J. 2000. *Cherokee Dragon: A Novel of the Real People* [historical fiction; war chief Dragging Canoe, 1737-1791]. New York: St. Martin's Press. 288 pp.

Conley, Robert J. 2001. "Backtracking from Oklahoma to North Carolina: An Interview with Robert J. Conley" [Cherokee novelist]. By Sandra L. Ballard. *Appalachian Journal* 28 (Spring): 326-344.

Conley, Robert J. 2002. *Sequoyah* [fictional biography]. New York: St. Martin's Press. 213 pp.

Conley, Robert J. 2005. *Cherokee Medicine Man: The Life and Work of a Modern-Day Healer*. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press. 154 pp.

Conley, Robert J. 2005. *The Cherokee Nation: A History*. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press. 265 pp.

Conley, Robert J. 2007. *A Cherokee Encyclopedia* [concise reference guide]. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press. 278 pp.

Conley, Robert J. 2009. "Cherokee Mountains" [poem]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 4 (Fall): 120. Celebrates return "home" from the Cherokee West to Cherokee N.C.

Conley, Robert J. 2009. "Plastic Indian" [fiction]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 4 (Fall): 11-17. Conley is featured author in this special Cherokee issue.

Conley, Robert J. 2009. *Cherokee Thoughts, Honest and Uncensored* [28 essays]. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press. 200 pp. Contents: Indian casinos -- Ricochet -- Stand Watie and the Treaty of 1866 -- Cherokee wannabes -- Oklahoma -- All Indians are alike, or, "Chiefing" -- Cherokee outlaws -- Grafters, sooners, and other crooks -- Why the DAR did not like me -- Cherokee women and the clan system -- Henry Starr -- Cherokee literature -- Cherokee celebrities -- Indian humor -- The Five Civilized Tribes -- Cherokee names -- Will Rogers: Cherokee writer and so much more -- Linking back -- The freedmen controversy -- John Oskison and me -- Cherokee cards -- Keetoowah -- The Dragging Canoe-Nancy Ward controversy -- California Cherokees -- Tribally specific historical fiction -- Cherokees and sports -- Parris: my Cherokee family -- Old-time Cherokee warriors: Charles Wickliffe, the Army Corps of Engineers, and the Port of Catoosa.

Conley, Robert J. 2011. *The Cherokee* [history; juvenile readers]. History & Culture of Native Americans series. New York: Chelsea House. 111 pp.

Connerly, Charles E. 2005. "The Most Segregated City in America': City Planning and Civil Rights in Birmingham, 1920-1980. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 360 pp.

Connolly, Robert P., and Bradley T. Lepper, ed. 2004. *The Fort Ancient Earthworks: Prehistoric Lifeways of the Hopewell Culture in Southwestern Ohio* [18 essays]. Columbus: Ohio Historical Society. 290 pp.

Conrad, Maia. 2004. "The Art of Survival: Moravian Indians and Economic Adaptation in the Old Northwest, 1767-1808" [Ohio: Muskingum River region]. *Ohio Valley History* 4 (Fall): 3-18.

Conway, Cecelia. 2001. "Appalachian Echoes of the African Banjo" [18th to 20th centuries]. In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 27-39. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Previously published, *Appalachian Journal* 20 (1993): 146-161.

Conway, Cecelia. 2003. "Black Banjo Songsters in Appalachia." *Black Music Research Journal* 23, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 149-166.

Cook, Samuel R. 2000. *Monacans and Miners: Native American and Coal Mining Communities in Appalachia* [Va.; W. Va.]. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 329 pp.

Cook, Samuel R. 2002. "The Monacan Indian Nation: Asserting Tribal Sovereignty in the Absence of Federal Recognition" [Va.]. *Wicazo Sa Review* 17 (Fall): 91-116.

Cook, Samuel R. 2009. "The Boundaries of Participatory Research: Lessons Learned in the Monacan Indian Nation" [Va.]. In *Participatory Development in Appalachia: Cultural Identity, Community, and Sustainability*, ed. S. Keefe, 89-113. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Copney, Nancy Jane. 1999. *African-American Life in Preston County* [W. Va.]. Images of America series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Cordes, Kathleen Ann. 1999. "Trail of Tears National Historic Trail." In *America's National Historic Trails* [guidebook], by K. Cordes, 131-161. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press.

Craig, John M. 2005. "'There Is Hell Going On Up There': The Carnegie Klan Riot of 1923" [southwestern Pa.]. *Pennsylvania History* 72, no. 3 (Summer): 322-346.

Cravey, Altha J., and Gabriela Valdivia. 2011. "Carolina del Norte: An Introduction" [Latino immigration's transformation of the South]. *Southeastern Geographer* 51, no. 2 (Summer): 213-226. Introduction to a special issue (pp. 213-363) that includes notes, papers, plenary discussions.

Crews, C. Daniel. 2000. Faith and Tears: The Moravian Mission Among the Cherokee. Winston-Salem, N.C.: Moravian Archives. 60 pp.

Crews, C. Daniel, and Richard W. Starbuck, ed. 2010-2013. *Records of the Moravians among the Cherokees*. Tahlequah, Okla.: Cherokee National Press. Contents: v. 1. Early contact and the establishment of the first mission, 1752-1802 -- v. 2. Beginnings of the mission and establishment of the schools, 1802-1805 -- v. 3. The Anna Rosina years, part 1: success in school and mission, 1805-1810 -- v. 4. The Anna Rosina years, part 2: warfare on the horizon, 1810-1816 -- v. 5. The Anna Rosina years, part 3: farewell to Sister Gambold, 1817-1821.

Culpepper, Linda Parramore. 2002. "Black Charlestonians in the Mountains: African American Community Building in Post-Civil-War Flat Rock, North Carolina" [Henderson Co.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Fall): 362-381.

Cumfer, Cynthia. 2003. "Local Origins of National Indian Policy: Cherokee and Tennessean Ideas About Sovereignty and Nationhood, 1790-1811." *Journal of the Early Republic* 23 (Spring): 21-46.

Cumfer, Cynthia. 2007. Separate Peoples, One Land: The Minds of Cherokees, Blacks, and Whites on the Tennessee Frontier. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 324 pp.

Cumfer, Cynthia. 2009. "Nan-ye-hi (Nancy Ward) (c.1730s-1824): Diplomatic Mother" [Cherokee]. In *Tennessee Women: Their Lives and Times*, ed. S. Freeman and B. Bond, 1-22. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Curriden, Mark, and Leroy Phillips, Jr. 1999. *Contempt of Court: The Turn-of-the-Century Lynching That Launched a Hundred Years of Federalism* [1906, Chattanooga, Tenn.]. New York: Faber and Faber. 394 pp.

Curtin, Mary Ellen. 2000. *Black Prisoners and Their World: Alabama, 1865-1900* [incl. convict coal miners]. Carter G. Woodson Series in Black Studies. Charlottesville: University Press of Virginia. 261 pp.

Cushman, Ellen. 2011. *The Cherokee Syllabary: Writing the People's Perseverance*. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press. 238 pp. Contents: Introduction: Peoplehood, tools, and perseverance | Sequoyah and the politics of language | The syllabary as writing system | The syllabary's design | The syllabary from script to print | Elias Boudinot and the *Cherokee Phoenix* | The breadth of the Cherokee writing system, 1840-1920 | Perseverance and calculated inconspicuousness, 1920-1980 | Peoplehood and perseverance: the Cherokee language, 1980-2010.

Dale, Jack G., Susan Andreatta, and Elizabeth Freeman. 2001. "Language and the Migrant Worker Experience in Rural North Carolina Communities." In *Latino Workers in the Contemporary South*, ed. A. D. Murphy, C. Blanchard, and J. A. Hill, 91-104. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 34. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Davenport, Doris. 2003. "A Candle for Queen Ida" [Ida Prather Cox (1896-1967) from Toccoa, Ga.; "Uncrowned Queen of the Blues"]. *Black Music Research Journal* 23, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 91-102.

Davies, D. Eirug. 2012. *The Welsh of Tennessee*. Tal-y-bont: Y Lolfa [Chester Springs, Pa.: U.S. distributor, Dufour Editions]. 156 pp. "After Samuel Roberts' ill-fated attempt at forming a Welsh colony in Tennessee, others from Wales would help develop the state's fledgling iron and coal industry. This book tells how they became Knoxville's largest employer, started the Dixie Eisteddfod, and got involved in an armed insurrection over the use of convicts in the mines."

Davis, Donald Edward, ed. 2009. *Voices from the Nueva Frontera: Latino Immigration in Dalton, Georgia*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 189 pp. Contents: The new face of carpet / Thomas M. Deaton -- The economic impact / Aref A. Hervani -- The culture of the capital de las alfombras / Roschelle Bautista -- The religious response / Father Daniel Stack -- The public school response / Ken W. Ellinger -- The Georgia project / Jo-Anne Schick -- The state college / Monte Salyer -- The social problems / Donald E. Davis -- The social work agenda / David P. Boyle -- Conclusion: lessons of the nueva frontera.

Davis, Ethan. 2008-2010. "An Administrative Trail of Tears: Indian Removal" [1830s; Choctaw tribe; primary sources]. *American Journal of Legal History* 50 (January): 49-100.

Davis, R. P. Stephen, Jr. 2002. "The Cultural Landscape of the North Carolina Piedmont at Contact." In *The Transformation of the Southeastern Indians*, *1540-1760*, ed. R. Ethridge and C. Hudson, 135-154. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi.

Day, James S. 2006. "The Convict-Lease System in Alabama, 1872-1927." *Gulf South Historical Review* 21, no. 2: 6-29.

De Vorsey, Louis, Jr. [1971] 2005. "Early Maps As a Source in the Reconstruction of Southern Indian Landscapes." In *Culture, Ethnicity, and Justice in the South: The Southern Anthropological Society, 1968-1971*, 466-484. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. (Reprint, from *Proceedings No. 5. Red, White, and Black: Symposium on Indians in the Old South*, ed. C. Hudson, 12-30).

Dean, Nadia. 2012. A Demand of Blood: The Cherokee War of 1776. Cherokee, N.C.: Valley River Press. 440 pp.

Dean, Robert L., and Douglas J. Perrelli. 2006. "Highway Archaeology in Western New York: Archaeologists' Views of Cooperation between State and Tribal Review Agencies" [Seneca Nation; repatriation of artifacts; Allegany and Cattaraugus Reservations]. Chap. 9 in *Cross-Cultural Collaboration: Native Peoples and Archaeology in the Northeastern United States*, ed. J. Kerber, 131-149. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.

DeAngelis, Therese. 2003. *The Cherokee: Native Basket Weavers* [juvenile literature]. America's First Peoples. Mankato, Minn.: Blue Earth Books. 32 pp.

Deaths at the West Virginia Colored Tuberculosis Sanitarium at Denmar [lists over 1000 deaths and burials, 1919-1946, by name with place and date of birth, date of death, occupation]. 1997. *West Virginia History* 56: 88-121.

Denkler, Ann. 2007. Sustaining Identity, Recapturing Heritage: Exploring Issues of Public History, Tourism, and Race in a Southern Town [Luray, Va.; African American cultural identity]. Lanham, Md.: Lexington Books. 131 pp.

Dennis, Matthew. 2010. *Seneca Possessed: Indians, Witchcraft, and Power in the Early American Republic* [western N.Y.]. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press. 313 pp.

Dennis, Yvonne Wakim. 2004. *Sequoyah*, 1770?-1843 [elementary level]. American Indian Biographies. Mankato, Minn.: Blue Earth Books. 32 pp.

Denson, Andrew. 2004. *Demanding the Cherokee Nation: Indian Autonomy and American Culture*, 1830-1900. Indians of the Southeast. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 327 pp.

Denson, Andrew. 2009. "Gatlinburg's Cherokee Monument: Public Memory in the Shadow of a National Park" [Tenn.]. *Appalachian Journal* 37, no. 1-2 (Fall 2009-Winter 2010): 28-43. Dedicated in 1939, the bronze tablet reads, "To Tsali the Cherokee and his two sons who gave their lives in 1836 so that their people might remain in the land of the Great Smokies."

Dew, Charles B. 1994. *Bond of Iron: Master and Slave at Buffalo Forge*. New York: Norton. 429 pp.

Dew, Charles B. 2001. "Sam Williams, Forgeman: The Life of an Industrial Slave at Buffalo Forge, Virginia." In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 74-100. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Previously published in *Race, Region, and Reconstruction*. New York: Oxford Univ. Press, 1982.

DiBaccio, Lori Marie. 2006. "The Ricottillis of Barbour County: An Italian Family Carries On" [from 1921; Talbott, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 3 (Fall): 48-53. Sidebar, "Bagpipes in West Virginia" [traditional to Italy, played by the Ricottillis], by Gerald Milnes, 54-55.

Dockery, Bill. 1999. "Born to Build: The Architectural Career of De Witt Dykes, Sr." [Knoxville, Tenn.; black church architect; d. 1991]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 16 (Spring): 9-13

Donahue, Arwen. 2009. *This Is Home Now: Kentucky's Holocaust Survivors Speak* [oral histories from Prestonsburg, Lexington, Louisville]. Photographs by Rebecca Gayle Howell. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 215 pp.

Donald, Christopher Ross. 2006. "Growth and Independence of Methodist Congregations in Blacksburg, Virginia" [19th-century split over slavery and class issues; AME Church, 1867]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 10: 49-75.

Dorris, Michael. 1997. *The Window* [juvenile fiction; racially mixed families]. New York: Hyperion Books for Children. 106 pp. "When ten-year-old Rayona's Native American mother enters a treatment facility, her estranged father, a Black man, finally introduces her to his side of the family, who are not at all what she expected."

Dorsey, Mignette Y. Patrick. 2010. *Speak Truth to Power: The Story of Charles Patrick, a Civil Rights Pioneer* [Birmingham, Ala.]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 130 pp.

Dougherty, Bill. 2001. "Nothing But Just Fighting': The 1936 CCC Race Riot" [Pocahontas Co. CCC camp]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Winter): 30-33.

Douglas, John. 2004. "John Henry: 'Take this hammer, it won't kill you'" [1968 visit to Summers Co., W. Va.; tracks the legend]. *Southern Cultures* 10, no. 2 (Summer): 73-86.

Dowdy, Michael. 2012. "Andando Entre Dos Mundos': Towards an Appalachian Latino Literature." *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 270-293.

Drake, Richard B. 2001. "Slavery and Antislavery in Appalachia." In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 16-26. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Previously published, *Appalachian Heritage* 14 (1986): 25-33.

Dredge, Bart. 2012. "Defending White Supremacy: David Clark and the *Southern Textile Bulletin*, 1911 to 1955." *North Carolina Historical Review* 89, no. 1 (January): 59-91.

Drennen, William M., Jr., and Kojo (William T.) Jones, Jr. 2004. *Red, White, Black and Blue: A Dual Memoir of Race and Class in Appalachia* [1950s-60s Charleston, W. Va.]. Edited by Dolores M. Johnson. Series in Ethnicity and Gender in Appalachia. Athens: Ohio University Press. 248 pp.

Drooker, Penelope B. 2002. "The Ohio Valley, 1550-1750: Patterns of Sociopolitical Coalescence and Dispersal." In *The Transformation of the Southeastern Indians*, *1540-1760*, ed. R. Ethridge and C. Hudson, 115-133. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi.

Dubofsky, Melvyn. 2002. "The Lattimer Massacre and the Meaning of Citizenship" [1897; immigrant anthracite miners]. *Pennsylvania History* 69 (Winter): 52-57.

Duffy, Sean, and Jim Thornton. 2008. *The Wheeling Family: A Celebration of Immigrants and Their Neighborhoods*. Wheeling, W. Va.: Creative Impressions. 173 pp. Photos and family stories, 1850-1950, from Wales, Ireland, Germany, Italy, Greece, Poland, Lebanon, and Ukraine.

Duffy, Seán , and Jim Thornton. 2008. *The Wheeling Family: A Celebration of Immigrants and Their Neighborhoods*. Wheeling, W.Va: Creative Impressions. 173 pp. Contents: Preface -- Essay: Corned beef, cabagoo & Coleman's fish by Seán Duffy -- Introduction -- Early arrivals: Wheeling's Welsh, German & Gaelic Irish immigrants -- L'Shem Shomayim: Wheeling's Jewish immigrants -- Little Corfino & Little Italy: the Italians of Warwood, East Wheeling & Elm

Grove -- The Lebanese and Greeks of Center Wheeling -- The Poles and Ukrainians of South Wheeling and Fulton -- Appendix A: Old Benwood businesses and families -- Appendix B: Wheeling's cultural heritage festivals -- Bibliography.

Duffy, Seán. 2012. *The Wheeling Family, Volume 2: More Immigrants, Migrants and Neighborhoods*. Wheeling, W.Va: J. Thornton, Wheling History. 316 pp. Expanded from vol. one (2008) to include stories from African American families, and other Upper Ohio Valley nationalities.

Duggan, Betty J. 1997. "Tourism, Cultural Authenticity, and the Native Crafts Cooperative: The Eastern Cherokee Experience." In *Tourism and Culture: An Applied Perspective*, ed. E. Chambers, 31-57. SUNY Series in Advances in Applied Anthropology. Albany: State University of New York Press.

Duggan, Betty J. 2002. "Voices from the Periphery: Reconstructing and Interpreting Post-Removal Histories of the Duck Town Cherokees" [Polk Co., Tenn. enclave]. In *Southern Indians and Anthropologists: Culture, Politics, and Identity*, ed. L. Lefler and F. Gleach, 43-68. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 35. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Dunaway, Wilma A. 1999. "Diaspora, Death, and Sexual Exploitation: Slave Families at Risk in the Mountain South." *Appalachian Journal* 26 (Winter): 128-149.

Dunaway, Wilma A. 2001. "Put in Master's Pocket: Cotton Expansion and Interstate Slave Trading in the Mountain South." In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 116-132. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Dunaway, Wilma A. 2003. *Slavery in the American Mountain South*. Studies in Modern Capitalism. Cambridge, England; New York: Cambridge University Press. 352 pp. Weatherford Award winner for nonfiction.

Dunaway, Wilma A. 2003. *The African-American Family in Slavery and Emancipation* [Southern Appalachia focus]. Studies in Modern Capitalism. Cambridge, England; New York: Cambridge University Press. 368 pp.

Dunaway, Wilma. 2004. "Letter to the Editor" [in response to reviews of the author's two books, by Charles L. Purdue and John Alexander Williams, in the winter issue of *Appalachian Journal* (31: 224-234): *Slavery in the American Mountain South* and *The African-American Family in Slavery and Emancipation*, both published by Cambridge University Press, 2003]. *Appalachian Journal* 31 (Spring/Summer): 272-278.

Duncan, Barbara R., ed. 1998. *Living Stories of the Cherokee* [N.C.; 72 tales by six tellers]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 253 pp.

Duncan, Barbara R., and James "Bo" Taylor. 2000. "Hanging in the Balance: The Fate of the Cherokee Language in the 21st Century" [N.C.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 17 (Summer): 35-40.

Duncan, Barbara. 2002. "Freeman Owle: Storyteller and Stonecarver, Qualla Boundary" [2001 Brown-Hudson Award winner]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 49 (Spring/Summer): 37-39.

Duncan, Barbara R., and Brett H. Riggs. 2003. *Cherokee Heritage Trails Guidebook* [Eastern Cherokee history, culture, photographs]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 368 pp.

Duncan, Barbara R. 2008. *Crossing Cowee Mountain* [poems; Cherokee]. Cullowhee, N.C.: New Native Press. 32 pp.

Duncan, Barbara R., ed. 2008. *The Origin of the Milky Way & Other Living Stories of the Cherokee*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 133 pp. Presented by Davy Arch and other members of the Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians, in their own words.

Duran, Eduardo, Patricia Grant Long, Barbara Ellen Smith, and Talmage Stanley. 2005. "From Historical Trauma to Hope and Healing," by Eduardo Duran, 164 [Plenary session, 2004 Appalachian Studies Association, Cherokee, N.C.]. With responses: "Diabetes Support Advocate," by Patricia Grant Long, 172; "The Struggle of Memory against Forgetting," by Barbara Ellen Smith, 176; "Finding Historical Trauma in the Ordinary," by Tal Stanley, 179. *Appalachian Journal* 32, no. 2 (Winter): 164-180.

Durham, Walter T. 2006. "Ulster Immigrants and the Settlement of Tennessee" [1770s; map]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 77, supp.: 30-44.

Durham, Walter T. 2007. "Noh-Noh-He-Tsu-Nageh and the Cherokee Removal" [pseud. of white journalist critical of government action; 1838]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 66, no. 3 (Fall): 236-249.

Durman, Chris. 2008. "African American Old-Time String Band Music: A Selective Discography." *Notes* 64, no. 4 (June): 797-808.

DuVal, Kathleen. 2006. "Debating Identity, Sovereignty, and Civilization: The Arkansas Valley after the Louisiana Purchase" [Native American, incl. Cherokee, vs. Anglo-American settlement]. *Journal of the Early Republic* 26, no. 1 (Spring): 25-58.

Duvall, Deborah L. [2005] 2012. *The Opossum's Tale: A Grandmother Story* [Cherokee folklore]. Drawings by Murv Jacob. Rpt. ed. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press. 32 pp. Seventh in the "Grandmother Stories" series.

Duvall, Deborah L. 2008. *Rabbit and the Well*. Paintings by Murv Jacob. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press. 32 pp. Cherokee folklore; children's story.

Eagle, Bob. 2004. "Directory of African-Appalachian Musicians" [identifies where musicians were born, lived, performed, taught, and died. Alphabetical by: state: county: city]. *Black Music Research Journal* 24, no. 1 (Spring): 7-71.

Eagle, Bob. 2004. "Predicting Black Musical Innovation and Integration: The 1850 Mance Index for Appalachia." [based on 1850 Census, ranks counties]. *Black Music Research Journal* 24, no. 1 (Spring): 73-90.

Ehle, John. [1988] 1997. *Trail of Tears: The Rise and Fall of the Cherokee Nation*. Rpt. ed. New York: Doubleday. 434 pp.

Elder, Pat Spurlock. 1999. *The Melungeons: Examining an Appalachian Legend* [history; surnames]. Blountville, Tenn.: Continuity Press. 394 pp.

Eldridge, Carrie. 1999. *Cabell County's Empire for Freedom: The Manumission of Sampson Sanders's Slaves* [1849 Va. (W. Va.); "A continuous history of an African-American family from 1780 to the present"]. Huntington, W. Va.: John Deaver Drinko Academy for American Political Institution and Civic Culture, Marshall University. 164 pp.

Ellison, John T. 1999. "Like So Many Wolves': Creek Removal in the Cherokee Country, 1835-1838." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 71: 1-24.

Ellisor, John T. 2010. *The Second Creek War: Interethnic Conflict and Collusion on a Collapsing Frontier* [1836; Ala.]. Indians of the Southeast series. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 497 pp.

Engelhardt, Elizabeth. 2008. "Effie Waller Smith: African-American Appalachian Poetry from the Breaks" [1879-1960]. *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 3 (Summer): 80-83. Pikeville, Ky.; special issue—"African-American Appalachia."

Engstrom, James D. 2001. "Industry and Immigration in Dalton, Georgia" [carpet manufacturing "capital"]. In *Latino Workers in the Contemporary South*, ed. A. D. Murphy, C. Blanchard, and J. A. Hill, 44-56. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 34. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Eslinger, Ellen. 1994. "The Shape of Slavery on the Kentucky Frontier, 1775-1800." *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 92 (Winter): 1-23.

Eslinger, Ellen. 1999. "The Beginnings of Afro-American Christianity Among Kentucky Baptists" [Bluegrass region]. In *The Buzzel About Kentuck: Settling the Promised Land*, ed. C. Friend, 196-215. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Eslinger, Ellen. 2000. "Sable Spectres on Missions of Evil': Free Blacks of Antebellum Rockbridge County, Virginia" [tables]. In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia, 1800-1900*, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 194-205. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Eslinger, Ellen. 2005. "The Evolution of Racial Politics in Early Ohio" [early 1800s; Black Laws; slavery prohibition]. Chap. 4 in *The Center of a Great Empire: The Ohio Country in the Early American Republic*, ed. A. Cayton and S. Hobbs, 81-104. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Eslinger, Ellen. 2006. "Freedom Without Independence: The Story of a Former Slave and Her Family" [1851 manumission, Warren Co., Va., and transition to Washington Co., Pa.]. *Virginia Magazine of History and Biography* 114, no. 2 (March): 262-291.

Ethridge, Robbie, and Charles Hudson, ed. 2002. *The Transformation of the Southeastern Indians*, 1540-1760 [12 essays]. Chancellor Porter L. Fortune Symposium in Southern History Series. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 369 pp.

Ethridge, Robbie, and Charles Hudson. 1998. "The Early Historic Transformation of the Southeastern Indians" [16th century collapse of chiefdoms]. In *Cultural Diversity in the U.S. South: Anthropological Contributions to a Region in Transition*, ed. C. Hill and P. Beaver, 34-50. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 31. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Ethridge, Robbie Franklyn, and Sheri Marie Shuck-Hall, ed. 2009. Mapping the Mississippian Shatter Zone: The Colonial Indian Slave Trade and Regional Instability in the American South. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 526 pp. Fifteen essays: Introduction: mapping the Mississippian shatter zone / Robbie Ethridge -- Events as seen from the north: the Iroquois and colonial slavery / William A. Fox -- From refugees to slave traders: the transformation of the Westo Indians / Maureen Meyers -- "Caryinge awaye their corne and children": the effects of Westo slave raids on the Indians of the lower south / Eric E. Bowne -- Catawba coalescence and the shattering of the Carolina piedmont, 1540-1675 / Robin A. Beck, Jr -- "Indians refusing to carry burdens": understanding the success of Catawba political, military, and settlement strategies in colonial Carolina / Mary Elizabeth Fitts, Charles L. Heath -- "The greatest travelers in America": Shawnee survival in the shatter zone / Stephen Warren, Randolph Noe -- Tracing the origins of the early Creeks, 1050-1700 CE / Ned J. Jenkins -- Alabama and Coushatta diaspora and coalescence in the Mississippian shatter zone / Sheri M. Shuck-Hall -- Violence in a shattered world / Matthew H. Jennings -- Razing Florida: the Indian slave trade and the devastation of Spanish Florida, 1659-1715 / John E. Worth -- Shattered and infected: epidemics and the origins of the Yamasee war, 1696-1715 / Paul Kelton -- Choctaws at the border of the shatter zone: spheres of exchange and spheres of social value / Patricia Galloway -- Shatter zone shock waves along the lower Mississippi / Marvin D. Jeter -- Picking up the pieces: Natchez coalescence in the shatter zone / George Edward Milne -- Afterword: some thoughts on further work / Robbie Ethridge.

Ethridge, Robbie Franklyn. 2003. *Creek Country: The Creek Indians and Their World* [Ga., Ala., Miss., Tenn.]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 369 pp.

Ethridge, Robbie Franklyn. 2010. From Chicaza to Chickasaw: The European Invasion and the Transformation of the Mississippian World, 1540-1715. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 344 pp. From first contact in 1540 by Hernando De Soto to the beginning of the Yamasee War; northern Mississippi.

Ethridge, Robbie. 2005. "Creeks and Americans in the Age of Washington" [Ga., Ala.]. Chap. 11 in *George Washington's South*, ed. T. Harvey and G. O'Brien, 278-312. Gainesville: University Press of Florida.

Everett, C. S. 1999. "Melungeon History and Myth." *Appalachian Journal* 26 (Summer): 358-409.

Ewen, Lynda Ann. 2007. "A Brief History of the Center for the Study of Ethnicity and Gender in Appalachia (CSEGA)." *Pluck: The Journal of Affrilachian Arts & Culture*, no. 2: 3-4.

Fain, Cicero M. 2007. "Black Response to the Construction of Colored Huntington, West Virginia, during the Jim Crow Era" [1880-1929]. West Virginia History, n.s. 1, no. 2 (Fall): 1-24.

Fain, Cicero M. 2011. "The African American Experience in Antebellum Cabell County, Virginia/West Virginia, 1810-1865." *Ohio Valley History* 11, no. 3 (Fall): 3-23. Maps, tables.

Fain, Cicero. 2011. "Early Black Migration and the Post-emancipation Black Community in Cabell County, West Virginia, 1865-1871." West Virginia History, n.s. 5, no. 2 (Fall): 29-58. Maps, tables, images.

Fain, Cicero. 2011. "Into the Crucible: The Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad and the Black Industrial Worker in Southern West Virginia, 1870-1900." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 17, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 42-65. Black migrants; Huntington, W. Va.; map, tables.

Fariello, M. Anna. 2002. "On a Shallow Foundation of Freedom: Building the Campus of the Christiansburg Institute" [1866-1966]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 6: 38-70. School established for blacks in Montgomery County, Va.

Fariello, M. Anna. 2009. *Cherokee Basketry: From the Hands of Our Elders*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 160 pp. Qualla Boundary; forms and function, materials and weaving patterns, resources, profiles of traditional weavers, photographs, bibliography. See also: Western Carolina University's Digital Collections: "Cherokee Traditions," and "Craft Revival," http://www.wcu.edu/hunter-library/collections/digital-collections.asp.

Fariello, M. Anna. 2010. "Cherokee Rivercane Baskets" [history; process; weavers]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 57, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 41-55.

Fariello, M. Anna. 2011. *Cherokee Pottery: From the Hands of Our Elders* [N.C.]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 166 pp. Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians; history and traditions passed down; designs and tools; the "last" Cherokee potter [1908]; bibliography.

Feely, Michael. 2012. "The Changing Face of Chattanooga" [Tenn.; Latino immigrants]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 11-13.

Feldman, Ellen. 2008. *Scottsboro: A Novel*. New York: W. W. Norton. 363 pp. Historical fiction; 1931 Scottsboro Boys' rape trial, Jackson County, Ala.

Feldman, Lynne B. 1999. A Sense of Place: Birmingham's Black Middle-Class Community, 1890-1930. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 328 pp.

Ferguson, Leland G. 2011. *God's Fields: Landscape, Religion, and Race in Moravian Wachovia* [Forsyth Co., N.C.]. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 276 pp.

Ferris, Jean. 2007. *Underground* [juvenile fiction; fugitive slaves]. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux. 167 pp. "In 1839, Charlotte Brown is sold north to Kentucky, where she becomes a maid at Mammoth Cave Hotel, falls in love with one of the tour guides there, and gets involved in the Underground Railroad."

Fields, Elizabeth Arnett. 1998. "Between Two Cultures: Judge John Martin and the Struggle for Cherokee Sovereignty" [1819-1838]. In *The Southern Colonial Backcountry: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Frontier Communities*, ed. D. Crass, et al., 182-199. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Finger, John R. 1995. "Cherokee Accommodation and Persistence in the Southern Appalachians." In *Appalachia in the Making: The Mountain South in the Nineteenth Century*, ed. M. Pudup, D. Billings, and A. Waller, 25-49. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Finger, John R. 1998. "Tennessee Indian History: Creativity and Power." In *Tennessee History: The Land, The People, and the Culture*, ed. C. Van West, 1-28. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Finger, John R. 2006. "Cherokees, Eastern Band." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 6: *Ethnicity*, ed. C. Ray, 114-116. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Fink, Leon. 2003. *The Maya of Morganton: Work and Community in the Nuevo New South* [N.C. poultry plants; Guatemalan workers; labor disputes]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 254 pp.

Finley, Cheryl, Teenie Harris, Laurence Admiral Glasco, and Joe William Trotter. 2011. *Teenie Harris, Photographer: Image, Memory, History* [100 plates; 1930s-1970s]. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 192 pp. "Charles 'Teenie' Harris (1908-1998) photographed the events and daily life of African Americans for the Pittsburgh Courier, one of the nation's most influential Black newspapers."

Fitts, Mary Elizabeth. 2006. "Mapping Catawba Coalescence" [York Co., S.C.; Mecklenburg Co., N.C.]. *North Carolina Archaeology* 55: 1-59.

Fitzgerald, David. 2002. *Cherokee* [pictorial]. Photography by David Fitzgerald; text by Robert J. Conley. Portland, Oreg.: Graphic Arts Center Publishing. 127 pp.

Fitzpatrick, Pat. 2001. "Growing Up In Stumptown" [black neighborhood; Asheville; 1880s-1970]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 2, ed. R. S. Brunk, 141-153. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services, Inc.

Fleming, John. 2005. *A Summer Remembered: A Memoi*r. Yellow Springs, Ohio: Silver Maple Publications. 193 pp. African American coming-of-age in 1950s Morganton, Burke County, Western N.C.

Fletcher, Winona L., ed. 2003. *Community Memories: A Glimpse of African American Life in Frankfort, Kentucky*. Frankfort: Kentucky Historical Society. 166 pp. Thirty-six interviews; two hundred photographs.

Fogelson, Raymond D., and William C. Sturtevant, ed. 2004. *Handbook of North American Indians*. Volume 14. *Southeast* [encyclopedic]. Washington, D.C.: Smithsonian Institution. 1042 pp.

Fones-Wolf, Colin T. 2004. "A Union Voice for Racial Equality: Miles Stanley and Civil Rights in West Virginia, 1957-68." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10 (Spring/Fall): 111-128.

Fones-Wolf, Ken. 2002. "Caught between Revolutions: Wheeling Germans in the Civil War Era" [(W.)Va.; 1830s, 1850s immigrants; antislavery politics]. In *Transnational West Virginia: Ethnic Communities and Economic Change, 1840-1940*, ed. K. Fones-Wolf and R. Lewis, 18-47. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 1. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Fones-Wolf, Ken. 2002. "Craft, Ethnicity, and Identity: Belgian Glassworkers in West Virginia, 1898-1940" [Clarksburg and Salem]. In *Transnational West Virginia: Ethnic Communities and Economic Change, 1840-1940*, ed. K. Fones-Wolf and R. Lewis, 112-134. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 1. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Fones-Wolf, Ken, and Ronald L. Lewis, ed. 2002. *Transnational West Virginia: Ethnic Communities and Economic Change*, 1840-1940 [12 essays]. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 1. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 325 pp.

Ford, Lacy K. 2009. *Deliver Us from Evil: The Slavery Question in the Old South*. New York: Oxford University Press. 673 pp. Contents: PART ONE. The Upper South's travail -- Owning slaves, disowning slavery -- Rebellion and reaction -- PART SIX. The Upper South responds -- The Upper South debates slavery and colonization -- Tennessee debates slavery -- Ending free Black suffrage in North Carolina.

Ford, Lisa. 2010. *Settler Sovereignty: Jurisdiction and Indigenous People in America and Australia*, 1788-1836 [Ga.]. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press. 313 pp.

Ford, Lyn. 2012. *Affrilachian Tales: Folktales from the African-American Appalachian Tradition*. Little Rock, Ark.: Parkhurst Brothers. 159 pp.

Forret, Jeff. 2008. "Conflict and the 'Slave Community': Violence among Slaves in Upcountry South Carolina." *Journal of Southern History* 74, no. 3 (August): 551-588.

Foster, Sharon Ewell. 2006. *Abraham's Well: A Novel* [historical fiction; black Cherokees; 1838 Trail of Tears]. Minneapolis, Minn.: Bethany House. 335 pp.

Fowler, Virginia C. 2008. "Nikki Giovanni's Appalachian Ties." *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 3 (Summer): 42-50. Special issue—"African-American Appalachia.

Fowler, Virginia C. 2012. "A Nikki Giovanni Chronology" [from 1914]. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 4 (Fall): 51-62.

Fox, Minnie C., comp. [1904] 2005. *The Blue Grass Cook Book*. Introduction by John Fox Jr.; new introduction by Toni Tipton-Martin. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 350 pp. Originally published: New York: Fox, Duffield & Co. "...three hundred recipes from...near Minnie Fox's Bourbon County, Kentucky, family estate and her Big Stone Gap, Virginia, home....She reveals the vital role of the black cooks."

Frank, Andrew K. 2005. *Creeks and Southerners: Biculturalism on the Early American Frontier* [intermarriage; Ga., Ala., Fla.]. Indians of the Southeast. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 192 pp.

Frantz, John B. 2001. "The Religious Development of the Early German Settlers in 'Greater Pennsylvania': The Shenandoah Valley of Virginia." *Pennsylvania History* 68 (Winter): 66-100.

Frederick, Francis. 2010. *Slave Life in Virginia and Kentucky: A Narrative by Francis Fedric, Escaped Slave* [ca. 1805-1882; Mason Co., Ky.]. Edited by Catherine Lynette Innes. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 124 pp.

Freed, Mark. 2004. "Preliminary Bibliography of Best-Known Black Appalachian Musicians" [based on 1921 map of region]. *Black Music Research Journal* 24, no. 1 (Spring): 91-169.

French, Laurence Armand. 1998. *The Qualla Cherokee Surviving in Two Worlds* [N.C.; negatively reviewed]. Native American Studies, no. 5. Lewiston, N.Y.: E. Mellen Press. 245 pp.

Fry, Michael. 2005. *How the Scots Made America*. New York: Thomas Dunne Books/St. Martin's Press. 242 pp.

Furbee, Mary R. 2001. Wild Rose: Nancy Ward and the Cherokee Nation [1737-1822; juvenile literature]. Greensboro, N.C.: Morgan Reynolds. 112 pp.

Furbee, Mary Rodd. 1997. "I Was Never Afraid of Anything': Pilot Rose Rolls Cousins" [growing up black in Fairmont, W. Va. and beating the odds to become a licensed pilot]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Summer): 36-41.

Gabbin, Joanne Veal. 2012. "Nikki Giovanni: A Collector of Memories." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 4 (Fall): 27-31.

Gabriel, H. William. 2000. "Hickmans and Servants: Two Appalachian Families" [Bath Co., Va.]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 4: 37-65. Story of the relationship between a family of slaves and their masters' family, spanning more than 100 years, through excerpts from letters and documents.

Gallay, Alan, ed. 2009. *Indian Slavery in Colonial America*. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 440 pp. Twelve essays, including these five: Introduction: Indian slavery in historical context / Alan Gallay -- "They shalbe slaves for their lives": Indian slavery in colonial Virginia / C.S. Everett -- South Carolina's entrance into the Indian slave trade / Alan Gallay -- Indian slavery in southeastern Indian and British societies, 1670-1730 / Denise I. Bossy -- The making of a militaristic slaving society: the Chickasaws and the colonial Indian slave trade / Robbie Ethridge.

Galloway, Patricia Kay. 2006. *Practicing Ethnohistory: Mining Archives, Hearing Testimony, Constructing Narrative* [Choctaw confederacy in the 18th-century; collection of the author's writing, 1981-2003]. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 454 pp.

Gambold, Anna Rosina, and John Gambold. 2007. *The Moravian Springplace Mission to the Cherokees*. 2 volumes [v. 1. 1805-1813 -- v. 2. 1814-1821]. Edited with an introduction by Rowena McClinton. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. Annotated translation of the diaries of the Gambolds, Moravian missionaries to the Cherokee Indians; northwest Georgia.

Gann, Rosalind Raymond, Brenda Pennington Dean, and Joaquin Marquez. 2005. "Beyond English Hegemony: Language, Migration and Appalachian Schools" [Morristown, Hamblen Co., Tenn.; Mexican school children; 'English only' law]. *Changing English: Studies in Culture & Education* 12 (December): 431-441.

Gardner, S. L. 2004. "Black Days, Black Dust: An Oral History of Life in the Coalfields" [discusses collaboration with Robert Armstead to write his memoir, *Black Days, Black Dust: The Memories of an African American Coal Miner* (University of Tennessee Press, 2002)]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 9: 41-44.

Gardner, Sharon L. 2000. "Memories of a Mining Family: Tony Armstead Recalls Four Generations" [northern W. Va. coalfields; African-American miners]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Winter): 52-57.

Garrison, Memphis Tennessee. 2001. *Memphis Tennessee Garrison: The Remarkable Story of a Black Appalachian Woman* [1890-1988; school teacher and union organizer; McDowell Co., W. Va.]. Edited by Ancella R. Bickley and Lynda Ann Ewen; historical afterword by Joe W. Trotter. Ohio University Press Series in Ethnicity and Gender in Appalachia. Athens: Ohio University Press. 272 pp.

Garrison, Tim Alan. 2002. *The Legal Ideology of Removal: The Southern Judiciary and the Sovereignty of Native American Nations* [1830s, states' rights leverage]. Studies in the Legal History of the South. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 331 pp.

Gates, Henry Louis, Jr. 2008. "Berea College Commencement Address" [Class of 2007]. *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 3 (Summer): 21-28. Special issue—"African-American Appalachia.

Gates, Henry Louis. 1994. *Colored People: A Memoir* [1949-1969]. New York: Knopf. 216 pp. Weatherford Award winner. The author was born and grew up in Piedmont, W. Va., and currently directs African American Studies at Harvard.

Gates, Henry Louis. 2012. *The Henry Louis Gates, Jr. Reader*. Edited by Abby Wolf. New York: Basic Civitas Books. 644 pp. "...collects three decades of his writings in a range of fields, in a volume that also offers insight into his achievements as a historian, theorist, and cultural critic." Born and raised in Piedmont, W. Va., Gates serves as Director of Harvard's Du Bois Institute for African and African American Research.

Gill, Hannah E. 2010. *The Latino Migration Experience in North Carolina: New Roots in the Old North State*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 208 pp.

Gille, Frank H., ed. 1999. *Indians of West Virginia* [dictionary; by tribe]. St. Clair Shores, Mich.: Somerset Publishers. 324 pp.

Gilmore, Peter. 2000. "A Fiddler Was a Great Acquisition to Any Neighborhood': Traditional Music and Ulster Culture of the Pennsylvania Frontier" [Scotch-Irish]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 83 (Fall): 148-165.

Gimpel, James G., and J. Celeste Lay. 2008. "Political Socialization and Reactions to Immigration-Related Diversity in Rural America" [tables]. *Rural Sociology* 73, no. 2 (June): 180-204. Garrett Co., western Md., was one of nine settings surveyed in Md. and Iowa.

Giovanni, Nikki. 2012. "Affirming My Birth Date Though I Have No Intention of Running For Any Public Office" [June 7, 1943]. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 4 (Fall): 49-50.

Glancey, Diane. 2009. *Pushing the Bear: After the Trail of Tears* [fiction]. American Indian Literature and Critical Studies Series. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press. 197 pp. Sequel to the author's 1996 novel, *Pushing the Bear: A Novel of the Trail of Tears* (Harcourt Brace). Starving Cherokees arrive at Fort Gibson, Indian Territory, 1839.

Glancy, Diane. 1996. Pushing the Bear: A Novel of The Trail of Tears. Orlando, Fla.: Harcourt Brace.

Goings, Henry. 2012. *Rambles of a Runaway from Southern Slavery* [born Elijah Turner, circa 1810]. Edited by Calvin Schermerhorn, Michael Plunkett, and Edward Gaynor. Carter G. Woodson Institute Series. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 157 pp. "...traveling

from his Virginia birthplace through the cotton kingdom of the Lower South, and upon his escape from slavery, through Tennessee and Kentucky, then on to the Great Lakes region of the North and to Canada."

Golden, Tim. 2002. "Mexican Drug Dealers Turning U.S. Towns Into Major Depots" [Dalton, Ga.]. *New York Times*, 16 November, 1(A).

Gonzalez, G. W. 2003. *Pinnick Kinnick Hill: An American Story* [W. Va.; Spanish mill town; zinc industry; Spanish translation on facing pages]. Edited by Mark Brazaitas, with a preface by Suronda Gonzalez. Translation by Daniel D. Ferreras. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 246 pp.

Gonzalez, Suronda. 1999. "Forging Their Place in Appalachia: Spanish Immigrants in Spelter, West Virginia" [zinc company town]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 5 (Fall): 197-205.

Good, Crystal. 2012. *Valley Girl* [chapbook of poems]. Charleston, W. Va.(?): crystalgood. 37 pp. W. Va. Affrilachian poet's "valley girl" is a metaphor for victims of mountaintop removal mining and other regional toxic industries. See Jeff Biggers review, "Valley Girl" (2012).

Gorby, W. Hal. 2010. "Subcultures in Conflict in Polonia: Class, Religion, and Ethnic Tensions in the Formation of Wheeling's Polish Community, 1895–1917" [Catholic Church; tables]. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 4, no. 2 (Fall): 1-34.

Gottlieb, Peter. [1987] 1997. Making Their Own Way: Southern Blacks' Migration to Pittsburgh, 1916-30. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Gourley, Robbin. 2009. *Bring Me Some Apples and I'll Make You a Pie: A Story About Edna Lewis* [children's book; Va. farm]. New York: Clarion Books. 45 pp. "Includes facts about the life of Edna Lewis, a descendant of slaves who grew up to be a famous chef, and five recipes."

Gragson, Ted L., and Paul V. Bolstad. 2007. "A Local Analysis of Early-Eighteenth-Century Cherokee Settlement" [tables, maps]. *Social Science History* 31, no. 3 (Fall): 435-468.

Green, Jordan. 2001. "No Justice; Disturbing the Peace" [Chattanooga, Tenn.; police racism, brutality]. *Southern Exposure* 28 (Spring/Summer): 20-22.

Green, Michael D. 2003. "William McIntosh: The Evolution of a Creek National Idea" [1780s-1840s]. In *The Human Tradition in the Old South*, ed. J. Klotter, 45-62. Wilmington, Del.: Scholarly Resources.

Gregg, Matthew T. 2005. "Market Orientation and the Multifactor Productivity of Cherokee Indian Farmers before Removal" [1835 census]. *Essays in Economic & Business History* 23: 20-38.

Grenier, John. 2005. *The First Way of War: American War Making on the Frontier*, 1607-1814 [Indian wars; irregular, unconventional warfare]. New York: Cambridge University Press. 232 pp.

Griffin, Larry J. 2004. "Whiteness and Southern Identity in the Mountain and Lowland South" [tables]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10 (Spring/Fall): 7-37.

Griffin, Patrick. 2001. The People with No Name: Ireland's Ulster Scots, America's Scots Irish, and the Creation of a British Atlantic World: 1689-1764. Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press. 244 pp.

Griffin, Patrick. 2005. "Reconsidering the Ideological Origins of Indian Removal: The Case of the Big Bottom 'Massacre'" [1791; Muskingum River settlement; (Morgan Co., Oh.)]. Chap. 1 in *The Center of a Great Empire: The Ohio Country in the Early American Republic*, ed. A. Cayton and S. Hobbs, 11-35. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Griffith, David C. 2005. "Rural Industry and Mexican Immigration and Settlement in North Carolina" [1980s-90s]. In *New Destinations: Mexican Immigration in the United States*, ed. V. Zuniga and R. Hernandez-Leon, 50-75. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.

Griffler, Keith P. 2004. Front Line of Freedom: African Americans and the Forging of the Underground Railroad in the Ohio Valley. Ohio River Valley Series. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 169 pp.

Griggs, Kristy Owens. 2002. "The Removal of Blacks from Corbin in 1919: Memory, Perspective, and the Legacy of Racism" [2002 Thomas D. Clark Award winner for best undergraduate paper]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 100 (Summer): 293-310.

Gudmestad, Robert. 2011. "Choctaws, Creeks, Chickasaws, Seminoles, and Cherokees Removed by Steamboat, 1830-1843." Appendix B in *Steamboats and the Rise of the Cotton Kingdom*, by R. Gudmestad, 181-182. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Guiler, Thomas A., and Lee M. Penyak. 2009. "Braceros and Bureaucracy: Mexican Guest Workers on the Delaware, Lackawanna and Western Railroad during the 1940s" [migrant workers; labor and treatment; WWII]. *Pennsylvania History* 76, no. 4 (Autumn): 422-469. Lackawanna Co.; United States-Mexico Non-Agricultural Workers Agreement; Appendix A: "Vital Statistics" for workers; Appendix B: "Financial Information" for workers.

Guthey, Greig. 2001. "Mexican Places in Southern Spaces: Globalization, Work, and Daily Life in and Around the North Georgia Poultry Industry." In *Latino Workers in the Contemporary South*, ed. A. D. Murphy, C. Blanchard, and J. A. Hill, 57-67. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 34. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Gutierrez, Sandra A. 2012. "Country Fried Steaks with Cilantro-Lime Gravy" [recipe]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 28, no. 1 (Summer): 48-49. A sampling from the author's new cookbook, The New Southern-Latino Table: Recipes That Bring Together the Bold and

Beloved Flavors of Latin America & the American South (University of North Carolina Press, 2011).

Gutman, Herbert G. 1994. "The Negro and the United Mine Workers of America." In *African Americans and Non- Agricultural Labor in the South, 1865-1900*, ed. D. Nieman, 49-139. New York: Garland.

Haga, Pauline. 2000. "A Dream Fulfilled: The Life and Times of Parthenia Edmonds" [Beckley, W. Va.; b. 1914; daughter of sharecroppers, granddaughter of slaves]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Winter): 46-51.

Hagedorn, Ann. 2003. *Beyond the River: The Untold Story of the Heroes of the Underground Railroad* [John Rankin (1793-1886), Ripley, Ohio]. New York: Simon & Schuster. 333 pp.

Hahn, Steven C. 2002. "The Mother of Necessity: Carolina, the Creek Indians, and the Making of a New Order in the American Southeast, 1670-1763." In *The Transformation of the Southeastern Indians, 1540-1760*, ed. R. Ethridge and C. Hudson, 79-114. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi.

Hahn, Steven C. 2004. *The Invention of the Creek Nation*, *1670-1763* [history, politics, first contact]. Indians of the Southeast. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 338 pp.

Hail, Raven. 2000. The Cherokee Sacred Calendar: A Handbook of the Ancient Native American Tradition [explains 20 day signs]. Rochester, Vt.: Destiny Books. 141 pp.

Haimes-Bartolf, Melanie D. 2007. "The Social Construction of Race and Monacan Education in Amherst County, Virginia, 1908–1965: Monacan Perspectives." *History of Education Quarterly* 47, no. 4 (Winter): 389-415.

Hall, Karen C. 2010. Ethnobotany of the Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians: A Path to Sustaining Traditional Identity with an Emphasis on Medicinal Plant Use. Seneca, S.C.: Emerald Wing Press. 94 pp. Qualla Boundary, Swain and Jackson Cos., N.C. Based on the author's 2006 dissertation of the same title, and interviews with three elders.

Haluszczak, Stephen P. 2009. *Ukrainians of Western Pennsylvania*. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Photo-retrospective; immigrant families; Pittsburgh.

Harlan, B. Lynne. 2009. "My Grandmother Was a Cherokee, and My Grandpa Was a Southern Baptist Preacher." *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 4 (Fall): 87-91. Cherokee heritage, "wannabes," and formal definitions for Indian people.

Harmon, Alexandra. 2003. "American Indians and Land Monopolies in the Gilded Age" [Cherokees, Choctaws, Chickasaws, Creeks, Seminoles]. *Journal of American History* 90 (June): 106-133.

Harmon, Alexandra. 2010. *Rich Indians: Native People and the Problem of Wealth in American History*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 388 pp. Including Cherokees and Choctaws.

Harper, Kimberly. 2010. White Man's Heaven: The Lynching and Expulsion of Blacks in the Southern Ozarks, 1894-1909 [Mo.]. Fayetteville: University of Arkansas Press. 325 pp.

Harringtonk, M. R. [1908] 2006. "Catawba Potters and Their Work." *North Carolina Archaeology* 55: 89-102. Originally published in *American Anthropologist* (new series) 10: 399-407.

Harris, Trudier. 2012. "Nikki Giovanni: Literary Survivor Across Centuries." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 4 (Fall): 34-47.

Harrison, Lowell H. [1978] 2004. *The Antislavery Movement in Kentucky* [1792-1865]. Rpt. ed. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 136 pp.

Hartigan, John, Jr. 2004. "Whiteness and Appalachian Studies: What's the Connection?" *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10 (Spring/Fall): 58-72.

Hartigan, John. 2005. *Odd Tribes: Toward a Cultural Analysis of White People* ["white trash"; *Deliverance*; Detroit; poverty]. Durham, N.C.: Duke University Press. 359 pp.

Harvey, Sean P. 2010. "Must Not Their Languages Be Savage and Barbarous Like Them?" *Journal of the Early Republic* 30, no. 4 (Winter): 505-532. Political debates surrounding government policies towards Indian removal.

Hashaw, Tim. 2006. *Children of Perdition: Melungeons and the Struggle of Mixed America*. The Melungeons: History, Culture, Ethnicity, & Literature. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 182 pp.

Hauptman, Laurence M. 2001. "General John E. Wool in Cherokee Country, 1836-1837" [pre-Removal assigned peacekeeper]. *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 85 (Spring): 1-26.

Hausman, Blake M. 2011. *Riding the Trail of Tears* [virtual-reality fiction; tragicomedy/satire]. Native Storiers series. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 370 pp. "A surrealistic revisiting of the Cherokee Removal [1838-1839]...takes us to north Georgia in the near future, into a virtual-reality tourist compound where customers ride the Trail of Tears....Cherokee Little People have taken up residence in the virtual world and fully intend to change the ride's programming to suit their own point of view."

Haveman, Christopher D. "Last Evening I Saw the Sun Set for the Last Time': The 1832 Treaty of Washington and the Transfer of the Creeks' Alabama Land to White Ownership." *Native South* 5: 61-94.

Hawkins, Benjamin. 2003. *The Collected Works of Benjamin Hawkins*, 1796-1810 [U.S. Indian agent, Southeast (esp. Creek)]. Edited by Thomas Foster. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 664 pp.

Hawkins, Michael. 2002. "Habitus and Ethnicity n the Upper South: To Enslave or Not to Enslave" [Great Appalachian Valley, Va. to Pa.]. Southeastern Geographer 42 (May): 94-113.

Hay, Fred J. 2003. "African-American Music of Appalachia, I." Special issue, *Black Music Research Journal* 23, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 1-203.

Hay, Fred J. 2003. "Black Musicians in Appalachia: An Introduction to Affrilachian Music." *Black Music Research Journal* 23, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 1-20.

Hay, Fred J. 2003. "Music Box Meets the Toccoa Band: The Godfather of Soul in Appalachia" [James Brown; northeast Ga., 1951-1957; Bobby Byrd]. *Black Music Research Journal* 23, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 103-133.

Hay, Fred J. 2004. "African-American Music of Appalachia, II." Special issue, *Black Music Research Journal* 24, no. 1 (Spring): 1-169.

Hayden, Wilburn, Jr. 2001. "African Americans in Appalachia: Intensification of Historical Demographic Patterns." In *The Hidden America: Social Problems in Rural America for the Twenty-First Century*, ed. R. Moore, 294-304. Selinsgrove, Pa.: Susquehanna University Press.

Hayden, Wilburn, Jr. 2002. "In Search of Justice: White Privilege in Appalachia" [documents urban concentrations of blacks in Appalachia]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Spring): 120-131.

Hayden, Wilburn, Jr. 2004. "Appalachian Diversity: African-American, Hispanic/Latino, and Other Populations" [tables; 2000 Census]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10, no. 3: 293-306.

Hayden, Wilburn. 2005. "Barriers Confronting African Americans of the Rural Appalachian Region" [powerlessness, poverty, discrimination, prejudice, and White privilege]. In *Social Work in Rural Communities*, 4th edition, ed. L. Ginsberg, 401-425.

Haynes, Joshua S. 2010. "Constructing Authenticity: The Indian Arts and Crafts Board and the Eastern Band of Cherokees, 1935–1985." *Native South* 3: 1-38. IACB investigation of Saddlecraft, Inc. as a fraudulent producer of Indian crafts.

Haynes, Robert V. 2010. "Natives and Interlopers." Chap. 12 in *The Mississippi Territory and the Southwest Frontier*, 1795-1817, by R. Haynes, 219-240. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Examines relations with "The Five Civilized Tribes": Chickasaw, Choctaw, Creek, Cherokee, and Seminole.

Heath, Barbara J., and Jack Gary, ed. 2012. *Jefferson's Poplar Forest: Unearthing a Virginia Plantation* [Bedford Co., Va., adjacent present-day Lynchburg]. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 242 pp. Essays; excavations; slavery.

Hebert, Keith S. 2008. "The Bitter Trial of Defeat and Emancipation: Reconstruction in Bartow County, Georgia, 1865-1872." *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 92, no. 1 (Spring): 65-92.

Held, Rick. 2001. "CPR for a Troubled City" [police brutality in Knoxville, Tenn.]. *Southern Exposure* 28 (Spring/Summer): 17-19.

Hemler, Deb. 2009. "The Roads to Appalachia Were Paved by Geology." *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 11: 51-53. Terrain familiar to immigrants from Scotland, Ireland, Wales, and Italy.

Hemphill, Helen. 2008. *The Adventurous Deeds of Deadwood Jones* [juvenile fiction; Civil War era]. Asheville, N.C.: Front Street. 228 pp. "Thirteen-year-old Prometheus Jones and his eleven-year-old cousin Omer flee Tennessee and join a cattle drive that will eventually take them to Texas, where Prometheus hopes his father lives, and they find adventure and face challenges as African Americans in a land still recovering from the Civil War."

Henderson, A. Gwynn. 1999. "The Lower Shawnee Town on Ohio: Sustaining Native Autonomy in an Indian 'Republic'" [Ohio Valley; 1740s-50s]. In *The Buzzel About Kentuck: Settling the Promised Land*, ed. C. Friend, 24-55. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Hendrick, George, and Willene Hendrick, ed. 2004. *Fleeing for Freedom: Stories of the Underground Railroad As Told by Levi Coffin and William Still* [Ohio; transcribed interviews, biographies, newspaper excerpts]. Chicago: Ivan R. Dee. 209 pp.

Henige, David, and Darlene Wilson. 1998. "Brent Kennedy's *Melungeons*." *Appalachian Journal* 25 (Spring): 270-298. Review essay of N. Brent Kennedy's *The Melungeons: Resurrection of a Proud People; An Untold Story of Ethnic Cleansing in America*, 2nd ed. (Mercer University Press, 1997). 1: "The Melungeons Become a Race," by David Henige, 270-286. 2: "A Response to Henige," by Darlene Wilson, 286-296. 3: "Henige Answers Wilson," 297-298.

Henning, Denise K. 2007. "Yes, My Daughters, We Are Cherokee Women." In *Making Space for Indigenous Feminism*, ed. Joyce Green, 187-198. Black Point, Nova Scotia, Canada: Fernwood Publishing.

Henwood, Dawn. 1999. "Slaveries 'In the Borders': Rebecca Harding Davis's *Life in the Iron Mills* in Its Southern Context" [antebellum Wheeling, Va.]. *Mississippi Quarterly* 52 (Fall): 567-592.

Hernandez-Leon, Ruben, and Victor Zuniga. 2003. "Mexican Immigrant Communities in the South and Social Capital: The Case of Dalton, Georgia." *Southern Rural Sociology* 19, no. 1: 20-45.

Hernandez-Leon, Ruben, and Victor Zuniga. 2000. "'Making Carpet by the Mile': The Emergence of a Mexican Immigrant Community in an Industrial Region of the U.S. Historic South" [northwest Ga.]. *Social Science Quarterly* 81 (March): 49-66.

Hernandez-Leon, Ruben, and Victor Zuniga. 2005. "Appalachia Meets Aztlan: Mexican Immigration and Intergroup Relations in Dalton, Georgia" [Latino population grew 600 percent, 1990-2000; carpet manufacturing]. In *New Destinations: Mexican Immigration in the United States*, ed. V. Zuniga and R. Hernandez-Leon, 244-273. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.

Herrin, Roberta. 2012. "When Cultures Wed." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 2. Introductory essay to special issue, "Nuevo Appalachia."

Hicks, Brian. 2011. "The Holdouts." *Smithsonian* 41, no. 11 (March): 50-60. Article adapted from the book, *Toward the Setting Sun: John Ross, the Cherokees, and the Trail of Tears*, by Brian Hicks (Atlantic Monthly Press, 2011).

Hicks, Brian. 2011. *Toward the Setting Sun: John Ross, the Cherokees, and the Trail of Tears* [1838]. New York: Atlantic Monthly Press. 421 pp.

Hidalgo, Tom. 2001. "En las Montanas: Spaniards in Southern West Virginia" [1920s-1940; coal; community life]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Winter): 52-59.

High, Ellesa Clay. 2004. "Diversity in Appalachia: The Lessons That Mountains Teach" [adaptations of diverse indigenous and settler cultures vs. stereotyping sovereignty]. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 2, no. 2 (Winter-Spring):nonfiction section, 8 paras. http://nantahalareview.org/issue2-2/non-fiction/HIGH.htm.

Hill, Sarah H. 1997. Weaving New Worlds: Southeastern Cherokee Women and Their Basketry. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 414 pp.

Hill, Sarah H. 2011. "'To Overawe the Indians and Give Confidence to the Whites': Preparations for the Removal of the Cherokee Nation from Georgia." *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 95, no. 4 (Winter): 465-497. Construction of federal forts and removal camps; "Georgia led all southern states in the clamor for the expulsion of the Cherokee Nation."

Hill, Sarah H. 2012. "Cherokee Removal Scenes: Ellijay, Georgia, 1838." *Southern Spaces*, 23 August. 7,500 words, plus interactive maps, illustrations, and notes. Sections: Introduction | Ellijay | Fort Hetzel | Removal | Recommended Resources. http://southernspaces.org/2012/cherokee-removal-scenes-ellijay-georgia-1838.

Hill, Sarah. 2002. "Made by the Hands of Indians: Cherokee Women and Trade [basketry]. In *Neither Lady nor Slave: Working Women of the Old South*, ed. S. Delfino and M. Gillespie, 34-54. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Hinshaw, John. 1997. "The Job Strategies of Black Steelworkers in the 1960s and 1970s." *Pittsburgh History* 80 (Summer): 70-74.

Hirschman, Elizabeth Caldwell, Stephen Brown, and Pauline Maclaran. 2006. *Two Continents, One Culture: The Scotch-Irish in Southern Appalachia*. Johnson City, Tenn: Overmountain Press. 104 pp.

Hirschman, Elizabeth. 2004. *Melungeons: The Last Lost Tribe in America*. The Melungeons series. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 186 pp.

Hobson, Geary, Janet McAdams, and Kathryn Walkiewicz, ed. 2010. *The People Who Stayed: Southeastern Indian Writing After Removal* [after 1830]. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press. 349 pp. Multi-genre anthology. Contents: Virginia, Maryland, and Delaware -- Carolinas, Tennessee, and Kentucky -- Deep South: Georgia, Florida, Alabama, and Mississippi -- Arkansas, Louisiana, and East Texas.

Hoffman, Carl. 1997. "Building on the Past" [Lee Co., Va., Appalachian African-American Cultural Center]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 30 (Jan.-Apr.): 36-40.

Hoffman, Carl. 1997. "Selena Robinson: Steel-Willed Angel" [activist; Brevard, N.C.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 30 (May-August): 36-40.

Hofstra, Warren R., ed. 2012. *Ulster to America: The Scots-Irish Migration Experience, 1680-1830.* Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 263 pp. Contents: Introduction: From the north of Ireland to North America: the Scots-Irish and the migration experience / Warren R. Hofstra -- Searching for a new world: the background and baggage of Scots-Irish immigrants / David W. Miller -- Searching for land: the role of New Castle, Delaware, 1720s-1770s / Marianne S. Wokeck -- Searching for order: Donegal Springs, Pennsylvania, 1720s-1730s / Richard K. MacMaster -- Searching for community: Carlisle, Pennsylvania, 1750s-1780s / Richard K. MacMaster -- Searching for peace and prosperity: Opequon settlement, Virginia, 1730s-1760s / Warren R. Hofstra -- Searching for status: Virginia's Irish tract, 1770s-1790s / Katharine L. Brown and Kenneth W. Keller -- Searching for security: backcountry Carolina, 1760s-1780s / Michael Montgomery -- Searching for "Irish" freedom - settling for "Scotch-Irish" respectability: southwestern Pennsylvania, 1780-1810 / Peter Gilmore and Kerby A. Miller -- Searching for independence: revolutionary Kentucky, Irish American experience, and Scotch-Irish myth, 1770s-1790s / Patrick Griffin -- Afterword: historic political moderation in the Ulster-to-America diaspora / Robert M. Calhoon.

Hollifield, Adrienne. 2008. "Barbara R. Duncan: Folklorist, Festival Organizer, Writer, and Musician." *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 55, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 32-36. North Carolina Folklore Society's 2008 Brown-Hudson Folklore Award winner; author and promoter of Cherokee folklife and culture.

hooks, bell. 1996. *Bone Black: Memories of Girlhood* [b. 1952, Hopkinsville, Ky.]. New York: Henry Holt. 183 pp. "Stitching together girlhood memories with the finest threads of innocence, the author presents a powerfully intimate account of growing up in the South."

hooks, bell. 2008. "Free Spirits: A Legacy of Wildness" [Ky]. *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 3 (Summer): 37-39. Special issue—"African-American Appalachian."

hooks, bell. 2009. *Belonging: A Culture of Place* [biography; Ky.]. New York: Routledge. 230 pp. "She explores a geography of the heart, focusing on issues of homeplace, of land, and land stewardship, linking the issues to global environmentalism and sustainability And she focuses on the experience of black farmers...who celebrate local organic food production."

hooks, bell. 2012. "The Beloved Community: A Conversation with bell hooks." Interviewed by George Brosi. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 4 (Fall): 76-86. Second in a series of interviews.

Horning, Audrey J. 2002. "Myth, Migration, and Material Culture: Archaeology and the Ulster Influence on Appalachia" [NPS project; Shenandoah National Park, Va.]. *Historical Archaeology* 36 (Winter): 129-149.

House, Silas. 2006. "My Country Sister" [praise for Ky. author Crystal Wilkinson]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 2 (Spring): 24-25. Sidebar by Affrilachian poet Nikky Finney, "A Deep and Curious Imagination," 26.

Howard, Elizabeth Fitzgerald. 2000. *Vergie Goes to School with Us Boys*. [juvenile fiction; post-Civil War Jonesborough, Tenn.; African-American]. New York: Simon & Schuster Books for Young Readers. 32 pp.

Howell, Rebecca Gayle, and Lucious Thompson. 2008. "Coal America" [Ky.]. *Pluck: The Journal of Affrilachian Arts & Culture*, no. 4: 10-13. Interview with underground miner Thompson who rails against local mountaintop removal company, TECO (Tampa Energy Company).

Hubbard, Rita L. 2007. *African Americans of Chattanooga: A History of Unsung Heroes* [Tenn., biographies]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 155 pp. From 1541, DeSoto's Spanish expedition.

Hudson, Angela Pulley. 2010. *Creek Paths and Federal Roads: Indians, Settlers, and Slaves and the Making of the American South* [Creek Indians; 1830s relocation]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 252 pp.

Hudson, J. Blaine. 2002. Fugitive Slaves and the Underground Railroad in the Kentucky Borderland. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 205 pp.

Hudson, J. Blaine. 2003. Fugitive Slaves and the Underground Railroad in the Kentucky Borderland [Ohio Valley, Ky., Tenn.]. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 205 pp.

Humphreys, James. 2012. "Becoming Americans: Social Change in Morgan County, Tennessee, 1850-1870." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 84: 23-39. German and Swiss immigrants were forced to choose sides in the Civil War.

Hunter Library, Western Carolina University. 2011 (date accessed). "Cherokee Traditions: From the Hands of our Elders" (digital collection). Project in cooperation with: Cherokee Preservation Foundation, Qualla Arts and Crafts Mutual, and Museum of the Cherokee Indian. Digitized photos of the artists, basketry, pottery, woodwork, and other artifacts. http://www.wcu.edu/library/DigitalCollections/CherokeeTraditions/.

Hunter Library, Western Carolina University. 2011 (date accessed). "The *Cherokee Phoenix* from Hunter Library" (digital collection). Digitized copies of the newspaper *Cherokee Phoenix* from 1828 to 1834, which was based at the Cherokee Nation's capital of New Echota (now part of Georgia). http://www.wcu.edu/library/DigitalCollections/CherokeePhoenix/.

Hurley, Basil. 1998. "Tales from the Irish Tract" [3000 acres containing 18 Irish farms in 19th century W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Spring): 38-45. Sidebars: 46-49.

Huston, James L. 2011. "The Pregnant Economies of the Border South, 1840-1860: Virginia, Kentucky, Tennessee, and the Possibilities of Slave-Labor Expansion." Chap. 6 in *The Old South's Modern Worlds: Slavery, Region, and Nation in the Age of Progress*, ed. D. Barnes, B. Schoen, and F. Towers, 120-141. New York: Oxford University Press.

Hutchens, Linda Rucker, and Ella J. Wilmont Smith. 2004. *Hall County, Georgia* [vintage photos]. Black America series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Ingersoll, Thomas N. 2005. To Intermix with Our White Brothers: Indian Mixed Bloods in the United States from Earliest Times to the Indian Removals. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press. 450 pp.

Innes, Pamela. 2004. "Medicine-Making Language among the Muskogee: The Effects of Changing Attitudes." In *Linguistic Diversity in the South: Changing Codes, Practices, and Ideology*, ed. M. Bender, 90-103. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 37. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Inscoe, John C. 1995. "Race and Racism in Nineteenth-Century Southern Appalachia: Myths, Realities, and Ambiguities." In *Appalachia in the Making: The Mountain South in the Nineteenth Century*, ed. M. Pudup, D. Billings, and A. Waller, 103-131. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Inscoe, John C. [1989] 1996. *Mountain Masters: Slavery and the Sectional Crisis in Western North Carolina*. Rpt. ed. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 369 pp.

Inscoe, John C. [1999] 2001. "The Racial 'Innocence' of Appalachia: William Faulkner and the Mountain South." In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G.

Norman, and K. Ledford, 85-97. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Inscoe, John C. 2001. "Introduction." In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 1-15. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Inscoe, John C. 2001. "Olmstead in Appalachia: A Connecticut Yankee Encounters Slavery and Racism in the Southern Highlands, 1854" [Frederick Law Olmstead]. In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 154-164. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Previously published, *Slavery & Abolition* 9 (1988): 171-182.

Inscoe, John C. 2004. "Race and Remembrance in West Virginia: John Henry for a Post-Modern Age" [examines the novel *John Henry Days*, by Colson Whitehead (Doubleday, 2001)]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10 (Spring/Fall): 85-94.

Inscoe, John C. 2004. "Slavery and African Americans in the Nineteenth Century." In *High Mountains Rising: Appalachia in Time and Place*, ed. R. Straw and H. Blethen, 30-45. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Inscoe, John C. 2008. Race, War, and Remembrance in the Appalachian South. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 395 pp. Author's collected essays. Contents: Race and racism in nineteenth-century Appalachia: myths, realities, and ambiguities -- Between bondage and freedom: confronting the variables of Appalachian slavery and slaveholding -- Olmsted in Appalachia: a Connecticut Yankee encounters slavery in the southern highlands, 1854 --Mountain masters as Confederate opportunists: the slave trade in western North Carolina, 1861-1865 -- The secession crisis and regional self-image: the contrasting cases of western North Carolina and East Tennessee -- Highland households divided: familial deceptions, diversions, and divisions in southern Appalachia's inner civil war / with Gordon B. McKinney -- Coping in Confederate Appalachia: portrait of a mountain woman and her community at war -- "Moving through deserter country": fugitive accounts of southern Appalachia's inner civil war -- "Talking heroines": elite mountain women as chroniclers of Stoneman's Raid, April 1865 -- The racial "innocence" of Appalachia: William Faulkner and the mountain South -- A fugitive slave in frontier Appalachia: The Journey of August King on film -- "A northern wedge thrust into the heart of the Confederacy": explaining Civil War loyalties in the age of Appalachian discovery, 1900-1921 -- Unionists in the attic: the Shelton Laurel Massacre dramatized -- Appalachian Odysseus: love, war, and best-sellerdom in the Blue Ridge -- Guerrilla war and remembrance: reconstructing a father's murder and a community's civil war -- Race and remembrance in West Virginia: John Henry for a postmodernist age -- In defense of Appalachia on film: Hollywood, history, and the highland South.

Inscoe, John C. 2011. Writing the South Through the Self: Explorations in Southern Autobiography. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 249 pp. Contents: Lessons from Southern lives: teaching race through autobiography -- "I learn what I am": adolescent struggles with mixed-race identity -- "All manner of defeated, shiftless, shifty, pathetic and interesting good people": autobiographical encounters with Southern white poverty -- Railroads, race, and remembrance: the traumas of train travel in the Jim Crow South -- "I'm better than this sorry

place": coming to terms with self and the South in college -- Sense of place, sense of being: Appalachian struggles with identity, belonging, and escape -- Afterword: "Getting pretty fed up with this two-tone South": moving toward multiculturalism [Melungeons, Cherokees, Asians, Latinos].

Inscoe, John C., ed. 2001. *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation* [18 essays]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 392 pp.

Irwin, Ned L. 2003. "Cone and Adler: Old World Ways and a New World Business" [1850s-60s Jonesboro; German-Jewish merchants]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 74 (2002): 38-57.

Ishii, Izumi. 2003. "Alcohol and Politics in the Cherokee Nation before Removal." *Ethnohistory* 50 (Fall): 671-695.

Ishii, Izumi. 2003. "Alcohol and Politics in the Cherokee Nation before Removal." *Ethnohistory* 50 (Fall): 671-695.

Ishii, Izumi. 2008. *Bad Fruits of the Civilized Tree: Alcohol & the Sovereignty of the Cherokee Nation*. Indians of the Southeast series. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 260 pp. Traces more than two centuries.

Jackson, Stevan R. 2006. "Peoples of Appalachia: Cultural Diversity within the Mountain Region" [with suggested readings]. In *A Handbook to Appalachia: An Introduction to the Region*, ed. G. Edwards, J. Asbury, and R. Cox, 27-49. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Jamison, Philip A. 2003. "Square Dance Calling: The African-American Connection." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Fall): 387-398.

Janda, Sarah Eppler. 2007. *Beloved Women: The Political Lives of LaDonna Harris and Wilma Mankiller* [Comanche activist, and Cherokee leader]. DeKalb: Northern Illinois University Press. 232 pp.

Jefferson County Black History Preservation Society (W. Va.). 2009. *African Americans of Jefferson County* [vintage photos]. Foreword by Sen. Robert C. Byrd. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Jenkins, Bobby. 2002. "Citizen of the Appalachians" [Charles Litton, Norton, Va., whose integrated Little League team won the State Championship in 1951]. *Appalachian Heritage* 30 (Summer): 24-31.

Jennings, Kathy. 1998. "White Like Me: A Confession on Race, Region, and Class." *Appalachian Journal* 25 (Winter): 150-174.

Jennings, Matthew. 2011. *New Worlds of Violence: Cultures and Conquests in the Early American Southeast*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 270 pp. Contents: Introduction:

cultures of violence | Violence in the Mississippian world | Spanish and Mississippian violence | The fight for Florida | Violence after the entrada | Creating English conquest | Violence and the founding of English Carolina | Violence in the era of the Yamasee War | American nations, American violence.

Johnson, Charles Blake. 1995. *The Chosen One* [adolescent fiction; Cherokee; sequel to *The Last Beloved Woman*]. Townsend, Tenn.: American Trail Books. 112 pp.

Johnson, Jay K. 2000. "The Chickasaws" [Miss.]. In *Indians of the Greater Southeast: Historical Archaeology and Ethnohistory*, ed. B. McEwan, 85-121. Gainesville: University Press of Florida.

Johnson, Mildred, and Theresa Delsoin. 2005. *Malindy's Freedom: The Story of a Slave Family* [1820-1865; freeborn Cherokee unlawfully enslaved as a child]. Edited by Stuart Symington and Anne W. Symington. St. Louis: Missouri Historical Society Press. 215 pp.

Johnson, Susan. 2002. "West Virginia Rubber Workers in Akron" [outmigration, 1910s-1950s]. In *Transnational West Virginia: Ethnic Communities and Economic Change, 1840-1940*, ed. K. Fones-Wolf and R. Lewis, 298-315. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 1. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Johnson-Web, Karen D. 2002. "Employer Recruitment and Hispanic Labor Migration: North Carolina Urban Areas at the End of the Millennium." *Professional Geographer* 54 (August): 406-421.

Johnston, Carolyn. 2003. *Cherokee Women in Crisis: Trail of Tears, Civil War, and Allotment, 1838-1907* [gender roles; matriarchal society]. Contemporary American Indian Studies. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 227 pp.

Jolley, Harley E. 2007. "'I Want a Job and I Don't Mean Maybe!':The Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians and the CCC." Chap. 7 in *That Magnificent Army of Youth and Peace: The Civilian Conservation Corps in North Carolina, 1933-1942*, by H. Jolley, 121-127. Raleigh: Office of Archives and History, North Carolina Dept. of Cultural Resources.

Jolley, Harley E. 2007. "'Not in My Backyard' v. 'The Best Years of My Life': Tar Heel African Americans and the CCC." Chap. 6 in *That Magnificent Army of Youth and Peace: The Civilian Conservation Corps in North Carolina, 1933-1942*, by H. Jolley, 102-120. Raleigh: Office of Archives and History, North Carolina Dept. of Cultural Resources.

Jones, J. McHenry. 2010 [1896]. *Hearts of Gold: A Novel* [W. Va.; African American community at the turn of the last century; opposing racial injustices; convict coal miners]. Edited by John Ernest and Eric Gardner. Regenerations: African American Literature and Culture series, no. 1. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 306 pp. Originally published: Wheeling, W. Va.: Daily Intelligencer Steam Job Press.

Jones, Nancy Bondurant. 2007. *An African American Community of Hope: Zenda: 1869-1930* [Rockingham Co., Va.; slavery/emancipation]. McGaheysville, Va.: Long's Chapel Preservation Society. 139 pp.

Jones, Veda Boyd. 2006. *Nellie the Brave: The Cherokee Trail of Tears* [juvenile fiction; 1838; Christian fiction]. Sisters in Time. Uhrichsville, Ohio: Barbour. 140 pp.

Jones, William S. 2004. "Tennessee Places: The Legacy of the Trail of Tears in Van Buren County." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 63 (Spring): 48-52.

Jordan, Norman. 1999. "An African American Landmark in Fayette County: Camp Washington-Carver" [opened 1942 as a 4-H camp for African Americans]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Winter): 56-63.

Joslin, Michael. 2012. "Joara: Tracing a Sixteenth-Century Spanish Presence in Appalachia" [Burke Co., N.C.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 4-6. Archaeological dig; Juan Pardo expedition; 1566-68 settlements.

Juricek, John T. 2010. *Colonial Georgia and the Creeks: Anglo-Indian Diplomacy on the Southern Frontier*, 1733-1763. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 397 pp.

Justice, Daniel Heath. 2006. *Our Fire Survives the Storm: A Cherokee Literary History*. Indigenous Americas. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press. 277 pp.

Juul, Kitty. 2012. "Blessings from South of the Border." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 3-39. Profiles two Latino immigrants of east Tennessee: Dr. Frank Montenegro, from Peru; and Carmen Zepeda, from El Salvador.

Kahrl, Andrew W. 2008. "The Political Work of Leisure: Class, Recreation, and African American Commemoration at Harpers Ferry, West Virginia, 1881-1931." *Journal of Social History* 42, no. 1 (Fall): 57-77. Jim Crow laws imposed by Storer College; attorney J. R. Clifford.

Kandel, William. 2004. *New Patterns of Hispanic Settlement in Rural America* [maps, tables]. Rural Development Research Report, no. 99. Washington: U.S. Dept. of Agriculture. Economic Research Service. 44 pp. http://www.ers.usda.gov/publications/rdrr99/.

Karas, Nicholas Stevensson. 2004. *Hunky: The Immigrant Experience* [novelization; Slavs recruited to Pa.'s mills and mines]. Bloomington, Ind.: 1st Books. 501 pp.

Karickhoff, Connie. 1998. "Photographer William H. Jordan: A Portrait of Ansted's Black Community" [Fayette Co.; 1930s and 40s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Winter): 44-51.

Kasdorf, Julia. 1997. "Mountains, Valleys, and a Place to Begin" [Mennonite Kishacoquillas Valley, Central Pa.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Winter): 3-4.

Keefe, Susan E., and Jodie D. Manross. 1999. "Race, Religion, and Community: The Demolition of a Black Church" [Boone Chapel, Watauga Co., N.C.; built 1898]. *Appalachian Journal* 26 (Spring): 252-263.

Kegley, Mary B. 2008. "Indian Slavery and Freedom Suits: The Cases of Rachel Viney and Rachel Findlay." *The Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 12: 87-92. Southwest Va., 1815 and 1820.

Keller, Kenneth W. 1997. "The Outlook of Rhinelanders on the Virginia Frontier." In *Diversity and Accommodation: Essays on the Cultural Composition of the Virginia Frontier*, ed. M. Puglisi, 99-126. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Kelly, Brian. 1998. "Policing the 'Negro Eden': Racial Paternalism in the Alabama Coalfields, 1908-1921. Part One." *Alabama Review* 51 (July): 163-183.

Kelly, Brian. 1998. "Policing the 'Negro Eden': Racial Paternalism in the Alabama Coalfields, 1908-1921. Part Two." *Alabama Review* 51 (October): 243-265.

Kelly, Brian. 2001. *Race, Class, and Power in the Alabama Coalfields, 1908-21*. The Working Class in American History. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 264 pp. "...challenges the prevailing notion that white workers were the main source of resistance to racial equality in the Jim Crow South. Kelly explores the forces that brought the black and white miners of Birmingham, Alabama, together during the hard-fought strikes of 1908 and 1920."

Kelton, Paul. 2002. "The Great Southeastern Smallpox Epidemic, 1696-1700: The Region's First Major Epidemic?" In *The Transformation of the Southeastern Indians, 1540-1760*, ed. R. Ethridge and C. Hudson, 21-37. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi.

Kelton, Paul. 2004. "Avoiding the Smallpox Spirits: Colonial Epidemics and Southeastern Indian Survival" [Cherokee, Creek, Choctaw, Muskogee]. *Ethnohistory* 51, no. 1 (Winter): 45-71.

Kelton, Paul. 2007. *Epidemics and Enslavement: Biological Catastrophe in the Native Southeast*, *1492-1715*. Indians of the Southeast series. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 288 pp.

Kelton, Paul. 2012. "The British and Indian War: Cherokee Power and the Fate of Empire in North America." *William & Mary Quarterly* 69, no. 4 (October): 763-792. "Uncovering this largely hidden yet important aspect of the Seven Years' War adds to our understanding of how Natives indelibly shaped the imperial struggle that made America."

Kennedy, N. Brent, and Robyn V. Kennedy. [1994] 1997. *The Melungeons: The Resurrection of a Proud People: An Untold Story of Ethnic Cleansing in America*. 2nd rev. ed. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 180 pp.

Kenny, Kevin. 1995. "The Molly Maguires and the Catholic Church." *Labor History* 36 (Summer): 345-376.

Kenzer, Robert C. 1994. "Black Businessmen in Post-Civil War Tennessee." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 66: 59-80.

Kessler, John S., and Donald B. Ball. 2001. *North From the Mountains: A Folk History of the Carmel Melungeon Settlement, Highland County, Ohio*. Melungeons series, no. 2. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 220 pp.

Kharif, Wali R. 2004. "Slavery, Freedom, and Citizenship: African American Contributions to the Upper Cumberland" [Ky., Tenn.; Census table, 1860]. In *Rural Life and Culture in the Upper Cumberland*, ed. M. Birdwell and W. Dickinson, 105-121. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Kharif, Wali Rashash, and William Lynwood Montell. 2005. *Reminisces and Reflections: African Americans in the Kentucky-Tennessee Upper Cumberland Since the Civil War* [oral records]. London, Ky.: Janze Publications. 341 pp.

Kight, Caitlin. 2012. "Ohio's Casa Nueva: A National Leader in Entrepreneurism." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 41-43. History of the first Mexican restaurant in Athens, Ohio – much beloved, cooperatively owned, buys from local producers.

Killebrew, Libby Pearson; Kennedy, N. Brent; Everett, C. S. 2000. Letters to the editor in response to C. S. Everett's "Melungeon History and Myth" [*Appalachian Journal* 26 (Summer, 1999): 358-409]. 1: Libby Pearson Killebrew, 120-123. 2: N. Brent Kennedy, 124-128. 3: "Everett Answers Killebrew and Kennedy: A Dissenting Voice in the Discourse of Descent," 129-140. *Appalachian Journal* 27 (Winter): 120-140.

Kimmons, Rebecca. 2012. "We're Here for Service: United Gospel Singers" [Fayette Co.; since 1959]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 4 (Winter): 18-23.

Klaus, William B. 2002. "Uneven Americanization: Italian Immigration to Marion County, 1900-1925" [charts]. In *Transnational West Virginia: Ethnic Communities and Economic Change, 1840-1940*, ed. K. Fones-Wolf and R. Lewis, 190-214. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 1. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Kline, Michael, and Carrie Nobel Kline. 2005. *Come to the Old Country: A Handbook for Preserving and Sharing Schuylkill County's Cultural Heritage* [Pa. anthracite coal region; profiles 18 ethnic groups]. Edited by Cory R. Kegerise. Pottstown, Pa.: Produced under contract with The Schuylkill River National & State Heritage Area. 71 pp. Available online at http://www.schuylkillriver.org/pdf/ethnic_heritage_study.pdf.

Kline, Michael. 1997. "Hand-Clapping and Hallelujahs: A Visit with Ethel Caffie-Austin" [W. Va.'s "First Lady of Gospel Music"]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Winter): 28-35.

Kline, Michael. 2002. "Where the Ravens Roost: Songs and Ceremonies of Big Cove" [Cherokee, N.C.]. In *American Musical Traditions*. Vol. 1, *Native American Music*, ed. J. Titon and B. Carlin, 15-18. New York: Schirmer Reference.

Knepp, Gary L. 2008. *Freedom's Struggle: A Response to Slavery from the Ohio Borderlands*. Milford, Oh.: Little Miami Publishing Co. 260 pp. Underground railroad; Clermont County.

Knouff, Gregory T. 2005. "Whiteness and Warfare on a Revolutionary Frontier" [1770s]. In *Friends and Enemies in Penn's Woods: Indians, Colonists, and the Racial Construction of Pennsylvania*, ed. W. Pencak and D. Richter, 238-257. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Knowles, Anne Kelly. 1997. *Calvinists Incorporated: Welsh Immigrants on Ohio's Industrial Frontier* [1830-1870; Gallia and Jackson Counties; charcoal iron furnace industry]. University of Chicago Geography Research Paper, no. 240. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. 330 pp.

Knowles, Anne Kelly. 2002. "Wheeling Iron and the Welsh: A Geographical Reading of *Life in the Iron Mills*" [1861; early "realist" fiction by Rebecca Harding Davis]. In *Transnational West Virginia: Ethnic Communities and Economic Change, 1840-1940*, ed. K. Fones-Wolf and R. Lewis, 216-241. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 1. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Konhaus, Tim. 2007. "I Thought Things Would Be Different There': Lynching and the Black Community in Southern West Virginia, 1880-1933." *West Virginia History*, n.s. 1, no. 2 (Fall): 25-43. [W. Va. led the U.S. in lynchings, 1890-1900; anti-lynching legislation passed, 1921].

Kornweibel, Theodore. 2010. *Railroads in the African American Experience: A Photographic Journey*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 557 pp. Sixteen chapters -- the first two discuss ex-slaves and the convict lease system: 1. "Negroes will do more work": slavery and the dawn of Southern railroading -- 2. "Wasn't no equipment - it was manual labor": construction and track laborers.

Kraina, Jane, and Mary Zwierzchowski. 1998. "Death of a Gypsy King" [Zeke Marks; 1931; Weirton, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Winter): 18-22.

Krause, Bonnie J. 2003. "We Did Move Mountains!' Lucy Saunders Herring, North Carolina Jeanes Supervisor and African American Educator, 1916-1968" [Asheville, Buncombe Co.]. *North Carolina Historical Review* 80 (April): 188-212.

Krause, Bonnie J. 2012. "Passing On the Ancestor's Tradition: Amanda Crowe, Woodcarver and Teacher." *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 59, no. 1 (Spring-Summer): 52-71. Born 1928 on the Qualla Boundary of the Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians.

Kraver, Jeraldine. 2002. "'Mobile Images': Myth and Resistance in Nikky Finney's *Rice*" [Toronto: Sister Vision P (1995); Finney is a founding member of the Affrilachian Poets]. *Southern Literary Journal* 34 (Spring): 134-147.

Kulina, Anita. 2003. *Millhunks and Renegades: A Portrait of a Pittsburgh Neighborhood* [Greenfield; ethnic relations; history]. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Brandt Street Press. 159 pp.

Lakin, Matthew. 2000. "A Dark Night': The Knoxville Race Riot of 1919." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 72: 1-29.

Lambert, Leonard Carson, as told to Michael C. Lambert. 2011. *Up from These Hills: Memories of a Cherokee Boyhood* [1930s-1940s; N.C., Tenn.]. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 197 pp. Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians.

Lambert, Leonard Carson Jr., as told to Michael Lambert. 2011. "Cherokee Ceremonial Life." *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 3 (Summer): 42-45. Reprinted from *Up from These Hills* (University of Nebraska Press, 2011).

Lambert, Valerie. 2007. *Choctaw Nation: A Story of American Indian Resurgence*. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 302 pp.

Langdon, Barbara Tracy. 1998. *The Melungeons: An Annotated Bibliography: References in Both Fiction and Non-Fiction*. Woodville, Tex.: Dogwood Press. 82 pp.

Lange, Linda. 2008. "Remembering the African American History of Chattanooga, Tennessee." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 44-46. Discusses Bessie Smith, Chattanooga African-American Museum, Chattanooga Regional History Museum, and black heritage sites.

Langguth, A. J. 2010. *Driven West: Andrew Jackson and the Trail of Tears to the Civil War.* New York: Simon & Schuster. 466 pp.

Latinos in the South [five articles: Ga., Ala., Ark.]. 2003. Guest editors, Rogelio Saenz and Cruz Torres. Special issue, *Southern Rural Sociology* 19, no. 1: 1-122.

Lawrence, Randy, and Ken Sullivan. 1997. "Black Migration to Southern West Virginia, 1870-1930." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Winter): 52-53. Previously published, *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 5, no.4, 1979.

Leavelle, Tracy Neal. "Native American Religions in the Early South." *Journal of Southern Religion* 14. 5,868 words. http://jsreligion.org/issues/vol14/leavelle.html.

Ledford, Martha. 2009. "The Gift" [of Cherokee language, lost then relearned; lesson]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 4 (Fall): 94-95.

Lefler, Lisa J. 2005. "Promoting Wellness among the Eastern Band of Cherokees." Chap. 10 in *Appalachian Cultural Competency: A Guide for Medical, Mental Health, and Social Service Professionals*, ed. S. Keefe, 219-239. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Lefler, Lisa J. 2009. *Under the Rattlesnake: Cherokee Health and Resiliency*. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 166 pp. Contents: Tohi: the Cherokee concept of well-being / Heidi M. Altman and Thomas N. Belt -- The unintended consequences of prehistoric skeletal studies to modern Cherokee communities / Michelle D. Hamilton and Russell G. Townsend -- Adverse reactions: practicing bioarchaeology among the Cherokee / Michelle D. Hamilton -- Historical trauma, stress, and diabetes: a modern model among the Eastern Band of Cherokees / Lisa J. Lefler and Roseanna Belt -- The effect of traditional dietary practices on contemporary diseases among the Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians / David N. Cozzo -- The sacred feminine in Cherokee culture: healing and identity / Jenny James.

LeMaster, Michelle. 2012. Brothers Born of One Mother: British-Native American Relations in the Colonial Southeast. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 292 pp.

Lepper, Bradley T. 2005. *Ohio Archaeology: An Illustrated Chronicle of Ohio's Ancient American Indian Cultures* ["with feature articles contributed by over 20 archaeologists and scholars"]. Wilmington, Ohio: Orange Frazer Press. 300 pp.

Letwin, Daniel. 1997. *The Challenge of Interracial Unionism: Alabama Coal Miners*, 1878-1921. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Levin, Marjorie, ed. 1999. *The Jews of Wilkes-Barre: 150 Years (1845-1995) in the Wyoming Valley of Pennsylvania*. Wilkes-Barre, Pa.: Jewish Community Center of Wyoming Valley. 367 pp.

Lewis, Courtney. 2012. "The Case of the Wild Onions: The Impact of Ramps on Cherokee Rights" [N.C.]. *Southern Cultures* 18, no. 2 (Summer): 104-117. Essay discussing "the 2009 U.S. federal case 'U.S. v. Burgess,' which involved the Cherokee Indians' cultural rights to their historical growing of ramps" in Great Smoky Mountains National Park, and Burgess' alleged illegal harvesting.

Lewis, David, Jr., and Ann T. Jordan. 2002. *Creek Indian Medicine Ways: The Enduring Power of Mvskoke Religion*. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press. 194 pp.

Lewis, Ronald L. 1994. "Job Control and Race Relations in the Coal Fields, 1870-1920." In *African Americans and Non-Agricultural Labor in the South, 1865-1900*, ed. D. Nieman, 245-275. New York: Garland.

Lewis, Ronald L. 1996. "Coal Miners and the Social Equality Wedge in Alabama, 1880-1908." In *The United Mine Workers of America: A Model of Industrial Solidarity?*, ed. J. Laslett, 297-319. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Lewis, Ronald L. 2001. "African American Convicts in the Coal Mines of Southern Appalachia." In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 259-283. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Previously published as chapter 2 in Ronald L. Lewis, *Black Coal Miners in America*, Lexington: Univ. Press of Kentucky, 1987.

Lewis, Ronald L. 2002. "Americanizing Immigrant Coal Miners in Northern West Virginia: Monongalia County between the World Wars" [tables; Scotts Run]. In *Transnational West Virginia: Ethnic Communities and Economic Change, 1840-1940*, ed. K. Fones-Wolf and R. Lewis, 260-296. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 1. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Lewis, Ronald L. 2008. *Welsh Americans: A History of Assimilation in the Coalfields*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 395 pp.

Lichtenstein, Alex. 1995. "Racial Conflict and Racial Solidarity in the Alabama Coal Strike of 1894: New Evidence for the Gutman-Hill Debate." *Labor History* 36 (Winter): 63-76.

Lifford, Brad. 2012. "Documentary Describes an Annual Cuban Reunion in East Tennessee" [Kingsport]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 71-72. Film review of *Mountain Mojo: A Cuban Pig Roast in East Tennessee*, produced by East Tennessee State University, directed by Fred Sauceman.

Lightfoot, William E. 2003. "The Three Doc(k)s: White Blues in Appalachia" [core African-American blues in the repertoires of Dock Boggs, A.P. ("Doc") Carter and family, and Doc Watson]. *Black Music Research Journal* 23, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 167-193.

Lilly, John, ed. 2005. *An Introduction to West Virginia Ethnic Communities* [descriptions; maps; contacts]. Charleston, W.Va: Goldenseal magazine. 94 pp. Also online: http://www.wvculture.org/arts/ethnic/index.html. Contents: Eastern Panhandle: African American -- Hungarian / Metro Valley: African American -- Asian American -- Greek -- Irish -- Japanese -- Jewish -- Middle Eastern -- Native American -- Scottish -- Other / Mid-Ohio Valley: African American -- Asian American -- Jewish -- Native American -- Other / Mountain Lakes: Irish -- Slovenian / Mountaineer Country: African American -- Carpatho-Russian -- Carpatho-Russian -- Other / New River/Greenbrier Valley: African American -- Carpatho-Russian -- Irish -- Italian -- Jewish -- Middle Eastern -- Native American -- Spanish / Northern Panhandle: African American -- Carpatho-Russian -- Carpatho-Russian -- Carpatho-Russian -- Finnish -- German -- Greek -- Irish -- Italian -- Jewish -- Middle Eastern -- Polish -- Serbian -- Ukrainian -- Other / Potomac Highlands: African American -- German -- Scottish -- Swiss.

Lilly, John. 2011. "Stepping!" *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 1 (Spring): 46-51. Origins and techniques of African American stepping (dance); step show competitions among black fraternity and sorority members at West Virginia State University at Institute. Sidebar review of the book, *Soulstepping: African American Step Shows* (2003), by Elizabeth C. Fine, 51.

Linebaugh, Donald W. 1998. "Folk Art, Architecture, and Artifact: Toward a Material Understanding of the German Culture in the Upper Valley of Virginia." In *The Southern Colonial Backcountry: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Frontier Communities*, ed. D. Crass, et al., 200-220. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Littleton, Robert A. 2003. "Community among African American Students on Small, Predominantly White Campuses: The Unforeseen 'Minority within a Minority' Experience" [experiences of 16 black students at four Appalachian colleges]. *NASPA Journal* 40 (Summer): 83-104. http://publications.naspa.org/naspajournal/vol40/iss4/art6/.

Lloyd, Earl, and Sean Peter Kirst. 2010. *Moonfixer: The Basketball Journey of Earl Lloyd* [b. 1928]. Syracuse, N.Y.: Syracuse University Press. 142 pp. Lloyd led West Virginia State College to basketball championships in 1948 and 1949, and was the first African American to play in an NBA game, on October 31, 1950.

Locklear, Erica Abrams. 2009. "Consenting to Create: The Affrilachian Movement." In *CrossRoads: A Southern Culture Annual*, 2009, ed. Ted Olson and Ajay Kalra, 169-185. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. Blackness in Appalachia; ethnicity within Appalachian literature; author Crystal Wilkinson.

Loller, Travis. 2012. "DNA Study Seeks Origin of Appalachia's Melungeons." *Yahoo! News* [AP story; dateline, Nashville], 24 May. 1,040 words. "Genetic evidence shows that the families historically called Melungeons are the offspring of sub-Saharan African men and white women of northern or central European origin." http://news.yahoo.com/dna-study-seeks-origin-appalachias-melungeons-201144041.html.

Longenecker, Stephen L. 2000. "The Narrow Path: Antislavery, Plainness, and the Mainstream" [Rockingham Co., Va., Mennonites, Methodists, and Dunkers]. In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia, 1800-1900*, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 185-193. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Longo, Stephanie. 2004. *Italians of Northeastern Pennsylvania* [vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Lovett, Bobby L. 2005. *The Civil Rights Movement in Tennessee: A Narrative History* [Knoxville, Chattanooga, Nashville, Memphis]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 483 pp.

Lovett, Laura L. 2002. "'African and Cherokee by Choice': Race and Resistance under Legalized Segregation." Chap. 7 in *Confounding the Color Line: The Indian-Black Experience in North America*, ed. J. Brooks, 192-222. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.

Lowery, Charles D., and Sara Bradford Lowery. 2012. "Zachariah McGirth, the Creek Indian War, and the Destruction of the Eastern Creek Nation." *Journal of Mississippi History* 74, no. 2 (Summer): 135-151. Farmer/frontiersman McGirth was born 1770, moved to the Creek town

Tuckabatchee and married a half Creek woman, acted as a mediator between the Creeks and the U.S. government, and participated in the Creek War.

Lucas, Marion B. 1997. "African Americans on the Kentucky Frontier" [1751-1800]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 95 (Spring): 121-134.

Luconi, Stefano. 1996. "The Origin and Development of the Italian Community in Patton, Pennsylvania" [Cambria County]. *The Pennsylvania Geographer* 34 (Fall/Winter): 135-149.

Luconi, Stefano. 1999. "The Machine Boss as a Symbolic Leader" [John R. Torquato; Italian Americans; Cambria Co., Pa.; 1928-1975]. *Oral History Review* 26 (Winter/Spring): 45-66.

Lumpkin, Shirley. 2006. "Swinging Bridges: The Poetry of Awiakta" [Marilou Awiakta, b. 1936]. *Journal of Kentucky Studies* 23 (September): 147-153.

MacRae, Ann Cameron. 2006. "Country Goods and Looking Glasses: An Appalachian Community Moves to a Free Economy" [1850s-1880s; Jonesborough, Washington Co., Tenn.; from slaves to free black customers at D.B. Barkley's country store]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 12, no. 1 (Spring): 102-110.

Madarasz, Anne. 2012. "We Are the Ship: Art and Inspiration." *Western Pennsylvania History* 95, no. 2 (Summer): 20-29. Commemorating the Pittsburgh Crawfords and The Grays; reprints illustrations from Kadir Nelson's children's book, *We Are the Ship: The Story of Negro League Baseball* (2008).

Makricosta, Pamela. 1997. "A Bundle of Treasures: Greeks in West Virginia." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Winter): 36-45.

Mallinson, Christine, and Becky Childs. 2004. "The Intersection of Regional and Ethnic Identity: African American English in Appalachia." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10 (Spring/Fall): 129-142.

Mallinson, Christine, and Becky Childs. 2007. "Communities of Practice in Sociolinguistic Description: Analyzing Language and Identity Practices among Black Women in Appalachia." *Gender and Language* 1, no. 2: 173-206.

Mallinson, Christine. 2004. "Constructing Ethnolinguistic Groups: A Sociolinguistic Case Study" [nonwhite community; Beech Bottom, Avery Co., N.C.]. In *Linguistic Diversity in the South: Changing Codes, Practices, and Ideology*, ed. M. Bender, 66-79. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 37. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Mankiller, Wilma Pearl, and Michael Wallis. 1993. *Mankiller: A Chief and Her People* [biography]. New York: St. Martin's Press. 292 pp. Mankiller (1945-2010) was principal chief of the Cherokee Nation, 1985-1995.

Mann, Barbara Alice. 2005. *George Washington's War on Native America* [1775-1782]. Westport, Conn: Praeger. 295 pp.

Mann, Barbara Alice. 2009. *The Tainted Gift: The Disease Method of Frontier Expansion*. Santa Barbara, Calif.: Praeger. 180 pp. Chapter 1 examines 1763 [Upper] Ohio Indians, Fort Pitt, and smallpox; Chapter 2 covers 1832 Choctaw Removal and cholera in Mississippi.

Marcoux, Jon Bernard. 2010. *Pox, Empire, Shackles, and Hides: The Townsend Site, 1670-1715* [Cherokee; Tenn.]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 178 pp.

Margolies, Daniel S. 2009. "Latino Migrant Music and Identity in the Borderlands of the New South." *Journal of American Culture* 32, no. 2 (June): 114–125. Mount Airy, N.C., and surrounding states.

Margolies, Daniel S. 2012. "*Taquerias* and *Tiendas* in the Blue Ridge: Viewing the Transormation of Space in a Globalized Appalachia." *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 246-268. Latino migration; western N.C. and Va.

Marsh, Dawn. 2009. "Creating Delaware Homelands in the Ohio Country" [Western Pa.; Ohio]. *Ohio History* 116: 26-40.

Marty, Debian. 1999. "White Antiracist Rhetoric as Apologia: Wendell Berry's *The Hidden Wound*." In *Whiteness: The Communication of Social Identity*, ed. T. Nakayama, J. Martin, 51-68. Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage Publications.

Mason, Matthew. 2002. "Paddy vs. Paddy: Labor Unrest and Provincial Identities along the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad" [Irish; 1840s-50s]. In *Transnational West Virginia: Ethnic Communities and Economic Change, 1840-1940*, ed. K. Fones-Wolf and R. Lewis, 2-17. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 1. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Maureen Meyers. 2008. "Excavating a Mississippian Frontier: Fieldwork at the Carter Robinson Mound Site" [Lee County, Va.; AD 900–1550]. *Native South* 1: 27-44.

Maya, Camellia. 2006. "Issa Yousef Maayeh's Appalachian Journey" [1910-2006; from 1948 Jordan to Scott Co., Va.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 1 (Spring): 37-39.

McClain, Dani. 2010. "The Only One for Most of Her Life: An Interview on Race, Gender, and Art (and Beyond) with Kathy Y. Wilson." *Pluck: The Journal of Affrilachian Arts & Culture*, no. 5: 22-28. Wilson is an Ohio journalist, social critic, and poet.

McClelland, Janice M. 1997. "A Structural Analysis of Desegregation: Clinton High School, 1954-1958" [Anderson Co., Tenn., near Oak Ridge]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 56 (Winter): 296-309.

McConnell, Michael N. 2010. "Before the Great Road: Indian Travelers on the Great Warriors' Path." Chap. 2 in *The Great Valley Road of Virginia: Shenandoah Landscapes from Prehistory to the Present*, ed. W. Hofstra and K. Raitz, 57-78. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press.

McCoy, Michael B. 2012. "Forgetting Freedom: White Anxiety, Black Presence, and Gradual Abolition in Cumberland County, Pennsylvania, 1780–1838." *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 136, no. 2 (April): 141-170.

McDaniel, Paul N., and Anita I. Drever. 2009. "Ethnic Enclave or International Corridor? Immigrant Businesses in a New South City." *Southeastern Geographer* 49, no. 1 (Spring): 3-23. Birmingham, Ala.; Latinos and Asians; maps and tables.

McGlinchey, Frazer Dorian. 2006. "A Superior Civilization': Appropriation, Negotiation, and Interaction in the Northwest Territory, 1787-1795" [Marietta, Oh.]. Chap. 6 in *The Boundaries between Us: Natives and Newcomers along the Frontiers of the Old Northwest Territory, 1750-1850*, ed. D. Barr, 118-142. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press.

McGovern, Constance M. 2012. "Liberty to Them Is as Sweet as It Is to Me': Slave Life in Allegany County, Maryland, 1789-1864." *Maryland Historical Magazine* 107, no. 4 (Winter): 405-439.

McKee, Larry. 2000. "The Archaeological Study of Slavery and Plantation Life in Tennessee." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 59 (Fall): 188-203.

McKinney, Gordon B. 2001. "Southern Mountain Republicans and the Negro, 1865-1900." In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 199-219. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Previously published, *The Journal of Southern History* 41 (1975): 473-495.

McKinney, Maggie. 2012. "Dancing in Appalachia – Latino Style" [Morganton, N.C.; Latino immigrants]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 33-35. Describes "the excitement surrounding the quinceañera, a rite of passage for girls who reach the age of fifteen."

McKinney, Maggie. 2012. "Looking for a Home" [Mitchell Co., N.C.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 26-28. Latino family's struggle to find adequate housing.

McLoughlin, William G. 1994. *The Cherokees and Christianity, 1794-1870: Essays on Acculturation and Cultural Persistence*. Edited by Walter H. Conser, Jr. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 360 pp.

McLoughlin, William G. [1984] 1995. *Cherokees and Missionaries*, 1789-1839. Second ed., with a foreword by William L. Anderson. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press. 375 pp.

McMillian, Don Daniel. 2008. *The Underground Railroad: Lawrence County, Ohio and Cabell County, Virginia*. Charleston, S.C.: BookSurge. 234 pp.

McNeese-Mechan, Amy. 2006. "Review Essay: Celeste Ray's *Transatlantic Scots*" [University of Alabama Press (2005); migrants 1600-1950s; stereotypes]. *Appalachian Journal* 33, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 344-350.

Megginson, W. J. 2006. *African American Life in South Carolina's Upper Piedmont, 1780-1900* [Anderson, Pickens, Oconee Cos.]. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 546 pp.

Mehta, Rahul. 2011. "West Virginia's Palace of Gold" [op-ed]. *New York Times*, 29 October, 21(A). 869 words. Opulent Indian temple opened in 1979 at Hare Krishna commune, New Vrindaban, near Moundsville, W. Va.

Meredith, Mary Ellen, and Howard Meredith. 2003. *Reflection on Cherokee Literary Expression* [portrait drawings of seven]. Native American Studies, no. 12. Lewiston, N.Y.: Edwin Mellen Press. 128 pp.

Merrell, James Hart. [1989] 2009. *The Indians' New World: Catawbas and Their Neighbors from European Contact Through the Era of Removal* [N.C., S.C.]. Reprint, 20th anniversary ed., with a new introduction by the author. Chapel Hill: published for the Omohundro Institute of Early American History and Culture by the University of North Carolina Press. 381 pp.

Merritt, Jane T. 2003. *At the Crossroads: Indians and Empires on a Mid-Atlantic Frontier,* 1700-1763 [Pa.]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. Published for the Omohundro Institute of Early American History & Culture, Williamsburg, Va. 338 pp.

Milbauer, John A. 2000. "Fish Poisoning Among the Cherokees" [use of plants such as mullein to drug and catch fish]. *Mid-America Folklore* 28 (nos. 1 and 2): 7-11.

Miles, Tiya. 2009. "'Circular Reasoning': Recentering Cherokee Women in the Antiremoval Campaigns" [1817-1830]. *American Quarterly* 61, no. 2 (June): 221-243.

Miles, Tiya. 2002. "Uncle Tom Was an Indian: Tracing the Red in Black Slavery." Chap. 5 in *Confounding the Color Line: The Indian-Black Experience in North America*, ed. J. Brooks, 137-160. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.

Miles, Tiya. 2005. *Ties That Bind: The Story of an Afro-Cherokee Family in Slavery and Freedom* [19th-century Ga., from 1790; mixed descent]. American Crossroads, no. 14. Berkeley: University of California Press. 306 pp.

Miles, Tiya. 2008. "The Narrative of Nancy, A Cherokee Woman" [1801 East Tenn.]. Frontiers: A Journal of Women Studies 29, no. 2-3: 59-80. Held as a slave in Va. since 1778.

Miles, Tiya. 2010. *The House on Diamond Hill: A Cherokee Plantation Story* [North Ga., Murray Co.; Cherokee owner; black slaves]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 315 pp.

Minchin, Timothy J. 1998. "Color Means Something': Black Pioneers, White Resistance, and Interracial Unionism in the Southern Textile Industry, 1957-1980." *Labor History* 39 (May): 109-133.

Minchin, Timothy J. 1999. "Black Activism, the 1964 Civil Rights Act, and the Racial Integration of the Southern Textile Industry." *The Journal of Southern History* 65 (November): 809-844.

Minchin, Timothy J. 1999. *Hiring the Black Worker: The Racial Integration of the Southern Textile Industry, 1960-1980* [20 tables]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 342 pp.

Minchin, Timothy J. 2001. *The Color of Work: The Struggle for Civil Rights in the Southern Paper Industry*, 1945-1980. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 277 pp.

Minges, Patrick N., ed. 2004. *Black Indian Slave Narratives* [27 WPA interviews; Native Americans as slaves and slave owners]. Real Voices, Real History Series. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 200 pp.

Mira, Manuel. 2001. *The Portuguese Making of America*. Franklin, N.C.: Portuguese-American Historical Research Foundation. 420 pp. Contents: The Melungeons and other groups | I. The beginning to the 19th century | II. The Native American Indian and the Melungeons | III. Other possible Origins | IV. Portuguese ancestry follows | V. Origins of Portugal and Lusitania | VI. The age of discovery and the new world | VII. Portuguese in America-15th, 16th centuries | VIII. Portuguese presence after the 16th century | IX. Portuguese sea route to India | X. Portuguese-Melungeon connection.

Mitchell, Anne V. 1997. "Culture, History, and Development on the Qualla Boundary: The Eastern Cherokees and the Blue Ridge Parkway, 1935-40." *Appalachian Journal* 24 (Winter): 144-191.

Modisett, Cara Ellen. 2008. "Diaspora Is Here: Sisters of the Circle Give Young Refugee Women a Voice" [Roanoke, Va.]. *Pluck: The Journal of Affrilachian Arts & Culture*, no. 3: 17-20. Joint program with the city's performing arts, schools, and immigrant services.

Moffatt, Frederick C. 2009. *The Life, Art, and Times of Joseph Delaney, 1904-1991*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 305 pp. African-American artist from Knoxville; artist-in-residence at University of Tennessee, 1986-1991.

Mohl, Raymond A. 2008. "Globalization, Latinization, and the *Nuevo* New South" [tables; 2000 Census]. In *Other Souths: Diversity and Difference in the U.S. South, Reconstruction to Present*, ed. P. Holloway, 408-442. Athens: University of Georgia Press. Originally published

in *Globalization and the American South*, ed. J. Cobb and W. Stueck, University of Georgia Press, 2003.

Mohl, Raymond A. 2009. "Latinos and Blacks in the Recent American South" [table; 12 states]. Chap. 4 in *Migration and the Transformation of the Southern Workplace Since 1945*, ed. R. Cassanello and C. Davis, 80-113. Gainesville: University Press of Florida.

Monteith, Carmaleta L. 1998. "Doctors, Lawyers, Indian Chiefs: Indian Identity in the South" [tribal identity "commodified"]. In *Cultural Diversity in the U.S. South: Anthropological Contributions to a Region in Transition*, ed. C. Hill and P. Beaver, 69-81. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 31. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Montgomery, Michael, and Cherel Henderson. 2004. "Eighteenth-Century Emigrants from Ireland to Tennessee: A Report Using First Families of Tennessee Files" [tables]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 76: 88-98.

Moore, Ethan. 2011. "From Sikwa to Swine: The Hog in Cherokee Culture and Society, 1750-1840." *Native South* 4: 105-120. From purposeless and uneatable to a primary trade material and food.

Moore, MariJo. 1994. *Returning to the Homeland: Cherokee Poetry and Short Stories*. Foreword by John Ehle. Asheville, N.C.: WorldComm. 111 pp.

Moore, MariJo. 1995. *Spirit Voices of Bones: Poetry* [Cherokee]. Asheville, N.C.: Renegade Planets. 96 pp.

Morris, Michael. 2005. "Emerging Gender Roles for Southeastern Indian Women: The Mary Musgrove Story Reconsidered" [Creek; early 1700s]. *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 89, no. 1 (Spring):1-24.

Morris, Michael. 2007. "Georgia and the Conversation over Indian Removal" [1830s]. *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 91, no. 4 (Winter): 403-423.

Moser, Barry. 2002. "Across the Street and up the Hill" [personal essay; 1950s segregated Chattanooga]. Sewanee Review 110 (Winter): 44-55.

Mosley, Jennifer. 2011. "Surviving the Tough Times in Decota" [Cabin Creek, Kanawha Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 2 (Summer): 48-53. Black family, the Criders; coal company town; 1950s-1960s; Jim Crow laws and forced segregation.

Mould, Tom. 2003. *Choctaw Prophecy: A Legacy of the Future* [Miss.]. Contemporary American Indian Studies. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 263 pp.

Moxley, Tonia. 2003. "Appalachian Colors: Revolutionary Scholarship is Changing the Way We Look at Race and Class in the Mountains" [Wilma Dunaway]. *Southern Exposure* 31 (Spring): 38-41.

Moxley, Tonia. 2003. "Remembering the Saltville Massacre" [1864 Va.; 40 black soldiers]. *Southern Exposure* 31, no. 3-4 (Winter 2003/2004): 34-37.

Moyer, Paul. 2005. "Real' Indians, 'White' Indians, and the Contest for the Wyoming Valley" [1750s-1780s]. In *Friends and Enemies in Penn's Woods: Indians, Colonists, and the Racial Construction of Pennsylvania*, ed. W. Pencak and D. Richter, 221-237. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Myadze, Theresa I. 2006. "The Status of African Americans and Other Blacks in Urban Areas of Appalachian and Non-Appalachian Alabama" [Birmingham, Hunstville; Montgomery, Mobile]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 12, no. 2 (Fall): 36-54.

Najar, Monica. 2005. "'Meddling with Emancipation': Baptists, Authority, and the Rift over Slavery in the Upper South" [1790s-1808 Ky.]. *Journal of the Early Republic* 25, no. 2 (Summer): 157-186.

Nash, Steven E. 2006. "Aiding the Southern Mountain Republicans: The Freedmen's Bureau in Buncombe County" [1865-70]. *North Carolina Historical Review* 83, no. 1 (January): 1-30.

Naylor, Celia E. 2008. *African Cherokees in Indian Territory: From Chattel to Citizens*. The John Hope Franklin Series in African American History and Culture. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 360 pp.

Naylor-Ojurongbe, Celia E. 2002. "Born and Raised among These People, I Don't Want to Know Any Other': Slaves' Acculturation in Nineteenth-Century Indian Territory." Chap. 6 in *Confounding the Color Line: The Indian-Black Experience in North America*, ed. J. Brooks, 161-191. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.

Neely, Sharlotte. 1995. The Role of Christianity in the Snowbird Cherokee Community. In *Religion in the Contemporary South: Diversity, Community, and Identity*, ed. O.K. White, Jr., and D. White. Pp. 46-55. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 28. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Neely, Sharlotte. 1998. "Tradition and Change in the World of Cherokee Women." *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 82 (Winter): 848-855. Review essay of *Cherokee Women: Gender and Culture Change*, 1700-1835, by Theda Perdue (University of Nebraska Press, 1998).

Nelson, Bruce. 1997. "'CIO Meant One Thing for the Whites and Another Thing for Us': Steelworkers and Civil Rights, 1936-1974." In *Southern Labor in Transition*, *1940-1995*, ed. R. Zieger, 113-145. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Neville, Gwen Kennedy. 1998. "Cultures and Communities in the New Old South: White Anglo-Saxon Protestants" [immigrant diversity]. In *Cultural Diversity in the U.S. South: Anthropological Contributions to a Region in Transition*, ed. C. Hill and P. Beaver, 82-92. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 31. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Newberry, Beth. 2008. "Hola Y'all: Latinos Speak from Affrilachia." *Pluck: The Journal of Affrilachian Arts & Culture*, no. 3: 39-48. Four writers explore shared stories.

Newberry, Beth. 2008. "Of These Hills: Appalachian Heritage's African-Americans in Appalachia Issue. *Pluck: The Journal of Affrilachian Arts & Culture*, no. 4: 41-42, plus bibliography of African-American Appalachian books, 44-48. Overview of special issue of *Appalachian Heritage*, vol. 36, no. 3, Summer 2008. Interview with George Brosi, editor, and Chad Berry, Director of the Appalachian Center at Berea College.

Newberry, Elizabeth. 2000. "Poets Turned Prophets: Affrilachian Poets Claim the Space Between Two Worlds." *Sojourners* 29 (September/October): 50-51, 53.

Nicholas, Mark A. 2006. "Practicing Local Faith & Local Politics: Senecas, Presbyterianism, and a 'New Indian Mission History'" [Allegany Reservation, Cattaraugus Co., N.Y.]. *Pennsylvania History* 73, no. 1 (Winter): 69-101.

Nichols, David Andrew. 2008. *Red Gentlemen & White Savages: Indians, Federalists, and the Search for Order on the American Frontier* [1780s-1790s]. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 291 pp.

Noe, Kenneth W. 2001. "'A Source of Great Economy'? The Railroad and Slavery's Expansion in Southwest Virginia, 1850-1860." In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 101-115. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Previously published as chapter 4 in Kenneth W. Noe, *Southwest Virginia's Railroad*, Urbana: Univ. of Illinois Press, 1994.

Nolt, Steven M. 2002. Foreigners in Their Own Land: Pennsylvania Germans in the Early Republic. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 238 pp.

Norgren, Jill. [1996] 2004. *The Cherokee Cases: Two Landmark Federal Decisions in the Fight for Sovereignty* [1830s]. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press. 212 pp. Originally published: New York: McGraw-Hill, as *The Cherokee Cases: The Confrontation of Law and Politics*.

Norman, Gurney. 2009. "Affrilachian Genesis" [poet Frank X Walker]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 25 (Spring): 26-27.

Norrell, Robert J. 2009. *Up from History: The Life of Booker T. Washington* [1956-1915]. Cambridge, Mass.: Belknap Press of Harvard University Press. 508 pp. Washington spent much of his youth in the Kanawha County, West Virginia coalfields.

Nuevo Appalachia. 2012. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 1-60. Eighteen essays encompass "over 450 years of Hispanic influence in Appalachia.

O'Brien, Greg, ed. 2008. *Pre-Removal Choctaw History: Exploring New Paths*. The Civilization of the American Indian series, v. 255. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press. 265 pp.

O'Brien, Greg. 2001. "The Conqueror Meets the Unconquered: Negotiating Cultural Boundaries on the Post-Revolutionary Southern Frontier" [Ango-Choctaw diplomacy; 1785-1786; S.C.]. *The Journal of Southern History* 67 (February): 39-72.

O'Brien, Greg. 2002. *Choctaws in a Revolutionary Age, 1750-1830*. Indians of the Southeast. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 158 pp.

O'Donnell, James H. 2004. *Ohio's First Peoples* [Adena and Hopewell, Wyandots (1840 removal), Shawnee, and Delaware]. Ohio Bicentennial Series. Athens: Ohio University Press. 176 pp.

O'Donnell, Kevin. 2004. "The Artist in the Garden: George Cooke and the Ideology of Fine Arts Painting in Antebellum Georgia" [Cooke's ignorance and portrayal of Cherokees following 1838 Removal]. In *CrossRoads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 72-96. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

O'Sullivan, Meg Devlin. 2005. "A Family Affair: Cherokee Conversion to American Board Churches, 1817-1839" [missions map]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 64, no. 4 (Winter): 264-283.

Oakley, Christopher Arris. 2001. "Indian Gaming and the Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians" [casinos]. *North Carolina Historical Review* 78 (April): 133-155.

Oakley, Christopher Arris. 2008. "The Native South in the Post–World War II Era." *Native South* 1: 61-79.

Oatis, Steven J. 2004. A Colonial Complex: South Carolina's Frontiers in the Era of the Yamasee War, 1680-1730 [Creek, Cherokee, Chickasaw, Catawba, Shawnee]. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 399 pp.

Odem, Mary E. 2008. "Unsettled in the Suburbs: Latino Immigration and Ethnic Diversity in Metro Atlanta." Chap. 5 in *Twenty-First-Century Gateways: Immigrant Incorporation in Suburban America*, ed. A. Singer, S. Hardwick, and C. Brettell, 105-136. Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution Press.

Odem, Mary E., and Elaine Cantrell Lacy, ed. 2009. *Latino Immigrants and the Transformation of the U.S. South*. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 175 pp. Contents: Introduction / Mary E. Odem and Elaine Lacy -- Cultural Enclaves and Transnational Ties: Mexican Immigration and Settlement in South Carolina / Elaine Lacy -- New Scenarios of Migration: Social Vulnerability of Undocumented Veracruzanos in the Southern United States / Rosio Cordova Plaza -- The Dalton Story: Mexican Immigration and Social Transformation in the Carpet Capital of the World / Victor Zuniga and Ruben Hernandez-Leon -- Globalization and Latin American

Immigration in Alabama / Raymond A. Mohl -- Hispanic Newcomers to North Carolina: Demographic Characteristics and Economic Impact / James H. Johnson Jr. and John D. Kasarda -- Race, Migration, and Labor Control: Neoliberal Challenges to Organizing Mississippi's Poultry Workers / Angela C. Stuesse -- Latino Immigrants and the Politics of Space in Atlanta / Mary E. Odem -- New Americans in a New South City? Immigrant and Refugee Politics in Nashville, Tennessee / Jamie Winders -- Popular Attitudes and Public Policies: Southern Responses to Latino Immigration / Elaine Lacy and Mary E. Odem.

Oliphant, John. 2000. *Peace and War on the Anglo-Cherokee Frontier*, 1756-63. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 272 pp.

Osborne, Christopher M. 2005. "Invisible Hands: Slaves, Bound Laborers, and the Development of Western Pennsylvania, 1780-1820" [tables]. *Pennsylvania History* 72, no. 1 (Winter): 77-99.

Osborne, Guy Larry. 2004. "Fighting Racism in Appalachia: A Progress Report from the Grassroots" [social change organizations]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10 (Spring/Fall): 143-151.

Ostwalt, Conrad, and Phoebe Pollitt. 2001. "The Salem School and Orphanage: White Missionaries, Black School" [N.C.]. In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 235-244. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Previously published under a different title in *Appalachian Journal* 20 (1993): 265-275.

Oswalt, Wendell H. 2006. "The Eastern Cherokee: Farmers of the Southeast." Chap. 13 in *This Land Was Theirs: A Study of Native North Americans*, 419-446. 8th ed. New York: Oxford University Press.

Oswalt, Wendell H. 2006. "The Eastern Cherokee: Farmers of the Southeast." Chap. 13 in *This Land Was Theirs: A Study of Native North Americans*, 8th ed., 419-446. New York: Oxford University Press.

Out of This Kitchen: A History of the Ethnic Groups and Their Foods in the Steel Valley [Homestead, Pa.]. 2010. 2nd ed. Pittsburgh: Publassist. 186 pp. Contents (recipes with local history essays): Germans, Scotch-Irish and Irish, Russians, Hungarians, Molasses, World War I, African-Americans, Ukranians, The Depression Years, Macedonians, Bulgarians, Slovaks, World War II, Italians, Poles, Jews, Post-World War II.

Owen, Christopher H. 1994. "'To Refrain From … Political Affairs': Southern Evangelicals, Cherokee Missions, and the Spirituality of the Church." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 53 (Spring): 20-29.

Owen, Narcissa. 2005. *A Cherokee Woman's America: Memoirs of Narcissa Owen, 1831-1907*. Edited by Karen L. Kilcup. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 189 pp.

Owens, Sadie. 2001. "Through Sadie's Eyes: An Interview with Sadie Owens" [1940s? Rabun Co., Ga.; African American]. Interview by students Corley Brown and Joni Ramey. *Foxfire Magazine* 35 (Fall/Winter): 98-107.

Owings, Alison. 2011. "Elders of the Haudenosaunee: Darwin Hill (Tonawanda Seneca) and Geraldine Green (Cattaraugus Seneca)" [contemporary; western N.Y.]. Chap. 4 in *Indian Voices: Listening to Native Americans*, by A. Owings, 62-91. New Brunswick, N.J.: Rutgers University Press.

Owle, Freeman. 2007. "Literature, Education, and *The Return of the Whippoorwill*: A Conversation with Freeman Owle" [Cherokee storyteller and carver; 1950s-60s on the Qualla reservation; book-in-progress]. Interview by Christopher Teuton. *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 2 (Winter): 194-205.

Paige, Amanda L., Fuller L. Bumpers, and Daniel F. Littlefield. 2010. *Chickasaw Removal* [1837]. Ada, Okla.: Chickasaw Press. 311 pp. From northern Miss. to Indian Territory.

Parker, G. Keith. 2006. Seven Cherokee Myths: Creation, Fire, the Primordial Parents, the Nature of Evil, the Family, Universal Suffering and Communal Obligation. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 206 pp.

Payne, Elizabeth Anne, et al. 2010. "The Unknown Grandmother, African American Memory, and Lives of Service in Northern Mississippi." In *Mississippi Women: Their Histories, Their Lives*, ed., M. Swain, E. Anne Payne, and M. Spruill, 313-332. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Peacock, James L., Harry L. Watson, and Carrie R. Matthews, ed. 2005. *The American South in a Global World* [19 essays, many addressing Latino immigrants and N.C.]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 299 pp.

Pearson, Barry Lee. 2003. "Appalachian Blues" [history, geography, styles]. *Black Music Research Journal* 23, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 23-51.

Pearson, Brooks C. 1997. "18th and 19th Century Welsh Migration to the United States." *Pennsylvania Geographer* 35 (Spring): 38-54.

Perdue, Theda, and Michael D. Green. 2005. *The Cherokee Removal: A Brief History with Documents*. 2nd ed. Bedford Series in History and Culture. Boston: Bedford/St. Martin's. 198 pp.

Perdue, Theda, and Michael D. Green. 2007. *The Cherokee Nation and the Trail of Tears* [1838-1839]. The Penguin Library of American Indian History. New York: Viking. 189 pp.

Perdue, Theda, and Michael D. Green. 2001. *The Columbia Guide to American Indians of the Southeast*. The Columbia Guides to American Indian History and Culture. New York: Columbia University Press. 325 pp.

Perdue, Theda, ed. 1995. *The Cherokee Removal: A Brief History With Documents*. Introduction by Michael D. Green. Bedford Series in History & Culture. Boston: St. Martin's Press. 185 pp.

Perdue, Theda. 1998. *Cherokee Women: Gender and Culture Change, 1700-1835*. Indians of the Southeast. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 253 p.

Perdue, Theda. 2002. "The Trail of Tears: Removal of the Southern Indians in the Jeffersonian-Jacksonian Era." In "They Made Us Many Promises": The American Indian Experience, 1524 to the Present, ed. P. Weeks, 67-84. Wheeling, Ill.: Harlan Davidson.

Perdue, Theda. 2003. "Mixed Blood" Indians: Racial Construction in the Early South. Mercer University Lamar Memorial Lectures, no. 45. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 135 pp.

Perdue, Theda. 2004. "Race and Culture: Writing the Ethnohistory of the Early South" [mixed-bloods, whites and Indians: ancestry, political implications]. *Ethnohistory* 51, no. 4 (Fall): 701-723.

Perdue, Theda. 2005. "George Washington and the 'Civilization' of the Southern Indians" [Cherokee]. Chap. 12 in *George Washington's South*, ed. T. Harvey and G. O'Brien, 313-325. Gainesville: University Press of Florida.

Perdue, Theda. 2007. "American Indian Survival in South Carolina" [1600s to present; map of nineteen tribes and groups incl. Cherokee, Santee, and Catawba]. *South Carolina Historical Magazine* 108, no. 3 (July): 215-234.

Perdue, Theda. 2008. "Columbus Meets Pocahontas in the American South." In *Southern Cultures: The Fifteenth Anniversary Reader*, ed. H. Watson and L. Griffin, 211-224. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. European views, and realities, of Native sexuality.

Perdue, Theda. 2012. "The Legacy of Indian Removal." *Journal of Southern History* 78, no. 1 (February): 3-36. Jim Crow laws and Native Americans.

Perlman, Robert. 2001. From Shtetl to Milltown: Litvaks, Hungarians, and Galizianers in Western Pennsylvania, 1875-1925. Pittsburgh: Historical Society of Western Pennsylvania. 123 pp.

Perlman, Robert. 2001. From Shtetl to Milltown: Litvaks, Hungarians, and Galizianers in Western Pennsylvania, 1875-1925. Pittsburgh: Historical Society of Western Pennsylvania. 124 pp.

Peterson, Shane C. 2008. "Defining Cultural Landscapes through Human Ecology: A Case Study from the 1819 Citizen Cherokee Reservations in Western North Carolina." *North Carolina Archaeology* 56: 96-117.

Phillips, Joyce B., and Paul Gary Phillips, ed. 1998. *The Brainerd Journal: A Mission to the Cherokees, 1817-1823* [Tenn.]. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 584 pp.

Piecuch, Jim. 2008. Three Peoples, One King: Loyalists, Indians, and Slaves in the Revolutionary South, 1775-1782 [S.C., Ga.; Cherokee]. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 439 pp.

Piker, Joshua Aaron. 2003. "White & Clean' & Contested: Creek Towns and Trading Paths in the Aftermath of the Seven Years' War" [Upper Creek towns]. *Ethnohistory* 50 (Spring): 315-347.

Piker, Joshua Aaron. 2004. *Okfuskee: A Creek Indian Town in Colonial America*. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press. 270 pp.

Piker, Joshua. 2004. "Colonists and Creeks: Rethinking the Pre-Revolutionary Southern Backcountry" [land settlement; Ga., S.C.; map]. *Journal of Southern History* 70 (August): 503-540.

Pinson, Vera Hennessee. 2001. "An Early Czech Community in Putnam County" [autobiography excerpt; 1921 White Co., Tenn.; coal town]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 60 (no. 1): 25-31.

Pittman, Rickey. 2010. *Stonewall Jackson's Black Sunday School* [children's book]. Illustrated by Lynn Hosegood. Gretna, La.: Pelican Publishing. 32 pp. "In 1855, people of color began attending Sunday school at the Lexington Presbyterian Church in Virginia. Stonewall Jackson himself was the first superintendent of the school."

Pluck! The Journal of Affrilachian Arts and Culture. 2007— . Irregular. Editor, Frank X Walker. Lexington: University of Kentucky, Department of English [initially published at Northern Kentucky University]. Poetry, essays, interviews, letters; "...unites the broad spectrum of the African and African American ethos and aesthetic to the Appalachian region."

Pluckhahn, Thomas J., and Robbie Ethridge, ed. 2006. *Light on the Path: The Anthropology and History of the Southeastern Indians*. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 283 pp. Contents: Introduction / Thomas J. Pluckhahn, et al. -- The nature of Mississippian regional systems / David J. Hally -- Lithics, shellfish, and beavers / Mark Williams and Scott Jones -- The Cussita migration legend: history, ideology, and the politics of mythmaking / Steven C. Hahn -- Coalescent societies / Stephen A. Kowalewski -- "A bold and warlike people": the basis of Westo power / Eric Bowne -- New light on the Tsali affair / William Martin Jurgelski -- "A sprightly lover is the most prevailing missionary": intermarriage between Europeans and Indians in the eighteenth-century South / Theda Perdue -- The historic period transformation of Mississippian societies / Adam King -- Bridging prehistory and history in the southeast: evaluating the utility of the acculturation concept / John E. Worth -- Creating the shatter zone: Indian slave traders and the collapse of the southeastern chiefdoms / Robbie Ethridge.

Pocock, Emil. 2006. "Slavery and Freedom in the Early Republic: Robert Patterson's Slaves in Kentucky and Ohio, 1804-1819." *Ohio Valley History* 6, no. 1 (Spring): 3-26.

Podber, Jacob J. 2007. *The Electronic Front Porch: An Oral History of the Arrival of Modern Media in Rural Appalachia and the Melungeon Community* [86 informants; impact of radio, television, and the Internet]. The Melungeons series. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 166 pp.

Policing the Police [feature: police brutality]. 2000. "CPR for a Troubled City" [Knoxville, Tenn.], by Rick Held, 17-19; "No Justice; Disturbing the Peace" [Chattanooga, Tenn.], by Jordan Green, 20-22. *Southern Exposure* 28 (Spring/Summer): 17-22.

Pollard, Kelvin M. 2004. "A 'New Diversity': Race and Ethnicity in the Appalachian Region" [tables; 1990, 2000 census data]. Demographic and Socioeconomic Change in Appalachia series. Washington, D.C.: Appalachian Regional Commission, Online Resource Center. 42 pp.

http://www.arc.gov/research/researchreportdetails.asp?REPORT_ID=34.

Pollitzer, William S. [1971] 2005. "Physical Anthropology of Indians of the Old South" [states; "Negro admixture"]. In *Culture, Ethnicity, and Justice in the South: The Southern Anthropological Society, 1968-1971*, 485-497. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. (Reprint, from *Proceedings No. 5. Red, White, and Black: Symposium on Indians in the Old South*, ed. C. Hudson, 31-43).

Potter, Chris. 2001. "You Had to Ask" [Pittsburgh's Chinatown, short history]. Western Pennsylvania History 84 (Fall): 48.

Power, Susan C. 2004. Early Art of the Southeastern Indians: Feathered Serpents & Winged Beings [Ch. 2: Adena and Hopewell]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 254 pp.

Power, Susan C. 2007. Art of the Cherokee: Prehistory to the Present. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 295 pp.

Preisler, Julian H. 2010. *Jewish West Virginia* [vintage photos, to 1849]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Arranged geographically around seven areas or cities.

Preston, David L. 2005. "Squatters, Indians, Proprietary Government, and Land in the Susquehanna Valley" [mid-eighteenth century]. In *Friends and Enemies in Penn's Woods: Indians, Colonists, and the Racial Construction of Pennsylvania*, ed. W. Pencak and D. Richter, 180-200. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Preston, David L. 2009. *The Texture of Contact: European and Indian Settler Communities on the Frontiers of Iroquoia, 1667-1783*. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 395 pp. Contents: The tree of peace planted: Iroquois and French-Canadian communities in the St. Lawrence Valley -- Iroquois communities in the eighteenth-century Mohawk Valley: Schoharie, Tiononderoge, and Canajoharie -- Dispossessing the Indians: proprietors, squatters, and natives

in the Susquehanna Valley -- "The storm which had been so long gathering": Pennsylvanians and Indians at war -- "Our neighbourhood with the settlers": Iroquois and German communities in the Seven Years' War -- Imperial crisis in the Ohio Valley: Indian, colonial American, and British military communities -- Epilogue: the tree of peace uprooted.

Prins, Esther, and Blaire Willson Toso. 2012. "Receptivity toward Immigrants in Rural Pennsylvania: Perceptions of Adult English as Second Language Providers." *Rural Sociology* 77, no. 3 (September): 435-461. Tables; 22 study counties.

Puckett, Anita. 2001. "The Melungeon Identity Movement and the Construction of Appalachian Whiteness." *Journal of Linguistic Anthropology* 11 (June): 131-146.

Puckett, Anita. 2006. "Melungeons." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 6: *Ethnicity*, ed. C. Ray, 185-187. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Purcell, Aaron D. 2006. "A Damned Piece of Rascality': The Business of Slave Trading in Southern Appalachia." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 78: 1-22. Abingdon, Va., lawyers Joseph Meek and Samuel Logan profit from slave-buying in Appalachian Va. and Tenn.

Ramsey, William L. 2008. *The Yamasee War: A Study of Culture, Economy, and Conflict in the Colonial South* [1715-1716]. Indians of the Southeast series. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 307 pp. Carolinians; slavery issue.

Ray, Celeste, ed. 2007. *Ethnicity*, Vol. 6 of *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 276 pp. Describes 100 ethnic groups, incl. "Southern Appalachian and Mountain People," "Appalachian African Americans," "Cherokees, Eastern Band," "Latinos," "Melungeons".

Ray, Celeste. 2001. *Highland Heritage: Scottish Americans in the American South*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 256 pp.

Ray, Celeste. 2003. "'Thigibh!' Means 'Y'all Come!': Renegotiating Regional Memories through Scottish Heritage Celebration" [Grandfather Mountain, N.C., and elsewhere]. In *Southern Heritage on Display: Public Ritual and Ethnic Diversity within Southern Regionalism*, ed. Celeste Ray, 251-282. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Ray, Celeste. 2006. "Southern Appalachia and Mountain People." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 6: *Ethnicity*, ed. C. Ray, 82-89. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Ray, Celeste. 2008. "Scottish Heritage, Southern Style." In *Southern Crossroads: Perspectives on Religion and Culture*, ed. W. Conser, and R. Payne, 231-248. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Ray, Kristofer. 2010. "New Directions in Early Tennessee History, 1540-1815." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 69, no. 3 (Fall): 204-223. Relations between Native Americans and settlers; Native American slave trade; Cherokee.

Reed, Betty Jamerson. 2004. *The Brevard Rosenwald School: Black Education and Community Building in a Southern Appalachian Town, 1920-1966* [Transylvania Co., N.C.]. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no 11. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 235 pp.

Reed, Betty Jamerson. 2011. School Segregation in Western North Carolina: A History, 1860s-1970s. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 264 pp.

Reed, John Shelton. 1997. "Mixing in the Mountains" [multi-racial Melungeons]. *Southern Cultures* 3 (Winter): 25-36.

Reed, John Shelton. 1997. "The Cherokee Princess in the Family Tree" [ancestry poll]. *Southern Cultures* 3 (no. 1): 111-113.

Reed, John Shelton. 2003. "Mixing in the Mountains" [Melungeons]. In *Minding the South*, 253-262. Columbia: University of Missouri Press. 291 pp.

Rees, Martha W. 2001. "How Many Are There? Ethnographic Estimates of Mexican Women in Atlanta, Georgia." In *Latino Workers in the Contemporary South*, ed. A. D. Murphy, C. Blanchard, and J. A. Hill, 36-43. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 34. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Reynolds, Kevin. 2011. *Native North Carolina: The What, Why and Where of Native American Place Names*. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 122 pp. Contents: Rivers, mountains, lakes, and such | Communities, towns, and cities | Counties | Travel guide | Appendix: interesting American place names.

Rhyne, J. Michael. 2002. "'We Are Mobed and Beat': Regulator Violence against Free Black Households in Kentucky's Bluegrass Region, 1865-1867." *Ohio Valley History* 2, no. 1 (January): 30-42.

Rice, Connie L. 1996. "The 'Separate but Equal' Schools of Monongalia County's Coal Mining Communities" [W. Va.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Fall): 323-335.

Rice, Connie Park. 1999. Our Monongalia: A History of African Americans in Monongalia County, West Virginia. Terra Alta, W. Va.: Headline Books. 271 pp.

Rice, Connie Park. 2007. "'Don't Flinch nor Yield an Inch': J. R. Clifford and the Struggle for Equal Rights in West Virginia" [state's first black attorney, 1887]. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 1, no. 2 (Fall): 45-68.

Rice, Connie Park. 2009. "Separate But Never Equal: Dewey W. Fox and the Struggle for Black Equality in the Age of Jim Crow." In *Culture, Class, and Politics in Modern Appalachia:*

Essays in Honor of Ronald L. Lewis, ed. J. Egolf, K. Fones-Wolf, and L. Martin, 118-137. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. Black educator; 1920s-30s Scott's Run coalfield community, Monongalia Co., W. Va.

Rich, Brian L., and Marta Miranda. 2005. "The Sociopolitical Dynamics of Mexican Immigration in Lexington, Kentucky, 1997 to 2002: An Ambivalent Community Responds" [tables]. In *New Destinations: Mexican Immigration in the United States*, ed. V. Zuniga and R. Hernandez-Leon, 187-219. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.

Richardson, Darlene. 2002. "Restructuring a Community with Oral History" [African American communities in Vinton, adjacent Roanoke, Va.]. *Oral History Review* 29 (Summer/Fall): 97-102.

Richter, Daniel K. 2005. *Native Americans' Pennsylvania* [origins to present]. University Park: Pennsylvania Historical Association. Pennsylvania History Studies, no. 28. 100 pp.

Riggs, Brett H., R. P. Stephen Davis, Jr., and Mark R. Plane. 2006. "Catawba Pottery in the Post-Revolutionary Era: A View from the Source." *North Carolina Archaeology* 55: 60-88.

Riggs, Brett. 1997. "The Christie Cabin Site: Historical and Archaeological Evidence of the Life and Times of a Cherokee 'Metis' Household (1835-1838)." In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 1, ed. R. S. Brunk, 228-248. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services Inc.

Riggs, Brett. 2002. "In the Service of Native Interests: Archaeology for, of, and by Cherokee People" [Macon Co., N.C.; repatriation; Kituwha]. In *Southern Indians and Anthropologists: Culture, Politics, and Identity*, ed. L. Lefler and F. Gleach, 19-30. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 35. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Robert J. Conley [Featured Author]. 2009. Special "Cherokee" issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 4 (Fall): 11-24. This special issue also features writing and art of many other members of the Eastern Band of the Cherokees.

Robinson, Mary, and Fran Leeper Buss. 2009. *Moisture of the Earth: Mary Robinson, Civil Rights and Textile Union Activist: An Oral History*. Compiled and edited by Fran Leeper Buss [from 23 years of interviews]. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press. 222 pp. Race, class, and gender issues; J.P. Stevens's Montgomery, Ala., plant.

Robinson, Sherry. 2003. "Marilou Awiakta on Environment, Culture, and Community: A Native Perspective." *Journal of Kentucky Studies* 20 (September): 123-129.

Rodning, Christopher B. 2002. "Reconstructing the Coalescence of Cherokee Communities in Southern Appalachia." In *The Transformation of the Southeastern Indians*, *1540-1760*, ed. R. Ethridge and C. Hudson, 155-175. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi.

Rodning, Christopher B. 2010. "European Trade Goods at Cherokee Settlements in Southwestern North Carolina" [Coweeta Creek; 17th century]. *North Carolina Archaeology* 59 (October): 1-84.

Rogoff, Leonard. 2010. *Down Home: Jewish Life in North Carolina* [1585-2009]. Chapel Hill: Published in association with the Jewish Heritage Foundation of North Carolina by the University of North Carolina Press. 422 pp.

Rohrer, S. Scott. 2002. "Searching for Land and God: The Pietist Migration to North Carolina in the Late Colonial Period" [Moravian Church; from Germany to Wachovia community (Forsyth Co.)]. *North Carolina Historical Review* 79 (October): 409-439.

Roinila, Mika. 2003. "From Monessen to Clarksburg and Beyond: The Finnish Ethnicity in Central Appalachia" [Pa. to W. Va., 1910-1990]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Spring): 49-67.

Romain, William F. 2000. *Mysteries of the Hopewell: Astronomers, Geometers, and Magicians of the Eastern Woodlands*. Series on Ohio Culture and History. Akron, Ohio: University of Akron Press. 272 pp.

Ronda, James P. 2002. "We Have a Country': Race, Geography, and the Invention of Indian Territory." In *Race and the Early Republic: Racial Consciousness and Nation-Building in the Early Republic*, ed. M. Morrison and J. Stewart, 159-176. Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield. Originally published in *Journal of the Early Republic* 19 (Winter 1999): 739-755.

Rozema, Vicki, ed. 2002. *Cherokee Voices: Early Accounts of Cherokee Life in the East.* Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 180 pp.

Rozema, Vicki, ed. 2003. *Voices from the Trail of Tears* [first person accounts; 1838]. Real Voices, Real History Series. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 176 pp.

Rozema, Vicki. 1995. Footsteps of the Cherokees: A Guide to the Eastern Homelands of the Cherokee Nation. Winston-Salem: John F. Blair. 396 pp.

Ruberto, Leonilde Frieri. 2010. *Such Is Life = Ma la Vita e Fatta Cosi*. Translated by Laura E. Ruberto. New York: Bordighera Press. 97 pp. Memoir of Leonilde Ruberto (1913-2000) who completed the fourth grade, raised a family, then emigrated in 1954 from southern Italy to Pittsburgh.

Rucker, James "Sparky." 2008. "The Preacher's in the Pulpit: Old-Time African-American Preacher Tales." *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 3 (Summer): 87-91. Special issue—"African-American Appalachia."

Sadosky, Leonard J. 2009. *Revolutionary Negotiations: Indians, Empires, and Diplomats in the Founding of America*. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 275 pp.

Salafia, Matthew. 2008. "Searching for Slavery: Fugitive Slaves in the Ohio River Valley Borderland, 1830-1860." *Ohio Valley History* 8, no. 4 (Winter): 38-63.

Salaita, Steven. 2001. "Borderlands, Homelands and Flatlands" [reflections of a West Virginian Arab-American]. *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Winter): 8-15.

Sanders, Randy. 2012. "A New Frontier" [Buncombe Co., N.C.; Hispanic immigration]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 17-19. A look at "the attitudes that both contributed to and resulted from one of the area's largest immigration raids," November 2011, at Asheville's Shogun Buffet Hibachi Grill & Sushi, and activists' founding of the co-op, Las Tres Fronteras.

Sauceman, Fred. 2009. "Nourishing Miners and Dodging the USDA: West Virginia's Pepperoni Roll Links Italy and Appalachia." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25, no.1 (Spring/Summer): 49-52.

Sauceman, Fred. 2012. "Fuad." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 29-31. Fuad Reveiz, a Columbian immigrant, went on to become one of University of Tennessee's most renowned football players. Sidebar: "Netting New Opportunities," by Joe Smith, profiles Reveiz in his role as current-day president of the Hispanic Chamber of Commerce of East Tennessee, 30-32.

Sauceman, Fred. 2012. "Mesoamerican Kitchen Tools Find a New Use in East Tennessee" [Molcajetes Mexican Grill, Kingsport, Tenn.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 45-46. Sidebars: "A Latin Riff on Ramps" [W. Va. ramp salsa], by Fred Sauceman, and "Cervantes Tamales" [recipe; Lebanon, Va.], by Aaron Owens, 47.

Saunt, Claudio. 1999. A New Order of Things: Property, Power, and the Transformation of the Creek Indians, 1733-1816. New York: Cambridge University Press. 298 pp.

Saunt, Claudio. 2004. "The Paradox of Freedom: Tribal Sovereignty and Emancipation during the Reconstruction of Indian Territory" [slaveholding among Southeastern tribes]. *Journal of Southern History* 70 (February): 63-94.

Saunt, Claudio. 2005. *Black, White, and Indian: Race and the Unmaking of an American Family* [Creek Indians; racial identity: African American-Creek; Grayson family]. New York: Oxford University Press. 300 pp.

Saunt, Claudio. 2008. "The Native South: An Account of Recent Historiography." *Native South* 1: 45-60.

Scancarelli, Janine, and Heather K. Hardy, ed. 2005. *Native Languages of the Southeastern United States* [Alabama Chickasaw, Choctaw, Creek, Caddo, Cherokee, Natchez, and Quapaw]. Studies in the Anthropology of North American Indians. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press in cooperation with the American Indian Studies Research Institute, Indiana University, Bloomington. 556 pp.

Schein, Anna M., ed. 2005. White Pine Spirit of Peace: The WVU Peace Tree, A West Virginia University Historic Tree [planting ceremony: 1992, address by Chief Leon Shenandoah; and 1996, address by Chief Jake Swamp]. Morgantown, W. Va.: Office of the Provost, West Virginia University. 82 pp.

Schrift, Melissa. 2003. "Melungeons and the Politics of Heritage" [settlement areas map]. In *Southern Heritage on Display: Public Ritual and Ethnic Diversity within Southern Regionalism*, ed. Celeste Ray, 106-129. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Schulte, Brigid. 2007. "Trail Exposes Hidden History of Va. Indians: Endeavor Aims to Refocus Perceptions, Studies of Tribal Cultures." [Monacan Nation, 1607-2007]. *Washington Post*, 23 June, 1(B). 1268 words.

Schumann, William. 2010. "Locating Wales in Appalachian Scholarship." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 16, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 9-25. "...illuminates why Welsh American identities in Appalachia were not as pronounced or long-lasting as those of Scottish and Irish Americans."

Schutt, Amy C. 2007. *Peoples of the River Valleys: The Odyssey of the Delaware Indians*. Early American Studies. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press. 250 pp.

Scolnick, Joseph M., Jr., and N. Brent Kennedy. 2003. *From Anatolia to Appalachia: A Turkish-American Dialogue* [interviews; sources; DNA study]. The Melungeons: History, Culture, Ethnicity, & Literature, no. 4. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 130 pp.

Scott, Michelle R. 2008. *Blues Empress in Black Chattanooga: Bessie Smith and the Emerging Urban South* [Tenn.]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 198 pp. Southern black urbanism; role of music; late 19th-century.

Scott, Rebecca R. 2009. "Appalachia and the Construction of Whiteness in the United States" [hillbillies]. *Sociology Compass* 3, no. 5 (September): 803-810.

Shadburn, Don L., and John D. Strange. 2012. *Upon Our Ruins: A Study in Cherokee History and Genealogy*. Pioneer-Cherokee Heritage Series, no. 7. Cumming, Ga.: Cottonpatch Press. 766 pp.

Shaughnessy, Michael R. 2007. *German Pittsburgh* [vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Nineteenth and early twentieth-centuries.

Sheidley, Nathaniel. 1999. "Hunting and the Politics of Masculinity in Cherokee Treaty-Making, 1763-75. In *Empire and Others: British Encounters with Indigenous Peoples, 1600-1850*, ed. M. Daunton, R. Halpern, 167-185. Critical Histories series. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Sheskin, Ira M. 2006. "The Dixie Diaspora: The 'Loss' of the Small Southern Jewish Community." In *Dixie Diaspora: An Anthology of Southern Jewish History*, ed. M. Bauman, 165-188. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Shevitz, Amy Hill. 2003. "'Richest and Best / Is the Wine of the West': The Ohio River Valley and the Jewish Frontier." *Ohio History* 112 (Winter-Spring): 4-18. http://publications.ohiohistory.org/ohstemplate.cfm?action=toc&vol=112.

Shevitz, Amy Hill. 2007. *Jewish Communities on the Ohio River: A History* [24 towns; population tables]. Ohio River Valley series. Lexington, Ky.: University Press of Kentucky. 266 pp.

Shultz, Benjamin J. 2008. "Inside the Gilded Cage: The Lives of Latino Immigrant Males in Rural Central Kentucky" [shaded county outline maps; tables]. *Southeastern Geographer* 48, no. 2 (August): 201-218.

Shurbutt, S. Bailey. 2005. "Where Mountain Meets Atom, Within the Healing Circle: The Writing of Marilou Awiakta" [ecocritical]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 11, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 195-204.

Silber, Nina. 2001. "What Does America Need So Much as Americans?' Race and Northern Reconciliation with Southern Appalachia, 1870-1900" [outsider-mythologized, racially-pure, Anglo-Saxon Appalachia]. In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 245-258. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Simi, Pete, and Robert Futrell. 2010. *American Swastika: Inside the White Power Movement's Hidden Spaces of Hate*. Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield. 167 pp. Case studies of white supremacy movement and organizations, including National Alliance, Hillsboro, W. Va.

Simmons, J. Susanne, and Nancy T. Sorrells. 2000. "Slave Hire and the Development of Slavery in Augusta County, Virginia." In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia, 1800-1900*, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 169-184. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Simms, William Gilmore. 2003. *An Early and Strong Sympathy: The Indian Writings of William Gilmore Simms* [essays and letters, stories, poems]. Edited by John Caldwell Guilds and Charles Hudson. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press for the South Caroliniana Library with the assistance of the Caroline McKissick Dial Publication Fund and the University Caroliniana Society. 604 pp.

Slater, Robert Glenn. 2009. "A Distinctive Minority: The Black Leaders of Blount County, Tennessee During Reconstruction." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 81: 19-41.

Smith, Barbara Ellen. 2004. "De-Gradations of Whiteness: Appalachia and the Complexities of Race." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10 (Spring/Fall): 38-57.

Smith, Barbara Ellen. 2012. "The Price of the Ticket: Latino Immigrants and the Challenge of Community in Appalachia." *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 234-244.

Smith, Bill. 2007. "Bill Smith: Taking the Heat—and Dishing It Out—in a Nuevo New South Kitchen" [Chapel Hill restaurant; Mexican employees]. Interview by Lisa Eveleigh. *Southern Cultures* 13, no. 4 (Winter): 59-75.

Smith, Chadwick Corntassel, and Rennard Strickland, with Benny Smith. 2010. *Building One Fire: Art + World View in Cherokee Life*. Tahlequah, Okla.: Cherokee Nation. 224 pp. Photos of 200 works by 80 artists.

Smith, Daniel Blake. 2011. *An American Betrayal: Cherokee Patriots and the Trail of Tears* [1838-39]. New York: Henry Holt. 321 pp. Contents: Becoming "civilized" | Outrage in Cornwall | Removal | The "white man's weapon" | New Echota | Roundup | The Trail of Tears | Blood revenge. "An examination of the pervasive effects of the Cherokee nation's forced relocation considers the tribe's inability to acclimate to white culture and explores key roles played by Andrew Jackson, Chief John Ross, and Elias Boudinot."

Smith, Ethel Morgan. 2000. From Whence Cometh My Help: The African American Community at Hollins College [Roanoke, Va.]. Columbia: University of Missouri Press. 147 pp.

Smith, Gerald L. 2002. *Lexington, Kentucky* [vintage photos]. Black America Series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Smith, Heather A. 2008. "The Untraditional Geography of Hispanic Settlement in a New South City: Charlotte, North Carolina." Chap. 11 in *Immigrants Outside Megalopolis: Ethnic Transformation in the Heartland*, ed., R. Jones, 237-261. Lanham, Md.: Lexington Books.

Smith, Heather A., and Owen J. Furuseth. 2008. "The 'Nuevo South': Latino Place Making and Community Building in the Middle-Ring Suburbs of Charlotte" [N.C.]. Chap. 11 in *Twenty-First-Century Gateways: Immigrant Incorporation in Suburban America*, ed. A. Singer, S. Hardwick, and C. Brettell, 281-307. Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution Press.

Smith, Heather A., and Owen J. Furuseth, ed. 2006. *Latinos in the New South: Transformations of Place*. Aldershot, England: Ashgate. 292 pp. Contents: From Winn-Dixie to Tiendas: the remaking of the new South / Owen J. Furuseth and Heather A. Smith -- New neighbors in Dixie: the community impacts of Latino migration to Tennessee / Anita I. Drever -- The South's silent bargain: rural reconstructuring, Latino labor and the ambiguities of migrant experience / Rebecca Maria Torres, E. Jeffrey Popke, and Holly M. Hapke -- Migrants, markets, and the transformation of natural resources management: galax harvesting in western North Carolina / Marla R. Emery, Clare Ginger, and Jim Chamberlain -- New destinations for Hispanic migrants: an analysis of rural Kentucky / Holly R. Barcus -- Hispanic population growth and public school response in two new South immigrant destinations [Miss., N.C.] / William A. Kandel and Emilio A. Parrado -- The multiple transformations of Miami / Heike C. Alberts -- Latino communities in Atlanta: segmented assimilation under construction / Susan M. Walcott and Arthur Murphy -- Placing Latino/as in the music city: Latino migration and urban transformation in Nashville,

Tennessee / Jamie Winders -- Making real the mythical Latino community in Charlotte, North Carolina / Heather A. Smith and Owen J. Furuseth -- Transnationality, social spaces, and parallel worlds / Altha J. Cravey -- Across races and nations: social justice organizing in the transnational South / Barbara Ellen Smith -- The new South in perspective: observations and conclusions / John W. Frazier and Mark E. Reisinger.

Smith, Heather Anne, and Owen J. Furuseth. 2004. "Housing, Hispanics and Transitioning Geographies in Charlotte, North Carolina." *Southeastern Geographer* 44 (November): 216-235.

Smith, Jennie M. 2005. "The Latinization of Rome, Georgia" [Floyd Co.; carpet industry]. In *The American South in a Global World*, ed. J. Peacock, H. Watson, and C. Matthews, 223-234. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Smith, Jennifer Lund. 2001. "Negotiating the Terms of Freedom: The Quest for Education in an African American Community in Reconstruction North Georgia" [Lumpkin Co.]. In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 220-234. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Smith, Joanne Johnson, Florence Kennedy Barnett, and Lois Kennedy Croston. 1999. "We the People of Chestnut Ridge: A Native Community in Barbour County" [often referred to as "Guineas"; cf. Melungeons]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Fall): 30-37.

Smith, John David. 1997. "Review Essay: New Scholarship on John G. Fee and the Early Years of Berea College." *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 95 (Winter): 79-85. Reviews *The Evangelical War against Slavery and Race: The Life and Times of John G. Fee* (1996), by Victor B. Howard; and *A Utopian Experiment in Kentucky: Integration and Social Equality at Berea, 1866-1904* (1996), by Richard Sears.

Smith, Katharine Capshaw. 2008. "Bessie Woodson Yancey, African-American Poet and Social Critic" [1882-1958]. *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 3 (Summer): 72-77. Huntington, W. Va.; special issue—"African-American Appalachia.

Smith, Katy Simpson. 2010. "I Look on You...As My Children': Persistence and Change in Cherokee Motherhood, 1750-1835." *North Carolina Historical Review* 87, no. 4 (October): 403-430. Matrilineal structure and power; whites' imposition of cultural values; missionary attempts to "civilize."

Smith, Marvin T. 2002. "Aboriginal Population Movements in the Postcontact Southeast." In *The Transformation of the Southeastern Indians*, *1540-1760*, ed. R. Ethridge and C. Hudson, 3-20. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi.

Smith, William Jay. 2000. *The Cherokee Lottery: A Sequence of Poems* [of 1838 Trail of Tears forced relocation]. Willimantic, Conn.: Curbstone Press. 97 pp.

Sneed, Sarah Margaret. 2009. "Uniform Indians: Personal Reflections on the Eastern Band Cherokee Boarding School Experience." *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 4 (Fall): 49-55.

Snow, Dean R. 2001. "The Lessons of Northern Iroquoian Demography" [A.D. 750-1996]. In *Archaeology of the Appalachian Highlands*, ed. L. Sullivan and S. Prezzano, 264-277. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Snow, Whitney Adrienne. 2008. "Slave Owner, Slave Trader, Gentleman: Slavery and the Rise of Andrew Jackson." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 80: 47-59.

Snyder, Christina. 2007. "Conquered Enemies, Adopted Kin, and Owned People: The Creek Indians and Their Captives" [history of slavery]. *Journal of Southern History* 73, no. 2 (May): 255-288.

Snyder, Christina. 2010. *Slavery in Indian Country: The Changing Face of Captivity in Early America*. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press. 329 pp. Yamasee War (1715-1718), a turning point.

Solá, José O. 2011. "The Origins and Formation of the Latino Community in Northeast Ohio, 1900 to 2009" [mainly Cleveland]. *Ohio History* 118, no. 1: 112-129.

Spanish Mountaineers [special report, followed by two articles]. 2009. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 3 (Fall): 13-25. Early 20th century immigrants from Spain, many from Asturias province, recruited as workers for Harrison County's zinc industry. See also *Pinnick Kinnick Hill: An American Story*, by G. W. Gonzalez (West Virginia University Press, 2003).

Sparks, John. 2006. "Review Essay: Elizabeth Caldwell Hirschman's *Melungeons: The Last Lost Tribe in America*" (Mercer University Press, 2005). *Appalachian Journal* 33, no. 2 (Winter): 210-221.

Spears, Ellen. 2011. "'Rights Still Being Righted': Scottsboro Eighty Years Later" [essay; 1932 Jackson Co., Ala.; nine black men falsely accused of rape]. *Southern Spaces*, 16 June 2011. "... on the March 25, 2011 commemoration activities ... Spears reflects on how the Scottsboro trials have been represented and remembered...and the challenges of civil rights memorialization." Recommended Resources: print, film, links. http://www.southernspaces.org/2011/rights-still-being-righted-scottsboro-eighty-years-later.

Spinney, Russell. 2010. "The Sons of the Old Chiefs: Surveying Identity and European-American Relationships in the 'New Purchase' Territory (Centre County, Pennsylvania, 1769-1778)." Chap. 6 in *Pennsylvania's Revolution*, ed. W. Pencak, 121-143. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Spradlin, Michael P. 2002. *The Legend of Blue Jacket* [Shawnee chief, b. ca. 1752; juvenile literature; Indian captivity; Ohio Valley]. Illustrated by Ronald Himler. New York: HarperCollins.

Spriggs, Bianca. 2010. "What the Road Had to Say: The Affrilachian Poets Spring Bus Tour." *Pluck: The Journal of Affrilachian Arts & Culture*, no. 5: 10-15.

Spriggs, Bianca. 2011. "Frank X Walker: Exemplar of Affrilachia." *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 4 (Fall): 21-25. Biographical sketch of this featured poet.

Spriggs, Bianca. 2011. *How Swallowtails Become Dragons* [poems; Affrilachian]. Lexington, Ky.: Accent. 24 pp.

Spurlock, Pat. [1999] 2012. *Melungeons: Examining an Appalachian Legend*. 3rd ed. [United States]: CreateSpace. 378 pp. Originally published by Pat Spurlock Elder: Blountville, Tenn.: Continuity Press. Appendices: Timeline; Surnames.

St. Jean, Wendy. 2009. "How the Chickasaws Saved the Cumberland Settlement in the 1790s" [allied against hostile Creeks]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 68, no. 1 (Spring): 2-19.

Staley, Kathryn L. 2006. "Review Essay: Wayne Winkler's *Walking toward the Sunset: The Melungeons of Appalachia*" [Mercer University Press, 2004]. *Appalachian Journal* 33, no. 2 (Winter): 222-225.

Stealey, John E., III. 2001. "Slavery in the Kanawha Salt Industry" [antebellum Va. (W. Va.)]. In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 50-73. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Previously published as chapter 2 in John E. Stealey, III, *The Antebellum Kanawha Salt Business and Western Markets*, Lexington: Univ. Press of Kentucky, 1993.

Steele, Ian K. 2006. "The Shawnees and the English: Captives and War, 1753-1765." Chap. 1 in *The Boundaries between Us: Natives and Newcomers along the Frontiers of the Old Northwest Territory, 1750-1850*, ed. D. Barr, 1-24. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press.

Stenger, Mary Beth. 2002. "Lebanese in the Land of Opportunity: The Michael Family of Clarksburg" [1890s immigration]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Winter): 22-28.

Stock, Melissa A. 2008. "Sovereign or Suzerain: Alexander McGillivray's Argument for Creek Independence after the Treaty of Paris of 1783." *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 92, no. 2 (Summer): 149-176.

Stolarik, M. Mark. 2002. "A Slovak Perspective on the Lattimer Massacre" [1897; Luzerne Co.]. *Pennsylvania History* 69 (Winter): 31-41.

Striffler, Steve. 2005. "We're All Mexicans Here: Poultry Processing, Latino Migration, and the Transformation of Class in the South." In *The American South in a Global World*, ed. J. Peacock, H. Watson, and C. Matthews, 152-165. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Striffler, Steve. 2009. "Immigration Anxieties: Policing and Regulation Workers and Employers in the Poultry Industry" [Tyson-Shelbyville, Tenn.]. Chap. 5 in *Global Connections & Local Receptions: New Latino Immigration to the Southeastern United States*, ed. F. Ansley and J. Shefner, 129-154. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Sturm, Circe. 2002. "Blood Politics, Racial Classification, and Cherokee National Identity: The Trials and Tribulations of the Cherokee Freedmen." Chap. 8 in *Confounding the Color Line: The Indian-Black Experience in North America*, ed. J. Brooks, 223-257. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.

Sugden, John. 2000. *Blue Jacket: Warrior of the Shawnees* [ca. 1752-ca. 1808; Ohio Valley]. American Indian Lives. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 350 pp.

Sutton, David H. [1990] 2010. *Helvetia: The History of a Swiss Village in the Mountains of West Virginia*. 2nd ed. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 176 pp. Originally published: New York: Peter Lang, and titled *One's Own Hearth Is Like Gold: A History of Helvetia, West Virginia*.

Swain, G. T. [1927] 2008. *The Story of Princess Aracoma: And the Settling of West Virginia* [1780]. Chapmanville, W.Va: LNAB. 110 pp. Daughter of murdered Shawnee Chief Cornstalk.

Swatzler, David. 2000. A Friend Among the Senecas: The Quaker Mission to Complanter's People [Western Pa., and N.Y.; includes transcript of Henry Simmons' 1799 journal]. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 319 pp.

Sweet, Timothy. 2002. "Cherokee 'Improvements' and the Removal Debate." Chap. 6 in *American Georgics: Economy and Environment in American Literature*, 122-152. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Switala, William J. 2001. *Underground Railroad in Pennsylvania*. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 216 pp.

Switala, William J. 2004. *Underground Railroad in Delaware, Maryland, and West Virginia*. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 166 pp.

Symposium on Daniel Letwin: The Challenge of Interracial Unionism [UMW; Birmingham District, Ala.; 1878-1921]. 2000. Alex Lichtenstien, "Exploring the Local World of Interracialism," 63-67; John Higginson, "Digging a Little Deeper," 68-71; Jacqueline Jones, "Interracialism Above Ground, Jim Crow Below," 71-73; Nancy Maclean, "Race-ing Class, Historicizing Categories," 73-77; Alexander Saxton, "A Shield Against the Power of Industrial Capitalism," 77-80; Daniel Letwin, "Challenge to What? Challenge for Whom?" 80-90. In *Labor History* 41 (February): 63-90.

Tartt, Ruby Pickens. [1991] 2002. "Honey in the Rock": The Ruby Pickens Tartt Collection of Religious Folk Songs from Sumter County, Alabama [African American spirituals, poetry, folk

songs]. Edited and with preface, introduction, and bibliographic essays by Olivia and Jack Solomon. Rpt. ed. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 176 pp.

Tate, Linda. 2009. *Power in the Blood: A Family Narrative* [Cherokee-Appalachian family branch]. Series in Race, Ethnicity, and Gender in Appalachia. Athens: Ohio University Press. 229 pp.

Taylor, Arnold. 2008. Rose, a Woman of Colour: A Slave's Struggle for Freedom in the Courts of Kentucky [1839-1852; b. circa 1770s]. New York: iUniverse. 130 pp.

Taylor, Evelyn M. E. 1999. *Historical Digest of Jefferson County, West Virginia's African American Congregations, 1859-1994: With Selected Churches in Neighboring Berkeley County, West Virginia, Maryland, and Virginia.* Illustrations by Stephen Q. Luckett. Washington, D.C.: Middle Atlantic Regional Press. 264 pp.

Taylor, Jessica Lauren. 2012. "To Learn the Trade of a Potter': Apprenticeship, Conflict, and 'Deviance' in the Wachovian Tradition" [Moravians; N.C.]. *North Carolina Historical Review* 89, no. 2 (April): 126-154.

Taylor, Kathryn Trauth. 2011. "Naming Affrilachia: Toward Rhetorical Ecologies of Identity Performance in Appalachia." *Enculturation: A Journal of Rhetoric, Writing, and Culuture*, 21 June. 7200 words, with maps, video and sound clips. http://www.enculturation.net/naming-affrilachia.

Tedesco, Marie. 1996. "The Opposite Sides of Freedom: Slavery and Emancipation in Antebellum Tennessee." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 55 (Spring): 66-83.

Tedesco, Marie. 2001. "A Free Black Slave Owner in East Tennessee: The Strange Case of Adam Waterford" [Sullivan Co.]. In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 133-153. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Previously published under a different title in *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 55 (1996): 66-83.

Teuton, Chris. 2007. "Scary Stories: An Interview with Traditional Keetoowah/Cherokee Storyteller, Novelist, and Filmmaker Mr. Sequoyah Guess." *Mississippi Quarterly* 60, no. 1 (Winter): 151-177.

Teuton, Christopher B. 2007. "Interpreting Our World: Authority and the Written Word in Robert J. Conley's *Real People* Series." *MFS Modern Fiction Studies* 53, no. 3 (Fall): 544-568.

Teuton, Christopher B. 2012. *Cherokee Stories of the Turtle Island Liars' Club: Dakasi Elohi Anigagoga Junilawisdii (Turtle, Earth, the Liars, Meeting Place)*. Written by Christopher B. Teuton; told by Hastings Shade, Sammy Still, Sequoyah Guess, and Woody Hansen. Illustrations by America Meredith. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 252 pp.

Tewari, Meenu. 2005. "Nonlocal Forces in the Historical Evolution and Current Transformation of North Carolina's Furniture Industry" [skilled Mexican immigrants; High Point and Hickory,

N.C.]. In *The American South in a Global World*, ed. J. Peacock, H. Watson, and C. Matthews, 113-137. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Thom, Dark Rain, and James Alexander Thom. 2003. *Warrior Woman: A Novel*. New York: Ballantine. 450 pp. Upper Ohio Valley; historical fiction based on the life of Nonhelema, Shawnee woman chief, ca. 1720-ca. 1786.

Thomas, Mary. 2012. "Common Ground: August Wilson Center Exhibit Explores African-American Identity in the Appalachian Region" [Pittsburgh; Art Review]. *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*, 7 March, 1(C). 1,291 words. 46 artworks by 31 artists address the Affrilachian experience "through a variety of media including painting, sculpture, printmaking, ceramics, fiber, drawing and installation."

http://www.post-gazette.com/pg/12067/1214880-437.stm#ixzz1opc5BBEK.

Thompson, Charles D. Jr. 2011. "Documenting Migrants: An Interview with Charles D. Thompson" [online; multimedia]. *Southern Spaces*, 29 August 2011. Thompson "revisits the making of two documentaries that he co-produced: Brother Towns/Pueblos Hermanos (2010) and The Guestworker/Bienvenidos a Carolina del Norte (2007)." Sections: Introduction | Ag and Anthro | Documentary and its Limits | Creating Dialogue | POV and Reception | Foreign Policy and Local People | Globalization, Recession, and the Border | Storytelling and Policy | Recommended Resources. http://www.southernspaces.org/2011/documenting-migrants-interview-charles-d-thompson-jr.

Thompson, Deborah J., and Darrin Hacquard. 2009. "Region, Race, Representation: Observations from Interviews with African American Musicians in Appalachia." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 15, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 126-139. Issue of marginalization.

Thompson, Evelyn Scales. 2005. *Around Surry County* [N.C.; from 1800s slavery to 1950s; pictorial history]. Black America series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Thompson Jr., Charles D. 2005. "Raising Citizens: The Old German Baptist Brethren and Community-Based Farming in the Virginia Blue Ridge" [Franklin Co., Va.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 11, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 182-194.

Thompson, Sarah S. 1996. *Journey From Jerusalem: An Illustrated Introduction to Erie's African American History, 1795-1995* [northwest Pa.]. Erie, Pa.: Erie County Historical Society. 98 pp.

Thornton, J. Mills. 2002. Dividing Lines: Municipal Politics and the Struggle for Civil Rights in Montgomery, Birmingham, and Selma. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 733 pp.

Timberlake, Henry. 2007 [1765]. *The Memoirs of Lt. Henry Timberlake: The Story of a Soldier, Adventurer, and Emissary to the Cherokees, 1756-1765*. Cherokee, N.C.: Museum of the Cherokee Indian Press. 176 pp. Originally published: London: Printed for the author.

Tinnell, Shannon Colaianni. 2011. "Feast of the Seven Fishes" [Italian festival, Fairmont]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 4 (Winter): 56-59. Centuries-old, southern Italian Christmas Eve custom, consisting of a seafood meal. Sidebar recipe, "Stuffed Calamari."

Todish, Timothy J., Robert Griffing, and Denise L. Ritter. 2007. *The Narrative Art of Robert Griffing: The Journey Continues*. Text and introduction by Tim J. Todish; foreword by Fred Anderson; and editing by Denise L. Ritter. Gibsonia, Pa.: Paramount Press. 190 pp. Oversized art book with reproductions of Griffing's stunning paintings of 18th-century Native Americans and French and Indian War scenes in the Upper Ohio Valley.

Torres, John Albert. 2006. *The Cherokee Trail of Tears and the Forced March of a People* [juvenile audience]. The Wild History of the American West series. Berkeley Heights, N.J.: MyReportLinks.com Books. 128 pp.

Townsend, Russell G. 2002. "Curating Our Past: Museum Direction Driven by Tribal Perspectives" [Cherokee]. In *Southern Indians and Anthropologists: Culture, Politics, and Identity*, ed. L. Lefler and F. Gleach, 69-76. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 35. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Trotter, Joe W., Jr. 1996. "Black Miners in West Virginia: Class and Community Responses to Workplace Discrimination, 1920-1930." In *The United Mine Workers of America: A Model of Industrial Solidarity?*, ed. J. Laslett, 269-296. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Trotter, Joe William, Jr., and Eric Ledell Smith, ed. 1997. *African Americans in Pennsylvania: Shifting Historical Perspectives* [1684-1985; 19 essays and a literature review]. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press, and Harrisburg: Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission. 519 pp.

Trotter, Joe William, Jr. 1998. *River Jordan: African American Urban Life in the Ohio Valley* [Pittsburgh, Cincinnati, Louisville, and Evansville]. Ohio River Valley Series. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 224 pp.

Trotter, Joe William, Jr. 2001. "The Formation of Black Community in Southern West Virginia Coalfields." In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 284-301. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Previously published as chapter 2 in Joe William Trotter, Jr., *Coal, Class, and Color*, Urbana: Univ. of Illinois Press, 1990.

Trotter, Joe William, Jr. 2002. "Black Migration to Southern West Virginia." In *Transnational West Virginia: Ethnic Communities and Economic Change, 1840-1940*, ed. K. Fones-Wolf and R. Lewis, 136-159. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 1. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Trotter, Joe William, and Jared N. Day. 2010. *Race and Renaissance: African Americans in Pittsburgh since World War II*. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 328 pp. Contents:

War, politics, and the creation of the black community -- New migrations, Renaissance I, and the challenge to Jim Crow -- Pittsburgh's modern Black Freedom Movement -- In the shadows of Renaissance II -- Toward the new century: forging their own Renaissance.

Trotter, Joe William, Jr. 2012. "Introduction" [history of blacks in W. Va.]. In *History of the American Negro: West Virginia Edition*, by A. B. Caldwell, xi-xxiii. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. Originally published: Atlanta, Ga.: A. B. Caldwell Publishing Co., 1923.

Troutman, Phillip D. 2001. "A 'Sorrowful Cavalcade': Enslaved Migration through Appalachian Virginia" [1810s-1860]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 5: 23-45.

Tunagur, Usame, and Thomas R. Britt. 2007. "Business As Usual: Exploring the Other from Arabia to Appalachia" [analyzes two films, *The Sheik* (1921) and *Songcatcher* (2001)]. *Americana: The Journal of American Popular Culture, 1900-Present* 6, no. 2 (Fall): 4000 words. http://www.americanpopularculture.com/journal/articles/fall_2007/tunagur_britt.htm.

Turner, Bill. 2007. "Welcoming Walker's Pluck: Appalachian African American Arts and Letters" [Frank X Walker, ed.]. *Pluck: The Journal of Affrilachian Arts & Culture*, no. 2: 33-34.

Turner, George A. 2002. "The Lattimer Massacre: A Perspective from the Ethnic Community" [1897; anthracite region]. *Pennsylvania History* 69 (Winter): 11-30.

Turner, William H. 2006. "Both Ends of the Road: Making the Appalachian Connection" [Appalachian Studies and Black Studies: 2006 Appalachian Studies Association conference Keynote Address, Sinclair Community College, Dayton, Ohio, March 17]. *Appalachian Journal* 33, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 288-300.

Turner, William H. 2008. "This Side of the Mountain" [guest editorial]. *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 3 (Summer): 7-12. Special issue—"African-American Appalachia."

Turner, William H. 2011. "Affrilachia as 'Brand'." *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 4 (Fall): 27-30. Frank X Walker's "cobbling together of Africa and Appalachia"; and "Affrilachia as Geo-Political Concept."

Twiss, Pamela. 2004. "Ernest Rice McKinney: African American Appalachian, Social Worker, Radical Labor Organizer and Educator" [b. 1886, Malden, W. Va.; 1930s Pittsburgh organizer]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10 (Spring/Fall): 95-110.

Uhl, Lauren, and Tracy L. Coffing. 2003. *Pittsburgh's Strip District: Around the World in a Neighborhood*. Pittsburgh: Historical Society of Western Pennsylvania. 93 pp. "People from across the Northeast visit Pittsburgh's Strip District to stock up on fresh fruits, coffee, cheeses, and a big dose of local culture."

Utz, Karen R. 2006. "Goin' North: The African American Women of Sloss Quarters" [steel industry company housing, Birmingham, Ala.; 1880s-1940s]. In *Work, Family, and Faith: Rural Southern Women in the Twentieth Century*, ed. M. Walker and R. Sharpless, 229-256. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

Valadez, Gilbert. 2004. "Walking to the Dance: Teaching and Cross-Cultural Encounter" [graduate seminar, 2001, Southwestern Va.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10 (Spring/Fall): 152-166.

Vande Brake, Katherine. 2001. *How They Shine: Melungeon Characters in the Fiction of Appalachia*. Melungeons series, no. 3. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 298 pp.

Vande Brake, Katherine. 2009. *Through the Back Door: Melungeon Literacies and Twenty-First Century Technologies*. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 312 pp. Contents: Being Melungeon: a transcendent literacy | Definition and speculation: what "Melungeon" means and where they originated | Powerful ties that bind: a community created by shared experience | One way to tackle barriers: get help | Chester Leonard: going beyond the basic blueprint | Assessing the Vardy experiment: intervention in culture and sponsorship of literacy | A world depicted and displayed: Melungeon websites | Helen Campbell's site | Joanne Pezzullo's historical Melungeons: a pugnacious presence | The Melungeon Heritage Association website: a pleasing display | Two contemporary Melungeon rhetors: Jack Goins and Brent Kennedy | It was a wired neighborhood: one discussion thread on Melungeon-L | A view from outside.

VanDerBeets, Richard. 1994. *Held Captive by Indians: Selected Narratives, 1642-1836*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 374 pp.

Vann, Barry Aron. 2008. *In Search of Ulster-Scots Land: The Birth and Geotheological Imagings of a Transatlantic People, 1603-1703*. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 252 pp. Emigration and immigration.

Vann, Barry. 2004. *Rediscovering the South's Celtic Heritage* [Scots-Irish history]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 176 pp.

Vecchio, Diane C. 2012. "Making Their Way in the New South: Jewish Peddlers and Merhants in the South Carolina Up Country." *South Carolina Historical Magazine* 113 (April): 100-124.

Velazquez, Loida C. 1999. "Finding a Voice: Latinas in the South" [N.C., Tenn.]. In *Neither Separate Nor Equal: Women, Race, and Class in the South*, ed. B. Smith, 125-137. Women in the Political Economy series. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.

Vennum, Thomas, Jr. 1994. *American Indian Lacrosse: Little Brother of War*. Washington: Smithsonian Institution Press. 360 pp.

Vest, Jay Hansford C. 2009. "Crossing Paths: Intersections between Louis Michel and Monacan Oral Traditions" [Va.; 1701-1704]. *Native South* 2: 163-174.

Vick, R. Alfred. 2011. "Cherokee Adaptation to the Landscape of the West and Overcoming the Loss of Culturally Significant Plants." *American Indian Quarterly* 35, no. 3 (Summer): 394-417. Tables: Lost Species. "Many species were lost as a result of the Trail of Tears, but innovation and perseverance allowed many to be found again."

Villatoro, Marcos McPeek. 1998. "Latino Southerners: A New Form of 'Mestizaje'" [Blount Co., Ala.]. In *Cultural Diversity in the U.S. South: Anthropological Contributions to a Region in Transition*, ed. C. Hill and P. Beaver, 104-114. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 31. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Vivian, Daniel. 2011. "Interpreting the History of the Underground Railroad in Southwest Ohio: The John P. Parker House" [Ripley, Oh.]. *Ohio Valley History* 11, no. 3 (Fall): 65-77.

Waak, Patricia. 2005. *My Bones Are Red: A Spiritual Journey with a Triracial People in the Americas* [Perkins Family: Cherokee, African, British; migrated: Carolinas, Va., Tenn., Miss., La., Tex.]. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 158 pp.

Waalkes, Mary, and Donna Summerlin. 2007. "Flying Below the Radar: Activist, Paternalist, and Obstructionist Responses to the Civil Rights Movement in Three East Tennessee Communities" [1950s-60s Chattanooga, Cleveland, and Polk Co.]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 66, no. 3 (Fall): 270-293.

Wagner, Thomas E., and Phillip J. Obermiller. 2004. *African American Miners and Migrants: The Eastern Kentucky Social Club* [Harlan Co. roots: Benham, Lynch; annual reunions]. Afterword by William H. Turner. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 158 pp.

Walker, Frank X. 2000. Affrilachia: Poems by Frank X. Walker. Lexington, Ky.: Old Cove Press. 100 pp.

Walker, Frank X. 2006. *Black Box: Poems* [68 autobiographical poems]. Lexington, Ky.: Old Cove Press. 121 pp.

Walker, Frank X. 2009. "Learning to Hear Voices: A Conversation (Recorded at the Frank X Walker Literary Festival, Emory & Henry College, October 24, 2008)." Interview by Jim Minick. *The Iron Mountain Review* 25 (Spring): 28-34.

Walker, Frank X. 2009. Seven poems contributed for the "Frank X Walker" special issue, *Iron Mountain Review* 25 (Spring): 4-10.

Walker, Frank X. 2010. *Isaac Murphy: I Dedicate This Ride* [poems]. Lexington, Ky.: Old Cove Press. 66 pp. "In this richly imagined collection, Frank X Walker brings to life the mind and heart of legendary African-American jockey Isaac Burns Murphy (1861-1896)," three-time winner of the Kentucky Derby.

Walker, Frank X. 2011. "'Still Chasing These Words': A Conversation with Frank X Walker." Interview by Bruce Allen Dick and Forrest Gray Yerman. *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 4 (Summer): 408-422.

Walker, Melissa. 1998. "African Americans and TVA Reservoir Property Removal: Race in a New Deal Program" [east Tenn.]. *Agricultural History* 72 (Spring): 417-428.

Walker, Robert Sparks. [1931] 1993. *Torchlights to the Cherokees: The Brainerd Mission* [Rhea Co., Tenn.; 1816-1838; establ. by the Boston-based American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions]. Rpt. ed. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 339 pp. Originally published: New York: Macmillan.

Walker, Vanessa Siddle, with Ulysses Byas. 2009. *Hello Professor: A Black Principal and Professional Leadership in the Segregated South*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 293 pp. Byas served as a black school principal in 1950s-60s Gainesville, Ga.

Walker, Willard. 2002. "The Twentieth-Century Conservators of the Cherokee Sacred Formulas" [initially collected 1887-88, Big Cove, N.C.]. In *Southern Indians and Anthropologists: Culture, Politics, and Identity*, ed. L. Lefler and F. Gleach, 107-114. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 35. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Ward, Martina, Rose Williams, and Kyle Tharp. 2012. "Growing Tennessee: Rural Youth Cultivate a Common Group" [photo essay; Latino children]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 21-25. The Growing Tennessee Youth Initiative was developed in 2005 "to provide outreach to the older siblings of the children enrolled in Migrant and Seasonal Head Start."

Ward, Matthew C. 2001. "Redeeming the Captives: Pennsylvania Captives among the Ohio Indians, 1755-1765" [Ohio Valley]. *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 125 (July): 161-189.

Ward, Matthew C. 2006. "'The Indians Our Real Friends': The British Army and the Ohio Indians, 1758-1772" [Gen. Forbes, Fort Pitt, Pa.]. Chap. 4 in *The Boundaries between Us: Natives and Newcomers along the Frontiers of the Old Northwest Territory, 1750-1850*, ed. D. Barr, 66-86. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press.

Warren, Stephen. 2005. *The Shawnees and Their Neighbors, 1795-1870*. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 217 pp.

Watson, Harry L. 2008. "First Peoples." Special issue, *Southern Cultures* 14, no. 4 (Winter): 1-150. Contents: Front Porch / Watson, Harry L. -- "The Obituary of Nations": Ethnic Cleansing, Memory, and the Origins of the Old South / James Taylor Carson -- Mississippi Choctaws and Racial Politics / Katherine M. B. Osburn -- "When Carolina Indians Went on the Warpath": The Media, the Klan, and the Lumbees of North Carolina / Christopher Arris Oakley -- Showdown at Hayes Pond: Testimonials from the *Fayetteville Observer*'s Fiftieth Anniversary Commemoration of the Klan-Lumbee Clash / James Jones -- Remembering Cherokee Removal

in Civil Rights—Era Georgia / Andrew Denson -- Glimpses of a Nearby Nation: The Making of Catawba Pottery with Georgia Harris and Edith Harris Brown / Lorene B. Harris, Thomas J. Blumer, and Brett H. Riggs -- The Indian Sports Mascot Meets Noble Savage and Noble Savage Confronts Indian Mascot / Leanne Howe -- Mother Corn and the Dixie Pig: Native Food in the Native South / Rayna Green -- "Tiger Tiger": Miccosukee Rock 'n' Roll / Patsy West -- The Life of the Tiger Brothers / Lee Tiger -- When Heritage Is Hip / Larry J. Griffin.

Webb, James H. 2004. *Born Fighting: How the Scots-Irish Shaped America*. New York: Broadway Books. 369 pp.

Webb, Michael D. 1999. "'God Bless You All -- I Am Innocent': Sheriff Joseph F. Shipp, Chattanooga, Tennessee, and the Lynching of Ed Johnson" [1906]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 58 (Summer): 156-179.

Weiner, Deborah, and Maryanne Reed. 1996. "Contradiction, Compromise & Commitment: The Jews of Beckley, West Virginia." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 13 (Winter): 3-6.

Weiner, Deborah R. 1995. "The Jews of Clarksburg: Community Adaptation and Survival, 1900-60." *West Virginia History* 54: 59-77.

Weiner, Deborah R. 1998. "Middlemen of the Coalfields: The Role of Jews in the Economy of Southern West Virginia Coal Towns, 1890-1950." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 4 (Spring): 29-56.

Weiner, Deborah R. 1999. "The Jews of Keystone: Life in a Multicultural Boomtown" [W. Va.; 1890-1940]. *Southern Jewish History* 2: 1-23.

Weiner, Deborah R. 2002. "From Shtetl to Coalfield: The Migration of East European Jews to Southern West Virginia." In *Transnational West Virginia: Ethnic Communities and Economic Change*, *1840-1940*, ed. K. Fones-Wolf and R. Lewis, 72-111. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 1. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Weiner, Deborah R. 2005. "Jewish Women in the Central Appalachian Coalfields, 1890-1960: From Breadwinners to Community Builders." In *Beyond Hill and Hollow: Original Readings in Appalachian Women's Studies*, ed. E. Englehardt, 25-49. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Weiner, Deborah R. 2006. "Jewish Women in the Central Appalachian Coal Fields, 1880-1960: From Breadwinners to Community Builders." In *Dixie Diaspora: An Anthology of Southern Jewish History*, ed. M. Bauman, 143-164. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Weiner, Deborah R. 2006. *Coalfield Jews: An Appalachian History* [W. Va., Ky.]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 234 pp.

Weiner, Deborah. 2001. "Jewish Women in the Central Appalachian Coal Fields, 1890-1960: From Breadwinners to Community Builders" [W. Va.]. *American Jewish Archives Journal* 52 no. 1-2 (2000): 10-33.

Weiner, Deborah. 2009. "Scrip Was a Way of Life': Company Stores, Jewish Merchants, and the Coalfield Retail Economy." In *Culture, Class, and Politics in Modern Appalachia: Essays in Honor of Ronald L. Lewis*, ed. J. Egolf, K. Fones-Wolf, and L. Martin, 31-55. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Weisberger, William. 2001. "The Revolutionary Careers of Barnard and Michael Gratz" [Jewish American immigrants whose financial empire helped settle the wilderness]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 84 (Fall): 16-24.

Weissach, Lee Shai. 2006. "East European Immigrants and the Image of Jews in the Small-Town South" [tables]. In *Dixie Diaspora: An Anthology of Southern Jewish History*, ed. M. Bauman, 108-142. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Weissbach, Lee Shai. 2000. "Small Town Jewish Life & the Pennsylvania Pattern." Western Pennsylvania History 83 (Spring): 36-53.

Wellenreuther, Hermann, and Carola Wessel, ed. 2005. *The Moravian Mission Diaries of David Zeisberger*, 1772-1781 [Delaware Nation; Upper Ohio Valley]. Translated by Julie Tomberlin Weber. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 666 pp. Translation of: *Herrnhuter Indianermission in der Amerikanischen Revolution* (Germany: Akademie Verlag, 1995).

Wells, Paul F. 2003. "Fiddling As an Avenue of Black-White Musical Interchange" [history of black influences]. *Black Music Research Journal* 23, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 135-147.

Wesson, Cameron B. 2008. *Households and Hegemony: Early Creek Prestige Goods, Symbolic Capital, and Social Power*. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 228 pp. Upper Creeks of the Coosa and Tallapoosa Rivers (present day Alabama), from 1600 to 1800's removal.

West, Carroll Van, ed. 2002. *Trial and Triumph: Essays in Tennessee's African American History* [22 chapters; 1780 to Civil Rights era]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 432 pp.

West, Peter. 2010. "Trying the Dark: Mammoth Cave and the Racial Imagination, 1839-1869" [Ky.; slavery backdrop; online essay]. *Southern Spaces*, 9 February 2010. "...a popular tourist destination...The cave also functioned during these years as a dynamic symbol in the national imagination, appearing in travel books, lyric poems, private diaries, love letters, gothic novels, and even a moving panorama." Sections: Introduction | The Cave as Gothic Theater | "Trying the Dark" | The Staging of White Masculinity | The Literary Invention of Mammoth Cave | Conclusion | Notes | Recommended Resources. Interactive illustrations, map, and a link to the U.S. National Park Service website, "Black History at Mammoth Cave."

http://www.southernspaces.org/2010/trying-dark-mammoth-cave-and-racial-imagination-1839-1869.

West, Stephen A. 2012. "'A Hot Municipal Contest': Prohibition and Black Politics in Greenville, South Carolina, after Reconstruction." *Journal of the Gilded Age & Progressive Era* 11, no. 4 (October): 519-551.

White, Michael C. 2007. *Soul Catcher* [historical fiction; fugitive slave]. New York: William Morrow. 418 pp. "Struggling to forget a war-marked past...slave tracker Augustus Cain is hired by a plantation owner to retrieve a runaway slave named Rosetta."

Whiteness and Racialization in Appalachia [10 articles]. 2004. Edited by Dwight B. Billings, Edwina Pendarvis, and Mary Kay Thomas. Special issue, *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10 (Spring/Fall): 1-228.

Whitlock, Rosemary. 2008. *The Monacan Indian Nation of Virginia: The Drums of Life* [27 interviews]. Contemporary American Indian Studies series. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 221 pp. Amherst County, Va., race relations.

Wildsmith, Dana S. 2003. "ESL, PM, Class Code 9318" [English language class for immigrants, Winder, Ga.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 20, no. 2-3 (Summer/Winter): 22-24.

Wilkinson, Christopher. 2003. "Hot and Sweet: Big Band Music in Black West Virginia before the Swing Era." *American Music* 21 (Summer): 159-179.

Wilkinson, Christopher. 2007. "Big-Band Jazz in Black West Virginia: 1930-1942" [maps, tables]. West Virginia History, n.s. 1, no. 1 (Spring): 23-53.

Wilkinson, Christopher. 2012. *Big Band Jazz in Black West Virginia, 1930-1942*. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 197 pp. "A study of how jazz greats dazzled and enlivened coal towns during the Great Depression."

Wilkinson, Crystal E. 2000. *Blackberries, Blackberries* [fiction; Ky.; 18 character sketches of black women; author is a founding member of Affrilachian Poets]. London, England: Toby Press. 192 pp.

Wilkinson, Crystal E. [1999] 2001. "On Being 'Country': One Affrilachian Woman's Return Home." In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 184-186. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Wilkinson, Crystal E. 2002. *Water Street* [stories; Lincoln Co., Ky.]. London, England: Toby Press. 174 pp.

Wilkinson, Crystal. 2006. "An Interview" [Ky. author of *Blackberries*, *Blackberries* (2000), and *Water Street* (2002)]. Interview by Morris A. Grubbs. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 2 (Spring): 13-23.

Wilkinson, Crystal. 2006. "Same Blood, Same Bone, Same Blessing" [chapter excerpt from *Opulence*, a novel in progress]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 2 (Spring): 27-36.

Wilkinson, Crystal. 2012. "Grooves in the Record: An Interview with Crystal Wilkinson" [b. 1962; Affrilachian Poet]. By Ashley Brewer, Donna Corriher, Meredith Doster, Jesse Edgerton, Hannah Furgiuele, Coty Hogue, Rebecca Jones, Blaze Pappas, Shannon Perry, with Patricia D. Beaver. *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 1-2 (Fall 2011/Winter 2012): 108-125. Interview conducted November, 2010.

Williams, David. 2001. "Georgia's Forgotten Miners: African Americans and the Georgia Gold Rush of 1829" [Dahlonega, Lumpkin Co.]. In *Appalachians and Race: The Mountain South from Slavery to Segregation*, ed. John Inscoe, 40-49. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Previously published, *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 75 (1991): 76-90.

Williams, David. [1993] 2003. *The Georgia Gold Rush: Twenty-Niners, Cherokees, and Gold Fever*. Rpt. ed. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 192 pp.

Williams, Kenneth H., and James Russell Harris, comp. 2005. "Kentucky in 1860: A Statistical Overview" [population and voting statistics by region; number of slaves, owners, and free blacks]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 103, no. 4: 743-764.

Williams, Richard G. 2006. *Stonewall Jackson: The Black Man's Friend*. Nashville, Tenn.: Cumberland House. 223 pp. "...examines a paradox of Jackson's life: his conversion to Christianity was encouraged by Southern slaves. That faith would one day lead Jackson to minister to other slaves through his Sunday school class," his "Colored Sabbath School."

Willis, Rachel A. 2005. "Voices of Southern Mill Workers: Responses to Border Crossers in American Factories and Jobs Crossing Borders" [Carolina textile mills]. In *The American South in a Global World*, ed. J. Peacock, H. Watson, and C. Matthews, 138-151. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Willis, William S., Jr. [1971, 1963] 2005. "Divide and Rule: Red, White, and Black in the Southeast" [Whites "playing Indians and Negroes against each other"]. In *Culture, Ethnicity, and Justice in the South: The Southern Anthropological Society, 1968-1971*, 553-569. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. (Reprint, from *Proceedings No. 5. Red, White, and Black: Symposium on Indians in the Old South*, ed. C. Hudson (1971), 99-115; Reprinted, from *The Journal of Negro History* 48, no. 3 (July, 1963): 157-176).

Wilson, Darlene, and Patricia D. Beaver. 1999. "Transgressions in Race and Place: The Ubiquitous Native Grandmother in America's Cultural Memory" [Melungeon history]. In *Neither Separate Nor Equal: Women, Race, and Class in the South*, ed. B. Smith, 34-56. Women in the Political Economy series. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.

Winders, Jamie. 2009. "Placing Latino Migration and Migrant Experiences in the U.S. South: The Complexities of Regional and Local Trends." Chap. 8 in *Global Connections & Local Receptions: New Latino Immigration to the Southeastern United States*, ed. F. Ansley and J. Shefner, 223-244. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Winkler, Wayne. 2004. Walking Toward the Sunset: The Melungeons of Appalachia [history]. Melungeons series. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 314 pp.

Winkler, Wayne. 2007. "Digging for Heritage: Lisa Alther's Search for Her Melungeon Roots." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 40-41.

Winkler, Wayne. 2010. "Mahala Mullins: The Facts Behind a Tennessee Folk Legend" [1824-1898, Newman's Ridge, Hancock Co.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 51-54. Sensationalized Melungeon moonshiner reputed, by exaggerated accounts, to weigh 800 pounds.

Winkler, Wayne. 2012. "Juan Chiu's 'Ritmo Latino" ["Latin Rhythm"; WETS-FM]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 28, no. 1 (Summer): 58-60. Bilingual radio program broadcasts Sunday evening throughout east Tennessee, southwest Virginia, and western North Carolina.

Wood, Douglas McClure. 2008. "'I Have Now Made a Path to Virginia': Outacite Ostenaco and the Cherokee-Virginia Alliance in the French and Indian War" [1755-1758]. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 2, no. 2 (Fall): 31-60.

Wood, Karenne, ed. 2007. *The Virginia Indian Heritage Trail* [eight tribes briefly profiled; historic sites]. Charlottesville: Virginia Foundation for the Humanities. 80 pp.

Wood, Peter H. 2005. "George Washington, Dragging Canoe, and Southeastern Indian Resistance" [Cherokee country]. Chap. 10 in *George Washington's South*, ed. T. Harvey and G. O'Brien, 259-277. Gainesville: University Press of Florida.

Woodrum, Robert H. 2007. "Everybody Was Black Down There": Race and Industrial Change in the Alabama Coalfields [1930-2003; UMWA's efforts and failings; Birmingham]. Politics and Culture in the Twentieth-Century South. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 304 pp.

Woods, Lee Ann. 2003. "Drawing the Stories of Two Cultures" [African American sketch artist David White of Oak Ridge, Tenn.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Spring): 52-55.

Woodward, Susan L., and Jerry N. McDonald. 2002. *Indian Mounds of the Middle Ohio Valley:* A Guide to Mounds and Earthworks of the Adena, Hopewell, Cole, and Fort Ancient People. 2nd ed. Blacksburg, Va.: McDonald & Woodward; distributed by University of Nebraska Press. 304 pp.

Woolfolk, Odessa. 2006. "From Confrontation to Reconciliation, From Bombing to Bricks to Brotherhood: The Story of the Birmingham Civil Rights Institute." Interview by Fred Sauceman. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 38-43.

Worth, John E. 2002. "Spanish Missions and the Persistence of Chiefly Power" ["frontier" Creeks]. In *The Transformation of the Southeastern Indians*, *1540-1760*, ed. R. Ethridge and C. Hudson, 39-64. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi.

Wray, Matt. 2006. *Not Quite White: White Trash and the Boundaries of Whiteness*. Durham, N.C.: Duke University Press. 213 pp. Contents: White trash as social difference: groups, boundaries, and inequalities -- Lubbers, crackers, and poor white trash: borders and boundaries in the colonies and the early republic -- Imagining poor whites in the antebellum South: abolitionist and pro-slavery fictions -- "Three generations of imbeciles are enough": American eugenics and poor white trash -- "The disease of laziness": crackers, poor whites, and hookworm crusaders in the new South -- Limning the boundaries of whiteness.

Wright, Amos J. 2003. *Historic Indian Towns in Alabama*, 1540-1838 [details 398 ancient towns, alphabetically]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 239 pp.

Wright, Todd, and John Higby. 2003. "Appalachian Jazz: Some Preliminary Notes." *Black Music Research Journal* 23, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 53-65.

Yarbrough, Fay A. 2008. *Race and the Cherokee Nation: Sovereignty in the Nineteenth Century.* Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press. 184 pp.

Yardley, Robert. 2005. "The Last Medicine Man in Cherokee." *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 3, no. 1 (Winter): nonfiction section, 4300 words. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-1/non-fiction/Yardley%20.htm.

Yates, Donald N., and Elizabeth C. Hirschman. 2010. "Toward a Genetic Profile of Melungeons in Southern Appalachia." *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 1 (Fall): 92-111. "...the top population matches...showed notable levels of Jewish..., Middle Eastern, Native American, Sub-Saharan African, and Iberian ancestry." Figures; plus profiles of other Appalachian ethnic groups.

Yates, Donald N. 2012. Old World Roots of the Cherokee: How DNA, Ancient Alphabets and Religion Explain the Origins of America's Largest Indian Nation. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 207 pp. "...uncovers the Jewish and Eastern Mediterranean ancestry of the Cherokee and reveals that they originally spoke Greek before adopting the Iroquoian language of their Haudenosaunee allies."

Yeatts, Jason M. 2011. "'That We May <u>Think Right</u>, Vote <u>Right</u>, and Do <u>Right</u>': Knoxville's Black Community, 1865-1867." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 82, (2010): 76-100. Freedman's Mission of the United Presbyterian Church.

Young, Neely. 2011. *Ripe for Emancipation: Rockbridge and Southern Antislavery from Revolution to Civil War*. Buena Vista, Va.: Mariner Publishing. 221 pp. "This tradition of antislavery sentiment thrived most in the Appalachian regions of western Virginia, western North Carolina, eastern Tennessee, and Kentucky. One of the centers...was Rockbridge County, Virginia."

Youngdeer, Robert S. 2009. "Stickball in My Youth" [memoir; 1930s Cherokee Qualla Boundary, N.C.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 4 (Fall): 71-73.

Youngdeer, Robert S. 2012. *The Memoirs of Robert Youngdeer: Marine, Chief & Proud American*. Cherokee, N.C.: Museum of the Cherokee Indian Press. 464 pp. Born 1922, Youngdeer served as Principal Chief of the Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians, 1983-1987.

Zeisberger, David. 2005. *The Moravian Mission Diaries of David Zeisberger*, 1771-1781 [Upper Ohio Valley]. Edited by Hermann Wellenreuther and Carola Wessel. Translated by Julie Tomberlin. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 666 pp.

Zellar, Gary. 2007. *African Creeks: Estelvste and the Creek Nation* [Ga.]. Race and Culture in the American West, vol. 1. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press. 343 pp.

Zogry, Michael J. 2010. *Anetso, the Cherokee Ball Game: At the Center of Ceremony and Identity* [Eastern Band of Cherokees]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 318 pp.

Zolten, Jerry. 2003. "Movin' the Mountains: An Overview of Rhythm and Blues and Its Presence in Appalachia." *Black Music Research Journal* 23, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 67-89.

Zuniga, Victor, and Ruben Hernandez-Leon. 2001. "A New Destination for an Old Migration: Origins, Trajectories, and Labor Market Incorporation of Latinos in Dalton, Georgia." In *Latino Workers in the Contemporary South*, ed. A. D. Murphy, C. Blanchard, and J. A. Hill, 126-135. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 34. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

FOLKLORE

Legends, ghosts and witches, superstitions, storytelling and jack tales, rhymes and riddles

Absher, R. G. 2009. *Ghosts of the Yadkin Valley* [N.C.]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 127 pp. Tales and the "history behind the haunts."

Adkins, Mari, ed. 2009. *Harlan County Horrors* [fiction]. Lexington, Ky.: Apex. 178 pp. Twelve separately authored tales from Kentucky coal country, by the following authors: Debbie Kuhn, Earl P. Dean, Geoffrey Girard, Jason Sizemore, Jeremy C. Shipp, Maurice Broaddus, Robby Sparks, Ronald Kelly, Stephanie Lenz, Steven L. Shrewsbury, TL Trevaskis, Alethea Kontis, and Preston Halcomb.

Akers, Donna Gayle. 2005. *Legends, Stories and Ghostly Tales of Abingdon and Washington County, Virginia*. Boone, N.C.: Laurel Publishing. 116 pp.

Anderson, Glen Muncy, and Jane Muncy Fugate, narrators; Introduction by Carl Lindahl. 2001. "Two Versions of 'Rawhead and Bloodybones' from the Farmer-Muncy Family" [Ky.; 1997 and 2000]. *Journal of Folklore Research* 38 (January-August): 55-67.

Archie Green (1917-2009). 2009. *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 31, no. 1-2 (Winter-Spring): 11-12. Brief biography and tribute.

Austin, Sherry. 2001. *Mariah of the Spirits: And Other Southern Ghost Stories* [14 tales]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 181 pp.

Baker, Amy. 2002. "Mothman: Believe It or Not" [legendary creature; 1966 sightings; map]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 8: 51-53.

Baker, Amy. 2002. "The Flatwoods Monster Goes to College" [Dr. Judy Byers, West Virginia Folklife Center, Fairmont State College]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Fall): 62-63.

Ball, Donald B. 2001. "Knoxville Folklore Miscellany" [Knox Co., Tenn.; summarizes 1975 field observations relating to folk life, expression, architecture, and death]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 60 (no.1): 1-13.

Ballad of Frankie Silver: Reflections On a Murder. 2000. Special issue, *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 47 (Winter/Spring): 1-76. Editor's foreword by Karen Baldwin, 1-4.

Ballard, H. Byron. 2012. *Staubs and Ditchwater: A Friendly and Useful Introduction to Hillfolks' Hoodoo*. Asheville, N.C.: Silver Rings Press. 122 pp. "This simple system of folk magic [Wiccan] has come down to modern Southern culture through the immigrants and natives who called these hills home."

Barden, Thomas E., ed. 1991. *Virginia Folk Legends*. Publications of the American Folklore Society, New Series. Charlottesville: University Press of Virginia. 347 pp. Gathered between 1937 and 1942 by the field workers of the Virginia Writers Project of the WPA. 150 legends arranged under the following topics: Animals | Beginnings | The Civil War and Emancipation | Conjure and Witchcraft | Ghosts | Haunted Houses | Indians | Legendary People (from the African American files) | Legendary People (from the Anglo-American files) | Murder and Violence | Place-Names | Simon Kenton | Spirit Dogs | Supernatural Events | Treasure | Unusual Events. Appendices index: collectors, informants, counties, and places.

Barefoot, Daniel W. 2002. *Haints of the Hills* [ghost tales from 28 Western N.C. counties]. North Carolina's Haunted Hundred [counties], vol. 3. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 130 pp.

Barefoot, Daniel W. 2004. *Haunted Halls of Ivy: Ghosts of Southern Colleges and Universities* [39 stories from as many schools]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 193 pp.

Barker, Gray. [1970] 2008. *The Silver Bridge: The Classic Mothman Tale*. 2nd ed. Seattle, Wash.: Metadisc Books. 151 pp. Silver Bridge collapse, 1967, Point Pleasant, W. Va. "...the first book ever written on the mysterious Mothman creature....UFOlogist...Barker became nationally famous for his seminal book They Knew Too Much About Flying Saucers, which set the standard for reportage of the infamous Men In Black."

Barker, Gray. [1983] 2012. *Men in Black: The Secret Terror* [W. Va., Ohio]. Seattle, Wash.: Metadisc Books. 219 pp. "Barker was the first researcher to coin the term 'Men in Black' in the 1950s....This special 2012 edition features new introductions by noted paranormal researchers Andy Colvin, Adam Gorightly, Allen Greenfield, and Nick Redfern, as well as extended original passages from legendary ufologists John Keel [*The Mothman Prophecies*, 1975] and Jim Moseley."

Blackmarr, Amy, with R. Brian Keith, psychic. 2006. *Dahlonega Haunts: Ghostly Adventures in a Georgia Mountain Town*. Tifton, Ga.: Willacoochee Pub. Co. 139 pp.

Blythe, Hal, and Charlie Sweet. 2001. *Bloody Ground: Stories of Mystery and Intrigue from Kentucky*. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 300 pp.

Bottles, Rich, and Gary Lee Vincent, ed. 2011. *The Big Book of Bizarro* [stories]. Bridgeport, W. Va.: Burning Bulb Publishing. 512 pp. Fifty "weird tales": horror and erotica.

Bottles, Rich. 2011. *Hellhole West Virginia: a.k.a. – Almost Hell West Virginia* [fiction: vampires, zombies, deviant sex]. Bridgeport, W. Va.: Burning Bulb Publishing. 330 pp.

Brake, Sherri. 2012. *The Haunted History of the West Virginia Penitentiary: Afterlife With No Parole* [built 1866, Moundsville]. [No location]: Raven Rock. 618 pp. 100 interviews with ghost hunters and investigators; legacy of "998 murders and suicides combined with 85 hangings and 9 electrocutions."

Bronner, Simon J. 1996. *Popularizing Pennsylvania: Henry W. Shoemaker and the Progressive Uses of Folklore and History* [folklorist and story collector; Central and Western Pa.; 1910s to 1950s]. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Brown, Alan. 2006. *Ghost Hunters of the South*. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 393 pp. Profiles 44 ghost hunting groups across twelve southern states (not including W. Va.).

Brown, Leona G. 1998. "The Ghosts of Stretcher's Neck" [Fayette Co.; CSX railroad tunnel]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Fall): 64-67.

Brown, Roberta Simpson, Lonnie E. Brown. 2010. *Spookiest Stories Ever: Four Seasons of Kentucky Ghosts*. Foreword by Elizabeth Tucker. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 259 pp. Dozens of stories told from memory, gathered from friends and family.

Brown-Hudson Folklore Award. 1998. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 45 (Summer-Fall): 124-127. N.C. state folklore society's highest honor; list of winners, 1971-1996.

Brunvand, Jan H. 2005. "Nostalgia Ain't What it Used to Be: The Case of 'Grandma's Washday" [pioneer-era numbered steps for doing kettle-washing laundry in the backyard: modernized]. *Overland Review: The Journal of the Mid-America Folklore Society* 32, no. 1-2: 7-32.

Bullard, Tim. 2011. *Haunted Watauga County, North Carolina*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 124 pp. Twenty-one paranormal experiences.

Burchill, James V., and Linda J. Crider. 2002. *Specters and Spirits of the Appalachian Foothills* [63 haunted tales and legends]. Birmingham, Ala.: Rutledge Hill Press. 224 pp.

Burchill, James V., Linda J. Crider, and Peggy Kendrick, ed. 1997. *The Cold, Cold Hand: More Ghosts and Haunts From the Appalachian Foothills* [55 ghostly tales]. Nashville: Rutledge Hill Press. 191 pp.

Burns, Sean. 2011. Archie Green: The Making of a Working-Class Hero. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 190 pp. "...celebrates one of the most revered folklorists and labor historians of the twentieth century. Devoted to understanding the diverse cultural customs of working people, Archie Green (1917-2009) tirelessly documented these traditions and educated the public about the place of workers' culture and music in American life."

Byers, Judy P. 2008. "A Classification Index of *Witches, Ghosts, and Signs*" [and motif index, of Gainer's collected lore]. Appendix in *Witches, Ghosts, and Signs: Folklore of the Southern Appalachians*, comp. Patrick W. Gainer, 1-18. 2nd ed. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Byers, Judy P., John H. Randolph, and Noel W. Tenney. 1999. *In the Mountain State: A West Virginia Folklore and Cultural Studies Curriculum* [ten lesson plans covering: customs, material

culture, language, sense of place, local history, nature lore, oral literature, folk arts, folk music, and written literature]. Charleston: West Virginia Humanities Council. 200 pp., approx.

Campbell, Marie. [1958] 2000. *Tales from the Cloud Walking Country* [78 Appalachian folktales]. Illustrated by Clare Leighton. Rpt. ed. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 272 pp. Originally published: Bloomington: Indiana University Press.

Carden, Gary. 2012. "Appalachian Bestiary: Wondrous and Fearsome Creatures of the Southern Wild." *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 59, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 60-92. Definitions for 30 creatures such as Belled Buzzard, Milk Snake and Uktena, plus four-page bibliography.

Casstevens, Frances Harding. 2007. *Ghosts and Their Haunts: The Legends and Lore of the Yadkin River Valley* [N.C.]. 2nd ed. Charlotte, N.C.: Catawba Publishing Co. 158 pp.

Chesky, Anne E. 2009. "Orville Hicks in Two Books: A Review Essay." *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 56, no. 1 (Spring-Summer): 41-48. Titles reviewed: *Jack Tales and Mountain Yarns as Told by Orville Hicks* (2009), and *Orville Hicks: Mountain Stories, Mountain Roots* (2005), both books published: Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers.

Clark, Billy C. 2007. *To Find a Birdsong* ["wise old muskrat," deluge legend; Weatherford Award nominee]. Illustrations by Elizabeth Ellison. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 97 pp.

Clines, Francis X. 2001. "In Search of the Old Masters of the Mountains" [Gerry Milnes of the Augusta Heritage Center, W. Va.]. *New York Times*, 18 December, 16(A).

Coleman, Christopher K. 2011. *Ghosts and Haunts of Tennessee* [28 tales and legends from East Tenn. and the Smokies, Cumberland Valley and Nashville, West Tenn. and Memphis]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 187 pp.

Coleman, Loren. 2002. *Mothman and Other Curious Encounters* [WV supernatural sightings; bibliography]. New York: Paraview Press. 205 pp.

Crandall, David. 2000. "Jack and the Signifying Machines" [new Jack tales evolve; rhizomatic traditions]. *Appalachian Heritage* 28 (Winter): 29-41.

Culp, Martha Street. 2007. "Cousin Wash Garner: An Appalachian Folktale" [North Ga. story telling]. *Georgia Historical Quarterly* 91, no. 2 (Summer): 206-216.

Davis, Diane. 2001. "Rhoda Ward" [18th century, hanged witch's curse on Simpson Creek Baptist church endures]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 6: 31-34.

Davis, Donald. [1992] 1997. *Southern Jack Tales* [13 tales]. Little Rock: August House. 217 pp. Originally published as *Jack Always Seeks His Fortune*.

Deaton, Jerry. 2011. *Appalachian Ghost Stories: Tales from Bloody Breathitt* [Breathitt Co., Ky.]. Prestonsburg, Ky: Williams Printing Co. 158 pp. "...16 Eastern Kentucky ghost stories told in authentic mountain dialect."

Deitz, J. Dennis, ed. 2003. *The Greenbrier Ghost III: Featuring Stories about the Braxton County Green Monster* [46 stories]. South Charleston, W. Va.: Mountain Memories Books. 109 pp.

DeSpain, Pleasant. 1995. *Strongheart Jack & the Beanstalk* [children's story]. Illustrated by Joe Shlichta. Little Rock, Ark.: August House LittleFolk. 30 pp. "In this version of the classic tale, Jack climbs the magic beanstalk with a wise cat who helps him kill the giant, rescue his true love, and regain his father's fortune."

Dewalt, Robert. 2012. "Sut Lovingood and the Germans" [German Tennesseans]. *Mississippi Quarterly* 65, no. 4 (Fall): 491-515.

Ebel, Julia Taylor. 2005. *Orville Hicks: Mountain Stories, Mountain Roots: As told to Julia Taylor Ebel* [biography (b. 1951); storyteller and folklorist cousin of Ray Hicks (1922-2003)]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 151 pp.

Feather, Carl E. 2001. "Harpers Ferry Ghost Walk" [NPS volunteer guide Shirley Dougherty]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Fall): 60-65.

Feather, Carl E. 2011. "Harper Ferry's Haunted Cottage." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 3 (Fall): 68-69. Paranormal museum and training site.

Feschino, Frank C., Jr. [2004] 2012. *The Braxton County Monster: The Cover-Up of the Flatwoods Monster Revealed* [W. Va.; 1952 siting; UFO/alien encounter]. Rev. ed. Morrisville, N.C.: Lulu Enterprises. 318 pp. Originally published: Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press.

Fine, Elizabeth C. 1999. "Lazy Jack': Coding and Contextualizing Resistance in Appalachian Women's Narratives." *NWSA Journal: A Publication of the National Women's Studies Association* 11 (Fall): 112-137.

Four Beech Mountain Jack Tales. [1978] 2002. Edited by Thomas McGowan. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 49 (Fall/Winter): 69-115. Reprinted from vol. 26, no. 2. Includes the following: Marshall Ward: "An Introduction to a Jack Tale," "Jack and the Heifer Hide," "Cat 'n Mouse" (collected 1944); Ray Hicks: "Jack and the Three Steers" (collected 1963), "Whickity-Whack" (collected 1973-74).

Frankie Silver — A Full Text of the Ballad, from Bobbie McMillon. 2000. North Carolina Folklore Journal 47 (Winter/Spring): 5-7.

French, Vivian. 1995. *Lazy Jack* [children's story]. Illustrated by Russell Ayto. Cambridge, Mass.: Candlewick Press. 32 pp. "A retelling of the misadventures of Lazy Jack who can never do anything right, but people find his mishaps so funny that they employ him anyway."

Fugate, Jane Muncy, narrator, and Carl Lindahl, introd. 2001. "Two Tellings of 'Merrywise': 1949 and 2000" [Ky.]. *Journal of Folklore Research* 38 (January-August): 39-54. Audio-video clips: http://www.indiana.edu/~jofr/multimedia.html.

Fulton, Marge. 2010. *The Holler: Twisted Tales from Appalachia* [Ky.]. Louisville, Ky.: BlackWyrm. 87 pp. Twenty four weird/horror vignettes.

Hatcher, Brian J., ed. 2010. *Mountain Magic: Spellbinding Tales of Appalachia*. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 114 pp. Short stories, poems, and anecdotes by 13 contributors.

Gainer, Patrick W., comp. [1975] 2008. *Witches, Ghosts, and Signs: Folklore of the Southern Appalachians*. 2nd ed., with a preface and motif index by Judy Prozillo Byers. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 216 pp. Chapters: Speech of the mountaineers / Traditional activities and customs / Ghostlore / Folk cures / Nature lore and rules for farming / Superstitions / Witchcraft.

Gavenda, Walter, and Michael T. Shoemaker. 2001. *A Guide to Haunted West Virginia*. Glen Ferris, W. Va.: Peter's Creek Publishing. 278 pp.

Ghostly and Ghastly: Legends from West Virginia [36 tales]. 2011. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 12: 10-29. Part One contains tales gathered by Ruth Ann Musick with her students, 1950s-1970s. Part Two contains tales gathered by Judy Byers and her students, 2010.

Gilbert, E. Reid. 2009. Trickster Jack [ten jack tales]. Tucson, Ariz.: Wheatmark. 102 pp.

Graham, Patricia H., and Verna Crowe Humphrey. 2011. *Hillbilly Tales from the Smoky Mountains: And Other Homespun Remedies, Proverbs, and Poetry*. Montgomery, Ala.: E-BookTime. 124 pp.

Green, Archie. 2001. *Torching the Fink Books and Other Essays on Vernacular Culture* [hillbilly music; folksinging]. Foreword by Robert Cantwell. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 242 pp.

Green, Judy Lee. 2009. "The Bottle Tree" [to ward off evil spirits]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25, no.2 (Fall/Winter): 13-14.

Griffith, Buddy. 2002. "The Legend of the Flatwoods Monster" [Flatwoods, W. Va., supernatural creature; 1952 sightings]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Fall): 56-61.

Griffith, Rosanne. 2010. "The Truholt Madstone." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 60-61. Madstones, taken from the belly of a deer and boiled in milk, had the power to cure rabies.

Gruner, Elisabeth Rose. 2003. "Saving 'Cinderella': History and Story in *Ashpet* and *Ever After [Ashpet: An American Cinderella* (1989), film dir. Tom Davenport]. *Children's Literature* 31: 142-154.

Guiley, Rosemary Ellen. 2012. *Monsters of West Virginia: Mysterious Creatures in the Mountain State*. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 139 pp. Contents: The Grafton monster | Monster birds, thunderbirds, and flying reptiles | Mothman | The Braxton County monster | The Yayho: West Virginia's bigfoot | Mystery dogs, demon dogs, and werewolves | Strange felines | White things and sheepsquatch | The snallygaster | Death creatures | Screamers, flying manta rays, and other oddities | The enchanted holler.

Haley, Gail E. [1992] 2002. *Mountain Jack Tales* [ten tales for children; wood engravings]. Written and illustrated by the author. Rpt. ed. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 131 pp. Originally published: New York: Dutton Children's Books.

Hamilton, Mary. 2012. *Kentucky Folktales: Revealing Stories, Truths, and Outright Lies* [25 tales; statewide]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 219 pp. Twenty-five tales by professional storyteller Hamilton who appends a commentary to each story, and an introduction to each of five thematic sections. Index, bibliography.

Hanlon, Tina L. 2000. "Strong Women in Appalachian Folktales." *Lion and the Unicorn* 24 (April): 225-246.

Hanlon, Tina L. 2008. "It's Not All About Jack: Old and New Tales from Anne Shelby." *Appalachian Journal* 35, no. 4 (Summer): 366-370. Review essay of Anne Shelby's *Adventures of Molly Whuppie and Other Appalachian Folktales* (University of North Carolina Press, 2007).

Harmon, Samuel, narrator, and Carl Lindahl, introd. 2001. "A Tale of Verbal Economy: 'Stiff Dick'" [1939; Tenn.]. *Journal of Folklore Research* 38 (January-August): 1-6.

Harvey, Todd. 2003. "Jack Tales and Their Tellers in the Archive of Folk Culture." *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 25, no. 4 (Fall): 7-10. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/news-text-fall2003.html.

Hatcher, Brian J., ed. 2010. *Mountain Magic: Spellbinding Tales of Appalachia*. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 114 pp. Stories and poems by thirteen authors.

Hatcher, Brian J., ed. 2011. *Stories from the Hearth: Heartwarming Tales of Appalachia*. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 120 pp. Short tales by twelve new writers.

Heatwole, John L. 1995. *Shenandoah Voices: Folklore, Legends, and Traditions of the Valley*. Berryville, Va.: Rockbridge Publishing Company. 147 pp.

Hensley, Judith Victoria, ed. 2008. *Mountain Mysteries II: The Unexplained*. By the Sixth Graders of Wallins Elementary and Junior High School, Wallins Creek, Ky., 2008-2009.

Coldiron, Ky.: Ascended Ideas ePublishing. 196 pp. ["Special Thanks: To Silas House and Jack Wright"].

Hensley, Judith Victoria, ed. 2008. *Mountain Mysteries II: The Unexplained*. By the Sixth Graders of Wallins Elementary and Junior High School, Wallins Creek, Ky., 2008-2009. Coldiron, Ky.: Ascended Ideas ePublishing. 196 pp.

Hensley, Judith Victoria, ed. 2010. *Mountain Mysteries III: Tales to Tell at Dusky Dark*. By the Sixth Graders of Wallins Elementary and Junior High School, Wallins Creek, Kentucky, 2009-2010. Wallins Creek, Ky.: Wallins Creek Press. 386 pp.

Hensley, Judith Victoria, ed. 2012. *Mountain Mysteries IV: Animal Encounters*. By the Students of Wallins Elementary and Junior High School, Wallins Creek, Kentucky, 2011-2012. Wallins Creek, Ky.: Wallins Creek Press. 444 pp.

Hicks, Orville, and Thomas McGowan. 2003. "Remembering Ray Hicks" [1922-2003; brief tribute]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 50, no. 1-2 (Spring/Summer - Fall/Winter): 12-17.

Hicks, Orville. 2009. *Jack Tales and Mountain Yarns: As Told by Orville Hicks* [b. 1951; 20 stories]. Transcription by Julia Taylor Ebel; illustrations by Sherry Jenkins Jensen; Afterword by Thomas McGowan. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 189 pp.

Hicks, Orville. 2010. "Waaaaay Back Up in the Mountains": An Interview with Storyteller Orville Hicks." By Lisa Baldwin, Anne E. Chesky, Rachel F. Westrom, Meredith Doster, Joshua Noah, Danielle E. Rector, Brittony S. Fitzgerald, Mollie K. Surber, Dave Wood, and Zachary Fulbright, with Thomas A. McGowan. *Appalachian Journal* 37, no. 1-2 (Fall 2009-Winter 2010): 44-75. Addendum: "Selected Writings by and about Orville Hicks" [12 sources], p.75.

Hicks, Ray. 2000. *The Jack Tales* [juvenile audience; includes CD]. New York: Callaway. 40 pp.

Hill, R. T. 1997. "Revenants in Folk Tales: Examples from the Lower New River" [W. Va., five tales]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 11-12, 1997, Glade Springs Resort, Daniels, West Virginia,* 20-28. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Hinson, Glenn, and William R. Ferris, ed. 2009. *Folklife*, Vol. 14 of *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 402 pp. One-hundred-five signed topical essays and entries.

Horner, Kathleen May, informant. 2002. "The Legend of the Braxton County Monster/Flatwoods Monster." Collected by Judy P. Byers and Dennis Deitz. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 8: 30-31.

Hufford, Mary, section editor. 2006. "Folklore and Folklife" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 843-909 (with introductory essay, 843-848). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Hutcheson, Neal. 2006. "Gary Carden: Folklorist, Playwright, and Storyteller." *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 53, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 7-10.

In Memoriam: "W.K. McNeil (1940-2005)." 2006. *Appalachian Journal* 33, no. 2 (Winter): 136-137.

Inge, M. Thomas, and Edward J. Piacentino, ed. 2010. *Southern Frontier Humor: An Anthology* [1815-1875]. Columbia: University of Missouri Press. 337 pp. Stories by 23 authors including Davy Crockett, William Gilmore Simms, George Washington Harris, and Hardin E. Taliaferro. Compare *The Humor of the Old Southwest*, eds, H. Cohen and W. Dillingham (1964, 3rd ed. 1994).

Ives, Edward D. 1995. *The Tape-Recorded Interview: A Manual for Field Workers in Folklore and Oral History*. 2nd ed. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 128 pp.

Johnson, Polly. 2001. "Two Transcriptions of 'Jack and the Bull' by Polly Johnson" [1941; Wise, Va.]. Transcribed by James Taylor and Richard Chase; Introduction by Charles L. Perdue, Jr. *Journal of Folklore Research* 38 (January-August): 99-105.

Jones, Loyal, and Billy Edd Wheeler. 1995. *More Laughter in Appalachia: Southern Mountain Humor*. Little Rock: August House. 224 pp.

Jones, Loyal, section editor. 2006. "Humor" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 963-996 (with introductory essay, 963-969). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Jones, Loyal, ed. 2010. *Appalachian Folk Tales*. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 117 pp. Contents: Ezell and the black-speckled gizzard stone / Aileen Kilgore Henderson -- Raglif Jaglif Tetartlif Pole / Leonard W. Roberts -- The three gold nuts / James Taylor Adams -- Ashpet's dreams / Brenda Gough -- Little Esmond / Patty Reese -- Nail soup / Bob Rennick -- The boy who wanted gold / James Taylor Adams -- Cheese and quackers / Anne Shelby -- Mutsmeg / Loyal Jones -- Robin Hood, mountain man / James Taylor Adams -- Jack goes a-hunting / Loyal Jones -- Through thick and thin / James Taylor Adams.

Jones, Michael Owen, ed. 1994. *Putting Folklore to Use*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 264 pp.

Joslin, Michael. 2009. "The Ghosts of Lees-McRae" [College; Banner Elk, N.C.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25, no.2 (Fall/Winter): 10-11.

Keding, Dan. 2003. "Ray Hicks: 1922-2003." Sing Out! 47 (Fall): 213-215.

Kelley, Saundra Gerrell, ed. 2011. *Southern Appalachian Storytellers: Interviews with Sixteen Keepers of the Oral Tradition*. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies series, no. 27. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 215 pp. Contents: Sheila Kay Adams -- Lloyd Arneach -- Marilou

Awiakta -- Gary Carden -- Jo Carson -- Angelyn Debord -- Elizabeth Ellis -- John Thomas Fowler -- Linda Goss -- Rosa Hicks -- Ted Hicks -- Dot Jackson -- Charlotte Ross -- James "Sparky" Rucker -- Betty Smith -- Jerry Wolfe.

Kight, Caitlin. 2009. "Supernatural Athens: One of the 'Scariest Places on Earth'." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25, no.2 (Fall/Winter): 15-17. Haunted Ohio University, Athens, Ohio. Four websites of interest.

Knoblich, Rich. 2008. *Talking 'bout the Relatives: Tales That Grow Taller with Each Telling* [17 stories]. Columbus, Oh.: Arcadian House. 129 pp. Author is a seven-time winner of the West Virginia State Liar's Contest.

Knost, Michael, and Mark Justice, ed. 2009. *Appalachian Winter Hauntings: Weird Holiday Tales from the Mountains* [11 separately-authored ghost stories]. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 134 pp.

Knost, Michael, ed. 2007. *Legends of the Mountain State*. Chapmanville, W.Va: Woodland Press. 160 pp. Thirteen ghost stories.

Knost, Michael, ed. 2009. Legends of the Mountain State 3: More Ghostly Tales from the State of West Virginia. Foreword by Homer Hickam. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 131 pp.

Knost, Michael, ed. 2010. *Legends of the Mountain State 4*. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 124 pp. Thirteen separately-authored ghost tales.

Knost, Michael, ed. 2010. *Specters in Coal Dust*. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 128 pp. Fourteen separately-authored, coal camp ghost tales.

Knost, Michael, ed. 2011. *The Mothman Files*. Foreword by Jeff Wamsley. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 128 pp. Collection of fictional tales surrounding the winged, red-eyed monster/being of 1966-67 Point Pleasant, W. Va.

Knost, Michael, ed. 2008. *Legends of the Mountain State 2: More Ghostly Tales from the State of West Virginia* [13 tales]. Chapmanville, W.Va: Woodland Press. 116 pp.

Lepp, Bil. 2002. *Inept, Impaired, Overwhelmed: Tall Tales from West Virginia and Beyond* [28 tales by five-time winner of the West Virginia State Liars Contest]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 164 pp.

Lepp, Bil. 2004. Armadillo Recon Unit: And Other Tall Tales [W. Va.]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 157 pp.

Lepp, Bil. 2008. *Halfdollar* [fiction]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 223 pp. Author is a five-time winner of the West Virginia Liars' Contest.

Lepp, Paul, and Bil Lepp. 1999. *The Monster Stick: & Other Appalachian Tall Tales* [storytelling champions]. Little Rock, Ark.: August House. 159 pp.

Lightfoot, William E. 2006. "Remembering Bill McNeil" [legendary folklorist, 1940-2005]. *Appalachian Journal* 33, no. 2 (Winter): 138-139.

Lindahl, Carl ed. 2001. Perspectives on the Jack Tales: And Other North American Märchen. Special publications of the Folklore Institute, no. 6. Bloomington, Ind.: Folklore Institute / Indiana University Bloomington. 179 pp. (Originally published as a special issue of the Journal of Folklore Research 38, no. 1-2, January-August 2001). Contents: A Tale of Verbal Economy: "Stiff Dick" / Samuel Harmon, narrator -- Introduction: Representing and Recovering the British- and Irish-American Märchen / Carl Lindahl -- Two Tellings of "Merrywise": 1949 and 2000 / Jane Muncy Fugate, narrator -- Two Versions of "Rawhead and Bloodybones" from the Farmer-Muncy Family / Glen Muncy Anderson, Jane Muncy Fugate, narrators -- Sounding a Shy Tradition: Oral and Written Styles of American Mountain Märchen / Carl Lindahl -- Two Transcriptions of "Jack and the Bull," by Polly Johnson / James Taylor Adams, Richard Chase, transcribers -- Storybook Style: "Jack and the Green Man" / Louise Fontaine Mann, narrator -- Is Old Jack Really Richard Chase? / Charles L. Perdue Jr. -- A Model of Appropriate Behavior? "The Ship That Sailed on Land and Water" / Alice Lannon, narrator -- Jack and His Masters: Real Worlds and Tale Worlds in Newfoundland Folktales / Martin Lovelace -- In Memoriam: Herbert Halpert / Gerald Thomas.

Lindahl, Carl, ed. 2004. *American Folktales: From the Collections of the Library of Congress*. Vols. 1 and 2. [based on collections of the American Folklife Center; 215 tales, many Appalachian]. Armonk, N.Y.: M.E. Sharpe in association with Library of Congress. 729 pp.

Lindahl, Carl. 2001. "Sounding a Shy Tradition: Oral and Written Styles of American Mountain Märchen" [folktales]. *Journal of Folklore Research* 38 (January-August): 68-98.

Lindahl, Carl. 2005. "The Making of *American Folktales*" [*American Folktales: From the Collections of the Library of Congress*, ed. C. Lindahl. Armonk, N.Y.: M.E. Sharpe, 2004]. *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 27, no. 1-2 (January): 9-12. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/index.html.

Lindahl, Carl. 2006. "The Uses of Terror: Appalachian Märchen-Telling, Folklore Methodology, and Narrator's Truth." *Fabula* 47, no. 3-4: 264-276.

Lindahl, Carl. 2010. "Leonard Roberts, The Farmer-Lewis-Muncy Family, and the Magic Circle of the Mountain Märchen (American Folklore Society Fellows Invited Plenary Address, October 2008)." *Journal of American Folklore* 123, no. 489 (Summer): 251-275. Celebrates the work of Roberts (1912-1983), "and commemorates Roberts's first audio folktale recording, a 1949 performance of 'Merrywise'."

Lindahl, Carl. 2011. "Female Narrators, Protagonists, and Villains of the American Mountain Märchen." Fabula: Zeitschrift Für Erzählforschung/Journal of Folktale Studies/Revue d'Études Sur Le Conte Populaire 52, no. 1: 2-16.

Lofaro, Michael A., ed. 2001. *Davy Crockett's Riproarious Shemales and Sentimental Sisters: Women's Tall Tales from the Crockett Almanacs*, 1835-1856 [122 stories]. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 334 pp.

Lovern, Kyle. 2008. *Appalachian Case Study: UFO Sightings, Alien Encounters and Unexplained Phenomena, Volume 2* [W. Va.; 18 accounts]. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 108 pp.

Lovern, Kyle. 2008. *Appalachian Case Study: UFO Sightings, Alien Encounters and Unexplained Phenomena*. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 108 pp. Documents 16 sightings.

MacNeal, Patricia M., Bonelyn Kyofski, and Kenneth Thigpen, ed. 1997. *Headwaters and Hardwoods: The Folklore, Cultural History and Traditional Arts of the Pennsylvanian Northern Tier* [Potter, Tioga, Bradford, Cameron, Clinton, Lycoming, and Sullivan Counties]. Mansfield, Pa.: Northern Tier Cultural Alliance.

Mann, Louise Fontaine, narrator. 2001. "Storybook Style: 'Jack and the Green Man" [1945; Va.]. Introduction by Carl Lindahl and Charles L. Perdue, Jr. *Journal of Folklore Research* 38 (January-August): 106-110.

Mayfield, John. 2003. "George Washington Harris: The Fool from the Hills" [creator of Sut Lovingood tales]. In *The Human Tradition in the Old South*, ed. J. Klotter, 137-151. Wilmington, Del.: Scholarly Resources.

McCarthy, William Bernard, ed. 1994. *Jack in Two Worlds: Contemporary North American Tales and Their Tellers*. With tales edited by William Bernard McCarthy, Cheryl Oxford, and Joseph Daniel Sobol. Publications of the American Folklore Society. New Series. Winston-Salem: University of North Carolina Press. 290 pp.

McCormick, James, and Macy Wyatt. 2009. *Ghosts of the Bluegrass*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 187 pp. Ghostly tales and anecdotes arranged under eleven headings: Unfinished business -- Disappearing ghosts -- Mysterious events and haunted places -- Presences sensed by light, cold, or sound -- Poltergeists -- Communication with the dead -- Ghosts that weren't ghosts -- Ghosts at educational institutions -- Death omens and superstitions -- A collection of ghost stories -- A ghost story from the nineteenth century.

McCoy, Edain. 1997. *Mountain Magick: Folk Magick & Wisdom From the Heart of Appalachia*. Llewellyn's Practical Magick Series. Saint Paul, Minn.: Llewellyn Publications. 240 pp.

McCoy, Kurt. 2008. White Things: West Virginia's Weird White Monsters. Morgantown, W. Va.: Ogua Books. 105 pp. Collected stories of supernatural creatures.

McGowan, Thomas. 1998. "Orville Hicks: Appalachian Storyteller" [Watauga Co., N.C.]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 45 (Summer-Fall): 105-108.

McGowan, Thomas. 2002. "'Sort of like an *Appalachian Journal* Editor': Presenting and Playing with Identity in the Storytelling of Orville Hicks." *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Fall 2001-Winter 2002): 164-179.

McIntyre, Les. 2001. "A Personal Journey in Search of Frankie Silver" [N.C.; 1833 hanging]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 35 (January): 38-42.

McMillon, Bobby. 2000. "'A Fly in Amber: Faded Leaves of Time': An Autobiographical Excerpt" [author is descendant of Charlie Silver - murdered by Frankie Silver, 1831, N.C.]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 47 (Winter/Spring): 8-14.

McNeil, W. K. 2004. "The South and Southern Highlands: Introduction." In *American Regional Folklore: A Sourcebook and Research Guide*, by Terry Ann Mood, 153-163. Santa Barbara, Calif.: ABC-CLIO.

McNeil, W. K. 2005. "Mountain Masculinity: Jokes Southern Mountain Men Tell on Themselves." In *Manly Traditions: The Folk Roots of American Masculinities*, ed. S. Bronner, 261-273. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.

Mignola, Michael, Richard Corben, Josh Dysart, Duncan Fergredo, Jason Shawn Alexander, Dave Stewart, and Clem Robins. 2010. *Hellboy, Vol. 10: The Crooked Man and Others* [graphic novel; horror/fantasy]. Milwaukie, Ore.: Dark Horse. 160 pp. Contents: The crooked man -- They that go down to the sea in ships -- In the Chapel of Moloch -- The mole. This installment "teams Hellboy with a wandering hillman in a devilish tale of Appalachian witchcraft."

Mignola, Michael, Richard Corben, Josh Dysart, Duncan Fergredo, Jason Shawn Alexander, Dave Stewart, and Clem Robins. 2010. *Hellboy* [vol. 10]: *The Crooked Man and Others* [graphic novel]. Introduction by Gahan Wilson. Milwaukie, Oregon: Dark Horse. 160 pp. *The Crooked Man*, one of four collected stories, is set in Appalachian Virginia and inspired by fantasy/horror writer Wade Manley Wellman (1903-1986). Appended essay, "Manly Wade Wellman: American Mythmaker," by John Pelan, [4 pp.].

Miller, Bobbi. 2009. *Davy Crockett Gets Hitched* [children's story]. Illustrated by and Megan Lloyd. New York: Holiday House. 32 pp. "An accidental encounter with a thorn bush on his way to the spring dance has Davy Crockett kicking up his heels and out-dancing even the audacious Miss Sally Ann Thunder Ann Whirlwind."

Miller, Jim Wayne. 1995. "The Laughing Snake: A Serpentine Look at Appalachian Humor." In *More Laughter in Appalachia: Southern Mountain Humor*, by L. Jones and B. E. Wheeler, 186-205. Little Rock, Ark.: August House.

Milnes, Gerald. 1995. "West Virginia'ss Omie Wise: A Folk Process Unveiled." *Appalachian Journal* 22 (Summer): 376-389.

Milnes, Gerald. [1990] 1999. *Granny Will Your Dog Bite and Other Mountain Rhymes*. Rpt. ed. Little Rock, Ark.: August House. 48 pp. Originally published: New York: Knopf.

Milnes, Gerald. 2007. *Signs, Cures, & Witchery: German Appalachian Folklore* [18th century, Old World influences; oral histories from W. Va. highlands]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 245 pp.

Milnes, Gerald. 2010. "Groundhog!" *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 4 (Winter): 46-49. History of Groundhog Day including French Creek Freddie, counterpart to Pa.'s Punxsutawney Phil, plus folksong verses.

Moerk, Alice. 2002. "The Flatwoods Monster: A Musical Drama: Creative Interpretation in Text Form." *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 8: 31-32.

Montell, William Lynwood. 1994. *Kentucky Ghosts*. New Books for New Readers. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 58 pp.

Montell, William Lynwood. [1983] 2000. *Don't Go Up Kettle Creek: Verbal Legacy of the Upper Cumberland* [Cumberland River Valley, Ky./Tenn.; oral history]. Reprint, with a new foreword. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 247 pp.

Montell, William Lynwood. 2000. *Ghosts Across Kentucky* [280 tales]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 208 pp.

Montell, William Lynwood. 2001. *Haunted Houses and Family Ghosts of Kentucky* [statewide collection of ghost stories]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 291 pp.

Montell, William Lynwood. 2004. "'That's Not the Way I Heard It': Traditional Life and Folk Legends of the Upper Cumberland" [Ky., Tenn.]. In *Rural Life and Culture in the Upper Cumberland*, ed. M. Birdwell and W. Dickinson, 122-139. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Montell, William Lynwood. 2010. *Tales of Kentucky Ghosts* [270 stories]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 211 pp. Contents: Cemetery ghosts | Return of family members as ghosts | Haunted houses and public buildings | Civil War ghosts | Roadside ghosts and odd phenomena | Headless ghosts | Animal ghosts and animal tales | Ghostly lights and screams | Strange sounds, lights, and unexplained events | Legends and folktales.

Mood, Terry Ann. 2004. "The South and Southern Highlands" [186-item annotated bibliography; Selected Authors; Museums; Journals; Websites; Introduction by W. K. McNeil]. Chap. 3 in *American Regional Folklore: A Sourcebook and Research Guide*, 151-214. Santa Barbara, Calif.: ABC-CLIO.

Moore, Jonathan. 2011. *True West Virginia Ghost Stories*. [No location]: West Virginia Ghosts. 274 pp. Collection of 400 tales contributed via <www.wvghosts.com>; no index.

Morris, Valda. 2010. "Every Picture Tells a Story: AFC Acquires the Tom Raymond Collection" [American Folklife Center]. *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 32, no. 1-2 (Winter-Spring): 11-12. Raymond was official photographer, 1984-2003, of the National Storytelling Festival in Johnson City, Tenn. His collection comprises 13,200 images including more that 1600 documenting Ray Hicks (d. 2003) whose photo appears on the cover of this issue. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/index.html.

Moynahan, Denise Hillman. 2005. *The Great Cavern of the Winds: Tales from Backbone Mountain* [juvenile literature; Tolkein-style adventures of little mountain people cave-dwellers]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 65 pp.

Mullins, Matthew. 2002. "Gray Barker: West Virginia UFologist" [1925-1984; UFO and supernatural personal archive]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Fall): 64-65.

Mullins, Matthew. 2002. "UFO's in West Virginia: An Historical Overview." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Fall): 66-69.

Musick, Ruth Ann, comp. 2004. "Folklore of Coal" [22 brief, oral narratives collected in 1950s-60s from W. Va. miners]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 9: 8-15.

Musick, Ruth Ann, comp. 2009. "A Sampler of Folklore from Scotland, Ireland, England, Wales, and Italy: Customs, Beliefs, Tales, Legends, Oral Histories, and Ballads." *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 11: 15-33. Tales and ballads reprinted from issues of *West Virginia Folklore* (1954-1966).

Musick, Ruth Ann. 2002. "Folklore of Belief: Omens, Tokens, Signs, and Tales of Wisdom, Caution, and Hope" [from unpublished collection; 1950s and 60s informants]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 8: 18-26.

Nelson, Scott Reynolds, with Marc Aronson. 2008. *Ain't Nothing but a Man: My Quest to Find the Real John Henry*. Washington, D.C.: National Geographic. 64 pp. Juvenile literature; biography; research clues and discoveries.

Nelson, Scott Reynolds. 2006. *Steel Drivin' Man: John Henry, the Untold Story of an American Legend* [W. Va.; identifies the real man, the folk ballad history, black convict labor, railroad robber barons; Chesapeake and Ohio Railway]. New York: Oxford University Press. 214 pp.

Nelson, Scott Reynolds. 2008. "Who Was John Henry? Railroad Construction, Southern Folklore, and the Birth of Rock and Roll." In *Other Souths: Diversity and Difference in the U.S. South, Reconstruction to Present*, ed. P. Holloway, 38-66. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Originally published in *Labor: Studies in Working-Class History of the Americas* 2 (May 2005): 53-79.

Nelson, Scott. 2005. "Who Was John Henry? Railroad Construction, Southern Folklore, and the Birth of Rock and Roll." *Labor: Studies in Working Class History of the Americas* 2, no. 2: 53-79.

Nesbitt, Mark, and Patty A. Wilson. 2006. *Haunted Pennsylvania: Ghosts and Strange Phenomena of the Keystone State*. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 133 pp.

Nickell, Joe. 2001. "The Flatwoods UFO Monster" [W. Va., supernatural being]. Chap. 46 in *Real-Life X-Files: Investigating the Paranormal*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Norman, Gurney. 2012. Ancient Creek: A Folktale. Lexington, Ky.: Old Cove Press. 156 pp. Contents: Ancient Creek / Gurney Norman -- Living into the land / Jim Wayne Miller -- 'I'm Jack!' / Kevin I. Eeyster -- Reading Ancient Creek / Annalucia Accardo -- October 30, 1975 / Dee Davis -- The story of Ancient Creek / Gurney Norman. Political and social satire aimed at injustices committed by King George Condominium III and The Black Duke of Cumberland. An earlier, oral version of Ancient Creek was recorded by Norman and Si Kahn in 1976 for June Appal Recordings (Whitesburg, Ky.). Norman served as poet laureate of Kentucky, 2009-2010. "His novella-length folktale tells the story of resistance among 'the folks' against an evil King. The tale describes a mythic 'hill domain' that has been exploited by the forces of a colonizing empire. The hero Jack is the fugitive leader of the people's revolt and the nemesis of the King. Wounded survivors of the revolution find solace and healing on Ancient Creek where old Aunt Haze is the guiding spirit." A digitally remastered CD of the 1975 spoken-word album is being published concurrently with the book by June Appal Recordings.

Owen, Jerry, Linda Anders, and Pamela A. Yarborough, ed. 2006. *Voices of Our Mountain Kin: Folklore and Traditions from the Southern Appalachian Mountains*. Colorado Springs, Colo.: Andborough. 157 pp. "...a collection of legends, folk tales and memories of our heritage set in the Blue Ridge, Balsam and Great Smoky Mountains." Chapter headings: Ghosts, superstitions and beliefs | Civil War in the mountains | Moonshinin' and cookin' | Healin', dowsin' and cauls | Mountain people and their history | Owen Hymn.

Owen, Jerry, and Linda Anders, ed. 2007. *Voices of Our Mountain Kin, Volume Two: More Folklore and Traditions from the Southern Appalachian Mountains*. Colorado Springs, Colo.: Andborough. 181 pp. Chapter headings: Calling us home | Humor, haints and tragedies | Life in the mountains | Mountain memoirs | Family histories and tributes | Annals of the past.

Park, Edwards. 2000. "A Tale of Fatal Feuds and Futile Forensics: A Smithsonian Anthropologist Digs for Victims of a West Virginia Mob Murder" [1889 murders of fiddlers Milt Haley and Green McCoy]. *Smithsonian* 30 (March): 32, 34, 36.

Paschkis, Julie. 2007. *Glass Slipper, Gold Sandal: A Worldwide Cinderella* [cultural interpretations incl. Appalachian; children's literature]. Illustrated by Julie Paschkis. New York: Henry Holt. 32 pp.

Patrick, Kevin J. 2000. "Joe Magarac and the Spirit of Pittsburgh" [steel folk hero; Pittsburgh's Paul Bunyan and John Henry]. In *A Geographic Perspective of Pittsburgh and the Alleghenies: From Precambrian to Post-Industrial*, ed. K. Patrick and J. Scarpaci, 10-16. Washington, D.C.: Association of American Geographers.

Patrick, Kevin J. 2006. "Joe Magarac and the Spirit of Pittsburgh" [steelworkers' mythical, Slavic folk hero: Monongahela and Ohio Valley]. In *Pittsburgh and the Appalachians: Cultural and Natural Resources in a Postindustrial Age*, ed. J. Scarpaci, 53-63. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press.

Patterson, Daniel W. 2000. *A Tree Accurst: Bobby McMillon and the Stories of Frankie Silver* [N.C.]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 240 pp. McMillon is a folk singer/storyteller, and performs in the 1996 film *The Ballad of Frankie Silver*.

Patterson, Daniel W. 2009. "A North Carolina Memorial to Archie Green" [1917-2009]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 56, no. 1 (Spring-Summer): 4-9. Folklorist, musicologist, and champion of laborers and working people.

Pavesic, Christine L. 2005. Ray Hicks and the Jack Tales: A Study of Appalachian History, Culture, and Philosophy [d. 2003; Beech Mountain, N.C.]. New York: iUniverse. 92 pp.

Penot, Jessica, and Amy Petulla. 2011. *Haunted Chattanooga* [Tenn.]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 106 pp. Ghosts and paranormal experiences.

Perdue, Charles L., Jr. 2001. "Is Old Jack Really Richard Chase?" [jack tale collector; 1904-1988; Appendix A: Cross-Correlation of Jack Tales in Selected Early Collections; Appendix B: Traits of Jack Tales in the Five Collections; Appendix C: Traits of Jack Tales (a comparison with other early collectors)]. *Journal of Folklore Research* 38 (January-August): 111-138.

Perspectives on the Jack Tales and Other North American Märchen. 2001. Special issue, *Journal of Folklore Research* 38 (January-August): 1-179.

Price, Charles Edwin. 1993. *Haunted Jonesborough* [Tenn.; 12 ghost stories]. Johnson City, Tenn: Overmountain Press. 69 pp.

Price, Charles Edwin. 1996. *Diggin' Up Bones: And Other Creepy Tennessee Tales*. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 146 pp.

Price, Charles Edwin. 1996. *Lullaby Aggie of Sweet Potato Cave*. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 75 pp. Ghost story based on a Scott County, Va., legend.

Price, Charles Edwin. 1999. Mysterious Knoxville: Ghost Stories, Monster Tales, and Bizarre Incidents from the "Gateway to the Smokies". Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 100 pp.

Purkey, Virgil. 2006. "Groundhog Lore from Dry Fork" [1902-1981; Whitmer, Randolph Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 4 (Winter): 52-53.

Renegar, Michael F. 2005. *Roadside Revenants and Other North Carolina Ghosts and Legends*. Fairview, N.C.: Bright Mountain Books. 165 pp.

Renegar, Michael. 2011. *Tar Heel Terrors: More North Carolina Ghosts and Legends*. Fairview, N.C.: Bright Mountain Books. 160 pp. Twenty-eight paranormal tales, each tied to a specific location.

Rennick, Robert M. 2001. "What's Folklore?" [defines "the folk"]. *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Fall): 36-40.

Rivers, Micheal. 2012. *Appalachia Mountain Folklore* [N.C.]. Atglen, Pa.: Schiffer. 159 pp. Forty paranormal/ghost stories covering sixteen counties.

Robinson, James Foster. 2012. West Virginia Weird and Wonderful. Lexington, Ky.: Create Space. 75 pp. Ghost stories, monsters, tall tales.

Rolph, Daniel N. 1994. "To Shoot, Burn, and Hang": Folk-History From a Kentucky Mountain Family and Community. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 171 pp.

Russell, Randy, and Janet Barnett. 1999. *The Granny Curse and Other Ghosts and Legends from East Tennessee* [25 tales]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 112 pp.

Salsi, Lynn. 2008. *The Life and Times of Ray Hicks: Keeper of the Jack Tales* [1922-2003]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 206 pp. Interviews with a legendary N.C. storyteller and 1985 Smithsonian National Heritage Fellow.

Samples, Mack. 2002. *Elk River Ghosts: Tales & Lore* [21 stories]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 82 pp.

Samples, Mack. 2005. *The Devil's Tea Tables: West Virginia Ghost Tales and Other Stories* [25 tales]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 117 pp.

Sawin, Patricia. 2004. *Listening for a Life: A Dialogic Ethnography of Bessie Eldreth through Her Songs and Stories* [b. 1913, N.C.; singer, story teller; interview-based]. Logan: Utah State University Press. 254 pp.

Schlosser, S. E. 2004. *Spooky South: Tales of Hauntings, Strange Happenings, and Other Local Lore* [30 tales]. Retold by S. E. Schlosser; illustrated by Paul G. Hoffman. Guilford, Conn.: Globe Pequot Press. 197 pp.

Schlosser, S. E. 2007. *Spooky Pennsylvania: Tales of Hauntings, Strange Happenings, and Other Local Lore* [30 stories]. Illustrated by Paul G. Hoffman. Guilford, Conn.: Globe Pequot Press. 200 pp.

Sergent, Donnie, Jr., and Jeff Wamsley. 2001. *Mothman: The Facts Behind the Legend* [W. Va.; winged supernatural creature; 1960s sightings]. Point Pleasant, W. Va.: Mothman Lives Publishing. 164 pp.

Shelby, Anne. 2007. *The Adventures of Molly Whuppie and other Appalachian Folktales* [inspired by Leonard Roberts' tales; featuring a clever female hero or "Jack"]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 88 pp. Contents: The adventures of Molly Whuppie -- Molly the giant slayer -- Tater toe -- Molly and Blunderbore -- Molly Fiddler -- Runaway cornbread -- Molly and the ogre who would not pick up -- Pig tale -- Molly and the unwanted boyfriends -- Grind mill grind -- Jack and the Christmas beans -- Molly and Jack -- Molly, Jack, and the sillies -- Just past dreaming rock.

Sheppard, Susan. 2008. Cry of the Banshee: History and Hauntings of West Virginia and the Ohio Valley. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 241 pp.

Shoemaker, Henry W. [1911] 2005. *Pennsylvania Mountain Stories* [29 backwoods stories from lumber camps, farms, and taverns]. State College: Pennsylvania State University Press. 121 pp. Originally published: Reading, Pa.: Reading Times Publishing Company. http://apps.libraries.psu.edu/digitalbookshelf/bookindex.cfm?oclc=1236568.

Smith, Barbara. 2001. "The Philippi Mummies: 'Preserved Until Judgement Day'" [locally famous, 19th-century, mummified bodies displayed in the Barbour County Historical Museum]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Fall): 56-59.

Smith, Jimmy Neil. 2001. "Storytelling Collection Comes to the Library of Congress" [from Jonesborough, Tenn.-based National Storytelling Festival, founded 1973]. *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 23, no. 3 (Summer): 3-5. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/index.html.

Sobol, Joseph Daniel. 1999. *The Storytellers' Journey: An American Revival* [National Storytelling Festival, Jonesborough, Tenn.]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 304 pp.

Sobol, Joseph Daniel. 2006. "Whistlin' towards the Devil's House': Poetic Transformations and Natural Metaphysics in an Appalachian Folktale Performance." *Oral Tradition* 21, no. 1 (March): 3-43. Ray Hicks (1922-2003); "The Smith Outwits the Devil." http://journal.oraltradition.org/issues/21i/sobol.

Sobol, Joseph. 2002. "Ray Hicks and the Doctors" [account of the storyteller's amiable "cultural standoff" with Johnson City, Tenn., hospital interns when he is diagnosed with terminal prostate cancer; Hicks died April 20, 2003]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Summer): 14-16.

Spirits of Appalachia. 2009. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25, no.2 (Fall/Winter): 1-72. Articles, essays, fiction, poetry, and reviews on haunting spirits, alcohol spirits, and the "phenomenon – energy of the mountains mixed with centuries of human spirit."

Still, James, and Margot Tomes. 1996. *Jack and the Wonder Beans*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 32 pp.

Storytelling in West Virginia. 1998. Special Report [five articles on festivals and individuals], *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Spring): 10-27.

Taft, Michael. 2001. "Vance Randolph: 'Mr. Ozark'" [1892-1980]. Folklife Center News (Library of Congress) 23, no. 2 (Spring): 3-4. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/index.html.

Taft, Michael. 2005. "W. K. 'Bill' McNeil (1940-2005)" [director of the Ozark Folk Center]. *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 27, no. 1-2 (January): 20. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/index.html.

Tassin, Susan. 2007. *Pennsylvania Ghost Towns* [guidebook; 46 sites in six subregions]. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 152 pp.

Tate, J. R. 2006. *Walkin' with the Ghost Whisperers: Lore and Legends of the Appalachian Trail*. Philadelphia: Xlibris. 405 pp.

Tennis, Joe. 2010. *Haunts of Virginia's Blue Ridge Highlands* [ghosts, legends, spirits]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 109 pp. Contents: Heart of Appalachia -- Holston Valley -- Central Highlands -- New River Valley -- Roanoke Region.

Thacker, Larry D. 2007. *Mountain Mysteries: Investigating the Mystic Traditions of Appalachia* [scholarly treatment: folklore/folklife; supernatural; death rituals; ghost stories; interviews]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 226 pp.

Thomas, Roy Edwin. 1994. *Come Go with Me: Old-timer Stories from the Southern Mountains* [Ozarks]. New York: Farrar, Straus, Giroux. 187 pp. "...ninety-four tall tales, poignant reminiscences, and family stories - some going back to Civil War days - chosen from hundreds of interviews recorded by Arkansas folklorist Roy Edwin Thomas."

Tice, John. 2003. "Searching for Ikie's Tomb" [solving mystery of vandalized mausoleum of Pleasants Co. infant, d. 1904]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Fall): 64-69.

Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness [heritage; curricula guide]. Annual. 1993-- . Fairmont, W. Va.: Fairmont State College.

Traylor, Ken, and Delas M. House. 2006. *Asheville Ghosts and Legends* [N.C.]. Charleston, S.C.: Haunted America. 121 pp.

Turner, Erin, and Isaac McKinnon. 2011. *Monsters & Ghosts of West Virginia* [juvenile audience]. Illustrated by Erin Turner. Charleston, W. Va: Quarrier Press. 61 pp.

Vincent, Gary Lee. 2010. *Darkened Hills* [fiction; horror; W. Va.; vampires]. Bridgeport, W. Va.: Burning Bulb Publishing. 264 pp.

Wamsley, Jeff. 2005. *Mothman...: Behind the Red Eyes, the Complete Investigative Library*. Point Pleasant, W. Va.: Mothman Press. 160 pp. "Human-alien encounters"; West Virginia.

Watson, Bruce, with photographs by Rom Raymond. 1997. "The Storyteller is the Soybean . . . the Audience is the Sun" [storytelling festival; Jonesborough, Tenn.] *Smithsonian* 27 (March): 60-62,64,66-68,70.

Webber, Sabra J., and Patrick B. Mullen. 2011. "Breakthrough into Comparison: 'Moving' Stories, Local History, and the Narrative Turn." *Journal of Folklore Research* 48, no. 3 (September-December): 213-247. Comparative study of two stories, one from Kelibia, Tunisia, and the other from Adams County, Ohio [The Barn Story, from a 1980 interview with 87-year-old Bob Glasgow].

White, Thomas. 2009. *Legends & Lore of Western Pennsylvania*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 124 pp. Contents: Legends of the French and Indian War | From out of the sky comesconspiracy? | Tall tales and legendary figures | The Green Man and other urban legends | Ghost stories | Unique places. Subjects include General Braddock's buried gold; man of steel, Joe Magarac; and the Monongahela River's lost B-25 bomber.

White, Thomas. 2010. *Ghosts of Southwestern Pennsylvania*. Haunted America series. Charleston, S.C: History Press. 126 pp. Covering seven counties, subjects include Revolutionary War witch Moll Derry, a steel millworker burned alive in molten iron, and the secret stairs of the University of Pittsburgh's Cathedral of Learning.

Williams, Elizabeth M. 2003. "Ray Hicks, from Local Storyteller to Cultural Icon: A Bibliography" [1922-2003; 59 entries]. *Appalachian Journal* 30 (Summer): 302-306.

Williams, Lisa. 1999. "The Legend of David Lang: The Literary History" [catalogs folk heritage of farmer who vanished 1880, Sumner Co., Tenn.]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 59 (no. 3): 103-121.

Williams, Stephanie Burt. 2007. *Haunted Hills: Ghosts and Legends of Highlands and Cashiers, North Carolina* [15 tales and legends]. Charleston, S.C.: Haunted America. 126 pp.

Williamson, Duncan. 2011. *Jack and the Devil's Purse: Scottish Traveller Tales*. Edinburgh: Birlinn. 216 pp.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 1999. "Folk Culture and My Family" [W. Va.]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 5: 37-39.

Wilson, Patty A. 2007. *Haunted West Virginia: Ghosts & Strange Phenomena of the Mountain State*. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 138 pp. Thirty-eight accounts arranged under eight W. Va. subregions.

Witchlore [22 short witch tales]. 2001. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 6: 12-20.

Wooldridge, Connie Nordhielm. 1995. *Wicked Jack* [children's story]. Illustrated by Will Hillenbrand. New York: Holiday House. 30 pp. "A mean old blacksmith's actions leave him unwelcomed by both Saint Peter and the Devil when he dies."

Yeh, Nora. 2001. "The Vance Randolph Collection Available to Researchers." *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 23, no. 2 (Spring): 5-6. http://lcweb2.loc.gov/faid/repository.html#AFC/; see also: http://lcweb.loc.gov/folklife/.

Yoder, Don. 2003. *Groundhog Day* [history of the February 2nd celebration, Punxsutawney, Pa.]. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 144 pp.

Young, Perry Deane. 1998. *The Untold Story of Frankie Silver: Was She Unjustly Hanged?* [N.C.; 1833]. Asheboro, N.C.: Down Home Press. 220 pp.

Young, Perry Deane. [1998, 2005] 2012. *The Untold Story of Frankie Silver: Was She Unjustly Hanged?* Bloomington, Ind.: iUniverse. 265 pp. Originally published: Asheboro, N.C.: Down Home Press.

Zwierzchowski, Mary. 2002. "Hollidays Cove Murder Mystery" [1887, northern panhandle double murder]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Summer): 30-37.

FRONTIER and PIONEER LIFE, PRE-INDUSTRIAL APPALACHIA

Colonial and settlement eras, seventeenth to mid-nineteenth century history, Indian Wars

Abram, Susan M. 2012. "'To Keep Bright the Bonds of Friendship': The Making of a Cherokee-American Alliance during the Creek War" [1813-1814; Ala., Ga., Tenn.]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 71, no. 3 (Fall): 228-257.

Achenbach, Joel. 2004. *The Grand Idea: George Washington's Potomac and the Race to the West* [1784 tour; Potomac River Valley]. New York: Simon & Schuster. 367 pp.

Alder, Henry Clay. 2002. *A History of Jonathan Alder: His Captivity and Life With the Indians* [b. 1773; Ohio; Shawnee and Mingo Indians]. Transcribed with a foreword by Doyle H. Davison; compiled, annotated, and edited, and with an introduction by Larry L. Nelson. Series on Ohio History and Culture. Akron, Oh.: University of Akron Press. 222 pp.

Allegheny City Society (Pittsburgh, Pa.). 2007. *Allegheny City*, 1840-1907 [vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia . 127 pp. Founded in 1787, annexed to Pittsburgh in 1907, and known today as Pittsburgh's "North Side."

Anderson, Fred. 2000. Crucible of War: The Seven Years' War and the Fate of Empire in British North America, 1754-1766. New York: Knopf. 960 pp.

Aron, Stephen Aron. 2004. "The Making of the First American West and the Unmaking of Other Realms." In *A Companion to the American West*, ed. W. Deverell, 5-24. Malden, Mass.: Blackwell.

Aron, Stephen. 1996. *How the West Was Lost: The Transformation of Kentucky From Daniel Boone to Henry Clay.* Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 285 pp.

Aron, Stephen. 1998. "Pigs and Hunters: 'Rights in the Woods' on the Trans-Appalachian Frontier" [Ohio Valley Indians and pioneers]. In *Contact Points: American Frontiers from the Mohawk Valley to the Mississippi, 1750-1830*, ed. A. Cayton, R. Teute, 175-204. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Aron, Stephen. 1999. "'The Poor Men to Starve': The Lives and Times of Workingmen in Early Lexington" [c. 1800]. In *The Buzzel About Kentuck: Settling the Promised Land*, ed. C. Friend, 174-193. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Aronow, Louisa. 2006. "Finding Maryland's First Friends: Mom's Looking Up Dead People Again" [researching Friend family genealogy, Friendsville, Md., from 1750]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 1 (Spring): 40-42.

Axelrod, Alan. 2007. Blooding at Great Meadows: Young George Washington and the Battle That Shaped the Man. Philadelphia, Pa.: Running Press. 270 pp. War for the Ohio Country; Fort Necessity (Pa.), 1754.

Baker, Mark A. 1998. Sons of a Trackless Forest: Cumberland Long Hunters of the Eighteenth Century. Franklin, Tenn.: Baker's Trace Publishing. 928 pp.

Banta, R. E. [1949] 1998. *The Ohio*. Reprint, with a new foreword by Thomas D. Clark. Ohio River Valley Series. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 608 pp. Originally published: New York: Rinehart, in Rivers of America series.

Barksdale, Kevin T. 2003. "Our Rebellious Neighbors: Virginia's Border Counties During Pennsylvania's Whiskey Rebellion" [1791-1794]. *Virginia Magazine of History and Biography* 111 (no. 1): 5-32.

Barksdale, Kevin T. 2007. "The Spanish Conspiracy on the Trans-Appalachian Borderlands, 1786-1789" [to unite Tennessee Valley settlements with the Louisiana Territory]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 13, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 96-123.

Barksdale, Kevin T. 2009. *The Lost State of Franklin: America's First Secession* [1784]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 283 pp. Separatists' four-year attempt to break from N.C. and gain statehood for the area that is today eastern Tenn.

Barner, Christopher. 2009. "Colonial Settlement Patterns in Pennsylvania's Cumberland Valley." *Pennsylvania Geographer* 47, no. 1 (Fall/Winter): 49-71. Mapping and statistics-based analysis.

Barnes, L. Diane. 1997. "Booster Ethos: Community, Image, and Profit in Early Clarksburg" [19th century; Harrison Co.]. *West Virginia History* 56: 27-42.

Barnes, L. Diane. 2001. "Building Communities Out of Frontiers: The Grist Mills of Harrison County, West Virginia, 1784-1860." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 7 (Fall): 285-299.

Barr, Daniel P. 2012. "Did Pennsylvania Have a Middle Ground?: Examining Indian-White Relations on the Eighteenth-Century Pennsylvania Frontier" [review essay]. *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 136, no. 4 (October): 337-363.

Barr, Daniel P., ed. 2012. "Hidden Gems" [short essays on eighteenth-century Pennsylvania backcountry]. Special issue, *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 136, no. 4 (October): 457-513. Essays: The Map That Reveals the Deception of the 1737 Walking Purchase, 457 / Steven C. Harper -- Charting the Colonial Backcountry: Joseph Shippen's Map of the Susquehanna River, 461 / Katherine Faull -- John Harris, Historical Interpretation, and the Standing Stone Mystery Revealed, 466 / Linda A. Ries -- Rev. John Elder and Identity in the Pennsylvania Backcountry, 470 / Kevin Yeager -- A Failed Peace: The Friendly Association and the Pennsylvania Backcountry during the Seven Years' War, 472 / Michael Goode -- Letter to Farmers in Pennsylvania: John Dickinson Writes to the Paxton Boys, 475 / Jane E. Calvert -- The Kittanning Destroyed Medal, 478 / Brandon C. Downing --Pennsylvania's Warrantee Township Maps, 482 /Pat Speth Sherman -- Joseph Priestley House, 485 / Patricia Likos Ricci -- Ezechiel Sangmeister's Way of Life in Greater Pennsylvania, 488 / Elizabeth Lewis Pardoe -- John

McMillan's Journal: Presbyterian Sacramental Occasions and the Second Great Awakening, 492 / James L. Gorman -- An Eighteenth-Century Linguistic Borderland, 495 / Sean P. Harvey -- Buried in Plain Sight: Indian "Curiosities" in Du Simitière's American Museum, 499 / Mairin Odle -- Fort Rice, 503 / Brian J. Mast -- A Voice in the Wilderness: Alexander Addison's Case for Peace during the Whiskey Rebellion, 506 / Jeffrey Meyer -- "Upon God Knows What Ground": African American Slavery in Western Pennsylvania, 509 / Y'Hoshua R. Murray -- Little Britain Ledgers, 512 / Michelle M. Mormul.

Barr, Daniel P., ed. 2012. "Introduction" ["Eighteenth-Century Pennsylvania Backcountry"]. Special issue, *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 136, no. 4 (October): 331-335.

Bartlett, Richard A. 2006. "Frontier Heritage." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 3: *History*, ed. C. Wilson, 99-106. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Bassitt, Helen M. 2009. *Rumors of War*. Kanawha Chronicles, vol. 2. Charleston, W. Va.: Evergreen Syndicate. 269 pp. Stories from Revolutionary War-era through WWII, Kanawha River Valley, W. Va.

Bassitt, Helen M. 2009. *Tales from Coalsmouth*. Kanawha Chronicles, vol. 1. Charleston, W. Va.: Evergreen Syndicate. 220 pp. Settlement-era 1700s in St. Albans, W. Va., in the Kanawha River Valley.

Batson, Mann. 1995. Early Travel and Accommodations Along the Roads of the Upper Part of Greenville County, South Carolina and Surrounding Areas. Self-published, 203 Love Dr., Travelers Rest, S.C. 29690. 192 pp.

Battistini, Robert. 2009. "Federalist Decline and Despair on the Pennsylvanian Frontier: Hugh Henry Brackenridge's *Modern Chivalry*" [800-page picaresque novel (1792-1815)]. *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 133, no. 2 (April): 149-166.

Beeman, Richard R. 2004. "The Unsettling Political Cultures of the Backcountry: The Southern Backcountry" [Va. and the Carolinas]. Chap. 6 in *The Varieties of Political Experience in Eighteenth-Century America*, 157-182. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Belue, Ted Franklin, ed. 1997. A Sketch of the Life and Character of Daniel Boone: A Memoir by Peter Houston [written in 1842]. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 96 pp.

Belue, Ted Franklin. 1996. *The Long Hunt: Death of the Buffalo East of the Mississippi* [historical accounts; pre-1830]. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 237 pp.

Belue, Ted Franklin. 2003. *The Hunters of Kentucky: A Narrative History of America's First Far West, 1750-1792.* Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole. 315 pp.

Bergmann, William H. 2008. "A 'Commercial View of this Unfortunate War': Economic Roots of an American National State in the Ohio Valley, 1775-1795" [Ky.]. *Early American Studies, An Interdisciplinary Journal* 6, no. 1: 137-164. Military presence quells Indian attacks.

Bergmann, William H. 2008. "Delivering a Nation through the Mail: The Post Office in the Ohio Valley, 1789-1815." *Ohio Valley History* 8, no. 3 (Fall): 1-18. Roads, political economy and westward expansion.

Bergmann, William H. 2012. *The American National State and the Early West*. New York: Cambridge University Press. 288 pp. Ohio River Valley and the southern Great Lakes.

Blackmon, Richard. 2012. *Dark and Bloody Ground: The American Revolution Along the Southern Frontier*. Yardley, Pa.: Westholme. 310 pp. The author "explains the complex points of contact in Georgia, Kentucky, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee, and Virginia between native groups and settlers....[and] also explains the critical role of the southern frontier to the American victory...achieved long after the decision at Yorktown."

Blair, Anthony L. 2008. "Schism on the Susquehanna: Community and Congregational Conflict on the Pennsylvania Frontier during the Era of the Great Awakening." *Pennsylvania History* 75, no. 1 (Winter): 1-25. Dauphin County; Presbyterians.

Blessing, Tim H. 1998. "The Upper Juniata Valley" [south-central Pa.]. In *Beyond Philadelphia: The American Revolution in the Pennsylvania Hinterland*, ed. J. Frantz, W. Pencak, 153-170. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Blethen, H. Tyler, and Curtis W. Wood, Jr. 1997. "Scotch-Irish Frontier Society in Southwestern North Carolina, 1780-1840." In *Ulster and North America: Transatlantic Perspectives on the Scotch-Irish*, ed. H. Blethen, C. Wood, Jr., 213-226. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Blethen, H. Tyler. 1994. "The Transmission of Scottish Culture to the Southern Back Country." In *Appalachian Adaptations to a Changing World*, ed. Norma Myers. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 6: 59-72. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Blethen, H. Tyler. 2004. "Pioneer Settlement." In *High Mountains Rising: Appalachia in Time and Place*, ed. R. Straw and H. Blethen, 17-29. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Boone, Nathan. [1999] 2012. *My Father, Daniel Boone: The Draper Interviews with Nathan Boone* [1851]. Edited by Neal O. Hammon; Introduction by Nelson L. Dawson. Rpt. ed. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 180 pp.

Boyd-Bragg, Dorothy A., ed. 2005. *Portals to Shenandoah Valley Folkways*. Staunton, Va.: Published by Lot's Wife Publishing for the Augusta County Historical Society and the Harrisonburg-Rockingham Historical Society. 137 pp. Contents: Introduction: Portals to Shenandoah Valley folkways / John L. Heatwole -- The landscape of memory / John L. Heatwole -- "All of 'em had to be belled": two hundred and fifty years of cattle drives and grazing in western Virginia / Nancy T. Sorrells -- The real thing: traditions & technology in the

Shenandoah Valley / Scott Hamilton Suter -- Comfort foods and food remedies in 19th-century cooking manuals / Danielle M. Torisky.

Breazeale, J. W. M. 2009 [1842]. *Life as It Is, or, Matters and Things in General: Containing amongst Other Things, Historical Sketches of the Exploration and First Settlement of the State of Tennessee* [from 1760s—]. Foreword by Durwood Dunn. Appalachian Echoes series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 256 pp. Originally published: Knoxville: Printed by J. Williams.

Britton, David. 2012. "Desperate Enterprizes and Men of Broken Fortunes: Loyalty and Identity on the Tennessee Frontier, 1793-1794" [Middle Tenn.]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 70, no. 4 (Winter): 288-299.

Brown, Ellen Apperson. 2003. "What Really Happened at Drapers Meadows?: The Evolution of a Frontier Legend." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 7: 5-21. Drapers Meadow Massacre of 1755 near present-day Blacksburg, Va., resulted in Mary Draper Ingles' legendary Shawnee captivity and escape. This article examines two written accounts of the massacre, based on family oral histories, by Letitia Preston Floyd and John P. Hale, great grandson of Ingles. James Alexander Thom, author of *Follow the River* (1981) is also mentioned.

Brown, Meredith Mason. 2009. "The Central Role of William Preston and Other Smithfield Region Leaders in the Opening Up of Kentucky" [1740s-1780s; Blacksburg, Va.]. Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge 13: 29-42.

Brown, William Dodd. 1999. "Dangerous Situation, Delayed Response: Col. John Bowman and the Kentucky Expedition of 1777" [Boonesborough]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 97 (Spring): 137-158.

Bruckner, Martin. 2005. "Mapping the 'American South': Image, Archive, and the Textual Construction of Regional Identity in the Age of Washington" [Appalachian Mountains as western border]. Chap. 2 in *George Washington's South*, ed. T. Harvey and G. O'Brien, 42-68. Gainesville: University Press of Florida.

Bruggeman, Seth C. 2010. "The Shenandoah River Gundalow" [boat]. *Virginia Magazine of History and Biography* 118, no. 4: 314-349. Discusses early 19th-century river commerce especially with use of flat-bottomed gundalow boats which were scrapped and sold with their cargo at final destination.

Brunot, William K. 2009. "The Building of the Lewis and Clark Boat in Pittsburgh" [1803]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 92, no. 4 (Winter): 22-37. Drawings, maps; keelboat and barge building industry, 1780s-1790s. (See also: "Lewis & Clark's Boat: Barging West," by David Purdy, pp. 38-47).

Buchanan, John. 2001. *Jackson's Way: Andrew Jackson and the People of the Western Waters* [military history; Tenn. frontier; Indian resettlement]. New York: Wiley. 434 pp.

Burns, David M. 2000. *Gateway: Dr. Thomas Walker and the Opening of Kentucky* [1750s exploration; Cumberland Gap; 90 illustrations]. Introduction by Thomas D. Clark. Middlesboro, Ky.: Bell County Historical Society. 100 pp.

Burton, K. Melissa. 2008. *Kentucky's Boone: The Pioneer Spirit* [juvenile literature]. Illustrations by James Asher. Kuttawa, Ky.: McClanahan. 32 pp.

Butts, Edward. 2011. Simon Girty: Wilderness Warrior [1741-1818; Ohio Valley]. Toronto: Dundurn Press. 276 pp. "Scorned by his fellow white frontiersmen as an 'Indian lover,' Girty became an Indian agent for the British. He accompanied Native raids against Americans, spied deep into enemy territory, and was influential in convincing the tribes to fight for the British In U.S. history books he is a villain even worse than Benedict Arnold. Yet in Canada, Girty is regarded as a Loyalist hero."

Caldwell, John. 1997. "The Creation of Allegheny County" [Pa.; 1788; from division of Washington and Westmoreland Cos.]. *Pittsburgh History* 80 (Spring): 26-31.

Calhoon, Robert M. 2009. "Ordered Liberty in the Southern Backcountry and the Middle West." Chap. 3 in *Political Moderation in America's First Two Centuries*, by R. Calhoon, 146-195. New York: Cambridge University Press. An earlier version of this paper was published in the online *Journal of Backcountry Studies*, vol. 1, no. 2 (Fall, 2006): 13 pp. http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ojs/index.php/jbc/issue/view/14.

Calloway, Brenda C. 2002. *Trek of the Ancient Spirits: Early History of Bays Mountain* [Tenn.; natural history, Native Americans; frontier life]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 118 pp.

Calloway, Colin G. 2006. *The Scratch of a Pen: 1763 and the Transformation of North America*. Pivotal Moments in American History. New York: Oxford University Press. 219 pp.

Campbell, William J. 2009. "An Adverse Patron: Land, Trade, and George Croghan." *Pennsylvania History* 76, no. 2 (Spring): 117-140. 18th-century trader and speculator; Ohio Country; Onandaga; Seven Years' War.

Campbell, William J. 2012. *Speculators in Empire: Iroquoia and the 1768 Treaty of Fort Stanwix*. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press. 278 pp. Chap. 2 is titled, "The Carrying Place, War, and the Ohio Country.

Caruso, John Anthony. [1959] 2003. *The Appalachian Frontier: America's First Surge Westward*. Reprint, with an introduction by John C. Inscoe. Appalachian Echoes. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 408 pp. Originally published: Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill.

Cashin, Edward J. 2000. *William Bartram and the American Revolution on the Southern Frontier* [elucidates Quaker/naturalist Bartram's 18th-century travel writings]. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 319 pp.

Cashin, Edward. 1998. "From Creeks to Crackers" [Ga]. In *The Southern Colonial Backcountry: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Frontier Communities*, ed. D. Crass, et al., 69-75. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Cayton, Andrew R. L. 2001. "Artery and Border: The Ambiguous Development of the Ohio Valley in the Early Republic." *Ohio Valley History* 1, no. 1 (Winter): 19-26. "The Ohio River and its tributaries were the tyrants of the valley. No farmer could expect to do well financially without easy access to navigable water."

Cayton, Andrew R. L. 2005. "The Significance of Ohio in the Early American Republic." Introduction to *The Center of a Great Empire: The Ohio Country in the Early American Republic*, ed. A. Cayton and S. Hobbs, 1-9. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Chartrand, René. 2012. *Tomahawk and Musket: French and Indian Raids in the Ohio Valley 1758*. Oxford: Osprey. 80 pp. Heavily illustrated.

Clark, Thomas D. [1957] 2005. "The Common-Man Tradition in the Literature of the Frontier" [reprinted from the *Michigan Alumnus Review*]. Register of the Kentucky Historical Society 103, nos.1-2: 125-142.

Clark, Thomas D., and John D. W. Guice. [1989] 1996. *The Old Southwest, 1795-1830: Frontiers in Conflict*. Reprint, with a foreword by Howard R. Lamar. Norman: University of Oklahoma. 335 pp.

Clayton, LaReine Warden. 1995. *Stories of Early Inns and Taverns of the East Tennessee Country* [endpapers map: "Routes of Migration in the Old East Tennessee Country, 1760-1860"]. Edited by Jane Gray Buchanan; foreword by Wilma Dykeman. Nashville: National Society of the Colonial Dames of America in the State of Tennessee. 178 pp.

Clements, Paul. 2005. "Tennessee Notes: An Analysis of 'The Original' Donelson Journal and Associated Accounts of the Donelson Party Voyage" [1779-1780; Col. John Donelson; Cumberland River to Nashville]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 64, no. 4 (Winter): 338-349.

Coonts, Violet Gadd, assisted by Gilbert Gray Coonts and Harold Cart Gadd. [1981, 1991] 2008. *The Western Waters: Early Settlers of Eastern Barbour County, West Virginia.* 3rd ed. Colorado Springs, Colo.: Stephen P. Coonts. 439 pp. Originally published: Buckhannon, W. Va.: V. G. Coonts.

Coonts, Violet Gadd. [1991] 2008. *The Western Waters: Early Settlers of Eastern Barbour County, West Virginia* [1700s]. 3rd ed. By Violet Gadd Coonts (1913-2007), assisted by Gilbert Gray Coonts, and Harold Cart Gadd. Colorado Springs, Colo.: S.P. Coonts. 442 pp.

Cooper, Patricia Irwin. 2012. "Cabins and Deerskins: Log Building and the Charles Town Indian Trade" [now Charleston, Bradley Co., Tenn.]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 71, no. 1 (Spring): 2-15. "How can we account for Cherokee log building so early..." [early 1700s].

Crass, David Colin, Steven D. Smith, Martha A. Zierden, and Richard D. Brooks. 1998. "Introduction: Southern Frontier Communities Viewed Through the Archaeological Eye." In *The Southern Colonial Backcountry: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Frontier Communities*, ed. D. Crass, et al., xiii-xxvii. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Crass, David Colin, Steven D. Smith, Martha A. Zierden, and Richard D. Brooks, ed. 1998. *The Southern Colonial Backcountry: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Frontier Communities* [Va., N.C., S.C., Tenn.]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 288 pp.

Crawford, B. Scott. 2008. "A Frontier of Fear: Terrorism and Social Tension along Virginia's Western Waters, 1742–1775." *West Virginia History*, n.s. 2, no. 2 (Fall): 1-29. Shawnee, Cherokee; Shenandoah Valley, Ohio Valley.

Crawford, Dan. 2002. "Batteaux on Virginia's Rivers." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 6: 6-25. Map; transport statistics. Includes the James, Roanoke/Staunton, and New Rivers.

Crawford, Jim. 1999. "Bottom Creek -- From Community to Conservancy." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 3: 37-51. Local history from prehistory to 1950s demise to 1988 purchase by the Nature Conservancy (Montgomery Co., Va.).

Crawford, Scott. 1998. "Ties to External Markets: Imports and Exports in the New River Valley, 1745-1789." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 2: 23-38.

Crist, Robert G. 1998. "Cumberland County" [comprised western Pa., 1750-1771]. In *Beyond Philadelphia: The American Revolution in the Pennsylvania Hinterland*, ed. J. Frantz, W. Pencak, 105-132. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Crocker, Thomas E. 2009. *Braddock's March: How the Man Sent to Seize a Continent Changed American History*. Yardley, Pa.: Westholme. 335 pp. British General Edward Braddock's disastrous 1755 expedition from present day Cumberland, Md. to Pittsburgh, across the Alleghenies, against Fort Duquesne and subsequent defeat by the French and Indians.

Crotty, Gene. 2002. *Jefferson's Western Travels: Over Virginia's Blue Ridge Mountains*. Charlottesville, Va.: The Author]. 225 pp. Contents: Western Virginia legal practice, August 19, 1767 to August 20, 1773 -- To Natural Bridge, Rockbridge County, Virginia, August 23, 1767 -- To "Marlboro" country, Frederick County, Virginia, October 17-24, 1783 -- To Bath County, Virginia, August 4-31, 1818 -- Appendix A. "Selim" the Algerine -- Appendix B. Retracing Jefferson's western travels on modern state roads.

Crytzer, Brady. 2011. *Major Washington's Pittsburgh and the Mission to Fort Le Boeuf* [1753]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 125 pp. "Using firsthand accounts, including the journals of George Washington...Crytzer reconstructs the complex world of eighteenth-century Pittsburgh."

Crytzer, Brady. 2012. Fort Pitt: A Frontier History. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 190 pp. Eighteenth-century Pittsburgh and southwestern Pa.

Cumming, William P. 1998. *The Southeast in Early Maps*. 3rd ed., revised and enlarged by Louis De Vorsey, Jr. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 362 pp; 96 maps.

David, James Corbett. 2012. "A Reinterpretation of Dunmore's War." *Journal of Backcountry Studies* 7, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 1-3. Excerpt from the author's forthcoming biography of Lord Dumore, the last Royal Governor of Virginia, depicting the peace settlement after his invasion of Indian lands in the Ohio Valley, July to October, 1774. http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ojs/index.php/jbc/issue/view/45.

Davis, Donald Edward. 1995. "Before Albion's Seed: Other Influences on Appalachian Culture." In *Appalachia and the Politics of Culture*, ed. E. C. Fine. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 7: 57-66. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Davis, Julia. [1945] 2011. *Shenandoah* [Shenandoah Valley and River history]. Introduction by Christopher Camuto. West Virginia Classics series, no. 2. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 355 pp. Originally published: New York: Farrar & Rinehart, as a title in the landmark Rivers of America series.

De Vorsey, Louis, Jr. 2001. "Searching for William Bartram's Buffalo Lick" [a key frontier landmarker on the 1773 Georgia-Indian Boundary Line, mentioned in Bartram's 18th-century *Travels*]. *Southeastern Geographer* 41 (November): 159-183.

Denaci, Ruth Ann. 2007. "The Penn's Creek Massacre and the Captivity of Marie Le Roy and Barbara Leininger" [1755-1759; primary sources]. *Pennsylvania History* 74, no. 3 (Summer): 307-332.

Dixon, David. 2005. *Never Come to Peace Again: Pontiac's Uprising and the Fate of the British Empire in North America* [1763]. Campaigns and Commanders, vol. 7. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press. 353 pp.

Dixon, David. 2007. "A High Wind Rising: George Washington, Fort Necessity, and the Ohio Country Indians" [Seneca leader Tanaghrisson; 1748, 1753]. *Pennsylvania History* 74, no. 3 (Summer): 333-353.

Dowd, Gregory Evans. 1998. "'Insidious Friends': Gift Giving and the Cherokee-British Alliance in the Seven Years' War." In *Contact Points: American Frontiers from the Mohawk Valley to the Mississippi, 1750-1830*, ed. A. Cayton, R. Teute, 114-150. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Dunaway, Wilma A. 1995. "Speculators and Settler Capitalists: Unthinking the Mythology About Appalachian Landholding, 1790-1860." In *Appalachia in the Making: The Mountain*

South in the Nineteenth Century, ed. M. Pudup, D. Billings, and A. Waller, 50-75. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Dunaway, Wilma A. 1996. *The First American Frontier: Transition to Capitalism in Southern Appalachia, 1700-1860*. Fred W. Morrison Series in Southern Studies. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 468 pp. Revisionist study of settlement and Indian displacement; Weatherford Award winner.

Dunaway, Wilma A. 1998. "The Spatial Organization of Trade and Class Struggle over Transport Infrastructure: Southern Appalachia, 1830-1860." In *Space and Transport in the World System*, ed. P. Ciccantell, S. Bunker, 107-124. Contributions in Economics and Economic History, no. 191. Studies in the Political Economy of the World-System. Westport, Conn.: Greenwood Press.

Duncan, Richard R. 1998. Lee's Endangered Left: The Civil War in Western Virginia, Spring of 1864. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 346 pp.

Dunn, Durwood. 1997. An Abolitionist in the Appalachian South: Ezekiel Birdseye on Slavery, Capitalism, and Separate Statehood in East Tennessee, 1841-1846. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 306 pp.

Dunn, Walter S. 2007. *Choosing Sides on the Frontier in the American Revolution*. Westport, Conn.: Praeger. 185 pp. Contents: Land | The fur traders | The settlers | The Native Americans | The Loyalists | The British Army | The Quebec Act, 1774 | Dunmore's War, 1774 | Neutrality, 1775 | Choosing sides, 1776.

Durham, Walter T. 1994. "Westward with Anthony Bledsoe: The Life of an Overmountain Frontier Leader." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 53 (Spring): 2-19.

Eckert, Allan W. 1995. *That Dark and Bloody River: Chronicles of the Ohio River Valley*. New York: Bantam Books.

Eckert, Allan W. [1967] 2001. *The Frontiersmen: A Narrative* [Ohio River Valley, 1770-1813; Simon Kenton; Tecumsuh]. Reprint. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 626 pp. Originally published: Boston: Little, Brown.

Eldridge, Carrie. 1998. An Atlas of Appalachian Trails to the Ohio River: A Collection of Maps with Bibliography. Chesapeake, Ohio: C. Eldridge. 40 pp. (Huntington, W. Va.: CDM Printing). Available from Carrie Eldridge, 3118 CR 31 Big Branch, Chesapeake, Ohio 45619.

Elliott, Ella Zerbey. [1906] 2011. *Old Schuylkill Tales: A History of Interesting Events*, *Traditions and Anecdotes of the Early Settlers of Schuylkill County, Pennsylvania* [facsimile of original 1906 ed.]. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 344 pp. Originally published: Pottsville, Pa.: E.Z. Elliott. "A collection of folklore, stories, anecdotes, and reminiscences...[from] the eighteenth century to its foundation as a county and growth into a major hub of mining and industry."

Ellis, Robert. 2009. "Colonel Morgan Morgan and His Descendants" [b. 1688, Cardiff, Wales]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 11: 42-43. Progenitor of a number of figures important in W. Va. history including sons David (b. 1721), and Zackquill.

Ellison, Rhoda Coleman. [1984] 1999. *Bibb County, Alabama: The First Hundred Years, 1818-1918*. Rpt. ed. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 304 pp.

Enoch, Harry G. 1997. *In Search of Morgan's Station and 'The Last Indian Raid in Kentucky'* [1793]. Mt. Sterling, Ky.: Montgomery County Historical Society. 208 pp.

Eslinger, Ellen, ed. 2004. *Running Mad for Kentucky: Frontier Travel Accounts* [13 travel diaries, 1775-1796; Wilderness Road; Ohio River]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 288 pp.

Faris, John Thomson. [1927] 1999. *Nolichucky Jack* [fictional biography of John Sevier, 1745-1815]. Johnson City, Tenn: Overmountain Press. 288 pp. Originally published: Philadelphia: J. B. Lippincott.

Farr, Jason. 2012. "A Glorious Failure: The State of Franklin and American Independence" [East Tennessee, 1784-1789]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 70, no. 4 (Winter): 276-287.

Faulkner, Charles H. 1998. "'Here Are Frame Houses and Brick Chimneys': Knoxville, Tennessee, in the Late Eighteenth Century." In *The Southern Colonial Backcountry: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Frontier Communities*, ed. D. Crass, et al., 137-161. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Fausz, J. Frederick. 1998. "'Engaged in Enterprises Pregnant with Terror': George Washington's Formative Years among the Indians." In *George Washington and the Virginia Backcountry*, ed. W. Hofstra, 115-155. Madison, Wis.: Madison House Publishers.

Fecher, Rebecca Taft. 2008. "The Trading Path and North Carolina" [18th century]. *Journal of Backcountry Studies* (online) 3, no. 2 (Fall): 13 pp. http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ojs/index.php/jbc/issue/view/10.

Finger, John R. 2001. *Tennessee Frontiers: Three Regions in Transition* [to 1840]. History of the Trans-Appalachian Frontier. Bloomington: Indiana University Press. 352 pp.

First Families of Tennessee: A Register of Early Settlers and Their Present-Day Descendants. 2000. Foreword by Wilma Dykeman; preface by Lamar Alexander. Knoxville: East Tennessee Historical Society. 479 pp.

Fischer, David Hackett, and James C. Kelly. 2000. *Bound Away: Virginia and the Westward Movement* [migration]. Charlottesville: University Press of Virginia. 366 pp.

Fitzpatrick, Alan. 2005. Wilderness War on the Ohio: The Untold Story of the Savage Battle for British and Indian Control of the Ohio Country During the American Revolution. 2nd ed. Benwood, W. Va. (Box 481C Benwood Hill Rd., Benwood, WV 26031): Fort Henry Publications. 628 pp.

Fitzpatrick, Alan. 2009. *In Their Own Words: Native-American Voices from the American Revolution* [primary sources]. Benwood, W. Va.: Fort Henry Publications. 375 pp. Contents: Foreword | Introduction | Documents: 1774 to 1784 | Bibliography | Appendices: List of Native American orators by name, date, tribe, status, council sites and bibliographic notes -- Sworn interpreters at councils with the Indians -- Wampum strings and belts: their purposes and descriptions -- 18th century Indian council ritual and protocol -- General Haldimand's speech to the Oneida Indians and its Iroquois translation -- Acknowledgements.

Flannery, Michael A. 1994. "The Significance of the Frontier Thesis in Kentucky Culture: A Study in Historical Practice and Perception." *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 92 (Summer): 239-266.

Floyd, Letitia Preston. 1997. "Recollections of 18th Century Virginia Frontier Life." Introduction by Wirt H. Wills; Transcription by June Stubbs. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 1: 3-16. "History of 'The Preston Family': Copied from Mrs. Letitia Floyd's manuscript, 1843" [18th-century Augusta Co.]. Much of the focus is on the author's father, Col. William Preston (b. 1729, Limavady(?), Ireland; d. 1783).

Floyd, Letitia Preston. 1998. "John Floyd, Kentucky Hero, and Three Generations of Floyds and Prestons of Virginia." Introduction by Wirt H. Wills; Transcription by June Stubbs. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 2: 39-51. This transcription is a continuation of the author's "Recollections" (vol. 1, 1997), and focuses on her husband's father, Col. John Floyd (1750-1783).

Folmar, John Kent. 2006. *Gleanings from Pittsburgh & W. Pa.: Newspaper, &c, Views, 1786-1886.* California, Pa.: Yohogania Press. 260 pp. Forty-four primary source articles, thirty of them from the *Pittsburgh Gazette*.

Foster, Dave. 2002. *Tennessee: Territory to Statehood* [juvenile literature]. Johnson City, Tenn: Overmountain Press. 89 pp.

Foster, Emily, ed. 1996. *The Ohio Frontier: An Anthology of Early Writings*. Ohio River Valley Series. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 248 pp.

Frazier, Paul. 2001. "Mining for Victory: Daniel Roberdeau's Lead Mine and Fort" [1778-1783; Altoona, Pa.]. Western Pennsylvania History 84 (Summer): 12-19.

Friend, Craig Thompson, ed. 1999. *The Buzzel About Kentuck: Settling the Promised Land* [11 essays]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 268 pp.

Friend, Craig Thompson. 1996. "Fond Illusions' and Environmental Transformations Along the Maysville-Lexington Road" [1770-1810 in-migration]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 94 (Winter): 4-32.

Friend, Craig Thompson. 2005. *Along the Maysville Road: The Early Republic in the TransAppalachian West*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 378 pp. Key migratory route 1770s-1830s; 65 miles from Ohio River to Lexington, Ky.

Friend, Craig Thompson. 2010. *Kentucke's Frontiers* [1720s-1812]. Bloomington: Indiana University Press. 369 pp. History of the Trans-Appalachian Frontier series. Contents: The Indians' frontiers | Colonial Kentucke | Revolutions | Peopling Kentucke | Seeking security and stability | From Kentucke to Kentucky | An Old South frontier | Remembering | Epilogue.

Fulgham, Richard Lee. 2000. Appalachian Genesis: The Clinch River Valley from Prehistoric Times to the End of the Frontier Era [historic Indian-settler clashes]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 156 pp.

Furbee, Mary R. 2001. *Anne Bailey: Frontier Scout* [1742-1825; W. Va.; juvenile literature]. Greensboro, N.C.: Morgan Reynolds. 112 pp.

Furbee, Mary R. 2001. *Shawnee Captive: The Story of Mary Draper Ingles* [Va.; 1732-1815; juvenile literature]. Greensboro, N.C.: Morgan Reynolds. 112 pp.

Gaff, Alan D. 2004. *Bayonets in the Wilderness: Anthony Wayne's Legion in the Old Northwest* [1790s Ohio River Valley]. Campaigns and Commanders, vol. 4. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press. 419 pp.

Gallo, Marcus. 2012. "'Fair Play Has Entirely Ceased, and Law Has Taken Its Place': The Rise and Fall of the Squatter Republic in the West Branch Valley of the Susquehanna River, 1768–1800." *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 136, no. 4 (October): 405-434.

Garbarino, William. 2000. Along the Allegheny: A History of the Early Events Along the Allegheny and Its Tributaries. Midway, Pa.: Midway Publishing. 84 pp.

Garbarino, William. 2000. Along the Monongahela: A History of the Early Events Along the Monongahela and Its Tributaries. Midway, Pa.: Midway Publishing. 97 pp.

Garbarino, William. 2001. *Indian Wars Along the Upper Ohio: A History of the Indian Wars and Related Events Along the Upper Ohio and Its Tributaries*. Midway, Pa.: Midway Publishing. 127 pp.

Garbarino, William. [2000] 2005. Along the Allegheny: A History of the Early Events Along the Allegheny and Its Tributaries [Western Pa.; Indian wars; forts; early navigation]. Midway, Pa.: Midway Publishing. 84 pp.

Gavin, Michael Thomas. 2002. "Log Cabin Folklore: Chinking and Daubing Tales" [anecdotes of frontier survival]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 60, no. 2: 69-81.

Gilmore, Peter. 2011. "Said to have left His Wife in Ireland:' Adultery, Bigamy and

Desertion in Ulster Presbyterian Migration to Pennsylvania, 1780-1815" [southwestern Pa.]. *Journal of Backcountry Studies* 6, no. 1. 6,500 words. Based on a paper delivered 26 June 2010 at the XVIII Ulster American Heritage Symposium, Cullowhee, N.C. http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ojs/index.php/jbc.

Glanville, Jim, and John M. Preston. 2009. "Aspenvale Cemetery and Its Place in the History of Southwest Virginia" [Smyth Co.]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 13: 87-136, including map.

Glanville, Jim. 2010. "The Fincastle Resolutions" [Va.; 1774-1775]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 14: 69-119. Tables. Discusses the fight against Indians in Lord Dunmore's War, and the rights of American liberty.

Glanville, Jim, and Ryan Mays. 2011. "The Mysterious Origins of James Patton, Part 1" [c.1692-1755]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 15: 35-64. Scotch-Irish immigrant; origins; Southwest Va. history.

Glanville, Jim. 2011. "The Siting of Smithfield in Relation to the Fincastle Botetourt County Line" [Va.; 1772]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 15: 95-100. "Between 1745 and 1800 no fewer than 20 [Va.] counties were established west of the Blue Ridge Mountains."

Glanville, Jim. 2012. "Southwest Virginia: A Thoroughfare of Nation-Building." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 16: 77-123. Maps, figures. Introduction | Before 1513: Prehistory | 1513-1570: Spanish contacts | 1570-1700: Disease and colonization | 1700-1730: Governor Spotswood and Indian trade | 1730-1753: Settlement in Augusta County and down Virginia's Great Southwest Road | 1754-1775: Virginia's Great Southwest Road becomes a thoroughfare | 1775-1804: Revolution and the founding of the states of the Upper South | 1805-1854: Founding of the states of the Deep South | The ideas the Virginians carried down Virginia's Great Southwest Road.

Griffin, Patrick. 2007. *American Leviathan: Empire, Nation, and Revolutionary Frontier* [Ohio Valley, 1763-1795; lawless settlers and Indian slayers]. New York: Hill and Wang. 368 pp.

Gruenwald, Kim M. 1996. "Marietta's Example of a Settlement Pattern in the Ohio Country." *Ohio History* 105 (Summer-Autumn): 125-144. http://publications.ohiohistory.org/ohstemplate.cfm?action=toc&vol=105.

Gruenwald, Kim M. 2002. *River of Enterprise: The Commercial Origins of Regional Identity in the Ohio Valley, 1790-1850.* Midwestern History and Culture. Bloomington: Indiana University Press. 214 pp.

Gruenwald, Kim M. 2004. "Space and Place on the Early American Frontier: The Ohio Valley as a Region, 1790-1850." *Ohio Valley History* 4 (Fall): 31-48.

Guice, John D. W. 2010. "Bedfellows and Bedbugs: Stands on the Natchez Trace" [Choctaw and Chickasaw country]. *Southern Quarterly* 48, no. 1 (October): 7-26. "Because the Native Americans held firm in their reluctance to permit whites to construct travel facilities, houses of accommodation remained extremely scarce."

Guice, John D. W. 2010. "Bedfellows and Bedbugs: Stands on the Natchez Trace" [1800]. *Southern Quarterly* 48, no. 1 (Fall): 7-26. Post road, Natchez, Miss. to Nashville; Choctaw and Chickasaw Indians.

Guy, Robert J. Jr. 2010. "William Thompson and the Pennsylvania Riflemen" [1775-1780]. Chap. 10 in *Pennsylvania's Revolution*, ed. W. Pencak, 219-230. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Hagood, Thomas Chase. 2011. "'I look upon the long journey, through the wilderness, with much pleasure': Experiencing the Early Republic's Southern Frontier." *Journal of Backcountry Studies* 6, no. 1. 5,000 words. Alabama (1810s-1820s); frontier Tuscaloosa; Davy Crockett. http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ojs/index.php/jbc.

Hallock, Thomas. 2003. "The Contested West: John Filson's *Kentucke*." Chap. 2 in *From the Fallen Tree: Frontier Narratives, Environmental Politics, and the Roots of a National Pastoral, 1749-1826*, 56-74. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Hammon, Neal O. 2000. "Pioneer Routes in Central Kentucky" [overland; buffalo traces; 1770s]. Filson Club Historical Quarterly 74 (Spring): 125-143.

Hammon, Neal O. 2002. "Kentucky Pioneer Forts and Stations" [approx. 260 listed and described, 1770s-1790s]. *Filson Historical Quarterly* 76 (Fall): 523-586.

Hammon, Neal O. 2005. *Daniel Boone and the Defeat at Blue Licks* [Ky., 1782]. Sumter, S.C.: Boone Society. 139 pp. Detailed account; maps; appendices.

Hammon, Neal O., and James Russell Harris. 2004. "Daniel Boone the Surveyor: Old Images and New Realities." *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 102, no. 4: 534-566.

Hammon, Neal O., and Richard Taylor. 2002. *Virginia's Western War: 1775-1786*. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books. 279 pp.

Haynes, Robert V. 2010. *The Mississippi Territory and the Southwest Frontier*, *1795-1817*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 431 pp. Explores post-Civil War vigilantism in Monett, Pierce City, Joplin, and Springfield, Mo. and Harrison, Ark., and addresses relations with Native American tribes, with a chapter on "The Creek War."

Hendricks, Christopher E. 2006. *The Backcountry Towns of Colonial Virginia* [25 attempted town formations]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 186 pp. Contents: The promised fruits of well-ordered towns | The Piedmont | The southside | The great valley | The mountains | To cohabit in towns.

Hendricks, Christopher E. 2006. *The Backcountry Towns of Colonial Virginia* [includes chapters on Shenandoah Valley and "The Mountains"]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 186 pp.

Hensley, Judith Victoria. 2003. "A Bit of Appalachian Eden: Hensley Settlement" [founded 1803; Brush Mountain, Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Summer): 3-9.

Hinderaker, Eric, and Peter C. Mancall. 2003. At the Edge of Empire: The Backcountry in British North America. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 210 pp.

Hinderaker, Eric. 1997. *Elusive Empires: Constructing Colonialism in the Ohio Valley, 1673-1800.* New York: Cambridge University Press. 299 pp.

Hintzen, William, and Joseph Roxby. 2000. *The Heroic Age: Tales of Wheeling's Frontier Era* [W. Va.]. Self-published, printed by Closson Press, Apollo, Pa. 135 pp.

Hintzen, William. 1996. "Betty Zane, Lydia Boggs, and Molly Scott: The Gunpowder Exploits at Fort Henry" [1782, present site of Wheeling, W. Va.]. *West Virginia History* 55 (1996): 25-40.

Hintzen, William. 1999. *The Border Wars of the Upper Ohio Valley (1769-1794)*. Manchester, Conn.: Precision Shooting. 390 pp.

Hodge, Jennie. 2012. "Spring's Green Peas, Nocturnal Thieves, and Other Family Lore about Susan Preston" [anecdotes]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 16: 68-76. Susanna Smith Preston, b. 1739, was wife of American Revolutionary hero Col. William Preston of Smithfield Plantation in Blacksburg, Va.

Hodgkins, Hope. 2011. "Reading Boone's Writing: Issues in Backcountry Literacy." *Journal of Backcountry Studies* 6, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 1-17. Eighteenth-century Carolinas and Kentucky. http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ojs/index.php/jbc/issue/view/28.

Hoffman, Phillip W. 2008. Simon Girty, Turncoat Hero: The Most Hated Man on the Early American Frontier [1741-1818]. Franklin, Tenn.: American History Imprints. 345 pp.

Hofstra, Warren R. 1998. "'A Parcel of Barbarian's and an Uncooth Set of People': Settlers and Settlements of the Shenandoah Valley." In *George Washington and the Virginia Backcountry*, ed. W. Hofstra, 87-114. Madison, Wis.: Madison House Publishers.

Hofstra, Warren R. 1998. "'The Extention of His Majesties Dominions': The Virginia Backcountry and the Reconfiguration of Imperial Frontiers." *Journal of American History* 84 (March): 1281-1312.

Hofstra, Warren R. 1998. "Epilogue: Interdisciplinary Dialogues on the Southern Colonial Backcountry, 1893-1998." In *The Southern Colonial Backcountry: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Frontier Communities*, ed. D. Crass, et al., 221-236. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Hofstra, Warren R. 2004. *The Planting of New Virginia: Settlement and Landscape in the Shenandoah Valley* [18th century]. Creating the North American Landscape. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 410 pp.

Hofstra, Warren R. 2005. "'And Die by Inches': George Washington and the Encounter of Cultures on the Southern Colonial Frontier." Chap. 3 in *George Washington's South*, ed. T. Harvey and G. O'Brien, 69-85. Gainesville: University Press of Florida.

Hofstra, Warren R. 2010. "The Colonial Road." Chap. 3 in *The Great Valley Road of Virginia: Shenandoah Landscapes from Prehistory to the Present*, ed. W. Hofstra and K. Raitz, 79-107. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press.

Hofstra, Warren R., and Clarence R. Geier. 2000. "Farm to Mill to Market: Historical Archaeology of an Emerging Grain Economy in the Shenandoah Valley." In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia, 1800-1900*, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 48-61. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Hofstra, Warren R., and Karl Raitz, ed. 2010. *The Great Valley Road of Virginia: Shenandoah Landscapes from Prehistory to the Present* [nine papers; maps, photos, engravings]. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 309 pp.

Hofstra, Warren R., ed. 1998. *George Washington and the Virginia Backcountry* [eight essays]. Madison, Wis.: Madison House Publishers. 265 pp.

Hofstra, Warren R., ed. 2007. *Cultures in Conflict: The Seven Years' War in North America* [1755-1763]. Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield. 191 pp. Contents: Introduction: old forts, new perspectives--thoughts on the Seven Years' War and its significance / Fred Anderson -- British culture and the changing character of the mid-eighteenth-century British empire / Paul Mapp -- Great power confrontation or clash of cultures?: France's war against Britain and its antecedents / Jonathan R. Dull -- War, diplomacy, and culture: the Iroquois experience in the Seven Years' War / Timothy J. Shannon -- Declaring independence: the Ohio Indians and the Seven Years' War / Eric Hinderaker -- How the Seven Years' War turned Americans into (British) patriots / Woody Holton -- The Seven Years' War in Canadian history and memory / Catherine Desbarats and Allan Greer.

Hogeland, William. 2006. The Whiskey Rebellion: George Washington, Alexander Hamilton, and the Frontier Rebels Who Challenged America's Newfound Sovereignty [1794 Pa.]. New York: Scribner. 302 pp.

Horsman, Reginald. 2008. Feast or Famine: Food and Drink in American Westward Expansion. Columbia: University of Missouri Press. 356 pp.

Horton, Tonia Woods. 2000. "Hidden Gardens: The Town Gardens of T. J. 'Stonewall' Jackson and His Lexington Contemporaries" [Va.; kitchen gardens]. In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia, 1800-1900*, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 111-134. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Hsiung, David C. 1998. "'Seeing' Early Appalachian Communities through the Lenses of History, Geography, and Sociology" [Washington Co., Tenn., 1780-1800]. In *The Southern Colonial Backcountry: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Frontier Communities*, ed. D. Crass, et al., 162-181. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Hudson, Charles M.. [1990] 2005. *The Juan Pardo Expeditions: Explorations of the Carolinas and Tennessee*, *1566-1568*. With documents translated by Paul E. Hoffman. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 366 pp. Originally published: Washington: Smithsonian Institution Press.

Humphrey, Thomas J. 2008. "Conflicting Independence: Land Tenancy and the American Revolution." *Journal of the Early Republic* 28, no. 2 (Summer): 160-182. Loudoun County, Va., and Hudson Valley, N.Y.

Hurt, R. Douglas. 1996. *The Ohio Frontier: Crucible of the Old Northwest, 1720-1830*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press. 418 pp.

Hurt, R. Douglas. 1998. *Nathan Boone and the American Frontier* [Daniel Boone's son; biography]. Columbia: University of Missouri Press. 256 pp.

Hyde, Samuel C., Jr. 2002. "Plain Folk Yeomanry in the Antebellum South." In *A Companion to the American South*, ed. J. Boles, 139-155. Blackwell Companions to American History, no. 3. Malden, Mass.: Blackwell.

Ingram, Daniel Patrick. 2012. *Indians and British Outposts in Eighteenth-Century America*. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 257 pp. Six essays including: Introduction: British forts and Indian neighbors | The Key to Carolina: Old Hop, Little Carpenter, and the making of Fort Loudoun, 1756-1759 [Tenn.] | Anxious hospitality: loitering at Fort Allen, 1756-1761 [Pa.].

Ingram, Daniel. 2009. "Anxious Hospitality: Indian 'Loitering' at Fort Allen, 1756-1761." *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 133, no. 3 (July): 221-253. Northampton Co.; northern slope of 150-mile Blue Mountain ridge; Lehigh Valley.

Inman, Natalie. 2011. "A Dark and Bloody Ground': American Indian Responses to Expansion during the American Revolution." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 70, no. 4 (Winter): 258-275.

Irwin, Ned L. 2000. "Collecting Memory: Antiquarians and the Preservation of the Early History of the Trans-Appalachian Frontier" [author is University Archivist at ETSU]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 72: 62-81.

James, Alfred Procter, and Charles Morse Stotz. [1958] 2005. *Drums in the Forest: Decision at the Forks*, by Alfred Procter James; *Defense in the Wilderness*, by Charles Morse Stotz [French and Indian War, 1755-1763]. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Historical Society of Western Pennsylvania: University of Pittsburgh Press. 227 pp.

Jobe, Abraham. 2009. *A Mountaineer in Motion: The Memoir of Dr. Abraham Jobe, 1817-1906* [Cades Cove, Tenn., N.C., Ga., Ala.; pioneer, physician, business man; Civil War; Indian Agent]. Edited by David C. Hsiung. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 206 pp.

Johnson, Rody. 2005. *In Their Footsteps: Explorers, Warriors, Capitalists, and Politicians of West Virginia*. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 273 pp. [Contents: Pioneer John Lewis and his sons (1678-1811) -- Sergeant Patrick Gass of the Lewis and Clark Expedition (1771-1870) -- Captain John Avis, John Brown's jailer (1818-1883) -- John D. and C.C. Lewis, capitalists (1800-1917) -- Governor George W. Atkinson, Republican (1845-1925)].

Jones, K. Randell. 2012. *Trailing Daniel Boone*. Winston-Salem, North Carolina: Daniel Boone Footsteps. 278 pp. During 1912-1915 the DAR erected 45 metal tablets across four hundred miles (N.C., Tenn., Va., and Ky.) marking Boone's "path through the Appalachian Mountain barrier."

Jurick Jeremy. 2006. "A Spatial Analysis of the Early Settlement of Somerset County, Pennsylvania" [1750-1850; six core settlements]. *Pennsylvania Geographer* 44, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 17-38.

Kautz, Jim. 2006. Footprints Across the South: Bartram's Trail Revisited [1729-1823]. Kennesaw, Ga.: Kennesaw State University Press. 304 pp. Contents: 34 chapters including: Finding Bartram's trail -- Travels from Charleston to southeast and northeast Georgia -- The great buffalo lick -- Travels into western North Carolina -- The vale of Cowee -- On Alarka Creek -- Burningtown -- "A world of mountains piled upon mountains" -- "And be merciful to them" -- In the "dreary mountains" -- Travels to the Mississippi River.

Kegley, Mary B. 2010. "Fort Chiswell and Chiswell's Lead Mines of Wythe County, Virginia: A New Perspective" [1750s-1760s]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 14: 52-68.

Kenzer, Robert C. 2008. "An Examination of 'Other Souths'." *Journal of Backcountry Studies* (online) 3, no. 2 (Fall): 4 pp. Alamance Co.; 1860; common surnames and kin networks. http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ojs/index.php/jbc/issue/view/10.

Knepper, George W. 2003. *Ohio and Its People*. 3rd ed. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press. 521 pp. Comprehensive history including settlement, development, maps.

Knouff, Gregory T. 1998. "Soldiers and Violence on the Pennsylvania Frontier." In *Beyond Philadelphia: The American Revolution in the Pennsylvania Hinterland*, ed. J. Frantz and W. Pencak, 171-193. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Knouff, Gregory T. 2004. *The Soldiers' Revolution: Pennsylvanians in Arms and the Forging of Early American Identity*. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 312 pp.

Koons, Kenneth E., and Warren R. Hofstra. 2000. "Introduction: The World Wheat Made" [capitalism; markets; labor; slavery]. In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia*, 1800-1900, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, xvii-xxix. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Koons, Kenneth E., and Warren R. Hofstra, ed. 2000. *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia*, 1800-1900 [19 chapters]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 314 pp.

Koontz, Louis Knott. [1925] 2005. *The Virginia Frontier*, 1754-1763 [Appendix: Pioneer forts, stockades, and block-houses on the Virginia frontier]. Facsimile reprint. Westminster, Md.: Heritage Books. 186 pp. Originally published: Baltimore: Johns Hopkins Press.

Kummerow, Burton K. 2008. "Two Roads: The Race for the Forks of the Ohio & the Future of America." *Western Pennsylvania History* 91, no. 4 (Winter 2008-09): 36-43. Routes blazed over the Allegheny Mountains by General Braddock (1755), and General Forbes (1758)--[today Rts. 40 and 30, respectively].

Lewis, Kenneth E. 1998. "Economic Development in the South Carolina Backcountry: A View from Camden." In *The Southern Colonial Backcountry: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Frontier Communities*, ed. D. Crass, et al., 87-107. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Lewis, Thomas A. 2004. West from Shenandoah: A Scotch-Irish Family Fights for America, 1729-1781: A Journal of Discovery. Hoboken, N.J.: John Wiley & Sons. 262 pp.

Lewis, Virgil A. 1998 [1891, 1907]. *Life and Times of Ann Bailey, The Pioneer Heroine of the Great Kanawha Valley* [W. Va.; 1742-1825]. 2nd ed. Point Pleasant, W. Va.: Discovery Press. 84 pp.

Lockley, Timothy J. 2003. "Public Poor Relief in Buncombe County, North Carolina, 1792-1860." *North Carolina Historical Review* 80 (January): 28-51.

Lofaro, Michael. 2002. "Daniel Boone's American Life: An Interview with Biographer Michael Lofaro." Edited by James Russell Harris and Kenneth H. Williams. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 100 (Autumn): 497-504.

Lofaro, Michael. [2003] 2012. *Daniel Boone: An American Life* [short biography; cf. biographies by Bakeless (1939) and Faragher (1992)]. Rpt. ed. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 220 pp.

Lohrenz, Otto. 2008. "From Indentured Servant to Colonial Virginia Clergyman: The Life of Daniel Sturges" [1752-1812; Berkeley Co.]. West Virginia History, n.s. 2, no. 2 (Fall): 61-78.

Long, John. 2007. "The Indian Captivity Narrative of Charles Johnston." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 11: 5-16. Originally published in 1827 as "A Narrative of the Incidents Attending the Capture, Detention, and Ransom of Charles Johnston of Botetourt County, Virginia." "The article...assesses the historical value of Johnston's recounting of his 1790 experiences among the Shawnee Indians in Upper Sandusky, Ohio, within the captivity narrative genre and judges it one of the clearest and most vivid accounts of its type."

Maass, John R. 2002. "'All This Poor Province Could Do': North Carolina and the Seven Years' War, 1757-1762." *North Carolina Historical Review* 79 (January): 50-89.

Madarasz, Anne. 2009. "A Fertile Land for Development: 16,000 BP--1850." *Western Pennsylvania History* 92, no. 1 (Spring): 4-15. Timeline essay; maps, illustrations.

Mann, Ralph. 1995. "Diversity in the Antebellum Appalachian South: Four Farm Communities in Tazewell County, Virginia." In *Appalachia in the Making: The Mountain South in the Nineteenth Century*, ed. M. Pudup, D. Billings, and A. Waller, 132-162. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Mayer, Holly A. 2006. "From Forts to Families: Following the Army into Western Pennsylvania, 1758-1766" [women's role in the military presence]. *Pennsylvania Magazine of History & Biography* 130, no. 1 (January): 5-43.

Mays, Carl. 2004. *People of Passion: Stories of Faith and Determination That Will Touch Your Heart and Warm Your Soul* [48 historic, personal tales; 1760s-1960s]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 176 pp.

McBride, W. Stephen, Kim Arbogast McBride, and Greg Adamson. 2003. *Frontier Forts in West Virginia: Historical and Archaeological Explorations* [maps, figures, tables]. Charleston: West Virginia Division of Culture and History. 66 pp.

McCleskey, Turk. 1998. "Shadow Land: Provisional Real Estate Claims and Anglo-American Settlement in Southwestern Virginia." In *The Southern Colonial Backcountry: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Frontier Communities*, ed. D. Crass, et al., 56-68. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

McConnell, Michael N. 1992. A Country Between: The Upper Ohio Valley and Its Peoples, 1724-1774. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 357 pp.

McKaughan, Joshua Lee. 2007. "People of Desperate Fortune: Power and Populations in the

North Carolina Backcountry" [1740s-1770s]. *Journal of Backcountry Studies* (online) 2, no. 1: 38 pp. http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ojs/index.php/jbc/issue/view/13.

McKinney, Gordon B. 1995. "Economy and Community in Western North Carolina, 1860-1865." In *Appalachia in the Making: The Mountain South in the Nineteenth Century*, ed. M. Pudup, D. Billings, and A. Waller, 163-184. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Merrell, James H. 1998. "Shamokin, 'the very seat of the Prince of darkness': Unsettling the Early American Frontier" [1740s; central Pa.; Susquehanna Indians]. In *Contact Points: American Frontiers from the Mohawk Valley to the Mississippi, 1750-1830*, ed. A. Cayton, R. Teute, 16-59. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Merrell, James H. 1999. *Into the American Woods: Negotiators on the Pennsylvania Frontier*. New York: W.W. Norton. 463 pp.

Merritt, Jane T. 1998. "Metaphor, Meaning, and Misunderstanding: Language and Power on the Pennsylvania Frontier" [Indians, English, French, Germans]. In *Contact Points: American Frontiers from the Mohawk Valley to the Mississippi, 1750-1830*, ed. A. Cayton, R. Teute, 60-87. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Miller, Tamara Gaskell. 2005. "'My whole enjoyment & almost my existence depends upon my friends': Family and Kinship in Early Ohio" [Marietta]. Chap. 6 in *The Center of a Great Empire: The Ohio Country in the Early American Republic*, ed. A. Cayton and S. Hobbs, 122-145. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Millward, Robert, and Kathleen Millward. 2008. "Making History in the Wilderness: Christopher Gist's Explorations into Western Pennsylvania" [1750s; Ohio Valley]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 91, no. 2 (Summer): 22-33.

Mitchell, Robert D. 1998. "'Over the Hills and Far Away': George Washington and the Changing Virginia Backcountry." In *George Washington and the Virginia Backcountry*. Ed. W. Hofstra, 63-86. Madison, Wis.: Madison House Publishers.

Mitchell, Robert D. 1998. "The Southern Backcountry: A Geographical House Divided." In *The Southern Colonial Backcountry: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Frontier Communities*, ed. D. Crass, et al., 1-35. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Mitchell, Robert D. 2000. "The Settlement Fabric of the Shenandoah Valley, 1790-1860: Pattern, Process, and Structure" [tables]. In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia, 1800-1900*, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 34-47. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Moore, Michael. 2007. "The Moores of Route 23" [eastern Ky.]. *Journal of Backcountry Studies* (online) 2, no. 2 (Fall): 14 pp. Big Sandy Watershed; 18th century to present. http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ojs/index.php/jbc/issue/view/12.

Moore, Peter N. 2007. *World of Toil and Strife: Community Transformation in Backcountry South Carolina*, 1750-1805 [Waxhaws region]. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 175 pp. See an earlier version of the Introduction and Chapter 3 in the online *Journal of Backcounty Studies*, vol. 2, no. 1 (Spring, 2007): 1-27. http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ojs/index.php/jbc/issue/view/13.

Moore, Wayne C. 2000. "Paths of Migration" [Tenn. history, 1770s-1790s; maps; illustrations]. In *First Families of Tennessee: A Register of Early Settlers and Their Present-Day Descendants*, 17-61. Knoxville: East Tennessee Historical Society.

Mordy, David L., and James C. Mordy. 2012. "The *Phoenix* Privateering Syndicate and Marine Captain John Floyd." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 16: 45-67. Account of Floyd's colorful life from surveyor of the Kentucky frontier (1774-1776), to key figure as a privateer sent to the West Indies, to prisoner in Portsmouth, England, escape to France, and return to Kentucky where he was ambushed and killed by Indians in 1783.

Moyer, Paul Benjamin. 2007. *Wild Yankees: The Struggle for Independence along Pennsylvania's Revolutionary Frontier* [1750s-1800; northeastern Pa.'s Susquehanna backcountry; Connecticut claimants and Pa. settlers clash]. Ithaca, N.Y.: Cornell University Press. 216 pp.

Myers, James P., Jr. 1999. "Mapping Pennsylvania's Western Frontier in 1756" [7 maps reproduced]. *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 123 (January/April): 3-29.

Nelson, Lynn A. 2000. "The Pilot and the Storm: William Massie and the Agrarian Economy of the Tye River Valley, 1830-1860." In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia, 1800-1900*, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 265-273. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Neufeld, Rob. 2007. A Popular History of Western North Carolina: Mountains, Heroes & Hootnoggers. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 126 pp. Collected personal stories, passed down, arranged under five sections: Cherokee; Pioneers and Farmers; Civil War; Legendary Women; Tales of Adversity and Triumph.

Noble, Zola Troutman. 2009. "Adam Harman, German Pioneer on the New River" [1700-1767; Giles Co., Va.]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 13: 5-28.

Noe, Kenneth W. 1994. "Toward the Myth of Unionist Appalachia, 1865-1883." In *Appalachian Adaptations to a Changing World*, ed. Norma Myers. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 6: 73-80. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Nogay, Michael E. 2009. Every Home a Fort, Every Man a Warrior: Stories of the Forts and Men in the Upper Ohio Valley During the American Revolutionary War. Weirton, W. Va.: M.E. Nogay. 128 pp. Northern panhandle of [W.]Va. and adjacent Pa. region. Map of forts and blockhouses, 1775-1795.

O'Malley, Nancy. 1999. "Frontier Defenses and Pioneer Strategies in the Historic Settlement Era." In *The Buzzel About Kentuck: Settling the Promised Land*, ed. C. Friend, 56-75. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Origins of Vandalia [1760s-70s proposed 14th colony; map showing most of present day W. Va. and parts of Va. and Ky.]. 2001. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Spring): 70.

Osborn, Richard. 2007. "William Preston: Origins of a Backcountry Political Career" [1729-1783; Va.]. *Journal of Backcountry Studies* (online) 2, no. 2 (Fall): 37 pp. Article drawn from the author's 1990 University of Maryland dissertation. http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ojs/index.php/jbc/issue/view/12.

Osborn, Richard. 2008. "William Preston and the Revolutionary Settlement." *Journal of Backcountry Studies* (online) 3, no. 2 (Fall): 137 pp. This is the third and last installment drawn from the author's 1990 University of Maryland dissertation. http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ojs/index.php/jbc/issue/view/10.

Osborn, Richard. 2008. "William Preston in the American Revolution." *Journal of Backcountry Studies* (online) 3, no. 1 (Spring): 97 pp. Article drawn from the author's 1990 University of Maryland dissertation. http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ojs/index.php/jbc/issue/view/11.

Patterson, Daniel W. 2012. "Backcountry Legends of a Minister's Death" [online essay]. Southern Spaces, 30 October. "...explores the circumstances of the death of Reverend William Richardson, an eighteenth-century Presbyterian minister in the Waxhaw district of South Carolina." Essay originally published in *The True Image: Gravestone Art and the Culture of Scotch Irish Settlers in the Pennsylvania and Carolina Backcountry* (University of North Carolina Press, 2012). http://southernspaces.org/2012/backcountry-legends-ministers-death.

Paulett, Robert. 2012. An Empire of Small Places: Mapping the Southeastern Anglo-Indian Trade, 1732-1795. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 259 pp. "Focusing especially on the Anglo-Creek-Chickasaw route that ran from the coast through Augusta to present-day Mississippi and Tennessee, Paulett finds that the deerskin trade produced a sense of spatial and human relationships that did not easily fit into Britain's imperial ideas."

Paxton, James. 1998. "A Story of Continuity and Change: Blacksburg, Virginia, 1798-1998." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 2: 4-22. Focuses on two families, the Prestons and Blacks.

Peck, Garrett. 2012. *The Potomac River: A History & Guide*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 159 pp. Contents: Origins | Canals and Commerce | The Colonial Frontier | Antietam: The

Bloodiest Day | Harpers Ferry | The Piedmont | Great Falls | The Clara Barton Parkway | The GW Parkway | Washington and the Potomac | Anacostia: The Forgotten River | Plantations on the Potomac | The Civil War on the Lower Potomac | The Northern Neck | The Piscataway Nation | Catholic Beginnings at the River's End.

Perkins, Elizabeth A. 1998. "Distinctions and Partitions amongst Us: Identity and Interaction in the Revolutionary Ohio Valley" [ethnic origins]. In *Contact Points: American Frontiers from the Mohawk Valley to the Mississippi, 1750-1830*, ed. A. Cayton, R. Teute, 205-234. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Perkins, Elizabeth A. 1998. *Border Life: Experience and Memory in the Revolutionary Ohio Valley* [Ky. and Ohio; utilizes 1840's oral histories]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 253 pp.

Phillips, V. N. ("Bud"). 2002. *Pioneers in Paradise: Legends and Stories from Bristol Tennessee/Virginia*. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 308 pp.

Philyaw, L. Scott. 2000. "Personal Opportunities and Public Threats: Westward Expansion and the Reconceptualization of Virginia" [1770s-1830s political expansion]. In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia, 1800-1900*, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 235-248. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Philyaw, L. Scott. 2004. Virginia's Western Visions: Political and Cultural Expansion on an Early American Frontier. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 212 pp.

Philyaw, Leslie Scott. 2005. *Virginia's Western Visions: Political and Cultural Expansion on an Early American Frontier* [Tidewater Va. attitudes toward Western Va.]. University of Tennessee Press. 180 pp.

Phipps, Sheila R., section editor. 2006. "Settlement and Migration" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 285-345 (with introductory essay, 285-292). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Plott, Bob. 2011. *Colorful Characters of the Great Smoky Mountains* [N.C.]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 160 pp. Contents: The 1761 Grant Expedition | The expedition begins | The Battle of Cowee | The Cherokee peace delegation and aftermath | Yonaguska-Cherokee statesman | "A finished hunter" | "I don't give up easy" | School is in session | Wild child | Gun guru and artisan | Historian and sculptor | Hunter and aviator | The godfather | Closing thoughts.

Preston, David L. 2007. "'Make Indians of Our White Men': British Soldiers and Indian Warriors from Braddock's to Forbes's Campaigns, 1755-1758." *Pennsylvania History* 74, no. 3 (Summer): 280-306.

Pudup, Mary Beth. 1995. "Town and Country in the Transformation of Appalachian Kentucky." In *Appalachia in the Making: The Mountain South in the Nineteenth Century*, ed. M. Pudup, D. Billings, and A. Waller, 270-296. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Puglisi, Michael J. 1998. "Muddied Waters: A Discussion of Current Interdisciplinary Backcountry Studies." In *The Southern Colonial Backcountry: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Frontier Communities*, ed. D. Crass, et al., 36-55. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Puglisi, Michael J., ed. 1997. *Diversity and Accommodation: Essays on the Cultural Composition of the Virginia Frontier* [Proceedings of a conference held in October 1992 in Emory, Va.]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 310 pp.

Rainer, Joseph T. 2000. "Commercial Scythians' in the Great Valley of Virginia: Yankee Peddlers' Trade Connections to Antebellum Virginia." In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia, 1800-1900*, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 62-73. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Raitz, Karl B., and Nancy O'Malley. 2012. *Kentucky's Frontier Highway: Historical Landscapes Along the Maysville Road*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 412 pp.

Raitz, Karl B., Jeffrey E. Levy, and Richard A. Gilbreath. 2010. "Mapping Kentucky's Frontier Trails through Geographical Information and Cartographic Applications." *Geographical Review* 100, no. 3 (July): 312–335.

Rasmussen, Barbara. 2006. "Anarchy and Enterprise on the Imperial Frontier: Washington, Dunmore, Logan, and Land in the Eighteenth-Century Ohio Valley." *Ohio Valley History* 6, no. 4 (Winter): 1-26.

Rawson, David A. 2000. "News in the Valley: Periodical Subscribers at the New Market Post Office, 1804-1844" [newspapers read]. In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia, 1800-1900*, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 249-264. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Ray, Kristofer. 2002. "Land Speculation, Popular Democracy, and Political Transformation on the Tennessee Frontier, 1780-1800." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 61 (Fall): 160-181.

Reid, Darren R., ed. 2009. *Daniel Boone and Others on the Kentucky Frontier: Autobiographies and Narratives, 1769-1795* [ten narratives and interviews; commentaries and essays]. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 218 pp.

Rhoades, Matthew L. 2009. "Blood and Boundaries: Virginia Backcountry Violence and the Origins of the Quebec Act, 1758-1775." *West Virginia History*, n.s. 3, no. 2 (Fall): 1-22.

Rice, Connie Park, ed. 2008. "Letters from William Haymond to His Nephew, Luther Haymond, Recalling the Settlement of Western Virginia and Conflict with Native Americans between 1773 and 1794." *West Virginia History*, n.s. 2, no. 2 (Fall): 79-98. Eight letters transcribed.

Rice, James D. 1995. "Old Appalachia's Path to Interdependency: Economic Development and the Creation of Community in Western Maryland, 1730-1850." *Appalachian Journal* 22 (Summer): 348-374.

Rice, James D. 2009. *Nature and History in the Potomac Country: From Hunter-Gatherers to the Age of Jefferson* [environmental, Indian, and colonial history]. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 338 pp.

Rice, William H. 2010. Colonial Records of the Upper Potomac, Volume One: From a Native American Wilderness to 1744 [from 1715]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 200 pp.

Rice, William H. 2010. Colonial Records of the Upper Potomac, Volume Two: 1744-1748, The Peaceful Years. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 198 pp.

Ridner, Judith A. 2010. *A Town in-between: Carlisle, Pennsylvania, and the Early Mid-Atlantic Interior*. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press. 287 pp. Cumberland Co.; Susquehanna River Valley.

Ridner, Judith. 2001. "William Irvine and the Complexities of Manhood and Fatherhood in the Pennsylvania Backcountry" [1760s-1804]. *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 125 (January-April): 5-34.

Ridner, Judith. 2005. "Relying on the 'Saucy' Men of the Backcountry: Middlemen and the Fur Trade in Pennsylvania" [1760s Carlisle, Cumberland Co.]. *The Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 129, no. 2 (April): 133-162.

Robertson, Mason G., and June N. Stubbs. 2003. "The Strange Campbell/Shelby Controversy and the Role of John Broady at the Battle of Kings Mountain" [1780]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 7: 27-47. General William "Campbell's mulatto manservant, John Broady, who was guarding Campbell's horses at the rear of the action and was very similar in appearance, was mistaken for Campbell, who, at the time, was at the front lines fighting with his men."

Rohrbough, Malcolm J. 2008. *Trans-Appalachian Frontier: People, Societies, and Institutions,* 1775-1850. 3rd ed. A History of the Trans-Appalachian Frontier. Bloomington: Indiana University Press. 675 pp.

Salas, Laura Purdie. 2003. *The Wilderness Road, 1775* [juvenile literature; Daniel Boone; Va., Ky., Tenn.]. Mankato, Minn.: Bridgestone Books. 48 pp. "Discusses colonial America's need for a route to the west, ...early explorers and settlements along its path, and the impact it had on western expansion."

Schecter, Barnet. 2010. *George Washington's America: A Biography through his Maps* [40 maps]. New York: Walker & Company. 303 pp. Twelve chapters including the following: "Virginia, Barbados, and the Ohio Country," and "From the Monongahela to Massachusetts."

Schroeder, Walter A. 2002. *Opening the Ozarks: A Historical Geography of Missouri's Ste. Genevieve District, 1760-1830.* Columbia: University of Missouri Press. 551 pp.

Silver, Peter Rhoads. 2008. Our Savage Neighbors: How Indian War Transformed Early America. New York: W.W. Norton. 406 pp.

Simms, William Gilmore. [1869] 1997. *The Cub of the Panther: A Hunter Legend of the "Old North State"* [Border romance based on 1847 hunting expedition; N.C.]. Ed. Miriam Jones Shillingsburg. Simms Series, no. 8. Fayetteville: University of Arkansas Press. 299 pp. Originally published in serial format.

Slover, James Anderson. 2001. *Minister to the Cherokees: A Civil War Autobiography* [1824-1913]. Edited by Barbara Cloud. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 212 pp.

Smith, Daniel Blake. 1999. "'This Idea in Heaven': Image and Reality on the Kentucky Frontier." In *The Buzzel About Kentuck: Settling the Promised Land*, ed. C. Friend, 76-98. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Smith, Kevin E. 2000. "Bledsoe Station: Archaeology, History, and the Interpretation of the Middle Tennessee Frontier, 1770-1820" [Sumner Co.]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 59 (Fall): 174-187.

Smith, Laura Katz. 1998. "A Union Catalog of Manuscript Collections of the Preston Family" [Va.]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 2: 52-64. Lists documents held in Ky., La., N.C., S.C., Va., and D.C. institutions. John Preston (1699-1747) arrived in Virginia from Ireland in 1738 and settled in the Shenandoah Valley (Botetourt and Montgomery Co.). His extensive family played an important role in shaping the history of Virginia.

Smith, Matthew D. 2010. "John Bradford and the *Kentucky Gazette*: Revolutionizing the Ohio Valley Frontier." *Ohio Valley History* 10, no. 2 (Summer): 3-23. Influence on early Ky. politics, 1779-1830.

Smith, Richard Penn. 2003 [1836]. "On to the Alamo": Colonel Crockett's Exploits and Adventures in Texas. By Richard Penn Smith (1799-1854); authorship originally credited to Crockett. Edited with an introduction and notes by John Seelye. New York: Penguin Books. 149 pp.

Staples, Charles R. 1996. *The History of Pioneer Lexington, 1779-1806*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 384 pp.

Stefon, Frederick J. 1998. "The Wyoming Valley" [northeast Pa.]. In *Beyond Philadelphia: The American Revolution in the Pennsylvania Hinterland*, ed. J. Frantz, W. Pencak, 133-152. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Stotz, Charles Morse. [1985] 2005. Outposts of the War for Empire: The French and English in Western Pennsylvania: Their Armies, Their Forts, Their People 1749-1764. Rpt. ed. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Historical Society of Western Pennsylvania: University of Pittsburgh Press. 203 pp.

Strang, Cameron B. 2010. "Michael Cresap and the Promulgation of Settler Land-Claiming Methods in the Backcountry, 1765-1774" [Va.-Md. border]. *Virginia Magazine of History and Biography* 118, no. 2: 107-136. Redstone Creek settlement; Lord Dunmore's War.

Strang, Cameron B. 2012. "The Mason-Dixon and Proclamation Lines: Land Surveying and Native Americans in Pennsylvania's Borderlands." *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 136, no. 1 (January): 5-23.

Swain, G. T. [1927] 2010. History of Logan County, West Virginia: Dealing with Indian Life and Legends, Early Pioneers, Their Mode of Living, Formation of the County, the Noted Hatfield-McCoy Feud, the "Armed March" on Logan, Municipal Affairs, Court Records, Formation of Coal Companies, Brilliant Development of the Valley, Wonderful Expansion of the Coal Industry, Etc. Rpt. ed. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 383 pp. Originally published: Logan, W. Va.: G.T. Swain.

Swan, Philip G. 2007. "The present defenceless state of the country': Gunpowder Plots in Revolutionary South Carolina" [backcountry; Cherokees, Creeks]. *South Carolina Historical Magazine* 108, no. 4 (Ocotober): 297-315.

Taylor, Charles Lewis. 2010. "Early Presbyterians in Montgomery County" [Va.; 1700s]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 14:5-21. Scottish and Irish immigration, and the establishment of Blacksburg.

Thomasson, Basil Armstrong. 1996. *North Carolina Yeoman: The Diary of Basil Armstrong Thomasson*, 1853-1862 [Yadkin and Iredell Cos.]. Edited by Paul D. Escott. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 355 pp.

Thorp, Daniel B. 1998. "Taverns and Communities: The Case of Rowan County, North Carolina." In *The Southern Colonial Backcountry: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Frontier Communities*, ed. D. Crass, et al., 76-86. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Trabue, Daniel. [1981] 2004. *Westward into Kentucky: The Narrative of Daniel Trabue* [1760-1840; Adair Co.]. Edited by Chester Raymond Young. Reprint, with a new foreword by Daniel B. Smith. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 218 pp.

Trimble, Ruth. 1999. "Wilburn Waters: A Man for His Time" [1812-1879; bear hunting pioneer; Ashe Co., N.C., monument]. *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Spring): 75-77.

Troxler, Carole Watterson. 2011. *Farming Dissenters: The Regulator Movement in Piedmont North Carolina* [18th century]. Raleigh, N.C.: Office of Archives and History, North Carolina Department of Cultural Resources. 221 pp. Cultural issues before and political aftermath of the Battle of Alamance, 1771.

Turk, David. 1997. "Hugh Paul Taylor, Historian and Mapmaker" [1820s southwest Va.]. West Virginia History 56: 43-55.

University of Chicago, Filson Historical Society, and Library of Congress. 2002. *The First American West The Ohio River Valley, 1750-1820* [primary source documents online; 15,000 pages digitized]. American Memory project. Washington, D.C.: Library of Congress. http://hdl.loc.gov/loc.gdc/collgdc.gc000015>.

Waddell, Louis M. 1995. "Defending the Long Perimeter: Forts on the Pennsylvania, Maryland and Virginia Frontier, 1755-1765." *Pennsylvania History* 62 (Spring): 171-195.

Ward, Matthew C. 1995. "Fighting the 'Old Women': Indian Strategy on the Virginia and Pennsylvania Frontier, 1754-1758." *Virginia Magazine of History and Biography* 103 (July): 297-320.

Ward, Matthew C. 2003. *Breaking the Backcountry: The Seven Years' War in Virginia and Pennsylvania, 1754-1765.* Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press. 329 pp.

Ward, Matthew C. 2007. "The 'Peaceable Kingdom' Destroyed: The Seven Years' War and the Transformation of the Pennsylvania Backcountry." *Pennsylvania History* 74, no. 3 (Summer): 247-279.

Washington, George. 2004. *George Washington Remembers: Reflections on the French and Indian War* [Western Pa.; 1755-1763]. Edited by Fred Anderson. Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield. 175 pp.

Watkins, Sharon B. 2012. "A Future French King Visits the Virginia Backcountry in 1797: The Travel Diary of Louis Philippe, Duke of Orleans" [1773-1850]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 16: 1-26.

Watts, Edward, and David Rachels, ed. 2002. *The First West: Writing from the American Frontier*, 1776-1860 [selected writings of 59 including William Bartram, David Crockett, Cherokee, and William Gilmore Simms]. New York: Oxford University Press. 944 pp.

Weidensaul, Scott. 2012. *The First Frontier: The Forgotten History of Struggle, Savagery, and Endurance in Early America*. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Harcour. 474 pp. Part II ends with an account of the Carolina deerskin and slave trade. Part III explores the Pennsylvania backcountry.

West, Carroll Van, ed. 1995. "Tennessee: The Backcountry Era." Special issue, *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 54 (Winter): 281-374.

Wheeler, Arville. [1958] 2000. *White Squaw: The True Story of Jennie Wiley* [fictionalized account of 1789-1790 Indian captivity; Va., Ky.; juvenile and teenage audience]. Rpt. ed. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 163 pp. Formerly published, Boston: Heath.

White, Clare. 2002. "William Fleming, Patriot" [b. 1728]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 6: 26-37. Fleming of Botetourt County, Va., was a University of Edinburgh trained doctor who fought at the 1774 Battle of Point Pleasant [(W.)Va.] and served briefly in 1781 as acting Governor of Virginia.

Willford, Harry W. 2003. "The Virginia-Tennessee Boundary: The Walker Line?" [1780 survey; Thomas Walker]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 62 (Summer): 110-129.

Williams, Kenneth H., ed. 2004. "Life on the Kentucky Frontier: A Roundtable Discussion" [migration, settlement, women]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 102, no. 4: 460-487.

Wills, Wirt H. 2006. "The 'Phoenix' Caper - A Frontiersman Goes to Sea" [Va. frontiersman John Floyd's privateering in the West Indies, British capture, imprisonment and escape]. Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge 10: 21-32.

Wilson, Darlene. 1998. "Multicultural Mayhem and Murder in Virginia's Backcountry: The Case of Pierre-Francois Tubeuf, 1792-1795" [French coal entrepreneur]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 4 (Spring): 57-86.

Wooldridge, William C. 2012. *Mapping Virginia: From the Age of Exploration to the Civil War*. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 376 pp. "...the most comprehensive available selection of printed maps from Virginia's first three hundred years," with 196 color and 159 b&w illustrations.

HEALTH and MEDICINE

Folk medicine, mental illness, drug abuse, midwifery, herbalists and granny doctors, diet and nutrition, black lung, AIDS, cancer, rural clinics, obstacles to community health care including cultural and language barriers

Abbott-Jamieson, Susan. 2005. "Mediating Perceptions of Parent/Child Co-sleeping in Eastern Kentucky." Chap. 5 in *Appalachian Cultural Competency: A Guide for Medical, Mental Health, and Social Service Professionals*, ed. S. Keefe, 121-141. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Ahern, Melissa M., Michael Hendryx, Jamison Conley, Evan Fedorko, Alan Ducatman, and Keith J. Zullig. 2011. "The Association between Mountaintop Mining and Birth Defects among Live Births in Central Appalachia, 1996–2003" [tables, map]. *Environmental Research* 111, no. 6 (August): 838-846. (See also: Zullig and Hendryx, 2011).

Alkadry, Mohamad G., Christina Wilson, and Doris Nicholas. 2005. "Stroke Awareness Among Rural Residents: The Case of West Virginia" [1,114 mailed questionnaires]. *Social Work in Health Care* 42, no. 2: 73-92.

Almond, Greenbrier. 2012. *Stories of a West Virginia Doctor's Son* [M.D.; b. 1948; Upshur Co.]. McClain Printing. 116 pp. The author has worked for many years as a psychiatrist at the Veterans Administration Medical Center, Clarksburg, W. Va. See also: *The Stories of a West Virginia Doctor* (1995-1997), by Dr. Harold Almond, the author's father.

Almond, Harold D., and Greenbrier Almond. 1997-2005. *The Stories of a West Virginia Doctor*. Parsons, W.Va: McClain Printing. Vol. 1. [without special title] -- vol. 2. Tender loving care: stories of Harold Almond, MD [1915-1999], as told to Greenbrier Almond, MD.

Amjad, Hassan. 2005. Folk Medicine of Appalachia: A Vanishing Tradition. Beckley, W. Va.: H. Amjad. 340 pp.

Amjad, Hassan. 2005. *Life & Thymes of an Appalachian Herbalist* [Clarence Frederick Gray, also known as Catfish Gray; W. Va.]. Beckley, W. Va.: H. Amjad. 75 pp.

Anglin, Mary K. [1999] 2001. "Stories of AIDS in Appalachia." In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 267-280. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Appalachian Leadership Coalition on Cancer (ALIC). 1995. *Sowing Seeds in the Mountains: Community-Based Coalitions for Cancer Prevention and Control*. Edited by Richard Couto and others, with photographs by Earl Dotter. Washington: National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute. 343 pp.

Badagliacco, Joanna M., Carey D. Ruiz. 2006. "Impoverished Appalachia and Kentucky Genomes: What Is at Stake? How do Feminists Reply?" [eugenics]. *New Genetics and Society* 25, no. 2 (August): 209-226.

Baird, Nancy Disher. 2007. *Healing Kentucky: Medicine in the Bluegrass State* [adult reader]. New Books for New Readers series. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 55 pp.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1999. "Access to Care: Overcoming the Rural Physician Shortage" [Ky., Tenn.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (May-August): 8-15.

Barcus, Holly R., and Timothy Hare. 2007. "Healthcare Utilization, Deprivation, and Heart-Related Disease in Kentucky" [tables; shaded county outline maps; southeastern Ky. stands out]. *Southeastern Geographer* 47, no. 2 (November): 202-221.

Barnett, Elizabeth, and others. 1998. *Heart Disease in Appalachia: An Atlas of County Economic Conditions, Mortality, and Medical Care Resources*. Morgantown, W. Va.: Prevention Research Center, West Virginia University. 93 pp.

Barney, Sandra Lee. 1999. "Maternalism and the Promotion of Scientific Medicine During the Industrial Transformation of Appalachia, 1880-1930." *NWSA Journal: A Publication of the National Women's Studies Association* 11 (Fall): 68-92.

Barney, Sandra Lee. 2000. *Authorized to Heal: Gender, Class, and the Transformation of Medicine in Central Appalachia, 1880-1930* [Ky., Va., W. Va.; women in medicine: physicians, nurses, midwives]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 222 pp.

Barney, Sandra. 1996. "Bringing Modern Medicine to the Mountains: Scientific Medicine and the Transformation of Health Care in Southern West Virginia, 1880-1910." *West Virginia History* 55 (1996): 110-126.

Bauer, William M, and Bruce Growick. 2003. "Rehabilitation Counseling in Appalachian America" [profiles culture, employment opportunities, media impact, health services, insurance dilemma]. *Journal of Rehabilitation* 69, no. 3: 18-24.

Beck, Rubye W., Caroline R. Jijon, and Joellen B. Edwards. 1996. "The Relationships Among Gender, Perceived Financial Barriers to Care, and Health-Status in a Rural Population." *Journal of Rural Health* 12 (Summer): 188-196.

Behringer, Bruce, and Koyamangalath Krishnan. 2011. "Understanding the Role of Religion in Cancer Care in Appalacha." *Southern Medical Journal* 104, no. 4 (April): 295-296.

Behringer, Bruce. 2000. "Creating Community Partnerships" [rural health outreach; East Tennessee State University, and Johnson and Hawkins Cos.; Kellogg Foundation grant]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 17 (Spring): 20-23.

Bishop, Bill, and Roberto Gallardo. 2011. "The Geography of Disability" [Social Security disability beneficiaries; rural concentration]. *Daily Yonder*, 30 November. 730 words, plus tables of states and counties, and a shaded county outline map of the U.S., "Americans Receiving Disability." Counties in Appalachian Va., W. Va., and Ky. ranked with the highest percentage of working age disabled (2009). http://www.dailyyonder.com/geography-disability/2011/11/29/3619.

Blakeney, Anne B. 2005. "Educating Culturally Sensitive Health Professionals in Appalachia." Chap. 7 in *Appalachian Cultural Competency: A Guide for Medical, Mental Health, and Social Service Professionals*, ed. S. Keefe, 161-178. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Blakeney, Anne B. 2006. "Health Care in Appalachia" [with suggested readings]. In *A Handbook to Appalachia: An Introduction to the Region*, ed. G. Edwards, J. Asbury, and R. Cox, 101-118. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Bowman, Rex. 2005. "Prescription for Crime" [OxyContin abuse, Tazewell Co., Va.; mainstream media view]. *Time*, 28 March, 50-51.

Burkett, Gary L., Richard P. Mulcahy, and Pamela M. Zahorik, section editors. 2006. "Health" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 1631-1677 (with introductory essay, 1631-1636). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Butterworth, Melinda, Korine Kolivras, Lawrence Grossman, and Kerry Redican. 2010. "Knowledge, Perceptions, and Practices: Mosquito-borne Disease Transmission in Southwest Virginia, USA." *Southeastern Geographer* 50, no. 3 (Fall): 366-385. Wise and Tazewell Cos.; West Nile Virus and La Crosse encephalitis. Maps, tables.

Caraway, Crystal S., and Anthony Cavender. 2004. "Vernacular Sexual Beliefs and Practices among Appalachian Youth" [focus group based]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 60, no. 3: 96-127. Appendices: discussion topics, and interview data.

Casto, James E. 1994. "Dr. Louise: A Kentucky Pioneer" [Morehead, Ky.]. *Appalachia* 27 (Summer): 24-29.

Casto, James E. 1996. "Rx for the Rural Health-Care Shortage." *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 29 (September-December): 22-27. W. Va. and Tenn. medical students' service at rural clinics.

Casto, James E. 1997. "Challenging Cancer at the Grass Roots" [ALIC: Appalachian Leadership Initiative on Cancer]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 30 (Jan.-Apr.): 20-23.

Cavender, Anthony, and Steve Crowder. 2002. "White-Livered Widders and Bad-Blooded Men: Folk Illness and Sexual Disorder in Southern Appalachia." *Journal of the History of Sexuality* 11 (October): 637-649.

Cavender, Anthony P. 2003. *Folk Medicine in Southern Appalachia* [authoritative history]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 266 pp.

Cavender, Anthony, Vivian Gonzales Gladson, Jorja Cummings, and Michele Hammet. 2011. "Curanderismo in Appalachia: The Use of Remedios Caseros among Latinos in Northeastern Tennessee." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 17, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 144-167. Examines Latino traditional medical beliefs and practices, and discusses their similarity with traditional Appalachian folk remedies. Tables list medicinal plants, and animal substances.

Cavender, Anthony. 1996. "Local Unorthodox Healers of Cancer in the Appalachian South." *Journal of Community Health* 21 (October): 359-374.

Cavender, Anthony. 2005. "A Midwife's Commonplace Book." *Appalachian Journal* 32, no. 2 (Winter): 182-190. Cora Reeves; 1898-1941; Southwestern Va. and Western N.C. folk medicine.

Cavender, Anthony. 2006. "Folk Medical Uses of Plant Foods in Southern Appalachia, United States." *Journal of Ethnopharmacology* 108, no. 1 (November): 74-84.

Chase, Charlotte F. 2005. "Creating Cultural Competence among Appalachian Nursing Students." Chap. 6 in *Appalachian Cultural Competency: A Guide for Medical, Mental Health, and Social Service Professionals*, ed. S. Keefe, 143-160. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Chase, Nan. 2004. "Ray Hicks: The Mysterious Healer" [legendary storyteller is also a faith healer; warts]. *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Spring): 38-45.

Church, Bill. [2002, 2006] 2012. *Medicinal Plants, Trees & Shrubs of Appalachia*. 2nd ed. Mustang, Okla.: Tate Publishing. 146 pp. "This book covers 105 medicinal plants with color photographs....I have provided information on weights & measures, dosages, gathering and drying of herbs, type of preparations, herbal properties, plant terms, a list of symptoms and what herb to use for them, plant usage, location, when to harvest, parts to harvest, when to gather, and when it blooms by month."

Cockerham, Anne Z., and Arlene W. Keeling. 2012. *Rooted in the Mountains, Reaching to the World: Stories of Nursing and Midwifery at Kentucky's Frontier School, 1939-1989*. Louisville, Ky.: Butler Books. 160 pp. The Frontier Graduate School of Midwifery, begun by Mary Breckinridge in 1925 as the Frontier Nursing Service (later called the Frontier School of Midwifery and Family Nursing), is known today as Frontier Nursing University.

Cooper, E. R. 2012. "Memories of a Country Doctor" [b. Gilmer Co.; 1878-1976], as told to Willa Jane Loftis, granddaughter. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 3 (Fall): 50-55.

Cordial, Paige, Ruth Riding-Malon, and Hilary Lips. 2012. "The Effects of Mountaintop Removal Coal Mining on Mental Health, Well-Being, and Community Health in Central

Appalachia." *Ecopsychology* 4, no. 3 (September): 201-208. "High rates of unemployment and poverty and lower rates of educational attainment....compound the stressors created by MTR."

Correll, Jennifer A., Peggy Cantrell, and William T. Dalton. 2011. "Integration of Behavioral Health Services in a Primary Care Clinic Serving Rural Appalachia: Reflections on a Clinical Experience" [East Tenn.; depression]. *Families, Systems, & Health* 29, no. 4 (December): 291-302.

Costello, E. Jane, Elizabeth M. Z. Farmer, and Adrian Angold. "Psychiatric Disorders Among American Indian and White Youth in Appalachia: The Great Smoky Mountains Study." *American Journal of Public Health* 87 (May): 827-832.

Cottrell, Lesley, Marianna Footo-Linz, and Melissa Atkins. 2006. "Childhood Asthma and Treatment Options within Appalachia: Parent Perspectives" [W. Va. rates increasing while national rates plateau; interviews with 37 parents; Kanawha, Lincoln and Cabell Cos.; table]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 12, no. 1 (Spring): 40-57.

Couto, Richard A., Nancy K. Simpson, and Gale Harris, ed. 1994. *Sowing Seeds in the Mountains: Community-Based Coalitions for Cancer Prevention and Control.* NIH Publication, no. 94-3779. Washington, D.C.: Appalachian Leadership Initiative on Cancer, National Cancer Institute. 343 pp.

Cozzo, David. 2003. "Beyond Tall Tales: Ray Hicks and Mountain Herbalism" [folk illnesses; plant remedies]. *Appalachian Journal* 30 (Summer): 284-301.

Crellin, John K., and Jane Philpott. [1990] 1997. *A Reference Guide to Medicinal Plants: Herbal Medicine Past and Present* [based on the practice of herbalist A.L. "Tommie" Bass]. Durham: Duke University Press. 551 pp. (Previously published as vol. 2 of *Herbal Medicine Past and Present*)

Crellin, John K., Jane Philpott, and A. L. Tommie Bass. [1990] 1997. *Trying to Give Ease: Tommie Bass and the Story of Herbal Medicine*. Durham: Duke University Press. 335 pp. (Previously published as vol. 1 of *Herbal Medicine Past and Present*)

Davis, Joel. 1996. "Faith and Medicine" [ETSU medical school curriculum]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 13 (Winter): 15-17.

Denham, Sharon A. 1996. "Family Health in a Rural Appalachian Ohio County" [Meigs Co.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Fall): 299-310.

Denham, Sharon A., Michael G. Meyer, Mary A. Toborg, Man J. Mande. 2004. "Providing Health Education to Appalachia Populations" [52 focus groups in 10 states: emphasis on family, and central role of women]. *Holistic Nursing Practice* 18 (November/December): 293-301.

Denham, Sharon A., Michael G. Meyer, and Mary A. Toborg. 2004. "Tobacco Cessation in Adolescent Females in Appalachian Communities." *Family and Community Health* 27, no. 2: 170-181.

Derickson, Alan. 1996. "The Role of the United Mine Workers in the Prevention of Work-Related Respiratory Disease, 1890-1968." In *The United Mine Workers of America: A Model of Industrial Solidarity?*, ed. J. Laslett, 224-238. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Derickson, Alan. 1998. *Black Lung: Anatomy of a Public Health Disaster* [history]. Ithaca, N.Y.: Cornell University Press. 237 pp.

Dick, David. 2008. *A Journal for Lalie: Living Through Prostate Cancer*. North Middletown, Ky.: Plum Lick Publishing. 331 pp.

Dickinson, W. Calvin. 2009. "'To Help Bring Health to This Mountain': Dr. May Cravath Wharton, the 'Doctor Woman' of Cumberland County, Tennessee" [1873-1959; Pleasant Hill]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 81: 3-18.

Dockery, Bill. 2000. "Telemedicine: A Marriage of Medicine & Technology" [University of Tennessee outreach: Tenn., N.C., Ky., Va.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 17 (Spring): 26-28.

Downey, Laura, and Chike Anyaegbunam. 2010. "Your Lives Through Your Eyes: Rural Appalachian Youth Identify Community Needs and Assets Through the Use of Photovoice" [Morgan Co., Ky.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 16, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 42-60. High school students documented and interpreted perceptions of community health, including health-related stereotypes.

Efaw, Jennifer. 1998. "High Hopes at Colin Anderson Center" [Pleasants Co. home for mentally retarded children, 1929-1998]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Winter): 52-61.

Erichsen-Brown, Charlotte. [1979] 1989. *Medicinal and Other Uses of North American Plants: A Historical Survey with Special Reference to the Eastern Indian Tribes*. New York: Dover Publications. 512 pp. Rpt. ed. Originally published as *Use of Plants for the Past 500 Years*, Aurora, Ontario, Canada: Breezy Creeks Press.

Esch, Laura, and Michael Hendryx. 2011. "Chronic Cardiovascular Disease Mortality in Mountaintop Mining Areas of Central Appalachian States." *Journal of Rural Health* 27, no. 4 (Fall): 350-357. Mortality rates for counties in four states, 1999-2006, were linked with county coal mining data.

Ettinger, Laura E. 1999. "Nurse-Midwives, the Mass Media, and the Politics of Maternal Health Care in the United States, 1925-1955" [Ky.; Frontier Nursing Service]. *Nursing Health Review* 7: 47-66.

Fedis, Tara Surber, Keith J. Zullig, and Laura Lander. 2010. "The West Virginia Prescription Drug Abuse Quitline" [1-800-WV-QUITT]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 7-8.

Felton, Tom. 2008. "A Life Well Spent: 'Doc Pete' of Parsons" [Tucker Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 3 (Fall): 40-45. Dr. Guy H. Michael, Jr., fourth-generation physician; b. 1925.

Ferketich, Amy K., et al. 2010. "Clean Indoor Air Ordinance Coverage in the Appalachian Region of the United States." *American Journal of Public Health* 100, no. 7 (July): 1313-1318. Four tables. "Of the 332 communities included in the analysis, fewer than 20% had adopted a comprehensive workplace, restaurant, or bar ordinance."

Frank, Laura, Susan Thomas, and Robert Sherborne. 1999. "Mystery Illnesses" [at Oak Ridge, Tenn., and 12 other nuclear weapons sites]. *Southern Exposure* 27 (Fall): 40-44. Reprinted from *The Tennessean*, Nashville.

Friedrich, M. J. 2002. "Program Aims to Reduce Cancer Burden in Appalachia" [Appalachia Cancer Network]. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 94 (no. 16): 1189-1191.

Gainer, Patrick W. 2008. "Folk Cures." In *Witches, Ghosts, and Signs: Folklore of the Southern Appalachians*, comp. P. Gainer, 100-111. 2nd ed. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 100 common medicines and brief uses.

Gardner, Teresa, Paul Gavaza, Paula Meade, and Donna M. Adkins. 2012. "Delivering Free Healthcare to Rural Central Appalachia Population: The Case of the Health Wagon" [southwest Va.]. *Rural and Remote Health* 12, no. 1 (January-March): 2035. http://www.rrh.org.au/.

Gatz, Jennifer L., Graham D. Rowles, and Suzanne L. Tyas. 2004. "Health Disparities in Rural Appalachia" [Eastern Ky.; many factors detailed]. Chap. 15 in *Critical Issues in Rural Health*, ed. N. Glasgow, L. Morton, and N. Johnson, 183-194. Ames, Iowa: Blackwell Publishing.

Gavaza, Paul, Wenfei Yan, and Jennifer Campbell. 2012. "Main Challenges Facing the Pharmaceutical Sector in Buchanan County, Virginia: A Pilot Study." *Rural and Remote Health* 12, no. 4 (October-December): 2125. Drug abuse; doctor shopping. http://www.rrh.org.au/.

Geronimus, Arline T., John Bound, and Timothy A. Waidmann. 1999. "Poverty, Time, and Place: Variation in Excess Mortality Across Selected US Populations, 1980-1990" [including Detroit, Chicago, Appalachian Ky., northeastern Ala., western N.C.]. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health* 53 (June): 325-334.

Gesler, Wilbert M., et al. 2006. "Exploring Inequalities in Health Care Coverage by Degree of Rurality in Western North Carolina" [12 counties; tables; maps]. *Southeastern Geographer* 46, no. 1 (May): 97-120.

Gish, Shirley. 1999. *Country Doctor: The Story of Dr. Claire Louise Caudill* [b. 1931; Morehead, Ky.; interviews]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 168 pp.

Glover, Douglas, Marie A. Abate, and Arthur Jacknowitz. 2008. From the Everyday to the Extraordinary: West Virginia Pharmacists' Stories [history; biography]. Morgantown, W.Va: D. Glover. 285 pp.

Goan, Melanie Beals. 2003. "Establishing Their Place in the Dynasty: Sophonisba and Mary Breckinridge's Paths to Public Service" [privileged upbringing; Mary, 1881-1965, founded the Frontier Nursing Service, 1925, Leslie Co., Ky.]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 101 (Winter/Spring): 45-73.

Goan, Melanie Beals. 2008. *Mary Breckinridge: The Frontier Nursing Service & Rural Health in Appalachia* [1881-1965]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 348 pp.

Goins, R. Turner, S. Melinda Spencer, and Kimberly Williams. 2011. "Lay Meanings of Health among Rural Older Adults in Appalachia" [W. Va.]. *Journal of Rural Health* 27, no. 1 (Winter): 13–20. Subjects were 60 or older. Discussions included 4 themes: health as a value; dimensions of life; holistic nature of health; and health care use and adherence.

Gore, Prasanna, and Suresh Madhavan. 1999. "Predictors of Childhood Immunization Completion in a Rural Population" [W. Va.]. *Social Science & Medicine* 48 (April): 1011-1027.

Graham, M. Anthony. 1996. "Telepsychiatry in Appalachia." *American Behavioral Scientist* 39 (March-April): 602-615. Telecommunication in rural mental health services.

Gross, Carol. 2005. "To Listen Is to Learn: The Social Worker in Rural Appalachia." Chap. 3 in *Appalachian Cultural Competency: A Guide for Medical, Mental Health, and Social Service Professionals*, ed. S. Keefe, 75-88. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Halperin, Rhoda H., and Jennifer Reiter-Purtill. 2005. "'Nerves' in Rural and Urban Appalachia" [folk term; anxiety and depression]. Chap. 12 in *Appalachian Cultural Competency: A Guide for Medical, Mental Health, and Social Service Professionals*, ed. S. Keefe, 265-284. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Halverson, Joel. 2004. "An Analysis of Disparities in Health Status and Access to Health Care in the Appalachian Region" [mortality, morbidity, maps]. Washington, D.C.: Appalachian Regional Commission, Online Resource Center. 281 pp. http://www.arc.gov.

Halverson, Joel A., Lin Ma, E. James Harner, Robert Q. Hanham, and Valerie E. Braham. 2004. *Adult Obesity in Appalachia: An Atlas of Geographic Disparities* [county outline maps, tables]. Morgantown: West Virginia University, Prevention Research Center, Center for Healthy Communities. 121 pp.

Harman, Patricia. 2008. *The Blue Cotton Gown: A Midwife's Memoir*. Boston, Mass.: Beacon Press. 290 pp. W. Va., women's health clinic.

Harman, Patricia. 2009. "Dorothy's Urn" [funeral urn; memoir]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 1 (Winter): 46-50.

Harris, Gardiner. 1999. "Dust, Deception and Death" [black lung disease]. *Southern Exposure* 27 (Fall): 34-39. Reprinted from the *Courier-Journal*, Louisville, Ky.

Harris, Priscilla Norwood. 2009. "Undoing the Damage of the Dew" [tooth decay; "Mountain Dew Mouth"]. *Appalachian Journal of Law* 9, no. 1: 53-120. Tables.

Hartley, Lou Ann. 2002. "Health Perceptions and Health Status Measurement among Rural Appalachian Elders." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Fall): 284-298.

Hatfield, Gabrielle. 2004. *Encyclopedia of Folk Medicine: Old World and New World Traditions* [Britain, Ireland, North America; approx. 230 topics, with references]. Santa Barbara, Calif.: ABC-CLIO. 392 pp.

Hendryx, Michael, and Melissa M Ahern. 2009. "Mortality in Appalachian Coal Mining Regions: The Value of Statistical Life Lost" [1979-2005]. *Public Health Reports* 124, no. 4 (July-August): 541-550. Conclusion: "The human cost of the Appalachian coal mining economy outweighs its economic benefits."

Hendryx, Michael, Leah Wolfe, Juhua Luo, and Bo Webb. 2012. "Self-Reported Cancer Rates in Two Rural Areas of West Virginia with and without Mountaintop Coal Mining." *Journal of Community Health* 37, no. 2 (April): 320-327. Door-to-door interviews; 773 adults.

Hennen, John. 2009. "1199 Comes to Appalachia" [unionizing 1970s hospital workers at Cabell-Huntington, and Highlands Regional, W. Va.]. In *Culture, Class, and Politics in Modern Appalachia: Essays in Honor of Ronald L. Lewis*, ed. J. Egolf, K. Fones-Wolf, and L. Martin, 224-250. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Higgins, James. 2010. "With Every Accompaniment of Ravage and Agony': Pittsburgh and the Influenza Epidemic of 1918–1919." *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography* 134, no. 3 (July): 263-286.

Hoffman, Carl. 2000. "Saving Young Lives" [Ala.; emergency helicopter Life Saver program]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 33 (May-August): 14-19.

Holzman, David C. 2011. "Mountaintop Removal Mining." *Environmental Health Perspectives* 119, no. 11 (November): A476-A483. Photos, diagrams. Impact on community health; water pollution.

Horn, Kimberly A., Xin Gao, Geri A. Dino, and Sachin Kamal-Bahl. 2000. "Determinants of Youth Tobacco Use in West Virginia: A Comparison of Smoking and Smokeless Tobacco Use" [883 ninth graders]. *American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse* 26 (February): 125-138.

Howard, Jason. 2004. "Black Lung: In Search of Answers for East Kentucky Coal Miners" [legal aid's role, black lung benefits struggle]. *Equal Justice Magazine* 3 (Fall): 37 paras. http://www.ejm.lsc.gov/EJMIssue7/feature001.htm.

Howell, Patricia Kyritsi. 2006. *Medicinal Plants of the Southern Appalachians* [guidebook: 45 plants; therapeutic index]. Mountain City, Ga.: BotanoLogos Books. 262 pp.

Hunter, Elizabeth. 1997. "Hot Springs' Health-Care Pioneers" [Madison Co., N.C., clinic]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 30 (May-August): 18-23.

Hutson, Sadie P., Kelly A. Dorgan, Kathryn L. Duvall, and Linda H. Garrett. 2011. "Human Papillomavirus Infection, Vaccination, and Cervical Cancer Communication: The Protection Dilemma Faced by Women in Southern Appalachia." *Women & Health* 51, no. 8 (December): 795-810. Interviewees included 39 women, ages 18-49, from eight counties in northeast Tenn. and southwest Va., 2007-2008.

Huttlinger, Kathleen, Jennifer Schaller-Ayers, and Tony Lawson. 2004. "Health Care in Appalachia: A Population-Based Approach" [Southwest Va.; 922 households surveyed]. *Public Health Nursing* 21 (March/April): 103-110.

Irwin, Ned. 2005. "Physician, Heal Thyself': The Medical Career of Dr. J. G. M. Ramsey" [early 19th-century Knoxville; Civil War]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 77: 28-48.

Jennings, Donna L., and Shelley I. White-Means. 2001. "Medical Care Utilization by AFDC Recipients under Reformed Medicaid" [16-county Appalachian region]. *Journal of Health & Social Policy* 13 (no. 2): 21-39.

Jerome, Richard, and Giovanna Breu. 1999. "The Roads Less Taken" [profiles W. Va. pediatrician Isabel Pino who delivers rural health care from a converted van]. *People Weekly*, 29 November, 74-79.

Jesse, D. Elizabeth, and Martha Raile Alligood. 2002. "Holisitic Obstetrical Problem Evaluation (HOPE): Testing a Theory to Predict Birth Outcomes in a Group of Women from Appalachia" [120 pregnant women; East Tenn.]. *Health Care for Women International* 23 (September): 587-599.

Jonas, Adam B., April M. Young, Carrie B. Oser, Carl G. Leukefeld, and Jennifer R. Havens. 2012. "OxyContin(TM) as Currency: OxyContin(TM) use and Increased Social Capital among Rural Appalachian Drug Users." *Social Science & Medicine* 74, no. 10 (May): 1602-1609. Tables, diagram.

Kadlec, David. 1998. "X-ray Testimonials in Muriel Rukeyser" [1938 poem]. *Modernism/Modernity* 5 (no. 1): 23-47. Gauley Bridge, W. Va., tunnel; silicosis and African-American workers

Keefe, Susan E., and Paul Parsons. 2005. "Health and Life-style Indicators in a Rural Appalachian County: Implications for Health-Care Practice" [Watauga Co., N.C.]. Chap. 8 in *Appalachian Cultural Competency: A Guide for Medical, Mental Health, and Social Service Professionals*, ed. S. Keefe, 183-195. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Keefe, Susan E., and Susie Greene. 2005. "Mental Health Therapy for Appalachian Clients." Chap. 14 in *Appalachian Cultural Competency: A Guide for Medical, Mental Health, and Social Service Professionals*, ed. S. Keefe, 299-314. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Keefe, Susan E., Janice L. Hastrup, and Sherilyn N. Thomas. 2005. "Psychological Testing in Rural Appalachia." Chap. 13 in *Appalachian Cultural Competency: A Guide for Medical, Mental Health, and Social Service Professionals*, ed. S. Keefe, 285-297. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

King, Lisa. 2012. "OxyContin, Not Bath Salts, Is the Drug of Choice of Appalachian Addicts." *Washington Times*, 9 June: Communities section [Appalachian Chronicles series]. 1,214 words. http://communities.washingtontimes.com/neighborhood/appalachian-chronicles/2012/jun/9/OxyContin-Bath-Salts-drug-Appalachia-addicts/.

Krajcinovic, Ivana. 1997. From Company Doctors to Managed Care: The United Mine Workers' Noble Experiment [UMWA health care funded by Welfare and Retirement Fund, 1940s to 1960s]. Cornell Studies in Industrial and Labor Relations, no. 31. Ithaca, N.Y.: ILR Press. 212 pp.

Krochmal, Arnold, Russell S. Walters, and Richard M. Doughty. [1969] 2005. *A Guide to Medicinal Plants of Appalachia*. Rpt. ed. Honolulu, HI: University Press of the Pacific. 291 pp. Originally published: Washington: U.S.D.A. Forest Service. http://purl.fdlp.gov/GPO/gpo24979.

Larimore, Walt. 2002. Bryson City Tales: Stories of a Doctor's First Year of Practice in the Smoky Mountains [1980s]. Grand Rapids, Mich.: Zondervan. 320 pp.

Larimore, Walter L. 2006. *Bryson City Secrets: Even More Tales of a Small-Town Doctor in the Smoky Mountains* [N.C.]. Grand Rapids, Mich.: Zondervan. 288 pp.

Lee, Renee Gravois, Julie L. Ozanne, and Ronald Paul Hill. 2000. "Improving Service Encounters Through Resource Sensitivity: The Case of Health Care Delivery in an Appalachian Community." *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing* 18 (Fall): 230-248.

Lengerich, Eugene J., et al. 2005. "Cancer Incidence in Kentucky, Pennsylvania, and West Virginia: Disparities in Appalachia" [1994-1998 study; higher incidence in rural vs. normal Appalachia; tables]. *Journal of Rural Health* 21 (Winter): 39-47.

Leukefeld, Carl, et al. 2005. "Prescription Drug Use, Health Services Utilization, and Health Problems in Rural Appalachian Kentucky" [OxyContin abuse]. *Journal of Drug Issues* 35, no. 3 (Summer): 631-644.

Lewis, Bonnie G. 2010. "A Haven of Rest: Morris Memorial Hospital for Crippled Children." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 2 (Summer): 47-53. Built by the WPA in 1936 at Milton, Cabell County, to treat polio; became obsolete following the 1955 vaccine.

Lewis, Wilma. 2000. "Into the Hills" [Bobtown, W. Va.; public health nursing, 1950s-60s]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 17 (Spring): 12-15.

Lippard, Cameron D., and Jammie Price. 2011. "Latino Health Care in Southern Appalachia a Community-Engaged Examination" [N.C.]. *Journal of Applied Social Science* 5, no. 2 (October): 66-87. Survey of 159 Latinos concerning their views of health care services and barriers, 2007-2009.

Ludke, Robert L., and Phillip J. Obermiller, ed. 2012. Appalachian Health and Well-Being. Foreword by Richard A. Couto. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 386 pp. Figures, maps, tables. Contents: PART I. APPALACHIAN HEALTH DETERMINANTS. Genetic contributions to health / Melanie F. Myers and Carol S. Baugh -- Health and the physical environment / Michael S. Hendryx -- The quest for an Appalachian health lifestyle / Evelyn A. Knight -- Health care systems / Joel A. Halverson, et al. PART II. APPALACHIAN HEALTH STATUS. The heart of Appalachia / Ann L. McCracken and E. Kelly Firesheets -- Diabetes and its management / Sharon A. Denham -- Obesity and food insecurity / Jennifer Chubinski and Mark A. Carrozza -- Cancer-related disparities / James L. Fisher, et al. -- Chronic kidney disease: a hidden illness / Barbara B. Weaner and Rebecca J. Schmidt -- Trauma / Levi D. Procter, et al. -- Mental health / Susan E. Keefe and Lisa Curtin -- Substance abuse / Michael S. Dunn, Bruce A. Behringer, and Kristine Harper Bowers -- Oral health / Daniel W. McNeil, Richard J. Crout, and Mary L. Marazita. PART III. URBAN APPALACHIAN HEALTH. Identifying Appalachians outside the region / Robert L. Ludke, et al. -- The health status and health determinants of urban Appalachian adults and children / Robert L. Ludke, Phillip J. Obermiller, and Ronnie D. Horner -- Community-based participatory health research in an urban Appalachian neighborhood / M. Kathryn Brown.

Ludke, Robert L., Jessica M. Valenzuela, Lora Arduser, Demaree K. Bruck, Phyllis S. Shelton, Shawna M. McCowan, and Donna Jones. 2012. "An Urban Appalachian Neighborhood's Response to Diabetes." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 18, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 176-188. Lower Price Hill, Cincinnati. "...a Community Health Advocate (CHA) program...trained neighborhood residents to canvass households to conduct diabetes risk assessments," and provide education and follow-up.

Lukyanova, Valentina, and Toni Calasanti. 2009. "Satisfaction with Family Planning Services among Appalachian and Non-Appalachian Women in Virginia." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 15, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 49-69. Tables.

MacAvoy, Suzanne, and Doris Troth Lippman. 2001. "Teaching Culturally Competent Care: Nursing Students Experience Rural Appalachia" [two courses taught at Fairfield Univ., Conn., for students sent to Appalachia]. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing* 12 (July): 221-227.

MacMaster, Samuel A., Kelly Tripp, and Sherri Argo. 2008. "Perceptions of HIV Risk Behaviors and Service Needs Among Methamphetamine Users in Rural Appalachian Tennessee." *Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse* 7, no. 1 (April): 115-130.

Maher, Marie Bartlett. 2008. *The Frontier Nursing Service: America's First Rural Nurse-Midwife Service and School* [Ky.; Mary Breckinridge, 1881-1965]. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 22. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 250 pp.

Maloney, Michael E. 2005. "Evaluating a Rite of Passage Program for Adolescent Appalachian Males" [objectives; Appalachian values defined]. Chap. 15 in *Appalachian Cultural Competency: A Guide for Medical, Mental Health, and Social Service Professionals*, ed. S. Keefe, 315-334. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Mariotti, Rita A. 2003. *Coal Miners' Doctor* [outsider memoir of 1957-59 experience as M.D. in a Ky. UMWA hospital]. Martinsville, Ind.: Bookman. 173 pp.

McCall, Pete. 2000. "New River Clinic: A Model for Health Care in Appalachia" [UMWA-established]. *United Mine Workers Journal* 111 (May-June): 12-13.

McCulloch, B. Jan. 1995. "The Relationship of Family Proximity and Social Support to the Mental Health of Older Rural Adults: The Appalachian Context." *Journal of Aging Studies* 9 (Spring): 65-81.

McDaniel, Lynda. 1999. "Eula Hall: A Driving Force for Change" [founded Mud Creek Clinic, Grethel, Ky., in 1973]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (May-August): 41-46.

McDevitt, Bette. 2009. "Miners Clinics" [coal miners' medical care]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 92, no. 3 (Fall): 32-43. History of clinics organized by the Russellton Medical Group and the UMWA Welfare and Retirement Fund, 1950s-60s. Allegheny-Kiski Valley, Pa.

McIvor, Arthur, and Ronald Johnston. 2007. *Miners' Lung: A History of Dust Disease in British Coal Mining*. Aldershot, England: Ashgate. 355 pp.

McSpirit, Stephanie, and Caroline Reid. 2011. "Residents' Perceptions of Tap Water and Decisions to Purchase Bottled Water: A Survey Analysis from the Appalachian, Big Sandy Coal Mining Region of West Virginia." *Society and Natural Resources* 24, no. 5 (May): 511-20.

Meier, Barry. 2003. *Pain Killer: A "Wonder" Drug's Trail of Addiction and Death* [OxyContin]. Emmaus, Pa.: Rodale Press. 323 pp.

Meyer, Deborah, et al. 2005. "Recruiting and Retaining Mental Health Professionals to Rural Communities: An Interdisciplinary Course In Appalachia" [distance-learning course]. *Journal of Rural Health* 21 (Winter): 86-91.

Meyer, Michael G. 2000. "Mobilizing Moms in the War Against Tobacco." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 17 (Spring): 29-32.

Miroff, Nick. 2008. "A Dark Addiction: Miners Caught in Western Va.'s Spiraling Rates of Painkiller Abuse." *Washington Post*, 13 January, 1(A). 3255 words. Tazewell County, OxyContin, methadone.

Montell, William Lynwood. 2008. *Tales from Kentucky Doctors*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 249 pp. First-hand accounts and anecdotes from 26 doctor informants.

Moore, Catherine. 2006. "'Let's Show Them What a Fight We Can Give Them': The Black Lung Movement in West Virginia" [1950s-60s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 2 (Summer): 6-13.

Moss, Kay K. 1999. *Southern Folk Medicine*, 1750-1820. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 259 pp.

Mulcahy, Richard. 1994. "They Shall Walk Again!' The Physical Rehabilitation Program of the UMWA Welfare and Retirement Fund." In *Appalachian Adaptations to a Changing World*, ed. Norma Myers. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 6: 140-155. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Mulcahy, Richard. 1996. "A New Deal for Coal Miners: The UMWA Welfare and Retirement Fund and the Reorganization of Health Care in Appalachia." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Spring): 29-52.

Mulcahy, Richard. 2009. "Progress and Persistent Problems: Sixty Years of Health Care in Appalachia." In *Culture, Class, and Politics in Modern Appalachia: Essays in Honor of Ronald L. Lewis*, ed. J. Egolf, K. Fones-Wolf, and L. Martin, 204-223. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. UMWA Welfare and Retirement Fund.

Online Archive of American Folk Medicine [200,000 folk remedies]. Established 1996. Director, Michael Owen Jones, University of California, Los Angeles. Advanced Search mode allows limiting by Mountain South location; "contains material from the UCLA Archive of American Folk Medicine established by Wayland D. Hand in the 1940s." http://www.folkmed.ucla.edu/index.html.

Pack, Robert P. 2010. "Alarmingly High: Prescription Drug Abuse and the Pill Pipeline in Appalachia." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 4-6. Shaded county outline map.

Parker, Maggie Hammons. 2010. "Hammons Family Remedies" [23 herbal remedies]. *Old-Time Herald* 12, no. 4 (April-May): 31. Used by the family of this Pocahontas Co., W. Va. ballad singer. http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/index.html.

Persons, W. Scott, and Jeanine M. Davis. 2005. *Growing and Marketing Ginseng, Goldenseal and Other Woodland Medicinals* [14 forest herbs]. Fairview, N.C.: Bright Mountain Books. 466 pp.

Pettigrew, Jonathan, Michelle Miller-Day, Janice Krieger, and Michael L. Hecht. 2012. "The Rural Context of Illicit Substance Offers: A Study of Appalachian Rural Adolescents" [Pa., Ohio]. *Journal of Adolescent Research* 27, no. 4 (July): 523-550.

Platania, Joseph. 2003. "Mission in the Mountains: West Virginia's Pallottine Missionary Sisters" [providing medical care since 1912; Richwood; Huntington]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Spring): 18-25.

Platania, Joseph. 2005. "Fall Victory: Huntington's 1918 Flu Epidemic" [3000 affected; 200 deaths in six weeks]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 3 (Fall): 44-50.

Plaut, Thomas, Suzanne Landis, and June Palmour Trevor. 2009. "Community Coalition Building in the Madison County Health Project" [N.C.]. In *Participatory Development in Appalachia: Cultural Identity, Community, and Sustainability*, ed. S. Keefe, 231-246. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Plaut, Thomas. 1998. "Responsibility and Community: Sociology, Social Action, and Policy Making at the Local Level" [Madison Co., N.C.; Mars Hill College; medical services]. *American Sociologist* 29 (Winter): 48-63.

Pore, Renate E., and Daniel M. Christy. 1999. "Access to Health Care in West Virginia"

[insurance; rurality; poverty]. In *Inside West Virginia: Public Policy Perspectives for the 21st Century*, ed. B. Keith and R. Althouse, 41-58. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Potter, Wendell. 2010. "Remote Area Medical in Wise County, Virginia." In *Deadly Spin: An Insurance Company Insider Speaks Out on How Corporate PR is Killing Health care and Deceiving Americans*, by W. Potter, 63-77. New York: Bloomsbury Press.

Power of Illness & the Promise of Health in Appalachia. 2000. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 17 (Spring): 1-53.

Powers-Beck, Jeff. 2000. "Beyond Control: Caring for a Body With Diabetes" [juvenile diabetes]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 17 (Spring): 42-45.

Puckett, Anita. 2005. "Negotiating Rural Southern Mountain Speech." Chap. 1 in *Appalachian Cultural Competency: A Guide for Medical, Mental Health, and Social Service Professionals*, ed. S. Keefe, 31-54. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Rago, Linda Ours. 2000. Blackberry Cove Herbal: Healing with Common Herbs in the Appalachian Wise-Woman Tradition. Sterling, Va.: Capital Books. 166 pp.

Ramey, Crystal, and Jenna Davis. 1998. "Healing the Natural Way" [interview with Ga. herbalist Charles Thurmond]. *Foxfire Magazine* 32 (Spring/Summer): 47-51.

Ramsey, Priscilla W., and L. Lee Glenn. 1998. "Risk Factors for Heart Disease in Rural Appalachia" [Eastern Tenn. county]. *Family and Community Health* 20 (January): 71-82.

Roberts, Alma Dolen. 2000. *House Calls: Memoirs of Life with a Kentucky Doctor* [Wayne Co.; 1932-93]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 326 pp.

Roberts, Alma Dolen. 2001. *House Calls: Memoirs of Life with a Kentucky Doctor* [Wayne Co.; 1903-2001]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 326 pp.

Rosswurm, Mary Ann, Debra M. Dent, Cynthia C. Armstrong-Persily, Paula Woodburn, and Barbara Davis. 1996. "Illness Experiences and Health Recovery Behaviors of Patients in Southern Appalachia" [W. Va.]. Western Journal of Nursing Research 18 (August): 441-459.

Rowles, Graham D., James A Concotelli, and Dallas M. High. 1996. "Community Integration of a Rural Nursing Home." *Journal of Applied Gerontology* 15 (June): 188-201.

Royse, David, and Mark Dignan. 2011. "Fatalism and Cancer Screening in Appalachian Kentucky." *Family & Community Health* 34, no. 2 (April-June): 126-133. Telephone survey of 696 adults in 51 Kentucky counties.

Russell, Jack, and Fred D. Baldwin. 1999. "A Conversation on Rural Health Care" [interview with Wayne Myers, director, U.S. Office of Rural Health Policy]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (May-August): 16-21.

Salyers, Kathleen M., and Martin H. Ritchie. 2006. "Multicultural Counseling: An Appalachian Perspective" [case study]. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling & Development* 34, no. 3 (July): 130-142.

Sanford, Bonnie L., et al. 2008. "Radio X: Guaranteed Not to Contain any Poisonous Drugs." *Western Pennsylvania History* 91, no. 1 (Spring): 32-39. Century-old pharmaceutical agents of Old Fowler general store, Wellsburg, W. Va. – curated by Meadowcroft Museum, Avella, Pa. – included remedies containing harmful radioactive materials.

Schultz, Katey. 2007. "Mountains of Tea" [Western N.C. herbalist, Joe Hollis; Chinese botanical garden]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 20-23.

Shambaugh, Helen Bradfield. 2003. "Magnolia Nurse: Patty Norton of Morgan County" [b. 1913; rural health care, 1940s-50s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Winter): 46-48.

Sharp, Roland. 2008. *Roland Sharp, Country Doctor: Memories of a Life Well Lived with Some Thoughts About Medicine* [b. 1907]. Dunmore, W. Va.: Pocahontas Communications Cooperative. 262 pp. www.alleghenymountainradio.org.

Shuford, Chuck. 2010. "Appalachia's Drinking Problem." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 12-14. Soft drinks such as "Mountain Dew," school vending sales, and problems including diet, dental, and diabetes.

Simpson, Mary Rado, and Marilyn Givens King. 1999. "'God Brought All These Churches Together': Issues in Developing Religion-Health Partnerships in an Appalachian Community" [Ky., W. Va.]. *Public Health Nursing* 16 (February): 41-49.

Sink, Alice E. 2000. "The Grit Behind the Miracle: A Community Builds a Hospital" [1944 Catawba Co., N.C.; emergency polio facility]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 17 (Spring): 8-11.

Smith, Barbara. 2005. "'Are You Sick?' Dr. J. W. Myers and His Remedy Company" [incorporated 1915, Philippi, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 1 (Spring): 36-43. Sidebar: "The Myers Clinic: A Family Legacy in Barbour County," 44-45.

Smith, Barbara. 2005. *Their Name Means Medicine: The Story of the Myers Family* [physicians; Phillipi, W. Va.; biography]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 132 pp.

Smith, Margaret Charles, and Linda Janet Holmes. 1996. *Listen to Me Good: The Life Story of an Alabama Midwife*. Columbus: Ohio State University Press. Greene County; 91-year-old African American; old-time birthing ways.

Smoot, Richard C. 1995. "Medical History Notes From Appalachia." *Appalachian Heritage* 23 (Fall): 21-28.

Temple, John, and Joel Beeson, ed. 2004. *Cancer Stories: Lessons in Love, Loss, and Hope*. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 219 pp., plus DVD-ROM. Photo-essays; journalism students paired with patients.

Thomas, James G., and Charles Reagan Wilson, ed. 2012. *Science & Medicine*, Vol. 22 of *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 281 pp. Thirty-eight essays and 46 shorter entries written by experts, including: Folk Medicine | Healers, Women | Health, Rural | Poverty, Effects of | Faith Healing | Frontier Nursing Service | HIV/AIDS | Medicine Shows.

Thornton, Gwendolyn B., and Krystal Deitz-Allyn. 2010. "Substance Abuse, Unemployment Problems, and the Disparities in Mental Health Services in the Appalachian Southwest Region" [Wise Co., Va.]. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment* 20, no. 7 (October): 939-951.

Timah, Nga Joseph. 2000. "Herbal Medicine in Cameroon and North Carolina." *Appalachian Journal* 27 (Summer): 354-367.

Toborg, Mary A. 1997. An Assessment of Tobacco Prevention and Control Materials Used in the Appalachian Mountain Region [research supported by National Cancer Inst.]. Landover, Md.: Toborg Associates, Inc. 110 pp.

Toborg, Mary A. 1997. Catalogue of Tobacco Prevention and Control Materials Used in the Appalachian Mountain Region [471 entries: workbooks, videos, factsheets; indexed]. Landover, Md.: Toborg Associates, Inc. 150 pp.

United States. 2007. Appalachian Ice: The Methamphetamine Epidemic in Western North Carolina: Hearing Before the Subcommittee on Criminal Justice, Drug Policy, and Human Resources of the Committee on Government Reform, House of Representatives, One Hundred Ninth Congress, Second Session, April 11, 2006. Washington: U.S. G.P.O.. 83 pp. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS77653.

Urbina, Ian. 2007. "In Kentucky's Teeth, Toll of Poverty and Neglect" [tobacco, malnutrition, Medicaid]. *New York Times*, 24 December, 1(A). 1623 words.

Valencius, Conevery Bolton. 2002. The Health of the Country: How American Settlers Understood Themselves and Their Land [19th-century Ark. and Mo.]. New York: Basic Books. 388 pp. Contents: "Healthy country". "Is it thriving & healthy?" -- Sources -- Making American territory -- "New country". "Wild" land and "new" -- Acclimation -- Literature of settlement --"Movers" and "improvers" -- Early Arkansas and Missouri -- Native peoples -- Emigration stories, Black and white -- Body. Medicine and the demands of health -- Force and flow -- Blood -- Intake and outgo -- "Risings" and release -- Derangement and proper management -- Change -- Chills and fevers -- Places. "Place" -- Telling the "Health of the country" -- Indoors and out --Climate and constitution -- Movement -- Airs. Reading the air -- Miasma -- Smell --Counteraction -- Disgust -- Expertise and common knowledge -- Change and the perils of human action -- Blurred boundaries -- Waters. Conduit -- Blessing -- Threat -- Flood -- Swamp --Sloughs of the spirit -- Wondrous waters: healing springs -- Local knowledge: medical geography and the intellectual hinterland. "On the medical topography of Saint Charles County, Mo." -- Science of the local -- Politics of local knowledge -- Professional anxieties of the periphery -- Regional boosterism and southern medicine -- Uses of history -- Models for hinterland practice -- Cultivation. Agriculture as material and moral imperative -- Farm work --; Cultivation and sense of self -- Fertility and generation -- Changes wrought by cultivation --Crisis -- Racial anxiety. Peoples and places -- Environmental belonging -- Vulnerability of the racial self -- Blurred boundaries -- Proper place: free Black identity -- Mixedness and the problem of color -- Failure of order.

Verghese, Abraham. 1994. *My Own Country: A Doctor's Story*. New York: Simon & Schuster. 347 pp.

Wagner, Melinda Bollar. 2005. "Connecting What We Know to What We Do: Modifying Interview Techniques for the Collective Self in Appalachia." Chap. 2 in *Appalachian Cultural Competency: A Guide for Medical, Mental Health, and Social Service Professionals*, ed. S. Keefe, 55-73. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Wallace, Ryan, et al. 2008. "Trends in Tuberculosis Reported From the Appalachian Region: United States, 1993-2005." *Journal of Rural Health* 24, no. 3 (Summer): 236-243. CDC analysis; foreign-born Hispanics' rates increasing.

Wallace, William E. 2000. "In Isolation" [1952 Charleston, W. Va.; childhood memories of a polio sanitarium]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 17 (Spring): 3-7.

Weaver, Karol K. 2004. "'She Knew All the Old Remedies': Medical Caregiving and Neighborhood Women of the Anthracite Coal Region of Pennsylvania" [Mount Carmel; immigrants]. *Pennsylvania History* 71 (Autumn): 421-444.

Weaver, Karol K. 2011. *Medical Caregiving and Identity in Pennsylvania's Anthracite Region,* 1880-2000. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. "Examines folk songs, patent medicine advertisements, oral history interviews, ghost stories, and jokes to show how...the men and women...crafted their gender and ethnic identities via the medical decisions they made."

Welch, Wendy. 2011. "Self Control, Fatalism, and Health in Appalachia." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 17, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 108-122. "Fatalism can appear as: faith-based; oppositional to distrust; pride covering poverty; apathy or unwillingness to change; based on ignorance of potential health consequences; upholding a quality of life."

Wewers, Mary Ellen. 2000. "Tobacco Use Characteristics among Rural Ohio Appalachians." *Journal of Community Health* 25 (October): 377-388.

Winkler, Wayne. 2011. "The Jake Walk Blues from a Green Bottle." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 67-69. Discusses the 1930s toxic variant of Jamaica ginger, "jake drinkers" resultant epidemic paralysis, and the release of the song, "Jake Walk Blues" (and later variants in country and blues genres).

Witchel, Alex. 2009. "Putting America's Diet on a Diet" [a visit to Huntington, W. Va., posed as the nation's unhealthiest city]. *New York Times*, 6 October, 50 (Magazine section). 4941 words. http://www.nytimes.com/2009/10/11/magazine/11Oliver-t.html.

Woodside, Jane Harris. 2000. "When It Comes to Health, Everyone's an Expert: The Madison County Health Coalition" [N.C.; Kellogg Foundation funds]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 17 (Spring): 16-19.

Workman, Megan. 2011. "W. Va. Is Only State with Rising Teen Birthrate" [17 percent increase, 2007-2009]. *Charleston Gazette*, 18 October. 1036 words. http://www.wvgazette.com/News/201110180208.

Wright, Jessica Gamponia. 1999. "Physical Activity Among West Virginians: Bridging Barriers to Promote Health" [tables]. In *Inside West Virginia: Public Policy Perspectives for the 21st Century*, ed. B. Keith and R. Althouse, 27-39. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Wykoff, Randy. 2010. "Public Health in Appalachia: The Perspective of One Hundred Years: How High is the Wall in Your Town?" [tuberculosis and six other communicable diseases]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 9-11. Reflects on the book, *Popular Talks on Preventable Diseases* (1908-09), compiled from copies of "Virginia Health Bulletin" issued by the State Department of Health.

Young, April M., and Jennifer R. Havens. 2012. "Transition from First Illicit Drug Use to First Injection Drug Use among Rural Appalachian Drug Users: A Cross-Sectional Comparison and Retrospective Survival Analysis" [Ky.]. *Addiction* 107, no. 3: 587-596. Tables, figures.

Ziegenfus, Robert C. 2012. "Geographic Patterns of Children's Blood Lead Levels in Pennsylvania Counties." *Pennsylvania Geographer* 50, no. 1-2: 132-160. Tables; shaded county outline maps.

Ziff, Katherine K. 2012. *Asylum on the Hill: History of a Healing Landscape*. Athens: Ohio University Press. 220 pp. Focuses on the first twenty years, 1874-1893, of Athens State (psychiatric) Hospital and 19th-century treatment of the insane. Numerous illustrations of buildings and grounds.

Zullig, Keith J., and Michael Hendryx. 2011. "Health-Related Quality of Life among Central Appalachian Residents in Mountaintop Mining Counties" [tables; maps; Ky., Tenn., Va., W. Va.]. *American Journal of Public Health* 101, no. 5 (May): 848-853. "In April 2010, the EPA issued new guidance regulating MTM that recognized the environmental and community health costs imposed by this practice;Our results contribute to the evidence base in support of the April EPA decision." (See also: Ahern, et al., 2011).

LITERATURE, LANGUAGE, DIALECT

Fiction (including "local color" period), creative nonfiction, short stories, essays, poetry, drama, book reviews, author interviews, children's and adolescent literature, fictional memoirs, classic reprints, and language/dialect studies

Abraham, Michael. 2010. *Union, WV: A Novel*. Blacksburg, Va.: Pileated Press. 305 pp. "A novel of loss, healing, and redemption in contemporary Appalachia."

Abraham, Michael. 2012. *Providence, VA: A Novel*. Blacksburg, Va.: Pocahontas Press. 398 pp. "Sammy Reisinger is a 17-year old violin prodigy from a wealthy New Jersey family. She has inherited a priceless Cremonese violin from her grandfather and is schooled in the classics. Becoming enamored with traditional Appalachian music, she decides to visit the venerable Old Fiddlers Convention in Southwest Virginia. While there performing, tragedy strikes, leaving her seemingly trapped and orphaned. Providence, VA is the story of how she and her tiny host community deal with an epic disaster."

Ackerman, Kathy Cantley. 2002. *The Time It Takes: Poems*. New Women's Voices Series, no. 4. Cincinnati, Ohio: Finishing Line Press. 30 pp.

Ackerman, Kathy Cantley. 2003. *Crossbones & Princess Lace* [poems]. Carrboro, N.C.: North Carolina Writers' Network. 28 pp. Winner of the third annual Mary Belle Campbell Poetry Book Publication Award.

Ackerman, Kathy Cantley. 2004. *The Heart of Revolution: The Radical Life and Novels of Olive Dargan* [Olive Tilford Dargan, 1869-1968; pseud. Fielding Burke]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 237 pp.

Acree, Wilma, George Lies, Patsy Pittman, and Sandy Tritt, ed. 2008. Seeking the Swan: A Selection of Winning Entries from the West Virginia Writers, Inc. Annual Writing Competition 1996-2006. Lewisburg, W. Va.: West Virginia Writers, Inc. 264 pp.

Adams, B. Chelsea. 2000. *Looking for a Landing: Poems*. Abingdon, Va.: Sow's Ear Press. 29 pp.

Adams, Gail Galloway. 2002. "West Virginia, Literature Of." In *The Companion to Southern Literature: Themes, Genres, Places, People, Movements, and Motifs*, ed. J. Flora and L. Mackethan, 957-962. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Adams, Michael. 2010. *Steel Valley* [poems; Monongahela Valley]. San Pedro, Calif.: Lummox Press. 103 pp. Scenes from a now-deindustrialized mill town culture, by the grandson of steel workers. "These tough, tender-eyed poems and prose pieces are at once blue collar and bohemian, homages to the drinking and the working life....epic and intimate." -- John Macker.

Adams, Sheila Kay. 1995. *Come Go Home With Me: Stories*. Foreword by Lee Smith. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 120 pp.

Adams, Sheila Kay. 2004. *My Old True Love: A Novel* [Civil War-era N.C.; singing, ballad theme]. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 289 pp.

Adams, Timothy Dow. 2004. "Telling Stories in Dorothy Allison's *Two or Three Things I Know For Sure*" [New York: Dutton, 1995]. *Southern Literary Journal* 36 (Spring): 82-99.

Agee, James. 2005. *James Agee Rediscovered: The Journals of 'Let Us Now Praise Famous Men' and Other New Manuscripts*. Edited by Michael A. Lofaro and Hugh Davis. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 437 pp.

Agee, James. 2007. A Death in the Family: A Restoration of the Author's Text [1909-1955]. Edited by Michael A. Lofaro. The works of James Agee series, v. 1. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 582 pp. "Published in 1957 to wide acclaim, James Agee's A Death in the Family was posthumously awarded the Pulitzer Prize for fiction. However, the novel had been so heavily edited by publisher and editor David McDowell that it little resembled the manuscript that James Agee had completed at the time of his death."

Albert, Susan Wittig. 2003. "The Art of Sharyn McCrumb: Anthropologist and Balladeer." In From a Race of Storytellers: Essays on the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb, ed. K. Holloway, 69-79. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Allen, Gilbert. 2003. Driving to Distraction: Poems. Washington, D.C.: Orchises. 64 pp.

Allen, Nancy Kelly. 2010. *Trouble in Troublesome Creek* [children's story; Hazard, Ky.]. Illustrated by K. Michael Crawford. New York: Red Rock Press. 29 pp. "When dead fish are discovered in a favorite swimming hole, the Troublesome Creek gang decides to investigate."

Alley, Howard Eugene. 2002. *Presumed Dead: A Civil War Mystery*. Fairview, N.C.: Historical Images. 241 pp. Historical fiction; Whiteside Cove, N.C.

Allison, Dorothy. 2001. "Talking Trash: The Interview: Dorothy Allison" [web page]. By Marilee Strong. 17 pp. http://home.earthlink.net/~uur/trash.htm. ("Originally published in San Francisco Focus, KQED, Northern California Broadcasting").

Allison, Dorothy. 2012. *Conversations with Dorothy Allison*. Edited by Mae Miller Claxton. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 179 pp. Author of *Bastard out of Carolina* (1992).

Alther, Lisa. 2001. "Healing Laughter: A Conversation (recorded at the Lisa Alther Literary Festival, Emory & Henry College, October 20, 2000)." Interview by Wayne Pond. *The Iron Mountain Review* 17 (Spring): 28-36.

Alther, Lisa. 2001. "Lisa Alther Goes Back to East Tennessee" [considering moving home]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 17 (Spring): 4-5.

Alther, Lisa. 2001. "The Eye of the Lord" [essay; originally appeared in *Women's Review of Books*, July 1999]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 17 (Spring): 6-7.

Alther, Lisa. 2008. "The Shadow Side of Appalachia: Mildred Haun's Haunting Fiction." *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 2 (Spring): 30-38. Featured Author (1911-1966); author of *The Hawk's Done Gone* (1940).

Alther, Lisa. 2011. *Washed in the Blood: A Novel* [historical fiction]. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 459 pp. "Based on extensive research into the racial mixing that occurred in the early years of southeastern settlement."

Alther, Lisa. 2012. *Stormy Weather & Other Stories* [collected]. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 186 pp. Contents: Squeamish | Termites | The fox hunt | The eye of the lord | Grassy top | The architect of utopia | Encounter | Wedding belles | Stormy weather | God's country | The politics of paradise | Birdman and the dancer.

Alvarez, Raymond. 1998. *Coal Camp Boys* [fiction; 1950s-60s W. Va.]. Fairmont, W. Va.: Word's Worth Writing Services. 425 pp.

Always a Love Story: Fiction from the Appalachian Mountains. 2001. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 18 (Summer): 1-44.

Ammerman, Mark. 2005. *Longshot: A Novel* [Christian fiction; historical fiction]. The Cross and the Tomahawk Series. Colorado Springs, Colo.: River Oak. 317 pp. From New England to 1750s Ohio Country.

Anderson, Belinda. 2001. *The Well Ain't Dry Yet* [short stories; W. Va.]. Charleston, W. Va.: Mountain State Press. 155 pp.

Anderson, Belinda. 2006. *The Bingo Cheaters* [fiction; W. Va.]. Charleston, W. Va.: Mountain State Press. 189 pp.

Anderson, Belinda. 2007. "From a Place Called Solid': Mapping the Literary Landscape of West Virginia." *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 10: 3-5.

Anderson, Belinda. 2008. *Buckle Up, Buttercup*. Charleston, W.Va: Mountain State Press. 189 pp. Twenty-two short stories propelled by W. Va. characters.

Anderson, Linda. 1999. *The Secrets of Sadie Maynard* [mystery/romance; W. Va.]. New York: Pocket Star Books. 452 pp.

Anderson, Maggie (moderator), with George Ella Lyon, Sharyn McCrumb, and Meredith Sue Willis. 2007. "Tall Women: Feminism and Female Identity in Appalachian Literature" [panel discussion]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 23 (Spring): 46-42.

Anderson, Maggie. 2000. *Windfall: New and Selected Poems*. Pitt Poetry Series. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 112 pp.

Anderson, Maggie. 2004. "Sentences of Light" [on the poetry of Robert Morgan]. *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Summer): 37-39.

Anderson, Maggie. 2005. "The Spaces Between: A Conversation (Recorded at the Maggie Anderson Literary Festival, Emory & Henry College, September 24, 2004)." Interview by Kate Long. *The Iron Mountain Review* 21 (Spring): 35-42.

Andrews, Tom. 2002. *Random Symmetries: The Collected Poems of Tom Andrews* [1961-2001; W. Va.; hemophilia, HIV]. Oberlin, Ohio: Oberlin College Press. 265 pp.

Angle, Kimberly Greene. 2008. *Hummingbird*. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux. 243 pp. Adolescent fiction; Ga. farm life; motherless 12-year-old.

Angyal, Andrew J. 1995. *Wendell Berry* [handbook; criticism and interpretation]. Twayne's United States Author Series; TUSAS no. 654. New York: Twayne Publishers. 181 pp.

Angyal, Andrew J. 1997. "Wendell Berry." In *Encyclopedia of the Essay*, ed. T. Chevalier, 87-89. Chicago: Fitzroy Dearborn Publishers.

Annas, Mary Roche. 2000. "Proletarian Disaster and Social Change: Representations of Raymond Williams in Vicki Covington's *Night Ride Home*" [1992 novel about 1939 mining town Bessemer, Ala.]. In *Caverns of Night: Coal Mines in Art, Literature, and Film*, ed. W. Thesing, 155-165. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press.

Anne Shelby Bibliography [34 entries]. 2011. *The Iron Mountain Review* 27 (Spring): 36. Books, plays, selected stories, selected essays, and "about Anne Shelby."

Anne Shelby Issue, edited by John Lang. 2011. Special issue, *The Iron Mountain Review* 27 (Spring): 1-36.

Anthology of Appalachian Writers: Adriana Trigiani, Vol. I. 2009. Edited by Sylvia Bailey Shurbutt. Shepherdstown, W. Va.: Shepherd University. 136 pp. Poetry, fiction, and photos by 40 writers, most from W. Va., including Marc Harshman, Wiley Cash, Natalie Sypolt, Mary Lucille DeBerry, Jeff Mann, Randi Ward, and E. D. Pendarvis. Adriana Trigiani received the Appalachian Heritage Writer's Award after serving as Writer-in-Residence at Shepherd University during fall 2008.

Anthology of Appalachian Writers: Silas House, Vol. II. 2010. Edited by Sylvia Bailey Shurbutt. Shepherdstown, W. Va.: Shepherd University. 176 pp. Poetry, prose, and photos by more than 50 writers and artists, including Silas House, Natalie Sypolt, E. D. Pendarvis, Anna Egan Smucker, Mark DeFoe, Mary Lucille DeBerry, Lena Cantrell McNicholas, Jesse Graves, Jeff Mann, and Jesse Stuart ("Split Cherry Tree").

Anthology of Appalachian Writers: Bobbie Ann Mason, Vol III. 2011. Edited by Sylvia Bailey Shurbutt. Shepherdstown, W. Va.: Shepherd University. 178 pp. Poetry, prose, and photos by

more than 50 writers and artists including Bobbie Ann Mason, Natalie Sypolt, Mark DeFoe, Paul Rakes, Becky Mushko, Harry Gieg, Llewellyn McKernan, Edwina Pendarvis, and Rebecca Harding Davis ("Life in the Iron Mills").

Anthology of Appalachian Writers: Ron Rash, Vol. IV. 2012. Edited by Sylvia Bailey Shurbutt. Shepherdstown, W. Va.: Shepherd University. 136 pp. Poetry, prose, and photos by approximately 50 writers and artists including Ron Rash, Marc Harshman, Anna Egan Smucker, David O. Hoffman, and Willa Cather (Sapphira and the Slave Girl, 1940).

Anthony, Joseph C. 2003. "Burning the Question." *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Spring): 14-21. Critiques poetry and stories of James Goode.

Anthony, Joseph G. 2005. *Peril, Kentucky* [fiction; outsider community college teacher]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 158 pp.

Anthony, Joseph G. 2012. *Pickering's Mountain* [fiction]. Albany, Ky.: Old Seventy Creek Press. 404 pp. "When Sam and Margery Weatherby leave New York behind and head for the Kentucky mountains for his newspaper job, they....are soon embroiled in complicated Appalachian battles over religion and mountaintop removal for coal mining."

Appalachian Accents: Articles, Fiction, Essays, Poetry, and Reviews. 2000. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 17 (Summer): 1-53.

Appalachian Poetry: Articles, Essays, Poetry, and Reviews. 1998. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 15 (Summer): 1-40.

Appalachian Poetry. 2005. Special issue, *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 55, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 5-63. ["A Portfolio of Appalachian Poets": poems by Charles Wright, Marianne Worthington, William Woolfitt, Jonathan Williams, Jackson Wheeler, A. E. Stringer, Noel Smith, Katherine Smith, George Scarbrough, Steve Scafidi, Jr., Steve Rhodes, Ron Rash, Lynn Powell, Rick Mulkey, Robert Morgan, Jim Minick, Michael McFee, Linda Parsons Marion, Jeff Daniel Marion, Jeff Mann, Leatha Kendrick, Don Johnson, David Huddle, James Harms, Cathryn Hankla, Diane Gilliam Fisher, Geraldine Connolly, Michael Chitwood, Fred Chappell, Kathryn Stripling Byer, Elinor Benedict, Maggie Anderson, Gilbert Allen, Joni Tevis].

Armstrong, Jennifer. 2000. *Theodore Roosevelt: Letters from a Young Coal Miner* [1901 Pa.; juvenile fiction; Polish immigrant]. Dear Mr. President series. Delray Beach, Fla.: Winslow Press. 118 pp.

Arnold, Edwin T. 2002. "A Stonemason Evening." *Cormac McCarthy Journal* 2, no. 1 (Spring): 7-11. "McCarthy has just seen an abridged production of his own five-act play *The Stonemason*, presented at The Arts Alliance Center at Clear Lake," Houston, Tex. Originally published in *State of the Arts at Clear Lake* (November/December 2001).

Arnold, Edwin T. 2002. "The Mosaic of McCarthy's Fiction" [b. 1933]. In *Sacred Violence, I: Cormac McCarthy's Appalachian Works*, ed. W. Hall and R. Wallach, 1-8. El Paso: Texas Western Press.

Arnold, Edwin T. 2002. "The Mosaic of McCarthy's Fiction." In *Cormac McCarthy*, ed. H. Bloom, 45-51. Modern Critical Views. Philadelphia: Chelsea House Publishers.

Arnold, Edwin T. 2006. "Cormac McCarthy's Frontier Humor." In *The Enduring Legacy of Old Southwest Humor*, ed. E. Piacentino, 190-209. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Arnold, Edwin T. 2007. "In Memoriam: Lou V. Crabtree (March 13, 1913-April 10, 2006)." *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 2 (Winter): 140-141. See also Arnold's interview with Lou Crabtree reprinted in *Interviewing Appalachia* (Univ. of Tennessee Press, 1994); and Lee Smith's "Writing Gave Pleasure to Her Soul," *Richmond Times-Dispatch*, 27 August 2006, K1, K4.

Arnold, Edwin T., ed. 2002. "Donald Harington." Special issue, *Southern Quarterly* 40 (Winter): 1-156.

Arnold, Edwin T., introd. 2005. "Suttree: Special Issue" [15 essays]. Cormac McCarthy Journal 4, no. 1: 2-236. Contents: Introduction / Edwin T. Arnold -- A Faulknerian Looks at Suttree / Noel Polk -- "The Color of This Life Is Water": History, Stones, and the River in Suttree / Williams Prather -- Strangers in Everyland: Suttree, Huckleberry Finn, and Tragic Humanism / Bryan Vescio -- Lighting Out of Civil Rights Territory: Suttree, the Quentin Problem, and the Historical Unconsciousness / Jay Watson -- Whiteness and the "Subject" of Waste: The Art of Slumming in Suttree / Kariss McCoy -- Joyce and Contesting Priesthoods in Suttree and Blood Meridian / Farrell O'Gorman -- "The Wrath of the Path": Spatial Politics and Municipal Powers in Suttree / Randall S. Wilhelm -- Suttree's Soundscapes / Stacy Peebles -- "Encampment of the Damned": Ideology and Class in Suttree / Louis Palmer -- Visual Rhetoric and Cognitive Identity in Suttree / Linda Woodson -- Fate without Foreknowledge: Style and Image in the Late Naturalism of Suttree / Steven Frye -- A Season of Death and Epidemic Violence / Wes Morgan -- Red Callahan-The Actual and Fictitious / Wes Morgan -- Suttree and the Brass Ring: Reaching for Thanksgiving in the Knoxville Gutter / Peter Josyph.

Arnoult, Darnell. 2005. *What Travels With Us: Poems*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 56 pp. Textile mill-town voices; early 1900s Blue Ridge, Va.; Weatherford Award winner for fiction and poetry.

Arnoult, Darnell. 2006. "Work" [multimedia]. *Southern Spaces*, 22 June. Short video clip of Arnoult reading her poem 'Work,' from *What Travels With Us*" (2005), plus About the Author, and Recommended Resources. http://www.southernspaces.org/2006/work.

Arnoult, Darnell. 2006. *Sufficient Grace: A Novel*. New York: Free Press. 302 pp. Themes of identity, faith, love, motherhood, "personal transformation and redemption."

Arnoult, Darnell. 2007. "Within Sight" [Featured Author–Memoir; 1994]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 1 (Winter): 34-42.

Arnow, Harriette Louisa Simpson. 2005. *The Collected Short Stories of Harriette Simpson Arnow* [b. 1908; 25 stories, 15 previously unpublished]. Edited by Sandra L. Ballard and Haeja K. Chung. East Lansing, Mich.: Michigan State University Press. 259 pp.

Arnow, Harriette Simpson. [1963, 1984] 1996. *Flowering of the Cumberland*. Rpt. ed. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press/Bison Books. 464 pp. Originally published: New York: Macmillan; Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Arnow, Harriette Simpson. [1954] 1999. *The Dollmaker*. Reprint, with an afterword by Joyce Carol Oates. New York: Avon Books. 608 pp. Originally published: New York: Macmillan.

Arnow, Harriette Simpson. 1999. *Between the Flowers* [Arnow's second novel, previously unpublished, written in the 1930s]. Edited by Fred Svoboda. East Lansing: Michigan State University Press. 448 pp.

Arnow, Thomas L. 2005. "On Being Harriette Arnow's Son" [Ann Arbor, Mich.; Harriette Louisa Simpson Arnow, 1908-1996]. *Appalachian Journal* 32, no. 4 (Summer): 460-467.

Arnow, Thomas L. 2012. "Homegrown Tomatoes." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 36-45. The son of Harriette and Harold Arnow reminisces about his parents' garden and his mother's kitchen in Michigan.

Arthur, Chad. 2009. *Break Away* [fiction]. Mustang, Okla.: Tate Publishing & Enterprises. 285 pp. Sixteen year old urban basketball player moves from a juvenile detention center to rural West Virginia to live with his estranged grandfather.

Ashburn, Gwen McNeill. 2007. "Working without Nets: Early Twentieth-Century Mountain Women in Fiction." *Journal of Kentucky Studies* 24, (September): 133-140. Fielding Burke, *Call Home the Heart* (1932); cf. Robert Morgan, *Gap Creek* (1999).

Ashcom, Robert L. 2002. *Winter Run* [fiction; 1940s Blue Ridge Va. boyhood; race relations]. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 240 pp.

Atkins, Raymond L. 2008. *The Front Porch Prophet: A Novel* [northwest Ga.; humor]. St. Charles, Ill.: Medallion Press. 308 pp.

Atkins, Raymond L. 2009. *Sorrow Wood: A Novel* [Ala.; mystery; humor]. Saint Charles, Ill.: Medallion Press. 342 pp.

Atwell, Mary Stewart. 2012. *Wild Girls: A Novel*. New York: Scribner. 273 pp. "...part coming-of-age story and part supernatural tale"...."Struggling with limited prospects in a small Appalachian town where frustrated teen girls act out by setting arson fires, Kate pursues the

education that she hopes will enable her escape and explosively clashes with friends from different cultural backgrounds."

Austin, Sherry. 2007. *The Days between the Years: Inspired by a True Story* [fiction, N.C.; widow shares long-forgotten memories of her Depression-era and WWII past with family]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 200 pp.

Awiakta, Marilou. [1978] 2006. *Abiding Appalachia: Where Mountain and Atom Meet* [poems]. Reprint, with an afterword by Parks Lanier, Jr. Blacksburg, Va.: Pocahontas Press. 65 pp. Originally published: Memphis, Tenn.: St. Luke's Press.

Baber, Bob Henry, George Ella Lyon, and Gurney Norman, ed. 1994. Old Wounds, New Words: An Anthology of Recent Appalachian Poetry. Ashland, KY: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 203 pp.

Baber, Bob Henry. 1994. A Picture from Life's Other Side. Richwood, W. Va.: B. H. Baber. 118 pp.

Baber, Bob Henry. 2006. *The Swamper File: A Novel in Three Acts: Based on a True Story* [flower child picaresque from 1971 Los Angeles to W. Va.; Baber is an original member of the 1970s Soupbean Poets]. Huntington, W. Va.: Mid-Atlantic Highlands. 287 pp.

Baber, Bob. 2011. *Pure Orange Sunshine: A True Tale of Peace, Love, and Misunderstanding* [fiction, 1971, L.A. prison]. [No location]: Xlibris. 218 pp. Baber is former Mayor and "current Poet Laureate" of Richwood, W. Va., and ran for Governor on an anti-mountaintop removal strip mining platform with the Mountain/Green Party.

Bachmann, Leah. 2011. "Voicing the Voiceless: Double-Consciousness in *When Winter Come*" [by Frank X Walker, University Press of Kentucky, 2008]. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 4 (Fall): 42-50. "...seeks to validate the voices of enslaved African Americans and Native peoples during a time in American history when their points of view were considered invalid."

Bahr, Howard. 1998. *The Black Flower: A Novel of the Civil War* [Franklin, Tenn.; 1864]. New York: Henry Holt. 267 pp.

Bailey, James. 2009. *Bailey's Blood: Moonshine, Murder and Wild Women*. Coral Springs, Fla.: Llumina Press. 221 pp. "The book is a fictionalization of violent lives of three Bailey brothers in Southeast Kentucky between 1907 and 1931."

Bailey, Peggy Dunn. 2010. "Female Gothic Fiction, Grotesque Realities, and *Bastard Out of Carolina*: Dorothy Allison Revises the Southern Gothic" [Dutton, 1992]. *Mississippi Quarterly* 63, no. 1-2 (Winter-Spring): 269-290.

Bailey, Peggy Dunn. 2011. "Coming Home to Scrabble Creek: *Saving Grace*, Serpent Handling, and the Realistic Southern Gothic." *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 4 (Summer): 362-407. Examination of Lee Smith's 1995 novel, *Saving Grace* (Scrabble Creek, N.C. setting),

draws on: *The Holy Ghost People*, a 1967 documentary with Pentecostal Holiness snake handling (Scrabble Creek, W. Va.); Thomas Burton's *Serpent Handling Believers* (1993), and Ralph Hood and W. Paul Williamson's *Them That Believe: The Power and Meaning of the Christian Serpent-Handling Tradition* (2008).

Baker, Donna J. 2010. "Keeper at 'The Light to the Mountains': James Still at Morehead State University" [Ky., 1961-1970, plus 1950s summer Writers' Workshops; Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 4 (Fall): 39-43.

Baker, Julie. 2002. *Up Molasses Mountain* [adolescent fiction; 1953 W. Va. coal town; strike]. New York: Wendy Lamb Books/Random House. 209 pp.

Baker, Ronald L, ed. 2007. *Jesse Stuart and the Hoosier Schoolmasters* [1906-1984; biography; Indiana connections]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 318 pp. Contents: Part I: Jesse Stuart's friendship with a Hoosier schoolmaster – Part II: Jesse Stuart speaks his mind – Part III: Jesse Stuart as a regional writer – Part IV: Seven stories by Jesse Stuart – Part V: Jesse Stuart as an American humorist.

Baldacci, David. 2000. Wish You Well [fiction; 1940 Va.]. New York: Warner Books. 401 pp.

Baldacci, David. 2008. *Divine Justice*. New York: Grand Central Publising. 387 pp. Mystery; Va. mining town; drug traffic.

Baldwin, Kara. 2006. "Incredible Eloquence': How Ron Rash's Novels Keep the Celtic Literary Tradition Alive." *South Carolina Review* 39, no. 1 (Fall): 37-45.

Bales, Evelyn M. 2003. *Kinkeeper: Poems*. New Women's Voices Series, no. 18. Cincinnati: Finishing Line Press. 26 pp.

Ball, Bo. [1988] 2002. *Appalachian Patterns: Stories* [11 stories; 1930s-40s Va.]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published: Atlanta, Ga.: Independence Publishing Company. 162 pp.

Ballard, Sandra L. 1997. "Harriette Simpson Arnow's Unpublished Final Novel, *Belle*." *Appalachian Journal* 25 (Fall): 48-61.

Ballard, Sandra L. 2012. "Disclosing the Heart of the Form': An Appreciation of Barbara Kingsolver's Nonfiction." *The Iron Mountain Review* 28 (Spring): 18-25.

Ballard, Sandra L. 2012. "Arriving in Keno" [Arnow farm, Pulaski Co., Ky.; 1939-1940]. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 26-35. Biographical essay about Harriette Simpson Arnow [1908-1986].

Ballard, Sandra L. 2012. "Harriette Simpson Arnow: A Biographical Sketch" [1908-1986]. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 24-25.

Ballard, Sandra L., and Patricia L. Hudson, ed. 2003. Listen Here: Women Writing in Appalachia. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 673 pp. Anthology of 105 writers with biographies and bibliographies: Sheila Kay Adams, Dorothy Allison, Lisa Alther, Maggie Anderson, Anne W. Armstrong, Harriette Simpson Arnow, Sylvia Trent Auxier, Marilou Awiakta, Artie Ann Bates, Frances Courtenay Baylor, Sue Ellen Bridgers, Florence Cope Bush, Kathryn Stripling Byer, Candie Carawan, Jo Carson, Rebecca Caudill, Lillie D. Chaffin, Loletta Clouse, Ann Cobb, Lisa Coffman, Amy Tipton Cortner, Lou V.P. Crabtree, Olive Tilford Dargan [Fielding Burke], Doris Davenport, Rebecca Harding Davis, Ann Deagon, Angelyn DeBord, Annie Dillard, Hilda Downer, Muriel Miller Dressler, Will Allen Dromgoole, Wilma Dykeman, Sarah Barnwell Elliott, Sidney Saylor Farr, Nikky Finney, Lucy Furman, Denise Giardina, Janice Holt Giles, Nikki Giovanni, Gail Godwin, Connie Jordan Green, Virginia Hamilton, Pauletta Hansel, Corra Harris, Mildred Haun, Ellesa Clay High, Mary Bozeman Hodges, Gloria Houston, Lee Howard, Mary Johnston, Mary Harris "Mother" Jones, Jane Wilson Joyce, May Justus, Edith Summers Kelley, Leatha Kendrick, Barbara Kingsolver, Lisa Koger, Catherine Landis, Lily May Ledford, Grace Lumpkin, George Ella Lyon, Linda Parsons Marion, Catherine Marshall, Belinda Ann Mason, Kathy L. May, Truda Williams McCoy, Sharyn McCrumb, Jeanne McDonald, Karen Salver McElmurray, Llewellyn McKernan, Irene McKinney, Louise McNeill, Jane Merchant, Emma Bell Miles, Heather Ross Miller, Janice Townley Moore, MariJo Moore, Mary Noailles Murfree, Elaine Fowler Palencia, Jayne Anne Phillips, Lynn Powell, Barbara Presnell, Rita Sims Quillen, Jean Ritchie, Elizabeth Madox Roberts, Anne Newport Royall, Cynthia Rylant, Bettie Sellers, Mary Lee Settle, Anne Shelby, Muriel Earley Sheppard, Betsy Sholl, Ellen Harvey Showell, Bennie Lee Sinclair, Verna Mae Slone, Barbara Smith, Effie Waller Smith, Lee Smith, Jane Stuart, Adriana Trigiani, Dana Wildsmith, Sylvia Wilkinson, Meredith Sue Willis, Leigh Allison Wilson, Mary Elizabeth Witherspoon.

Ballard, Sandra, Patricia Beaver, and Gurney Norman. 1997. "Water Flowing From High Ground: A Conversation; (Recorded at the Gurney Norman Literary Festival, Emory & Henry College, October 25, 1996)" [interview with Gurney Norman]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 13 (Spring): 28-33.

Ballentine, KB. 2009. *Fragments of Light* [poems]. Knoxville, Tenn.: Celtic Cat Publishing. 84 pp.

Banks, Jay. 2011. *Frontier Surgeon* [historical fiction]. Charleston, W. Va.: Mountain State Press. 279 pp.

Bankston, Sarah Kennedy. 2007. "Wrestling the Gorilla" [Featured Author–Darnell Arnoult; b. 1955]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 1 (Winter): 11-14.

Barbara Kingsolver Issue, edited by John Lang. 2012. Special issue, *The Iron Mountain Review* 28 (Spring): 1-32. Four essays, an interview, three poems by Kingsolver, and a selected bibliography of her work.

Barbara Kingsolver Selected Bibliography [32 items]. 2012. *The Iron Mountain Review* 28 (Spring): 33.

Barker, Garry. [1986] 2003. *Mountain Passage* [stories; 1940s-50s Ky.]. Rpt. ed. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 250 pp. Originally published: Berea, Ky.: Kentucke Imprints.

Barker, Garry. 2007. *Kentucky Waltz: Collected Short Fiction*. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 186 pp.

Bass, Jefferson. 2007. *Flesh and Bone: A Body Farm Novel* [fiction: mystery/horror; Knoxville, Tenn.; forensic anthropologist]. New York: William Morrow. 361 pp.

Bates, Artie Ann. 1995. *Ragsale* [children's literature; Ky.]. Illustrated by Jeff Chapman-Crane. Boston: Houghton Mifflin. 30 pp.

Bathanti, Joseph. [1996] 2011. *This Metal: Poems*. Winston-Salem, N.C.: Press 53. 123 pp. Originally published: Laurinburg, N.C.: St. Andrews College Press.

Bathanti, Joseph. 2005. *Anson County: Poems* [N.C.]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 54 pp.

Bathanti, Joseph. 2009. Land of Amnesia: Poetry. Winston-Salem, N.C.: Press 53. 83 pp.

Battlo, Jean. 2002. *The Mahotep Synod* [murder mystery]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 317 pp.

Batykefer, Erinn. 2009. *Allegheny, Monongahela: Poems* [family violence; sisters]. Los Angeles, Calif.: Red Hen Press. 85 pp.

Bauer, Joan. 2011. *Close to Famous* [juvenile fiction]. New York: Viking. 250 pp. "Twelve-year-old Foster McFee and her mother escape from her mother's abusive boyfriend and end up in the small town of Culpepper, West Virginia, where they use their strengths and challenge themselves to build a new life, with the help of the friends they make there."

Bausch, Richard, ed. 2001. *The Cry of an Occasion: Fiction from the Fellowship of Southern Writers*. Foreword by George Garrett. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 222 pp. Nineteen stories by writers including Fred Chappell, Lee Smith, and William Hoffman.

Bausch, Robert. 2002. *The Gypsy Man* [fiction; 1959 Shenandoah Mountains, Va.; outlaws]. New York: Harcourt. 495 pp. "The Crawford, Virginia, legend of a child-stealing phantom takes on a terrifying reality for Penny Bone, her husband, John, in prison for an accidental murder, and Henry Gault, her six-year-old daughter's teacher."

Baxter, Tamara. 2006. *Rock Big and Sing Loud* [16 short stories; East Tenn. characters]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 158 pp.

Baxter, Tamara. 2008. "The Trail of the Lonesome Pine at One Hundred." Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 24, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 22-27. Bestseller local-color novel by John Fox, Jr. (Scribners, 1908).

Bayens, Leah. 2005. "The Death of the Double Minded Man, or Thinking Like a Mountain: Evangelicalism, Counter Culture, and Strip Mining in *Divine Right's Trip* and *Kinfolks*" [Gurney Norman]. *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 3 (Summer): 32-38.

Beam, Jeffery. 2009. "Jonathan Williams: Avant-Garde Poet, Publisher, Essayist and Photographer" [d. 2008, age 79]. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 4, no. 1 (Summer/Fall): View section, 2032 words. http://nantahalareview.org/issue4-1/view4-1/Beam.html.

Beattie, L. Elisabeth, ed. 1996. *Conversations with Kentucky Writers*. Foreword by Wade Hall. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 408 pp. Contents: Wendell Berry -- Billy C. Clark -- Michael Dorris -- Leon Driskell -- Sue Grafton -- James Baker Hall -- Wade Hall -- Fenton Johnson -- Barbara Kingsolver -- George Ella Lyon -- Bobbie Ann Mason -- Taylor McCafferty -- Ed McClanahan -- Jim Wayne Miller -- Sena Jeter Naslund -- Marsha Norman -- Christ Offutt -- Lee Pennington -- Betty Layman Receveur -- James Still.

Behrend, Linda. 2006. "Wilma Dykeman at 86" [profile; 1920-2006]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 22, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 6-9.

Belanus, Betty J. 2004. *Seasonal: A Novel* [main character is a grad student folklorist doing summer fieldwork in 1970s East Tenn.]. Rockville, Md.: Round Barn Press. 192 pp.

Bender, Margaret, ed. 2004. *Linguistic Diversity in the South: Changing Codes, Practices, and Ideology* [nine essays: dialects: Appalachian, Melungeon, African American, Ocracoke, Lumbee, Cajun, Seminole, Muskogee]. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 37. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 160 pp.

Benedict, Laura, and Pinckney Benedict, ed. 2007. *Surreal South* [anthology of short fiction and poetry; 27 writers incl. Ann Pancake, Chris Offutt, Daniel Woodrell, Ron Rash, Joyce Carol Oates]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: Press 53. 378 pp.

Benedict, Laura. 2007. *Isabella Moon: A Novel* [supernatural; Ky.; missing child]. New York: Ballantine Books. 351 pp.

Benedict, Laura. 2010. "Pinckney the Brave" [Pinckney Benedict, Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 1 (Winter): 10-11.

Benedict, Laura. 2012. *Devil's Oven* [occult fiction; Va.]. Carbondale, Ill.(?): Gallowstree Press. 311 pp. "A lonely seamstress creates the perfect man, only to have him escape her control and terrorize her small Appalachian town."

Benedict, Pinckney. 1994. Dogs of God [fiction; W. Va.]. New York: Doubleday. 354 pp.

Benedict, Pinckney. 2010. *Miracle Boy and Other Stories* [14 collected stories, previously published elsewhere]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: Press 53. 244 pp. Contents: Miracle boy --

Buckeyes -- The butcher cock -- Pony car -- Joe Messinger is dreaming -- Mudman -- Bridge of sighs -- The beginnings of sorrow -- The angel's trumpet -- The world, the flesh, and the devil -- Pig helmet & the wall of life -- The secret nature of the mechanical rabbit -- Mercy -- Zog-19: a scientific romance.

Benjamin, John S. 2008. "Appalachian Playwright." *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 1 (Winter): 29-33. Featured Author and playwright, Billy Edd Wheeler.

Bennett, Jenny. 2012. *Murder at the Jumpoff* [fiction]. Vilas, N.C.: Canterbury House. 213 pp. Murder mystery; hikers; Great Smoky Mountains National Park.

Bennett, Tanya Long. 1998. "The Protean Ivy in Lee Smith's *Fair and Tender Ladies*" [character study]. *Southern Literary Journal* 30 (Spring): 76-95.

Bensko, John. 2000. *The Iron City* [poems: Ala. coal and steel region]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 76 pp.

Benson, Erica J. 2003. "Folk Linguistic Perceptions and the Mapping of Dialect Boundaries" [Ohio; southern third, with Ky. and W. Va., labeled "hillbilly slang"; maps, table]. *American Speech* 78 (Fall): 307-330.

Bentley, Laura Treacy. 2006. *Lake Effect: Poems* [W. Va.]. Huron, Ohio: Bird Dog Publishing. 99 pp.

Berry, Chad. 2010. "In, of, by, and for: Silas House's *The Coal Tattoo*" [Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill, 2004]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 26 (Spring): 14-19.

Berry, K. Wesley. 2000. "The Lay of the Land in Cormac McCarthy's *The Orchard Keeper* and *Child of God*" [reflects "real-life economic and ecological conditions"]. *Southern Quarterly* 38 (Summer): 61-77.

Berry, K. Wesley. 2002. "The Lay of the Land in Cormac McCarthy's Appalachia." In *Cormac McCarthy: New Directions*, ed. J. Lilly, 47-73. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press.

Berry, Wendell. 1991. Sabbaths, 1987 [poems]. Monterey, Ky.: Larkspur Press. 13 pp.

Berry, Wendell. 1994. Entries. New York: Pantheon. 80 pp.

Berry, Wendell. 1996. A World Lost. [fiction]. Washington, D.C.: Counterpoint. 160 pp.

Berry, Wendell. 1996. "Interview with Wendell Berry." By Vince Pennington. *Kentucky Review* 13 (Spring): 57-70.

Berry, Wendell. 1997. *Two More Stories of the Port William Membership* [short fiction]. Frankfort, Ky.: Gnomon Press. 62 pp.

Berry, Wendell. 1998. A Timbered Choir: The Sabbath Poems, 1979-1997. Washington, D.C.: Counterpoint. 240 pp.

Berry, Wendell. 1998. *The Selected Poems of Wendell Berry* [100 poems from nine previous collections]. Washington, D.C.: Counterpoint Press. 178 pp.

Berry, Wendell. [1974] 1999. *The Memory of Old Jack* [Ky.; fiction classic]. Reprint. Washington, D.C.: Counterpoint. 223 pp. Originally published: New York: Harcourt Brace Jovanovich.

Berry, Wendell. 2000. *Jayber Crow: A Novel* [barber of fictional Port William, Ky.]. Washington, D.C.: Counterpoint. 384 pp.

Berry, Wendell. [1969] 2004. *The Long-Legged House* [author's first published collection of essays including topics: strip mining, Vietnam, citizenship]. Reprint. Washington, D.C.: Shoemaker & Hoard. 213 pp. Originally published: New York: Harcourt, Brace & World.

Berry, Wendell. 2004. *Hannah Coulter: A Novel* [Port William, Ky.; "in her late seventies, twice-widowed and alone, Hannah sorts through her memories"]. Washington, D.C.: Shoemaker & Hoard. 190 pp.

Berry, Wendell. 2004. *That Distant Land: The Collected Stories* [fictional Port William, Ky.: 23 stories spanning 1888-1986]. Washington, D.C.: Shoemaker & Hoard. 440 pp.

Berry, Wendell. 2005. "My Conversation with Gurney Norman." *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 3 (Summer): 19-21.

Berry, Wendell. 2005. Given: New Poems. Washington, D.C.: Shoemaker & Hoard. 152 pp.

Berry, Wendell. 2006. *Andy Catlett: Early Travels* [fiction; 9-year-old's rite of passage; 1943 Port William, Ky.]. Emeryville, Calif.: Shoemaker & Hoard. 140 pp.

Berry, Wendell. 2007. "A Master Language." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 229-231. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *The Sewanee Review* 105, no. 3 (Summer 1997): 418-421.

Berry, Wendell. 2007. "Sabbaths 2005" [poetry]. *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 57, no.2 (Fall): 5-16. Sidebar: "Selected Books by Wendell Berry" [13 titles], 17.

Berry, Wendell. 2007. "Singing to Keep the Mind Awake: Interview with Wendell Berry." By Birkin Gilmore. *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 57, no.2 (Fall): 18-30. Interview conducted March 13, 2005 at Berry's home, Port Royal, Ky.

Berry, Wendell. 2007. *Conversations with Wendell Berry* [17 interviews reprinted, 1973-2006]. Edited by Morris Allen Grubbs. Literary Conversations Series. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 218 pp.

Berry, Wendell. 2007. *Window Poems*. With wood engravings by Wesley Bates. Emeryville, Calif.: Shoemaker & Hoard. 80 pp. Formerly published, Carrollton, Ohio: Press on Scroll Road, 2003. First published in 1985 in the author's *Collected poems*, 1957-1982.

Berry, Wendell. 2008. *The Mad Farmer Poems*. Foreword by Ed McClanahan; introduction by James Baker Hall; afterword by William Kloefkorn; and engravings by Abigail Rorer. New York: Counterpoint Press. 26 pp.

Berry, Wendell. 2009. *Whitefoot: A Story from the Center of the World* [children's story]. Illustrations by Davis Te Selle. Berkeley, Calif.: Counterpoint. 60 pp. "A white-footed mouse is swept away in a flood and must carefully watch and wait until it is safe to make a home in its new surroundings."

Berry, Wendell. 2010. "In Memory: James Baker Hall" [1935-2009]. *Sewanee Review* 118, no. 1 (Winter): 95-97. Hall served as poet laureate of Kentucky, 2001-2003.

Berry, Wendell. 2010. *Imagination in Place: Essays*. Berkeley, Calif.: Counterpoint. 196 pp. Fifteen essays collected over the past two decades connecting literary works to the places where they were conceived. Contents: Imagination in place -- American imagination and the Civil War -- The momentum of clarity -- In memory: Wallace Stegner, 1909-1993 -- Speech after long silence -- My friend Hayden -- In memory: James Still -- A master language -- My conversation with Gurney Norman -- Sweetness preserved -- Some interim thoughts about Gary Snyder's "Mountains and Rivers without End" -- In memory: James Baker Hall -- Against the nihil of the age -- The uses of adversity -- God, science, and imagination.

Berry, Wendell. 2010. *Leavings: Poems*. Berkeley, Calif.: Counterpoint. 132 pp. Collected "Sabbath" poems, 2005-2008.

Berry, Wendell. 2012. *A Place in Time: Twenty Stories of the Port William Membership*. Berkeley, Calif.: Counterpoint. 237 pp. Berry's tenth volume in the Port William series, and his first new fiction since 2006 (*Andy Catlett*). Contents: The girl in the window (1864) | Fly away, breath (1907) | Down in the valley where the green grass grows (1930) | Burley Coulter's fortunate fall (1934) | A Burden (1882, 1907, 1941) | A Desirable woman (1938-1941) | Misery (1943) | Andy Catlett: Early education (1943) | Drouth (1944) | Stand by me (1921-1944) | Not a tear (1945) | The Dark country (1948) | A New day (1949) | Mike (1939-1950) | Who dreamt this dream? (1966) | The Requirement (1970) | An empty jacket (1974) | At home (1981) | Sold (1991) | A Place in time (1938-2008).

Berry, Wendell. 2012. *New Collected Poems*. Berkeley, Calif.: Counterpoint. 391 pp. "Reprints the nearly two hundred pieces from his earlier *Collected Poems*, together with the poems from his most recent collections--*Entries*, *Given*, and *Leavings*--to create an expanded compilation." Contents: The Country of Déja Vu | The Broken Ground (1964) | Findings (1969)

| Openings (1968) | Farming: A Hand Book (1970) | The Country of Marriage (1973) | Clearing (1977) | A Part (1980) | The Wheel (1982) | Entries (1994) | Given (2005) | Leavings (2010).

Beyers, Chris. 2003. "Louis Zukofsky in Kentucky in History" [1904-1978; his epic poem "A"; Kentucky theme, 1963; chairmaker Chester Cornett; Marx, Spinoza]. *College Literature* 30 (Fall): 71-88.

Biggers, Jeff. 2008. "The Pride and Prejudice of Don West" [1906-1992]. *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 4 (Fall): 11-18. Featured Author; biography.

Bilbro, Jeffrey. 2010. "A Form for Living in the Midst of Loss: Faithful Marriage in the Revisions of Wendell Berry's *A Place on Earth*" [1967 novel; rev. 1983]. *The Southern Literary Journal* 42, no. 2 (Spring): 89-105. A study of the revisions and themes.

Bilbro, Jeffrey. 2011. "The Eros of Child and Cupid: Wendell Berry's Agrarian Engagement with Ecofeminism." *Mississippi Quarterly* 64, no. 1-2 (Winter-Spring): 289-310.

Billheimer, John W. 2003. *Drybone Hollow* [fiction/mystery; W. Va. coal sludge dam burst]. New York: St. Martin's. 276 pp.

Billheimer, John W. 2006. *Stonewall Jackson's Elbow: An Owen Allison Mystery* [W. Va.]. Waterville, Me.: Five Star. 375 pp.

Billheimer, John. 1998. *The Contrary Blues* [first novel; mystery; Huntington, W. Va.]. New York: St. Martin's Press. 244 pp.

Billheimer, John. 2000. *Highway Robbery* [fiction/mystery; Huntington, W. Va.]. New York: St. Martin's Minotaur. 290 pp.

Billheimer, John. 2001. *Dismal Mountain* [fiction/mystery; W. Va.; 3rd in a series]. New York: St. Martin's Minotaur. 320 pp.

Billips, Martha. 1999. Review of *Between the Flowers*, by Harriette Simpson Arnow (East Lansing: Michigan State University Press, 1999). *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Fall): 69-72.

Billips, Martha. 2003. "Reclaiming Ravaged Land: The Arnows of Keno and Nunn Ballew of *Hunter's Horn*" [1949; Harriette Arnow (1908-1986)]. *Journal of Kentucky Studies* 20 (September): 130-139.

Billips, Martha. 2005. "The Writer and the Land: Harriette Simpson Arnow and the Genesis of Her Novel *Between the Flowers*" [Michigan State University Press (1999); Mich. and Ky. farm life; advocate for sustainable agriculture]. *Appalachian Journal* 32, no. 4 (Summer): 468-482.

Billips, Martha. 2007. "What a Wild and Various State': Virginia in Lee Smith's *Oral History*" [(1983); "a metaphor for the position of Appalachia within the nation"]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 13, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 26-48.

Billips, Martha M. 2012. "Harriette Simpson Arnow's First Novel: A New Look at *Mountain Path*" [1936]. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 77-86.

Billips, Martha. 2012. "Siblings and Sex: A New Approach to the Fiction of Lee Smith." *Feminist Formations* 24, no. 1 (Spring): 127-153. "...calls for a feminist reappraisal...that acknowledges the pattern of female disempowerment and sexual abuse that permeates so much of [Lee Smith's] work, alongside its more positive portrayals of female creativity, sexuality, and strength."

Billy Edd Wheeler, Featured Author [b. 1932; Boone, Co., W. Va.]. 2008. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 1 (Winter): 1-47, with 19 of Wheeler's paintings displayed throughout the issue. Humor, poem, memoir, and story contributions with a bonus CD of songs by the author, plus four appreciations by others.

Birdseye, Tom. 1993. *Soap! Soap! Don't Forget the Soap!: An Appalachian Folktale* [children's literature; "A forgetful boy gets himself into trouble when he repeats what each person he meets on the road says to him"]. Retold by Tom Birdsey; illustrated by Andrew Glass. New York: Holiday House. 16 pp.

Bishop, Maggie. 2004. *Emeralds in the Snow* [romantic suspense fiction]. Boone, N.C.: High Country Publishers. 189 pp.

Bishop, Maggie. 2011. *One Shot Too Many* [fiction]. Appalachian Adventure Mystery series, no. 3. Banner Elk, N.C.: Ingalls Publishing Group. 190 pp.

Bizarro, Patrick, ed. 1997. *Dream Garden: The Poetic Vision of Fred Chappell* [interview; 17 essays]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 256 pp.

Bizarro, Patrick, ed. 2004. *More Lights Than One: On the Fiction of Fred Chappell* [15 essays]. Foreword by Robert Morgan. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 288 pp.

Bizarro, Patrick. 2004. "Growth of a Poet's Mind' and the Problem of Autobiography: Distance and Point of View in the Writings of Fred Chappell." In *More Lights Than One: On the Fiction of Fred Chappell*, ed. P. Bizarro, 72-91. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Bizarro, Patrick. 2004. "Food as Commodity and Metaphor in *Gap Creek*: The Making of Julie" [1999 novel by Robert Morgan]. *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Summer): 29-35.

Bizarro, Patrick. 2005. "Representations of Truth in Maggie Anderson's Poetry: 'beautiful nostalgia,' education, and permanence." *The Iron Mountain Review* 21 (Spring): 20-26.

Black, Kate. 2012. "Harriette Simpson Arnow Papers." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 65. Housed at University of Kentucky's King Library, Special Collections. Kentucky Digital Library, finding aid: http://kdl.kyvl.org/catalog/xt7d7w674d0t/guide.

Blanton, Curtis R. 2009. *My Mountains, My Home* [fiction]. Illustrated by James C. Sellers. Norris, Tenn.: Curtis R. Blanton. 256 pp. "Passing up an opportunity to inherit the family farm in South Carolina, 18-year-old Bo Hill thought crossing the mountains into western North Carolina would be a dream come true."

Bledsoe, Alex. 2011. *The Hum and the Shiver* [fantasy fiction; Melungeons; Tenn.]. New York: Tor. 349 pp. Returning female Iraq War veteran.

Bledsoe, Jerry. 1996. *The Angel Doll: A Christmas Story*. Asheboro, N.C.: Down Home Press. 125 pp. "Life in Thomasville, NC, in the 1950s is not easy for 10-year-old Whitey Black. He is new to town, with no father, a perpetually weary mother, and a four-year-old sister, Sandy, who has polio. Sandy's greatest pleasure is for Whitey to read to her *The Littlest Angel* and, more than anything else, she wants an "Angel" doll for Christmas, just like the one in the story."

Blevins, Adrian. 2003. *The Brass Girl Brouhaha* [poems]. Keene, N.Y.: Ausable Press. 112 pp.

Blevins, Christine. 2008. *The Midwife of the Blue Ridge: A Novel*. New York: Berkley Publishing Group. 420 pp. Historical fiction; 18th century Scottish indentured servant and pioneer.

Blevins, Adrian. 2009. *Live from the Homesick Jamboree* [poems]. Middletown, Conn.: Wesleyan University Press. 51 pp.

Blomeley, Lillian. 2010. "Defying Gender Roles and Challenging Stereotypes: British-Appalachian Ballads and Their Literary Adaptations." *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 57, no. 1 (Spring-Summer): 42-61. Stereotypical images of women in four ballads are reworked in recent novels such as Sharyn McCrumb's *If I Ever Return, Pretty Peggy-O* (1990).

Bloom, Harold, ed. 2002. *Cormac McCarthy* [12 essays, chronology, bibliography]. Modern Critical Views. Philadelphia: Chelsea House Publishers. 201 pp.

Blount, Roy, Jr. 2004. "How to Talk Southern." *New York Times Book Review*, 21 November, 32-33. Review essay of *Dictionary of Smoky Mountain English* (University of Tennessee Press, 2004).

Bogess, Ace, ed. 2005. Wild Sweet Notes II: More Great Poetry from West Virginia [60 poets; supplements Wild Sweet Notes: Fifty Years of West Virginia Poetry, 1950-1999, ed. B. Smith and K. Judd (2000)]. Huntington, W. Va.: Publishers Place. 233 pp.

Boggess, Ace, ed. 2004. Wild Sweet Notes II: More Great Poetry from West Virginia [follow-up anthology: 60 poets, 200 poems]. Huntington, W. Va.: Publishers Place. 233 pp.

Boggess, Carol. 2007. "Journeys of Childhood in the Fiction." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 49-63. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Boggess, Carol. 2007. "The Still Life in *River of Earth*: Exploring the Novel's Biographical Context." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 49-63. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *Appalachian Journal* 30, no. 4 (Summer 2003): 324-344.

Boggess, Carol. 2008. "A Friendship between the Last American Cowboy and the Man in the Bushes." *Appalachian Heritage*, 36, no. 4 (Fall): 21-27. Don West (1906-1992), Featured Author, and James Still (1906-2001).

Boggess, Carol. 2010. "Letters of Content, Common Understanding: James Still's Correspondence with Marjorie Rawlings and Katherine Anne Porter, 1936-1945." *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 4 (Fall): 53-62.

Bondurant, Matt. 2008. *The Wettest County in the World: A Novel Based on a True Story*. New York: Scribner. 307 pp. Southwest Va.; gritty, Depression-era bootlegging mystery.

Boggess, Carol. 2012. "Why College Students Should Read Harriette Simpson Arnow." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 50-52.

Bone, Patrick. 2001. *A Melungeon Winter* [mystery; Melungeon hermit; 1950s]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Silver Dagger Mysteries. 202 pp.

Bone, Patrick. 2002. *Aliens of Transylvania County*. Johnson City, Tenn.: Silver Dagger Mysteries. 153 pp. "A tale of friendship, alien invaders, and Appalachian mountain legend that takes place in the back-country near Brevard, North Carolina, in the 1950s."

Booth, Philip. 2001. *Crossing* [children's picture book]. Illustrated by Bagram Ibatoulline. Cambridge, Mass.: Candlewick Press. 38 pp. Celebrates the joy of watching a train at a crossing and counting the cars.

Booth, Phillip. 2001. *Crossing* [children's literature]. Illustrated by Bagram Ibattoulline. London: Walker. 40 pp. Counting freight train cars while waiting at a railroad crossing.

Bottoms, Greg. 2001. *Sentimental, Heartbroken Rednecks: Stories* [Shenandoah Valley characters; reminiscent of Breece D'J Pancake]. New York: Context Books. 215 pp.

Bourne, Frank Edward. 2002. "Conversation with James Still" [excerpts from the author's journal: 1986, 1997]. *Appalachian Heritage* 30 (Winter): 26-32.

Bouson, J. Brooks. 2001. "You Nothing But Trash': White Trash Shame in Dorothy Allison's *Bastard Out of Carolina*." *Southern Literary Journal* 34 (Fall): 101-123.

Bowers, Cathy Smith. 1997. *The Love That Ended Yesterday in Texas: Poems*. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Iris Press. 87 pp. Originally published: Lubbock: Texas Tech University Press, 1992.

Bowers, Cathy Smith. 1999. *Traveling in Time of Danger* [poems]. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Iris Press. 70 pp.

Bowers, Cathy Smith. 2004. A Book of Minutes: Poems. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Iris Press. 81 pp.

Bowers, Cathy Smith. 2009. *The Candle I Hold Up to See You: Poems*. Oak Ridge, Tenn: Iris Press. 89 pp.

Bowers, Cathy Smith. 2010. *Like Shining from Shook Foil: Selected Poems*. Winston-Salem, N.C.: Press 53. 120 pp. Bowers is the new Poet Laureate of North Carolina.

Bowers, John. 2009. *Love in Tennessee: A Novel*. Los Angeles, Calif.: Red Hen Press. 194 pp. Small town coming-of-age in the 1930s, 40s, and early 50s.

Bradby, Marie. 1995. *More Than Anything Else* [children's literature; nine-year-old Booker works with his father and brother at the saltworks but dreams of the day when he'll be able to read; African Americans]. Illustrated by Chris K. Soentpiet. New York: Orchard Books. 16 pp.

Bradley, Kimberly Brubaker. 2002. *Halfway to the Sky* [juvenile fiction; Appalachian Trail; 12-year-old's coming-of-age]. New York: Delacorte. 176 pp.

Braggs, Earl S. 2009. *Younger Than Neil: Poems* [African American]. Tallahassee, Fla.: Anhinga Press. 152 pp.

Brand, Irene B., Gina Fields, JoAnn A. Grote, and Catherine Runyon. [2000] 2005. *Appalachia: Love Nestles into Four Mountain Towns* [four novellas; romance; Christian fiction]. Rpt. ed. Uhrichsville, Ohio: Barbour Publishing. 460 pp.

Brandt, Ann. 1999. *Crowfoot Ridge* [first novel; romance/suspense; N.C.]. New York: HarperCollins. 278 pp.

Braziel, James. 2008. *Birmingham, 35 Miles* [fiction; climate change; desertification]. New York: Bantam Books. 292 pp. "When the ozone layer opened and the sun relentlessly scorched the land, there was little that remained. Mathew Harrison had always heard of a better life as close as Birmingham [Ala.], only thirty-five miles away -- zones of blue sky, wet grass, and clean, breathable air. But to him it's a myth, a place guarded by soldiers, off limits to all but the lucky few."

Braziel, James. 2009. *Snakeskin Road* [apocalyptic science fiction]. New York: Bantam Books. 322 pp. "In a tale set in a bleak near-future world [2044], recently widowed and pregnant Jennifer Harrison flees the Alabama desert for the promise of the North only to find her path blocked by merciless dust storms, a situation that is complicated by an abandoned girl and a smuggler who offers to transport them to the Midwestern free zones."

Breece D'J Pancake, Featured Author [1952-1979]. 2012. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 3 (Summer): 9-84. Guest editor, Grace Toney Edwards; essays, poetry, biography, criticism, and seven pieces by Pancake.

Brewer, Dennis L. 2005. *Memories of a Forgotten Time* [ten short stories and ghost tales]. Richmond, Ky.: Mountain Memories. 120 pp.

Brewton, Vince. 2004. "The Changing Landscape of Violence in Cormac McCarthy's Early Novels and the Border Trilogy." *Southern Literary Journal* 37 (Fall): 121-143.

Brickman, Barbara Jane. 2000. "Imposition and Resistance in Cormac McCarthy's *The Orchard Keeper*." Southern Quarterly 38 (Winter): 123-134.

Bridgers, Sue Ellen. 1996. *All We Know of Heaven* [fiction; N.C.]. Wilmington, N.C.: Banks Channel Books. 212 pp.

Brinkmeyer, Robert H. 2009. "You Can't Go to Germany, Again: Thomas Wolfe." Chap. 5 in *The Fourth Ghost: White Southern Writers and European Fascism, 1930-1950*, by R. Brinkmeyer, 146-175. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. Wolfe's connection with the rise of Nazi Germany, and eventual dismay after 1936.

Brom. 2012. *Krampus: The Yule Lord* [fiction]. New York: Harper Voyager. 368 pp. Horror fantasy novel set in Boone County, W. Va., featuring Krampus, "the ancient trickster demon who punishes the wicked."

Brooks, James. 2000. *Comeback of the Bears: A Novel* [Cherokee, N.C.]. Knoxville, Tenn.: Klarus Syndicate Press. 371 pp.

Brooks, Skip. 2002. *Monteith's Mountains* [murder mystery set in 1900, logging-era Gatlinburg, Tenn.]. Boone, N.C.: High Country Publishers. 288 pp.

Brosi, George. 1997. "Jim Wayne Miller: Chronological Bibliography" [30 entries; annotated]. *Appalachian Heritage* 25 (Fall): 51-54.

Brosi, George. 2002. "Appalachian Literature" [history]. In *The Companion to Southern Literature: Themes, Genres, Places, People, Movements, and Motifs*, ed. J. Flora and L. Mackethan, 43-48. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Brosi, George. 2002. "Elizabeth Madox Roberts" [1881-1941]. In *The History of Southern Women's Literature*, ed. C. Perry and M. Weaks, 349-353. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Brosi, George. 2004. "A Conversation with Lisa Alther." *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Winter): 9-12.

Brosi, George. 2004. "A Voice for Country Working People" [Silas House profiled]. *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Spring): 9-15.

Brosi, George. 2004. "Robert Morgan's Mountain Roots" [b. 1944, Henderson Co., N.C.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Summer): 8-9.

Brosi, George. 2004. "Sharyn McCrumb: A Contemporary Bard." *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Fall): 19-23.

Brosi, George. 2005. "A Rising Star in Appalachian Literature" [Gretchen Moran Laskas]. *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 1 (Winter): 8-12.

Brosi, George. 2005. "Gurney Norman" [biographical profile; b. 1937]. *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 3 (Summer): 9-15.

Brosi, George. 2005. "The Heart-Wrenching Life of Emma Bell Miles" [1879-1919; Tenn.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 4 (Fall): 11-21.

Brosi, George. 2006. "The Life of a Literary Freedom Seeker" [Mary Lee Settle, biographical overview; 1918-2005]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 1 (Winter): 16-25.

Brosi, George. 2006. "This Side of the Mountain" [essay: values and traditions of Appalachian Literature as a distinct field of study, from Cratis Williams's 1961 dissertation to today's "new minorities"]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 4 (Fall): 4-6.

Brosi, George. 2007. "A Journey That Continues to Ennoble" [Featured Author, Earl Hamner; *The Waltons*]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 2 (Spring): 9-17.

Brosi, George. 2007. "This Side of the Mountain" [homage to Wilma Dykeman, d. Dec. 23, 2006]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 2 (Spring): 4-5.

Brosi, George. 2007. "This Side of the Mountain" [Appalachian "literary canon?"; anthologies, genres, insiders/outsiders]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 1 (Winter): 6-7.

Brosi, George. 2008. "A Tribute to George Garrett (1929-2008)." *Appalachian Heritage*, 36, no. 4 (Fall): 62. Garrett's poem, "A Little Night Music (A Prose Poem)," is published on page 63. Garrett served as Poet Laureate of Va., 2002-2006.

Brosi, George. 2008. "Versatile is Billy Edd Wheeler." *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 1 (Winter): 20-23. Featured Author; b. 1932, Boone County, W. Va.

Brosi, George. 2009. "Jim Wayne Miller" [featured author; 1936-1996; N.C.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 3 (Summer): 11-15. An icon within, and a champion of, the Appalachian Literature movement.

Brosi, George. 2009. "Jayne Anne Phillips" [featured author; career overview]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 1 (Winter): 18-20.

Brosi, George. 2009. "The Kindred Spirits of Pamela Duncan" [featured author; N.C.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 2 (Spring): 20-25.

Brosi, George. 2009. Review essay of C.E. Morgan's debut novel, *All the Living* (Farrar, Straus & Giroux, 2009). *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 3 (Summer):79-82.

Brosi, George. 2010. "Pinckney Benedict, A Gleeful Writer" [Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 1 (Winter): 18-23.

Brosi, George. 2011. "Cormac McCarthy: A Rare Literary Life" [b. 1933]. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 1 (Winter): 11-14. Overview of the "three distinct periods" of this Pulitzer Prize winner's life and career.

Brosi, George. 2011. "In Memoriam: Sidney Saylor Farr" [1932-2011, b. Bell Co., Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 3 (Summer): 8-9. Farr served as editor of this journal, 1985-1999. See also her memoir, *My Appalachia* (University Press of Kentucky, 2007).

Brosi, George. 2011. "Karen Salyer McElmurray: A Biographical Sketch" [b. 1956, Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 2 (Spring): 13-15.

Brosi, George. 2011. "Lee Maynard: An Executive and Writer with an Outlaw Edge" [biography, b. 1936, W. Va., author of *Crum* (2001, 1988)]. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 3 (Summer): 14-17.

Brosi, George. 2011. "The Social Side of Literary Magazines: An Editorial." *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 4 (Fall): 8-9. Praise for the some of the many annual literary events in the region: Appalachian Writers Workshop, Hindman, Ky. | Highland Summer Conference, Radford, Va. | West Virginia Writers, Inc. annual conference, Cedar Lakes | Appalachian Studies Association annual conference | Tennessee Mountain Writers Association, Oak Ridge | West Virginia Book Festival, Charleston | Mountain Heritage Book Festival, Lincoln Memorial University, Harrogate, Tenn. | Carolina Mountains Literary Festival, Burnsville, N.C. | Mildred Haun Conference, Morristown, Tenn. | Emma Bell Miles Symposium, Chattanooga, Tenn. | Fellowship of Southern Writers, Chattanooga | On the Same Page Festival, Ashe Co., N.C. | Licking Valley Writers Workshop, Cynthiana, Ky. | Southeastern Indian Writers Gathering, Cherokee, N.C.

Brosi, George. 2012. "Grace Toney Edwards: Guest Editor of the Pancake Section" [special issue, Breece D'J Pancake]. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 3 (2012): 124.

Brosi, George. 2012. "Harriette Simpson Arnow: A Remembrance." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 87-88.

Brosi, George. 2012. "Mark Powell's Auspicious Entry Into the Regional Literary Scene." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 1 (Winter): 30-32. Powell, born 1976 in Oconee County, S.C., is the author of the critically acclaimed novels, *Dark Corner* (forthcoming, 2012), *Prodigals* (2002), and *Blood Kin* (2006).

Brouwer, Sigmund. 2008. *Broken Angel: A Novel*. Colorado Springs, Colo.: WaterBrook Press. 243 pp. Christian fiction; futuristic dystopia; controlling-fundamentalists.

Brown, Bill. 2000. "A Gathering of Light: The Gift of Landscape in the Poetry of George Scarbrough." *The Iron Mountain Review* 16 (Spring): 10-13.

Brown, David C. 2011. *Gap Hollow* [fiction, W. Va.]. Charleston, W. Va.: Mountain State Press. 304 pp. Boone County methamphetamine operation.

Brown, David C. 2011. *Sandlick Hollow* [murder mystery]. Charleston, W. Va.: Mountain State Press. 321 pp. Third book in a trilogy. Boone County, W. Va.; crimes committed decades ago; rivalry for a \$30 million endowment; a killer lurks in the area of an overgrown, 1970s-era coal mine.

Brown, David C. 2011. *Serendipity Hollow* [fiction]. Charleston, W. Va.: Mountain State Press. 290 pp. First book of a trilogy set in Boone, Co., W. Va.; environmental preservation vs. the devastation of surface coal mining.

Brown, David C. 2011. *Serendipity Hollow* [fiction, W. Va.]. Charleston, W. Va.: Mountain State Press. 290 pp. Boone County coal operator, a female lawyer opposed to surface mining, and "an impoverished 12-year-old boy...who lives in a hollow bordering" the mine.

Brown, David C. 2012. *The Trashman's Daughter* [fiction; murder; Tyler Co., W. Va.]. Charleston, W.Va: Mountain State Press. 314 pp.

Brown, Elizabeth Ferguson. 2003. *Coal Country Christmas* [children's literature]. Illustrations by Harvey Stevenson. Honesdale, Pa.: Boyds Mills Press. 30 pp.

Brown, Fred, and Jeanne McDonald. [1997] 2005. *Growing Up Southern: How the South Shapes Its Writers*. Rpt. ed. Berkeley, Calif.: Apocryphile Press. 285 pp. Originally published: Greenville, S.C.: Blue Ridge Publishing. [Contents: Shelby Foote / Lee Smith / Yusef Komunyakaa / George Garrett / Doris Betts / Fred Chappell / Jayne Anne Phillips / Richard Marius / Elizabeth Cox / Alan Wier / Elizabeth Spencer / Willie Morris / Eudora Welty].

Brown, Harry. 2001. *Ego's Eye and Other Poems*. Lewiston, N.Y.: Mellen Poetry Press. 53 pp.

Brown, Harry. 2001. *Everything Is Its Opposite and Other Poems*. Lewiston, N.Y.: Mellen Poetry Press. 55 pp.

Brown, Harry. 2005. *Felt Along the Blood: New & Selected Poems*. Edited with a foreword by Steven R. Cope. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 93 pp.

Brown, Harry. 2011. *In Some Households the King Is Soul* [poems]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 93 pp.

Brown, Joyce Compton. 2000. "The World of Sharyn McCrumb: Timelessness and Change in the Appalachian Mountains." *Journal of Kentucky Studies* 17 (September): 79-89.

Brown, Joyce Compton. 2002. "Horrifying, Brave and Beautiful: Poetic Realism and Appalachian Outmigration in the Poetry of Jeanne Bryner." *Appalachian Heritage* 30 (Spring): 31-36.

Brown, Joyce Compton. 2002. "The Dark and Clear Vision of Ron Rash." *Appalachian Heritage* 30 (Fall): 15-24.

Brown, Joyce Compton. 2003. "The World of Sharyn McCrumb: Mountain Communities Caught within Tradition and Change." In *From a Race of Storytellers: Essays on the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb*, ed. K. Holloway, 159-168. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Brown, Joyce Compton. 2006. "Rising Out of the Wasteland: Images of Death, Decay, and Rebirth in the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb." *The Iron Mountain Review* 22 (Spring): 15-23.

Brown, Joyce Compton. 2009. Review essay of Ron Rash's new novel, *Serena* (HarperCollins, 2008). *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 1 (Winter): 61-64.

Bruckheimer, Linda. 2004. *The Southern Belles of Honeysuckle Way* [fiction; Ky.]. New York: Dutton. 359 pp.

Bryan, Jennifer Liu, with Hazel Cole Kendle. 2008. *Cole Family Christmas*. Illustrations by Jenniffer Julich. Boca Grande, Fla: Next Chapter Press. 74 pp. Children's literature, based on coal miner family in 1919, Benham, Ky.

Bryan, Neva. 2009. *St. Peter's Monsters* [fiction; Va. college students; alcoholism; rape; murder]. St. Paul, Va.: Brighid Editions. 288 pp.

Bryan, Neva. 2010. *Sawmill Boys: Poetry & Short Fiction*. Saint Paul, Va.: Brighid Editions. 69 pp. Twenty-six poems and two short stories.

Bryant, Cedric Gael. 2009. "'To Rise and Bloom Again': Resurrection, Race, and Rationalism in Charles Frazier's *Cold Mountain*" [1997]. *Mississippi Quarterly* 62, no. 3-4 (Summer-Fall): 591-603.

Bryner, Jeanne. 1995. *Breathless* [poems]. Wick Poetry Chapbook Series, no. 7. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press. 26 pp.

Bryner, Jeanne. 1999. *Blind Horse: Poems* [focus on outmigration to Ohio steel mills]. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 100 pp.

Bryner, Jeanne. 2003. *Eclipse: Stories* [small-town W. Va., Ohio, Pa.]. Working Lives Series. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 149 pp.

Bryner, Jeanne. 2005. "Moments of Grace: My Writing Life." *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 3, no. 1 (Winter): nonfiction section, 1400 words. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-1/non-fiction/Bryner.htm.

Bryner, Jeanne. 2010. *No Matter How Many Windows: Poems* [four ancestral female voices; Oh., W. Va.]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 89 pp.

Bryner, Jeanne. 2012. *Smoke: Poems*. Working Lives Series. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 95 pp. Bryner, an emergency room nurse, uses metaphors tied to her medical experience.

Bryson, J. Scott. 2005. "Divided against Ourselves: Wendell Berry." Chap. 2 in *The West Side of Any Mountain: Place, Space, and Ecopoetry*, 23-44. [book also examines the poetry of Joy Harjo, Mary Oliver, and W. S. Merwin]. Iowa City: University of Iowa Press.

Buchanan, Bobbi. 2010. "In the Woods" [creative nonfiction]. *Still: The Journal*, no. 4 (Fall). 2,805 words. "I didn't blame the woods for what happened. By then I had already abandoned them, along with crayons and dolls, as the stuff of childhood I'd had a baby at seventeen, and my parents had forbidden me from marrying the father." http://www.stilljournal.net/bobbi-buchanan-contest-nonfiction.php.

Buchanan, Bobbi. 2010. "On Waking" [creative nonfiction]. *Still: The Journal*, no. 2 (Winter). 4,462 words. "All her life, my mother worried about us kids eating, unable to shake that Depression-era zeitgeist. Her generation learned early, through soup lines and ration stamps, to treat food as a luxury." http://www.stilljournal.net/bobbi-buchanan-nonfiction.php.

Buchanan, Harriette C. 2001. "Gathering 'Scattered Allegiances': The Alther Heroine's Journey 'in Search of Labels'" [novelist Lisa Alther]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 17 (Spring): 8-15.

Buchanan, Harriette C. 2004. "Ambivalence Towards Home and Heritage for Lisa Alther's Appalachian Characters." *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Winter): 31-34.

Buchanan, Ron. 2000. "'To Cause No One Pain': The Ethical Imperative in William Hoffman's Literature." In *The Fictional World of William Hoffman*, ed. W. L. Frank, 44-57. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

Bundrick, Christopher. 2007. "'Foolin' with Me Is Like Makin' Faces at a Rattlesnake': Signifyin(g) in Mary N. Murfree's 'Electioneerin' on Big Injun Mounting'" [one of eight stories

from *In the Tennessee Mountains* (1884); upends frontier humor literary tradition]. *Appalachian Journal* 35, no. 1-2 (Fall 2007/Winter 2008): 76-88.

Burack, Cynthia. 2006. "Mountain Mann: A Biographical Sketch" [W. Va. poet and writer Jeff Mann; b. 1959]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 3 (Summer): 10-12.

Burgess, Scott. 2001. *Once to Die* [fiction; W. Va.]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 288 pp.

Burton-Hardee, Carmen. 2002. "Red Dirt Girl as Hero: Dorothy Allison's *Cavedweller* as Southern White Trash Hero" [New York: Dutton, 1998). *Journal of American and Comparative Cultures* 25, no. 3-4 (Fall-Winter): 243-245.

Burton-Hardee, Carmen. 2002. "Red Dirt Girl as Hero: Dorothy Allison's *Cavedweller* as Southern White Trash Hero." *Journal of American Comparative Cultures* 25 (Fall & Winter): 243-245.

Butcher, Kenneth. 2009. *The Middle of the Air: A Novel* [N.C.; radioactive waste; terrorism]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 307 pp.

Butterworth, D. S. 2002. "Pearls as Swine: Recentering the Marginal in Cormac McCarthy's *Suttree*" [1979]. In *Sacred Violence, I: Cormac McCarthy's Appalachian Works*, ed. W. Hall and R. Wallach, 131-137. El Paso: Texas Western Press.

Buttram, Larry. 2004. *False Witness* [fiction; 1963 East Tenn. race relations]. Manassas Park, Va.: New Virginia Publications. 336 pp.

Buttram, Larry. 2004. False Witness [fiction; 1956-1971 East Tenn.; murder mystery]. Manassas Park, Va.: New Virginia Publications. 351 pp.

Byer, Katherine Stripling. 2006. *Coming to Rest: Poems* [N.C. Poet Laureate]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 63 pp.

Byer, Kathryn Stripling (moderator), with David Huddle, Michael McFee, and Ron Rash. 2007. "Continuity and Change: Future Directions in Appalachian Literature" [panel discussion]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 23 (Spring): 53-57.

Byer, Kathryn Stripling, and Louanne K. Watley. 2002. "EVElyn Photos and Poems" [special feature]. *Appalachian Heritage* 30 (Fall): 64-75.

Byer, Kathryn Stripling. 1998. *Black Shawl: Poems*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 64 pp.

Byer, Kathryn Stripling. 2002. *Catching Light: Poems* [collection of the EVElyn poems]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 62 pp.

Byer, Kathryn Stripling. 2003. *Wake: Poems* [limited edition]. Sylva, N.C.: Spring Street Editions. 17 pp.

Byer, Kathryn Stripling. 2012. *Descent: Poems*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 57 pp. Byer's sixth poetry collection.

Byrd, Linda. 1998. "The Emergence of the Sacred Sexual Mother in Lee Smith's *Oral History*." *Southern Literary Journal* 31 (Fall): 119-142.

Byrd, Sarah Martin. 2011. *Guardian Spirit* [fiction, 1968 N.C.]. Athens, Ohio: Lucky Press. 264 pp. Twelve-year-old heroine, Sadie Madison; abusive father; Blue Ridge Mountains; Cherokee magic.

Byrd-Cook, Linda J. 2002. "Reconciliation with the Great Mother Goddess in Lee Smith's *Saving Grace* [New York: Putnam's, 1995]. *Southern Quarterly* 40 (Summer): 97-112.

Byron Herbert Reece [featured historical author; 1917-1958]. 2003. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Spring): 56-72.

Cable, Pamela King. 2008. *Southern Fried Women* [nine short stories]. Hardwick, Mass.: Satya House. 255 pp. Originally published: Madison, N.C.: Spotlight, 2006.

Cadle, Dean. 2007. "Man on Troublesome." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 197-208. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *The Yale Review* 57, no. 2 (December 1967): 236-255.

Cahalan, James M. 1996. "Edward Abbey, Appalachian Easterner" [Indiana Co., Pa., roots]. *Western American Literature* 31 (November): 233-253.

Caison, Gina. 2011. "Claiming the Unclaimable: Forrest Carter, *The Education of Little Tree*, and Land Claim in the Native South" [Delacorte Press, 1976]. *Mississippi Quarterly* 64, no. 3-4 (Summer-Fall): 573-595.

Caldwell, Wayne. 2007. *Cataloochee: A Novel* [N.C. mountains; three families: 1864-1928]. New York: Random House. 352 pp.

Caldwell, Wayne. 2010. *Requiem by Fire: A Novel* [N.C.; Great Smoky Mountains]. New York: Random House. 334 pp. By the author of *Cataloochee: A Novel* (2007).

Callahan, Tim. 2007. *The Cave, the Cabin, & the Tattoo Man* [suspense; Christian fiction; 1959]. Kentucky Summer series. Mustang, Okla.: Tate Publishing & Enterprises. 297 pp.

Callahan, Tim. 2009. *Dark Days in Morgan County* [Ky.; 1960; racism; young adult fiction]. Kentucky Summers series. Mustang, Okla.: Tate Publishing. 307 pp.

Callahan, Tim. 2010. *Above Devil's Creek*. Kentucky Summers series, no. 4. Mustang, Okla.: Tate Publishing. 271 pp. Suspense; Christian fiction; eastern Ky.

Camhi, Rebecca Cale. 2001. *Deepwater Mountain: A Novel of West Virginia* [historical novel, 1861-1961]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 372 pp.

Campbell, Ben E. 2011. *A Welcome Walk into the Dark* [fiction]. Denver, Colo.: Outskirts Press. 161 pp. Twelve stories; "blends Southern Gothic elements with realist storytelling."

Campbell, H. H. 2000. "Lee Smith and the Bronte Sisters" [Oral History (1984); Wuthering Heights (1847)]. Southern Literary Journal 38 (Fall): 141-149.

Canfield, J. Douglas. 2003. "Oedipal Complexities in Cormac McCarthy's *The Stonemason* and *The Gardener's Son* [1994 and 1996]. *Cormac McCarthy Journal* 2, no. 1 (Spring): 12-22.

Cant, John. 2008. *Cormac McCarthy and the Myth of American Exceptionalism*. New York: Routledge. 368 pp. Sixteen chapters, one for each of his published works; Part I: Biography and Tennessee Background; Part II: The Tennessee Texts; Part III: The Southwestern Texts.

Cantrell, James P. 2006. *How Celtic Culture Invented Southern Literature*. Gretna, La.: Pelican Publishing Co. 326 pp.

Carden, Gary. 2000. *Mason Jars in the Flood and Other Stories* [1940s-50s N.C.]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 210 pp.

Caroll, Robin. 2010. *Deliver Us from Evil: A Novel* [mystery; Great Smoky Mountains; female helicopter rescue pilot; Christian fiction]. Nashville, Tenn.: B&H Publishing Group. 298 pp.

Carpenter, Brian R., and Tom Franklin, ed. 2012. Grit Lit: A Rough South Reader [30 stories and excerpts]. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 358 pp. Contents: Preface: What's grit lit? / Tom Franklin -- Introduction: Blood and bone / Brian Carpenter -- MEMOIRS. A Childhood: The Biography of a Place / Harry Crews -- Deciding to live / Dorothy Allison --On Fire: A Personal Account of Life and Death and Choices / Larry Brown -- Keeper of the Moon: A Southern Boyhood / Tim McLaurin -- Ava's Man, and, All Over but the Shoutin' / Rick Bragg -- A body in the river / Lewis Nordan -- FICTION. A Feast of Snakes / Harry Crews --Ride, fly, penetrate, loiter / Barry Hannah -- The scrapper / Breece D'J Pancake -- Samaritans / Larry Brown -- The Acorn Plan / Tim McLaurin -- River of names / Dorothy Allison -- Pit / Pinckney Benedict -- The Sharpshooter Blues / Lewis Nordan -- Your Daddy in time / Jim Grimsley -- Melungeons / Chris Offutt -- Jacksonville / George Singleton -- What it costs travelers / Dale Ray Phillips -- Saving Grace / Lee Smith -- Sleepy gap / Robert Morgan --Where will you go when your skin cannot contain you? / William Gay -- Kindred spirits / Brad Watson -- Sorry blood / Tim Gautreaux -- Winter's Bone / Daniel Woodrell -- Speckled trout / Ron Rash -- Atlas Towing / Will Allison -- Redneck boys / Ann Pancake -- The coal thief / Alex Taylor.

Carrella, Vincent Louis. 2008. *Serpent Box: A Novel* [Tenn. "snake child"]. New York: Harper Perennial. 462 pp.

Carroll, Lewis. 2012. *Alice's Adventures in an Appalachian Wonderland*. Translated into Appalatchan Dialeck [of a "West Virginian Alice"] by Byron W. Sewell and Victoria Sewell. Preface by August A. Imholtz, Jr. Westport, Ireland: Evertype. 152 pp., including a Glossary.

Carson, Jo. 1989. *Stories I Ain't Told Nobody Yet: Selections from the People Pieces*. New York: Orchard Books. 84 pp. Forty-nine poems taken from the conversations of Appalachian people as they discuss neighbors, kin, work, relationships, and themselves.

Carson, Jo. 1990. *Pulling My Leg: Story* [children's literature]. Pictures by Julie Downing. New York: Orchard Books. 32 pp. When a joking uncle collects hammer, pliers, and screwdriver to help a child with her loose tooth, the tooth amazingly comes out by itself.

Carson, Jo. 1993. *The Last of the "Waltz Across Texas" and Other Stories*. Frankfort, Ky.: Gnomon Press. 142 pp.

Carson, Jo. 1998. "The Wealth of Story: A Conversation." Interview by Pat Arnow, recorded at the Jo Carson Literary Festival, Emory & Henry College, October 31, 1997. *The Iron Mountain Review* 14 (Summer): 31-37.

Carson, Jo. 2007. *Teller Tales: Histories*. Athens: Ohio University Press. 138 pp. Two performance narratives set in 18th-century East Tenn. and N.C.: "What Sweet Lips Can Do" and "Men of Their Time." (Overmountain Men, Battle of King's Mountain; and white-Cherokee relationships).

Carson, Jo. 2008. *Spider Speculations: A Physics and Biophysics of Storytelling*. New York: Theatre Communications Group. 221 pp.

Carter, Catherine. 2006. *The Memory of Gills: Poems*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 59 pp.

Carver, Bill. 1999. Branch Water Tales. Andrews, N.C.: Mountain Voice Publishers. 221 pp.

Caseley, Martin. 2000. "Through Purgatory to Appalachia" [interview; Charles P. Wright]. *PN Review* 27 (September-October): 22-25.

Cash, John Carter. 2009. *Momma Loves Her Little Son* [children's literature]. Illustrated by Marc Burckhardt. New York: Little Simon Inspirations. 24 pp. "John Carter Cash creates a lyrical story based on the intimate words his mother, June Carter Cash, shared with him as a child."

Cash, Wiley. 2007. "The Thomas Wolfe Society" [begun 1980; Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 4 (Fall): 64-65.

Cash, Wiley. 2012. A Land More Kind Than Home: A Novel. New York: William Morrow. 309 pp. "Growing up in a small North Carolina town, Jess Hall is plunged into an adulthood for which he is not prepared when his autistic older brother, Stump, sneaks a look at something he is not supposed to see, which has catastrophic repercussions."

Casteen, John. 2009. Free Union: Poems [Va.]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 68 pp.

Casteen, John. 2011. For the Mountain Laurel: Poems. VQR Poetry Series. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 62 pp.

Cather, Willa. [1940] 2009. *Sapphira and the Slave Girl*. Historical essay and explanatory notes by Ann Romines; textual essay and editing by Charles W. Mignon, Kari A. Ronning, and Frederick M. Link. Willa Cather Scholarly Edition series. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 719 pp. (A paperback edition was also published in 2010 by Random House, Vintage Classics Edition, 304 pp.). This historical novel is set in 1856 in Cather's (1873-1947) Blue Ridge Va. birthplace.

Cawood, Chris. 1995. *Tennessee's Coal Creek War: Another Fight for Freedom* [historical fiction; Lake City, Tenn.; convict labor; strikes; women]. Kingston, Tenn.: Magnolia Hill Press. 266 pp.

Cawood, Chris. 1997. *Carp* [fiction; Tennessee River houseboat]. Kingston, Tenn.: Magnolia Hill Press. 310 pp.

Ceder, Georgiana Dorcas. 1962. *Winter Without Salt* [children's fiction; frontier Ky.; Indian threat]. Illustrations by Charles Walker. New York: Morrow. 125 pp.

Celebrating Mary Lee Settle (1918-2005). 2006. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 1 (Winter): 1-102.

Cella, Laurie J. C. 2007. "Radical Romance in the Piedmont: Olive Tilford Dargan's Gastonia Novels" [Call Home the Heart (1932) and A Stone Came Rolling (1935)]. The Southern Literary Journal 39, no. 2 (Spring): 37-57.

Chafin, Andrew. 2007. *From West Virginia with Love* [fiction]. West Conshohocken, Pa.: Infinity Publishing. 156 pp. "Although the entry into politics would be a challenge to his morality and values, the opportunity to be of service to the people he loved led Noble to accept the opportunity to be a State Senator, whatever the cost might be."

Chandler, E. Gail. 2009. *Where the Red Road Meets the Sky* [poems]. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 30 pp.

Chandler, Sherry. 2011. *Weaving a New Eden: Poems*. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 108 pp. Narrative poems; 1700s frontier Ky.; "untold stories" of women.

Chappell, Fred. [1968, 1987] 2002. *Dagon* ["Lovecraftian" fiction; author is Poet Laureate of N.C.]. Rpt. ed. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 177 pp. Originally published: New York: Harcourt, Brace & World.

Chappell, Fred. [1973] 1994. *The Gaudy Place*. Rpt. ed. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 178 pp.

Chappell, Fred. [1975] 2000. *River: A Poem.* Rpt. ed. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 64 pp.

Chappell, Fred. 1995. Spring Garden. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 158 pp.

Chappell, Fred. 1996. Farewell, I'm Bound to Leave You [fiction]. New York: St. Martin's/Picador. 220 pp.

Chappell, Fred. 1996. "Fred Chappell: From the Mountains to the Mainstream" [PW Interview, by Jennifer Howard]. *Publishers Weekly* 243 (Sept. 30): 55-56.

Chappell, Fred. 1999. Look Back All the Green Valley [fiction]. New York: Picador USA. 288 pp.

Chappell, Fred. 2000. "Taking Measure: Violent Intruders in William Hoffman's Short Fiction." In *The Fictional World of William Hoffman*, ed. W. L. Frank, 9-23. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

Chappell, Fred. 2000. "The Waters of Memory" [reflections on writing poetry]. *Sewanee Review* 108 (Spring): 234-248.

Chappell, Fred. 2000. *Family Gathering: Poems*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 72 pp.

Chappell, Fred, and Donald Harington. 2002. "'The Southern Highlands as Literary Landscape': An Interview with Fred Chappell and Donald Harington." Interview by Gene Hyde. *Southern Quarterly* 40 (Winter): 86-98.

Chappell, Fred. 2002. "Treasures of Ruin: Donald Harington's Covert I" [Ozark novelist]. *Southern Quarterly* 40 (Winter): 9-19.

Chappell, Fred. 2003. "An Interview." By Casey Clabough. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Summer): 35-41.

Chappell, Fred, ed. 2003. *Locales: Poems from the Fellowship of Southern Writers* [incl. Wendell Berry, Fred Chappell, Robert Morgan, George Scarbrough, Charles Wright, and 13 others]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 134 pp.

Chappell, Fred. 2004. *Backsass: Poems* [N.C. Poet Laureate, 1998-2003]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 54 pp.

Chappell, Fred. 2004. "Morgan's Things" [reviews Robert Morgan's short-story volume, *The Balm of Gilead Tree* (Gnomon Press, 1999)]. *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Summer): 19-26.

Chappell, Fred. 2004. "Too Many Freds." In *More Lights Than One: On the Fiction of Fred Chappell*, ed. P. Bizarro, 256-271. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Chappell, Fred. 2005. "Wind-Voices: Kathryn Stripling Byer's Poetry." *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 55, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 64-82.

Chappell, Fred. 2006. Review essay of *High Lonesome: On the Poetry of Charles Wright*, ed. Adam Giannelli (Oberlin College Press, 2006). *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 4 (Fall): 80-86.

Chappell, Fred (moderator), with Lisa Alther, Jo Carson, John Ehle, and Lee Smith. 2007. "Humor and the Oral Tradition in Appalachian Literature" [panel discussion]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 23 (Spring): 32-38.

Chappell, Fred. 2007. "'Menfolks Are Heathens': Cruelty in the Short Stories." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 96-102. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *The Iron Mountain Review* 2, no. 1 (Summer 1984): 11-15.

Chappell, Fred. 2007. "The Seamless Vision." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 222-228. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *Appalachian Journal* 8, no. 3 (Spring 1981): 196-202.

Chappell, Fred. 2009. *Ancestors and Others: New and Selected Stories*. New York: St. Martin's Press. 304 pp. Contents: The Overspill | Broken blossoms | The three boxes | Ember | Alma | Judas | Linnaeus forgets | Ladies from Lapland | Moments of light | The somewhere doors | Gift of roses | Christmas gift | Creche | Tradition | Duet | Children of strikers | Bon ton | The lodger | Mankind journeys through forests of symbols | Ancestors | January.

Chappell, Fred. 2009. *Shadow Box: Poems*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 81 pp. Constructed as poems within poems: "each piece consists of an inner world contained, framed, supported by an outer."

Chappell, Fred. 2011. "'The Sweet, Dark Center': The Poetry of Cathy Smith Bowers" [N.C.'s new Poet Laureate, 2010]. *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 2-3 (Winter/Spring): 276-294. Review essay of four collections, all published by Iris Press: *The Love That Ended Yesterday in Texas* (1997); *Traveling in Time of Danger* (1999); *A Book of Minutes* (2004); and *The Candle I Hold Up to See You* (2009).

Chappell, Fred. 2011. "They Know Their Place." *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 2-3 (Winter/Spring): 234-245. Essay on "four major ways in which place is made an essential part

of story": discovery, departure, return, meditation. Chappel is a former Poet Laureate of North Carolina, 1997-2002.

Cheek, Pauline, and Brian Cole. 1999. "The Call of Place in Denise Giardina's *Saints and Villains*" [1998]. Part I. "Whose Side Are You On?" by Pauline Cheek. Part II. "Bonhoeffer Today", by Brian Cole. *The Iron Mountain Review* 15 (Spring): 22-30.

Cherry, Kelly. 2004. "On Reading *The Inkling* by Fred Chappell in a Building on the UNC-G Campus" [c. 1965]. In *More Lights Than One: On the Fiction of Fred Chappell*, ed. P. Bizarro, 27. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Child, Benjamin S. 2011. "Looking Over the Country Again: Rusticity and the Urban/Rural Spatiality of *The Orchard Keeper* and *No Country for Old Men.*" *Cormac McCarthy Journal* 9, no. 1: 1-16.

Chitwood, Michael, and Michael McFee. 2003. "Getting at the Secrets of Things: A Conversation" [interview recorded at the Michael McFee Literary Festival, Emory & Henry College, October 4, 2002]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 19 (Spring): 29-38.

Chitwood, Michael. 1995. Whet: Poems. Athens: Ohio Review Books. 58 pp.

Chitwood, Michael. 1998. *Hitting Below the Bible Belt: Baptist Voodoo, Blood Kin, Grandma's Teeth, and Other Stories from the South.* Asheboro, N.C.: Down Home Press. 142 pp.

Chitwood, Michael. 1998. *The Weave Room* [poems; J.P. Stevens Co. textile mill community; Franklin Co., Va.]. Phoenix Poets. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. 82 pp.

Chitwood, Michael. 2002. *Gospel Road Going: Poems*. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Tryon Publishing. 70 pp.

Chitwood, Michael. 2005. "Lucky Mornings" [of Michael McFee as book reviewer for public radio]. *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 2 (Spring): 27-28.

Chitwood, Michael. 2007. *From Whence: Poems*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 62 pp.

Chitwood, Michael. 2007. Spill: Poems. Dorset, Vt.: Tupelo Press. 61 pp.

Chitwood, Michael. 2008. New poems and a short essay for the "Michael Chitwood" special issue, *The Iron Mountain Review* 24 (Spring): 4-10. Frederick Jackson Turner's Frontier Thesis as Explored in a Ford Country Sedan Station Wagon – Amen to the Ax – Dead Lilac as a Figure for the Afterlife – South of South Hill – Every Head Bowed, Every Eye Closed – Up a Tree.

Chitwood, Michael. 2010. *Poor-Mouth Jubilee: Poems*. Tupelo Masters Series. North Adams, Mass.: Tupelo Press. 79 pp.

Christianson, Scott R. 2003. "Four Quartets: Fred Chappell's *Midquest* and T. S. Eliot" [c. 1981]. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Summer): 49-53.

Chung, Haeja K. 1995. "Harriette Simpson Arnow's Authorial Testimony: Toward a Reading of 'The Dollmaker'." *Critique: Studies in Contemporary Fiction* 36 (Spring): 211-223.

Chung, Haeja K., ed. 1995. *Harriette Simpson Arnow: Critical Essays on Her Work*. East Lansing: Michigan State University Press. 301 pp.

Ciuba, Gary M. 2002. "McCarthy's Enfant Terrible: Mimetic Desire and Sacred Violence in *Child of God*" [1974]. In *Sacred Violence, I: Cormac McCarthy's Appalachian Works*, ed. W. Hall and R. Wallach, 93-102. El Paso: Texas Western Press.

Ciuba, Gary M. 2007. "McCarthy's Enfant Terrible: Incarnating Sacred Violence in *Child of God*" [Random House, 1973]. Chap 4 in *Desire, Violence & Divinity in Modern Southern Fiction: Katherine Anne Porter, Flannery O'Connor, Cormac McCarthy, Walker Percy*, by G. Ciuba, 165-199. Southern Literary Studies. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Clabough, Casey. 2003. "Experimentation and Versatility: Fred Chappell's Fiction." *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Summer): 27-34.

Clabough, Casey. 2003. "Representing Urban Appalachia: Fred Chappell's *The Gaudy Place*" [1973 novel; modeled on Asheville, N.C.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Spring): 68-92.

Clabough, Casey. 2004. "Will, Appetite, Alchemy, Faulkner, and Two French Poets: Fred Chappell's *The Inkling*" [Harcourt, Brace & World (1965)]. *Southern Quarterly* 42 (Summer): 5-18.

Clabough, Casey Howard. 2005. Experimentation and Versatility: The Early Novels and Short Fiction of Fred Chappell. Macon, Ga.: Mercer Univ Press. 182 pp.

Clabough, Casey. 2005. "Two Views of the Mountains: Appalachian Literature at a Crossroads" [James Dickey]. *The South Carolina Review* 37, no. 2: 233-235.

Clabough, Casey. 2007. "The Imagined South." *Sewanee Review* 115, no. 2 (Spring): 301-307. Review essay of *An American Vein: Critical Readings in Appalachian Literature*, ed. Danny L. Miller, Sharon Hatfield, and Gurney Norman (Ohio University Press, 2005); *At Home in the Heart of Appalachia*, by John O'Brien (Knopf, 2001); and *South to a New Place: Region, Literature, Culture*, ed. S. Jones and S. Monteith (Louisiana State University Press, 2002).

Clabough, Casey. 2007. "The Truths of William Hoffman's Fiction, New and Old." *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 57, no.1 (Spring): 92-100.

Clabough, Casey Howard. 2008. *The Art of the Magic Striptease: The Literary Layers of George Garrett* [1929-2008]. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 203 pp.

Clabough, Casey. 2009. "Old Timey New: Appalachian Environmental Writing and the Work of Jim Minick." *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 4, no. 1 (Summer/Fall): View section, 967 words. http://nantahalareview.org/issue4-1/view4-1/Clabough.html.

Clabough, Casey Howard. 2012. *Inhabiting Contemporary Southern and Appalachian Literature: Region and Place in the Twenty-First Century*. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 202 pp. Contents: PART I. GETTING (BACK) THERE: AN INTRODUCTION AND A CASE STUDY. WHY READ FOR PLACE? An introduction | 1. "To blend in the place you're in, but with a mind to do something": the practice of merging in James Dickey's *To the White Sea* | PART II. A MATTER OF CONTEXT: REGION AND PLACE. 2. One writer's place: the South of George Garrett. 3. Representing urban Appalachia: Fred Chappell's *The Gaudy Place*. 4. The truths of William Hoffman's southern Appalachian places: the critics' and his own. 5. Southern Appalachian montage: reviewing books across regions (a collection) | PART III. LOOKING CLOSER: A STATE OF PLACE. 6. "Out of space, out of time": the Virginia novels of Julien Green. 7. Hanging on to place: the self-reflexive depths of Kelly Cherry's fiction. 8. Here, there, where: David Huddle's Appalachian Virginia | Epilogue: Writing for a place--a writers workshop for McDowell County, West Virginia.

Clabough, Casey. 2012. "A Father's Son: George Garrett and the Art of Dying" [d. 2008]. *Sewanee Review* 120, no. 1 (Winter): 124-129. Virginia's Poet Laureate, 2002-2006.

Clabough, Casey. 2012. "Willed Into Being: The Fiction of Mark Powell." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 1 (Winter): 38-47. Author of forthcoming *Dark Corner* (2012), *Prodigals* (2002), and *Blood Kin* (2006).

Clark, Amy. 2000. "Can't Pronounce 'Appalachia'? Then Don't Mess With Us" [dialect]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 17 (Summer): 29-30.

Clark, Billy C. [1953] 2011. *A Heap of Hills* [four stories]. Facsimile reprint (these stories have also been reprinted in other publications). Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 43 pp. Contents: Stubtoe the champion | Heap o' love | Fur in the hickory | Pride o' the jug. "This modest and obscure little book was issued in 1953 by the University of Kentucky's Phi Beta Kappa Society as an Award for Outstanding Undergraduate Writing."

Clark, Billy C. [1957] 1995. *The Trail of the Hunter's Horn*. Reprint, Ashland: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 96 pp.

Clark, Billy C. [1957] 1994. *Song of the River*. [Clark's first novel. "...tells the story of a Big Sandy River shantyboatman named John and his lifelong obsession with catching a huge catfish called Scrapiron Jack"]. Drawings by Ezra Jack Keats. Introduction by Gurney Norman. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 176 pp. Originally published, New York: Crowell.

Clark, Billy C. [1958] 1995. *The Mooneyed Hound* [children's fiction; coon hound]. Illustrated by Jim Marsh. Reprint, edited by James M. Gifford, Patricia A. Hall, and Chuck D. Charles. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 144 pp.

Clark, Billy C. [1964] 1994. *Goodbye Kate*. Reprint, edited with an introduction by Jerry A. Herndon. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation.

Clark, Billy C. [1966] 2003. *The Champion of Sourwood Mountain*. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 251 pp. Originally published: New York: Putnam.

Clark, Billy C. [1968] 2001. *Sourwood Tales* [1930s Ky.; Big Sandy River; 18 short stories]. Rpt. ed. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 256 pp. Originally published: New York: Putnam.

Clark, Billy C. 1999. *To Leave My Heart at Catlettsburg* [Ky.; poems]. With an introduction by Edwina Pendarvis. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 80 pp.

Clark, Billy C. 2000. By Way of the Forked Stick [four short stories]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 149 pp.

Clark, Billy C. 2002. *Creeping from Winter* [poems]. Farmville, Va. (P.O. Box 324, Farmville 23901-0324): Persimmon Hill. 72 pp.

Clark, Billy C. 2003. *Miss America Kissed Caleb: Stories* [11 stories; sketches from 1940s, small-town "Sourwood," Ky.]. Kentucky Voices. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 173 pp.

Clark, Billy C. 2007. *To Catch an Autumn* [poems]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 76 pp.

Clark, Billy C. 2009. *Sonnets from Sourwood*. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 104 pp. "A collection of sharply observed impressions of Appalachian rural life that touch on universal themes."

Clark, Jim. [1983] 1997. *Dancing on Canaan's Ruins* [poems/quest motif; N.C., Tenn.]. Reprint. Wilson, N.C.: Eternal Delight Productions. 64 pp. Originally published: Memphis, Tenn.: Ars Gratiis.

Clark, Jim. 1999. *Handiwork: Poems*. Laurinburg, N.C.: St. Andrews College Press. 79 pp.

Clark, Jim, ed. 2001. Fable in the Blood: The Selected Poems of Byron Herbert Reece [Ga.; 1917-1958]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 160 pp.

Clark, Jim. 2002. "A Strong and Lonely Voice" [Byron Herbert Reece]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Winter): 27-31.

Clark, Jim. 2003. "Three Uncollected Poems of Byron Herbert Reece." *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Spring): 58-62.

Clark, Jim. 2004. "Circles of Influence and Confluence: One Writer's Inspirations" [Byron Herbert Reece]. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 2, no. 2 (Winter-Spring):nonfiction section, 50 paras. http://nantahalareview.org/issue2-2/nonfiction/CLARK.htm.

Clark, Jim. 2004. "'Unto all generations of the faithful heart': Donald Davidson, The Vanderbilt Agrarians, and Appalachian Poetry." *Mississippi Quarterly* 58, no. 1-2 (Winter 2004-2005): 299-313.

Clark, Jim. 2006. Review essay of *Appalachia and Beyond: Conversations with Writers from the Mountain South*, ed. John Lang (University of Tennessee Press, 2006). *Mississippi Quarterly* 59, no. 3-4 (Summer-Fall): 663-665.

Clark, Jim. 2007. *Notions: A Jim Clark Miscellany: Prose and Poems, 1983-2006.* Foreword by Jeff Daniel Marion. Mount Olive, N.C.: Rank Stranger Press. 279 pp., plus sound disc.

Clark, Jim, and Byron Herbert Reece. 2010. "Two Excerpts from *The Service of Song*, Jim Clark's Musical Settings of the Poems of Byron Herbert Reece." *Still: The Journal*, no. 4 (Fall), Multimedia Feature. 1,268 words, with two video clips: "Jim Clark – I Go by Ways of Rust and Flame" (2:45 min.); and "Jim Clark – The Stay-at-Home" (3:16 min.). http://www.stilljournal.net/jim-clark-multimedia.php.

Clark, Jim. 2012. "From Eastanalle to East Asia: George Scarbrough's Long Journey." *Mississippi Quarterly* 65, no. 3 (Summer): 443-447. Review essay of *George Scarbrough*, *Appalachian Poet*, by Randy Mackin (McFarland, 2011).

Clark, Martin. 2008. *The Legal Limit*. New York: Knopf. 356 pp. Fiction; Patrick County, Va; two brothers: a lawyer and a drug offender.

Clifford, Emmett. 1998. *Night Whispers: A Story of Evil* [contemporary murder mystery set in East Tenn.]. Nashville: Cumberland House. 429 pp.

Clouse, Loletta. [1990] 2002. *Wilder* [fiction; 1932 Wilder, Tenn., coal mining town and strike]. Reprint. Knoxville, Tenn.: Chicory Books. 252 pp. Originally published: Nashville: Rutledge Hill Press.

Clouse, Loletta. 2002. *The Homesteads* [fiction; Cumberland Homesteads, Tenn.; New Deal experimental community]. Knoxville, Tenn.: Tennessee Valley Publishing. 282 pp.

Clouse, Loletta. 2009. *Rainbow by Moonlight: A Novel* [love story]. Knoxville, Tenn.: Chicory Books. 257 pp. "The year is 1920. Claire Blackburn leaves a life of privilege to teach at the Pi Beta Phi Settlement School in Gatlinburg, Tennessee," in the Great Smoky Mountains.

Cobb, Ann. 2003. *Kinfolks & Other Selected Poems* [vernacular poems from 1920s-1930s Knott Co., Ky., collected by Ann Cobb (1874-1960)]. Edited with an introduction by Jeff Daniel Marion. Hindman, Ky.: Hindman Settlement School. 113 pp. (This edition includes all of

Cobb's 1922 collection, *Kinfolks, Kentucky Mountain Rhymes*, Boston, New York: Houghton Mifflin).

Coberly, Lenore M. 2002. *The Handywoman Stories* [20 stories; W. Va.; WWII-era]. Athens, Oh.: Swallow Press. 192 pp.

Coberly, Lenore McComas. 2004. "Big Ugly Creek, West Virginia: Interview with Writer Lenore McComas Coberly" [Lincoln Co. poet, fiction writer, editor, and retired teacher]. Interview by Paul Salstrom. *Appalachian Journal* 31 (Spring/Summer): 368-387.

Coberly, Lenore McComas. 2007. *Sarah's Girls: A Chronicle of Big Ugly Creek* [fiction; W. Va.; multi-generational chronicle; hardships]. Athens: Swallow Press/Ohio University Press. 157 pp.

Cochran, Heather. 2004. *Mean Season* [fiction; W. Va.; comic story]. Don Mills, Ont., Canada: Red Dress Ink. 295 pp.

Cocke, Dudley, Donna Porterfield, and Edward Wemytewa, ed. 2002. *Journeys Home: Revealing a Zuni-Appalachia Collaboration* [Corn Mountain/Pine Mountain bilingual play]. Zuni, N.M.: Zuni A:shiwi Publishing. 106 pp., plus music CD.

Coe, Marian. 1998. *Eve's Mountain* [mystery/romance novel; N.C.]. Little Switzerland, N.C.: SouthLore Press. 362 pp.

Coe, Marian. 2004. *Once Upon a Different Time: An Appalachian Adventure Inspired by the Writings of Charles Dudley Warner* [1829-1900; fiction; 1884 horseback trek to Asheville, N.C.]. Illustrations by Paul Zipperlin. Boone, N.C.: High Country Publishers. 141 pp.

Cole, Samantha. 2011. "Featured Artist: Peter Josyph" [profile]. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 1 (Winter): 115. Twenty of Josyph's photos and paintings of Knoxville settings appear in this special "Cormac McCarthy" issue.

Cole, Samantha. 2011. "Featured Photographer: Wesley G. Morgan" [profile]. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 1 (Winter): 116. Five of Morgan's photos and a Map of Downtown Knoxville appear in this special "Cormac McCarthy" issue.

Coleman, Ralph. 1998. "A Skiff of Snow" [poems; Wythe Co., Va.]. Abingdon, Va.: Sow's Ear Press.

Collett, Dexter. 1994. *Bibliography of Theses and Dissertations Pertaining to Southern Appalachian Literature*, 1912-1991. Berea: Appalachian Imprints. 136 pp.

Collier, Carol A. 2006. *An Appalachian Summer: A Novel* [Va.]. Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse. 303 pp. "Anna finds her Great Aunt Berta living in a ramshackle cabin, surrounded by fifty acres of prime hardwood forest that a development company insists on purchasing She needs to impart her knowledge of herbal medicine and mystical gypsy

practices to her niece....Anna must accept her aunt's teachings and adopt the mantle of her mysterious Melungeon ancestry if they are to save the land from destruction."

Collins, Maurice. 2000. "The Molly Maguires and the Continued Influence of Nineteenth-Century Labor Fiction." In *Caverns of Night: Coal Mines in Art, Literature, and Film*, ed. W. Thesing, 166-185. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press.

Collins, Suzanne. 2008. *The Hunger Games* [young adult science fiction; N.C.]. New York: Scholastic Press. 374 pp. First in a trilogy; in a futuristic North America "where the rulers...maintain control through an annual televised survival competition pitting young people from each of the twelve districts against one another," the protagonist, sixteen-year-old Katniss, is from a mining district corresponding to Appalachia. Portions of the 2012 movie version of the book were filmed in Asheville, N.C.

Collins, Tess. [1999] 2005. *The Law of the Dead* [Ky. mystery; woman lawyer]. New York: iUniverse. 327 pp. Originally published by Ballantine.

Collins, Tess. 2006. *The Law of Betrayal* [Ky. murder mystery]. New York: iUniverse. 281 pp.

Collins, Tess. 2012. Helen of Troy [fiction; Tenn.]. San Francisco: BearCat Press. 211 pp.

Collins, Tina Rae. 2002. *The Soup Bean War* [adolescent fiction; family life; Ky.]. Illustrated by Luke Roberts. Pikeville, Ky.: M.F. Sohn Publications. 97 pp.

Collins, Tina Rae. 2006. *The Melting Pot* [adolescent fiction; Eastern Ky.; autobiographical]. Baltimore: PublishAmerica. 98 pp.

Comeaux, Zachary. 2012. Kin: From Revolution to Evolution in Reuniting the Peoples of America [fiction; Va., W. Va.]. Bradenton, Fla.: Booklocker.com. 393 pp. "...retelling of the Virginia side of the beginning of the American Revolution with a Shawnee Indian bias. A spiritualist theme conveyed through dreams gives contemporary characters access to the experience of their ancestors."

Comer, Melissa. 1999. "Rob, Mary Call, and Me: The Search for Self in Appalachian Literature" [young adult Appalachian literature as a genre; bibliography]. *New Advocate: For Those Involved with Young People and Their Literature* 12 (Spring): 141-153.

Compton, Sheldon Lee. 2012. *The Same Terrible Storm* [stories; debut fiction]. Tipp City, Oh.: Foxhead Books. 191 pp. "...introduces us to a fierce and lyrical writer who, in his depiction of contemporary Appalachian life, is equal parts uncompromising and compassionate, and able to eerily channel a wide spectrum of distinctive voices—coal miners, musicians, pill poppers, snake handlers, writers, marijuana farmers, brutal men and complicated women, knowing children and dangerous elders—all of them filled with yearning, all of them inextricably bound to their time and place."

Connolly, Geraldine. 1990. *Food for the Winter: Poems* [Western Pa.]. West Lafayette, Ind.: Purdue University Press. 47 pp.

Connolly, Geraldine. 1998. Province of Fire [poems]. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Iris Press. 82 pp.

Connolly, Geraldine. 2009. Hand of the Wind: Poems. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Iris Press. 94 pp.

Connor, Beverly. 2000. *Airtight Case: A Lindsay Chamberlain Novel* [mystery; Great Smoky Mountains]. Nashville, Tenn.: Cumberland House. 423 pp.

Conway, Cecelia. 1999. "Slashing the Homemade Quilt in Denise Giardina's *Storming Heaven*." *NWSA Journal: A Publication of the National Women's Studies Association* 11 (Fall): 138-156.

Conway, Cecelia. 2002. "Robert Morgan's Mountain Voice and Lucid Prose." *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Fall 2001-Winter 2002): 180-199.

Cook, Linda Byrd. 2009. *Dancing in the Flames: Spiritual Journey in the Novels of Lee Smith*. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 238 pp.

Cook, Martha E. 2000. "Faith and Time: William Hoffman's View of the Future in *The Dark Mountains* [his fourth novel, 1963]. In *The Fictional World of William Hoffman*, ed. W. L. Frank, 121-132. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

Cooke, Grace MacGowan. [1910] 2003. *The Power and the Glory: A Novel of Appalachia* [Tenn. cotton mill; heroine labor reformer]. Reprint, with an introduction by Elizabeth S. D. Engelhardt. Boston: Northeastern University Press. 373 pp. Originally published: New York: Doubleday, Page & Co.

Cooke, Lisa. A. 2010. *Midwife Crisis* [historical romance; W. Va.]. New York: Leisure Books. 292 pp. Mass market paperback novel.

Cooper, Lydia R. 2011. *No More Heroes: Narrative Perspective and Morality in Cormac McCarthy*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 185 pp. Contents: Introduction: narrative perspective and morality in McCarthy's novels -- "Word and flesh": narrative and morality in the early Appalachian novels -- "A dream of shriving": empathy and the aesthetics of confession in *Suttree* and *Blood Meridian* -- "Pledged in blood": linguistic interiority and redemption in the border trilogy -- "He's a psychopathic killer but so what?": moral storytelling in *No Country for Old Men* -- "There is no god and we are his prophets": heroism and prophetic narrative in *The Road* -- Conclusion: finding heroism through empathy in McCarthy's novels.

Cope, Brian D. 2009. "The Poetics of Western Pennsylvania Space: Environmental Perception in the Writings of Edward Abbey and Tawni O'Dell." In *Literature, Writing, and the Natural World*, ed. J. Guignard and T.P. Murphy, 80-94. Newcastle upon Tyne, England: Cambridge Scholars. Focus: Edward Abbey's *Appalachian Wilderness* (1970) and *The Fool's Progress* (1988); Tawny O'Dell's *Coal Run* (2004).

Cope, Steven R. 2002. *In Killdeer's Field* [poems]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 100 pp.

Cope, Steven R. 2002. *Sassafras* [fiction]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 215 pp. "...an Appalachian community confronts terror and myth after the mysterious disappearance of two children."

Cope, Steven R. 2002. *The Year of Mahler's 9th: Poems*. Lancaster, Calif.: Red Dancefloor Press. 4 pp.

Cope, Steven R. 2003. *The Book of Saws: Fables & Tales*. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 126 pp.

Cope, Steven R. 2004. "Excerpts from *The Appalaches*" [25 proverbs]. *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Fall): 70.

Cope, Steven R. 2004. Clover's Log [poems]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 97 pp.

Cope, Steven R. 2005. *Crow!: The Children's Poems*. Illustrations by Julie Baumgardner. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 136 pp. Two hundred witty, playful poems; drawings.

Cope, Steven R. 2005. *The Furrbawl Poems: Uncollected Poems 1973-1993*. Frankfort, Ky.: Broadstone Books. 174 pp.

Cope, Steven R. 2007. "Mountain Proverbs from The Appalaches" [list of 225 proverbs]. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 3, no. 2 (Summer/Fall):nonfiction section, 1400 words. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-2/nonfiction/Nonfiction4Cope.htm.

Cope, Steven R. 2010. *The Appalaches, Or Talking Down a Hole*. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 82 pp. Humor: 1001 proverbs, aphorisms, witticisms, and pithy sayings.

Cope, Steven R. 2010. *The Mad Reverend: Or for the Dog* [poems]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 79 pp.

Cope, Steven R. 2011. *The Frogville Skits: A Dozen Soggy Froggy Plays for Children*. Illustrations by Julie Baumgardner. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 198 pp. "Writing for both children and adults, Steve Cope is a modern-day Aesop with a twist."

Cope, Steven R. 2011. *The White Doors: Stories & Anti-Stories* [fiction]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 239 pp.

Cope, Steven R. 2012. *Crow 2: More Adventures from the Cornfield* [children's poems]. Illustrations by Julie Baumgardner. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 139 pp. The author's third book for children.

Core, George. 2000. "Introduction." In *The Fictional World of William Hoffman*, ed. W. L. Frank, 1-8. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

Cormac McCarthy, Featured Author [b. 1933; Tenn.]. 2011. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 1 (Winter): 1-69. Section guest editor, Rick Wallach. Four essays, interview, plus photos, art, and map – most of Knoxville – by Peter Josyph and Wesley G. Morgan.

Corso, Paola. 2004. *Death by Renaissance: Poems and Photos* [post-industrial mill town Tarentum, Pa.; Allegheny River Valley]. Working Lives Series. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 103 pp.

Corso, Paola. 2005. *Giovanna's 86 Circles: And Other Stories* [fiction; Italian American women; Western Pa. river towns]. Library of American Fiction series. Madison: University of Wisconsin Press/Terrace Books. 138 pp.

Cortner, Amy Tipton. 2005. *Nazotus: A Novel of Manners, Appropriate, and Not* [fiction, by the author of *The Hillbilly Vampire* (1992)]. San Diego, Calif.: Highland Creek Books. 267 pp.

Cortner, Amy Tipton. 2012. "Why the America of Mattie Ross Needs to Read Harriette Simpson Arnow." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 56-58. Compares the grit of Mattie Ross, protagonist of *True Grit*, with the willpower of Gertie Nevels in Harriette Arnow's *The Dollmaker*. "Harriette Arnow is a lost American treasure--like Charles Portis, the author of the novel, *True Grit*, before the filmmaking Coen Brothers got hold of him."

Countess, Mary Alice. 2001. *Cowpath Days* [elementary/adolescent fiction; rural farm life, Stokes Co., N.C.]. Illustrations by Susan Daggett. Pleasant Garden, N.C.: Viewpoint Press. 128 pp.

Covington, Vicki. [1992] 2001. *Night Ride Home*" [novel; 1939 Ala. mining town]. Reprint, with a new interview with the author. Literature and the Religious Spirit, no. 2. Waco, Tex.: Baylor University Press. 228 pp.

Cox, Rosemary. 2004. "The Shape of Truth: Men and Women in Fred Chappell's *More Shapes Than One*" [St. Martin's Press, 1991]. In *More Lights Than One: On the Fiction of Fred Chappell*, ed. P. Bizarro, 150-166. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Cox, Steven. 2011. "'Above All Things, Be Kind': The Journals of Emma Bell Miles, 1908-1918." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 83: 40-55. Emma Bell Miles (1879-1919) is author of *The Spirit of the Mountains* (1905).

Crabtree, Lou. 1998. *The River Hills and Beyond: Poems*. Abingdon, Va.: Sow's Ear Press. 53 pp.

Crabtree, Lynn. 2012. "The Harriette Simpson Arnow Conference at Somerset Community College" [Somerset, Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 60-61. A different theme each year, 2003-2012.

Craddock, Charles Egbert (pseud.). See: Murfree, Mary Noailles.

Cramer, W. Dale. 2002. *Sutter's Cross* [Christian fiction; northern Ga.]. Minneapolis, Minn.: Bethany House. 394 pp.

Crandell, Doug. 2007. *The Flawless Skin of Ugly People: A Novel* [North Ga.; N.C. weight-loss clinic]. New York: Virgin Books. 211 pp.

Crawford, Joe Cobb. 2011. *The Poetry Company: Memoirs of a Chicken Catcher* [Great Copper Basin, Polk Co., Tenn.]. Walden, Tenn.: Waldenhouse. 196 pp. "It's the early 1960's, and Joe....must balance working nights catching chickens, as he struggles to gain the acceptance of this crude-talking fraternity of poultry ["Poetry"] laborers. These dubious mentors will teach him many of life's painful secrets much too early, as they transport him to the other side of adolescence."

Crawford, Joe Cobb. 2012. When the Chickens Come Home to Roost [mystery fiction; humor]. [No location]: Emory Jones. "Those rough and rowdy Chicken Catchers of the first book [The Poetry Company, 2011] now become the background for a story of intrique....Thanks to a mule, two suspicious deaths, and a reluctant Yankee transplant, these two totally diverse social sets find their lives entwined in ways neither side could ever have imagined."

Crawford, Katherine Scott. 2012. *Keowee Valley* [fiction; adventure/historical romance]. Memphis, Tenn.: Bell Bridge Books. 330 pp. Revolutionary-era Southern Highlands; rescue from Shawnee.

Creasman, Boyd. 2010. "Souls in Drifting Suspension": The Theme of Transcendence in Jayne Anne Phillips' *Lark and Termite*" [Knopf, 2009]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 16, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 61-78. Phillips "presents something new: the possibility of transcendence and redemption."

Creasman, Boyd. 2012. "'The Place You Go to Tell the Truth': Gender in Irene McKinney's *Vivid Companion*" [2004; poems]. *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 1-2 (Fall 2011/Winter 2012): 92-105. McKinney served as poet laureate of West Virginia from 1994 until her death in 2012.

Crooker, Barbara. 2008. Line Dance: Poems. Cincinnati, Oh.: Word Press. 78 pp.

Crossroads: A Southern Culture Annual [essays, memoirs, poems, shorts stories]. 2004–. Edited by Ted Olson. Macon, Ga: Mercer University Press.

Crowder-Vaughn, Scott. 2003. "Lot in Life: Names and Places in Sharyn McCrumb's Ballad Series." In *From a Race of Storytellers: Essays on the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb*, ed. K. Holloway, 81-92. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Crowe, Thomas Rain. 1998. "Rocks in the Stream: A Conversation with Jim Wayne Miller" [excerpt of a 1989 interview published in the *Asheville Poetry Review* 3 (Fall/Winter) 1996]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 15 (Summer): 17-20.

Crowe, Thomas Rain. 2004. "Diversity As the Spice of Life: A Conversation with Western North Carolina Poet Thomas Rain Crowe." Interview by the editors. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 2, no. 2 (Winter-Spring): Interview section, 60 paras. http://nantahalareview.org/issue2-2/view/interview.htm with linked MP3 clip.

Crowe, Thomas Rain. 2011. *Crack Light: Poems*. Photographs by Simone Lipscomb. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 89 pp.

Crowe, Thomas Raine. 2009. Book review of Wayne Caldwell's *Cataloochee: A Novel* (Random House, 2009). *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 2 (Spring): 68-70.

Crowe, Thomas. 2012. "Adding the Stories of James Still to the Appalachian Canon." *Smoky Mountain News*, 23 May. 1004 words. Review essay of *The Hills Remember: The Complete Short Stories of James Still*, ed. Ted Olson (University Press of Kentucky, 2012). http://www.smokymountainnews.com/component/k2/item/7125-adding-the-stories-of-james-still-to-the-appalachian-canon.

Crowe, Thomas. 2012. "Rash Creates New Genre of Mountain Western." *New Smoky Mountain News*, 4 April. 1,062 words. Review essay of novel, *The Cove*, by Ron Rash (Ecco, 2012). http://www.smokymountainnews.com/component/k2/item/6674-rash-creates-new-genre-of-mountain-western.

Crowther, Hal. 2007. "A Man of the World." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 242-245. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *The Oxford American* (Fall 2001): 11-13.

Crowther, Hal. 2007. "On the Occasion of James Still's 100th Birthday." *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 2 (Winter): 186-190. Memorial essay delivered at Hindman Settlement School, August 2, 2006.

Crum, Claude Lafie. 2005. "Constructing a Marketable Writer: James Still's Fictional Persona" [references Dean Cadle's treatment of Still as a backwoods, romantic persona in a 1968 article in *The Yale Review*]. *Appalachian Journal* 32, no. 4 (Summer): 430-439.

Crum, Claude Lafie. 2007. *River of Words: James Still's Literary Legacy* [1906-2001; critical study: novels, short stories poetry, children's literature]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 188 pp.

Crum, Claude Lafie. 2008. Only Son [fiction; Ky.]. Livingston, Ala.: Livingston Press. 183 pp.

Crum, Shutta. 2003. *Spitting Image* [first novel; grades 5-8; 12-year-old girl's coming-of-age; 1960s Ky.]. New York: Clarion Books. 218 pp.

Crum, Shutta. 2004. *My Mountain Song* [children's picture book; girl's summer visit to grandparents in Ky. mountains]. New York: Clarion Books. 24 pp.

Crunk, Tony. 2010. *New Covenant Bound* [poetry]. Kentucky Voices series. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 95 pp. TVA project forced-family-relocations and community disruptions, 1930s, 1950s, 1960s; Land Between the Lakes; Appalachian themes; "The voices of a grandmother and grandson speak to each other over time."

Cumming, Robert B. 2009. "George Scarbrough: Death of an Obscure Giant" [d. 2008, age 93; Tenn. poet and novelist]. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 4, no. 1 (Summer/Fall): View section, 1839 words. http://nantahalareview.org/issue4-1/view4-1/Cumming.html.

Cummings, John Michael. 2008. *The Night I Freed John Brown*. New York: Philomel Books. 251 pp. Adolescent fiction; Harpers Ferry, W. Va.

Cummings, John Michael. 2011. *Ugly to Start With* [fiction]. Morgantown, W. Va.: Vandalia Press. 168 pp. Boy's coming-of-age in 1970s Harpers Ferry, W. Va., in these thirteen linked short stories.

Currey, Richard. 1997. Lost Highway [fiction]. New York: Houghton Mifflin. 258 pp.

Currey, Richard. [1988] 2009. *Fatal Light* [fiction; 1967; W. Va.]. 20th anniversary ed. Santa Fe, N.M.: Santa Fe Writers Project. Originally published: New York: Dutton. "A combat medic in Vietnam faces the chaos of war, set against the tranquil scenes of family life back home in small-town America."

Currey, Richard. [1998] 2005. *Lost Highway* [fiction; W. Va.]. 2nd ed., with a new chapter and an introduction by James Lee Burke. Morgantown: Vandalia Press. 245 pp.

Curtis, C. Michael, ed. 2009. *Expecting Goodness & Other Stories: The Essential Fiction of Spartanburg*. Spartanburg, S.C.: Hub City Press. 172 pp. Stories by twenty authors. Curtis is fiction editor of *The Atlantic*.

Curtiss, Huston. 2003. Sins of the Seventh Sister ["A Novel Based on a True Story of the Gothic South"; 1929 Elkins, W. Va.]. New York: Harmony Books. 358 pp.

Cushman, Steve. 2004. *Portisville: A Novel* [N.C., Fla.; mystery]. Charlotte, N.C.: Novello Festival Press. 272 pp.

Dadisman, Jo Ann Danks. 2004. *Raising the Spirits: An Appalachian Sampler of Stories to Be Told*. West Virginia(?): J. Dadisman. 29 pp.

Daemon, Daun. 2005. "Family Legend and Lullaby Lore: My Gift to John Foster West" [West's grand-niece]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 52, no. 1 (Spring): 3-7.

Dalporto, T. Paige. 1999. *It's Still a Wonder Just Being Here: Photographs and Poems* [Kanawha Valley, W. Va.]. Charlton Heights, W. Va.: New Leaf Books; Chapman Printing Company, Parkersburg. 105 pp.

Dannenberg, Clare J. 2010. "Regional Identity: A Real Time, Longitudinal Study of Appalachian English in Mercer and Monroe Counties, West Virginia" [maps, tables]. *Southern Journal of Linguistics* 34, no. 1 (Spring): 1-20.

Dargan, Olive Tilford, with photographs by Bayard Wootten. [1925, 1941 rev.ed.] 1998. *From My Highest Hill: Carolina Mountain Folks*, with an introduction by Anna Shannon Elfenbein, and an afterword by Jonathan Morrow [fiction; story cycle of Great Smoky Mountains social life and customs]. Reprint. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 336 pp. First published 1925 as *Highland Annals*, under the pseudonym Fielding Burke.

Davenport, Doris. 1995. *Soque Street Poems* [North Ga. African-American culture]. Illustrated by Audrey Davenport. Sautee-Nacoochee Ga.: Sautee-Nacoochee Community Association. 67 pp.

Davenport, Doris. 2005. *Madness Like Morning Glories* [narrative poems, black community portraits, North Ga.]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 58 pp.

Davenport, Doris. 2010. *Sometimes I Wonder: Poems*. Baltimore, Md.: PublishAmerica. 90 pp. Davenport (b. 1949) is an Affrilachian Poet with north Georgia roots.

Davenport, Doris. 2011. *Ascent: Poems*. [No location]: Artistic Assistance Program of Alternate ROOTS. 114 pp.

Davidson, Shae. 2010. *Appalachian Buddha* [poems; 75 five-line cinquians; W. Va.]. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 27 pp.

Davis, Adda Leah. 2007. *Lucinda's Mountain* [fiction; 1950s McDowell Co., W. Va.]. Charleston, W.Va: Mountain State Press. 315 pp.

Davis, Adda Leah. 2008. *Jason's Journey*. Charleston, W.Va: Mountain State Press. 332 pp. Fiction; 1950s McDowell Co., W. Va.; sequel to *Lucinda's Mountain* (2007); second book in a trilogy.

Davis, Adda Leah. 2009. *The Beckoning Hills* [fiction]. Charleston, W. Va.: Mountain State Press. 433 pp. Set in McDowell Co., W. Va. and Pittsburgh, Pa., this is third in a trilogy including, *Lucinda's Mountain* (2007) and *Jason's Journey* (2008).

Davis, Charles. 2006. *Angel's Rest* [fiction]. Don Mills, Ontario, Canada: Mira. 329 pp. Eleven-year-old's coming-of-age in 1960s Va. Allegheny Mountains.

Davis, Donald. 1996. *See Rock City: A Story Journey Through Appalachia*. Little Rock: August House. 247 pp.

Davis, Donald. 2000. *Ride the Butterflies: Back to School with Donald Davis* [five school stories; N.C.]. Little Rock, Ark.: August House. 94 pp.

Davis, Donald. 2004. *The Pig Who Went Home on Sunday: An Appalachian Folktale*. Illustrated by Jennifer Mazzucco. Little Rock, Ark.: August House. 40 pp. Children's story; "three little pigs" motif with fox.

Davis, Donald. 2006. *Don't Kill Santa!: Christmas Stories* [N.C.]. Little Rock: August House. 112 pp.

Davis, Ed. 2001. *I Was So Much Older Then: A Novel* [coming-of-age, 1960s W. Va.]. Sarasota, Fla.: Disc-Us Books. 243 pp.

Davis, Ed. 2001. *I Was So Much Older Then* [fiction; 1960s W. Va.]. Sarasota, Fla.: Disc-Us Books, Inc. 243 pp.

Davis, Ed. 2005. *The Measure of Everything: A Novel*. [Ohio; fight to save family farm]. Austin, Tex.: Plain View Press. 201 pp.

Davis, Hugh. 2008. *The Making of James Agee* [1909-1955]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 318 pp. Author of *A Death in the Family* (1957).

Davis, Jeff. 2006. *Natures: Selected Poems, 1972-2005* [Black Mountains, N.C.]. Cullowhee, N.C.: New Native. 87 pp.

Davis, Rebecca Harding. 2010. *Rebecca Harding Davis's Stories of the Civil War Era: Selected Writings from the Borderlands*. Edited by Sharon M. Harris and Robin L. Cadwallader. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 319 pp. Contents: Introduction: the life and the stories / Sharon M. Harris and Robin L. Cadwallader -- John Lamar (1862) -- David Gaunt (1862) -- Blind Tom (1862) -- The Promise of the dawn (1863) -- Paul Blecker (1863) -- Ellen (1863) -- Out of the sea (1865) -- The Harmonists (1866) -- "In the market" (1868) -- General William Wirt Colby.

Davis, William V. 2002. "Making the World with Words: A Reading of Charles Wright's 'Appalachian Book of the Dead'." In *Latitude 63 North: Proceedings of the 8th International Region and Nation Literature Conference, Ostersund, Sweden 2-6 August 2000*, ed. David Bell, 255-270. Ostersund: Mid-Sweden University College.

De Castrique, Mark. 2003. *Dangerous Undertaking* [fiction; mystery series; ex-police officer; N.C.]. Scottsdale, Ariz.: Poisoned Pen Press. 223 pp.

De Castrique, Mark. 2004. *Grave Undertaking* [fiction; mystery; undertaker; N.C.]. Scottsdale, Ariz.: Poisoned Pen Press. 266 pp.

Dean, Danny. 2012. *Sock Full of Pennies* [fiction; W. Va.]. Lexington, Ky.: Mine Dog Press. 295 pp. Overcoming a bully, coming of age, and succeeding in a coal mining town.

Deaver, Philip F. 2008. "Writing to the Center: *Glory River* and Other Works by David Huddle." *Southern Review* 44, no. 4 (Autumn): 785-792. Retrospective of Huddle's poems, essays, and short stories.

DeBerry, Mary Lucille. 2009. *Bertha Butcher's Coat: Poems*. Harrisville, W.Va: Sarvis Press. 81 pp. W. Va.; family; farm.

DeFoe, Mark. 1998. Air: Poems. Maryville, Mo.: GreenTower Press. 28 pp.

DeFoe, Mark. 2001. Aviary [poems]. Buckhannon, W. Va.: Pringle Tree Press. 31 pp.

DeFoe, Mark. 2004. *Greatest Hits, 1977-2003* [W. Va. poet; 12 poems plus essay]. Greatest Hits Series, no. 227. Columbus, Ohio: Pudding House Publications. 30 pp.

DeFoe, Mark. 2006. *The Rock and the Pebble* [poems]. Buckhannon, W. Va.: Pringle Tree Press. 31 pp.

DeFoe, Mark. 2008. Weekend Update: Poems. Charlotte, N.C.: Main Street Rag. 44 pp.

DeFoe, Mark. 2012. *In the Tourist Cave: Poems*. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 26 pp.

DeLancey, Kiki. 2002. *Coal Miner's Holiday: Stories* [Ohio River Valley; debut fiction]. Louisville, Ky.: Sarabande Books. 224 pp.

Dellinger, Robert. 2003. *Mitchell's Peak* [fiction; Mt. Mitchell, N.C.]. High Point, N.C.: Caleb's Press. 218 pp. Novel about the search for N.C.'s highest peak between 1835 and 1857 by Dr. Elisha Mitchell (1793-1857).

Denham, Robert D. 2008. "The Sense of an Ending in Michael Chitwood's Poetry." *The Iron Mountain Review* 24 (Spring): 11-17.

Denham, Robert D. 2008. *Charles Wright: A Companion to the Late Poetry, 1988-2007* [reader's guide: 230 poems cited and annotated]. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 252 pp.

Denham, Robert D. 2009. *The Early Poetry of Charles Wright: A Companion, 1960-1990*. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 191 pp.

Denham, Robert. 2007. "In Memoriam: Daniel G. Leidig (1928-2006)" [Emory & Henry College]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 23 (Spring): 74.

Denise, Cheryl. 2012. What's in the Blood: Poems. Telford, Pa.: DreamSeeker Books. 115 pp. West Virginia; Mennonite.

Denise Giardina Bibliography [21 entries]. 1999. The Iron Mountain Review 15 (Spring): 39.

Denise Giardina Issue. 1999. Special issue, The Iron Mountain Review 15 (Spring): 1-39.

DePoy, Philip. 2004. *The More Shapes Than One Devilin Mystery* [Ga.]. New York: St. Martin's. 260 pp.

DePoy, Phillip. 2004. *The Witch's Grave* [fiction; Ga.; folklore/mystery]. New York: St. Martin's Minotaur. 260 pp.

DePoy, Phillip. 2006. *A Minister's Ghost* [fiction; Ga.; folklore/mystery]. New York: St. Martin's Minotaur. 277 pp.

DePoy, Phillip. 2007. A Widow's Curse [fiction; Ga.; folklore/mystery]. New York: St. Martin's Minotaur. 272 pp.

Depta, Victor. 1999. Silence of Blackberries [poems]. Martin, Tenn.: Blair Mountain Press. 71 pp.

Depta, Victor. 2000. *Gate of Paradise: A Novel* [1940s W. Va. coal-mining family]. Martin, Tenn.: Blair Mountain Press. 257 pp.

Depta, Victor. 2000. *Plays from Blair Mountain: Four Comedies* ["Everyone Who Thirsts"; "The Egg of the World"; "A Boat of Light"; "The Rainbow Gave You Birth"]. Martin, Tenn.: Blair Mountain Press. 248 pp.

Depta, Victor. 2001. Preparing a Room [poems]. Martin, Tenn.: Blair Mountain Press. 87 pp.

Depta, Victor. 2002. *Azrael on the Mountain* [poems; impact of mountaintop removal mining]. Martin, Tenn.: Blair Mountain Press. 80 pp.

Depta, Victor. 2003. *Mountains and Clouds: Four Comedies*. Ashland, Ky.: Blair Mountain Press. 234 pp.

Depta, Victor. 2004. A West Virginia Trilogy: Novels [The Gate of Paradise (2000); Idol and Sanctuary (1993); Feasting with Strife (2004)]. Ashland, Ky.: Blair Mountain Press. 475 pp.

Depta, Victor. 2005. The Little Henry Poems. Ashland, Ky.: Blair Mountain Press. 78 pp.

Depta, Victor. 2005. *The Simultaneous Mountain: Essays on Mysticism and Poetry*. Ashland, Ky.: Blair Mountain Press. 270 pp.

Depta, Victor. 2007. An Afterthought of Light [poems: infirmities of old age]. Ashland, Ky.: Blair Mountain Press. 86 pp.

Depta, Victor. 2010. *The Dancing Dragon Poems*. Frankfort, Ky.: Blair Mountain Press. 111 pp.

Depta, Victor. 2011. *Brother and Sister: A Memoir* [fiction]. Frankfort, Ky.: Blair Mountain Press. 209 pp. Ohio Valley rust belt town; humor.

Depta, Victor. 2011. *Brother and Sister: A Memoir* [fiction; Ohio Valley town]. Frankfort, Ky.: Blair Mountain Press. 209 pp.

Depta, Victor. 2012. Twofold Consciousness: Poetry and Essays on Mysticism. Frankfort, Ky.: Blair Mountain Press. 251 pp. Bibliography; glossary; index.

Deskins, David. 2005. "Effie Waller Smith: An Echo Within the Hills" [1879-1960; African American poet; Pikeville, Ky.]. In *Beyond Hill and Hollow: Original Readings in Appalachian Women's Studies*, ed. E. Englehardt, 212-231. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Deutermann, Peter T. 2001. *Hunting Season* [fiction; political thriller set in rural WV]. New York: St. Martin's. 352 pp.

Deutermann, Peter T. 2007. *Spider Mountain* [popular suspense fiction; Great Smoky Mountains; clan, rape, drugs]. New York: St. Martin's Press. 309 pp.

Deveraux, Jude. 2003. *Wild Orchids* [mystery set in N.C. mountains]. New York: Atria Books. 341 pp.

Devoto, Pat Cunningham. 2005. *The Summer We Got Saved* [fiction; 1960s Ala. and Tenn.; Highlander Folk School; race relations; civil rights movement]. New York: Warner Books. 411 pp.

Deweese-Boyd, Ian, and Margaret Deweese-Boyd. 2005. "'Flying the Flag of Rough Branch': Rethinking Post-September 11 Patriotism through the Writings of Wendell Berry." *Appalachian Journal* 32, no. 2 (Winter): 182-190.

Dewey, Anne Day. 2007. *Beyond Maximus: The Construction of Public Voice in Black Mountain Poetry*. Stanford, Calif.: Stanford University Press. 286 pp.

Dickey, James. 2005. *The One Voice of James Dickey: His Letters and Life, 1970-1997* [incl. numerous references to *Deliverance*, the novel (1970) and screenplay (1972)]. Edited by Gordon Van Ness. Columbia: University of Missouri Press. 554 pp.

Diffley, Kathleen Elizabeth. 2011. Witness to Reconstruction: Constance Fenimore Woolson and the Postbellum South, 1873-1894. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 304 pp.

Sixteen essays on Woolson's relationship to the Appalachian region in her stories and travel essays.

Dillard, R. H. W. 2004. "Letters from a Distant Lover: The Novels of Fred Chappell." In *More Lights Than One: On the Fiction of Fred Chappell*, ed. P. Bizarro, 6-26. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. This essay was originally published in a 1973 issue of *Hollins Critic*, with a 2000 postscript.

Dillingham, Nancy. 2003. First Light: Poems. Alexander, N.C.: Worldcomm Publishers. 104 pp.

Dillingham, Nancy. 2010. *Home* [poems]. Greensboro, N.C.: March Street Press. 49 pp. "She is a sixth generation Dillingham from Big Ivy," N.C.

Disheroon-Green, Suzanne. 2002. "Jayne Anne Phillips." In *The History of Southern Women's Literature*, ed. C. Perry and M. Weaks, 594-598. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Dockery, Bill. 2000. "Did You'uns Hear That? A Pokeful of Notes on Accent" [dialects; Sevierville, Tenn.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 17 (Summer): 22-24.

Dockery, William L. 2007. "Letter to the Editor" [Wilma Dykeman funeral (d. Dec. 22, 2006); from *Knoxville News-Sentinel* writer]. *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 1-2 (Fall 2007/Winter 2008): 4-6.

Don West, Featured Author [1906-1992]. 2008. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage*, 36, no. 4 (Fall): 1-61. Includes seven essays, six of Don West's poems, and 19 of wife Connie West's paintings displayed full-color. West was founder of the Appalachian Folklife Center in Pipestem, W. Va., and a co-founder, with Myles Horton, of the Highlander Center in Tenn. He was also a labor organizer, folk-music promoter, historian and preacher.

Donaldson, Joan. 2009. *On Viney's Mountain* [juvenile historical fiction; Rugby colony, Tenn.]. New York: Holiday House. 231 pp. "In the Cumberland Mountains during the fall of 1879, sixteen-year-old Viney is shocked to hear that Englishmen will arrive on her mountain and build a new community, demolishing the beautiful area that inspires her weaving designs."

Donlon, Jocelyn Hazelwood. 1995. "Hearing is Believing: Southern Racial Communities and Strategies of Story-Listening in Gloria Naylor and Lee Smith." *Twentieth Century Literature* 41 (Spring): 16-35.

Donlon, Jocelyn Hazelwood. 1998. "Born on the Wrong Side of the Porch': Violating Traditions in *Bastard Out of Carolina*" [Dorothy Allison; porch as metaphor and arena between indoor and "out"]. *Southern Folklore* 55 (no. 2): 133-144.

Donnelly, Keith. 2008. *Three Deuces Down: A Donald Youngblood Mystery* [Tenn; Cherokee Indian; private investigator]. Montgomery, Ala.: Court Street Press. 285 pp.

Dooley, Patrick K. 2000. "Openness to Experience in Stephen Crane's 'In the Depths of a Coal Mine'" [1894 Wyoming Co., Pa.]. In *Caverns of Night: Coal Mines in Art, Literature, and Film*, ed. W. Thesing, 186-198. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press.

Doss, Rodger. 1994. *The Killing of a Court* [1912 murder trial; Wytheville, Va.]. Roanoke, Va.: Rodger Doss. 138 pp. "The saga of the Allen/Edwards Clan and their power in the little town of Hillsville, Virginia," a fictitious story about a real happening.

Dougherty, Page. 2002. No One With a Past Is Safe [poems]. Cincinnati, Oh.: Word Press. 91 pp.

Douglas, John. 2008. *Murder in Shawnee: Two Mystery Novels of the Alleghenies*. Rev. ed. Vancleave, Miss.: Ramble House. 309 pp. Contains two of the author's previous novels: *Shawnee Alley Fire* (1987), and *Haunts* (1990), set in fictionalized Cumberland, Md., during the 1982 recession and 1985 floods, respectively.

Douglass, Thomas, and Denise Giardina. 1999. "Resurrecting the Dead, Recognizing the Human: A Conversation" [interview recorded at the Denise Giardina Literary Festival, Emory & Henry College, November 13, 1998]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 15 (Spring): 31-38.

Douglass, Thomas E. 1994. "Breece Pancake and the Problem with Place: A West Virginia State of Mind." *Appalachian Journal* 22 (Fall): 60-77.

Douglass, Thomas E. 1996. "A View From Higher Ground: Meredith Sue Willis and the Appalachian Renaissance." *The Iron Mountain Review* 12 (Spring): 13-18.

Douglass, Thomas E. 2005. "Before the Appalachian Literary Renaissance, There Was Davis Grubb's *The Voices of Glory*" [Scribner, 1962; review essay]. *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 3 (Summer): 83-91.

Douglass, Thomas E. 2006. "*The Scapegoat*: Establishing a Genre" [(Random House, 1980); Mary Lee Settle's Literary Legacy]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 1 (Winter): 78-82.

Douglass, Thomas E. 2006. Review essay of *The United States of Appalachia: How Southern Mountaineers Brought Independence, Culture, and Enlightenment to America*, by Jeff Biggers (Shoemaker & Hoard, 2005). *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 3 (Summer): 93-98.

Douglass, Thomas E. 2007. ""...if you write about West Virginia': The Legacy of Davis Grubb" [1919-1980]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 10: 32-36.

Douglass, Thomas E. 2012. "Re-Reading *The Stories of Breece D'J Pancake*" [1983]. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 3 (Summer): 72-78.

Douglass, Thomas. 2008. "Review Essay" [James Agee]. *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 4 (Fall): 92-99. Review essay of three books published by University of Tennessee Press: *A Death in the Family: A Restoration of the Author's Text* (2007), ed. Michael Lofaro; *James Agee Rediscovered: The Journals of Let Us Now Praise Famous Men and Other Manuscripts* (2005), ed. Michael A. Lofaro and Hugh Davis; and *Agee Agonistes: Essays on the Life, Legend, and the Works of James Agee* (2007), ed. Michael Lofaro.

Douglass, Thomas. 2009. "No More Appalachian Ghosts: Jayne Anne Phillips' New Novel, *Lark and Termite*" [Knopf, 2009]. *Appalachian Journal* 36, no. 3-4 (Spring-Summer): 248-255. Review essay.

Drayer, David. 2000. *Strip Cuts* [debut novel; Pa. coal town]. Los Angeles, Calif.: Rowdy House. 292 pp.

Dresser, Nathanael. 1995. "Cultivating Wilderness: The Place of Land in the Fiction of Ed Abbey and Wendell Berry." *Growth and Change* 26 (Summer): 350-364.

Drobny, Vasek. 2008. *House of the Moon: A Novel* [occult; vampires; gay men; W. Va.]. Ashland, Ky.: Blair Mountain Press. 217 pp.

Dugger, Shepherd M. [1934] 2001. *Balsam Groves of the Grandfather Mountain*. Rpt. ed. Banner Elk, N.C.: Pudding Stone Press. Originally published, 1895.

Duke, David C. 2002. Writers and Miners: Activism and Imagery in America [surveys 100 years of coal miner character portrayals]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 275 pp.

Dumas, Bethany K. 1999. "Southern Mountain English: The Language of the Ozarks and Southern Appalachia." In *The Workings of Language: From Prescriptions to Perspectives*, ed. R. Wheeler, 67-79. Westport, Conn.: Praeger.

Duncan, Julia Nunnally. 2002. *Blue Ridge Shadows: Stories* [15 short stories; Western N.C.]. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Iris Press. 192 pp.

Duncan, Julia Nunnally. 2005. *Drops of the Night: A Novel* [N.C. farmer's wife; "an Appalachian tale of marital disillusionment, illicit desire, and self-redemption"]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 171 pp.

Duncan, Julia Nunnally. 2005. *The Stone Carver* [14 short stories; N.C. textile mill town]. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Iris Press. 159 pp.

Duncan, Julia Nunnally. 2007. *An Endless Tapestry* [poems]. Greensboro, N.C.: March Street Press. 59 pp.

Duncan, Julia Nunnally. 2009. *When Day Is Done: A Novel*. Greensboro, N.C.: March Street Press. 230 pp.

Duncan, Julia Nunnally. 2010. *At Dusk: Poems*. Albany, Ky.: Old Seventy Creek Press. 85 pp. "...explores small town life in a Western NC mill town."

Duncan, Pamela. 2001. *Moon Women* [debut novel; mothers and daughters; N.C.]. New York: Dell Publishing. 352 pp.

Duncan, Pamela. 2003. *Plant Life* [textile plant; fiction; stories of three generations of female laborers in N.C.]. New York: Delacorte. 321 pp.

Duncan, Pamela. 2007. *The Big Beautiful* [fiction; N.C.; runaway bride; Weatherford Award nominee]. New York: Dial Press. 389 pp.

Duncan, Pamela. 2009. "Hesper" [excerpt from forthcoming novel, *The Wilder Place*]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 2 (Spring): 15-18.

Dunlop, Julie. 2003. "The Poetry of Shuck Beans" [essay; "writing a poem is a lot like preparing shuck beans"]. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Summer): 61-62.

Duval, Pete. 2012. "Travels with Mark Powell" [novelist, b. 1976]. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 1 (Winter): 49-51.

Dyer, Joyce, ed. 1998. Bloodroot: Reflections on Place by Appalachian Women Writers [essays by 35 women; Appalachian Studies Award winner, 1997]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 304 pp. Contents: Flowering ivy / Shelia Kay Adams -- Border states / Lisa Alther --The mountains dark and close around me / Maggie Anderson -- Sound / Marilou Awiakta -- Root hog, or die / Artie Ann Bates -- Deep water / Kathryn Stripling Byer -- Good questions / Jo Carson -- Paradise in Price Hollow / Lou V. P. Crabtree -- All this, and honeysuckles too / Doris Diosa Davenport -- Mutant in bandana / Hilda Downer -- "The past is never dead. It's not even past" / Wilma Dykeman -- Women born to be strong / Sidney Saylor Farr -- Salt-water geechee mounds / Nikky Finney -- No scapin the booger man / Denise Giardina -- 400 Mulvaney Street / Nikki Giovanni -- Uncle Orphy / Gail Godwin -- The standing people / Ellesa Clay High --Writing in the smokehouse / Lisa Koger -- Voiceplace / George Ella Lyon -- Keepers of the legends / Sharyn McCrumb -- Letter from a poet in West Virginia / Llewellyn McKernan -- A natural history / Heather Ross Miller -- Leaving Pre-Appalachia / Elaine Fowler Palencia --Premature burial / Jayne Anne Phillips -- Counting the sums / Rita Sims Quillen -- The song about the story, the story behind the song / Jean Ritchie -- Westward from Bald Mountain / Bettie Sellers -- The search for the Beulah Quintet / Mary Lee Settle -- Piddlin' / Anne Shelby --Big Stone Gap / Betsy Sholl -- Appalachian loaves and fishes / Bennie Lee Sinclair -- Inside discoveries / Barbara Smith -- Terrain of the heart / Lee Smith -- This house and this world / Jane Stuart -- An inquiry into who my grandmother really was / Meredith Sue Willis.

Dyer, Joyce. 1998. "Dialogue with a Dead Man" ["Brier Eulogy" for Jim Wayne Miller, d. 1996]. *Appalachian Journal* 26 (Fall): 32-43.

Dyer, Joyce. 1999. Review essay of *Addie: A Memoir*, by Mary Lee Settle (University of South Carolina Press, 1998). *Appalachian Journal* 26 (Summer): 424-430.

Dyer, Joyce. 2002. "'Accepting Things Near': Bibliography of Non-Fiction by Jim Wayne Miller" [lists approx. 160 reviews and essays]. *Appalachian Journal* 30 (Fall): 64-73.

Dyer, Joyce. 2005. "Confluences: Fluidity in the Art and Vision of Maggie Anderson." *The Iron Mountain Review* 21 (Spring): 27-34.

Dyer, Joyce. 2005. "In Memoriam: Mary Lee Settle, 1918-2005." *Appalachian Journal* 33, no. 1 (Fall): 4-9.

Dykeman, Wilma. 2002. "Interview with Wilma Dykeman: Connecting, Making Choices" [interview conducted Nov. 30, 2000, Asheville, N.C.]. *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Summer): 444-458.

Eads, Martha Greene. 2012. "Industrialization's Threat to Vocational Calling in Denise Giardina's *Storming Heaven*" [1987]. *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 1-2 (Fall 2011/Winter 2012): 56-70. "Giardina's books...directly explore the theme of vocation, and...consider industrialization's potential to destroy natural landscapes and diminish human life, particularly in the realm of work."

Earley, Tony. 1994. *Here We Are in Paradise: Stories* [eight short stories]. Boston: Little, Brown. 198 pp.

Earley, Tony. 2000. *Jim the Boy* [first novel; N.C.; 1930s coming-of-age]. Boston: Little, Brown. 227 pp.

Earley, Tony. 2001. *Somehow Form a Family: Stories That Are Mostly True* [N.C.; ten "personal essays"]. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 172 pp.

Earley, Tony. 2008. *The Blue Star: A Novel*. New York: Little Brown. 286 pp. WWII-era N.C.

Easton, Terry. 2000. "Industrialization, Class, and Identity in Denise Giardina's *Storming Heaven*" [1987 novel set in 1890-1923 W.Va and Ky.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 6 no. 1-2 (Spring/Fall): 151-161.

Ebel, Julia Taylor. 2009. *Dresses, Dreams and Beadwood Leaves* [poems]. Boone, N.C.: High Country Publishers. 57 pp. "...sets a girl's journey to mold her own self esteem within the cultural history of the North Carolina mountains of the late 1940s."

Ebel, Julia Taylor. 2009. *The Picture Man* [i.e., 1940s itinerant photographer; children's fiction]. Illustrations by Idalia Canter. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 32 pp.

Ebel, Julia Taylor, with M. Joann Moretz. 2011. *Mama's Wreaths* [children's narrative poem]. Vilas, N.C.: Canterbury House. 59 pp. N.C. mountains; passing on the tradition of making Christmas wreaths.

Eckard, Paula Gallant. 2002. *Maternal Body and Voice in Toni Morrison, Bobbie Ann Mason, and Lee Smith* [Morrison: *The Bluest Eye*; *Sula*; *Beloved.* Mason: *In Country*; *Spence* + *Lila*; *Feather Crowns.* Smith: *Oral History*; *Fair and Tender Ladies*; *Saving Grace*]. Columbia: University of Missouri Press. 227 pp.

Edmunds, J. Spencer. 2004. "Metanarrative and the Story of Life in the Kirkman Tetralogy." In *More Lights Than One: On the Fiction of Fred Chappell*, ed. P. Bizarro, 92-118. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Edwards, Grace Toney. 2002. "Marilou Awiakta: Poet for the People." In *Her Words: Diverse Voices in Contemporary Appalachian Women's Poetry*, ed. Felicia Mitchell, 19-34. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Edwards, Grace Toney. 2005. "One Hundred Years of Spirit from Emma Bell Miles." *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 4 (Fall): 54-57.

Edwards, Grace Toney, and Theresa Lloyd, section editors. 2006. "Literature" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 1035-1107 (with introductory essay, 1035-1039). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Edwards, Kim. 2005. *The Memory Keeper's Daughter* [fiction; Ky.; twins separated at birth]. New York: Viking. 401 pp.

Egerton, John. 1996. "James Still: In His World" [Hindman Settlement School]. *Appalachian Heritage* 24 (Summer): 6-11.

Egerton, Katherine. 2010. "When You Were a Man': Pinckney Benedict's Fathers and Sons" [Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 1 (Winter): 44-48.

Egolf, Tristan. 1999. Lord of the Barnyard: Killing the Fatted Calf and Arming the Aware in the Corn Belt [fiction; Ky.]. New York: Grove Press. 410 pp.

Ehle, John, and Carol Boggess. 2005. "Interview with John Ehle" [b. 1925; Western N.C.]. *Appalachian Journal* 33, no. 1 (Fall): 32-51.

Ehle, John. [1967] 1998. *The Road* [fiction]. Appalachian Echoes. Reprint. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 416 pp. Originally published: New York: Harper & Row.

Ehle, John. [1982] 1999. *The Winter People* [fiction; N.C.]. Reprint. Asheboro, N.C.: Down Home Press. 272 pp.

Ehle, John. [1964] 2006. *The Land Breakers* [historical fiction; 18th-century N.C. settlers]. Rpt. ed. Winston-Salem, N.C.: Press 53. 342 pp. Originally published: New York: Harper & Row.

Ehle, John. [1984] 2009. *Last One Home* [biographical novel; b. 1881; Asheville, N.C.]. 25th anniversary ed. Winston-Salem, N.C.: Press 53. 345 pp. Originally published: New York: Harper & Row.

Ehrman, Kit. 2005. *Cold Burn* [mystery; Va. thoroughbred farm]. Scottsdale, Ariz.: Poisoned Pen Press. 324 pp.

Eklund, George. 2011. *Each Breath I Cannot Hold: Poems*. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 74 pp.

Elkins, Robert. 2002. *The Conversion of Big Jim Cane* [fiction; W. Va.]. Charleston, W. Va.: Mountain State Press. 133 pp.

Ellis, Jay. 2006. No Place for Home: Spatial Constraint and Character Flight in the Novels of Cormac McCarthy. New York: Routledge. 356 pp. Contents: Spatial constraint and character flight in McCarthy -- "Fled, banished in death or exile": constraint and flight in The Orchard Keeper -- Unhousing a Child of God -- Sins of the father, sins of the son in Outer Dark, Suttree, and Blood Meridian -- "What happens to country" in Blood Meridian -- From country to houses in The Border Ttrilogy -- Fetish and collapse in No Country for Old Men -- No place for home.

Ellis, Kelly Norman. 2012. *Offerings of Desire: Poems*. Detroit, Mich.: Willow Books. 73 pp. The author is a founding member of the Affrilachian Poets.

Ellis, Michael, and Michael Montgomery. 2012. "LAMSAS, CACWL, and the South-South Midland Dialect Boundary in Nineteenth-Century North Carolina." *American Speech* 87, no. 4 (Winter): 470-490. Linguistic Atlas of the Middle and South Atlantic States (LAMSAS) data collected in the 1930s; and the Corpus of American Civil War Letters (CACWL) analysis of 2,299 N.C. letters. The dialect boundary "was in large part a consequence of the migration of Scotch-Irish and German settlers from Pennsylvania into the western half of [N.C.] before the end of the eighteenth century."

Ellis, Normandi. 2007. Fresh-Fleshed Sisters [36 short stories]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 101 pp.

Ellis, Ron. 2001. *Cogan's Woods* [fiction; 1960s Ky.; father and son, memoir]. Foreword by Rick Bass. Boulder, Colo.: Pruett Publishing. 146 pp.

Ellis, Ron. [2001] 2011. *Cogan's Woods: A Celebration of Hunting, Family, and Kentucky* [fiction; 1960s; squirrel hunting; father and son, memoir]. Foreword by Rick Bass; preface by Nick Lyons. New York: Skyhorse. 151 pp. Originally published: Boulder, Colo.: Pruett Publishing.

Ellis, William E. 1992. *River Bends and Meanders: Stories, Sketches, and Tales of the Kentucky* [fiction; Kentucky River Valley]. Burnsville, N.C.: Celo Valley Books. 150 pp.

Ellison, George. 2012. *Permanent Camp: Poems, Narratives, and Renderings from the Smokies*. Artwork by Elizabeth Ellison. Charleston, S.C.: Natural History Press. 160 pp. "These interrelated poems, narratives, renderings, notes and paintings" are inspired by the authors' western N.C. homeplace in the mountains where they have lived since 1976.

Elmore, Owen. 2009. "At Play in the Fields of the War: Southern Literature as Memorial Art" [Civil War]. In *CrossRoads: A Southern Culture Annual*, 2009, ed. Ted Olson and Ajay Kalra, 116-133. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Elswick, Rebecca D. 2011. *Mama's Shoes* [fiction]. Bloomington, Ind.: Abbott Press. 328 pp. Mountain coal town; female voices; family saga spanning 20 years, from WWII.

Emmons, Sherri Wood. 2011. *Prayers and Lies* [fiction, W. Va.]. New York: Kensington Books. 312 pp. "...seven-year-old Bethany first meets six-year-old cousin Reana Mae during a yearly family trip to West Virginia's Coal River Valley....as Bethany grows older, secrets in the small, close-knit community start coming to light with devastating effect."

Engelhardt, Elizabeth S. D. 2003. "A Writer Everywhere and Nowhere: Recovering Appalachia's Grace MacGowan Cooke" [1863-1944; *The Power and the Glory* (1910)]. *Journal of Kentucky Studies* 20 (September): 140-156.

Engelhardt, Elizabeth S. D. 2003. *The Tangled Roots of Feminism, Environmentalism, and Appalachian Literature* [Emma Bell Miles, Grace MacGowan Cooke, Mary Noailles Murfree, and Effie Waller Smith]. Ohio University Press Series in Ethnicity and Gender in Appalachia. Athens: Ohio University Press. 207 pp.

Engelhardt, Elizabeth. 2007. "Writing that Old Moonshine Lit: Gender, Power, and Nation in Unexpected Places" [women in moonshine literature: 1870s-1910s; 1880s-1920s; 1910s-1930s]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 13, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 49-74.

Ensign, Robert Taylor. 2003. *Lean Down Your Ear upon the Earth, and Listen: Thomas Wolfe's Greener Modernism* [fiction criticism, ecological perspective]. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 156 pp.

Ensor, Allison. 2004. "'Now, There's a Story': The Literature of the Upper Cumberland" [Ky., Tenn.]. In *Rural Life and Culture in the Upper Cumberland*, ed. M. Birdwell and W. Dickinson, 140-158. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Ensor, Allison. 2004. "Establishing a Literary Tradition: Tennessee Literature to 1920" [Gunn, Crockett, Harris, Murfree, Dromgoole, Miles]. In *A History of Tennessee Arts: Creating Traditions, Expanding Horizons*, ed. C. West and M. Binnicker, 263-278. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Entzminger, Betina. 2007. "Come Back to the Raft Ag'in, Ed Gentry" [Leslie Fiedler essay, 1948; *The Adventures of Huckleberry Finn* (1885) and *Deliverance* (1970)]. Southern Literary Journal 40, no. 1 (Fall): 98-113.

Ernst, Kathleen. 2007. *Midnight in Lonesome Hollow: A Kit Mystery* [juvenile fiction; 1934 Ky. mountains; American Girl series]. Middleton, Wis.: Pleasant. 178 pp.

Erwin, Casey. 2007. *Our Daddy Is A Coal Miner* [children's book; W. Va.; photos digitized into cartoon form]. Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse. 15 pp.

Erskine, Kathryn. 2010. *Mockingbird (Mok'ing-Bu^rd)* [juvenile fiction]. New York: Philomel Books. 235 pp. Written in the wake of the 2007 school shootings at Virginia Tech. "Ten-year-old Caitlin, who has Asperger's Syndrome, struggles to understand emotions, show empathy, and make friends at school, while at home she seeks closure by working on a project with her father."

Eubanks, Georgann. 2007. "Tapping the Wellspring: Darnell Arnoult's Writing Laboratory." [Featured Author, b. 1955]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 1 (Winter): 16-20.

Eubanks, Georgann. 2007. Literary Trails of the North Carolina Mountains: A Guidebook. Photographs by Donna Campbell. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 426 pp. Contents: Tour 1. Black Mountain, Montreat, Swannanoa -- Tour 2. Canton, Cold Mountain, Lake Logan, Balsam -- Tour 3. Sylva, Dillsboro, Cullowhee, Highlands -- Tour 4. Franklin, Hayesville, Brasstown, Murphy, Texana -- Tour 5. Robbinsville, Cherohala Skyway, Fontana, Almond, Nantahala Gorge -- Tour 6. Bryson City, Cherokee, Great Smoky Mountains National Park -- Tour 7. Waynesville, Hot Springs, Marshall, Mars Hill -- Tour 8. Weaverville and North Asheville -- Tour 9. Downtown and South Asheville -- Tour 10. Brevard, Rosman, Green River, Zirconia, Flat Rock, Hendersonville -- Tour 11. Burnsville, Micaville, Celo, Mount Mitchell -- Tour 12. Old Fort, Chimney Rock, Lake Lure, Tryon -- Tour 13. Rutherfordton, Spindale, Forest City, Shelby -- Tour 14. Lincolnton, Hickory, Moravian Falls -- Tour 15. Wilkesboro, Happy Valley, Blowing Rock, Linville Falls, Morganton -- Tour 16. Marion, Little Switzerland, Spruce Pine, Penland, Bandana, Kona, Bakersville, Roan Mountain, Banner Elk -- Tour 17. Grandfather Mountain, Crossnore, Valle Crucis, Vilas, Boone -- Tour 18. Todd, West Jefferson, Jefferson, Crumpler, Sparta, Roaring Gap.

Evans-Rose, Sharon. 2007. *Erased* [mystery; N.C. mountains; memory loss]. Terra Alta, W. Va.: Headline Books.

Evenson, Brian. 2002. "McCarthy's Wanderers: Nomadology, Violence, and Open Country." In *Sacred Violence, I: Cormac McCarthy's Appalachian Works*, ed. W. Hall and R. Wallach, 51-59. El Paso: Texas Western Press.

Fabisiak, Thomas. 2010. "An Interview with C. E. Morgan" [Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 2 (Spring): 12-22. Morgan is the author of the award-winning novel, *All the Living* (2009).

Fallon, Katie. 2007. "Goose" [creative writing piece about a mailbox vandalism]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 9-11.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2007. "I'm Always Writing" [Featured Author, Albert Stewart]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 3 (Summer): 22-23.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2008. "A Conversation with Sidney Saylor Farr" [b. 1932; Ky.]. Interview by Trish Ayers. *Appalachian Journal* 35, no. 3 (Spring): 218-234. Farr is an author and poet, and editor of *Appalachian Heritage* from 1984 to 1999.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2010. "Memories of James Still" [1906-2001; Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 4 (Fall): 44-46. Three recipes included: Beer Bread, Strawberry Spread, and Quick Lemon Pie.

Farris, Holly. 2007. *Lockjaw: Collected Appalachian Stories* [storytelling, voices, narratives; Southwest Va.; Weatherford Award nominee]. Arlington, Va.: Gival Press. 172 pp.

Fawcett, Katie Pickard. 2010. *To Come and Go Like Magic* [juvenile fiction]. New York: Knopf. 263 pp. "In the 1970s, twelve-year-old Chili Sue Mahoney longs to escape her tiny Kentucky home town and see the world, but she also learns to recognize beauty in the people and places around her."

Feather, Carl E. 2008. "The Poet of South Jefferson Street." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 4 (Winter): 62-63. Robert Head, Lewisburg Bookstore owner.

Fedukovich, Casie, with Steve Sparks, ed. 2006. *Low Explosions: Writings on the Body* [poetry and short stories by 96 contributors]. Knoxville, Tenn.: Knoxville Writers' Guild. 276 pp.

Felts, John H. 2001. "Lapsed Language of Appalachia" [Cold Mountain (1997)]. Verbatim: The Language Quarterly 26 (Winter): 25-27.

Ferguson, Linda Annas. 2007. *Bird Missing from One Shoulder: Poems*. Cincinnati, Oh.: WordTech. 78 pp.

Ferrence, Matthew. 2012. "You Are and You Ain't: Story and Literature as Redneck Resistance." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 18, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 113-130. "...analysis of the literary and social positions of Fred Chappell and Silas House to discuss how contemporary individuals talk back against stereotype and expectation."

Fiction. 2007. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 3, no. 2 (Summer/Fall): Fiction section [selected fiction from nine writers, including Ed Davis and Crystal Wilkinson]. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-2/fiction/index.html.

Field, Liza. 2005. "A Year's Journey Through the Peripatetic School." *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 3, no. 1 (Winter): nonfiction section, 4500 words. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-1/non-fiction/Field.htm.

Finley, Frankie. 2010. "In the Wind" [creative nonfiction]. *Still: The Journal*, no. 4 (Fall). 2,935 words. "The last coherent words Mom spoke to me were love poetry, with the final line: 'I

love you like the wind that blows in the trees'." http://www.stilljournal.net/frankie-finley-contest-nonfiction.php.

Finnegan, Brian. 1997. "Road Stories That Stay Home: Car and Driver in Appalachia and *The Stories of Breece D'J Pancake.*" Southern Literary Journal 29 (Spring): 87-102.

Finney, Nikky. 1985. On Wings Made of Gauze [poems]. New York: W. Morrow. 59 pp.

Finney, Nikky. 1995. *Rice* [poems]. Toronto: Sister Vision. 175pp.

Finney, Nikky. 1997. *Heartwood* [fiction; four stories; Ky.; Affrilachian writer]. New Books for New Readers. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 70 pp.

Finney, Nikky. 2003. *The World Is Round* [poems]. Atlanta, Ga.: InnerLight Publishing. 106 pp.

Finney, Nikky. 2011. *Head Off & Split: Poems*. Evanston, Ill.: TriQuarterly Books/Northwestern University Press. 97 pp. National Book Award winner for poetry. Finney is a founding member of the Affrilachian Poets.

Fireside, Bryna J. 2008. *Private Joel and the Sewell Mountain Seder*. Illustrations by Shawn Costello. Minneapolis, Minn.: Kar-Ben Pub. 47 pp. Children's story; Civil War; Jewish soldiers and freed slaves have a Passover seder; 1862 (W.)Va.

Fisher, Benjamin F. 2002. "Mary Noailles Murfree" [1850-1922]. In *The History of Southern Women's Literature*, ed. C. Perry and M. Weaks, 187-192. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Fisher, Diane Gilliam. 2003. *One of Everything* [poems; W. Va., women, illness]. Cleveland Poets Series, no. 54. Cleveland, Ohio: Cleveland State University Poetry Center. 59 pp.

Fisher, Diane Gilliam. 2004. *Kettle Bottom* [poems; 1920-21 W. Va. coal camp voices]. Florence, Mass.: Perugia Press. 88 pp.

Fisher, Diane. 2007. "'The Long Way Around': Space, Place, and Syntax in 'White Highways'" [poems]. In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 138-140. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Fisher-Wirth, Ann. 2002. "Abjection and 'the feminine' in *Outer Dark*." In *Cormac McCarthy: New Directions*, ed. J. Lilly, 125-140. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press.

Flanigan, Beverly Olson. 2001. "Mapping the Ohio Valley: South Midland, Lower North, or Appalachian?" [Linguistic Atlas Project]. *American Speech* 75 (Winter): 344-347.

Fletcher, Charles C. 2010. *The Sheriff* [fiction; Haywood Co., N.C.]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 175 pp. From stories the author heard as a boy in early 20th-century western N.C.

Flint, Eric. 2000. *1632* [science fiction; West Virginians time travel to 1632 Germany]. New York: Pocket Books. 504 pp.

Flock, Elizabeth. 2005. *Me & Emma* [fiction; N.C.; child abuse]. Don Mills, Ont: MIRA Books. 298 pp. "Eight-year-old Carrie Parker and her little sister, tired of living in an abusive environment, concoct a plan to run away, but their escape is thwarted by a shocking revelation that will change their lives."

Flora, Joseph M. 2002. "Bobbie Ann Mason." In *The History of Southern Women's Literature*, ed. C. Perry and M. Weaks, 550-558. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Flora, Joseph M., and Amber Vogel, ed. 2006. *Southern Writers: A New Biographical Dictionary* [604 entries, individually authored]. Southern Literary Studies. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 468 pp.

Flora, Joseph M., and Lucinda H. Mackethan, ed. 2002. *The Companion to Southern Literature: Themes, Genres, Places, People, Movements, and Motifs* [encyclopedia]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 1054 pp.

Flynn, Keith. 2007. The Golden Ratio: Poems [N.C.]. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Iris Press. 159 pp.

Flynn, Nancy. 1997. "Water & Fire" [excerpt from novel-in-progress *Eden Undone*; Pa. anthracite setting]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Winter): 14-17.

Forrester, T. J. 2012. *Black Heart on the Appalachian Trail* [mystery fiction]. New York: Simon and Schuster Paperbacks. 195 pp. "Hikers are dying along the trail, their broken bodies splayed on the rocks below. Are these falls accidental, the result of carelessness, or is something more sinister at work?"

Foster, Ruel E. 2007. "Sense of Place in *River of Earth*" [1940]. In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 64-69. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *Sense of Place in Appalachia*, ed. S. Mont Whitson, 68-80 Morehead, Ky.: Morehead State University, 1988.

Fowler, Virginia C. 2002. "And This Poem Recognizes That: Embracing Contrarieties in the Poetry of Nikki Giovanni." In *Her Words: Diverse Voices in Contemporary Appalachian Women's Poetry*, ed. Felicia Mitchell, 112-135. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Fox, John, Jr. [1913] 1996. *The Heart of the Hills*. Reprint, with a foreword by Darlene Wilson. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 408 pp.

Francisco, Edward, Robert Vaughan, and Linda Francisco, ed. 2001. *The South in Perspective: An Anthology of Southern Literature* [six chronological periods, with upper and lower South examined for each; special section, "Appalachia Recognized"]. Upper Saddle River, N.J.: Prentice-Hall. 1386 pp.

Francisco, Edward. 2000. "Christ-Hauntedness in George Scarbrough's *Invitation to Kim*" [Memphis, Tenn.: Iris Press, 1989]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 16 (Spring): 25-30.

Frank, William L. 2000. "The Novels of William Hoffman: One Writer's Spiritual Odyssey from World War II to the Twenty-First Century." In *The Fictional World of William Hoffman*, ed. W. L. Frank, 58-87. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

Frank, William L., ed. 2000. *The Fictional World of William Hoffman* [9 essays; primary and secondary bibliography]. Columbia: University of Missouri Press. 156 pp.

Frank X Walker Bibliography [16 entries]. 2009. The Iron Mountain Review 25 (Spring): 35.

Frank X Walker Issue, edited by John Lang. 2009. Special issue, *The Iron Mountain Review* 25 (Spring): 1-34.

Frank X Walker [Featured Author]. 2011. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 4 (Fall): 12-51. Essays, biography, critical analysis, photos, and seven poems by Walker, who is cofounder of the Affrilachian Poets, born 1961, Danville, Ky.

Frantz, Laura. 2009. *The Frontiersman's Daughter: A Novel*. Grand Rapids, Mich.: Revell. 413 pp. Historical romance/Christian fiction; Kentucky settlement; Shawnee.

Frazier, Charles. 1997. *Cold Mountain* [fiction; Civil War N.C.]. New York: Atlantic Monthly. 368 pp. Weatherford Award winner.

Frazier, Charles. 2006. *Thirteen Moons*. [fiction; 19th-century-spanning saga and "lifelong search for home;" Great Smoky Mountains; N.C.; Cherokee]. New York: Random House. 422 pp.

Frazier, Charles. 2011. *Nightwoods: A Novel* [suspense, 1960s N.C.]. New York: Random House. 259 pp. Weatherford Award winner for fiction. "Named the guardian of her murdered sister's troubled twins, Luce struggles to build a family with the children before being targeted by the twins' father--her sister's killer--who believes that the children are in possession of a stolen cache of money."

Frazier, Tom. 2000. "Coal Mining, Literature, and the Naturalistic Motif" [1906-1993]. In *Caverns of Night: Coal Mines in Art, Literature, and Film*, ed. W. Thesing, 199-208. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press.

Fred Chappell [featured author]. 2003. Appalachian Heritage 31 (Summer): 14-53.

Frederick, Heather Vogel. 1997. "Cynthia Rylant: A Quiet and Reflective Craft" [PW interview; W. Va. author]. *Publishers Weekly* 244 (July 21): 178-179.

Freeman, Angela B. 1998. "The Origins and Fortunes of Negativity: The West Virginia Worlds of Kromer, Pancake, and Benedict" [Tom Kromer, Breece D'J Pancake, Pinckney Benedict]. *Appalachian Journal* 25 (Spring): 244-269.

French, William W. 1998. *Maryat Lee's EcoTheater: A Theater for the Twenty-First Century* [W. Va.]. Morgantown, W. Va.: West Virginia University Press. 152 pp.

Freund, Hugo A. 2007. "Silas House's *The Coal Tattoo* Permanently Scarring the Landscape, or Trajectories in Tradition: Appalachians, Ancestors, Land Use, Coal Tattoos, and the Broad Form Deed." *Journal of Kentucky Studies* 24, (September): 141-156.

Freund, Hugo. 2006. "Ballads, Sisters, and Curses: The Use of Traditional Appalachian Culture in the Novels of Silas House." *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 62, no. 1: 11-19.

Friedman, Michael Shannon. 2006. "An Appreciation of His Literary Work" [Featured Writer–Jeff Mann]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 3 (Summer): 28-31.

Fuller, G. Cameron. 2011. *Full Bone Moon* [fiction; murder; W. Va.]. Chapmanville, W.Va: Woodland Press. 270 pp. "Six years ago, two WVU freshman were last seen hitchhiking back to their dorms after seeing a movie in downtown Morgantown. Their bodies were later found in the dark woods south of town." Story based on 1970 coed murders.

Gabriel, Jerry. 2010. *Drowned Boy* [eight linked stories set in small-town Moraine, Oh.]. Louisville, Ky.: Sarabande Books. 155 pp.

Gainer, Patrick W. 2008. "Speech of the Mountaineers." In *Witches, Ghosts, and Signs: Folklore of the Southern Appalachians*, comp. P. Gainer, 1-18. 2nd ed. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. Dialect and accent; words and expressions.

Gamblin, Hillary. 2011. "Discovering the Romantic in a Necrophile: The Question of Misogyny in *Child of God*" [1973]. *Cormac McCarthy Journal* 9, no. 1: 28-37.

Gann, Kirby. 2012. *Ghosting* [fiction; drug trade; eastern Ky.; "hillbilly noir"]. Brooklyn, N.Y.: Ig Publishing. 286 pp.

Gantt, Patricia M. 1997. "A Mutual Journey': Wilma Dykeman and Appalachian Regionalism." In *Breaking Boundaries: New Perspectives on Women's Regional Writing*, ed. S. Inness and D. Royer, 197-215. Iowa City: University of Iowa Press.

Gantt, Patricia M. 2002. "A Level Gaze Trained at Life: The Poetry of Lisa Coffman." In *Her Words: Diverse Voices in Contemporary Appalachian Women's Poetry*, ed. Felicia Mitchell, 69-81. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Gantt, Patricia M. 2007. "In Memoriam: Wilma Dykeman (1920-2006)." *The Iron Mountain Review* 23 (Spring): 74.

Garin, Marita, ed. 2008. Southern Appalachian Poetry: An Anthology of Works by 37 Poets.

Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 20. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 261 pp. 225 poems, biographical statements, notes, photos. Contents: Bob Henry Baber / Joseph Barrett / Kathryn Stripling Byer / Fred Chappell / Mark DeFoe / Charles B. Dickson / Hilda Downer / Gregory Dykes / Marita Garin / Richard Hague / Marc Harshman / Don Johnson / Stephen Knauth / Mary Kratt / P.J. Laska / George Ella Lyon / Jeff Daniel Marion / Michael McFee / Llewellyn McKernan / Irene McKinney / Louise McNeill / Jim Wayne Miller / Robert Morgan / Valerie Nieman / Lee Pennington / Ron Rash / George Scarbrough / Bettie Sellers / Vivian Shipley / Nancy Simpson / R.T. Smith / Bob Snyder / Katherine Soniat / James Still / John Foster West / Charles Wright / Isabel Zuber.

Garrett, George. 2000. "A Life without End: Two Novels About World War II by William Hoffman." In *The Fictional World of William Hoffman*, ed. W. L. Frank, 88-97. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

Garrett, George. 2006. "Is This Heaven?" [tribute to Mary Lee Settle, d. 2005]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 1 (Winter): 15.

Garrett, George. 2006. "In Memoriam: Marry Lee Settle (1918-2005)." *The Iron Mountain Review* 22 (Spring): 33.

Garrison, David Lee, and Terry Hermsen, ed. 2003. *O Taste and See: Food Poems* [100 poets including Maggie Anderson, Cathy Lentes, Wendell Berry, Joyce Sutphen, Larry Smith, and Richard Hague]. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 196 pp.

Gaus, Paul L. 1999. *Blood of the Prodigal: An Ohio Amish Mystery* [Old Order; Holmes Co.]. Athens: Ohio University Press. 230 pp. "An Amish man exiled from his community in Ohio for fast living, returns to kidnap his son from his grandparents. Sleuth and professor Michael Branden is hired to find the boy, only to learn that the father has been murdered and the boy is missing."

Gaus, Paul L. 2000. *Broken English: An Ohio Amish Mystery*. Athens: Ohio University Press. 205 pp. "The peaceful town of Millersburg...in the heart of Ohio's Amish country, is rocked by the vicious murder of one of its citizens at the hands of an itinerant ex-convict."

Gaus, Paul L. 2001. *Clouds without Rain: An Ohio Amish Mystery*. Athens: Ohio University Press. 196 pp. "A fatal accident involving a semi and an Amish buggy starts Professor Michael to search for a connection to a string of other cirmes."

Gaus, Paul L. 2003. *Cast a Blue Shadow: An Ohio Amish Mystery*. Athens: Ohio University Press. 225 pp. "After the first blizzard of an early winter, a Mennonite college girl with a troubled past appears curled up and bloodied outside the office of her childhood psychiatrist."

Gaus, Paul L. 2006. A Prayer for the Night: An Ohio Amish Mystery. Athens: Ohio University Press. 210 pp. "Amid a whirlwind of drugs, sex, and other temptations of the 'English' world, a

group of Amish teenagers on their Rumschpringe test the limits of their parents' religion to the breaking point."

Gaus, Paul L. 2008. *Separate from the World: An Ohio Amish Mystery* [sixth in a series]. Athens: Ohio University Press. 201 pp.

Gay, William. 1999. *The Long Home* [fiction]. Denver: MacMurray & Beck. 257 pp. "A young carpenter in 1940s Tennessee seeks revenge after learning his employer murdered his father when he was a boy. But the employer has an ace up his sleeve, the carpenter is in love with a call girl who works for him." Debut novel.

Gay, William. 2000. *Provinces of Night* [fiction]. New York: Doubleday. 293 pp. "The year is 1952, and E.F. Bloodworth has returned to his home, a forgotten corner of Tennessee, after twenty years of roaming. The wife he walked out on has withered and faded, his three sons are grown and angry. Warren is a womanizing alcoholic, Boyd is driven by jealousy to hunt down his wife's lover, and Brady puts hexes on his enemies from his mamma's porch."

Gay, William. 2002. *I Hate to See That Evening Sun Go Down: Collected Stories*. New York: Free Press. 303 pp. Contents: I hate to see that evening sun go down -- Death in the woods -- Bonedaddy, Quincy Nell, and the fifteen thousand BTU electric chair -- Paperhanger -- Man who knew Dylan -- Those deep Elm Brown Ferry blues -- Crossroads blues -- Closure and roadkill on the life's highway -- Sugarbaby -- Standing by peaceful waters -- Good til' now -- Lightpainter -- My hand is just fine where it is.

Gay, William. 2006. *Twilight: A Novel* (suspense; perverse undertaker). San Francisco: MacAdam/Cage. 224 pp.

Gay, William. 2006. *Wittgenstein's Lolita/The Iceman: Short Stories*. Brush Creek, Tenn.: Wild Dog Press. 64 pp.

Geer, Richard Owen, and Debra Jones. 1998. "Gathering Mayhaws: Jo Carson and Writing for Community Performance" [piece written for her Swamp Gravy project]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 14 (Summer): 24-30.

George, Courtney. 2009. "'It Wasn't God Who Made Honky-Tonk Angels': Musical Salvation in Dorothy Allison's *Bastard Out of Carolina*" [(Dutton, 1992); also discusses Melissa Etheridge and Mark Collie]. *Southern Literary Journal* 41, no. 2 (Spring): 126-147.

George Ella Lyon issue. 2010. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 3 (Summer): 1-43. Including an essay and four poems by Lyon.

George Ella Lyon Issue, edited by John Lang. 1994. Special issue, *Iron Mountain Review* 10 (Summer): 1-32.

George Scarbrough Bibliography [26 entries]. 2000. Iron Mountain Review 16 (Spring): 40.

George Scarbrough Feature. 2000. "A George Addison Scarbrough Chronology [1915-2001], 6; Editor's Note: "Lusher Materia Medica I Have Not Seen," 7-11; "The Inflorescence of Variety: An Iconoclastic Southern Poet," 12-16; "Poems by George Scarbrough" [12 poems], 17-34. *The Washington and Lee University Review* 50 (Spring): 5-34.

George Scarbrough Issue, edited by John Lang. 2000. Special issue, *The Iron Mountain Review* 16 (Spring): 1-40.

Georgia Writers Hall of Fame. 2012. Special issue, *The Georgia Review* 66, no. 3 (Fall): 414-673. Celebrates 43 writers (interviews, original work, correspondence, essays), including the following: Elias Boudinot (ca. 1804-1939), "From *An Address to the Whites. Delivered in the First Presbyterian Church* [of Philadelphia] *on the 26th of May, 1826*" (speech) -- Lillian Smith (1897-1966) -- Byron Herbert Reece (1917-1958), "Letter to the Editor and From *The Black Notebook*" -- James Dickey (1923-1997), "James Dickey and Georgia," by Ward Briggs -- Terry Kay (b. 1938), "Ty Cobb and the Book That Wasn't" (essay).

Giannelli, Adam, ed. 2006. *High Lonesome: On the Poetry of Charles Wright* [34 collected essays, 1991-2005]. Oberlin, Ohio: Oberlin College Press. 388 pp.

Giannetti, Robert M. 2003. *Drawn by the Creek: Poems* [north Ga.]. Atlanta, Ga.: Cashes Valley Publishing. 90 pp.

Giardina, Denise. 2003. *Fallam's Secret* [time travel between W. Va. and 1657 England]. New York: W.W. Norton. 331 pp.

Giardina, Denise. 2006. "My Literary Mother" [Mary Lee Settle tribute; W. Va.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 1 (Winter): 10.

Giardina, Denise. 2009. "New Shades o'Death Creek." *Southern Space*, 21 May. Space, Place, and Appalachia series. "Set in West Virginia, this excerpt from Giardina's novel of time-space travel, *Fallam's Secret* (2003), evokes the physical and emotional landscapes of mountaintop removal in the southern Appalachians." http://www.southernspaces.org/2009/new-shades-odeath-creek.

Gibb, Robert. 2007. *World Over Water: Poems*. Fayetteville: University of Arkansas Press. 94 pp. Lyric narrative of Pittsburgh/Allegheny County working class, industrial lives.

Gibb, Robert. 2009. What the Heart Can Bear: Selected and Uncollected Poems, 1979-1993. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Autumn House Press. 147 pp.

Gibson, Mike. 2002. "Knoxville Gave Cormac McCarthy the Raw Material of His Art. And He Gave It Back" [*The Orchard Keeper* (1965); *Suttree* (1979); *Outer Dark* (1968)]. In *Sacred Violence, I: Cormac McCarthy's Appalachian Works*, ed. W. Hall and R. Wallach, 23-34. El Paso: Texas Western Press.

Gifford, James M. 2009. "My Friend Billy C. Clark" [1928-2009; Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 3 (Summer): 11-15. Tribute and career overview.

Gifford, James M., and Erin R. Kazee. 2008. "Jesse Stuart and Don West." *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 4 (Fall): 31-37. Featured Author, Don West.

Gifford, James M., Owen B. Nance, and Patricia A. Hall, comp. and ed. 1997. *Appalachian Christmas Stories* [collected short stories, essays, and poems]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation.

Gifford, Terry. 2002. "Terrain, Character and Text: Is *Cold Mountain* by Charles Frazier a Post-Pastoral Novel?" *Mississippi Quarterly* 55 (Winter 2001-2002): 87-96.

Giles, James Richard. 2006. "Discovering Fourthspace in Appalachia: Cormac McCarthy's *Outer Dark* and *Child of God*" (Random House: 1968 and 1973). Chap. 2 in *The Spaces of Violence*, 16-41. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Giles, James Richard. 2006. "The Myth of the Boatright Men: Dorothy Allison's *Bastard Out of Carolina*" (Dutton, 1992). Chap. 5 in *The Spaces of Violence*, 75-93. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Giles, Janice Holt. [1951] 1994. *Miss Willie*. Rpt. ed. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 268 pp.

Giles, Janice Holt. [1951] 1994. *Tara's Healing*. Reprint, with a foreword by Wade Hall. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 253 pp.

Giles, Janice Holt. [1954] 2000. *Hill Man* [fiction; Ky.]. Reprint, with a foreword by Wade Hall. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 172 pp. Originally published: New York: Pyramid Books, under the pen name John Garth.

Giles, Janice Holt. 2001. *Act of Contrition* [fiction; written 1957]. First edition. Introduction by Wade Hall. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 240 pp.

Giles, Janice Holt. [1967] 2002. *Shady Grove* [author's sixth Ky. novel]. Reprint, with a foreword by Wade Hall. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 260 pp.

Giles, Janice Holt. [1964] 2003. *Run Me a River* [Civil War; Green River, Ky.]. Reprint, with a foreword by Morris A. Grubbs. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 337 pp.

Gingher, Robert, ed. 1992. *The Rough Road Home: Stories by North Carolina Writers*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 332 pp. Contents: Introduction -- The oasis / Alice Adams -- The reunion / Maya Angelou -- Hugh / Daphne Athas -- This is the only time I'll tell it / Doris Betts -- Winter / Linda Beatrice Brown -- Broken blossoms / Fred Chappell -- Bargains in the real world / Elizabeth Cox -- The case of the missing photographs / Charles Edward Eaton -- Washing dishes / Clyde Edgerton -- Trudy Woodlief / Kaye Gibbons -- It had wings / Allan

Gurganus -- The virtue called vanity / Randall Kenan -- Man watcher / Jill McCorkle -- Below the last lock / Tim McLaurin -- Murals / Robert Morgan -- Serious Need / Reynolds Price -- The St. Anthony chorale / Louis D. Rubin -- Summer help / Donald Secreast -- The bubba stories / Lee Smith -- The fishing lake / Elizabeth Spencer -- The hat of my mother / Max Steele -- Disasters / Lee Zacharias.

Giovanni, Nikki, and Virginia C. Fowler. 2003. *The Collected Poetry of Nikki Giovanni, 1968-1998*. Introduction, Chronology, and Notes to the Poems by Virginia C. Fowler. New York: William Morrow. 452 pp.

Gipe, Robert. 2003. Escape Velocity: A Story. Part One: Driving Lesson. Southern States(?): R. Gipe. 20 pp.

Glaser, Joe. 2007. "Slick as a Dogwood Hoe Handle: Craft in the Short Stories." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 91-95. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *Appalachian Heritage* 11 (Summer 1983): 4-9.

Godden, Richard. 2002. "No End to the Work? Jayne Anne Phillips and the Exquisite Corpse of Southern Labor." *Journal of American Studies* 36 (August): 249-279.

Godwin, Gail. 1999. Evensong [fiction; N.C.]. New York: Ballantine Books. 416 pp.

Godwin, Gail. 2009. *Unfinished Desires: A Novel*. New York: Random House. 396 pp. Nineteen-fifties; Catholic girls boarding school; Mountain City, N.C.

Goldbeck, Christine M. 2000. "Speaking the 'Speak" [Pa. dialect; anthracite coalfields CoalSpeak; map]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 17 (Summer): 14-17, 20-21.

Goldbeck, Christine M. 2001. "The Mighty and Enduring Pen of John O'Hara" [1905-1970; fictionalized Pottsville, Schuylkill Co., characters in Pa.'s anthracite region]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 18 (Summer): 35-39

Goode, James B. 2002. "The Case for Contextualizing Appalachian Culture Studies Within the Academic Enterprise." *Journal of Kentucky Studies* 19 (September): 104-107.

Goode, James B. 2006. "Appalachian Literature." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture, Vol 9: Literature*, ed. M. Inge, 29-34. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Goode, James B. 2009. "Writing Up a Storm" [Jesse Stuart (1907-1984)]. *Journal of Kentucky Studies* 26 (September): 184-191.

Goodrich, Janet. 2001. *The Unforeseen Self in the Works of Wendell Berry* [analyzed as autobiography; 1957-2000]. Columbia: University of Missouri Press. 167 pp.

Goodson, Roger. 1999. *Fishers Peak* [fiction; Blue Ridge Mountains, Va.]. Budapest, Hungary: R. Goodson. 188 pp.

Goolrick, Robert. 2012. *Heading Out to Wonderful: A Novel* [fiction]. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 296 pp. Suspense; doomed love; 1948 Rockbridge Co., Va.

Gordon, Jaimy. 2010. *Lord of Misrule: A Novel* [horse racing; W. Va.]. Kingston, N.Y.: McPherson. 294 pp. National Book Award winner. "...follows five characters, scarred and lonely dreamers in the American grain, through a year and four races at Indian Mount Downs, downriver from Wheeling, West Virginia."

Graf, Mike. 2012. *Ridge Runner Rescue: Great Smoky Mountains National Park*. Adventures with the Parkers series [family of four; various national parks]. Illustrated by Marjorie Leggitt. Guilford, Conn.: FalconGuides. 93 pp. Juvenile adventure fiction, ages 8-13.

Grammer, John M. 2002. "A Thing Against Which Time Will Not Prevail: Pastoral and History in Cormac McCarthy's South." In *Cormac McCarthy*, ed. H. Bloom, 9-22. Modern Critical Views. Philadelphia: Chelsea House Publishers.

Grant, Joanna. 2006. "Erskine Caldwell, Hillbilly Celebrity: Retailing Rurality in the

Modernist Marketplace." In *CrossRoads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 221-236. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Grant, Natalie. 2002. "The Landscape of the Soul: Man and the Natural World in *The Orchard Keeper*" [1965]. In *Sacred Violence, I: Cormac McCarthy's Appalachian Works*, ed. W. Hall and R. Wallach, 75-82. El Paso: Texas Western Press.

Graves, Jesse. 2007. "Lattice Work: Formal Tendencies in the Poetry of Robert Morgan and Ron Rash." *Southern Quarterly* 45, no. 1 (Fall): 78-86.

Graves, Jesse. 2011. *Tennessee Landscape with Blighted Pine: Poems*. Huntsville, Tex.: Texas Review Press. 79 pp. Weatherford Award winner for poetry.

Graves, Jonathan. 2011. *Isabella Propeller and the Magic Beanie* [children's story]. Illustrated by Gail E. Haley. Blowing Rock, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 36 pp. "Isabella has always dreamed of flying high above the mountains which are her home." "After an encounter with...a mysterious mountain woman, Isabella discovers that her new beanie with a red feather has magical powers."

Gray, Anne Black. 2012. *The Devil's Son: Cap Hatfield and the End of the Hatfield and McCoy Feud* [historical fiction; 1880s W. Va., Ky.]. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 340 pp.

Gray, Libba Moore; illustrated by Lloyd Bloom. 1999. *When Uncle Took the Fiddle* [juvenile fiction]. New York: Orchard Books. 32 pp.

Gray, Richard. 2006. "A Southern Writer and Class War in the Mountains: Grace Lumpkin's *To Make My Bread*" [(1932); textile strike in 1929 Loray Mill, Gastonia, N.C.]. In *Reading*

Southern Poverty between the Wars, 1918-1939, ed. R. Godden and M. Crawford, 179-191. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Greear, Mildred White. 2003. "An Unlikely Friendship" [Byron Herbert Reece]. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Spring): 68-72.

Green, Chris. 2002. "Working Truth Inside and Out: Don West, Muriel Rukeyser, Poetry, and the Popular Front in Appalachia, 1932-1948." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Fall): 382-406.

Green, Chris, ed. 2006. *Coal: A Poetry Anthology* [100 poets, with profiles; selective bibliography of books, films, and web sites about coal]. Preface by Denise Giardina; afterword by Jack Spadaro. Ashland, Ky.: Blair Mountain Press. 310 pp.

Green, Chris. 2007. "Headwaters: The Early Poetics of James Still, Don West, and Jesse Stuart." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 21-39. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Green, Chris. 2008. "Truth, Poetry, and Don West." *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 4 (Fall): 51-59. Featured Author; analysis of West's poem "Prayer" published in *Clods of Southern Earth* (1946).

Green, Chris. 2009. *Rushlight: Poems*. Working Lives Series. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 104 pp.

Green, Chris. 2009. *The Social Life of Poetry: Appalachia, Race, and Radical Modernism* [Weatherford Award winner for nonfiction]. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. 279 pp. Contents: Appalachia, race, and pluralism -- Evangelizing an Anglo equality (1883-1908) -- New York City's cultural pluralists (1906-1930) -- Reactionary regionalism versus critical quarterlies (1925-1945) -- The social life of poetry -- Racing the land with Jesse Stuart's *Man with a Bull Tongue Plow* (1934) -- "Authentic folk feeling" in James Still's *Hounds on the Mountain* (1937) -- Rebinding "The Book of the Dead" into Muriel Rukeyser's *U.S. I* (1938) -- The tight rope of democracy and Don West's *Clods of Southern Earth* (1946).

Green, Chris. 2011. "Anne Shelby's *Appalachian Studies* as Appalachian Studies: Aesthetics, Motifs, and Mores" [poetry collection; Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind, 2006]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 27 (Spring): 16-23.

Green, Connie Jordan. [1989] 2003. *The War at Home* [youth novel; growing up in WWII Oak Ridge, Tenn.]. Rpt. ed. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Tellico Books. 138 pp. Originally published: New York: McElderry Books.

Green, Connie. 2000. "Mirrored Through Metaphor: Family in George Scarbrough's Poetry." *The Iron Mountain Review* 16 (Spring): 20-24.

Green, Connie Jordan. 2007. *Slow Children Playing: Poems*. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 29 pp.

Green, Connie Jordan. 2011. *Regret Comes to Tea* [24 poems]. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 28 pp.

Green, Jordan. 1997. "Writing with Class: An Interview with Denise Giardina" [W. Va. novelist]. *Southern Exposure* 25 (Fall/Winter): 40-43.

Greenberg, Jan, and Sandra Jordan. 2010. *Ballet for Martha: Making Appalachian Spring* [Martha Graham; juvenile readers]. Illustrations by Brian Floca. New York: Rb/Flash Point. 48 pp. Orbis Pictus Award for Outstanding Nonfiction for Children.

Greene, Amy. 2010. *Bloodroot: A Novel*. New York: Knopf. 304 pp. Lauded debut novel set in East Tenn. Smoky Mountains; four generations of a family, six narrators, 1930s to present; magic and mysticism. Weatherford Award winner for fiction.

Greene, Amy. 2010. "Interview with Amy Greene." *Still: The Journal*, no. 3 (Summer). 1,778 words. "Amy Greene burst onto the scene of Appalachian literature with her first novel, *Bloodroot* [2010], a sensual and magical multi-generational tale set in East Tennessee." http://www.stilljournal.net/amy-green-interview.php.

Greene, Ben. 1998. "Jeff Daniel Marion: Asking the Questions Well" [appreciation of Marion's pedagogy by a former student]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 15 (Summer): 25.

Greene, Jonathan. 2005. "The Persistence of Folly: 40 Years of Gnomon Press, An Interview with Jonathan Greene" [editor; founded 1965; Frankfort, Ky.]. *Appalachian Journal* 32, no. 4 (Summer): 442-457.

Gretlund, Jan Nordby, ed. 2010. *Still in Print: The Southern Novel Today*. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 285 pp. Eighteen literary critics each discuss a novel published since 1997 including only four Appalachian titles: Charles Frazier's *Cold Mountain*; Cormac McCarthy's *The Road*; Chris Offutt's *The Good Brother*; and Ron Rash's *One Foot in Eden*.

Griffin, Brian. 1997. *Sparkman in the Sky & Other Stories*. Louisville: Sarabande Books. 161 pp. Winner, 1996 Mary McCarthy Prize in Short Fiction.

Grigsby, Susan. 2012. First Peas to the Table: How Thomas Jefferson Inspired a School Garden [children's fiction]. Illustrated by Nicole Tadgell. Chicago: Albert Whitman. 32 pp. "Maya and other students in Ms. Garcia's class study techniques used by Thomas Jefferson as they grow pea plants and compete to see whose will produce a bowl full of peas first. Includes an afterword about Jefferson."

Grimes, Martha. 1996. *Hotel Paradise* [mystery fiction]. New York: Knopf. 347 pp. "A 12-year-old girl, waiting at tables in her mother's hotel, becomes interested in the death, 40 years earlier, of a girl her age. The victim drowned in a nearby lake. So little Emma Graham starts

analyzing available evidence, questions old ladies and woodsmen, and through perseverance solves a mystery."

Groce, Barbara S. 2007. *Appalachian Girl* [poems; girlhood memories]. Roswell, Ga.: B. Groce. 41 pp.

Grover, Kathleen H. 2004. "Appalachia in Lisa Alther's Novels." *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Winter): 23-26.

Grubb, Davis. [1969] 2001. *Fools' Parade* [fiction; W. Va.]. Appalachian Echoes. Reprint, with a foreword by Thomas E. Douglass. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 306 pp. Originally published: New York: World Pub. Co.

Grubbs, Morris Allen, ed. 2001. Home and Beyond: An Anthology of Kentucky Short Stories [40 stories]. Introduction by Wade Hall; afterword by Charles E. May. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 400 pp. Contents: Blackberry winter (1946) / Robert Penn Warren -- The petrified woman (1947) / Caroline Gordon -- The nest (1948) / James Still -- The men (1948) / Jane Mayhall -- Evenings at home (1948) / Elizabeth Hardwick -- Anthem of the locusts (1949) / Dean Cadle -- Lost land of youth (1950) / Jesse Stuart -- Fur in the hickory (1953) / Billy C. Clark -- The gift (1957) / Janice Holt Giles -- The Fourth at Getup (1960) / A.B. Guthrie Jr. --The vireo's nest (1960) / Hollis Summers -- The little-known bird of the inner eye (1961) / Ed McClanahan -- Bare bones (1965) / Sallie Bingham -- White Anglo-Saxon protestant (1967) / Robert Hazel -- Play like I'm sheriff (1968) / Jack Cady -- The taste of ironwater (1969) / Jim Wayne Miller -- The world's one breathing (1970) / David Madden -- White rat (1975) / Gayl Jones -- The affair with Rachel Ware (1976) / Jane Stuart -- Maxine (1977) / Gurney Norman --Rent control (1979) / Walter Tevis -- Residents and transients (1982) / Bobbie Ann Mason --Yours (1982) / Joe Ashby Porter -- A fellow making himself up (1982) / Leon V. Driskell --Winter facts (1983) / Mary Ann Taylor-Hall -- The fugitive (1984) / Richard Cortez Day -- The perfecting of the Chopin valse no. 14 in e minor (1985) / Sena Jeter Naslund -- Diary of a Union solder (1985) / Pat Carr -- That distant land (1986) / Wendell Berry -- If you can't win (1986) / James Baker Hall -- Bypass (1987) / Lisa Koger -- Homeland (1989) / Barbara Kingsolver -- Dr. Livingston's grotto (1989) / Normandi Ellis -- Belinda's world tour (1993) / Guy Davenport --The way it felt to be falling (1993) / Kim Edwards -- The idea of it (1995) / Chris Holbrook --Clouds (1996) / Paul Griner -- Barred owl (1996) / Chris Offutt -- Deferment (1998) / Dwight Allen -- Humming back yesterday (1999) / Crystal E. Wilkinson.

Gurney Norman Issue, edited by John Lang. 1997. Special issue, *The Iron Mountain Review* 13 (Spring): 1-39.

Guy, Carolyn. 2011. *Autumn Bends the Rebel Tree* [Christian fiction]. Vilas, N.C.: Canterbury House. 264 pp. Family saga, hardships, widowhood; 1930s-40s N.C.

Hadaway, Elizabeth. 2006. Fire Baton: Poems. Fayetteville: University of Arkansas Press. 82 pp.

Hage, Erik. 2010. *Cormac McCarthy: A Literary Companion* [encyclopedia]. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 192 pp. "Entries analyze novels, characters, motifs, allusions, plays, and themes, events, people and places related to McCarthy scholarship."

Hague, Richard, Chris Holbrook, Jeff Mann, Frank X Walker, Marianne Worthington, Laura Sutton, and Robert Wallace. 2010. "Inaugural Event of Voices from the Hills: A Celebration of Appalachian Writers, in Honor of Danny Miller (1949-2008): Round-Table Discussion: The Future of Appalachian Literature." *Journal of Kentucky Studies* 27: 141-159.

Hague, Richard. 1988. *Possible Debris* [poems]. Cleveland, Ohio: Cleveland State University Poetry Center. 60 pp.

Hague, Richard. 2001. *Greatest Hits, 1968-2000* [poems; chapbook]. Johnstown, Ohio: Pudding House Publications. 33 pp.

Hague, Richard. 2003. *Alive in Hard Country: Poems* [industrial Ohio Valley]. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 96 pp.

Hague, Richard. 2009. Public Hearings: Poems. Cincinnati, Oh.: Word Press. 152 pp.

Hague, Richard. 2011. *Learning How: Stories, Tales & Yarns* [22 stories; Ohio River Valley]. Huron, Oh.: Bottom Dog Press. 216 pp.

Hague, Richard. 2012. *During the Recent Extinctions: New and Selected Poems, 1984-2012*. Loveland, Ohio: Dos Madres Press. 278 pp. Weatherford Award winner for poetry.

Hahn, Mary Downing. 2003. *Hear the Wind Blow* [adolescent fiction; Civil War Shenandoah Valley, Va.]. New York: Clarion Books. 212 pp.

Haigh, Jennifer. 2005. *Baker Towers* [fiction; post-WWII, Pa. coal company town; Polish-Italian family saga]. New York: William Morrow. 334 pp.

Hairston, Alena. 2007. *The Logan Topographies: Poems* [African American mining community; Logan Co., W. Va.; voices of mothers, daughters, lovers]. New York: Persea Books. 57 pp.

Hall, Francie, and Kent Oehm, illustrator. 1998. *Appalachian ABCs* [children's primer]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 54 pp.

Hall, Jacquelyn Dowd. 2003. "Women Writers, the 'Southern Front,' and the Dialectical Imagination" [Grace Lumpkin; *To Make My Bread* (1929); Gastonia textile strike]. *The Journal of Southern History* 69 (February): 3-38.

Hall, James Baker. 1999. *The Mother on the Other Side of the World: Poems*. Louisville, Ky.: Sarabande Books. 70 pp.

Hall, James Baker. 2004. *The Total Light Process: New and Selected Poems*. Lexington, Ky.: University Press of Kentucky. 270 pp.

Hall, James Baker. 2005. "Gurney Norman, Kentucky Coal Field Orphan, Is Gurney Stronger Than History, or What?" [narrative poem]. *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 3 (Summer): 16-17. Reprinted from the author's 2004 collection, *The Total Light Process: New and Selected Poems* (University Press of Kentucky).

Hall, James W. 2005. *Forests of the Night* [fiction; policewoman suspense; Great Smokies]. New York: St. Martin's Minotaur. 341 pp.

Hall, Wade, and Rick Wallach, ed. 2002. *Sacred Violence, Vol. I: Cormac McCarthy's Appalachian Works*; *Vol. II: Cormac McCarthy's Western Novels* [b. 1933; Knoxville, Tenn.]. El Paso: Texas Western Press.; 2002.

Hall, Wade. 2002. "The Human Comedy of Cormac McCarthy." In *Cormac McCarthy*, ed. H. Bloom, 53-64. Modern Critical Views. Philadelphia: Chelsea House Publishers.

Hall, Wade. 2002. "The Human Comedy of Cormac McCarthy." In *Sacred Violence, I: Cormac McCarthy's Appalachian Works*, ed. W. Hall and R. Wallach, 61-73. El Paso: Texas Western Press.

Hall, Wade H., ed. 2005. *The Kentucky Anthology: Two Hundred Years of Writing in the Bluegrass State* [includes many Appalachian writers]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 880 pp.

Hamilton, Sarah, and Kirk Hazen. 2009. "Dialect Research in Appalachia: A Family Case Study." *West Virginia History*, n.s. 3, no. 1 (Spring): 81-107. West Virginia Dialect Project; maps, tables.

Hamilton, Virginia. [1974] 1999. *M. C. Higgins, The Great* [juvenile fiction; Ohio strip mine; Newbery Award winner]. Reprint. New York: Simon & Schuster. 232 pp.

Hamner, Earl. 2007. "A Dogwood Memory" [Featured Author–Memoir; Schuyler, Va.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 2 (Spring): 22-24.

Hamner, Earl. 2007. "Tom, Sam, Mabel and Me: A Personal Journey" [Featured Author, Thomas Wolfe]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 4 (Fall): 27-30.

Hampton, David Wayne. 2010. *What Makes It Taste Better* [32 poems]. Morganton, N.C.: Maul & Froe Press. 51 pp.

Hampton, David Wayne. 2012. *The Slow Constellations Wheeled On* [fiction]. Morganton, N.C.: Maul & Froe Press. 209 pp.

Hancock, Joyce A. 2007. "Creative Energy in 'Mrs. Razor'" [short story]. In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 107-114. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *Appalachian Heritage* 8 (1980): 38-46.

Hankla, Cathryn. 1997. *Negative History* [poems]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 58 pp.

Hankla, Cathryn. 2000. *Texas School Book Depository: Prose Poems*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 53 pp.

Hankla, Cathryn. 2002. *Poems for the Pardoned*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 56 pp.

Hankla, Cathryn. 2003. *The Land Between* [novel; "Murder Hole" cave, Va.; Calif.]. Fort Worth, Tex.: Baskerville Publishers. 261 pp.

Hankla, Cathryn. 2004. *Last Exposures: A Sequence of Poems*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 55 pp.

Hankla, Cathryn. 2011. "My Life in Snakes." *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 61, no.1. 5,998 words. Creativenonfiction essay on country living with copperheads and other snakes. http://shenandoahliterary.org/61/my-life-in-snakes/.

Hankla, Cathryn. 2011. *Fortune Teller Miracle Fish: Stories*. East Lansing: Michigan State University Press. 181 pp.

Hanlon, Tina L. 2007. "'Read my tales, spin my rhymes': The Books for Children." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 174-189. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Hanlon, Tina L. 2012. "Coal Dust and Ballads: Appalachia and District 12." Chap. 5 in *Of Bread, Blood and* The Hunger Games: *Critical Essays on the Suzanne Collins Trilogy*, ed. M. Pharr and L. Clark, 59-68. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Hanlon, Tina. 2011. "Appalachia in *The Hunger Games Trilogy* by Suzanne Collins." *AppLit Study Guides*. http://www2.ferrum.edu/applit/articles/HungerGames.htm.

Hanrahan, Heidi. 2009. "Heritage Writer: Jessie Stuart (1906-1984). In *Anthology of Appalachian Writers: Silas House*, Vol. II, ed. S. Shurbutt, 137-138. Shepherdstown, W. Va.: Shepherd University. Examines Stuart's frequently anthologized short story, "Split Cherry Tree," first published in *Esquire* in 1939.

Hanrahan, Heidi. 2011. "Heritage Writer: Rebecca Harding Davis (1831-1910). In *Anthology of Appalachian Writers: Bobbie Ann Mason*, Vol. III, ed. S. Shurbutt, 131-134. Shepherdstown, W. Va.: Shepherd University. Davis's novella "Life in the Iron Mills," was first published in the April 1861 edition of the *Atlantic Monthly*.

Hansel, Pauletta. 2001. *Divining* [poems by co-founder of the 1970s Soupbean Poets who helped establish the Southern Appalachian Writers Cooperative]. Boulder, Colo.: WovenWord Press. 70 pp.

Hansel, Pauletta. 2011. *The Lives We Live in Houses* [poems]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 86 pp.

Hansel, Pauletta. 2011. *What I Did There: New and Selected Poems*. Loveland, Ohio: Dos Madres Press. 83 pp. Breathitt County, Ky., beginnings.

Hansel, Pauletta. 2012. "'Sanging, Singing, and the Search for Voice in Appalachia." *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 324-329.

Hardesty, David C., Jr. 2006. "Reflections on My Friend Sue" [Featured Author, Meredith Sue Willis; the author is president of West Virginia University and grew up with Willis in Shinnston, W. Va.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 4 (Fall): 29-31.

Harington, Donald. 1994. "Donald Harington." Interview by Edwin T. Arnold. *Appalachian Journal* 21 (Summer): 432-445.

Harington, Donald. 2002. "An Interview with Donald Harington" [Ozark novelist]. Interview by Larry Vonalt. *Southern Quarterly* 40 (Winter): 69-85.

Harington, Donald. 2002. *Thirteen Albatrosses (or, Falling off the Mountain): A Novel* [Ozarks]. New York: Henry Holt. 402 pp.

Harington, Donald. 2004. *With* [fiction; Ozarks; girl's survival story]. London, England: Toby Press. 491 pp.

Harington, Donald. 2005. *The Pitcher Shower* ["picture show"; fiction; Ozarks picaresque; and Shakespeare]. New Milford, Conn.: Toby Press. 202 pp.

Harkins, Gillian. 2007. "Surviving the Family Romance? Southern Realism and the Labor of Incest" [*Bastard Out of Carolina*, by Dorothy Allison, 1992]. *Southern Literary Journal* 40, no. 1 (Fall): 114-139.

Harman, Patricia. 2012. *The Midwife of Hope River* [fiction; 1930s]. New York: William Morrow. 382 pp. "From the dangerous mines of West Virginia to the terrifying attentions of the Ku Klux Klan, Patience must strive to bring new light and life into an otherwise hard world."

Harmon, Susan Noe. 2008. *Under the Weeping Willow* [fiction]. Bristol, Va.: Mountain Girl Press. 169 pp. Three generations of women in a 1950s Kentucky family.

Harmon, Susan Noe. 2009. *To Hide the Truth* [fiction]. Bristol, Va.: Little Creek Books. 160 pp. Father daughter relationship in an abusive, alcoholic home, Harlan, Ky., 1958 to present.

Harriette Simpson Arnow, Featured Author [1908-1986]. 2012. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 13-89. Guest editor, Sandra L. Ballard. A never-before-published story by Arnow, plus essays, biography, reviews, photographs, and memories: by Sandra Ballard, Thomas Arnow, Herb Smith, Carol Boggess, Erica Locklear, Amy Cortner, Lynn Crabtree, Amber Surface, Kate Black, Sharon Whitehead, John Lang, Martha Billips, Pat Arnow, and George Brosi.

Harris, Corra, and Grace Toney Edwards. 1998. *The Circuit Rider's Wife* [fiction; Ga.]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 344 pp.

Harris, Gardiner. 2010. *Hazard* [mystery fiction; coal mine disaster; Hazard, Ky.]. New York: Minotaur Books. 368 pp. The author has worked for the Hazard Courier-Journal, The Wall Street Journal, and is now a public health reporter for the New York Times.

Harshbarger, Dwight. 2005. *In the Heart of the Hills: A Novel in Stories* [1940s-50s Cabell Co., W. Va., coming-of-age]. Groton, Mass.: Martin and Lawrence Press. 303 pp.

Harshman, Marc, and Cheryl Ryan. 2001. *Red Are the Apples* [children's story in rhyme]. Illustrated by Wade Zahares. San Diego: Gulliver Books. 32 pp. "Leads the reader through a bountiful garden in autumn while drawing particular attention to the variety of colors found within it."

Harshman, Marc. 1993. *Only One* [children's counting book]. Illustrated by Barbara Garrison. New York: Dutton Children's Books. 16 pp. "At a county fair there are five hundred seeds in one pumpkin, ten cents in one dime, eight horses on one merry-go-round, four wheels on one wagon, and so on."

Harshman, Marc. 2002. *Roads* [children's literature]. Illustrated by Mary Newell DePalma. New York: Marshall Cavendish. 32 pp. "Provides a child's view of a car trip to visit grandparents."

Harshman, Marc. 2005. *Local Journeys: Poems* [nature, W. Va.]. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 27 pp. Contents: There, where trees flower | Mushrooms | Mechanical meadow | Sally's Backbone | Middle Bowman Run | Summer solstice | Green and sun | Stories | The luck of the squirrels | Late October | January sixth | Reading the landscape.

Harshman, Marc. 2012. *Green-Silver and Silent: Poems*. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 87 pp. Harshman was appointed the new poet laureate for West Virginia following the death of Irene McKinney in 2012.

Hart, Beth Webb. 2006. *Adelaide Piper* [Christian fiction; Va. college student; violence, tragedy, recovery]. Nashville, Tenn.: WestBow Press. 325 pp.

Harvey, Steven. 2006. "Kindly Dark." *River Teeth: A Journal of Nonfiction Narrative* 8, no. 1 (Fall): 17-20. Meditation on this mountain phrase.

Haseley, Dennis. 1991. *Shadows* [children's fiction]. Pictures by Leslie W. Bowman. New York: Farrar Straus Giroux. 72 pp. "Jamie's lonely life with his aunt and uncle in rural West Virginia changes when Grandpa comes to visit and teaches him to make shadow pictures."

Hatfield, Sharon. 2008. "In Love with Words': An Interview with Sharon Hatfield" [teacher, author, and Lee Co., Va. native]. By Whitney Kimball Coe, Jennifer Cohen-Jordan, Amanda T. Hedrick, Emily Schaad, and Anna Rachel Terman, with Patricia D. Beaver. *Appalachian Journal* 35, no. 4 (Summer): 318-332, including a list of books and articles published by Hatfield.

Hatfield, Sharon. 2009. "A Tribute to Danny L. Miller" [d. 2008]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 1 (Winter): 6-7.

Haughton, Matthew. 2011. Bee-Coursing Box: Poems. Lexington, Ky.: Accents. 32 pp.

Hawkins, Bill. 2005. *Prickett's Fort* [fiction; frontier and pioneer life in 1770s northern (W.)Va.]. Chapmanville, W.Va: Woodland Press. 240 pp.

Hawkins, Nyoka, comp. 1997. "A Gurney Norman Bibliography" [69 entries; primary and secondary]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 13 (Spring): 37-39.

Hays, Tommy. 2005. *The Pleasure Was Mine* [fiction; Alzheimer's disease; widower; S.C.]. New York: St. Martin's Press. 255 pp.

Hazen, Kirk, and Ellen Fluharty. 2001. "Defining Appalachian English." *American Language Review* 5 (May-June): 32-33.

Hazen, Kirk, and Ellen Fluharty. 2004. "Defining Appalachian English." In *Linguistic Diversity in the South: Changing Codes, Practices, and Ideology*, ed. M. Bender, 50-65. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 37. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Hazen, Kirk, and Sarah Hamilton. 2008. "A Dialect Turned Inside Out: Migration and the Appalachian Diaspora" [W. Va., Oh., Mich.]. *Journal of English Linguistics* 36, no. 2 (June): 105-128.

Hazen, Kirk, Paige Butcher, and Ashley King. 2010. "Unvernacular Appalachia: An Empirical Perspective on West Virginia Dialect Variation." *English Today: The International Review of the English Language* 26, no. 4 [104]: 13-22. County outline map.

Hazen, Kirk, Sarah Hamilton, and Sarah Vacovsky. 2011. "The Fall of Demonstrative *Them*: Evidence from Appalachia" [speech; linguistic change; tables]. *English World-Wide* 32, no. 1: 74-103.

Hazen, Kirk. 2006. "The Final Days of Appalachian Heritage Language." In *Language Variation and Change in the American Midland: A New Look at 'Heartland' English*, ed. T. Murray and B. Simon, 129-150. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Benjamins.

Hazen, Kirk. 2008. "(ING): A Vernacular Baseline for English in Appalachia." *American Speech* 83, no. 2 (Summer): 116-140. Sociogeographic, Southern-Northern divide; 67 W. Va. speakers.

Hazen, Kirk. 2011. "Flying High Above the Social Radar: Coronal Stop Deletion in Modern Appalachia." *Language Variation and Change* 23, no. 1 (March): 105-37. Tables; interviews with 67 speakers.

Heaberlin, Dick. 2008. Fountain Wells: Oilfield Novels of Ontario, Pennsylvania, Ohio, and West Virginia. San Marcos, Tex.: Orange House Books. 183 pp. "...a survey of the novels and short stories written about the events of the early oil fields," between 1877 and 1956.

Headley, Jason. 2004. *Small Town Odds* [debut novel; set in W. Va.]. San Francisco: Chronicle Books. 341 pp.

Heddendorf, David. 2008. "Wendell Berry's Living Room." *Sewanee Review* 116, no. 2 (Spring): 282-289. Berry's Kentucky River cabin and characters; *A Place on Earth* (1967), and "The Long-Legged House" (1969).

Hedrick, Helen Groves. 2001. *Sis and the Singing Hens* [children's literature]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 29 pp.

Hedrick, Helen Groves. 2002. *Rattlesnake Riddle: A Dolly Sods W. Va. Adventure* [juvenile fiction; field trip to Allegheny Highlands plateau, Dolly Sods, W. Va.]. Illustrations by Sara Miller. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 44 pp.

Hedrick, Helen Groves. 2008. *Life and Times of Ole Roan* [children's fiction]. Illustrations by Nick A. Korolev. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 38 pp. Recounts the story of four children, their life in 1920s rural West Virginia, and their relationship to their beloved milk cow, Ole Roan.

Hedrick, Helen Groves. 2009. *Tails, Trails, & Pies: An Appalachian Cattle Drive* [children's fiction]. Illustrated by Sue Ann Maxwell Spiker. Terra Alta, W.Va: Headline Books. 32 pp. "Dodd and Charley drive Mr. Jeff's cattle from his farm in Grant County over the mountain to summer pasture in Randolph County" [W. Va.; Depression-era 1930s].

Heffernan, Tim. 2004. "Transcripts of a Troubled Mind." *The Atlantic*, 29 April: online. Breece D'J Pancake (1952-1979), W. Va. http://www.theatlantic.com/doc/200404u/pancake.

Hemingway, Edith Morris. 2009. *Road to Tater Hill* [juvenile fiction; N.C.]. New York: Delacorte Press. 213 pp. "At her grandparents' North Carolina mountain home during the summer of 1963, eleven-year-old Annie Winters, grief-stricken by the death of her newborn

sister and isolated by her mother's deepening depression, finds comfort in holding an oblong stone 'rock baby' and in the friendship of a neighbor boy and a reclusive mountain woman with a devastating secret."

Hemphill, Helen. 2006. *Long Gone Daddy* [young adult fiction; 1960s]. Asheville, N.C.: Front Street. 174 pp. "Young Harlan Q. Stank gets a taste of life in the fast lane when he accompanies his preacher father on a road trip to Las Vegas to bury his grandfather and to fulfill the terms of the old man's will."

Hemphill, Helen. 2007. *Runaround* [young adult fiction; 1960s Ky.]. Asheville, N.C.: Front Street. 117 pp. "...partly as revenge against her older sister for publicly embarrassing her, eleven-year-old Sassy decides to make the handsomest boy in the neighborhood her boyfriend, but first she has to find out what makes a boy like a girl, and how to know when he does."

Henderson, LeAnne Davis. 2012. "'Your Own Born Granmammy Doctored with Rattleroot': Folk Medicine in Harriette Simpson Arnow's *Hunter's Horn*" [1949]. *Southern Quarterly* 49, no. 2-3 (Winter-Spring): 55, 66, 68-73, 152.

Hendricks, Randy, and James A. Perkins, ed. 2006. *David Madden: A Writer for All Genres*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 177 pp.

Hendricks, Randy. 2003. *The Twelfth Year and Other Times: Stories* [Monroe Co., Tenn. settings]. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 152 pp.

Hendrickson, Robert. 1997. *Mountain Range: A Dictionary of Expressions from Appalachia to the Ozarks*. Facts on File Dictionary of American Regional Expressions, vol. 4, New York: Facts on File. 147 pp.

Henninger, Katherine. 2007. "Envisioning 'White Trash': Excess and Access in Appalachia" [Bastard Out of Carolina, by Dorothy Allison, 1992]. Chap. 4 in Ordering the Facade: Photography and Contemporary Southern Women's Writing, 136-155. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Hensley, Judith Victoria. 2008. *Terrible Tina*. Cold Iron, Ky.: Ascended Ideas. 132 pp. Juvenile fiction; Sang Branch Elementary School, first-year teacher, fifth grade.

Henson, Heather. 2002. *Making the Run: A Novel* [Ky.; coming-of-age; fathers and daughters]. New York: Joanna Cotler Books. 227 pp.

Henson, Heather. 2005. *Angel Coming* [children's book; mountain preparations for a new baby; early 20th-century Ky.; Frontier Nursing Service ("angels on horseback"]. Illustrated by Susan Gaber. New York: Atheneum Books for Young Readers. 40 pp.

Henson, Michael. 2006. *Crow Call: Poems*. Albuquerque, N.M.: West End Press. 88 pp. Ode to Buddy Gray, Over-the Rhine activist for the poor and homeless, 1973-1996.

Henson, Michael. 2011. *The Tao of Longing; and, The Body Geographic: Poems*. Loveland, Oh.: Dos Madres. 37 pp. (*The Tao of Longing* previously published as a chapbook, 2005.)

Henson, Michael. 2012. *Tommy Perdue* [fiction]. Louisville, Ky.: MotesBooks. 96 pp. "Because a culture in decline holds few options for an unskilled and unpolished kid such as Tommy Perdue, he learns to exploit whatever is readily available....including addiction, including dubious compatriots, including crime. None of his choices are good ones. Tommy simply goes with the flow--and mostly what's flowing is a steady supply of Oxy."

Hermes, Patricia. 2002. *Sweet By and By* [juvenile fiction]. New York: HarperCollins. 192 pp. WWII-era Tenn. mountains; grandmother; death.

Herrick, Rick. 2002. *A Week in October* [Christian fiction]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 195 pp. Love story; Epicopalian priest; Valle Crucis, N.C.

Herrin, Roberta T. 2010. "Preface." In Appalachian Children's Literature: An

Annotated Bibliography, comps. R. Herrin and S. Oliver, 3-11. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Detailed, scholarly essay charting the history of children's literature in Appalachia.

Herrin, Roberta T. 2011. "Constancy and Change in Anne Shelby's Children's Books." *The Iron Mountain Review* 27 (Spring): 24-27.

Herrin, Roberta. 1996. "Gloria Houston and the Burden of the 'Old Culture'" [children's books]. *Appalachian Journal* 24 (Fall): 30-42.

Herrin, Roberta. 1998. "All That Is Native and Fun: Jo Carson's Children's Books." *The Iron Mountain Review* 14 (Summer): 19-23.

Herrin, Roberta. 2007. "Digging Is an Act of Faith" [...with a pen, regionally, in search of understanding...]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 2-3.

Herrin, Roberta. 2007. Review essay of *The Adventures of Molly Whuppie and Other Appalachian Folktales*, by Anne Shelby (University of North Carolina Press, 2007). *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 74.

Herring, Gina. 1998. "Politics and Men: What's 'Really Important' About Meredith Sue Willis and Blair Ellen Morgan" [*Higher Ground* (1981); *Only Great Changes* (1985, rpt. 1997); *Trespassers* (1997)]. *Appalachian Journal* 25 (Summer): 414-422.

Herring, Gina. 1999. "Sentimental Journey: Janice Holt Giles Finds a Career But No Immortality in Appalachia." *Appalachian Journal* 26 (Spring): 274-282. Review essay of *Janice Holt Giles: A Writer's Life*, by Dianne Watkins Stuart (University Press of Kentucky, 1998).

Herring, Gina. 2000. "Climbing Paradox Mountain: The Stories of Robert Morgan." *Appalachian Journal* 27 (Spring): 260-271. Review essay of *The Balm of Gilead Tree: New and Selected Stories*, by Robert Morgan (Frankfort, Ky.: Gnomon Press, 1999).

Herring, Gina. 2001. "The Feminine Mystique and Elizabeth Madox Roberts." *Appalachian Journal* 28 (Winter): 188-203. Review essay of Roberts' novel *The Time of Man* (University Press of Kentucky, [1926] 2000).

Herring, Gina. 2002. "'Approaching the Alter': Aesthetic Homecoming in the Poetry of Linda Marion and Lynn Powell." *Appalachian Heritage* 30 (Spring): 20-30.

Herring, Gina. 2007. "Fox fire in my head, but soggy wood on paper': Harriette Simpson Arnow's Experiments in the Short Story." *Mississippi Quarterly* 60, no. 2 (Spring): 421-425. Review essay of *The Collected Short Stories of Harriette Simpson Arnow*, ed. S. Ballard and H. Chung (Michigan State University Press, 2005).

Herring, Gina. 2010. Review essay of *FATHER*, by Jeff Daniel Marion (poems; Wind Publications, 2009). *Southern Quarterly* 47, no. 3 (Spring): 198-201.

Hickam, Homer. 2007. *Red Helmet* [romance/mystery; W. Va. coal town; N.Y.C.]. Nashville, Tenn.: Thomas Nelson. 341 pp.

Hicks, A. Jane. 2002. "Felix Culpa." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Summer): 3-4. Prize-winning poem, with author profile by Jane Harris Woodside.

Hicks, Jane. 2004. "How I Became the Voice in the Headset or a Writer's Crew Chief" [Sharyn McCrumb; *St. Dale* (New York: Kensington Press, 2005)]. *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Fall): 24-26.

Hicks, Jane. 2005. *Blood and Bone Remember: Poems from Appalachia* [26 poems]. Introduction by Silas House. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 78 pp.

Hicks, Jane. 2007. "Hindman's Appeal." *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 3 (Summer): 46-49. Appalachian Writers Workshop, Hindman Settlement School, Ky.

Higgins, Anna Dunlap. 2003. "'To Walk These Hills': Poetic Inspiration for Appalachian Poet Hilda Downer." *North Carolina Literary Review* 12: 174-183.

Higgins, Anna Dunlap. 2004. "'Anything but Surrender': Preserving Southern Appalachia in the Works of Ron Rash." *North Carolina Literary Review* 13: 49-58.

Higgs, Robert J. 1997. "Are You Quality, Or Do You Stack?": Appalachia and the Future of Southern Letters." *Appalachian Journal* 25 (Fall): 62-83.

Higgs, Robert J. 1998. "Where's Love?': The Overheard Quest in the Stories of Jo Carson." *The Iron Mountain Review* 14 (Summer): 9-18.

Higgs, Robert J. 2004. "Modern Appalachian Writers" [sidebar in Chap. 17, "Tennessee Fiction since 1920"]. In *A History of Tennessee Arts: Creating Traditions, Expanding Horizons*, ed. C. West and M. Binnicker, 307-308. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

High, Ellisa Clay. 2002. "Maggie Anderson: Two Languages." In *Her Words: Diverse Voices in Contemporary Appalachian Women's Poetry*, ed. Felicia Mitchell, 3-9. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Hill, Reinhold L. 2000. "These Stories Are Not 'Real,' But They Are As True As I Can Make Them': Lee Smith's Literary Ethnography." *Southern Folklore* 57 (no. 2): 106-118.

Hillchild: A Folklore Chapbook About, for, and by West Virginia Children. Vol. 2, 2003. Edited by Judy P. Byers and Noel W. Tenney. Fairmont: West Virginia Folklife Center at Fairmont State. 30 pp.

Hillchild: A Folklore Chapbook About, for, and by West Virginia Children. Vol. 1, 2002. Edited by Noel W. Tenney and Judy P. Byers. Fairmont: West Virginia Folklife Center at Fairmont State College.

Hinnefeld, Joyce. 2010. *Stranger Here Below* [fiction]. Columbia, Mo.: Unbridled Books. 268 pp. Berea College, 1961; women; African Americans; Shaker community at Pleasant Hill, Ky.

Hinrichsen, Lisa. 2011. "Economies of Desire and the Feminine Sublime in Elizabeth Madox Roberts's *The Time of Man* [Viking, 1926]. *Southern Quarterly* 48, no. 3 (Spring): 34-51,158.

Hite, Ann. 2011. *Ghost on Black Mountain* [mystery fiction]. New York: Gallery Books. 329 pp. Southern mountain Gothic, spanning generations, and told in the "voices of five women whose lives are inextricably bound when a murder takes place in rural Depression-era North Carolina."

Hodges, Mary Bozeman. 1999. *Tough Customers and Other Stories: Tales from Tennessee & Southern Appalachia* [fiction; Tenn.]. Introduction by Gurney Norman. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 158 pp.

Hodges, Mary Bozeman. 2003. *Plastic Santa, and Other Stories* [eight humorous stories]. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Tellico Books. 71 pp.

Hodges, Robert. 2011. "Unionism and Wartime Reconstruction in West Virginia and Tennessee, 1861-1865." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 82 (2010): 53-75. Secession; Union generals William Tecumseh Sherman and Don Carlos Buell in Tennessee.

Hoffman, D. E. 2011. *The Hemlock* [fiction; W. Va.]. Charleston, W. Va.: Mountain State Press. 123 pp. Adventures of tenants in a 22-room mansion-turned-rooming house.

Hoffman, David O. 2006. "Heritage Writer, Willa Cather (1873-1947)." In *Anthology of Appalachian Writers: Ron Rash*, Vol. IV, ed. S. Shurbutt, 137-141. Shepherdstown, W. Va.: Shepherd University. Discusses Cather's Virginia roots and reviews her last novel, *Sapphira and the Slave Girl* (Knopf, 1940), which opens in Back Creek, Va., just before the Civil War.

Hoffman, William. 1998. *Tidewater Blood: A Novel* [W. Va.]. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books. 300 pp.

Hoffman, William. 2000. *Blood and Guile* [crime mystery; W. Va.]. New York: HarperCollins. 239 pp.

Hoffman, William. 2002. "William Hoffman's Fictional Journey: An Interview." By Casey Clabough. *Southern Quarterly* 41 (Fall): 80-86.

Hoffman, William. 2002. *Wild Thorn* [mystery; "Shawnee Co.," W. Va.; mountain woman]. New York: HarperCollins. 293 pp.

Hogg, Amy. 2012. *Callie Rose* [novel for young readers]. Louisville, Ky.: Motes Books. 152 pp. Story of an eleven-year-old girl who spends the summer helping on her grandparents' farm when her mother leaves the family, and learning "lessons about growing up." The author is from Letcher County, Ky.

Hokenson, Jan Walsh. 2001. "Fool's Wisdom: The Learning of Laughter" [the comic in novelist Lisa Alther's work]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 17 (Spring): 21-27.

Holbrook, Chris. 1995. *Hell and Ohio: Stories of Southern Appalachia*. Frankfort, Ky: Gnomon Press.

Holbrook, Chris. 2009. *Upheaval: Stories* [eight short stories]. Kentucky Voices series. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 151 pp.

Holland-Toll, Linda J. 2006. "Bridges Over and Bedrock Beneath: The Role of Ballads in Sharyn McCrumb's Ballad Novels." *Journal of American Culture* 29, no. 3 (September): 337-344.

Holliday, Shawn. 2001. *Thomas Wolfe and the Politics of Modernism*. American University Studies, Series 24; American Literature, vol. 73. New York: Peter Lang. 156 pp.

Holliday, Shawn. 2006. Review essay of *A Wild Perfection: The Selected Letters of James Wright* [1927-1980], ed. A. Wright and S. Maley (Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 2005). *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 2 (Spring): 94-96.

Holliday, Shawn. 2007. "A Thomas Wolfe Bibliography: Suggested Secondary Sources" [eight book titles; Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 4 (Fall): 44-45.

Holliday, Shawn. 2007. "A Thomas Wolfe Annotated Bibliography" [Featured Author; 12 primary works]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 4 (Fall): 22-24.

Holliday, Shawn. 2007. "Introduction to the Three Story Fragments of Thomas Wolfe" [housed at Harvard University's Houghton Library; Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 4 (Fall): 9-10. Unpublished manuscripts: "The Mountaineers Learning Marksmanship," 11-12; "The Haunted Grove," 25-26; "A Recollection," 32-35.

Holloway, Kimberley M. 2003. "Introduction: From a Race of Storytellers." In *From a Race of Storytellers: Essays on the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb*, ed. K. Holloway, 1-6. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Holloway, Kimberley M. 2003. "Mythical Mountains: The Mythology of Sharyn McCrumb's Ballad Series." In *From a Race of Storytellers: Essays on the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb*, ed. K. Holloway, 111-121. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Holloway, Kimberley M. 2003. "The Past as Present: Ghosts of the Past in Sharyn McCrumb's *Ghost Riders*" [2003]. In *From a Race of Storytellers: Essays on the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb*, ed. K. Holloway, 179-184. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Holloway, Kimberley M. 2006. "Keeping the Legends: Celtic Mythology in the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb." *The Iron Mountain Review* 22 (Spring): 7-14.

Holloway, Kimberley M., ed. 2003. From a Race of Storytellers: Essays on the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb [16 articles and essays]. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 200 pp.

Holman, Sheri. 2011. *Witches on the Road Tonight* [fiction]. New York: Atlantic Monthly Press. 263 pp. "His private life shattered amid rumors of his mother's witchcraft activities, Eddie Alley leaves his Depression-era Virginia hometown to begin a television career in New York and finds the past returning years later when he offers shelter to a homeless teen."

Holt, Stephen M. 2000. *Late Mowing: Poems and Essays* [Ky.]. Introduction by Kathryn Stripling Byer. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 96 pp.

Holt, Stephen M. 2007. *Elegy for September* [poems]. Foreword by Kathryn Stripling Byer. Greensboro, N.C.: March Street Press. 59 pp.

hooks, bell. 2012. "A Conversation with bell hooks." Interviewed by George Brosi. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 102-109. First in a series of interviews.

hooks, bell. 2012. "Appalachian Elegy: An Introduction [forthcoming; excerpts: Poem #1; Poem #3; Poem #5; Poem #7]. Appalachian Heritage 40, no. 1 (Winter): 52-55. "To live in Appalachia todaythere is also a lingering anguish of spirit constantly when we witness the ongoing destruction of our mountains, the pollution of our waters."

hooks, bell. 2012. *Appalachian Elegy: Poetry and Place* [African American/Kentucky roots; b. 1952]. Kentucky Voices series. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 79 pp. "A collection of poems centered around life in Appalachia addresses topics ranging from the marginalization of the region's people to the environmental degradation it has endured throughout history."

Hooper, Kay. [1985] 1999. *Eye of the Beholder* [romance; W. Va.]. Sutton, England: Severn House. 177 pp. "Originally published in the USA...under the pseudonym Kay Robbins."

Hooper, Kay. 2012. *Haven* [occult, horror fiction; N.C.]. Bishop/Special Crimes Unit series. New York: Berkley Books. 326 pp.

Hope-Gill, Laura. 2010. "Answering the Call of the Mountains: Asheville's WordFest, an Intercultural Poetry Festival" [N.C.]. Interview by Glenis Redmond. *Pluck: The Journal of Affrilachian Arts & Culture*, no. 5: 35-37. Hope-Gill is Director of WordFest.

Hopkins, Bruce. 2009. *Hearts in Zion: Steel, Coal, and an Appalachian Family* [fiction; early 20th-century Greasy Creek, Pike Co., Ky.]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 206 pp.

Hopkins, Lila. 2002. Weave Me a Song: A Novel: A Chronicle of Family Devotion, A Story of Love, Betrayal, Forgiveness and Reunion [N.C.]. Boone, N.C.: High Country Publishers. 229 pp.

Hopkins, Lila. 2008. *The Master Craftsman: Heartwarming Novel of Father-Son Relationships and the Incredible Gifts of Love*. Boone, N.C.: High Country Publishers. 184 pp. Three generations; N.C.; kidney transplant.

Hopkins, Shawna Lee. 2002. *Rooster Creek Girl Runs Away* [fiction; Ky.; 14-year-old]. Chicago: Adams Press. 63 pp.

Horn, Alena. 2010. "'I Can't Help It the Way I Talk': Dialect, Language Attitudes, and Style Shift in Country Music" [Loretta Lynn]. Chap. 6 in *Barbarians at the Gate: Studies in Language Attitudes*, ed. Patricia Donaher, 158-182. Newcastle upon Tyne, England: Cambridge Scholars.

Horn, Tammy. 2001. "Honey Breeding: An Appalachian Aristaeus in Lee Smith's Fair and Tender Ladies" [1988]. Journal of Kentucky Studies 18 (September): 106-110.

Horn, Tammy. 2002. "Re-Examining the Negative Appalachian Stereotypes in the Southern Highlands: Evelyn Scott's *Witch Perkins: A Story of the Kentucky Hills* [New York: Holt, 1929]. *Appalachian Heritage* 30 (Summer): 35-40.

Horne, Jennifer, ed. 2003. *Working the Dirt: An Anthology of Southern Poets* [100 agrarian poems]. Montgomery, Ala.: NewSouth Books. 208 pp. [poets include Fred Chappell, Robert Morgan, Wendell Berry, Jesse Stuart, James Still, R. T. Smith, George Scarbrough, Wade Hall, Nikki Giovanni].

Horton, Matthew R. 2002. "'Hallucinated Recollections': Narrative as Spatialized Perception of History in *The Orchard Keeper*." In *Cormac McCarthy: New Directions*, ed. J. Lilly, 285-312. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press.

Houchin, Ron. 1997. *Death and the River* [poems]. Cliffs of Moher, Co. Clare, Ireland: Salmon Poetry. 79 pp.

Houchin, Ron. 2002. *Moveable Darkness* [poetry]. Salmon Poetry. County Clare, Ireland: Salmon Publishing. 66 pp.

Houchin, Ron. 2004. *Among Wordless Things: Poems*. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 91 pp.

Houchin, Ron. 2008. *Birds in the Tops of Winter Trees* [poems]. Foreword by Marianne Worthington. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 74 pp.

Houchin, Ron. 2009. *Museum Crows* [poems]. Cliffs of Moher, Co. Clare, Ireland: Salmon Poetry. 80 pp.

Houchin, Ron. 2012. *Tales Out of School* [fiction]. Nicholasville, Ky: Wind Publications. 141 pp. Twenty short stories; 1960s Huntington, W. Va.

House, Silas. 2001. "Family Pieces: Interview with Silas House" [author of *Clay's Quilt* (2001)]. By Marianne Worthington. *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Fall): 15-20.

House, Silas. 2001. *Clay's Quilt: A Novel* [Ky.]. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 292 pp.

House, Silas. 2002. "Making Himself Heard" [praise for Ron Rash]. *Appalachian Heritage* 30 (Fall): 11-14.

House, Silas. 2002. "The Hand That Wrote *The Dollmaker*: A Tribute to Harriette Arnow" [1908-1986]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Winter): 8-10.

House, Silas. 2002. "What I Don't Know -- and Do" [using fiction to recreate a lost past; excerpt from *A Parchment of Leaves* (Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill, 2002)]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Summer): 35-38.

House, Silas. 2002. A Parchment of Leaves: A Novel [1917 Ky.]. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 275 pp.

House, Silas. 2003. "A Conversation with Writer Silas House" [author of *Clay's Quilt* (2001) and *A Parchment of Leaves* (2002)]. Interview by Janna McMahan. *Appalachian Journal* 31 (Fall): 96-107.

House, Silas. 2003. "A Day with Lee Smith" [interview; profile]. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Winter): 16-23.

House, Silas. 2004. "A Matter of Life and Death: Old and New Appalachia Meet in *One Foot in Eden*" [2002 novel by Ron Rash: Charlotte: Novello Press, 2002]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 20 (Spring): 21-25.

House, Silas. 2004. *The Coal Tattoo: A Novel* [1960s Ky.; prequel to *Clay's Quilt* (2001); Kentucky Literary Award winner for fiction]. Chapel Hill: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 336 pp.

House, Silas. 2007. "A Role Model Worth Having." [Featured Author, Earl Hamner]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 2 (Spring): 43-45. Essay originally appeared as the introduction to *Earl Hamner: From Walton's Mountain to Tomorrow* (2005), by James Person.

House, Silas. 2008. *The Hurting Part: Evolution of an American Play*. Louisville, Ky.: MotesBooks. 119 pp. Three-act drama, plus story it is based on; Appalachian dialect; family vignettes.

House, Silas. 2009. "Appalachia In Her Hands" [Pamela Duncan, featured author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 2 (Spring): 12-13.

House, Silas. 2009. "The Silas House Interview" [taped Oct. 2008]. By Rob Merritt and Joe Champagne. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 4, no. 1 (Summer/Fall): Interview section, 20 thumbnail videos. http://nantahalareview.org/issue4-1/view4-1/SH.html.

House, Silas. 2009. *Eli the Good* [adolescent fiction; 1976 Bicentennial celebration; 10-year-old's father's Vietnam War flashbacks]. Somerville, Mass: Candlewick Press. 295 pp.

House, Silas. 2010. "A Certain Kind of Christian" [essay]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 26 (Spring): 4-7.

House, Silas. 2010. "Illuminating Essential Truths: A Conversation (Recorded at the Silas House Literary Festival, Emory & Henry College, October 30, 2009)." Interview by Pamela Duncan. *The Iron Mountain Review* 26 (Spring): 27-35.

House, Silas. 2011. *Recruiters: A Story* [short story; Ky.; military recruiters]. Illustrated by Arwen Donahue, and includes 'Brennen's Ballad,' by Sue Massek. Monterey, Ky.: Larkspur Press. 40 pp.

House, Silas. 2012. "The Art of Being Still." *Opinionator* (blog). *New York Times*, 1 December. 1,116 words. On the art of writing, and James Still.

http://opinionator.blogs.nytimes.com/2012/12/01/the-art-of-being-still/?emc=eta1.

House, Silas. 2012. Review essay of *The Evening Hour*, by Carter Sickels (Bloomsbury Books, 2012). *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 4 (Fall): 94-97.

House, Silas, and Neela Vaswani. 2012. *Same Sun Here* [fiction; school-age audience]. Somerville, Mass.: Candlewick Press. 297 pp. "A twelve-year-old Indian immigrant in New York City and a Kentucky coal miner's son become pen pals...through a series of revealing letters exploring such topics as... immigration, and racism"...."faithful dogs....the death of Meena's grandmother in India....devastating mountaintop removal....the power and powerlessness of the individual and community, and the great value of being and having a friend."

House, Teresa Ann Gabbard. 2004. "Stick-Shifts, Bluegills and Dancing" [about her husband, novelist Silas House; see also appended brief Featured Author pieces in this issue: "Fascinated by the World," by Terry Dean Hoskins (Silas's cousin); "Born to Write," by Sandra Stidham (Silas's seventh-grade English teacher); and "Living the Creed," by Brooke Calton (Silas's writing student)]. *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Spring): 16-22.

Houston, Gloria. [1990] 2008. *Littlejim*. Illustrated by Thomas B. Allen. Rpt. ed. Fairview, N.C.: Bright Mountain Books. 172 pp. Originally published: New York: Philomel Books. Children's fiction, N.C. mountains; 12-year-old; WWI-era.

Houston, Gloria. [1992] 1997. *My Great-Aunt Arizona* [N.C.; children's literature; biography,1876-1969]. New York: Demco Media. Previously published: New York: HarperCollins.

Hovis, George. 2000. "'When You Got True Dirt You Got Everything You Need': Forging an Appalachian Arcadia in Fred Chappell's *Midquest*" [1981 epic poem cycle]. *Mississippi Quarterly* 53 (Summer): 389-414.

Hovis, George. 2004. "Darker Vices and Nearly Incomprehensible Sins: The Fate of Poe in Fred Chappell's Early Novels." In *More Lights Than One: On the Fiction of Fred Chappell*, ed. P. Bizarro, 28-50. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Hovis, George. 2006. "Assuming the Mantle of Storyteller: Fred Chappell and Frontier Humor." In *The Enduring Legacy of Old Southwest Humor*, ed. E. Piacentino, 156-173. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Hovis, George. 2007. "In Praise of 'Forward-Looking Men': Thomas Wolfe's Rejection of Pastoral in 'The Hills Beyond'" [Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 4 (Fall): 47-57.

Hovis, George. 2007. *Vale of Humility: Plain Folk in Contemporary North Carolina Fiction*. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 325 pp. Contents: Introduction: Plain Folk and the Yeoman Ideal in Contemporary North Carolina Fiction -- Doris Betts: Plain Folk in Mill Town -- Reynolds Price: Plain Folk in the Tobacco Belt -- Fred Chappell's Prison/Arcadia: Plain

Folk in Appalachia -- Lee Smith: The Yeoman's Wife -- Clyde Edgerton: The Embattled Yeoman -- Randall Kenan: The Black Yeoman -- Conclusion: The Yeoman's Legacy.

Howard, Elizabeth. 2005. *Gleaners* [poetry; East Tenn.]. Cordova, Tenn.: Grandmother Earth. 76 pp.

Howard, Jason. 2011. "Where's the Madness?" *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 2 (Spring): 29-29. Karen Salyer McElmurray poses the word "transcendence" to students at Hindman Settlement School's 2009 Appalachian Writers Workshop.

Howard, Jennifer. 1995. "Interview With Mary Lee Settle" [special issue: Southern Novelists on Stage and Screen]. *Southern Quarterly* 33 (Winter-Spring): 79-83.

Howard, Julie Kate. 2002. "In Her Own Image: Characterizing Theology in Kathryn Stripling Byer's Poetry." *The Iron Mountain Review* 18 (Spring): 24-29.

Howard, Lee (Beverly Lee). 2010. *Harvest of Fire: New and Collected Works* [poems and stories; d. 2003]. Edited by George Ella Lyon. Foreward by Gurney Norman; afterword by Anne Shelby; interview with Tammy DeRidder. Louisville, Ky.: MotesBooks. 287 pp.

Huddle, David. 1992. *The Writing Habit* [12 essays]. Salt Lake City: Peregrine Smith Books. 209 pp. Subsequently published: Burlington, Vt.: University of Vermont; Hanover, N.H.: University Press of New England, 1994.

Huddle, David. 1995. *Tenorman: A Novella* [jazz musicians]. San Francisco: Chronicle Books. 121 pp. "A spoof on the culture-preservation programs of the National Endowment for the Arts."

Huddle, David. 1996. "David Huddle." Interview by Tal Stanley. *Appalachian Journal* 23 (Winter): 174-187.

Huddle, David. 1999. *Summer Lake: New and Selected Poems* [Va.]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 172 pp.

Huddle, David. 1999. *The Story of a Million Years* [first novel; Va.]. Boston: Houghton Mifflin. 189 pp.

Huddle, David. 2000. *Not: A Trio: Two Stories and a Novella* [Vermont setting]. Notre Dame, Ind.: University of Notre Dame Press. 105 pp.

Huddle, David. 2004. *Grayscale: Poems* [29 poems; Blue Ridge; author's fifth collection]. Southern Messenger Poets. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 56 pp.

Huddle, David. 2008. *Glory River: Poems*. Southern Messenger Poets. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 66 pp.

Huddle, David. 2011. *Nothing Can Make Me Do This* [fiction]. North Adams, Mass.: Tupelo Press. 302 pp. Contents: The way of the blue-winged wangdoodle | Doubt administration | A thousand wives | Wages of love | Half man | Hannah outside in | Helga after midnight | Snow day | High on a hill | Volunteer | Invisible horse | Two lives: a story about death.

Huddle, David. 2012. *Blacksnake at the Family Reunion: Poems*. Southern Messenger Poets series. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 55 pp.

Hudson, Charles M. 2003. *Conversations with the High Priest of Coosa* [historical fiction; 1559 exchanges between Spaniards and ancient natives of Ala., Ga., N.C.]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 222 pp.

Hudson, Charles M. 2009. *The Packhorseman* [historical fiction; 1735 S.C.; fur trade; Scotsman; Cherokees]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 266 pp.

Hudspeth, Dory L. 2008. I'll Fly Away: Poems. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 29 pp.

Hughes, Charlie. 2002. *Shifting for Myself* [poems]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 105 pp.

Hughes, Charlie. 2010. Body and Blood: Poems. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 83 pp.

Hughes, Linda K. 2002. "Harington's Highlanders: Donald Harington's Ozarks and the Mapping of Cultures." *Southern Quarterly* 40 (Winter): 39-50.

Hull, Howard. 2012. *Dakota Rose: And Other Stories*. Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse. 185 pp. Seventeen stories, some set in Tenn. and W. Va.

Humez, Nick. 2002. "Uncle Fud" [use of kinship terms; ballads, poetry]. *Verbatim: The Language Quarterly* 27 (Summer): 23-27.

Hunter, David. 2000. A Whiff of Garlic [mystery; Tenn.]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Silver Dagger Mysteries. 186 pp.

Huntley, Reid D. 1997. "Thomas Wolfe as a Middle Class Appalachian Writer." *Pembroke Magazine* 29: 92-96.

Huskey, Rebecca Kathleen. 2012. "The 'Hard Freight' Borne by the 'Brave Child': Theological Humanism in the Poetry of Charles Wright and Gregory Orr." *Theology Today* 69, no. 1 (April): 43-55.

Hyduke, Greg. 2001. "Dim Prosceniums, Squinty Eyeballs, Seeing between the Lines, and a Strange Sweet Woe: An Examination of 'Ne(i)ther' Light, Visual Acuity, and Consciousness in *Suttree*" [1979]. *Cormac McCarthy Journal* 1, no. 1: 62-65.

Hyman, Eric. 2006. "The All of You-All." American Speech 81, no. 3 (Fall): 325-331.

Idol, John L., Jr. 2000. "Thomas Wolfe Gets Over Himself" [literary biography]. *Appalachian Journal* 27 (Summer): 344-353.

Idol, John L., Jr. 2007. "Thomas Wolfe: A Biographical Sketch" [Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 4 (Fall): 13-20.

In Their Own Country: Fourteen Entertaining Visits with Fourteen of West Virginia's Most Celebrated Writers [14 sound discs, each containing an hour-long interview with/about one of the following writers: Irene McKinney, Denise Giardina, Richard Currey, Cynthia Rylant, Keith Maillard, Jayne Anne Phillips, Sandra Belton, Pinckney Benedict, Breece D'J Pancake, Maggie Anderson, Stephen Coonts, Marc Harshman, Davis Grubb, Mary Lee Settle]. 2003. Produced and hosted by Kate Long. Charleston: West Virginia Library Commission.

Inge, M. Thomas, ed. 2006. *Literature* [31 essays; 224 author profiles]. Vol. 9 of *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 511 pp.

Inge, M. Thomas. 2008. "Searching for Sut: Solving the Mystery of George Washington Harris's Gravesite." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 65-67. Humorist; Knoxville and Chattanooga, Tenn.

Inman, Robert. 1997. *Dairy Queen Days: A Novel* [Ga.; 1979]. Boston: Little, Brown. 283 pp. At 16, Trout Moseley's mother has been hospitalized for depression and his preacher father has been scandalizing parishioners.

Inman, Robert. 2006. *The Christmas Bus* [children's fiction; orphanage]. Illustrations by Lyle Baskin. Charlotte, N.C.: Novello Festival Press. 77 pp.

Inscoe, John C. 1998. "Appalachian Odysseus: Love, War, and Best-Sellerdom in the Blue Ridge." *Appalachian Journal* 25 (Spring): 330-337. Review essay of Charles Frazier's novel *Cold Mountain* (Atlantic Monthly Press, 1997).

Inscoe, John. 2012. "Willa Cather's *Sapphira and the Slave Girl* in Appalachian Context: A Review Essay [1st ed., 1940]. *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 1-2 (Fall 2011/Winter 2012): 126-135. Reviews *Sapphira and the Slave Girl* (Random House, Vintage Classics Edition, 2010); and *Sapphira and the Slave Girl*, with historical essay and explanatory notes by Ann Romines, textual essay and editing by Charles W. Mignon, Kari A. Ronning, and Frederick M. Link (University of Nebraska Press, 2009).

Isabel Zuber, 1932— [author of new novel *Salt*; bio-bibliographical guide]. 2004. *Contemporary Authors* 222: 452-454.

Ivie, Doris, and Leslie M. LaChance, ed. 2001. *Breathing the Same Air: An East Tennessee Anthology* [Knoxville Writers' Guild; 83 authors; poetry, short stories, essays,nonfiction]. Knoxville, Tenn.: Celtic Cat Publishing. 318 pp.

Jackson, Dot. 2006. *Refuge: A Novel*. Charlotte, N.C.: Novello Festival Press. 346 pp. Weatherford Award winner for fiction and poetry. 1929 setting; "A Charlestonian woman escapes her husband and returns to her family's abandoned homestead in the Appalachian mountains."

Jackson, Joe. 2004. *How I Left the Great State of Tennessee and Went on to Better Things: A Novel* [1960s picaresque; 16-year-old Dahlia's coming of age]. New York: Carroll & Graf. 357 pp.

Jackson, Dot. 2010. "A Review of Recent Plays by Gary Carden." *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 57, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 56-59. Monologues: *The Prince of Dark Corners* and *Nance Dude*.

Jacobsen, Karen J. 2007. "Another Reappraisal: The Cultural Work of Mary Noailles Murfree's *In the Tennessee Mountains*" [(1884); question of stereotyped characters]. *Appalachian Journal* 35, no. 1-2 (Fall 2007-Winter 2008): 90-107.

James B. Goode [featured contemporary author]. 2003. Appalachian Heritage 31 (Spring): 6-30.

James Still Issue. 2010. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 4 (Fall): 1-65. Essays, reminiscences, correspondence, photographs, plus stories and poetry by Still.

Janeshek, Jessie, and Jesse Graves, ed. 2008. *Outscape: Writings on Fences and Frontiers* [of east Tenn.]. Knoxville, Tenn.: Knoxville Writers' Guild. 282 pp. One hundred contributions of fiction, poetry, essays, and visual arts.

Jared, Wanda. 2003. "Nora Bonesteel in the Novels of Sharyn McCrumb's Ballad Series." In *From a Race of Storytellers: Essays on the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb*, ed. K. Holloway, 137-144. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Jarrett, Robert L. 1997. *Cormac McCarthy*. Twayne's United States Authors Series; TUSAS 679, New York: Twayne Publishers. 175 pp.

Jayne Anne Phillips [Featured Author]. 2009. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 1 (Winter): 12-42. Three articles plus an excerpt from Phillips's forthcoming novel, *Lark and Termite* (Knopf, 2009).

Jayne, Mitchell F. 2000. *Home Grown Stories & Home Fried Lies: Words with the Bark on Them & Other Ozark Oddments*. Illustrated by Diana Jayne. St. Louis, Mo.: Wildstone Media. 283 pp.

Jeff Daniel Marion Issue, edited by John Lang. 1995. Special issue, *The Iron Mountain Review* 11 (Spring): 1-40.

Jeff Daniel Marion [featured contemporary author]. 2003. Appalachian Heritage 31 (Fall): 16-45.

Jenks, Philip. 2002. On the Cave You Live In [poems; W. Va., Ky.]. Chicago: Flood Editions. 50 pp.

Jennings, Rachel. 2003. "Celtic Women and White Guilt: Frankie Silver and Chipita Rodriguez in Folk Memory" [Sharyn McCrumb, *The Ballad of Frankie Silver*, New York: Dutton, 1998]. *Melus* 28 (Spring): 17-37.

Jennings, Rachel. 2008. *Elijah's Farm*. San Antonio, Tex.: Pecan Grove Press. 66 pp. Poems: Spanish-Texas/Appalachian.

Jennings, Rachel. 2011. *Knoxville Girl: The Walk to the River* [poems]. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 28 pp.

Jentsch, Nancy K., and Danny L. Miller. 2003. "A Song to Sing: Women in Sharyn McCrumb's Ballad Series." In *From a Race of Storytellers: Essays on the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb*, ed. K. Holloway, 93-110. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Jentsch, Nancy K., and Danny L. Miller. 2005. "Lighting the Fuse: Wilma Dykeman and Sharyn McCrumb as Appalachian 'Activists'." In *Beyond Hill and Hollow: Original Readings in Appalachian Women's Studies*, ed. E. Englehardt, 75-94. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Jim Wayne Miller [Featured Author; 1936-1996]. 2009. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 3 (Summer): 8-39. Three articles, four poems by Miller, cover photos ("Jim Wayne Miller in first grade"), and family photos.

Jo Carson Bibliography [30 entries: books, plays, essays and interviews]. 1998. *The Iron Mountain Review* 14 (Summer): 38-39.

Jo Carson Issue, edited by John Lang. 1998. Special issue, *The Iron Mountain Review* 14 (Summer): 1-39.

Johnson, Don. 2009. *Here and Gone: New & Selected Poems*. Hammond, La.: Louisiana Literature Press. 108 pp. Twenty-six new poems, plus 31 poems reprinted from *The Importance of Visible Scars* (1984) and *Watauga Drawdown* (1990).

Johnson, Fenton. 1995. "Fenton Johnson." Interview by Anna Creadick. *Appalachian Journal* 22 (Winter): 160-173.

Johnson, Fenton. 1996. Geography of the Heart: A Memoir. New York: Scribner. 208 pp.

Johnson, Lee. 2012. "The Poems of Breece D'J Pancake." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 3 (Summer): 19-23.

Johnson, Paul Brett. 1999. *Old Dry Frye* [children's folktale]. Illustrations by the author. New York: Scholastic Press. 32 pp.

Johnson, Paul Brett. 2001. *Fearless Jack* [illustrated children's folktale]. New York: Margaret K. McElderry Books. 32 pp.

Johnson, Paul Brett. 2002. *Jack Outwits the Giants* [illustrated children's folktale]. New York: Margaret K. McElderry Books. 32 pp.

Johnson, Paul Brett. 2003. "Interview with Paul Brett Johnson, Children's Author & Illustrator." By Renee Critcher. *Appalachian Journal* 30 (Summer): 356-366.

Johnstone, Barbara. 2009. "Pittsburghese Shirts: Commodification and the Enregisterment of an Urban Dialect." *American Speech* 84, no. 2 (Summer): 157-175.

Jolliff, William F. 2000. Review essay of four poetry collections. *Appalachian Heritage* 28 (Winter): 64-74. *The River Hills and Beyond*, by Lou V. Crabtree (Abingdon, Va.: Sow's Ear Press, 1998); *The Silence of Blackberries*, by Victor Depta (Martin, Tenn.: Blair Mountain Press, 1999); *When It Came Time*, by Jeri McCormick (Cliffs of Moher, Co. Clare: Salmon Publishing, 1998); *Necessary Motions*, by Sam Rasnake (Abingdon, Va.: Sow's Ear Press, 1998).

Jolliff, William. 2008. "Revisioning the Journey of Lewis and Clark: Frank X Walker's York Poems." *Appalachian Journal* 36, no. 1-2 (Fall 2008/Winter 2009): 90-96. Review essay of *Buffalo Dance: The Journey of York* (2004), and *When Winter Come: The Ascension of York* (2007), both published by University Press of Kentucky.

Jolliff, William. 2011. "Redeeming the Serpentine Subtext: Dennis Covington's Appropriation of Hemingway's *The Sun Also Rises* in *Salvation on Sand Mountain* [Penguin, 1995]. *Hemingway Review* 30, no. 2 (Spring): 73-87.

Jolliff, William. 2011. "Truth-Telling in Four Books of Appalachian Poetry" [review essay]. *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 4 (Summer): 448-453. Reviewed: *Sawmill Boys*, by Neva Bryan (Saint Paul, Va.: Brighid Editions, 2010); *I'll Fly Away*, by Dory L. Hudspeth (Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press, 2008); *The Well String*, by Noel Smith (Louisville, Ky.: MotesBooks, 2008); *No Matter How Many Windows*, by Jeanne Bryner (Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications, 2010).

Jones, Holly Goddard. 2009. *Girl Trouble: Stories* [fiction; small town Ky.]. New York: HarperPerennial. 324 pp.

Jones, Libby Falk. 2010. *Above the Eastern Treetops, Blue: Poems*. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 28 pp.

Jones, Loyal. 2002. "Leicester Luminist Lighted Local Language and Lore" [memories of Jim Wayne Miller]. *Appalachian Heritage* 30 (Winter): 18-25.

Jones, Loyal. 2009. "Leicester Luminist Lighted Local Language and Lore" [Leicester, N.C.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 3 (Summer): 27-34. Memorial Lecture for Jim Wayne Miller [1936-1996] presented at the Appalachian Writers Workshop at Hindman Settlement School.

Jones, Madison. 2008. *The Adventures of Douglas Bragg: A Novel*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 216 pp. College grad's coming-of-age, 1960, southern picaresque.

Jones, Suzanne Whitmore. 2006. "The Southern Family Farm as Endangered Species: Possibilities for Survival in Barbara Kingsolver's *Prodigal Summer*" (HarperCollins, 2000). *Southern Literary Journal* 39, no. 1 (Fall): 83-97.

Jordan, Candace, Larry Pugh, and Teresa Hearl, ed. 1999. *Mist on the Mon: West Virginia Short Stories* [11 stories; north-central W. Va.]. Morgantown, W. Va.: Morgantown Writers Group. 112 pp.

Jose, Brian. 2008. "Appalachian English in Southern Indiana? The Evidence from Verbal -s." *Language Variation and Change* 19, no. 3: 249-280.

Joseph, Sheri. 2002. *Bear Me Safely Over* [fiction; Ga.; gay youth; homophobia]. New York: Atlantic Monthly Press. 259 pp.

Josephs, Allen. 2010. Review essay of "Cormac McCarthy" special issue of Appalachian Heritage (39:1, Winter 2011), guest editor, Rick Wallach. In *Cormac McCarthy Journal* 8, no. 1: 92-93. http://journals.tdl.org/cormacmccarthy/article/viewFile/2244/1936.

Joslyn, Mauriel. 1998. *Shenandoah Autumn: Courage Under Fire* [adolescent fiction; Civil War; 15-year-old girl's courage]. Illustrations by Martha Frances Huston. Shippensburg, Pa.: White Mane Publishing. 152 pp.

Josyph, Peter. 2010. *Adventures in Reading Cormac McCarthy*. Lanham, Md.: Scarecrow Press. 247 pp. Contents [Chaps. 1-3 of 11]: Suttree's war of the worlds: high noon in Knoxville | Suttree and the brass ring: reaching for thanksgiving in the Knoxville gutter | Suttree sutured: his short stay in Knoxville General.

Joyce, Jane Wilson, and Meredith Sue Willis. [1991] 2009. *Quilt Pieces: The Quilt Poems*, by Jane Wilson Joyce / *Family Knots*, by Meredith Sue Willis. Rpt. ed. Frankfort, Ky.: Gnomon. 36 pp.

Joyner, Nancy Carol, interviewer. 1999. "Sue Ellen Bridgers" [novelist; young adult literature]. *Appalachian Journal* 26 (Summer): 410-421.

Joyner, Nancy Carol. 1997. "Divine Right's Metatrip." *The Iron Mountain Review* [Gurney Norman Issue] 13 (Spring): 12-15.

Joyner, Nancy Carol. 2006. "All the Brave Promises: Settle's First Memoir" [Delacorte, 1966; Mary Lee Settle's Literary Legacy]. Appalachian Heritage 34, no. 1 (Winter): 70-72.

Joyner, Nancy Carol. 2009. "Biscuits of Love: Pamela Duncan's Novels" [featured author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 2 (Spring): 18-20. Novels: *Moon Women* (2001); *Plant Life* (2003); *The Big Beautiful* (2007).

Judd, Cameron. 2005. *Boone: A Novel of an American Legend* [Daniel Boone, 1734-1820]. Boone, N.C.: High Country Publishers. 344 pp.

Justus, James H. 2004. Fetching the Old Southwest: Humorous Writing from Longstreet to Twain [migrating; Arkansas; river culture; yokel; Sut; language]. Columbia: University of Missouri Press. 591 pp.

Kagen, Lesley. 2010. *Tomorrow River* [fiction; suspense; sisters]. New York: Dutton. 343 pp. Eleven-year-old Shenandoah Carmody goes in search of her missing mother; 1969 Rockbridge County, Va.

Kaiser, William F. 2011. *Hellebore: A Novel of Reconstruction: Bushwhackers--Carpetbaggers & Scalawags* [western N.C.]. Vilas, N.C.: Canterbury House. 251 pp.

Kallet, Marilyn. 2009. *Packing Light: New and Selected Poems*. Boston, Mass.: Black Widow Press. 164 pp.

Karen Salyer McElmurray [Featured Author]. 2011. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 2 (Spring): 13-43. Essays, biography, interview, and excerpt from forthcoming novel, "Wanting Inez."

Karon, Jan. 2001. *A Common Life: The Wedding Story*. The Mitford Years (no. 6) [fictionalized Blowing Rock, N.C.]. New York: Viking. 186 pp.

Karon, Jan. 2002. *In This Mountain*. The Mitford Years (no. 7). New York: Viking. 382 pp.

Kathryn Stripling Byer Bibliography [27 entries]. 2002. *The Iron Mountain Review* 18 (Spring): 39.

Kathryn Stripling Byer Issue, edited by John Lang. 2002. Special issue, *The Iron Mountain Review* 18 (Spring): 1-39.

Kaufman, Schuyler. 2001. *Dear Mouse: A Tale of Love, Murder and Movie-Making in the Carolina Mountains*. Boone, N.C.: High Country Publishers. 237 pp.

Kaufmann, Britt. 2007. "Cold and Smellin' Like Pickles." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 16-19. Interview with Dot Jackson, and publication trials of her 1960s-penned, award-winning novel, *Refuge* (Novello Festival Press, 2006).

Kay, Terry. 2003. *The Valley of Light: A Novel* [WWII veteran; 1948 N.C. mountains]. New York: Atria Books of Simon & Schuster. 239 pp.

Kay, Terry. 2011. *The Greats of Cuttercane: The Southern Stories* [Ga.]. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 195 pp. Contents: Asa, God, and Woodrow Wilson: the story of Asa Holbrook Staggs | The world's last heavyweight lard watermelon bout: the story of Newell Proudfoot | Felton Eugene Weaver becomes famous: the story of Felton Eugene Weaver | Founders (without the apostrophe) Day, 1955: the story of Elmo Parker and Monroe Dawson | Princess Salome changes her act: the story of Mattie Mae Blair.

Keehn, Sally M. 2007. *Magpie Gabbard and the Quest for the Buried Moon* [juvenile literature; 1872 Ky.; magical tall tale with female hero]. New York: Philomel Books. 198 pp.

Keener, Rachel. 2009. *The Killing Tree: A Novel*. New York: Center Street. 324 pp. "When Mercy meets Trout, a migrant worker who opens her eyes to a world beyond what she's known, she tries to escape her insulated life at Crooked Top mountain and learns just how ruthless her grandfather can be."

Keller, Jane Eblen. 2001. "A Level Place in Up-Hill Times: The Medieval and the Appalachian Woman" [discusses settings in *The Great Meadow* (1930) and *The Time of Man* (1926) by Elizabeth Madox Roberts; *The Tall Woman* (1962) by Wilma Dykeman; and *The Dollmaker* (1954) by Harriette Simpson Arnow]. *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Summer): 21-33.

Keller, Julia. 2012. A Killing in the Hills [murder mystery; W. Va.]. New York: Minotaur Books. 371 pp. Debut novel by a Pulitzer Prize-winning journalist. "Prosecuting attorney Bell Elkins and her estranged teenage daughter, Carla, try to protect their town and each other in the aftermath of a shocking triple murder committed by an unknown shooter whose identity is gradually realized by Carla."

Kelley, Jane. 2010. *Nature Girl* [juvenile fiction]. Illustrated by Heather Palisi. New York: Random House. 239 pp. Action, adventure. "While spending the summer in Vermont, eleven-year-old Megan gets lost on the Appalachian Trail and decides to hike to Massachusetts to visit her best friend."

Kelsay, Michael. 2001. *Too Close to Call*. [first novel; fictional Oceana, Ky.]. Oxford: University Press of Mississippi. 274 pp.

Kendrick, Leatha, and George Ella Lyon, ed. 2002. *Crossing Troublesome: 25 Years of the Appalachian Writers Workshop* [anthology of accolades from 120+ staff writers at Hindman Settlement School]. Preface by Robert Morgan. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 204 pp.

Kendrick, Leatha. 1998. "Small Presses: Market Niches & Labors of Love" [poetry focus; Sow's Ear Press, Wind Publications, Gnomon Press, Bottom Dog Press, and others]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 15 (Summer): 14-16.

Kendrick, Leatha. 2000. Heart Cake [poems]. Abingdon, Va.: Sow's Ear Press. 65 pp.

Kendrick, Leatha. 2003. *Science in Your Own Back Yard: Poems* [breast cancer; self-image]. Monterey, Ky.: Larkspur Press. 35 pp.

Kendrick, Leatha. 2008. Second Opinion: Poems. Cincinnati, Oh.: David Robert Books. 68 pp.

Kennedy, Richard S. 2001. "A Look Into Thomas Wolfe's Workshop: A Review Essay" [O Lost: A Story of the Buried Life (2000); To Loot My Life Clean: The Thomas Wolfe-Maxwell Perkins Correspondence (2000)]. Southern Quarterly 40 (Fall): 147-151.

Kennedy, Sarah. 2002. "'That Little Gal's Not Going Anywhere': Kathryn Stripling Byer's Incremental Monologues." *The Iron Mountain Review* 18 (Spring): 9-15.

Kennedy, Sarah. 2009. *Home Remedies: Poems*. Baton Rogue: Louisiana State University Press. 69 pp.

Kephart, Horace. 2009. *Smoky Mountain Magic: A Novel* [1925 setting]. Introduction by George Ellison; foreword by Libby Kephart Hargrave. Gatlinburg, Tenn.: Great Smoky Mountains Association. 205 pp. Never before published, this story was completed in 1929 by Kephart (1862-1931), best known for his seminal work, *Our Southern Highlanders* (1922). Abstract: "When a mysterious (though familiar looking...) stranger arrives on Deep Creek, he immediately encounters a vast cadre of characters that includes earnest mountaineers, a murderous land baron, a family of treacherous ne'er-do-wells, a beautiful botanist, a Cherokee Indian chief, and a witch. A search for hidden treasures leads a community to erupt into violence while the hero comes to realize that what he truly seeks may be more animal than mineral."

Kessler, Brad. 2001. Lick Creek: A Novel [1920s W. Va.]. New York: Scribner. 297 pp.

Kessler, Clyde. 1987. *Dancing at Big Vein* [coal mine; poems; New River Valley, Va.]. Illustrated by Kendall Kessler. Blacksburg, Va.: Pocahontas Press. 32 pp.

Kestner, Jack. [1960] 2007. *Fire Tower* [adventure, youth novel; 1950s; 16-year-old on Clinch Mountain, Va.]. Rpt. ed. Emory, Va.: Clinch Mountain Press. 159 pp.

Kilby, WC. 2012. "Jim and Phyllis Wilson Moore, Featured Photographers." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 3 (2012): 121. The Moore's collection of books and other materials are "considered by many to [comprise] the paramount reference to West Virginia literature."

Kinder, Chuck. 2004. Last Mountain Dancer: Hard-Earned Lessons in Love, Loss, and Honky-Tonk Outlaw Life [W. Va.; outlandish "family stories, lies, legends, and history"]. New York: Carroll & Graf. 480 pp.

Kinder, Chuck. 2009. *Honeymooners: A Cautionary Tale* [a "nonfiction novel"; "a Rabelaisian buddy movie of a book" revolving around Kinder's friendship with Raymond Carver and others]. A new edition with an introduction by Jay McInerney and including The Lost Chapters & The Lost Love Letters. Pittsburgh: Carnegie Mellon University Press. 358 pp., plus 124 new pages

(seven chapters) from the original 3000-page manuscript. Originally published: New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux (2001).

King, Vincent. 2000. "Hopeful Grief: The Prospect of Postmodernist Feminism in Allison's *Bastard Out of Carolina* [1992; incest theme]. *Southern Literary Journal* 38 (Fall): 122-140.

Kingsolver, Barbara. 2000. *Prodigal Summer* [fiction]. New York: HarperCollins. 444 pp.

Kingsolver, Barbara. 2001. "Messing with the Sacred: An Interview with Barbara Kingsolver" [transcript of award-winning, 1997 documentary aired on PBS (KET)]. Produced and directed by Guy Mendes. *Appalachian Journal* 28 (Spring): 304-324.

Kingsolver, Barbara. 2006. "Knowing Our Place." In *All Out of Faith: Southern Women on Spirituality*, ed. W. Reed, and J. Horne, 56-65. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Kingsolver, Barbara. 2012. "Community and Hope: A Conversation (Recorded at the Barbara Kingsolver Literary Festival, Emory & Henry College, September 30, 2011)." Interview by Stephen L. Fisher. *The Iron Mountain Review* 28 (Spring): 26-32.

Kingsolver, Barbara. 2012. *Flight Behavior: A Novel* [suspense; Tenn.; climate change]. New York: Harper. 436 pp. Weatherford Award winner for fiction.

Kinser, Diane Mechem. 2011. *Dappled Glory: The Black Diamond Heritage* [historical fiction]. Athens, Ohio: Lucky Press. 267 pp. United Mine Workers of America; Nelsonville, Ohio; Irish immigrant; early 20th century.

Kirk, Stephen. 2004. *Scribblers: Stalking the Authors of Appalachia* [Western N.C.; memoirs, interviews, insights]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 240 pp.

Kirkland, James W. 2004. "Tales Tall and True: Fred Chappell's *Look Back All the Green Valley* and the Continuity of Narrative Tradition" [New York: Picador USA, 1999]. In *More Lights Than One: On the Fiction of Fred Chappell*, ed. P. Bizarro, 239-255. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Kirkpatrick, Kathryn J. 2007. *Out of the Garden: Poems*. Bay City, Mich.: Mayapple Press. 75 pp.

Kirkpatrick, Kathryn J. 2011. *Unaccountable Weather: Poems*. Winston-Salem, N.C.: Press 53. 63 pp. "...this collection tells the story of the diagnosis, treatment, and recovery from breast cancer....There is no sentimentalism in this dance between life and death."

Kitterman, John. 2012. *The Seam* [murder mystery]. [No location]: Hummingbird Hill. 327 pp. "A college coed has been found in the Appalachian Mountains with her throat cut and a message carved into her stomach. Sylvie Presley was working for an environmental group investigating a powerful energy company involved in mountaintop removal, but the police think she was killed by local meth dealers."

Kohler, Dayton. 2007. "Jesse Stuart and James Still: Mountain Regionalists." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 40-46. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *College English* 3, no. 6 (March 1942): 523-533.

Kopacz, Paula. 2011. "Claiming Place: Robert Frost and Jesse Stuart" [1874-1963 and 1906-1984]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 17, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 177-187. "...there are many similarities...both were farmers and nature writers, teachers and educators, and above all, regional writers."

Kossick, Betty. 2009. *Heart Ballads: A Potpourri of Poetry*. Bristol, Va.: Little Creek Books. 48 pp. Spiritual inspiration.

Kotrba, Karen. 2012. *She Who Is Like a Mare: Poems of Mary Breckinridge and the Frontier Nursing Service*. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 96 pp., with six vintage photos. Dramatic monologues of nurses, patients, and the imagined voice of founder Mary Breckinridge in 1920s eastern Kentucky.

Krasne, Betty. 1994. "Criticism, A Mirror of Social Change: Harriette Arnow and Her Critics." In *Appalachian Adaptations to a Changing World*, ed. Norma Myers. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 6: 113-129. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Krause, Ed. 2006. *Our Kinfolks* [fiction; investigative reporter from New York City relocates to Southern Appalachia]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 226 pp.

Krause, Ed. 2007. *Our Next of Kin* [mystery; Native American murder; sequel to *Our Kinfolks* (2006)]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 242 pp.

Krause, Jo Neace. 2008. *The Last Game We Played: Stories*. New York: Black Lawrence Press. 199 pp.

Kraver, Jeraldine R. 2006. "Southern Shadows: Mammoth Cave Meets Plato's Cave in Davis McCombs's *Ultima Thule*" [poems, Yale University Press (2000)]. In *CrossRoads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 253-266. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Krawiec, Richard, ed. 2010. *The Sound of Poets Cooking* [N.C.]. Durham, N.C.: Jacar Press. 172 pp. "A diverse and eclectic collection of poems, alongside recipes created by [63] vicki poets and their friends," including Joseph Bathanti, Kathryn Stripling Byer, Fred Chappell, Jim Clark, and Valerie Nieman.

Kretzschmar, William A., Jr. 2003. "Mapping Southern English" [language variation; 16 maps]. *American Speech* 78 (Summer): 130-149.

Kroll, Harry Harrison. [1946] 2008. *Their Ancient Grudge* [fiction; Hatfield-McCoy feud]. Reprint, with an introduction by Richard L. Saunders. Appalachian Echoes Series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 324 pp. Originally published: Indianapolis: Bobs-Merrill.

Kuykendall-Weber, Mary. 2009. *River Roots* [fiction; 38 short stories]. Huntsville: Texas Review Press. 186 pp. Stories of family and place set in the author's native South Branch Potomac River Valley, Hampshire County, W. Va.

Labovitz, Trudy. 1999. *Ordinary Justice* [female detective fiction; W. Va.; murder, moonshine, domestic violence]. Duluth, Minn.: Spinsters Ink. 232 pp.

Labovitz, Trudy. 2000. *Deadly Embrace* [mystery; W. Va. female detective]. Duluth, Minn.: Spinsters Ink. 200 pp.

Ladd, Barbara. 2002. "Longing for the Future' in Donald Harington's *The Architecture of the Arkansas Ozarks*" [Little, Brown, 1975]. *Southern Review* 38 (Autumn): 827-841.

Laminack, Lester L. 2004. *Saturdays and Teacakes* [children's literature; memories of Saturdays with Mammaw]. Paintings by Chris Soentpiet. Atlanta, Ga.: Peachtree. 30 pp.

Lamont, Elizabeth. 2008. "Don West's Undergraduate Days at Lincoln Memorial University: The Record vs. the Myth." *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 4 (Fall): 40-47. Radical?; Featured Author (1906-1992).

Lamont, Elizabeth. 2010. "An Unsung Appalachian Literary Heritage: The Significance of James Still's Undergraduate Experience" [Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 4 (Fall): 32-37. Member of Lincoln Memorial University's Class of 1929 (with Jesse Stuart and Don West!).

Lamont, Elizabeth. 2011. "The 'Elephant' and the 'Chicks': How Rural Appalachia's First Writer-in-Residence Came and Went." *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 3 (Summer): 49-64. Lincoln Memorial University creative writing instructor, Harry Harrison Kroll (1888-1967), and students Jesse Stuart, James Still, and Don West.

Lampton, Nana. 2011. *Bloom on a Split Board: Poems*. Lexington, Ky.: Accents. 27 pp. Nature poems.

Landis, Catherine. 2002. *Some Days There's Pie* [fiction; two women's friendship]. New York: St. Martin's Press. 291 pp.

Landis, Catherine. 2004. *Harvest* [fiction; East Tenn.; three generations from 1930s TVA displacement to present]. New York: Thomas Dunne Books/St. Martin's Press. 338 pp.

Lane, John. 2012. "Still Under the Influence: The Bioregional Origins of the Hub City Writers Project" [Spartanburg, S.C.]. In *The Bioregional Imagination: Literature, Ecology, and Place*,

ed. T. Lynch, C. Glotfelty, K. Armbruster, and E. Zeitler, 47-58. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Lane, John. 2012. "Still under the Influence: The Bioregional Origins of the Hub City Writers Project" [Port Townsend, Wash.; Spartanburg, S.C.]. *Southern Spaces*, 28 February. 4,500 words, plus interactive maps, illustrations, and recommended resources. http://southernspaces.org/2012/still-under-influence-bioregional-origins-hub-city-writers-project.

Lane, Vicki. 2005. *Signs in the Blood* [murder mystery; N.C.]. New York: Bantam Dell. 370 pp.

Lane, Vicki. 2006. *Art's Blood* [murder mystery]. New York: Dell. 418 pp. "Young widow Elizabeth Goodweather makes her home in the hills of North Carolina, speckled with old farmsteads, locals, strangers, artists, and new age wanderers. When a performance artist is murdered, she gets caught between the gentrified world of Asheville and the old-timers in the hollows."

Lane, Vicki. 2007. *Old Wounds* [mystery fiction; N.C.; missing children]. New York: Bantam Dell. 450 pp. "Elizabeth Goodweather's daughter Rosemary returns home determined to solve...the mysterious disappearance of her best [girlhood] friend, Maythorn Mullins In her search for the truth she...must explore the realm of magic and Cherokee legend that Maythorn shared secretly with Rosemary."

Lane, Vicki. 2008. *In a Dark Season* [suspense/horror fiction; N.C.; gay men/AIDS]. New York: Dell. 430 pp. "When Elizabeth Goodweather prevents the otherwise sane town matron from committing suicide at a house locally known as haunted, she uncovers a mystery surrounding the house's scandalous past."

Lane, Vicki. 2010. *The Day of Small Things: A Novel*. New York: Dell. 413 pp. "...the girl they call Least grows up cursed by her mother's cruelty and blessed by her neglect. Deemed unfit to join the outside world, Least turns to the wisdom of the land, to voices she alone can hear, to legends left by native Indians, and to the arts of divination and healing."

Lane, Vicki. 2011. *Under the Skin: A Full Circle Farm Mystery*. New York: Bantam. 407 pp. "Elizabeth Goodweather and her city-girl sister, Gloria, couldn't be more different. Elizabeth lives on a farm in the Great Smoky Mountains. Gloria lives in Florida off an ex-husband's fortune. Gloria is a beauty; Elizabeth isn't. Now, to Elizabeth's intense displeasure, Gloria parks herself at Full Circle Farm, on the run from her latest man, who, she insists, is trying to kill her."

Lang, John, ed. 2006. *Appalachia and Beyond: Conversations with Writers from the Mountain South*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 362 pp. ["Original interviews conducted during Emory & Henry College's annual literary festivals and published in *The Iron Mountain Review*"]. Contents: James Still / interview by Jim Wayne Miller (1983) -- Fred Chappell / interview by Shelby Stephenson (1984) -- Lee Smith / interview by Dorothy Hill (1985) -- John Ehle / interview by Wilma Dykeman (1986) -- Jim Wayne Miller / interview by Loyal Jones (1988) -- Wilma Dykeman / interview by Richard Marius (1989) -- Robert Morgan / interview

by William Harmon (1990) -- Mary Lee Settle / interview by Brian Rosenberg (1990) -- Charles Wright / interview by David Young (1991) -- David Huddle / interview by George Garrett (1992) -- George Ella Lyon / interview by Jeff Daniel Marion (1994) -- Jeff Daniel Marion / interview by Stephen Marion (1994) -- Meredith Sue Willis / interview by Karen Morgan (1995) -- Gurney Norman / interview by Patricia Beaver and Sandra L. Ballard (1996) -- Jo Carson / interview by Pat Arnow (1997) -- Denise Giardina / interview by Thomas Douglass (1998) -- George Scarbrough / interview by J. W. Williamson (1999) -- Lisa Alther / interview by Wayne J. Pond (2000) -- Kathryn Stripling Byer / interview by Lee Smith (2001) -- Michael McFee / interview by Michael Chitwood (2002) -- Ron Rash / interview by Joyce Compton Brown (2003).

Lang, John, ed. 2007. "Twenty-Fifth Anniversary Issue." *The Iron Mountain Review* 23 (Spring): 1-73. Ten panel discussions, plus writers' responses to the question, "What are your 'Allegiances'." Festival participants: Sharyn McCrumb, Lisa Alther, Gurney Norman, Denise Giardina, Fred Chappell, Jeff Daniel Marion, Jo Carson, George Ella Lyon, Kathryn Stripling Byer, Meredith Sue Willis, Ron Rash, John Ehle, Robert Morgan, Maggie Anderson, Michael McFee, David Huddle, Lee Smith, [group photograph]. See also the University of Tennessee Press concurrent publication, *Appalachia and Beyond: Conversations with Writers from the Mountain South*, reprinting 21 author interviews from *The Iron Mountain Review*, 1983-2003.

Lang, John. 2000. *Understanding Fred Chappell* [b. 1936; N.C. poet, novelist, short story writer]. Understanding Contemporary American Literature series. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 325 pp.

Lang, John. 2002. "Lester Ballard: McCarthy's Challenge to the Reader's Compassion" [Child of God (1974)]. In Sacred Violence, I: Cormac McCarthy's Appalachian Works, ed. W. Hall and R. Wallach, 103-111. El Paso: Texas Western Press.

Lang, John. 2003. "'Measures of Grace': Religious Consciousness in Jeff Daniel Marion's Poetry." *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Fall): 26-33.

Lang, John. 2004. "Windies and Rusties: Fred Chappell As Humorist." In *More Lights Than One: On the Fiction of Fred Chappell*, ed. P. Bizarro, 204-218. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Lang, John. 2006. Review essay of *Coming to Rest: Poems*, by Kathryn Stripling Byer (LSU Press, 2006). *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 4 (Fall): 87-89.

Lang, John. 2007. Review essay of *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature* (McFarland, 2007). *Mississippi Quarterly* 60, no. 4 (Fall): 759-762.

Lang, John. 2009. "'This World's Steady Unfolding': Jim Minick's Poetry." *Appalachian Journal* 36, no. 3-4 (Spring-Summer): 264-267. Review essay of two books by Minick: *Her Secret Song* (Motes Books, 2008), and *Burning Heaven* (Wind, 2008).

Lang, John. 2010. "In Memoriam: George Scarbrough, (1915-2008).". *The Iron Mountain Review* 26 (Spring): 39. Tennessee poet and author of *Tellico Blue* (1999 [1949]).

Lang, John. 2010. Review essay of *When Winter Come: The Ascension of York*, by Frank X Walker (University Press of Kentucky, 2008). *Southern Quarterly* 47, no. 3 (Spring): 189-192.

Lang, John. 2010. *Six Poets from the Mountain South*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 209 pp. Contents: Jim Wayne Miller and the Brier's cosmopolitan regionalism: "you must be born again" -- Fred Chappell: "flesh-tree and tree of spirit" -- Robert Morgan: "mountains speak in tongues" -- Jeff Daniel Marion: "measures of grace" -- Kathryn Stripling Byer: "laying up treasures on earth" -- Charles Wright: "the energy of absence."

Lang, John. 2012. "On Reading *The Dollmaker* in the Twenty-First Century" [by Harriette Arnow, 1954]. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 74-76. "In raising issues of social criticism, *The Dollmaker* remains as timely as Thoreau's *Walden*."

Langan, John. 2001. "Ballad Form and Catholic Chastity in Elizabeth Madox Robert's *Black Is My Truelove's Hair*" [1938; her last novel]. *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Summer): 43-56.

Langan, John. 2001. "Elizabeth Madox Roberts: An Introduction." *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Summer): 19-20.

Lanier, Parks, Jr. 2002. "Appalachian Writers." In *The History of Southern Women's Literature*, ed. C. Perry and M. Weaks, 309-315. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Lanier, Parks. 2006. "And *They* Thought *He* Was Quare" [poem "for J.M."; Featured Author, Jeff Mann]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 3 (Summer): 8-9.

Larken, Kate, and Rema Keen. 2011. *Teddy's Piece* [playscript]. Louisville, Ky.: MotesBooks. 87 pp. One-woman play, based on the life of Keen's grandmother, performed during the 1990s for Appalshop's Theater.

Larnerd, Frank, ed. 2012. *Hills of Fire: Bare-Knuckled Yarns of Appalachia*. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 116 pp. Collection of pulp fiction stories by twelve writers.

Laskas, Gretchen Moran. 2003. *The Midwife's Tale* [debut novel; 1920s-30s W. Va.]. New York: Dial Press. 256 pp. Weatherford Award winner for fiction and poetry.

Laskas, Gretchen Moran. 2004. "A Hopeful Coming of Age" [reviews *Clay's Quilt*, 2001 novel by Silas House]. *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Spring): 28-31.

Laskas, Gretchen Moran. 2007. *The Miner's Daughter* [adolescent fiction; 1932 Arthurdale, W. Va.; coming-of-age]. New York: Simon & Schuster. 250 pp.

Lazenby, Traci. 2004. "Myth and Mundane in *More Shapes Than One*" [New York: St. Martin's Press, 1991]. In *More Lights Than One: On the Fiction of Fred Chappell*, ed. P. Bizarro, 132-149. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

LeCroy, Anne. 2003. "The Lure of the Lore: Two Hamelin Novels by Sharyn McCrumb." In From a Race of Storytellers: Essays on the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb, ed. K. Holloway, 51-58. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Leder, Priscilla Gay, ed. 2010. *Seeds of Change: Critical Essays on Barbara Kingsolver*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 299 pp. Fourteen essays dealing with themes of identity, social justice, and ecology, including the following: "Give me your hand": accessibility, commitment, and the challenge of cliché in Kingsolver's poetry / Wes Berry -- Remembering our ecological place: environmental engagement in Kingsolver's nonfiction / Christine Cusick -- Contingency, cultivation, and choice: the garden ethic in *Prodigal Summer* / Priscilla Leder -- Celebrating a lively earth: children, nature, and the role of mentors in *Prodigal Summer* / Susan Hanson -- Together at the table: *Animal, Vegetable, Miracle* and Thoreau's *Wild Fruits* / Gioia Woods.

Ledford, Brenda Kay. 2006. *Shew Bird Mountain: Poems* [Great Smoky Mountains; winner of the 2007 Paul Green Multimedia Award]. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 29 pp.

Ledford, Brenda Kay. 2008. *Sacred Fire: Poems*. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 23 pp.

Ledford, Katherine E. 2011. "Teaching with a Place in Mind: Using Anne Shelby's Writing in the Appalachian Studies Classroom." *The Iron Mountain Review* 27 (Spring): 11-15.

Ledford, Katherine. 2006. Review essay of two books. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 2 (Spring): 96-100. *Seekers of Scenery: Travel Writing from Southern Appalachia, 1840-1900*, ed. K. O'Donnell and H. Hollingsworth (University of Tennessee Press, 2004), and *Running Mad for Kentucky: Frontier Travel Accounts*, ed. E. Eslinger (University Press of Kentucky, 2004).

Lee, Ernest, ed. 2002. *Being of These Hills: Readings from Appalachian Writers* [anthology: 30 writers, 84 pieces of poetry and fiction]. Boston, Mass: Pearson Custom Publishing. 226 pp.

Lee, Ernest, ed. 2002. *Being of These Hills: Readings from Appalachian Writers*. Boston, Mass.: Pearson Custom Publishing. 226 pp. [rich literary sampling: 30 established writers; 86 pieces of poetry and fiction; see also Lee's earlier anthology, *Discovering Place: Readings from Appalachian Writers* (various editions, 1992-1997, McGraw-Hill)].

Lee Maynard [Featured Author]. 2011. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 3 (Summer): 14-41. Biography (b. 1936, Wayne Co., W. Va.), interview, fiction and poetry.

Lee Smith, special issue [with complete bibliography]. 2001. Pembroke Magazine 33: 1-362.

Lee Smith [featured author]. 2003. Appalachian Heritage 31 (Winter): 16-43.

Leebron, Fred. 2010. "All the Darkness and All the Light: The Work of Pinckney Benedict" [Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 1 (Winter): 13-16.

Leeper, Angela C. 2003. "The 'Other America': Looking at Appalachian and Cajun/Creole Resources" [children's literature]. *MultiCultural Review* 12 (March): 34-42.

Lefler, Susan M. 2011. Rendering the Bones [poems]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind. 63 pp.

Leidig, Dan. 2000. *Time Out: Poems* [32 poems by former Emory & Henry Dean]. Abingdon, Va.: Sow's Ear Press. 39 pp.

Leonard, Robert H., section editor. 2006. "Performing Arts" [signed articles: drama, dance, storytelling]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 1225-1279 (with introductory essay, 1225-1228). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

LeRoy-Frazier, Jill. 2008. "Appalachian Literature and the Postcolonial: A GPS for Appalachian Literary Studies." *Journal of Kentucky Studies* 24, (September): 125-132.

LeRoy, J. T. 2000. *Sarah* [first novel; W. Va. truckstops & transvestites coming of age tale]. New York: Bloomsbury. 166 pp.

LeRoy, J. T. 2001. *The Heart Is Deceitful Above All Things* [short stories; street hustler; W. Va., San Francisco]. New York: Bloomsbury. 224 pp.

LeSourd, Nancy. 2003. *Christy: Christmastime at Cutter Gap* [Children's fiction; Great Smoky Mountains; based on the 1967 novel *Christy* by Catherine Marshall]. Illustrated by Bill Farnsworth. Grand Rapids, Mich.: Zonderkidz. 32 pp.

Lilley, James D. 2000. "Of Whales and Men: The Dynamics of Cormac McCarthy's Environmental Imagination." *Southern Quarterly* 38 (Winter): 111-122.

Lincoln, Kenneth. 2009. Cormac McCarthy: American Canticles. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. 193 pp. Contents: Canticles down West: Hyperrealism -- Back to Appalachia: The Orchard Keeper -- Dark is a way: Outer Dark -- Child of whose God?: Child of God -- Southern milltown script: The Gardener's Son -- Awakening frontier muses: Suttree -- Go bloody West: Blood Meridian -- Theater grotessco: The Stonemason -- Vacquero, ride on: All the Pretty Horses -- Star-crossed cowboy: The Crossing -- Horse sense and human fate: Cities of the Plain -- A sorry tale: No Country for Old Men -- Live or die, brother?: The Sunset Limited -- The final story: The Road.

Lindberg, Laurie. 1999. "Denise Giardina: Challenging the Bullies of Appalachia." *The Iron Mountain Review* 15 (Spring): 15-21.

Linney, Romulus. 1997. *Mountain Memory: A Play About Appalachian Life*. New York: Dramatists Play Service. 53 pp.

Linney, Romulus. 2000. *Nine Adaptations for the American Stage*. Hanover, N.H.: Smith and Kraus. 432 pp.

Linney, Romulus. [1962] 2004. *Heathen Valley: A Novel* [missionary preacher; 1850s Valle Crucis, N.C.]. Rpt. ed. Washington, D.C.: Shoemaker & Hoard. 321 pp. Originally published: New York: Atheneum.

Linney, Romulus. 2007. *Love Drunk: A Play* [acting script]. New York: Dramatists Play Service. 104 pp. "...a comic drama of sex, love and alcohol addiction. An older man, having picked up a younger woman in an Appalachian diner, takes her to his mountain home, where they battle their passions, their destinies and each other."

Lisa Alther Bibliography [44 entries]. 2001. The Iron Mountain Review 17 (Spring): 38-39.

Lisa Alther Issue, edited by John Lang. 2001. Special issue, *The Iron Mountain Review* 17 (Spring): 1-39.

Literary Map of West Virginia [website; 150 authors]. 2004. Project director, Phyllis Wilson Moore; sponsor, West Virginia Folklife Center at Fairmont State University. Illustrated by Noel Tenney. http://www.fscwv.edu/wvfolklife/literary_map/index.shtml.

Locklear, Erica Abrams. 2012. "On Teaching Harriette Simpson Arnow." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 53-55. UNC Asheville; *The Dollmaker* (1954).

Loest, Judy, and Jack Rentfro, ed. 2004. *Knoxville Bound: A Collection of Literary Works Inspired by Knoxville, Tennessee* [56 writers]. Knoxville, Tenn.: MetroPulse Publishing. 323 pp. Contributors include: James Agee, Nikki Giovanni, Jeff and Linda Marion, Ted Olson, George Scarbrough, and Marianne Worthington.

Loest, Judy. 2002. "Family Reunion" [prize-winning poem, with author profile by Jane Harris Woodside]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Summer): 7-8.

Loest, Judy. 2005. "Finding Wang Wei in Knoxville, Tennessee" [poetic inspiration]. In *Crossroads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 122-126. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Loest, Judy. 2007. After Appalachia: Poems. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 29 pp.

Lofaro, Michael A. 2011. "Progress Priced Too Dear: Appalachia and Appalachian Pastoral in the Work of James Agee" [1909-1955]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 17, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 85-107. A closer look at the effect of Agee's Knoxville, Tenn., boyhood and mountain heritage on his work, particularly the newly restored manuscript edition of *A Death in the Family*.

Lofaro, Michael A., ed. 2012. *Agee at 100: Centennial Essays on the Works of James Agee*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 298 pp. Thirteen essays including the following: A blind work of nature: the ethics of representing beauty in *Let Us Now Praise Famous Men / Jesse Graves -- James Agee's A Death in the Family*: personal identity and conflict in an emerging Appalachia / Michael A. Lofaro -- Seeing Agee in Lincoln: a short story / David Madden; plus A James Agee Chronology (1909-2012).

Logsdon, Gene. 2001. *The Man Who Created Paradise: A Fable* [Wally Spero's reclaimed strip-mine land; Ohio]. Foreword by Wendell Berry, photographs by Gregory Spaid. Athens: Ohio University Press. 58 pp.

Long, Cleta M. 1997. *Dry Fork's Daughter* [autobiographical poems by former candidate for WV Poet Laureate]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 106 pp.

Longsong, Laura. 2009. *Imagine a Door: Poems* [W. Va.; Tex.]. Cincinnati, Oh.: Turning Point. 82 pp.

Loving, Denton. 2012. "The Indictment of Mark Powell" [novelist]. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 1 (Winter): 35-36. "I have come to see Mark's personal work for social justice as his own search for Christ in humanity."

Lowry, Lois. 2009. *Crow Call* [children's fiction; Newbery Medal winner]. New York: Scholastic Press. Illustrated by Bagram Ibatoulline. 32 pp. "Nine-year-old Liz accompanies the stranger who is her father, just returned from the war, when he goes hunting for crows in Pennsylvania farmland" "...they begin their journey of reconnection through a hunting shirt, cherry pie, tender conversation, and the crow call. This allegorical story shows how, like the birds gathering above, the relationship between the girl and her father is graced with the chance to fly."

Luce, Dianne C. 1996. "On the Trail of History in McCarthy's *Blood Meridian*" [1992]. *Mississippi Quarterly* 49 (Fall): 843-849. Review essay of *Notes on Blood Meridian*, by John Sepich (Bellarmine College Press, 1993).

Luce, Dianne C. 2001. "Cormac McCarthy: A Bibliography." *Cormac McCarthy Journal* 1, no. 1 (Spring): 72-84.

Luce, Dianne C. 2001. "Remarks On The State of Cormac McCarthy Scholarship." *Cormac Mccarthy Journal* 1, no. 1: 7-11.

Luce, Dianne C. 2002. "'They Aint the Thing': Artifact and Hallucinated Recollection in Cormac McCarthy's Early Frame-Works." In *Cormac McCarthy*, ed. H. Bloom, 113-130. Modern Critical Views. Philadelphia: Chelsea House Publishers.

Luce, Dianne C. 2002. "The Cave of Oblivion: Platonic Mythology in *Child of God*. In *Cormac McCarthy: New Directions*, ed. J. Lilly, 171-198. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press.

Luce, Dianne C. 2009. "Cormac McCarthy in High School: 1951" [Tenn., Knoxville Catholic High School]. *Cormac McCarthy Journal* 7, no. 1: 1-6. https://journals.tdl.org/cormacmccarthy/article/view/850/614.

Luce, Dianne C. 2009. Reading the World: Cormac McCarthy's Tennessee Period. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 314 pp. Novels: The Orchard Keeper (1965); Outer Dark (1968); Child of God (1974); The Gardener's Son (1977); Suttree (1979).

Luce, Dianne C. [1992, 1993] 2011. "Cormac McCarthy: A Bibliography." Cormac McCarthy Society. 111 pp. Updated and expanded from first versions published in *Southern Quarterly* (1992), and in *Perspectives on Cormac McCarthy* (1993). http://www.cormacmccarthy.com/wpcontent/uploads/McCarthyEnglishBib_20111026.pdf.

Lyon, George Ella, ed. [2003] 2012. *A Kentucky Christmas* [literary collection]. Rpt. ed. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 337 pp. Holiday fiction, poems, songs, essays by 67 of Kentucky's finest writers, more than half recognizably Appalachian.

Lyon, George Ella. [1988] 1999. *Borrowed Children* [juvenile fiction; Depression-era Ky., Tenn.]. Reprint. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 154 pp.

Lyon, George Ella. 1997. With a Hammer for My Heart [fiction]. New York: DK Ink. 224 pp.

Lyon, George Ella. 1999. Where I'm From, Where Poems Come From. Spring, Tex.: Absey & Co. 98 pp.

Lyon, George Ella. 1999. Where I'm From, Where Poems Come From. Spring, Tex.: Absey & Co. 98 pp.

Lyon, George Ella. 2003. "The Right to a Voice" [essay: poet's voice]. *Appalachian Journal* 30 (Winter-Spring): 196-199.

Lyon, George Ella. 2004. *Weaving the Rainbow* [children's book; sheep farm]. Illustrated by Stephanie Anderson. New York: Atheneum. 24 pp.

Lyon, George Ella. 2007. *Don't You Remember: A Memoir* [mysterious memories; past-life experiences]. Louisville, Ky.: Motes. 216 pp.

Lyon, George Ella. 2008. *My Friend, the Starfinder*. Pictures by Stephen Gammell. New York: Atheneum Books for Young Readers. 32 pp. Children's literature; stars, meteors.

Lyon, George Ella. 2009. *Sleepsong* [children's book]. Illustrated by Peter Catalanotto. New York: Atheneum Books for Young Readers. 40 pp. "Parents get their child ready for bed as they talk about little animals that are also going to sleep in their nests, dens, and caves."

Lyon, George Ella. 2010. "Inviting the Voice." *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 3 (Summer): 22-27. Essay on the creative process, adapted from a keynote address given at the Appalachian Writers' Association meeting at Morehead University, ending with a poem, "From the Page."

Lyon, George Ella. 2010. *Back: Poems* [series of monologues]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 91 pp.

Lyon, George Ella. 2012. "My Sister; or the Same As – Remembering Jo Carson (1946-2011)." *The Iron Mountain Review* 28 (Spring): 34.

Lyon, George Ella. 2012. *She Let Herself Go: Poems*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 93 pp.

Lyon, Steve. 2004. *The Gift Moves* [juvenile fiction; abandoned children]. Boston: Houghton Mifflin. 230 pp.

Lytle, Andrew. [1941] 2009. *At the Moon's Inn* [historical fiction]. Library of Alabama classics series. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 400 pp. "...a fictional account of De Soto's famous Spanish expedition to La Florida and through the southeastern United States between 1539 and 1543."

MacDonald, Margaret Read. 2007. *The Old Woman and Her Pig: An Appalachian Folktale* [classic children's tale]. Retold by Margaret Read MacDonald, illustrations by John Kanzler. 30 pp.

MacDonald, Margaret Read. 2007. *The Old Woman and Her Pig: An Appalachian Folktale* [classic children's tale]. Retold by Margaret Read MacDonald, illustrations by John Kanzler. 30 pp.

MacKethan, Lucinda H. 2007. "Your Chances to Choose Your Labor: Darnell Arnoult's Work" [Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 1 (Winter): 26-32.

Mackin, Randy. 2000. "By Way of Word" [poetry of George Scarbrough]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 16 (Spring): 14-19.

Mackin, Randy. 2011. *George Scarbrough, Appalachian Poet: A Biographical and Literary Study with Unpublished Writings*. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 208 pp. Contents: Pt. 1. Walking the paths of his own premise: the life and literature of George Scarbrough -- Biography -- Family -- Songs of dance to death -- A small, comfortable world -- The novel -- Holding Han-Shan's hand -- Myth and metaphor out of the way -- Scarbrough's critics -- Pt. 2. Selected unpublished poems, letters and conversations -- A selection of previously unpublished verse and "good-Friday, New Mexico, 1955" (by George Scarbrough) -- A selection of Scarbrough's letters -- A selection of letters to Scarbrough -- "Something of a bio and an itinerary" (by George Scarbrough) -- An interview -- Appendix: publications and awards.

Madden, David. [1969] 1999. *Cassandra Singing* [fiction; Ky. coal country]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 288 pp. Originally published: New York: Crown Publishers.

Madden, David. 2006. "Cormac McCarthy's *The Orchard Keeper*: Web Montage" (Random House, 1965). In *Touching the Web of Southern Novelists*, 167-173. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Madden, Kerry. 2005. *Gentle's Holler: A Novel* [juvenile fiction; 1960s Maggie Valley, N.C.; poverty; 12-year-old songwriter Livy]. New York: Viking. 237 pp.

Madden, Kerry. 2007. *Louisiana's Song* [juvenile fiction; 1963 N.C.; mountain-family daughter copes; disabled father; second in a trilogy]. New York: Viking. 278 pp.

Madden, Kerry. 2008. *Jesse's Mountain*. New York: Viking. 304 pp. Juvenile fiction, third in a trilogy; 1960s N.C. mountain family; 12-year-old Livy runs off to Nashville.

Maddox, Marjorie, and Jerry Wemple, ed. 2005. *Common Wealth: Contemporary Poets on Pennsylvania*. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 270 pp. More than 100 poets represented. See also, online literary map, by county: Contents: I. Greetings from the Commonwealth! -- II. Beginnings: Philadelphia, "Dutch" Country, and Their Environs -- III. Circling East: Mines, Mountains, and Mills -- IV. Hills and Ridges: The Susquehanna Valley and Central Pennsylvania -- V. Southwestern Pennsylvania: The Three Rivers Region and the Laurel Highlands -- VI. North by Northwest: The Alleghenies and Erie. www.pabook.libraries.psu.edu/litmap/pamap.html.

Madonia, Kristen-Paige. 2012. *Fingerprints of You* [youth novel]. Illustrated by Terry Ribera. New York: Simon & Schuster Books for Young Readers. 258 pp. Beginning in Preston County, W. Va., and "moving from place to place with her single mother, pregnant seventeen-year-old Lemon takes a bus to San Francisco to seek the father she never knew, as well as truths about her mother and herself."

Madsen, Michael. 2011. "The Uncanny Necrophile in Cormac McCarthy's *Child of God*; or, How I Learned to Understand Lester Ballard and Start Worrying." *Cormac McCarthy Journal* 9, no. 1: 17-27.

Maggie Anderson Bibliography [36 items]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 21 (Spring): 43-44.

Maggie Anderson Issue, edited by John Lang. 2005. Special issue, *The Iron Mountain Review* 21 (Spring): 1-44.

Maillard, Keith. 2000. Gloria [fiction; 1950s W. Va.]. New York: Soho Press. 643 pp.

Maillard, Keith. 2003. *The Clarinet Polka* [Polish-Americans in fictional, 1969 Raysburg, i.e. Wheeling, W. Va.]. New York: St. Martin's Press. 384 pp. First published 2002, Toronto, Thomas Allen Publishers.

Maillard, Keith. 2005. *Running*. Difficulty at the Beginning, Book 1 [fiction; 1950s Raysburg, W. Va. (i.e., Wheeling); adolescent questing]. Edmonton, Alberta, Canada: Brindle & Glass. 144 pp.

Maillard, Keith. 2006. "A Powerful Shock of Recognition" [Mary Lee Settle's Literary Legacy]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 1 (Winter): 63-69.

Maillard, Keith. 2006. "Gaining the Higher Ground: An Appreciation" [Featured Author, Meredith Sue Willis, and her 1981 novel *Higher Ground*]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 4 (Fall): 38-45.

Maillard, Keith. 2006. *Looking Good*. Difficulty at the Beginning, Bk. 4 [fiction]. Edmonton, Alberta, Canada: Brindle & Glass. 440 pp.

Maillard, Keith. 2006. *Lyndon Johnson and the Majorettes*. Difficulty at the Beginning, Bk. 3 [fiction]. Edmonton, Alberta, Canada: Brindle & Glass. 152 pp.

Maillard, Keith. 2006. *Morgantown*. Difficulty at the Beginning, Bk. 2 [fiction; W. Va.; WVU]. Edmonton, Alberta, Canada: Brindle & Glass. 278 pp.

Majors, Inman. 2009. *The Millionaires: A Novel of the New South* [East Tenn.; political corruption; two brothers]. New York: W.W. Norton. 480 pp.

Makuck, Peter. 2004. "The Kirkman Novels: First and Last Concerns" [It Is Time, Lord (1963); I Am One of You Forever (1985); Brighten the Corner Where You Are (1990); Farewell, I'm Bound to Leave You (1996); Look Back All the Green Valley (1999)]. In More Lights Than One: On the Fiction of Fred Chappell, ed. P. Bizarro, 167-185. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Mallinson, Christine, and Walt Wolfram. 2002. "Dialect Accommodation in a Bi-Ethnic Mountain Enclave Community: More Evidence on the Development of African American English" [N.C.]. *Language in Society* 31 (November): 743-775.

Mangham, Mack. 2000. *Shadow of the Hawk* [N.C.; mystery/romance]. Bloomington, Ind.: 1stBook Library. 228 pp.

Manilla, Marie. 2010. *Still Life with Plums: Short Stories*. Morgantown, W. Va.: Vandalia Press. 185 pp.

Manilla, Marie. 2012. *Shrapnel* [fiction; Huntington, W. Va.; Texas]. Montgomery, Ala.: River City Publishing. 329 pp.

Manley, Frank. 1998. *The Cockfighter* [coming-of-age novel; P.E.N./Hemingway Foundation Award for First Fiction]. Minneapolis, Minn.: Coffee House Press. 206 pp.

Mann, Jeff. 1998. *Bliss* [poems; 1998 Stonewall Chapbook Award]. Towson, Md.: Brick House Books. 40 pp.

Mann, Jeff. 2002. "Goldenrod Seeds" [prize-winning poem, with author profile by Jane Harris Woodside]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Summer): 5-6.

Mann, Jeff. 2003. "Devoured" [gay novella set in W. Va.]. In *Masters of Midnight: Erotic Tales of the Vampire*, by Michael Thomas Ford, William J. Mann, Sean Wolfe, and Jeff Mann, 251-362. New York: Kensington. 352 pp.

Mann, Jeff. 2005. "A Beloved Place and People': Landscape and Folk Culture in the Poetry of Maggie Anderson." *The Iron Mountain Review* 21 (Spring): 10-19.

Mann, Jeff. 2006. "Mountain Modes: Seven Dulcimer Poems" [Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 3 (Summer): 13-21.

Mann, Jeff. [2006] 2011. *A History of Barbed Wire* [gay fiction; short stories]. Maple Shade, N.J.: Bear Bones Books. 266 pp. Originally published: Cleveland, Ohio: Suspect Thoughts Press. Lambda Literary Award winner for Best Gay Erotica.

Mann, Jeff. 2011. *Ash: Poems from Norse Mythology*. Bar Harbor, Me.: Rebel Satori Press. 124 pp. Powerfully forged interpretations by a gay Appalachian writer.

Mann, Jeff. 2011. *Fog: A Novel of Desire and Reprisal* [gay fiction; thriller]. Maple Shade, N.J.: Bear Bones Books. 228 pp.

Mann, Jeff. 2012. *Desire & Devour: Stories of Blood and Sweat* [fiction; gay men; vampires]. Maple Shade, N.J.: Bear Bones Books. 187 pp.

Mann, Jeff. 2012. *Purgatory: A Novel of the Civil War*. Maple Shade, N.J.: Bear Bones Books. 273 pp. Two gay soldiers, one Confederate, one Union.

Manning, Maurice. 2001. *Lawrence Booth's Book of Visions* [Ky.]. Foreword by W. S. Merwin. Yale Series of Younger Poets, vol. 95. New Haven, Conn.: Yale University Press. 80 pp.

Manning, Maurice. 2004. A Companion for Owls: Being the Commonplace Book of D. Boone, Long Hunter, Back Woodsman, &c [70 biographical, sequential poems written in the voice of frontiersman Daniel Boone]. Orlando, Fla.: Harcourt. 128 pp.

Manning, Maurice. 2007. *Bucolics: Poems* [70 poems; colloquial, divine conversations with "Boss"]. New York: Harcourt. 112 pp.

Manning, Maurice. 2010. "Lyricism and Metaphor in *A Parchment of Leaves*" [by Silas House, (Algonquin Books, 2002)]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 26 (Spring): 8-13.

Manning, Maurice. 2010. *The Common Man* [poems]. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Harcourt. 96 pp. "...a series of ballad-like narratives....that honors the strange beauty of the Kentucky mountain country."

Manning, Maurice. 2011. "Strange Birds, Too: A Reflection on the Work of Karen Salyer McElmurray." *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 2 (Spring): 40-43. *Strange Birds in the Tree of Heaven* (Athens, Ga.: Hill Street Press, 1999; University of Georgia Press, 2004).

Manning, Maurice. 2012. "Maurice Manning" [interview; poet; Ky.]. *Still: The Journal*, no. 10 (Fall). 3,556 words. Manning's first book of poems, *Lawrence Booth's Book of Visions* (2001), was chosen by W.S. Merwin for the Yale Series of Younger Poets Award. http://www.stilljournal.net/interview-maurice.php.

Manning, Michelle. 1996. "The Southern Voice of Lee Smith: An Annotated Bibliography." *Bulletin of Bibliography* 53 (June): 161-172.

Mansfield, Amy Childers, and Joyce E. Stavick, ed. 2010. *The Artist as Activist in Appalachia*. Dahlonega: University Press of North Georgia. 166 pp. Essays, stories, poetry, photography. Contributors: SECTION I. Living on the Land--Coal Mining and Mountaintop Removal: Delilah F. O'Haynes, Corey Chao, Rebecca Gayle Howell. SECTION II. Keeping a Job--Unions and Strikes: Paul Gartner, Ben Campbell, Robin L. Murray and Joseph K. Heumann, A. J. Roach "Black Lung." SECTION III. Telling How It Is--History, Culture and Art: Angelyn DeBord, Maggie Anderson, Jason Fritz, Rita Mae Reese, Karen H. Gardiner, Thomas Rain Crowe.

Mantooth, Wes. 2006. "You Factory Folks Who Sing This Rhyme Will Surely Understand": Culture, Ideology, and Action in the Gastonia Novels of Myra Page, Grace Lumpkin, and Olive Dargan. Literary Criticism and Cultural Theory. New York: Routledge. 235 pp.

Marin, David Lozell. 2002. Crazy Love: A Novel [Tenn.]. New York: Simon & Schuster.

Marion, Jeff Daniel. 1994. Lost & Found. Abingdon, Va.: Sow's Ear Press.

Marion, Jeff Daniel. 1998. "Try to Picture It: Poetry, Photography, and the Long View." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 15 (Summer): 21-24.

Marion, Jeff Daniel. 1999. *The Chinese Poet Awakens* [Marion's collected and new Chinese poems]. Illustrations by Elizabeth Ellison. Lexington, Ky.: Wind. 55 pp.

Marion, Jeff Daniel. 2001. "In Memoriam: James Still (1906-2001)." *The Iron Mountain Review* 17 (Spring): 37.

Marion, Jeff Daniel. 2001. *Letters Home: Poems* [50 story poems from childhood]. Abingdon, Va.: Sow's Ear Press. 86 pp.

Marion, Jeff Daniel. 2002. *Ebbing & Flowing Springs: New and Selected Poems and Prose,* 1976-2001. Knoxville, Tenn.: Celtic Cat Publishing. 240 pp.

Marion, Jeff Daniel. 2003. "Be Still and Know': An Interview." By Christine Christianson. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Fall): 35-41.

Marion, Jeff Daniel. 2004. "The Journey a Poem Makes: Interviewing Jeff Daniel Marion." Interview by Ernest Lee [2001 series of meetings]. *Appalachian Journal* 31 (Winter): 194-211.

Marion, Jeff Daniel. 2004. "The Long Way Around: Circling Back Home, A Metaphor for Writing" [essay]. *Appalachian Journal* 31 (Winter): 214-220.

Marion, Jeff Daniel. 2007. "The Poetry: 'The Journey of a Worldly Wonder'." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 132-137. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *The Iron Mountain Review* 2, no. 1 (Summer 1984): 17-21.

Marion, Jeff Daniel (moderator), with Maggie Anderson, Robert Morgan, and Ron Rash. 2007. "Nature, Place, and the Appalachian Writer" [panel discussion]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 23 (Spring): 18-24.

Marion, Jeff Daniel. 2009. FATHER [poems]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 75 pp.

Marion, Linda Parsons. 2008. *Mother Land: Poems*. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Iris Press. 73 pp. Story in poems; bi-polar mother, healing, forgiveness.

Marion, Linda Parsons. 2011. *Bound: Poems*. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 86 pp. Fifty-nine poems arranged under three headings: Braid; Fatherland; Birthmark.

Marion, Stephen. 2002. *Hollow Ground* [debut novel; Tenn. zinc-mining town, coming-of-age; fictionalized Jefferson Co.]. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 308 pp.

Marius, Richard. 2001. *An Affair of Honor* [fiction; Marius' (1933-1999) fourth novel, third of a trilogy]. New York: Knopf. 592 pp.

Marius, Richard. 2002. "Suttree as Window into the Soul of Cormac McCarthy" [Suttree (1979)]. In Sacred Violence, I: Cormac McCarthy's Appalachian Works, ed. W. Hall and R. Wallach, 113-129. El Paso: Texas Western Press.

Mark Powell [Featured Author]. 2012. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 1 (Winter): 12-51. Essays, biography, reviews, and excerpts from Powell's forthcoming novel, *Dark Corner*.

Markelis, Daiva. 2000. "Men Are That Way: The Short Stories of E. S. Johnson" [1906-1908; local color portrayals of wives and daughters of immigrant anthracite miners]. In *Caverns of Night: Coal Mines in Art, Literature, and Film*, ed. W. Thesing, 209-218. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press.

Marshall, Catherine. [1967] 2001. *Christy* [fiction; Great Smoky Mountains]. Reprint. Grand Rapids, Mich.: Zondervan. 501 pp.

Martin, Brent. 2007. *Poems from Snow Hill Road*. New Native Press Stewardship Series. Cullowhee, N.C.: New Native Press. 30 pp.

Martin, Lou. 2002. *Above the Slate: An Appalachian Love Story* [fiction; 1930s Harlan Co., Ky.]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 222 pp.

Maslin, Janet. 2008. "Couple Creates an Empire by Felling Trees and Anyone in Their Way." Review of Ron Rash's novel, *Serena* (Ecco, 2008). *New York Times*, 6 October, 6(C). 979 words. http://www.nytimes.com/2008/10/06/books/06masl.html.

Maslin, Janet. 2010. "Rural Pride and Poverty and a Hen's Empty Nest." *New York Times*, 8 March, 4(C). 1016 words. Review of Ron Rash's new book, *Burning Bright: Stories* (Ecco Press, 2010).

Maslin, Janet. 2012. "Out of Sight in Wartime." *New York Times*, 2 April, 1(C) 897 words. Review of Ron Rash's novel, *The Cove* (Ecco, 2012). http://nyti.ms/1Me2DZe.

Mason, Bobbie Ann. 2005. "George Brosi Interviews Bobbie Ann Mason." *Eureka Studies in Teaching Short Fiction* 5, no. 2 (Spring): 7-12.

Mathews, Donald. 2009. "Corra Harris (1869-1935): The Storyteller as Folk Preacher" [author of *A Circuit Rider's Wife* (1910)]. In *Georgia Women: Their Lives and Times*, ed. A. Chirhart and B. Wood, 341-369. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Matthews, Brinsley [pseud. of William Simpson Pearson, 1849-1920]. 2010 [1882]. Well-Nigh Reconstructed: A Political Novel. Introduction by Paul D. Yandle, pp. xi-lxxvi. Appalachian Echoes series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 279 pp. Originally published: Monon Ou, or, Well-Nigh Reconstructed: A Political Novel, by Brinsley Matthews [pseud.]: New York: E. J. Hale & Son. Autobiographical, historical fiction; 1870s N.C.; disillusionment with Reconstruction; set in Va. and Ala. but reflecting the author's experiences in Burke Co., N.C.

Matthews, Sebastian. 2007. "Lines in Reverse, Written after a Long Nap, the 2-Volume Dover Edition of Thoreau's Journals Open at My Side." *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 3, no. 2 (Summer/Fall):nonfiction section. 1400 words. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-2/non-fiction/Nonfiction2Matthews.htm.

Mauldin, Joanne Marshall. 2007. *Thomas Wolfe: When Do the Atrocities Begin?* [editing of works-in-progress after his 1938 death]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 361 pp.

Maxwell, Angie. 2004. "The South Beheld: The Influence of James Agee on James Dickey" [Let Us Now Praise Famous Men (1941); Deliverance (1970)]. Southern Quarterly 42 (Winter): 135-151.

May, Charles. 2001. "Tribute to Jim Still, 1906-2001." Appalachian Heritage 29 (Fall): 7-9.

May, Kathy L. 2010. "Where She's From: The Mystery of the Making Place" [George Ella Lyon, Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 3 (Summer): 12-18. Biographical profile.

Mayhall, Jane. 2007. "Quality of Life, Quality of Art." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 232-241. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 48, no. 2 (Summer 1998): 56-73.

Maynard, Lee. [1988] 2001. *Crum* [fiction; W. Va. coming-of-age classic; b. 1936]. 2nd ed., with an introduction by Meredith Sue Willis. *Crum* Trilogy, Part 1. Morgantown, W. Va.: Vandalia Press. 170 pp. Originally published: New York: Washington Square Press.

Maynard, Lee. 2003. *Screaming with the Cannibals* [fiction; sequel to *Crum* (1988, 2001)]. *Crum* Trilogy, Part 2. Morgantown, W. Va.: Vandalia Press. 261 pp.

Maynard, Lee. 2009. *The Pale Light of Sunset: Scattershots and Hallucinations in an Imagined Life* [fictionalized memoir by W. Va. author of *Crum* (1988, 2001)]. Morgantown, W. Va.: Vandalia Press. 128 pp.

Maynard, Lee. 2011. "Interview with Lee Maynard." By Lynne D. Schwabe. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 3 (Summer): 26-31.

Maynard, Lee. 2012. "Crum: Lee Maynard's 'Love Letter' to His Hometown." Interview by Terry Gross. *Fresh Air*. National Public Radio, Washington, D.C.: NPR, 2 August. Transcript, 4,884 words; podcast, 25:13 min. "Lee Maynard's 1988 semi-autobiographical novel Crum is set in the small, poor West Virginia town where he grew up." http://n.pr/Ot0asa.

Maynard, Lee. 2012. *The Scummers* [fiction, W. Va., Calif.]. *Crum Trilogy*, Part 3. Morgantown, W. Va.: Vandalia Press. 144 pp. Part I: *Crum* (1988, 2001); Part II: *Screaming with the Cannibals* (2003).

Mays, Suzanne. 2010. *The Man Inside the Mountain* [young adult fiction]. Bristol, Va.: Mountain Girl Press. 199 pp. Story of a woman farmer in Civil War era W. Va. whose son is presumed dead.

Mazur, F. E. 2003. *The Buckseller* [murder mystery; Pa.; deer hunters]. Baltimore, Md.: PublishAmerica. 212 pp.

McBride, Kristina Holland. 2005. "Roots" [dialect]. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 3, no. 1 (Winter): nonfiction section, 850 words. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-1/non-fiction/McBride.htm.

McCaig, Donald. 1998. *Jacob's Ladder: A Story of Virginia During the War* [fiction; Civil War]. New York: W.W. Norton. 525 pp.

McCarthy, Cormac. 1996. *The Gardener's Son: A Screenplay*. Hopewell, N.J.: Ecco Press. 93 pp.

McCarthy, Cormac. 2006. *The Road* [fiction]. New York: Knopf. 241 pp. Post-apocalyptic father and son survival tale, set in East Tenn.(?).

McClanahan, Donna. 2009. "The Calling" [creative nonfiction]. *Still: The Journal*, no. 1 (Fall). 4,388 words. "In my tenth summer, something happened that would change forever the way I interacted with the world. I heard a calling from some inner voice, a primitive place inside me that I would come to refer to as God." http://www.stilljournal.net/donna-mcclanahan-nonfiction.php.

McClanahan, Ed. 1996. *A Congress of Wonders* [fiction]. Washington, D.C.: Counterpoint Press. 161 pp.

McClanahan, Ed. 1998. *My Vita, If You Will: The Uncollected Ed McClanahan* [miscellany of short fiction, essays, reviews]. Edited by Tom Marksbury. Washington, D.C.: Counterpoint Press. 274 pp.

McClanahan, Ed. 2005. "The Story of the Story" [with Gurney Norman; 1969 Palo Alto; U.Ky. basketball]. *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 3 (Summer): 26-28.

McClanahan, Ed. 2009. "Grumpy Old Humorist Tells All: Three Short Essays on Writing, Plus Random Thoughts on Same." *Journal of Kentucky Studies* 26 (September): 224-230.

McClanahan, Scott. 2009. Stories II [W. Va.]. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Six Gallery Press. 155 pp.

McClanahan, Scott. 2011. *Stories V!* [W. Va.]. Beckley, W. Va.: Holler Presents. 139 pp. Contents: Invisible ink | Jenny Sugar | Terrorists | The second ending to terrorists | A chapter from a book I will start writing in 2012 | Sex tapes | But there is a second ending to sex tapes too | And now a note on literary reverence | So now a list of things I'm ashamed of | Nicky | Now some public apologies | Love letters | Razy | Dead baby jokes | Mary and the cleaning lady | A farewell.

McClanahan, Scott. 2012. *The Collected Works, Volume 1*. Portland, Ore.: Lazy Fascist Press. 124 pp. Contents: The man who killed you: a foreword / by Blake Butler | The last time I saw Randy Doogan | ODB, the mud puppy, and me | The Rainelle story | The homeless guy | The chainsaw guy | The firestarter | The prettiest girl in Texas | The baby doll | Phone girl | My dad and the cop | My dad at the race | My dad | My mom | Captain D's | The first time I made diamonds | Kidney stones | Hernia dog | This is a story with a phone number in it | The couple | The last time I stole Walt Whitman's sole | The prisoners | Suicide notes | Fable #1 | Fable #2 | The future teller | The coal train sounds #1 | The end | The coal train sounds #2 | American genius: an afterword / by Sam Pink.

McCombs, Davis. 2000. *Ultima Thule* [poetry; Mammoth Cave, Ky.]. Foreword by W. S. Merwin. Yale Series of Younger Poets, vol. 94. New Haven: Yale University Press. 52 pp.

McCombs, Lisa A. 2012. *Raspberry Beret* [youth novel]. Monongah, W.Va: L.A. McCombs. 274 pp. "After travelling the state of West Virginia and attending seven schools in five years, Abigail Van Buren Masterson is overjoyed to be attending Monongah Junior High...she is no longer the NEW kid."

McCord, Charline R., and Judy H. Tucker, ed. 2003. *A Very Southern Christmas: Holiday Stories from the South's Best Writers*. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 214 pp. Ten writers including Fred Chappell and Lee Smith.

McCroskey, Gretchen. 2009. *Finding My Way Home* [poems]. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 29 pp.

McCrumb, Sharyn, and Adam Edwards. 2010. *Faster Pastor: A Novel*. Banner Elk, N.C.: Ingalls Publishing Group. 297 pp. Errant NASCAR driver teaches local Tennessee ministers how to race stock cars against each other.

McCrumb, Sharyn. 1994. She Walks These Hills. New York: Scribners. 336 pp.

McCrumb, Sharyn. 1995. *If I'd Killed Him When I Met Him ... : An Elizabeth MacPherson Novel.* New York: Ballantine Books. 276 pp.

McCrumb, Sharyn. 1996. The Rosewood Casket [fiction]. New York: Dutton. 303 pp.

McCrumb, Sharyn. 1997. *Foggy Mountain Breakdown: And Other Stories* [collected short fiction]. New York: Ballantine Books. 336 pp.

McCrumb, Sharyn. 1998. *The Ballad of Frankie Silver* [fiction; N.C.]. New York: Dutton. 304 pp.

McCrumb, Sharyn. 2000. *The PMS Outlaws* [eighth Elizabeth McPherson novel]. New York: Ballantine Books. 295 pp.

McCrumb, Sharyn. 2001. *The Songcatcher: A Ballad Novel*. New York: Dutton. 321 pp. Multi-generational, Scotland to N.C.

McCrumb, Sharyn. 2003. *Ghost Riders: A Novel* [Civil War; author's seventh "ballad novel"]. New York: Dutton. 336 pp.

McCrumb, Sharyn. [2003] 2012. *Ghost Riders: A Novel*. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 352 pp. Reprint, originally published: New York: Dutton. "Disguising herself as a boy to join the Union army alongside her husband, Malinda Blalock raids the farms of Confederate

sympathizers and promotes the efforts of governor Zebulon Vance, who would protect Appalachian interests."

McCrumb, Sharyn. 2003. "Keepers of the Legends: An Essay on the Influences of Family Legends and Folklore on Fiction." In *From a Race of Storytellers: Essays on the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb*, ed. K. Holloway, 7-21. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

McCrumb, Sharyn. 2005. "St. Dale: The Missing Scene." Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 21, no. 2 (Fall): 31-33. Revised ending to St. Dale (Kensington Books, 2005).

McCrumb, Sharyn. 2005. *St. Dale* [fiction; Dale Earnhart fans' stock car, race circuit picaresque]. New York: Kensington. 311 pp.

McCrumb, Sharyn. 2006. "Grassroots Saints and Honky-Tonk Heroes: A Conversation" (recorded at the Sharyn McCrumb Literary Festival, Emory & Henry College, Sept. 30, 2005). Interview by Jane Hicks. *The Iron Mountain Review* 22 (Spring): 24-32.

McCrumb, Sharyn. 2006. "Parting Shot" [Sharyn McCrumb Literary Festival, Emory & Henry College, Sept. 29-30, 2005]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 22 (Spring): 4-7.

McCrumb, Sharyn. 2007. *Once Around the Track* [fiction]. New York: Kensington. 309 pp. All-female NASCAR pit crew; Viagra-like product-sponsored male driver.

McCrumb, Sharyn. 2010. *The Devil Amongst the Lawyers: A Ballad Novel* [Blue Ridge Mountains., Va.; 1935 murder trial; journalists and stereotyping]. New York: St. Martin's Press, Thomas Dunne Books. 320 pp. Fictionalized account of the 1935 Wise Co., Va., murder trial described in Sharon Hatfield's nonfictional account, *Never Seen the Moon: The Trials of Edith Maxwell* (University of Illinois Press, 2005).

McCrumb, Sharyn. 2011. *The Ballad of Tom Dooley: A Ballad Novel* [Wilkes Co., N.C.]. New York: Thomas Dunne Books. 311 pp. "A story inspired by a true crime made famous by the Kingston Trio's folk song recording reimagines the events surrounding the murder of North Carolina mountain girl Laura Foster and the hanging of her lover, Tom Dula [c. 1843/4–1868], in a meticulously researched account that reveals additional information that may prove Dula's innocence."

McDonald, Jeanne. 1997. "Lee Smith: At Home in Appalachia." *Poets & Writers* 25 (November/December): 32-41.

McDonough, Greta. 2010. "Writer's Workshop Pastoral" [creative nonfiction]. *Still: The Journal*, no. 2 (Winter). 1,225 words. "Rain sneaks up on you here. You never see it coming, and hardly notice the thunder, it sounds so much like the rumble of coal trucks lumbering down the mountain roads. The mountains of Eastern Kentucky are close together, rising straight up." http://www.stilljournal.net/greta-mcdonough-nonfiction.php.

McElmurray, Karen Salyer. 1999. *Strange Birds in the Trees of Heaven* [first novel; eastern Ky.]. Athens, Ga.: Hill Street Press. 312 pp.

McElmurray, Karen Salyer. 2008. *The Motel of the Stars: A Novel*. Linda Bruckheimer Series in Kentucky Literature. Louisville, Ky.: Sarabande Books. 269 pp. New Age movement, grief/loss, N.C., Ky.

McElmurray, Karen Salyer. 2009. "Teaching Rapture" [creative nonfiction]. *Still: The Journal*, no. 1 (Fall). 1,630 words. "Sufi Dancers, I said to my friend and she shrugged. Later, I didn't tell her that as I watched those six men, their turning and turning in dance, something nestled in the center of my chest. Rapture traveled out and settled in the palms of my hands." http://www.stilljournal.net/karen-mcelmurray-nonfiction.php.

McElmurray, Karen Salyer. 2011. "Getting Personal in Your Writing: An Interview with Karen Salyer McElmurray." Interview by Denton Loving. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 2 (Spring): 24-27. Author of two novels, *Strange Birds in the Tree of Heaven* (1999) and *The Motel of the Stars* (2008); and *Surrendered Child: A Birthmother's Journey* (2004).

McElmurray, Karen Salyer. 2011. "In Visions" [b. 1956; Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 2 (Spring): 16-22. Memoir of the author's early years: drug abuse, runaway, unwed mother, depression, student, womanhood, visions and remembering, and evolving writer.

McFee, Michael, ed. 1994. *The Language They Speak Is Things to Eat: Poems by Fifteen Contemporary North Carolina Poets.* Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 276 pp.

McFee, Michael. 1999. "The Epigrammatical Fred Chappell" [considers Chappell's 1993 poetry collection *C*]. *Southern Literary Journal* 31 (Spring): 95-108.

McFee, Michael. 2002. *Earthly: Poems*. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Carnegie Mellon University Press. 84 pp.

McFee, Michael. 2003. "Unsent Letter to Robert Morgan" [18 May 1997; "Am I really an Appalachian writer?"]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 19 (Spring): 7-8.

McFee, Michael. 2005. "At Grandfather's Grave, Again" [Haywood Co., N.C.; 1886-1936]. *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 2 (Spring): 23-25.

McFee, Michael. 2006. *Shinemaster: Poems*. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Carnegie-Mellon University Press. 60 pp.

McFee, Michael. 2006. *The Napkin Manuscripts: Selected Essays and an Interview* [22 collected prose pieces covering three decades; N.C.]. Foreword by Doris Betts. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 207 pp.

McFee, Michael. 2007. *The Smallest Talk: One-Line Poems* [chapbook]. Durham, N.C.: Bull City Press. 31 pp.

McFee, Michael (moderator), with George Ella Lyon, Jeff Daniel Marion, and Gurney Norman. 2007. "The Blessing of Influence: The Community of Writers in the Appalachian South" [panel discussion]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 23 (Spring): 6-11.

McFee, Michael, and Michael Chitwood. 2008. "At Play in the Graveyard: A Conversation." *The Iron Mountain Review* 24 (Spring): 30-38. Interview recorded at the Michael Chitwood Literary Festival, Emory & Henry College, Oct. 19, 2007.

McFee, Michael. 2012. *That Was Oasis* [poems]. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Carnegie Mellon University Press. 87 pp. McFee's eighth full-length book of poetry.

McKee, Glenn. 1998. "Crossing Over Troublesome Creek: The Appalachian Writers Workshop at the Hindman Settlement School." 1998. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 15 (Summer): 28-29.

McKernan, Llewellyn. 1994. *This Is the Day* [children's story]. Illustrated by Ann Barrow. Norwalk, Conn.: C.R. Gibson. 21 pp. "Cumulative verses describe the activities on a farm that give cause to rejoice in the day the Lord has made.

McKernan, Llewellyn. 2005. *Greatest Hits, 1979-2004* [12 poems]. Columbus, Ohio: Pudding House Publications. 31 pp.

McKernan, Llewellyn. 2010. *Pencil Memory* [poems, chapbook]. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 27 pp.

McKinney, Denise R. 2004. *Poetry As Prayer: Appalachian Women Speak*. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 149 pp.

McKinney, Denise R., ed. 2004. *Poetry As Prayer: Appalachian Women Speak* [poems "of a sacred, spiritual, or religious nature" selected from 400 submissions]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 149 pp.

McKinney, Irene, ed. 2002. *Backcountry: Contemporary Writing in West Virginia*. Morgantown: Vandalia Press (West Virginia University Press). 273 pp. [Authors represented: Maggie Anderson, Tom Andrews, Pinckney Benedict, Richard Currey, Mark DeFoe, Victor Depta, Henry Louis Gates, Jr., Denise Giardina, Davis Grubb, Lisa Koger, Lee Maynard, John McKernan, Llewellyn McKernan, Irene McKinney, Louise McNeill, Ann Pancake, Breece D'J Pancake, Jayne Anne Phillips, Timothy Russell, Mary Lee Settle, A. E. Stringer, and Meredith Sue Willis.]

McKinney, Irene. [1989] 2009. *Six O'Clock Mine Report* [poems; W. Va.]. Reprint, Carnegie Mellon University Press Classic Contemporaries Edition. Pittsburgh: Carnegie Mellon University Press. 45 pp. Originally published: University of Pittsburgh Press.

McKinney, Irene. 2004. *Vivid Companion: Poems* [Poet Laureate of W. Va.]. Morgantown, W. Va.: Vandalia Press. 98 pp.

McKinney, Irene. 2009. *Unthinkable: Selected Poems, 1976-2004* [W. Va. Poet Laureate]. Los Angeles, Calif.: Red Hen Press. 188 pp.

McKinney, Karen Janet. 2004. "Tracing the Hawk's Shadow: Fred Chappell As Storyteller." In *More Lights Than One: On the Fiction of Fred Chappell*, ed. P. Bizarro, 219-238. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

McMahan, Janna. 2008. *Calling Home*. New York: Kensington Books. 326 pp. Fiction, Ky.; mother and daughter.

McManus, John. 2000. Stop Breakin Down: Stories [15 stories]. New York: Picador. 263 pp.

McManus, John. 2003. Born on a Train [13 short stories]. New York: Picador. 253 pp.

McManus, John. 2005. *Bitter Milk* [fiction; Tenn. dysfunctional family; coming-of-age]. New York: Picador. 195 pp.

McMills, Rose Creasy. 2010. *Mountain Girl* [1940s W. Va.; young adult fiction]. Enumclaw, Wash.: Pleasant Word. 117 pp.

McNeill, Louise. 1994. Fermi Buffalo. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 160 pp.

McNeill, Louise. [1972] 2009. *Paradox Hill from Appalachia to Lunar Shore*: Poems. Rev. ed. with an introduction by A. E. Stringer. Morgantown, W. Va.: Vandalia Press. 128 pp. Originally published: Morgantown: West Virginia University Library.

McNemar, T. W. 2007. *Ragdoll Angel: A Novella* [1952 Oak Hill, W. Va.]. Bangor, Me.: Booklocker.com. 175 pp.

McNiece, Ray. 2007. *Our Way of Life: Poems*. Working Lives Series. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 124 pp.

McRae, James Patterson. 2011. *Doodlebug, Doodlebug Your House Is On Fire!: Stories of the Little Curly-Headed Boy* [children's literature]. Illustrations by the author. [No location]: Chapel Hill Press. 75 pp.

Mda, Zakes. 2007. *Cion: A Novel* [episodic tale set in Athens, Ohio, by award-winning South African novelist and playwright Mda; quilting and slavery themes]. New York: Picador. 312 pp.

Mead, Susan Virginia. 2011. "The X Decade: A Journey of Sociological Expoloration through the Poetry of Frank X Walker." *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 4 (Fall): 32-38. *Affrilachia* (Old Cove Press, 2000), and *Black Box* (Old Cove Press, 2006).

Medlicott, Joan A. 2004. *At Home in Covington* [popular fiction series' fifth title; N.C.; older women friendship]. New York: Atria Books. 309 p.

Megan, Carolyn E. 2002. "Dorothy Allison." In *The History of Southern Women's Literature*, ed. C. Perry and M. Weaks, 584-587. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Mendicino, Tom, Frank Anthony Polito, and Michael Salvatore. 2011. *Remembering Christmas* [fiction; gay men]. New York: Kensington. 250 pp. Contents: Away, in a manger / Tom Mendicino | A Christmas to remember / Frank Anthony Polito | Missed connections / Michael Salvatore.

Meredith, Donna. 2010. *The Glass Madonna* [fiction]. Tallahassee, Fla.: Wild Women Writers. 310 pp. Story of three generations of W. Va. women glassworkers [Clarksburg] and the 1970s coming of age of the youngest from an emotionally abusive marriage. The story won First Place for Unpublished Fiction from the Florida Writers Association in 2009.

Meredith Sue Willis Bibliography [48 entries]. 1996. *The Iron Mountain Review* 12 (Spring): 37.

Meredith Sue Willis Issue, edited by John Lang. 1996. Special issue, *The Iron Mountain Review* 12 (Spring): 1-37.

Merritt, Rob. 2009. "Nantahalas: 'No Recognized Boundaries': An Essay and Five Poems" [Nantahala Mountains, River, and National Forest]. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 4, no. 1 (Summer/Fall): View section, 2149 words. http://nantahalareview.org/issue4-1/editors4-1/Merritt.html.

Merritt, Robert. 2006. *Landscape Architects* [poems]. Columbus, Ohio: Pudding House Publications. 30 pp.

Metress, Christopher. 2001. "'Via Negativa': The Way of Unknowing in Cormac McCarthy's *Outer Dark*" [his second novel, 1968]. *Southern Review* 37 (Winter): 147-154.

Meyer, Philipp. 2009. *American Rust: A Novel* [murder mystery; dying steel town; Fayette Co., Pa.]. New York: Spiegel & Grau. 367 pp.

Michael Chitwood Bibliography. 2008. *The Iron Mountain Review* 24 (Spring): p.39, unnumbered. 11 books, 6 articles, 2 websites.

Michael Chitwood Issue, edited by John Lang. 2008. Special issue, *The Iron Mountain Review* 24 (Spring): 1-39.

Michael, Edwin Daryl. 2009. *Shadow of the Alleghenies: The Wilderness Adventures of a Frontiersman and His Wolf Pup* [historical novel; 1750s French and Indian War circuit]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 367 pp.

Michael, Edwin Daryl. 2012. *Death Visits Canaan* [historical fiction; W. Va.; orphaned boy]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 163 pp. Set in 1880 Tucker County; Michael, an Appalachian wildlife biologist, is also the author of *A Valley Called Canaan*, 1885-2002 (2002), and *Shadow of the Alleghenies: The Wilderness Adventures of a Frontiersman and His Wolf Pup* (2009).

Michael McFee Bibliography [32 entries]. The Iron Mountain Review 19 (Spring): 39-40.

Michael McFee Issue, edited by John Lang. 2003. Special issue, *The Iron Mountain Review* 19 (Spring): 1-40.

Miles, Caroline S. 2004. "Representing and Self-Mutilating the Laboring Male Body: Re-Examining Rebecca Harding Davis's *Life in the Iron Mills*" [1861; Wheeling, (W.) Va.]. *American Transcendental Quarterly* (ATQ) 18, no. 2 (June): 90-104.

Miles, Celia H. 2002. *Mattie's Girl: An Appalachian Childhood* [fiction; 1940s-era N.C; overcoming odds]. West Conshohocken, Pa.: Infinity. 181 pp.

Miles, Celia H. 2006. *Sarranda* [fiction; Civil War-era, Greene Valley, N.C.; one woman's struggle]. West Conshohocken, Pa.: Infinity. 191 pp.

Mill Villages and Farmers [textile mills]. 2005. Special issue, *American Speech* 80, Annual Supplement 90: 1-133. [1. A sociolinguistic study of a southern mill town, 1-12; 2. Settlement patterns, cultural space, and linguistic evolution in the American South, 13-43; 3. Phonological patterns in the linguistic ecology of Griffin, Georgia, 44-74; 4. Grammatical patterns in the linguistic ecology of Griffin, Georgia, 75-100; 5. Social networks and linguistic evolution: a brief case study, 101-117; Appendixes (phonetic notations and an ethnographic timeline for the southeastern U.S.), 119-121].

Millen, C. M. 2004. *Blue Bowl Down: An Appalachian Rhyme* [children's picture book; bread-making]. Illustrated by Holly Meade. Cambridge, Mass.: Candlewick Press. 32 pp.

Miller, Danny L. 1996. *Wingless Flights: Appalachian Women in Fiction*. Bowling Green, Oh.: Popular Press. 187 pp. Stereotype; Mary Noailles Murfree, Edith Summers Kelley and Anne W. Armstrong, Emma Bell Miles and Jesse Stuart, James Still, Harriette Simpson Arnow.

Miller, Danny L. 1997. "Kin and Kindness in Gurney Norman's *Kinfolks: The Wilgus Stories.*" *The Iron Mountain Review* 13 (Spring): 16-23.

Miller, Danny L. 2003. "Sharyn McCrumb's Use of Ballads in *If Ever I Return, Pretty Peggy-O*." In *From a Race of Storytellers: Essays on the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb*, ed. K. Holloway, 59-67. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Miller, Danny L., Sharon Hatfield, and Gurney Norman, ed. 2005. *An American Vein: Critical Readings in Appalachian Literature*. Athens: Ohio University Press. 400 pp. [anthology: 29 essays on 17 poets, fiction writers and dramatists. Contents: New directions: Folk or hillbilly? /

Cratis D. Williams -- Appalachian literature at home in this world / Jim Wayne Miller -- Jesse Stuart and James Still: Mountain regionalists / Dayton Kohler -- The changing poetic canon: The case of Jesse Stuart and Ezra Pound / Charles H. Daughaday -- James Still's poetry: "The Journey a Worldly Wonder" / Jeff Daniel Marion -- On Harriette Arnow's *The Dollmaker* / Joyce Carol Oates -- The Christian and the classic in *The Dollmaker* / Barbara Hill Rigney --Social criticism in the works of Wilma Dykeman / Oliver King Jones III -- Casting a long shadow: The Tall Woman / Patricia Gantt -- O Beulah Land: The "Yaller Vision" of Jeremiah Catlett / Jane Gentry Vance -- The Beulah/Canona connection: Mary Lee Settle's autobiographies / Nancy Carol Joyner -- The Appalachian homeplace as oneiric house in Jim Wayne Miller's *The Mountains Have Come Closer* / Don Johnson -- The mechanical metaphor: Machine and tool images in *The Mountains Have Come Closer* / Ricky Cox -- Kin and kindness in Gurney Norman's Kinfolks: The Wilgus Stories / Danny L. Miller -- "The Primal Ground of Life": The integration of traditional and countercultural values in the work of Gurney Norman / Timothy J. Dunn -- John Ehle and Appalachian fiction / Leslie Banner -- The power of language in Lee Smith's Oral History / Corinne Dale -- A new, authoritative voice: Fair and Tender Ladies / Dorothy Combs Hill -- "Where's Love?": The overheard quest in the stories of Jo Carson / Robert J. Higgs -- Family journeys in Jo Carson's *Daytrips* / Anita J. Turpin -- Points of kinship: Community and allusion in Fred Chappell's Midquest / John Lang -- Fred Chappell's urn of memory: I Am One of You Forever / Hilbert Campbell -- Coming out from under Calvinism: Religious motifs in Robert Morgan's poetry / John Lang -- Robert Morgan's mountain voice and lucid prose / Cecelia Conway -- Class and identity in Denise Giardina's Storming Heaven / Terry Easton -- Cormac McCarthy: Restless seekers / John G. Cawelti --Claiming a literary space: The Affrilachian poets / Theresa L. Burriss -- Nature-loving souls and Appalachian mountains: The promise of feminist ecocriticism / Elizabeth Engelhardt -- The wolves of Aegypt: John Crowley's Appalachians / Rodger Cunningham -- Supplemental notes on authors -- Contributors].

Miller, Danny, and others. 2006. "Appalachian Literature" [genres, authors, titles; with suggested readings, anthologies]. In *A Handbook to Appalachia: An Introduction to the Region*, ed. G. Edwards, J. Asbury, and R. Cox, 199-216. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Miller, Jake. 1999. Looneyville Zip Code 25259 Lore: Appalachian Mountains Folklore, Popular Etymology, Colloquial Speech [W. Va.; glossary, idioms, chapter on ramps]. Philadelphia: Xlibris. 148 pp.

Miller, James A. 2002. "Coming Home to Affrilachia: The Poems of doris davenport." In *Her Words: Diverse Voices in Contemporary Appalachian Women's Poetry*, ed. Felicia Mitchell, 96-106. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Miller, Jason Jack. 2012. *Hellbender* [fiction; "Appalachian Noir"]. Murder Ballads and Whiskey Series. Bowie, Md.: Raw Dog Screaming Press. 232 pp. "Strange things are happening at the edge of reality, deep in the forests and mountains of West Virginia."

Miller, Jim Wayne. [1964] 1995. *Copperhead Cane: Poems*. Reprint, Louisville: Green River Writers/Grex Press. 69 pp.

Miller, Jim Wayne. 1997. The Brier Poems. Frankfort, Ky.: Gnomon Press.

Miller, Jim Wayne. 2002. "Tell Them I Said Something" [on being a good writer (previously unpublished)]. *Appalachian Journal* 30 (Fall): 60-63.

Miller, Jim Wayne. 2007. "Introduction to *The Wolfpen Poems*." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 125-131. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *The Wolfpen Poems*, by James Still, xi-xxiii (Berea College Press, 1986).

Miller, Jim Wayne. 2007. "Jim Dandy: James Still at Eighty." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 209-221. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *Appalachian Heritage* 14 (Fall 1986): 8-20.

Miller, Jim Wayne. 2007. "The Wolfpen Notebooks: A Record of Appalachian Life." In James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 190-194. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from Appalachian Heritage 19 (Summer 1991): 20-24.

Miller, Judy K. 2002. "What Kind of Egg Are You? A Profile of Lou V. Crabtree." In *Her Words: Diverse Voices in Contemporary Appalachian Women's Poetry*, ed. Felicia Mitchell, 85-93. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Miller, Mary Ellen. 2009. "The Literary Influences of Jim Wayne Miller" [1936-1996]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 3 (Summer): 18-23. Mary Ellen is the widow of Jim Wayne.

Miller, Mindy Beth. 2009. "Long Remember, Long Recall: The Preservation of Appalachian Regional Heritage in Ron Rash's *One Foot in Eden*" [Picador, 2002]. *Journal of Kentucky Studies* 26 (September): 198-209.

Miller, Mary Ellen. 2011. *The Poet's Wife Speaks* [poems]. Albany, Ky.: Printed by CreateSpace for Old Seventy Creek Press. 54 pp. The "Poet" is the late Jim Wayne Miller.

Miller, Monica. 2009. "A *Loa* in These Hills: Voudou and the Ineffable in Lee Smith's *On Agate Hill*" [Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill, 2007]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 15, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 116-125. *Loa* are the spirits of the voodoo religion.

Miller, Shawn E. 2007. "An Aching Lust to Hurt Somebody Back': The Exile's Patrimony in *Bastard Out of Carolina*" [by Dorothy Allison, 1992]. *Southern Quarterly* 44, no. 4 (Summer): 139-154.

Miller, Wendy Pearce. 2007. "Implicit Protest in Elizabeth Madox Roberts' *The Time of Man*" [1926]. *Southern Quarterly* 44, no. 4 (Summer): 116-124.

Miller, Wendy Pearce. 2010. "History, Mothering, and Manhood in Mary Lee Settle's *The Beulah Quintet*." *Mississippi Quarterly* 63, no. 1-2 (Winter-Spring): 45-78.

Miller, Wendy Pearce. 2012. "[B]etween promise and hard pan': Environment and History in *The Beulah Quintet*" [by Mary Lee Settle (1918-2005)]. *Southern Quarterly* 49, no. 4 (Summer): 45-69. "...ruining of the land through mining throughout history leads to the psychological destruction of the novel's characters."

Millichap, Joseph R. 2002. "Thomas Wolfe's Southern Railroads: *Look Homeward, Angel* and Beyond." Chap. 3 in *Dixie Limited: Railroads, Culture, and the Southern Renaissance*, 36-47. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Minghella, Anthony. 2003. *Cold Mountain: A Screenplay* [based on the 1997 novel by Charles Frazier]. New York: Miramax. 174 pp.

Minick, Jim. 2008. Burning Heaven [poems]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 75 pp.

Minick, Jim. 2008. Her Secret Song [poems; elegy]. Louisville, Ky.: MotesBooks. 70 pp.

Minick, Jim. 2010. "Bit" [creative nonfiction]. *Still: The Journal*, no. 3 (Summer). 2,163 words. "On an evening in early June, two weeks after the big freeze wiped out that year's blueberry crop, the sky becomes so overcast that no last rays from the sun squeak through. I stand at the kitchen sink, washing supper dishes, listening to the news on the radio." http://www.stilljournal.net/jim-minick-nonfiction.php.

Minick, Jim. 2011. "Q's and A's, X's and O's." *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 4 (Fall): 41. Anecdote from Minick's 2008 Iron Mountain Literary Festival interview with current honoree, Frank X Walker.

Mitchell, Felicia, ed. 2002. *Her Words: Diverse Voices in Contemporary Appalachian Women's Poetry*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 328 pp. Includes two poems and a separately-authored essay for each of 20 poets: Maggie Anderson, Marilou Awiakta, Kathryn Stripling Byer, Jo Carson, Lisa Coffman, Lou V. Crabtree, doris davenport, Nikki Giovanni, Patricia A. Johnson, Leatha Kendrick, George Ella Lyon, Linda Parsons Marion, Irene McKinney, Lynn Powell, Rita Sims Quillen, Rita Sizemore Riddle, Bettie Sellers, Besty Sholl, Bennie Lee Sinclair, and Barbara Smith.

Mitchell, Ronald G. 2012. *Broken Collar: A Novel*. Working Lives Fiction Series. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 229 pp. Story of a priest's struggles returning to the 1980s, Upper Ohio steel mill town of his youth.

Mitchell, Tanya. 2002. "Beyond Regional Borders: The Emergence of a New Sense of Place, from Mary Murfree to Lee Smith" [insider/outsider values]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Fall): 407-420.

Mitchell, Tanya. 2003. "Gender, Class, and Regional Tradition in Sharyn McCrumb's *She Walks These Hills*" [1994]. In *From a Race of Storytellers: Essays on the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb*, ed. K. Holloway, 123-136. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Mitchell, Ted. [1997] 1999. *Thomas Wolfe: A Writer's Life*. Rev. ed. Raleigh: North Carolina Department of Cultural Resources, Division of Archives and History, and the Appalachian Consortium. Originally published: Asheville, N.C.: Thomas Wolfe Memorial Historic Site.

Mitchell, Ted. 2007. "The Thomas Wolfe Review" [begun 1977; Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 4 (Fall): 62-63.

Mock, Michele L. 2002. "Woman, Nature, and the White Plague: Rebecca Harding Davis's 'The Yares of the Black Mountains: A True Story" [1875; *Silhouettes of American Life*, New York: Scribner's (1892), 239-68; tuberculosis; "iconoclastic polarities of gender"]. *Legacy* 19, no. 2: 152-169.

Moeckel, Thorpe. 2008. *Making a Map of the River: Poems and an Essay* [Chattooga River]. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Iris Press. 114 pp.

Moffett, Joe. 2008. *Understanding Charles Wright*. Columbia, S.C.: University of South Carolina Press. 158 pp. Contents: Introduction to Charles Wright – On Country Music – On The World of the Ten Thousand Things – On Negative Blue – On Later Books.

Moffett, Joe. 2011. "'A Coin for a Closed Eye': Pound's Influence on Wright's 'Appalachian Book of the Dead'." *Southern Literary Journal* 44, no. 1 (Fall): 56-73.

Mohring, Ron, Michael McFee, and Lynne Knight. 2005. *Touch Me Not*, by Ron Mohring / *Never Closer*, by Michael McFee / *Life as Weather*, by Lynne Knight [poetry; three chapbooks bound together]. The Two Rivers Review Poetry Chapbook Series, v. 5-7. Clinton, NY: Two Rivers Review. 91 pp.

Monk, Bathsheba. 2006. *Now You See It ... : Stories from Cokesville, PA* [17 stories; Polish-American families; coal and steel town]. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux. 228 pp.

Monroe, Mary Alice. 2008. *Time Is a River*. New York: Pocket Books. 369 pp. Romance/mystery; cancer survivor; N.C. mountains rediscovery; fly fishing.

Montgomery, Michael. [1993] 2008. "The Southern Accent—Alive and Well." In *Southern Cultures: The Fifteenth Anniversary Reader*, ed. H. Watson and L. Griffin, 94-113. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. Originally published, *Southern Cultures* 1: 47-64.

Montgomery, Michael. 1995. "Does Tennessee Have Three 'Grand Dialects': Evidence From the Linguistic Atlas of the Gulf States." *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 57 (no. 2): 68-86.

Montgomery, Michael B. 1997. "The Scotch-Irish Element in Appalachian English: How Broad? How Deep?" In *Ulster and North America: Transatlantic Perspectives on the Scotch-Irish*, ed. H. Blethen, C. Wood, Jr., 189-212. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Montgomery, Michael. 1999. "A Superlative Complex in Appalachian English" [word formation]. SECOL Review: Southeastern Conference on Linguistics 23 (Spring): 1-14.

Montgomery, Michael. 2000. "Myths: How a Hunger for Roots Shapes Our Notions About Appalachian English" [mountain speech and dialect; maps]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 17 (Summer): 7-13.

Montgomery, Michael. 2000. "The Idea of Appalachian Isolation" [culture; mountain speech communities]. *Appalachian Heritage* 28 (Spring): 20-31.

Montgomery, Michael. 2002. "Joseph Hall: The Man and His Work" [made first permanent recordings of Smoky Mountains speech and music, 1939-40]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Winter): 23-26.

Montgomery, Michael. 2004. "English Language" [overview]. In *High Mountains Rising: Appalachia in Time and Place*, ed. R. Straw and H. Blethen, 147-164. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Montgomery, Michael B., and Joseph S. Hall, ed. 2004. *Dictionary of Smoky Mountain English* [6000 entries with quotations in context; 1930s informants]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 710 pp. Weatherford Award winner for nonfiction.

Montgomery, Michael. 2005. "Voices of My Ancestors: A Personal Search for the Language of the Scotch-Irish." *American Speech* 80, no. 4 (Winter): 341-365.

Montgomery, Michael. 2005. Review essay of *Mountain Talk: Language and Life in Southern Appalachia* [DVD/videocassette]. *Appalachian Journal* 32, no. 3 (Spring): 389-395. Produced by Neal Hutcheson and Walt Wolfram (Raleigh: North Carolina Language and Life Project, Humanities Extension/ Publications, North Carolina State University, 2003).

Montgomery, Michael. 2006. "Appalachian English." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 5: *Language*, ed. M. Montgomery and E. Johnson, 42-45. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Montgomery, Michael. 2006. From Ulster to America: The Scotch-Irish Heritage of American English [dictionary of 400 words with etymologies; Ulster and U.S. meanings]. Belfast: Ulster Historical Foundation. 210 pp.

Montgomery, Michael. 2006. "How Scotch-Irish Is Your English?" *Journal of East Tennessee History* 77, Supplement: 65-91.

Montgomery, Michael. 2006. "Notes on the Development of Existential They" [expletive they, especially in Appalachian English; traceable to Ulster and 17th-century Scotland]. *American Speech* 81, no. 2 (Summer): 132-145.

Montgomery, Michael, section editor. 2006. "Language" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 999-1033 (with introductory essay, 999-1005). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Montgomery, Michael, and Ellen Johnson, ed. 2007. *Language*, Vol. 5 of *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 226 pp. Sixty-eight entries including "Appalachian English" and "Storytelling."

Montgomery, Michael B. 2008. "Appalachian English: Morphology and Syntax." In *Varieties of English, 2: The Americas and the Caribbean*, ed. E. Schneider, 428-467. Berlin, Germany: Mouton de Gruyter.

Montgomery, Michael B. 2009. "Historical and Comparative Perspectives on A-Prefixing in the English of Appalachia." *American Speech* 84, no. 1 (Spring): 5-26. Seven tables.

Moon, Michael, and Colin Talley. 2010. "Life in a Shatter Zone: Debra Granik's Film *Winter's Bone*" [based on the 2006 novel by Daniel Woodrell]. *Southern Spaces*, 6 December. "Overview: In their review....[the authors] draw upon the concept of the 'shatter zone' in order to illuminate the local features of the film as well as to locate its place in the history of hill regions as sites of refuge and resistance. This review finds additional contexts for the film in regional music and the long-established 'dark-fairytale' tradition of the Appalachians and the Ozarks." http://www.southernspaces.org/2010/life-shatter-zone-debra-graniks-film-wintersbone.

Mooney, Jennifer. 2002. "'Room Is Made for Whoever': Jo Carson and the Creation of Dialogical Community." In *Her Words: Diverse Voices in Contemporary Appalachian Women's Poetry*, ed. Felicia Mitchell, 50-65. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Mooney, Stephen D. 1999. "Beyond Measure': An Appreciation of Denise Giardina's *Storming Heaven* and *The Unquiet Earth*" [1987; 1992]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 15 (Spring): 9-14.

Mooney, Theresa R. 2000. "Out of the Dark and into the Light: Violence and Vision in James Lee Burke" [1970 coal mining novel, *To the Bright and Shining Sun*]. In *Caverns of Night: Coal Mines in Art, Literature, and Film*, ed. W. Thesing, 226-234. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press.

Moore, Phyllis Wilson. 1999. "West Virginia Literature: A Selected Annotated Bibliography and Guide to Research" [56 entries]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 5: 45-47. http://www.mountainlit.com/references.htm.

Moore, Phyllis Wilson. 2002. "WV's Kanawha Valley as Mary Lee Settle's Beulah Land." *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 8: 56-57.

Moore, Phyllis Wilson. 2006. "Meredith Sue Willis: Writing Her Own Dispatch" [Featured Author; b. 1946, Shinnston, W. Va.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 4 (Fall): 10-14.

Moore, Phyllis Wilson. 2006. "The Mother Jones of West Virginia Literature" [tribute to Mary Lee Settle, d. 2005]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 1 (Winter): 11-14.

Moore, Phyllis Wilson. 2007. "The Gifts of Breece D'J Pancake, Native Son." *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 10: 42-43.

Morace, Cora J. 2004. *Appalachia* [fiction; serial murders]. Lake Forest, Calif: Behler. 166 pp. "Two boys grew up together...in the backwoods of Tennessee they went their separate ways only to come together again as a grisly serial murderer is hunted down and many dark secrets of their childhood are explained."

Morgan, C. E. 2009. *All the Living* [fiction; 1984 Ky. tobacco farm]. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux. 199 pp.

Morgan, Robert. [1989] 2000. *The Blue Valleys: A Collection of Stories*. Reprint, Scribner Paperback Fiction ed. New York: Simon & Schuster. 168 pp. Originally published: Atlanta: Peachtree Publishers.

Morgan, Robert. [1992] 2000. *The Mountains Won't Remember Us and Other Stories*. Reprint, Scribner Paperback Fiction ed. New York: Simon & Schuster. 250 pp. Originally published: Atlanta: Peachtree Publishers.

Morgan, Robert. 1994. *The Hinterlands: A Mountain Tale in Three Parts*. Chapel Hill: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 356 pp.

Morgan, Robert. 1995. *The Truest Pleasure*. Chapel Hill: Algonquin Books. 334 pp.

Morgan, Robert. 1996. "Clearing Ground" [testimonial for Jim Wayne Miller]. *Appalachian Heritage* 24 (Fall): 4-7.

Morgan, Robert. 1996. "Robert Morgan." Interview by Tal Stanley. *Appalachian Journal* 23 (Spring): 276-292.

Morgan, Robert. 1996. Wild Peavines [poems, chapbook]. Frankfort, Ky.: Gnomon Press.

Morgan, Robert. 1999. *Gap Creek* [fiction; an Oprah's Book Club selection]. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books. 336 pp.

Morgan, Robert. [1999] 2012. *Gap Creek: A Novel* [N.C.]. Reprint [paperback; with a note from the author, discussion questions, and a preview of the author's forthcoming novel *The Road from Gap Creek* (2013)]. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 370 pp. "A novel on the harsh life in the Appalachian Mountains at the turn of the century. The heroine is Julie Harmon whose work load includes hauling water, butchering a hog, rendering lard, plucking a turkey, baking and preserving--all described in detail."

Morgan, Robert. 1999. *The Balm of Gilead Tree* [new and selected stories; N.C.]. Frankfort, Ky.: Gnomon Press. 352 pp.

Morgan, Robert. 2000. *Topsoil Road* [poems]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 64 pp.

Morgan, Robert. 2001. "Cormac McCarthy: The Novel Raised from the Dead." *Cormac McCarthy Journal* 1, no. 1: 12-25. *The Gardener's Son* (1977); *Child of God* (1974).

Morgan, Robert. 2001. "Getting the Voices Right: A Conversation with Robert Morgan About *The Gardener's Son*" [for the documentary "Acting McCarthy: The Making of Richard Pearce's 'The Gardener's Son'" (1977; screenplay by Cormac McCarthy)]. Interview by Peter Josyph. *Southern Quarterly* 40 (Fall): 121-131.

Morgan, Robert. 2001. "You Can't Get There From Here" [influence of poet and N.C. neighbor Carl Sandburg]. *Appalachian Journal* 28 (Winter): 222-226.

Morgan, Robert. 2001. *This Rock* [fiction; 1920s N.C.]. Chapel Hill: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 323 pp.

Morgan, Robert. 2002. "Cormac McCarthy: The Novel Raised from the Dead" [Child of God (1974)]. In Sacred Violence, I: Cormac McCarthy's Appalachian Works, ed. W. Hall and R. Wallach, 9-21. El Paso: Texas Western Press.

Morgan, Robert. 2002. "Interview with Robert Morgan" [conducted Nov. 21, 2001, Green River Valley, N.C.]. *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Summer): 494-504.

Morgan, Robert. 2003. *Brave Enemies: A Novel* [1780-81 Revolutionary N.C., S.C.]. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 309 pp.

Morgan, Robert. 2004. "'the moral ambiguity of that time': A Conversation with Robert Morgan." Interview by Resa Crane Bizzaro and Patrick Bizzaro. *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Summer): 11-17.

Morgan, Robert. 2004. "The Birth of Music from the Spirit of Comedy." Foreword in *More Lights Than One: On the Fiction of Fred Chappell*, ed. P. Bizarro, ix-xiv. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Morgan, Robert. 2004. *The Strange Attractor: New and Selected Poems* [14 new poems and 79 from nine previous collections spanning 35 years]. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 137 pp.

Morgan, Robert. 2005. "Coming Down from Pisgah: A Memoir of Michael McFee." *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 2 (Spring): 23-25.

Morgan, Robert. 2007. "In Memoriam: Wilma Dykeman: A Good Spring is Mighty Hard to Find" [May 20, 1920-Dec.22, 2006]. *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 276-277.

Morgan, Robert. 2007. "The Distant Blue Hills" [short story; 1752]. *Southern Review* 43, no. 4 (Autumn): 879-885.

Morgan, Robert (moderator), with Kathryn Stripling Byer, Fred Chappell, and Denise Giardina. 2007. "Religion, the Sacred, and the Appalachian Writer" [panel discussion]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 23 (Spring): 39-45.

Morgan, Robert. 2009. *October Crossing* [chapbook; poems]. Frankfort, Ky.: Broadstone Books. 39 pp.

Morgan, Robert. 2011. "A Note on 'A Tale of the Ragged Mountains' by Edgar Allan Poe" [published 1844; setting 1827]. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 2 (Spring): 75, followed by full text of the story, 76-84. Considers Poe a regional writer with this possibly "first work of classic short fiction set in the Southern Appalachian Mountains."

Morgan, Robert. 2011. *Terroir* [78 poems of family, farm, and forest]. New York: Penguin. 95 pp.

Morgan, Robert. 2012. "The More Mysterious: An Interview with Robert Morgan." By Jesse Graves. *The Georgia Review* 66, no. 1 (Spring): 65-87.

Morgan, Stacy I. 2001. "Migration, Material Culture, and Identity in William Attaway's *Blood on the Forge* and Harriette Arnow's *The Dollmaker*" [1954]. *College English* 63 (July): 712-740.

Morgan, Wesley G. 2003. "McCarthy's High School Years" [Knoxville Catholic High School, Tenn.]. *Cormac McCarthy Journal* 3, no. 1: 6-9.

Morgan, Wesley G. 2005. "A Season of Death and Epidemic Violence: Knoxville Rogues in *Suttree*" [1979]. *Cormac McCarthy Journal* 4: 195-209.

Morgan, Wesley G. 2011. "A Walk with Wesley G. Morgan through *Suttree*'s Knoxville" [Tenn., three-day excursion]. Interview by Peter Josyph. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 1 (Winter): 20-49, including street map. Setting for Cormac McCarthy's novel, *Suttree* (1979).

Morgan, Wesley G. 2012. "The 'government tank' in *The Orchard Keeper*" [Random House, 1965]. *Cormac McCarthy Journal* 10, no. 1: 93-96.

Morris, R. B. 2007. *Early Fires: Poems*. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Iris Press. 163 pp. Combines three books of poetry from the author's 1980s "Knoxville period," previously published by Rich Mountain Bound: *The Man Upstairs*; *Littoral Zone*; and *Lost Pavilion*.

Morris, R. B. 2010. *Keeping the Bees Employed: Poems*. Knoxville, Tenn.: Rich Mountain Bound. 117 pp.

Morrow, Jonathan. 1998. "Afterword." In *From My Highest Hill: Carolina Mountain Folks*, by Olive Tilford Dargan [discusses Bayard Wootten's documentary photographs included in this reprint of the 1941 edition]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Pp. 223-247.

Morsberger, Robert E. 2000. "The Molly Maguires in the Valley of Fear" [screenplay (1970) and novel (1915)]. In *Caverns of Night: Coal Mines in Art, Literature, and Film*, ed. W. Thesing, 155-165. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press.

Morsi, Pamela. 1999. *Sweetwood Bride* [historical romance; Tenn.]. New York: Harper Choice. 406 pp.

Mueller, Pauline. 2006. *West Virginia Belle* [fiction; 1920s-30s coal town; single mother]. Huntington, W. Va.: Mid-Atlantic Highlands. 316 pp.

Mueller, Pauline. 2010. *Faith: The Roanoke Years* [fiction]. Huntington, W. Va.: Mid-Atlantic Highlands. 246 pp. Sequel to *West Virginia Belle* (2006). "When Belle Anderson delivers her baby girl at a Salvation Army clinic in Roanoke, Virginia, in 1928, she knows she is too ill and too poor to care for the child."

Mulkey, Rick. 2005. *Bluefield Breakdown: Poems*. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 29 pp.

Mulkey, Rick. 2007. *Toward Any Darkness: Poems* [Weatherford Award nominee]. Cincinnati, Oh.: Word Press. 76 pp.

Mullins, Denvil. 1994. *Echoes of Appalachia* [fiction]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 204 pp. Eighteen short stories about growing up on Coaley Creek, southwest Va. Includes a dialect glossary.

Mullins, Denvil. 1997. *Images of Yesterday* [fiction; Va.]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 166 pp. More stories of the Cornfield Clan of Coaley Creek.

Mullins, Denvil. 1998. ...and ten to go! [adolescent fiction; football path to college education]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 227 pp.

Mullins, Denvil. 1999. *Remember When* [fiction]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 157 pp. Stories and anecdotes of yesteryear on Coaley Creek, Va.; glossary of 90 terms.

Mullins, Denvil. 2001. *Soapy-Dope: The Monster Who Lived in a Chuckhole* [children's literature]. Illustrated by Carol Bates Murray. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 32 pp.

Mullins, Norman D. 2004. *Mountain Boy: The Adventures of Orion Saddler* [juvenile fiction; summer at grandparents' W. Va. farm]. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 104 pp.

Murfree, Mary Noailles. 2005 [1891]. *In the "Stranger People's" Country* [fiction; "Author Mary Noailles Murfree (1850-1922) uses dialect and vivid descriptions of mountain scenes to introduce the reader to Appalachia and its people. She creates respectful representations of Appalachian life and explores some of the changes the arrival of outsiders brought to the mountains. Murfree's depiction of social and aesthetic issues increases our understanding of the nineteenth century and serves as a literary precursor of the twentieth-century Appalachian activist movements to preserve the environment against the strip-mining and chemical industries."]. Rpt. ed. Edited and with an introduction by Marjorie Pryse. Legacies of Nineteenth-Century American Women Writers. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 211 pp. Originally published under the author's pseudonym, Charles Egbert Craddock (New York: Harper & Brothers, 1891).

Murfree, Mary Noailles. 2008 [1884]. *In the Tennessee Mountains* [fiction]. Edited, with an introduction, by Bill Hardwig. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 167 pp. Originally published under the pseudonym of Charles Egbert Craddock by Houghton, Mifflin, and Company.

Murray, Thomas E., and Beth Lee Simon. 2002. "At the Intersection of Regional and Social Dialects: The Case of *Like* + Past Participle in American English." *American Speech* 77 (Spring): 32-69.

Murrey, Loretta Martin. 2002. "Mary Lee Settle." In *The History of Southern Women's Literature*, ed. C. Perry and M. Weaks, 503-507. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Murrey, Loretta. 1996. "Dispossession and Regeneration in Mary Lee Settles' Beulah Quintet" [Edenic garden vs. machine]. Special issue, "The Garden South," *Southern Quarterly* 35 (Fall): 62-68.

Mushko, Becky. 2010. Ferradiddledumday: An Appalachian Version of Rumpelstiltskin [children's literature]. Illustrated by Bruce Rae. Bremo Bluff, Va.: Cedar Creek Publishing. 59 pp. Blue Ridge Mountains setting, plants, animals, and dialect. Includes a Study & Discussion Guide.

Myers, Marshall. 2008. "Dialect Differences: Why Eastern Kentuckians Talk the Way They Do and Why They Shouldn't Worry About It." *Kentucky Living* (September). 1316 words. http://www.kentuckyliving.com/article.asp?articleid=2306&issueid=314.

Myers, Marshall. 2009. Review of *How We Talked* and *Common Folks*, by Verna Mae Slone (University Press of Kentucky, 2009 reprint of 1982 and 1979). *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 107, no. 2 (Spring): 267-269.

Myracle, Lauren. 2011. *Shine* [young adult fiction; gays]. New York: Amulet Books. 359 pp. "When her best friend falls victim to a vicious hate crime, sixteen-year-old Cat sets out to discover the culprits in her small North Carolina town."

Nadeau, Alyce. 1999. *Observations of an Uppity Woman: Poems, Word Pictures*. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 53 pp.

Nahai, Gina B. 2001. *Sunday's Silence* [fiction; East Tenn.; snakebite death; Kurdish Jew character; Iranian author]. New York: Harcourt. 309 pp.

Nance, Kevin. 1996. "The Kentucky Cycle in Athens" [Schenkkan's play as Greek tragedy]. *Appalachian Heritage* 24 (Spring): 26-29.

Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia, fall 2001— [2003 winner of ASA's e-Appalachia Award]. Quarterly electronic journal hosted by the Appalachian College Association. http://www.nantahalareview.org/.

Napora, Joe. 2010. *The Daniel Boone Poems: Travels into the Interior*. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 86 pp.

Nava, Margaret. 2009. *Hummingbird Ridge* [fiction; W. Va.]. Memphis, Tenn.: Bell Bridge Books. 176 pp. "Angela Dunn, who was already in her sixties and who hadn't intended on getting involved with anyone romantically or getting married, is dealing with the challenges of a new life, a new husband, and a new home in Hummingbird Ridge, West Virginia."

Naylor, Phyllis Reynolds. 1998. *Sang Spell* [young adult fiction; Melungeons]. New York: Atheneum. 192 pp.

Naylor, Phyllis Reynolds. [1971] 2002. *Wrestle the Mountain* [adolescent fiction; W. Va. 11-year-old dreams of being a woodcarver, not a coal miner]. Reprint, with a foreword and afterword by Margaret Kimmel. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press. 194 pp. Originally published: Chicago: Follett.

Nazario y Colón, Ricardo. 2011. *Of Jíbaros and Hillbillies* [poems]. Austin, Tex.: Plain View Press. 85 pp. "...connects the dots between Puerto Rico and Affrilachia, creating a route that is poetic narrative, grito, reflection and canción." The author is a member of the Affrilachian Poets.

Neal, Dale. 2009. *Cow Across America* [humorous fiction; N.C.; storytelling grandparent and child]. Charlotte, N.C.: Novello Festival Press. 220 pp.

Neely, Jack . 2011. "Cormac McCarthy's Knoxville." *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 1 (Winter): 16-19. The author's Tenn. hometown and setting for his 1979 novel, *Suttree*. "It's our *Ulysses*, our *Dubliners*."

Neikirk, Gregg. 2001. "The Great Miltonic Meadow: Elizabeth Madox Roberts at *Paradise Lost*" [compares Roberts' *The Great Meadow* (1930) with John Milton's epic poem]. *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Summer): 34-42.

Nelson, Cynthia. 1998. *The Kentucky Rules* [poetry; lesbian]. Drawings by Tara Jane O'Neil. New York: Soft Skull Press. 115 pp.

Nelson, Stacy R. 2009. *Beneath the Weeping Skies* [fiction]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 240 pp. Confederate soldier returns to post-Civil War Lawrence County, Ky.

Neofotis, Peter. 2009. *Concord, Virginia: A Southern Town in Eleven Stories* [fiction]. New York: St. Martin's Press. 178 pp. "Appalachian Gothic" stories with eccentric characters set in the Shenandoah Valley, 1950s-1970s.

Neufeld, Rob, ed. 2012. 27 Views of Asheville: A Southern Mountain Town in Prose & Poetry [N.C.]. Hillsborough, N.C.: Eno Publishers. 204 pp. "Twenty-seven writers contribute poetry, essays, short stories, and book excerpts." Contents: Thomas Wolfe's Asheville / Gail Godwin --Random Asheville memories circa mid-twentieth century / Charles Frazier -- Milkshake / Robert Morgan -- Building Asheville: the city's arts & crafts heritage / Bruce E. Johnson -- Chicken Hill, 1943 / Holly Iglesias -- McCormick Field / Michael McFee -- Altamont always / Dale Neal -- Hallowed ground / Daniel Pierce -- A tale of two cities / Johnnie Grant -- What you seek is seeking you / Glenis Redmond -- Some gals are just not meant for the dog park / Susan Reinhardt -- A circle with no end / Richard Chess -- City of the dead / Nan Chase -- Sabbath day at McCormick Field / Allan Wolf -- Farm to Asheville table / Rick McDaniel -- Burton Street working together / DeWayne Barton -- Mapping life in these hills / Jan Schochet -- Rattlesnakes / Wayne Caldwell -- Baghdad on the French Broad: Zebulon Baird Vance's Asheville / Sharyn McCrumb -- Vote: excerpt from Backside of the Country / Sarah Williams -- House of twigs / Heather Newton -- Try not to think about it: excerpt from What I Came to Tell You / Tommy Hays -- Chance two / Pamela Duncan -- The wolves in the Asheville Zoo / Ron Rash -- A mountain garden: excerpt from Zoro's Field / Thomas Rain Crowe -- Et in Arcadia ego / Keith Flynn -- Beautiful world, farewell!: the story of John Lyon, Scottish explorer, plant hunter, and nurseryman / George Ellison.

Neufeld, Rob. 2001. "Olive Tilford Dargan: Writer and Social Critic 1869-1968" [pseud. Fielding Burke]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 2, ed. R. S. Brunk, 267-287. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services, Inc.

Newberry, Beth. 2009. "An Open Edge of the Earth" [creative nonfiction]. *Still: The Journal*, no. 1 (Fall). 2,805 words. "The first time I had a vision of my grandfather Cecil was three days before my car accident My grandparents were never real people to me, but hints of people. I imagine them suspended above me, unnoticed like clouds, but casting shadows on the landscape and life below." http://www.stilljournal.net/beth-newberry-nonfiction.php.

Newton, Heather. 2011. *Under the Mercy Trees: A Novel*. New York: Harper. 344 pp. After three decades Martin Ownby returns from life as a gay man in New York City to his mountain N.C. home town to deal with the mysteries of his brother's disappearance and unresolved differences with family and friends.

Nicholson, Scott. 2002. *The Red Church* [first novel; horror genre; N.C.]. New York: Pinnacle. 352 pp.

Nicholson, Scott. 2003. *The Harvest* [horror fiction]. New York: Kensington. 382 pp. "...set in the Appalachian mountains, an evil presence consumes the citizens of a small town, spreading only one thought: death and destruction."

Nicholson, Scott. 2004. *The Manor* [horror fiction]. New York: Kensington. 320 pp. "Appalachian Gothic thriller." "Nestled in the heart of the Appalachian Mountains stands the home...built as a retreat for artists to hone their craft....Something [is] feeding off the energies of those in the house. Something seeking everlasting life--at any cost..."

Nicholson, Scott. 2006. *The Farm* [horror fiction]. New York: Kensington. 394 pp. "Appalachian Gothic thriller... explores the legend of a 200-year-old circuit riding preacher who pays a visit to the tiny mountain community of Solom."

Nicolaisen, Peter. 2006. "Rural Poverty and the Heroics of Farming: Elizabeth Madox Roberts's *The Time of Man* and Ellen Glasgow's *Barren Ground*" (Viking,1926; Doubleday, 1925). In *Reading Southern Poverty between the Wars, 1918-1939*, ed. R. Godden and M. Crawford, 192-205. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Nieman, Valerie. 2000. *Survivors* [fiction; W. Va.]. Midlothian, Va.: Van Neste Books. 272 pp.

Nieman, Valerie. 2004. *Fidelities: Short Stories* [18 stories]. Morgantown, W. Va.: Vandalia Press. 150 pp.

Nieman, Valerie. 2006. Wake Wake [poems; W. Va.]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: Press 53. 96 pp.

Nieman, Valerie. 2011. Blood Clay [fiction, N.C.]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: Press 53. 192 pp.

Nikki Giovanni, Featured Author [b. 1943; Tenn.]. 2012. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 3 (Fall): 2-63. Essays, biography, poetry, memoir, chronology, and photographs.

Niven, Jennifer. 2009. *Velva Jean Learns to Drive* [young adult fiction]. New York: Plume. 404 pp. Pre-WWII N.C. coming-of-age; Grand Ole Opry ambitions; preacher's son; moonshining South.

Niven, Jennifer. 2011. *Velva Jean Learns to Fly* [young adult fiction]. New York: Plume. 412 pp. "Velva Jean leaves Appalachia to pursue her dream of being a singer, but instead discovers she wants to be a female pilot after her brother treats her to a surprise flying lesson."

Norman, Gurney. 1996. "'Go Ahead On': An Interview with Gurney Norman." By J. W. Williamson. *Southern Quarterly* 34 (Spring): 8-20.

Norman, Gurney. 1997. "Death in Lexington" [obituary; humor]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 13 (Spring): 4.

Norman, Gurney. 1997. "The Turning of the Year (Part I of a Novella)" [excerpt]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 13 (Spring): 5-7

Norman, Gurney. 1997. "Time on the River" [excerpts]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 13 (Spring): 8-11.

Norman, Gurney. 2002. "Remembering James Still" [1906-2001]. *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Fall 2001-Winter 2002): 6-9.

Norman, Gurney. 2007. "A Memorable Day" [Asheville pilgrimage after reading *Look Homeward*, *Angel*; Featured Author, Thomas Wolfe]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 4 (Fall): 41-42.

Norman, Gurney. 2007. "Thoughts of Al" [Featured Author, Albert Stewart]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 3 (Summer): 18-20.

Norman, Gurney (moderator), with Denise Giardina, David Huddle, Sharyn McCrumb, and Lee Smith. 2007. "The Perils of Regionalism: Labels and Their Limitations" [panel discussion]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 23 (Spring): 25-31.

Nostrandt, Jeanne R. 2000. "A Modern Parable: Sowing and Reaping in *Furors Die*" [Hoffman's tenth novel, 1990]. In *The Fictional World of William Hoffman*, ed. W. L. Frank, 133-145. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

Nostrandt, Jeanne R. 2000. "Bibliography" [89 entries, primary and secondary]. In *The Fictional World of William Hoffman*, ed. W. L. Frank, 147-151. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

O'Dell, Mary. 2010. *The Sweet Letting Go* [love story]. Louisville, Ky.: Turquoise Morning Press. 274 pp. "When Reynolds Ernst, cynical and damaged of heart, returns to the little community of his birth after thirty years of knocking about, little does he know that he's about to rediscover the love of his life--only to be faced with the prospect of losing her forever."

O'Dell, Tawni. 2000. *Back Roads* [fiction; western Pa.; an Oprah's Book Club selection]. New York: Viking. 352 pp.

O'Dell, Tawni. 2004. *Coal Run: A Novel* [Western Pa. mining town; by author of *Back Roads* (1999)]. New York: Viking. 354 pp.

O'Dell, Tawni. 2007. *Sister Mine: A Novel* [Pa. coal mining town]. New York: Shaye Areheart Books. 405 pp.

O'Dell, Tawni. 2010. *Fragile Beasts: A Novel*. New York: Shaye Areheart Books. 401 pp. Two teenage brothers in a Pa. coal town are adopted by a wealthy, eccentric matriarch.

O'Haynes, Delilah F. 2006. *The Character of Mountains: Poems & Photography* [coal miners, coon-hunting, grandmas, Indians, biscuits, and flat-footing]. Foreward by Rita Sims Quillen. Edited by Jonathan Bolt and Casie Hurt Fedukovich. Athens, W. Va.: Walk Free Press. 54 pp. http://appalachianauthorsguild.com/.

Oaks, David Sherrill. 2005. *Misty Misty Morn: A Novel of the Past* [frontier N.C.]. Mustang, Okla.: Tate Publishing. 196 pp.

Oder, Norman. 1998. "Denise Giardina: Mining History in W. Va. & WWII" [PW interview]. *Publishers Weekly*, 9 February, 69-70.

Oderman, Kevin. 2006. "A Visit from Jeff Mann" [Featured Author; Thessaloniki, Greece]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 3 (Summer): 32-33.

Odom, Judith. 1990. *Blossom, Stalk & Vine: Poems Reflecting a Woman's Experience*. Memphis, Tenn.: Iris Press. 100 pp.

Offutt, Chris. 1997. *The Good Brother* [fiction; set in Ky. and Mont.]. New York: Simon & Schuster.

Offutt, Chris. 1998. "Chris Offutt Comes Home" [Ky. author of *The Good Brother* (New York: Simon & Schuster, 1997)]. Interview by Louis H. Palmer III. *Appalachian Journal* 26 (Fall): 22-31.

Offutt, Chris. 1999. *Out of the Woods: Stories* [fiction]. New York: Simon & Schuster. 172 pp.

Offutt, Chris. 2002. "Chris Offutt: Iowa, October, 2000." Interview by Charles May. *Appalachian Heritage* 30 (Winter): 4-17.

Ogle, Donna. 2005. "'A Mountain to Rest My Eyes Against': Place of Origin in Lee Smith's Fair and Tender Ladies" [1988]. Journal of Kentucky Studies 22 (September): 104-109.

Ogle, Donna. 2012. "Breece D'J Pancake: Appalachian Writer Who 'Gets it Right'" [1952-1979]. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 3 (Summer): 67-69.

Oglesby, Catherine. 2008. *Corra Harris and the Divided Mind of the New South*. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 252 pp. Harris is author of *A Circuit Rider's Wife* (1910).

Olin Hitt, Michael. 2012. *The Homegoing: A Novel* [Ohio]. Appalachian Writing Series. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 175 pp. Dysfunctional family; faith-healing, herbalist, grandmother; Pentecostal church.

Olson, Kathy H. 2007. "We'll have to do something about that child': Representations of Childhood in the Short Stories." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 159-165. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Olson, Ted, and Kathy H. Olson, ed. 2007. *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature* [27 essays; photos]. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 17. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 260 pp. "Introduction," by Ted Olson: http://www.mcfarlandpub.com/excerpts/0-7864-3076-1.Introduction.pdf.

Olson, Ted. 1995. "This Mighty River of Earth': Reclaiming James Still's Appalachian Masterpiece." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 1 (Fall): 87-98.

Olson, Ted. 2001. "Appreciating James Still" [d. April 28, 2001]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 18 (Summer): 2.

Olson, Ted. 2002. "His Side of the Mountains: The Enduring Legacy of Southern Poet James Still: An Interview with Editor Ted Olson," by Jeff Biggers. *Bloomsbury Review* 22, no. 4 (July/August): 17-18. Sidebar lists: "Books by James Still"; "Children's Books" [by James Still]; and "Books by Ted Olson."

Olson, Ted. 2004. "Literature" [brief historic survey]. In *High Mountains Rising: Appalachia in Time and Place*, ed. R. Straw and H. Blethen, 165-178. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Olson, Ted. 2006. *Breathing in Darkness: Poems*. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 115 pp.

Olson, Ted. 2007. "'This Mighty *River of Earth*': Reclaiming an Appalachian Masterpiece." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 80-87. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 1, no. 1 (Fall 1995): 87-98.

Olson, Ted. 2012. *Revelations: Poems*. Knoxville, Tenn.: Celtic Cat Publishing. 111 pp. Eleven 'chapters' of seven-poems-per-chapter, Olson's second collection.

Osborn, Karen. 2012. *Centerville: A Novel*. Morgantown, W. Va.: Vandalia Press. 247 pp. "In 1967, a man leaves a bomb in the drugstore where his estranged wife works and the explosion that follows changes lives in the small town forever." Based on real life events; Ohio.

Ostwalt, Conrad. 1998. "Witches and Jesus: Lee Smith's Appalachian Religion." *Southern Literary Journal* 31 (Fall): 98-118.

Owens, James. 2002. "'A Man's Shagbark Sound': The Poetry of James Still." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Winter): 37-39. Review essay of *From the Mountain, From the Valley: New and Collected Poems*, by James Still, edited by Ted Olson (University Press of Kentucky, 2001).

Pack, Linda Hager. 2002. A Is for Appalachia! The Alphabet Book of Appalachian Heritage [children's picture book; watercolors]. Illustrated by Pat Banks. Louisville, Ky.: Harmony House. 64 pp.

Pack, Linda Hager. 2009. A Is for Appalachia: The Alphabet Book of Appalachian Heritage [children's picture book]. Illustrated by Pat Banks. Rpt. ed. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Previously published: 2nd ed., Prospect, Ky.: Harmony House Publishers, 2003.

Palencia, Elaine Fowler. 2000. *Brier Country: Stories from Blue Valley* [fiction; Ky.]. Columbia: University of Missouri Press. 215 pp.

Palmer, Michael. 2002. *Fatal* [mass market fiction; medical suspense; W. Va. coal country]. New York: Bantam. 352 pp.

Pamela Duncan [Featured Author]. 2009. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 2 (Spring): 11-33. Four articles plus an excerpt from Duncan's forthcoming novel, *The Wilder Place*.

Pancake, Ann. 2001. *Given Ground* [short stories; W. Va.; Bakeless Prize winner in fiction]. Hanover, N.H.: University Press of New England. 152 pp.

Pancake, Ann. 2006. "Virtual Hillbilly: Musings on JT LeRoy by a Flesh-and-Blood West Virginian" [hoax author of *Sarah* (2000) and *The Heart is Deceitful Above All Things* (2001) unmasked]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 3 (Summer): 35-45.

Pancake, Ann. 2007. *Strange As This Weather Has Been: A Novel* [mountaintop removal destruction; effects on a W. Va. coal mining family]. Emeryville, Calif.: Shoemaker & Hoard. 352 pp. Weatherford Award winner for fiction and poetry.

Pancake, Ann. 2011. "Straddling Two Worlds': An Interview with Ann Pancake." By Robert Gipe. *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 2-3 (Winter/Spring): 170-197, including primary bibliography and list of interviews, reviews and awards.

Pancake, Ann. 2012. "Brush Breaker." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 3 (Summer): 79-81. On the inspiration of fellow West Virginia writer, Breece D'J Pancake, born eleven years earlier (1952).

Pancake, Breece D'J. [1983] 2002. *The Stories of Breece D'J Pancake* [1952-1979; W. Va.]. Reprint, with a new afterword by Andre Dubus III. Boston: Back Bay Books. 186 pp. Originally published: Boston: Little, Brown.

Pancoast, William Trent. 2010. *Wildcat* [fiction; 1970s Ohio]. [No location]: Blazing Flowers Press. 108 pp. Autoworker wildcat strike; GM Plant; Vietnam-era broken dreams.

Parker, Eliot. 2012. *Breakdown at Clear River* [mystery; W. Va.; football player]. Huntington, W.Va: Mid-Atlantic Highlands. 276 pp. "When the body of a teammate is found in one of the

college's dormitory stairwells, those trying to find out the truth about his death are pulled into danger."

Parker, G. Keith, and Leslie Parker Borhaug. 2012. *Sons of Mercy and Justice: A Transylvania Story*. Charleston, S.C.: Keith Parker and Leslie Parker Borhaug. 378 pp. "Fictional account of the challenges faced by 18th century James Crawford McGaha....as a result of the Civil War, the growing battle with bootlegging, and other challenges of mountain life."

Parker, Lisa J. 2010. *This Gone Place* [poems]. Foreword by Michael McFee; afterword by Katherine Stripling Byer. Louisville, Ky.: Motes Books. 99 pp. Weatherford Award winner for poetry.

Parkins, Bob EagleClaw. 2004. *A Prejudiced Resentment: American Cultures in Recovery: A Novel*. Victoria, B.C., Canada: Trafford. 266 pp. Autobiographical fiction; W. Va.; Indian bloodline; civil rights prosecution.

Parrish, Nancy C. 1998. *Lee Smith, Annie Dillard, and the Hollins Group*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 234 pp.

Parrish, Nancy. 2002. "Lee Smith." In *The History of Southern Women's Literature*, ed. C. Perry and M. Weaks, 575-578. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Parrish, Tim. 2002. "The Killer Wears the Halo: Cormac McCarthy, Flannery O'Connor, and the American Religion." In *Sacred Violence, I: Cormac McCarthy's Appalachian Works*, ed. W. Hall and R. Wallach, 35-50. El Paso: Texas Western Press.

Parshall, Sandra. 2007. *Disturbing the Dead* [Melungeon murder mystery; Va.]. Scottsdale, Ariz.: Poisoned Pen Press. 326 pp.

Parshall, Sandra. 2010. *Broken Places: A Rachel Goddard Mystery*. Scottsdale, Ariz.: Poisoned Pen Press. 296 pp. Murder mystery: southwest Va., women veterinarians, political activists.

Parting the Curtains: Interviews with Southern Writers. 1994. By Dannye Romine Powell. Photographs by Jill Krementz. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 353 pp. Contents: Maya Angelou | Doris Betts | Fred Chappell | Pat Conroy | James Dickey | Clyde Edgerton | Shelby Foote | Kaye Gibbons | Gail Godwin | Allan Gurganus | Alex Haley | Josephine Humphreys | Simmons Jones | Doug Marlette | T. R. Pearson | Walker Percy | Reynolds Price | Dori Sanders | Lee Smith | William Styron | Peter Taylor and Eleanor Ross Taylor | Eudora Welty.

Pattee, Fred Lewis. [1905] 2012. *The House of the Black Ring: A Romance of the Seven Mountains*. Preface by Julia Spicher Kasdorf; endnotes by Joshua R. Brown. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 230 pp. Originally published: New York: H. Holt. Reprint of a local color novel written in dialect and set in 1890s central Pennsylvania, by Penn State professor and early authority on American literature, Pattee.

Patterson, Laura S. 2001. "Ellipsis, Ritual, and 'Real Time': Rethinking the Rape Complex in Southern Novels" [includes discussion of *Bastard Out of Carolina* (1992) by Dorothy Allison]. *Mississippi Quarterly* 54 (Winter): 37-58.

Patterson, Laura Sloan. 2008. "Trains, Letters, and Pickled Peppers: Lee Smith and the Effect of Railway Unification on Appalachian Domesticity." Chap. 4 in *Stirring the Pot: The Kitchen and Domesticity in the Fiction of Southern Women*, by L. Patterson, 107-139. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Pearson, Nancy K. 2008. Two Minutes of Light [poems]. Florence, Mass.: Perugia Press. 67 pp.

Pearson, T. R. 2000. Blue Ridge [fiction; Va.]. New York: Viking. 243 pp.

Pearson, T. R. 2002. *Polar* [fiction; Va. Blue Ridge]. New York: Viking. 243 pp.

Pearson, T. R. 2003. *True Cross* [fiction; backroads Va. characters]. New York: Viking. 255 pp.

Pearson, T. R. 2005. *Glad News of the Natural World* [fiction; N.C.; sequel to *A Short History of a Small Place* (1985)]. New York: Simon & Schuster. 295 pp.

Peerler, Tim. 2004. "Resting on the Gift of Their Labors: The Poetry of Ron Rash." *The Iron Mountain Review* 20 (Spring): 7-12.

Pendarvis, Edwina, and Harry Gieg. 2005. *Duets: Poems*. Lavelette, W. Va.: Shoestring Publications. 24 pp.

Pendarvis, Edwina D., and James M. Gifford, ed. 2001. *Appalachian Love Stories*. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 207 pp. [includes stories by: Jesse Stuart, Ancella R. Bickley, James M. Gifford, Jimmy Lowe, James B. Goode, Edwina Pendarvis, Laura Treacy Bentley, Bruce Radford Richey, Ina Everman, Danny Fulks, Loyal Jones, Billy C. Clark, Linda Scott DeRosier, Christina St. Clair, Alexandra Combs Hudson, Kate Larken, Barbara Smith, and Carol Van Meter].

Pendarvis, Edwina. 2003. *Like the Mountains of China* [poems]. Ashland, Ky.: Blair Mountain Press. 78 pp.

Pendarvis, Edwina. 2006. "Writing a New World" [profile: Featured Author, Jeff Mann]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 3 (Summer): 22-23.

Pennington, Lee. 1993. *Thigmotropism* [poems]. Louisville, Ky.: Green River Writers/Grex Press. 54 pp.

Perez, Norah A. [1988] 2002. *Breaker: A Boy's Story of the 1902 Pennsylvania Coal Miners' Strike* [young adult fiction]. Foreword and afterword by Margaret Mary Kimmel. Rpt. ed.

Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 203 pp. Originally published: Boston: Houghton, Mifflin.

Perkins, James A. 1996. "Hallucination, Allusions and Illusions in *The Last Day the Dogbushes Bloomed*" [by Lee Smith, (1968, Harper & Rowe); 1994, Louisiana State University Press]. *Southern Quarterly* 34 (Winter): 81-86.

Person, James E., Jr. 2007. "Portrait of the Artist as an Appalachian Writer" [Featured Artist–Earl Hamner]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 2 (Spring): 47-54.

Peters, Jason. 2007. "Imagination and the Limits of Fiction." *Sewanee Review* 115, no. 4 (Fall): 84-87. Review essay of *Andy Catlett: Early Travels*, by Wendell Berry (Shoemaker & Hoard, 2006).

Phillips, Claude S. 2004. *The Shot from the Mountain: An Appalachian Odyssey* [fiction; 1920s-1930s W. Va. mine wars: Matewan, Blair Mountain]. Allegan Forest, Mich.: Priscilla Press. 285 pp.

Phillips, Gin. 2007. *The Well and the Mine: A Novel* [1931 Ala. mining town]. Introduction by Fannie Flagg. Portland, Ore.: Hawthorne Books & Literary Arts. 251 pp.

Phillips, Jayne Anne. 1994. "Jayne Anne Phillips." Interview by Thomas E. Douglass. *Appalachian Journal* 21 (Winter): 182-189.

Phillips, Jayne Anne. 1994. Shelter. Boston: Houghton Mifflin/ Seymour Lawrence. 279 pp.

Phillips, Jayne Anne. 2000. *Motherkind* [fiction]. New York: Knopf. 304 pp.

Phillips, Jayne Anne. 2009. "Nonie Talks About Lola: Winfield, West Virginia, 1959." *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 1 (Winter): 12-16. Excerpt from Phillips's forthcoming novel, *Lark and Termite* (Knopf, 2009).

Phillips, Jayne Anne. 2009. *Lark and Termite* [fiction; W. Va., Korean War; 1950s coming-ofage tale]. New York: Knopf. 254 pp.

Piacentino, Ed. 2000. "Contesting the Boundaries of Race and Gender in Old Southwestern Humor" [Taliaferro, Simms, Harris, and others]. *Southern Literary Journal* 32 (Spring): 116-140.

Piacentino, Ed. 2002. "Searching for Home: Cross-Racial Bonding in Charles Frazier's *Cold Mountain*" [Atlantic Monthly Press, 1997]. *Mississippi Quarterly* 55 (Winter 2002-2003): 97-116.

Pinckney Benedict [Featured Author, b. 1964]. 2010. Special issue, *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 1 (Winter): 1-48. Four essays, plus a short story by Benedict ("The Angel's Trumpet") and

an excerpt from his new graphic fiction ("Kentucky Samurai"). Plus 16 photographs by G. P. Cooper of settings from his home state of W. Va.

Pine Mountain Sand & Gravel [literary magazine; annual]. 1984—. Founding editor, Jim Webb. New York: Appalapple Productions. Collected writings of the Southern Appalachian Writers Cooperative whose earliest members include Gurney Norman, Peggy Dotson Hall, Don Askins, Ron Short, Bob Baber, Jim Webb, and Pauletta Hansel.

Pine Mountain Sand & Gravel: Contemporary Appalachian Writing, No. 13: "Vultures" [special issue, buzzards theme]. 2009. Ed. Frankie Finley. Published by the Southern Appalachian Writers Cooperative. 84 pp. Poetry and short stories by 25 writers.

Pine Mountain Sand & Gravel: Contemporary Appalachian Writing, No. 15: "The Mountains Have Come Closer." 2012. Ed. Pauletta Hansel and Michael Henson. Published by the Southern Appalachian Writers Cooperative, in cooperation with Wind Publications (Nicholasville, Ky.). 106 pp.

Pischke, Sibyl Jean Jarvis. 2009. *Ashes of Roses and War: A Civil War Saga* [fiction; W. Va.]. Charleston, W. Va.: Mountain Memories Books. 586 pp.

Pittman, Patsy Evans. 2008. *Blood Kin & Other Strangers: A Collection of Short Stories & Poems* [fiction; family characters]. Terra Alta, W.Va: Publisher Page. 165 pp.

Plein, Stewart. 2009. "Portraits of Appalachia: The Identification of Stereotype in Publishers' Bookbindings, 1850-1915" [with illustrations; "local color" period]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 15, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 99-115.

Pleska, Cat, and Michael Knost, ed. 2012. *Fed from the Blade: Tales and Poems from the Mountains*. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 113 pp. Selected pieces – humorous, spooky, drama, poetry – from 28 W. Va. writers, including Llewellyn McKernan, Edwina Pendarvis, Mary Lucille DeBerry, Barbara Smith, Belinda Anderson, Frances Van Scoy, and Susanna Holstein.

Pleska, Cat. 2007. "I'm Listening." *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 10: 44-45. Review essay of *Listen Here: Women Writing in Appalachia*, ed. Sandra Ballard and Patricia Hudson (University of Kentucky Press, 2003).

Plumley, William. 2007. "Remembering Muriel Miller Dressler" [poet; July 4, 1918-Feb. 27, 2000]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 10: 37-39.

Poetry Competition Winners [judged by Fred Chappell]. 1998. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 15 (Summer): 3-7.

Poetry in the South. 2007. Special issue, *Southern Quarterly* 45, no. 1 (Fall): 1-147. Poems by 30 poets, including R. T. Smith, Robert Morgan, Ron Rash, and Charles Wright.

Poetry. 2007. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 3, no. 2 (Summer/Fall): Poetry section [selections from 17 poets, including George Ella Lyon, Leatha Kendrick, Ron Rash, Jim Minick, and Frank X Walker]. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-2/poetry/index.html.

Poister, Robert C. 2010. "At Home on the Mountain: Appalachia in Lillian Smith's Life and Work" [biography; Ga.; 1897-1966]. *Appalachian Journal* 37, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 268-285. Author of *Strange Fruit* (1944), and southern denouncer of racial segregation and Jim Crow.

Poland, Tim. 2008. *The Safety of Deeper Water: A Novel*. Morgantown, W. Va.: Vandalia Press. 263 pp. Blue Ridge, Va., fly fisherwoman and prisoner's wife.

Poland, Tim. 2001. *Escapee: Stories*. Baltimore: AmErica House. 229 pp. Seventeen stories: "From the mountain trout streams of Appalachia to the rugged beaches of the Pacific Northwest to the flat farmlands of Ohio to the canals of Venice, Italy."

Pollock, Donald Ray. 2008. *Knockemstiff*. New York: Doubleday. 206 pp. Fiction; coming-of-age stories of raunchy characters set in 1965 Knockemstiff, Ohio; cf. "outlaw fiction" authors Chuck Kinder, Lee Maynard, and M. Glenn Taylor.

Pollock, Donald Ray. 2011. *The Devil All the Time: A Novel*. New York: Doubleday. 261 pp. "Set in rural southern Ohio and West Virginia,follows a cast of compelling and bizarre characters from the end of World War II to the 1960s." By the author or *Knockemstiff* (2008; short stories).

Portelli, Alessandro. 2000. "The Many Autobiographies of a Coal Miner's Daughter" [Loretta Lynn]. In *Caverns of Night: Coal Mines in Art, Literature, and Film*, ed. W. Thesing, 244-254. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press.

Porter, Tracey. 2007. *Billy Creekmore: A Novel* [adolescent fiction; 10-year-old; picaresque; 1905 orphanage; W. Va. coal mine; circus]. New York: Joanna Cotler Books. 305 pp.

Potts, James. 2004. "McCarthy, Mac Airt and Mythology: *Suttree* and the Irish High King" [Cormac McCarthy; *Suttree* (1979)]. *Mississippi Quarterly* 58, no.1-2 (Winter): 25-40.

Poulsen, Kathleen Phillips. 2002. *Apple Doll* [children's picture book; includes instructions on how to make an apple doll]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 32 pp.

Powell, Mark. 2003. *Prodigals: A Novel* [1944-45 N.C.; logging camps]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 193 pp.

Powell, Mark. 2006. *Blood Kin: A Novel* [S.C.; 1970; Blue Ridge foothills]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 237 pp.

Powell, Mark. 2010. Review essay of *Serena*, by Ron Rash (Ecco, 2008). *Southern Quarterly* 47, no. 3 (Spring): 202-204.

Powell, Mark. 2012. "Three Excerpts from *The Dark Corner*" [forthcoming novel]. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 1 (Winter): 12-28. "Oconee," "The Old Man," and "Mr. Nu South."

Powell, Mark. 2012. *The Dark Corner: A Novel*. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 305 pp. Set in "the mountains of northwestern South Carolina, the state's 'dark corner'....Mark Powell confronts crucial issues currently shaping our culture: environmentalism and the disappearance of wild places, the crippling effects of wars past and present, drug abuse, and the rise of right-wing paranoia."

Powell, Tara. 2005. "Ringing His Being: An Overview of Michael McFee's Career" [N.C. poet, educator, teacher; b. 1954]. *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 2 (Spring): 9-13.

Powell, Tara. 2008. "How Michael Chitwood Minds the South." *The Iron Mountain Review* 24 (Spring): 23-29.

Powell, Tara. 2009. "'Offerings of Light' and Everything After: Marita Garin's *Southern Appalachian Poetry: An Anthology of Works by 37 Poets*" [McFarland, 2008; review essay]. *Mississippi Quarterly* 62, no. 3-4 (Summer-Fall): 663-668.

Poyer, David. 1999. *Thunder on the Mountain* [fiction; 1936 labor strike; Pa. oilfields]. New York: Forge. 382 pp.

Prajznerova, Katerina. 2003. *Cultural Intermarriage in Southern Appalachia: Cherokee Elements in Four Selected Novels by Lee Smith* [*The Last Day the Dogbushes Bloomed; Black Mountain Breakdown; Oral History; Fair and Tender Ladies*; based on the author's 2001 dissertation of the same title; Appendix: "An Interview with Lee Smith," p. 103-124]. Indigenous Peoples and Politics. New York: Routledge. 161 pp.

Prajznerova, Katerina. 2006. "Emma Bell Miles's Appalachia and Emily Carr's Cascadia: A Comparative Study in Literary Ecology." *49th Parallel: An Interdisciplinary Journal of North American Studies* 20, (Winter): 16 pp., online journal. Emma Bell Miles (1879-1919) is author of *The Spirit of the Mountains* (1905).

http://www.49thparallel.bham.ac.uk/back/issue20/index.htm.

Prather, William. 2002. "Absurd Reasoning in an Existential World: A Consideration of Cormac McCarthy's *Suttree*" [1979; Albert Camus]. In *Sacred Violence, I: Cormac McCarthy's Appalachian Works*, ed. W. Hall and R. Wallach, 139-151. El Paso: Texas Western Press.

Pratt, Bruce. 2010. *The Serpents of Blissfull* [fiction]. Charleston, W.Va: Mountain State Press. 315 pp. Serpent handling characters; W. Va.-inspired.

Presnell, Barbara. 2007. *Piece Work* [dramatic monologues in the voices of textile mill workers]. CSU Poetry Series, no. 67. Cleveland, Ohio: Cleveland State University Poetry Center. 71 pp.

Price, Charles F. 1999. *Freedom's Altar* [fiction; Civil War N.C.; sequel to *Hiwassee* (1996)]. Winston-Salem: John F. Blair. 304 pp.

Price, Charles F. 2000. *The Cock's Spur* [fiction; N.C.; 1880; third novel in a trilogy]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 311 pp.

Price, Charles F. 2003. Where the Water Dogs Laughed: The Story of the Great Bear [historical fiction; 19th-century Western N.C.; racial identity]. Boone, N.C.: High Country Publishers. 298 pp.

Pruett, Lynn. 2002. *Ruby River* [fiction; Ala. truck stop; widow with four daughters]. New York: Atlantic Monthly Press. 279 pp.

Pryse, Marjorie. 2000. "Exploring Contact: Regionalism and the 'Outsider' Standpoint in Mary Noialles Murfree's Appalachia." *Legacy: A Journal of American Women Writers* 17 (no. 2): 199-212.

Puckett, Anita. 1995. "Speech Acts and Cultural Resistance in a Rural Eastern Kentucky Community." In *Appalachia and the Politics of Culture*, ed. E. C. Fine. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 7: 111-120. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Puckett, Anita. 2000. "On the Pronunciation of Appalachia" [dialect; linguistic history]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 17 (Summer): 25-29.

Puckett, Anita. 2003. "The 'Value' of Dialect as Object: The Case of Appalachian English." *Pragmatics: Quarterly Publication of the International Pragmatics Association* 13 (September-December): 539-549.

Puckett, Anita. 2004. "Identity, Hybridity, and Linguistic Ideologies of Racial Language in the Upper South" [Melungeons and Scotch Irish]. In *Linguistic Diversity in the South: Changing Codes, Practices and Ideologies*, ed. M. Bender, 120-137. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 37. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Pyle, Jack R. 1998. *The Sound of Distant Thunder: An Appalachian Novel* [mystery; 1999 Book of the Year winner, Appalachian Writers Association]. Micaville, N.C.: Aacorn Books. 228 pp.

Pyle, Jack R. 2000. *After Many a Summer: An Autumn Love Story* [fiction; N.C.]. Micaville, N.C.: Aacorn Books. 245 pp.

Quillen, Rita S. 2003. "Ten Life Lessons in the Poetry of Michael McFee." *The Iron Mountain Review* 19 (Spring): 23-28.

Quillen, Rita Sims. 2003. "Good Ol' Fred Wrestles His Anima: Women in the Poetry of Fred Chappell." *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Summer): 43-47.

Quillen, Rita Sims. 2006. *Her Secret Dream* [poems]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 89 pp.

Ramey, Robin L. 2012. *Butternut Moon* [juvenile fiction]. Huntington, W. Va.: Mid-Atlantic Highlands. 117 pp. "An Appalachian adventure involving a girl, a dog and a ghost. Based on a true story of one family's search to find itself and hold onto love amid wrenching change from a comfortable small-town lifestyle to living in a tent in a field in rural Virginia."

Ramsay, Frederick. 2009. *Stranger Room* [murder mystery; Rockbridge Co., Va.]. Scottsdale, Ariz.: Poisoned Pen Press. 256 pp.

Range, Melissa. 2010. *Horse and Rider: Poems*. Walt McDonald First-Book Poetry Series. Lubbock: Texas Tech University Press. 66 pp. "... her verse is grounded in the beautiful, rich land of Appalachia, first stolen from its Indian owners and now being literally dismantled through mountaintop-removal mining." -- *Booklist*

Rankin, Tom. 2007. "Share a Table, Make a Friend" [Featured Author, Darnell Arnoult; UNC classmate, 1980]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 1 (Winter): 22-23.

Rannit, Aleksis. 2007. "Still's Poetry and the Western Tradition." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 138-140. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *Appalachian Heritage* 14, no. 4 (Fall 1986): 21-24.

Rash, Ron. 1998. *Eureka Mill* [40 poems; textile mill village life, Chester, S.C., 1915-1950s]. Corvallis, Ore.: The Bench Press.

Rash, Ron. 2000. *Among the Believers* [N.C.; narrative, ancestral poetry cycle]. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Iris Press. 71 pp.

Rash, Ron. 2000. Casualties: Stories. Beaufort, S.C.: Bench Press. 151 pp.

Rash, Ron. 2002. *One Foot in EdEN* [first novel; Jocassee Valley, S.C.; Novello Literary Award]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: Novello Festival Press. 214 pp.

Rash, Ron. 2002. *Raising the Dead* [poems; Jocassee Valley, S.C.]. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Iris Press. 75 pp.

Rash, Ron. 2004. "The Power of Blood-Memory: A Conversation (recorded at the Ron Rash Literary Festival, Emory & Henry College, October 24, 2003)." Interview by Joyce Compton Brown. *The Iron Mountain Review* 20 (Spring): 26-35.

Rash, Ron. 2004. *Saints at the River: A Novel* [Oconee Co., S.C., river drowning victim]. New York: Henry Holt. 239 pp. Weatherford Award winner for fiction and poetry.

Rash, Ron. 2006. "Interview with Ron Rash," by David O. Hoffman and Sylvia Bailey Shurbutt. In *Anthology of Appalachian Writers: Ron Rash*, Vol. IV, ed. S. Shurbutt, 60-63. Shepherdstown, W. Va.: Shepherd University.

Rash, Ron. 2006. *The World Made Straight* [fiction; Madison Co., N.C.: drugs, Civil War, thriller]. New York: Henry Holt. 289 pp.

Rash, Ron. 2007. "The Natural World Is the Most Universal of Languages": An Interview with Ron Rash" [b. 1953]. By Thomas Aervold Bjerre. *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 2 (Winter): 216-227. Interview conducted May 16, 2006, in Mars Hill, N.C.

Rash, Ron. 2007. "Saints at the River and Selected Poems" [multimedia]. *Southern Spaces*, 6 December. Video clips of Rash reading three poems and an excerpt from his novel, *Saints at the River*" (2004); Recommended Resources. http://www.southernspaces.org/2007/saints-river-and-selected-poems.

Rash, Ron. 2007. Chemistry and Other Stories [13 stories]. New York: Picador. 230 pp.

Rash, Ron. 2008. *Serena: A Novel*. New York: Ecco Press. 371 pp. Weatherford Award winner for fiction and poetry. Greed/power/evil morality tale; 1929, N.C. lumber camp.

Rash, Ron. 2010. *Burning Bright: Stories*. New York: Ecco Press. 205 pp. Winner of the Frank O'Connor International Short Story Award. Contents: Hard times -- Back of beyond -- Dead confederates -- The ascent -- The woman who believed in jaguars -- Burning bright -- Return -- Into the gorge -- Falling star -- The corpse bird -- Waiting for the end of the world -- Lincolnites.

Rash, Ron. 2010. *The Cove: A Novel* [WWI, N.C. mountains]. New York: Ecco. 272 pp. See also Terry Roberts's novel, *A Short Time to Stay Here* (2012), set in WWI N.C.

Rash, Ron. 2011. *Waking* [poems; N.C.]. Spartanburg, S.C.: Hub City Press. 74 pp. The author's fourth collection of poetry.

Rash, Ron. 2012. "Mark Powell: An Appreciation." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 1 (Winter): 33. "...I believe that he is the best Appalachian novelist of his generation."

Ravenel, Shannon, ed. 1996. *Best of the South: From Ten Years of New Stories from the South* [includes stories by Lee Smith and Tony Earley]. Selected and introduced by Anne Tyler. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 423 pp.

Ravenel, Shannon, ed. 2005. *Best of the South: From the Second Decade of New Stories from the South* [including stories by Lee Smith and Chris Offutt]. Selected and introduced by Anne Tyler. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 342 pp.

Ravenel, Shannon. 2003. "Reunion" [Lee Smith briefly featured]. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Winter): 24-26.

Ray, Delia. 2003. *Ghost Girl: A Blue Ridge Mountain Story* [adolescent fiction; 1930 Madison Co., Va.; schools/teachers/grief]. New York: Clarion Books. 216 pp.

Ray, Janisse. 2010. A House of Branches: Poems [Ga.]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 101 pp.

Reactions to Chris Offutt's *No Heroes* [2002 memoir (New York: Simon & Schuster)]. 2002. By Garry Barker, et al. *Appalachian Heritage* 30 (Fall): 92-97.

Rebecca Harding Davis, 1831-1910 [W. Va. author; *Life in the Iron Mills* (1861)]. 2000. In *Short Story Criticism*, vol. 38, ed. A. Barnard, 94-154. Detroit: Gale Group.

Redmond, Glenis. 2000. *Backbone* [poems; Affrilachian]. Atlanta, Ga.: Underground Epics. 87 pp.

Redmond, Glenis. 2008. *Under the Sun: Poems*. Charlotte, N.C.: Main Street Rag. 128 pp. Award-winning, Affrilachian "performance poet." Contents: A time for building -- A time for planting -- A time for uprooting -- A time to refrain from embracing -- A time for tears -- A time for embracing -- A time for mourning -- A time for love.

Reece, Byron Herbert. [1955] 1994. *The Hawk and the Sun*. Reprint, with a foreword by Hugh Ruppersburg. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 192 pp.

Reece, Byron Herbert. 2002. *Fable in the Blood: The Selected Poems of Byron Herbert Reece* [1917-1958; Ga.]. Edited by Jim Clark. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 185 pp.

Reece, Byron Herbert. 2007. *Faithfully Yours: The Letters of Byron Herbert Reece* [1917-1958]. Edited by Raymond A. Cook and Alan Jackson. Marietta, Ga.: Cherokee Publishing Company. 125 pp.

Reece, Erik. 2008. *Field Work: Modern Poems from Eastern Forests*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 140 pp. Poems by 25 poets including James Still, Wendell Berry, Charles Wright, Jim Wayne Miller, and four ancient Chinese poets.

Reed, Steve, and Aaron Reed. 2006. *Myth of the Summer Moon* [young adult fiction; life parallels Greek legend in Depression-era Appalachia]. Winona Lake, Ind.: Baker Trittin Press. 159 pp.

Remembering James Still [web site]. 2012. Links to photos, audio interview by Judith Jennings (28:40 min.), and video interview and profile, "James Still: Man on Troublesome Creek," by Michael Lasater (29:15 min.). http://thehillsremember.wordpress.com/remembering-james-still/.

Remembrances of Mary Lee Settle. 2006. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 1 (Winter): 26-40. ["She's High-Strung, You Know" / Patty Tompkins; "'I Simply *Know* Things'" / Katherine Neville; "That Flocoe Floor" / Ron Day; "'The Highest Mount'" / Gretchen Moran Laskas; "Full Immersion at the Rivanna" / Justin A. Sarafin; "In the Literary Trenches with Mary Lee" / Starling Lawrence].

Reynolds, Jennifer Adkins. 2008. "Turn Your Radio On: Music in the Novels of Silas House." *Journal of Kentucky Studies* 24, (September): 157-164. *Clay's Quilt* (2001), and *The Coal Tattoo* (2004).

Reynolds, Karen Wheeling. 2011. *Tom Dooley: The Story Behind the Ballad* [1843/4-1868]. Bristol, Va.: Little Creek Books. 275 pp.

Reynolds, Teresa Perry. 2010. "James Still: Alabamian, Transplanted Knott Countian" [Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 4 (Fall): 48-51. Includes Still's poem, "Heritage," in which he expresses his love for Eastern Ky.

Rhodes, J. Stephen. 2008. *The Time I Didn't Know What to Do Next* [poems]. Introduction by Leatha Kendrick. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 88 pages.

Rhody, Ron. 2009. *Theo's Story* [murder mystery; 1941 Eastern Ky.; Melungeons]. Pinehurst, N.C.: Academy Publishing. 300 pp.

Richards, Emilie. 2006. *Lover's Knot* [mystery/romance fiction; Shenandoah Valley]. Don Mills, Ontario, Canada: Mira. 541 pp.

Richards, Emilie. 2012. *One Mountain Away* [romance; western N.C.]. Goddesses Anonymous Novel series. Don Mills, Ontario: Harlequin. 467 pp.

Richman, Ann F. 2002. "Singing Our Hearts Away: The Poetry of Kathryn Stripling Byer." In *Her Words: Diverse Voices in Contemporary Appalachian Women's Poetry*, ed. Felicia Mitchell, 38-48. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Richman, Ann F., ed. 1996. *The Plow Reader: Selections from an Appalachian Alternative Newsmagazine of the Late 1970s.* Abingdon, Va.: Sow's Ear Press. 312 pp.

Richter, Curt. 2000. *A Portrait of Southern Writers* [sepia-toned portraits of 95 authors]. Photographs by Curt Richter; foreword by Robert Coles; afterword by Ann Beattie. Athens, Ga.: Hill Street Press. 128 pp.

Rickey, Melissa J., and Darcey H. Bradley. 2000. "Appalachian Writers and Writing" [rich body of children's literature resulting from oral tradition]. *Book Links* 9 (July): 13-18.

Riddle, Rita Sizemore. 1996. *Aluminum Balloons, and Other Poems*. Blacksburg, Va.: Pocahontas Press. 36 pp.

Riddle, Rita Sizemore. 2008. *All There Is to Keep: Poems*. Edited by Jim Minick with an introduction and elegy for the author (1941-2006). Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Iris Press. 94 pp.

Riddle, Rita Sizemore. 2008. *All There Is to Keep: Poems* [d. 2006]. Edited by Jim Minick. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Iris Press. 94 pp.

Riehle, Mary Ann McCabe. 2004. *M Is for Mountain State: A West Virginia Alphabet* [ages 9-12]. Illustrated by Laura J. Bryant. Chelsea, Mich.: Sleeping Bear Press. 40 pp.

Riggan, Rob. 2007. *The Blackstone Commentaries* [crime fiction; 1972 N.C.; sheriff]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 340 pp.

Riggs, Jack. 2003. *When the Finch Rises* [fiction; 1968 N.C. mill town; friendship between two 12-year-old boys]. New York: Ballantine Books. 229 pp.

Riggs, Jack. 2008. *The Fireman's Wife: A Novel* [S.C.; N.C.]. New York: Ballantine Books. 329 pp.

Rinaldi, Ann. 1999. *The Coffin Quilt: The Feud Between the Hatfields and the McCoys* [adolescent fiction; 1880s W. Va., Ky.]. Great Episodes series. San Diego: Harcourt Brace. 228 pp.

Ritter, Josh. 2011. *Bright's Passage: A Novel*. New York: Dial Press. 193 pp. In singer-songwriter Ritter's debut novel, set in World War I-era W. Va..... "veteran Henry Bright grieves over the death of his young wife while he struggles to care for their new infant and travels a fire-stricken landscape accompanied by a guardian angel and a cantankerous goat."

Rivers, Francine. 1998. *The Last Sin Eater: A Novel* [Christian fiction; Great Smoky Mountains]. Wheaton, Ill: Tyndale House. 324 pp.

Robbins, Dorothy Dodge. 1997. "Personal and Cultural Transformation: Letter Writing in Lee Smith's *Fair and Tender Ladies*." *Critique* (Atlanta, Ga.) 38 (Winter): 135-144.

Robert Morgan Special Issue: A Community Across Time. 2010. Southern Quarterly 47, no. 3 (Spring): 1-188. Contents: Editor's introduction / Jesse Graves — I. NEW WORKS BY ROBERT MORGAN -- Appalachian Trail -- Twelve new poems — II. READING MORGAN'S POETRY -- The "Rush toward the Horizon": the geography of land and language in Robert Morgan's recent poetry / Suzanne Booker-Canfield -- Robert Morgan's alchemy / Don Johnson -- The poetry of Robert Morgan: an appreciation / Tom Rash — III. MORGAN IN COMPANY -- Robert Morgan's 'Mockingbird' in company / William Harmon -- Sea and mountains, motion and measure: the complementary poetics of A.R. Ammons and Robert Morgan / Roger Gilbert -- "Here's the Church, Here's the Steeple": Robert Morgan, Philip Larkin, and the emptiness of sacred space / Robert West -- Echoes and influences: a comparative study of short fiction by Ernest Hemingway and Robert Morgan / Larry Grimes — IV. READING MORGAN'S PROSE -- Authority, details, and intimacy: Southern Appalachian women in Robert Morgan's family novels / Nicole Drewitz-Crockett -- "Service is Also Praise": recognition in Robert Morgan's

The Truest Pleasure / Robert D. Denham -- Bricking the text: the builder in Robert Morgan's mountain world / Randall Shawn Wilhelm -- Feminist forgiveness in Robert Morgan's "The Trace" / Martha Greene Eads — V. MORGAN IN REFLECTION -- Specimen days: looking back (with photographs) / Jeff Daniel Marion -- Letter to be wrapped around a bottle of whiskey / Jake Adam York -- Robert Morgan: genius as music / P.H. Liotta.

Roberts, Alma Dolen. 2006. *Stories from the Upper Cumberland* [fiction; b. 1917; Wayne Co., Ky.; three stories based on author's childhood]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 144 pp.

Roberts, Elizabeth Madox. [1926] 2000. *The Time of Man* [fiction; Ky.]. Reprint, with an introduction by Wade Hall. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 395 pp. Originally published: New York: Viking Press.

Roberts, Terry. 1999. "Within the Green Bowl: Community in the Mountain Fiction of John Ehle." *Pembroke Magazine* 31: 90-98.

Roberts, Terry. 1999. "Within the Green Bowl: Community in the Mountain Fiction of John Ehle." *Pembroke Magazine* 31: 90-98.

Roberts, Terry. 2000. "Resurrecting Thomas Wolfe" [post-Look Homeward, Angel (1929)]. Southern Literary Journal 38 (Fall): 27-41.

Roberts, Terry. 2002. "O Lost: A Family History" [Thomas Wolfe]. Mississippi Quarterly 55 (Winter 2002-2003): 63-73.

Roberts, Terry. 2012. A Short Time to Stay Here: A Novel [WWI; German POWs confined at a Hot Springs, N.C., hotel]. Banner Elk, N.C.: Ingalls. 268 pp. Historical fiction, includes "the clash of cultures...mystery, espionage, revenge, and love." See also Ron Rash's novel, *The Cove* (2012), set in WWI N.C.

Robertson, Paul. 2008. *Road to Nowhere* [murder mystery; Christian fiction; fictional Madison Co., N.C.]. Minneapolis, Minn.: Bethany House. 407 pp.

Robertson, Sarah. 2002. "The Secret Country: Prohibited Desire and Social Change in Jane Anne Phillips' 'Bess'" [short story; *Fast Lanes* (1984)]. *European Journal of American Culture* 21 (no. 3): 121-132.

Robertson, Sarah. 2004. "Dislocations: Retracing the Erased in Jayne Anne Phillips's *Shelter* [her second novel (1994)]. *Mississippi Quarterly* 57 (Spring): 289-311.

Robertson, Sarah. 2007. *The Secret Country: Decoding Jayne Anne Phillips' Cryptic Fiction*. New York: Rodopi. 291 pp.

Robinson, Ella. 1998. A Guide to Literary Sites of the South [13 states; 26 authors]. Northport, Ala.: Vision Press.

Robinson, Sherry. 2004. "Perchance to Dream: Harriette Arnow's *Between the Flowers*" [penned 1939; published 1999]. *Kentucky Philological Review* 18: 22-27.

Rochelle, Warren. 2004. "The Flashing Phantasmagoria of Rational Life: The Platonic Borderlands of Fred Chappell's *Forever* Tetralogy." In *More Lights Than One: On the Fiction of Fred Chappell*, ed. P. Bizarro, 186-203. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Rodd, Priscilla A. 2006. *Surviving Mae West* [fiction; W. Va., N.Y.C., prostitution, self-discovery, healing]. Morgantown, W. Va.: Vandalia Press. 207 pp.

Rodden, John. 2010. "'The Faithful Gravedigger': The Role of 'Innocent' Wash Jones and the Invisible 'White Trash' in Faulkner's *Absalom, Absalom!*." *Southern Literary Journal* 43, no. 1 (Fall): 23-38.

Roe, Charles L. 2006. *Cumberland: A Novel* [Ky.; mineral rights; Melungeon wife]. New York: iUniverse. 336 pp.

Romine, Scott. 2003. "The Capital Comedy of William Gilmore Simms's 'Sharp Snaffles'" [1870; Western N.C. stereotypes]. *Southern Quarterly* 41 (Winter): 11-22.

Romine, Scott. 2008. "Mass South/Mapped South: The Ambiguous Terrains of Bobbie Ann Mason and James Wilcox." Chap. 5 in *The Real South: Southern Narrative in the Age of Cultural Reproduction*, by S. Romine, 153-191. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Includes comparisons of Jan Karon's Mitford series (i.e., Blowing Rock, N.C.), to Mason's settings.

Ron Rash. 2002. Featured Author, *Appalachian Heritage* 30 (Fall): 9-36, 60. Poems, fiction, criticism.

Ron Rash Bibliography [11 entries]. 2004. The Iron Mountain Review 20 (Spring): 36.

Ron Rash Issue, edited by John Lang. 2004. Special issue, *The Iron Mountain Review* 20 (Spring): 1-36.

Rosolina, Rachel. 2010. "The Hanging Elephant" [creative nonfiction; Tenn.; 1916]. *Still: The Journal*, no. 4 (Fall). 4,628 words. "Five thousand gathered in the gloom / To see her hoisted on the boom' ~ *The Ballad of Murderous Mary*." http://www.stilljournal.net/rachel-rosolina-nonfiction.php.

Ross, Ann B. 2006. *Miss Julia Stands Her Ground* [popular fiction: mystery; N.C.; paternity]. New York: Viking. 306 pp.

Ross, Charlotte. 2004. "Sister Sharyn" [Sharyn McCrumb]. *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Fall): 27-29.

Rouse, Viki Dasher. 2008. "Mildred Haun: A Haunting Life Story." *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 2 (Spring): 19-24. Featured Author; b. 1911, Hamblen County, Tenn.; author of *The Hawk's Done Gone* (1940).

Rowe, Vernon. 1995. *Sea Creatures and Other Poems*. Overland Park, Kan.: Whirlybird Press. 54 pp.

Rubin, Rachel Lee. 1998. "'My Country Is Kentucky': Leaving Appalachia in Harriette Arnow's *The Dollmaker*." In *Women, America, and Movement: Narratives of Relocation*, ed. S. Roberson, 176-189. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

Rubio, Gwyn Hyman. 1998. *Icy Sparks* [fiction; 1950s-60s Ky.; orphaned heroine copes with Tourette's syndrome.]. New York: Viking. 308 pp.

Rudes, Blair A. 2004. "Multilingualism in the South: A Carolinas Case Study" [history]. In *Linguistic Diversity in the South: Changing Codes, Practices, and Ideology*, ed. M. Bender, 37-49. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 37. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Rueda-Ramos, Carmen. 2003. "The Figure of the Marginal Male" [outsider male characters in Lee Smith's fiction]. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Winter): 27-35.

Rueda-Ramos, Carmen. 2012. Review essay of *Burning Bright*, by Ron Rash (HarperCollins, 2010). *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 118-127. Short story collection.

Runyon, Randolph Paul. 2007. "Looking the Story in the Eye: 'I Love My Rooster" [short story]. In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 115-121. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *The Southern Literary Journal* 23, no. 2 (Spring 1991): 55-64.

Ruppersburg, Hugh, and John C. Inscoe, ed. 2007. *The New Georgia Encyclopedia Companion to Georgia Literature* [130 entries, mostly authors]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 474 pp. Prints all literary entries available on the NGE website by the end of 2006: http://www.georgiaencyclopedia.org/nge/Home.jsp.

Ruppersburg, Hugh. 2003. "Poet of North Georgia" [Bryon Herbert Reece]. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Spring): 64-66.

Russell, Richard Rankin. 2009. "A Keatsian Echo in Cormac McCarthy's *The Orchard Keeper*" [1965]. *Cormac McCarthy Journal* 7, no. 1: 34-35. "Fictional Red Mountain, Tenn., and Keats's poem "The Eve of St. Agnes." https://journals.tdl.org/cormacmccarthy/article/view/854.

Rye, Edgar. [1909] 1995. *Colleen, The Mountain Maid: A Story of War and Feud in Kentucky*. Edited by Charles E. Linck, Jr. Commerce, Tex.: Cow Hill Press. 287 pp.

Rylant, Cynthia. [1985] 2001. *A Blue Eyed Daisy* [W. Va. coal camp; juvenile fiction]. Rpt. ed. New York: Aladdin Paperbacks. 99 pp. Originally published: New York: Bradbury Press.

Rylant, Cynthia, and Chris K. Soentpiet, illustrator. 1997. *Silver Packages: An Appalachian Christmas Story* [children's literature]. New York: Orchard Books.

Rylant, Cynthia, and Ellen Beier, illustrator. 1997. *The Blue Hill Meadows* [children's fiction; Va.]. New York: Harcourt Brace. 43 pp.

Rylant, Cynthia. 2002. *Christmas in the Country* [children's story]. Illustrations by Diana Goode. New York: Blue Sky Press/Scholastic. 32 pp.

Rylant, Cynthia. 2004. *Long Night Moon* [children's literature; illustrations depict varied seasonal full moons]. Illustrated by Mark Siegel. New York: Simon & Schuster Books for Young Readers. 30 pp.

Rylant, Cynthia. 2006. *Ludie's Life* [fiction; narrative poem follows a woman from youth to old age in a W. Va. mining town]. New York: Harcourt. 116 pp.

Rylant, Cynthia. 2009. *All in a Day* [children's literature]. Cut-paper-art illustrations by Nikki McClure. New York: Abrams Books for Young Readers. 32 pp.

Sailer, Susan Shaw. 2012. *Coal: Poems*. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 27 pp. Twenty-seven poems of death and survival, in memory of the twelve miners killed in the 2006 explosion at Sago, W. Va.

Sala, Sharon. 2012. *Don't Cry for Me* [romance; suspense]. Rebel Ridge Novel series, no. 2. Don Mills, Ontario: Harlequin MIRA. 395 pp. "When her ex-lover Quinn Walker takes her to his log cabin in the Appalachian Mountains of Kentucky to rest and recuperate, Mariah Conrad, badly wounded on active duty in Afghanistan, discovers that bad things are happening on the mountain and she must once again battle for survival."

Salner, David. 2008. *John Henry's Partner Speaks*. Cincinnati, Oh.: WordTech Editions. 104 pp. Poems of manual labor, slavery, John Henry.

Salner, David. 2010. Working Here [poems]. Mankato, Minn.: Rooster Hill. 85 pp. Working class poems by the author of *John Henry's Partner Speaks* (2008).

Salvucci, Claudio R. 1997. *A Dictionary of Pennsylvanianisms* [glossary; seven subregional dialects]. Dialect Dictionaries of the Mid-Atlantic, vol. 1. Southampton, Pa.: Evolution Publishing. 146 pp.

Samples, Mack. 1994. *Doodle Bug, Doodle Bug, Your House Is On Fire: An Appalachian Novel* [W. Va.; 1950s coming-of-age]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 268pp.

Samples, Mack. 1995. *Dust on the Fiddle* [fiction; W. Va.; 1960s campus/culture change; folk revival; sequel to *Doodle Bug* (1994)]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain. 254 pp.

Samples, Mack. 1995. *Dust on the Fiddle* [fiction; W. Va.; 1960s campus/culture change; folk revival; sequel to *Doodle Bug* (1994)].

Samples, Mack. 2010. *The Dark Hollows of West Virginia* [murder mystery]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 164 pp.

Sanborn, Wallis R. 2006. *Animals in the Fiction of Cormac McCarthy*. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 190 pp.

Sandell, Jillian. 1997. "Telling Stories of 'Queer White Trash': Race, Class, and Sexuality in the Work of Dorothy Allison." In *White Trash: Race and Class in America*, ed. Matt Wray and Annalee Newitz, 211-230. New York: Routledge.

Sanderson, Jeannette. 2003. *A Reading Guide to* Shiloh *by Phyllis Reynolds Naylor*. New York: Scholastic Reference. 64 pp. "Discusses the writing, characters, plot and themes of this 1992 Newbery Award-winning book. Includes discussion questions and activities."

Sasser, Jane. 2008. *Recollecting the Snow* [poems]. Greensboro, N.C.: March Street Press. 43 pp.

Sasser, Jane. 2009. *Itinerant: Poems*. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 29 pp.

Satterwhite, Emily. 2006. "Reading Craddock, Reading Murfree: Local Color, Authenticity, and Geographies of Reception" [Charles Egbert Craddock, pseud. of Mary Noailles Murfree (1850-1922)]. *American Literature* 78, no. 1 (March): 59-88.

Satterwhite, Emily. 2009. "Romancing Whiteness: Popular Appalachian Fiction and the Imperialist Imagination at the Turns of Two Centuries." In *At Home and Abroad: Historicizing Twentieth-Century Whiteness in Literature and Performance*, ed. La Vinia Jennings, 93-117. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Works cited include *The Trail of the Lonesome Pine* (1908), *Cold Mountain* (1998), and *Clay's Quilt* (2002).

Satterwhite, Emily. 2010. Review essay of *In the Tennessee Mountains*, by Mary Noailles Murfree, ed. Bill Hardwig (University of Tennessee Press, [1884] 2009). *Southern Quarterly* 47, no. 3 (Spring): 204-208.

Satterwhite, Emily. 2011. *Dear Appalachia: Readers, Identity, and Popular Fiction Since 1878*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 379 pp. Weatherford Award winner for nonfiction. Contents: Introduction: Best-selling Appalachia | Charm and virility, circa 1884 | Tonic and rationale, circa 1908 | Country to city, circa 1949-1954 | City to country, circa 1967-1970 | A sweet land that never was, circa 1994-2001 | Conclusion: The production of region and the romance with whiteness.

Saunders, Richard L. 2011. Never Been Rich: The Life and Work of a Southern Ruralist Writer, Harry Harrison Kroll [1888-1967]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 246 pp. Lincoln Memorial University; influence on students Jesse Stuart, James Still, and Don West.

Saunders, Richard L. 2011. *Never Been Rich: The Life and Work of a Southern Ruralist Writer, Harry Harrison Kroll* [1888-1967; prolific Tenn. novelist and short story writer]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 246 pp.

Scafidi, Steve. 2001. *Sparks from a Nine-Pound Hammer: Poems*. Southern Messenger Poets. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 64 pp.

Scafidi, Steve. 2006. For Love of Common Words: Poems. Southern Messenger Poets. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 72 pp.

Scales, Pat. 2005. "Ruth White: A Voice from Appalachia" [profile, interview, reviews of seven books including *Belle Prater's Boy* (1996)]. *Book Links* 14 (May): 10-13. http://www.booklistonline.com/Author-Focus-Ruth-White-A-Voice-from-Appalachia-Pat-Scales/pid=1719450.

Scalf, Laurene. 1998. "Rhymes & Reasons" [Athens Co., Ohio; Rural Action poetry endeavor]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 15 (Summer): 30-33.

Scarbrough, George. [1949] 2000. *Tellico Blue* [poems]. Reprint. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Iris Press. 128 pp. Originally published: New York: E. P. Dutton.

Scarbrough, George. 2011. *Under the Lemon Tree: Poems*. Edited by Robert B. Cumming and Rebecca Passmore Mobbs. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Iris Press. 175 pp.

Scarbrough, George. Interview by Jerry Williamson. 2000. "The Country and Beyond: A Conversation (Recorded at Appalachian State University, November 18, 1999)." *The Iron Mountain Review* 16 (Spring): 31-38.

Schafer, William J. 1995. "The Bridges of Fenton Johnson." *Appalachian Journal* 22 (Winter): 154-159.

Schneider, Edgar W. 2003. "Shakespeare in the Coves and Hollows? Toward a History of Southern English." In *English in the Southern United States*, ed. S. Nagle, and S. Sanders, 17-35. Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.

Schroeder, Alan. 1997. *Smoky Mountain Rose: An Appalachian Cinderella*. New York: Dial Books for Young Readers. 30 pp. "In this variation on the Cinderella story, based on the Charles Perrault [1628-1703] version but set in the Smoky Mountains, Rose loses her glass slipper at a party given by the rich feller on the other side of the creek."

Seaton, Carter, Taylor. 2003. *Father's Trouble*\$ [fiction; Depression-era Huntington, W. Va.]. Huntington, W. Va.: Mid-Atlantic Highlands. 492 p.

Sebok, Scott J. 2002. "Wilma Dykeman: A Bibliography" [approx. 600 items, primary and secondary]. *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Summer): 460-492.

Secreast, Donald. 1996. "Donald Secreast." Interview by Tal Stanley. *Appalachian Journal* 24 (Fall): 52-72.

Secreast, Donald. 2009. "Look Homeward, Angler." *Appalachian Journal* 36, no. 3-4 (Spring-Summer): 256-263. Review essay of *The Safety of Deeper Water: A Novel*, by Tim Poland (Vandalia Press, 2008).

Seacrest, Donald. 2012. Featured Author, *Floyd County Moonshine* 4, no. 2 (Summer): 4-18; 36-62; 81-98; 102-105. Includes three fiction pieces, "Women Like Islands," "The Solar Powered Southern Belle," and "Women in the Wind"; a Biographical Statement; and "Bibliography for Donald Secreast" [72 items: books, short stories, criticism and reviews, and poems].

Secreast, Donald. 2012. "Trying to Put Socks on an Octopus': Reviewing James Agee." *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 1-2 (Fall 2011/Winter 2012): 146-149. Review essay of *A Death in the Family: A Restoration of the Author's Text*, ed. Michael A. Lofaro (University of Tennessee Press, 2007); and *The Making of James Agee*, by Hugh Davis (University of Tennessee Press, 2008).

Seliy, Shauna. 2007. *When We Get There: A Novel* [13-year-old boy's coming-of-age; Eastern European immigrant mining community in 1974 Western Pa.]. New York: Bloomsbury. 259 pp.

Sellers, Bettie M. [1989] 2006. *Wild Ginger* [poems]. Rpt. ed. Kennesaw, Ga.: Kennesaw State University Press. 107 pp. Originally published: Atlanta: Morning Glory Ink.

Sellers, Bettie. 2002. "Dr. Bettie Sellers: Professor and Poet" [biography; Ga. Poet Laureate; Young Harris, Ga.]. Student interview by Lacey Watkins. *Foxfire Magazine* 36 (Spring/Summer): 44-57.

Senehi, Rose. 2008. *In the Shadows of Chimney Rock* [fiction]. Boone, N.C.: Ingalls Publishing Group. 289 pp. Romantic suspense; real estate development; Chimney Rock, N.C.

Senehi, Rose. 2008. *In the Shadows of Chimney Rock* [N.C.; romantic suspense fiction]. Boone, N.C.: Ingalls Publishing Group. 289 pp.

Senehi, Rose. 2010. *The Wind in the Woods: A Novel*. Vilas, N.C.: Canterbury House. 245 pp. Romantic suspense; Blue Ridge Mountains; real estate development; serial murderer.

Senehi, Rose. 2010. *The Wind in the Woods: A Novel* [romantic suspense; Blue Ridge Mountains; widower; serial murderer]. Vilas, N.C.: Canterbury House. 245 pp.

Senehi, Rose. 2012. *Render Unto the Valley* [fiction; N.C.]. Chimney Rock, N.C.: K.I.M. Publishing. 288 pp. Mountain girl returns home from sophisticated New York City art scene.

Settle, Mary Lee. 1995. Choices. New York: Doubleday. 384 pp.

Settle, Mary Lee. 1996. "Mary Lee Settle: The Lioness in Winter." Interview by Mariflo Stephens. *Virginia Quarterly Review* 72 (Autumn): 581-588.

Settle, Mary Lee. 2006. "Roger Mary Lee Williams'." Interview by Kate Long [excerpt from Kate Long's 2002 radio program, *In Their Own Country*]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 1 (Winter): 83-89.

Settle, Mary Lee. 2006. "Barter" [excerpt from *Learning to Fly: A Memoir* (forthcoming from W. W. Norton)]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 1 (Winter): 41-54.

Settle, Mary Lee. 2006. "The *Paris Review* Years" [with George Plimpton]. Interview by Matthew J. Bruccoli; from a 2004 recording. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 1 (Winter): 90-95, and sidebar interview by Bruccoli, "'Die of Sheer Joy with My Head on the Manuscript'," 96-97.

Settle, Mary Lee. 2007. *Learning to Fly: A Writer's Memoir* [1918-2005; biography continues Settle's life story in 1938 where *Addie* (1998) left off]. Edited by Anne Hobson Freeman. New York: W.W. Norton. 224 pp.

Seybert, B. R. 2012. "He'll Always Be a Part of Us': Folklore in the Stories of Breece D'J Pancake." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 3 (Summer): 43-49.

Shade, Eric. 2003. *Eyesores: Stories* [Western Pa.; winner of Flannery O'Connor Award for Short Fiction]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 205 pp.

Shaffer, C. Lynn. 2008. Persistence of Vision: Poems. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind. 87 pp.

Shank, Marilyn Sue. 2012. *Child of the Mountains* [juvenile fiction; Christian life; W. Va.]. New York: Delacorte Press. 259 pp. "In the early 1950s, Lydia Hawkins has grown up poor...with her widowed mother, brother BJ, who has cystic fibrosis, and her Gran, but when Gran and BJ die and her mother is jailed unjustly, Lydia must try to remain strong and clear her mother's name, even after she learns a shocking secret from the uncle with whom she is sent to live."

Shannon, Jeanne. 2002. *Meditation for the Earth* [poetry chapbook]. Johnstown, Oh.: Pudding House Publications. 34 pp.

Shannon, Jeanne. 2002. *Stars Scattered Like Seeds* [poems and short story memoirs of Southwestern Va., 1936-56]. Albuquerque, N.M.: Wildflower Press. 176 pp.

Shannon, Jeanne. 2006. Angelus: Poems. McKinleyville, Calif.: Fithian Press. 101 pp.

Sharyn McCrumb Bibliography [38 entries]. 2004. Appalachian Heritage 32 (Fall): 16-18.

Sharyn McCrumb Bibliography [59 entries: books, uncollected fiction, essays/articles, interviews]. 2006. *The Iron Mountain Review* 22 (Spring): 35-36.

Sharyn McCrumb Issue, edited by John Lang. 2006. Special issue, *The Iron Mountain Review* 22 (Spring): 1-36.

Shelby, Anne. 1996. *The Someday House* [children's literature]. Illustrated by Rosanne Litzinger. New York: Orchard Books. 28 pp. Describes what it would be like to live in all kinds of imaginative houses--on a mountain, by the sea, above a bakery, underground, and in other wonderful places.

Shelby, Anne. 2003. "Remembering Lee Howard (1952-2003)" [includes tribute by George Ella Lyon, and Howard's poem "Momma's Letter"]. *Appalachian Journal* 31 (Fall): 4-9.

Shelby, Anne. 2006. *Appalachian Studies: Poems* [Ky.]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 103 pp.

Shelby, Anne. 2009. *The Man Who Lived in a Hollow Tree* [children's story]. Illustrated by Cor Hazelaar. New York: Atheneum Books for Young Readers. 34 pp. "Carpenter Harlan Burch, who builds everything from cradle to casket, plants two trees for every one he cuts down, and when he is very old his sap begins to rise, he grows young again, and starts a family that still lives all over the mountains."

Shelby, Anne. 2011. "Words and Music: A Conversation (Recorded at the Anne Shelby Literary Festival, Emory & Henry College, Oct. 29, 2010)." Interview by Marianne Worthington. *The Iron Mountain Review* 27 (Spring): 28-34.

Shipley, Vivian. 2002. *When There Is No Shore* [poems; Ky.]. Cincinnati, Ohio: Word Press. 101 pp.

Shipley, Vivian. 2003. *Gleanings: Old Poems, New Poems* [Hardin Co., Ky., native]. Hammond, La.: Louisiana Literary Press. 187 pp.

Shippen, Jane R. 2003. "Dirt and Sin in the Poetry of Michael McFee: A Sermon." *The Iron Mountain Review* 19 (Spring): 9-14.

Shook, Tonya Holmes. 2005. *The Drifters: A Christian Historical Novel About the Melungeon Shanty Boat People*. Spokane, Wash.: Marquette Books. 311 pp.

Shuman, Joel James, and L. Roger Owens, ed. 2009. *Wendell Berry and Religion: Heaven's Earthly Life*. Culture of the Land: A Series in the New Agrarianism. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 266 pp. Contents: Introduction: Placing God in the work of Wendell Berry / Joel James Shuman — Part 1. Good work -- What would a Christian university look like?: some tentative answers inspired by Wendell Berry / Stanley Hauerwas -- Mr. Berry goes to medical

school: notes toward unspecializing a healing art / Brian Volck -- Of the good that has been possible in this world: lawyering in Port William / Richard P. Church -- Proper work: Wendell Berry and the practice of ministry / Kyle Childress — Part 2. Holy living -- The pill is like...DDT?: an agrarian perspective on pharmaceutical birth control / Elizabeth Bahnson -- The salvation of the city: defiant gardens in the great northern feedlot / Fred Bahnson -- "And the land I will remember": reading the Bible through agrarian eyes / Ellen F. Davis -- Landscapes of flesh: on finding more faithful metaphors for the body and its goods / Joel James Shuman -- The dark night of the soil: an agrarian approach to mystical life / Norman Wirzba — Part 3. Imagination -- "The membership includes the dead": Wendell Berry's Port William membership as communio sanctorum / D. Brent Laytham -- Embedded hopefulness: Wendell Berry and Saint Thomas Aquinas on Christian hope / Philip A. Muntzel -- Alien landscapes: Christianity and inevitable violence / Scott Williams -- Let the place judge: healing the division between theology and practice / L. Roger Owens — Part 4. Moving forward -- Democracy, America, and the church: inviting Wendell Berry into the discussion / Charles R. Pinches.

Shurbutt, Sylvia Bailey. 2009. "The Voice of the 'Ferriner': The Fiction of Adriana Trigiani." In *Anthology of Appalachian Writers: Adriana Trigian*i, Vol. I, ed. S. Shurbutt, 2-17. Shepherdstown, W. Va.: Shepherd University.

Shurbutt, S. Bailey. 2009. "'The History of Every Country': Place in the Fiction of Silas House." In *Anthology of Appalachian Writers: Silas House*, Vol. II, ed. S. Shurbutt, 2-20. Shepherdstown, W. Va.: Shepherd University.

Shurbutt, Sylvia Bailey. 2011. "In My Country: The Fictional World of Bobbie Ann Mason." In *Anthology of Appalachian Writers: Bobbie Ann Mason*, Vol. III, ed. S. Shurbutt, 3-31. Shepherdstown, W. Va.: Shepherd University.

Shurbutt, S. Bailey. 2012. "Burning Bright': Language, Place, and Storytelling in the Poetry and Prose of Ron Rash." In *Anthology of Appalachian Writers: Ron Rash*, Vol. IV, ed. S. Shurbutt, 18-56. Shepherdstown, W. Va.: Shepherd University.

Sickels, Carter. 2012. *The Evening Hour: A Novel* [Dove Creek, W. Va.]. New York: Bloomsbury USA. 327 pp. Debut novel which Silas House says tackles "the pivotal Appalachian issues of the moment (drug addiction, mountaintop removal, leaving vs. staying, health care, economy, sexuality, religion)....one of the best American novels of the year...a major contribution to Appalachian literature."

Silas House (Featured Artist). 2009. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 4, no. 1 (Summer/Fall): Featured Artist section. Contents: "Being Still: An Essay," by Silas House; "An Interview with the NR Editors"; "Silas House Reads From *A Parchment of Leaves*" (Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill, 2002). http://nantahalareview.org/issue4-1/featured4-1/index.html.

Silas House Bibliography [89 entries]. 2009. *The Iron Mountain Review* 26 (Spring): 36-38. Categories: books, selected short stories, selected essays and articles, poems, interviews, and About Silas House.

Silas House Issue, edited by John Lang. 2010. Special issue, *The Iron Mountain Review* 26 (Spring): 1-38.

Simmons, Gordon. 2006. "A Mary Lee Settle Bibliography" [23 books, 1954-2004]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 1 (Winter): 98-102.

Simmons, Gordon. 2007. "Maillard" [author Keith Maillard; review essay]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 10: 43-44.

Simmons, Jessica. 2002. "Crossing Gendered Borders: Transsexualism In *Suttree*." *Cormac McCarthy Journal* 2, no. 1: 56-58.

Simms, Dianna. 1998. *Obscene Notions* [mystery; W. Va.]. Huntington, W. Va.: University Editions. 163 pp.

Simms, William Gilmore. 2001. *The Simms Reader: Selections from the Writings of William Gilmore Simms* [1806-1870]. Edited by John Caldwell Guilds. Publications of the Southern Texts Society. Charlottesville: University Press of Virginia. 412 pp.

Simo, Melanie Louise. 2005. "The Southern Highlands." Chap. 2 in *Literature of Place: Dwelling on the Land Before Earth Day 1970*, by M. Simo, 35-55. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press.

Simpson, Bland. 1996. *Heart of the Country: A Novel of Southern Music* [Nashville]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 315 pp.

Simpson, Nancy, and Shirley Uphouse, ed. 2003. *Lights in the Mountains: Stories, Essays and Poems by Writers Living in and Inspired by the Southern Appalachian Mountains*. Introduction by Fred Chappell. Hayesville, N.C.: Winding Path. 132 pp.

Simpson, Nancy, ed. 2010. *Echoes Across the Blue Ridge: Stories, Essays, and Poems, by Writers Living In and Inspired By the Southern Appalachian Mountains*. Introduction by Robert Morgan. Hayesville, N.C.: Winding Path. 238 pp. Anthology of work by 67 writers including well-known and lesser-known, arranged by season; Author Profiles; "Dedicated in the Memory of Byron Herbert Reece (1917-1958)."

Simpson, Nancy. 2010. Living Above the Frost Line: Selected and New Poems [N.C.; 1977-2009]. Foreword by Kathryn Stripling Byer. Laureate Series. Durham, N.C.: Carolina Wren Press. 108 pp.

Singleton, George. 2006. *Drowning in Gruel* [19 tales set in fictitious Gruel, S.C.]. Orlando, Fla.: Harcourt. 307 pp.

Singleton, George. 2007. Work Shirts for Madmen [fiction; S.C.]. Orlando, Fla.: Harcourt. 317 pp.

Singleton, George. 2012. *Stray Decorum: Stories*. Westland, Mich.: Dzanc Books. 171 pp. "Eleven stories, all previously published in journals like The Atlantic, Oxford American, and The Georgia Review, in which George Singleton brings small-town South Carolina alive." Contents: Vaccination | What are the odds? | How are we going to lose this one? | The first to look away | A man with my number | Perfect attendance | Where strangers claim the tarnished | I think I have what Sharon's got | Durkheim looking down | I feel like being nice today | Human beings.

Sites, James N. 1998. *America: The Search and the Secret: A Novel* [autobiographical; Depression-era Ohio River Valley]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 256 pp.

Sizemore, Judy. 2007. Asymmetry [28 poems]. Louisville, Ky.: Motes. 61 pp.

Skinner, Constance Lindsay. [1926] 2006. *Becky Landers: Frontier Warrior* [juvenile fiction; Ky.]. Bathgate, N.D.: Bethlehem Books. 198 pp. Originally published in 1926 by Macmillan. "In 1778, fifteen-year-old Becky Landers, as the 'man' of her house, forms a plan to join George Rogers Clark on a mission to bring gunpowder to capture the British forts of Kaskaskia and Vincennes, hoping to rescue her brother from his Indian captors while there."

Skipper, Roger Alan. 2006. *Tear Down the Mountain: An Appalachian Love Story* [debut novel; Monroe Co., W. Va.; rough romance in a rocky landscape]. Brooklyn, N.Y.: Soft Skull Press. 208 pp.

Skipper, Roger Alan. 2009. *The Baptism of Billy Bean: A Novel* [crime fiction; W. Va.; Vietnam vet; drug traffic witness]. Berkeley, Calif.: Counterpoint. 360 pp.

Slayton, Fran Cannon. 2009. *When the Whistle Blows* [children's fiction; Rowlesburg, W. Va.]. New York: Philomel Books. 162 pp. "Jimmy Cannon tells about his life in the 1940s as the son of a West Virginia railroad man, loving the trains and expecting one day to work on the railroad like his father and brothers."

Sloan, Bob. 2003. *Bearskin to Holly Fork: Stories from Appalachia* [true stories of Midland, Ky., characters by a sometime Public Radio commentator]. Introduction by Lee Smith. Lexington, Ky.: Wind Publications. 135 pp.

Sloan, Bob. 2004. *Home Call* [fiction; Ky.; drug traffic]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 205 pp.

Sloan, Bob. 2006. *Nobody Knows, Nobody Sees* [murder mystery; Ky.; sequel to *Home Call* (2004)]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 208 pp.

Slone, Ken. 2001. *At Home in the Mountains: Poems* [Ky.]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 128 pp.

Slone, Verna Mae. 1994. *Rennie's Way* [all-but-memoir story; 1920s-30s Eastern Ky.; mountain life, dialect]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 232 pp.

Slone, Verna Mae. 1995. *How We Talked* [b. 1914; Knott Co., Ky.; extensive, primary glossary of Appalachian dialect and folkways, thematically arranged]. Illustrations by Len Slone. Pippa Passes, Ky.: Pippa Valley Printing. 161 pp.

Slone, Verna Mae. [1982, 1995] 2009. *How We Talked* and *Common Folks* [1914-2009; Pippa Passes, Knott Co., Ky.]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 322 pp. Reprint, with a foreword to *How We Talked* by Michael B. Montgomery, and a foreword to *Common Folks* by Sidney Saylor Farr. *How We Talked*, originally published: Pippa Passes, Ky.: Pippa Valley Printing, 1982 -- *Common Folks*, originally published: Pippa Passes, Ky.: Writers and the Appalachian Learning Laboratory, Alice Lloyd College, 1979.

Smith, Barbara, and Kirk Judd, ed. 2000. Wild Sweet Notes: Fifty Years of West Virginia Poetry, 1950-1999 [anthology; 132 poets]. Huntington, W. Va.: Publishers Place. 432 pp.

Smith, Barbara. 2001. *The Circumstance of Death* [fiction]. Charleston, W. Va.: Mountain State Press. 212 pp.

Smith, Barbara. 2003. "In Memoriam: Al Stewart, Poet of Yellow Mountain" [1914-2001; Knott Co., Ky.; founder and editor of *Appalachian Heritage*]. *Appalachian Journal* 30 (Winter-Spring): 136-141.

Smith, Barbara. 2003. "In Retrospect—Albert Stewart." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Fall): 399-405.

Smith, Barbara. 2006. *Demonstrative Pronouns* [50 poems]. Shinnston, W. Va.: Mountainechoes.com Books. 70 pp.

Smith, Barbara. 2007. "Albert Stewart, Patron Saint of Appalachian Writers (1914-2001)" [Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 3 (Summer): 9-14. See also, "An Albert Stewart Bibliography" [12 items], 16.

Smith, Barbara. 2008. *Chick Flicks* [fiction]. Charleston, W. Va.: Mountain State Press. 195 pp. Twenty-eight short stories set in W. Va., featuring women.

Smith, Barbara. 2010. *Through the Glass* [fiction]. Terra Alta, W. Va.: Headline Books. 192 pp. Story centers on Patricia, a stained glass artist and widow in Logan, W. Va.

Smith, Daniel, Edwina Pendarvis, and Philip St. Clair. 1997. *Human Landscapes: Three Books of Poems* [*Home Land*, by Daniel Smith; *Joy Ride*, by Edwina Pendarvis; *Acid Creek*, by Philip St. Clair]. Working Lives Series. Huron, Oh.: Bottom Dog Press. 184 pp.

Smith, Deborah. 2001. *On Bear Mountain: A Novel* [north Ga.; romance]. Boston: Little, Brown. 342 pp.

Smith, Deborah. 2006. *The Crossroads Café* [fiction/contemporary romance; Blue Ridge N.C.]. Smyrna, Ga.: BelleBooks. 348 pp.

Smith, Herb E. 2012. "Hard Edges" ["Harriett Arnow had a hard edge..."]. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 46-49. Documentary filmmaker Smith recalls Arnow's 1974 invited visit from Ann Arbor to Appalshop (Whitesburg, Letcher County, Ky.).

Smith, James, ed. 2009. *Don't Leave Hungry: Fifty Years of* Southern Poetry Review. Fayetteville: University of Arkansas Press. 341 pp. Includes poets of the mountain South.

Smith, Katherine. 2003. *Argument by Design* [poems]. Washington, D.C.: Washington Writers' Publishing House. 57 pp.

Smith, Larry R. 1992. *Steel Valley Postcards & Letters* [Upper Ohio Valley towns; poems]. Youngstown, Ohio: Pig Iron Press. 62 pp.

Smith, Larry R. 1995. *Beyond Rust*. Working Dog Series. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 156 pp. A novella | In the shadows of steel mills: personal essays | River of steel: stories.

Smith, Larry. 2002. *Milldust and Roses: Memoirs* [poetry and prose; Upper Ohio Valley steel towns]. Roseville, Mich.: Ridgeway Press. 149 pp.

Smith, Larry R. 2006. *Faces and Voices: Tales* [27 stories; characters; Ohio]. Huron, Ohio: Bird Dog Publishing. 134 pp.

Smith, Larry. 2006. *A River Remains* [poems; Upper Ohio Valley]. Cincinnati, Ohio: WordTech Communications. 236 pp.

Smith, Larry R. 2009. *The Long River Home: A Novel* [Ohio; multi-generational; from rural Vinton Co. to industrial Ohio River Valley]. Working Lives Series. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 240 pp.

Smith, Larry R. 2011. *The Free Farm: A Novel*. Working Lives Series. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 301 pp. Coming of age: 1960's communal living in Upper Ohio Valley.

Smith, Laura, and Allen Frost, ed. 2010. *Bottom Dog Press Anniversary Poetry Anthology* [25th Anniversary]. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 154 pp. More than 50 poets are represented. Introductory essay, "A Brief History of Bottom Dog Press," by Larry Smith, founder and director, 11-19.

Smith, Lee, and Kathryn Stripling Byer. 2002. "Singing the Mountains: A Conversation" [interview recorded at the Kathryn Stripling Byer Literary Festival, Emory & Henry College, Oct. 19, 2001]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 18 (Spring): 30-38.

Smith, Lee. [1968] 1994. *The Last Day the Dogbushes Bloomed*. Reprint. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 180 pp.

Smith, Lee. 1995. Saving Grace. New York: Putnam's. 273 pp.

Smith, Lee. 1997. *News of the Spirit* [six stories; previously published]. New York: Putnam. 320 pp.

Smith, Lee. 1997. The Christmas Letters: A Novella. New York: Algonquin. 128 pp.

Smith, Lee. 2001. *Conversations With Lee Smith* [transcripts of 14 interviews, 1983-1997]. Edited by Linda Tate. Literary Conversation Series. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 195 pp.

Smith, Lee. 2002. "Confessions of a Stay Moron" [in praise of Ozark novelist Donald Harington]. *Southern Quarterly* 40 (Winter): 20-22.

Smith, Lee. 2002. *The Last Girls: A Novel* [former college roommates reunite on a trip down the Mississippi]. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 384 pp.

Smith, Lee. 2003. "Big Girl" [beginning portion of a previously unpublished novella]. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Winter): 36-43.

Smith, Lee. 2004. "Return to Ship Island" [influence of writer Elizabeth Spencer]. *Southern Review* 40 (Winter): 153-157.

Smith, Lee. 2006. "Interview with Lee Smith." By Susan Ketchin. In *All Out of Faith: Southern Women on Spirituality*, ed. W. Reed, and J. Horne, 154-167. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Smith, Lee. 2006. *On Agate Hill: A Novel* [Wilkes Co., N.C.: "portrait of a fiery Southern woman recalls the South from Reconstruction to the Roaring Twenties"]. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books. 367 pp.

Smith, Lee. 2009. "A Spiritual Journey: An Interview with Lee Smith." Interview by Linda Byrd Cook. *Southern Quarterly* 47, no. 1 (Fall): 74-103. Topics: religious experience, passion, mental illness and spirituality.

Smith, Lee. 2009. "Pamela Duncan" [featured author; short profile]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 2 (Spring): 11.

Smith, Lee. 2010. *Mrs. Darcy and the Blue-Eyed Stranger: New and Selected Stories*. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 352 pp. Contents: Bob, a dog -- Toastmaster -- Big girl -- Ultima thule -- Intensive care -- Folk art -- House tour -- Southern cross -- Between the lines -- Tongues of fire -- Fried chicken -- Happy memories club -- Stevie and mama -- Mrs. Darcy and the blue-eyed stranger.

Smith, Lee. Papers of Lee Marshall Smith. Manuscript Collection No. 203. Special Collections Department, North Carolina State University Libraries, Raleigh. 28 pp. Accessed 12 Oct. 2001. http://www.lib.ncsu.edu: 80/archives/collections/html/smith.html.

Smith, Newton. 2004. "Words to Raise the Dead: The Poetry of Ron Rash." *The Iron Mountain Review* 20 (Spring): 13-20.

Smith, Noel. 2008. *The Well String* [poems]. Foreword by Silas House. Louisville, Ky.: Motes Books. 137 pp.

Smith, R. T. 2003. *The Hollow Log Lounge: Poems* [Opelika, Ala., community portrait through bar patrons' voices]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 68 pp.

Smith, R. T. 2004. *Brightwood: Poems*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 64 pp.

Smith, R. T. 2006. *Uke Rivers Delivers: Stories* [15 monologues]. Yellow Shoe Fiction. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 142 pp.

Smith, R. T. 2007. Outlaw Style: Poems. Fayetteville: University of Arkansas Press. 109 pp.

Smith, R. T. 2008. "In Memoriam: John Foster West (1918-2008)." *Appalachian Journal* 35, no. 4 (Summer): 280-282. N.C. novelist and creative writing teacher; Appalachian State University English Dept., 1968-1990.

Smith, R. T. 2008. "Remembering George Garrett" [1929-2008]. *Shenandoah* 58, no. 2 (Fall): 186-188.

Smith, R. T. 2009. "Heart and Coal: An Appreciation" [Editor's Note]. Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review 59, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 193-198. Review of Kathy Mattea's 2008 Grammy-nominated album, Coal -- inspired by the 2006 Sago mine disaster -- recognizing the songs' composers: Merle Travis, Jean Richie, Hazel Dickens, Sarah Ogan Gunning, and Bille Edd Wheeler. Brief review of Jack Wright's album, Music of Coal: Mining Songs from the Appalachian Coalfields (Lonesome Records, 2006, 2-disks). And a recommended list of the books and films of mining including those by: Ann Pancake, Denise Giardina, Homer Hickum, Silas House, Diane Gilliam Fisher, Gurney Norman, Guy and Candy Carawan, Hazel Dickens, Kenneth Murray, John Sayles's film Matewan, and the PBS tie-in to the book The Appalachians: America's First and Last Frontier (Random House, 2004).

Smith, R. T. 2009. The Calaboose Epistles: Stories. Oak Ridge, Tenn: Iris Press. 240 pp.

Smith, R. T. 2012. *Sherburne: Stories*. Nacogdoches, Tex.: Stephen F. Austin State University Press. 272 pp. "...chronicles the title family's encounters with ruthlessness over several generations," from 1864 Civil War Georgia to present day Blue Ridge Virginia. Contents: Thaddeus: Wretch like me | Blaine: Ina Grove. Maggard. Rose-handled pistol. Widow | And: Thurston. Cooper's. Like a hawk's interest in wind.

Smith, Rebecca. 2000. "Country Music Battles Religion in Lee Smith's *The Devil's Dream*" [1992 novel]. In *Country Music Annual 2000*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 57-74. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Smith, Rebecca. 2004. "The Search for Moral Order in *Moments of Light*" [New York: New South Co., 1980]. In *More Lights Than One: On the Fiction of Fred Chappell*, ed. P. Bizarro, 119-131. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Smith, Tammy Robinson. 2005. *Emmybeth Speaks* [fiction; 1971 Little Creek, Tenn.; nine-year old and the community of women around her]. Bristol, Va.: Mountain Girl Press. 192 pp.

Smock, Frederick. 2011. *The Deer at Gethsemani: Eclogues*. Lexington, Ky.: Accents. 30 pp. Pastoral poems.

Smucker, Anna Egan. 2008. *Golden Delicious: A Cinderella Apple Story*. Illustrated by Kathleen Kemly. Morton Grove, Ill.: Albert Whitman. 32 pp. Children's story based on this apple's W. Va. origin.

Smylie, James. 1999. "King Coal, King Jesus, and Moonshine: Faith and Life in Appalachian Fiction" [reviews, with an eye to religious life: *The Circuit Rider* (1873), by Edward Eggleston; *The Prophet of the Great Smoky Mountains* (1885), by Charles Egbert Craddock (i.e., Mary Murfree); *The Trail of the Lonesome Pine* (1908), by John Fox; *The Needle's Eye* (1924), by Arthur Train; *Storming Heaven* (1987), by Denise Giardina; and *The Dollmaker* (1954), by Harriette Arnow; with an overview of *The Great Appalachian Sperm Bank and Other Writings* (1986), by Bill Best]. *Theology Today* 56 (July): 235-244.

Southern Poetry Anthology. Volume I, South Carolina. 2007. Edited by Stephen Gardner and William Wright. Huntsville: Texas Review Press. 282 pp. Includes work by: Cathy Smith Bowers, George Garrett, Jannette Hypes, John Lane, Ed Madden, Ron Rash, Dana Wildsmith, and William Wright.

Southern Poetry Anthology. Volume III, Contemporary Appalachia. 2011. Edited by Jesse Graves, Paul Ruffin, and William Wright. Introduction by Jesse Graves. Huntsville: Texas Review Press. 320 pp. Selected poems by 80 Appalachian poets, with author profiles. Volumes I and II of this series are titled South Carolina and Mississippi, respectively.

Southern Poetry Anthology. Volume V, Georgia. 2012. Edited by Paul Ruffin and William Wright. Huntsville: Texas Review Press. 296 pp. Includes work by: Kathryn Stripling Byer, Lisa Hodgens, Karen Paul Holmes, Bill King, Cody Lumpkin, Christopher Martin, Janisse Ray, and William Wright.

Sparkman, Jan. 2005. *Silk and Steel: Stories of Strong Women* [fiction; Ky.; ten stories]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 100 pp.

Sparks, Betty J. 2004. *Poets Laureate of Kentucky* [brief biography, photo, poetry sample of 21 poets, 1921-2003, including Jesse Stuart, Lillie Chaffin, Lee Pennington, Paul Salyers, Jim Wayne Miller, James Still, Richard Taylor, and James Baker Hall]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 108 pp.

Sparks, John. 2007. "Spirit of the Mountains in Rhyme: The Life and Poetry of J. D. Meade" [1874-1969, Eastern Ky.]. In *CrossRoads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 173-193. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Sparks, John. 2009. *The Last Dance of Gus Finley: A Tale of Eastern Kentucky Justice* [historical fiction]. Albany, Ky.: Old Seventy Creek Press. 232 pp. Community impact of a questionable 1885 hanging-for-murder in Prestonsburg, Ky.

Spatz, Gregory. 2006. *Fiddler's Dream: A Novel* [19-year-old aims for Nashville]. Dallas, Tex.: Southern Methodist University Press. 248 pp.

Spencer, John S. 1998. "Dorothy Allison: A Bibliography" [150 entries; primary and secondary]. *Bulletin of Bibliography* 55 (December): 217-221.

Spencer, William C. 1997. "Altered States of Consciousness in *Sutree* [by novelist Cormac McCarthy]. *The Southern Quarterly* 35 (Winter): 87-92.

Spencer, William C. 2002. "Cormac McCarthy's Unholy Trinity: Biblical Parody in *Outer Dark*" [1968]. In *Sacred Violence, I: Cormac McCarthy's Appalachian Works*, ed. W. Hall and R. Wallach, 83-91. El Paso: Texas Western Press.

Spriggs, Bianca. 2010. *Kaffir Lilly* [poems; Affrilachian]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 84 pp.

Springer, Jane. 2007. *Dear Blackbird* [poems]. Salt Lake City: University of Utah Press. 71 pp. "Jane Springer grew up in a myriad of small towns in Tennessee, Arkansas, Louisiana, and Kentucky."

Sprinkle, Patricia Houck. 2011. *Friday's Daughter* [fiction; sisters; Cherokee; North Ga.]. New York: New American Library. 410 pp.

St. John, Warren. 2006. "The Unmasking of JT Leroy: In Public, He's a She" [hoax author of: *Sarah* (2000) and *The Heart Is Deceitful Above All Things* (2001)]. *New York Times*, 9 January, 1(E). 1350 words.

Standing on the Mountain: Voices of Appalachia. 2006. Berea, Ky.: Mountain Association for Community Economic Development (MACED). 44 pp. Twenty-two poetry and prose selections by sixteen writers.

Stanfill, Jess. 2003. "The Indelible Impact of James B. Goode" [profile of the Ky. writer, b. 1948]. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Spring): 24-30.

Stanley, Maurice. 2009. *Sorrows End: A Novel*. Fairview, N.C.: Historical Images. 195 pp. "The life of an outlaw who rode with Jesse James." Based on the real life of Henry Baker; Waverly, Tenn.; escape from convict lease coal mine, Cumberland Mountains.

Stanley, Paula Helen. 2007. *Finding Endurance: Poems*. Blacksburg, Va.: Pocahontas Press. 44 pp. Memories of childhood hardships.

Stanley, Tal. 1996. "Changing Places: Reading Justice from McDowell" [McDowell County, W. Va., and Denise Giardina's *The Unquiet Earth*]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Spring): 69-76.

Stanley, Tal. 1996. "Making That New Place: Blair Morgan's Coming of Age and Meredith Sue Willis' Social Vision" [*Higher Ground* (1981); *Only Great Changes* (1985)]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 12 (Spring): 19-25.

Staudt, David. 2001. *The Gifts and Thefts* [poems; northeastern Pa., Allegheny Mts.]. Omaha, Nebr.: Backwaters Press. 101 pp.

Steele, Pamela. 2007. Paper Bird: Poems. La Grande, Ore.: Wordcraft of Oregon. 76 pp.

Stein, Daniel T. 2003. "'I ain't never seen a nigger': The Discourse of Denial in Lee Smith's *The Devil's Dream*" ["investigates the marginalization of African American musical culture" in this 1992 novel]. *European Journal of American Culture* 22 (no. 2): 139-157.

Stepakoff, Jeffrey. 2010. *Fireworks Over Toccoa* [fiction; war bride; WWII North Ga.]. New York: Thomas Dunne Books. 263 pp. The author was an executive co-producer of *Dawson's Creek*.

Stephanie Durrans. 2009. "Of Spirals, Snakes, and Selves: Jayne Anne Phillips's *Black Tickets*" [Delacorte Press, 1979]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 1 (Winter): 30-42.

Stephens, Jarrod E. 2009. *Family Field Days* [fiction; Ky. hollow; tobacco farm; family of eight]. Waterford, Va.: OakTara Publishers. 188 pp.

Stephenson, Shelby. 2004. "Chappell's Women: Models from the Early Novels." In *More Lights Than One: On the Fiction of Fred Chappell*, ed. P. Bizarro, 51-71. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Stepp, Lin. 2009. *Foster Girls: A Smoky Mountain Novel* [romance; Wears Valley, Tenn.]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 238 pp.

Stepp, Lin. 2010. *Tell Me About Orchard Hollow: A Smoky Mountain Novel* [romance; Townsend, Tenn.]. Vilas, N.C.: Canterbury House. 251 pp.

Stepp, Lin. 2011. For Six Good Reasons: A Smoky Mountain Novel [foster children; Tenn.; romance]. Vilas, N.C.: Canterbury House. 248 pp.

Stepp, Lin. 2012. *Delia's Place: A Smoky Mountain Novel* [romance]. Smoky Mountain Series, no. 4. Vilas, N.C.: Canterbury House. 255 pp.

Stevenson, Sheryl. 2006. "Postcolonial Appalachia: Bhabha, Bakhtin, and Diane Gilliam Fisher's *Kettle Bottom*" [Perugia Press, 2004]. *CEA Forum* 35, no. 1 (Winter/Spring). 2382 words, online. Teaching approaches. http://www2.widener.edu/~cea/351stevenson.htm.

Stewart, Ida. 2011. *Gloss* [poems; W. Va.]. Florence, Mass.: Perugia Press. 83 pp. "...the poems give voice to the mountain-top." "Embedded among the strata of GLOSS is loss: many poems respond to mountaintop removal coal mining, which is literally flattening the rich complexity of the Appalachian landscape and culture."

Stewart, Kevin C. 2007. *The Way Things Always Happen Here* [eight stories and a novella: W. Va.; Ozarks]. Morgantown, W. Va.: Vandalia Press. 160 pp.

Stewart, Kevin. 2001. "How to Write West Virginian" [biographical satire from an award-winning W. Va. writer]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 18 (Summer): 12-15.

Stewart, Kevin. 2001. *Margot* [mystery; Ozarks]. Huntsville, Tex.: Texas Review Press. 48 pp.

Still, James, and Ted Olson, ed. 2009. *James Still in Interviews, Oral Histories and Memoirs* [1906-2001]. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 23. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 312 pp. Transcriptions of nine published interviews, and 21 memoirs and remembrances by leading voices in the Appalachian Studies movement. See also: *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson (2007).

Still, James, with illustrations by Paul Brett Johnson. 1998. *An Appalachian Mother Goose* [juvenile literature]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 55 pp.

Still, James. [1977] 1999. *Sporty Creek* [young adult fiction]. Illustrations by Paul Brett Johnson. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 119 pp. Originally published: New York: Putnam, with illustrations by Janet McCaffery.

Still, James. 1999. "Correspondence from James Still to Dayton Kohler (1940-59): A Research Note" [critic]. Edited by Edward L. Tucker. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 97 (Winter): 113-122.

Still, James. [1976] 2001. *Pattern of a Man and Other Stories*. Rpt. ed. Lexington, Ky.: Gnomon Press. 121 pp.

Still, James. 2001. From the Mountain, From the Valley: New and Collected Poems [1906-2001; incl. autobiographical essay; selected as 2002 Appalachian Book of the Year by the

Appalachian Writers Association]. Edited by Ted Olson. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 144 pp.

Still, James. 2011. *Chinaberry* [novel; Ala., Tex.]. Edited with an introduction by Silas House; afterword by Carol Boggess. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 153 pp. The manuscript of this story was unpublished at the time of Still's death in 2001.

Still, James. 2012. *The Hills Remember: The Complete Short Stories of James Still* [1906-2001]. Edited with an introduction by Ted Olson. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 406 pp. Inaugural winner of the Thomas D. Clark Medallion Book Award. 53 stories, arranged chronologically. See also: "*The Hills Remember* book page at www.kentuckypress.com for a glossary of dialectical words and phrases, quotations, photographs, audio clips, and more information about the life and works of James Still."

Still: The Journal. 2009—. Tri-annual (Oct., Feb., June). Online literary journal founded by Silas House (fiction editor), Jason Howard (nonfiction editor), and Marianne Worthington (poetry editor). Each issue contains an interview and multi-media presentation by Appalachian artists. http://www.stilljournal.net/.

Stoneback, H. R. 2007. "Rivers of Earth and Troublesome Creeks: The Agrarianism of James Still." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 7-20. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *The Kentucky Review* 10, no. 3 (1990): 3-26. http://www.mcfarlandpub.com/excerpts/0-7864-3076-1.Chapter1.pdf.

Stoneback, H. R., and Steven Florczyk, ed. 2008. *Elizabeth Madox Roberts: Essays of Reassessment & Reclamation*. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 336 pp. 25 papers, plus ten typescripts of Roberts (1881-1941).

Stoneback, H. R., William Boyle, and Matthew Nickel, ed. 2012. *Reading Roberts: Prospect & Retrospect*. Reading Roberts Series, no. 2. West Park, N.Y.: Elizabeth Madox Roberts Society. 253 pp. A selection of 24 essays "by the leading Roberts scholars of the past half century."

Straka, Andy. 2003. *Cold Quarry* [mass market P.I. mystery set in W. Va.]. New York: Signet. 288 pp.

Strange, George. 2002. *Generations: Stories* [ten short stories]. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 159 pp.

Strunk, Frank. 1996. *Throwback* [fiction; Tenn.; kidnapping]. New York: HarperCollins. 310 pp.

Stryk, Dan. 2007. "Meditating on a Groundhog Brood." By Dan Stryk for Danny Marion. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 42-43.

Stryk, Dan. 2008. *Dimming Radiance: Poems and Prose Parables*. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 149 pp.

Stuart, Dabney. 2000. "Mary Poppin's Mouth" [A Death of Dreams (1973)]. In The Fictional World of William Hoffman, ed. W. L. Frank, 98-120. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

Stuart, Dianne Watkins. 1998. *Janice Holt Giles: A Writer's Life*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 280 pp.

Stuart, Jesse. [1930] 1998. *Harvest of Youth* [his first published book; includes essay *Honest Confession of a Literary Sin* (1977)]. Reprint. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 128 pp.

Stuart, Jesse. [1934] 2011. *Man with a Bull-Tongue Plow: A New Edition of the Original Bestseller* [703 sonnets]. 3rd ed. New introduction by John H. Spurlock. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 384 pp. Appended "Original Review," by Merton S. Yewdale (editor, E.P. Dutton, Feb. 1, 1934), who compares Stuart to Robert Burns and states, "I believe that this is one of the greatest works of poetry that has come out of the American soil." Originally published: New York: E. P. Dutton.

Stuart, Jesse. [1939] 2011. *Tim, A Story*. Rpt. ed. Foreword by James M. Gifford; afterword by David R. Palmore. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 63 pp. Originally written in 1927 for a creative writing class at Lincoln Memorial University. "First published in 1939 as part of a magazine, *Little Man; Tim* was separately bound in paper and issued along with the magazine."

Stuart, Jesse. [1946, 1974] 1997. *Tales from the Plum Grove Hills*. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. Previously published, New York: E. P. Dutton; Atlanta: Mockingbird Books.

Stuart, Jesse. [1953] 2009. *The Good Spirit of Laurel Ridge* [fiction; Ky.; hill-country character, hermit/squatter Theopolis Akers]. Rpt. ed. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. Originally published: New York: McGraw-Hill. 261 pp.

Stuart, Jesse. [1965] 1994. *Daughter of the Legend*. Reprint, edited and with a preface by John H. Spurlock, introduction by Wilma Dykeman, and afterword by N. Brent Kennedy, Ashland, KY: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 242 pp.

Stuart, Jesse. [1967] 1999. *Mr. Gallion's School*. Rpt. ed. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 351 pp. Originally published: New York: McGraw-Hill.

Stuart, Jesse. [1968] 2009. *Stories*. Adapted by Laurence Swinburne; introduction by David R. Palermo; illustrations by Ferd Sondern. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 83 pp. Originally published: New York: McGraw-Hill.

Stuart, Jesse. [1970] 2007. *Seven by Jesse*. Reprint. Terre Haute: Indiana Council of Teachers of English. 42 pp. Seven short stories, originally reprinted from *Indiana English Journal*, vol. 5, pt. 2, no. 2-4.

Stuart, Jesse. [1971] 2001. *Come Back to the Farm*. Rpt. ed. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 246 pp. Originally published: New York: McGraw-Hill.

Stuart, Jesse. [1982] 2000. *Best-Loved Short Stories of Jesse Stuart*. Compiled by Harold Edward Richardson. Reprint. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 406 pp. Originally published: New York: McGraw-Hill.

Stuart, Jesse. 2003. *New Harvest: Forgotten Stories of Kentucky's Jesse Stuart* [1906-1984; 22 stories]. Edited by David R. Palmore. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 288 pp.

Stumbo, Carol. 2007. "Albert Stewart" [Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 3 (Summer): 33-35.

Sullivan, Nell. 2002. "Cormac McCarthy and the Text of Jouissance" [Suttree (1979); Blood Meridian (1985); polyphony]. In Sacred Violence, I: Cormac McCarthy's Appalachian Works, ed. W. Hall and R. Wallach, 153-161. El Paso: Texas Western Press.

Sullivan, Sarah. 2011. *Passing the Music Down* [juvenile fiction, based on Braxton Co., W. Va. old-time fiddler, Melvin Wine (d. 2003)]. Illustrated by Barry Root. Somerville, Mass.: Candlewick Press. 30 pp., plus discography and filmography. "A boy and his family befriend a country fiddler, who teaches the boy all about playing the old tunes, which the boy promises to help keep alive."

Sullivan, Walter. 2004. "Tennessee Fiction since 1920" [Cormac McCarthy and others]. In *A History of Tennessee Arts: Creating Traditions, Expanding Horizons*, ed. C. West and M. Binnicker, 295-313. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Summerlin, Donna. 2010. "Gender, Race, and Religion in Silas House's Appalachian Trilogy." *Appalachian Journal* 37, no. 1-2 (Fall 2009-Winter 2010): 76-99. *Clay's Quilt* (2001), *A Parchment of Leaves* (2002), and *The Coal Tattoo* (2004).

Surface, Amber. 2012. "Through the Eye of the Needle." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 63-64. On curating many boxes of Harriette Arnow's papers: "threads of information" for an exhibit at the University of Kentucky.

Survant, Joe. 1996. *Anne & Alpheus, 1842-1882* [Ky.]. Arkansas Poetry Award Series. Fayetteville: University of Arkansas Press. 118 pp. "...a compelling duet of monologues between a frontier man and woman surviving the hardships and recording the small triumphs of life in rural nineteenth-century Kentucky."

Survant, Joe. 2002. *Rafting Rise* [poems; Ky.]. University of Central Florida Contemporary Poetry Series. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 75 pp. Winter log rafting on Kentucky's Rough and Green Rivers to the lumber mills in Evansville, Ind., in 1916 and 1917.

Suter, John F. 1996. *Old Land, Dark Land, Strange Land: Stories* [mysteries; W. Va.; 1950s-1980s]. Introduction by Sharyn McCrumb. Charleston, W. Va.: University of Charleston. 269 pp.

Sutherland, Patricia L. 2005. "From the Wings." Nantahala: A Review of Writing and

Photography in Appalachia 3, no. 1 (Winter): nonfiction section, 2800 words. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-1/non-fiction/Sutherland.htm.

Sutton, Dorothy. 2009. *Backing into Mountains: Poems*. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 76 pp.

Swain, Gwenyth. 2003. *I Wonder As I Wander* [1933 N.C.; children's story about young singer informant for ballad collector John Jacob Niles]. Illustrations by Ronald Himler. Grand Rapids, Mich.: Eerdmans Books for Young Readers. 32 pp.

Swanson, Charles A. 2009. *After the Garden: Selected Responses to the Psalms* [poems]. Louisville, Ky.: Motes Books. 89 pp.

Swanson, Charles A. 2009. Farm Life and Legend: Poems. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line. 30 pp.

Swanson, Eric. 1999. *The Boy in the Lake* [fiction; Ohio; gay coming of age]. New York: St. Martins Press. 197 pp.

Sweet, Charlie, and Hal Blythe, ed. 2007. *New Growth: Recent Kentucky Writings* [37 writers; author notes and reflections; discussion points; Fiction, Introductory Comments by Silas House; Poetry, Introductory Comments by Frank X Walker; Creativenonfiction, Introductory Comments by George Brosi]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 272 pp.

Taavila, Pia. 2008. *Moon on the Meadow: Collected Poems*. Washington, D.C.: Gallaudet University Press. 149 pp.

Tate, Linda. 2004. "Southern Appalachia." In *A Companion to the Literature and Culture of the American South*, ed. R. Gray, and O. Robinson, 130-147. Blackwell Companions to Literature and Culture, no. 23. Malden, Mass.: Blackwell.

Tate, Linda. 2004. "Southern Appalachia." In *A Companion to the Literature and Culture of the American South*, ed. R. Gray and O. Robinson, 130-147. Malden, Mass.: Blackwell, 2004.

Taylor, Henry. 2001. "All Goes Back to the Earth': The Poetry of Wendell Berry." *Southern Cultures* 7 (Fall): 31-48.

Taylor, Henry. 2006. *Crooked Run: Poems*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 62 pp.

Taylor, M. Glenn. 2008. *The Ballad of Trenchmouth Taggart*. Morgantown, W. Va.: Vandalia Press. 288 pp. Outlaw fiction; epic story of "the oldest living man in West Virginia."

Taylor, M. Glenn. 2010. *The Marrowbone Marble Company: A Novel*. New York: Ecco. 360 pp. Sweeping story involving issues of race and class, set at a 1950s-60s W. Va. marble factory.

Taylor, Nancy Dew. 2008. Stepping on Air [poems; S.C.]. Greenville, S.C.: The Emerys Foundation. 23 pp.

Taylor, Robert Love. 2006. *Blind Singer Joe's Blues: A Novel* [turn-of-last-century Bristol, Va.]. Dallas: Southern Methodist University Press. 222 pp.

Taylor, Richard. 2011. *Fading into Bolivia: Poems*. Lexington, Ky.: Accents. 28 pp. Taylor served as Poet Laureate of Kentucky, 1999-2001.

Taylor-Hall, Mary Ann. 1995. *Come and Go, Molly Snow: A Novel*. New York: Norton. 269 pp. "The sad tale of a Kentucky blue grass fiddler who plays for a band. She is Carrie Mullins."

Tebbetts, Terrell L. 2006. "Disinterring Daddy: Family Linen's Reply to As I Lay Dying [Lee Smith's 1985 novel, Family Linen]. Southern Literary Journal 38, no. 2 (Spring): 97-112.

Tener, Robert L. 2006. *Depression Days on an Appalachian Farm* [poetry; Ohio]. Huron, Ohio: Bird Dog Publishing. 78 pp.

The First Lady of Pen/Faulkner [award for fiction; Mary Lee Settle]. 2006. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 1 (Winter): 55-62. [three tributes: "Absorbing the Past and Enriching the Future" / Thomas Caplan; "'Darling..." / Susan Richards Shreve; "Celebrating American Writers" / Janice Delaney].

Thomas, Anabel. 2002. *Stone Man Mountain: A Novel* [Ohio; migration; multi-generational saga]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 480 pp.

Thomas, Annabel. 1998. *Blood Feud* [fiction; Ohio]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 208 pp.

Thomas, Patricia. 2007. *Firefly Mountain* [fireflies; children's fiction]. Illustrated by Peter Sylvada. Atlanta, Ga.: Peachtree. 30 pp.

Thomas, Rudy. 2010. A Simple but Hard Life [poems]. Albany, Ky.: Old Seventy Creek Press. 100 pp.

Thomsen, Glithe Bloch. 2008. "Hearing Music in All Things: A Causerie." *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 1 (Winter): 41-45. Featured Author and songwriter, Billy Edd Wheeler.

Thornton, Kit. 2011. *Milton's Child* [fiction]. Huntington, W. Va.: Mid-Atlantic Highlands. 233 pp. Ten-year-old's coming of age with an abusive fundamentalist-preacher father in Kanawha County, W. Va.

Thorpe, Moeckel. 2008. "Crossing and Falling In: Michael Chitwood and the Incantatory." *The Iron Mountain Review* 24 (Spring): 18-22.

Tickle, Phyllis, and Alice Swanson, ed. 1996. *Homeworks: A Book of Tennessee Writers* [anthology: 108 poets, essayists, fiction writers]. Knoxville: Tennessee Arts Commission and The University of Tennessee Press. 490 pp.

Tomlinson, Jim. 2006. *Things Kept, Things Left Behind* [11 stories; Ky.]. Iowa Short Fiction Award. Iowa City: University of Iowa Press. 153 pp.

Tomlinson, Jim. 2009. *Nothing Like an Ocean: Stories* [11 stories; small-town Ky. life]. Kentucky Voices series. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 163 pp.

Tortora, Christina, and Marcel den Dikken. 2010. "Subject Agreement Variation: Support for the Configurational Approach." *Lingua* 120: 1089–1108. "...variation in subject-verb agreement in Belfast English and Appalachian English bears on a number of issues that are relevant to current syntactic theory."

Tortora, Christina. 2006. "The Case of Appalachian Expletive They" ["e.g., They is a big creek yet"; see also Michael Montgomery, 2006]. *American Speech* 81, no. 3 (Fall): 266-296.

Townsend, Amelia. 2002. *Keepsakes for the Heart: An Historical Biography* [slightly fictionalized; Southwest Va., N.C.]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 222 pp.

Traber, Daniel S. 1999. "Ruder Forms Survive," or Slumming for Subjectivity: Self-Marginalization in *Suttree*" [Cormac McCarthy]. *Southern Quarterly* 37 (Winter): 33-46.

Traditions Salute: Phyllis Wilson Moore, West Virginia Literary Historian. 2007. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 10: 49.

Trigiani, Adriana. 2000. *Big Stone Gap* [fiction; 1978 Wise Co., Va.]. New York: Random House. 288 pp.

Trigiani, Adriana. 2001. *Big Cherry Holler* [fiction; Va.; sequel to *Big Stone Gap* (2000)]. New York: Random House. 272 pp.

Trigiani, Adriana. 2002. *Milk Glass Moon: A Big Stone Gap Novel* [last of a trilogy set in Wise Co., Va.]. New York: Random House. 272 pp.

Trigiani, Adriana. 2004. *The Queen of the Big Time* [fiction; Italian immigrant family; 1920s small-town, Pa.]. New York: Random House. 261pp.

Trigiani, Adriana. 2006. *Home to Big Stone Gap: A Novel* [fourth in a series; Blue Ridge Mountains, Va.]. New York: Random House. 305 pp.

Truscott, Danielle. 1997. *Anthems of an Uncut Field* [poems]. Cullowhee, N.C.: New Native Press. 87 pp.

Tubb, Kristin O'Donnell. 2008. *Autumn Winifred Oliver Does Things Different*. New York: Delacorte Press. 214 pp. Elementary/adolescent fiction; 11-year-old in 1930s Cades Cove, Tenn.

Tucker-Sullivan, Lori. 2008. "Exploring Appalachia's Independent Bookstores." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 59-61. Special issue—"Urbane Appalachia."

Turman, Joe Garner. 2007. *Sling Creek* [Christian fiction]. Mustang, Okla.: Tate Publishing. 121 pp. "Tells the story of eleven- and twelve-year old Bud and Joe Tanner who have information concerning a murder committed at Sling Creek....and are threatened by the murderers to remain quiet about their knowledge of the crime."

Turner, Daniel Cross. 2008. "Restoration, Metanostalgia, and Critical Memory: Forms of Nostalgia in Contemporary Southern Poetry." *Southern Literary Journal* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 182-206. Analyzes the poetry of George Scarbrough, Donald Justice, and Henry Taylor.

Turner, Daniel Cross. 2012. "Dying Routes: Charles Wright's Remembered Roadscapes of the US South in Transit." *Mississippi Quarterly* 65, no. 1 (Winter): 121-138. Wright's poems remap highway routes driven during his youth in east Tennessee (b. 1935).

Turner, Jack Justin. 2008. *Big Medicine River Days* [historical fiction; 1880s Ky.]. The Foxes and the Hounds (series), vol. 1. Louisville, Ky.: Chestnut Hill. 405 pp.

Turner, Martha Billips. 1994. Changing Times and Changing Metaphors in Fictional Sermons. In *Appalachian Adaptations to a Changing World*, ed. Norma Myers. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 6: 130-139. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Turner, Martha Billips. 2007. "A Vision of Change: Appalachia in *River of Earth*." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 70-79. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *The Southern Literary Journal* 24, no. 2 (Spring 1992): 11-25.

Turner, Thomas Noel. 1983. *Hillbilly Night Afore Christmas*. Illustrated by James Rice. Gretna, La.: Pelican. 32 pp. An adaptation in mountain dialect of the well-known poem "Night Before Christmas," by Clement Moore (1779-1863).

Tuttle, Erik, ed. 2006. "Hindman Writing Workshop and Appalachian Writing." Special issue, *Wind: A Journal of Writing and Community*, vol. 96. Includes narratives of the workshop and two sound discs of interviews.

Twenty-Fifth Anniversary Issue. 2007. *The Iron Mountain Review* 23 (Spring): 1-73. Includes seventeen of the previous twenty authors annually showcased, as panelists in this issue of Emory & Henry's Literary Festival proceedings: Lisa Alther, Maggie Anderson, Kathryn Stripling Byer, Jo Carson, Fred Chappell, John Ehle, Denise Giardina, David Huddle, George Ella Lyon, Jeff Daniel Marion, Sharyn McCrumb, Michael McFee, Robert Morgan, Gurney Norman, Ron Rash, Lee Smith, and Meredith Sue Willis.

Umbach, Sandee Gertz. 2012. *The Pattern Maker's Daughter: Poems*. Huron, Oh.: Bottom Dog Press. 83 pp. "Umbach employs a woman speaker who unsentimentally looks at...the people and neighborhoods in the hardscrabble mill town of Johnstown, PA."

Underwood, Susan O'Dell. 2010. From: Poems. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 29 pp.

Van Eerden, Jessie. 2012. *Glorybound: A Novel*. Seattle, Wash.: WordFarm. 230 pp. "In the drought-ridden mining town of Cuzzert, West Virginia....two sisters, Aimee and Crystal Lemley, have set out to become prophets at Glorybound Holiness Tabernacle."

Van Gundy, Doug. 2007. A Life Above Water: Poems. Los Angeles: Red Hen Press. 79 pp.

Van Ness, Gordon. 2000. "The American Adam in the Southern Wasteland: William Hoffman's *Follow Me Home* and the Ethics of Redemption" [1994, short stories]. In *The Fictional World of William Hoffman*, ed. W. L. Frank, 24-43. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

Vande Brake, Katherine. 2003. "Melungeons in McCrumb's Fiction." In *From a Race of Storytellers: Essays on the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb*, ed. K. Holloway, 145-158. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Vande Brake, Katherine. 2004. "Appalachian Echoes in the Novels of Lisa Alther." *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Winter): 27-30.

Vanderheide, John. 2003. "Old Fevery Chill of Some Kind': A Note on Melancholia in *Outer Dark*" [1968]. *Cormac McCarthy Journal* 3, no. 1: 38-41.

Vanderpool, Clare. 2010. *Moon over Manifest* [adolescent fiction; Depression-era Ozarks]. New York: Delacorte Press. 351 pp. Newbery Medal winner.

Vanderwerken, David L. 2012. "Moments of Grace on Fields and Streams in Don Johnson's *Here and Gone: New & Selected Poems*" [Louisiana Literature Press, 2009]. *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 1-2 (Fall 2011/Winter 2012): 150-157. Review essay.

Vaswani, Neela. 2010. "We Have Met the Enemy" [creative nonfiction]. *Still: The Journal*, no. 3 (Summer). 2,191 words. "It is a question of identity. From mountain to 'site.' From peaked to flat. Mountaintop removal is an attack on identity, on shape, a violence of the deepest kind." A version of this essay first appeared in *We All Live Downstream: Writings About Mountaintop Removal* (MotesBooks, 2009). http://www.stilljournal.net/neela-vaswani-nonfiction.php.

Vaughn, Sherry T. 1996. *Grandpa's Eyes* [juvenile fiction]. Illustrations by Ernie Ross. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 52 pp. "Sarah, a young Appalachian girl, learns about love, family and responsibility while helping her blind grandfather."

Vicars, Angie. 2001. *Treat* [lesbian novel; Knoxville, Tenn.]. Binghamton, N.Y.: Alice Street Editions/Harrington Park Press. 146 pp.

Vicars, Angie. 2006. *My Barbie Was an Amputee: And Other Essays* [22 absurd and whimsical observations, many originating in Knoxville's weekly paper, *Metro Pulse*]. Knoxville, Tenn.: Celtic Cat Publishing. 69 pp.

Villatoro, Marcos McPeek. 1999. *The Holy Spirit of My Uncle's Cojones* [fiction; Appalachian/Latino teenager; Knoxville, Tenn.]. Houston, Tex.: Arte Publico Press. 272 pp.

Villatoro, Marcus McPeek. 2001. "Latino Hillbilly: An Interview with Marcos McPeek Villatoro." By Jim Minick. *Appalachian Journal* 28 (Winter): 204-220.

Waage, Fred. 2005. "Exploring the 'Life Territory:' Ecology and Ecocriticism in Appalachia." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 11, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 133-163.

Waage, Fred. 2005. "Walking These Hills with Hubert: Topography, Inhabitation, and Ecology in the Novels of Hubert Skidmore" [W. Va.; author of *Hawk's Nest* (1941)]. In *Crossroads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 351-376. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Waage, Frederick. 2001. "Shades of the Sixties: *Original Sins* as Satiric Celebration" [Lisa Alther's 1981 novel]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 17 (Spring): 16-20.

Wagner-Martin, Linda. 2004. *Barbara Kingsolver* [biography]. Great Writers series. Philadelphia: Chelsea House. 142 pp.

Wagner-Manning, Linda. 2002. "The South as Universe" [contemporary literature including mention of Charles Frazier, Barbara Kingsolver, Cormac McCarthy, Lee Smith, Harriette Simpson Arnow, Thomas Wolfe]. In *South to the Future: An American Region in the Twenty-first Century*, ed. Fred Hobson, 25-55. Mercer University Lamar Memorial Lectures, no. 44. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Wagner-Martin, Linda. 2012. "Keeping an Eye on Paradise': The Exuberance of *Prodigal Summer*" [by Barbara Kingsolver, 2000]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 28 (Spring): 7-11.

Waldrop, Dave, and Lillie Clayton Waldrop Pannell. 2005. *Am I: A Mother and Son's Collection of Poems*. Webster, N.C.: D. Waldrop. 62 pp. Dave, b. 1943, Sylva, N.C.; Lillie, 1918-2001, b. Dillsboro, N.C.

Walker, Frank X. 2005. "Literary Patriarch for Gurney Norman." *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 3 (Summer): 30-31. Reprint, previously appeared in *Limestone*, 2000, and was reprinted in *Kudzu*, 2005.

Walker, Melissa. 2009. "Wilma Dykeman (1920-2006)." In *Tennessee Women: Their Lives and Times*, ed. S. Freeman and B. Bond, 243-260. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Wallach, Rick, ed. 2000. Myth, Legend, Dust Critical Responses to Cormac McCarthy. New York: Manchester University Press. 399 pp. Contents: Editor's introduction: Cormac McCarthy's canon as accidental artifact / Rick Wallach -- A writer's view of Cormac McCarthy / Madison Smart Bell -- PART I: THE APPALACHIAN WORKS -- Prefiguring Cormac McCarthy: the early short stories / Rick Wallach -- "They aint the thing": artifact and hallucinated recollection in Cormac McCarthy's early frame-works / Dianne C. Luce -- "Like something seen through bad glass": narrative strategies in *The Orchard Keeper /* William Prather -- Imposition and resistance in *The Orchard Keeper /* Barbara Brickman -- The evolution of the dead girlfriend motif in Outer Dark and Child of God / Nell Sullivan -- "Hes hell when he's well": Cormac McCarthy's rhyming dictions / Terri Witek -- Detailing the wor(l)d in Suttree / Béatrice Trotignon -- The seventh direction, or Suttree's vision quest / William C. Spencer --Ruder forms survive: Cormac McCarthy's atavistic vision / Matthew Guinn -- PART II: A DETOUR INTO DRAMA -- Older professions: the fourth wall of The Stonemason / Peter Josyph -- Cormac McCarthy's *The Stonemason*: the unmaking of a play / Edwin T. Arnold --PART III: FROM EAST TO WEST: SHARED ELEMENTS IN THE APPALACHIAN AND SOUTHWESTERN NOVELS -- McCarthy music / Jay Ellis -- "I aint come back rich, that's for sure," or the questioning of market economies in Cormac McCarthy's novels / Christine Chollier -- The process of elimination: tracing the prodigal's irrevocable passage through Cormac McCarthy's southern and western novels / John Vanderheide -- PART IV: THE BORDER TETRALOGY -- [11 essays, plus Appendix: Index of character names in the novels / Kyle Kirves].

Wallach, Rick, ed. [2006] 2012. You Would Not Believe What Watches: Suttree and Cormac McCarthy's Knoxville [21 essays]. Casebook Studies in Cormac McCarthy, no. 1. Rpt. ed. Miami: Cormac McCarthy Society. 245 pp. Contents: Foreward / Dennis McCarthy -- Introduction / Rick Wallach -- On the 25th anniversary of Suttree / Edwin T. Arnold -- SECTION I: CORMAC MCCARTHY'S KNOXVILLE AND ENVIRONS. Cormac McCarthy's Knoxville / Jack Neely -- "A season of death and epidemic violence": Knoxville rogues in Suttree / Wes Morgan -- Red Callahan: the actual and the fictitious / Wes Morgan -- Suttree and the brass ring: reaching for Thanksgiving in the Knoxville gutter / Peter Joseph -- "The color of this life is water": history, the river and the Tennessee Valley Authority in Suttree / William Prather -- A walk with Wesley G. Morgan through Suttree's Knoxville / Peter Joseph and Wes Morgan -- SECTION II: THE INTERTEXTUAL SUTTREE. A Faulknerian looks at Suttree / Noel Polk -- Ulysses in Knoxville: Suttree's Ageean journey / Rick Wallach -- Joyce and contesting priesthoods in Suttree and Blood Meridian / Farrell O'Gorman -- "The wrath of

the path": spatial politics and municipal powers in *Suttree* / Randall S. Wilhelm -- Strangers in everyland: Suttree, Huckleberry Finn, and tragic humanism / Bryan Vescio -- Life is lovely on a river: Suttree and the Huck Finn tradition / Leslie Worthington -- SECTION III: SUTTREE AND THE ASOCIAL, SUTTREE AND THE POLITICAL. Lightning out of civil rights territory: *Suttree*, the Quentin problem, and the historical unconscious / Jay Watson -- Whiteness and the "subject" of waste: the art of slumming in *Suttree* / Kariss McCoy -- "Encampment of the damned": ideology and class in *Suttree* / Louis Palmer -- SECTION IV: SUTTREE AS TEXT. *Suttree*'s soundscapes / Stacy Peebles -- Visual rhetoric and cognitive identity in *Suttree* / Linda Woodson -- "The sculptor's art": mystery and the material body in *Suttree* / Lydia R. Cooper -- Primrose's cat: *Suttree*'s deleted scenes / Daniel King -- James William Long: tributes / Wes Morgan and Peter Josyph.

Wallach, Rick. 2010. "No Paradise to Lose: C. E. Morgan's Disfugured Eden in *All the Living*" [Farrar, Straus and Giroux (2009); Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 2 (Spring): 24-35.

Wallach, Rick. 2011. "Ulysses in Knoxville: *Suttree*'s Ageean Journey" [Tenn.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 1 (Winter): 51-61. "Agee's masterpiece haunts McCarthy's like a ghostly forebear": James Agee's novel *A Death in the Family* (1957), and Cormac McCarthy's *Suttree* (1978).

Walsh, Chris. 2011. "'History Done Swallowed You Up Cept You Don't Know It': Conflict and Change in Cormac McCarthy's *The Stonemason*" [1994]. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 1 (Winter): 63-69. Five-act play set in 1970s Louisville, Ky.; multi-generational African American family.

Walsh, Christopher J. 2009. *In the Wake of the Sun: Navigating the Southern Works of Cormac McCarthy*. Knoxville, Tenn.: Newfound Press, University of Tennessee Libraries. 376 pp.

Wardell, Delores. 2001. *Naomi's Place* [young adult novel; 1935 coming-of-age story of a young girl in an orphanage in the Appalachian hills]. Santa Ana, Calif.: Seven Locks Press. 372 pp.

Ware, Cheryl. 1997. *Flea Circus Summer* [children's fiction; W. Va.]. New York: Orchard Books. 135 pp.

Watson, Jan. 2005. *Troublesome Creek* [fiction/Christian romance; late 1800s Ky.; first in a series]. Wheaton, Ill.: Tyndale House. 369 pp.

Watson, Jan. 2007. *Willow Springs* [fiction: Christian romance; 1883 Lexington, Ky.; no. 2 in a series]. Carol Stream, Ill.: Tyndale House. 385 pp.

Watson, Jan. 2008. *Torrent Falls* [Christian fiction; 1888]. Carol Stream, Ill.: Tyndale House. 393 pp. Copper Brown returns to eastern Kentucky after her husband's death to work as a midwife.

Watson, Jan. 2010. *Still House Pond* [Christian fiction; women; Troublesome Creek, Ky.]. Carol Stream, Ill.: Tyndale House. 377 pp.

Watson, Jan. 2012. *Skip Rock Shallows* [Christian fiction; early 20th-century]. Carol Stream, Ill.: Tyndale House. 375 pp. "Lilly Gray Corbett, a recent medical school grad, accepts an internship in the coal camp of Skip Rock, Kentucky, while her beau, Paul does his residency in Boston, but a handsome and oddly familiar miner soon gets her attention."

Watts, Julia. 1996. Wildwood Flowers [fiction]. Tallahassee: Naiad Press. 224 pp.

Watts, Julia. [1997] 2011. *Phases of the Moon* [fiction; LGBT romance]. Tallahassee, Fla.: Naiad Press. 148 pp.

Watts, Julia. 2007. *The Kind of Girl I Am* [LGBT fiction]. Midway, Fla.: Spinsters Ink. 346 pp. "Born in a dreary Kentucky coal camp during the Great Depression, Vestal Jenkins uses her one natural resource--her extraordinary beauty--as her ticket out of poverty. Vestal's bawdy adventures include a brief period of religious piety, a loveless but lucrative marriage, an unsatisfactory stint as a shop girl and a financially rewarding foray into the world's oldest profession."

Watts, Julia. 2008. *Kindred Spirits* [adolescent fiction; supernatural]. Midway, Fla.: Beanpole Books. 143 pp.

Watts, Julia. 2011. *Revived Spirits* [young adult fiction; Ky.]. Beanpole Books. 140 pp. Spooky house; ghosts; small-town life.

Weaks-Baxter, Mary. 2006. Reclaiming the American Farmer: The Reinvention of a Regional Mythology in Twentieth-Century Southern Writing ["Jeffersonian agrarianism"; yeoman farmer]. Southern Literary Studies. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 191 pp. Contents: Veins of iron: Ellen Glasgow's Virginia farmers -- The agrarians: taking their stand -- The dawn of direct and unafraid creation: Jean Toomer and his Cane -- Jesse Stuart: a farmer singing at the plow -- Marriage and female labor: women's novels of the 1930s South -- Reinventing Faulkner -- Leave the rest behind: southern American migrants and the heroic plow.

Weber, David, and Eric Flint. 2007. *1634: The Baltic War* [science fiction]. Riverdale, N.Y.: Baen Publishing. 728 pp. "Time-traveling Americans from the West Virginia town of Grantville find themselves caught in the middle of the Baltic War, with Gustavus Adolphus, King of Sweden, launching a counterattack on the combined forces of France, Spain, England, and Denmark."

Weddle, Laura. 2008. People Like Us: Stories. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 179 pp.

Weems, Mary E., and Larry Smith, ed. 2002. *Working Hard for the Money: America's Working Poor in Stories, Poems, and Photos* [40 writers and artists]. Working Lives Series. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 204 pp.

Weil, Josh. 2009. *The New Valley: Novellas* [Va.-W. Va. borderland]. New York: Grove Press. 344 pp. "Three linked novellas explore the private worlds of three men." National Book Award winner.

Weinberg, Bill. 2007. "Appalachian Heritage: The Life of a Magazine" [Featured Author, Albert Stewart, founding editor]. Appalachian Heritage 35, no. 3 (Summer): 37-42.

Weinberg, Bill. 2009. "The Power of James Still" [1906-2001]. *Appalachian Journal* 36, no. 3-4 (Spring-Summer): 218-227. Edited version of the James Still Lecture delivered at the 2008 Mountain Heritage Literary Festival at Lincoln Memorial University in Harrogate, Tenn.

Weinberg, Karen. 1995. *A Cherokee Passage* [adolescent fiction; 1736; thirteen-year-old Ela, a Cherokee, is kidnapped by Creek warriors]. Shippensburg, Pa.: White Mane Publishing Co. 152 pp.

Welling, Bart. 2012. "This Is What Matters': Reinhabitory Discourse and the 'Poetics of Responsibility' in the Work of Janisse Ray." In *The Bioregional Imagination: Literature, Ecology, and Place*, ed. T. Lynch, C. Glotfelty, K. Armbruster, and E. Zeitler, 118-132. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Wells, D. B. 2004. *Your Lolita* [fiction; 12 stories set in Ky.]. Livingston, Ala.: Livingston Press. 152 pp.

Wells, Rosemary. 1998. *Rosemary on Horseback: Three Mountain Stories* [juvenile fiction; Ky.; Mary Breckenridge, Frontier Nursing Service]. New York: Dial Books for Young Readers. 56 pp.

Wesley, Debbie. 1997. "A New Way of Looking at an Old Story: Lee Smith's Portrait of Female Creativity." *Southern Literary Journal* 30 (Fall): 88-101.

West, Don. 2004. *No Lonesome Road: Selected Prose and Poems* [1906-1992; 21 prose pieces; 83 poems; biographical essays]. Edited by Jeff Biggers and George Brosi. Introduction by Jeff Biggers; Afterword by George Brosi. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 227 pp.

West, John Foster. [1965] 2002. *Time Was: A Novel* [N.C.]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 307 pp. Originally published: New York: Random House.

West, John Foster. [1968] 2005. "Folklore of a Mountain Childhood" [b. 1918; lullabies, songs, riddles]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 52, no. 1 (Spring): 8-12. Originally published: vol. 16, no. 3 (November): 166-169.

West, John Foster. [1989] 2000. *The Summer People* [fiction; N.C.]. Rpt. ed. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 243 pp. Originally published: Boone, N.C.: Appalachian Consortium Press.

West, John Foster. 2005. *Going Home to Zion* [1984 N.C. village after 15-year absence]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 206 pp.

West, Michael Lee. 1990. *Crazy Ladies* [fiction; Tenn.; three generations of mothers and daughters, 1932-1972]. Atlanta, Ga.: Longstreet Press. 337 pp.

West, Robert M. 2002. "That Has a Ring to It': Song in the Poetry of Kathryn Stripling Byer. *The Iron Mountain Review* 18 (Spring): 16-23.

West, Robert M. 2003. "To Make You See': Michael McFee's Poems About Photographs." *The Iron Mountain Review* 19 (Spring): 15-22.

West, Robert M. 2005. "This Is Paradise': Michael McFee's Poems about Heaven." *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 2 (Spring): 30-35.

West, Robert M. 2007. "'The Stillness After': Reflections on the Poetry." In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 141-146. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *Journal of Kentucky Studies* 19 (2002): 126-131.

West, Robert M. 2010. "We All Need Resurrecting': Transformations and Restorations in the Work of George Ella Lyon" [Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 3 (Summer): 30-41.

West Virginia Roundtable (writing group). 2006. *Mountain Voices: Illuminating the Character of West Virginia: Writings from the West Virginia Roundtable* [39 stories, essays, and poems]. Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse. 345 pp.

Westover, Tim. 2012. *Auraria: A Novel* [folklore; fantasy; north Ga. gold rush, resort town]. Grayson, Ga.: QW Publishers. 384 pp. "Water spirits, moon maidens, haunted pianos, headless revenants, and an invincible terrapin that lives under the mountains."

Wharton, C. C. 2006. *Pearl Maker: A Novel* [mystery; N.C.; kidnapping]. Louisville, Ky.: Motes Books. 271 pp.

Wheeler, Billy Edd. 2003. *Star of Appalachia* [author's first novel; country music industry]. Haverford, Pa.: Infinity Publishing. 269 pp.

Wheeler, Billy Edd. 2008. "Sometimes Life, Sometimes Love, Is Hotter Than a Pepper Sprout." *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 1 (Winter): 9-16. Featured Author, Wheeler; unpublished memoir selections.

Whisnant, Anne Mitchell, and David E. Whisnant. 2010. *When the Parkway Came*. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Primary Source Publishers. 47 pp. Written for young readers; historic photographs. "A grandfather tells his granddaughter the story of the building of the Blue Ridge Parkway, which he experienced firsthand as a boy growing up on a farm in western North Carolina during the Depression."

White, Charles Dodd, and Page Seay, ed. 2010. *Degrees of Elevation: Short Stories of Contemporary Appalachia*. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 183 pp. Contents: Horseweed / Chris Offutt -- Into the gorge / Ron Rash -- Holler / Crystal Wilkinson -- Magic / Jim Nichols -- Country boys / Rusty Barnes -- Snapshot '87 / Sheldon Lee Compton -- Proof / John McManus -- The beauties of this Earth / Mark Powell -- Casting out / Denton Loving -- Mary, the cleaning lady / Scott McClanahan -- Gravity / by Jarrid Deaton -- Worth / Valerie Nieman -- Bait / Richard Hague -- The coal thief / Alex Taylor -- Real good man / Mindy Beth Miller -- Upheaval / Chris Holbrook -- Total immersion / Silas House.

White, Charles Dodd. 2010. *Lambs of Men: A Novel*. Sacramento, Calif.: Casperian Books. 159 pp. "Returning from the horrors of the First World War to recruit volunteers in his remote Appalachian home, Marine Sergeant Hiram Tobit finds the country changed."

White, Charles Dodd. 2011. *Sinners of Sanction County: Stories*. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press. 160 pp.

White, Charles Dodd. 2012. "'To Be Afflicted with Consciousness': Charles Dodd White on Writing" [interview]. *Still: The Journal*, no. 8 (Winter). 1,372 words. White's latest book is *Sinners of Sanction County: Stories* (2011). http://www.stilljournal.net/charles-dodd-white-interview.php.

White, Michael C. 2001. *A Dream of Wolves: A Novel* [mystery; N.C.]. New York: Cliff Street Books. 288 pp.

White, Ruth. 1996. *Belle Prater's Boy* [adolescent fiction]. New York: Farrar, Straus Giroux. 196 pp. Identity and loss; small Va. town; Newbery Honor Book.

White, Ruth. 2000. *Memories of Summer*. New York: Farrar, Straus Giroux. 135 pp. Awardwinning youth novel; 1955 migration from Va. to Flint, Mich.

White, Ruth. 2003. *Tadpole* [adolescent fiction; 1955 Ky.; abandonment and family themes]. School Library Journal Best Books. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux. 198 pp.

White, Ruth. 2005. *The Search for Belle Prater* [adolescent fiction; 1950s Va.; abandonment; nontraditional families]. New York: Farrar Straus Giroux. 169 pp. Sequel to award-winning *Belle Prater's Boy* (1996).

White, Ruth. 2007. *Way Down Deep* [juvenile fiction]. New York: Farrar Straus Giroux. 197 pp. "In the West Virginia town of Way Down Deep in the 1950s, a foundling called Ruby June is happily living with Miss Arbutus at the local boarding house when suddenly, after the arrival of a family of outsiders, the mystery of Ruby's past begins to unravel."

White, Ruth. 2008. *Little Audrey*. New York: Farrar Straus Giroux. 145 pp. Adolescent fiction; 1948 Va. coal camp, through an 11-year-old's eyes.

White, Ruth. 2011. *A Month of Sundays* [juvenile fiction]. New York: Farrar Straus Giroux. 168 pp. "In the summer of 1956 while her mother is in Florida searching for a job, fourteen-year-old April Garnet Rose, who has never met her father, stays with her terminally ill aunt in Virginia and accompanies her as she visits different churches, looking for God."

Whited, Lana. 2003. "Based on a True-Story': Using *The Ballad of Frankie Silver* to Teach the Conventions of Narrative" [c. 1998]. In *From a Race of Storytellers: Essays on the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb*, ed. K. Holloway, 33-50. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Whitehead, Colson. 2001. *John Henry Days: A Novel* [W. Va.; set in 1996]. New York: Doubleday. 389 pp.

Whitehead, Sharon Faye. 2012. "Harriette Simpson Arnow: Out of the Shadows." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 67-72. Examines female characters in Arnow's novels, *Mountain Path* (1936), *Hunter's Horn* (1949), and *The Dollmaker* (1954).

Whitt, Jan. 2006. "'American Life Is Rich in Lunacy': The Unsettling Social Commentary of 'The Beverly Hillbillies'." In *The Enduring Legacy of Old Southwest Humor*, ed. E. Piacentino, 229-247. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.

Whorton, James. 2003. *Approximately Heaven: A Novel* [redneck fiction picaresque; Tenn., Miss.]. New York: Free Press. 230 pp.

Wieland, Mitch. 1997. *Willy Slater's Lane* [fiction; southeastern Ohio]. Dallas: Southern Methodist University Press. 172 pp.

Wier, Allen. 2008. Review essay of *The Way of Ignorance and Other Essays*, by Wendell Berry (Shoemaker & Hoard, 2005). *Sewanee Review* 116, no. 2 (Spring): xxxiv-xxxvii.

Wiggins, Marianne. 2003. Evidence of Things Unseen: A Novel [1920s-40s East Tenn.; Oak Ridge]. New York: Simon & Schuster. 400 pp.

Wikinson, Crystal. 2007. "An Exchange with Crystal Wilkinson." Interview by Morris A. Grubbs. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 3, no. 2 (Summer/Fall): View section. 5200 words. http://nantahalareview.org/issue3-2/view/index.html. Previously published in *Appalachian Heritage*.

Wilding, Glenna Whiteaker. 2002. Tales of a Ridgerunner: The Adventures of a Young Family Growing Up in the East Tennessee Mountains, 1890s-1920s [stories]. Prospect, Ky.: Harmony House. 157 pp.

Wildsmith, Dana. 1995. Alchemy: Poems. Abingdon, Va.: Sow's Ear Chapbook. 32 pp.

Wildsmith, Dana. 1999. *Our Bodies Remember: Poems*. Abingdon, Va.: Sow's Ear Press. 48 pp.

Wildsmith, Dana. 2010. "So Hot Your Boot Soles Melt" [creative nonfiction]. *Still: The Journal*, no. 2 (Winter). 3,144 words. "At least when I was a small girl the misery was a shared misery. No one had air conditioning except churches and movie theaters." http://www.stilljournal.net/dana-wildsmith-nonfiction.php.

William Hoffman, 1925-2009 ["In Memoriam:"]. 2009. *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 59, no.3 (Winter): 156-158.

Williams, Debra. 2008. "Haun Family Ways." *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 2 (Spring): 27-28. Featured Author, Mildred Haun (1911-1966).

Williams, Jonathan. 2000. *Blackbird Dust: Essays, Poems, and Photography* ["another celebration of Outsiderdom"]. New York: Turtle Point Press. 243 pp.

Williams, Jonathan. 2005. *Jubilant Thicket: New and Selected Poems*. Port Townsend, Wash.: Copper Canyon Press. 304 pp.

Williams, Philip Lee. 1993. *Blue Crystal* [fiction thriller; Ky. cave country]. New York: Grove Press. 277 pp.

Williams, Philip Lee. [2004] 2011. *A Distant Flame* [fiction; Civil War; Ga.]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 309 pp. Originally published: New York: Thomas Dunne Books.

Williams, Tiffany, comp. 2012. "Words and Phrases from James Still's Short Stories: A Glossary" [web site]. 900 words defined in this valuable glossary, quoted in context, and verified in standard references such as the *Dictionary of American Regional English*, the *Dictionary of Smoky Mountain English*, and the *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*. http://thehillsremember.wordpress.com/glossary-of-terms/.

Williams, William G. 2002. *The Coal King's Slaves: A Coal Miner's Story: A Historical Novel* [trapped miner; 19th century anthracite mine]. Shippensburg, Pa.: Burd Street Press. 238 pp.

Williamson, J. W. 2002. "Notes on *The Architecture of the Arkansas Ozarks*" [novel by Donald Harington (Little, Brown, 1975)]. *Southern Quarterly* 40 (Winter): 66-68.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 1993. "Meredith Sue Willis." Interviewed by Thomas E. Douglass. *Appalachian Journal* 20, no. 3 (April): 284-293.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 1994. "Barbara Kingsolver, Moving On." *Appalachian Journal* 22 (Fall): 78-87.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 1994. *In the Mountains of America*. San Francisco: Mercury House. 171 pp.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 1996. "Circling Out, Centering In: A Conversation (Recorded at the Meredith Sue Willis Literary Festival, Emory & Henry College, November 10, 1995)." Interview by Karen Morgan. *The Iron Mountain Review* 12 (Spring): 31-37.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 1996. "Witness in the Nightmare Country: Jayne Anne Phillips." *Appalachian Journal* 24 (Fall): 44-51.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 1997. *Trespassers* [third novel in Blair Morgan trilogy]. Maplewood, N.J.: Hamilton Stone Editions. 274 pp.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 1998. "The Ballads of Sharyn McCrumb" [If Ever I Return, Pretty Peggy-O (1990); The Hangman's Beautiful Daughter (1992); She Walks These Hills (1995); The Rosewood Casket (1996)]. Appalachian Journal 25 (Spring): 320-329.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 2000. "A Book with a View: *Between the Flowers* Opens a Window to Appalachian Writing" [Harriette Simpson Arnow's 1930s novel, published 1999]. *Southern Exposure* 28 (Spring/Summer): 60-61.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 2002. *Oradell at Sea* [fiction; W. Va.]. Morgantown: Vandalia Press (West Virginia University Press). 208 pp.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 2004. "Keith Maillard: Five Novels of Raysburg, West Virginia" [i.e., Wheeling]. *Appalachian Journal* 31 (Spring/Summer): 358-366. Review essay of *Alex Driving South* (1980), *Light in the Company of Women* (1993), *Hazard Zones* (1995), *Gloria* (1999), and *The Clarinet Polka* (2002).

Willis, Meredith Sue. 2004. *Dwight's House and Other Stories* [five stories]. Maplewood, N.J.: Hamilton Stone Editions. 189 pp.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 2005. "Examining the Truth about Women's Lives in Appalachia: The Fiction of Gretchen Moran Laskas." *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 1 (Winter): 19-27.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 2006. "From A Space Apart to Oradell at Sea" [(1979) to (2002); small town W. Va. reflections; Featured Author]. Appalachian Heritage 34, no. 4 (Fall): 33-45.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 2006. "On the Road with C. T. Savage" [Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 4 (Fall): 16-28.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 2006. "The Clam Shell: Opening to Life with Resolute Passion" [Mary Lee Settle's Literary Legacy]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 1 (Winter): 73-77.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 2007. "Meredith Sue at Ease: In Interview with the Author of *Oradell at Sea*" [Vandalia Press, 2002]. By Belinda Anderson. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 10: 40-41.

Willis, Meredith Sue (moderator), with Lisa Alther, Jo Carson, John Ehle. 2007. "History, Politics, Social Conscience and the Appalachian Writer" [panel discussion]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 23 (Spring): 12-17.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 2009. "Seduced into Consciousness: The Art of Jayne Anne Phillips." *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 1 (Winter): 22-28.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 2010. *Out of the Mountains: Appalachian Stories*. Series in Race, Ethnicity, and Gender in Appalachia. Athens: Ohio University Press. 170 pp. Contents: Triangulation | Pie Knob | Big boss is back | On the road with C.T. Savage | Tara White | Speak well of the dead | Nineteen Sixty-Nine | Evenings with Dotson | The little harlots | Scandalous Roy Critchfield | Fellowship of kindred minds | Elvissa and the Rabbi.

Willis, Meredith Sue. 2012. "Barbara Kingsolver's *The Lacuna* as a Political Novel" [2009]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 28 (Spring): 13-17.

Willoughby-Burle, Amy. 2012. *Out Across the Nowhere: Stories* [14 stories; N.C.]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: Press 53. 93 pp.

Willoughby, Ron. 2007. "The Nest': Images of Lost Intimacy" [short story]. In *James Still: Critical Essays on the Dean of Appalachian Literature*, ed. T. Olson and K. Olson, 103-106. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *The Poetics of Appalachian Space*, ed. Parks Lanier, 95-101 (University of Tennessee Press, 1991).

Wills, Jack L. 1996. "The Story's the Thing: The Power of Narrative in *The Mountains of America*" [by Meredith Sue Willis, Mercury House, 1994]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 12 (Spring): 26-30.

Wilson, David "Woody." 2012. "Masculine (Dis)Order: Malignant Discrimination in the Stories of Breece D'J Pancake." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 3 (Summer): 57-65.

Wilson, Keith. 2009. "Folk Traditions as a Conduit for Healing in Guerney Norman's *Kinfolks*" [Gnomon, 1977]. *Journal of Kentucky Studies* 26 (September): 210-215.

Wilson, Lori. 2010. *House Where a Woman: Poems* [W. Va.]. Pittsburgh: Autumn House Press. 84 pp.

Wilson, Woody. 2003. "Tradition and Travesty in JT LeRoy's *Sarah* and *The Heart is Deceitful Above All Things*" [New York: Bloomsbury, 2000 and 2001]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Fall): 415-432.

Winkler, Gary S. 2007. *Prince of the Apple Towns*. Philadelphia, Pa.: Xlibris. 192 pp. Fiction; 1960s Sawmill, W. Va.

Winter, Dennis C. 2002. "Stones in My Passway: Ellen Chesser's Country Blues and the Stone Imagery in *The Time of Man* [by Elizabeth Madox Roberts (New York: Viking, 1926)]. *Appalachian Heritage* 30 (Summer): 41-45.

Winter, Jonah. 2008. *Steel Town*. Illustrations by Terry Widener. New York: Atheneum Books for Young Readers. 40 pp. Children's picture book; 1930s Pittsburgh and Mon Valley immigrants.

Wisler, G. Clifton. 2002. *King's Mountain* [1780 battle, N.C./S.C.; young adult fiction; coming-of-age]. New York: HarperCollins Children's Books. 160 pp.

Witt, Lana. 1996. Slow Dancing on Dinosaur Bones [fiction]. New York: Scribner. 416 pp.

Wolfe, R. Dietz. 2007. "From the Nephew of American Writer Thomas Wolfe" [93-years-old; summer 1937 visit; Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 4 (Fall): 59-60.

Wolfe, Thomas. [1929] 2006. *Look Homeward, Angel: A Story of the Buried Life*. With an introduction by Robert Morgan. New York: Scribner. 512 pp.

Wolfe, Thomas. [1934] 2008. *The Four Lost Men: The Previously Unpublished Long Version* ["including the original short story"]. Edited by Arlyn and Matthew J. Bruccoli. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 92 pp.

Wolfe, Thomas. [1941] 2000. *The Hills Beyond*. Rpt. ed. Voices of the South. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 368 pp. Originally published: New York: Harper & Brothers.

Wolfe, Thomas. 2000. *O Lost: A Story of the Buried Life* [the original unabridged version of *Look Homeward*, *Angel* (1929)]. Text established by Arlyn and Matthew J. Bruccoli. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 694 pp.

Wolfe, Thomas, and Maxwell E. Perkins. 2000. *To Loot My Life Clean: The Thomas Wolfe-Maxwell Perkins Correspondence* [251 letters]. Edited by Matthew J. Bruccoli and Park Bucker. Columbia: University of South Carolina. 512 pp.

Wolfe, Thomas. 2004. *The Autobiographical Outline for* Look Homeward, Angel [b. 1900, d. 1938]. Edited, with and introduction, by Lucy Conniff and Richard S. Kennedy. Southern Literary Studies. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 99 pp.

Wolfe, Thomas. 2004. *Thomas Wolfe's Civil War* [central in his life and writing; anthology]. Edited by David Madden. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 214 pp.

Wolfe, Thomas, and Margaret Roberts. 2007. *Windows of the Heart: The Correspondence of Thomas Wolfe and Margaret Roberts* [70 letters and postcards]. Edited by Ted Mitchell. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 201 pp.

Wolfe, Thomas. 2008. *The Magical Campus: University of North Carolina Writings, 1917-1920*. Edited by Matthew J. Bruccoli and Aldo P. Magi. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 134 pp.

Wolfram, Walt. 2003. "Enclave Dialect Communities in the South" [Appalachia, N.C., Chesapeake Bay]. In *English in the Southern United States*, ed. S. Nagle, and S. Sanders, 141-158. Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.

Wolfram, Walt. 2003. "Reexamining the Development of African American English: Evidence from Isolated Communities" [coastal and Appalachian N.C. vernacular]. *Language* 79 (June): 282-316.

Wolfshohl, Clarence. 2000. "Multinarratives and Multiculture in Appalachia: Denise Giardina's *Storming Heaven* and the West Virginia Mine War of 1920-1921." In *Caverns of Night: Coal Mines in Art, Literature, and Film*, ed. W. Thesing, 235-243. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press.

Woodrell, Daniel. [1998] 2000. *Tomato Red: A Novel* [Ozark mountains; criminals]. New York: Plume. 225 pp. Originally published, New York: Henry Holt.

Woodrell, Daniel. 2001. *The Death of Sweet Mister: A Novel* [Ozarks setting]. New York: Putnam's. 196 pp.

Woodrell, Daniel. 2006. *Winter's Bone: A Novel* [Ozarks poverty and drugs; 16-year-old heroine]. New York: Little, Brown. 193 pp.

Woodrell, Daniel. 2011. *The Outlaw Album: Stories*. New York: Little, Brown. 167 pp. "Twelve short stories depict people on the fringes of society, including an injured rapist who is cared for by a young girl and a husband who cruelly avenges the murder of his wife's pet."

Woodside, Jane Harris. 2001. "Balancing Act: An Interview with Silas House" [author of *Clay's Quilt* (2001); sidebar book review by Genie Jacobson]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 18 (Summer): 22-26.

Woodson, Jacqueline. 1999. *Lena* [young adult fiction; Ohio, Ky.; sequel to *I Hadn't Meant to Tell You This* (1994)]. New York: Delacorte Press.

Woolsey, Linda Mills. 2003. "'Serpentine Chain': Love, Loss, and Remembrance in *She Walks These Hills*" [1994]. In *From a Race of Storytellers: Essays on the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb*, ed. K. Holloway, 23-32. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Woolsey, Linda Mills. 2003. "The Songcatcher: 'Cosmic Possums' on the Appalachian Song Path" [c. 2001]. In From a Race of Storytellers: Essays on the Ballad Novels of Sharyn McCrumb, ed. K. Holloway, 169-178. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Worley, Jeff, ed. 2009. What Comes Down to Us: 25 Contemporary Kentucky Poets. Foreword by Ed McClanahan. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 247 pp. Selected poems by emerging writers and familiar names: Wendell Berry, James Baker Hall, Jane Gentry, Richard Taylor, Joe Survant, Jonathan Greene, Vivian Shipley, Philip St. Clair, Jeff Worley, Jeffrey Skinner, George Ella Lyon, Leatha Kendrick, Max Garland, Marcia Hurlow, Frederick Smock, Aleda Shirley, Sarah Gorham, Tony Crunk, Nikky Finney, Don Boes, Kathleen Driskell, Frank X Walker, Lynnell Edwards, Maurice Manning, and Davis McCombs.

Worthington, Leslie Harper. 2012. *Cormac McCarthy and the Ghost of Huck Finn*. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 206 pp. "...discusses the intertextual connections between Mark Twain's iconic novel and eight works by author Cormac McCarthy."

Worthington, Marianne. 2000. Review essay of *Brier Country: Stories from Blue Valley*, by Elaine Fowler Palencia (University of Missouri Press, 2000). *Appalachian Heritage* 28 (Spring): 66-70.

Worthington, Marianne. 2002. "Nothing Must Be Lost: Regional Identity and Dialogue in the Works of Edwina Pendarvis and Llewellyn McKernan" [W. Va. poets]. *Appalachian Heritage* 30 (Spring): 7-19.

Worthington, Marianne. 2003. "A Selected Bibliography" [of Jeff Daniel Marion; 60 entries, primary and secondary]. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Fall): 42-45.

Worthington, Marianne. 2003. "Epistolary Exchanges: The Personal and Poetic Journey of Jeff Daniel Marion in *Letters Home*" [Abingdon, Va.: Sow's Ear Press, 2001]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Fall): 406-414.

Worthington, Marianne. 2003. "Jeff Daniel Marion's 'Homestead': Where All Our Words Grow Warm." *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Fall): 16-20.

Worthington, Marianne. 2003. "Reaching Kids Where They Live: Appalachian Artist and Storyteller Paul Brett Johnson" [Ky. author of *Old Dry Frye* (1999) and *Jack Outwits the Giants* (2002)]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 20 (Spring): 31-34.

Worthington, Marianne. 2004. "Pleasure Out of Telling': Voice Poems in George Ella Lyon's Fiction for Adults" [narrative technique; *Choices: Stories for Adult New Readers* (1989); *With a Hammer for My Heart* (1997)]. *Appalachian Journal* 32 (Fall): 100-113.

Worthington, Marianne. 2005. "Witness to the Local" [profile of Stephen Marion, author of *Hollow Ground* (Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill, 2002); Jefferson Co., Tenn., setting, fictionalized]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 21, no. 1 (Spring): 23-25. Excerpt from *Hollow Ground*, 26-29.

Worthington, Marianne. 2006. *Larger Bodies Than Mine: Poems* [Ky.]. New Women's Voices Series, no. 43. Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press. 30 pp.

Worthington, Marianne. 2007. "Be my inscape, be my lyre': The Hymnody of Albert Stewart" [Featured Author]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 3 (Summer): 25-31.

Worthington, Marianne. 2008. Review essay of *Strange As This Weather Has Been*, by Ann Pancake (Shoemaker & Hoard, 2007). *Appalachian Journal* 35, no. 4 (Summer): 372-377.

Worthington, Marianne, ed. 2009. *Motif: Writing by Ear, an Anthology of Writings About Music*. MOTIF Anthology Series, no. 1. Louisville, Ky.: Motes Books. 295 pp. Rich collection of poems, essays, and fiction by 115 writers arranged under the headings: Program -- Roots -- Pastorales -- Back beat -- The Deceptive Cadence -- Notes -- Lyrics -- Nocturnes -- Talking blues -- Tritones -- Chants.

Worthington, Marianne, ed. 2010. *Motif: Come What May, an Anthology of Writings about Chance*. MOTIF Anthology Series, no. 2. Louisville, Ky.: Motes Books. 324 pp. Stories, essays, song lyrics, and poems by 136 accomplished writers arranged under the headings: Down to the felt -- Fortuitous -- Traveling Mercies -- Ephemeral -- Parallel Realities -- Happenstance -- Strangers & kin.

Worthington, Marianne. 2010. "Reclaiming Music and Mountains: Silas House as Journalist and Activist.". *The Iron Mountain Review* 26 (Spring): 20-26.

Worthington, Marianne. 2011. Review essay of *The New Valley*" [fiction, by Josh Weil; Grove Press, 2009]. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 1 (Winter): 84-88.

Worthington, Marianne, ed. 2012. *Motif: All the Livelong Day, an Anthology of Writings About Work.* MOTIF Anthology Series, no. 3. Louisville, Ky.: Motes Books. 278 pp. 130 contributing authors.

Wright, Charles. 1998. Appalachia [poems]. New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux. 67 pp.

Wright, Charles. 2000. "An Interview with Charles Wright." By Ted Genoways. *Southern Review* 36 (Spring): 442-452.

Wright, Charles. 2002. A Short History of the Shadow [36 poems]. New York: Farrar Straus Giroux. 79 pp.

Wright, Charles. 2004. Buffalo Yoga [poems]. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux. 76 pp.

Wright, Charles. 2005. "Appalachian Autumn" [long, meditative, free verse poem]. *American Scholar* 74 (Autumn): 75-83.

Wright, Charles. 2007. *Littlefoot* [poems: nature, seasons, mortality]. New York: Farrar, Straus, and Giroux. 91 pp.

Wright, Charles. 2008. *Charles Wright in Conversation: Interviews*, 1979-2006. Edited by Robert D. Denham. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 175 pp.

Wright, Charles. 2009. *Sestets* [69 six-line poems]. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux. 75 pp.

Wright, James Arlington. 2005. A Wild Perfection: The Selected Letters of James Wright [poet, 1927-1980; beginning in 1946 in his hometown of Martin's Ferry, Ohio]. Edited by Anne Wright and Saundra Rose Maley. New York: Farrar, Straus, Giroux. 633 pp.

Wright, William. 2005. Dark Orchard [poetry; S.C.]. Huntsville: Texas Review Press. 56 pp.

Wright, William. 2011. *Bledsoe: A Poem.* Huntsville: Texas Review Press. 79 pp. "...an extended narrative poem that centers on a mute Appalachian man named Durant Bledsoe, takes place in the mountains of Yancey County, North Carolina, in an early part of the 20th century This long poem twines the landscape of Appalachia with a man's unusual, radiant mind, wherein readers are privy to his idiosyncratic interpretations of culture, family, religion, and identity."

Wright, William. 2011. *Night Field Anecdote: Poems*. Hammond, La.: Louisiana Literature Press. 59 pp.

Wrigley, Robert, introd. 2000. "Buck & Wing: Southern Poetry at 2000." Special issue, *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 50 (Spring): 1-232. Afterword by R. T. Smith. [poems contributed by 67 poets including Wendell Berry, Kathryn Stripling Byer, Fred Chappell, Nikki Giovanni, Robert Morgan, George Scarbrough, and Charles Wright].

Wyatt, Melissa. 2009. *Funny How Things Change* [adolescent fiction; W. Va.]. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux. 196 pp. "Remy, a talented, seventeen-year-old auto mechanic, questions his decision to join his girlfriend when she starts college in Pennsylvania after a visiting artist helps him to realize what his family's home in a dying West Virginia mountain town means to him."

Yocum, Robin. 2012. *The Essay: A Novel*. New York: Arcade. 256 pp. Teenage boy overcoming adversity; southeastern Ohio.

York, Bill. 2003. *John Fox, Jr.: Appalachian Author* [1863-1919; scholarly biography]. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 6. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 316 pp.

York, Jake Adam. 2005. *Murder Ballads* [poems; Ala.]. Denver, Colo.: Elixir Press. 68 pp. "Drawing on the time-honored tradition of the murder ballad...York explores the weight of American history in terms of human victimhood and accountability."

York, Jake Adam. 2008. "A Field Guide to Northeast Alabama." *Southern Spaces*, 7 March. Four videos: total time 8:32 min. "Jake Adam York reads four poems in and near his hometown of Gadsden, Alabama, in January 2008. York's poetry blends themes and imagery drawn from his experiences and those of his family members, framed with the natural, industrial, and social histories of the northern Alabama landscape." "Gone With the Wind" (2:14 min.); "At Cornwall Furnace" (2:08 min.); "Bunk Richardson" (0:39 min.); and "Walt Whitman in Alabama" (3:35

min.). Recommended text and web resources. http://southernspaces.org/2008/field-guide-northeast-alabama.

York, Jake Adam. 2008. "In the Queen City: A Reading at the Gadsden Public Library" [Ala.; online; multi-media]. *Southern Spaces*, 1 April. Adam reads seven poems that "attempt to portray the complex and often obscured 'psychic geography' in and around York's hometown of Gadsden, Alabama. Several of them deal with various episodes from the Civil Rights struggles in Alabama and nearby states." Recommended Resources including online publications. http://www.southernspaces.org/2008/queen-city-reading-gadsden-public-library.

York, Jake Adam. 2008. *A Murmuration of Starlings* [poems; 1950s-60s Ala., Miss.]. Carbondale, Ill.: Crab Orchard Review. 82 pp. "...elegizes the martyrs of the civil rights movement....an invasion of starlings images the racial hatred and bloodshed."

York, Jake Adam. 2010. *Persons Unknown* [poems; Miss.]. Carbondale: Crab Orchard Review. 100 pp. Continues the collection, *A Murmuration of Starlings* (2008), with "another set of searing portraits of these martyrs".... "those who lost their lives during the Civil Rights movement."

York, Jmedia; interview and reading]. 2008. *Southern Spaces*, 7 March. "York reads four poems in and near his hometown of Gadsden, Alabama" and "conjures events, places, and people in ways that highlight landscape, history, memory, and experience." Interview by Natasha Trethewey; Recommended Resources and Selected Writings. http://www.southernspaces.org/2008/field-guide-northeast-alabama.

York, John Thomas. 2012. *Cold Spring Rising: Poems* [N.C.]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: Press 53. 97 pp.

York, Lynn. 2007. *The Sweet Life* [popular fiction: Christian, grandmothers, 1980s N.C.; sequel to *The Piano Teacher* (2004)]. New York: Plume. 290 pp.

Youmans, Marly. 2003. *The Curse of the Raven Mocker* [adolescent fiction; fantasy based on Cherokee mythology; Great Smoky Mountains]. New York: Farrar Straus & Giroux. 279 pp.

Youmans, Marly. 2005. *Ingledove* [supernatural; adolescent fiction; Great Smoky Mts.]. New York: Farrar Straus Giroux. 197 pp.

Young, Stephen Flinn. 1996. Review essay of *The Plow Reader: Selections from an Appalachian Alternative Newsmagazine of the Late 1970's*, ed. Ann F. Richman (Abingdon, Va.: Sow's Ear Press, 1996). *Appalachian Journal* 24 (Fall): 106-109.

Ziesk, Edra. 2008. *The Trespasser: A Novel*. Dallas, Tex.: Southern Methodist University Press. 274 pp. Ky.; outsider; violence.

Zinnia Tales, The [short stories about Appalachian women; 15 authors]. 2006. Bristol, Va.: Mountain Girl Press. 185 pp.

Zuber, Isabel. 2002. Salt [first novel; 1877-1932 Western N.C.]. New York: Picador. 349 pp.

Zuber, Isabel. 2010. *Red Lily: Poems* [N.C.]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: Press 53. 69 pp. By the author of the novel, *Salt* (Picador, 2002).

MASS MEDIA, STEREOTYPES

Television, radio, internet, movies; hillbilly stereotypes (including noble savage and mountain maid), satire, and misrepresentation; Hatfield and McCoy feuding image, cartoons (Snuffy Smith, Li'l Abner); and popular television series (The Waltons, The Andy Griffith Show, Mayberry RFD, The Beverly Hillbillies, The Dukes of Hazzard, Justified, and more recent reality shows including Moonshiners, Snake Man of Appalachia, Buckwild, and Appalachian Outlaws)

Adams, Shelby Lee. 2010. "Shelby Lee Adams – 'The Napier's Living Room' (1989)." *American Suburban X* (*ASX*), 3 November. 1,800 words, plus six photos. Adams discusses his documentary project photographing the Napier family of Leatherwood (Perry Co., Ky.), and references previous iconic images captured by Lewis Hines, Walker Evans, Margaret Bourke White, and Russell Lee. "Photographing 'The Napier's Living Room', 1989 was done to make 'amens' somehow, to put to rest some personal dissatib fication and to contribute to this outsider/insider historical litany of images This is the problem where we all get caught; we view photographs and make them with our agendas, personal histories, stereotypes and biases. This subject has a history and it is a thorny one."

http://www.americansuburbx.com/2010/11/essay-shelby-lee-adams-napiers-living.html.

Ahrens, Frank. 2003. "A Wild Image Now Less Wonderful: Shootings Breach West Virginia's Cherished Isolation" [Charleston sniper; state's image]. *Washington Post*, 21 August, 1(C).

Alderman, Derek H., Stefanie K. Benjamin, and Paige P. Schneider. 2012. "Transforming Mount Airy into Mayberry: Film-Induced Tourism as Place-Making." *Southeastern Geographer* 52, no. 2 (Summer): 212-239. Mount Airy, N.C. (Surry County) borders Virginia and is hometown of "The Andy Griffith Show" and "Mayberry RFD."

Algeo, Katie. 2003. "Locals on Local Color: Imagining Identity in Appalachia." *Southern Cultures* 9 (Winter): 27-54.

Anderson, John. 2012. "A Steel Town's Chronicler and Conscience: Tony Buba: The Bard of Braddock, at Anthology Film Archives." *New York Times*, 1 June. 1,105 words. Buba created short films and documentaries capturing street level scenes of steel town Braddock, Pa., and the downward consequences of deindustrialization during the 1970s and 80s. http://nyti.ms/N3TJ1f.

Andreychuk, Ed. 2005. American Frontiersmen on Film and Television: Boone, Crockett, Bowie, Houston, Bridger, and Carson. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 270 pp.

Appalachian Journal Roundtable Discussion of American Hollow [HBO documentary film, produced and directed by Rory Kennedy, 1998; Perry Co., Ky.]. 2002. With Chad Berry, Dwight B. Billings, Amy Tipton Cortner, Anna Creadick, Anthony Harkins, Fred J. Hay, Katherine E. Ledford, Charles J. Maland, Mimi Pickering, Douglas Reichert Powell, and Gerald C. Wood. Appalachian Journal 29 (Fall 2001-Winter 2002): 200-225.

Arnold, Edwin, et al. 2004. "APPALJ Roundtable Discussion: Cold Mountain, The Film [2003; based on the 1997 novel by Charles Frazier]. Roundtable participants: Edwin T. Arnold, Tyler

Blethen, Amy Tipton Cortner, Anna Creadick, John Crutchfield, Silas House, John C. Inscoe, Gordon B. McKinney, and Jack Wright. *Appalachian Journal* 31, no. 3-4 (Spring-Summer): 316-353.

Arnold, Edwin T. 1997. "Abner Unpinned: Al Capp's Li'l Abner, 1940-1955" [syndicated comic strip]. *Appalachian Journal* 24 (Summer): 420-436.

Atkins, Joe. 2011. "Voices: Where's the Passion and the Justice in CNN's Blair Mountain Documentary" [airing August 14, with special correspondent Soledad O'Brien]. *Facing South: The Online Magazine of the Institute for Southern Studies*, 12 August. 1,117 words. Criticizes the reporting for not providing broader historical context, and compares Diane Sawyer's shallow coverage in her February 2009, ABC-TV broadcast, "A Hidden America: Children of the Mountains" [Ky.]. http://www.southernstudies.org/2011/08/voices-wheres-the-passion-and-the-justice-in-cnns-blair-mountain-documentary.html.

Attention or Exploitation? What Is the Proper Role of the Filmmaker? [Appalachian region in films; "Stranger with a Camera" (2000)]. 2000. *Sojourner* 29 (July/August): 56-58.

Ballad of Frankie Silver With an Epilogue: The Making of a Ballad Singer --- "Transcription of the Sound Track" [film soundtrack; interviews]. 2000. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 47 (Winter/Spring): 24-53. Ordering information, p. 72.

Ballard, Sandra L. [1999] 2001. "Where Did Hillbillies Come From? Tracing Sources of the Comic Hillbilly Fool in Literature." In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 138-149. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Banker, Mark. 2000. "Beyond the Melting Pot and Multiculturalism: Cultural Politics in Southern Appalachia and Hispanic New Mexico" [comparative analysis]. *Montana* 50 (no. 2): 16-35.

Beilke, Debra. 2003. "Evolving into Violence: Poor White Humor in T. S. Stribling's *Teeftallow* [1926 local color novel; comic derision of Tenn. hill folk; (Garden City, N.Y.: Doubleday)]. In *Evolution and Eugenics in American Literature and Culture, 1880-1940: Essays on Ideological Conflict and Complicity*, ed. L. Cuddy and C. Roche, 102-115. Lewisburg, Pa.: Bucknell University Press.

Berger, Arthur Asa. [1969] 1994. *Li'l Abner: A Study in American Satire*. Studies in Popular Culture series. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 205 pp. Originally published: New York: Twayne. Contents: Ch. 1. Popular Culture, the Comics, and Society -- Ch. 2. Li'l Abner's Place in American Satire -- Ch. 3. Narrative Technique and the Meaning of Form -- Ch. 4. Dialogue and Damnation in Li'l Abner -- Ch. 5. Capp's Graphic Technique: Social Criticism and the Pictorial Image -- Ch. 6. Conclusions.

Betts, Doris. 2002. "Through the Cumberland Gap" [essay; seeking and the overland journey]. *Southern Cultures* 8 (Spring): 8-20.

Biggers, Jeff. 2008. "They Came Down from These Hills and Made History." *Chronicle of Higher Education* 54, no. 37 (May 23): 16-18(B). Redressing stereotypes.

Billings, Dwight B. [1999] 2001. "Introduction." In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 3-20. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Billings, Dwight B., and Kathleen M. Blee. [1996] 2008. "Where the Sun Set Crimson and the Moon Rose Red': Writing Appalachia and the Kentucky Mountain Feuds." In *Southern Cultures: The Fifteenth Anniversary Reader*, ed. H. Watson and L. Griffin, 328-352. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. Originally published, *Southern Cultures* 2 (nos. 3-4): 329-352.

Billings, Dwight B., Gurney Norman, and Katherine Ledford, ed. 1999. *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes: Back Talk from an American Region*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 368 pp.

Billings, Dwight B., Gurney Norman, and Katherine Ledford, ed. [1999] 2001. *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*. Foreword by Ronald D. Eller. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 368 pp. Paperback reprint, originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes: Back Talk from an American Region*.

Birdwell, Michael E. 2004. "Lights, Camera, Action!: The Upper Cumberland in Theater and Film" [Tenn.]. In *Rural Life and Culture in the Upper Cumberland*, ed. M. Birdwell and W. Dickinson, 302-322. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Black, Brian. 1995. "Authority in the Valley: TVA in 'Wild River' and the Popular Media, 1930-1940." *Journal of American Culture* 18 (Summer): 1-14.

Blee, Kathleen M., and Dwight B. Billings. [1999] 2001. "Where 'Bloodshed Is a Pastime': Mountain Feuds and Appalachian Stereotyping." In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 119-137. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Blevins, Brooks. 2001. "Wretched and Innocent: Two Mountain Regions in the National Consciousness" [Ozark and Appalachian imagery]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 7 (Fall): 257-271.

Blevins, Brooks. 2002. "In the Land of a Million Smiles': Twentieth-Century America Discovers the Arkansas Ozarks." *Arkansas Historical Quarterly* (Spring): 1-35.

Blevins, Brooks. 2002. *Hill Folks: A History of Arkansas Ozarkers and Their Image*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 340 pp.

Blevins, Brooks. 2003. "Hillbillies and the Holy Land: The Development of Tourism in the Arkansas Ozarks." In *Southern Journeys: Tourism, History, and Culture in the Modern South*, ed. R. Starnes, 42-65. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Blevins, Brooks. 2004. "The Ozarks and Dixie: Considering a Region's Southernness." In *CrossRoads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 23-35. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Blevins, Brooks. 2009. "The Arkansas Ghost Trial: The Connie Franklin Case and the Ozarks in the National Media" [1929; Stone Co.]. *Arkansas Historical Quarterly* 68, no. 3 (Autumn): 245-271. http://findarticles.com/p/articles/mi_7461/is_200910/ai_n45878801/?tag=content;col1.

Blevins, Brooks. 2009. *Arkansas/Arkansaw: How Bear Hunters, Hillbillies, and Good Ol' Boys Defined a State.* Fayetteville: University of Arkansas Press. 242 pp.

Blevins, Brooks. 2012. *Ghost of the Ozarks: Murder and Memory in the Upland South* [Stone Co., Ark.]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 296 pp. Nationally-sensationalized 1929 murder and rape case; stereotypes.

Bohland, James, Anita Puckett, and Jean Plymale. 2006. "The Decline of Space and the Ascent of Place: Internet Technology in Appalachia" [Internet access]. In *Pittsburgh and the Appalachians: Cultural and Natural Resources in a Postindustrial Age*, ed. J. Scarpaci, 155-166. Pittsburgh, Pa.: University of Pittsburgh Press.

Bragg, Rick. 2005. "Writing on Appalachia: Beauty, Strength, and Stereotype" [family history]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 21, no. 1 (Spring): 3-4.

Breen, Tom, and Shaya Tayefe Mohajer. 2008. "'Hillbilly' a Fine Word -- 'Less You Ain't from Around Here; Some in Appalachia Embrace the Term." *Washington Post*, 11 March, 11(A). 741 words. Casting company visits West Virginia looking for "extras to play inbred degenerates."

Brosi, George, section editor. 2006. "Images and Icons" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 199-237 (with introductory essay, 199-205). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Brosi, George. 2009. "This Side of the Mountain" [ABC News "20/20" program, "Children of Appalachia," by Diane Sawyer]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 2 (Spring): 8-9. Nearsighted; stereotypes; larger policy issues not addressed.

Brown, Margaret Lynn. 2002. "Going Global: Mountain People All Over the World Use the Internet to Talk to Each Other" [www.mtnforum.org]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Spring): 24-26.

Brown, Rodger Lyle. 1997. "Honoring the Cob: Hillbilly Days at Pikeville, Kentucky." In *Ghost Dancing on the Cracker Circuit: The Culture of Festivals in the American South*, by Rodger Lyle Brown, 65-98. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi.

Call That a Joke? [flap over Abercrombie & Fitch t-shirt logo which reads, "It's all Relative in West Virginia"]. 2004. *Economist* 3 April: 33-34.

Calvert, Donna, comp. 2000. "Films on West Virginia and Appalachia" [annotated filmography; 31 titles, mostly 1990s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Summer): 68-70.

Cameron, Ardis. 2002. "When Strangers Bring Cameras: The Poetics and Politics of Othered Places" [Stranger with a Camera (2000), by Elizabeth Barret]. American Quarterly 54 (September): 411-435.

Carson, Jo. 1995. "Revenge is Sweet." Special Section: Image of the South. *Southern Exposure* 23 (Spring): 25-26.

Castille, Philip Dubuisson. 1996. "Too Odd for California: Incest and West Virginia in James M. Cain's *The Butterfly*" [Knopf, 1947]. *Appalachian Journal* 23 (Winter): 148-162.

Charbonneau, Stephen Michael. 2009. "Branching Out: Young Appalachian Selves, Autoethnographic Aesthetics, and the Founding of Appalshop" [Whitesburg, Ky.]. *Journal of Popular Film & Television* 37, no. 3 (Fall): 137-145. Also reviews one of Appalshop's earliest films, Herb E. Smith's *In Ya Blood* (1971).

Chick, K. A. 2003. "Confronting the Stereotypes of Appalachia" [lessons, positive reading list]. *Social Studies and the Young Learner* 16 (September/October): 26-30.

Cold Mountain: The Journey from Book to Film. 2003. Edited by Linda Sunshine; foreword by Charles Frazier; introduction by Anthony Minghella. A Newmarket Pictorial Moviebook. New York: Newmarket Press. 192 pp.

Colistra, Rita. 2010. "The Rumble and the Dark: Regional Newspaper Framing of the Buffalo Creek Mine Disaster of 1972" [Logan Co., W. Va.; impounded waste water flood; 125 dead]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 16, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 79-100. Tables. Compares coverage by the *Logan Banner* and the *Charleston Gazette*.

Conkin, Paul K. 1998. "Evangelicals, Fugitives, and Hillbillies: Tennessee's Impact on American National Culture." In *Tennessee History: The Land, The People, and the Culture*, ed. C. Van West, 287-322. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Cooke-Jackson, Angela, and Elizabeth K. Hansen. 2008. "Appalachian Culture and Reality TV: The Ethical Dilemma of Stereotyping Others." *Journal of Mass Media Ethics* 23, no. 3 (July): 183-200. CBS's *The Beverly Hillbillies* as minstrel show. The authors include a "decision tree" to aid producers in creating ethical portrayals, plus Loyal Jones's list of Appalachian Values.

Cooper, Cristopher A., and H. Gibbs Knotts. 2010. "Rethinking the Boundaries of the South." *Southern Cultures* 16, no. 4 (Winter): 72-88. Maps, tables. A three-tiered South: "Southern to the Core," "Pretty Darn Southern," and "Sorta Southern."

Cormier, Michelle. 2002. "Black Song, White Song: Salvation through Radio in *The Apostle* and *Oh* [O] *Brother*, *Where Art Thou?*" *Journal of Religion and Film* 6 (October): 13 para. http://www.unomaha.edu/~wwwjrf/blacksong.htm.

Couchman, Jeffrey. 2009. *The Night of the Hunter: A Biography of a Film* [long lost, first-draft screenplay by James Agee; based on 1953 novel by Davis Grubb]. Evanston, Ill.: Northwestern University Press. 284 pp.

Cox, Karen L. 2011. "Dixie on Early Radio." Chap. 3 in *Dreaming of Dixie: How the South Was Created in American Popular Culture*, by K. Cox, 58-80. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. Includes brief coverage of hillbilly music and comic characters: "National Barn Dance," "Grand Ole Opry," "Andy Griffith Show," Judy Canova, and the progressive Arkansan duo ("not simply stupid hillbillies") Lum and Abner.

Craig, Steve. 2009. *Out of the Dark: A History of Radio and Rural America* [1920s-1940s]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 228 pp.

Crawford, Martin. 2003. "Cold Mountain Fictions: Appalachian Half-Truths" [Charles Frazier's 1997 Civil War novel; external views of the highland South]. Appalachian Journal 30 (Winter-Spring): 182-195.

Cross, Al, Bill Bissett, and Heather Arrowsmith. 2011. "Circulation Patterns of Weekly Newspapers in Central Appalachia and Kentucky" [maps, charts]. *Grassroots Editor* 52, no. 3 (Fall): 4-8.

Cross, Al. 2010. "Gishes Willing to Follow the Story Wherever It Took Them." *Grassroots Editor* 51, no. 2 (Summer): 18. Profile of Tom [d. 2008] and Pat Gish who published the crusading *The Mountain Eagle* for over 50 years, beginning in 1957, in Whitesburg, Letcher County, Ky.

Cunningham, Rodger. [1999] 2001. "The View from the Castle: Reflections on *The Kentucky Cycle* Phenomenon" [1993]. In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 300-312. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Cunningham, Rodger. 2007. "Jane Smiley's Divell Theorie" *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 2 (Spring): 65-71. Ripost to Smiley's blog (*Huffington Post*, Dec. 29, 2006) which associates the Scotch-Irish Mountaineers with President Bush's "red states" election backing.

Davenport, Tom. 2000. "On the Making of *The Ballad of Frankie Silver*: Remarks by the Filmmaker" [1831 N.C. murder]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 47 (Winter/Spring): 15-23.

Davis, Floyd D. 2006. "Struggling Across the Divide" [review of WGBH/*Frontline*'s "Country Boys," 2005 documentary, Prestonsburg, Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 2 (Spring): 90-92.

Dean, Michelle. 2012. "Here Comes the Hillbilly, Again: What *Honey Boo Boo* Really Says About American Culture." *Slate Magazine*, 24 August. 1411 words. TLC (The Learning Channel) TV reality show series, debuted August 2012. http://www.slate.com/articles/arts/culturebox/2012/08/here_comes_honey_boo_boo_and_the_his tory_of_the_hillbilly_in_america_.html.

DeFoe, Mark. 2006. "The Sago Mine Disaster: Another Way of Seeing" [Jan. 2, 2006; Upshur Co., W. Va.; national media stereotyping]. *Appalachian Journal* 33, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 302-307.

Dennison, Corley F. 2001. "WSAZ Radio: 'The Worst Station from A to Z'" [Huntington, W. Va.; 1920s-1950s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Winter): 40-45.

Dick, David. 2011. "David Dick" [1930-2010; interview]. *Still: The Journal*, no. 6 (Summer). 2,060 words. Kentucky writer, journalism professor, and CBS news correspondent. http://www.stilljournal.net/david-dick-interview.php.

Doll, Susan M. 2002. "Starstruck by *Stage Struck*: Hollywood Comes to New Martinsville" [1925 filming; Gloria Swanson]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Spring): 36-43.

Donesky, Finlay. [1999] 2001. "America Needs Hillbillies: The Case of *The Kentucky Cycle*" [by Robert Schenkkan (1993)]. In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 283-299. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Douglass, Thomas E. 2004. "The Essential *Cold Mountain*" [review of the 2003 film]. *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Winter): 54-57.

Edwards, Bob. 2011. A Voice in the Box: My Life in Radio. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 214 pp. Former NPR radio broadcaster Edwards (b. 1947) was a champion of Kentucky having spent his childhood in Hazard and Lexington.

Ellis, Anne. 1999. "Performing Appalachia: Roadside Theater and the Performance of Identity." *Southern Quarterly* 37 (Winter): 47-58.

Engelhardt, Elizabeth S. D. 2003. "Voyeurs and Tourists: Appalachian Women in Sketches and Stories" [local color literature, circa 1890s]. Ch. 2 in *The Tangled Roots of Feminism*, *Environmentalism*, *and Appalachian Literature*, 33-58. Series in Ethnicity and Gender in Appalachia. Athens: Ohio University Press. 207 pp.

Fine, Gary Alan, and Ryan D. White. 2002. "Creating Collective Attention in the Public Domain: Human Interest Narratives and the Rescue of Floyd Collins" [Ky. caver trapped for 17 days in 1925; media frenzy]. *Social Forces* 81 (September): 57-85.

Fisher, Stephen L. [1999] 2001. "Appalachian Stepchild" [identity]. In *Back Talk from Appalachia*: Confronting Stereotypes, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 187-190. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes.

Flores, Richard R. 2002. *Remembering the Alamo: Memory, Modernity, and the Master Symbol* [cinematic images of Davy Crockett as hero/martyr]. History, Culture, and Society Series. Austin: University of Texas Press. 192 pp.

Folks, Jeffrey J. 1995. "James Agee's Filmscript for 'The Night of the Hunter" [special issue: Southern Novelists on Stage and Screen]. *Southern Quarterly* 33 (Winter-Spring): 151-160.

Foster, Gary S., and Richard L. Hummel. 1997. "Wham, Bam, Thank You, Sam: Critical Dimensions of the Persistence of Hillbilly Caricatures." *Sociological Spectrum* 17 (April-June): 157-176.

Fraley, Jill M. 2007. "Appalachian Stereotypes and Mountain Top Removal." *Peace Review* 19, no. 3 (July): 365-370.

Fredriksson, Kristine. 2000. "Minnie Pearl and Southern Humor in Country Entertainment" [1912-1996]. In *Country Music Annual 2000*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 101-111. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Garrison, Andrew S. 1995. "Andrew S. Garrison." Interview by J. W. Williamson. *Appalachian Journal* 22 (Winter): 174-193.

Gates, Anita. 2005. "Exploring a Maligned Region So Many Think They Know" [reviews the documentary film "The Appalachians"]. *New York Times*, 16 June, 10(E).

Giardina, Denise. [1999] 2001. "Appalachian Images: A Personal History." In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 161-173. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Gold, David. 2006. "Southerners Anonymous" [essay: identity, hillbilly stereotype, Miami]. In *CrossRoads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 3-10. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Goodnite, Abby Gail, and Ivan M. Tribe. 1998. "Living the Right Life Now': Lynn Davis & Molly O'Day" [interview with 83 year old, Huntington, W. Va. Christian/gospel radio host]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Spring): 56-64.

Graham, Allison, and Sharon Montieth, ed. 2011. *Media*. Vol. 18 of *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 439 pp. 170 short thematic essays including: Southern media cultures -- Broadcast news, voices, and accents -- Comic strips -- Film industry -- Internet representations of the South -- Journalism (print) and labor -- Newspapers -- Radio industry, early -- Television series -- James Agee -- Appalshop -- The Beverly Hillbillies -- Cherokee Phoenix -- The Civil War (Ken Burns's) -- Ethan and Joel Coen -- Country Music Television (CMT) -- Deliverance -- The Dukes of Hazzard -- Tennessee Ernie Ford -- Gone with the Wind -- Grand Ole Opry -- Great Speckled Bird -- Andy Griffith -- Joel Chandler Harris -- Hee Haw -- Nashville -- Dolly Parton -- Minnie Pearl -- The Real McCoys -- Burt Reynolds -- Roots -- John Sayles -- Southern Cultures -- Southern Exposure -- Southern Living -- Sissy Spacek -- The Waltons -- WSM.

Green, Archie. 1995. "Appalachia: The View From San Francisco" [keynote address]. In *Appalachia and the Politics of Culture*, ed. E. C. Fine. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 7: 6-17. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Grundy, Pamela. 1995. "'We Always Tried to Be Good People': Respectability, Crazy Water Crystals, and Hillbilly Music on the Air, 1933-1935." *Journal of American History* 81 (March): 1591-1620.

Gurkin, Kathryn Bright. 2005. "White Trash in Trailers: Southern Literature and Downward Mobility." In *Crossroads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 267-271. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Hall, Randal L. 2007. *Lum and Abner: Rural America and the Golden Age of Radio* [1930s radio show; Arkansas; hillbilly stereotype, music; 29 early scripts]. New Directions in Southern History. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 255 pp.

Halsey, Derek. 2011. "A Celebration of the Bluegrass Music of *The Andy Griffith Show*" [TV series, 1960-68). *Bluegrass Unlimited* 45, no. 12 (June): 32-35. The Dillards played the backwoods "Darlings" on the show, and Griffith tried to include their music as much as possible.

Hamner, Earl, and Ralph Giffin. 2002. *Goodnight John-Boy: A Celebration of an American Family and the Values That Have Sustained Us Through Good Times and Bad* [memory book of *The Waltons* television show, 1972-80]. Nashville, Tenn.: Cumberland House. 288 pp.

Hamner, Earl. 2006. *Generous Women: An Appreciation*. Nashville, Tenn.: Cumberland House. 236 pp. [profiles include Mabel Wheaton, Thomas Wolfe's sister; Harper Lee; Eleanor Roosevelt; Tallulah Bankhead; Patricia Neal; Michael Learned; Lillian Carter; Minnie Pearl; Jane Wyman].

Hanna, Stephen P. 1998. "Three Decades of Appalshop Films: Representational Strategies and Regional Politics." *Appalachian Journal* 25 (Summer): 372-413.

Hanna, Stephen P. 2000. "Representation and the Reproduction of Appalachian Space: A History of Contested Signs and Meanings" [with filmography]. *Historical Geography* 28: 179-207.

Hardwig, Bill. 2010. Review essay of *Critical Regionalism: Connecting Politics and Culture in the American Landscape*, by Douglas Reichert Powell (University of North Carolina Press, 2007). *Southern Quarterly* 47, no. 3 (Spring): 193-198.

Hark, Ina Rae. 2000. "Blackfaced Rednecks: The Problem of Backcountry Whites as Victims in John Saylor's *Matewan*" [1987 film of 1920 Mingo Co., W. Va. miners]. In *Caverns of Night: Coal Mines in Art, Literature, and Film*, ed. W. Thesing, 255-266. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press.

Harkins, Anthony, Katherine E. Ledford, and Douglas Reichert Powell, section editors. 2006. "Media" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 1679-1754 (with introductory essay, 1679-1686). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Harkins, Anthony A. 2002. "The Hillbilly in the Living Room: Television Representations of Southern Mountaineers in Situation Comedies, 1952-1971." *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Fall 2001-Winter 2002): 98-126.

Harkins, Anthony. 2004. *Hillbilly: A Cultural History of an American Icon*. New York: Oxford University Press. 324 pp.

Harmon, Carolyn. 2009. "Pure Entertainment: Wallace Horn and the 'Friendly Neighbor Show'." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 1 (Spring): 20-25. Logan County weekly variety radio show on WVOW begun in 1967 featuring live music and vaudevillian comedy.

Hartman, Ian C. 2012. "Appalachian Anxiety: Race, Gender, and the Paradox of 'Purity' in an Age of Empire, 1873–1901." *American Nineteenth Century History* 13, no. 2 (June): 229-255. "...the Appalachian South was a reserve of 'pure American stock' [and]....a bulwark to the effects of immigration....This article exposes the tension of an allegedly superior population that is perceived to have declined into abject poverty and moral depravity."

Hatfield, Coleman, and F. Keith Davis. 2008. *The Feuding Hatfields and McCoys: Timeline and Pictorial History*. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 192 pp.

Hatfield, Sharon. 1995 "Mountain Justice: The Making of a Feminist Icon and a Cultural Scapegoat." *Appalachian Journal* 23 (Fall): 26-47.

Hatfield, Sharon. 2002. "Looking for the Quintessential June: Archetypes and Stereotypes in John Fox Jr.'s Film Legacy." *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Fall 2001-Winter 2002): 128-137.

Heddendorf, David. 2004. "Minghella's *Mountain* [review of *Cold Mountain*, 2003 film directed by Anthony Minghella]. *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Winter): 58-61.

Herzog, Mary Jean Ronan. 1999. "Including Appalachian Stereotypes in Multicultural Education: An Analysis of Bill Bryson's *A Walk In The Woods*" [New York: Broadway Books, 1998]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 5 (Spring): 123-128.

Hobson, Fred. [1999] 2001. "Up in the Country" [N.C.; family roots]. In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 174-183. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Hoffman, Carl. 1996. "The Voice of the Mountains" [Appalshop Productions, Whitesburg, Ky.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 29 (September-December): 38-44.

Hsiung, David C. 2004. "Stereotypes" [history]. In *High Mountains Rising: Appalachia in Time and Place*, ed. R. Straw and H. Blethen, 101-113. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Huber, Patrick, and Kathleen Drowne. 2008. "Hill Billy: The Earliest Known African American Usages." *American Speech* 83, no. 2 (Summer): 214-221. First popular published use of the term, 1890s.

Huber, Patrick. 2008. "The Riddle of the Horny Hillbilly." In *Dixie Emporium: Tourism, Foodways, and Consumer Culture in the American South*, ed. A. Stanonis, 69-86. Athens: University of Georgia Press. See also: "Introduction: Thoughtful Souvenirs," by Ted Ownby, 19-23.

Hutton, T. R. C. 2007. "'Too Much Politics, Not Enough Corn': The Nineteenth-Century Media Battles over Appalachia" [1870s Ky. riots; various newspaper interpretations: North, South, Democrat, Republican]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 13, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 153-166.

Inge, M. Thomas. 2001. "Al Capp's South: Appalachian Humor in Li'l Abner." *Studies in American Humor* 3 (no. 8): 4-20.

Inge, M. Thomas. 2011. "Li'l Abner, Snuffy, Pogo, and Friends: The South in the American Comic Strip." *Southern Quarterly* 48, no. 2 (Winter): 6-74, plus 40 images. Overview with a focus on artist Al Capp and his "Li'l Abner" strip (begun 1934), and character Snuffy Smith.

Inge, M. Thomas. 2012. "Li'l Abner, Snuffy, and Friends: The Appalachian South in the American Comic Strip." In *Comics and the U.S. South*, ed. B. Costello and Q. Whitted, 3-28. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi.

Inscoe, John C. 1997. "Slavery, Freedom, Frontier: The Historical Perspective." Part 2 of "Hollywood Does Antebellum Appalachia and Gets It (Half) Right: *The Journey of August King.*" *Appalachian Journal* 24 (Winter): 204-215.

Institute for Rural Journalism & Community Issues staff. 2005. "Bringing the News Back Home" [U. Ky.; The Rural Blog, irjci.blogspot.com]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 21, no. 1 (Spring): 14-16.

Jackson, Dot. 2002. "Harvey J. Miller: The Sage of Pigeon Roost" [N.C.; 1909-2001?; columnist for *Tri-County News* for nearly 50 years]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Winter): 15-17.

Jacobs, Philip Walker. 2001. *The Life and Photography of Doris Ulmann* [1882-1934]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 328 pp.

Johnson, Skip, and Ferrell Friend. 2007. "Country Photographer Ferrell Friend: 70 Years Behind the Camera" [b. 1913; retired from the *Charleston Gazette*]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 2 (Summer): 10-17.

Jones, Ben. 2008. *Redneck Boy in the Promised Land: The Confessions of "Crazy Cooter."* New York: Harmony Books. 292 pp. Jones is a 1980s "Dukes of Hazzard" TV star and former Ga. congressman.

Jones, Diana Nelson. 2001. "Going Home to Rediscover 'Appalachia'" [journalist prepares three-part feature for *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*]. *Nieman Reports* 55 (Spring): 31-32.

Jones, Preston Neal. 2002. *Heaven and Hell to Play With: The Filming of* The Night of the Hunter" [1955; based on the 1953 novel by Davis Grubb]. New York: Lamplight Editions. 398 pp.

Kay, Trey. 2009. "The Great Textbook War" [1974, Kanawha Co., W. Va.; radio documentary]. West Virginia Public Radio, Charleston, W. Va.: WVPN, October 31, 2009. "Part one describes the beginning of the controversy, as school board member Alice Moore discovers what she considers anti-Christian and anti-American views in textbooks. Part two chronicles the school boycotts, miner strikes, and school bombings that followed. Part three details the end of the controversy, and its ongoing legacy." http://www.wvpubcast.org/newsarticle.aspx?id=11860.

Kendrick, Leatha. 2003. "Portrait of Doris Ulmann" [1882-1934; photographer whose Appalachian portraits appear throughout this issue]. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Fall): 3-11.

Keough, Sara Beth. 2010. "The Importance of Place in Community Radio Broadcasting: A Case Study of WDVX, Knoxville, Tennessee." *Journal of Cultural Geography* 27, no. 1 (February): 77-98.

Ketchell, Aaron K. 2007. "Hillbilly Heaven: Labor, Leisure, and the Ozark Trickster." Chap. 6 in *Holy Hills of the Ozarks: Religion and Tourism in Branson, Missouri*, 170-204. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 300 pp.

Ketchell, Aaron K. 2008. "Hillbilly Heaven: Branson Tourism and the Hillbilly of the Missouri Ozarks." In *Dixie Emporium: Tourism, Foodways, and Consumer Culture in the American South*, ed. A. Stanonis, 120-147. Athens: University of Georgia Press. See also: "Introduction: Identity Market," by W. Fitzhugh Brundage, 89-93.

Knepper, Steven. 2008. "Do You Know What the Hail You're Talkin' About?": *Deliverance*, Stereotypes, and the Lost Voice of the Rural Poor." *James Dickey Newsletter* 25, no. 1 (Fall): 17-29.

Krainak, Paul. 1997. "Appalachian High: Resisting Misrepresentation" [considers mass media stereotypes and discusses the work of a number of Appalachian artists]. *New Art Examiner* 25 (October): 30-35.

Kutzer, Jewell Mitchell. 2001. *Memories of Mayberry: A Nostalgic Look at Andy Griffith's Hometown, Mount Airy, North Carolina* [author's hometown]. St. Augustine, Fla.: Dynamic Living Press. 189 pp.

Kyriakoudes, Louis M. 2006. "The Grand Ole Opry and Big Tobacco" [radio scripts from R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co., 1948-1959]. *Southern Cultures* 12, no. 2: 76-89.

Lambrecht, Winnie. 2012. "Folkstreams.net: A National Preserve of Documentary Films about American Roots Cultures" [website review essay]. *Journal of American Folklore* 125, no. 497 (Spring): 375-376. Created in 2000 and based in N.C., Folkstreams.net provides open access to more than 200 streamed videos and film clips featuring extraordinary talents of ordinary citizens, many of whom are Appalachian. Titles listed in the "Films About Making Things" section include: "Alex Stewart: Cooper" (1973); "Appalachian Journey" (Alan Lomax, 1991); and "Edd Presnell: Dulcimer Maker" (1973).

Lanier, Parks. 2002. "The Ugly Appalachian: A View from England" [Observer Magazine, 1992; Deliverance syndrome; Ky.]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 19 (Spring): 27-30.

Lanier, Parks. 2003. "The Absence of an Appalachian Aesthetic" ["codifying and nullifying," e.g., shiftless hillbilly]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 20, no. 2-3 (Summer/Winter): 27-29.

Ledford, Katherine Elizabeth. 2002. "The primitive circle': Inscribing Class in Southern Appalachian Travel Writing, 1816-1846." *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Fall 2001-Winter 2002): 68-89.

Ledford, Katherine. [1999] 2001. "A Landscape and a People Set Apart: Narratives of Exploration and Travel in Early Appalachia." In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 47-66. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Leidholdt, Alexander S. 2011. "'Never Thot This Could Happen in the South!': The Anti-Lynching Advocacy of Appalachian Newspaper Editor Bruce Crawford" [Norton, Va.; Letcher Co., Ky.; 1927-1928]. *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 2-3 (Winter/Spring): 198-232. Culminates in anti-lynching law.

Leiter, Andrew B., ed. 2011. Southerners on Film: Essays on Hollywood Portrayals Since the 1970s. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Collection of 15 essays including the following four: "That old-timey music": nostalgia and the Southern tradition in O Brother, Where Art Thou? / Andrew B. Leiter -- The Junebug dilemma / Bryan Giemza -- Imagined realities: Appalachia, Arabia, and Orientalism in Songcatcher and The Sheik / Thomas R. Britt and Usame Tunagur -- "You taste of America": Talladega Nights, Deliverance, and Southern studies / Tara Powell.

Lester, Colleen Coleman. 1998. "Seeing" [Appalachian newcomer's first impressions controvert stereotypes; mules plowing]. *Appalachian Heritage* 26 (Spring): 36-38.

Lewis, Anne. 2012. "'That Point of Human Connection': An Interview with Filmmaker Anne Lewis." By Jesse Buckwalter, Kristen R. Dearmin, Rebekah Epling, Jameson Jones, Aaron Lancaster, Skye McFarland, Trevor McKenzie, Rachel Lanier Roberts, Leigh Walters, Bill Ward II, with Patricia D. Beaver. *Appalachian Journal* 40, no. 1-2 (Fall 2012/Winter 2013): 58-76. Includes "Anne Lewis: Selected Filmography," 76 [29 titles, 1984-2012, most produced for Appalshop].

Lifford, Brad. 2011. "*Get Low*" [movie, 2009]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 77-78. Real life story of Roane County, Tennessean Felix "Bush" Breazeale who staged his 1938 funeral while still alive and became a national sensation. Portrayed by Robert Duvall in the film which also stars Bill Murray and Sissy Spacek.

Lifford, Brad. 2011. "Knoxville-Born Actress Dale Dickey Relishes Characters Who Move in Life's Darker Edges." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 65-66. Starred in the independent film *Winter's Bone* (2010), as a "meth-addled" woman in the TV series "Breaking Bad," and as Patty the Daytime Hooker in the comedy series "My Name Is Earl."

Lifford, Brad. 2011. "Remembering Patricia Neal" [1926-2010]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 79-80. Neal, who grew up in Knoxville, Tenn., played Olivia Walton in *The Homecoming: A Christmas Story* (1971), which served as the pilot for the TV series, *The Waltons* (1971-1981) created by Earl Hamner.

Lifford, Brad. 2012. "The Last Mountain Weaves Powerful Message About the Controversial Hunt for Coal in West Virginia" [documentary film, 2011]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 27, no. 2 (Winter): 79-80. http://thelastmountainmovie.com/.

Lukinbeal, Chris. 2006. "Runaway Hollywood: Cold Mountain, Romania." *Erdkunde* 60, no. 4: 337-345. Romania as filming location for *Cold Mountain* (2003).

Lunsford, Erik. 1996. "The Great Locomotive Chase: Hollywood Comes to Rabun County" [Ga.; setting for 1956 Walt Disney film; oral history]. *Foxfire Magazine* 30 (Fall/Winter): 83-91.

Mace, Borden. 1995. "Borden Mace." Interview by Steve Ward. *Appalachian Journal* 23 (Fall): 48-69.

Mandrell, Liz. 1998. "Accent-uate the Positive" [stereotyped by a Southern (Ky.) accent]. *Appalachian Heritage* 26 (Fall): 15-18.

Manning, James. 2001. "Appalachians in the Spotlight: Focus for the Future" [depiction in national theater, 1920s to *The Kentucky Cycle* (1992)]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 7 (Fall): 301-313.

Martin, C. Brenden. 2000. "To Keep the Spirit of Mountain Culture Alive: Tourism and Historical Memory in the Southern Highlands" [stereotypes perpetuated and marketed]. In *Where These Memories Grow: History, Memory, and Southern Identity*, ed. W. Brundage, 249-269. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Mason, Bobbie Ann. 1993. "Recycling Kentucky" [discusses the play "The Kentucky Cycle," by Robert Schenkkan, 1992 Pulitzer Prize winner; negative stereotypes]. *New Yorker* 69, no. 36 (November 1): 50-62.

Mason, Carol. 2005. "The Hillbilly Defense: Culturally Mediating U.S. Terror at Home and Abroad" [Jessica Lynch, Lynndie England, Eric Rudolph]. *NWSA Journal* 17, no. 3 (Fall): 39-63.

Massey, Carissa. 2007. "Appalachian Stereotypes: Cultural History, Gender, and Sexual Rhetoric." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 13, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 124-136.

McCusker, Kristina M. 1999. "Bury Me Beneath the Willow': Linda Parker and Definitions of Tradition on the National Barn Dance, 1932-1935" [Chicago's WLS radio show; gendered image of girl singers]. *Southern Folklore* 56 (no. 3): 223-243.

McEuen, Melissa A. 1995. "Doris Ulmann and Marion Post Wolcott: The Appalachian South." *History of Photography* 19 (Spring): 4-12.

McEuen, Melissa A. 2000. *Seeing America: Women Photographers Between the Wars* [Doris Ulmann, Dorothea Lange, Marion Post Wolcott, Margaret Bourke-White, Berenice Abbott]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 360 pp.

McGeachy, Liz. 2003. "Creating It Yourself: Appalshop's Appalachian Media Institute" [youth media program; community documentary; Whitesburg, Ky.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 20 (Spring): 15-18.

McKinney, Gordon B. 1998. "The First False Frontier: Eastern Kentucky and the Movies." *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 95 (Spring): 119-136.

McKinney, Gordon. 2000. "Jerry Williamson: An Appreciation" [editor, *Appalachian Journal*, 1972-2000]. *Appalachian Journal* 28 (Fall): 68-77.

McNeil, W.K., ed. [1989] 1995. Appalachian Images in Folk and Popular Culture [anthology of articles and essays covering 130 years]. 2nd ed., with a foreword by Loyal Jones. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 348 pp. Contents: PART I. A strange land and a peculiar people. A week in the Great Smoky Mountains (1860) / R., of Tennessee -- A strange land and a peculiar people (1873) / Will Wallace Harney -- Through Cumberland Gap on horseback (1892) / James Lane Allen -- The moonshiner of fact (1896) / Francis Lynde -- PART II. Our contemporary ancestors. Our contemporary ancestors in the southern mountains (1899) / William Goodell Frost -- Romance and tragedy of Kentucky feuds (1899) / Josiah Stoddard Johnston -- The southern mountaineer (1901) / John Fox, Jr. -- The Anglo-Saxons of the Kentucky mountains: a study in anthropogeography (1901) / Ellen Churchill Semple -- Life in the Kentucky mountains, by a mountaineer (1908) / Samuel Johnson -- The Virginia mountaineers (1913) / John H. Ashworth -- Elizabethan America (1929) / Charles Morrow Wilson -- PART III. Change comes to the Appalachian mountaineer. Change comes to the Appalachian mountaineer (1930) / Mary French Caldwell -- The mountain handicrafts: their importance to the country and to the people in the mountain hoomes (1930) / Allen Eaton -- Life in a Blue Ridge hollow (1931) / Margaret A. Hitch -- Changes in the dietary habits of remote mountain people since 1900 (1935) / Lester R. Wheeler -- Shingle making on the lesser waters of the Big Creek of the French Broad River (1946) / Edmund Cody Burnett -- PART IV. Rethinking usages: the age of functional studies. Ordeal by serpents, fire, and strychnine: a study of some provocative psychosomatic phenomena (1960) / Berthold E. Schwarz -- The Appalachian log cabin (1963) / Henry Glassie -- Appalachia on television: region as symbol in American popular culture (1980) / Horace Newcomb --Rethinking the house: interior space and social change (1987) / Michael Ann Williams.

Media and Appalachia, The: Portrayals of the Region from Inside and Out. 2005. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 21, no. 1 (Spring): 1-36.

Mellon, Steve. 2001. "Carefully Choosing the Images of Poverty" [Inez, Ky.; photojournalist doing a feature on the region]. *Nieman Reports* 55 (Spring): 33-34.

Miner, Curt. 2000. "A Coal Miner's Deputy" [profiles Don Knotts, from Morgantown, W. Va.]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 83 (Summer): 60-62.

Moore, Phyllis Wilson. 2001. "Starting Points: Refuting the Legend of the Piwash Revisited" [defense of W. Va. in light of hillbilly stereotyping]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 6: 38-40.

Moraes, Lisa de. 2002. "Gold in Them Thar 'Hillbillies'? CBS Plans a Real-Life Version of Its '60s Hick Hit." *Washington Post*, 29 August, 1(A).

Narine, Anil. 2008. "Global Trauma at Home: Technology, Modernity, *Deliverance*." *Journal of American Studies* 42, no. 3 (December): 449-470. 1972 film, *Deliverance*.

Nava, Margaret. 2012. "The Old Wooden Phone." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 38-40. First phones, and rural electrification in 1940s Upper East Tennessee.

NeCamp, Samantha. 2011. "The *Hazel Green Herald* and the 'Idea of Appalachia'." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 17, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 66-84. A late 19th-century/early 20th-century, eastern Kentucky [Wolfe Co.] newspaper and the literate populace it invokes, contrary to local color promulgated ideas of Appalachian illiteracy.

Nipper, Melissa. 2012. "Serving Appalachia Through Theatre." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 54-55. Milligan College, Johnson City, Tenn.

Norman, Gurney. 1999. "Notes on *The Kentucky Cycle*" [by Robert Schankken (1993)]. In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 327-332. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

O'Brien, John. 2003. "Tall Tales of Appalachia" [criticism of CBS's planned "Beverly Hillbillies" reality TV show]. *New York Times*, 10 May, 21(A).

Olson, Ted. 1999. "Holistic Folklife Studies: Finding the Cultural Identity of Regions within a Region" [Appalachian subregions]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 5 (Fall): 257-261.

Owensby, Earl. 1994. "Earl Owensby." Interview by Nancy M. Collins. *Appalachian Journal* 21 (Spring): 280-303.

Palmer, Louis H., III. 1999. "An Appalachian Western: Class and Gender in H. E. Danford's *The West Virginian*" [1926 local color novel; examines stereotyping]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 5 (Spring): 61-76.

Pancake, Ann. 2000. "'Similar Outcroppings from the Same Strata': The Synonymous 'Development' Imagery of Appalachian Natives and Natural Resources" [early 20th century]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 6 no. 1-2 (Spring/Fall): 100-108.

Patterson, Beverly B. 2000. "'Give Me the Truth!': The Frankie Silver Story in Contemporary North Carolina" [video review of *The Ballad of Frankie Silver* (Davenport Films, 1996)]. *Journal of American Folklore* 113 (Spring): 200-203.

Patterson, Beverly. 2000. "'Give Me the Truth!': The Frankie Silver Story in Contemporary North Carolina" [evolution of the 1996 film documentary; N.C.]. *North Carolina Folk Journal* 47 (Winter/Spring): 54-61.

Patterson, Daniel W. 2000. "The Ballad and the Legends of Frankie Silver: A Search for the Woman's Voice" [video review of *The Ballad of Frankie Silver* (Davenport Films, 1996)]. *Journal of American Folklore* 113 (Spring): 203-207.

Patterson, Daniel. 2000. "The Ballad and the Legends of Frankie Silver: A Search for the Woman's Voice" [voiceless murder defendant; 1831 N.C.]. *North Carolina Folk Journal* 47 (Winter/Spring): 62-71.

Person, James E. 2005. *Earl Hamner: From Walton's Mountain to Tomorrow: A Biography*. Nashville, Tenn.: Cumberland House. 293 pp.

Plasky, Joe. 2012. "Cable TV Comes to Red Jacket" [Mingo Co.; 1950s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 4 (Winter): 42-47. The "cable" system was "two copper wires that ran up the mountain [and] had to be separated to keep the television signal from being scrambled."

Platania, Joseph. 2001. "Just-Rite: Huntington's Air-Ola Radio Company" [1920s radio manufacturing company; sidebar on related Museum of Radio & Technology]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Winter): 34-39.

Podber, Jacob J. 2001. "Early Radio in Rural Appalachia: An Oral History" [Ohio]. *Journal of Radio Studies* 8, no. 2 (Winter): 388-410. Fifty-one residents from Morgan, Vinton, Meigs, and Athens Counties were interviewed, the majority in their 70s and 80s.

Podber, Jacob J. 2008. "Television's Arrival in the Appalachian Mountains of the USA: An Oral History" [1950s-60s]. *Media History* 14, no. 1: 35-52.

Portelli, Alessandro. 2001. "Crossing Cultures: An Interview with Alessandro Portelli." Interview by Betsy Brinson. *Oral History Review* 28 (Winter/Spring): 87-113. Italian Portelli did "path-breaking" oral history work in Harlan Co., Ky. http://www.albany.edu/jmmh/vol2no1/lights.html.

Porterfield, Mannix. 2009. *A Man Called Shirley* [biography, b. 1933]. New York: iUniverse. 263 pp. Shirley Love was a radio announcer at WOAY, Oak Hill; anchor of the weekly TV show, "Saturday Night Wrestlin"; and served as a West Virginia State Senator, 1994-2008.

Powell, Douglas Reichert, et al. 2011. "Roundtable Discussion of *APPALACHIA: A History of Mountains and People*" [PBS four-part documentary (2009), by Jamie Ross and Ross Spears]. *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 2-3 (Winter/Spring): 246-274. Cultural ecology, from the ground up / Douglas Reichert Powell -- Appalachian consilience / Geoffrey L. Buckley -- History of resilience is a history of resistance / Melissa Ooten -- Emphasizing connections and avoiding guilt: the rhetoric of Appalachia / Elizabeth Giddens -- Leaving home and the silencing of self / Roger Guy -- New ground and old friends: response to *APPALACHIA* / Amy Tipton Cortner -- Response to *APPALACHIA*: flattened terrain / Anna Creadick.

Pratt, David. 2012. "Squidbillies and White Trash Stereotypes in the Corporate Postmodern South." Appalachian Journal 40, no. 1-2 (Fall 2012/Winter 2013): 94-110. "Squidbillies is a cartoon aired late at night as part of Cartoon Network's popular Adult Swim programming block." Pratt references Jim Goad's book, Redneck Manifesto (1997).

Price, Diane, with eleven other participants. 2000. "A Camera Is a Gun: A Discussion of *Stranger with a Camera*" (Whitesburg, Ky.: Appalshop, 2000) [film by Elizabeth Barret based on the 1967 killing of Canadian filmmaker Hugh O'Connor by Kentuckian Hobart Ison]. *Appalachian Journal* 27 (Summer): 406-417.

Redlin, Meredith. 1997. "Cultural Hierarchy on the "trail a fears": The Drawings of Bruce Burris" [portfolio; cartoon collages of hillbilly stereotypes]. *Southern Quarterly* 36 (Fall): 125-136.

Reed, Maryanne. 2011. "Fighting to Hear and Be Heard: The Founding of West Virginia Mountain Radio" [1981]. West Virginia History, n.s. 5, no. 1 (Spring): 1-23. Pocahontas [County] Communications Cooperative; WVMR; organizer Gibbs Kinderman; today a member of Allegheny Mountain Radio network.

Reichert Powell, Douglas. 1997. "Boston Common Minds Its Manners" [TV sitcom *Boston Common*]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 14 (Spring): 21-24.

Reichert Powell, Douglas. 2000. "Looking Forward, Talking Back: The Politics of Appalachian Cultural Studies" [reviews *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes: Back Talk from an American Region*, ed. G. Norman, D. Billings, and K. Ledford. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky (1999)]. *Appalachian Journal* 27 (Winter): 152-159.

Reichert Powell, Douglas. 2002. "Truth or Consequences: *The Blair Witch Project, Stranger with a Camera*, & Regional Cultural Politics" [film images]. *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Fall 2001-Winter 2002): 138-143.

Reichert Powell, Douglas. 2007. "Bluewashing' the Mountaineer: A Recent Television Trend" [shifting stereotypes]. *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 2 (Winter): 206-214. Review essay of *The Appalachians: America's First and Last Frontier* (Random House, 2004), by Mari-Lynn Evans, Robert Santelli, and Holly George-Warren; "My Name is Earl" (Fox Television sitcom, 2005-06); and "The Appalachians" (PBS three-part documentary, 2005).

Reichert Powell, Douglas. 2007. Critical Regionalism: Connecting Politics and Culture in the American Landscape [literary and film examples; Johnson City, Tenn.]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 260 pp.

Reid, Herbert. [1999] 2001. "Regional Consciousness and Political Imagination: The Appalachian Connection in an Anxious Nation" [*The Kentucky Cycle* (1993)]. In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 313-326. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Richardson, Leslie. 2004. "Tennessee in Film." In *A History of Tennessee Arts: Creating Traditions, Expanding Horizons*, ed. C. West and M. Binnicker, 365-382. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Roberts, Mark A. 2010. "The Performing Hillbilly: Redeeming Acts of a Regional Stereotype." *Appalachian Journal* 38, no. 1 (Fall): 78-90. Cultural examples and interpretations of "rehillbillification--or acting hillbilly;" self deprecating identity performance; parades, festivals, heritage tourism.

Roggenkamp, Karen. 2008. "Seeing Inside the Mountains: Cynthia Rylant's Appalachian Literature and the 'Hillbilly' Stereotype." *The Lion and the Unicorn* 32, no. 2 (April): 192-215. Examines Rylant's books, *When I Was Young in the Mountains* (1982), *The Relatives Came* (1993), and *Missing May* (1992) against historical background as noble savages or white trash.

Ross, Jamie, and Ross Spears [filmmakers]. 2012. Letter to the Editor, "Response to 'Roundtable Discussion of [2009 film] *Appalachia: A History of Mountains and People*' (38, no. 2-3: 246-274). *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 1-2 (Fall 2011/Winter 2012): 22-26.

Ross, Paul E. 1997. Review essay of *An Unseemly Man*, by Larry Flynt and Kenneth Ross (Los Angeles: Dove Books, 1996). *Appalachian Journal* 25 (Fall): 101-106.

Roy, L. Somi. 2003. "From Kentucky to Kunming: An Appalachia-Southwest China Filmmakers' Exchange" ["Appalshop in China"]. *Persimmon: Asian Literature, Arts, and Culture* 4, no. 2 (Summer). 30 para. http://www.persimmonmag.com/summer2003/feature1.htm.

Satterwhite, Emily. 2005. "'That's What They're All Singing About': Appalachian Heritage, Celtic Pride, and American Nationalism at the 2003 Smithsonian Folklife Festival." *Appalachian Journal* 32, no. 3 (Spring): 302-338.

Satterwhite, Emily. 2008. "Imagining Home, Nation, World: Appalachia on the Mall." *Journal of American Folklore* 121, no. 479 (Winter): 10-34. 2002 Smithsonian annual folklife festival and visitors' preconceptions.

Sauceman, Fred, and Charlie Daniel. 2005. "Shop Talk from Rosy's Diner" [interview with Charlie Daniel, editorial cartoonist for *The Knoxville Journal*]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 21, no. 1 (Spring): 20-22.

Sauceman, Fred. 2011. "Good Afternoon, I'm Maxine Humphreys for Doughty-Stevens." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 49-50. Delivering the Local News since 1953 on AM 1340, WGRV, Greeneville, Greene County, Tenn.

Scarbrough, Meredith L. 1996. "Virginia's On-Ramp to the Information Superhighway" [Blacksburg Electronic Village]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 13 (Summer): 15-16.

Scott, A. O. 2010. "From a Clan That Lives by Its Own Rules, a Tale Made for the Movies." *New York Times*, 5 May, 5(C). 587 words. Movie review of 'The Wild and Wonderful Whites of West Virginia', "a documentary about an unapologetically dysfunctional family." See also: Rebecca R. Scott (2010).

Scott, Rebecca R. 2010. Review essay of "The Wild and Wonderful Whites of West Virginia" [Boone Co.; documentary film, producer Johnny Knoxville, director Julien Nitzberg, Dickhouse Productions, 2010]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 16, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 245-247. "...depicts a year in the life of the extended family of Jesco White, who became internationally famous through the 1991 PBS documentary 'The Dancing Outlaw'."

Scott, Rebecca. 2009. "The Sociology of *Coal Hollow*: Safety, Othering, and Representations of Inequality" [University of California Press (2006); photos and oral histories]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 15, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 7-25. Unintentional stereotyping; "tropes of Appalachian cultural marginalization."

Seelye, Katharine Q. 2011. "A Regional Radio Voice Threatened From Afar" [WMMT, Whitesburg, Ky.; federal cuts]. *New York Times*, 12 April, 12(A). 1,308 words. This vibrant station reaches the mountain hollows of eastern Ky., southwestern Va., and southern W. Va.

Selby, David. 2002. "The Mythology of West Virginia" [address by actor and Morgantown, W. Va. native Selby]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 8: 42-44.

Shapiro, Henry D. 2006. "Appalachian Myth" [Appalachian "otherness"; local color; Appalachia as myth/image and it's historical sequence]. In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 4: *Myth, Manners, and Memory*, ed. C. Wilson, 196-198. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Shelby, Anne. [1999] 2001. "The 'R' Word: What's So Funny (and Not So Funny) About Redneck Jokes." In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 153-160. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Sherman, Sharon R. 2000. "Ballad, Legend, and Film: The Representation of Frankie Silver" [video review of *The Ballad of Frankie Silver* (Davenport Films, 1996)]. *Journal of American Folklore* 113 (Spring): 207-210.

Skeen, Tim. 2006. "Stereotypical Images Prevail" [review of WGBH/*Frontline*'s "Country Boys," 2005 documentary, Prestonsburg, Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 2 (Spring): 87-89. See also editor George Brosi's contrasting of "Country Boys" with media coverage of the Sago mine disaster, "This Side of the Mountain," 3-4.

Smith, Al. 2012. *Kentucky Cured: Fifty Years in Kentucky Journalism*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 222 pp.

Smith, Dina. 2004. "Cultural Studies' Misfit: White Trash Studies." *Mississippi Quarterly* 57 (Summer): 369-387.

Sommers, Joseph Michael. 2012. "Crooked Appalachia: The Laughter of the Melungeon Witches in Mike Mignola's *Hellboy: The Crooked Man* [2010]. In *Comics and the U.S. South*, ed. B. Costello and Q. Whitted, 214-241. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi.

Stanley, Tal. 1995. "The Place of Justice." *Southern Changes: The Journal of the Southern Regional Council* 17, no. 3-4: 27-29. Film review of *Justice in the Coalfields* (dir. Anne Lewis, Appalshop, 1995) which documents the miners' strike against Pittston Coal Company and community outrage in southwest Virginia following the 1988 expiration of the contract between Pittston and the UMWA which also terminated medical benefits to miners and their families.

Stanley, Tal. 1999. Review essay of *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes: Back Talk from an American Region*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford (University Press of Kentucky, 1999). *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 5 (Fall): 269-274.

Stewart, Kathleen. 2002. "Scenes of Life/Kentucky Mountains" [commentary on photo essay]. Photographs by Anya E. Liftig. *Public Culture* 14 (Spring): 349-359.

Stewart, Polly. 2000. "Review Notes on *The Ballad of Frankie Silver*" [classroom teaching tool notes; 1996 documentary film]. *North Carolina Folk Journal* 47 (Winter/Spring): 73-74.

Suarez, Ernest. 1995. "'Deliverance': Dickey's Original Screen Play" [special issue: Southern Novelists on Stage and Screen]. *Southern Quarterly* 33 (Winter-Spring): 161-169.

Suderman, Peter. 2011. "Tucker & Dale Role-Switch Slasher Spoof" [film]. Washington Times, 30 September, 3(D). 619 words. "...the movie offers a hillbilly-friendly revisionist take on the hick-horror encounter -- think The Texas Chainsaw Massacre as told by Leatherface, if Leatherface were a guileless hick."

Sullivan, John Jeremiah. 2002. "13 Essential Southern Documentaries" [film review of *Dancing Outlaw* (1991), directed by Jacob Young]. *Oxford American Magazine* 42 (Winter): Southern Movie Issue.

Sulzberger, A. G. 2011. "In Small Towns, Gossip Moves to the Web, and Turns Vicious" [Ark., Ky.; social media website, Topix]. *New York Times*, 20 September, 1(A). 1,505 words.

Tanner, Borgon. 2004. "Thursday Night at the Wetzel Republican" [1940s letterpress production of weekly newspaper; New Martinsville]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Spring): 46-51.

Tavernise, Sabrina. 2011. "Tackling the Problems of Appalachia, Theatrically." *New York Times*, 15 May, 23(A). 778 words. Harlan Co., Ky.; Southeast Kentucky Community and Technical College professor Robert Gipe's "Higher Ground" series of community-lifting plays.

Thesing, William B., and Theda Wrede, ed. 2009. *The Way We Read James Dickey: Critical Approaches for the Twenty-First Century*. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 261 pp. Nineteen essays, including: Introduction: From dust to deliverance / William B. Thesing and Theda Wrede -- Adherence to Propp: James Dickey's *Deliverance* in novel and film / Cherry Levin -- James Dickey and his reader: the movement from Drowning to deliverance / Randall Smith -- Nature and gender in James Dickey's *Deliverance*: an ecofeminist reading / Theda Wrede -- The buggering hillbilly and the buddy movie: male sexuality in *Deliverance* / Ed Madden -- Ed Gentry's "man crush": idolatry, power, and love in James Dickey's *Deliverance* / Jennifer Schell -- "How willing to let anything be done": James Dickey's feminist praxis / Jennie Lightweis-Goff.

Thomas, Jeannie B., and Doug Enders. 2000. "Bluegrass and 'White Trash': A Case Study Concerning the Name 'Folklore' and Class Bias." *Journal of Folklore Research* 37 (January-April): 23-52.

Thompson, Charles D., Jr. 2004. "Going Quietly: The Making of a Documentary Project among the Old German Baptist Brethren in the Virginia Blue Ridge" [agricultural change, Franklin Co.; insider/outsider mistrust]. In *CrossRoads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 37-60. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Thompson, Jerry. 1997. "Hillbilly Humor." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Spring): 12-13.

Tincher, Robert B. 1980. "Night Comes to the Chromosomes: Inbreeding and Population Genetics in Southern Appalachia." *Central Issues in Anthropology* 2, no. 1 (March): 27-49. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1525/cia.1980.2.1.27/pdf.

Tucker, Bruce, and Priscilla L. Walton. 2006. "From 'General's Daughter' to 'Coal Miner's' Daughter': Spinning and Counter-Spinning Jessica Lynch" [2003 Iraqi capture and rescue drama]. *Canadian Review of American Studies* 36, no. 3: 311-330.

Tuttle, Steve. 2008. "The Voters of Appalachia ... A - Are Hicks, B - Are Hillbillies, C - Are Rednecks, D - Don't Appreciate Where You're Going With This." *Newsweek*, 7 July: 40-42. National focus; presidential primary season. http://www.newsweek.com/id/143759.

Urbane Appalachia. 2008. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 1-72. Articles on non-rural aspects: art, music, cities, drama, local-color writer John Fox, Jr., wine-growing, the Biltmore and the Greenbrier.

Vaughan, Don Rodney. 2004. "Why *The Andy Griffith Show* Is Important to Popular Cultural Studies" [1960-68; values; modeled on Mt. Airy, N.C.]. *Journal of Popular Culture* 38 (November): 397-423.

Vollers, Maryanne. 2006. *Lone Wolf: Eric Rudolph: Murder, Myth, and the Pursuit of an American Outlaw* [N.C.; five-year-fugitive bomber and folk legend figure; Nantahala forest wilderness]. New York: HarperCollins. 356 pp.

Von Doviak, Scott. 2005. *Hick Flicks: The Rise and Fall of Redneck Cinema* ["comprehensive study of the hixploitation genre": good old boys; road movies; rural beasts; filmography, 193-198]. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 222 pp.

Waite, Jason. 2012. "Poor as Job's Turkey: Back to the Land as a Rhetoric of Authenticity in Foxfire's Appalachia." Chap. 7 in *Mediated Images of the South: The Portrayal of Dixie in Popular Culture*, ed. A. Slade, D. Givens-Carroll, and A. Narro, 123-146. Lanham, Md.: Lexington Books.

Waller, Altina. 1995. "Feuding in Appalachia: Evolution of a Cultural Stereotype." In *Appalachia in the Making: The Mountain South in the Nineteenth Century*, ed. M. Pudup, D. Billings, and A. Waller, 347-376. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Waller, Altina. 2012. "On the Whole, Costner is Purtier Than Devil Anse." *Appalachian Journal* 40, no. 1-2 (Fall 2012/Winter 2013): 21-23. Reprint of an interview by Christopher John Farley with historian Altina Waller, "How Realistic is *Hatfields and McCoys*?" (which premiered on The History Channel in May, 2012), published by *The Wall Street Journal* blog "Speakeasy."

Wampler, Angela Mallicote. 1996. "The Internet Debate" [Blacksburg Electronic Village]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 13 (Summer): 18-19.

Ward, John JJ. 2004. "The First Picture Show in Chapmanville" [theater originally a feed store; 1930s Logan Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Winter): 30-31.

Ward, Ken, Jr. 2011. "Sustained Outrage: Ken Ward Jr. Stayed Home To Make A Difference" [W. Va.]. Interview by Brent Cunningham. *Columbia Journalism Review* 50, no. 4 (November/December): 90-94. Ward is an award-winning journalist for the Charleston Gazette who has [un]covered the coal industry for more than 20 years, beginning with the Pittston coal strike (1989), and also manages a blog, "The Coal Tattoo," since 2009. http://www.cjr.org/feature/sustained_outrage.php?page=all.

Wheeling Big Band Society. 2012. *It's Wheeling Steel: The Story of Wheeling's Coast to Coast Celebrated Radio Program.* Wheeling, W. Va.: Wheeling National Heritage Area. 165 pp. From 1936 to 1944, employees of Wheeling Steel shared their amateur musical and dramatic talents live over NBC radio.

Whisnant, David E. 2003. "Sodom Laurel Again: A Response to Malcolm Wilson and Other Reviewers of *Sodom Laurel Album*" (by Rob Amberg, Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 2002) [reviewed in *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Spring): 257-258]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Fall): 450-458.

Whitaker, Kayla Rae. 2010. "Friends in Loud Places: The Inspiration of YO! MTV Raps" [eastern Ky.]. In *Motif: Come What May, an Anthology of Writings about Chance*, ed. M. Worthington, 51-54. Louisville, Ky.: Motes Books.

White, John. 2007. "Myth and Movie Making: Karl Brown and the Making of *Stark Love*." *Film History* 19, no. 1: 49-57. Docudrama (1927) about N.C. Appalachian mountain people.

Whited, Lana. 2005. "Hollywood Wants Hicks" [Reality-TV revival of 1960s sitcom, *The Beverly Hillbillies*]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 21, no. 1 (Spring): 8.

Williamson, J. W. 1994. Southern Mountaineers in Silent Films: Plot Synopses of Movies About Moonshining, Feuding and Other Mountain Topics, 1904-1929. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 320 pp.

Williamson, J. W. 1995. *Hillbillyland: What the Movies Did to the Mountains and What the Mountains Did to the Movies*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 325 pp.

Williamson, Jerry Wayne. 1995. "A Mirror Wise-cracked: Filthy and Free, the Hillbilly Image Mirrors the Best and the Worst in Us." Special Section: Image of the South. *Southern Exposure* 23 (Spring): 20-24.

Williamson, Jerry. Interview by Patricia Beaver and Helen Lewis. 2000. "A Cold Day in Hell: An Interview with Jerry Williamson" [founding editor of *Appalachian Journal*]. *Appalachian Journal* 28 (Fall): 78-115.

Wilson, Darlene. 1995. "The Felicitous Convergence of Mythmaking and Capital Accumulation: John Fox Jr. and the Formation of An(Other) Almost-White American Underclass." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 1 (Fall): 5-44.

Wilson, Darlene. [1999] 2001. "A Judicious Combination of Incident and Psychology: John Fox Jr. and the Southern Mountaineer Motif." In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 98-118. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Wilson, Joe. 2001. "Radio and the Blue Ridge" [1920s]. In *Country Music Annual 2001*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 147-60. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Wilson, Norma. 2005. "Careful Where You Cast for Hillbillies" [CBS attempts *The Real Beverly Hillbillies* as Reality TV]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 21, no. 1 (Spring): 5-7.

Woodside, Jane Harris. 1997. "Twisted Humor: The Cartoons of Anthony Feathers." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Spring): 27-29.

Wray, Matt, and Annalee Newitz, ed. 1997. *White Trash: Race and Class in America* [essays]. New York: Routledge. 272 pp.

Wright, Jack. 1997. "Electronic Visions of a Prodigal Son: The Video Works of Gurney Norman." *The Iron Mountain Review* 13 (Spring): 24-27.

Wright, Jack. 1997. "How Monochrome Was Their Valley." Part 1 of "Hollywood Does Antebellum Appalachia and Gets It (Half) Right: *The Journey of August King*". *Appalachian Journal* 24 (Winter): 192-204.

Young, Jacob. 1994. "Filmmaker Jacob Young." Interview by Thomas E. Douglass. *Appalachian Journal* 21 (Spring): 304-317.

Yousaf, Nahem. 2008. "The Local and the Global: Gina Nahai and the Taking Up of Serpents and Stereotypes." *Journal of American Studies* 41, no. 2: 307-330. Discusses the novel *Sunday's Silence* (2001).

MIGRATION, POPULATION, URBAN APPALACHIANS

Primarily studies of out-migration to cities such as Cincinnati, Detroit, Chicago, Akron, and Baltimore, especially post-World War II; treatment of those populations as an underclass. Also in-migration (e.g., Florida retirees) to Appalachia.

For Latino Studies, see: Ethnicity and Race.

For Immigrants, see also: Coal, Industry; and Ethnicity and Race

Ambinakudige, Shrinidhi, Domenico Parisi, and Steven M. Grice. 2012. "An Analysis of Differential Migration Patterns in the Black Belt and the New South. *Southeastern Geographer* 52, no. 2 (Summer): 146-163. Maps, figures. "...the Black Belt is losing population to other Southern destinations...keeping those migrants in the South." "...changes in migration flow have balkanized the region more than ever."

Cirillo, Marie. 2012. "Remembering Dixie's People: An Interview with Marie Cirillo" [Uptown Chicago, 1960s]. By Mark R. Wilson. *Baptist History and Heritage* 47, no. 1 (March): 8-17. References Wayne Flynt's book, *Dixie's Forgotten People* (1979).

Dyer, Joyce. 2010. *Goosetown: Reconstructing an Akron Neighborhood* [memoir; b. 1947; "reconstructing place and time"]. Ohio History and Culture series. Akron, Ohio: University of Akron Press. 162 pp.

Guy, Roger. 2012. "Hank Williams Lives in Uptown: Appalachians and the Struggle Against Displacement in Chicago." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 18, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 131-148. Maps. "Hank Williams Village--a multi-purpose housing and commercial development patterned after a southern town," as an alternative to urban renewal.

Humphreys, James. 2012. "Becoming Americans: Social Change in Morgan County, Tennessee, 1850-1870." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 84: 23-39. Swiss; Germans; emancipation of slaves.

Ludke, Robert L., Phillip J. Obermiller, and Eric W. Rademacher. 2012. "Demographic Change in Appalachia: A Tentative Analysis." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 18, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 48-92. Thirteen tables. "...analyzes the demographic trends in Appalachia since the 2000 Census," with a brief review of 1910-1970 trends for context.

Moser, Whet. 2012. "Chicago's Hillbilly Problem During the Great Migration." *Chicago Magazine*, 17 January. 1,754 words. "During the 1950s, the *Tribune* dispatched tough, oddball investigative reporter and Radcliffe grad Norma Lee Browning to Uptown for a series beginning with 'Girl Reporter Visits Jungles of Hillbillies'." http://www.chicagomag.com/Chicago-Magazine/The-312/January-2012/Chicagos-Hillbilly-Problem-During-the-Great-Migration/.

Obermiller, Phillip, and Steven R. Howe. 2000. *Appalachian Migration Patterns*, 1975-1980 and 1985-1990. Washington, D.C.: Appalachian Regional Commission. 34 pp. Tables; U.S. Census data. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS100222.

Kratt, Mary Norton. 2009. *Charlotte, North Carolina: A Brief History*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 190 pp.

Beatty, Karen. 2011. "Making Our Move" [1957]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 58-60. Memoir essay about the author's unsettling girlhood transition from rural Kentucky to New Jersey.

Berry, Chad. 2010. "Music, Migration and the Mountain Experience." In *Motif: Come What May, an Anthology of Writings about Chance*, ed. M. Worthington, 105-108. Louisville, Ky.: Motes Books. Text of a talk "delivered by the author at the 2009 Mountain Heritage Literary Festival, Lincoln Memorial University, Harrogate, Tennessee."

Brown, William, and Mary Odem. 2011. "Living Across Borders: Guatemala Maya Immigrants in the U.S. South" [Cherokee Co., Ga.; online, multi-media essay]. *Southern Spaces*, 16 February. "...explores Maya migration...through the journeys of two families from Santa Eulalia, Guatemala," to north Georgia. www.southernspaces.org/2011/living-across-borders-guatemala-maya-immigrants-us-south.

Keller, Shirley M., and Lonnie R. Helton. 2010. "Culturally Competent Approaches for Counseling Urban Appalachian Clients: An Exploratory Case Study." *Journal of Social Service Research* 36, no. 2: 142-150.

Wagner, Thomas E., and Phillip J. Obermiller. 2011. "A Double-Edged Sword: Social Control in Appalachian Company Towns." In *Engineering Earth: Impacts of Megaengineering Projects*, ed. S. Brunn, 1917-1935. New York: Springer.

Alexander, J. Trent. 2006. "Defining the Diaspora: Appalachians in the Great Migration." *Journal of Interdisciplinary History* 37, no. 2 (Autumn): 219-247. Migration north and to the industrial Midwest, 1940s-1980s; poverty; maps, tables.

Appalachia Counts: The Region in the 2000 Census [10 articles]. 2004. Guest editor, Phillip J. Obermiller. Introduction by Phillip J. Obermiller and Richard A. Couto. Special issue, *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10, no. 3: 243-420.

Bailey, Rebecca J. 2000. "I Never Thought of My Life as History: A Story of the 'Hillbilly' Exodus and the Price of Assimilation" [Chicago]. In *Appalachian Odyssey: Historical Perspectives on the Great Migration*, ed. P. Obermiller, T. Wagner, and E. Tucker, 27-37. Westport, Conn.: Praeger.

Barcus, Holly R., and Stanley D. Brunn. 2009. "Towards A Typology of Mobility and Place Attachment in Rural America." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 15, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 26-48. Eastern Ky. family reunion attendees used as data source.

Baugh, Carol. 2000. "Think College: Preparing Urban Appalachian Students for Learning in the Twenty-First Century" [Dayton, Ohio]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 6 no. 1-2 (Spring/Fall): 162-171.

Berry, Chad. 1996. "The Great 'White' Migration, Alcohol, and the Transplantation of Southern Protestant Churches" [from Ky.]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 94 (Summer): 265-296.

Berry, Chad. 2000. "Southern White Migration to the Midwest, an Overview" [oral histories; tables]. In *Appalachian Odyssey: Historical Perspectives on the Great Migration*, ed. P. Obermiller, T. Wagner, and E. Tucker, 3-26. Westport, Conn.: Praeger.

Berry, Chad. 2000. *Southern Migrants, Northern Exiles* [Appalachian focus; 1930s-60s]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 264 pp.

Beyer-Sherwood, Teresa. 2006. "From Farm to Factory: Transitions in Work, Gender, and Leisure at Banning Mill, 1910-1930s" [cotton millhands; Carroll Co., Ga.]. *Oral History Review* 33, no. 2 (Summer/Fall): 65-94.

Blevins, Brooks. 2006. "Ozarks." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 8: *Environment*, ed. M. Melosi, 260-262. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Borman, Kathryn M., and Patricia Z. Timm. 2009. "Better Connecting Schools with Urban Appalachian Communities" [Cincinnati]. In *Participatory Development in Appalachia: Cultural Identity, Community, and Sustainability*, ed. S. Keefe, 157-171. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Borman, Kathryn M., and Phillip J. Obermiller, ed. 1994. *From Mountain to Metropolis: Appalachian Migrants in American Cities*. Westport, CT: Greenwood. 226 pp.

Breen, T. H. 1997. "The Great Wagon Road" [18th century; Pa. to N.C.; Moravians and Scotch Irish]. *Southern Cultures* 3 (Spring): 22-57.

Brennan, Kathleen M., and Christopher A. Cooper. 2008. "Rural Mountain Natives, In-Migrants, and the Cultural Divide." *Social Science Journal* 45, no. 2 (June): 279-295.

Brown, Lawrence A., Linda Lobao, and Scott Digiacinto. 1999. "Economic Restructuring and Migration in an Old Industrial Region" [Ohio Valley; tables, maps]. In *Migration and Restructuring in the United States: A Geographic Perspective*, ed. K. Pandit and S. Withers, 37-58. Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield.

Cushing, Brian. 1999. "Migration and Persistent Poverty in Rural America" [southern W. Va., 1980s; tables]. In *Migration and Restructuring in the United States: A Geographic Perspective*, ed. K. Pandit and S. Withers, 15-36. Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield.

deMarrais, Kathleen Bennett. 1998. "Urban Appalachian Children: An 'Invisible' Minority in City Schools." In *Invisible Children in the Society and Its Schools*, ed. S. Books, 89-110. Mahwah, N.J.: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Dublin, Thomas. 1998. "Working-Class Families Respond to Industrial Decline: Migration from the Pennsylvania Anthracite Region Since 1920." *International Labor and Working-Class History* 54: 40-56

Duncan, Ronald J. [1971] 2005. "Living in Urban Milltown." In *Culture, Ethnicity, and Justice in the South: The Southern Anthropological Society, 1968-1971*, 352-359. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. (Reprint, from *Proceedings No. 4. The Not So Solid South: Anthropological Studies in a Regional Subculture*, ed. J. Morland, 49-55).

Dyer, Joyce. 2003. *Gum-Dipped: A Daughter Remembers Rubber Town* [1950s-60s outmigrant company town, Akron; Firestone Tire & Rubber Co.]. Series on Ohio History and Culture. Akron, Oh.: University of Akron Press. 223 pp.

Feather, Carl E. 1998. Mountain People in a Flat Land: A Popular History of Appalachian Migration to Northeast Ohio, 1940-1965 [Ashtabula Co.]. Athens: Ohio University Press. 200 pp.

Finley, Frankie. 2009. "Out Hoboin' Around" [personal reflection]. *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 4, no. 1 (Summer/Fall): Non-Fiction section, 1541 words. "We were always moving": Ohio, Pennsylvania, Kentucky. http://nantahalareview.org/issue4-1/nonfiction4-1/FINLEY.htm.

Frazier, Kevan D. 1998. "Outsiders in the Land of the Sky: City Planning and the Transformation of Asheville, North Carolina, 1921-1929." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 4 (Fall): 299-316.

Guy, Roger. 1997. "Down Home: Perception and Reality Among Southern White Migrants in Post World War II Chicago." *Oral History Review* 24 (Winter): 35-52.

Guy, Roger. 2000. "A Common Ground: Urban Adaptation and Appalachian Unity" [Chicago; 1950s-60s; maps, tables]. In *Appalachian Odyssey: Historical Perspectives on the Great Migration*, ed. P. Obermiller, T. Wagner, and E. Tucker, 49-66. Westport, Conn.: Praeger.

Guy, Roger. 2000. "The Media, the Police, and Southern White Migrant Identity in Chicago, 1955-1970." *Journal of Urban History* 26 (March): 329-349.

Guy, Roger. 2007. From Diversity to Unity: Southern and Appalachian Migrants in Uptown Chicago, 1950-1970. Lanham, Md.: Lexington Books. 131 pp. Contents: Introduction: prelude to departure -- Hitting the hillbilly highway: leaving home behind -- Destination Uptown: a rocky evolution -- A common ground: urban adaptation and migrant identity -- Hillbilly jungle and hillbilly heaven: a tale of perceptions -- Unity, community, and the Chicago Southern Center -- Southern unity and social protest in Uptown -- The migrant generation: from unity to invisibility.

Guy, Roger. 2010. "Of Voices Few and Far between: White Appalachian Women Migrants in Postwar Chicago, 1950–70." *Oral History Review* 37, no. 1 (January): 54-70. Interviews; maps.

Halperin, Rhoda H. 1998. *Practicing Community: Class Culture and Power in an Urban Neighborhood* [Cincinnati]. Austin: University of Texas Press. 352 pp.

Halperin, Rhoda H. 2009. "Urban Development, Imagined Community, and Class Indigeneity in the East End Community Heritage School" [Cincinnati]. In *Participatory Development in Appalachia: Cultural Identity, Community, and Sustainability*, ed. S. Keefe, 173-186. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Hansel, Pauletta. 1999. "Where the Personal Is Political: Lessons From an Urban Appalachian Community's Struggle for Environmental Justice" [Cincinnati's Lower Price Hill Environmental Leadership Coalition]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 5 (Fall): 263-268.

Hartigan, John, Jr. 1997. "Green Ghettos and the White Underclass" [Detroit; Briggs neighborhood]. *Social Research* 64 (Summer): 339-365.

Hartigan, John, Jr. 1997. "Name Calling: Objectifying 'Poor Whites' and 'White Trash' in Detroit." In *White Trash: Race and Class in America*, ed. Matt Wray and Annalee Newitz, 41-56. New York: Routledge.

Hartigan, John, Jr. 2000. "'Disgrace to the Race': *Hillbillies* and the Color Line in Detroit" [1940s-50s; identity]. In *Appalachian Odyssey: Historical Perspectives on the Great Migration*, ed. P. Obermiller, T. Wagner, and E. Tucker, 143-158. Westport, Conn.: Praeger.

Hartigan, John. 1999. *Racial Situations: Class Predicaments of Whiteness in Detroit* [Briggs neighborhood; Corktown; Warrendale]. Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press. 354 pp.

Hicks Deborah. 2005. "Class Readings: Story and Discourse among Girls in Working-Poor America" [Cincinnati; pre-teens]. *Anthropology & Education Quarterly* 36, no. 3 (September): 212-229.

Johnson, Susan Allyn. 2000. "How the 'Rubber City' Became the 'Capital of West Virginia': A Case Study of Early Appalachian Migration" [Akron, Ohio; 1900-1930s]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 6 no. 1-2 (Spring/Fall): 109-120.

Jones, Robert Emmet, J. Mark Fly, James Talley, and H. Ken Cordell. 2003. "Green Migration into Rural America: The New Frontier of Environmentalism?" [survey data; inmigrants place higher priority on environmental protection]. *Society and Natural Resources* 16 (March): 221-238.

Kyriakoudes, Louis M. 2003. *The Social Origins of the Urban South: Race, Gender, and Migration in Nashville and Middle Tennessee, 1890-1930.* Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 226 pp.

Lanier, Gabrielle M. 2010. "An Early Road to the Old West, 1780-1837." Chap. 4 in *The Great Valley Road of Virginia: Shenandoah Landscapes from Prehistory to the Present*, ed. W. Hofstra and K. Raitz, 108-134. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press.

Laudun, John. 2000. "'There's Not Much to Talk About When You're Taking Pictures of Houses': The Poetics of Vernacular Spaces" [Cincinnati; Charlie Kraft's house; place and identity]. *Southern Folklore* 57 (no. 2): 135-158.

Lee, Tom. 2005. *The Tennessee-Virginia Tri-Cities: Urbanization in Appalachia, 1900-1950* [Johnson City, Kingsport, Bristol; shift from extractive industry to manufacturing]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 342 pp.

Lewandowski, James P., and Mark E. Reisinger. 1997. "Pennsylvania Migration 1985-1995: Responses to the State's Changing Space-Economy." *Pennsylvania Geographer* 35 (Spring): 5-22.

Liftig, Anya E. 2000. "A Clear Connection: A Young Woman Tries to Bridge the Communication Gap Between Lost Creek, Ky., and Manhattan." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 17 (Summer): 41-44.

Love, Steve, and David Giffels. 1999. *Wheels of Fortune: The Story of Rubber in Akron* [tire industry]. Edited by Debbie Van Tassel; foreword by Rita Dove. Akron, Ohio: University of Akron Press. 359 pp.

Ludke, Robert L., Phillip J. Obermiller, C. Jeff Jacobson Jr., Thomas Shaw, and Victoria E. Wells. 2006. "'Sometimes It's Hard to Figure': The Functional Health Literacy of Appalachians in a Metropolitan Area" [and coping strategies; Cincinnati; Appalachians and non-Appalachians interviewed]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 12, no. 1 (Spring): 7-25.

Maloney, Michael. 1999. "Evaluating Education Advocacy Work by the Urban Appalachian Council" [Cincinnati]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 5 (Spring): 129-132.

Maloney, Michael E., and Phillip J. Obermiller, section editors. 2006. "Urban Appalachian Experience" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 346-391 (with introductory essay, 346-352). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Mann, Ralph. 1996. "Mountain Settlement: Appalachian and National Modes of Migration." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Fall): 337-345.

Merriman-Pacton, Jamie. 2007. "Moving Forward in Island, Kentucky" [a wake and granddaughter's reunion]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 24-27.

Miller, Zane L., and Bruce Tucker. 1998. *Changing Plans for America's Inner Cities: Cincinnati's Over-The -Rhine and Twentieth-Century Urbanism*. Urban Life and Urban Landscape Series. Columbus: Ohio State University Press. 227 pp.

Morrill, Richard, and Anthony Falit-Baiamonte. 1999. "Social and Economic Change and Intrametropolitan Migration" [Atlanta; North Georgia; maps, tables]. In *Migration and Restructuring in the United States: A Geographic Perspective*, ed. K. Pandit and S. Withers, 59-94. Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield.

Myadze, Theresa. 2000. "Revisiting Urban Appalachian Ethnicity" [class; culture]. In *Appalachian Odyssey: Historical Perspectives on the Great Migration*, ed. P. Obermiller, T. Wagner, and E. Tucker, 181-189. Westport, Conn.: Praeger.

Obermiller, Phillip J., ed. 1996. *Down Home, Downtown: Urban Appalachians Today*. Dubuque, Iowa: Kendall/Hunt. 224 pp.

Obermiller, Phillip J., and Thomas J. Wagner. 1997. "Cincinnati's 'Second Minority': The Emergence of Appalachian Advocacy, 1953-1973." *Appalachian Journal* 24 (Spring): 274-295.

Obermiller, Phillip J., and Thomas E. Wagner. 1999. "Hands-Across-The-Ohio: The Urban Initiatives of the Council of the Southern Mountains, 1954-1971." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 5 (Spring): 5-26.

Obermiller, Phillip J. [1999] 2001. "Paving the Way: Urban Organizations and the Image of Appalachians." In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 251-266. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Obermiller, Phillip J., Thomas E. Wagner, and E. Bruce Tucker, ed. 2000. *Appalachian Odyssey: Historical Perspectives on the Great Migration* [12 essays]. Introduction, xi-xxiv. Selected Bibliography, 231-236. Westport, Conn.: Praeger. 242 pp.

Obermiller, Phillip J., and Thomas E. Wagner. 2000. "Cincinnati's 'Second Minority': The Emergence of Appalachian Advocacy, 1953-1973." In *Appalachian Odyssey: Historical Perspectives on the Great Migration*, ed. P. Obermiller, T. Wagner, and E. Tucker, 193-214. Westport, Conn.: Praeger.

Obermiller, Phillip J., and Thomas E. Wagner. 2000. "'Hands-Across-The-Ohio': The Urban Initiatives of the Council of the Southern Mountains, 1954-1971" [Chicago]. In *Appalachian Odyssey: Historical Perspectives on the Great Migration*, ed. P. Obermiller, T. Wagner, and E. Tucker, 121-140. Westport, Conn.: Praeger.

Obermiller, Phillip J., and Steven R. Howe. 2001. "New Paths and Patterns of Appalachian Migration, 1975-1990" [one-quarter population turnover]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 7 (Fall): 331-348.

Obermiller, Phillip J. 2004. "Migration" [history]. In *High Mountains Rising: Appalachia in Time and Place*, ed. R. Straw and H. Blethen, 88-100. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Obermiller, Phillip J., and Steven R. Howe. 2004. "Moving Mountains: Appalachian Migration Patterns, 1995-2000" [tables]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10, no. 3: 359-371.

Obermiller, Phillip J., Michael E. Maloney, and Pauletta Hansel. 2006. "Appalachians Outside the Region" [out-migration and urban Appalachians; with suggested readings]. In *A Handbook to Appalachia: An Introduction to the Region*, ed. G. Edwards, J. Asbury, and R. Cox, 237-252. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Obermiller, Phillip J., comp. 2007. *Historical Sources on Appalachian Migration and Urban Appalachians, 1870-1999: A Selectively Annotated Bibliography* [books, articles, dissertations/theses, and newspapers, arranged by decade; literature, bibliographies]. 119 pp. http://uacvoice.org/research.html.

Obermiller, Phillip J., and Jennifer Jervis Tighe. 2009. "SmartMoney Community Services: A Working Model for Economic Development in Appalachian Communities" [Cincinnati]. In *Participatory Development in Appalachia: Cultural Identity, Community, and Sustainability*, ed. S. Keefe, 187-199. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Obermiller, Phillip, Chad Berry, Roger Guy, J. Trent Alexander, William Philliber, Michael Maloney, and Bruce Tucker. 2009. "Major Turning Points: Rethinking Appalachian Migration." *Appalachian Journal* 36, no. 3-4 (Spring-Summer): 164-187. Session papers from the 2007 Appalachian Studies Association Conference: "A Sociological Eye on Urban Appalachians" / Roger Guy -- "Appalachians, Southern Whites, and the Great Migration" / J. Trent Alexander -- "Appalachian Migrants Have Assimilated" / William Philliber -- "Reflections on the Migrant Experience" / Michael Maloney -- "The State of Scholarship on Migrants from the Mountains / Bruce Tucker -- "On Wholes and Parts and Something In Between" / Chad Berry -- "The Role of Migration Research in Appalachian Studies" / Phillip J. Obermiller.

Obermiller, Phillip J., and Michael E. Maloney. 2011. "The Uses and Misuses of Appalachian Culture." Urban Appalachian Council Working Paper, no. 20. 12 pp. "... urban Appalachian leaders, activists, and scholars have to step up and take responsibility for their own misuse of the concept of culture It seems possible to have an identity ("Appalachian") without reifying it into a culture The notion of identity, therefore, should not be rooted in some abstract concept, but on how people are currently interpreting their lives in social, economic, and political terms." http://uacvoice.org/pdf/workingpaper20.pdf.

Pandit, Kavita. 1997. "The Southern Migration Turnaround and Current Patterns." *Southeastern Geographer* 37 (November): 238-250.

Pierce, Dan. 1998. "The Barbarism of the Huns: Family and Community Removal in the Establishment of the Great Smoky Mountains National Park." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 57 (Spring/Summer): 62-79.

Rohrer, S. Scott. 2010. *Wandering Souls: Protestant Migrations in America, 1630-1865*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 312 pp. Contents, eight case studies including:

Chap. 3. Ethnicity and mobility: Scotch-Irish Presbyterians in eighteenth-century America -- Chap. 4. Land and family: the pietist migration to North Carolina in the late Colonial Period [Moravians] -- Chap. 5. Reform and the missionary drive: Methodists in the Ohio Country [1794].

Rowles, Graham D., and John F. Watkins. 1995. *Demographic Change in Appalachia: Patterns and Trends: Final Report*. Washington: Appalachian Regional Commission. 16 pp.

Rubin, Miriam. 2008. "Is Pittsburgh Appalachia?" *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 34-38. Special issue—"Urbane Appalachia."

Schnell, George A. 1996. "Pike County's Location, Second-Home Population, and Retired In-Migrants: A Prescription for Continued Rapid Growth" [Pa.]. *Pennsylvania Geographer* 35 (Spring): 23-37.

Schwartz, Tammy A. 2003. "Urban Appalachian Girls and Writing: Institutional and 'Other/Ed' Identities" [eight fifth-graders]. *Pedagogy, Culture & Society* 11 (no.1): 69-87.

Seaton, Carter Taylor. 2007. "Those Who Came" [1960s-70s back-to-the-land movement in W. Va.; legacy]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 2 (Spring): 74-79.

Silverman, Sherman E. 2010. "The Catoctin Valley of Maryland: A Region in Transition." *Pennsylvania Geographer* 48, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 16-54. Transformative human attributes of a Blue Ridge landscape; Frederick, Burkittsville, Brunswick, Middletown: Late 1700s -- Railroads, mid 1800s -- Pre-automobile, early 1900s -- Exurbia, early 2000s.

Stewart, Shirley L., and Connie Rice. 2000. "The 'Birds of Passage' Phenomenon in West Virginia's Out-Migration" [Chicago; Cleveland]. In *Appalachian Odyssey: Historical Perspectives on the Great Migration*, ed. P. Obermiller, T. Wagner, and E. Tucker, 39-47. Westport, Conn.: Praeger.

Tolnay, Stewart E., et al. 2005. "Distances Traveled during the Great Migration: An Analysis of Racial Differences among Male Migrants" [little direct mention of Appalachia]. *Social Science History* 29, no. 4 (Winter): 523-548.

Torres, Nola Hadley. 2005. "Bringing My People Along: Urban Appalachian Women as Community Builders." In *Beyond Hill and Hollow: Original Readings in Appalachian Women's Studies*, ed. E. Englehardt, 50-74. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Tucker, Bruce. 2000. "Imagining Appalachians: The Berea Workshop on the Urban Adjustment of Southern Appalachian Migrants" [1959-60s; Council of Southern Mountains; annual workshops perpetuated an invented narrative about migrants]. In *Appalachian Odyssey: Historical Perspectives on the Great Migration*, ed. P. Obermiller, T. Wagner, and E. Tucker, 97-120. Westport, Conn.: Praeger.

Tucker, Bruce. 2000. "Toward a New Ethnicity: Urban Appalachian Ethnic Consciousness in Cincinnati, 1950-1987." In *Appalachian Odyssey: Historical Perspectives on the Great Migration*, ed. P. Obermiller, T. Wagner, and E. Tucker, 159-180. Westport, Conn.: Praeger.

Tucker, Bruce. 2000. "Transforming Mountain Folk: Roscoe Giffin and the Invention of Urban Appalachia" [1950s "dysfunctional subculture argument"]. In *Appalachian Odyssey: Historical Perspectives on the Great Migration*, ed. P. Obermiller, T. Wagner, and E. Tucker, 69-95. Westport, Conn.: Praeger.

Tucker, E. Carolyn. 2007. "A Life Lost: The Tensions between Local Attachments and Cosmopolitan Attractions" [Ky.]. *Southern Rural Sociology* 22, no. 1: 80-97.

Turman-Deal, Jinny A. 2010. "We Were an Oddity': A Look at the Back-to-the-Land Movement in Appalachia" [1960s-70s homesteaders; friction and friendship with natives]. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 4, no. 1 (Spring): 1-32.

Turner, John, Erin Molenda, and Bernie Westendorff. 1996. "Migrants in Appalachia" [Avery, Ashe, Alleghany, and Watauga Counties, N.C.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Spring): 123-130.

Urbina, Ian. 2006. "For Many West Virginians, Leaving Is First Step Home" ["economic push to leave and emotional pull to return"]. *New York Times*, 21 May, (sec. 1). 1136 words. See multimedia interviews with Denise Giardina, Bob Henry Baber, and others: http://www.nytimes.com/2006/05/21/us/21west.html.

Wagner, Thomas E., and Phillip J. Obermiller. 1999. *Valuing Our Past, Creating Our Future: The Founding of the Urban Appalachian Council* [1973; Cincinnati]. Berea, Ky.: Berea College Press. 106 pp.

Wagner, Thomas E., and Phillip J. Obermiller. 2000. "Going Home without the Trip: Appalachian Migrant Organizations" [Ill.; Mich.; Ohio]. In *Appalachian Odyssey: Historical Perspectives on the Great Migration*, ed. P. Obermiller, T. Wagner, and E. Tucker, 215-230. Westport, Conn.: Praeger.

Walker, Gregory Wayne. 1997. "The White Urban Appalachian: A Call for a Study on Whiteness" [race and social class interaction]. Paper delivered at the 1997 Annual Meeting of The American Sociological Association, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, August 9-13. *Sociological Abstracts* 45 (December): 97S33335.

Watkins, John F., Graham D. Rowles, and Shannon L. Bowles. 2004. "Population Age Structure: Spatial Patterns and Change in Appalachia" [tables; 2000 Census]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10, no. 3: 255-267.

Werner, Tammy, and Joanna Badagliacco. 2004. "Appalachian Households and Families in the New Millennium: An Overview of Trends and Policy Implications" [population tables; femaleheaded households; poverty]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10, no. 3: 373-388.

Williams, John R. 1997. "'Up Here, We Never See the Sun': Homeplace and Crime in Urban Appalachian Narratives." In *Usable Pasts: Traditions and Group Expressions in North America*, ed. T. Tuleja, 215-231. Logan: Utah State University Press.

Wise, Nicholas A. 2009. "Quantitative Mapping and Population Restructuring: Migration, Diffusion, and Economic Change in Allegheny County, Pennsylvania" [population decline since 1960s; steel industry]. *Pennsylvania Geographer* 47, no. 1 (Fall/Winter): 20-48.

MUSIC and DANCE

Ballads, shape note singing, bluegrass, gospel, country, old-timey, families and artists, dulcimer and fiddle, square dancing and clogging

Adler, Thomas A. 2011. *Bean Blossom: The Brown County Jamboree and Bill Monroe's Bluegrass Festivals* [Ind.]. Music in American Life series. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 239 pp. Contents: Brown County history and roots -- Origins of the Brown County Jamboree (1939-1941) -- The Rund Family's Brown County Jamboree (1941-1951) -- Bill Monroe's Brown County Jamboree Park (1952-1957) -- Survivals, revivals, and arrivals (1958-1966) -- Building the festivals (1967-1968) -- The festival becomes a landmark (1969-1971) -- The festival's golden age (1972-1982) -- Festival people and lore -- Bill and James Monroe's festival park (1983-1997) -- Renaissance, continuity, and change (1998 and after).

Ahrens, Frank. 2002. "Music at Bill's Pickin Parlor in the South Carolina Midlands." In *American Musical Traditions*. Vol. 3, *British Isles Music*, ed. J. Titon and B. Carlin, 138-141. New York: Schirmer Reference.

Ahrens, Pat J. 2007. "David Deese: From Blue Grass Boy to Briarhopper" [banjo; Rowan Co., N.C.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 42, no. 6 (December): 44-48.

Ahrens, Pat. 2001. "Fiddlin' Charlie Bowman: A 1920s East Tennessee Champion" [1889-1962; played with the Hill Billies -- 1925 origin of the word "hillbilly" acc. to Bill Malone]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 36 (December): 32-35.

Akenson, James E. 2005. "Country Music: A Teaching Tool for Dealing with War." In *Country Music Goes to War*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 227-247. Lexington, Ky.: University Press of Kentucky.

Akenson, James. 2003. "Teaching About Women in Country Music" [strategies: elementary school through college]. In *The Women of Country Music: A Reader*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 202-226. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Alden, Grant, and Peter Blackstock, ed. 2005. *The Best of No Depression: Writing About American Music* [country musicians: biography]. Brad and Michele Moore Roots Music Series. Austin: University of Texas Press. 288 pp. [Contents: Not just another band from East L.A.: Los Lobos / Geoffrey Himes -- The true believer: Alejandro Escovedo / Peter Blackstock -- Ain't life grand: Jon Dee Graham / Peter Blackstock -- When the fallen angels fly: Billy Joe Shaver / Grant Alden -- Outlaw blues: Ray Wylie Hubbard / John T. Davis -- Road more: the Flatlanders / Don McLeese -- Burning memories: Ray Price / David Cantwell -- The music came up from his soul: Johnny Gimble / Bill C. Malone -- The man in black and white and every shade in between: Johnny Cash / Bill Friskics-Warren -- The long journey home: Rosanne Cash / Lloyd Sachs -- Happy woman blues: Lucinda Williams / Silas House -- Hearts on fire: Buddy and Julie Miller / Bill Friskics-Warren -- Sweet emotion: Kasey Chambers / Geoffrey Himes -- Make me wanna holler: Loretta Lynn / Barry Mazor -- Down from the mountain: Patty Loveless / Bill Friskics-Warren -- A simple path: Kieran Kane / Peter Cooper -- Horse of a different color: Paul Burch / Jim Ridley -- Coal miner's sister: Hazel Dickens / Bill Friskics-Warren -- Quicksilver girl:

Gillian Welch / Grant Alden -- Go your own way: Ryan Adams / Dave Menconi -- World wide open: Jay Farrar / Peter Blackstock -- Outside the wall: the Jayhawks / Erik Flannigan -- In through the out door: Wilco / Paul Cantin -- Rocking tall: the Drive-by Truckers / Grant Alden -- A life of quiet inspiration: Iron & Wine / William Bowers].

Alden, Ray. 2009. "Trends in Old-Time Banjo Playing Part 4" [eastern Ky.]. *Old-Time Herald* 12, no. 2 (December 2009-January 2010). http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-12/12-2/banjo.html.

Allen, Bob. 2012. "Historic Jonesborough Bluegrass Series: The Latest Installment in a Rich Regional Musical Heritage" [Tenn.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 47, no. 2 (August): 38-40. Not affiliated with ETSU's bluegrass program, but there is a "good synergistic relationship" between the two.

Allen, Danny W. 2002. "Postcards and the Promotion of Early Country Music Artists." In *Country Music Annual 2002*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 117-129. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Allen, Lucy. 1998. "Alexander County First Sunday Singing Convention" [N.C.; begun in 1946]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 45 (Summer-Fall): 122-123.

Allen, Ray. 2010. *Gone to the Country: The New Lost City Ramblers and the Folk Music Revival* [1950s-1970s]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 309 pp.

Alvey, R. Gerald. [1984] 2003. *Dulcimer Maker: The Craft of Homer Ledford* [master craftsman, musician, and folk artist]. Reprint, with an introduction by Ron Pen. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 197 pp.

Anderson-Green, Paula Hathaway. 2002. A Hot Bed of Musicians: Traditional Music in the Upper New River Valley-Whitetop Region [Blue Ridge Va./N.C.]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 264 pp.

Archer, Bill. 2010. "On the Trail of the Lonesome Pine Fiddlers." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 2 (Summer): 40-46. Influential bluegrass band from Mingo Co., played from 1938 to 1963 and included cousins Ezra Cline, Ireland "Lazy Ned" Cline, and Ray "Curly Ray" Cline.

Arnold, Byron, comp. 2004. *An Alabama Songbook: Ballads, Folksongs, and Spirituals* [258 songs, words and music transcribed, collected in the mid-1940s]. Collected by Byron Arnold [1901-1971], edited with an introduction by Robert W. Halli, Jr. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 299 pp.

Arnold, Chip. 2006. "Bob Taylor's March' from Will Keys." *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 3 (February). Online, with sound clip. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-3/workshop.html.

Arrants, Julia. 2001. "In Search of the Frog's Raccoon" [Appalachian variants of "A Frog Went A-Courtin"]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 48 (Spring/Summer-Fall/Winter): 68-79.

Bailey, Chip. 2002. "The Albert Hash Memorial Band: Preserving a Sense of Place at Mt. Rogers School" [Grayson Co., Va.; Carter Fold, Hiltons, Va.]. *Old-Time Herald Online* 8, no. 2 (Winter): 13 para. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/eissues.htm.

Baldwin, Lisa, Leila Weinstein, and Emily Schaad. 2010. "Eric Ellis: Wilkes County Banjo Player, Bearer of Bluegrass Traditions, and Teacher" [2010 Brown-Hudson Folklore Award winner; b. 1958]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 57, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 4-7.

Barnett, Janice Willis. 2007. "Song for a Salve" [ballad and gospel singer Analo Phillips, Madison Co., N.C.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 53-56.

Barry, Dan. 2012. "For Patsy Cline's Hometown, An Embrace That Took Decades" [d. 1963; Winchester, Va.]. *New York Times*, 24 December, 12(A). 1,326 words. The city renovated her old Kent Street house and opened it to the public.

Bass, Rick. 2007. "The Lives of the Browns" [country music; 1934 Tulip Creek, Ark.]. *Southern Review* 43, no. 4 (Autumn): 790-805.

Battiata, Mary. 2001. "A High and Lonesome Sound" [Hazel Dickens, biographical profile; NEA National Heritage Fellowship award winner]. Washington Post Magazine, 24 June, W8+.

Bealle, John. 1997. *Public Worship, Private Faith: Sacred Harp and American Folksong*. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 308 pp.

Bealle, John. 2002. "New Strings on the 'Old Harp': The 1991 Revision of *The Sacred Harp*." In *American Musical Traditions*. Vol. 3, *British Isles Music*, ed. J. Titon and B. Carlin, 71-82. New York: Schirmer Reference.

Beckworth, Josh. 2006. "Bluegrass Pioneer: J. C. Kemp and the Musical Progression Toward Bluegrass in Ashe County" [banjoist and roofer; 1920s-present]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 53, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 36-48.

Beisswenger, Drew. 2002. Fiddling Way Out Yonder: The Life and Music of Melvin Wine [1909-2003; Braxton Co., W. Va. old-time fiddler]. American Made Music Series. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 230 pp.

Beisswenger, Drew. 2003. "Melvin Wine—Playing for the Boatman" [W. Va. fiddler; 1909-2003]. *Old-Time Herald Online* 9, no. 1 (Fall). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-9/9-1/playing-for-boatman.html.

Beisswenger, Drew. 2006. "Gordon McCann: The Improbable Ascent of the Ozarks Fiddle Man." *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 4 (April-May).

 $http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-4/gordon-mcann.html.\\$

Beisswenger, Drew, and Gordon McCann. 2008. *Ozarks Fiddle Music*. Pacific, Mo.: Mel Bay. 218 pp., plus sound disc. "308 tunes featuring 30 legendary fiddlers with selections from 50 others great Ozark fiddlers."

Beley, Gene, and Johnny Cash. 2005. "Folsom Prison Blues" [recounts Cash's 1968 Folsom State Prison performance]. Photographs by Dan Poush. *Virginia Quarterly Review* 81, no. 1 (Winter): 218-227.

Bell, Sara Jane. 2010. "Alice Gerrard: Traditional Musician and Music Scholar" [2010 Brown-Hudson Folklore Award winner; b. 1934]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 57, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 13-18. Among her many accomplishments, Gerrard performed with Hazel Dickens as a duo and she founded *The Old-Time Music Herald* in 1987; and she was married to Mike Seeger.

Berg, Matraca. 2010. Multimedia Feature, *Still: The Journal*, no. 3 (Summer). Profile of country songwriter/singer Berg, plus a video clip (4:25 min.). "Matraca Berg performs 'Oh Cumberland,' a tribute to the river that connects her family's native Appalachia to her hometown of Nashville. She is backed by the Nitty Gritty Dirt Band." http://www.stilljournal.net/matracaberg-multimedia.php.

Bernhardt, Jack. 2003. "Dedicated to the Memory of Tommy Thompson (1937-2003)" [banjoist, Red Clay Ramblers]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 50, no. 1-2 (Spring/Summer - Fall/Winter): 1-7.

Bernhardt, Jack. 2005. "Alice Gerrard: With a Song in Her Heart" [Galax, Va.; recorded four albums with Hazel Dickens, 1965-1975; editor of *The Old-Time Herald*, 1987-2003; online photo album]. *The Old-Time Herald* 9, no. 8 (Summer). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-9/9-8/alice-gerrard.html.

Bernhardt, Jack. 2010. "Carlton Haney (1928-2011)." *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 57, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 66-69. Obituary: "Country and bluegrass music manager, promoter, record producer, and songwriter."

Berrier, Ralph, Jr. 2010. *If Trouble Don't Kill Me: A Family's Story of Brotherhood, War, and Bluegrass*. New York: Crown Publishers. 292 pp. Biography of twins Clayton Hall (1919-2003), and Saford Hall (1919-1999), Patrick County, Va., whose 1930s-40s bluegrass stardom was cut short by WWII. See book review by Madelyn Rosenberg (*Bluegrass Unlimited* 45, no. 3: 38-41).

Berry, Chad, ed. 2008. *The Hayloft Gang: The Story of the National Barn Dance*. Foreword by Loyal Jones. Music in American Life series. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 215 pp. Country music radio program, 1930s-40s, WLS, Chicago. Contents: Assessing the National Barn Dance / Chad Berry -- The rise of rural rhythm / Paul Tyler -- Music of the postwar era / Wayne W. Daniel -- Chicago as forgotten country music mecca / Lisa Krissoff Boehm -- Early broadcasting and radio audiences / Susan Smulyan -- Race and rural identity / Michael T.

Bertrand -- Patriarchy and the Great Depression / Kristine McCusker -- Cowboys in Chicago / Don Cusic -- The National Folk Festival / Michael Ann Williams.

Bessman, Jim. 2002. "Allison Krauss: Mountain Mama." *Journal of Country Music* 22 (no. 1): 10-16.

Bill Monroe Centennial Celebration. 2011. Special issue, *Bluegrass Unlimited* 46, no. 3 (September): 30-58, plus cover photo. Contents: "Bill Monroe at One Hundred: What Is His Legacy?" by Richard D. Smith, 30-35 | "Bill Monroe's First Days on Earth," by Tom Ewing, 38-40 | "The Compleat Classic Blue Grass Boys Canon, 1945-1948: Twenty-Eight Songs or Over a Hundred? by Dick Bowden, 44-48 | "The Monroe Genealogy," by Bob Carlin, 52-53 | "Meeting Bill Monroe," by Jens Krüger, 56-58.

Bjorkman, Brent. 2004. Film review of "Hazel Dickens–It's Hard to Tell the Singer from the Song" [Produced and directed by Mimi Pickering. Whitesburg, Ky.: Appalshop Films, 2001. 61-minutes]. *Oral History Review* 31 (Summer/Fall): 85-88.

Black, Bob. 2002. "Come Hither to Go Yonder: Playing Bluegrass with Bill Monroe. Part 1." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 36 (April): 60-65.

Black, Bob. 2005. *Come Hither to Go Yonder: Playing Bluegrass with Bill Monroe* [1911-1996; banjoist]. Foreword by Neil V. Rosenberg. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 188 pp.

Blaustein, Richard. 2005. "Before the Myth Was Born: Claude Grant of the Tenneva Ramblers Remembers Jimmie Rodgers." In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 161-171. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Bledsoe, Tommy. 1999. "Critters in Cyberspace: Old-Time Music on the Internet." *Old-Time Herald Online* 6, no. 8 (Summer). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/eissues.htm.

Boosinger, Laura. 2001. "Luke Smathers, Mountain Swing Musician: A Biography" [Haywood Co. fiddler; d. 1997]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 2, ed. R. S. Brunk, 214-239. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services, Inc.

Boosinger, Laura. 2007. "David Holt: Scholar, Performer, and Producer of Folklore Programs" [banjoist; Brown-Hudson Folklore Award winner]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 54, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 18-21.

Boosinger, Laura. 2010. "The Folk Heritage Committee" [2010 Community Traditions Award winner]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 57, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 34-40. This Asheville committee organizes and perpetuates the "longest continuing folk festival in America," now in its 83rd year: the Mountain Dance and Folk Festival and The Shindig on the Green.

Boye, Gary R. 2002. Review essay of *Can't You Hear Me Callin': The Life of Bill Monroe*, by Richard D. Smith (Little, Brown, 2000). *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Spring): 377-383.

Brantley, Michael. 2009. "Down on the Crooked Road" [Virginia's heritage music trail]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 43, no. 11 (May): 64-68.

Brantley, Michael. 2011. "Doyle Lawson: Light on His Feet, Ready to Fly...Farther." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 45, no. 12 (June): 26-30. Thirty-year career overview of the Kingsport, Tenn.-bred leader of the band, Quicksilver.

Breiding, Tom. 2009. "Coming from West Virginia: An Interview with Songwriter Tom Breiding." By Jacob Strautmann. *Appalachian Journal* 36, no. 3-4 (Spring-Summer): 242-246.

Bristol Sessions 1927-1928: The Big Bang of Country Music. 2009 [1927]. Hamburg, Germany: Bear Family Records. Five CD sound disks, 41 artists, 124 tracks, 385 minutes, plus 120-page booklet by Ted Olson and Tony Russell which includes discography, program notes, song lyrics, essays, and photos. Originally recorded by Ralph Peer of the Victor Talking Machine Company, at Bristol, Tenn. Contents: CD 1. The dying girl's farewell -- Tell mother I will meet her (Ernest V. Stoneman, E. Kahle Brewer, Walter Mooney) -- The mountaineer's courtship (Ernest V. Stoneman, Miss Irma Frost, Uncle Eck Dunford) -- Midnight on the stormy deep (Ernest V. Stoneman, Miss Irma Frost) -- Sweeping through the gates -- I know my name is there -- Are you washed in the blood? -- No more good-byes -- The resurrection (take 1) -- The resurrection (take 2) -- I am resolved (take 1) -- I am resolved (take 2) (Ernest V. Stoneman & his Dixie Mountaineers) -- I want to go where Jesus is -- Do, Lord, remember me -- Old ship of Zion --Jesus getting us ready for that great day -- Happy in prison -- Don't grieve after me (Ernest Phipps & his Holiness Quartet) -- What will I do, for my money's all gone (Uncle Eck Dunford, Hattie Stoneman) -- The whip-poor-will's song -- Skip to ma Lou, my darling (Uncle Eck Dunford) -- Barney McCoy (Uncle Eck Dunford, Ernest Stoneman) -- Old time corn shuckin', part 1 -- Old time corn shuckin', part 2 (Blue Ridge Corn Shuckers) -- CD 2. The jealous sweetheart (take 1) -- The jealous sweetheart (take 2) -- A passing policeman -- Just a message from Carolina (Johnson Brothers) -- The wreck of the Virginian (take 1) -- The wreck of the Virginian (take 2) -- I mean to live for Jesus -- You must unload -- Walking in the way with Jesus (take 1) -- Walking in the way with Jesus (take 2) (Blind Alfred Reed) -- Two brothers are we -- The soldier's poor little boy (Johnson Brothers with Tennessee Wildcats) -- I want to see my mother (ten thousand miles away) (Johnson Brothers) -- Pot liquor blues -- Narrow gauge blues (El Watson) -- Cold penitentiary blues -- Oh Molly dear -- Pretty Polly -- Darling Cora (B. F. Shelton) -- Called to the foreign field -- I am bound for the promised land -- Where we'll never grow old -- When they ring the golden bells -- To the work (Alfred G. Karnes) -- Train on the island -- Black-eyed Susie (J. P. Nester) -- Johnny Goodwin (Bull Mountain Moonshiners) --CD 3. Bury me under the weeping willow -- Little log cabin by the sea -- The poor orphan child -- The storms are on the ocean -- Single girl, married girl -- The wandering boy (The Carter Family) -- Remember me, O mighty one -- I'm redeemed (Alcoa Quartet) -- Henry Whitter's fox chase -- Rain crow bill; (Henry Whitter) -- Big bend gal -- Suzanna gal -- Sandy River belle (take 1) -- Sandy River belle (take 2) -- Billy Grimes, the rover; (The Shelor Family) -- The Newmarket wreck -- On the banks of the sunny Tennessee (Mr. & Mrs. J. W. Baker) -- The soldier's sweetheart -- Sleep baby sleep (Jimmie Rodgers -- The longest train I ever saw -- Sweet heaven when I die -- Miss 'Liza, poor gal (Tenneva Ramblers) -- Greasy string -- Your blue eyes run me crazy (West Virginia Coon Hunters) -- Standing on the promises -- At the river

(Tennessee Mountaineers) -- CD 4. My name is Ticklish Reuben -- Way down in Alabama (Smyth County Ramblers) -- Do not wait 'till I'm laid 'neath the clay -- The days of my childhood plays -- We shall all be reunited (Alfred G. Karnes) -- If the light has gone out in your soul -- Went up in the clouds of heaven -- I know that Jesus set me free -- Shine on me -- Bright tomorrow -- A little talk with Jesus (Ernest Phipps & his Holiness Singers) -- I cannot be your sweetheart -- Three black sheep (Howard, Peak (the Blind Musicians)) -- Good-night darling --Little bunch of roses (Clarence Greene) -- The broken-hearted lover (The Stoneman Family --Angeline, the baker -- Old shoes and leggin's (Uncle Eck Dunford) -- We parted by the riverside (The Stoneman Family) -- Down to Jordan and be saved -- There's a light lit up in Galilee (Ernest Stoneman's Dixie Mountaineers) -- Going up the mountain after liquor (part 1) -- Going up the mountain after liquor (part 2) -- The spanish merchant's daughter -- Too late; (The Stoneman Family) -- CD 5. I'll be happy -- Like the rainbow -- Because I love him -- Come to the savior -- Do your best, then wear a smile -- We shall reach home (The Stamps Quartet) -- My mother is waiting for me in heaven above -- She has climbed the golden stair (Smith Brothers) --We'll sing on that shore -- Singing the story of grace -- Help me to find the way -- He'll be with me (The Palmer Sisters) -- Brownie blues -- Unknown blues (Tarter & Gay) -- Where is my mamma? -- When you go a'courtin' -- I sat upon the river bank -- New Orleans is the town I like best -- She tells me that I am sweet -- Mr. Brown, here I come (Carolina Twins) -- I truly understand, you love another man -- My mother's hands (Shortbuckle Roark & Family).

Brooks, Julay L. 2012. "Footprints in the Snow: The Intercontinental Journey of a Song." *Old-Time Herald* 13, no. 4. Traces the history of the song made famous by Bill Monroe, and includes ten audio clips of the song, 1931-1980, plus downloadable appendices: Songs that Aren't Footprints in the Snow; Discography; Acknowledgements and Footnotes.

Brown, Paul. 2009. "Mike Seeger: An Appreciation" [d. 2009; age 77]. *Old-Time Herald* 12, no. 1 (October-November). 2795 words. http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-12/12-1/seeger.html.

Browning, Linda Myers, and Donna McGuire Tanner. 2009. "Night Riders On the Air."

Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life 35, no. 1 (Spring): 28-29. The Night Riders country music band performed all over the state in the 1950s including Saturdays on WOAY in Oak Hill.

Buckingham, Bob. 2007. "Spring Fed Records: An Interview with Evan Hatch" [Arts Center of Cannon Co., Tenn.]. *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 10 (April-May). http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-10/springfed.html.

Buckingham, Robert. 2005. "Footmad Fall Fling" [Fayetteville, W. Va., festival; Friends of Old Time Music and Dance (FOOTMAD)]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 40 (July): 56-59.

Buford, Kate. 2006. "Don Stover: It Was a Beautiful Sound" [with the Lilly Brothers; banjo]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 41, no. 2 (August): 52-56.

Bufwack, Mary A., and Robert K. Oermann. 2003. *Finding Her Voice: Women in Country Music, 1800-2000*. Nashville: Country Music Foundation Press: Vanderbilt University Press.

607 pp. [The Spirit of the mountains: women in American folk music -- Southern sentiments: country females in nineteenth-century show business -- Single girl, married girl: The Carter Family and the birth of country music recording -- The National Barn Dance: country women, radio, and the Great Depression -- Hungry disgusted blues: women in protest -- Hollywood hayride: country music women in WWII -- Honky-tonk girl: Kitty Wells and her postwar sisters -- All-day sing: women and Southern gospel music -- Rockabilly women: let's have a party -- The Nashville sound: Patsy Cline and the Grand Ole Opry -- The Folk revival: Come all ye fair and tender maidens -- You're lookin' at country: Loretta Lynn and working-class pride -- The Heroines of heartbreak: Tammy Wynette and traditional values -- Just because I'm a woman: Dolly Parton and her savvy sisters -- Hollywood Tennessee: Barbara Mandrell and the show queens of country music -- Back to country: Emmylou Harris and the country-rock fusion -- Little darlin's not my name: women in bluegrass -- Eighties ladies and beyond: images for modern times -- Meeting the millennium: female country triumphs].

Bull, Debby. 2000. Hillbilly Hollywood: The Origins of Country & Western Style, Featuring the Vintage Costume Collection of Marty Stuart [pictorial; 1930s-50s]. New York: Rizzoli. 105 pp.

Burrell, Brett. 2002. "Breakin' Down Down Yonder in the Wildwood Flowers: An Interview with Brett Burrell" [buck dancing; Tenn.]. By Kasie Hicks. *Foxfire Magazine* 36 (Fall/Winter): 112-118.

Burton, Tom, and Ambrose Manning. 1997. "A Checklist of Child Ballad Variants Found in Southern Appalachia" [spreadsheets; bibliography]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 58 (no.3): 102-116.

Burton, Tom. 1997. "The Lion's Share: Scottish Ballads in Southern Appalachia" [English, Scottish, and variants]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 58 (no.3): 95-101.

Cahan, Andy. 2002. "Adam Manly Reece: An Early Banjo Player of Grayson County, Virginia." In *American Musical Traditions*. Vol. 3, *British Isles Music*, ed. J. Titon and B. Carlin, 87-93. New York: Schirmer Reference.

Campbell, Gavin James. 1997. "'Old Can Be Used Instead of New': Shape-Note Singing and the Crisis of Modernity in the New South, 1880-1920." *Journal of American Folklore* 110 (Spring): 169-188.

Campbell, Gavin James. 2004. "The Georgia Old-Time Fiddling Contest" [Atlanta; 1913-1930s]. Chap. 3 in *Music and the Making of a New South*, 100-142. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Campbell, Mark. 2009. "An Interview with Mark Campbell." By Laura Chessin. *Old-Time Herald* 12, no. 1 (October-November). Master Fiddler; Va.; champion, collector, mentor. http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-12/12-1/campbell.html.

Cantwell, Robert. [1984] 2003. *Bluegrass Breakdown: The Making of the Old Southern Sound*. Reprint, with a new preface. Music in American Life. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 308 pp.

Cardwell, Nancy. 2001. "I'm on My Way to the Old Home: The Bill Monroe Bluegrass Music Foundation" [Rosine, Ky., restoration]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 36 (November): 22-26.

Cardwell, Nancy. 2008. "Appalshop's WMMT: Voice of the Hillbilly Nation." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 43, no. 6 (December): 44-48. Whitesburg, Ky., 88.7 FM.

Cardwell, Nancy. 2010. "Jesse McReynolds: Rounds Eighty Years with Renewed Energy and Inspiration" [b. 1929; Virginia Boys band; mandolin]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 45, no. 1 (July): 22-26.

Carlin, Bob. 2004. "Alan Lomax: The 1937 Kentucky Field Recordings" [228 12-inch disc recordings of ballads, fiddle and banjo tunes]. Bluegrass Unlimited 38 (May): 68-72.

Carlin, Bob. 2007. "Helton Brothers/J.D. Harris Discography" [1924-1941]. *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 10 (April-May). http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-10/heltons-discography.html.

Carlin, Bob. 2007. "Whip the Devil 'Round the Stump: More Stories from the Helton Brothers" [Cherokee ancestry and influence; N.C.]. *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 10 (April-May). Online with sound clip. http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-10/heltons.html.

Carlin, Bob. 2008. "Charlie Monroe: The 1930s and 1940s." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 42, no. 12 (June): 54-59. Guitarist and elder brother of Bill Monroe.

Carlin, Bob. 2008. "Fiddlin' Bill and the Taylors of Tennessee." *Old-Time Herald* 11, no. 4 (April-May). Nathaniel Greene Taylor (1819-1887), Alfred A. Taylor (1848-1932) and Robert Love Taylor (1850-1912); Watauga River Valley. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back issues/volume-11/11-4/taylors.html.

Carlin, Bob. 2008. "The Life and Music of Fiddlin' Bill Hensley." *Old-Time Herald* 11, no. 4 (April-May): online, with two sound clips. Mountain fiddler (1898-1969), Asheville, N.C. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-11/11-4/hensley.html.

Carlin, Bob. 2010. "Don Walker: North Carolina Bluegrass Music Pioneer" [b. 1917; guitar]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 45, no. 1 (July): 42-46.

Carlin, Richard, and Bob Carlin. 2000. *Southern Exposure: The Story of Southern Music in Pictures and Words* [1850s to WWII]. New York: Watson-Guptill Publications. 160 pp.

Carney, George O. 1996. "Western North Carolina: Culture Hearth of Bluegrass Music." *Journal of Cultural Geography* 16 (Fall/Winter): 65-87.

Carr, Patrick. 2002. "Johnny Cash: The Spirit Is Willing" [interview]. *Journal of Country Music* 22 (no. 3): 16-23.

Carter, Sandy. 2000. "Wild and Blue: The Politics of Country Music" [broad survey]. *Southern Exposure* 28 (Spring/Summer): 54-57.

Carter, Tom. [1977] 2005. "The Blackard-Shelor Story: Biography of a Hillbilly String Band." In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 87-94. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *Old Time Music* 24 (Spring).

Casbarro, Chris Ryan. 2008. "A Fiddler's Tale: An Interview with Chris Ryan Casbarro." By Abby Thompson. *Foxfire Magazine* 42, no. 3-4 (Fall-Winter): 13-22. First-place winner, 2007 Georgia State Fiddlers Convention, Hiawassee, Ga.

Carter, Carlene. 2010. "Interview with Carlene Carter." *Still: The Journal*, no. 2 (Winter). 5,000 words. "*Still* fiction editor Silas House conducted the interview with Carlene Carter for a 2007 feature in *No Depression* magazine as Carter was about to release her CD, *Stronger*, after a 13-year-hiatus from recording. House spoke to her about this CD, her 30-year-career as a musician and songwriter, and about playing her mother on stage in the musical *Wildwood Flowers: The June Carter Story*, which focused on her mother's early years with Mother Maybelle and the Carter Sisters." http://www.stilljournal.net/carlene-carter-interview.php.

Cash, John Carter. 2007. *Anchored in Love: An Intimate Portrait of June Carter Cash* [by her son; 1929-2003]. Nashville, Tenn.: Thomas Nelson. 202 pp.

Cash, John Carter. 2011. *House of Cash: The Legacies of My Father, Johnny Cash.* San Rafael, Calif.: Insight Editions. 158 pp. "...previously unpublished photographs, lyrics, art, notes, and recollections from the Cash family archives."

Cash, Johnny, with Patrick Carr. 1997. *Cash: The Autobiography* [his second autobiography; with discography]. San Francisco, Calif.: HarperSanFrancisco. 310 pp.

Cash, Johnny, with Patrick Carr. [1997] 2003. *Cash: The Autobiography* [1932-2003]. San Francisco, Calif.: HarperSanFrancisco. 310 pp. "At 65, the man who's been called the 'quintessential American troubadour' reflects on his extraordinary life and musical career."

Cash, Vivian, and Ann Sharpsteen. 2007. *I Walked the Line: My Life with Johnny*. New York: Scribner. 326 pp. Correspondence between Johnny Cash and his first wife Vivian [1934-2005] "covers a wide range of topics, from Cash's struggles with drug addiction and his tenacious family relationships to his divorce from the author and the inspirations for his most famous songs."

Cauthen, Joyce H. [1989] 2001. With Fiddle and Well-Rosined Bow: A History of Old-Time Fiddling in Alabama. Rpt. ed. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 282 pp.

Cauthen, Joyce. 2002. "A Peculiar Wiggling of the Bow': Old-Time Fiddling in Alabama." In *American Musical Traditions*. Vol. 3, *British Isles Music*, ed. J. Titon and B. Carlin, 115-121. New York: Schirmer Reference.

Chandler, Barbara. 2004. "Why I Believe That Lloyd Chandler Wrote "Conversation with Death," also Known as "O Death" [Madison Co., N.C.; c. 1916]. *Journal of Folklore Research* 41 (May-December): 127-132.

Chandler, Lloyd. 2004. "Conversation with Death" [song lyrics, c. 1916; popularly titled "O Death"]. *Journal of Folklore Research* 41 (May-December): 125-126.

Ching, Barbara. 2001. *Wrong's What I Do Best: Hard Country Music and Contemporary Culture*. New York: Oxford University Press. 186 pp.

Claypool, James C. 2010. *Kentucky's Bluegrass Music* [vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Contents: The beginnings | The 1940s and early 1950s | The bluegrass revival's formative years | Keeping the faith | The 1970s | Classic and progressive bluegrass | The 1980s | Sustaining the momentum | The modern bluegrass circuit in Kentucky | The stars of today and tomorrow.

Clifton, Bill. 2009. "Michael Seeger: August 15, 1933–August 7, 2009" [biographical profile and tribute]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 44, no. 4 (October): 16.

Cline, Patsy. 1999. *Love Always, Patsy: Patsy Cline's Letters to a Friend* [transcripts of letters to Treva Miller Steinbicker, 1955-1959]. Compiled by Cindy Hazen and Mike Freeman. New York: Berkley Books. 272 pp.

Cobb, Buell E. [1978] 1989. *The Sacred Harp: A Tradition and Its Music*. Rpt. ed. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 245 pp.

Cobb, James C. 2008. "Rednecks, White Socks, and Pina Coladas?: Country Music Ain't What It Used to Be...And It Never Was." In *Southern Cultures: The Fifteenth Anniversary Reader*, ed. H. Watson and L. Griffin, 147-154. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Cockman, John E. 2012. "The Cockman Family" [Catawba Co.]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 58, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 23-26. Winners of the 2011 Community Traditions Award, "the Cockman Family has preserved and presented old-time gospel hymns...for nearly 25 years."

Cogswell, Robert G. 2001. "Bob Douglas: In Memoriam" [1900-2001; renowned Chattanoogaarea fiddler]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 60 (no. 1): 32-33.

Cogswell, Robert. 2012. "Charlie Collins: A Life in Music" [1933-2012; Tenn. fiddler and guitar accompanist]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 46, no. 11 (May): 50-54, plus "Charlie Collins Discography" of 57 recordings, 1968-1990. Collins was a prominent session player and longtime sideman on the "Grand Ole Opry."

Cohen, John. 1995. "Naming the High Lonesome Sound." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 30 (December): 42-44.

Cohen, John. 2011. *The High and Lonesome Sound: The Legacy of Roscoe Holcomb* [1912-1981; Ky. banjoist, vocalist, and folk musician]. Göttingen, Germany: Steidl. 261 pp., with audiodisc (13 songs), and videodisc (60 min.). Photographs from eastern Kentucky, 1959; Virginia and North Carolina, 1961, 1965.

Cohen, Ronald D. 2006. "Agnes 'Sis' Cunningham and Labor Songs in the Depression South." Chap. 4 in *Radicalism in the South since Reconstruction*, ed. C. Green, R. Rubin, and J. Smethurst, 82-96. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Cohen, Ronald D. 2010. *Work and Sing: A History of Occupational and Labor Union Songs in the United States*. Crockett, Calif.: Carquinez Press. 190 pp. Contents: The early decades -- African American songs -- Labor/union songs, part 1 -- The later 1930s and the war years -- The postwar years to 1960 -- Recent decades.

Cole, Ron. 2008. "Essential Hillbilly Commercial Recordings on 78s." *Old-Time Herald* 11, no. 4 (April-May): online, with seven sound clips. "Pre-war hillbilly," 1920s-30s. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-11/11-4/78s.html.

Collett, Dexter. 2006. "The Musicians of the Mine Wars (Part II)" [1930s-present; excerpt from *The Rabble-Rousers of Bloody Harlan*; bibliography]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 2 (Spring): 62-75.

Collett, Dexter. 2006. "The Musicians of the Mine Wars (Part I)" [1920s-1930s; excerpt from a work in progress]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 2 (Spring): 72-81.

Conger, Bill. 2006. "Bobby Osborne–On His Own" [Osborne Brothers]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 41, no. 3 (September): 30-33.

Conger, Bill. 2012. "A Salute to the Bluegrass Greats." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 46, no. 8 (February): 34-36. Testimonials and music in memory of Bill Monroe (d. 1996) on the celebration of his 100th birthday.

Conway, Cece. 2006. "Rites of Passage in the Life Story of Exceptional Mountain Fiddler Thomas Jefferson Jarrell" [1901-1985; N.C.]. *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 56, no. 2 (Fall): 108-127.

Conway, Cecelia. 1995. *African Banjo Echoes in Appalachia: A Study of Folk Traditions*. Publications of the American Folkore Society. New Series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 394 pp.

Cordle, Joel. 2004. "The Myers Sisters—Music from Apple Pie Ridge" [N.C., Ga.; ages 87, 84, 79]. *Old-Time Herald* 9, no. 4 (Summer). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/.

Cox, Bob L. 2007. *Fiddlin' Charlie Bowman: An East Tennessee Old-Time Music Pioneer and His Musical Family* [1889-1962; 1920s-1950s]. Afterword by Archie Green. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 224 pp.

Cox, Bob. 2005. "Ridin' the Rails with Fiddlin' Charlie Bowman" [1889-1962; "champion fiddler"; Gray Station, Tenn.; the Hill Billies; sound clip of "Donkey on the Railroad Track"]. *The Old-Time Herald* 9, no. 7 (Spring).

http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-9/9-7/charlie-bowman.html.

Crabtree, Mark. 2009. "Hard Work and Music: Fiddler Elmer Rich" [b. 1919; Monongalia Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 3 (Fall): 44-49. Sidebar: "Elmer Rich and 'Colored Aristocracy'," by Mike Seeger [tune recorded in 1936 for collector Charles Seeger].

Craver, Mike. 2003. "Tommy Thompson: 1937-2003" [banjo player, singer, songwriter, and co-founder of the Red Clay Ramblers]. *Sing Out!* 47 (Summer): 222-223.

Crow, David. 2011. "Kenneth Clayton Baker, June 26, 1926–July 8, 2011." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 46, no. 3 (September): 16. Career overview of this esteemed Ky. fiddler who "played longer with Bill Monroe and the Blue Grass Boys than any other member."

Cusic, Don. 2002. "Politics and Country Music, 1963-1974" [discography by year]. In *Country Music Annual 2002*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 161-185. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Cutting, Jennifer. 2004. "'Goodness Gracious, It's Good!': The Martha White Flour Show Collection" [tapes of two 1968 shows featuring Lester Flatt and Earl Scruggs, Johnny Cash and the Carter Family, and Carl Perkins]. *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 26, no. 4 (Fall): 3-4, cover photo. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/news-text-fall2004.html.

Dabback, W. M. 2010. "Exploring Communities of Music in Virginia's Shenandoah Valley" [Rockingham Co.]. *International Journal of Community Music* 3, no. 2 (July): 213-228.

Dalsemer, Robert G. [1982] 2001. *West Virginia Square Dances* [Internet Edition; audiolinks]. http://www.cdss.org/publications/wvasquares/index.html. Originally published: New York: Country Dance & Song Society of America, 85 pp.

Daniel, Harlan. 1999. "78 RPM Recordings of Sacred Harp Songs: Preliminary Notes Contributing Towards a Numerical Check List" [1922-1934]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 59 (no. 1): 30-39.

Daniel, Harlan. 1999. "From Shape Notes to Bank Notes: Milestones in the Evolution of White Gospel Music" [1640-1976]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 59 (no. 1): 26-29.

Daniel, Harlan. 1999. "Peripheral American Hymnody: An Overview" [early Christian education, songs, hymnals]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 59 (no. 1): 9-25.

Daniel, Wayne W. [1990] 2001. *Pickin' on Peachtree: A History of Country Music in Atlanta, Georgia*. Music in American Life. Rpt. ed. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 295 pp.

Daniel, Wayne W. 1997. "The Legacy of A. P. Carter: A Famous Singer, Arranger, and Song Preserver Who Might Have Been a Famous Fiddler." *Devil's Box* 31 (Summer): 24-28.

Daniel, Wayne W. 1999. "Fiddles, Fiddlers, and Fiddling in American Short Fiction." Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin 59 (no. 2): 61-68.

Daniel, Wayne W. 2001. "If You Think You're 'Drifting Too Far from the Shore,' Maybe You should 'Kneel at the Cross': Such Might Have Been the Advice of Gospel Music Composer Charles E. Moody" [written 1923; Ga.; 1891-1977; discography, pp. 22-24]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 60 (no. 1): 14-24.

Daniel, Wayne W. 2002. "Times Ain't Like They Used to Be: Kentucky Pioneer Country Musician Curley Collins Remembered" [1915-1986; b. Catlettsburg, Ky.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 37 (August): 66-72.

Daniel, Wayne W. 2005. "Hayloft Patriotism: The *National Barn Dance* during World War II" [radio broadcast on WLS, Chicago's 50,000-watt station]. In *Country Music Goes to War*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 81-101. Lexington, Ky.: University Press of Kentucky.

Davidson, Eric, and Jane Rigg. 2002. "Uncle Wade: A Memorial to Uncle Wade Ward, Old-Time Virginia Banjo Picker" [1892-1971]. In *American Musical Traditions*. Vol. 3, *British Isles Music*, ed. J. Titon and B. Carlin, 94-100. New York: Schirmer Reference.

Davis, Adda Leah. 2003. "Dr. Ralph Stanley and A Journey of Faith" [interview; Primitive Baptist Church]. *Appalachian Journal* 30 (Winter-Spring): 204-211.

Davis, Don. 2012. *Nashville Steeler: My Life in Country Music*. By Don Davis, as told to Ruth B. White. Atglen, Pa.: Schiffer. 144 pp., with 100 photos. "...true account of the rise of country music...told by a 1940s band musician, Don Davis, who became a music business executive and worked with all the Grand Ole Opry stars....over his sixty-year career."

Dawidoff, Nicholas. 1997. *The Country of Country Music: A Journey to the Roots of American Music*. New York: Pantheon Books. 371 pp. (Paperback reprint, New York: Vintage Books, 1998)

Decosimo, Joseph. 2006. "Clint Kilgore: Fiddle Music from the Sequatchie Valley" [87 years old; Tenn.]. *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 6 (August-September). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-6/kilgore.html.

Deitz, Roger. 2009. "Billy Edd Wheeler: Major Songwriting in a Miner's Key." *Sing Out!* 52, no. 4 (Spring): 34-41.

Dicaire, David. 2010. *The Early Years of Folk Music: Fifty Founders of the Tradition* [biographical profiles]. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 242 pp. International scope; 17th to 20th centuries.

Dickens, Hazel, and Bill C. Malone. 2008. Working Girl Blues: The Life and Music of Hazel Dickens. Music in American Life series. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 102 pp. Brief biography; W. Va.; song lyrics and memories; discography.

Dickens, Hazel. 2004. "'West Virginia, My Home': A Visit With Hazel Dickens" [songwriter, performer; b. 1935, Mercer Co.]. Interview by John Lilly. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Summer): 32-37.

Dinwiddie, Joseph. 1998. "Where Have All the Fiddles Gone?" [defense of regional music and plea for Berea College's music department to broaden its exclusively classical program of instruction]. *Appalachian Heritage* 26 (Fall): 6-14.

Dinwiddie, Joseph. 1999. "It Don't Mean a Thang If It Ain't Got That Twang: Banjo and Fiddle Dance Music of Southern Appalachia" [tradition]. *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Summer): 12-16.

Discovering Appalachian Music. 1995. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 12 (Summer): 1-44.

Dobbs, Joe. 2011. *A Country Fiddler* [biography; Louisiana native]. Huntington, W. Va.: Mid-Atlantic Highlands. 287 pp. Dobbs is host of West Virginia Public Broadcasting's "Music from the Mountains" weekly radio program.

Doc Watson, March 3, 1923–May 29, 2012. 2012. Special issue, *Bluegrass Unlimited* 47, no. 1 (July): 14-17, 26-27, 30-31, and cover photo.

Doman, Katie. 2005. "Something Old, Something New: The Carter Family's Bristol Sessions Recordings" [1927]. In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 66-86. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Donleavy, Kevin. 2004. *Strings of Life: Conversations with Old-Time Musicians from Virginia and North Carolina* [eleven-county area around Galax, Va., and Mount Airy, N.C.]. Blacksburg, Va.: Pocahontas Press. 347 pp.

Dotson Lewis, B.L. 2008. *The Sunny Side of Appalachia: Bluegrass from the Grassroots*. West Conshohocken, Pa.: Infinity Publishing. 184 pp. Musician interviews, narratives, photos; W. Va.

Douglas, John. 2002. "Joltin' Jim McCoy: Morgan County's Country Music Troubadour [b. 1929; Berkeley Springs]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Spring): 54-59.

Douglas, John. 2007. *Joltin' Jim: Jim McCoy's Life in Country Music* [b. 1929; inducted into West Virginia Country Music Hall of Fame, 2003]. Berkeley Springs, W. Va.: Troubadour Productions. 79 pp.

Eaker, Susan A., and Geoff Eaker. 2002. "A Banjo on Her Knee: Appalachian Women and America's First Instrument: Part One" [19th-century]. *Old-Time Herald Online* 8, no. 2 (Winter): 27 para. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/eissues.htm.

Eaker, Susan A., and Geoff Eaker. 2002. "A Banjo on Her Knee: Appalachian Women and America's First Instrument: Part Two" [19th-century]. *Old-Time Herald Online* 8, no. 3 (Spring): 2 para. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/eissues.htm.

Earnest, Nancy Jane. 2008. "Music for the Masses: The Flourishing of Symphony Orchestras in Appalachia." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 48-50. Special issue—"Urbane Appalachia."

Earnest, Nancy Jane. 2008. "Still Sewing the Fabric of Appalachia." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 5-7. Denim; L.C. King Manufacturing Co., Bristol, Tenn.; Special issue—"Fabric of Appalachia."

Eastburn, Kathryn. 2008. A Sacred Feast: Reflections on Sacred Harp Singing and Dinner on the Ground. At Table series. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 166 p. Shape-note singers, recipes: Ala., Ky., Tex., Colo., Wash.

Edwards, Leigh H. 2009. *Johnny Cash and the Paradox of American Identity*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press. 241 pp. "...a walking contradiction: social protester and establishment patriot, drugged wildman and devout Christian crusader, rebel outlaw hillbilly thug and elder statesman."

Ellersten, Peter. 2002. "The untaught melody of grateful hearts': Southern Appalachian Folk Hymnody in Illinois, 1800-1850." *Journal of Illinois History* 5 (Winter): 258-282.

Ely, Macel. 2011. *Ain't No Grave: The Life and Legacy of Brother Claude Ely* [1922-1978; based on oral history interviews]. Atlanta, Ga.: Dust-to-Digital. 345 pp., plus CD sound disc. Influential ("Elvis Presley, Johnny Cash") gospel singer and Pentecostal Holiness preacher.

Erbsen, Wayne. 2003. *Rural Roots of Bluegrass: Songs, Stories & History*. Asheville, N.C.: Native Ground Music. 180 pp.

Eriksen, Timothy. 2011. "Review: The Makers of the Sacred Harp." *Southern Spaces*, 17 October. Online review essay of *The Makers of the Sacred Harp*, by David Warren Steel and Richard H. Hulan (University of Illinois Press, 2010), with Recommended Resources: print, film, links. http://www.southernspaces.org/2011/review-makers-sacred-harp.

Escott, Colin. 2001. "Water from an Ancient Well." *Journal of Country Music* 22 (no. 1): 33-35. Review essay of the recording, "The Carter Family: In the Shadow of Clinch Mountain" (Bear Family Records, BCD 15865). 12 CDs with 120-page book.

Escott, Colin. 2003. *Lost Highway: The True Story of Country Music* [history]. Washington, D.C.: Smithsonian Institution Press. 192 pp. Companion to the BBC television series. Originally published: London: BBC Books, 2003.

Eskew, Harry. 2008. "Sacred Harp." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 12: *Music*, 128-133. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Ewing, Tom, ed. 2000. *The Bill Monroe Reader* [d. 1996; selected articles]. Music in American Life series. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 301 pp.

Ewing, Tom. 1998. "What Did He Say? Bill Monroe on Bluegrass" [highlights his musical convictions]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 33 (September): 62-65.

Ewing, Tom. 2005. "Bob Jamieson and the Original Bluegrass Boys" [Miss. fiddler, b. 1916; member of Bill Monroe's original group]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 40 (July): 48-51.

Experiencing Traditional Music: Southeastern Bluegrass and Gospel Festivals [directory, by state; 73 festivals]. 2011. In *Foxfire 45th Anniversary Book: Singin'*, *Praisin'*, *Raisin'*, ed. J. Green, and C. Best, 493-502. New York: Anchor Books.

Fairchild, Raymond. 1995. "Raymond Fairchild." Interview by Britt Long. *Appalachian Journal* 22 (Summer): 392-406.

Farmelo, Allen. 2001. "Another History of Bluegrass: The Segregation of Popular Music in the United States, 1820-1900." *Popular Music and Society* 25 (Spring/Summer): 179-203.

Feather, Carl E. 2003. "'We Like This Old Music': Wetzel County's Hillbilly Haven" [bluegrass, country music park]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Summer): 66-69.

Feather, Carl E. 2003. "Country Store Opry: Grant County's Music Capitol" [since 1967; Pansy, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Summer): 56-61, with appended profile of 91-year-old comedienne Elsie Whitmer, 62-65.

Feather, Carl E. 2004. "Seventh Heaven': Saturday Night at the Sagebrush Round-up" [country music hall, Marion Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Winter): 32-41. Sidebar on "Bill Murray," Sagebrush's oldest musician [b. 1915], 38-39.

Feather, Carl E. 2004. "Sounds of Home': Songwriter Dorsey Wiseman" [gospel musician; Randolph Co.; b. 1937]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Winter): 48-53.

Feather, Carl E. 2004. "Little John Graham and Cherokee Sue: A Radio Love Story" [1930s-40s; radio performers; WMMN, Fairmont]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Winter): 42-47.

Feather, Carl E. 2007. "The Purple Fiddle: New Tradition in Thomas" [music cafe's 2002 beginnings, co-owners; Tucker Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 1 (Spring): 54-61.

Feintuch, Burt. 2008. "Square Dancing and Clogging. In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 12: *Music*, 145-148. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Ferris, William R. 2007. "Alan Lomax: The Long Journey" [1915-2002]. *Southern Cultures* 13, no. 3 (Fall): 132-143.

Filene, Benjamin. 2000. *Romancing the Folk: Public Memory and American Roots Music* [folk music; ballads]. Cultural Studies of the United States series. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 325 pp.

Filene, Benjamin. 2004. "O Brother, What Next?: Making Sense of the Folk Fad" [O Brother, Where Art Thou? (film, 2000)]. Southern Cultures 10, no. 2 (Summer): 50-69.

Fine, Jason, ed. 2004. *Cash* [Johnny Cash, "by the editors of Rolling Stone"]. Foreword by Rosanne Cash. New York: Crown Publishers. 224 pp. Tributes from Bob Dylan, Bono, Willie Nelson, and others.

Fleischhauer, Carl. 2001. *Bluegrass Odyssey: A Documentary in Pictures and Words, 1966-1986.* Music in American Life. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 189 pp.

Fletcher, Karen L. 1997. "16 Years of Foot-Stompin" — The FOOTMAD Story" [Friends of Old-Time Music and Dance]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Spring): 31.

Fluharty, Twila Dawn. 2004. *The Dulcimer Man: The Russell Fluharty Story* [1906-1989; autobiographical writings; Mannington, W. Va.]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 181 pp.

Fowler, Gene, and Bill Crawford. 2002. *Border Radio: Quacks, Yodelers, Pitchmen, Psychics, and Other Amazing Broadcasters of the American Airwaves* [Mexican Border Region; references to the Carters, Grand Ole Opry/WSM, and "hillbilly"]. Austin: University of Texas Press. 360 pp.

Fox, Aaron A. 2005. "Alternative' to What?: *O Brother*, September 11, and the Politics of Country Music." In *Country Music Goes to War*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 164-191. Lexington, Ky.: University Press of Kentucky.

Foxfire Boys, The. 2008. "Kickin' Around with The Foxfire Boys." Interview by students Austin Bauman and Jared Weber. *Foxfire Magazine* 42 (Spring-Summer): 19-52. String band, Rabun County, Ga.

Freed, Mark. 2007. "Ora Watson–Watauga County's Senior Musician: 'Music Keeps Me Young'" [N.C.; 95-year-old fiddler]. *Old-Time Herald* 11, no. 1 (October-November). Online with sound clip. http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-11/11-1/ora-watson.html.

Freed, Mark. 2007. "The Johnson County Fiddlers Convention at Laurel Bloomery, Tennessee." *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 10 (April-May). http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-10/laurel-bloomery.html.

Frere-Jones, Sasha. 2010. "As Is: Bill Withers Makes No Apologies" [b. 1938, Slab Fork, W. Va.]. *New Yorker*, 8 March, 76-77. Withers wrote best-selling songs including "Just the Two of Us."

http://www.newyorker.com/arts/critics/musical/2010/03/08/100308crmu_music_frerejones?print able=true#ixzz0hJpvkFtP.

Friesen, Orin. 2011. "Me and Bill" [memories of Bill Monroe, by a radio broadcaster]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 45, no. 10 (April): 54-58.

Friskics-Warren, Bill. 2011. "Hazel Dickens, Folk Singer, Dies at 75." *New York Times*, 23 April, Obituary, 17(A). 850 words. Born 1935, Mercer County, W. Va., "...a clarion-voiced advocate for coal miners and working people and a pioneer among women in bluegrass music."

Friskics-Warren, Bill. 2000. "Grand Ole Opry: The Next Generation." *Journal of Country Music* 21 (no. 2): 14-21.

Friskics-Warren, Bill. 2009. "Charting the Deep Waters of Old-Timer Charlie Poole" [legendary N.C. singer, banjo player, and country music recording star, predating the 1927 Bristol Sessions]. *Washington Post*, 18 August, 5(C). 1085 words. See also: Terri Gross's August 19th "Fresh Air" interview on NPR with Loudon Wainwright who recorded a double-album tribute titled "High Wide and Handsome: The Charlie Poole Project" [48 minutes]. http://www-cdn.npr.org/templates/story/story.php?storyId=112023188.

Fulcher, Robert. 2008. "Bob Douglas, Fiddler of the Century: Part 1, Biography" [b. 1900]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 64, no. 2 (Fall): 3-32. Sequatchie Valley; Walden's Ridge; Cumberland Plateau; Chattanooga.

Fulcher, Robert. 2009. "Bob Douglas, Fiddler of the Century: Part 2, Tune List and Discography" [1928-2010]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 65, no. 1 (Spring): 3-28. Tune titles (448), 78-RPM records, radio transcriptions, LP-records (12), cassette tapes (13), videos, and CDs.

Fulks, Danny. 2008. "She Took Up the Banjo...and Never Looked Back': Kristin Scott Benson." *Appalachian Journal* 36, no. 1-2 (Fall 2008/Winter 2009): 86-89. Review essay of "Second Season," CD by Benson (Columbus, N.C.: Pinecastle Records, 2008).

Fussell, Fred C. 2003. *Blue Ridge Music Trails: Finding a Place in the Circle* [history; guidebook]. Photographs by Cedric N. Chatterley. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 255 pp.

Gabehart, Jim. 2012. "Mountaineer Opry House: Milton's Home for Bluegrass Music [since 1972; Cabell Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 3 (Fall): 36-41.

Garriock, Shay. 2007. "Old-Time Music from Lick Creek, Virginia: Hick and Sue Edmonds" [Smyth Co.]. *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 11 (June-July). Online sound clip and interview. http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-11/edmonds.html.

Garrison, Theodore. [1944] 2002. "Forty-Five Folk Songs Collected from Searcy County" [Ark.]. Edited by W. K. McNeil, Director, Ozark Folk Center. *Mid-America Folklore* 30 no. 1 and 2: 1-215.

Garst, John. 2002. "Man of Constant Sorrow': Antecedents and Tradition." In *Country Music Annual 2002*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 26-53. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Gartner, Paul. 1997. "Elmer Bird: The Banjo Man from Turkey Creek" [b. 1920; Vandalia Award winner]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Summer): 45-52.

Gartner, Paul. 1997. "The Kessinger Family" [Clark Kessinger, fiddler; 1896-1975]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Fall): 20-23, 26-27.

Gartner, Paul. 2000. "Dr. Gainer: Folk Festival Founder" [Patrick Gainer, 1904-1981; West Virginia State Folk Festival]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Summer): 58-59.

Gartner, Paul. 2007. "Musical Wood: Violin Maker Harold Hayslett" [89-year-old, world-class builder; South Charleston]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 1 (Spring): 46-53.

Gates, David. 2001. "Constant Sorrow: Ralph Stanley's Fifty Years on the Road" [bluegrass banjo great]. *New Yorker*, 20 August, 88-94.

George-Warren, Holly. 2006. *Honky-Tonk Heroes & Hillbilly Angels: The Pioneers of Country & Western Music* [children's literature]. Folk art illustrations by Laura Levine. Boston, Mass.: Houghton Mifflin. 32 pp. Profiles legends including Hank Williams, Patsy Cline, Loretta Lynn, Johnny Cash, The Carter Family, Jimmie Rodgers, and Bill Monroe.

Gerrard, Alice. 2007. "Old-Time Flatfoot and Square Dancing in the Blue Ridge: Memories of Bertie Mae Dickens, Julie Jarrell Lyons, Luther Davis, Arlin and Vinnie Flippin of Galax, Virginia and Toast and Low Gap, North Carolina." *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 11 (June-July). http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-11/dancebeat.html.

Gerrard, Alice. 2010. "20 Years of the Old-Time Herald at Merlefest." *Old-Time Herald* 12, no. 8 (December 2010-January 2011): 8-13. MerleFest is located at Wilkes Community College in Wilkesboro, N.C.

Gillespie, Gail. 2001. "Musical Affairs of the Heart: Part Two: Banjo Stories." *Old-Time Herald Online* 8, no. 1 (Fall): 65 para. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/8-1/heart.htm.

Godbey, Marty. 2011. *Crowe on the Banjo: The Music Life of J.D. Crowe* [b. 1937, Lexington, Ky.]. Music in American Life series. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 232 pp.

Goertzen, Chris. 2008. *Southern Fiddlers and Fiddle Contests*. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 163 pp. Appendix: "Four Fiddlers Speak": Richard Bowman, Bobby Taylor, Lark Reynolds, Wes Westmoreland.

Goff, James R., Jr. 2002. *Close Harmony: A History of Southern Gospel*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 394 pp.

Goldenseal Update: "Gerald Milnes" [folklorist, musician]. 1999. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Fall): 21.

Goldsmith, Thomas, ed. 2004. *The Bluegrass Reader* [anthology of 64 essays: Pt. 1: The Big Bang, 1939-59; Pt. 2: The Reseeding of Bluegrass, 1960-79; Pt. 3: Another Roots Revival, 1980-2000]. Music in American Life. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 353 pp.

Goldsmith, Thomas. 2006. "A Conversation with Mac Wiseman" [b. 1925; singer, guitarist, and a founder of the Country Music Association]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 40 (February): 24-27.

Goldsmith, Thomas. 2007. "Alison Krauss: Then and Now." Part 2. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 42, no. 2 (August): 34-38. (Part 1, "Alison Krauss: What Inspires Me," vol. 42, no. 1: 24-27).

Gordon, Josh. 2010. "Soul of the Mountains': A Visit with Fiddler Bobby Taylor" [2010 Vandalia Award recipient]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 3 (Fall): 20-29. Sidebar, "Remembering Lincoln Taylor: Legacy of a Roane County Fiddler" [b. 1911], by John Lilly, 24-25.

Graham, Bill. 2009. "Monroe's Gouged Headstock Veneer on Auction Block" [Bill Monroe's 1950s-gouged Gibson F-5 mandolin; Christie's auction house]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 44, no. 5 (November): 54-55.

Grant, Marshall, with Chris Zar. 2006. *I Was There When It Happened: My Life with Johnny Cash* [bassist for Cash]. Forewords by The Statler Brothers and Rosanne Cash. Nashville, Tenn: Cumberland House. 367 pp.

Graves, Josh. 2012. "Josh Graves: Foggy Mountain Boy." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 47, no. 4 (October): 24-27. Excerpt from *Bluegrass Bluesman: A Memoir*, by Josh Graves (ed. Fred Bartenstein, 2012): "Chapter 3: 1955-1969, Part 1, Foggy Mountain Boy."

Graves, Josh. 2012. *Bluegrass Bluesman: A Memoir* [1927-2006; dobro player]. Edited by Fred Bartenstein. Foreword by Neil Rosenberg. Music in American Life series. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 133 pp. Based on transcribed interviews conducted by Barry Willis in 1994. Contents: 1927-1942, a Tennessee childhood | 1942-1955, a musical apprenticeship | 1955-1969, Part 1, Foggy Mountain Boy | 1955-1969, Part 2, life on the road and the breakup | 1969-1994, king of the dobro | A man of many talents | Reflections on bluegrass old and new | A family musical legacy | Testimony from Josh Graves's contemporaries and those he influenced [including Earl Scruggs, Mac Wiseman, Mike Auldridge, Herb Pederson, Jerry Douglas, Marty Stuart, and eighteen others].

Gray, Tom. 1999. "Dobro: The Resonator Guitar That Wouldn't Die" [history from 1920s to present]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 33 (January): 50-55.

Green, Stephen. 1995. "The Berea Tune Lists." *Tennessee Folkore Society Bulletin* 57 (no.2): 39-67.

Green, Steve. 2007. "Old 78s and Shiitakes: Carole Anne Rose and Curly Miller" [Ozark mountains, Ark.]. *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 8 (December 2006-January 2007). Online, with sound clip. http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-8/old78s.html.

Griffin, Larry J. 2006. "Give Me That Old-Time Music...or Not" [surveys; regional and racial tastes]. *Southern Cultures* 12, no. 4: 98-107.

Grimes, Anne. 2010. Stories from the Anne Grimes Collection of American Folk Music. Compiled and edited by Sara Grimes, Jennifer Grimes Kay, Mary Grimes, and Mindy Grimes. Athens: Ohio University Press. 188 pp., plus CD sampler. Portraits of contributors of traditional music collected by Ohio folksinger and scholar Anne Grimes (1912-2004) in 1950s Ohio. Contents: Frank Allen -- Reuben Allen -- Bertha Bacon -- Sarah Basham and Bertha Basham Wright -- John W. Beattie -- Henry Lawrence Beecher -- John M. Bodiker -- Paul Bogatay --Dolleah Church -- Governor James M. Cox -- Walter W. Dixon -- Dulcerine Players of Southeastern Ohio: Bob White, Ken Ward, Lilly McGhee Ward Swick, Charles Ralston -- Arthur Byrd Fields -- Ella Strawser Flack -- Blanche Wilson Fullen -- Bob Gibson -- A.B. Graham --Brodie Franklin Halley -- Perry Harper -- Amanda Styers Hook -- Arthur Emerson Kieffer --Donald Langstaff -- Fanny Hagerman Laylin -- Lottie Leas -- Bascom Lamar Lunsford -- W.E. Lunsford and the John H. Lunsford Dulcimer -- Marcus and Wade Martin and the Martin Dulcimers -- Jane Jones McNerlin and the McNerlin Family Dulcimers -- The National Folk Festival at St. Louis: May Kennedy McCord, Jenny Wells Vincent, Pete Seeger -- Neva Randolph -- Eli "Babe" Reno -- Branch Rickey -- Carl Sandburg -- Arthur D. Tyler and the Tyler Dulcimer -- William T. Utter and Scheitholts from Licking County -- Bessie Weinrich -- Faye Wemmer -- Bird O. White and Anne White -- Anne Rayner Wilson -- Okey Wood and the Okey Wood Dulcimer.

Grimes, William. 2011. "Kenny Baker, 85, Fiddler Steeped in Bluegrass Style" [obituary; b. 1926; Ky.]. *New York Times*, 2 August: 14(B). 510 words. "...recorded more than 230

songs...between 1968 and 1984" with Bill Monroe and the Bluegrass Boys. www.nytimes.com/2011/08/02/arts/music/kenny-baker-bluegrass-fiddler-dies-at-85.html?_r=1.

Grimes, William. 2012. "Doc Watson, Blind Guitar Wizard Who Influenced Generations, Dies at 89." *New York Times*, 30 May, 21(B). 1,799 words. Videos and photos. http://www.nytimes.com/2012/05/30/arts/music/doc-watson-folk-musician-dies-at-89.html?_r=1&emc=na.

Gunderson, Linda. 2000. "Footnotin' with Ira: A Fiddler's Dancer" [clog dancing; Ira Bernstein]. *Old-Time Herald Online* 7, no. 3 (Spring). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/eissues.htm.

Gunderson, Linda. 2005. "Thomas Maupin: 'When I'm a-dancing'" [66-year-old, award-winning, Tenn. buckdancer; video clip]. *The Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 2 (Winter). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-2/maupin.html.

Gura, Philip F. 1999/2000. "Roots and Branches: Forty Years of the New Lost City Ramblers, Part 1." *Old-Time Herald Online* 7, no. 2 (Winter). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/eissues.htm.

Gura, Philip F. 2000. "Roots and Branches: Forty Years of the New Lost City Ramblers, Part 2." *Old-Time Herald Online* 7, no. 3 (Spring). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/eissues.htm.

Gustavson, Kent. [2010] 2012. *Blind but Now I See: The Biography of Music Legend Doc Watson* [N.C.; 1923-2012; blind flatpick guitarist extraordinaire]. 2nd ed. Foreword by Art Menius. New York: Sumach Red Books. 367 pp.

Hall, Stephanie. 2010. "Mike Seeger, August 15, 1933—August 7, 2009: 'So Many Sounds'." *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 32, no. 1-2 (Winter-Spring): 7-10. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/index.html.

Halsey Derek. 2010. "Katie Laur: Celebrating Twenty Years of 'Music from the Hills of Home'." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 44, no. 11 (May): 44-47. Bluegrass radio show broadcast on WNKU out of Northern Kentucky University.

Halsey Derek. 2010. "My Last Days on Earth: The Lost Bill Monroe Picture" [photo lost for 27 years]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 45, no. 6 (December): 32-33. Monroe (1911-1996) learned he had cancer during the 1981 recording sessions that included the song, "My Last Days on Earth."

Halsey, Derek. 2011. "The Appalachian Uprising Festival Celebrates Its Tenth Anniversary" [Ohio]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 45, no. 7 (January): 28-31.

Halsey, Derek. 2012. "Doc Watson Remembered by the Young Guns of Bluegrass" [1923-2012]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 47, no. 1 (July): 30-31. Four interviewed: Cody Kilby, Chris Thile, Chris Eldridge, and Jim VanCleve.

Halsey, Derek. 2012. "Doc Watson Remembered" [1923-1912]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 47, no. 1 (July): 26-27. "...the most influential flatpicker."

Hamessley, Lydia. 2005. "A Resisting Performance of an Appalachian Traditional Murder Ballad: Giving Voice to 'Pretty Polly'." *Women and Music: A Journal of Gender and Culture* 9, no. 1: 13-36.

Hamilton, Frank. 2002. "The Volo Bogtrotters: Old-Time Feeling in the 21st-Century." *Old-Time Herald Online* 8, no. 4 (Summer). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/eissues.htm.

Hanson, Bradley. 2008. "The Tennessee Jamboree: Local Radio, the Barn Dance, and Cultural Life in Appalachian East Tennessee" [photo-essays]. *Southern Spaces*, 20 November. Contents: Introduction | Rural Radio | The Barn Dance Genre | The Barn Dance in East Tennessee | LaFollette | WLAF | Tennessee Jamboree | Original Broadcast, Part 1: Music | Original Broadcast, Part 2: Advertising and Banter | "Our time has come and gone" | Notes | Recommended Resources. http://southernspaces.org/2008/tennessee-jamboree-local-radio-barn-dance-and-cultural-life-appalachian-east-tennessee.

Hardwig, Bill. 2001. "Cocks, Balls, Bats, and Banjos: Masculinity and Competition in the Bluegrass Music of Bill Monroe." *Southern Quarterly* 39 (Summer): 35-48.

Harkins, Anthony. 1996. "The Significance of 'Hillbilly' in Early Country Music, 1924-1945." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Fall): 311-322.

Harlan Daniel Special Issue [1932-1998; "Tributes and Memories" by Alice Daniel Pritchard, W. K. McNeil, and Judith McCulloh, pp. 2-4]. 1999. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 59 (no. 1): 1-47.

Harlow, Ilana. 2004. "First Henry Reed Award Goes to Young Ballad Singer" [sixteen-year-old Elizabeth LaPrelle from Rural Retreat, Va.; the Henry Reed Fund was established to benefit folk artists and to honor master Appalachian fiddler Henry Reed]. *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 26, no. 3 (Summer): 9. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/news-text-summer2004.html.

Harris, Aaron Keith. 2007. "Lonesome Day Records & Randall Deaton" [recording studio, Booneville, Ky.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 42, no. 4 (October): 76-80.

Harrison, Bill. 1996. "A History of the Tennessee Valley Old Time Fiddlers Convention." [Limestone Co., Ala.]. *Devil's Box* 30 (Winter): 5-10.

Harrison, Douglas. 2012. *Then Sings My Soul: The Culture of Southern Gospel Music*. Music in American Life series. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 228 pp. Contents: Introduction: A native informant's report from the field | Glory bumps, or the psychodynamics of the Southern gospel experience | Nostalgia, modernity, and the reconstruction roots of a tradition | The rise of "Southern" gospel music and the compensations of history | The gaitherization of contemporary southern gospel | Southern gospel in the key of queer | Epilogue: the soul's best song | List of

songs referenced | Appendix: methods and preliminary findings of a survey of attitudes and beliefs about southern gospel music.

Harrod, John. 2012. "We Just Knew That We Loved Kentucky Music: A Conversation with Kentucky Collector and Fiddler John Howard" [b. 1946, Shelby Co.]. Interviewed by Scott Prouty. *Old-Time Music* 13, no. 4. "…one of the leading documenters of older styles of traditional music in Kentucky....Harrod donated his collection to the Sound Archive at Berea College." http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-13/13-4/index.html.

Harvey, Steven. 2000. *Bound for Shady Grove* [reflective essays on mountain music, banjos, fiddles]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 157 pp.

Harvey, Steven. 2005. "Our Lady of the Five String" [musings on the banjo and Gregorian chant]. *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 55, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 83-91.

Harvey, Steven. 2006. "Gatherin' Around J.P. Fraley" [fiddler; interview; Ky.]. *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 56, no. 2 (Fall): 38-44.

Hatchett, Marion J. 2003. *A Companion to* The New Harp of Columbia [shape note singing reference]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 476 pp.

Hauslohner, A. W. 1997. "The Harold Hensley Story" [1922-1988; fiddler; b. Whitetop, Va.; Hollywood career]. *Devil's Box* 31 (Spring): 31-35.

Havighurst, Craig. 2007. *Air Castle of the South: WSM and the Making of Music City* [Nashille radio station; 1920s-1950s; country music; Grand Ole Opry]. Music in American Life. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 279 pp.

Hay, Fred J. 2008. "'The Ballad Bug Is the Most Fatal Bug': W. Amos 'Doc' Abrams, Song Collector" [1904-1991]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 55, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 65-73. Western N.C.; Appalachian State University special collections.

Hedrick, Amanda. 2009. "A Ballad Collection in the Making: One Student's Contribution" [Edith Walker, b. 1919; W.L. Eury Appalachian Collection, Appalachian State University]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 56, no. 1 (Spring-Summer): 33-40.

Helmick, Bernie. 2012. "The Shades: Rockin' the Mountains." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 1 (Spring): 10-11. Band, circa 1958, Elkins, W. Va.

Hemphill, Paul. 2005. *Lovesick Blues: The Life of Hank Williams* [1923-1953; biography]. New York: Viking. 207 pp.

Henry, Murphy H. 2001. "Come Prepared to Stay. Bring Fiddle: The Story of Sally Ann Forrester, the Original Bluegrass Girl" [1943-1946; the "first woman in bluegrass"]. In *Country*

Music Annual 2001, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 92-120. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Henry, Murphy Hicks. 2009. "Gloria Belle: Carving Her Own Path" [b. 1939; mandolin; pioneer career female bluegrass musician]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 44, no. 2 (August): 44-48.

Henry, Murphy Hicks. 2012. "Douglas Flint Dillard, March 6, 1937–May 16, 2012" [career overview]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 47, no. 1 (July): 12-13. Douglas was the banjo playing member of The Darlings on the *Andy Griffith Show*, and a member of the original Dillards.

Henry Reed Fund Established at the Library of Congress [W. Va. fiddler, 1884-1968]. 2001. *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 23, no. 1 (Winter): 13. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/index.html.

Herring, Caroline. 2012. "Caroline Herring" [interview; singer-songwriter]. *Still: The Journal*, no. 8 (Winter). 2,242 words. http://www.stilljournal.net/caroline-herring-interview.php.

Herzog, Mary Jean Ronan. 2006. "Keeping Old-Time Music Alive: The Contributions of David Holt to Appalachian Music and Culture." *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 53, no. 1 (Spring-Summer): 19-25. Portfolio: "A Gallery of Southern Folk Artists: Photographs by David Holt," 26-41.

Hesson, Ray. 2009. "Augusta Heritage Bluegrass Week: Elkins, West Virginia" [instruction, jam sessions, concerts]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 43, no. 7 (January): 40-43

Heyer, Bob. 1998. "Ivydale: The Morris Family Old-Time Music Festivals" [Clay Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Summer): 56-64.

Heyer, Bob. 2000. "Let's Keep It Traditional" [W. Va.'s State Folk Festival, Glenville]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Summer): 50-57.

Hill, Jeremy. 2011. "'Country Music Is Wherever the Soul of a Country Music Fan Is': Opryland U.S.A. and the Importance of Home in Country Music." *Southern Cultures* 17, no. 4 (Winter): 91-111.

Himes, Geoffrey. 2006. "A New Wave of Musicians Updates That Old-Time Sound" [new wave old-time string bands: the Mammals; Crooked Still; the Duhks]. *New York Times*, 5 November, 16 (sec. 2). 1909 words.

Himes, Geoffrey. 2012. "Dr. Ralph Stanley and the Clinch Mountain Boys." *Washington Post*, 10 February, 5(T). 1,101 words. Eighty-four years old, and in the running for a fourth Grammy Award. http://www.washingtonpost.com/gog/music-events/dr.-ralph-stanley-and-the-clinch-mountain-boys,1223628/critic-review.html.

Hitch, Robin. 2012. "Long Ago and 'Fasola' Away." *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 58, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 45-56. History of Sacred Harp Singing, 1600s-1900s.

Hofferth, Sandy, and Mary Briggs. 2007. "'Speedy' Tolliver, the Gentleman Musician from Arlington, Virginia" [banjoist, b. 1918; from Green Cove, Va., White Top Mountain]. *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 11 (June-July). Online with sound clip. http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back issues/volume-10/10-11/speedy.html.

Hofferth, Sandy. 2007. "The Ashby Family and Friends of Fauquier County, Virginia." *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 9 (February-March). Online, with sound clip. http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-9/ashby.html.

Holliday, Taylor. 2004. "Down Country Music's Back Roads" [195-mile driving tour, Va. and Ky. landmarks; Route 23]. *New York Times*, 6 August, 1(F).

Hollifield, Adrienne. 1995. "Family Tradition, Orality, and Cultural Intervention in Sodom Laurel Ballad Singing." *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 42 (Winter-Spring): 1-34, cover photo.

Holt, David. 2012. "Arthel 'Doc' Watson (March 3, 1923–May 29, 2012)." *Bluegrass Ulimited* 47, no. 1 (July): 14-17. "...he influenced almost everyone who picked up a guitar or sang a folk song....pure musical genius."

Howard, Jason. 2012. *A Few Honest Words: The Kentucky Roots of Popular Music*. Foreword by Rodney Crowell. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 258 pp. Contents: Naomi Judd: ancestral memory | Ben Sollee and Daniel Martin Moore: sword and snow | Chris Knight: trailer poet | Carla Gover: mountain edge | Kevin Harris: freedom doxology | Joan Osborne: Brooklyn meets Appalachia | Dwight Yoakam: a hillbilly in Hollywood | Nappy Roots: the pursuit of nappyness | Matraca Berg: headwaters | Cathy Rawlings: from the wings | Dale Ann Bradley: these prisoning hills | Jim James: the ghost of Jim James past | Kate Larken: far West | The Watson twins: Southern manners.

Howard, Rachel, et al., comp. 1996. West Virginia Collections in the Archive of Folk Culture, Acquired Through 1990. LC Folk Archive Finding Aid, no. 20. 25 pp. Washington: Library of Congress. (Superintendent of Documents No. LC 39.13/2: 20)

Howard, Wayne. 2009. "Memories of the Hammons Family Part I: Lee Hammons" [W. Va.; 1969]. *Old-Time Herald* 12, no. 2 (December 2009-January 2010). http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-12/12-2/hammons.html.

Howard, Wayne. 2010. "Memories of the Hammons Family Part III: Maggie Hammons Parker." *Old-Time Herald* 12, no. 4 (April-May): 26-36, plus sidebar listing 23 family herbal remedies (p. 31). "A personal narrative...of staying with the family of ballad singer Maggie Hammons Parker," circa 1970, Pocahontas County, W. Va. http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/index.html.

Howard, Wayne. 2010. "Memories of the Hammons Family Part IV: Burl Hammons" [fiddler; W. Va.]. *Old-Time Herald* 12, no. 5 (June-July): 26-37. "...the last great musician of a great

musical family [three generations including Edden, Pete, Lee, Sherman, and Maggie]....He was just about the last living link to the great American frontier." http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/index.html.

Howard, Wayne. 2010. "Memories of the Hammons Family Part II: Sherman Hammons" [fiddler; b. circa 1903]. *Old-Time Herald* 12, no. 3 (February-March): 25-33. Profiles old-time musician Sherman Hammons, Marlinton, W. Va., circa 1970. http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/index.html.

Howell, Roger. 1994. "Woodrow Boone: Profile of a Madison County Fiddler." *Devil's Box* 28 (3-12): 3-12.

Howell, Roger. 1997. "The Tradition Continues: A Short History of Mountain Music in Madison County, North Carolina." *Devil's Box* 31 (Spring): 3-9.

Huber, Patrick J. 2003. "'Cain't Make a Living at a Cotton Mill': The Life and Hillbilly Songs of Dave McCarn" [1905-1964; 1930s labor songs]. *North Carolina Historical Review* 80 (July): 297-333.

Huber, Patrick. 2006. "'A Blessing to People': Dorsey Dixon and His Sacred Mission of Song" [Carolina millworker; country singer-songwriter; 1897-1968]. *Southern Cultures* 12, no. 4: 111-131.

Huber, Patrick. 2008. *Linthead Stomp: The Creation of Country Music in the Piedmont South*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 416 pp. Contents: King of the mountaineer musicians: Fiddlin' John Carson -- Rough and rowdy ways: Charlie Poole and the North Carolina Ramblers -- Cain't make a living at a cotton mill: Dave McCarn -- A blessing to people: the Dixon Brothers, Howard and Dorsey.

Hudson, Michael. 2003. "Which Side Are You On?': The Biography of a Protest Song" [Florence Reece's 1931 union anthem; Harlan Co., Ky.]. *Southern Exposure* 31 (Spring): 42-45.

Hudson, Michael. 2003. "Hazel Dickens Inspires a New Generation of Musicians." *Southern Exposure* 31 (Spring): 46-47. (An earlier version of this article appeared at www.womensenews.org).

Hughes, Charles. 2002. "Bill C. Malone" [author interview]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 37 (November): 50-51.

Hunter, Lacy. 1996. "John Huron: Banjo Maker" [oral history]. *Foxfire Magazine* 30 (Fall/Winter): 98-106.

Hypes, Larry. 2011. "Song of the Mountains: The Lincoln Theatre" [Marion, Va.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 45, no. 11 (May): 42-45. Five-hundred-seat theater, built 1929, Smyth County, and host to "Song of the Mountains" live bluegrass and old-time music shows which are broadcast via many PBS outlets.

Interpretive Plan: Blue Ridge Music Center: Blue Ridge Parkway, North Carolina, Virginia. 1996. Washington, D.C.: National Park Service. 71 pp. (Superintendent of Documents No. I 29.2:B62/4/996)

Irwin, John Rice. 2000. A People and Their Music: The Story Behind the Story of Country Music. Atglen, Pa.: Schiffer. 247 pp.

Jabbour, Alan. 2001. "The Flowering of the Folk Revival." In *American Roots Music*, ed. R. Santelli, H. George-Warren, and J. Brown, 56-83. New York: H. N. Abrams.

Jackson, Ken. 2003. "Breakin' Up Christmas!—The Curriculum, Music, and Community Project in North Carolina." *Old-Time Herald* 9, no. 2 (Winter 2003-2004). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/.

Jamieson, Stu. 2003. "Rufus Crisp: Banjo Rapper" [1889-1956; Floyd Co., Ky.]. *Old-Time Herald* 8, no. 8 (Summer). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/.

Jamison, Phil. 2001. "Barn Dance with Calls': Old-Time Southern Square-Dance Calls on 78s: 1920s-early 1930s." *Old-Time Herald Online* 7, no. 8 (Summer): 36 para. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/7-8/dance.htm.

Jamison, Phil. 2002. "'Square Dancing' in Haywood County, North Carolina" [history]. *Old-Time Herald Online* 8, no. 2 (Winter): 28 para. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/eissues.htm.

Jamison, Phil. 2005. "Arthur Grimes: African-American Appalachian Clogger" [b. 1958; Boone, N.C.]. *The Old-Time Herald* 9, no. 8 (Summer). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back issues/volume-9/9-8/arthur-grimes.html.

Jamison, Phil. 2006. "The Alleghany Jubilee: Old-Time Dancing in the Blue Ridge" [Sparta, N.C., since 1994]. *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 3 (February). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back issues/volume-10/10-3/jubilee.html.

Jenkins, David. 2010. "Common Law, Mountain Music, and the Construction of Community Identity." *Social and Legal Studies* 19, no. 3 (September): 351-369. "Both preserve a backward-looking, cultural memory....[and] open small but important spaces for pluralistic discourse, where social conflicts can be reconciled."

Jennings, Dana Andrew. 2008. *Sing Me Back Home: Love, Death, and Country Music*. New York: Faber and Faber. 257 pp. "Golden Age," 1950-1970.

Johnathon, Michael. 2007. "Homer Ledford, 1927-2006" [honored bluegrass musician and instrument maker]. *Sing Out!* 51, no. 1 (Spring): 226.

Johnson, Kim. 2001. "Vandalia Wives" [support roles of spouses of W. Va.'s award-winning traditional musicians]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Spring): 61-65.

Johnson, Kim. 2004. "'Satisfaction in My Heart': Lester and Linda McCumbers of Calhoun County" [both b. 1921; respected old-time musicians]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Spring): 18-25.

Johnson, Kim. 2005. "A Musical Marriage: Lester and Linda McCumbers of Calhoun County, West Virginia" [fiddler; married 1937; online photo album and audio clip]. *Old-Time Herald Online* 10, no. 2 (Winter). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-2/mccumbers.html.

Johnson, Kim. 2008. "Bear Fork Trading Post: Live Music in Calhoun County." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 1 (Spring): 16-21. Melvin and Patty Cottrell, family-friendly music hall.

Jones, Loyal. 1996. "Kinship and Music in Madison County, North Carolina." *Devil's Box* 30 (Summer): 37-40.

Jones, Loyal. 1997. "From Medicine Shows to 'Hee Haw': Comedy & Country Music." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Spring): 14-17.

Jones, Loyal. 1998. "'Death Comes in Threes'" [profiles three musician-comedians: Grandpa Jones, Old Joe Clark, and Pappy Taylor — all died February 1998]. *Appalachian Heritage* 26 (Summer): 23-29.

Jones, Loyal. [1984] 2002. *Minstrel of the Appalachians: The Story of Bascom Lamar Lunsford* [biography; folk singer and songs; N.C.]. Music transcribed by John M. Forbes. Rpt. ed. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 249 pp. Originally published: Boone, N.C.: Appalachian Consortium Press.

Jones, Loyal. 2001. "Scott Wiseman of 'Lulu Belle and Scotty': A Fairmont State College Graduate." *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 6: 25-27.

Jones, Loyal. 2001. "Wilse Reynolds -- I'd Just as Well Have a Good Fiddle as Anybody" [profiles a fiddler and his "Stradivarius," 1972 Whitley Co., Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Fall): 10-13.

Jones, Loyal. 2008. *Country Music Humorists and Comedians*. Music in American Life series. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 427 pp. Encyclopedia: biographical sketches, anecdotes, quotes.

Jones, Loyal. 2009. Review essay of *The Hayloft Gang: The Story of the National Barn Dance*, edited by Chad Berry (University of Illinois Press, 2008). *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 1 (Winter): 65-72.

Jones, Margaret. 1994. *Patsy: The Life and Times of Patsy Cline*. New York: HarperCollins. 352 pp.

Jones, Tanya. 2009. "Jim Vipperman: Traditional Musician and Teacher" [2009 Brown-Hudson Folklore Award; fiddler; Surry Co., N.C.]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 56, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 19-21.

Jones, Wayne Evans. 2011. "Wayne 'Rhythm Chef' Jones" [Rabun Co., Ga.]. Interview by Madison Farmer. *Foxfire Magazine* 45, no. 3-4 (Fall-Winter): 54-67. Jones, who has been "playing the spoons" for 50 years, shares history, grip technique, and secrets of playing the spoons and rhythm bones.

Joyner, Charles. 1999. "Sweet Music: Tradition, Creativity, and the Appalachian Dulcimer." In *Shared Traditions: Southern History and Folk Culture*, by Charles Joyner, 208-227. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Joyner, Charles. 2010. "Southern Folk Singers." *Southern Cultures* 16, no. 3 (Fall): 73-78. Two annotated lists of more than 30 singers, "Traditional" and "Folk," including: Guy Carawan, Jean Ritchie, Frank Profitt, John Jacob Niles, Doc Watson, Florence Reese, Aunt Molly Jackson, Sarah Ogan Gunning, Hazel Dickens, and Si Kahn.

Julian, Norman. 2004. "I Like to Make People Happy: Connie Mantini and His Accordian" [b. 1926; Italian; coal town]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Fall): 46-51. Sidebar by the author, "Accordian in My Genes," about the role of this beloved instrument in his "ethnic" upbringing, p. 52-53.

Kalra, Ajay. 2008. "Bluegrass." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 12: *Music*, 24-31. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Kaus, Margaret. 2004. "Dorothy Horn, Scholar of Shape-Note Tune Books: A Guide to Her Research and Writing" [primary bibliography]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 76: 99-109.

Kaye, Nick. 2009. "Celebrating the Sounds of Appalachian Strings" [Ole Time Fiddler's and Bluegrass Festival, Union Grove, N.C.]. *New York Times*, 3 July, 28(C). 1243 words. http://travel.nytimes.com/2009/07/03/travel/escapes/03Fiddle.html.

Kindall-Smith, Marsha, Constance L. McKoy, and Susan W. Mills. 2011. "Challenging Exclusionary Paradigms in the Traditional Musical Canon: Implications for Music Education Practice." *International Journal of Music Education* 29, no. 4 (November): 374-386. Neglected African American contributions to Appalachian music.

Kingsbury, Paul. 1997. "Once More With Feeling: A Conversation With Dolly Parton." *Journal of Country Music* 19 (no. 2): 31-37.

Kingsbury, Paul, Michael McCall, John Woodruff Rumble, Michael Gray, and Jay Orr, eds. 2012. *The Encyclopedia of Country Music: The Ultimate Guide to the Music.* 2nd ed. New

York: Oxford University Press. 626 pp. More than 1,200 A-Z entries covering 1920s to present. Contents: Forward / Vince Gill -- Introduction -- The entries, A-Z -- Essay articles. The look of country: The colorful history of country music costuming / Holly George-Warren -- The folk and popular roots of country music / Norm Cohen -- The gospel truth: Christianity and country music / Bill C. Malone -- Extra! Read all about it!: The literature of country music / Nolan Porterfield -- Country music as music / Bill Evans -- The center of Music City: Nashville's Music Row / John Lomax III -- The talking machine: How records shaped country music / Colin Escott -- It all begins with a song: A brief history of country songwriting / Walter Carter -- The South and country music / Bill C. Malone -- From schoolhouse to arenas: A history of country music touring / Ronnie Pugh -- "The fightin' side of me": The politics of country music / Chris Willman -- Twenty years of change: Music's digital transformation / David M. Ross -- The sound seen: Country album cover art -- Appendices.

Kirby, David. 2006. "I Shot a Man in Corleone: How Sicily Explained Johnny Cash to Me." *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 56, no. 2 (Fall): 12-33.

Kirby, Rich. 2011. "Addie Graham: Been A Long Time Traveling" [singer, Ky.]. *Old-Time Herald* 12, no. 10 (April-May). Article is based on the notes to Graham's 1978 LP, "Been a Long Time Traveling." "...she was born before 1900 near Gilmore, Wolfe County, Kentucky, and grew up on the headwaters of the Red River, an area which includes parts of Magoffin, Morgan, Wolfe, and Breathitt Counties."

http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-12/12-10/index.html.

Kistler, Maura. 2002. "'I Won't Be Home No More': The Death of Hank Williams" [Jan. 1, 1953, Oak Hill, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Winter): 54-63.

Knight, Torie. 2000. "The Fiddling Pheasants of Fairmont" [family musicians]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Spring): 39-43.

Koken, Walt, and Pete Peterson. 2008. "Was It Really the Big Bang? The Invention of the Country Music Industry." *Old-Time Herald* 11, no. 6 (August-September). Bristol Sessions, July-August, 1927. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-11/11-6/big-bang.html.

Koken, Walt. 2012. "Tales from the 'Woods, Part 3: Marion" [1971; Marion, Va., fiddlers' convention]. *Old-Time Herald* 13, no. 3.

http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-13/13-3/woods.html.

Kotick, Lee. 2012. "Larry Rice: Keeping the Lamp On" [1949-2006; mandolin player and oldest of the Rice Brothers]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 47, no. 3 (September): 34-37.

Krim, Arthur. 2006. "Appalachian Songcatcher: Olive Dame Campbell and the Scotch-Irish Ballad" [table, maps]. *Journal of Cultural Geography* 24, no. 1 (Fall/Winter): 91-112.

Kruger, Steve, and Cece Conway. 2007. "Clifford Howard Glenn: Banjo and Dulcimer Player and Maker" [b. 1935; 2007 Brown-Hudson Folklore Award winner; Sugar Grove, Beech

Mountain, Watauga River Valley]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 54, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 13-17.

Kyriakoudes, Louis M. 2004. "The Grand Ole Opry and the Urban South" [radio program]. *Southern Cultures* 10, no. 1 (Spring): 67-84.

Lange, Jeffrey J. 2004. Smile When You Call Me a Hillbilly: Country Music's Struggle for Respectability, 1939-1954. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 313 pp.

Lankford, Ronnie D., Jr. 2003. "The Triumph of an Independent Label Called Copper Creek" [bluegrass and old-time music; Roanoke, Va.]. *Old-Time Herald* 9, no. 1 (Fall). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/.

Leavengood, Betty. 2007. "Music on the Hill: The Cronin Family of Pleasants County" [multigenerational family of musicians; hymns, bluegrass, country]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 2 (Summer): 52-57.

Ledgin, Stephanie P. 2002-2003. "David Holt: The Getting There Is the Fun" [storyteller and musician]. *Old-Time Herald Online* 8, no. 6 (Winter). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/eissues.htm.

Ledgin, Stephanie P. 2004. *Homegrown Music: Discovering Bluegrass* [brief history; resources list; selected discography; interviews]. Foreword by Ricky Skaggs. Westport, Conn.: Praeger. 181 pp.

Ledgin, Stephanie P. 2005. From Every Stage: Images of America's Roots Music [200 photographs spanning 30 years]. Foreword by Charles Osgood. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 146 pp.

Lee, Michael. 2002. "My Dad, the Banjo Picker" [Ga.; advice on how to get started playing]. Interview by student Natasha Lee. *Foxfire Magazine* 36 (Fall/Winter): 150-159.

Leland, John. 2002. "High on a Hilltop with Music All Around" [Hiltons, Va.; Carter Family Fold]. *New York Times*, 8 August, 1(F).

LeRoy, Lance. 2003. "Mr. 'Good 'n Country,' Jimmy Martin: Complex, Creative, and Consumed with Bluegrass Music" [b. 1927, Hancock Co., Tenn.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 37 (May): 32-42.

Levy, Marian Leighton, and Ken Irwin. 2011. "Hazel Dickens" [1935-2011]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 45, no. 12 (June): 12. Tribute and career overview.

Lewis, George H., ed. 1993. *All That Glitters: Country Music in America*. Bowling Green, Ohio: Bowling Green State University Popular Press. 340 pp. Contents: I. INTRODUCTION. II. LIGHTING UP THE PURPLE SKY: ROOTS OF MODERN COUNTRY: Mimesis in Bill Monroe's bluegrass music / Robert Cantwell -- Age, the body and experience in the music of

Hank Williams / Richard Leppert and George Lipsitz -- Patsy Cline, musical negotiation, and the Nashville sound / Joli Jensen -- Elvis, country music and the South / Bill C. Malone. III. WALTZ ACROSS TEXAS: LOCAL AND REGIONAL FORMS AND INFLUENCES: Local styles and country music: an introductory essay / Paul Fryer -- Country music and the southernization of America / James C. Cobb -- Romantic regionalism and convergent culture in central Texas / Nicholas R. Spitzer -- Mexican musical influences on country songs and styles / George H. Lewis -- A tombstone every mile: country music in Maine / George H. Lewis. IV. THERE'LL ALWAYS BE A HONKY-TONK SOMEWHERE: COUNTRY CULTURE: Honky-tonking: mass mediated culture made personal / Joli Jensen -- Split subjectivity in country music and honky-tonk discourse / Aaron A. Fox -- Alienation and single musicians on the honky-tonk circuit / Karl Neuenfeldt. V. NASHVILLE SKYLINE: THE BUSINESS OF COUNTRY MUSIC: Country music: popular or folk? / Neil V. Rosenberg -- The commercial art world of country music / George H. Lewis -- Characteristics of successful and unsuccessful country music songs / Charles Jaret -- Function in the country song "Tight Fittin' Jeans" / John H. Planer. VI. REASONS FOR RHYMERS: SENSIBILITY, EMOTION AND COUNTRY VALUES: Country music and American values / John Buckley -- Tension, conflict and contradiction in country music / George H. Lewis -- Engendering narratives of lament in country music / Katie Stewart -- Romantic narcissism in "outlaw" cowboy music / Michael Dunne. VII. THE STREETS OF BAKERSFIELD (THE LIGHTS OF BALTIMORE): PERSONAL, POLITICAL AND SOCIAL ISSUES: Images of women and men in country music / Karen A. Saucier -- Forbitten fruit: interracial love affairs in country music / Stephen I. Thompson --Country music and organized religion / Jimmie N. Rogers and Stephen A. Smith -- Populist ideology and country music / Jock Mackay. VIII. IF WISHES WERE CHANGES: COUNTRY AT THE CROSSROADS: The old sound of new country / Ken Tucker -- Are you sure Hank done it this way? / David Gates -- Alison Krauss and the contemporary-traditional conflict in modern bluegrass / Mark Fenster -- Rosanne Cash walks her own line / Jan Hoffman.

Lewis, George H. 1997. "Lap Dancer or Hillbilly Deluxe? The Cultural Constructions of Modern Country Music." *Journal of Popular Culture* 31 (Winter): 163-173.

Lifford, Brad. 2010. "Still Bill" [Bill Withers]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 70-71. African-American Withers, a native of Slab Fork in Beckley, W. Va., who made famous the songs "Ain't No Sunshine" and "Lean on Me," is an inductee to the West Virginia Music Hall of Fame and the subject of a documentary, "Still Bill."

Lilly, John, ed. 1999. *Mountains of Music: West Virginia Traditional Music From* Goldenseal [reprints 25 stories from the magazine]. Music in American Life series. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 224 pp.

Lilly, John. 2000. "Peace in the Valley': West Virginia's Singing Doorkeepers" ["Happy Valley Boys" gospel quartet]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Fall): 24-29.

Lilly, John. 2002. "Hank's Lost Charleston Show" [Hank Williams' last show, New Year's Eve, 1952; d. Jan. 1, 1953]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Winter): 64-65.

Lilly, John. 2003. "Melvin Wine: 1909-2003" [W. Va. fiddler]. Sing Out! 47 (Summer): 219-220.

Lilly, John. 2003. "The West Virginia Coon Hunters: On the Trail of a Lost String Band" [1920s-1940s; 1927 Bristol sessions recordings]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Spring): 56-59.

Lilly, John. [2003] 2005. "The West Virginia Coon Hunters: On the Trail of a Lost Mountain State String Band." In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 130-134. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *The Old-Time Herald* 8, no. 7: 12-13.

Lilly, John. 2005. "Jimmie Rodgers and the Bristol Sessions" [1927; biography]. In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 54-65. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Lilly, John. 2008. "The Blind Man's Song: Recalling Alfred Reed" [1880-1956]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 4 (Winter): 54-61. Songwriter, singer, fiddler; Mercer, Summers, and Raleigh Counties; recordings list.

Lilly, John. 2009. "Keep a-Goin: Musician Everett Lilly of Clear Creek" [Raleigh Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 2 (Summer): 26-33. Profile of esteemed bluegrass musician Everett Lilly, born 1924, who formed the musical group the Lilly Brothers with Michael Burt Lilly, debuting in 1938. [Everett subsequently won the 2009 Vandalia Award, West Virginia's highest folklife honor].

Lilly, John. 2009. "Open Arms at Clifftop: 20th Appalachian String Band Music Festival." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 2 (Summer): 16-25. Historic overview of this annual festival begun in 1990 at Camp Washington Carver in Fayette County.

Lilly, John. 2011. "The Morris Brothers: Music from the Head of the Holler" [Clay Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 1 (Spring): 52-59. During the 1960s-1970s, John and David Morris (fiddler and guitarist) "organized one of the state's premier musical events....helped to found several other festivals in the region and set a high standard of performance and musical integrity."

Lilly, John. 2011. "There Was Always Music: Vandalia Award Recipient Buddy Griffin" [b. 1948, Richwood]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 3 (Fall): 20-25. Fiddler, banjoist, guitarist, singer, and bluegrass music educator at Glenville State College.

Lilly, John. 2012. "Raised Really Tough': The Life and Music of the Bing Brothers" [Wayne Co.; old-time musicians]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 2 (Summer): 40-47. Winners of the Vandalia Award "in recognition of their lifetime of contribution to West Virginia folklife and traditional culture."

Lindahl, Carl. 2004. "Thrills and Miracles: Legends of Lloyd Chandler" [1896-1978; advocates for Chandler as the original composer of the song "O Death," 1916, Madison Co., N.C.; Table 1. Lloyd Chandler's "Conversation with Death" compared with Dock Boggs/Ralph Stanley's "O Death" and African versions; Table 2. Versions and Variants of "Conversation with Death," "O Death," "Death in the Morning," etc.; Table 3. Three Versions of "O Death" / "Conversation with Death"]. *Journal of Folklore Research* 41 (May-December): 133-171, with an Afterword, 173-180, and Responses by Frank Proschan, 267-273, and Stephanie Kane, 274-286.

Lipton, Michael, project director. 2007. "West Virginia Music Hall of Fame." WV Music Hall of Fame, Charleston, W. Va. [website; inaugural inductees: George Crumb, Billy Edd Wheeler, Hazel Dickens, Johnnie Johnson, Molly O'Day, Little Jimmy Dickens, Blind Alfred Reed, Leon "Chu" Berry, Clark Kessinger, Bill Withers]. http://www.wvmusichalloffame.com/homepage.html.

Livingston, Carolyn. 2003. *Charles Faulkner Bryan: His Life and Music* [Tenn. composer, teacher]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 368 pp.

Long, John. 2005. "The Devil, the Weaver's Bonny, and Alfreda Peel: Exploring the Roots of an Ancient Virginia Folk Ballad" [discovered 1922; 15th-century English/Scottish ballad origins]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 9: 27-42.

Long, Kate. 2011. "Country Music Legend Hazel Dickens Dies at 75" [b. 1935, Mercer Co., W. Va.]. *Charleston Gazette* (W. Va.), 23 April, 6(C). 657 words. http://www.wvgazette.com/Entertainment/gazzmusic/201104220877.

Long, Lucy. 1998. "Appalachian Plucked Dulcimer: Field Recordings in the Archive of Folk Culture." [holds over 41 collections, earliest 1934]. *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 20, no. 3 (Summer): 5-7. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/index.html.

Lornell, Kip. 2002. *Introducing American Folk Music: Ethnic and Grassroot Traditions in the United States*. 2nd ed. Boston: McGraw-Hill. 302 pp., plus CD sound-disc. [contents include: Mass media; Anglo-American secular folk and sacred music; African American religious folk and secular folk music; The folk revivals and folk roots of contemporary popular music].

Lornell, Kip. 2004. *The NPR Curious Listener's Guide to American Folk Music* [National Public Radio]. New York: Berkeley Publishing Group. 233 pp. Many Appalachian contributions; history, biographies, discography.

Louvin, Charlie, and Benjamin Whitmer. 2012. *Satan Is Real: The Ballad of the Louvin Brothers*. New York: ItBooks. 297 pp. "Charlie Louvin [1927-2011] was a god-fearing, churchgoing singer, but his brother, Ira [1924-1965], had the devil in him. This is the story of Charlie's sixty-five-year career, the timeless murder ballads of the Louvin Brothers, and an epic tale of two brothers bound together by love, hate, alcohol, blood, and music."

Lowinger, Gene. 2009. *I Hear a Voice Calling: A Bluegrass Memoir*. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 82 pp. (with 46 pp. of plates). Fiddler Lowinger's personal story plus

photographs of Bill Monroe, public and private. Contents: Beginnings, 1942-62 -- Learning bluegrass, 1963-65 -- Nashville, 1965-66 -- Home to study violin, 1966-92 -- Back to Monroe, bluegrass, and the violin, 1991-96 -- After Monroe, 1996 to the present.

Lowry, Terry. 2012. "Days of Glory: Rock Music in the Kanawha Valley (1965-1975)." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 1 (Spring): 12-22. Sidebars: "Making Good Music': A Visit with Drummer Gordon Cupit," by Michael Lipton, 16-17; and "Tradition Rocks!" [guitarists, including blues musician Clarence Clifford "C.C." Richardson], by Terry Lowry, 22.

Lozaw, Tristram. 2006. "Music of the Coal Fields: A New Music Hall of Fame Digs into the Bituminous-Dusted Roots of West Virginia Music" [first outreach meeting, Mingo Co.]. *Sing Out!* 50, no. 2 (Summer): 18-21.

Lupton, John. 2002. "Ralph Stanley: 'Mountain Soul' Brother to *O Brother* Phenomenon" [profile; 2000 film]. *Sing Out!* 46 (Fall): 36-48.

Lupton, John. 2009. "Nimrod Workman: Remembering a Force of Nature" [1895-1994; folk song and ballad singer, coal miner, trade unionist]. *Sing Out*! 52, no. 4 (Spring): 23-28.

Lynch, Timothy P. 2001. *Strike Songs of the Depression*. American Made Music Series. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 170 pp.

Lynn, Loretta, with George Vecsey. [1976] 2001. *Loretta Lynn: Coal Miner's Daughter*. Rpt. ed. New York: De Capo Press. 224 pp. Originally published: New York: Warner Books.

Lynn, Loretta, with Patsi Bale Cox. 2002. *Still Woman Enough: A Memoir* [sequel to *Coal Miner's Daughter* (1976)]. New York: Hyperion. 384 pp.

Lynn, Loretta. 2004. *You're Cookin' It Country: My Favorite Recipes and Memories* [120 recipes]. Nashville, Tenn.: Rutledge Hill Press. 208 pp.

Lyon, George Ella. 2011. Which Side Are You On?: The Story of a Song [picture book; 1931 coal labor anthem; Harlan, Ky.]. Illustrated by Christopher Cardinale. El Paso, Tex.: Cinco Puntos Press. 40 pp. "...tells the story of a song which was written in 1931 by Florence Reece [1900-1986] in a rain of bullets. Florence's husband Sam was a coal miner in Kentucky. Miners went on strike until they could get better pay, safer working conditions, and health care. The company hired thugs to attack the organizers like Sam Reece. Writer George Ella Lyon tells this hair-raising story through the eyes of one of Florence's daughters."

Maeder, John. 2002. "Birthplace of Country Music Alliance's Celebration for 75th Anniversary of Historic Bristol Sessions" [July 25-August 5, 1927]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 37 (July): 34-39.

Malone, Bill C. [1968] 2002. *Country Music, U.S.A.* [history]. 2nd rev. ed. Austin: University of Texas Press. 628 pp.

Malone, Bill C., and Jocelyn R. Neal. [1968, 2002] 2010. *Country Music, U.S.A.* 3rd rev. ed. Austin: University of Texas Press. 664 pp. Contents: The folk background before commercialism | The early period of commercial hillbilly music | The first country singing star: Jimmie Rodgers | Country music during the Depression | The cowboy image and the growth of Western music | The war years: the national expansion of country music | The boom period: the emergence of a big business, 1946-1953 | The development of country-pop music and the Nashville sound | The reinvigoration of modern country music, 1960-1972 | Bluegrass | Country music, 1972-1984 | Tradition and change: country music, 1985-2002 | A new century.

Malone, Bill C. [1993] 2003. Singing Cowboys and Musical Mountaineers: Southern Culture and the Roots of Country Music. Rpt. ed. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 155 pp.

Malone, Bill C. 2001. "Keeping It Country: Tradition and Change, 1940 to the Present." In *American Roots Music*, ed. R. Santelli, H. George-Warren, and J. Brown, 162-183. New York: H. N. Abrams.

Malone, Bill C. 2002. "Country Music, Where Art Thou?" [myth of Appalachian origins]. *Progressive* 66 (August): 36-37.

Malone, Bill C. 2002. *Don't Get above Your Raisin': Country Music and the Southern Working Class* [history; 19th-century to present]. Music in American Life. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 392 pp.

Malone, Bill C. 2004. "Music" [history]. In *High Mountains Rising: Appalachia in Time and Place*, ed. R. Straw and H. Blethen, 114-134. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Malone, Bill C. 2008. "Country Music." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 12: *Music*, 48-55. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Malone, Bill C. 2011. *Music from the True Vine: Mike Seeger's Life & Musical Journey* [1933-2009]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 235 pp. Contents: The Seeger heritage | Folk music and politics: growing up in the Seeger household | Discovering bluegrass: the Baltimore years | The New Lost City Ramblers: creating the old-time music scene | Music from the true vine: Mike Seeger and the search for authenticity | Lexington and Alexia: home at last | The Mike Seeger legacy.

Malone, Bill C., and David Stricklin. [1979] 2003. *Southern Music / American Music*. Rev. ed. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 236 pp.

Malone, Bill C., ed. 2008. *Music*, Vol. 12 of *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 428 pp. 200 essays and entries including more than 100 individual musicians.

Manuel, Jeffrey T. 2008. "The Sound of the Plain White Folk? Creating Country Music's 'Social Origins'" [white genre created by intellectuals excluding interracial connections]. *Popular Music and Society* 31, no. 4 (October): 417-431.

Margolies, Dan. 2007. "Molly O'Day and the Gospel in Old-Time Country Music." *Old-Time Herald* 11, no. 2 (December 2007-January 2008). Online, with three sound clips. http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-11/11-2/oday.html.

Margolies, Dan. 2008. "Traditional Music Collections Online." *Old-Time Herald* 11, no. 8 (December 2008-January 2009). Annotated list of 37 sites with free audio links. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-11/11-8/digital-archives.html.

Marini, Stephen A. 2003. *Sacred Song in America: Religion, Music, and Public Culture*. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. Chap. 3, "Sacred Harp Singing: Continuity and Change in the American Singing-School Tradition," 68-99; and Chap. 11, "Gospel Music: Sacred Song and the Marketplace," 298-319.

Marshall, Erynn L. 2006. *Music in the Air Somewhere: The Shifting Borders of West Virginia's Fiddle and Song Traditions* [oral histories; accompanying CD of field and archival recordings]. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 200 pp., plus sound disc.

Marshall, Grace. 2008. "Appalachia's Renaissance Man." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 57-60. Gary Slemp (1947-2005), Wise County, Va., actor, musician, storyteller, singer, radio announcer and programmer, and lifelong friend of Jack Wright.

Marshall, Howard. 2008. "Keeping the Tie Hacker Tunes: Nile Wilson" [1912-2008]. *Old-Time Herald* 11, no. 6 (August-September): online, with three sound clips. Traditional fiddler, Linn County, Mo. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-11/11-6/nile-wilson.html.

Marshall, Howard W. 2011. "Live! At the Ozark Opry: An Appreciation of Vaudeville and 'Show Fiddler' LeRoy Haslag." *Old-Time Herald* 12, no. 9 (February-March). "Launched in 1953....In its heyday the Ozark Opry competed successfully with Nashville's Grand Ole Opry." http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-12/12-9/index.html.

Marshall, Howard. 2012. "King of the Folks': R. P. Christeson and his *Old-Time Fiddler's Repertory*" [Missouri]. *Old-Time Herald* 13, no. 3. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-13/13-3/index.html.

Marshall, Howard W. 2012. *Play Me Something Quick and Devilish: Old-Time Fiddlers in Missouri*. Columbia: University of Missouri Press. 400 pp., plus audio CD with 39 tunes.

Martin, John. 2009. "A History of Bluegrass Guitar in Western North Carolina" [Stanley Brothers guitar player George Shuffler]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 56, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 34-51.

Martin, Mac. 2007. "Memories of WWVA Radio and the Wheeling Jamboree" [1926-2005]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 42, no. 2 (August): 48-51.

Massek, Sue. 2009. Multimedia Feature, *Still: The Journal*, no. 1 (Fall). Video clip (2:31 min.). "Sue Massek sings 'Who Owns Appalachia.' As a founding member of and banjo-player for the Reel World String Band, Massek has been heavily influenced by her experiences at the Highlander Center." http://www.stilljournal.net/sue-massek-multimedia.php.

Matthews, Burgin. 2004. "Bluegrass Meltdown: Mountain Music, Rock and Roll, and Family Tradition in the Music of Ralph Lewis and the Sons of Ralph" [Madison Co.]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 51 (Fall-Winter): 35-54.

Matthews, Scott. 2008. "John Cohen in Eastern Kentucky: Documentary Expression and the Image of Roscoe Halcomb During the Folk Revival" [early 1960s; photo essays]. *Southern Spaces*, 6 August. Contents: Preface | Introduction | Cohen's Awakening | In the Folk Revival | Kentucky, 1959 | Portraying Roscoe Holcomb | *Mountain Music of Kentucky* | Mythologizing Halcomb | Documenting Halcomb | *The High Lonesome Sound* | Reception | Aftermath | Conclusion | Notes | Recommended Resources. http://southernspaces.org/2008/john-coheneastern-kentucky-documentary-expression-and-image-roscoe-halcomb-during-folk-revival.

Mazor, Barry. 2009. *Meeting Jimmie Rodgers: How America's Original Roots Music Hero Changed the Pop Sounds of a Century* [1897-1933]. New York: Oxford University Press. 376 pp.

McArdle, Terence. 2012. "Bluegrass Virtuoso Changed View of Banjo" [Earl Scruggs, d. March 28; obituary]. Washington Post, 29 March, 8(B). 1707 words.

McArdle, Terence. 2012. "Crackerjack Flatpicker Influenced Generations" [Doc Watson, d. May 29; obituary]. *Washington Post*, 30 May, 5(B). 1,096 words.

McCeney, George. 2012. "Arthel 'Doc' Watson" [d. May 29]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 47, no. 2 (August): 26-27. Brief profile of "the man," not the musician.

McClain, Buzz. 2011. "A Cozy Shrine for W. Va. Country Music." *Washington Post*, 20 May, 21(T). 1035 words. West Virginia Country Music Hall of Fame, in Berkeley Springs [not to be confused with the West Virginia Music Hall of Fame, in Charleston]. http://www.washingtonpost.com/lifestyle/travel/escapes-down-home-country-music-at-a-wva-hall-of-fame/2011/05/03/AF4AzA7G_story.html?wpisrc=nl_travel.

McCrossan, Francesca McLean. 2000. "Mandolins and Metaphors: Red Rector's Musical Aesthetics" [b. 1929; Madison Co., N.C.]. In *Country Music Annual 2000*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 101-111. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

McCusker, Kristine M. 2008. *Lonesome Cowgirls and Honky-Tonk Angels: The Women of Barn Dance Radio* [1920s-1940s]. Music in American Life series. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 194 pp. Linda Parker, Girls of the Golden West (Milly and Dolly Good), Lily May Ledford, Minnie Pearl, and Rose Lee Maphis

McCusker, Kristine M. 2009. "Country Music." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 13: *Gender*, 77-81. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

McCusker, Kristine M. 2009. "Sarah Colley Cannon (Minnie Pearl) (1912-1996): Gossiping about Grinder's Switch – The Grand Ole Opry and the Modernization of Tennessee." In *Tennessee Women: Their Lives and Times*, ed. S. Freeman and B. Bond, 261-280. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

McCusker, Kristine. 2003. "Rose Lee Maphis and Working on Barn Dance Radio, 1930-1960." In *The Women of Country Music: A Reader*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 61-74. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

McDonald, Janice Brown. 1996. "Crown of Bright Glory: The Legendary Carter Stanley" [1925-1966]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 30 (February): 38-43.

McDonough, Jimmy. 2010. *Tammy Wynette: Tragic Country Queen* [1942-1998]. New York: Viking. 432 pp. Originally published: London: Simon & Schuster (2008) as the title, *Tragic Country Queen: The Biography of Tammy Wynette*. Born and raised in Itawamba County, Miss., Wynette's best known song is her 1968 hit, "Stand by Your Man."

McGee, Marty. 2000. *Traditional Musicians of the Central Blue Ridge: Old Time, Early Country, Folk and Bluegrass Label Recording Artists with Discographies* [biographical dictionary; N.C., Va.]. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, 3. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 245 pp.

McGhee, Tom. 1997. "Tim Stafford" [profile; guitarist and ETSU professor]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 32 (August): 22-24.

McGowan, Thomas. 1998. "Leonard Glenn, 1910-1997" [memorial; banjo and dulcimer maker; N.C. Folk Heritage Award winner]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 45 (Summer-Fall): 93-94.

McGowan, Thomas. 2002. "Betty Smith: Another Singer among Singers and a Writer among Writers" [2001 Brown-Hudson Award winner]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 49 (Spring/Summer): 40-42.

McGrath, Charles. 2009. "Old-Timer, Still Telling Mountain Tales" [Ralph Stanley, b. 1927]. *New York Times*, 14 October, 1(C). 1185 words. References newly published biography, *Man of Constant Sorrow: The Life & Times of a Music Legend* (New York: Gotham Books). http://www.nytimes.com/2009/10/14/books/14stanley.html?_r=1&emc=eta1.

McKenzie, Trevor. 2012. "Lonnie Ward: Traditional Musician." *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 58, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 20-21. Born 1928, Watauga County, N.C., string-instrument player Ward is a 2011 Brown-Hudson Folklore Award winner.

McLain, Raymond W. 2006. "Remembering Janette Carter" [d. Jan. 22; last surviving child of A.P. and Sara Carter]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 1 (Spring): 6-8.

McNeil, W. K. 2000. "In Search of Fiddlin' Sam Long of the Ozarks" [1876-1931]. In *Country Music Annual 2000*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 89-100. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Meacham, Matt. 2007. "'Daddy Loved Music': Recalling Guitarist Roy Harvey" [1892-1958; 1920s country music recording pioneer]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 4 (Winter): 50-57. Sidebar: "The Music of Roy Harvey" [discography], 56.

Meade, Guthrie T., with Richard K. Spottswood, and Douglas S. Meade. 2002. *Country Music Sources: A Biblio-Discography of Commercially Recorded Traditional Music.* Chapel Hill, N.C.: Southern Folklife Collection, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill Libraries in Association with the John Edwards Memorial Forum. 1002 pp.

Meredith, Dianne. 2001. "Migration and Adaptation of Popular Balladry in the US Appalachian Region" [from 17th century]. *Scottish Geographical Journal* 117 (no. 3): 169-183.

Michaels, Bill. 2005. "O Brother, Is Bluegrass Music Growing!" [statistics, 2001-2004]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 39 (June): 50-58.

Millard, Gladys Carter. 2005. "I Remember Daddy" [A. P. Carter, b. 1891]. In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 172-182. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted, originally self-published.

Miller, Kiri, ed. 2002. *The Chattahoochee Musical Convention*, 1852-2002: A Sacred Harp Historical Sourcebook. Carrollton, Ga.: The Sacred Harp Museum. 359 pp.

Miller, Kiri. 2008. *Traveling Home: Sacred Harp Singing and American Pluralism*. Music in American Life. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 245 pp. History of shape-note singing.

Miller, Scott. 2010. Multimedia Feature, *Still: The Journal*, no. 2 (Winter). Video clip (5:00 min.). "Scott Miller, one of the region's best singer-songwriters, sings his masterpiece, 'Appalachian Refugee' at the Disc Exchange in Knoxville, Tennesse, April 13, 2009. 'Appalachian Refugee' is featured in *MOTIF: Writing by Ear, an anthology of writing about music* [MotesBooks, 2009] edited by *Still* poetry editor Marianne Worthington." http://www.stilljournal.net/scott-miller-multimedia.php.

Milliner, Clare, and Walt Koken. 2007. "Fiddle Workshop: Posey Rorer's Flying Clouds." *Old-Time Herald* 11, no. 2 (December 2007-January 2008). Online, with sound clip. http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-11/11-2/workshop.html.

Mills, Jim. 2004. "The Story of One Man, Two Banjos, and Why We All Want a Prewar Flathead Five-String Gibson Mastertone Banjo" [Dewitt "Snuffy" Jenkins, b. 1908, N.C.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 39 (November): 26-31.

Milner, Liz. 2007. "The Career of Mountain Dulcimer Virtuoso Ralph Lee Smith." *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 10 (April-May). Online, with sound clip. http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-10/ralph-lee-smith.html.

Milnes, Gerald. 1999. *Play of a Fiddle: Traditional Music, Dance, and Folklore in West Virginia*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 211 pp.

Milnes, Gerry, and Jimmy Triplett. 2003. "Remembering Melvin Wine" [1909-2003; W. Va. fiddler]. Special Web edition with profile, photos and MP3s. *Old-Time Herald* 9, no. 2 (Winter 2003-2004). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/melvinwine/index.html.

Minton, John. 2008. 78 Blues: Folksongs and Phonographs in the American South. American Made Music Series. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 288 pp. "Hillbilly" and "race" records, 1920s-1940s.

Montell, William Lynwood, ed. 2006. *Grassroots Music in the Upper Cumberland* [Ky., Tenn.]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 311 pp. Contents: Kentucky. Adair County music / Barry R. Pritts; Clinton County music across the years / Libby Mullinix; Story and song: music and musicians in Cumberland County / J. Paul McCoy; Metcalfe County music and musicians / John Fred Young; Monroe County music across the years / Lynwood Montell; Pulaski County grassroots music / Robert Sears; Russell County music / Joyce Haywood; Wayne County musicians / Harlan Ogle -- Tennessee. Clay county music / Myra Burnette; Cumberland County music history / Barbara B. Parsons; Dekalb County music / Mac Willoughby; Fentress County grassroots music / Myra Smith; Jackson County music / Janey Dudney; Vernacular roots music in Macon County / Ross Fuqua; The traditional music of Overton County / Graham S. Kash; Traditional music in Putnam County; Bettye Choate Kash.

Moore, Daniel Martin. 2011. "Daniel Martin Moore [interview]. *Still: The Journal*, no. 5 (Winter). 1,759 words. Moore talks about his record *Dear Companion* (2010; designed to raise awareness about mountaintop removal mining), folk music, and his new album, *In the Cool of the Day*. http://www.stilljournal.net/daniel-martin-moore-interview.php.

Morrell, Mabel Phelps. 2005. "My Memories of the Bristol Sessions" [1927]. In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 183-184. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Morritt, Eric. 2005. "Early Sound Recording Technology and the Bristol Sessions" [1927; from acoustic to electronic: Victor Talking Machine Co.]. In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 7-13. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Moser, Irene. 2010. "Etowah Christian Harmony Singing" [2010 Community Traditions Award winner]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 57, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 29-33. Shaped note singing; Etowah community, Henderson County.

Murphy, Jim. 2007. "Wayne Henderson: Music Making Mountain Man" [Henderson Guitars; southwest Va.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 41, no. 8 (February): 52-56.

Music [website]. 2010. Southern Cultures, Center for the Study of the American South, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. Links to all 60 of *Southern Culture*'s music essays and features from the last decade including content from the four special music issues. http://www.southerncultures.org/content/read/read_by_subject/music/.

Nage, Larry. 2011. "Alison Krauss & Union Station's Flight Plan *Paper Airplane* Lands AKUS Back on the Bus" [new LP]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 46, no. 4 (October): 24-29. Member profiles and band history.

Nager, Larry. 2009. "Grass from a Hole in the Ground': Bluegrass Underground" [Cumberland Caverns, McMinnville, Tenn.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 44, no. 1 (July): 40-43.

Nager, Larry. 2009. "Dale Ann Bradley–Won't Back Down: Her 'Scars and Scuffmarks' Make Beautiful Bluegrass" [b. Bell Co., Ky.; New Coon Creek Girls; two-time IBMA Female Vocalist of the Year]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 44, no. 2 (August): 22-26.

Nager, Larry. 2009. "Ricky Skaggs: Fifty Years Honoring the Fathers." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 43, no. 10 (April): 24-32.

Nager, Larry. 2010. "Bluegrass, Biscuits, and Beyond: Corporate Sponsorships Hit New Level" [Cracker Barrel]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 45, no. 4 (October): 32-36. In the tradition of the Martha White (flour and cornbread) sponsorship -- from 1947.

Nager, Larry. 2010. "Marty Stuart Keeps It Rural: RFD-TV Show Spotlights Bluegrass and Classic Country." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 45, no. 2 (August): 24-29.

Nager, Larry. 2010. "Travelin' McCourys – Blaze Their Own Trail" ["Del-less"]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 44, no. 12 (June): 24-29.

Nager, Larry. 2012. "Larry Cordle: Out of His Own Mouth" [Ky., b. 1949; singer-songwriter, guitarist]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 47, no. 4 (October): 16-22.

Nassour, Ellis. 2008. *Honky Tonk Angel: The Intimate Story of Patsy Cline*. Chicago, Ill.: Chicago Review Press. 306 pp. Expanded edition, first published as *Patsy Cline* by Leisure Books in 1981, then as *Honky Tonk Angel* by St. Martin's Press in 1993.

Neal, Jocelyn R. 2009. "Top Ten Country Music Stars." *Southern Cultures* 15, no. 3 (Fall): 70-74. Brief descriptions of five men and five women, including: Dolly Parton, Loretta Lynn, Hank Williams, and Jimmie Rodgers.

Neal, Jocelyn R. 2009. *The Songs of Jimmie Rodgers: A Legacy in Country Music* [1897-1933; overview of his career and music]. Profiles in Popular Music series. Bloomington: Indiana University Press. 318 pp.

Neal, Jocelyn R. 2012. *Country Music: A Cultural and Stylistic History*. New York: Oxford University Press. 530 pp. Contents: I. The early years (1920s and 1930s) | The birth of country music | The big bang of country music | Innovation and change | II: World War II and after: nationalism and country music (1940s and 1950s) | Honky-Tonk heyday | The birth of bluegrass | Rockabilly and teen romance | III. The big business of country music (1960s and 1970s) | The Nashville sound and musical innovation | California country and country rock | Traditionalists and classic country | IV. Expansion: from country to rock and pop and back again (1970s and 1980s) | Outlaw country and southern rock rebellion | Urban cowboys, countrypolitan, and the Reagan Era | Neotraditionalists and remaking the past | V: Country music in popular culture (1990s and 2000s) | The commercial country explosion | Alternative country and roots revival | Into the present.

Neal, Jocelyn. 2005. "Ernest Stoneman's 1927 Session: Hillbilly Recordings of Gospel Hymns." In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 187-213. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Nelson, Donald Lee. [1972] 2005. "The Life of Alfred G. Karnes" [Baptist preacher and gospel musician]. In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 119-129. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *The JEMF Quarterly* 8 (1972): 31-38.

Netherland, Tom. 2008. "Bristol Sessions: 80th Anniversary." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 42, no. 7 (January): 40-46. Sidebars: "Song of the Mountains," [live performance, first Saturday of each month, Lincoln Theatre, Marion, Va.], 42-43; and "Rhythm and Roots Reunion Festival" [Bristol, Va./Tenn., founded 2001], 44-45.

Netherland, Tom. 2010. "Tennessee Fall Homecoming." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 44, no. 7 (January): 26-30. Annual gathering on the grounds of the Museum of Appalachia, Norris, Tenn.

Netherland, Tom. 2012. "James Alan Shelton" [profile; b. 1960]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 47, no. 1 (July): 34-39. Guitarist for Ralph Stanley's Clinch Mountain Boys.

Netherland, Tom. 2012. "Larry Sparks: Fiftieth Anniversary" [performing]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 47, no. 5 (November): 16-21. Singer and guitarist, b. 1947 the youngest of nine, Lebanon, Ohio.

Newberry, Joe. 2006. "The Ralph and Robbie Show on Mt. Airy's WPAQ" [begun 1948; "Blue Ridge Spotlight"]. *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 4 (April-May). Online, with sound clip. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-4/wpaq.html.

Newton, Stephen. 2005. "The Phantoms of the Opry" [1976 memoir: 24-year-old janitor; Grand Ole Opry House]. In *Crossroads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 127153. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Nichols, Sheila. 2005. "Art Stamper: The Legendary Lost Fiddler" [Ky.; 1933-2004; IBMA Distinguished Achievement Award winner, 2004]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 39 (March): 28-32.

Niles, John Jacob. [1961] 2000. *The Ballad Book of John Jacob Niles* [1892-1980; 65 folk songs]. Reprint, with new introduction by Ron Pen. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 370 pp. Originally published: Boston: Houghton Mifflin.

Nowlin, Bill. 2009. "The Death of Ray Brewster" [1948; Loudon Co., Tenn.; sheriff's mistreatment]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 44, no. 5 (November): 32-36.

Null, Matthew. 2006. "A Few Questions for Mike Seeger" [b. 1933; interview]. *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 56, no. 2 (Fall): 55-64.

Null, Matthew. 2006. "An Interview with Janette Carter" [1923-2006; last surviving child of A.P. and Sara Carter]. *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 56, no. 2 (Fall): 96-102.

Olson, Ted, and Ajay Kalra. 2005. "The Birthplace of Country Music, 75 years Later: The Cradle Still Rocks" [Tri-Cities area: Bristol, Tenn./Va.; Kingsport and Johnson City, Tenn.]. In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 257-270. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Olson, Ted, and Ajay Kalra. 2006. "Appalachian Music: Examining Popular Assumptions" [recent film depictions; history; with suggested readings]. In *A Handbook to Appalachia: An Introduction to the Region*, ed. G. Edwards, J. Asbury, and R. Cox, 163-179. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Olson, Ted, with Tony Russell, ed. 2011. *The Bristol Sessions, 1927-1928: The Big Bang of Country Music*. Hambergen, Germany: Bear Family Records. 120 pp. Companion book to the 5-CD box set of the same title. Discography, program notes, song lyrics, essays, and photos.

Olson, Ted. 2000. "'Your Inner Voice that Comes from God': Country Singers' Attitudes toward the Sacred." In *Country Music Annual 2000*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 4-21. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Olson, Ted. 2006. "Pass It On Down': Environmental Themes in Country Songs." *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 56, no. 2 (Fall): 186-194.

Olson, Ted, section editor. 2006. "Music" [signed entries on musicians, groups, themes, styles]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 1109-1222 (with introductory essay, 1109-1115). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. See also digitized version (2011) of this section: http://encyclopediaofappalachia.com/category.php?rec=53.

On the Edge–Highlight. 2008. Review of "Music of Coal: Mining Songs from the Appalachian Coalfields," by Jack Wright, producer and editor. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 42, no. 8 (February): 53. Two-CD compilation with 70-page book.

Ostendorf, Ann. 2004. "Song Catchers, Ballad Makers, and New Social Historians: The Historiography of Appalachian Music" [1890-1950s]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 63 (Fall): 192-202.

Parsons, Penny. 2004. "Curly Seckler: Bluegrass Pioneer" [singer; mandolin]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 38 (June): 38-45.

Parsons, Penny. 2005. "Larry Sparks: Be Real, and Stick With It" [guitarist, b. 1947]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 39 (June): 30-36.

Parsons, Penny. 2006. "The McCormick Brothers: Bluegrass Music's Best-Kept Secret" [1950s-60s; Gerald, William and Haskel]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 40, no.12 (June): 58-64.

Parsons, Penny. 2009. "The Many Hats of Melvin Goins" [b. 1933?; Bluefield, W. Va.; guitarist, promoter]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 43, no. 12 (June): 26-31.

Parton, Dolly. 1994. *Dolly: My Life and Other Unfinished Business*. New York: HarperCollins. 338 pp.

Patterson, Beverly Bush. 1995. *The Sound of the Dove: Singing in Appalachian Primitive Baptist Churches*. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 238 pp.

Patterson, Beverly Bush. 2002. "Ballad Singing in Madison County, North Carolina." In *American Musical Traditions*. Vol. 3, *British Isles Music*, ed. J. Titon and B. Carlin, 66-70. New York: Schirmer Reference.

Patterson, Beverly Bush. 2002. "Primitive Baptist Singing in the Southern Appalachians." In *American Musical Traditions*. Vol. 3, *British Isles Music*, ed. J. Titon and B. Carlin, 57-60. New York: Schirmer Reference.

Patterson, Daniel W. 1998. "Sheila Kay Adams: Seventh-Generation Ballad Singer" [Madison Co., N.C.]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 45 (Summer-Fall): 115-116.

Pearl, Minnie. 2005. "Minnie Pearl Speech" [Sarah Cannon, 1912-1996]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 40 (December): 38-41. Comedienne's 1980s address on the beginnings of the Grand Ole Opry and country music.

Pearson, Barry Lee, Jeffrey Place, comps. [1971] 2010. Classic Appalachian Blues from Smithsonian Folkways [CD sound disk; 1:07:31 hrs.]. Washington, D.C.: Smithsonian Folkways Recordings. "Born in the racially mixed mines and railroad camps of the southern mountains, Appalachian blues features a blend of African and European musical traditions and a rich variety of styles. Culled from Smithsonian Folkways deep catalog, this collection showcases recordings from all over the region. Includes 11 previously unreleased tracks." Contents: My baby's gone (Sticks McGhee) -- Louise blues (Big Chief Ellis with Cephas and Wiggins) -- Sitting on top of the world (Doc Watson) -- Railroad Bill (John Jackson) -- Don't let your deal go down (Bill Williams) -- You don't know my mind (Pink Anderson) -- Blues around my bed (J.C. Burris) --

Hesitation blues (Rev. Gary Davis) -- Pawn shop blues (Brownie McGhee) -- The road is rough and rocky (Archie Edwards) -- Hoodoo blues (Martin, Bogan and Armstrong) -- Red river blues (Lesley Riddle) -- Walking cane (Peg Leg Sam Jackson) -- One dime blues (Etta Baker) -- Mississippi heavy water blues (Roscoe Holcomb) -- Outskirts of town (Josh White) -- See what you done done (Baby Tate) -- I got a woman (Marvin & Turner Foddrell) -- Girl dressed in green (John Tinsley) -- Blues in the morning (E.C. Ball) -- Wine blues (drinkin' wine spo-dee-oh-dee) (Sticks McGhee).

Pecknold, Diane. 2002. "The Selling Sound of Country Music: Class, Culture, and Early Radio Marketing Strategy of the Country Music Association." In *Country Music Annual* 2002, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 54-81.. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Pecknold, Diane. 2007. *The Selling Sound: The Rise of the Country Music Industry*. Refiguring American Music series. Durham, N.C.: Duke University Press. 294 pp.

Peer, Ralph. [1953] 2005. "Discovery of the First Hillbilly Great" [Jimmie Rodgers; 1927]. In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 137-141. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *Billboard* magazine, May 16, 1953.

Pen, Ronald. 2010. *I Wonder As I Wander: The Life of John Jacob Niles* [1892-1980; Ky. singer, composer, folk collector]. Foreword by Rick Kogan. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 371 pp. Contents: Overture: sunrise in Clark County -- The families gather at the river -- The move to rural Jefferson County -- Independence and adventure -- Jack Niles goes off to war -- Life after the war -- Creating a life in the Big Apple -- Kerby and Niles present folk music on the concert stage -- Doris Ulmann -- Transitions and new beginnings -- Life in Lexington -- Settled in Kentucky -- Dean of American balladeers -- Consolidation of a life in music -- Do not go gentle -- Coda. See also: *The Ballad Book of John Jacob Niles* (University Press of Kentucky, 2000 [1961]).

Peterson, Pete. 2005. "Getting Started with Charlie Poole Style Banjo" [clawhammer banjo workshop: tablature and online audio clips]. Audio recordings by Walt Koken *The Old-Time Herald* Volume 9, no. 8 (Summer). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-9/9-8/workshop-poole.html.

Peterson, Pete. 2007. "Walt Koken—"Gonna live in the highwoods til I die." *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 8 (December 2006-January 2007). Online, with sound clip. http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-8/walt-koken.html.

Peterson, Richard A. 1997. *Creating Country Music: Fabricating Authenticity* [1923-1953]. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Piazza, Tom. 1999. *True Adventures with the King of Bluegrass* [biography of singer and guitarist Jimmy Martin, b. 1927, East Tenn.]. Foreword by Mary Stuart. Nashville: The Country Music Foundation Press & Vanderbilt University Press. 108 pp.

Pilley, Nick. 2002. "Appalachian Clogging in Britain: The Green Grass Legacy." *Old-Time Herald* 8 (February-April): 11-14, 33.

Plantenga, Bart. 2004. "The Hillbillies Are Alive with Yodeling" [Jimmie Rodgers and others]. Chapter 8 in *Yodel-Ay-Ed-Oooo: The Secret History of Yodeling Around the World*, 185-212. New York: Routledge.

Plaster, J. Scott. 1996. "An Enduring Voice: Celtic Influences on the Appalachian Ballad 'Black Jack Davy" [Child Ballad #200]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Spring): 87-102.

Plaut, Linda, and Lyn Wolz. 1995. "Two Gardeners of Song: Exploiters or Preservers?" In *Appalachia and the Politics of Culture*, ed. E. C. Fine. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 7: 41-49. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Poe, Randy. 2003. "June Carter Cash (1929-2003)." Sing Out! 47 (Fall): 213.

Posey, Lawton W. 2008. "Richard Ruddle and the Reed Organs of Pendleton County." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 1 (Spring): 22-27. History of rare church pump-organs.

Potorti, David, and Alice Gerrard, ed. 2001. "John Hartford--Reminiscences." Interviews by David Potorti. *Old-Time Herald Online* 8, no. 1 (Fall): 29 para. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/8-1/hartford.htm.

Potorti, David. 2002. "Didn't He Ramble!: Family, Friends and Fellow Musicians Remember Tommy Thompson." *Old-Time Herald Online* 8, no. 4 (Summer). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/eissues.htm.

Pruett, David B. 2002. "WPAQ Radio: The Voice of the Blue Ridge Mountains" [Mount Airy, N.C.]. In *Country Music Annual 2002*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 151-160. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Purinton, Darcy. 2008. "Kids' Academies: A Trend in Bluegrass Education." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 42, no. 7 (January): 58-61.

Raines, David, and Tricia Walker. 2008. "Poetry for the People: Country Music and American Social Change" [after WWI]. *Southern Quarterly* 45, no. 2 (Winter): 44-52.

Ramella, Richard. 2004. "West Virginia's Three State Songs" [official songs, composed 1885, 1947, 1962]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Summer): 18-23. Appended stories: "A State of Music: Songs of Hills and Home," 24-28, and "When 'Country Roads' Began: Genesis of a Mountain Favorite" [John Denver, 1971; W. Va.'s adopted, unofficial state anthem], 29.

Rector, Ernestine Parker. 2008. "Red Rector" [1929-1990]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 64, no. 1 (Spring): 9-21. Bluegrass mandolin player; career overview by his wife.

Reid, Gary B. 2011. "Curly Seckler" [b. 1920; tenor, guitarist, and Hall of Fame inductee]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 45, no. 8 (February): 20-25.

Reid, Gary B. 2011. "Jim Shumate: Bluegrass Triple Threat" [b. 1921; N.C.; fiddler]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 46 no. 1 (July): 40-44. Performed with Bill Monroe & the Blue Grass Boys, the Stanley Brothers, and Lester Flatt, Earl Scruggs & the Foggy Mountain Boys.

Reid, Gary. 2010. "Retracing the Footsteps of the Kings." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 44, no. 7 (January): 40-45. King Records of Cincinnati, Ohio (1943-1971) which recorded first generation bluegrass bands including the Stanley Brothers.

Reid, W. Bruce. 2001. "The Stripling Brothers 2000" [sons of Ala. fiddler Charlie Stripling, now in their 80s]. *Old-Time Herald Online* 7, no. 8 (Summer): 20 para. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/7-8/stripling.htm.

Remsberg, Rich. 2010. *Hard Luck Blues: Roots Music Photographs from the Great Depression*. Foreword by Nicholas Dawidoff; afterword by Henry Sapoznik. Music in American Life series. Urbana: University of Illinois Press, published in association with the Library of Congress. 220 pp. Two hundred photographs by New Deal FSA photographers, including Jack Delano, Dorothea Lange, Russell Lee, Arthur Rothstein, Ben Shahn, Marion Post Wolcott, and others.

Reynolds, Karen Wheeling. 2011. *Tom Dooley: The Story Behind the Ballad* [Tom Dula, c.1843/4-1868; murder trial; N.C.]. Bristol, Va.: Little Creek Books. 275 pp.

Rice, Harry S. 1997. "Renfro Valley Broadcast Recordings and Selected Scripts, 1937-1941" [lists song titles and musician/group]. *Journal of Country Music* 19 (no. 2): 24-25.

Rice, Harry S. 1997. "Renfro Valley on the Radio, 1937-1941" [Renfro Valley Barn Dance, Ky., live broadcast]. *Journal of Country Music* 19 (no. 2): 16-25.

Ritchie, Jean, comp. [1952, 1964] 1999. *Jean Ritchie's Swapping Song Book* [21 songs]. Photographs by George Peckow; foreword by Charles Wolfe. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 85 pp. Formerly published, New York: H. Z. Walck, 1964.

Ritchie, Jean. 1997. *Folk Songs of the Southern Appalachians As Sung By Jean Ritchie*. 2nd ed. Forewords by Alan Lomax and Ron Pen. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 100 pp. Originally published: New York: Oak Publications, 1965.

Roberts, Glenn, Jr. 2003. "Paul Williams: An Unsung Bluegrass Music Legend" [b. 1935; Lonesome Pine Fiddlers]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 37 (April): 30-36.

Roberts, Glenn. 2005. "Jack Cooke: A Bluegrass Music Pioneer...Well, Almost" [bass fiddle and guitar; b. 1936, Norton, Va.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 40 (September): 36-42.

Robertson, David. 2009. W. C. Handy: The Life and Times of the Man Who Made the Blues [1873-1958; northern Ala.]. New York: Knopf. 286 pp.

Robertson, Paul L. 2008. "Manuscripts, Mountain Music, and Megabytes: So Mote It Ever Be: The Folksong Heritage of North Carolina's Northern Blue Ridge Mountains." *Journal of the Society of North Carolina Archivists* 6, no.1 (Summer).

Rodgers, Carrie. [1935, 1975] 2005. "My Husband, Jimmie Rodgers" [1897-1933]. In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 142-160. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *My Husband, Jimmie Rodgers*, Nashville: Country Music Foundation Press.

Romanoski, Steve. 2007. "Earl Scruggs: Still Pickin'." Sing Out! 51, no. 1 (Spring): 52-57.

Rorrer, Kinney. 2006. "H. O. Jenkins: Heir to the Jenkins Family Legacy" [Surry Co., N.C.]. *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 7 (October-November). Online, with sound clip of 1927 recording, "Take Me Back to the Sweet Sunny South."

http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-7/jenkins.html.

Rorrer, Kinney. 2007. "Posey Rorer of Franklin County, Virginia" [and W. Va.; fiddler, b. 1891]. *Old-Time Herald* 11, no. 2 (December 2007-January 2008). http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-11/11-2/rorer.html.

Rosenbaum, Art. 2002. "Down Yonder: Old-Time String Band Music from Georgia" [Gordon Tanner, b. 1916, Gwinnett Co.]. In *American Musical Traditions*. Vol. 3, *British Isles Music*, ed. J. Titon and B. Carlin, 108-114. New York: Schirmer Reference.

Rosenbaum, Art. 2011. "A Day in the North Georgia Mountains." *Old-Time Herlad* 13, no. 1 (October 15). Rabun County.

http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-13/13-1/index.html.

Rosenberg, Madelyn. 2010. "If Trouble Don't Kill Me: Stories from Ralph Berrier, Jr." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 45, no. 3 (September): 38-41. Discusses Berrier's just-published biography of his grandfather and great uncle, twins Clayton Hall (1919-2003) and Saford Hall (1919-1999), of Patrick County, Va.: *If Trouble Don't Kill Me: A Family's Story of Brotherhood, War, and Bluegrass* (Crown Publishers, 2010).

Rosenberg, Neil V. [1985] 2005. *Bluegrass: A History* [bibliography, discography]. Reprint, with a new preface. Music in American Life. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 447 pp.

Rosenberg, Neil V. 2007. "Family Values Seeger Style: A Seeger Family Tribute at the Library of Congress" [Pete Seeger]. *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 29, no. 1-2 (Winter/Spring): 3-11. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/pdf/afcnews-winterspring-2007.pdf.

Rosenberg, Neil V., and Wolfe, Charles K. 2007. *The Music of Bill Monroe* [1911-1996; complete bio-discography of sound and visual recordings, 1939-1996]. Music in American Life. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 347 pp.

Roth, Marcus. 2005. "Twists And Twangs: Virginia Plots Its Musical Heritage Along a 'Crooked Road'" [250-mile musical heritage trail; Southwestern Va.; numerous links, directory, map]. *Washington Post*, 11 May, 2(C). 21 paras. http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2005/05/10/AR2005051001336.html.

Rounder Collective, The, (Ken Irwin, Marian Leighton Levy, and Bill Nowlin). 2005. "The Life of Blind Alfred Reed" [1880-1956; W. Va. singer, songwriter, fiddler]. In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 125-129. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Rountree, Travis A. 2009. "Returning to the Far Past: Isaac Garfield Greer's Ballad Collection Revisited" [W.L. Eury Appalachian Collection, Appalachian State University]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 56, no. 1 (Spring-Summer): 10-20.

Rubin, Mark. 2005. "Charlie Poole: The Man at Country Music's Roots" [1892-1931; banjo player; North Carolina Ramblers]. *Sing Out!* 49, no. 3 (Fall): 18-25.

Ruchala, James. 2007. "'Sally Ann' and the Blue-Ridge String-band Tradition." *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 54, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 29-75. A study of "the various ways the song has been played, arranged, accompanied and transmitted over the last century." Verses, schematics, transcriptions, discography.

Rucker, James "Sparky." 2008. "The Story of the 'Ballad of Tom Dooley'." *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 1 (Winter): 49-52. 1860s N.C., Tenn.; 1927 recording.

Rudder, Randy. 2004. "The Last Ride on the Lost Highway" [Hank Williams; New Year's Eve, 1952; W. Va.]. In *CrossRoads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 290-309. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Rudder, Randy. 2007. "The Million-Dollar Mandolin: Bluegrass Music's Finest Relic Finally Finds a Home" [Bill Monroe, 1911-1996]. *Southern Cultures* 13, no. 3 (Fall): 126-131.

Rumble, John W. 2004. "Heartbreakers and Moneymakers: Tennessee's Country Music Industry." In *A History of Tennessee Arts: Creating Traditions, Expanding Horizons*, ed. C. West and M. Binnicker, 445-461. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Russell, Rob. 2007. "The Appalachian Roots of Rock and Roll" [Roy Hall and Stick McGhee; Tenn.]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 23, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 63-65.

Russell, Tony, and Bob Pinson. 2004. *Country Music Records: A Discography, 1921-1942* [2,500 artists, 5,000 session musicians, and 10,000 songs]. New York: Oxford University Press. 1183 pp.

Russell, Tony. 2007. *Country Music Originals: The Legends and the Lost* [brief biogaphies; 110 musicians or string bands; 1920s-1940s]. New York: Oxford University Press. 258 pp.

Russell, Tony. 2008. "The World's Most Popular Radio Artist: Tuning in Again to Chubby Parker." *Old-Time Herald* 11, no. 8 (December 2008-January 2009). Banjo player; 1920s WLS, Chicago. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-11/11-8/chubby-parker.html.

Rutledge, Mark. 1998. "A Four-Year University Discovers Bluegrass Is A Sound Investment" [East Tennessee State University Bluegrass and Country Music Program]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 32 (April): 28-34.

Ruvolo-Wilkes, Vita. 2007. "The Beat Goes On: A Photo-Essay for the Asheville Drum Circle" [Friday nights, Pritchard Park]. Photographs by Paul M. Howey. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 54, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 4-12.

Samples, Mack. 1997. "Join Hands & Circle: Old-Time Dancing Alive and Well" [central W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Spring): 25-32.

Sanders, Randy. 2008. "An Afternoon with Kenton Coe." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 51-53. Special issue—"Urbane Appalachia"; internationally-known composer Kenton Coe, b. Johnson City, Tenn.

Santelli, Robert, Holly George-Warren, and Jim Brown, ed. 2001. *American Roots Music* [11 chapters incl. country and folk music; profusely illustrated; "Based on the PBS series and a collaboration between: the Library of Congress, the National Endowment for the Arts, the Smithsonian Institution, the Rock and Roll Hall of Fame and Museum, and Experience Music Project."]. Foreword by Bonnie Raitt. New York: H. N. Abrams. 232 pp.

Sarfield, Norbert. 2007. "A Conversation with Jimmy Triplett" [with photos of Earl Alkire, Stanley Propst, Ralph Roberts, Leland Hall, Melvin Wine, and Jimmy Triplett]. *Old-Time Herald* 11, no. 1 (October-November). Online, with sound clip. http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-11/11-1/tripplett.html.

Satterlee, Dennis. 2001. "Everett Lilly: Remembering the Foggy Mountain Boy Years [Lilly brothers Everett and Bea began singing in the 1930s]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 36 (June): 58-61.

Sauceman, Fred. 2006. "Souped Up Bluegrass at Ciderville" [soup and jam sessions; Ciderville Music Store, Powell, Tenn.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 66-67.

Saunders, Walt. 2012. "Everett Lilly, July 1, 1924–May 8, 2012" [career overview]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 47, no. 1 (July): 10. Mandolin player Everett was a member of the Lilly Brothers from Clear Creek, W. Va., and recorded with Flagg & Scruggs among others in his long career.

Sawyer, Loretta. 2003. "Homer Ledford" [b. 1927; Ky. instrument maker; see also *Dulcimer Maker: The Craft of Homer Ledford*, by R. Gerald Alvey (University Press of Kentucky, 1984)]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 37 (May): 50-54.

Sawyer, Loretta. 2003. "Homer Ledford" [renowned, master craftsman of musical instruments; b. 1927, Overton Co., Tenn.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 37 (May): 50-54.

Sawyer, Loretta. 2003. "The Renfro Valley Entertainment Center" [Rockcastle Co., Ky.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 37 (June): 52-55.

Sawyer, Loretta. 2006. "The Kentucky Music Hall of Fame and Museum" [opened 2002, Renfro Valley, Ky.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 40 (February): 54-55.

Scalf, Laurene. 1999. "Nick Stump: Proud Member of the Hillbilly Nation" [Ky. musician and screenwriter; profile]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 16 (Summer): 35-38.

Scancarelli, Jim. 2003. "Hatch Show Print" [Nashville; advertising posters, since 1879; www.hatchshowprint.com]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 37 (May): 58-60.

Schmidt-Pirro, Julia, and Karen M. McCurdy. 2005. "Employing Music in the Cause of Social Justice: Ruth Crawford Seeger and Zilphia Horton" [Highlander Folk School]. *VOICES: The Journal of New York Folklore* 31: 32-36.

Schmidt, Susan. 2006. "High O'er the Hills the Mountains Rise': Shape-Note Singing: Seven-Shape Christian Harmony in Western North Carolina." *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 56, no. 2 (Fall): 160-168.

Scully, Michael F. 2008. *The Never-Ending Revival: Rounder Records and the Folk Alliance*. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 259 pp. 1960s folk revival; tradition-profitability controversy; North American Folk Music and Dance Alliance.

Seeger, Mike, Jon Pankake, Kinney Rorrer, and Willis Poyser. 1998. "Dock Boggs: Memories & Appreciations" [Va. banjoist singer; 1898-1971; biography]. *Old-Time Herald Online* 6, no. 6 (Winter). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/eissues.htm.

Seeger, Mike. 2002. "The Autoharp in Old-Time Southern Music." In *American Musical Traditions*. Vol. 3, *British Isles Music*, ed. J. Titon and B. Carlin, 122-131. New York: Schirmer Reference.

Seeger, Mike. [1984] 2006. "An Historical and Musical Background on the Southern Appalachian Region" [adapted from a study guide]. *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 56, no. 2 (Fall): 48-54.

Seeger, Pete. 2007. "Pete Seeger, San Francisco, 1989." Interview by William R. Ferris and Michael K. Honey. *Southern Cultures* 13, no. 3 (Fall): 5-38.

Sheaffer, John C. 1996. "The Thompsonville Strike: An Event and a Ballad" [Jackson and Vinton Counties, Ohio; Marion Co., W. Va.]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 57 (no. 3): 105-123.

Shekinah, Linda. 2006. "Clint Howard: From Cattle to Carnegie Hall" [Carnegie Hall, Mountain City, Tenn.]. *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 4 (April-May). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-4/clint-howard.html.

Shelton, James A. 2006. "The Stanley Brothers' Last Show" [Ralph and Stanley, & the Clinch Mountain Boys; Sunday, October 16, 1966, Bean Blossom, Ind.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 41 (October): 40-44.

Shirk, A. V. 2004. "Close Harmonies: Ann & Phil Case" [old-time Appalachian duets; guitar, banjo, dulcimer]. *Old-Time Herald* 9, no. 4 (Summer). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/.

Shirk, A.V. 2005. "The Charlie Poole Festival in Eden, North Carolina" [Piedmont string band tradition and Southern textile industry]. *The Old-Time Herald* 9, no. 8 (Summer). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-9/9-8/charlie-poole.html.

Shoemaker, Henry W., comp. [1919] 2011. *North Pennsylvania Minstrelsy: As Sung in the Backwood Settlements, Hunting Cabins and Lumber Camps in Northern Pennsylvania, 1840-1910.* University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 145 pp. Collection of over 100 folk songs and ballads from 12 counties, compiled with the assistance of John C. French and John H. Chatham. Originally published: Altoona, Pa.: Altoona Tribune Company.

Silverman, Jonathan. 2010. *Nine Choices: Johnny Cash and American Culture* [biography; 1932-2003]. Amherst: University of Massachusetts Press. 278 pp.

Simon, John Roger. 2008. *Cowboy Copas and the Golden Age of Country Music*. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 414 pp. Biography, 1913-1963; (Copas died in the plane crash that killed Patsy Cline).

Simpson, Bland. 2006. "Blue Yodeler: Jimmie Rodgers" [1897-1933]. Southern Cultures 12, no. 4: 92-95.

Simpson, Bland. 2006. "Dixie Dewdrop: Uncle Dave Macon" [banjoist; 1870-1952]. Southern Cultures 12, no. 4: 108-110.

Simpson, Bland. 2006. "King of the Hillbillies: Hank Williams" [1923-1953]. *Southern Cultures* 12, no. 4: 29-32.

Simpson, Bland. 2006. "Wildwood Flowers: The Carter Family." *Southern Cultures* 12, no. 4: 135-137.

Sluys, Nancy. 2007. "The Slate Mountain Ramblers from Twenty Years Ago to the Present" [western N.C. and southwestern Va.]. *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 12 (August-September). http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-12/slatemountainramblers.html.

Smith, Andrew K., and James E. Akenson. 2005. "The Civil War in Country Music Tradition." In *Country Music Goes to War*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 1-25. Lexington, Ky.: University Press of Kentucky.

Smith, Betty N. 2007. "Singing Just To Make Music': Betty Smith in Her Own Voice" [b. 1926, N.C.; teacher, performer, music scholar; bibliography, discography]. Interview by Annie Bryant, Phil Jamison, Carl Jenkins, Susan Pepper, Leila Weinstein, with Patricia D. Beaver. *Appalachian Journal* 34, no. 2 (Winter): 160-184.

Smith, Betty. 2002. "Mary Jane Queen: Singer and Musician, John's Creek, Caney Fork, Jackson County" [2001 Brown-Hudson Award winner]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 49 (Spring/Summer): 34-36.

Smith, Betty. 2008. Review essay of music soundtrack CD, "The Appalachians: A Companion Recording to the Public Television Series *The Appalachians*" (2005), produced by Paul Kingsbury, Mari-Lynn Evans, and Phyllis Geller (23 tracks). *Appalachian Journal* 35, no. 3 (Spring): 265-268.

Smith, Lee. 2001. "At Last, Appalachia Can Share What It's Always Embraced" [music's exposure through books and films]. *Washington Post*, 12 August, 1(G).

Smith, Malcolm. 2008. "Cathy Barton and Dave Para: Lives on the River." *Old-Time Herald* 11, no. 4 (April-May): online, with one sound clip. Guitar and banjo; teachers and folklorists; Missouri River, Ozarks. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-11/11-4/barton-para.html.

Smith, R. T. 2006. "Confessions of an Erstwhile Irksome Banjo Dog" [Editor's Note to special issue, "Traditional Music"]. *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 56, no. 2 (Fall): 216-220.

Smith, Ralph Lee. 1997. *American Dulcimer Traditions*. American Folk Music and Folk Musicians, No. 2, Lanham, Md.: Scarecrow Press. 176 pp.

Smith, Ralph Lee. [1997] 2010. *Appalachian Dulcimer Traditions*. 2nd ed. American Folk Music and Musicians, no. 13. Lanham, Md.: Scarecrow Press. 183 pp. Contents: An American heritage -- Where did the dulcimer come from? -- Early traces and trails -- Virginia traditions -- West Virginia and North Carolina traditions -- Dulcimers of yesterday in the Cumberlands -- Dulcimer makers of the folk revival transition -- Some interesting types.

Smith, Richard D. 2000. Can't You Hear Me Callin': The Life of Bill Monroe, Father of Bluegrass [1911-1996]. Boston: Little, Brown. 365 pp.

Smith, Richard D. 2002. "The Bill Monroe Biography: Journalism Assisting Scholarship." In *Country Music Annual* 2002, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 15-25. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Smith, Richard D. 2008. "True Songs in The Music of Bill Monroe" Bluegrass Unlimited 42, no. 8 (February): 10-11. The Music of Bill Monroe, by Neil V. Rosenberg and Charles K. Wolfe (University of Illinois Press, 2007).

Smith, Richard D. 2012. "Doc Watson: Carpenter, Electrician, Learner" [d. May 29]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 47, no. 2 (August): 28-29. His "zest for delving into new things and succeeding at them, despite a significant personal handicap [blindness]....characterized his entire productive life."

Sowards, Leonard. 1998. "The Boys Who Went to Indiana" [1941; account of teen troubadours from Pound, Va., with Kenny Baker as fiddler, playing street corners in mountain towns to finance a spontaneous road trip in a '34 Chevy]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 33 (September): 28-32.

Spalding, Susan Eike. 1995. "'You've Got to Get the Music in Your Feet:'" In *Appalachia and the Politics of Culture*, ed. E. C. Fine. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 7: 29-40. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Spence, Robert. 2001. "'He Just Loved the Music': Traditional Fiddler Red Henline" [1923-1999; Upshur Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Spring): 44-49.

Spencer, Scott B., ed. 2012. *The Ballad Collectors of North America: How Gathering Folksongs Transformed Academic Thought and American Identity*. American Folk Music and Musicians Series, no. 15. Lanham, Md.: Scarecrow Press. 237 pp. Contents: Ballad collecting: impetus and impact / Scott B. Spencer -- Franz Boas, the phonograph, and the Columbia School / Erika Brady -- Ballad collectors in the Ozarks / Norm Cohen -- Songcatchers in the West: cowboy songs; Songcatchers in the West, other traditions / Guy Logsdon -- Folk song collectors in the Midwest / James P. Leary -- Ballad collectors in the Northeast / Nancy-Jean Ballard Seigel -- Four songcatchers in eastern Canada / Sheldon Posen -- The Lomaxes / Matt Barton -- Robert Winslow Gordon / Paul Stamler -- Collecting occupational songs / Dan Milner -- Commodification and revival / Paul Stamler.

Spottswood, Dick, with David Sax and Pete Kuykendall. 2005. "Rich-R'-Tone, Mutual, and Blue Ridge: Histories and Inventories" [discography lists approx. 500 titles from these three early bluegrass recording labels, 1946-1955]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 39 (February): 24-33.

Spottswood, Dick. 1996. "Bill Monroe: An Appreciation" [1922-1996]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 31 (November): 16-17.

Spottswood, Dick. 2002. "Alan Lomax, 1915-2002" [esteemed preserver/promoter of traditional music; Library of Congress]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 37 (September): 21.

Spottswood, Dick. 2007. "Wade Mainer: The First Hundred Years" [banjoist, b. 1907, Buncombe Co., N.C.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 41, no. 10 (April): 48-53.

Spottswood, Dick. 2011. "The Brewster Brothers: Their Story and Knoxville's Glory." *Old-Time Herald* 12, no. 9 (February-March). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-12/12-9/index.html.

Spottswood, Dick. 2012. "Earl Scruggs and the Sound of Genius" [1924-2012]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 46, no. 12 (June): 26-32. See also: "Earl Scruggs: A Celebration of Life" [funeral service], by Penny Parsons, 34-37; and "The Lingering Effects of Crossing Paths With a Musical Icon," by Michael Brantley, 40-42.

Spurgeon, Alan L., and David Gadberry. 2002. "Mary Jo Davis Henderson: Her Life and Contributions to Ozark Regional Folk Music" [b. 1936; folk songs]. *Mid-America Folklore* 29 (Summer): 7-12.

Stafford, Tim. 2007. "Audey Ratliff and Ratliff Mandolins" [Tenn.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 42, no. 3 (September): 32-36.

Stamler, Paul J. 2002. "Just the Thought of Going Home: Sheila Kay Adams and the Singers of Madison County, N.C." [profile; Adams served as musical advisor to the film *Songcatcher* (2001)]. *Sing Out!* 46 (Summer): 60-72.

Stamper, Pete. 1999. *It All Happened in Renfro Valley* [Ky.; Renfro Valley Barn Dance]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 241 pp.

Stanley, Ralph, with Eddie Dean. 2009. *Man of Constant Sorrow: The Life & Times of a Music Legend* [b. 1927; Va.; traditional country music banjoist, singer, and band leader of the Clinch Mountain Boys]. New York: Gotham Books. 452 pp.

Steel, David Warren, and Richard H. Hulan. 2010. *The Makers of the Sacred Harp* [shape note hymnody]. Music in American Life series. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 321 pp. Contents: The origins of the Sacred Harp -- The Chattahoochee Valley -- The westward migration -- The Sacred Harp and the Civil War -- Musical families -- Professions and occupations -- Teachers and tradition -- The styles of Sacred Harp music -- Frontiers of the American hymn; Sketches of selected poets and hymn writers / Richard H. Hulan -- Biographical sketches of the composers -- Sacred Harp composers, arranged by birth date -- The songs of the Sacred Harp -- Sources for the songs.

Stimeling, Travis D. 2006. "Bringing the Classics to the Ohio Valley: The Huntington Federal Music Project Orchestra, 1936-1942" [Federal Music Project of the WPA to provide work for unemployed professional musicians]. *West Virginia History* 60 (2004-2006): 23-44.

Stimeling, Travis D. 2012. "Music, Place, and Identity in the Central Appalachian Mountaintop Removal Mining Debate." *American Music* 30, no. 1 (Spring): 1-29.

Stoneman, Roni, and Ellen Wright. 2007. *Pressing On: The Roni Stoneman Story* [b. 1938; from interviews; banjoist, youngest daughter of the Stoneman Family, and comedian on *Hee Haw*]. Music in American Life. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 248 pp.

Story, Brandon. 2005. "Gospel according to Bristol: The Life, Music and Ministry of Ernest Phipps" [preacher; 1900-1963; discography]. In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 95-118. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Stout, Sam. 2012. "Bluegrass Saturday Night: Sutton's Ole Time Music Hour in Granville, Tennessee" [Jackson, Co.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 46, no. 7 (January): 40-43. Broadcast weekly by three radio stations and via three Internet sites, from the town's (pop. 2,266) general store.

Streissguth, Michael. 2001. "The Could've Been Career of Red Kirk" [East Tenn. Singer; 1947-mid 50s]. *Journal of Country Music* 22 (no. 1): 4-7.

Streissguth, Michael. 2006. *Johnny Cash: The Biography* [1932-2003]. Cambridge, Mass.: Da Capo Press. 334 pp.

Stuart, Chris. 2006. "Del McCoury: Leading Man." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 40, no. 12 (June): 32-38.

Stuart, Chris. 2006. "Ralph Stanley: Longing for Home" [biography]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 41 (October): 30-36.

Stuart, Chris. 2009. "Charlie Sizemore: A Long Way from Puncheon Creek" [Magoffin Co., Ky.; lead singer for Ralph Stanley's band, 1970s-80s]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 44, no 3 (September): 32-36.

Stubbs, Eddie. 2002. "Beecher 'Pete' Kirby, 'Bashful Brother Oswald': December 26, 1911-October 17, 2002" [tribute; Tenn. Dobro player]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 37 (December): 14-15.

Stubbs, Eddie. 2003. "Jim McReynolds, February 13, 1927—December 31, 2002" [of Jim & Jesse, bluegrass and country music brother duet]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 37 (February): 24-25.

Stubbs, Eddie. 2005. "James Henry 'Jimmy' Martin" [1927-2005; farewell obituary]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 40 (July): 30-35.

Stubbs, Eddie. 2006. "Louise Scruggs (February 17, 1927–February 2, 2006)" [wife of Earl; "First Lady of Country Music Business"]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 40, no. 10 (April): 32-37.

Stubbs, Eddie. 2007. "Ernest Tubb Record Shops: Celebrating Sixty Years and Still Going Strong." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 41, no. 11 (May): 36-42.

Stubbs, Eddie. 2011. "Charlie Louvin (July 7, 1927-January 26, 2011)." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 45, no. 10 (April): 18-19. Career overview; Alabaman; guitarist and gospel singer, with brother Ira on the mandolin, known as the Louvin Brothers.

Stubbs, Eddie. 2011. "Doc Williams (June 26, 1914-January 31, 2011)." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 45, no. 10 (April): 20. Career overview; traditional country music guitarist and singer, Wheeling, W. Va., WWVA.

Stubbs, Eddie. 2011. "Wilma Lee Cooper (February 7, 1921-September 13, 2011)." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 46, no. 5 (November): 12. Born in Valley Head, W. Va.; "Often billed in the 1970s and 1980s as the First Lady of Bluegrass."

Swain, Leila Ryland. 2010. "Passing on a Culture: West Virginia Traditional Musical Heritage and the Allegheny Echoes Programme." *International Journal of Community Music* 3, no. 2 (July): 255-276. Traditional music of the Hammons family of Pocahontas County; week-long program of instruction and performance with guest artists at Marlinton, W. Va.

Swan, M. L., contr. 2001 [1867]. *The New Harp of Columbia* ["A facsimile reprint of The New Harp of Columbia: a system of musical notation, with a note for each sound, and a shape for each note; containing a variety of most excellent psalm and hymn tunes, odes and anthems, happily adapted to church service, singing-schools and societies"]. Restored facsimile ed., with an introduction by Dorothy D. Horn, Ron Petersen, and Candra Phillips. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 287 pp.

Swiger, Lynette. 2004. "The Thread That Runs So True: The Russell Fluharty and Patty Looman Connection" [Fluharty, hammered dulcimer player, d. 1989]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 9: 54-56.

Szego, Pete. 2006. "Searching for the Roots of the Banjo. Part II" [African origins]. *Old-Time Herald* 10, no.5 (June-July). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-5/roots-banjo2.html.

Szego, Pete. 2006. "Searching for the Roots of the Banjo" [early minstrel banjo; last of the black banjo songsters]. *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 4 (April-May). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back issues/volume-10/10-4/roots-banjo.html.

Taft, Michael. 2006. "The Appalachian Dynamo: AFC Adds to Its Bascom Lamar Lunsford Collection" [b. 1882, Mars Hill, N.C.; two new collections containing recordings, photos and film footage relating to the "Minstrel of the Appalachians"]. *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 28, no. 4 (Fall): 14-15. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/pdf/afcnews-fall-2006.pdf.

Taft, Michael. 2011. "The Work of a Great Team: AFC Acquires the George Pickow and Jean Ritchie Collection" [American Folklife Center]. *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 33, no. 1- 2 (Winter-Spring): 20-23, including a list of current Ritchie holdings in the Archive. Photographer George Pickow (1922-2010) and singer-musician Jean Ritchie (b. 1922, Viper, Ky.). "Jean Ritchie is perhaps the most important singer, interpreter, and proponent of Appalachian traditions since Bascom Lamar Lunsford (1882-1973), and she has been part of the American folksong revival for more than sixty-five years"...."The life's work of Jean and George is among the largest multi-media collections acquired by the Center, and perhaps the most

extensive AFC collection compiled by a husband-and-wife team." http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/pdf/FCN_Vol33no1-2.pdf.

Tarowsky, Tom. 2010. "Weir Going West: A High School Band and a Very Big Parade." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 4 (Winter): 10-17. Weirton remembers a trip to the Rose Bowl in 1960.

Tarullo, Hope. 2003. "Doc Watson" [b. 1923, N.C.]. Current Biography 64 (February): 68-74.

Taylor, Bobby. 1997. "I Remember Clark Kessinger" [fiddler; 1896-1975]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Fall): 18-19.

Tenenbaum, Molly, comp. 1998. "Notes from the Judges' Booth" [reflections on the Appalachian String Band Music Festival, Clifftop, W. Va., from 10 judges]. *Old-Time Herald Online* 6, no. 3 (Spring). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/eissues.htm.

Thanki, Juli. 2012. "Ralph Rinzler" [1934-1994]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 47, no. 5 (November): 24-27. Co-founder of the Smithsonian Folklife Festival, discoverer of Doc Watson, resuscitator of Bill Monroe's career, and new inductee into the Bluegrass Hall of Fame.

Thomas, Anne Elise. 2001. "Practicing Tradition: History and Community in an Appalachian Dance Style" [clogging]. *Western Folklore* 60 (Spring-Summer): 163-181.

Thomas, Rebecca. 2003. "The Cow That's Ugly Has the Sweetest Milk" ["racism...fear of mixing...double standard"]. In *The Women of Country Music: A Reader*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 131-147. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Thompson, Tim. 2006. "Midnight Serenade: J. W. 'Babe' Spanger" [b. 1882; Va. fiddler]. *Old-Time Herald* 10, no. 7 (October-November). Online, with sound clip. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-10/10-7/spangler.html.

Tichi, Cecelia. 1994. *High Lonesome: The American Culture of Country Music*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 318 pp. [includes 23 track CD]

Tichi, Cecelia, ed. 1998. *Reading Country Music: Steel Guitars, Opry Stars, and Honky-Tonk Bars*. Durham, N.C.: Duke University Press. 408 pp. Includes discography; includes essays previously published in v. 94, no. 1 (1995) of the *South Atlantic Quarterly (SAQ)*. Contents: Introduction / Cecelia Tichi -- Sing me a song about ramblin' man: visions and revisions of Hank Williams in country music / Christopher Metress -- Blue Moon of Kentucky rising over the mystery train: the complex construction of country music / David Sanjek -- Bloody daggers and lonesome graveyards: the gothic and country music / Teresa Goddu -- A musical legacy, a way of life: a photo essay / Charmaine Lanham -- Commercial (and/or?) folk: the bluegrass industry and bluegrass traditions / Mark Fenster -- Mountains of contradictions: gender, class, and region in the star image of Dolly Parton / Pamela Wilson -- Keeping faith: evangelical performance in country music / Curtis W. Ellison -- Girls with guitars - and fringe and sequins and rhinestones, silk, lace, and leather / Mary A. Bufwack -- Event songs / Charles K. Wolfe -- Country green: the

money in country music / Don Cusic -- Country music and the contemporary composer: the case of Paul Martin Zonn / Michael Kurek and Cecelia Tichi -- "My name is Sue! How do you do?": Johnny Cash as lesbian icon / Teresa Ortega -- The dialectic of hard-core and soft-shell country music / Richard A. Peterson -- "The sad twang of mountain voices": Thomas Hart Benton's *Sources of Country Music* / Vivien Green Fryd -- Mecca for the country music scholar / Ronnie Pugh -- Country music, seriously: an interview with Bill C. Malone / Cecelia Tichi -- Reading the row / Christine Kreyling -- The metric makings of a country hit / Jocelyn Neal -- "The voice of woe": Willie Nelson and evangelical spirituality / T. Walter Herbert -- "I'll reap my harvest in heaven": Fred Rose's acquaintance with country music / John W. Rumble -- Jim Crow and the pale maiden: gender, color, and class in Stephen Foster's "Hard times" / Amy Schrager Lang.

Titon, Jeff Todd. 2001. *Old-Time Kentucky Fiddle Tunes* [includes audio CD]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 245 pp.

Titon, Jeff Todd. 2002. "Bluegrass." In *American Musical Traditions*. Vol. 3, *British Isles Music*, ed. J. Titon and B. Carlin, 132-137. New York: Schirmer Reference.

Titon, Jeff Todd. 2002. "Music of the Old Regular Baptists of Central Appalachia." In *American Musical Traditions*. Vol. 3, *British Isles Music*, ed. J. Titon and B. Carlin, 57-60. New York: Schirmer Reference.

Titon, Jeff Todd. 2012. "Authenticity and Authentication: Mike Seeger, the New Lost City Ramblers, and the Old-Time Music Revival." *Journal of Folklore Research* 49, no. 2 (May-August): 227-245. Review essay of *Gone to the Country: The New Lost City Ramblers and the Folk Music Revival*, by Ray Allen (University of Illinois Press, 2010), and *Music from the True Vine: Mike Seeger's Life and Musical Journey*, by Bill Malone (University of North Carolina Press, 2011).

Titon, Jeff. 1998. "20 Essential Recordings" [Appalachian fiddle music]. *Old-Time Herald Online* 6, no. 6 (Winter). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/eissues.htm.

Tomlinson, Kenneth Y. 1997. "Winds of the Appalachians: Sometimes One Man Can Build a Tradition" [Bill Monroe, 1911-1996, "Father of Bluegrass Music]. *American Enterprise* 8 (March/April): 50-51.

Tosches, Nick. 1997. "Strange Days: Emmett Miller & Jimmie Rodgers in Asheville" [1925; Emmett Miller, blackface minstrel singer]. *Journal of Country Music* 19 (no. 2): 26-30.

Tottle, Jack. 2006. "An Appreciation of the Stoneman Family" [of country music fame; Ernest V. "Pop" Stoneman, 1893-1968]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 1 (Spring): 48-49.

Townsend, Thomas Carl. 2001. "The Carter Family's Rhythmic Asymmetry" [1927-28]. In *Country Music Annual 2001*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 161-88. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Townsend, Thomas. 2005. "On the Vanguard of Change: Jimmie Rodgers and Alfred G. Karnes in Bristol, 1927" ["vocally inventive and expressive"]. In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 214-231. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Traditional Music Issue [nonfiction, fiction, poetry, book reviews]. 2006. Special issue, *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 56, no. 2 (Fall): 1-232.

Tribe, Ivan, and Deanna Tribe. 2010. "Patti Powell: WWVA's 'Long Haul Widow'." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 4 (Winter): 30-35. Country music singer and member of Wheeling's live music radio show, *Jamboree U.S.A.*, from 1969 to the late 80s.

Tribe, Ivan M. 1996. *Mountaineer Jamboree: Country Music in West Virginia*. Rev. ed. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 272 pp.

Tribe, Ivan M. 1999. "'The Tragic Yellow Tomb': Topical Ballads of the 1958 Kentucky School Bus Accident" [Prestonsburg, Floyd Co.; 27 drowned; discography includes songs by The Stanley Brothers]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 59 (no. 3): 122-134.

Tribe, Ivan M. 2006. *Country: A Regional Exploration* [80-year history of country music and its subgenres; Biographical Sketches appendix]. Greenwood Guides to American Roots Music. Westport, Conn.: Greenwood Press. 283 pp.

Tribe, Ivan. 2010. "Kody Norris: East Tennessee's 'Mr. Bluegrass'" [b. 1988]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 44, no. 12 (June): 50-52.

Tucker, Abigail. 2011. "Road Music." *Smithsonian* 42, no. 5 (September): 66-78. Narrative of a road trip along the Crooked Road, Virginia's 300-mile heritage music trail. Photos and weblinks.

Tullos, Allen, comp. 2004. "Musical Styles of the Southern Appalachians" [sound clips, multimedia]. *Southern Spaces*, 15 April. Contents: Musical Styles of the Southern Appalachians | Recommended Resources. http://southernspaces.org/2004/musical-styles-southern-appalachians.

Turbanic, Bob. 1999. "Giving Bill Monroe's Music to the Fourth Generation" [Wheeling Park High School, W. Va.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 34 (December): 28-34.

Valle, Alf. 1995. "George Davis: Beyond the Singing Miner." Southern Folklore 52(1): 53-67.

Van Gundy, Doug. 2008. "'I Dearly Love to Dance': Mountain Dancer Lou Maiuri" [b. 1928]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 1 (Spring): 8-15. Nicholas County flatfooter and caller of old-time mountain square dances.

Vandalia Award: Portrait Gallery [1981-2000; W. Va.'s highest folklife honor]. 2001. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Spring): 50-60.

Veith, Gene Edward, and Thomas L. Wilmeth. 2001. *Honky-Tonk Gospel: The Story of Sin and Salvation in Country Music*. Grand Rapids, Mich.: Baker Books. 188 pp.

Vinson, Duncan. 2006. "'As Far From Secular, Operatic, Rag-time, and Jig Melodies As Is Possible': Religion and the Resurgence of Interest in *The Sacred Harp*, 1895-1911" [shape-note singing]. *Journal of American Folklore* 119, no. 474 (Fall): 413-443.

Von Matthiessen, Maria. 1993. *Songs from the Hills: An Intimate Look at Country Music* [b&w photo sessions with 114 musicians]. New York: Macmillan. 134 pp.

Wade, Stephen. 2012. *The Beautiful Music All Around Us: Field Recordings and the American Experience*. Music in American Life series. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 477 pp., plus audio CD. "...presents the extraordinarily rich backstories of thirteen performances captured on Library of Congress field recordings between 1934 and 1942...from Southern Appalachia to the Mississippi Delta and the Great Plains." Contents: Bill Stepp: retreat across America | Kelly Pace: coworker in the kingdom of culture | Ora Dell Graham: a little black girl from Mississippi | Christine and Katherine Shipp: in a chromatic light | Nashville Washboard Band: something out of nothing | Vera Hall: the life that we live | Bozie Sturdivant: a song that went with him | Pete Steele: it's what folks do | Texas Gladden: from here to the Mississippi | Luther Strong: way behind his time | Charlie Butler: call me to home | Jess Morris: boiled shirt and cowboy boots.

Wagner, Bill. 2010. "Two Men, Two Fiddles, and a War of the Roses" [1886]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 45, no. 2 (August): 46-47. On the campaign trail, brothers Bob and Alf Taylor contested both as fiddlers and for the governorship of Tennessee. Reprint of newspaper illustration.

Wagner, Vivian. 2007. "Arthur Conner: Fiddle Maker for the Stars" [Va.]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 42, no. 6 (December): 50-52.

Walker, Frank X. 2008. "Playing It Now: Carolina Chocolate Drops Uphold Traditional Folk Mucis, but Make It New." *Pluck: The Journal of Affrilachian Arts & Culture*, no. 4: 36-40.

Wallace, James B. 2007. "Stormy Banks and Sweet Rivers: A Sacred Harp Geography" [sound clips, multimedia]. Space, Place, and Appalachia series. *Southern Spaces*, 4 June 2007. Essay Sections: Introduction | History of Sacred Harp | The Spaces of Sacred Harp | Many Harps | Sacred Harp as Folk Tradition | Sacred Harp and the Pastoral | Conclusion | Recommended Resources. http://www.southernspaces.org/contents/2007/wallace/1a.htm.

Ward, Edward. 1997. "B. F. (Frank) Shelton: Old-Time Recording Artist From Corbin, KY" [banjoist and town barber]. *Devil's Box* 31 (Summer): 21-22.

Warlick, Thomas. 1998. "From the Cabin on the Hill to the Beverly Hillbillies: Flatt & Scruggs's Heroic Journey as Chronicled by Columbia & Bear Family" [retrospective CD sets]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 32 (March): 42-45.

Warlick, Tom. 2008. *The WBT Briarhoppers: Eight Decades of a Bluegrass Band Made for Radio*. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 207 pp. WBT radio station, formed 1934, Charlotte, N.C.; discography.

Watts, Joshua, and Ferman Thornton. 1999. "Mountain Sounds" [Rabun Co., Ga.; student interview with dulcimer maker Thornton]. *Foxfire Magazine* 33 (Spring/Summer): 62-67.

Weaver, Jim. 2008. "East Tennessee Landmark: Ciderville Music Marks its 50th Anniversary." *Old-Time Herald* 11, no. 5 (June-July): online, with one sound clip. Ciderville Music Store, Oak Ridge, Tenn.; grassroots bluegrass and old-time music. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-11/11-5/index.html.

Weaver, Jim. 2010. "The Floyd Country Store" [Va.]. *Old-Time Herald* 12, no. 7 (October-November): 10-13. This 100-year-old Floyd Co. store holds an open, traditional country music jam every Saturday night.

Weissman, Dick. 2005. Which Side Are You On?: An Inside History of the Folk Music Revival in America [1949-1965-present]. New York: Continuum. 296 pp.

Welborn, Steven Keith. 1996. "'After All This Is Over We'll Lay Our Hands on You': Music as a Form of Cultural Resistance in Depression-Era Pennsylvania" [coal communities]. *Pennsylvania History* 63 (Winter): 126-131.

Wells, Paul F. 2008. "Worthy of Investigation,' Notes on the Origin of an Uncle Dave Macon Song" [recorded 1928]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 64, no. 1 (Spring): 23-27.

Wells, Robert V. 2009. *Life Flows On in Endless Song: Folk Songs and American History*. Music in American Life series. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 245 pp. Contents: Who was Tom Dooley?: history and folk songs -- Careless love: courtship, marriage, and children -- "Mine eyes have seen the glory": of God and country -- "Take this hammer": work and the labor movement -- The man who never returned: ships, trains, and other transportation -- Just lookin' for a home: traveling on -- Nobody knows the trouble I've seen: hard times and hard men -- How can I keep from singing?: Huddie Ledbetter and Woody Guthrie.

Wernick, Pete. 2012. "Earl Eugene Scruggs (January 6, 1924–March 28, 2012)." *Bluegrass Unlimited* 46, no. 11 (May): 22-34, and cover photo. Testimonials from 33 fellow musicians, including three extended sidebars by Derek Halsey: "J.D. Crowe Talks About the Death of His Hero"; "Marty Stuart Remembers Time Spent with Earl and Lester [Flatt] during Lester's Last Days"; and "Special Memories of Earl Scruggs from the Bluegrass World."

Westfall, Bill, and Hazel Westfall. 2001. "Still Singin': A Visit with Bill and Hazel Westfall" [music festival regulars]. Interview by Bob Whitcomb. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Summer): 33-39.

Weston, Frank. 2002. "Glenn Neaves of Fries, Virginia" [Grayson Co.; from a 1980 interview]. *Old-Time Herald Online* 8, no. 5 (Fall). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/eissues.htm.

Wheeler, Billy Edd. 2008. "Remembering Leiber & Stoller." *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 1 (Winter): 25-28. Featured Author, Wheeler; 1960s collaboration with the famous NYC songwriting duo.

Wheelock, Angela. 2006. "A Capella" [Ky. grandfather's shape-note singing]. *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 56, no. 2 (Fall): 169-176.

Whisnant, David E. 1995. "Gone Country: 'High Lonesome' and the Politics of Writing About Country Music" [review essay]. *Journal of Country Music* 17 (no. 2): 62-66.

Wicker, Ann, ed. 2008. *Making Notes: Music of the Carolinas*. Charlotte, N.C.: Novello Festival Press. 225 pp. Essays on bands and entertainers by 64 writer/contributors; includes "Tom Dooley," by Sharyn McCrumb.

Wilbur, Dave. [1979] 2010. "Robert Byrd: Mountain Fiddler" [U.S. Senator, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 3 (Fall): 12-17. Reprint; also included in the book, *Mountains of Music: West Virginia Traditional Music* (University of Illinois Press, 1999).

Wildman, Sarah. 2011. "Mountain Music by the Mile." *New York Times*, 20 May, 1(TR). 2,890 words. Traveling southwest Virginia's heritage music trail, the "Crooked Road," from Fries to Ferrum, Floyd, Galax, Marion, and Abingdon.

Wilentz, Sean, and Greil Marcus, ed. 2005. *The Rose & the Briar: Death, Love and Liberty in the American Ballad* [23 chapters, incl. essays by Sharyn McCrumb, R. Crumb, and Joyce Carol Oates]. New York: W. W. Norton. 406 pp.

Wilhelm, Randall. 2009. "'Scratchy 78s on a Victrola': American Roots Music in William Gay's Short Fiction." In *CrossRoads: A Southern Culture Annual*, 2009, ed. Ted Olson and Ajay Kalra, 116-133. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Williams, Danny. 1997. "Kessingers On Record" [discography; Clark Kessinger family]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Fall): 24-25.

Williams, Danny. 1999. "'Clifftop': Appalachian String Band Music Festival" [Fayette Co.; annual]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Summer): 64-69.

Williams, Danny. 1999. "Mountain Music Roundup" [annual review of new recordings since 1993; focus this year on singing]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Winter): 64-68.

Williams, Doc, with Barbara D. Smik. 2006. *Looking Back* [b. 1914; oldest living regular performer of WWVA Jamboree]. Wheeling, W. Va.: Creative Impressions. 176 pp.

Williams, Lisa. 2001. "Lost to the Airwaves: The Most Intriguing Country Acts Seldom Heard" [names provided by Eddie Stubbs and four historians: Charles Wolfe; Nolan Porterfield; Ivan Tribe; and Bob Pinson]. *Journal of Country Music* 22 (no. 1): 16-23.

Williams, Lisa. 2001. "The Newcomer Twins: The Girls of WWVA" [Wheeling, W. Va.; WWII-era, teenage, blind "Singing Sweathearts"]. *Journal of Country Music* 22 (no. 1): 24.

Williams, Michael Ann, and Larry Morrisey. 2000. "Constructions of Tradition: Vernacular Architecture, Country Music, and Auto-Ethnography." Chap. 9 in *People, Power, Places: Perspectives in Vernacular Architecture, VIII*, ed. S. McMurry and A. Adams, 161-175. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Williams, Michael Ann. 2003. "Home to Renfro Valley: John Lair and the Women of the Barn Dance" [1930s-1940s; Rockcastle Co., Ky.]. In *The Women of Country Music: A Reader*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 88-108. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Williams, Michael Ann. 2005. "Peace in the Valley: The Development of John Lair's Enterprises during WW II" [Renfro Valley, Ky.]. In *Country Music Goes to War*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 58-80. Lexington, Ky.: University Press of Kentucky.

Williams, Michael Ann. 2006. *Staging Tradition: John Lair and Sarah Gertrude Knott* [creators of the Renfro Valley Barn Dance and the National Folk Festival; born 1894 and 1895]. Music in American Life. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 221 pp.

Wilson, Joe. 1995. "The Chestnut Grove Quartet." Bluegrass Unlimited 30 (July): 54-58.

Wilson, Joe. 2002. "Country Music in Tennessee: From Hollow to Honky-Tonk" [Uncle Dave Macon]. In *American Musical Traditions*. Vol. 3, *British Isles Music*, ed. J. Titon and B. Carlin, 101-107. New York: Schirmer Reference.

Wilson, Joe. 2006. A Guide to the Crooked Road: Virginia's Heritage Music Trail. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 225 pp., plus 2 sound discs. Contents: Tips for traveling the Crooked Road and using this book -- Introduction -- Why so much music here? -- Sources of the music: the Blue Ridge as the first American blender -- Europe meets Africa in the tidewater -- The banjo -- The African banjo -- The wooden banjo -- Why blacks gave up the banjo -- The fiddle -- Violinist or fiddler? -- Fiddling style along the Crooked Road -- Fiddling contests -- The guitar -- The hillbilly reinvention of the guitar -- Luthiers and violin makers -- Technology, older music, and the radio revolution -- New folks in the audience -- Bluegrass and old-time music defined -- Franklin County and Rocky Mount -- Patrick County and Stuart -- Floyd County and Floyd -- Carroll County and Hillsville -- Grayson County and Galax -- Washington County, Abingdon, Damascus, and Bristol -- Scott County and Gate City -- Lee County and Jonesville -- Wise County, Coeburn, Norton, and Big Stone Gap -- Dickenson County and Clintwood -- Music samples from the Crooked Road.

Wilson, Joe. 2009. "Fries, Where the Music Began" [Fries, Va.; Henry Whitter recorded first country record, 1923]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 43, no. 12 (June): 34-37.

Winick, Stephen. 2009. "'A Measure of Rascality': AFC's Nimrod Workman Recordings Go Digital" [d. 1994, age 99]. *Folklife Center News* (Library of Congress) 31, no. 1-2 (Winter-Spring): 9-10. Recorded on tape by Mike Seeger; recorded on film by Alan Lomax. http://www.loc.gov/folklife/news/pdf/FCN_Vol31_1-2optimized.pdf.

Winkler, Wayne. 2006. "I Can Handle Crazy: Reagan Boggs Tuned by HooDoos and Carbon Blue" [profile; country singer-songwriter; Tri-Cities region (Va., Tenn.)]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 1 (Spring): 50-53.

Winkler, Wayne. 2006. "Renfro Valley, The Carter Fold, and the Down Home: Profiling Three Shrines of Live Music in Appalachia." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 60-64.

Winkler, Wayne. 2007. "Jimmy Martin: Too Wild for the Opry" [b. 1927]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 57-62.

Winkler, Wayne. 2008. "Edgar Meyer: A Versatile Virtuoso." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 54-56. Renowned acoustic bassist, from Oak Ridge, Tenn.; special issue—"Urbane Appalachia."

Winkler, Wayne. 2009. "The Spirit of Appalachian Music Lives On in the *Song of the Mountains*." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25, no.2 (Fall/Winter): 54-57. History of UNC-TV's award-winning public television series, performed at the Lincoln Theatre, Marion, Va.

Winkler, Wayne. 2011. "Lightnin' Charlie: Roots Music Traveling in Style." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 66-67. Blues man Charlie Dolinger, "a fixture of the Tri-Cities music scene," drives a Lincoln Town Car limousine.

Winkler, Wayne. 2012. "Serving Appalachian Music." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 66-68. Describes a dozen organizations in the Tri-Cities region and beyond dedicated to Appalachian music.

Winne, Peter. 2010. "Ginny Hawker and the Sacred Soul of Country Music: Tracing the Sacred Roots of a Master Country Singer and Mountain Balladeer." *Old-Time Herald* 12, no. 7 (October-Novebmer): 26-32.

Wise, Timothy. 2012. "From the Mountains to the Prairies and Beyond the Pale: American Yodeling on Early Recordings." *Journal of American Folklore* 125, no. 497 (Summer): 358-374. Cowboy and hillbilly yodeling; Jimmie Rodgers.

Wishnevsky, Stephan T. 2007. *How the Hippies Ruin't Hillbilly Music: A Historical Memoir 1960-2000*. New York: iUniverse. 181 pp. Old time music; N.C., Va.; Galax festival; memoirs, and interview with Mike Seeger and others.

Wolfe, Charles K. [1989] 2005. "The Legend that Peer Built: Reappraising the Bristol Sessions" [1927; Ralph S. Peer of the Victor Talking Machine Co.]. In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 17-39. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. Reprinted from *The Journal of Country Music* 24 (Spring).

Wolfe, Charles K. 1996. "Kessinger - From the Fiddling Archives. Number 45 in a Series" [W. Va. fiddler Clark Kessinger]. *Devil's Box* 30 (Summer): 10-20.

Wolfe, Charles K. 1997. *The Devil's Box: Masters of Southern Fiddling* [1920s to 1950s, with stories of 12 performers]. Foreword by Mark O'Connor. Nashville: Country Music Foundation Press and Vanderbilt University Press. 232 pp.

Wolfe, Charles K. 1999. *A Good-Natured Riot: The Birth of the Grand Ole Opry* [1925]. Nashville, Tenn.: Country Music Foundation Press and Vanderbilt University Press. 312 pp.

Wolfe, Charles K. 2000. "Jake and Doc and May: The Carter Family Goes to the End of the World" [1927 Bristol recording sessions]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 34 (February): 22-27.

Wolfe, Charles K. 2000. "The Air Castle of the South: 75 Years of WSM" [Nashville radio station and broadcaster of the Grand Ole Opry]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 35 (December): 42-48.

Wolfe, Charles K. 2002. "The Bristol Syndrome: Field Recordings of Early Country Music" [tables]. In *Country Music Annual 2002*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 202-221. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Wolfe, Charles K. 2003. "Beecher Kirby (Bashful Brother Oswald): 1911-2002" [Smoky Mountain musician and dobro player]. *Sing Out!* 47 (Summer): 223.

Wolfe, Charles K. 2004. "'Old Cumberland Land': The Musical Legacy of the Upper Cumberland" [Tenn.]. In *Rural Life and Culture in the Upper Cumberland*, ed. M. Birdwell and W. Dickinson, 274-301. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Wolfe, Charles K. 2005. "'Bloody War': War Songs in Early Country Music. In *Country Music Goes to War*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 26-32. Lexington, Ky.: University Press of Kentucky.

Wolfe, Charles K. 2005. "'Jesus Hits Like an Atom Bomb': Nuclear Warfare in Country Music, 1944-56." In *Country Music Goes to War*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 102-125. Lexington, Ky.: University Press of Kentucky.

Wolfe, Charles K. 2005. "The Bristol Sessions: A Chronology" [July 22-Aug. 4, 1927]; and "1927-1928 Releases from the Bristol Sessions" [with Victor numbers]. In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 31-39. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Wolfe, Charles K. 2005. "The Bristol Sessions: A Cast of Characters" [1927; profiles of musicians]. In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 40-53. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Wolfe, Charles K. 2005. "The Rest of the Story: Other Early Recording Sessions in the Tri-Cities Area" [1928-29; Bristol and Johnson City, Tenn.]. In *The Bristol Sessions: Writings about the Big Bang of Country Music*, ed. C. Wolfe and T. Olson, 235-256. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Wolfe, Charles K., and James E. Akenson, ed. 2003. *The Women of Country Music: A Reader* [13 essays]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 229 pp.

Wolfe, Charles K., and James Edward Akenson, ed. 2003. *The Women of Country Music: A Reader* [13 essays]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 229 pp.

Wolfe, Charles K., and James Edward Akenson, ed. 2005. *Country Music Goes to War* [14 essays; Civil War to present]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 250 pp.

Wolfe, Charles K., and Ted Olson, ed. 2005. *The Bristol Sessions: Writings About the Big Bang of Country Music* [1927 sound recordings; Bristol, Tenn.; 19 essays]. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 12. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 296 pp.

Wolfe, Charles K., ed. 1997. *Folk Songs of Middle Tennessee: The George Boswell Collection* [106 songs selected and transcribed]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 186 pp.

Wolfe, Charles. 1997. "Clark Kessinger: Pure Fiddling" [1896-1975]. Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life 23 (Fall): 10-17.

Wolfe, Charles. 1998. "Grandpa Jones, 1913-1998" [obituary]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 32 (April): 19.

Wolfe, Charles. 1999. "Harlan Daniel: Notes Toward a Bibliography." *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 59 (no. 1): 7-8.

Wolfe, Charles. 2001. "Early Country: Treasures Untold." In *American Roots Music*, ed. R. Santelli, H. George-Warren, and J. Brown, 14-33. New York: H. N. Abrams.

Wolfe, Charles. 2002. "The Original Man of Constant Sorrow: The Mystery of Emry Arthur" [Monticello, Ky.; Dick Burnett, 1883-1977]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 36 (April): 46-51.

Wolfe, Charles. 2003. "'And No Man Shall Control Me': The Strange Case of Roba Stanley, Country's First Woman Recording Star" [Ga.]. In *The Women of Country Music: A Reader*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 18-29. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Wolfe, Margaret Ripley. 1995. *Daughters of Canaan: A Saga of Southern Women*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 281 pp.

Wolford, Michelle. 2006. "Steel Drums in Morgantown: Percussion Pioneer Ellie Mannette" [79-year-old Trinidadian American, "Father of the Steel Drum"]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 4 (Winter): 38-43. Sidebar, "Creating the Steel Drum," by Michelle Wolford, 44-45.

Worthington, T. J. 2012. "The Albert Hash Memorial Festival." *Old-Time Herald* 13, no. 3. Mt. Rogers and Whitetop, Virginia. http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/volume-13/13-3/index.html.

Wright, Caroline. 2007. "Dale Ann Bradley" [Ky.; award-winning vocalist]. *Bluegrass Unlimited* 41, no. 8 (February): 26-31.

Wright, Ellen. 2003. "Do You Want Mustard?' 'Yup!': First Lady of Banjo Roni Stoneman" [star on "Hee Haw"; b. 1938]. In *The Women of Country Music: A Reader*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 30-45. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Wright, Jack. 1998. "Only Remembered for What He Has Done -- Dock Boggs" [1898-1971; old time banjo player and singer]. *Old-Time Herald Online* 6, no. 5 (Fall). http://www.oldtimeherald.org/pages/eissues.htm.

Wright, Jack, producer, editor. 2007. Music of Coal: Mining Songs from the Appalachian Coalfields [sound recording and book; historical photographs]. Big Stone Gap, Va.: Lonesome Pine Office on Youth. Two sound discs and one book, 69 pp.: discography with liner notes by Jack Wright (p. 1-66), and bibliographical references (p. 67). Contents: DISC 1: Down in the coal mine (Edison Concert Band) -- Mining camp blues (Trixie Smith) -- Sprinkle coal dust on my grave (Orville Jenks) -- Coal miners blues (The Carter Family) -- Hard times in Coleman's mine (Aunt Molly Jackson) -- He's only a miner killed in the ground (Ted Chestnut) -- Coal black mining blues (Nimrod Workman) -- '31 depression blues (Ed Sturgill) -- Prayer of a miner's child (Dock Boggs) -- That twenty-five cents you paid (Sarah Ogan Gunning) -- The L & N don't stop her anymore (Jean Ritchie) -- Dark as a dungeon (Merle Travis) -- Come all you coal miners (Reel World String Band) -- My sweetheart's the mule in the mines (Mike Kline) --Thirty inch coal (Hobo Jack Adkins) -- Black waters (Jim Ringer) -- Roof boltin' daddy (Gene Carpenter) -- Dream of a miner's child (Carter Stanley) -- Coal miner's boogie (George Davis) --Yablonski murder (Hazel Dickens) -- What are we gonna do? (Dorothy Myles) -- Explosion at Derby Mine (Charlie Maggard) -- Blind fiddler (Jim "Bud" Stanley) -- Loadin' coal (John Hutchison) -- Coal town Saturday night (Randall Hylton) -- It's been a long time (Sonny Houston & Roger Hall) -- Fountain filled with blood (Elder James Caudill & Choir). DISC 2: West Virginia mine disaster (Molly Slemp) -- Union man (Blue Highway) -- Blue diamond mines (Robin & Linda Williams) -- Set yourself free (Billy Gene Mullins) -- Redneck war (Ron Short) -- Sixteen tons (Ned Beatty) -- There will be no black lung (up in heaven) (Rev. Joe Freeman) -- Deep mine blues (Nick Stump) -- I'm a coal mining man (Tom T. Hall) -- Dirty black coal (Kenneth Davis) -- Black lung (A.J. Roach) -- Coal dust kisses (Suzanne Mumpower-Johnson) -- Coal tattoo (Dale Jett) -- A strip miner's life (Don Stanley & Middle Creek) --Daddy's dinner bucket (Ralph Stanley II) -- In those mines (Valerie Smith) -- Miner's prayer (Ralph Stanley & Dwight Yoakam) -- Dyin' to make a livin' (W.V. Hill) -- You'll never leave

Harlan alive (Darrell Scott) -- They can't put it back (Jack Wright) -- Which side are you on? (Natalie Merchant).

Wright, Jack. 2007. "CD Celebrates Music from the Coal Mines." Interview by Melissa Block. *All Things Considered*. NPR radio, 3 September. Podcast 3:58 min. Reviews the two-CD set *Music of Coal: Mining Songs from the Appalachian Coalfields*. Includes sound clips of four songs: "Coal Miner's Boogie," by George Davis; "Hard Times in Coleman's Mine," by Aunt Molly Jackson; "Thirty Inch Coal," by Hobo Jack Adkins; and "Coal Town Saturday Night," by Randall Hylton." http://www.npr.org/templates/story/story.php?storyId=14060994.

Wright, Jack. 2008. "Looking into my Culture': An Interview with Jack Wright" [musician, filmmaker, and social activist]. By Whitney Kimball Coe, Jennifer Cohen-Jordan, Amanda T. Hedrick, Emily Schaad, and Anna Rachel Terman, with Patricia D. Beaver. *Appalachian Journal* 35, no. 4 (Summer): 334-356, including a list of production credits and publications by Wright.

Wright, Jack. 2009. "Interview with Jack Wright," by Marianne Worthington. *Still: The Journal*, no. 1 (Fall). 4,339 words. "This inaugural issue features an interview with Jack Wright, filmmaker, musician, writer, scholar, activist, veteran, and Appalachian 'cultural worker' (Jack's label for himself). For nearly four decades, Jack has contributed to the story of Appalachia through his varied media contributions as a documentarian, oral historian, teacher, actor, musician, and archivist, among other things. In 2007, Jack completed his work as producer and writer for *Music of Coal: Mining Songs from the Appalachian Coalfields*, a two-disc CD project that documents a century's worth of coal mining music in the Southern Appalachians." http://www.stilljournal.net/jack-wright-interview.php.

Yates, Mike, ed. 2004. *Dear Companion: Appalachian Traditional Songs and Singers from the Cecil Sharp Collection* [53 songs; 50 singers; collected 1916-1918]. Compiled and edited with an introduction by Mike Yates, with Elaine Bradtke and Malcolm Taylor. Traditional Songs and Singers from the Cecil Sharp Collection, no. 2. London: English Folk Dance & Song Society in association with Sharp's Folk Club. 137 pp.

Young, Kevin W. 2009. "The Murder of Gladys Kincaid: The Story Behind the Ballads" [W.L. Eury Appalachian Collection, Appalachian State University]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 56, no. 1 (Spring-Summer): 21-32. Based on the murder of a 15-year-old white girl in 1927 Morganton, N.C., and the manhunt for her accused killer, a black man.

Zollo, Rick. 2006. "Cotten Picking: Elizabeth Cotten and the Folk Revival" [b. 1895; African-American; with Seeger family]. *Shenandoah: The Washington and Lee University Review* 56, no. 2 (Fall): 67-75.

Zolten, Jerry. 2008. "A Tale of Two Technologies: Rediscovering the Buffalo Ragged Five, Pioneering Country Gospel Recording Artists." *Old-Time Herald* 11, no. 8 (December 2008-January 2009). 1930s Buffalo, Whitley County, Ky.

http://www.oldtimeherald.org/archive/back issues/volume-11/11-8/buffalo-5.html.

Zwierzchowski, Mary. 2005. "Weirton's Singing Men of Steel" [Weirton Steel (Co.) Choral Society, created 1934]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 4 (Winter): 28-33.

Zwonitzer, Mark, and Charles Hirschberg. 2002. Will You Miss Me When I'm Gone? The Carter Family and Their Legacy in American Music. New York: Simon & Schuster. 417 pp.

POLITICS and GOVERNMENT

Local, state, and federal; legislation; elections; party loyalties and boundaries; appropriations (e.g., ARC); programs and policies

Ambler, Charles Henry. [1910] 2008. *Sectionalism in Virginia from 1776 to 1861*. 2nd ed., with a new introduction by Barbara Rasmussen. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 366 pp. Originally published: Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Appalachian Regional Development Act Amendments of 2002 [telecommunications; appropriations]. 2002. U.S. Public Law 107-149. Washington, D.C.: U.S. G.P.O. 8 pp.

Text version: http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS19531.

PDF version: http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS19532.

Ash, Rosalie M.. 2010. We Fought Back: How a Grassroots Group Defeated Annexation and Eminent Domain [Ohio River port development]. Huntington, W. Va.: Mid-Atlantic Highlands. 151 pp.

Atkins, Jonathan M. 1997. *Parties, Politics, and the Sectional Conflict in Tennessee, 1832-1861.* Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 371 pp.

Baber, Bob Henry. 1997. "My Exhilerating [sic], Self-Destructive, and Near-Criminal Candidacy for the Governorship of West Virginia" [run for 1996 Democratic primary]. *Appalachian Journal* 24 (Summer): 368-419.

Baldwin, Fred. 1995. "Lighting Up Kentucky's Fifth." Appalachia 27 (Summer): 4-11.

Barkey, Fred. 1998. "Fritz Merrick: Parkersburg Rebel With a Cause" [1905-1913; left-wing Socialist organizer]. West Virginia History 57: 77-94.

Barkey, Frederick A. 2012. Working Class Radicals: The Socialist Party in West Virginia, 1898-1920. Foreword by Ken Fones-Wolf. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 14. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 244 pp. Contents: The origins of West Virginia socialism: 1898–1904 | The growth and appeal of the West Virginia socialist movement: 1905–1911 | The susceptibility of the West Virginia working class leadership to the appeal of socialism | "We had the revolution": the West Virginia Socialist Party at its peak: 1912–1915 | The decline of the West Virginia Socialist Party: 1915–1920 | Technological change and the decline of trade union strength for the West Virginia Socialist Party.

Bartlett, Larry. 1998. "First-Class: Bill Buckley of the Parkersburg Post Office" [1950s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Fall): 42-45.

Bell, Gregory Jason. 2009. "'Advancing West Virginia': Transforming the 1963 State Centennial Celebration into a 'Big Sell'." *Ohio Valley History* 9, no. 1 (Spring): 40-64. Yearlong celebration; Gov. William Wallace Barron.

Bergeron, Paul H., Stephen V. Ash, and Jeanette Keith. 1999. *Tennesseans and Their History* [frontier to present]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 357 pp.

Beyond Our Borders [9/11; global perspectives]. 2002. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Spring): 1-44.

Bickel, Robert, and Cheryl Brown. 2008. "Appalachian Counties in Appalachian States: Is There a Distinctively Appalachian Voting Pattern?" *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 14, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 99-124. Regression analysis using county-level data from 2004 presidential election. Figures, tables.

Bingham, Clara. 2005. "Under Mined: When a Flood of Toxic Mining Sludge Wreaked Havoc in Appalachia, How Did the White House Respond? By Letting the Coal Company Off the Hook and Firing the Whistleblower." [Inez, Ky., record flood, Oct. 11, 2000; Martin County Coal refuse impoundment pond; whistleblower Inspector Jack Spadaro; Massey Energy]. Photos by Vivian Stockman. *The Washington Monthly* 37 (January/February): 28-37.

Bolin, James Duane. 2000. *Bossism and Reform in a Southern City: Lexington, Kentucky, 1880-1940.* Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 202 pp.

Bowen, Michael. 2001. "Communism vs. Republicanism: B. Carroll Reece and the Congressional Elections of 1946." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 73: 39-52.

Bowers, F. Suzanne. 2010. *Republican, First, Last, and Always: A Biography of B. Carroll Reece* [1889-1961; Tenn.]. Newcastle upon Tyne, U.K.: Cambridge Scholars. 225 pp.

Boyer, Peter J. 2008. "The Appalachian Problem." *The New Yorker* 84, no. 31: 36-41. Barack Obama's campaign in southwest Virginia during the 2008 U.S. presidential race.

Boylston, James R., and Allen J. Wiener. 2009. *David Crockett in Congress: The Rise and Fall of the Poor Man's Friend: With Collected Correspondence, Selected Speeches and Circulars*. Houston, Tex.: Bright Sky Press. 336 pp. Elections of 1829, 1831, 1833, and 1835; Tennessee Land Bill (1829-1830); Indian Removal Bill (1830).

Brashear, Craig. 1997. "The Market Revolution and Party Preference in East Tennessee: Spatial Patterns of Partisanship in the 1840 Presidential Election." *Appalachian Journal* 25 (Fall): 8-29.

Brisbin, Richard A. Jr., Robert Jay Dilger, Allan S. Hammock, and Christopher Z. Mooney. 1996. *West Virginia Politics & Government*. Politics and Governments of the American States. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 217 pp.

Brisbin, Richard A., Robert Jay Dilger, Allan S. Hammock, and L. Christopher Plein. 2008. *West Virginia Politics and Government*. 2nd ed. Politics and Governments of the American States series. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. 331 pp.

Brosi, George. 2011. "This Side of the Mountain: Issues Ignored in the [presidential] Campaign." *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 1 (Winter): 8-9. Editorial on problems and solutions regarding clean water, energy, mountains, addicts, land, mouths.

Burch Jr., John Russell. 2005. "19th-Century Politics in the Formation of Appalachian Kentucky Counties: The McGuires and the Creation of Owsley and Lee Counties" [coal mining families; self-interest; gerrymandering]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 11, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 226-242.

Byrd, Robert C. 2005. *Robert C. Byrd: Child of the Appalachian Coalfields* [W. Va. senator's autobiography from 1920s boyhood]. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 817 pp.

Campbell, Wesley J. 2011. "Whiskey, Soldiers, and Voting: Western Virginia Elections in the 1790s" [Montgomery Co.]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 15: 65-93. Appendix A: "1790 Montgomery County Congressional Poll List," 85-87. Maps, tables; election of legislator Francis Preston to the U.S. Congress.

Chafin, Raymond, and Topper Sherwood. 1994. *Just Good Politics: The Life of Raymond Chafin, Appalachian Boss.* Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 224 pp.

Cillizza, Chris. 2012. "Kentucky, Arkansas Primaries: Is It Racism?" [2012 Presidential primary elections]. *Washington Post* (blog), 23 May. 1,099 words. "President Obama lost roughly 40 percent of the vote in Democratic primaries in Arkansas, Kentucky and West Virginia.....One man's racial differences is another man's cultural differences." http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/the-fix/post/whats-the-matter-with-kentucky/2012/05/23/gJQAMF5hkU_blog.html.

Clagg, Sam. [1975] 2002. West Virginia Historical Almanac and Gazetteer. Huntington, W. Va.: John Deaver Drinko Academy, Marshall University; Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 240 pp. Originally self-published.

Clines, Francis X. 2002. "How Do West Virginians Spell Pork? It's B-Y-R-D." *New York Times*, 4 May, 1(A).

Clines, Francis X. 2002. "Judge Takes On the White House on Mountaintop Mining" [Charles Haden, W. Va.]. *New York Times*, 19 May, 18 (sec. 1).

Clymer, Adam. 2010. "Robert C. Byrd, 1917-2010: A Pillar of the Senate, a Champion for His State, Dies at 92" [W. Va.]. *New York Times*, 29 June, 1(A). 2867 words. http://www.nytimes.com/2010/06/29/us/politics/29byrd.html?ref=opinion.

Coffey, Daniel J. 2012. "No Grizzlies in the Appalachians: The Absence of Tea Party Effects on the West Virginia Senate Race" [Joe Manchin (D) defeated John Raese (R) in a special election for the late Sen. Robert C. Byrd's seat]. Chap. 12 in *Tea Party Effects on 2010 U.S. Senate Elections: Stuck in the Middle to Lose*, ed. W. Miller and J. Walling, 233-254. Lanham, Md.: Lexington Books.

Colignon, Richard A. 1997. *Power Plays: Critical Events in the Institutionalization of the Tennessee Valley Authority.* Albany: State University of New York. 367 pp.

Conklin, Forrest. 2005. "Grape for the Rebel Masses and Hemp for their Leaders': Parson Brownlow's Celebrated Tour of Northern Cities, 1862." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 77: 49-75.

Corbin, David A. 2012. *The Last Great Senator: Robert C. Byrd's Encounters with Ten U.S. Presidents* [1917-2010]. Washington, D.C.: Potomac Books. 376 pp. Contents: Southern West Virginia roots | The making of the Senator, 1958 | Eisenhower | Kennedy | Johnson | Nixon | Ford | Carter | Reagan | Bush I | Clinton | Bush II | Obama.

Coulter, E. Merton. [1937, 1971] 1999. *William G. Brownlow: Fighting Parson of the Southern Highlands* [1805-1877; east Tenn.]. Reprint, with a new introduction by Stephen V. Ash. Appalachian Echoes series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 456 pp.

Crookshanks, Ben. 1999. "Second to None: Eighty Years of the West Virginia State Police" [created 1919]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Spring): 32-37. Appended articles, "A Boy's dream," by C. C. Stewart, 38-42, and "All In a Day's Work': Former State Trooper William R. Seal" [89-years-old; interview], by Ben Crookshanks, 43-45.

Crouser, Brad. 2006. *Arch: The Life of Governor Arch A. Moore, Jr.* [b. 1923; four-term governor of W. Va., 1969-1977, 1985-1989; progress, corruption]. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 672 pp.

Davis, F. Keith. 2003. *West Virginia Tough Boys: Vote Buying, Fist Fighting, and a President Named JFK* [Logan Co., 1960]. Introduction by Lieutenant Governor and Senate President Earl Ray Tomblin. Chapmanville, W. Va.: Woodland Press. 252 pp.

Douglas Stratford M., and Anne W. Walker. 2012. "Sample Selection in Appalachian Research." *Review of Regional Studies* 42, no. 2:143-159. "The Appalachian Regional Commission's definition of the Appalachian region....raises issues of both selection bias and excess heterogeneity in regression analysis of Appalachian income and growth....To identify the counties that belong to the Appalachian region exogenously we use an algorithm based on three criteria: topography, contiguity, and prevalence of slavery in the 1860 census. We apply our sample to growth regressions using data from 1970 to 2008, addressing the question of the existence of a resource curse from coal extraction."

Epstein, Robin. 1999. *Citizen Power: Stories of America's New Civic Spirit* [rural Ky.; grassroots leadership]. Lexington, Ky.: Democracy Resource Center. 147 pp.

Fisher, Stephen L. [1999] 2001. "The Grass Roots Speak Back" [community activism history]. In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 203-214. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Fisher, Stephen L., et al. 2006. "The Politics of Change in Appalachia" [since 1960s; with suggested readings]. In *A Handbook to Appalachia: An Introduction to the Region*, ed. G. Edwards, J. Asbury, and R. Cox, 85-100. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Fleming, Joe W. 1999. "John Sweeney, ARC's First Federal Co-Chairman" [d. 1998; tribute]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (January-April): 16-17.

Gage, Jeanne. 1995. "Kentucky's Local Governments Tackle Ethics Reform." *Appalachian Heritage* 23 (Winter): 36-43.

Gatrell, Jay D., and Lou Fintor. 1998. "Spatial Niches, Policy Subsystems, and Agenda Setting: The Case of the ARC" [1949-1990]. *Political Geography* 17 (September): 883-897.

Gibeaut, John. 2009. "Caperton's Coal." *ABA Journal* 95, no. 2 (February): 52-57. A yearslong legal tug-of-war involving Don Blankenship (A.T. Massey Coal Co. CEO), Hugh M. Caperton (Harman Mining Co.), and the Supreme Courts of both W. Va. and the U.S.

Gilliam, George Harrison. 2000. "Reconfiguring Virginia" [1850s-60s]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 4: 5-36. Discusses the issues of slave-holding in western Virginia, emancipation, secession, 1861 Constitutional Convention in Richmond, and the eventual separation and 1863 statehood of West Virginia. "There were almost a half million slaves in Virginia at the beginning of the Civil War and more than 62,000 of them lived west of the Blue Ridge."

Golumbic, Lars C. 1996. "Who Shall Dictate the Law?: Political Wrangling Between 'Whig' Lawyers and Backcountry Farms in Revolutionary Era North Carolina." *North Carolina Historical Review* 73 (January): 56-82.

Gorczyca, Robert. 2006. "McCarthyism Hits Home: Bernard Gorczyca and His Family" [1940s-50s; United Steelworkers of America]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 89, no. 3 (Fall): 34-45.

Gorman, Michael J. 2000. "Our Politicians Have Enslaved Us': Power and Politics in Frederick County, Virginia" [1850s]. In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia*, 1800-1900, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 274-286. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Hagen, Joshua. 2007. "'Pork' Spending, Place Names, and Political Stature in West Virginia" [Sen. Robert C. Byrd's patronage; map]. *Southeastern Geographer* 47, no. 2 (November): 341-64.

Hardison, Brian D., and Ray Swick. 2009. "A Recruit for Aaron Burr: Lewis Wetzel and the Burr 'Conspiracy'" [1805-1807]. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 3, no. 2 (Fall): 75-86. An 1807 three-page deposition comes to light.

Hardy, William E. 2012. "The Margins of William Brownlow's Words: New Perspectives on the End of Radical Reconstruction in Tennessee" [1869]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 84: 78-86.

Hechler, Ken. 2011. *The Fight for Coal Mine Health and Safety: A Documented History* [primary sources]. Missoula, Mont.: Pictorial Histories Publishing Company. 408 pp. Contents: The Coal Mine Health and Safety Bill [H.R. 19739, Sept. 12, 1968] -- The Farmington Coal Mine Disaster [78 dead, 1968, W. Va.] -- Hickel becomes Secretary of State -- West Virginia coal miners wildcat strike [1969] -- Testifying at the House and Senate Hearings -- Tony Boyle and UMW head honchos secret schemes revealed -- Ken Hechler goes underground -- Hechler introduces amendments to Coal Mine Health and Safety Bill -- Coal Mine Safety Conference on first anniversary of Farmington Disaster -- President Nixon signs the Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Bill -- The Ken Hechler Documentary Project, Sept. 2005 -- John F. Kennedy Profile in Courage Essay Contest for High School Students -- Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act 1969 -- Failure to enforce -- Index.

Hechler, Ken. Interview by John Lilly. 2000. "Ken Hechler on JFK" [W. Va. Secretary of State; 1960 primary election]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Fall): 20-21.

Holt, Rush D., Jr. 2012. "Aesop's Fables and Miners' Wages: Sen. Rush Holt's Filibuster, 1936" [W. Va. senator, 1935-1941; Guffey coal bill]. West Virginia History, n.s. 6, no. 1 (Spring): 35-47.

Holyman, Rod. 1998. "The Hard Road Home: Governor William Casey Marland" [1953-1957]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Fall): 12-23.

Houpt, David W. 2012. "Contested Election Laws: Representation, Elections, and Party Building in Pennsylvania, 1788-1794." *Pennsylvania History* 79, no. 3 (Summer): 257-283. Tables; maps. "The seeds of conflict were sown deep in the nation's most ethnically and economically diverse state."

Inman, Natalie R. 2004. "Wealth, Community, and Litigation in Frontier Tennessee: A Study of Tennessee Superior Court Pleadings, 1802-1810" [tables]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 76: 52-87.

Irwin, Ned. 1997. "The Lost Papers of the 'Lost State of Franklin" [1784-1788; Tenn.'s early attempt to separate from N.C.]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 69: 84-96.

Irwin, Ned. 1998. "'The Lost State of Franklin': Sources for Research and Study" [1784-1789; present-day Tenn.]. *Bulletin of Bibliography* 55 (March): 35-41.

Jeffrey, Thomas E. 1997. "An Unclean Vessel: Thomas Lanier Clingman and the "Railroad Ring" [Western North Carolina Railroad]. *North Carolina Historical Review* 74 (October): 389-431.

Jeffrey, Thomas E. 1998. *Thomas Lanier Clingman: Fire Eater from the Carolina Mountains* [1812-1897; N.C. Congressman; biography]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 449 pp.

Jones, Blake W. 2007. "Frontier Diplomacy: The State of Franklin and Its Quest for Independence." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 79: 41-62.

Kastor, Peter J. 1997. "'Equitable Rights and Privileges': The Divided Loyalties in Washington County, Virginia, during the Franklin Separatist Crisis." *Virginia Magazine of History and Biography* 105 (Spring): 193-226.

Konty, Melissa Fry, and Jason Bailey. 2009. *The Impact of Coal on the Kentucky State Budget*. Coal and Renewables in Central Appalachia series. Berea, Ky.: Mountain Association for Community Economic Development (MACED). 35 pp., tables, charts. See also McIlmoil (2010). http://www.maced.org/coal/documents/Impact_of_Coal.pdf.

Laing, Craig R. 1999. "Spatial Investment Strategies of Federal Assistance to Appalachia" [Appalachian Regional Commission, 1960s to present; cartographic analysis]. *Southeastern Geographer* 39 (May): 99-113.

Lilly, John. 2010. "Remembering Robert C. Byrd" [1917-2010]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 3 (Fall): 10-11. Sidebar, "Bobby on Byrd: Vandalia Award Winner Recipient Recalls West Virginia's Fiddling Senator," by Bobby Taylor, pp. 18-19.

Link, William A. 2003. *Roots of Secession: Slavery and Politics in Antebellum Virginia*. Civil War America series. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 387 pp.

Link, William A. 2009. "'This Bastard New Virginia': Slavery, West Virginia Exceptionalism, and the Secession Crisis." *West Virginia History*, n.s. 3, no. 1 (Spring): 37-56. 1850s Wellsburg, [W.]Va., hostility toward eastern Va.

Loughry, Allen Hayes. 2006. *Don't Buy Another Vote, I Won't Pay for a Landslide: The Sordid and Continuing Political Corruption in West Virginia* [160 photos]. Forewords by Senators Robert C. Byrd and John McCain. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 623 pp.

Macaulay, Alexander S., Jr. 1998. "Growing Pains: The Immortal Thirteen, the Destructive Twelve, and the Emergence of Two-Party Politics in Antebellum Tennessee" [1830s-1840s]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 70: 1-33.

Macintyre, Ben. 2008. "Who'd Have Thought It? There's a Redneck Revolution Taking Shape in Them Thar' Hills." *The Times* (of London), 4 October: 43. 1218 words. Obama presidential candidacy; interview with Ben "Cooter" Jones.

Manning, Maurice. 2012. "My Old Kentucky Conservatism" [op-ed]. *New York Times*, 5 November: Opinion Pages. 932 words. Manning defines traditional conservatism and challenges the Republican establishment's model on the eve of the Obama-Romney presidential election. http://www.nytimes.com/2012/11/06/opinion/my-old-kentucky-conservatism.html.

McCabe, Brooks, Jr. 2012. "Benjamin Harrison Smith, Land Titles, and the West Virginia Constitution" [d. 1887, age 90]. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 6, no. 1 (Spring): 1-34. Absentee landownership: "...quieting of claims on land titles [became] one of the foundations for local and regional economic development...between the 1880s and the 1920s."

McCleskey, Turk. 2012. "Quarterly Courts in Backcountry Counties of Colonial

Virginia [Augusta County]. *Journal of Backcountry Studies* 7, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 47-57. http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ojs/index.php/jbc/issue/view/52.

McIlmoil, Rory, Evan Hansen, and Ted Boettner. 2010. *The Impact of Coal on the Tennessee State Budget*. Coal and Renewables in Central Appalachia series. Morgantown, W. Va.: Downstream Strategies; and Charleston: West Virginia Center on Budget & Policy. 51 pp. tables, maps, charts. See also Konty (2009).

 $http://www.downstream Strategies.com/Documents/reports_publication/Downstream Strategies-coalTN.pdf.$

McIlmoil, Rory, Evan Hansen, Ted Boettner, and Paul Miller. 2010. *The Impact of Coal on the West Virginia State Budget*. Coal and Renewables in Central Appalachia series. Morgantown, W. Va.: Downstream Strategies; and Charleston: West Virginia Center on Budget & Policy. 68 pp., tables, maps, charts. Report estimates \$5 billion in "legacy costs" (\$42 million last year) to repair roads, clean up abandoned mines, and other impacts such as tax breaks. See also Konty (2009).

http://www.downstreamstrategies.com/Documents/reports_publication/DownstreamStrategies-coalWV.pdf.

McKinney, Gordon B. [1978] 1998. *Southern Mountain Republicans, 1865-1900: Politics and the Appalachian Community.* Appalachian Echoes. Reprint. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 320 pp. Originally published: Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

McKinney, Gordon B. 2004. *Zeb Vance: North Carolina's Civil War Governor and Gilded Age Political Leader* [1830-1894]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 477 pp.

McKinney, Gordon, section editor. 2006. "Government" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 1561-1629 (with introductory essay, 1561-1568). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Meier, Barry. 2010. "In Long-Running Coal Battle, a New Round in Virginia" [Massey Energy]. *New York Times*, 10 November, 3(B). 1140 words. Details Hugh Caperton/Harman Mining's 1998 lawsuit against Don Blankenship/Massey, the 2002 jury award of \$50 million, and its overturning by the WV Supreme Court involving two justices with ties to Blankenship.

Mencken, F. Carson. 1999. "A Comparative Analysis of Federal Spending in Appalachia" [refutes pork barrel spending accusations]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 5 (Fall): 247-255.

Miller, Zell. 1996. "Zell Miller: From the Mountains to the Mansion" [Ga. governor]. Interview by Candi Dahl Forester. *Foxfire Magazine* 30 (Fall/Winter): 153-160.

Mullins, Brian. 1998. "Thurl Henderson: Delivering the Mail in Roane County" [1950s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Fall): 48-49.

Murchison, Kenneth M. 2007. *The Snail Darter Case: TVA Versus the Endangered Species Act* [Tellico Dam, Tenn.; 1973-1979]. Landmark Law Cases & American Society. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas. 234 pp.

Nesbitt, J. Todd, and Daniel Weiner. 2001. "Conflicting Environmental Imaginaries and the Politics of Nature in Central Appalachia." *Geoforum* 32 (August): 333-349.

O'Keefe, Joseph G., and Virginia Nowland. 1998. "Suffrage Crusade" [1919-1920]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Fall): 24-26.

O'Neill, Karen M. 2002. "Why the TVA Remains Unique: Interest Groups and the Defeat of New Deal River Planning." *Rural Sociology* 67 (June): 163-182.

Pearson, Joseph W. 2011. "William Gaston, the Borough Controversy, and North Carolina's Changing Political Culture in the 1835 Constitutional Convention" [Andrew Jackson presidency]. *North Carolina Historical Review* 88, no. 4 (October): 399-424. "Many western newspapers railed against the fact that borough representation favored the eastern sections of the state."

Phillips, Jo Boggess. 1998. "'I Greatly Appreciate Your Courage': West Virginia's Women Legislators" [1922-1996]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Fall): 27-31.

Phillips, Jo Boggess. 1998. "A Rose Among the Thorns: Lawmaker Jackie Withrow" [female legislator; 1960s-1970s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Fall): 32-35.

Pierpont, Francis Harrison. 2007. "The Lincoln Reminiscence Manuscript in the Francis Harrison Pierpont Papers" [1814-1899; a founding father of W. Va., and provisional governor of Va., 1861-63]. Transcribed and edited by Michael R. Ridderbusch. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 1, no. 1 (Spring): 75-92.

Platania, Joseph. 1999. "West Virginia's State Stores: A Legacy of Prohibition" [1935-1990]. Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life 25 (Spring): 46-47.

Poole, W. Scott. 2003. Never Surrender: Confederate Memory and Conservatism in the South Carolina Upcountry. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 263 pp.

Purcell, Aaron D. 1998. "Power to the People: David Lilienthal Founds TVA's Electric Power Policy, 1933." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 70: 90-108.

Purcell, Aaron D. 1998. *Undermining the TVA: George Berry, David Lilienthal, and Arthur Morgan* [TVA Board members' divisive split on whether to award Berry compensation for his flooded marble quarries]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 57 (Fall): 168-189.

Purcell, Aaron D. 2002. "Struggle Within, Struggle Without: The TEPCO Case and the Tennessee Valley Authority, 1936-1939." *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 61 (Fall): 194-210.

Purcell, Aaron D. 2003. "Suppressed Currents: The 'Fool Report' and the Early Tennessee Valley Authority" [defamatory document, internal controversy between TVA board members Lilienthal and Morgan]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 74 (2002): 69-83.

Purcell, Aaron D. 2009. White Collar Radicals: TVA's Knoxville Fifteen, the New Deal, and the McCarthy Era. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 258 pp. Contents: A fertile ground: the birth of the Tennessee Valley Authority -- "We were a bunch of radicals": the early years of the Knoxville Fifteen -- Reds in the mailroom: the TVA years, 1933-1939 -- Wars at home and abroad: first investigations and second chances, 1940-1945 -- "Saw plenty": confirmations and investigations, 1946-1947 -- "Oh, you mean the square dancing": HUAC, the FBI, and the Remington trials, 1947-1954 -- Return to Knoxville, 1955-present.

Rasmussen, Barbara. 1996. "The Politics of the Property Tax in West Virginia" [absentee landownership]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Spring): 141-147.

Rasmussen, Barbara. 2006. "Calvin Cornelius Sale, Jr., Becomes Senator Robert Byrd." [Democrat, W. Va.; b. 1917; biographical profile]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 34-37.

Rasmussen, Barbara. 2009. "Charles Ambler's *Sectionalism in Virginia*: An Appreciation" [University of Chicago Press, 1910]. *West Virginia History: A Journal of Regional Studies*, new series, 3, no. 1 (2009): 1-35. "West Virginia statehood was long in the making [1776-1861] and had its start in politics driven by economic interests, not abolition."

Reid, Herbert G., and Betsy Taylor. 2010. *Recovering the Commons: Democracy, Place, and Global Justice*. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 288 pp. Uses mountaintop removal-ravaged Kayford Mountain (Coal River, W. Va.), and its keeper, Larry Gibson, as a grounding and touchstone for this social theory study.

Rogers, Michael. 2004. "TVA Population Removal: Attitudes and Expectations of the Dispossessed at the Norris and Cherokee Dam Sites" [mid-1930s; tables]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 75 (2003): 76-90.

Rogers, Rod. 2004. "John W. Davis and the 1924 Presidential Campaign" [Clarksburg lawyer, Democratic candidate for President, lost to Calvin Coolidge]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Fall): 32-37. Sidebar on W. Va. delegate Claude R. Linger, Braxton Co., who ran against F.D.R as a candidate in the W. Va. primary elections, p. 38-39, by James Wilson Douglas.

Ross, Michael A. 1997. "Hill-Country Doctor: The Early Life and Career of Supreme Court Justice Samuel F. Miller in Kentucky" [Barbourville, Knox Co.]. *Filson Club History Quarterly* 71 (October): 430-462.

Severence, Benjamin H. 1999. "Loyalty's Political Vanguard: The Union League of Maryville, Tennessee, 1867-1869" [Radical Republican whites]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 71: 25-46.

Shelby, Anne. 2006. Can a Democrat Get into Heaven? Politics, Religion & Other Things You Ain't Supposed to Talk About [newspaper columns by poet, singer, and storyteller Shelby; Clay and Jackson Cos., Ky.]. Foreword by Gurney Norman. Louisville, Ky.: Motes. 228 pp.

Sherwood, Topper. 2000. "Kennedy in West Virginia" [1960 presidential campaign]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Fall): 14-23.

Shockley, Megan Taylor. 1997. "King of the Wild Frontier vs. King Andrew I: Davy Crockett and the Election of 1831" [Andrew Jackson]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 56 (Fall): 158-169.

Silveri, Louis D. 1994. "Leadership for Change: Appalachian Alabama's Congressman Carl Elliott and Modern America." In *Appalachian Adaptations to a Changing World*, ed. Norma Myers. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 6: 156-162. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Simmons, Gordon. 2005. "100 Years of Collecting: State Archives Centennial." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 4 (Winter): 10-17.

Simmons, Gordon. 2007. "The Lonely Battle: Ken Hechler's 1958 Campaign" [Marshall College professor; nine-term congressman and four-term secretary of state]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 3 (Fall): 24-29.

Smith, Barbara. 2007. *Judge Ira Ellsworth Robinson: West Virginia Statesman and Man of Letters* [1869-1951]. Baltimore, Md.: PublishAmerica. 477 pp. Served as chief justice of the state Supreme Court, and declared the governor's imposition of martial law unconstitutional during the 1920s mine wars.

Smith, James M. 2007. "Red-Baiting Senator Harley Kilgore in the Election of 1952: The Limits of McCarthyism during the Second Red Scare." *West Virginia History*, n.s. 1, no. 1 (Spring): 55-74.

Spencer, Thomas T. 1997. "Printer and Politician: The Political Career of George L. Berry, 1907-1948". *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 56 (Fall): 212-229.

St. Clair, James E., and Linda C. Gugin. 2002. *Chief Justice Fred M. Vinson of Kentucky: A Political Biography* [1890-1953; b. Louisa, Ky.]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 394 pp.

Stafford, Thomas F. 2005. *Afflicting the Comfortable: Journalism and Politics in West Virginia* [journalist's memoir; traces graft/corruption in seven governorships, 1940s-1990s]. Foreword by Ronald L. Lewis. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 4. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 331 pp.

Stewart, Bruce E. 2003. "When Darkness Reigns Then is the Hour to Strike': Moonshining, Federal Liquor Taxation, and Klan Violence in Western North Carolina, 1868-1872." *North Carolina Historical Review* 80 (October): 453-474.

Stewart, Bruce E. 2004. "Attacking 'Red-Legged Grasshoppers': Moonshiners, Violence, and the Politics of Federal Liquor Taxation in Western North Carolina, 1865-1876." *Appalachian Journal* 32 (Fall): 26-48.

Strickland, Jamie L. 1999. "The Appalachian Regional Commission in Kentucky: A Question of Boundaries" [statistical evaluation]. *Southeastern Geographer* 39 (May): 86-98.

Sturm, Philip. 2000. "Senator Peter G. Van Winkle and the Andrew Johnson Impeachment Trial: A Comprehensive View" [1868; examines public career of Van Winkle, W. Va. Senator, from Parkersburg, Wood Co.]. West Virginia History 58 (1999-2000): 24-43.

Sutton, David. 1995. "Sour Dough: The Elections of '94." *Appalachian Journal* 22 (Winter): 280-289.

Sutton, David. 1997. "Big Dough, Small Change: The Elections of 1996" [Appalachian voting patterns; federal and state]. *Appalachian Journal* 24 (Spring): 296-305.

Sutton, David. 1999. "Blessed Are the Rich (For Theirs Is a Seat in Congress): The Election of 1998." *Appalachian Journal* 26 (Winter): 188-194.

Sutton, David. 2001. "No Tennessee Waltz in Appalachia: The Elections of 2000." *Appalachian Journal* 28 (Spring): 294-303.

Sutton, David. 2005. "Living Poor and Voting Rich' in Appalachia" [Ohio; Republican sway in 2004 presidential election; table]. *Appalachian Journal* 32, no. 3 (Spring): 340-351.

Sutton, David. 2009. "The 2008 Presidential Election in Appalachia: Reading from the Margins." *Appalachian Journal* 36, no. 3-4 (Spring-Summer): 188-198. John McCain carried 370 of the 420 Appalachian counties (88 percent) and Obama just 50 counties (11.9 percent).

Taylor, Betsy. 2009. "Place' as Prepolitical Grounds of Democracy: An Appalachian Case Study in Class Conflict, Forest Politics, and Civic Networks." *American Behavioral Scientist* 52, no. 6 (February): 826-845.

Taylor, Gregory S. 2009. *The History of the North Carolina Communist Party* [1920s-1960s]. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 258 pp. Loray Mill textile strike (1929), Gastonia, N.C.

Tucker, Gary J. 2008. *Governor William E. Glasscock and Progressive Politics in West Virginia* [1909-1913 term]. West Virginia and Appalachia series, no. 9. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press. 214 pp.

United States. 1994. Committee on Banking, Finance, and Urban Affairs. Subcommittee on Economic Growth and Credit Formation. *The Administration's FY '95 Budget Requests for the Economic Development Administration and the Appalachian Regional Commission: Hearing Before the Subcommittee on Economic Growth and Credit Formation*. 103rd Cong., 2nd sess., 10 February.

United States. 2001. Committee on Transportation and Infrastructure. Subcommittee on Economic Development, Public Buildings, and Emergency Management. *Oversight of the Appalachian Regional Commission: Field Hearing: Nelsonville, Ohio.* 106th Cong., 2nd sess. 8 August [focus on Ohio counties]. 101 pp. Supt. of Docs. no.: Y 4.P 96/10:S.HRG.106-960.

Text version: http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS16526.

PDF version: http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS16527.

United States. Congress. House. Committee on Transportation and Infrastructure. 2001. *Appalachian Regional Development Reauthorization Act of 2001: Report (to accompany H.R. 2501) (including cost estimate of the Congressional Budget Office)*. 107th Cong., 1st sess., 1 Aug. 2001, Report 107-180. Washington, D.C.: G.P.O. 16 pp. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS14643.

United States. 2002. Committee on Transportation and Infrastructure. Subcommittee on Economic Development, Public Buildings, and Emergency Management. *Reauthorization of the Appalachian Regional Commission: Hearing before the Subcommittee on Economic Development, Public Buildings, and Emergency Management of the Committee on Transportation and Infrastructure, House of Representatives.* 107th Cong., 1st sess. 10 June, 2001. 51 pp. Supt. of Docs. no.: Y 4.T 68/2:107-25.

United States. 2007. The Reauthorization of the Appalachian Regional Commission and Legislative Proposals to Create Additional Regional Economic Development Authorities: Hearing Before the Subcommittee on Economic Development, Public Buildings, and Emergency Management of the Committee on Transportation and Infrastructure, House of Representatives, One Hundred Ninth Congress, Second Session, July 12, 2006. Washington: U.S. G.P.O. 221 pp. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS81176. Also on the Web at Google Books.

United States. 2008. *An Act to Reauthorize and Improve the Program Authorized by the Appalachian Regional Development Act of 1965*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. G.P.O. 6 pp. (PUBLIC LAW 110–371—OCT. 8, 2008) (AE 2.110:110-371). http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS108088.

United States. 2009. *Oversight Hearing on the Tennessee Valley Authority and the Recent Major Coal Ash Spill* [TVA, Kingston, Tenn.]: Before the Senate Committee on Environment & Public Works, One Hundred Eleventh Congress, First Session, January 8, 2009. http://www.epw.senate.gov/public/index.cfm?FuseAction=Hearings.Hearing&Hearing_ID=8e2c be63-802a-23ad-46ea-16ca4422e7d9.

United States. 2009. The Tennessee Valley Authority's Kingston Ash Slide and Potential Water Quality Impacts of Coal Combustion Waste Storage: Hearing Before the Subcommittee on Water Resources and Environment of the Committee on Transportation and Infrastructure, House of Representatives, One Hundred Eleventh Congress, First Session, March 31, 2009. 123+ pp. http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CHRG-111hhrg48645/html/CHRG-111hhrg48645.htm.

United States. 2009. Testimony on the Impact of the Last Reauthorization of the Appalachian Regional Commission and Issues Regarding the Upcoming Reauthorization: Hearing before the Committee on Environment and Public Works, United States Senate, One Hundred Ninth Congress, second session, April 20, 2006, Marietta, OH. Washington: U.S. G.P.O. 95 pp. (Y 4.P 96/10: S.HRG.109-1037). http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS110094.

Wallenstein, Peter. 1997. "William Ballard Preston and the Politics of Slavery, 1832-1862." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 1: 63-101. Excerpts from speeches by this antislavery legislator from Smithfield, Va.

Ward, Ken, Jr. 2012. "The Campaign Comes to Coal Country." *Nation* 295, no. 18 (October 29): 26-28. "Mitt Romney echoes a ferocious public relations campaign by the coal industry attacking what it calls the Obama administration's 'war on coal' which supposedly threatens jobs and an entire 'way of life'....And while politicians on both sides fall all over themselves to declare allegiance to coal, few of them talk about strategies to diversify coalfield economies."

Watkins, William J. 2004. *Reclaiming the American Revolution: The Kentucky and Virginia Resolutions and Their Legacy* [1798; Jefferson advocates Va.'s and Ky.'s secession from the union]. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. 236 pp.

Webb, Samuel L. 1997. *Two-Party Politics in the One-Party South: Alabama's Hill Country, 1874-1920* [ex-Populists lend strength to Republican Party after Reconstruction]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 328 pp.

Williams, John Alexander. 1995. "Class, Section, and Culture in Nineteenth-Century West Virginia Politics." In *Appalachia in the Making: The Mountain South in the Nineteenth Century*, ed. M. Pudup, D. Billings, and A. Waller, 210-232. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Winship, Marion Nelson. 1999. "Kentucky in the New Republic: A Study of Distance and Connection" [1790s; John Breckinridge]. In *The Buzzel About Kentuck: Settling the Promised Land*, ed. C. Friend, 100-123. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Wolensky, Robert P., Thomas J. Baldino, and John H. Hepp. 2006. "Remaking Municipal Government? Charter Reform in Wilkes-Barre, Pennsylvania, 1968-2001" [Luzerne Co.]. *Pennsylvania History* 73, no. 4 (Autumn): 446-479.

Zimring, David R. 2009. "'Secession in Favor of the Constitution': How West Virginia Justified Separate Statehood during the Civil War" [1863]. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 3, no. 2 (Fall): 23-51.

RELIGION

Church denominations; Primitive Baptists; Holiness Churches and snake handling; religion in schools; missionary workers; circuit riders; revivals

Abell, Troy D. [1982] 1998. *Better Felt Than Said: The Holiness-Pentecostal Experience in Southern Appalachia*. Reprint. Waco, Tex.: Baylor University Press. 216 pp. Originally published: Waco, Tex.: Marham Press.

Abrams, Douglas Carl. 2001. Selling the Old-Time Religion: American Fundamentalists and Mass Culture, 1920-1940. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 168 pp.

Allison, Dorothy. 2006. "This Is Our World." In *All Out of Faith: Southern Women on Spirituality*, ed. W. Reed, and J. Horne, 14-25. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Andrzejewski, Anna Vemer. 2000. "The Gazes of Hierarchy at Religious Camp Meetings, 1850-1925" [Pa.]. Chap. 8 in *People, Power, Places: Perspectives in Vernacular Architecture, VIII*, ed. S. McMurry and A. Adams, 138-157. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Anglin, Mary. 1995. "Ministering to the Working Class: Evangelical Protestantism in Rural Appalachia." In *Religion in the Contemporary South: Diversity, Community, and Identity*, ed. O. K. White, Jr., and D. White, 97-105. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 28. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Appleby, Monica Kelly. 1999. "A Baptism by Immersion in Big Stone Gap: From South Side Chicago to Southern Appalachia" [Glenmary Sister; Wise Co., Va.]. In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 278-296. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Argoe, April, and Alisha Argoe. 2005. "Stickin' with the Lord: An Interview with Rev. John McKnight" [b. 1934, Grayson Co., Va.]. *Foxfire Magazine* 39 (Fall/Winter): 81-97.

Arnow, Pat. 1999. "Snake Handling." Southern Exposure 27 (Fall): 70.

Basinger, David. 2011. "'We the Baptist Church at Bethel Now in Session': Levi Joseph Jenkins, the Bethel Baptist Church, and Religion in Tuckaleechee Cove and Cades Cove." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 83: 25-39.

Bernhardt, Jack. 2001. "Performance, Faith, and Bluegrass Gospel: An Anthropological Journey with Jerry and Tammy Sullivan" [Ala.; Pentecostal ministry]. In *Country Music Annual 2000*, ed. C. Wolfe and J. Akenson, 51-69. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Birckhead, Jim. 1996. "Snake Handlers: Heritage, Salvation, and Celebrity in the '90s." *Appalachian Journal* 23 (Spring): 260-274.

Bond, S. Thomas. 2007. "The Old Brick Church at Lost Creek" [Harrison Co.; Seventh Day Baptist; built 1870s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 1 (Spring): 34-39.

Bowdle, Donald N. 1999. "Holiness in the Highlands: A Profile of the Church of God." In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 243-256. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Brand, Irene B. 2005. "Harmony Church: Witness and Worship in Mason County" [organized 1812]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 1 (Spring): 30-35.

Brown, Fred, and Jeanne McDonald. 2000. *The Serpent Handlers: Three Families and Their Faith* [W. Va., Ky., Tenn.]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 356 pp.

Brown, Rodger Lyle. 1997. "Destiny in Dayton: The Scopes Trial Play and Festival at Dayton, Tennessee." In *Ghost Dancing on the Cracker Circuit: The Culture of Festivals in the American South*, by Rodger Lyle Brown, 121-143. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi.

Brunn, Stanley D., Gerald R. Webster, and J. Clark Archer. 2011. "The Bible Belt in a Changing South: Shrinking, Relocating, and Multiple Buckles." *Southeastern Geographer* 51, no. 4 (Winter): 513-549. Shaded county outline maps. From the Old Belt Buckle, eastern Tenn./western N.C. (1970), to the New Belt Buckle, northern Texas (2000).

Burton, Thomas, and Ed Speer. 2003. "George Went Hensley: A Biographical Note" [b. 1881; initiator of Christian serpent handling]. *Appalachian Journal* 30 (Summer): 346-348.

Burton, Thomas. 2004. *The Serpent and the Spirit: Glenn Summerford's Story* [1992 Scottsboro, Ala., trial of snake handler for attempted murder]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 262 pp.

Caldwell, David Andrew. 2009. "Rev. David Caldwell (1725–1824): Incarnation of a Cause, a Country, and an Age" [Presbyterian; Greensboro; Alamance Co.; Guilford Co.]. *Journal of Backcountry Studies* (online), vol. 4, no.1 (Spring): 102 pp. Excerpted from the author's forthcoming biography. http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ojs/index.php/jbc/issue/view/9.

Callahan, Richard J. 2009. *Work and Faith in the Kentucky Coal Fields: Subject to Dust*. Religion in North America series. Bloomington: Indiana University Press. 259 pp. Contents: Introduction -- 1. Appalachian Mountain Religion -- 2. Patterns of Life and Work -- 3. Coal Town Life -- 4. "It's About as Dangerous a Thing as Exists" -- 5. Power in the Blood -- 6. Suffering and Redemption.

Callahan, Richard J., Kathryn Lofton, and Chad E. Seales. 2010. "Allegories of Progress: Industrial Religion in the United States" [coal mining]. *Journal of The American Academy of Religion* 78, no. 1: 1-39. "We argue that American Protestant reformers and industrialists collaborated to use industrial religion in order to civilize landscapes, cleanse bodies, and convert individuals into the requisite disciplines of modern labor and consumption."

Caroline Diepenbrock. 2011. "Beginning at Jerusalem in the Regions Beyond: Edward O. Guerrant and the Southern Home Mission Movement. In *Proceedings of the Big South Undergraduate Research Symposium (BigSURS) 2011, Virginia Military Institute, Virginia*

April 15–16, *2011*, 15-26. University of North Carolina at Asheville. http://urp.unca.edu/sites/urp.unca.edu/files/BS11History.pdf.

Clark, Thomas D. 2005. "Holy Rollers" [Church of God; unpublished material originally intended for Clark's 1942 book *The Kentucky*]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 103, nos.1-2: 93-107.

Cooper, Ann Goode. 2006. *The Angel of Happy Hollow: The Story of Mary Elizabeth "Toddy" Collins* [1868-1947; 1905 missionary to coal camp of Roda, Va.]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 476 pp.

Covington, Dennis. 1995. Salvation on Sand Mountain: Snake Handling and Redemption in Southern Appalachia. Reading: Addison-Wesley. 240 pp.

Cox, W. Eugene, and Joyce Cox. 2006. *Jonesborough's Historic Churches*. Jonesborough, Tenn.: Heritage Alliance of Northeast Tennessee and Southwest Virginia. 125 pp.

Cunningham, Rodger. 2010. "The Green Side of Life: Appalachian Magic as a Site of Resistance." *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 2 (Spring): 54-62. Essay on regional magic and religion.

Daugherty, Mary Lee. 1999. "Serpent Handlers: When the Sacrament Comes Alive." In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 138-152. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Davis, Sylvia Delee, ed. 2008. *Appalachian Angels: Personal Essays of Angel Encounters and Near-Death Experiences from the Mountains*. West Conshohocken, Pa.: Infinity Publishing. 108 pp. Kentucky; 40 accounts.

Denson, Andrew C. 1995. "Diversity, Religion, and the North Carolina Regulators." *North Carolina Historical Review* 72 (January): 30-53.

DePalma, Margaret C. 2004. *Dialogue on the Frontier: Catholic and Protestant Relations*, 1793-1883 [Ohio, Ky.]. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press. 220 pp.

Dieter, Melvin E. 1999. "Wesleyan/Holiness Churches." In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 227-242. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Dorgan, Howard. 1994. "The 'No Heller' Baptists of Central Appalachia: Primitives Adapt to Universalism." In *Appalachian Adaptations to a Changing World*, ed. Norma Myers. *Journal*

of the Appalachian Studies Association 6: 81-88. Johnson City: Center for Appalachian Studies and Services, East Tennessee State University.

Dorgan, Howard. 1996. "Divide and Multiply: Baptist Diversity in Appalachia." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 13 (Winter): 8-11.

Dorgan, Howard. 1997. *In the Hands of a Happy God: The "No-Hellers" of Central Appalachia* [Primitive Baptist Universalists]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 224 pp.

Dorgan, Howard. 1999. "Old-Time Baptists of Central Appalachia." In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 117-137. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Dorgan, Howard, section editor. 2006. "Religion" [signed articles]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 1281-1359 (with introductory essay, 1281-1289). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Drake, Richard, Bill J. Leonard, J. Stephen Rhodes, and Larry D. Shinn. 1996. Reviews of *Appalachian Mountain Religion: A History*, by Deborah Vansau McCauley (University of Illinois Press, 1995). *Appalachian Heritage* 24 (Winter): 40-59.

Duin, Julia. 2011. "In West Virginia, Snake Handling Is Still Considered a Sign of Faith" [Jolo, W. Va.]. *Washington Post*, 13 November, 19(A). 2,939 words. Photo gallery. http://www.washingtonpost.com/lifestyle/magazine/in-wva-snake-handling-is-still-considered-a-sign-of-faith/2011/10/18/gIQAmiqL9M_story.html.

Duin, Julia. 2012. "Pastor Dies Practicing Snake-Handling Faith" [Mack Wolford; W. Va.]. *Washington Post*, 30 May, 1(C). 995 words. http://www.washingtonpost.com/lifestyle/style/serpent-handling-pastor-profiled-earlier-in-washington-post-dies-from-rattlesnake-bite/2012/05/29/gJQAJef5zU_story.html.

Duin, Julia. 2012. "Reviving Faith by 'Taking Up Serpents': For a New Generation of Internet-Savvy Pentecostals, a Century-Old Practice Provides 'Anointing'" [Tabernacle Church of God in La Follette, Tenn.]. *Wall Street Journal*, 7 April, 3(C). 853 words.

Dunnavant, Anthony. 1999. "'Mountaineers Are Always Free': The Stone-Campbell Traditions" [Barton Stone, Alexander Campbell; rooted in 1801 Cane Ridge, Ky., revival]. In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 208-226. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Edmonds, Jesse (Rev.). 2005. "Message from the Past" [1925-1996; transcript of a radio message/sermon, 1990, WALH Radio, Mountain City, Ga.]. *Foxfire Magazine* 39 (Fall/Winter): 98-103.

Ellis, John. 2010. "The Confused, the Curious, and the Reborn: Methodism as a Youth Movement in the Upper South and Ohio Valley, 1770-1820." *Ohio Valley History* 10, no. 1 (Spring): 3-31.

Eslinger, Ellen. 1999. *Citizens of Zion: The Social Origins of Camp Meeting Revivalism* [Ky.; 1775-1801]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 328 pp., 7 maps.

Fair, Holla Price. 2002. "I've Done My Best': Old-Time Preacher Denver Hill" [b. 1923; Boone Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Fall): 52-55.

Farley, Gary, and Bill J. Leonard. 1999. "Mountain Preachers, Mountain Ministers." In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 153-164. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Farley, Yvonne Snyder. [1979] 1999. "Holiness People Revisited" [serpent handling; Besoco Church of Jesus, Raleigh Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Summer): 10-19. Reprint, originally published vol. 5, no. 2.

Flynt, Wayne. 2005. "Religion for the Blues: Evangelicalism, Poor Whites, and the Great Depression." *Journal of Southern History* 71, no. 1: 3-38.

Fones-Wolf, Ken, and others. 2011. Featured Rountable, "How might the study of religion in the early twentieth-century South appear differently if scholars emphasized class as a category of analysis?" *Journal of Southern Religion*, vol. 13. Papers: Embedding Class among the Troops Who Study Southern Religion / Ken Fones-Wolf -- The Work of Class in Southern Religion / Richard J. Callahan, Jr. -- Reading Religious Belief as Working-Class Intellectual History / Jarod Roll -- The Faith of the "flotsam and jetsam" / Alison Collis Greene -- Recovering the Class-Conscious New South / John Hayes -- plus "Responses" from each of the above participants. http://jsr.fsu.edu/issues/vol13/.

Ford, Bridget. "Beyond Cane Ridge: The 'Great Western Revivals' in Louisville and Cincinnati, 1828-1845." *Ohio Valley History* 8, no. 4 (Winter): 17-37.

Fox, Margalit. 2011. "Swami Bhaktipada Dies at Age 74; Ex-Hare Krishna Leader and Felon" [obituary; b. Keith Ham, 1937]. *New York Times*, 25 October: 29(A). 1,355 words. A 1959 graduate of Maryville College (Tenn.), Ham built New Vrindaban, the Palace of Gold, in the 1970s near Moundsville, W. Va. He served eight years of a 12-year sentence for federal racketeering charges including conspiracy to commit the murders-for-hire of two devotees.

Fraley, Jill. 2011. "Missionaries to the Wilderness: A History of Land, Identity, and Moral Geography in Appalachia." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 17, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 28-41. Early 20th-century missionaries arrived with stereotypes of the people and mountains in this complex cultural exchange.

Gaitely, Patricia. 2009. "It's an Easy Life': Women Serpent-Handlers in Contemporary Appalachia" [interviews]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 56, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 52-64.

Genovese, Eugene D. 2002. "The Dulcet Tones of Christian Disputation in the Democratic Up-Country" [Tenn.; Parson Brownlow]. *Southern Cultures* 8 (Winter): 56-68.

Grammich, Clifford A. 1994. *Appalachian Atlas: Maps of the Churches and People of the Appalachian Region*. Knoxville: Commission on Religion in Appalachia. 72 pp.

Grammich, Clifford A., Jr. 1999. *Local Baptists, Local Politics: Churches and Communities in the Middle and Uplands South* [includes two case studies in Tenn. and Ky.]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 244 pp.

Harper, Keith. 2012. "And All the Baptists in Kentucky Took the Name United Baptists': The Union of the Separate and Regular Baptists of Kentucky." *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 110, no. 1 (Winter): 3-31.

Hayes, Mary. 2011. "A Cove Creek Baptism" [pictorial]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 62-65. Ceder Creek Presbyterian Church, Greene County, Tenn.

Heyrman, Christine Leigh. 1997. *Southern Cross: The Beginnings of the Bible Belt* [18th-19th century; evangelical dominance; winner of the 1998 Bancroft Prize]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 336 pp.

Hill, Samuel, ed. 2006. *Religion*. Vol. 1 of the *New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 248 pp. Seventy signed entries and short essays including: Appalachian religion -- Frontier religion -- Pentecostalism -- Campbell, Alexander -- Camps and retreats -- Fatalism -- Great Revival -- Merton, Thomas -- Moravians -- Serpent handlers -- Shakers.

Hill, Samuel S. 1999. "The Virtue of Hope" [Appalachian religious traits]. In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 297-311. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Hill, Telford (Jack), and Richard James Hill. 2008. *Colver: Mr. Coleman's Town*. Pa: booksurge.com. 139 pp. Ebensburg Coal company town history; Cambria County, Pa.

Hood, Ralph W., and W. Paul Williamson. 2008. *Them That Believe: The Power and Meaning of the Christian Serpent-Handling Tradition*. Berkeley: University of California Press. 301 pp. Contents: "They shall take up serpents" -- The history of Pentecostalism absent the serpent -- The media and the man: George Went Hensley -- Serpent handling endorsed by the Church of God -- The serpent: sign and symbol -- Trance states: tongues speaking and the anointing -- Extemporaneous sermons in the serpent-handling tradition -- The experience of handling serpents -- The experience of the anointing -- Near-death experience from serpent bites in religious settings -- Music among serpent-handling churches -- Serpent handling and the law: history and empirical studies.

Hood, Ralph W., Jr., and W. P. Williamson. 2008. "Contemporary Christian Serpent Handlers And The New Paradigm For The Psychology of Religion." *Research in the Social Scientific Study of Religion* 19: 59-89.

Houck, James. 2012. "Finding a Voice: Affirming Religious Coping as a Strength among Disenfranchised Appalachians." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 18, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 189-205. Tables. "For people...who may already be disenfranchised by prejudice, ridicule, stigmatization, and socio-economic factors."

Huddle, Mark Andrew. 1997. Lift High the Cross: A Bicentennial History of the First Presbyterian Church, Morganton, North Carolina, 1797-1997. Morganton, N.C.: First Presbyterian Church. 146 pp.

Huddle, Mark Andrew. 2005. "Soul Winner: Edward O. Guerrant, the Kentucky Home Missions, and the 'Discovery' of Appalachia" [1870s-1890s]. *Ohio Valley History* 5, no. 4 (Winter): 47-64.

Jones, June Cowles. 2002. "'To Seek and Save': Memories of Good Hope Church" [Missionary Baptist Church, Graydon, Fayette Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Spring): 50-53.

Jones, Loyal. 1999. "Mountain Religion: An Overview." In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 91-102. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Jones, Loyal. 1999. *Faith and Meaning in the Southern Uplands* [Weatherford Award winner]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 264 pp.

Jones, Loyal. 2006. "Appalachian Religion." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 1: *Religion*, ed. S. Hill, 21-24. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. See also, "Serpent Handlers," 211-212, by Steven M. Kane.

Kanon, Tom. 2007. "'Seduced, Bewildered, and Lost': Anti-Shakerism on the Early Nineteenth-Century Frontier." *Ohio Valley History* 7, no. 2 (Summer): 1-30.

Keefe, Susan Emley. 2003. "Religious Healing in Southern Appalachian Communities." In *Southern Heritage on Display: Public Ritual and Ethnic Diversity within Southern Regionalism*, ed. Celeste Ray, 144-166. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Kellison, Kimberly R. 2004. "A Seceding State of Mind: The Antimission Controversy and the Roots of Secession in Upcountry South Ccarolina, 1820-1860." *American Baptist Quarterly* 23 no. 1 (March): 35-48.

Kellison, Kimberly R. 2005. "Parameters of Promiscuity: Sexuality, Violence, and Religion in Upcountry South Carolina." Chap. 1 in *Vale of Tears: New Essays on Religion and Reconstruction*, ed. E. Blum and W. Poole, 15-35. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Ketchell, Aaron K. 2007. *Holy Hills of the Ozarks: Religion and Tourism in Branson, Missouri*. Lived Religions. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 300 pp.

Kimbrough, David L. [1995] 2002. *Taking Up Serpents: Snake Handlers of Eastern Kentucky*. Rpt. ed. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 232 pp. Originally published: Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Kimbrough, David L., and Ralph W. Hood, Jr. 1995. "Carson Springs and the Persistence of Serpent Handling Despite the Law." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 1 (Fall): 45-65.

Knochel, Mary Ann. 2007. *Roman Catholic Diocese of Pittsburgh* [vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Covers the Steel Valley and surrounding counties of southwestern Pa.

Laats, Adam. 2006. "The Quiet Crusade: Moody Bible Institute's Outreach to Public Schools and the Mainstreaming of Appalachia, 1921-66." *Church History* 75, no. 3 (September): 565-593.

Lamendola, Lauren. 2010. "Trouble Brewing at St. Vincent" [Latrobe, Westmoreland Co.]. *Pennsylvania History* 93, no. 3 (Fall): 50-59. Benedictines of St. Vincent Abbey, founded 1848 and now St. Vincent College, began brewing beer in 1860. The brewery was mysteriously burned in 1926 during Prohibition.

Larson, Edward J. 1997. Summer for the Gods: The Scopes Trial and America's Continuing Debate Over Science and Religion. New York: Basic Books. 336 pp.

Leavelle, Tracy Neal. 2012. "Native American Religions in the Early South." *Journal of Southern Religion*, vol. 14. 5,872 words. Cherokee, Choctaw, Creek. http://jsr.fsu.edu/issues/vol14/leavelle.html.

Leonard, Bill J. 1996. "Ministering to Appalachia" [AMERC: Appalachian Ministries Educational Resource Center - seminary consortium]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 13 (Winter): 12-14.

Leonard, Bill J. 1999. "Introduction: The Faith and the Faiths." In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, xv-xxxii. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Leonard, Bill J. 1999. "Southern Baptists." In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 175-188. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Leonard, Bill J. 2002. "Baptists in Appalachia." Baptist History and Heritage 37 (no. 3): 6-25.

Leonard, Bill J., ed. 1999. *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism* [19 essays]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 328 pp.

Leppman, Elizabeth J. 2005. "Appalachian Churchscapes: The Case of Menifee County, Kentucky" ["belief, attitude, and intentionality"; map, figures]. *Southeastern Geographer* 45, no. 1 (May):83-103.

Lewis, Michael. 2009. "Keeping Sin from Sacred Spaces." *Southern Cultures* 15, no. 2 (Summer): 40-60. Laws created by southern Evangelicals; alcohol.

Lienesch, Michael. 2007. *In the Beginning: Fundamentalism, the Scopes Trial, and the Making of the Antievolution Movement*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 338 pp. Includes Chapter Six, "Staging: the Drama at Dayton" [Tenn.; 1925; creationism].

Lippy, Charles H. 1999. "Popular Religiosity in Central Appalachia." In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 40-51. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Long, Loretta M. 2001. *The Life of Selena Campbell: A Fellow Soldier in the Cause of Restoration* [wife of Alexander Campbell, founder of Disciples of Christ ("Stone-Campbell Movement")]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 235 pp.

Longenecker, Stephen. 2002. *Shenandoah Religion: Outsiders and the Mainstream, 1716-1865*. Waco, Tex.: Baylor University Press. 192 pp.

Mansfield, Stephen, and George Grant. 1997. *Faithful Volunteers: The History of Religion in Tennessee*. Nashville, Tenn.: Cumberland House. 251 pp.

Marsich, David. 2011. "'And Shall thy Flowers Cease to Bloom?': The Shakers' Struggle to Preserve Pleasant Hill, 1862-1910." *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 109, no. 1 (Winter): 3-26.

Matzko, John. 2007. "'This is it, isn't it, Brother Stone?': The Move of Bob Jones University from Cleveland, Tennessee, to Greenville, 1946-1947." *South Carolina Historical Magazine* 108, no. 3 (July): 235-256.

McCauley, Deborah Vansau, and Laura E. Porter, with photographs by Warren E. Brunner. 2003. *Mountain Holiness: A Photographic Narrative* [370 photos]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 224 pp.

McCauley, Deborah Vansau. 1995. *Appalachian Mountain Religion: A History* [Weatherford Award winner]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 551 pp.

McCauley, Deborah Vansau. 1996. "History Shapes the Present and Informs the Future" [author's responses to last issue's review essays of her book, *Appalachian Mountain Religion: A History* (University of Illinois Press, 1995), by Drake, Leonard, Rhodes, and Shinn]. *Appalachian Heritage* 24 (Spring): 10-25.

McCauley, Deborah Vansau. 1999. "Mountain Holiness" [Holiness-Pentecostal movements]. In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 103-116. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

McCauley, Deborah Vansau. 2004. "Religion" [cultural survey]. In *High Mountains Rising: Appalachia in Time and Place*, ed. R. Straw and H. Blethen, 179-196. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

McDonald, Jeanne. 2004. Review essay of *The Serpent and the Spirit: Glenn Summerford's Story*, by Thomas Burton (University of Tennessee Press, 2004). *Appalachian Heritage* 33 (Spring): 79-84.

McNeil, Lou F. 1999. "Catholic Mission and Evangelization." In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 257-277. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Mencken, H. L. 2006. A Religious Orgy in Tennessee: A Reporter's Account of the Scopes Monkey Trial [1925; Dayton, Tenn.]. Hoboken, N.J.: Melville House. 206 pp. Includes Mencken's 17 reports for *The Baltimore Sun*, *The Nation*, and *The American Mercury* in which he caricatures Protestant fundamentalist East Tennesseans and the anti-evolution movement, and sets stereotypes.

Menge, Ashley. 2005. "'Right-Standin': An Interview with Reverence Ralph Bagwell" [b. 1932, Anderson, S.C.]. *Foxfire Magazine* 39 (Fall/Winter): 138-149.

Minney, Katrina. 2008. "Leading Creek Baptist Church: Up From the Ashes in Gilmer County." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 1 (Spring): 28-33. Church built 1878, burned by an arsonist in 1980, rebuilt 1981.

Montagna, Douglas. 2007. "'Choked Him Til His Tongue Protruded': Violence, the Code of Honor, and Methodist Clergy in the Antebellum Ohio Valley" [1830s-1850s]. *Ohio Valley History* 7, no. 4 (Winter): 15-31.

Morgan, Larry G. 2005. *Old Time Religion in the Southern Appalachians* [Nantahala, Macon County, N.C.]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers, 2005. 137 pp.

Morgan, Larry G. 2006. *Old Time Religion in the Southern Appalachians* [N.C.]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 137 pp.

Morgan, Robert. 1996. "The Gift of Tongues." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 13 (Winter): 7.

Morrow, Jimmy. 2005. *Handling Serpents: Pastor Jimmy Morrow's Narrative History of His Appalachian Jesus' Name Tradition* [Del-Rio, Tenn. (Cocke Co.); Big Stone Gap, Va.; Holiness Church]. Edited by Ralph W. Hood, Jr. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 207 pp.

Poage, Bennett. 1999. "The Church and the Family Farm Ministry in Central Appalachia." In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 18-39. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Pogue, Blair A. 1999. "'I Cannot Believe the Gospel That Is So Much Preached': Gender, Belief, and Discipline in Baptist Religious Culture." In *The Buzzel About Kentuck: Settling the Promised Land*, ed. C. Friend, 216-241. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Posey, Lawton W. 2004. "A City Preacher Comes to Pendleton County" [1958; summer seminary assignment; six-point preaching circuit]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Summer): 50-54.

Pyne, Tricia T. 2000. Faith in the Mountains: A History of the Diocese of Wheeling-Charleston, 1850-2000 [W. Va.]. Strasbourg, France: Éditions de Signe. 128 pp.

Pyne, Tricia T. 2000. Faith in the Mountains: A History of the Diocese of Wheeling-Charleston, 1850-2000 [W. Va.; Catholic Church]. Strasbourg, France: Editions de Signe. 128 pp.

Queen, Arthur. 2006. A Country Preacher's Tale: Time Has Made a Change in the Old Home Place. Huntington, W. Va.: Mid-Atlantic Highlands. 174 pp. Baptist, born 1920, Wayne County, W. Va.

Quinn, Kate. 2012. "Fighting the Good Fight: Billy Sunday Comes to Wheeling" [evangelist; 1912]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 2 (Summer): 50-57.

Rabun Churches [Rabun Co. Ga.; seven churches profiled]. 2005. *Foxfire Magazine* 39 (Fall/Winter): 152-155.

Rausch, John S. 1996. "At Home in the Web of Life: Religious Values & Development." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 13 (Winter): 30-33.

Read, Ira. 1999. "The Church College in Central Appalachia." In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 73-90. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Reece, Erik. 2009. *An American Gospel: On Family, History, and the Kingdom of God.* New York: Riverhead Books. 224 pp. A reflection and treatise on Christian religion by the son of a fundamentalist Baptist preacher and author of *Lost Mountain: A Year in the Vanishing Wilderness: Radical Strip Mining and the Devastation of Appalachia* (2006).

Reece, Erik. 2009. *An American Gospel: On Family, History, and the Kingdom of God.* New York: Riverhead Books. 224 pp.

Religion in Appalachia. 1996. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 13 (Winter): 1-40.

Reynolds, David. 1994. "Democracy and Religion: Dissension Among the Primitive Baptists." *Appalachian Journal* 21 (Summer): 422-430.

Rice, James D. 2006. "Evangelicals and the Invention of Community in Western Maryland" [late 18th and early 19th centuries]. *Maryland Historical Magazine* 101, no. 1: 26-54.

Ricketts, Jeremy R. 2008. "Tennessee's 1884 'Mormon Massacre' and the Cane Creek Vigilante Movement" [Lewis Co.]. *Tennessee Historical Quarterly* 67, no. 3 (Fall): 208-235.

Rohrer, S. Scott. 2005. *Hope's Promise: Religion and Acculturation in the Southern Backcountry* [Moravian movement at Wachovia, Forsyth County, N.C., 1750-1860]. Religion and American Culture. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 266 pp.

Rutkowski, Ryan. 2010. *Catholic West Virginia* [vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Diocese of Wheeling-Charleston's 160-year history.

Salatino, Anthony J. 2001. A True Man of God: A Biography of Father Ralph William Beiting, Founder of the Christian Appalachian Project. Edited with a foreword by Sidney Saylor Farr. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 231 pp.

Schwartz, Scott. 1999. *Faith, Serpents, and Fire: Images of Kentucky Holiness Believers*. Foreword by Thomas Burton. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 128 pp.

Sessions, James. 1999. "The Commission on Religion in Appalachia: Empowering the People" ["CORA"; founded 1965]. In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 165-174. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Sherrod, Marc. 2005. "Remembering the Dead, Comforting the Living: Adapting Christian Ministry to Appalachian Death Practices." Chap. 4 in *Appalachian Cultural Competency: A Guide for Medical, Mental Health, and Social Service Professionals*, ed. S. Keefe, 89-113. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Sims, Patsy. [1988] 1996. *Can Somebody Shout Amen! Inside the Tents and Tabernacles of American Revivalists*. Religion in the South. Rpt. ed. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 234 pp. Originally published: New York: St. Martin's Press.

Smith, Chuck. 1998. "Jehovah's Witnesses and the Castor Oil Patriots: A West Virginia Contribution to Religious Liberty" [1940; Richwood; persecution]. *West Virginia History* 57: 95-110.

Smith, Lee, and Hal Crowther. 2004. "'All Wrought Up': The Apocalyptic South of McKendree Robbins Long" [preacher-artist; 1888-1976]. *Southern Cultures* 10, no. 1 (Spring): 50-51.

Smith, Lee. 2004. "Saturday Night and Sunday Morning" [preacher McKendree Robbins Long (1888-1976) and his Apocalyptic art]. *Southern Cultures* 10, no. 1 (Spring): 52-55.

Sparks, John. 2001. *The Roots of Appalachian Christianity: The Life and Legacy of Elder Shubal Stearns* [1706-1771; Baptist preacher; Va., N.C.]. Religion in the South, no. 8. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 327 pp.

Sparks, John. 2005. *Raccoon John Smith: Frontier Kentucky's Most Famous Preacher* [1784-1868; Disciples of Christ]. By Elder John Sparks. Religion in the South. Lexington, Ky.: University Press of Kentucky. 462 pp.

Sparks, John. 2009. *Kentucky's Most Hated Man: Charles Chilton Moore and the Blue Grass Blade* [1837-1906]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 332 pp. A father of American atheism, newspaper editor of the Lexington, Ky., *Blue Grass Blade*, Bethany College (W. Va.) student, and grandson of religious reformer Barton W. Stone.

Specht, Neva Jean. 2003. "Women of One or Many Bonnets? Quaker Women and the Role of Religion in Trans-Appalachian Settlement" [1790s Southwestern Pa.]. *NWSA Journal* 15 (Summer): 27-44.

Stephens, Randall J. 2008. "'There Is Magic in Print': The Holiness-Pentecostal Press and the Origins of Southern Pentecostalism." In *Southern Crossroads: Perspectives on Religion and Culture*, ed. W. Conser and R. Payne, 194-230. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Stephens, Randall J. 2008. *The Fire Spreads: Holiness and Pentecostalism in the American South.* Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press. 393 pp.

Super, Joe. 2012. "Mountain Baptists, Mountain Theology" [W. Va.]. *Baptist History & Heritage* 47, no. 2 (Summer): 68-81. Super takes issue with Deborah Vansau McCauley (*Appalachian Mountain Religion*, 1995).

Super, Joseph. 2012. "Edward O. Guerrant and the Creation of the New South." *Southern Historian* 33 (Spring): 53-65. "...discusses the views of...Guerrant on Christianity and capitalism in the U.S. South in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries."

Synan, Vinson. [1971] 1997. *The Holiness-Pentecostal Tradition: Charismatic Movements in the Twentieth Century*. Second edition. Grand Rapids, Mich.: W.B. Eerdmans. 340 pp. Originally published as *Holiness-Pentecostal Movement in the United States*.

Taylor, Wilma Rugh. 2007. "Glory Bound: Chapel Cars Come to West Virginia" [1890s-1946; railroad cars used by missionaries for church services]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 4 (Winter): 28-33.

Thomas, Sarah. 2006. "Five Timely Principles Survive a Century: The YMCA Blue Ridge Assembly at 100" [founder Dr. Willis Weatherford, Black Mountain, N.C.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 19-22.

Thompson, Charles D., Jr. 2006. *The Old German Baptist Brethren: Faith, Farming, and Change in the Virginia Blue Ridge* [Franklin Co.; oral history interviews]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 219 pp.

Tidball, Keith G., and Christopher P. Toumey. 2003. "Signifying Serpents: Hermeneutic Change in Appalachian Pentecostal Serpent Handling." In *Signifying Serpents and Mardi Gras Runners: Representing Identity in Selected Souths*, ed. C. Ray and L. Lassiter, 1-18. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 36. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Verburg, John L. 1994. "Social Construction of Reality: How it Compels Action." In *Appalachian Adaptations to a Changing World*, ed. Norma Myers. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 6: 99-112. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Vincent, Peter., Morton D. Winsberg, and Barney Warf. 2006. "Religious Diversity in the Southeastern U.S." [44 denominations; tables; shaded county outline maps]. *Southeastern Geographer* 46, no. 1 (May): 79-96.

Voelker, David J. 2008. "Church Building and Social Class on the Urban Frontier: The Refinement of Lexington, 1784-1830." *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 106, no. 2 (Spring): 181-229. In contrast to the Great Revival and nearby Cane Ridge camp meeting of 1801.

Wagner, Melinda Bollar. 2006. "Religion in Appalachia" [diversity; characteristics; with suggested readings]. In *A Handbook to Appalachia: An Introduction to the Region*, ed. G. Edwards, J. Asbury, and R. Cox, 181-197. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Weaver, Nikki. 2005. "'Crazy McCall': An Interview with Rev. Delbert McCall" [b. 1946; Cashiers, N.C.]. *Foxfire Magazine* 39 (Fall/Winter): 111-127.

Webster, Gerald R. 2000. "Geographical Patterns of Religious Denomination Affiliation in Georgia, 1970-1990: Population Change and Growing Urban Diversity" [shaded county outline maps]. *Southeastern Geographer* 40 (May): 25-51.

Welch, Janet Boggess. 1999. "Uneven Ground: Cultural Values, Moral Standards, and Religiosity in the Heart of Appalachia." In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 52-72. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

West, John Eric. 2004. "Echoes of a Mountain Preacher: Recalling Laban Richmond of Summers County" [b. 1858; circuit rider]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Fall): 54-59.

Whitaker, Larry. 2004. "Saints, Sinners, and Dinners on the Grounds: The Religious Legacy of the Upper Cumberland" [Ky., Tenn.]. In *Rural Life and Culture in the Upper Cumberland*, ed. M. Birdwell and W. Dickinson, 49-65. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Wigger, John H. 2009. *American Saint: Francis Asbury and the Methodists* [biography; 1745-1816]. New York: Oxford University Press. 543 pp. "Guided the creation of the American Methodist Church," rode horseback 6000 miles per year, and crossed the Allegheny Mountains "sixty times," "preaching daily."

Williams, David S. 2008. From Mounds to Megachurches: Georgia's Religious Heritage. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 219 pp.

Witt, Joseph. 2011. "Case Study: 'Religion' in Appalachian Environmental Struggles." Chap. 3 in *Grounding Religion: A Field Guide to the Study of Religion and Ecology*, ed. W. Bauman, R. Bohannon, and K. O'Brien, 41-46. New York: Routledge. Mountaintop removal mining; W. Va.; discussion questions.

Yeuell, H. Davis, and Marcia Clark Myers. 1999. "The Presbyterians in Central Appalachia." In *Christianity in Appalachia: Profiles in Regional Pluralism*, ed. B. Leonard, 189-207. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

SOCIAL CONDITIONS, SOCIAL LIFE and CUSTOMS

Includes study of values, attitudes, identity, social activism, structure and change; humor; oral history; memoirs; foodways and recipes; festivals and holidays; feuds and domestic violence; Foxfire series; coal camp life; and more

Abbott, Susan. 1997. "Gender, Status, and Values Among Kikuyu and Appalachian Adolescents" [Kenya and Eastern Ky.]. In *African Families and the Crisis of Social Change*, ed., T. S. Weisner, C. Bradley, and P. L. Kilbride, 86-105. Westport, Conn.: Bergin & Garvey.

Accawi, Anwar F. 2002. "Fear" [of persecution; a Lebanese resident of East Tenn.]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 19 (Spring): 9-12.

Adams, Sheila Kay. 2005. "A Real Man's Hands" [memoir: Daddy]. *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 2 (Spring): 65-70.

Adams, Shelby Lee. 1998. *Appalachian Legacy* [photographs; continues 1993 documentary *Appalachian Portraits*]. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 128 pp.

Adams, Shelby Lee. 2003. *Appalachian Lives* [photographs; continues documentaries *Appalachian Portraits* (1993) and *Appalachian Legacy* (1998)]. Introduction by Vicki Goldbert. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 108 pp.

Adams, Shelby Lee. 2011. "Exposures: Of Kentucky." *New York Times Sunday Review*, 13 November, 9(SR). 98 words. Portrait photographer "Shelby Lee Adams captures the people who live in a holler where he was raised in Hazard, Kentucky." Multi media slide show, with 17 captioned images from the author's new book, *Salt & Truth* (2011). http://www.nytimes.com/2011/11/13/opinion/sunday/of-kentucky.html?

Adams, Shelby Lee. 2011. *Salt & Truth*. Richmond, Va.: Candela Books. 125 pp. Eighty new b&w photos comprise Adams's fourth book of empathetic (stereotype-perpetuating?) "environmental portraits" of mountain people, from a hollow in Letcher County, Ky.

Addis, Joshua, and Gladys Addis. 1999. "Canning: Gladys Addis Style" [Ga.; student interview about home canning]. *Foxfire Magazine* 33 (Spring/Summer): 77-80.

Alexander, Jerry L. 2006. Where Have All Our Moonshiners Gone?: A Look at Truths, Half Truths and Plain Out Lies! Seneca, S.C.: J. L. Alexander. 213 pp.

Allen, Robert Howard. 1997. *Simple Annals: 200 Years of an American Family* [Tenn.: poems, short stories, folklore]. New York: Four Walls Eight Windows. 220 pp.

Aller, Joan E. 2010. *Cider Beans, Wild Greens, and Dandelion Jelly: Recipes from Southern Appalachia*. Kansas City, Mo.: Andrews McMeel. 212 pp. 150 recipes, sumptuous color photographs, and local lore.

Alther, Lisa. 2012. *Blood Feud: The Hatfields and the McCoys: The Epic Story of Murder and Vengeance*. Guilford, Conn.: Lyons Press. 286 pp. Contents: Introduction: murderland | The path to Pikeville | Dark and bloody ground | Border states | Hog trial | Montagues and Capulets of the Cumberlands | Pawpaw murders | Devil Anse and the hellhounds | New Year's night massacre | All over but the shouting | "The Hatfields made me do it!" | Survivors | Other feuds | The Corsica of America | The inner hillbilly | Man toys | Epilogue: the Hatfield-McCoy industry | Appendix: "Green are the woods" / by Abner Vance.

Alvarez, Raymond. 2003. "The View from Fairmont: A Century in Postcards" [17 cards reproduced]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Winter): 18-25.

Alvarez, Raymond. 2008. "Chesney's Totem Pole: Tribute to a Fairmont Landmark." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 3 (Fall): 34-39. Pole 24 feet high: carved by Dr. Chesney Ramage, erected 1942, removed 1984.

Alzo, Lisa A. 2006. *Slovak Pittsburgh* [vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Contents: Old Country, New World | Rodina | From cradle to grave | Religion | Education | At work | Those who served | Slovak clusters | Food, folklore, and tradition | Celebrations, events, and festivals.

Amberg, Rob. 2002. *Sodom Laurel Album* [photos of Revere, Madison Co., N.C.; Dellie Norton (1898-1993); tobacco farming]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 192 pp., with 20-track music CD.

American Folklife Center. [2001] 2005. "Tending the Commons: Folklife and Landscape in Southern West Virginia." Library of Congress website; updates the initial 2001 site. http://memory.loc.gov/ammem/collections/tending/essay5.html [718 sound recordings, 1,256 photographs, interactive maps, ten manuscripts, and seven essays including "Landscape and History at the Headwaters of the Big Coal River Valley" (35 pp.), by Mary Hufford].

Amerson, Anne. 2006. *The Best of "I Remember Dahlonega": Memories of Lumpkin County, Georgia*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 127 pp. Articles and interviews; photos.

Ammons, Stacy. 2005. "Rabbits, Bees, and Bears: An Interview with Ervin Chastain" [b. 1923; S.C., Ga.]. *Foxfire Magazine* 39 (Spring/Summer): 70-80.

Anderson, Belinda. 2003. "Bill Dysard of Lewisburg: A 'Real Son of the South" [b. 1909, son of a Confederate veteran]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Fall): 38-43.

Anderson, Belinda. 2003. "Coming Home: The George Hajash Story" [McDowell Co.; profile of seventh of seven brothers inducted to serve during WWII]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Spring): 26-33.

Anderson, Brett, ed. 2012. *Cornbread Nation 6: The Best of Southern Food Writing*. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 297 pp. Fifty essays under six section headings: Messing with

Mother Nature | Southern characters | Southern drinkways | Identity in motion | The global South. Includes "Wendell Berry's Wisdom," by Michael Pollan, 115-118.

Anderson, Colleen. 1998. "A Pawpaw Primer" [horticulture and recipes]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 25 (Spring): 21-25.

Anderson, Colleen. 2006. "The Pepperoni Roll: State Food of West Virginia." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 1 (Spring): 10-14.

Anderson, Robert, and Aaron Crites. 2012. *Parkersburg* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Upper Ohio River town Parkersburg (Wood County) was a leader in the oil and gas industry early in the 20th century.

Andreescu, Viviana, John Eagle Shutt, and Gennaro F. Vito. 2011. "The Violent South: Culture of Honor, Social Disorganization, and Murder in Appalachia" [map; tables]. *Criminal Justice Review* 36, no. 1 (March): 76-103. North and South contrasted; "Using 1990-1992 argument-related homicide data for Appalachian counties and considering the effect of the religious culture."

Anglin, Mary K. 1992. "A Question of Loyalty: National and Regional Identity in Narratives of Appalachia." *Anthropological Quarterly* 65 (July): 105-116. Special issue: Negotiating Identity in Southeastern U.S. Uplands.

Appalachian Humor. 1997. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Spring): 1-40.

Appalachian Lives: Articles, Essays, Fiction, Poetry, and Reviews. 1999. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 16 (Summer): 1-48.

Apple, R. W., Jr. 2003. "Ah, the Sweet Smell of Spring" [annual Ramp Feed, Richwood, W. Va.]. *New York Times*, 30 April, 1(F).

Archer, William R. 2000. *Bluefield* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Archer, William R. 2001. *Mercer County* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Archer, William R. 2005. *McDowell County* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Archer, William R. 2006. *Welch* [W. Va.; McDowell Co.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Arnold, Allen D. 2006. "Burgoo, the Stew" [hunters' stew; annual Burgoo International Cook-Off at Webster Springs, founded 1995]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 1 (Spring): 30-33.

Arnow, Harriette Simpson. [1977] 1996. *Old Burnside* [memoir; Burnside, Ky.]. Rpt. ed. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 152 pp.

Arnow, Pat. 2006. "Southern Theater for Social Change" [The Road Company; Highlander Center; Alternate ROOTS (Regional Organization of Theaters South)]. Chap. 9 in *Radicalism in the South since Reconstruction*, ed. C. Green, R. Rubin, and J. Smethurst, 190-209. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Arthur, Matt. 2006. "From Tobacco Fields to Classrooms" [b. 1934; teacher; Ga.]. Interview by student Jessica Arthur. *Foxfire Magazine* 40 (Spring/Summer): 3-11.

Ashe County Historical Society. 2002. *Ashe County Revisited* [N.C.; vintage photos, largely portraits]. Co-authored by John Houck, Clarice Weaver, and Carol Williams. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Ater, Malcolm. 2006. "You Never Know...': Clarence 'Bones' Wright of Shepherdstown' [four-term mayor; 1940s-1960s; Jefferson Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 4 (Winter): 54-61.

Atkins, Leah Rawls. [1981, 1996] 2000. *The Valley and the Hills: An Illustrated History of Birmingham and Jefferson County* [Ala.]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 192 pp. Originally published: Woodland Hills, Calif.: Windsor Publications.

Atkinson, Janet Frank. 2002. "Pride and Sorrow: Shanksville, Pennsylvania, and the Aftermath of September 11" [crash site, United Flight 93]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Spring): 3-8.

B. B. Maurer West Virginia Folklife Award, 2005: Charles Kenneth "Ken" Sullivan, Writer, Editor, Historian, Humanist [editor, *Goldenseal*, 1979-1997]. 2007. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 10: 31.

Bageant, Joe. 2007. *Deer Hunting with Jesus: Dispatches from America's Class War* [colorful, profane analysis: white working-poor; Va.]. New York: Crown. 273 pp.

Bageant, Joe. 2011. *Rainbow Pie: A Redneck Memoir* [1946-2011; W. Va.]. Victoria, Australia: Scribe Publications. 310 pp. "God-fearing, Obama-hating 'red-staters'....the ones hit hardest by America's bad times....Their 'tough work and tougher luck' story stretches over generations, and Bageant tells it here with poignancy, indignation, and tinder-dry wit." First published, London: Portobello, 2010.

Baggett, James L. 2006. *Historic Photos of Birmingham* [Ala.]. Nashville, Tenn.: Turner Publishing Co. 197 pp. Mostly from turn of the century, including coal and steel mills. See also *Historic Photos of Birmingham in the 50s, 60s, and 70s* (2010), by Jessica L. Barton.

Bailey, Denver. 2012. "Denver Bailey on 'The Wisdom of the Earth and Goodness of the Soul'" [Asheville, N.C.]. Interview by John Huie. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 46-48. Huie is former director of the North Carolina Outward Bound School.

Bailey, Kenneth R. 1997. "Off the Job: A Brief Look at Recreation in the New River Coal Fields" [W. Va.]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 11-12, 1997, Glade Springs Resort, Daniels, West Virginia,* 80-89. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Bailey, Kenneth R. 1998. "Alive to the Work': West Virginia State Board of Embalmers, 1899-1933" *West Virginia History* 57: 47-76.

Bailey, Louise Howe. 2005. *Remembering Henderson County: A Legacy of Lore* [N.C.; local history newspaper columnist]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 142 pp.

Bailey, Louise Howe. 2010. *Historic Henderson County: Tales from Along the Ridges* [N.C.]. Compiled by Terry Ruscin and Joe Bailey. Foreword by Robert Morgan. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 128 pp.

Bailey, Richard S. 2008. "Paul Whiteman Recalls Early Days in Bridgeport" [b. 1909]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 2 (Summer): 18-23.

Bailey, Richard S. 2010. "I Wish I Could Go Back': A Visit with Peter Henderson of Marion County" [b. 1915; interview]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 4 (Winter): 54-61. Recalls tough work in the clay mines and factories of the Hammond Fire Brick Company. "The Empire State Building…was built with our brick."

Bailey, Richard S. 2011. "Arden: Willie Nestor Recalls Life in a Barbour County Town" [b. 1929, Philippi]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 2 (Summer): 43-47. Badger Coal Company.

Baker, Katie. 2011. "Bread and Butter Pickles: A Green Southern Treat." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 30-31. Tennessee family tradition, and recipe.

Baldwin, Juanitta. 2007. *Smoky Mountain Tales: True and Tall* [anecdotes; b. 1927]. Kodak, Tenn.: Suntop Press. 148 pp.

Ball, Bo. 2002. "Early Hunger" [vivid childhood memories and hardships; 1940s-50s]. *Appalachian Heritage* 30 (Winter): 33-40.

Ball, Bo. 2003. "Appalachian Christmases" [memoir]. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Summer): 78-84.

Ball, Bo. 2003. "Two Appalachian Towns" [memoir; 1940s-50s Russell Co., Va.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Winter): 7-14.

Ball, David. 2010. *Ground Hog Dinner* [memoir; stories; poems; b. 1930s Barbour Co., W. Va.]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain. 163 pp.

Ball, Donald B. 1997. "Types of Early Grave Decoration in Middle Tennessee" [Pioneer; Box; Comb; limestone and shale]. *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 58 (no.3): 117-127.

Ball, Donald B. 1999. "Continuity and Change in Traditional Material Culture: Notes on a Poured Concrete Gravehouse in Middle Tennessee." *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 59 (no. 2): 69-75.

Ball, Randy, and Rodney Ferrell. 2009. *Rogersville* [Tenn.; Hawkins County seat]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 96 pp. Historic and contemporary photos juxtaposed.

Ballam, J. D. 1999. *The Road to Harmony: An Appalachian Childhood* [1970s Western Md. in Catoctin and South Mountain country]. Ebrington, Gloucesterhire, England: Long Barn Books. 192 pp.

Banker, Mark. 1996. "Unraveling the Multicultural Riddle: Clues from Southern Appalachia and Hispanic New Mexico." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Fall): 277-298.

Barker, Garry. 1999. "Descended From Dan'l, Davy, and the Devil Himself" [attributes of a mountain man]. *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Winter): 25-27.

Barker, Garry. 2008. *Head of the Holler. Volume 1*. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 149 pp. Collected newspaper columns; humor, folkways, Ky.

Barkey, Fred. 1997. "According to Miss Alice: A Farm Girl Recalls Coal Town Life" [interview with Alice Cassady, b. 1904; southern W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Spring): 33-39.

Barnett, Bob. 2010. "Rise and Fall of the Newell Park Zoo." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 2 (Summer): 26-32. Hancock Co., 1906-1912, founded by Homer Laughlin China Co.

Barnett, C. Robert. 2010. *Growing Up in the Last Small Town: A West Virginia Memoir* [b. 1943; Newell, W. Va.; Hancock Co.]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 252 pp.

Barnett, Janice. 2009. "The Tao of Cornbread" [cooking]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25, no.1 (Spring/Summer): 24-27.

Barnwell, Tim. 2001. "Portraits for the Heart: Images of Western North Carolina" [60 duotone photos of mountaineers; 1980s Madison Co.; brief oral histories]. In *May We All Remember*

Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina, Vol. 2, ed. R. S. Brunk, 178-213. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services, Inc.

Barnwell, Tim. 2003. *The Face of Appalachia: Portraits from the Farm* [100 duotone photos with brief oral histories; 1980s Madison Co., N.C.]. New York: W.W. Norton. 157 pp.

Barnwell, Tim. 2007. On Earth's Furrowed Brow: The Appalachian Farm in Photographs [100 black & white photos; with oral histories]. Foreword by John Ehle. New York: Norton. 224 pp.

Bartlett, Larry. 2000. "Doodle Was a Tough Old Bird" [humor; pet rooster's disposition; 1940s Vienna, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Summer): 66-67.

Bartoletti, Susan Campbell. 1997. *Growing Up in Coal Country* [anthracite region; immigrants; adolescent audience]. Boston: Houghton Mifflin. 127 pp.

Barton, Jessica L. 2010. *Historic Photos of Birmingham in the 50s, 60s, and 70s*. Nashville, Tenn.: Turner Publishing Co. 206 pp. See also *Historic Photos of Birmingham* (2006), by James L. Baggett.

Basile, Victor A., and Judy Prozzillo Byers. 2011. *Italians in West Virginia* [vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Contents: Almost Heaven, West Virginia | Work and disaster | Americanization and political activism | Leisure, travel, and ethnic advancement | Family | Church and religion | The Italian American festive spirit today.

Bass, S. Jonathan. 2008. "'How 'bout a Hand for the Hog': The Enduring Nature of the Swine as a Cultural Symbol in the South." In *Southern Cultures: The Fifteenth Anniversary Reader*, ed. H. Watson and L. Griffin, 371-388. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Battlo, Jean. 1998. *McDowell County: In West Virginia and American History* [18th century to 1929]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 510 pp.

Battlo, Jean. 2003. Pictorial History of McDowell County, 1858-1958: From Rural Farms to Coal Kingdom [W. Va.]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 557 pp.

Battlo, Jean. 2004. "I Am in a Swell Place Now': Early McDowell County Postcards" [12 photo view cards described]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Winter): 18-23.

Battlo, Jean. 2005. "Jones Mansion: The Checkered History of a McDowell County Landmark" [coal baron's house; crime; murders]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 2 (Summer): 52-57.

Battlo, Jean. 2011. "Run Down to Gianato's': Kimball Memories" [McDowell Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 1 (Spring): 40-43. Gianato's general store, a local landmark in Kimball since 1918. Sidebar on Kimball World War I Memorial, pp. 44-45, recognizing the contribution of black residents to the war effort.

Battlo, Jean. 2011. *Kimball, West Virginia, 1911-2011*. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 141 pp. McDowell County coal and railroad town.

Batz, Bob. 2011. "Salt Rising Bread: Two Women Are Bringing Back the Regional Specialty in Greene County" [Pa.; Rising Creek Bakery and Cafe]. *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*, 3 November, 1(E). 2,768 words. http://www.post-gazette.com/stories/sectionfront/life/salt-rising-bread-two-women-are-bringing-back-the-regional-specialty-in-greene-county-322204/#ixzz2WPhCmvFi.

Bauman, Russell, and David Callenback. 1999. "Through the Eyes of 'Lightnin'" [Chechero, Ga.; extended interview with storyteller Callenback, b. 1958, on childhood hardships]. *Foxfire Magazine* 33 (Fall/Winter): 101-119.

Bauman, Russell, and J.C. Stubblefield. 1998. "J.C.'s Story" [Rabun Co., Ga.; oral history interview with Stubblefield, b. 1914]. *Foxfire Magazine* 32 (Fall/Winter): 153-160.

Bean, Heather Ann Ackley. 1998. "Kitchens" [an outsider envisions traditional Appalachian Ohio farm life through her great-grandmother's cookbook]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25 (Spring): 14-18.

Beasley, Charles A., ed. 1998. *The Voices of Summerlee: Oral Histories of the Life and Times of Summerlee* [Fayette Co., W. Va., coal company town; 1905-1958]. Leesburg, Va.: self-published. 219 pp.

Beattie, L. Elisabeth, ed. 1998. *Savory Memories* [recipes and kitchen recollections from 23 Ky. writers]. Afterword by Jim Wayne Miller, Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 166 pp.

Beers, Paul B. 2011. *City Contented, City Discontented: A History of Modern Harrisburg* [essays]. Harrisburg, Pa.: Midtown Scholar Press. 404 pp. Originally published as 120 columns in the *Harrisburg Patriot* and the *Harrisburg Evening News*, 1983-1984.

Begler, George David. 2007. "Columnist Alyce Faye Bragg" [Charleston Gazette; b. 1931; Clay Co. life]. Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life 33, no. 2 (Summer): 18-24. Sidebar: "My Home" [Jenny Lind house], by Alyce Faye Bragg, 25.

Begley, Grant F. 2009. *Hewn from the Rock*. Lexington, Ky.: Clark Publishing. 179 pp. Eastern Kentucky memoir (Leslie Co.) and tribute to the author's father -- born 1885, school teacher and superintendent, and the first in the county to attend college -- "written in the tradition of Jesse Stuart and Harry Caudill."

Bell, Augusta Grove. 1999. *Circling Windrock Mountain: Two Hundred Years in Appalachia* [Anderson Co., Tenn., local history and biography]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 312 pp.

Bell, Shannon Elizabeth. 2008. "Photovoice as a Strategy for Community Organizing in the Central Appalachian Coalfields." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 14, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 34-

48. Cabin Creek, W. Va.; empowerment; community members were given cameras to record images and give voice to public health issues. Nine images are reproduced.

Bercaw, Nancy, and Ted Ownby, ed. 2009. *Gender*. Vol. 13 of *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 387 pp.

Best, Bill. 1996. "Being of These Hills" [on being Appalachian]. *Appalachian Heritage* 24 (Summer): 16-18.

Best, Bill. 2001. "Phil and David (Twenty-Five Years Later)" [follow-up to 1977 essay on relationship between author's son and elderly, Berea, Ky., neighbor]. *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Winter): 16-25.

Bickel, Robert, Susan Weaver, and Tony Williams. 1997. "Opportunity, Community, and Teen Pregnancy in an Appalachian State" [W. Va. study]. *Journal of Educational Research* 90 (January/February): 175-181.

Bickley, Rah. 2007. "Sam F. Vance, Jr., 'Character-Taker': The Faces of Small-Town and Rural North Carolina, 1930s-1940s" [Forsyth Co.; documentary photo essay]. *Southern Cultures* 13, no. 2 (Summer): 78-94.

Bilger, Burkhard. 2000. *Noodling for Flatheads* [essays on moonshine; catfish; cockfighting; racoon hunting; frogs; marbles; squirrel brains]. New York: Scribner. 253 pp.

Billingsley, Carolyn Earle. 2004. *Communities of Kinship: Antebellum Families and the Settlement of the Cotton Frontier* [Ala., Ark., Tex.]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 215 pp.

Billingsley, Lillie. 2006. "Legends and Tales of Scaly Mountain" [N.C.; b. 1914]. Interview by student Viola Nichols. *Foxfire Magazine* 40 (Fall/Winter): 83-92.

Billingsley, Vaughn. 2003. "Back in the Older Days: An Interview with Vaughn Billingsley" [Depression-era hardships; Ga./N.C.]. Interview by student Lacy Forester. *Foxfire* 37 (Spring/Summer): 53-59.

Birdwell, Michael E., and W. Calvin Dickinson, ed. 2004. *Rural Life and Culture in the Upper Cumberland* [Ky., Tenn.; 17 essays]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 369 pp.

Bishop, Bill. 1999. "A Lesson in Leadership" [of William B. Jones, 1931 Harlan Co., Ky., miner organizer]. *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Summer): 7-9.

Bixler, Marjorie M. 2001. "Our Daily Bread and Butter" [1950s reminiscences of less fortunate tenant-house neighbors; Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Winter): 16-19.

Blackwell, Joshua Beau. 2009. *Used To Be a Rough Place in Them Hills: Moonshine, the Dark Corner, and the New South* [Greenville Co., S.C.]. Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse. 152 pp.

Blake, Jody, and Jeannette Lasansky. 1996. *Rural Delivery: Real Photo Postcards From Central Pennsylvania*, 1905-1935 [200 postcard views of Union Co.]. Lewisburg, Pa.: Union County Historical Society. 136 pp.

Blake, Lisa. 2002. "Captain Pete Grassie and the 'Princess Margy" [Kanawha River sternwheeler captain]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Summer): 10-15.

Blaustein, Richard. 1995. "Scotland, Appalachia, and the Politics of Postmodern Culture." In *Appalachia and the Politics of Culture*, ed. E. C. Fine. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 7: 152-162. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Blevins, Brooks. 2004. "Fireworking Down South" [essay: fireworks]. *Southern Cultures* 10, no. 1 (Spring): 25-49.

Blisard, John. 2000. "Coondog Heaven" 10-17; "What Is a Coondog, anyway?" 18-19 [hunting dog training facility; Kanawha Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Winter): 10-19.

Bliss, Rachael Roberts. 2008. "Intentional Communities Offer Alternative Lifestyle." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 6-11. Communes, co-housing and religious communities, co-ops, ecovillages, and more.

Bodie, Charles A. 2011. *Remarkable Rockbridge: The Story of Rockbridge County, Virginia*. Lexington, Va.: Rockbridge Historical Society. 442 pp. Located at the southern end of the Shenandoah Valley, burial place of Robert E. Lee and Stonewall Jackson, and home to Washington and Lee University.

Bodkins, Steve. 2006. *Bemis & Glady, West Virginia: A History of Two Mountain Towns* [Randolph Co.; biographies; photographs]. Independence, W. Va.: S. Bodkins. 608 pp.

Bodkins, Steve. 2012. Forgotten Towns: Randolph & Pocahontas Counties, West Virginia. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 228 pp. Includes 412 b&w photos and details of the remote towns along the Coal & Iron Railroad from Cheat Junction to Durban, a branch line of the Western Maryland Railroad.

Borda, Ben. 2002. "Just a Good, Clean Life': Ben Borda of Marion County" [Rivesville, W. Va.; Monongahela River town]. Interview by Michael and Carrie Kline. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Winter): 16-21.

Bovey, Ethel Wayble. 2003. *Hometown Memories: Growing Up in Martinsburg, West Virginia*. Martinsburg, W. Va.: Mountain State Publishing. 205 pp.

Bovey, Ethel Wayble. 2004. *Hometown Reflections: Life and Times in Martinsburg, West Virginia*. Martinsburg, W. Va.: Mountain State Publishing. 296 pp.

Bowling, Stephen D. 2010. *Breathitt County* [Ky.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Bowman, Rex. 2008. *Blue Ridge Chronicles: A Decade of Dispatches from Southwest Virginia* [local history anecdotes by a journalist for the *Richmond Times-Dispatch*]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 158 pp.

Boyd, Douglas A. 2011. *Crawfish Bottom: Recovering a Lost Kentucky Community* [oral history memories]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 220 pp. History of a north Frankfort, Ky., neighborhood in a "bad part of town."

Braddom, Randall L., M.D. 2007. *Appalachian Echoes* [biography; 1940s Va. coal town]. Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse. 197 pp.

Bragg, Alyce Faye. 2000. *Homesick for the Hills* [Clay Co., W. Va.; collection of newspaper columns]. Charleston, W. Va.: Mountain State Press. 241 pp.

Bragg, George, and Morgan Bragg. 2007. West Virginia Cold Case Homicides [37 cases; 1904-2003]. Beaver, W. Va.: GEM Publications. 110 pp.

Bragg, Rick. 1997. *All Over but the Shoutin*'. New York: Pantheon Books. 329 pp. "A haunting memoir about growing up dirt-poor in the Alabama hills--and about moving on but never really being able to leave."

Bragg, Rick. 2001. *Ava's Man* [biography of Bragg's maternal grandfather, d. 1958; Ga., Ala.]. New York: Knopf. 304 pp.

Bragg, Rick. 2008. *The Prince of Frogtown*. New York: Knopf. 255 pp. Memoir; father and son; Calhoun County, Ala.

Brand, Marsha S. 2006. "The Taste of Coal" [growing up with coal in Morgantown]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 2 (Summer): 36-37.

Brannon, Charles E. 2012. "Surviving the Great Depression: Our Year on the Farm" [Harrison Co.]. Drawings by Duane Ellifritt. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 1 (Spring): 56-61.

Bray, Berry. 2006. "A Life in the Light of the Mountains: An Interview with Berry Bray." Interview by students Cody Brown and Phillip Marsengill. *Foxfire Magazine* 40 (Fall/Winter): 138-147.

Breedlove, Nick, and Lynn Hotaling. 2009. *Jackson County* [N.C.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 96 pp. Created 1851, and home to Western Carolina University.

Brewster, Kathy Webb. 2003. "Coal Fires and Memories" [1960s Buffalo Creek coal camp house, Logan Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Winter): 38-39.

Brill, James Samuel. 2009. *The Store Memories of the Peoples Store and Supply*. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 56 pp. 1930s Marlinton, W. Va.; first published as a series of articles in the Pocahontas [Co.] Times.

Britten, Kenneth. 2002. *Beaver Falls: Gem of Beaver County* [Pa.]. The Making of America Series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 160 pp. History of this Upper Ohio Valley manufacturing town.

Brooks, Carmen. 2006. "Cooter Stew: A Southern Appalachian Family Tradition" [snapping turtle recipe and preparations]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 68-70.

Brosi, George. 2010. "This Side of the Mountain" [commentary on positives of "The Jamie Oliver Food Revolution," ABC-TV mini-series set in Huntington, W. Va.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 3 (Summer): 8-9. In negative contrast there is lax, corporate-lobby-influenced government regulation: USDA and school lunches; Upper Big Branch, W. Va., mine disaster; and the Gulf (of Mexico) Oil Spill.

Brosi, George. 2012. "A Tribute To Carl Oglesby (1935-2011)." *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 1 (Winter): 8-9. Brosi draws a portrait of Oglesby, writer, professor, president of Students for a Democratic Society (SDS), and worker for social justice, with parallels to his own life during the 1960s-70s.

Brown, Fred, and Juanita Blair. [1984] 2007. *Days of Anger, Days of Tears: The History of the Rowan County War* [Ky. feud of 1884-1887; Carter Co.; Weatherford Award nominee]. 2nd ed. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 248 pp. Originally published: Morehead, Ky.: Pioneer Printing Service.

Brown, James Seay, Jr., ed. [1982] 1997. *Up Before Daylight: Life Histories from the Alabama Writers' Project, 1938-1939.* Reprint, with a foreword by Wayne Flynt. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 280 pp.

Brown, Les. 1998. "Loops and Fireworks" [Christmas fireworks traditions and other pyrotechnics at North Cove, N.C.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 26 (Winter): 48-51.

Brown, Morris. 2006. "Maybe We Can Call It Foxfire: An Interview with Morris Brown" [85-year-old former educator and coach, Rabun Gap, Ga.; early Foxfire program]. *Foxfire Magazine* 40 (Fall/Winter): 105-115.

Browne, Marla, Ellen Lohmeyer, Cassie Robinson, and Jinny Turman, ed. 2000. *Appalachia: Ways of Seeing, Ways of Knowing* [class project, published; oral history interviews, poetry, fiction; 25 papers]. With guidance from Drs. Patricia Beaver and Helen Lewis. Boone, N.C.: Appalachian State University. 121 pp.

Bruffey, Jean. 2012. "The Girl From Ireland" [Lewis Co.; memoir; b. 1926]. As told to Jodi Murthy. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 4 (Winter): 36-39.

Brunk, Robert S., ed. 1997. *May We All Remember: A Journal of the History and Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 1 [18 essays; detailed index]. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services Inc. 287 pp.

Brunk, Robert S., ed. 2001. *May We All Remember: A Journal of the History and Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 2 [16 essays; detailed index]. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services, Inc. 384 pp.

Brunn, Stanley D., and Thomas H. Appleton, Jr. 1999. "Wet-Dry Referenda in Kentucky and the Persistence of Prohibition Forces" [shaded county relief maps]. *Southeastern Geographer* 39 (November): 172-189.

Brush, Dorothy Copus. 2005. "On Our Minds: Columns by Dorothy Copus Brush" [reprinted from *Crossville* (Tenn.) *Chronicle*; local history; national Columnist of the Year, 2004]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 21, no. 1 (Spring): 17-19.

Bryant, Georgia Gordon. 2000. "How I Came to the Thorn Street Diner" [1950s Princeton, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Spring): 34-38.

Buck, Pem Davidson. 2001. Worked to the Bone: Race, Class, Power, & Privilege in Kentucky. New York: Monthly Review Press. 279 pp.

Bullard, Stephan G., Bridget J. Gromek, Martha Fout, Ruth Fout, and Point Pleasant River Museum. 2012. *The Silver Bridge Disaster of 1967* [photo retrospective]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Forty-six people died in the collapse of this Ohio River bridge linking Point Pleasant, W. Va. and Gallipolis, Ohio. Bibliography, and list of victims.

Bumgardner, Stan. 2006. *Charleston* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. Postcard History Series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Bumgardner, Stan. 2007. "Quiet Dell Murders: West Virginia's Crime of the Century" [1931; Harrison Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 3 (Fall): 54-59. Sidebar: "It Was the Talk of the Town': Russell Davisson Recalls the Quiet Dell Murders," interview by John Lilly, 60-61.

Burch-Brown, Carol, photographs; and David Rigsbee, text. 1996. *Trailers* [mobile home subculture; Montgomery Co., Va.]. Charlottesville: University Press of Virginia. 112 pp.

Burdette, Cody A. 2006. "Out on the Trail': Tales of a Mail Rider" [20-mile route on horseback; 1930s Clay Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 4 (Winter): 46-51.

Burns, Shirley L., Shaunna L. Scott, and Deborah J. Thompson, section editors. 2006. "Family and Community" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 149-197 (with introductory essay, 149-154). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Burrison, John A. 2007. "Books on Southern Folk Culture" [bibliography listing over 200 books on: Music and Song; Architecture, Crafts, and Food; Storytelling, Beliefs, Customs, Speech, and Surveys]. In *Roots of a Region: Southern Folk Culture*, by J. Burrison, 217-226. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi.

Burrison, John A. 2007. *Roots of a Region: Southern Folk Culture* [Upland South emphasis; oral tradition; food; religion; architecture; music; crafts; jug-pottery; Georgia folklife]. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 236 pp.

Butko, Brian. 2001. *Klondikes, Chipped Ham & Skyscaper Cones: The Story of Isaly's* [dairy chain empire beloved to Southwestern Pennsylvanians]. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole. 100 pp.

Byers, Judy P., John H. Randolph, and Noel W. Tenney. 1999. *In the Mountain State: A West Virginia Folklore and Cultural Studies Curriculum*. Charleston, W. Va.: West Virginia Humanities Council; Buckhannon, W. Va.: Mountain State Printing Company. 1 vol., looseleaf.

Byrd, Mary Lou Brown. 1998. "The Burning Fork General Store and Post Office" [Ky.; reminiscences]. *Appalachian Heritage 26 (Spring): 52-55*.

Campbell, Larry. 2003. "Warm Mornings in Clay County" [b. 1943; memories of grandparents' farm]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Winter): 32-37.

Cantrell, Peggy J. 1994. "Family Violence and Incest in Appalachia." In *Appalachian Adaptations to a Changing World*, ed. Norma Myers. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 6: 39-47. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Carder, Patricia Byrnside. 2012. "Waterborne: River Work in the Winter" [Putnam Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 4 (Winter): 24-29. Captain Vernon Byrnside barged coal and other materials on the Ohio River for over 40 years.

Carlberg, Howard, Marvin Carlberg, and Patricia L. Stephens. 2009. *Berea* [vintage photos: Berea, Ky.; Berea College]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Carlisle, Fred. 2000. "The Woman Who Stayed and the Man Who Left: A Story of the Mountains" [1920s-30s Clover Hollow, Va., reminiscence]. *Appalachian Heritage* 28 (Winter): 13-20.

Carlisle, Fred. 2001. "The 1892 Givens Home Place: The Fate of a Mountain Farm" [Newport, Va.; history told by Caroline Givens, b. 1923]. *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Fall): 21-32.

Carlisle, Fred. 2006. "Fitting In: Outsiders in a Rural Mountain Community" [academic migrants create a homestead in Clover Hollow, Newport, Va.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 1 (Spring): 30-33, 46-47.

Carney, William A., Jr., and Brent E. Carney. 2003. *Wheeling in Vintage Postcards* [W. Va.; pictorial retrospective]. Images of America. Columbia, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Carney, William A., Jr., and Brent Carney. 2003. *Wheeling* [W. Va.; pictorial retrospective]. Images of America. Columbia, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Carpenter, Jerry. 2006. "Tressie Dale Smith: More Than a Lunch Lady to Me" [b. 1918; cook for the Kanawha Co. school system]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 1 (Spring): 20-23.

Carpenter, Leroy. 2009. "A Second Generation Raconteur." Interview by Alex Owens. *Foxfire Magazine* 43, no. 3-4 (Fall/Winter): 20-26. Born 1946; Scaly, N.C.; Rabun County schools; farming.

Carter, Clyde William, Rev. 2002. *Life on Chaney Creek* [memoir; 1915-2002; Dante, Va., bordering Russell and Dickenson Cos.; photos]. Edited by Kathy Shearer. Emory, Va.: Clinch Mountain Press. 96 pp.

Carter, Marie. 2007. "Sacks, Clothes, Quilts: The Many Uses of Cotton" [interview; Rabun Co., Ga.]. *Foxfire Magazine* 41 (Fall/Winter): 36-40.

Casto, James E. 2001. *Cabell County* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Casto, James E. 2006. *The Chesapeake and Ohio Railway* [Va., W. Va.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Caudill, Delbert R. 2005. *Watermelon Hill* [Lawrence Co., Ky.; boyhood memories of 1940s-50s farm; Levisa Fork of the Big Sandy River, near Louisa]. Florida?: D.R. Caudill. 152 pp.

Cayton, Andrew R. L. 2002. *Ohio: The History of a People* [commissioned for the state's bicentennial]. Columbus: Ohio State University Press. 472 pp.

Chafin, Andrew. 2003. *Growing Up in Bloody Mingo, West Virginia* [1950s coming-of-age]. Bowie, Md.: Heritage Books. 126 pp.

Chafin, Andrew. 2008. *Russell County* [Va.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Chandonnet, Ann. 2010. *The Pioneer Village Cookbook: Reliable Receipts & Curious Remedies*. Asheville, N.C.: Native Ground Books & Music. 168 pp.

Cheek, Thomas Coy. 2003. "The Secret to a Long and Happy Life: An Interview with Thomas Coy Cheek" [b. 1913, Franklin Co., Ga.]. Interview by student Jessica McKay. *Foxfire Magazine* 37 (Fall/Winter): 122-137.

Chico, Charles. 2009. *Morgantown West Virginia in the Past* [photo retrospective; home to West Virginia University]. Fairmont, W. Va.: Fairmont Printing Co. 212 pp.

Clark, Amy D., ed. 2011. *Success in Hill Country* [Va.; oral history interviews of successful people]. Wise, Va.: Napoleon Hill Foundation. 168 pp. Contents: Welcome to hill country | Success in sports | Successful writers | Success in business | Success in education | Success in medicine | Living a grandfather's legacy | Applying Napoleon Hill's principles in your own life | Questions to inspire your success story.

Clark, Amy. 2010. "Signs" [account of 2008 tornado; Big Stone Gap, Wise Co., Va.]. In *Motif: Come What May, an Anthology of Writings about Chance*, ed. M. Worthington, 202-205. Louisville, Ky.: Motes Books.

Clark, Mary Lee. 2012. "I Remember When..." [b. 1939; Rabun Co., Ga.]. Interview by students Brandi Allen and Kelsey Henry. *Foxfire Magazine* 46, no. 1-2 (Spring/Summer): 49-58. Coming of age in the 1950s.

Clemins, Jonathan D. 2010. *West Virginia Penitentiary* [Moundsville, W. Va.; vintage photos]. Mt. Pleasant, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Infamous institution constructed in 1866.

Cobb, Hazel, and Wanda Holbrooks. 2007. "Family Legends." Interviewed by Nikki Weaver, great-granddaughter and granddaughter of the authors. *Foxfire Magazine* 41 (Spring/Summer): 16-27.

Cobbs, Bill. 1995. *The Piney Woods Philosopher* [collection of weekly newspaper columns; southwest Va. characters]. Johnson City, Tenn: Overmountain Press. 247 pp.

Coffey, Lynn. 2009. *Backroads: Plain Folk and Simple Livin*' [Va.; Blue Ridge Mountains]. Charlottesville, Va.: Quartet Books. 265 pp. Contents: John Massie Coffey -- Butchering hogs -- Rendering lard -- Digging ginseng -- Mountain recipes -- Ethna Fauber Seaman -- Signs and superstitions, remedies, and cures -- Chair caning -- Making a kraut mallet -- Homemade sauerkraut -- Oscar Randolph Fitch -- Churning butter -- Beekeeping -- Foxfire -- The Love Post Office -- Early mountain schools -- Diary of a mountain schoolteacher -- Later schoolteachers -- Teressie Fitzgerald Coffey -- Riving wooden shingles -- Burial practices -- Grave digging -- Handmade coffins -- Preserving fruits and vegetables -- Guy Willard Hewitt -- Horsepower on the family farm -- Spring sheep shearing -- Rural route carriers -- Sallie Rittenhouse Phillips -- Logging in western Virginia -- The Blue Ridge Parkway -- Poem: Backroads.

Coffey, Lynn. 2010. *Backroads 2: The Road to Chicken Holler* [Va.]. Charlottesville, Va.: Quartet Books. 227 pp. Contents: Doris Giannini Hamner -- Grist mills -- Cornmeal recipes -- Quilting -- Making old-fashioned lye soap -- Hansford Clinton Hite -- Boiling down pon hoss -- Mountain churches -- River baptizing -- Sorghum -- Dowsing for water -- Wild edibles -- Morel

mushroom hunting -- Pickling beets -- Plain folk & simple livin' -- Ethel Inez Small Hughes -- Midwives and home births -- Apple butter boiling -- Mountain music -- Cooper trade -- Raymond Ralph Fitzgerald -- Bear hunting -- Women who hunt -- Wild game recipes -- Driving cattle -- Evelyn Campbell Painter -- Maude and Lertie -- Fitzgerald Lumber Company -- Lora Burgess Ramsey Coffey -- Poem : Mama's mama.

Coffey, Lynn. 2011. *Backroads 3: Faces of Appalachia*. Charlottesville, Va.: Quartet Books. 294 pp. Photos; recipes. Thirty-six biographical stories and vignettes of traditional life and customs in Va.'s Blue Ridge Mountains. See also the author's *Backroads: Plain and Simple Livin'* (2009), and *Backroads 2: The Road to Chicken Holler* (2010).

Cogar, H. R. 2010. "William Holly Griffith: West Virginia Desparado" [1892-1971]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 3 (Fall): 40-47. Murderer and escapee; Moundsville penitentiary.

Coggeshall, John M. 1996. *Carolina Piedmont Country* [S.C.]. Folklife in the South Series. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 271 pp.

Cohen, Allen, and Ronald L. Filippelli, comps. 2003. *Times of Sorrow & Hope: Documenting Everyday Life in Pennsylvania During the Depression and World War II: A Photographic Record*. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 265 pp. Based on photographs made by a team of photographers employed by the U.S. Farm Security Administration and the U.S. Office of War Information.

Cohen, John. 2001. *There Is No Eye: John Cohen Photographs* [includes 1950s-60s duotone photos of mountain faces and settings]. New York: PowerHouse Books. 199 pp.

Cohen, Stan, and Andre, Richard. 1987-2001. *Kanawha County Images* [W. Va.]. Vols. 1 and 2 [v.1. Bicentennial History, 1788-1988]. Charleston, W. Va.: Published jointly by Pictorial Histories Publishing Company and Kanawha County Bicentennial, Inc.

Cohenour, Charles. 2004. "The Murder of Snowden Crane" [1927 Greenbrier Co.; wealthy recluse; murder mystery]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Fall): 62-67.

Cole, J. Timothy. 2008. *Chimney Rock Park and Hickory Nut Gorge* [N.C.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Cole, Pam B. 1995. "Southwest Virginia High School Graduates: Crossing Cultural Terrains in the University Setting." In *Appalachia and the Politics of Culture*, ed. E. C. Fine. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 7: 121-130. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Cole, Samantha. 2011. "Guy Mendes" [Featured Photographer; profile]. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 2 (Spring): 108-108. Nineteen of Mendes's images of Ky. faces and settings illustrate this issue.

Coles, Robert. [1968] 1998. "Life in Appalachia" [excerpt, reprinted from the book *Migrants, Sharecroppers, Mountaineers* (Little, Brown, 1971)]. *Society* 35 (January/February): 50-58.

Collingsworth, Steward. 2003. My Heart's in the Highlands: The Story of a Public School Teacher in Appalachia [1920s-90s; Claiborne and McMinn Cos., Tenn.]. New York: Vantage Press. 167 pp.

Collins, Kaye Carver. 2009. "Doin' the Best with What We Had: The Carver Family." Interview by Clarissa Speed and Stephanie Dunlap. *Foxfire Magazine*, 43 no. 3-4 (Fall/Winter): 52-67. Rabun County, Ga., school teacher and former Foxfire student; moonshine business.

Collins, Maxon B. 2002. "Berlin: Boyhood Memories in Lewis County" [b. 1910]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Winter): 29-33.

Collins, Tina Rae. 2001. "Dark Shadows" [1960s recollections of domestic abuse; Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Winter): 22-25.

Collins, Wanda. 2010. "Christmas Apples" [1964]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 4 (Winter): 62-63. Elderly tenants and a bag of red apples at the Whitehall Hotel, Harrisville, Ritchie County.

Compton, G. C. 2001. "Long Live the Appalachian Funeral." *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Winter): 4-7.

Compton, G. C. 2002. "North to River Rouge" [darkly humorous memories of 1965 Detroit]. *Appalachian Heritage* 30 (Winter): 44-51.

Comte, Julien. 2010. "Let the Federal Men Raid': Bootlegging and Prohibition Enforcement in Pittsburgh" [1920-1933]. *Pennsylvania History* 77, no. 2 (Spring): 166-192.

Conkin, Paul K. 2000. A Requiem for the American Village [b. 1929; eminent historian includes recollections of his East Tenn. boyhood]. Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield. 207 pp.

Connell, Claud. 2006. "The Woodwright': An Interview with Claud Connell" [b. 1935; Franklin, N.C.]. Interview by student Samantha Fountain. *Foxfire Magazine* 40 (Fall/Winter): 93-103.

Conner, William Fox. 1995. *Memory's Glass*. Blacksburg, Va.: Pocahontas Press. 152 pp. Autobiographical essays, 1950s Botetourt County, Va.

Conserving Appalachia. 1996. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 13 (Spring): 1-40.

Cook, Samel R., and Betsy Taylor, ed. 2001. "Education in the Appalachian Coal Belt." Special issue, *Practicing Anthropology* 23, no. 2 (Spring): 1-32. Includes the following articles: "Introduction: What Regional Studies Can Contribute to Applied Anthropology," by Betsy

Taylor and Samuel R. Cook; "Putting Anthropology to Work to Preserve Appalachian Heritage," by Mary LaLone; "'You Have a Culture to Preserve Here, But We Have a Power Line to Stop': University/Community Study of Cultural Attachment to Place," by Melinda Bollar Wagner and Kristen L. Hedrick; "A Vested Interest: Activist Anthropology in the Mountaintop Removal Debate," by Samuel R. Cook; "Partners, Neighbors, and Friends: The Practice of Place-Based Education," by Talmadge A. Stanley and Stephen L. Fisher; "A Place-Based University? The Land-Grant Mission in the 21st Century," by Betsy Taylor; "Striking the Forest Coeval: Fieldwork at the Site of Clashing Social Imaginaries," by Mary Hufford.

Cook, Virginia. 2008. "89 Years in the Coalfields: A Satisfying Life in Wyoming County." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 1 (Spring): 48-53. Memoir, b. 1918, Mullens, W. Va.

Cooper, Deborah Adams. 2011. *Letcher County* [Ky.; photo retropective]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Cooper, John. 2005. "Young Days on our Stone Lick Farm" [Gilmer Co.; 1920s-30s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 1 (Spring): 24-29.

Cooper, Leland R., and Mary Lee Cooper, comps. 2001. *The People of the New River: Oral Histories from the Ashe, Alleghany and Watauga Counties of North Carolina*. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 5. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 296 pp.

Cooper, Leland R., and Mary Lee Cooper. 1998. *The Pond Mountain Chronicle: Self-Portrait of a Southern Appalachian Community* [Ashe Co., N.C.; 32 interviews]. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 2. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 240 pp.

Cornett, Tim. 2009. *Bell County, Kentucky: A Brief History* [site of the Cumberland Gap, "Gateway to the West"]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 158 pp. Contents: Early residents -- Walker enters Kentucky -- Walden, Finley and Boone -- The Wilderness Road -- Early settlements -- Kentucky becomes a state and Cumberland Ford -- The Civil War and the tragedy of Cumberland Ford -- Josh Bell County formed -- Cumberland Ford thrives and Middlesborough begins -- Mining and railroads come to the county -- Pineville incorporated -- Middlesborough: tent city to magic city -- Boom and then bust -- Surviving the bust and the first legal hanging -- Coal creates new boom -- Growth continues -- Mine accidents and economic woes -- Improving roads and the last hanging -- World war brings another boom -- Education improves in the '20s -- Hollywood comes to Bell County and the first park is created -- The Crash, Kettle Island mine disaster and union trouble -- The Depression, a female sheriff and chaining the rock -- Battle of Fork Ridge and world war -- Tragedy and disaster -- On to fame and fortune -- Radio stations and national park -- Broadform deeds and strip mining -- Rhodes, Yeary and Job -- Flood and floodwall -- Closing the twentieth century.

Cox, Connie Loraine. 2005. *Our Place in History: Southwestern Preston County, West Virginia* [narrative history; photos]. Terra Alta, W. Va.: Headline Books. 288 pp.

Crane, Kim Harper. 2007. Legacy of Love: These Are My Thoughts: A Collection of Short Stories from the Mountains of West Virginia [50 articles originally published in The Pendleton Times, Franklin, W. Va.]. Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse. 102 pp.

Cramer, Jennifer Abraham. 2012. "Oral History and Recovering a Vanished Kentucky Neighborhood" [Frankfort]. *Ohio Valley History* 12, no. 1 (Spring): 84-88. Review essay of *Crawfish Bottom: Recovering a Lost Kentucky Community*, by Douglas A. Boyd (University Press of Kentucky, 2011).

Crisp, Michael. 2012. *Murder in the Mountains: The Muriel Baldridge Story*. Georgetown, Ky.: Remix Publications. 196 pp. Revisits the unsolved 1949 slaying of a 17-year-old high school cheerleader in Prestonsburg, Floyd County, Ky.

Crissman, James K., and Kelly L. Kandra. 2010. "Kinnie Wagner: Southwest Virginia Badman" [1903-1958]. *Southern Quarterly* 48, no. 1 (Fall): 71-80. Discusses the criminal's exploits, recorded in a number of folk ballads.

Crissman, James K. 1994. *Death and Dying in Central Appalachia: Changing Attitudes and Practices*. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 247 pp.

Crockett, Maureen. 2006. "Flummery and Purslane: Food and the Great Depression." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 1 (Spring): 24-29.

Crookshanks, Ben. 2008. "Making Whiskey in Greenbrier County." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 2 (Summer): 58-62; sidebar review of three books on distilling, 63. Transcript of author's father's description, 1930s-40s.

Crow, Peter. 2007. *Do, Die, or Get Along: A Tale of Two Appalachian Towns* [Dante and Saint Paul, Russell Co., Va.; oral histories of 26; race, strip mining, Pittston strike of 1989-90]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 220 pp.

Crutchfield, Bethany A. 2002. "Family Memories" [Lewis Co.]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 8: 27-29.

Curry, C. A. 2004. *The Williams: A Historical View and Other Pocahontas Memories* [Williams River, Pocahontas Co., W. Va.]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 157 pp.

Dabney, Joseph E. 1998. *Smokehouse Ham, Spoon Bread, and Scuppernong Wine: The Folklore and Art of Southern Appalachian Cooking*. Nashville: Cumberland House. 493 pp.

Dadisman, Jo Ann Danks, ed. 2010. *Glimpses of Gladesville: A Village Remembers*, vol. 1 [Preston Co., W. Va.]. Independence, W. Va.: Gladesville Community Association. 146 pp. Collected local history accounts of early businesses and families, plus newspaper stories dating back to the nineteenth century.

Dadisman, Jo Ann Danks, ed. 2011. *Glimpses of Gladesville: A Village Remembers*, vol. 2 [Preston Co., W. Va.]. Independence, W. Va.: Gladesville Community Association. 158 pp. More engaging local history stories of a bygone era -- many by *Preston County Journal* columnist Fred S. Rogers, arranged by topics: churches, schools, community life.

Dadisman, Jo Ann Danks, ed. 2012. *Glimpses of Gladesville: A Village Remembers*, vol. 3, *Supplement: A Collection of Gladesville Obituaries* [Preston Co.]. Independence, W. Va.: Gladesville Community Association. 200 pp., unnumbered. Alphabetical arrangement of approximately 600 residents.

Dadisman, Jo Ann Danks, ed. 2012. *Glimpses of Gladesville: A Village Remembers*, vol. 3 [Preston Co.]. Independence, W. Va.: Gladesville Community Association. 130 pp. Contents: 1: Community Cemeteries | 2. Strawberry Festival (1959-1988) | 3. Families.

Dailey, Stanford. "On Your Own: The 'Chucky Clan' Living off the Grid" [cabin-in-the-woods community; Unicoi Co., Tenn.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 1 (Spring): 9-11.

Daugherty, George. 2001. "'A Good People Doing a Good Thing': Pinch Reunion Reaches 100" [Kanawha Co.; historic annual Elk River community reunion]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Summer): 44-51.

Davis, Anita P., and Barry E. Hambright. 2003. *Chimney Rock and Rutherford County* [N.C.; pictorial retrospective]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Davis, Anita Price, and Barry E. Hambright. 2003. *Chimney Rock and Rutherford County* [N.C.; pictorial retrospective]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Davis, Donald Edward. 2000. The Land of Ridge and Valley: A Photographic History of the Northwest Georgia Mountains. Images of America. Columbia, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Davis, Donald. 2005. *Mama Learns to Drive* [young teen audience]. Little Rock, Ark.: August House. 120 pp. Biography; 1950s rural N.C.; eight childhood reminiscences.

Davis, Donald. 2011. *Tales from a Free-Range Childhood* [biographical, b. 1944; N.C., Haywood Co.]. Winston-Salem, N.C.: John F. Blair. 239 pp. Contents: Watch the baby | Too much hair | Golf tees | Go look it up! | Little critters | Boys are smarter? | The little rat | Responsible | "Watch where you step!" | Pimento cheese | Something up her sleeve | The octopus | Nothing works but her mouth | Broken bones | Two red coats | The last whooping | The ducktail | Braces | The new old car | Irrational fear.

Davis, Dorothy Bell. 2011. *Salem, West Virginia, 1776-1976* [Harrison Co.]. Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse. 149 pp. Local history columns from *The Salem Herald*, 1976-77.

Davis, F. Keith. 2011. *Logan County* [W. Va., vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp. Named for Mingo Chief Logan and home to the "feuding" Hatfields, the 1921 Battle of Blair Mountain, and the deadly 1972 Buffalo Creek Flood.

Davis, Hattie Caldwell. 1999. *Reflections of Cataloochee Valley and Its Vanished People from the Great Smoky Mountains* [Haywood Co., N.C.; 1834-1934 local history]. Maggie Valley, N.C.: H.C. Davis. 304 pp.

Davis, Joel. 1998. "Of Possums & Papaws" [catching and cooking possum]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25 (Spring): 12-13.

Davis, Nadine. 2011. "The Way It Was: Memories of Glenna Harrah Weaver" [b. 1910; Kanawha Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 4 (Winter): 48-51. Childhood antics, anecdotes, and hardships of the author's grandmother, one of nine children.

Davis, Rachelle. 2002. "Nickels and Dimes in Parsons" [Long's Store, since 1924]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Fall): 37-44.

Davis, Robert Scott, Jr. 1995. *Pickens Past: A Photographic History of Pickens County, Georgia*. Roswell, Ga.: Wolfe Publishing. 148 pp.

Davisson, Lucille Kemper. 2007. "Springtime in Plaugher Hollow" [b. 1922; Grove, W. Va.; family farm life, 1920s-40s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 1 (Spring): 18-25.

Deaton, Ion. 2008. *Tales from Appalachia's Ionic One* [b. 1931]. Philadelphia, Pa.: Xlibris. 247 pp. Breathitt County, Ky.; 1930s-40s boyhood to electrical engineer career.

Dellinger, Elaine McAlister, and Kiesa Kay. 2011. *Yancey County* [N.C.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

DeRosier, Linda Scott. 2000. "Celebrating the Ordinary: Why Common Folk Should Write Memoir" [by Ky. author of *Creeker: A Woman's Journey* (1999)]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 98 (Spring): 139-153.

DeRosier, Linda Scott. 2002. "Songs of Life and Grace: *Creeker*—And Then Some" [c. 1999; preface to *Songs of Life and Grace* (2003); individuals' conflicting versions of "memory"/biography]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 100 (Summer): 273-277.

DeRosier, Linda Scott. 2003. *Songs of Life and Grace* [b. 1941; Ky. and W. Va. coal camp memories; follows the author's notable 1999 memoir, *Creeker: A Woman's Journey*]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 228 pp.

Dewey, Susan. 2011. Neon Wasteland: On Love, Motherhood, and Sex Work in a Rust Belt Town [upstate N.Y.]. Berkeley: University of California Press. 258 pp.

DiBacco, Jerry. 2005. "Night of Raging Waters: Parsons and the 1985 Flood" [Cheat River; 47 fatalities; Nov. 4]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 3 (Fall): 14-22. Sidebar, "Saving Pauline," 23.

Dickinson, W. Calvin. 2004. "Radical Hillbillies: Socialism in Tennessee" [Rugby; Highlander; Cumberland Homesteads]. In *Rural Life and Culture in the Upper Cumberland*, ed. M. Birdwell and W. Dickinson, 211-226. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Dingess, Sue, and Ericka Bain. 2005. "The Best of Times by Far': A Visit with Sue Dingess of MacDunn" [b. 1941; coal camp youth; Fayette Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 2 (Summer): 46-49. Sidebar: "MacDunn and the 1934 Train Explosion" [boiler; 18 dead], 50-51.

Dodd, Paul. 2002. *The Gospel According to a Mountain Momma* [1950s W. Va. strictures and nostalgia]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 141 pp.

Dorsey, James Edward. 2009. *The History of Hall County, Georgia: Volume Two, 1900-1945*. Gainesville, Ga.: Magnolia Press. 520 pp. See also, *Volume One, 1818-1900* (1991).

Dotson, Jeannie. 2007. "My Daddy's Kiss" [memoir; coal miner father]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 2 (Spring): 81-85.

Dotson-Lewis, B. L. 2004. *Appalachia: Spirit Triumphant: A Cultural Odyssey of Appalachia* [collected personal stories, articles, essays; W. Va. coalfields]. West Conshohocken, Pa.: Infinity Publishing. 261 pp.

Dotter, Earl. 2008. "Coalfield Generations: Health, Mining, and the Environment: Earl Dotter, Photographer" [photo-essays; W. Va., Ky.; from 1968]. *Southern Spaces*, 16 July. Contents: Introduction | Town Life | Health Issues and Healthcare | Working at the Mines | Mining and the Environment | Recommended Resources. http://southernspaces.org/2008/coalfield-generations-health-mining-and-environment.

Douglas, John. 2011. "The Redhead Murder Case: An Unsolved Mystery from 1950" [Berkeley Springs, Morgan Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 3 (Fall): 24-29. Strangle victim, still unknown, slayer unknown.

Douglas, Joseph C. 2007. "Localism, Familism, and Shifting Uses of the Underground Environment: Woodlee Cave and Dry Cave, Tennessee" [Grundy Co.; moonshine]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 79: 20-40.

Dowdy, Lee. 2002. "Leaving the Hills" [1950 W. Va. memoir; Air Force recruitment]. *Appalachian Heritage* 30 (Spring): 44-47

Duffy, Sean, and Paul Rinkes. 2010. *Wheeling: Then and Now* [W. Va., vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 95 pp.

Duffy, Sean. 2012. *The Wheeling Family, Volume 2: More Immigrants, Migrants and Neighborhoods*. Wheeling, W. Va.: James Thornton, Wheling History. 316 pp.

Dyk, Patricia Hyjer, and Stephan M. Wilson. 1999. "Family-Based Social Capital Considerations as Predictors of Attainments among Appalachian Youth" [10 year study; 463 subjects]. *Sociological Inquiry* 69 (Summer): 477-503.

Earley, Tony. 1998. "The Quare Gene" [Polk Co., N.C.; customs; food; language]. *New Yorker*, 21 September, 80-82, 84-85.

Edelman, Foy Allen. 2005. "Coming Together at the North Carolina Table: A Sampling of Tar Heel Recipes and Stories" [incl. interviews from Avery ("roast bear"), Yancey, Forsyth (apple varieties) Cos., and Qualla Boundary]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 52, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 12-49.

Edge, John T. 2000. *Southern Belly: The Ultimate Food Lover's Companion to the South* [unique restaurants, by city: ten states]. Athens, Ga.: Hill Street Press. 270 pp.

Edge, John T. 2007. "White Trash Cooking, Twenty Years Later" [by Ernest Matthew Mickler, 1986; rejection by The New Yorker]. Southern Quarterly 44, no. 2 (Winter): 88-94.

Edge, John T., ed. 2007. *Foodways*. Vol. 7 of *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 310 pp.

Edwards, Martin. 1997. "A Humorist from Appalachia" [Kentuckian Carl Hurley]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Spring): 9-11.

Egerton, John. [1983] 2003. *Generations: An American Family* [Ledford family of Lancaster, Ky., mid-1700s to 1980s]. Reprint, with a new afterword and updated family tree. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 358 pp.

Egerton, John, ed. 2002. *Cornbread Nation 1: The Best of Southern Food Writing*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 260 pp. Fifty essays and poems including pieces by Nikki Giovanni, Rick Bragg, Robert Morgan, and Fred Chappell.

Eldridge, Vicki, Lisa Mack, and Eric Swank. 2006. "Explaining Comfort with Homosexuality in Rural America" [attitudes; Central Appalachia; multivariate analysis of 123 college students]. *Journal of Homosexuality* 51, no. 2: 39-56.

Elie, Lolis Eric, ed. 2004. *Cornbread Nation 2: The United States of Barbecue*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 283 pp. Forty-four essays and poems celebrating barbeque cookery, mostly Southern but with some Appalachian overlap, including pieces by Jeff Daniel Marion, Linda Parsons Marion, and Fred Sauceman.

Elkins, Ken. 2005. *Picture Taker: Photographs by Ken Elkins* [Ala.]. Foreword by Rick Bragg. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 106 pp.

Ellis, Jack D. 2005. *Kentucky Memories: Reflections of Rowan County 1856-2006* [Morehead, Ky.]. Sesqui-Centennial ed. Ashland, Ky.: Mountain Press. 448 pp.

Ellis, Jack. 2001. *Morehead Memories: True Stories from Eastern Kentucky*. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 591 pp.

Elrod, Preston, Irina R. Soderstrom, and David C. May. 2008. "Theoretical Predictors of Delinquency in and out of School among a Sample of Rural Public School Youth" [Ky.]. *Southern Rural Sociology* 23, no. 2: 131-156. http://www.ag.auburn.edu/auxiliary/srsa/pages/TOCs/vol23-2.htm.

Encyclopedia of West Virginia. 1999. St. Clair Shores, Mich.: Somerset Publishers. 404 pp.

Engelhardt, Elizabeth S. D. 2003. "Literature of the Social Crusaders: Letters to 'Civilization'" [circa 1890-1923; Pettit, Stone, Furman, Campbell, et al.]. Ch. 3 in *The Tangled Roots of Feminism, Environmentalism, and Appalachian Literature*, 59-100. Series in Ethnicity and Gender in Appalachia. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Engelhardt, Elizabeth S. D. 2011. *A Mess of Greens: Southern Gender and Southern Food*. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 265 pp. Contents: Whose food, when, and why?: longing for corn and beans -- Moonshine: drawing a bead on Southern food and gender -- Biscuits and cornbread: race, class, and gender politics of women baking bread -- Canning tomatoes: growing "Better and More Perfect Women" -- Will work for food: mill work, pellagra, and gendered consumption -- Cookbooks and curb markets: wild messes of Southern food and gender -- Market bulletins: writing the mess of greens together.

Engle, Roger. 2012. *Stories from a Small Town: Remembering My Childhood in Hedgesville, West Virginia* [1948-1964]. Martinsburg, W. Va.: Girls on Press. 207 pp.

Estep, Janet. 2008. "The Joy of Flying: Squire Haynes and the Rainelle International Airport" [1917-2005]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 2 (Summer): 24-28. Airport built on Little Sewell Mountain, 1963.

Estill, Bill. 1999. "Back Home in Kentucky" [brief childhood memories of Hillsboro, Ky., farm]. *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Winter): 78-79.

Everson, Hobart. 2007. "Schoolboy and the Blizzard" [1941 Barbour Co.; seven-mile walk home in a winter storm]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 4 (Winter): 58-59.

Ewald, Wendy. 2000. Secret Games: Collaborative Works With Children, 1969-1999 [documentary children's photos from six cultures, including "Kentucky, 1975-1982"]. Zurich; New York: Scalo. 333 pp.

Ewen, Lynda Ann, and Julia A. Lewis. 1999. "Buffalo Creek Revisited: Deconstructing Kai Erikson's Stereotypes" [*Everything in its Path* (1976); W. Va. flood]. *Appalachian Journal* 27 (Fall): 22-45.

Facemire, Glen. 2009. *Having Your Ramps and Eating Them Too* [life cycle; recipes; medicinal aspects]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 144 pp.

Faires, Granville. 2007. "Southern Raisin" [b. 1935; Lauderdale Co., Ala., traditional life]. Interview by student April Argoe. *Foxfire Magazine* 41 (Spring/Summer): 50-68.

Family Matters. 2006. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 1 (Spring): 1-64.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 1995. *Headwaters*. Blacksburg: Pocahontas Press. 82 pp.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 1995. *Table Talk: Appalachian Meals and Memories*. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 261 pp.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2003. "Chicken and Dumplings" [memoir; recipe]. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Summer): 74-75.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2003. "Shuck Beans" [history, memoir, recipe]. *Appalachian Heritage* 31 (Fall): 59-60.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2004. "Dried Apple Stack Cake" [memories, recipe]. *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Fall): 65-67.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2004. "Heavenly Jams and Jellies" [brief memories]. *Appalachian Heritage* 32 (Summer): 59-60.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2005. "A Collection of Pound Cakes" [eight recipes]. *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 2 (Spring): 76-78.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2005. "Old Cookie Recipes" [six recipes]. *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 1 (Winter): 58-61.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2005. "Poor Man's Fruitcake and Ginger Biscuits" [recipes]. *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 4 (Fall): 65-67.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2005. "Summertime Medley" [four traditional dessert recipes; Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 33, no. 3 (Summer): 76-78.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2006. "Fried Pies, Chess Pie and Egg Custard Pie" [recipes]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 4 (Fall): 75-77.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2006. "Honey Bees, Birch Sap and Candy" [memoir]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 2 (Spring): 85-88.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2006. "Taking a Turn of Corn to the Gristmill" [Recipes and Recollections: Buttermilk Corn Bread]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 2 (Spring): 84-85.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2006. "Traditional Life on Straight Creek Eighty Years Ago" [Bell Co., Ky.; Gritted Cornbread recipe]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 1 (Winter): 104-106.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2007. "Bitter and Sweet Persimmons" [recipe, persimmon pudding]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 4 (Fall): 95-96.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2007. "Lye Soap Is Certainly No Lie" [memoir]. *Appalachian Heritage* 35, no. 2 (Spring): 88-89.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2008. "Coltsfoot, Spring Peepers, and New Potatoes" [signs of spring]. *Appalachian Heritage* 36 no. 2 (Spring): 76-78.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2008. "Psychological Bridges and a Christmas Jam Cake" [recipe]. *Appalachian Heritage* 36, no. 4 (Fall): 86-88.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2009. "Poke Sallet" [with two recipes]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 2 (Spring): 64-65.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2009. "Recipes from James Still" [Beer Bread; Strawberry Spread; Quick Lemon Pie]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 1 (Winter): 58-59.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2009. "White Bean Soup and Other Recipes" [Crackle Top Molasses Cookies; Seven-Up Apple Cobbler]. *Appalachian Heritage* 37, no. 3 (Summer): 74-75.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2010. "Cocoa Gravy" [memoir; recipe]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 2 (Spring): 71.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2010. "Hickory Chickens" [morel mushrooms; memoir]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 3 (Summer): 91-92. "Because they taste like chicken and grow near hickory trees."

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2010. "Momma's Winter Recipes" [Snowcream, and Homemade Hominy]. *Appalachian Heritage* 38, no. 1 (Winter): 69-70.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2011. "Winter Snacks and Games" [memoir]. *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 1 (Winter): 80-81.

Fausset, Richard. 2006. "A County of Bad Ol' Boys; Bootlegging, Brothels, Cockfights and Chop Shops. Guilty Sheriffs and Federal Investigations. This Slice of Tennessee has Earned Its Image" [Cocke Co.]. *Los Angeles Times*, 27 October, A1. 2165 words. Reprinted in

Appalachian Journal 34, no. 2 (Winter 2007): 142-146, titled "When Perdition Is Your Tradition."

Feather, Carl E. 1999. "The Milk Had to Get Through: Home Delivery in Tucker County" [1930s-40s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Spring): 26-31.

Feather, Carl E. 2001. "The Honeymoon's Over: Selling Souvenirs on U.S. Route 50" [Mineral Co.; Doll's Honeymooners, landmark gift shop, closes; interview]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Spring): 20-26.

Feather, Carl E. 2003. "Friendly Spirits at the Sportsman's Club" [100-year-old tavern, Tucker Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Fall): 58-63.

Feather, Carl. 2003. "Go See Sonny': Hedrick's Store in Hendricks" [general store; Tucker Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Spring): 44-51.

Feather, Carl E. 2005. "Mayor' Ivan Gorby of Bowman Ridge" [b. 1914; Marshall Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 2 (Summer): 58-65.

Feather, Carl E. 2005. "Rosbys Rock: No More, No Less" [controversial 1933 town-naming; Marshall Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 4 (Winter): 46-53.

Feather, Carl E. 2005. "The Executioner's Story: Bob Harness and the Moundsville Pen" [prison guard, 1947-54]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 3 (Fall): 38-43.

Feather, Carl E. 2006. "Redeeming the 'Real' Crum" [town on the Tug Fork River, and setting for Lee Maynard's novel *Crum* (1988, 2001)]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 2 (Summer): 62-66. Sidebar, "*Crumb: The Novel*: Why All the Fuss?," 67.

Feather, Carl E. 2006. "Still Standing in Tucker County: Sonny Lansberry Carries On" [73, one-legged, independent]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 2 (Summer): 56-61.

Feather, Carl E. 2007. "'I Just Have the Memory': Wilma Shriver and Her Farm" [married. 1931; Monongalia Co.; 243-acre farm]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 1 (Spring): 26-31.

Feather, Carl E. 2007. "Mail Time in Glady: Calvin Shifflett and His Post Office" [Randolph Co.; b. 1933]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 2 (Summer): 58-64. Sidebar: "Peter Shaver's Grave" [settler, scalped 1781, after whom Shavers Fork River and mountain are named], 65.

Feather, Carl E. 2008. "'I'm a Walking Miracle': Jim Davis of Cunningham Run." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 4 (Winter): 45-51. Harrison County; 74-year-old wood carver and scrap-metal sculptor, poet, harmonica player weight lifter, motorcycle rider.

Feather, Carl E. 2008. "A Shop for Sore Eyes in St. Marys." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 1 (Spring): 62-63. Pleasants County; Bill's Antiques and Collectibles.

Feather, Carl E. 2008. "Character Farm in Morgan County." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 2 (Summer): 66-67. George Farnham of Unger and his collection of fiberglass advertising figures.

Feather, Carl E. 2008. "The Jones Diamond: Mixed Blessings for a Peterstown Family." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 4 (Winter): 18. Monroe County; "The odds are staggering: The couple who held the world record for the most consecutive male births – 16 – also owned the Peterstown property on which was found the largest alluvial diamond ever discovered in the United States."

Feather, Carl E. 2010. "Harsh Reunion: 'A Friendly Bunch of Customers'." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 2 (Summer): 54-59. One-hundredth Harsh family reunion of descendants of German settlers, held at Horse Shoe Run, Preston County.

Feather, Carl. 2010. "Ramp Sunday at Mount Grove." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 1 (Spring): 62-63. Annual ramps [pungent wild leek tuber] dinner festival; Preston/Tucker Co. line.

Feather, Carl E. 2010. "The Most Busiest Man': Tom Knotts of Fellowsville." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 2 (Summer): 60-65. Tom's Auto Parts doubles as a community gathering spot and coffee shop in Preston County.

Feather, Carl E. 2011. "Coleman's Fish: A Great Catch in Wheeling." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 2 (Summer): 30-36. Coleman's family-owned fish market and restaurant, started in 1914.

Feather, Carl E. 2011. "Dwar Cooper's Chain Saw Shop in Harmon" [Randolph Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 1 (Spring): 68-69.

Feather, Carl E. 2011. "Sharp's Store: 100 Years of Nostalgia in Pocahontas County" [landmark general store in Slatyfork]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 2 (Summer): 59-65.

Feather, Carl E. 2011. "Shave and a \$6 Haircut in New Martinsville." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 4 (Winter): 60-61. Profile of Tyler County native Ray Mossor, b. 1924, barbering since 1947.

Feather, Carl E. 2012. "Fair Dealing': Richardson's Hardware in Marlinton." *Goldenseal:* West Virginia Traditional Life 38, no. 1 (Spring): 38-43. "...the store's heyday was 1910 to the mid-1930's, when it supplied many of the logging camp operations."

Feather, Carl E. 2012. "Antiques and Memories in Pendleton County." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 4 (Winter): 64-65. Profile of Greg Ehrhart's "Duffy's Mountain Man Antiques" shop between Judy Gap and Franklin.

Feather, Carl E. 2012. "Drive-In Nights at Franklin" [Pendleton Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 2 (Summer): 66-67. Outdoor movie screen, since the 1950s.

Feather, Carl E. 2012. "Sweet Repose in Bartow" [Pocahontas Co.; historic inn]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 4 (Winter): 10-17. Located at the foot of Cheat Mountain in the Greenbrier River Valley, Abraham Lincoln, Stonewall Jackson, and Ambrose Bierce were among the notables who slept at Travelers' Repose, built in 1838.

Feather, Carl E. 2012. "Wheeling & Dealing in Wheeling" [Yocum's Antiques]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 1 (Spring): 62-63.

Feely, Michael. 2012. "Whose Appalachia Is It Anyway" [Chattanooga, Tenn.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 58-59. "For many...there is a legacy of broken promises and exclusion." Discusses social change; the Progressive Movement; the deaconess movement of the Methodist Episcopal Church; and the Highlander Center of Newmarket, Tenn.

Feher, Al. 2009. "Touring Life in Lynch, Kentucky" [b. 1924; coal miner; Hungarian; Depression; WWII; UMWA]. Interview by Richelle Coalley. *Foxfire Magazine* 43, no. 1-2 (Spring/Summer): 11-27.

Feldstein, Albert L. 2006. *Allegany County* [western Md.]. Postcard History Series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Feldstein, Albert L. 2006. *Garrett County* [western Md.]. Postcard History Series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 p.

Feller, John W. 2001. *Memories and Photos of Mullens, West Virginia. Volume 5, 1942-1946.* Beckley, W. Va.: Central Printing Company. 420 pp.

Felton, Tom. 2005, "Fleetie Belle': Adventures of a Tucker County Milk Truck" [1940s-50s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 1 (Spring): 18-23.

Felton, Tom. 2006. "Tales from the Cells: Recalling the Tucker County Jail" [1895-1985; Parsons, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 3 (Fall): 42-47.

Fichtner, Wiliam S. 2008. *My Side of the River: Stories of Evansdale and Beyond from the Late '20s On*. Morgantown, W.Va: Populore. 125 pp. Monongalia Co., W. Va., local history, anecdotes, portraits.

Fields, Truman. 2006. "Strip Mining Comes to Big Creek" [1947 Ky.; from a forthcoming memoir]. *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 4 (Fall): 67-73.

Fields, Truman. 2009. *Remembering the 40's: In the Heart of Appalachia* [Perry Co., Ky.]. Foreword by Loyal Jones. Bloomington, Ind.: Authorhouse. 331 pp.

Figgatt, Mary Cordelia Riffee. 2008. West Virginia Farm Stories: From the Early Nineteen Hundreds [b. 1904; Putnam County; anecdotes]. Charleston, W. Va.: Mountain Memories Books. 141 pp.

Finch, Richard C. 2004. "Ashes to Ashes: Burial Upper Cumberland Style" [Ky., Tenn.; comb graves, stones, markers]. In *Rural Life and Culture in the Upper Cumberland*, ed. M. Birdwell and W. Dickinson, 66-72. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Fine, Elizabeth. 1998. Review essay of *A Space on the Side of the Road: Cultural Poetics in an 'Other' America*, by Kathleen Stewart (Princeton University Press, 1996). *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 4 (Spring): 153-159.

First Person Appalachia: The Personal Essay Issue. 2002. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Summer): 1-44 [essays by Cathy Lentes, Rita A. Mariotti, Joseph Sobol, Jim Minick, Barclay Franklin, Barbara Weddle, Martha Wolfe, Les Brown, Deana Steiner Smith, John O'Brien, and Silas House].

Fish, Margaret, Martin J. Amerikaner, and Conrae J. Lucas. 2006. "Dispelling the Stereotypes: Rural Appalachian Mothers Talk About Physical Punishment" [child rearing; interviews with seventy low-income rural Appalachian mothers; tables]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 12, no. 1 (Spring): 26-39.

Fisher, Steve. 2008. "Community Organizers." *Appalachian Journal* 35, no. 3 (Spring): 254-258. Review essay of *We Make Change: Community Organizers Talk About What They Do–And Why*, by Kristin Layng Szakos and Joe Szakos (Vanderbilt University Press, 2007).

Fisher, Stephen L., and Barbara Ellen Smith, ed. 2012. Transforming Places: Lessons from Appalachia [community activism; 20 new essays by 45 scholars and activists]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 336 pp. "Using the concept of place as their conceptual lens, Fisher and Smith weave together a series of diverse case studies of grassroots resistance to present a rich tapestry of citizen action in an increasingly globalizing world." -- John Gaventa. Royalties from sales of the book will go to the Appalachian Community Fund. Contents: PART I: GO TELL IT ON THE MOUNTAINS: PLACE, IDENTITY, AND CULTURE -- Stop the bombs: local organizing with global reach / Ralph Hutchison -- RAIL solution: taking on Halliburton on the home front / Rees Shearer -- This land is your land: local organizing and the hegemony of growth / Nina Gregg, Doug Gamble -- Identity matters: building an urban Appalachian movement in Cincinnati / Phillip J. Obermiller, M. Kathryn Brown, Donna Jones, Michael E. Maloney, Thomas E. Wagner -- Appalachian youth re-envisioning home, re-making identities / Katie Richards-Schuster, Rebecca O'Doherty -- Resistance through community-based arts / Maureen Mullinax -- PART II: WHERE NO ONE STANDS ALONE: BRIDGING DIVIDES --Organizing Appalachian women: hope lies in the struggle / Meredith Dean, Edna Gulley, Linda McKinney -- The Southern Empowerment Project: homegrown organizing gone too soon / Jane

Rostan, Walter Davis -- Center for participatory change: cultivating grassroots support organizing / Craig White, Paul Castelloe, Molly Hemstreet, Yaira Andrea Arias Soto, Jeannette Butterworth -- Faith-based coalitions and organized labor: new forms of collaboration in the twenty-first century? / Jill Kriesky, Daniel Swan -- Talking union in two languages: labor rights and immigrant workers in east Tennessee / Fran Ansley -- PART III: CLIMBING JACOB'S LADDER: SCALING UP -- Virginia organizing: the action is at the state level / Joe Szakos, Ladelle McWhorter -- OxyContin flood in coal fields: "searching for higher ground" / Sue Ella Kobak -- Not your grandmother's agrarianism: The Community Farm Alliance's agrifood activism / Jenrose Fitzgerald, Lisa Markowitz, Dwight B. Billings -- Mountain justice / Cassie Robinson-Pfleger, Randal Pfleger, Ryan Wishart, Dave Cooper -- Who knows? Who tells? Creating a knowledge commons / Anita Puckett, Elizabeth Fine, Mary Hufford, Ann Kingsolver, Betsy Taylor -- North and South: struggles over coal in Colombia and Appalachia / Aviva Chomsky, Chad Montrie -- Conclusion: transformations in place / Barbara Ellen Smith, Stephen L. Fisher.

Fisher, Terri L. 2008. *Pearisburg and Giles County* [Va., vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Giles County was formed in 1806, is home to 37 miles of the New River, and shares a border with W. Va. counties Mercer, Summers, and Monroe.

Fisher, Terri L. 2011. *Giles County* [Va.; vintage photos]. Then & Now series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 95 pp. Adjacent to the Pulaski-Radford-Blacksburg corridor.

Fisher, Terri L., and Kirsten Sparenborg. 2011. *Lost Communities of Virginia*. Earlysville, Va.: Albemarle Books. 250 pp. "...documents thirty small communities...that have lost their original industry, transportation mode, or way of life. Using contemporary photographs, historical information, maps, and excerpts of interviews." Grouped under seven chapter headings, including: "Farming Communities," "Resource Extraction Towns," and "Company Towns."

Flanagan, Robert. 2012. *Lesser Bits, Greater Pieces*. Charleston, W. Va.: Mountain State Press. 374 pp. Selected columns by the author, 2001-2006, from the *Hampshire* [County] *Review*, Romney, W. Va.

Fleishman, Tamar Alexia. 2007. "Roadkill Cook-Off: You Ate What?!?" [September, Marlinton, Pocahontas Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 3 (Fall): 62-65.

Folmar, John Kent. 2005. *Drifting Back in Time: Historical Sketches of Washington and Fayette Counties*, *Pennsylvania, Including the Monongahela River Valley* [42 newspaper articles]. California, Pa.: Yohogania Press. 240 pp.

Food in Appalachia: Articles, Essays, Poetry, and Reviews. 1998. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 15 (Spring): 1-40.

Foodways [recipes, stories, poetry, memories]. 2009. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25, no.1 (Spring/Summer): 1-88. Contents: Antidote to Agendas / Roberta Herrin -- Editor's Notebook / Fred Sauceman -- I am the skillet [poem] / Nancy Jane Earnest -- Cherokee strawberry bread ga-du tsa-la-gi a ni [plus recipe] / Pamela Courtney --

Betting the farm [Greeneville, Tenn.] / Amanda Rigell -- Everything old is new again / Sarah Thomas -- Ramp talk / Michael Joslin -- An unlikely source of flour [Jack-in-the-Pulpit] / Renee McNeely -- Kitchen table / Jessie van Eerden -- Pear salad for Christmas / Margaret Carr -- What the groundhog knows: city girl meets horseradish / Margaret Nava -- Poke [poem] / R.T. Smith --The Henderson County Curb Market at eighty-five / Elizabeth Engelhardt -- The Tao of cornbread / Janice Barnett -- Pickling corn: a primer / Anita Shell -- Cove Creek gritty bread [plus recipe] / Susan Shelton -- Down by the old mill stream: Now & Then visits three historic mills / Stephen Newton -- Beans get around / Bill Best -- Between the rows with both hands: bean-picking in Northeast Tennessee / Margaret Carr -- A paean to pork / Elizabeth Sims -- A Southwest Virginia pig pickin' [plus recipe for Mamaw Dorcas' Slaw] / Amanda Aubrey ---Lessons from an Appalachian stockyard: coal served as dietary supplement for pigs / David Ramey -- A breakfast platter / Randy Sanders -- Trout farming on Hump Mountain: the livelihood of Mike Cable [Elk Park, N.C.] / Patrick Loven -- Nourishing miners and dodging the USDA: West Virginia'a pepperoni roll links Italy and Appalachia / Fred Sauceman -- The cabbage roll queen of Southwestern Pennsylvania [plus recipe: Josephine Gresko's Stuffed Cabbage Rolls] / Miriam Rubin -- History in a bun [Greek hot dog stands; Birmingham, Ala.] / Amy Evans -- Grapico: Birmingham's house wine / Amy Evans -- Eating Eierdach [Swiss; Tenn., recipe] / Sherry Hamilton -- The Stoney Creek Primitive Baptist Associational Meeting and dinner on the ground [Tenn.] / Martha Whaley -- "Cheese Salad" for the professor [pimento; recipe] / Martha Whaley -- Dinner on the ground: a secular version, with fried potatoes on the Roan [Roan Mountain, East Tenn.] / Susan Shelton -- Platters and permanence walk and talk aplenty at Spartanburg's Beacon [Beacon Drive-In] / Susan Shelton -- Beans all the way [Bean Barn, Greeneville, Tenn.] / Joel Waddell -- A discriminating palate [Corbin, Ky.; Knoxville, Tenn.] / Julia Watts -- Seeking the sweet life on the state line [Bristol, Va.; Loudy Candy Co.] / Lisa Elliott -- Peppermint [poem] / Michael McFee -- Squished biscuits and a birthday cake for baby Jesus: the food-filled life of Carsie Lodter / Renee McNeely -- Building a life and a community around the candy jar [recipe: Granny's Chocolate Fudge] / James Watson -- At the old-time jamboree [poem] / Kory Wells -- Cooking the down home blues [bluesman Wallace Coleman] / Wayne Winkler -- Radio, biscuits, and corn bread ["King Biscuit Time"] / Wayne Winkler.

Ford, Darlene, and others. 2000. *Taylor County* [W. Va.; photo retrospective]. Prepared for the Taylor County Historical and Genealogical Society. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Forester, Candi Dahl. 1998. "Mountaineer Festival: Looking Back" [oral history; 1960s Rabun Co., Ga.]. *Foxfire Magazine* 32 (Fall/Winter): 83-99.

Forester, Lacy. 2005. "Ruby's Reminiscences: An Interview with Ruby Mae Miller Cheek" [b. 1916; Franklin Co., Ga.; large family, farm life]. *Foxfire Magazine* 39 (Spring/Summer): 21-33.

Forsyth County: 1849-1999 [N.C.; photo essays]. 1998. Images of America. Dover, N.H.: Arcadia Publishing. 128 pp.

Fosl, Catherine, and Tracy Elaine K'Meyer. 2009. Freedom on the Border: An Oral History of the Civil Rights Movement in Kentucky. Kentucky Remembered series. Lexington: University

Press of Kentucky. 309 pp. The authors "gather the voices of more than one hundred courageous crusaders for civil rights, many of whom have never before spoken publicly about their experiences. These activists hail from all over Kentucky."

Fox, Bob. 2005. Moving Out, Finding Home: Essays on Identity, Place, Community, and Class [b. 1943; Ohio farm life; Brooklyn; memoir; mortality]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 179 pp.

Fox, John. [1901] 1994. *Blue-Grass and Rhododendron: Out-Doors in Old Kentucky*. Reprint, with a foreword by Wade Hall. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 294 pp.

Foxfire 11: The Old Homeplace, Wild Plant Uses, Preserving and Cooking Food, Hunting Stories, Fishing, and More Affairs of Plain Living. 1999. Edited by Kaye Carver Collins, Lacy Hunter, and Foxfire students. New York: Anchor Books. 313 pp.

Foxfire 12: War Stories, Cherokee Traditions, Summer Camps, Square Dancing, Crafts, and More Affairs of Plain Living. 2004. Edited by Kaye Carver Collins, Angie Cheek, and former Foxfire students. New York: Anchor Books. 560 pp.

Foxfire 40th Anniversary Book: Faith, Family, and the Land. 2006. Edited by Angie Cheek, Lacy Hunter Nix, and Foxfire students. New York: Anchor Books. 512 pp. Contents: What is Foxfire? -- Foxfire: A History -- Forty years of Foxfire: a partial timeline -- A Foxfire portrait: Aunt Arie Carpenter -- Words from the wise: Our beloved contacts -- God -- The Bible -- Church -- Faith healing -- Everyday miracles -- The holy land -- Heaven -- The devil -- The end times -- Family times -- Chores -- Clothes -- School -- Games and toys -- Parties -- Holidays -- Recipes -- Relationships -- Doctoring -- Money -- Beauty secrets -- Advice -- Longevity -- Acquiring land -- Selling land -- Mills -- Logging -- Free range or open range -- Farming -- The Mountains -- Country living.

Foxfire 45th Anniversary Book: Singin', Praisin', Raisin'. 2011. Edited by Joyce Green, Casi Best, and Foxfire students. New York: Anchor Books. 508 pp. Contents categories: Banjo ringing loud and clear, mountain music in the air: introduction -- "People will forget our past if it isn't recorded": Foxfire's history -- A beautiful day: in the good ol' days -- Knoxville girl: crime close to home -- Barbara Allen: tales and legends -- Echoes: mountain music fills the air -- Daddy was a farmer: school farm families -- With his own hands: we'll tell you how -- The past meets the present: a closing letter from Foxfire President Ann Moore -- Experiencing traditional music: southeastern bluegrass and gospel festivals.

Fraley, Jill M. 2007. "Walk Along My Mind: Space, Mobility, and the Significance of Place." *Humanity and Society* 31, no. 2-3 (May-Aug): 248-259. Appalachian investment in the land and sense of place vs. mainstream culture social and spatial mobility.

Francis, Irv E. 2005. *About Dreams and Memories on the Old Farm* [b. 1931]. Bloomington, Ind.: Author House. 360 pp. Details of rural life, Marshall County, W. Va.

Free, Maudeen. 2007. "A Well-Lived Life: An Interview with Maudeen Free" [b. 1925, Rabun Gap, Ga.]. By Nathan Wayne. *Foxfire Magazine* 41, no. 1-2 (Spring/Summer): 3-15.

Freeman, Lud. 2002. "My Early Days in Lost Creek" [b. 1923; Harrison Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Fall): 30-36.

French, Laurence Armand. 2008. *An Oral History of Southern Appalachia*. Lewiston, N.Y.: Edwin Mellen Press. 198 pp. 1970s-collected life histories of N.C. Cherokees, whites, and blacks.

Fulks, Danny. 1995. *Tales Along the Appalachian Plateau* [southern Ohio]. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press.

Fulks, Danny. 2003. *Tragedy on Greasy Ridge: True Stories from Appalachian Ohio* [1930s-40s Gallia and Lawrence Cos., memoirs]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 220 pp.

Fulks, Danny. 2006. *Tick Ridge Faces the South: True Stories, Memories Rare Photos from Appalachia & the South* [anecdotes: Ky., Ohio, W. Va.]. Ashland, Ky.: Mountain Press. 169 pp.

Fulks, Danny. 2011. "No Sweat." *Southern Cultures* 17, no. 3 (Fall): 39-47. Essay on daily life in 1930s-1940s Rattlesnake Ridge, Ky. including WWII, music, food, women.

Furbee, Jack Wayne. 2012. *Growing Up Appalachian: In the Van Camp Community of Wetzel County, West Virginia* [b. 1934; memoir and details of rural life, 1930s-50s]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 282 pp.

Furbee, Mary Rodd. 1997. "Making Jam from Sour Grapes: Anna Lee Terry and Her Mountain Cookbook" [herbalist]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Winter): 54-62.

Gaillard, John. 2007. "Those Were the Good Ol' Days" [b. 1920; Newry, S.C.; mill town boyhood]. Interview by student Anna Phillips. *Foxfire Magazine* 41 (Fall/Winter): 43-52.

Galer, Eilleen Gardner. 1997. *Appalachian Folks: Tales of a Bygone Era* [N.C., W. Va.]. Edited by H. Donald Kroitzsh. Plymouth, Vt.: Five Corners Publications. 112 pp.

Gallagher, Marielle. 2003. "Bridging the Years: A Visit with Dorothy Yaus Cuonzo" [b. 1919; McMechen, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Fall): 44-51.

Gallaher, Carolyn. 2003. *On the Fault Line: Race, Class, and the American Patriot Movement* [Kentucky Patriot Movement; concealed weapons; hemp growing]. Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield. 272 pp.

Garland, Jonathan, and Orlene Garland. 1999. "A Cake of Cracklin" [Ga.; interview with Garland, b. 192?; cracklin' cornbread recipe]. *Foxfire Magazine* 33 (Spring/Summer): 34-39.

Garrett, Mitchell B. [1957] 2003. *Horse and Buggy Days on Hatchet Creek: An Alabama Boyhood in the 1890s* [Clay Co.]. Rpt. ed. Library of Alabama Classics. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 233 pp.

Gdovic, Ronald. 1999. *Armstrong County: Gateway to the Allegheny: A Pictorial History* [Pa.; Allegheny River]. Franklin, Va.: Q Publishing. 191 pp.

Giardina, Denise. 1999. "Coalfield Ancestors" [memories; W. Va. coal camps]. *The Iron Mountain Review* 15 (Spring): 4-8.

Gifford, James M., Anthony Stephens, and Suzanna Stephens. 2010. *Greenup County* [Ky., vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Jesse Stuart is a native son, as are Billy Ray Cyrus and Jesse Boone, brother of Daniel Boone.

Gilbert, Elizabeth. 2002. *The Last American Man* [biography of latter-day mountain man Eustace Conway]. New York: Viking. 271 pp.

Gilchrist, Joy. 1997. "The Worst Disaster in the Memory of Man': Recalling the '50 Flood" [central W. Va.; sidebars on the Big Snow of 1950, and the Flood of 1936]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 23 (Spring): 48-59.

Gilchrist-Stalnaker, Joy, and Bradley R. Oldaker. 2010. *Lewis County* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Gilchrist-Stalnaker, Joy, ed. 2000. *Lewis County, West Virginia: Her People and Places*. Horner, W. Va.: Hacker's Creek Pioneer Descendants. 256 pp.

Giles, Janice Holt, and Henry Giles. [1963] 1995. *A Little Better Than Plumb: The Biography of a House*. Reprint, with a foreword by Linda Beattie. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 280 pp.

Gillespie, Carol Ann. 2009. *Mountain Mists: Appalachian Folkways of West Virginia*. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 101 pp. Chapter topics include superstitions, foodways, folk remedies, burial customs, and place names in this breezy compendium.

Gillespie, Jane. 2007. "Jane Gillespie: Stories from the Mountains" [b. 1943, Ga.]. Interview by granddaughter Olivia Echols. *Foxfire Magazine* 41 (Spring/Summer): 45-49.

Giudice, Betty Jo. 2009. "'Bad Luck Hit Us Again': Josie Walton's Journal" [diary excerpts; 1894-1963; hardships; Greenbrier Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 3 (Fall): 52-57.

Gladwell, Malcolm. 2008. "Harlan, Kentucky: 'Die Like a Man, Like Your Brother Did!" Chap. 2 in *Outliers: The Story of Success*, by M. Gladwell, 161-176. New York: Little, Brown. Cultural legacy, honor, violence.

Glasgow, Nina, and Alan Barton. 2003. "Older Workers and Retirement in Rural Contexts" [Cortland and Seneca Cos., N.Y.; tables]. In *Communities of Work: Rural Restructuring in Local and Global Contexts*, ed. W. Falk, M. Schulman, and A. Tickamyer, 366-393. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Glock, Allison. 2003. *Beauty Before Comfort: A Memoir* [1930s-40s Newell, W. Va.]. New York: Knopf. 191 pp.

Goldenson, Suzanne, with Doris Simpson. 2006. *The Open-Hearth Cookbook: Recapturing the Flavor of Early America* [history, preparation, tools, technology]. Rev. ed. Chambersburg, Pa.: Alan C. Hood & Co. 164 pp.

Goodson, Steve. 2002. *Highbrows, Hillbillies & Hellfire: Public Entertainment in Atlanta, 1880-1930* [including Fiddlin'John Carson, and radio station WSB]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 253 pp.

Goolrick, Robert. 2007. *The End of the World As We Know It: Scenes from a Life*. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 213 pp. Memoir of a dysfunctional upbringing in a small college town in the 1950s.

Gordon, John. [1971] 2005. "Slingings and High Shots: Moonshining in the Georgia Mountains" [technological aspects]. In *Culture, Ethnicity, and Justice in the South: The Southern Anthropological Society, 1968-1971,* 360-65. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. (Reprint, from *Proceedings No. 4. The Not So Solid South: Anthropological Studies in a Regional Subculture,* ed. J. Morland, 56-65).

Gower, Shirley. 2002. "A Home in Cassity" [Randolph Co.; coal and lumbering memories of Kate Pastine Currence; sidebar interview with 103-year-old Jake Currence]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Summer): 50-57.

Grady, Jerry. 2012. "Uphill, Both Ways: Stewart Sisters Went the Extra Mile for Education" [1930s Jackson Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 3 (Fall): 56-59. "Very few of their neighbors were able to overcome the obstacles and continue their education beyond the eighth grade."

Graham, Laurie. 1998. *Singing the City: The Bonds of Home in an Industrial Landscape* [Pittsburgh; celebration and tribute]. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 192 pp.

Grant, John A. 1999. *150 Years of Oakland: Oakland, Maryland, 1999*. Oakland, Md.: Garrett County Historical Society. 106 pp.

Gravelle, Karen. 1997. *Growing Up in a Holler in the Mountains: An Appalachian Childhood* [children's literature; Eastern Ky.]. Growing Up in America series. New York: Franklin Watts. 64 pp.

Gravley, Kancie. 2005. "Uncle Milton's Sawmill" [interview; Milton Speed, b. 1928; Clayton, Ga.]. *Foxfire Magazine* 39 (Spring/Summer): 3-9.

Green, Chris, Rachel Rubin, and James Smethurst. 2006. "Introduction." In *Radicalism in the South Since Reconstruction*, ed. C. Green, R. Rubin, and J. Smethurst, 1-10. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. Places Appalachia in context of larger radical, interracial movements in the South.

Green, Chris, Rachel Rubin, and James Smethurst, ed. 2006. *Radicalism in the South since Reconstruction* [13 essays: 4 Appalachian]. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. 274 pp.

Green, Chris. 2006. "The Tight Rope of Democracy: Don West's *Clods of Southern Earth*" [subtitled *A Collection of Poems*, New York: Boni and Gaer, 1946]. Chap. 5 in *Radicalism in the South since Reconstruction*, ed. C. Green, R. Rubin, and J. Smethurst, 97-127. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Green, Judy Lee. 2008. "Deep Roots and Mountain Spirit." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 13-15. Memoir; three generations of self-sufficient Blue Ridge Mountaineers.

Green, Missy Tipton, and Paulette Ledbetter. 2011. *Cades Cove* [Tenn.; Blount Co.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Green, Sammy. 2007. "Praise the Lord, Sammy's Quit Smoking" [b. 1933, Cherokee Co., N.C.; stories]. Interview by student student Casi Best. *Foxfire Magazine* 41 (Spring/Summer): 28-44.

Greene, Nannie, and Catherine Stokes Sheppard, ed. 2006. *Community and Change in the North Carolina Mountains: Oral Histories and Profiles of People from Western Watauga County* [focus on 1930s-1950s]. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 13. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 288 pp.

Griliches, Diane Asseo, and Roy Anderson. 2007. *An Appalachian Farmer's Story: Portrait of an Extraordinary Common Man* [1922-2002; Va. cabinet maker, musical instrument maker, lay preacher; black & white photos]. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 121 pp., plus audio disc of Roy's personal recollections. Contents: Introduction - The Tapes of Roy's Voice - Roy's Words - Childhood - Family History - Toys and Games - Community Activities - Music - Christmas - Home Chores - Food - Carpentry - The Farm and Farming - Soil - Tobacco - Corn - Hay - Milk - Chickens and Eggs - Grafting - Honey - Raising and Saving Garden Seeds - Hogs and Butchering - Making Molasses - Syrup from Beets - Patsey and the Greenhouse - Patsey - Medicine - Pets - Church - Daddy's Death - My Life - Bibliography - Notes.

Griffin, Larry J., and Peggy G. Hargis, ed. 2012. *Social Class*, Vol. 20 of *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 499 pp. Fifty-six essays, and 85 shorter entries written by subject experts, including: Appalachia | Bluegrass Music | Coal and Iron Workers | Highlander Folk School | Hillbillies | Horton, Myles |

Indian Removal | Lumpkin, Grace | Memory, Appalachian | Mine, Mill, and Smelter Workers | NASCAR | Ozarks | Shape-Note Singing | Textile Workers | West, Don.

Grigsby, Mary. 2012. *Noodlers in Missouri: Fishing for Identity in a Rural Subculture*. Kirksville, Mo.: Truman State University Press. 164 pp.

Grist, Sharon. 2007. "The Village Weaver" [wool; Rabun Co., Ga.]. Interview by student Robin Atkins. *Foxfire Magazine* 41 (Fall/Winter): 53-65.

Gutmann, Lud. 2005. "Three Important Things: Recalling Keith Wolfe of Walton" [1917-2003; Roane Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 1 (Spring): 46-51.

Guttman, Kathy Shields. 1997. Whop Biscuits & Fried Apple Pie: Cooking with Gatlinburg's Great Smoky Arts & Crafts Community. Toronto: Wordsmith Ventures.

Haaga, John. 2004. "Educational Attainment in Appalachia" [tables, maps; 1900, 2000 Census]. Demographic and Socioeconomic Change in Appalachia series. 24 pp. Washington, D.C.: Appalachian Regional Commission, Online Resource Center. http://www.arc.gov/research/re

Haaga, John. 2004. "The Aging of Appalachia" [tables; maps; 1990, 2000 Census]. Demographic and Socioeconomic Change in Appalachia series. 24 pp. Washington, D.C.: Appalachian Regional Commission; Population Reference Bureau. http://www.arc.gov/research/researchreportdetails.asp?REPORT_ID=36.

Haga, Pauline. 2010. "Honestly Abe: Lincoln Impersonator Jim Rubin" [b. 1932; Beckley, Raleigh Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 4 (Winter): 50-53.

Hague, Richard. 1997. *Milltown Natural: Essays and Stories from a Life* [Upper Ohio Valley; Steubenville]. Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press.

Hall, Dave, Tym Burkey, and Katherine M. Ramsland. 2008. *Into the Devil's Den: How an FBI Informant Got Inside the Aryan Nations and a Special Agent Got Him Out Alive* [Ohio]. New York: Ballantine Books. 299 pp.

Hall, Ralph. 2008. Why Daddy Sold Old Betsy. Ithaca, N.Y.: Ithaca Press. 94 pp. Memoir of idyllic childhood in a Floyd County, Ky., coal mining town by poet Hall (b. 1936).

Hall, Randal L. 2009. "Privy Thoughts." *Southern Cultures* 15, no. 2 (Summer): 111-115. Outhouse reflections; Fancy Gap, Carroll Co., Va.

Halsey, David H. 2000. "Remembering a Wyoming County Coal Camp" [1930s-40s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Fall): 44-49.

Halsey, David H. 2008. *Uphill Both Ways Barefooted*. Westminster, Md.: Heritage Books. 97 pp. W. Va. memoir; 1930s-40s coal camp, Otsego, Wyoming County.

Hamby, Zetta Barker. 1998. *Memoirs of Grassy Creek: Growing Up in the Mountains on the Virginia-North Carolina Line* [b. 1907]. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 1. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland & Company. 256 pp.

Hamilton, Carolynn Fortney. 2004. West Virginia's Lower Tygart Valley River: People and Places [local history]. Terra Alta, W. Va.: Headline Books. 303 pp.

Hammon, Robert. 2003. "Burning Coal and Running Water: Recalling Life Up Quick" [resourceful Robert Brewer, b. 1890, Kanawha Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Fall): 52-57.

Hampshire County, West Virginia: A Pictorial History. [1991] 2002. Rpt. ed. Marceline, Mo.: Walsworth. 158 pp.

Harber, Randy. 2009. "A Wild Frontier of Wine: Visiting the Vineyards of North Georgia." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25, no.2 (Fall/Winter): 48-51.

Harbin, Frances Ables. 2004. "Sock Suppers, Cake Walks, Cotton Pickin', and a Waterlily Quilt" [b. 1919, Oconee Co., Ga.]. Interview by student Ann Cross. *Foxfire Magazine* 38 (Fall/Winter): 97-108.

Hardman, Olga S. 2001. "A Frenchman in Clarksburg: Recalling Glassmaker Danton Caussin" [1895-2001]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Summer): 24-32.

Hardy, Charles, III, and Alessandro Portelli. 1999. "I Can Almost See the Lights of Home: A Field Trip to Harlan County, Kentucky" ["aural history"; numerous links to voices, music, essays]. *The Journal for MultiMedia History* 2 (no. 1). http://www.albany.edu/jmmh/vol2no1/lights.html.

Hardy, Michael C. 2005. *Avery County* [N.C.; vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Hardy, Michael C. 2006. *Caldwell County* [N.C.; vintage photos]. Images of America series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Hardy, Michael C. 2007. *Remembering Avery County: Old Tales from North Carolina's Youngest County* [26 historical anecdotes]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 127 pp.

Harless, James H. ("Buck"). 2012. *A Most Fortunate Life* [b. 1919, Gilbert, W. Va.]. Parsons, W.Va: McClain Printing. 261 pp. Memoir of 92-year-old Mingo County native, Buck Harless, who made his fortune in coal and timber and has given generously to the coal industry, Republican Party, and WVU.

Harper, Amy M. 2012. "'Kelly Perfect': Annabelle Rhodes Recalls Kelly Axe" [manufacturing company, Charleston, 1904-1982]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 2

(Summer): 20-29. Sidebar: "The Kelly Axe Story" [factory history: "by 1908...60% of the world's axes were coming from Kelly's"].

Harrington, Susan J. 1997. *Virginia Highlands* [pictorial retrospective; Smyth, Wythe, Grayson, and Washington Cos.]. Images of America. Dover, N.H.: Arcadia. 1997. 128 pp.

Harris, Rosalind, Marcus Bernard, Maureen Mullinax, Dreamal Worthen, Sokoya Finch, and Veronica Womack. 2012. "Attending to Place, Race, and Community: Trans-Local Partnering between Scholars and Activists in Central Appalachia and the Black Belt South." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 18, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 206-219. Community-university partnerships.

Harrison, Lowell H. and James C. Klotter. 1997. *A New History of Kentucky*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 533 pp.

Harsh, Sharon Wilmoth. 2002. "Life on the Road: Selling Hardware for Kane & Keyser" ["mine, mill and R.R. supplies"]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Summer): 38-43.

Hart, Dianna. 2001. "Kentucky Shadows" [nostalgia; 1950s mountain life; Lawrence Co., Ky.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Summer): 9-18.

Hart, John Fraser, Michelle J. Rhodes, and John T. Morgan. 2002. *The Unknown World of the Mobile Home*. Creating the North American Landscape. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 142 pp.

Hart, William A., Jr. 2001. "Emalucy, Hooney, Twitchell, Eranious and Golden Meldonia: An Informal Study of Western North Carolina Names" [1500 Christian names listed]. In *May We All Remember Well: A Journal of the History & Cultures of Western North Carolina*, Vol. 2, ed. R. S. Brunk, 58-69. Asheville, N.C.: Robert S. Brunk Auction Services, Inc.

Hartley, Audrey Sayre. 2009. "Thresh" Machine a Comin': Memories of Jackson County [W. Va.; Cow Run Valley; 1920s]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 94 pp.

Hartman, Richard. 2005. "The Box It Came In: Saving the French Gratitude Train" [boxcar gift from France, 1949; restored; McDowell Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 3 (Fall): 51-55.

Hartz, Lynn R. 2003. *Club Fed: Living Inside a Women's Prison* [Alderson Federal Women's Prison, W. Va.; author served as an inmate and has a Ph.D. in clinical psychology]. Baltimore, Md.: PublishAmerica. 221 pp.

Hatch, Elvin. 2004. "The Margins of Civilization: Progressives and Moonshiners in the Late 19th-Century Mountain South" [social history; cites numerous studies]. *Appalachian Journal* 32 (Fall): 68-99.

Hatter, Ila, ed. and illus. 2001. *Roadside Rambles: A Collection of Wild Food Recipes*. Self published: Robbinsville, N.C.: Ironweed Productions. 128 pp.

Haught, James A. 2008. Fascinating West Virginia: Wild, Wonderful Episodes -- and Some Not Wonderful -- from the Longtime Editor of the Mountain State's Largest Newspaper, the Charleston Gazette [1969-2008]. Charleston, W. Va.: The Charleston Gazette. 169 pp.

Hauser, Alan J. 2000. "Religion and Community: A Cemetery in the Mountain Highlands in Northwestern North Carolina" [Sands Cemetery; near Boone]. In *Proceedings, New River Symposium, April 15-16, 1999, Boone, North Carolina*, 107-116. Glen Jean, W. Va.: National Park Service.

Hayes, Junior D. 2009. "The Family Man of Jordan Creek" [b. 1925; personal narrative; Kanawha Co.]. Transcribed by Barbara L. Hayes. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 1 (Spring): 48-53.

Hays, Tony. 1996. "No Matter How Far" [Appalachian reflections from Kuwait]. *Appalachian Heritage* 24 (Summer): 23-27.

Heilman, Carol Guthrie. 1999. "Roses" [C&C, Ky., coal camp memories and transplanted roses]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 16 (Summer): 48.

Heinze, Denise. 2007. "The Transplanting" [friendship and respect via gardening advice for a professor who relocates to Waynesville, N.C.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 54-56.

Henderson, Bonnie. 2007. *Nature Wonder Weekend: North Bend State Park, West Virginia* [annual fall wild foods festival]. Fortieth Anniversary Commemorative Limited Edition. Corry, Pa.: Allegheny Press. 112 pp.

Hensley, Judith Victoria. 2010. *Mountain Wisdom: Mountain Folk, Volume 1*. Bristol, Va.: Little Creek Books. 213 pp. Contents: Beauty tips and good grooming -- Dreams -- Home remedies -- Rhymes -- Riddles -- Superstitions -- Weather predictions. Hensley writes a weekly column for the *Harlan Daily Enterprise*.

Hensley, Judith Victoria. 2010. *Say What You Mean, and Mean What You Say: A Collection of Mountain Sayings*. Wallins, Ky.: Wallins Creek Publishing. 424 pp. Glossary of hundreds of terms quoted in context as similes, metaphors, idioms, and euphemisms. See also: Verna Mae Slone, *How We Talked* (1995).

Herrin, Roberta. 2008. "Affirming Urbanity in Appalachia." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 2-3. Special issue—"Urbane Appalachia."

Herrin, Roberta. 2012. "The Mountain Farmer and Milton." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 2. Introductory essay to special issue, "Serving Appalachia."

Hickam, Homer H., Jr. 1998. *Rocket Boys: A Memoir*. New York: Delacorte Press. 368 pp. Weatherford Award winner. NASA engineer recounts Coalwood, W. Va., boyhood; basis for 1998 feature film "October Sky."

Hickam, Homer. 1999. *October Sky* [W. Va. memoir; previously published as *Rocket Boys* (1998); retitled to match the movie of the same name]. New York: Island Books. 428 pp.

Hickam, Homer. 2000. *The Coalwood Way* [W. Va. memoir; sequel to *Rocket Boys* (1998)]. New York: Delacorte Press. 318 pp.

Hickam, Homer. 2001. *Sky of Stone* [1961 Coalwood, W. Va.; 3rd memoir, beginning with *Rocket Boys* (1998)]. New York: Delacorte. 336 pp.

Hickam, Homer. 2002. *We Are Not Afraid* [post-Sept. 11 inspiration and values from Coalwood, W. Va. and the author of *October Sky*]. Deerfield, Fla.: Health Communications. 242 pp.

Hicks, George L. 2001. *Experimental Americans: Celo and Utopian Community in the Twentieth Century* [Western N.C.; founded 1937]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 272 pp.

Hidden Gems: Photos from the State Archives [photo essay]. 2005. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 4 (Winter): 22-27.

Higgins, Dustin. 2007. "Shoveling Deep into the Family Cemetery" [funerary duties; Spivey Mountain, Unicoi Co., Tenn.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 32-34.

Higgins, James Jeffrey. 1999. *Images of the Rust Belt* [photographs; Upper Ohio Valley industrial landscape]. Kent, Ohio: Kent University Press. 64 pp.

Higgins, James Jeffrey. 2001. On Common Ground: The Vanishing Farms and Small Towns of the Ohio Valley [photographs; Upper Ohio Valley]. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press. 64 pp.

Hines, George B., and Lou Martin. 2006. *Hancock County* [W. Va. northern panhandle; vintage photos]. Images of America series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp. Home to Homer Laughlin China (Fiesta dinnerware), Weirton steel mills, and Mountaineer Race Track and Gaming Resort.

Hodson, Debbie. 2001. "Sentimental Journey" [of Ky. back roads]. *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Winter): 9-11.

Hoffman, Nancy. 1999. *West Virginia* [history, profile; young adult readers]. Celebrate the States series. New York: Benchmark Books. 143 pp.

Holland, Barbara. 1997. Bingo Night at the Fire Hall: The Case for Cows, Orchards, Fairs, and Bake Sales [Loudoun Co., Va., Blue Ridge]. New York: Harcourt Brace. 224 pp.

Holland, Lance. 2001. *Fontana: A Pocket History of Appalachia* [Fontana Village, N.C., history]. Robbinsville, NC: Appalachian History Series. 238 pp.

Hollis, Tim. 2008. *Ain't That a Knee-Slapper: Rural Comedy in the Twentieth Century*. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 281 pp. Radio, movies, sitcoms, cartoons, television commercials, and current redneck standup comedy.

Holmes, John R. 2009. *Remembering Steubenville: From Frontier Fort to Steel Valley* [Ohio]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 124 pp.

Holtzman, David. 2009. "Back to the Land in Pocahontas County." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 2 (Summer): 54-61. 1970s alternative-culture "hippies" and communal living.

Hood, James Larry. 2008. *Restless Heart: Kentucky's Search for Individual Liberty and Community*. Lanham, Md.: University Press of America. 136 pp. Overview of Ky. civilization across five historic periods.

Hood, Robin, ed. 2005. *Tennessee Country: In the Land of Their Fathers*. Franklin, Tenn.: Grandin Hood. 142 pp. Celebratory, oversize, pictorial; short essays: Learning from Mother Nature / Marilou Awiakta -- Kitchen table revival / John Egerton -- Lest we forget- women's folk art rediscovered / John Rice Irwin -- Where the owls nest & the butterflies come back to / Peter Jenkins -- Roads back home / Jeff Daniel Marion.

Hooker, Margaret Huntington. [1896] 2010. Ye Gentlewoman's Housewifery: Containing Scarce, Curious, and Valuable Receipts for Making Ready All Sorts of Viands: A Repository of Useful Knowledge Adapted to Meet the Wants of Good Wives and Tender Mothers: Also, Sundry Salutory Remedies of Sovereign and Approved Efficacy and Choice Secrets on the Improvement of Female Beauty: Compiled from Old and Reliable Sources [mostly recipes, traditional, authentic]. Facsimile reprint. LaVergne, Tenn.: Nabu. 227 pp. Originally published: New York: Dodd, Mead.

Hooper, Ed. 2003. *Knoxville* [vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Hooper, Ed. 2006. *Knoxville in World War II* [vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Hopkins, Bruce. 2003. *Spirits in the Field: An Appalachian Family History* [Pike Co., Ky.; U.S. Route 460 reconstruction; old family cemetery]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 225 pp.

Horning, Audrey J. 2000. "Beyond the Shenandoah Valley: Interaction, Image, and Identity in the Blue Ridge" [three hollows in Old Rag vicinity of Shenandoah National Park]. In *After the*

Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia, 1800-1900, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 145-166. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Hotaling, Lynn. 2008. *Sylva* [N.C.; Jackson Co. seat; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Houck, Harold. 2001. "Harold Houck: The Plowing Preacher" [Ga. farmer; b. 1928; mules]. Interview by student Amanda Dickerson. *Foxfire Magazine* 35 (Spring/Summer): 3-14.

Howell, Benita J. [1981] 2003. Folklife Along the Big South Fork of the Cumberland River [early 20th-century]. With contributions by Susan Stonich. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 318 pp. Note: this is a revised edition of A Survey of Folklife Along the Big South Fork of the Cumberland River, Knoxville: Dept. of Anthropology, University of Tennessee.

Hubbard, Harlan. 1996. *Payne Hollow Journal*. Edited with an introduction by Don Wallis. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 224 pp.

Hubbard, Tommie L. 2003. *The Journals of Tommie L. Hubbard: Life in Madison County, Kentucky, 1898-1900*. [b. 1880, d. 1948]. Edited by Deborah Hubbard Nelson-Campbell. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 256 pp.

Huber, Patrick. 2008. "A Short History of 'Redneck': The Fashioning of a Southern White Masculine Identity." In *Southern Cultures: The Fifteenth Anniversary Reader*, ed. H. Watson and L. Griffin, 303-327. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Hudson, Berkley. 2007. "O. N. Pruitt's Possum Town: The 'Modest Aspiration and Small Renown' of a Mississippi Photographer, 1915-1960" [Lowndes Co.; documentary photo essay]. *Southern Cultures* 13, no. 2 (Summer): 52-77.

Hufford, Mary. 2001. "Landscape and History at the Headwaters of the Big Coal River Valley: An Overview" [W. Va.; prehistory to present]. In *Tending the Commons: Folklife and Landscape in Southern West Virginia*. *American Memory*, Library of Congress. 35 pp. http://memory.loc.gov/ammem/collections/tending/essay5.html.

Hughes, I. Harding. 2002. *My Valle Crucis: The 1930s*. Valle Crucis, N.C.: I. H. Hughes; Distributed by Mast General Store. 178 pp.

Hull, William F. 2010. *Historic Photos of Chattanooga in the 50s, 60s, and 70s* [Tenn.]. Nashville, Tenn.: Turner Publishing. 206 pp.

Hull, William F. 2010. *Historic Photos of Chattanooga* [Tenn.]. Nashville, Tenn.: Turner Publishing. 198 pp. From Civil War to modern era.

Hull, William F. 2010. *Historic Photos of Chattanooga* [Tenn.]. Nashville, Tenn.: Turner Publishing. 198 pp. From Civil War to modern era.

Hunter, Adam. 2002. "Break the Chain Store Habit" [interview with Andy Hunter about the family's grocery store; Rabun Co., Ga.]. *Foxfire Magazine* 36 (Spring/Summer): 37-43.

Hunter, David. [1995] 2003. *Trailer Trash from Tennessee: A Childhood Memoir* [1950s Knoxville]. Rpt. ed. Oak Ridge, Tenn.: Tellico Books. 199 pp. Originally published: Nashville: Rutledge Hill Press.

Hunter, Elizabeth. 2008. "The Great Bandana Porch Sit" [Bandana, N.C.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 10-12. Weekly gathering to share a meal and local history stories.

Hurley, Carl. 1995. We Weren't Poor, We Just Didn't Have Any Money [1940s-50s boyhood memories; near Rockcastle River, Ky.]. Louisville(?), Ky.: Cowcumber Books. 193 pp.

Idol, John L. 2012. *Deep Gap Days: A Crazy-Quilt Narrative of My Boyhood in the Blue Ridge Mountains* [Deep Gap, N.C.; b. 1932]. Blowing Rock, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 221 pp.

Idol, John Lane, Jr. 2005. *Blue Ridge Heritage: An Informal History of Three Generations of the Family of John Nicholson Idol* [d. 1897; Deep Gap, N.C.]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 211 pp.

Isbell, Robert. 1996. *The Last Chivaree: The Hicks Family of Beech Mountain* [N.C.]. Foreword by Wilma Dykeman. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 174 pp.

Isbell, Robert. [1996] 2001. *Ray Hicks: Master Storyteller of the Blue Ridge*. Reprint, with a foreword by Wilma Dykeman. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 175 pp. Originally published as *The Last Chivaree: The Hicks Family of Beech Mountain*.

Ivey, Jennie, W. Calvin Dickinson, and Lisa Rand. 2002. *Tennessee Tales the Textbooks Don't Tell* [18 historical and biographical accounts]. Johnson City, Tenn: Overmountain Press. 200 pp.

Jabbour, Alan, and Karen Singer Jabbour. 2010. *Decoration Day in the Mountains: Traditions of Cemetery Decoration in the Southern Appalachians* [N.C.]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 218 pp. Annual cleaning and coming together to share dinner; numerous photos, some color.

Jabbour, Alan. 2010. "Helen Cable Vance and the North Shore Historical Association" [2010 Community Traditions Award winner]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 57, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 22-28. Vance is a cemetery and Decoration Day hero who has helped lead the North Shore [of Fontana Lake] movement since 1977, begun in 1942-43 with the building of Fontana Dam and the marooning of 27 family cemeteries due to rising waters.

Jabbour, Alan, and Karen Singer Jabbour. 2012. "The Balsam Highlands Cemetery Style: A Meditation on Regional Creativity." *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 59, no. 2 (Fall-Winter): 47-59. "Beginning in 2004, we undertook research in western North Carolina focusing on the topic of Decoration Day," the annual renewal practice that led to Memorial Day.

Jackson, Dot. 1998. "Going to Davenports" [N.C.; wagon road excursion in a 1934 Ford]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 15 (Winter): 3-5.

Jackson, Dot. 2003. "The Valley of the Green Bird" [Eastatoee Valley, S.C.; eulogy for disappearing old ways]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 20 no. 2-3 (Summer/Winter): 34-35.

Jackson, Harvey H., ed. 2011. *Sports & Recreation*. Vol. 16 of *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 383 pp. Seventy-four short thematic essays, from 500-2500 words, including: Buck dancing, flatfooting, and clogging -- Cockfighting (see also Blood sports) -- Drinking -- Fiddle contests (see also Picking sessions) -- Noodling [i.e., hand fishing] (see also Fishing; and Hunting) -- Passing the time (see also Porch sitting; and Visiting) -- Rock climbing -- Stock car racing -- Storytelling -- Whittling -- Wrestling -- Appalachian Trail -- Blue Ridge Parkway -- Dogpatch USA [Ark. theme park] -- Dollywood -- Great Smoky Mountains National Park -- Hot Springs National Park [Ark.] -- Johnson, Junior -- Mammoth Cave National Park -- NASCAR -- "See Rock City" -- Silver Dollar City [Ozark related theme park].

James, Hunter. 2001. *The Last Days of Big Grassy Fork* [irreverent personal memoir; agrarian Winston-Salem, N.C.]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 256 pp.

Jarrard, Coleman. 2006. "Heartthrob, Soldier, Farmer, Politician—But, Most of All, 'Family Man': An Interview with Coleman Jarrard" [b. 1929; Rabun Co., Ga.]. Interview by student Rosa Cantrell. *Foxfire Magazine* 40 (Fall/Winter): 116-128.

Jarrett, C. W. "Bill." 2011. "Three Boys and a Train." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 1 (Spring): 36-39. "Riding the *Fast Flying Virginian* between Charleston and Huntington in the 1940s sparked a lifelong love of trains."

Javersak, David T. 1999. *History of Weirton, West Virginia*. Virginia Beach, Va.: Donning Company. 192 pp.

Johnson, Skip, with Rob Johnson. 2001. *River on the Rocks* [Birch River local and natural history, central W. Va.]. Edited by Peter and Elizabeth Silitch. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 394 pp.

Jones, Dan. 2008. "Boxing Lessons." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 22-25. Chattanooga, Tenn.: alcoholic father and 1950s boyhood boxing lessons.

Jones, June C. 2010. "L.M. McNeil's Store" [memoir]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 3 (Fall): 62-63. Sidebar, "Halloween at Mr. Mac's Store" [early 1940s], by Albert Pennington, 64-65. New River Gorge, Fayette County, country store; 1930s-40s.

Jones, Lisa, Beth Shirley, and Lester Wall. 1998. "Square Dancing: A Foot-Stompin' Mountain Pastime" [oral history interview with Rabun Co., Ga., caller]. *Foxfire Magazine* 32 (Spring/Summer): 3-9.

Jones, Loyal. 1994. Appalachian Values. Ashland, Ky: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 144 pp.

Jones, Loyal. 2002. "Country Comedy: Victim of Pseudo-Sophistication and Political Correctness." *Appalachian Journal* 29 (Fall 2001-Winter 2002): 44-53.

Jones, Loyal; Richard B. Drake; Bill Best; W. F. Singleton. 1996. "Letters to the Editor" section. *Appalachian Heritage* 24 (Fall): 11-21. Responses to editor's request to share experiences and memories of growing up in the region.

Jones, Malcolm. 2010. *Little Boy Blues* [journalist's memoir; 1950s-60s N.C.]. New York: Pantheon Books. 228 pp.

Jonsson, Patrik. 2003. "Appalachia's New Cottage Industry: Meth" [methamphetamine; N.C., Tenn.]. *Christian Science Monitor*, 21 March, 3.

Jordan-Bychkov, Terry G. 2003. *The Upland South: The Making of an American Folk Region and Landscape* [tracks cultural transmission through artifacts incl. vernacular architecture]. Santa Fe, N.M.: Center for American Places; distributed by University of Virginia Press. 121 pp.

Jordan, Jesse, Jamie Jordan, and Kelly Jordan. 2007. "Through the Eyes of a Cotton Farmer" [Rome, Ga.]. Interview by student Alex Owens. *Foxfire Magazine* 41 (Fall/Winter): 11-35.

Jordan, Tom. 2007. "Cotton Gins & Sawmills" [b. 1927; Ala.]. Interview by student Marella Burrell. *Foxfire Magazine* 41 (Fall/Winter): 28-44. Sidebar: "Visitin' with the Jordans," Interview by student Christina Mitcham, 7-10.

Joslin, Michael. 2009. "Ramp Talk" [wild edible ramps]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25, no.1 (Spring/Summer): 11-14.

Joslin, Michael. 2009. "Still Like I Left It" [whiskey-making; N.C.]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 25, no.2 (Fall/Winter): 41-43.

Jourdan, Carolyn. 2007. *Heart in the Right Place* [memoir; East Tenn. medical clinic assistant, formerly U.S. Senate counsel]. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill. 297 pp.

Jude, Dallas H. 2004. "Eyewitness: Marie Robinette of Matewan" [b. 1910; eyewitness to 1920 Matewan Massacre; Mingo Co. living conditions]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Winter): 24-29.

Julian, Norman. 1998. "The Roosevelt Outhouse" [1930s; paean]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Winter): 28-31.

Julian, Norman. 2010. *Trillium Acres* ["essays on place in West Virginia"]. Star City, W.Va: Trillium Publishing. 176 pp. Monongalia Co.; sequel to *Snake Hill* (1993).

Julian, Norman. 2011. "I Am Going to Tell the Story: Al Anderson of Osage" [Monongalia Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 3 (Fall): 26-33. Seventy-three year old African-American shoe repairman, musician, and unofficial mayor of Osage, "hub of the historic Scotts Run mining area that once boasted an estimated 7,000 residents and 42 mines," and ethnic diversity, and racial prejudice.

Justus, Bob. 2001. "It's a Great Adventure: An Interview with Bob Justus" [Ga.; 1930s-40s]. By Austin Bauman. *Foxfire Magazine* 35 (Fall/Winter): 108-132.

Kahn, Si. 2010. Creative Community Organizing: A Guide for Rabble-Rousers, Activists, and Quiet Lovers of Justice. San Francisco, Calif.: Berrett Koehler. 212 pp.

Kasey, Pam, and Rae Jean V. Sielen, ed. 1998. *Our Mountain State Heritage: West Virginia Stories of the People* [collected short oral histories]. Morgantown, W. Va.: Populore Publishing Company. 200 pp.

Kashuba, Cheryl A. 2009. *A Brief History of Scranton, Pennsylvania* [Lackawanna Co.]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 143 pp.

Keefe, Susan E. 2011. "Serving as a Cultural Expert Witness for Appalachian Clients in Death Penalty Mitigation." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 17, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 168-176. To humanize the client and ensure cultural competency in the defense effort.

Keith, Bruce, and Mary McPhail Gray. 1999. "The Prevalence of Child Care Needs Among West Virginia Households" [tables]. In *Inside West Virginia: Public Policy Perspectives for the 21st Century*, ed. B. Keith and R. Althouse, 9-26. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Keith, Bruce, and Ronald Althouse. 1999. "The Role of Social Research in Public Policy Administration: Linking Land-Grant Universities to State Policy Initiatives." In *Inside West Virginia: Public Policy Perspectives for the 21st Century*, ed. B. Keith and R. Althouse, 1-8. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Keith, Jeanette. 1995. *Country People in the New South: Tennessee's Upper Cumberland*. Studies in Rural Culture. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 308 pp.

Kennedy, Rory, with photographs by Steve Lehman. 1999. *American Hollow* [Ky.; companion volume to 90-minute HBO documentary]. With interviews by Mark Bailey, and a preface by Robert Coles. Boston: Bullfinch Press. 128 pp.

Kephart, Horace. [1910] 2006. *Camp Cookery* [outdoor recipes; a classic]. Bel Air, Calif.: Home Farm Books, 152 pp. Originally published: New York: Outing Publishing Co.

Kestner, Jack. 2006. *A View from the Mountain* [1921-2005; Clinch Mountain, Va.; weekly columns from the Bristol Herald Courier, 1987-2005]. Selections made and introduced by his children, Lisa Kestner Quigley, Pam Kestner-Chappelear and Tim Kestner. Emory, Va.: Clinch Mountain Press. 256 pp.

Kidwell, Chris, comp. 2011. *A Pictorial History of Tucker County, West Virginia*. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 406 pp. More than 1,000 captioned photos and postcards of Tucker County, home to Cheat River, Blackwater Falls State Park, and Canaan Valley National Wildlife Refuge.

Kilgore, Frank, and Katharine Shearer. 2004. *Far Southwest Virginia: A Postcard Journey* [seven counties; 250 historic, captioned photos]. Emory, Va.: Clinch Mountain Press. 176 pp.

Kincaid, Tom, 'and a lot of other kids who grew up in Elkridge.' 2006. *Elkridge: A Small Coal Camp in Fayette County, 1900-1953, Population 400: America at Her Best* [W. Va., Web resource, unattributed; loving, creative community scrapbook and history]. http://freepages.genealogy.rootsweb.com/~elkridge/index.htm.

Kingsolver, Ann E. 1992. "Contested Livelihoods: 'Placing' One Another in 'Cedar,' Kentucky" [identity, rurality]. *Anthropological Quarterly* 65 (July): 128-136. Special issue: Negotiating Identity in Southeastern U.S. Uplands.

Kirk, Charles E. 2001. "Red Clay Memories: My Early Life in Turner Hollow" [1920s-30s Wood Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Spring): 38-43.

Klatte, Mary Ellen. 2000. *Kentucky Woman: The Life of Viebie Catron Cantrell* [1904-1998; teacher; Clinton Co.]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 160 pp.

Kline, Carrie Nobel. 1996. "Giving It Back: Creating Conversations to Interpret Community Oral History" [Wheeling, W. Va.; oral history fieldwork techniques]. *Oral History Review* 23 (Summer): 19-39.

Kline, Ronald R. 2000. *Consumers in the Country: Technology and Social Change in Rural America*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 372 pp.

Klotter, James C. 1996. *Kentucky: Portrait in Paradox, 1900-1950*. Frankfort: Kentucky Historical Society. 424 pp.

Klotter, James C., and Freda C. Klotter. 2006. *Faces of Kentucky* [state history; secondary school textbook]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 294 pp.

Klotter, James C., and Freda C. Klotter. 2008. *A Concise History of Kentucky* [by its state historian]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 238 pp.

Kollar, Robert, with text by Kelly Leiter. 1998. *The Tennessee Valley: A Photographic Portrait* [200 color images by TVA photographer Kollar; bridging seven states]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 160 pp.

Koon, Thomas. 2001. *Marion County* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Lair, John. 1994. *Tales from the Hills* [Rockcastle Co., Ky.; local history stories published in the Refro Valley Bugle, 1958-1968]. Compiled and edited by Ann Lair Henderson. Mt. Vernon, Ky.: Polly House Publications. 226 pp.

LaLone, Mary B. 1996. "Economic Survival Strategies in Appalachia's Coal Camps." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Spring): 53-68.

LaLone, Mary B. 1997. "The Appalachia Tourism Project: Applied Anthropology in an Appalachian Coal Mining Town" [southwest Va.; community development project]. In *Practicing Anthropology in the South*, ed. J. M. T. Wallace, 91-101. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 30, Athens: University of Georgia Press.

LaLone, Mary B. 1997. "The Coal Mining Way of Life in Virginia's New River Valley: Hard Work, Family, and Community." *The Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 1: 53-62.

LaLone, Mary B. 1999. "Preserving Appalachian Heritage: A Model for Oral History Research and Teaching" [New River Valley Coal Mining Heritage Project]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 5 (Spring): 115-122.

LaLone, Mary B. 2003. "Walking the Line between Alternative Interpretations in Heritage Education and Tourism: A Demonstration of Complexities with an Appalachian Coal Mining Example" [Va. heritage projects; www.radford.edu/~mlalone]. In *Signifying Serpents and Mardi Gras Runners: Representing Identity in Selected Souths*, ed. C. Ray and L. Lassiter, 72-92. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 36. Athens: University of Georgia Press.

LaLone, Mary B. 2005. "An Anthro-Planning Approach to Local Heritage Tourism: Case Studies from Appalachia" [Va.: coal mining heritage park; farm heritage museum and park]. *NAPA Bulletin* (National Association for the Practice of Anthropology) 23 (no. 1):135-150.

LaLone, Mary B. 2005. "Building Heritage Partnerships: Working Together for Heritage Preservation and Local Tourism in Appalachia." *Practicing Anthropology* 27 (no. 4):10-13.

LaLone, Mary B. 2009. "Guidelines for a Partnership Approach to Appalachian Community and Heritage Preservation Work" [southwest Va.]. In *Participatory Development in Appalachia: Cultural Identity, Community, and Sustainability*, ed. S. Keefe, 201-229. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

LaLone, Mary B., ed. 1997. *Appalachian Coal Mining Memories: Life in the Coal Fields of Virginia's New River Valley* [Montgomery and Pulaski Counties; 51 oral histories]. Blacksburg, Va.: Pocahontas Press. 374 pp.

LaLone, Mary B., ed. 1998. *Coal Mining Lives: An Oral History Sequel to Appalachian Coal Mining Memories* [1997]. Radford, Va.: Department of Sociology and Anthropology, Radford University. 139 pp.

LaLone, Mary B., Peg Wimmer, and Amanda Hartle, ed. 2003. *The Radford Arsenal: Impacts and Cultural Change in an Appalachian Region* [oral history interviews; Montgomery Co., Va., Army Ammunition Plant]. Radford, Va.: Brightside Press. 244 pp.

LaLone, Mary. 1995. "Recollections About Life in Appalachia's Coal Camps: Positive or Negative?" In *Appalachia and the Politics of Culture*, ed. E. C. Fine. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 7: 91-100. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Lasley, Bob, and Sallie Holt, ed. 2002. *Hometown Memories-- Asheville Tales: A Treasury of 20th Century Memories*. Hickory, N.C.: Hometown Memories Publishing Company. 248 pp. Collection of fond memories and anecdotes contributed by more than 200 elder citizens.

Leavengood, Betty. 2002. "'I'm the One Who Stayed': Walter Taitt's 99 Years in Volcano" [Wood Co.; oil field]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Winter): 10-15.

Leavengood, Betty. 2002. *Wood County, West Virginia* [pictorial retrospective]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Leavengood, Betty. 2008. "Pilot Jean Pickering: 75 and Still Flying." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 2 (Summer): 29-33. Female adventurer, Williamstown, Wood County.

Ledford, Homer. 2004. *See Ya' Further Up the Creek: A Collection of Stories and Poems* [b. 1927; growing up in Depression-era Tenn.; author is a renowned dulcimer maker]. Illustrated, with poetry contributions, by Cindy Lowy. Foreword by Loyal Jones. Winchester, Ky.: Kentucky Traditions Publishing. 160 pp. Accompanying sound disc with 15 songs.

Ledford, Katherine E. 2004. "'Thanks for not shooting me': –A Review-Essay on Shelby Lee Adams's *Appalachian Lives*" [University Press of Mississippi, 2003]. *Appalachian Journal* 31 (Spring/Summer): 390-398.

Lee, Matt, and Ted Lee. 2002. "On the Appalachian Trail" [Ky. apples, paw paws, and Bill Best's beans]. *Food & Wine* (March): 20 para. www.foodandwine.com.

Lefler, Susan M. 2004. *Brevard* [N.C.; photo-documentary]. Images of America. Columbia, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Lefler, Susan M. 2011. *Brevard* [N.C.]. Then & Now series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 95 pp. Photos juxtapozed, historic and contemporary; Transylvania County.

Legg, J. Scott. 2010. *New River Gorge* [Fayetteville, Fayette Co., W. Va.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. From early settlement to the coal mining era to the building of the New River Gorge Bridge.

Lent, George. 2012. "An Old Technique Made New." Interview by student Kelsey Henry. *Foxfire Magazine* 46, no. 1-2 (Spring/Summer): 11-17. Dr. Lent is a farm veterinarian in Rabun County, Georgia.

Lentes, Cathy. 2003. "Where Herons Fly" [essay; joys of natural homestead, Ohio River Valley, Oh.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 20, no. 2-3 (Summer/Winter): 32-33.

Lentz, Ralph E., II. 2001. W. R. Trivett, Appalachian Pictureman: Photographs of a Bygone Time [1884-1966; Watauga Co., N.C.]. Contributions to Southern Appalachian Studies, no. 4. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland. 166 pp.

Leonelli, Victoria Dutko. 2003. *Around Uniontown* [coal and coke region, Fayette County, Pa.; vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Leslie, Louise, and Terry W. Mullins. 2008. *Jewell Ridge: Portrait of a Coal Town* [Tazewell Co., Va.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Leslie, Louise, and Terry W. Mullins. 2009. *Bluefield, Virginia* [vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Lewin, Tamar. 2005. "Up From the Holler: Living in Two Worlds, at Home in Neither" [Pikeville, Ky.; from foster child to lawyer; NYT series on social class in America today]. *New York Times*, 19 May, 14(A).

Lewis, Helen, and Monica Appleby. 2003. *Mountain Sisters: From Convent to Community in Appalachia* [Glenmary Sisters; secular service, justice, empowerment]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 328 pp.

Lewis, Helen. 1995. *My Life and Good Times in the Mountains, or Life and Learning in Central Appalachia*. Highlander Center Working Paper Series, no. 21. New Market, Tenn.: Highlander Research and Education Center. 31 pp.

Lifford, Brad. 2010. "Beans All the Way: New Film Examines an East Tennessee Soup Bean Variant." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 72. Story of The Bean Barn restaurant, Greenville, Tenn., is told in this ETSU film.

Liftig, Robert. 2002. "In Search of the Fugate Family of Lost Creek, Kentucky" [genealogy]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Spring): 13-16.

Light, Ken, and Melanie Light. 2006. *Coal Hollow: Photographs and Oral Histories* [southern W. Va.; 83 stark b&w photos by outsiders; 11 oral histories]. Forewords by Orville Schell and Robert B. Reich. Series in Contemporary Photography, 4. Berkeley: University of California Press. 139 pp. (Compare other, recent photo-documentaries, some also by outsiders: *American Lives*, by Shelby Lee Adams; *American Hollow*, by Rory Kennedy; *Sodom Laurel Album*, by Rob Amberg; *The Face of Appalachia*, by Tim Barnwell; *You're Not from Around Here*, by Mike Smith).

Lilly, Jack. 1998. "The Lost Village of Lilly" [Bluestone River Valley; Lilly family]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Summer): 42-47.

Lilly, John, interviewer. 2000. "A Pattern to Life: Folk Dancers Rush & Ruby Butcher" [Nicholas Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Spring): 58-65.

Lilly, John. 2004. "A Neat Way to Live': Vandalia Award Winner Mack Samples" [Clay Co. educator, musician, singer, dancer, author, administrator]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Spring): 10-17.

Lilly, John. 2006. "3,000 Points of Light: Kenova's Pumpkin House" [home to 3,000 jack-olanterns each Halloween, visible across the Ohio river]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 3 (Fall): 10-17.

Lilly, John. 2008. "Making It Legal: A Visit to the Isaiah Morgan Distillery in Summersville." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 2 (Summer): 64-65. 80-proof corn whiskey, called "Southern Moon."

Linville, Shirley. 2001. "Memories of a Miner's Wife: Life in Breece Coal Camp" [1920s Boone Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Summer): 40-43.

Little, Christy, and Jeff Little. 2005. *Parkersburg in Vintage Postcards* [W. Va.]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Little, M. Ruth. 1998. *Sticks and Stones: Three Centuries of North Carolina Gravemarkers*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 328 pp.

Lloyd, Jeremy. 2009. *A Home in Walker Valley: The Story of Tremont* [Townsend, Tenn.; local history; profusely illustrated]. Edited by Steve Kemp and Kent Cave. Gatlinburg, Tenn.: Great Smoky Mountains Association. 51 pp. Part I: Big Will Walker [1838-1919] -- Part II: End of the wilderness -- Part III: Dawn of a new day [creation of Great Smoky Mountains National Park, 1934].

Lockard, Duane. 2003. "Bulltown of My Youth" [1930s Braxton Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Summer): 50-55.

Locklear, Erica Abrams. 2006. "The Stench of a Mountain Tradition: Ramp Foodways in Appalachia." *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 53, no. 1 (Spring-Summer): 4-18.

Locklear, Erica Abrams. 2007. "Fragrant Memories: They'll Get Your Attention" [ramps; interview with author's father; Leicester, N.C.]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 54, no. 1 (Spring-Summer): 12-17.

Loest, Judy. 2006. "The Knoxville YWCA between the Wars" [built 1925; women's activities]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 23-26.

Logan, Linda H. 2009. *Wythe County: Reflections of Farm Life Traditions*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 92 pp. Oral history; photos.

Long, Lucy M. 2006. "Southern Appalachia (Western North Carolina)" [recipes: country ham, soup beans, cornbread with molasses, leather britches, greens, fried hominy, sauerkraut, fried Irish potatoes, fried apples, corn on the cob, blackberry cobbler]. In *The Ethnomusicologists' Cookbook: Complete Meals from Around the World*, ed. Sean Williams, 192-196. New York: Routledge.

Long, Lucy. 2010. "Culinary Tourism and the Emergence of an Appalachian Cuisine: Exploring the 'Foodscape' of Asheville, NC" [restaurants]. *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 57, no. 1 (Spring-Summer): 4-19.

Lundy, Ronni, ed. 2005. Cornbread Nation 3: Foods of the Mountain South [literary anthology of stories, poems, essays, and excerpts by 45 writers]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. Published in association with the Southern Foodways Alliance, Center for the Study of Southern Culture, University of Mississippi. 266 pp. [I. PLANTING THE ESSENTIAL SEEDS: CORN AND BEANS: I offer you a gift — Marilou Awiakta / Compass for our journey — Marilou Awiakta / Cornbread communion — Sheri L. Castle / Two grandmothers — Tony Earley / A man and his beans — Sarah Fritschner / Leatherbritches — Billy C. Clark / Beating the biscuits in Appalachia: race, class, and gender politics of women baking bread — Elizabeth Engelhardt / A theory of pole beans — Nikki Giovanni / II. RAISING CONSCIOUSNESS: Where I'm from — George Ella Lyon / Raised by women — Kelly Norman Ellis / Taking stock of being Appalachian — James B. Goode / Steep — Robert Morgan / From oats to grits, mutton to pork: North British foodways in Southern Appalachia — Jim Wayne Miller / Plenty — Michael McFee / On the Appalachian Trail — Matt Lee and Ted Lee / Homesick — Diane Gilliam Fisher / The Dollmaker — Harriette Simpson Arnow / Cooked food — Roberta Bondi / Grandma's table — Steve Yarbrough / Roadside table — Michael McFee / Affrilachia — Frank X Walker / III. CULTIVATING COMMUNITY: Holy manna — Robert S. Richmond / Ramp suppers, biodiversity, and the integrity of the mountains — Mary Hufford / April in Helvetia: 1995 — Sally Schneider / A talk with Adriana Trigiani — Fred Sauceman / Two Americas, two restaurants, one town — Rebecca Skloot / The anthropology of table manners from geophagy onward — Guy Davenport / Syrup boiling — Janisse Ray / IV. THE MEAT OF THE MATTER: To the unconverted — Jake Adam York / Of possums and papaws — Joel Davis / A passion for bacon — Pete Wells / Mad squirrels and Kentuckians — Burkhard Bilger / The oyster shucker's song — David Cecelski / V. THE HARVEST: The Fruit of temptation — Frank Browning / A pawpaw primer — Colleen Anderson / Going for peaches, Fredericksburg, Texas — Naomi Shihab Nye / Tales of dough and dowry: fried pies in Tennessee — John T. Edge / The pumpkin

field — William Jay Smith / Stand buy your yam: the lure of the southern produce stand — Deb Barshafsky / Farmer's market — Marcia Camp / Of sorghum syrup, cushaws, mountain barbecue, soup beans, and black iron skillets — Fred Sauceman / A garden in Kentucky — Jane Gentry / Of fall days and harvesting, and falling in love — Jean Ritchie / VI. FOOD AND LOVE: Back to the bayou — Rick Bragg / Bill — Brad Watson / Falling for my husband — Blair Hobbs].

Lynch, Brittani. 2009. "Help a Belly Out!: The Story of Jebby Sauce." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 4 (Winter): 38-39. A unique barbeque sauce from the coalfields of Boone County made from an old recipe.

Lynch, Harry. 2005. Hot Dogs from Almost Heaven: A Hot Dog Lover's Best Friend! [80 recipes; W. Va.]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 104 pp.

Lynd, Staughton. 2004. *Lucasville: The Untold Story of a Prison Uprising* [1993; Scioto Co., Ohio]. Philadelphia, Pa.: Temple University Press. 244 pp.

MacFarlane, Scott. 2007. "Divine Right's Trip (1971): The Last Whole Earth" [by Gurney Norman]. Chap. 11 in *The Hippie Narrative: A Literary Perspective on the Counterculture*, by S. MacFarlane, 161-175. Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.

Maiuri, Jessie Lee. 2011. "Mom Was a Hard Worker: Remembering Jennie Bee Hall" [b. 1893; Clay Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 1 (Spring): 30-35. The author is the 14th of 16 children of John and Jennie Hall.

Manly, Ginger. 2010. "Federal Oversight." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 44-46. Reflections on the author's multi-generational history in Loudon Co., Tenn., as she contemplates the family cemetery, their one remaining bit of land not flooded in the 1970s by TVA's Tellico Dam.

Mann, Jeff. 2007. "One Writer's Appreciation of Appalachian Folk Culture." *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 10: 14-19.

Marsengill, Matthew, and Lee Garner. 1999. "Lee Garner: Kennesaw Carver and Artist" [Ga.; reminiscences; student interview with Garner, b. 1908]. *Foxfire Magazine* 33 (Fall/Winter): 92-100.

Martin, Douglas D., and Perry D. Martin. 1997. "Newport, Virginia -- A Crossroads Village" [Giles Co.]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 1: 17-36. History of this unincorporated village five miles north of Blacksburg, founded in 1779 at a stagecoach crossroads.

Martin, Fannie Ruth. 2002. "Fannie Ruth Martin: Still A-Dancin'!" [b. 1921; Banks Co., Ga.]. Interview by students Alicia Nicholson Aughtman and Rachel Koch. *Foxfire Magazine* 36 (Fall/Winter): 83-97.

Martin, J. D. 2004. "'If you can't stop, wave!!!': J. D. Martin – His Store and Story" [b. 1922; rural general store owner, Gainesville, Ga.]. Interview by student Diana Carpenter. *Foxfire Magazine* 38 (Fall/Winter): 137-151.

Martin, James E. 2009. *Feet: A Chronicle of Places My Feet Have Taken Me in Eighty Seven Years* [b. 1921; W. Va.; military, working, and retirement years]. Bloomington, Ind.: Authorhouse. 236 pp.

Martin, Lois and Clarence. 2002. "Hearts Touched and Healed" [b. 1920s, North Ga.]. Interview by student Adam Hunter. *Foxfire Magazine* 36 (Spring/Summer): 3-12.

Mason, Cecelia. 2001. "'Old-Fashioned Things': Yellow Springs Memories" [Hampshire Co.; family and local history]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Winter): 46-51.

Masters, Bob. 1999. "Growing Up in Hundred: A Wetzel County Retrospective" [Hundred, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Summer): 48-51.

Masters, Bob. 2005. "Days at the Knights of Pythias" [1940s-50s Wetzel Co., fraternal organization]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 2 (Summer): 34-37.

Masters, Bob. 2007. "Summers in the Brush: DOH Memories in Wetzel County" [1950s road crew]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 2 (Summersa0: 46-49.

Masters, Bob. 2009. "As It Was in Hundred: Recalling Life in a Wetzel County Town" [1940s-50s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 4 (Winter): 48-53.

Masters, Bob. 2009. "Sundays on Miracle Run." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 2 (Summer): 55-59. Memories, 1940s Wetzel County farm.

Matheny, Ann Dudley. 2003. *The Magic City: Footnotes to the History of Middlesborough, Kentucky, and the Yellow Creek Valley* [award winning, scholarly local history; Cumberland Gap]. Middlesboro, Ky.: Bell County Historical Society. 442 pp.

Mather, Mark. 2004. "Households and Families in Appalachia" [tables; 1990, 2000 Census]. Demographic and Socioeconomic Change in Appalachia series. Washington, D.C.: Appalachian Regional Commission, Online Resource Center. 44 pp. http://www.arc.gov/research/researchreportdetails.asp?REPORT_ID=37.

Mather, Mark. 2004. "Housing and Commuting Patterns in Appalachia" [tables; 1990, 2000 Census]. Demographic and Socioeconomic Change in Appalachia series. Washington, D.C.: Appalachian Regional Commission, Online Resource Center. 37 pp. http://www.arc.gov/research/researchreportdetails.asp?REPORT_ID=38.

Mathews, Garret. 2011. Folks Are Talking: Oral Histories from the 1970s [2 sound discs; W. Va., Va.]. Evansville, Ind.: Garret Mathews. "Oral histories of folks Garret Mathews interviewed as a young feature writer on the Bluefield, W. Va., Daily Telegraph between 1974

and 1979....An early UMW organizer, mine tragedy survivors, a bootlegger, coal camp baseball players, a female furrier who carves muskrats while eating peanut-butter sandwiches, music, and more." http://folksaretalking.com/.

Mathias, Frank F. 2000. *The G.I. Generation: A Memoir* [b. 1925, Maysville, Ky.]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 300 pp.

Matlack, Claude Carson. 1981. *Dawn Comes to the Mountains* [photographs]. Edited by Samuel W. Thomas and others. Louisville, Ky.: George Rogers Clark Press. 128 pp. Remarkable black & white images by Matlack (1878-1944) chronicle everyday life at Oneida, Clay County, Ky., and the Oneida Baptist Institute between 1904 and 1916.

Maurer, David, with Quinn Pearl. [1974] 2003. *Kentucky Moonshine*. Rpt. ed. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 133 pp.

Maxey, Hucie. 2008. "Lillybrook: The Memories Never Die." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 3 (Fall): 53-57. Coal community, Raleigh County, 1915-1954.

May, Kathy L. 2000. *Molasses Man* [juvenile fiction; making molasses; African-American Appalachians]. New York: Holiday House. 32 pp.

Maynard, Lee. 2007. "A Letter to Amos" [encomium for the author's father; Wayne Co. school teacher]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 10: 26-28.

Mazak-Kabne, Jeanine. 2011. "Small-Town Mafia: Organized Crime in New Kensington, Pennsylvania" [1960s; Allegheny-Kiski Valley]. *Pennsylvania History* 78, no. 4 (Autumn): 355-392. Activity in labor unions; Aluminum Company of America (ALCOA); Mannarino organization.

Mazzio, Joann. 1998. "Christmas in a One-Room School" [1930s Webster Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Winter): 62-63.

McCall-Dickson, Yvonne. 2005. *Transylvania County* [N.C.; vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, SC: Arcadia. 128 pp.

McCall, Eva, and Emma Edsall. 2002. *Lucy's Recipes for Mountain Living* [N.C.; narrative recipes of the authors' grandmother]. Fairview, N.C.: Historical Images. 87 pp.

McCallum, Barbara Beury. 2010. *Reekin' Ramp Recipes* ["wild leeks"]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 71 pp. Forty-six recipes with some introductory history and background.

McCaulley, J. C. 2008. *A Cades Cove Childhood* [b. 1929; Blount Co., Tenn.]. Transcribed by Margaret Osbourne McCaulley. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 94 pp.

McClanahan, Donna. 2009. "Balls." *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 4, no. 1 (Summer/Fall): Non-Fiction section, 1528 words. Creative meditation on trash, particularly balls, witnessed floating by on the Kentucky River. http://nantahalareview.org/issue4-1/nonfiction4-1/MCCLANAHAN.htm.

McClung, Betty Conner. 2009. "Magic and Memories: Recalling Noble and Louise Conner" [Charleston, 1940s-50s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 4 (Winter): 40-45.

McClung Historical Collection, Knox County Public Library System, and Knox County Two Centuries Celebration. 1992. *Two Centuries of Knox County, Tennessee: A Celebration in Photographs*. Knoxville, Tenn.: McClung Historical Collection. 217 pp.

McCrumb, Sharyn. 2011. *Sharyn McCrumb's Appalachia: A Collection of Essays on the Mountain South*. Waverly, Tenn.: Oconee Spirit Press. 65 pp. Contents: Keepers of the legends | A novelist looks at the land | The Celts and the Appalachians | Magic realism in Appalachia | Nora Bonesteel and the Sight | Reflections on historical fiction.

McDaniel, Douglas Stuart. 2004. *Asheville* [N.C.; vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

McDaniel, Lynda. 2000. "A Vision of What Can Be" [Erie, Pa.; profile of R. Benjamin Wiley, executive director, Greater Erie Community Action Committee]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 33 (May-August): 32-37.

McDaniel, Lynda. 2000. "A Wealth of Accomplishments" [Hale Co., Ala., Family Resource Center; empowerment and revitalization; African-Americans]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 33 (January-April): 14-21.

McDonald, Jeanne, ed. 1998. *The Voice of Memory: A Collection of Memoirs* [contributed by East Tenn. seniors]. Introduction by John Rice Irwin, ix-xviii. Knoxville, Tenn.: Knoxville Writers' Guild. 392 pp.

McDonald, Robin. 2003. *Heart of a Small Town: Photographs of Alabama Towns* [matched with literary quotations]. Foreword by Robert Gamble. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 160 pp.

McDougal, Beryle Hess. 2006. "A Year in the Country" [1900-1989; memoir, foodways, Marion Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 1 (Spring): 38-42. Sidebar, "What the Old Folks Say" [expressions], 43.

McElmurray, Karen Salyer. 2002. *An Appalachian Birth Mother's Journey*. [Ky.; memoir]. Athens, Ga.: Hill Street Press. 256 pp.

McElmurray, Karen Salyer. 2004. *Surrendered Child: A Birth Mother's Journey* [teen mother; adoption]. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 208 pp.

McFee, Michael. 1998. "Back Home" [Blue Ridge N.C. Piedmont and mountains]. *Appalachian Heritage* 26 (Spring): 13-19.

McGehee, Larry T. 2005. *Southern Seen: Meditations on Past and Present* [selected weekly newspaper essays, 1982–]. Edited by B. J. Hutto; foreword by John Egerton. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 351 pp.

McGehee, Stuart. 2001. "Historic Coalwood" [McDowell Co. setting of Homer Hickam's *Rocket Boys* (1998); sidebars by Ken Sullivan and Mark Crabtree]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Summer): 52-61.

McGehee, Stuart. 2003. "The Wedding of the Bluefields" [1924 Bluefield, W. Va. and Bluefield, Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Summer): 25-29.

McIntyre, Stephen L., ed. 2012. Springfield's Urban Histories: Essays on the Queen City of the Missouri Ozarks [eleven essays]. Springfield, Mo.: Moon City Press. 352 pp. Contents: Introduction: Searching for Reuben Wood Avenue / Stephen L. McIntyre. PART ONE. THE CIVIL WAR ERA: Part One Introduction / Stephen L. McIntyre -- Quinine and Courage: The Battle of Springfield, January 8, 1863 / William Garrett Piston and John C. Rutherford -- Wild Bill Hickok, the Springfield Shootout, and the Development of the No-Duty-to-Retreat Doctrine in the Law of the "Wild West" / F. Thornton Miller. PART TWO. THE AGE OF INDUSTRY, 1870-1945: Part Two Introduction / Stephen L. McIntyre -- Retail Rivals: Springfield's Commercial Street versus the Public Square, 1870-1945 / Angela Wingo Miller -- Memories of Walter Majors: Searching for African American History in Springfield / Richard L. Schur --Unrestricted Warfare: Labor and Community in the 1916-1917 Springfield Streetcar Strike / Erin M. Smither -- "Considerable Bad Feeling in this City": Cross-Class Solidarity and Federal Power in the 1922 Springfield Frisco Shopmen's Strike / Stephen L. McIntyre. PART THREE. POSTWAR SPRINGFIELD, 1945-2010: Part Three Introduction / Stephen L. McIntyre -- From Zenith to Nadir: The Story of Springfield's Largest Manufacturing Plant / Tim Knapp -- Like a Family: Kinship Perceptions of Ozarks Radio Entertainers and the Spread of Consumer Culture, 1934-1959 / Edgar D. McKinney -- "Sketchy, Vague and, to a Great Extent, Uninformed": The Debate over Progressive Education in Springfield, 1947-1948 / Tom Dicke -- The Demise of O'Reilly Hospital and the Beginning of Evangel College, 1946-1955 / Lawrence J. Nelson -- The Creation of a Community: A History of Gay and Lesbian Springfield, 1945-2010 / Holly A. Baggett.

McKnight, Brian Dallas, Jodi Deal, and Mary B. LaLone. 2006. *Life in the Coal Camps of Wise County: In Honor of Wise County's Sesquicentennial*. Big Stone Gap, Va.: Lonesome Pine Office on Youth. 177 pp. Presents photographs, primarily from the archives of the Westmoreland Coal Company in the Hagley Museum and Library that were collected by students of Appalachia High School in 2004. Additional documentation, oral histories and biographical sketches provided by students of The University of Virginia's College at Wise. Contents: Foreword by Brian D. McKnight -- Brief history of Wise County and the coal industry / Brian D. McKnight -- Making of this book / Jodi Deal -- The Hagley Museum and Library -- Andover -- Appalachia -- Arno -- Blackwood -- Coeburn -- Cranes Nest -- Derby -- Dorchester -- Dunbar -- Exeter -- Glamorgan -- Imboden -- Inman, Linden, Laurell --- Josephine -- Keokee --

Norton -- Osaka -- Pardee -- Pine Branch -- Riverview -- Roda -- Stonega -- Sutherland -- Tacoma -- Tom's Creek -- Voices from the coal camps / Mary B. LaLone -- Nuggets.

McMillian, Don Daniel. 2003. *Huntington* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

McMurry, Sally Ann. 2001. From Sugar Camps to Star Barns: Rural Life and Landscape in a Western Pennsylvania Community [Somerset Co., Pa.]. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 182 pp.

McNicholas, Lena Cantrell. 2010. *Patchwork: Pieces of Appalachia: An Appalachian Memoir in Poems, Stories and Essays* [b. 1936; Pound Va.]. Buena Vista, Va.: Mariner. 115 pp.

McNichols, Lena. 2001. "First Perm" [1950 reminiscences of forced beautification at age 13; Va.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Winter): 20-21.

Medford, W. Clark. [1966] 2000. *Great Smoky Mountain Stories*. Rpt. ed. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 157 pp. Originally published: Waynesville, N.C.: Miller Printing.

Menarcheck, Bob. 2008. *Ridge Valley: Living Life in a Coal Mining Town* [fiction; Connellsville, Pa.]. Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse. 385 pp. Coke industry.

Merrell, Madge. 2006. "'I Had to Have Had Good Genes'" [b. 1907; Jackson Co., N.C., educator]. Interview by student Samantha Fountain. *Foxfire Magazine* 40 (Spring/Summer): 12-23.

Messer, David R. 2007. *Ablaze in Appalachia: A Social Approach to a Forgotten Culture*. Charleston, S.C.: BookSurge Publishing. 116 pp. The author is a youth social worker and theologian.

Michael, Edwin Daryl. 2007. "New Martinsville in the 1950s: Teen Years in a River Town" [1950s Upper Ohio Valley]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 1 (Spring): 40-45.

Miller, Hurley. 2000. *Once In a Lifetime* [b. 1918; memoir; 1920s-1940s W. Va.]. Raleigh, N.C.: Pentland Press. 147 pp.

Miller, Jim Wayne. 1998. "Afterword: From Oats to Grits, Mutton to Pork: North British Foodways in Southern Appalachia." In *Savory Memories*, ed. L. Beattie, 153-166. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Miller, Lola Roush. 2006. *Central City* [Hungington, W. Va., vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Miller, Nancy. 2002. "Possessions Used to Create a Sense of Place by Assisted-Living Residents in Appalachia" [elderly focus groups, interviews]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 8 (Fall): 299-308.

Miller, Thurman I. 2001. *War & Work: The Autobiography of Thurman I. Miller* [W. Va.; b. 1919]. Edited by David T. Miller. Lincoln, Neb.: Writers Club Press. 236 pp.

Miller, Thurman I. 2003. *Coal Bloom* [memoir, Otsego, W. Va.: 1920s-30s boyhood; WWII Marine; coal miner]. Edited by David T. Miller. New York: iUniverse. 192 pp.

Miller, Zell. 2009. *Purt Nigh Gone: The Old Mountain Ways* [Miller, b. 1932, is a former Ga. governor and U.S. Senator]. Macon, Ga.: Stroud & Hall. 171 pp. Contents: In the beginning | The Cherokees | Gold in the hills | The way life was | Making 'shine | Mountain food | A disappearing dialect | Old-time religion | Mountain music | Mountain humor | Whose mountains? | Appendix: 101 reasons why I live in Appalachia.

Mills, Frank. 2012. *Why Moonshine?* Rocky Mount, Va.: Franklin County Historical Society. The author, b. 1937, is from Callaway, Virginia. See review by Duncan Adams, *Roanoke Times*, 22 January 2013, http://www.roanoke.com/news/1607057-12/books-tell-tales-of-moonshine-in-franklin-county.html.

Mills, Gene. 2002. Another Time, Another Place: Growing Up in Swannanoa, 1929-1950 [N.C.]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 102 pp.

Minick, Jim. 1996. "The Future as a Circle: Or a Sweater and a Homestead" [essay]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 13 (Summer): 3-7.

Minick, Jim. 2003. "Creases" [essay; orientation/navigation of the natural world]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 20, no. 2-3 (Summer/Winter): 30-31.

Minick, Jim. 2010. "Not to Bee." In *Motif: Come What May, an Anthology of Writings about Chance*, ed. M. Worthington, 160-163. Louisville, Ky.: Motes Books. Detailed account of the author's attempts to establish two honey bee hives on his Va. blueberry farm.

Mitchell, Matthew. 2005. "Water from Hill to Hill': Paint Creek Flood of 1932" [Kanawha Co.; 18 deaths]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 1 (Spring): 52-57.

Montell, William Lynwood. 2003. *Tales from Kentucky Lawyers*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 264 pp. 308 stories and cases collected from 39 judges and lawyers, mostly rural, arranged topically. Biographies of storytellers appended.

Montell, William Lynwood. 2005. *Tales from Tennessee Lawyers*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 225 pp. 243 anecdotes arranged topically. Biographies of storytellers appended.

Montell, William Lynwood. 2009. *Tales from Kentucky Funeral Homes*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 198 pp. Stories and reminiscences from funeral home directors and

embalmers. Contents: Funeral and burial practices through the years | Funeral and burial folk customs | Funeral humor and mistakes | Personal practice stories | Memories of family funeral businesses | The bereaved | Biographies of storytellers.

Montell, William Lynwood. 2011. *Tales from Kentucky Sheriffs*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 290 pp. Contents: Becoming sheriff | Arrested people's behavior | Mentally deprived people | Law enforcement humor | Moonshine, marijuana, and meth | Major problems and significant accomplishments | Mistakes | Other sheriffs | Dangerous or fatal events | Colleagues | Biographies of storytellers.

Montrie, Chad. 2003. "Book Review Essay: The Ambiguity of Doing Good; or, Making Change in Appalachia" [reviews *Night Comes to the Cumberlands*, by Harry Caudill (Jesse Stuart Foundation, 2001 rpt. of 1963); *John B. Stephenson: Appalachian Humanist*, edited by Thomas R. Ford and J. Randolph Osborne (Jesse Stuart Foundation, 2001); *A True Man of God: A Biography of Father Ralph William Beiting, Founder of the Christian Appalachian Project*, by Anthony J. Salatino (Jesse Stuart Foundation, 2001); and *Challenge and Change in Appalachia: The Story of the Hindman Settlement School*, by Jess Stoddart (University Press of Kentucky, 2002)]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Spring): 230-237.

Moore, Lloyd E. [2004] 2012. *Face to Face: The Photography of Lloyd E. Moore*. Edited by Rajko Grlic. Athens: Ohio University Press. 129 pp. Black-and-white images of people in Ironton and Lawrence Co., Ohio. Originally published: Athens, Oh.: Erlewine Design.

Moore, Robert M., ed. 2001. *The Hidden America: Social Problems in Rural America for the Twenty-First Century* [14 chapters]. Selinsgrove, Pa.: Susquehanna University Press. 325 pp.

Moore, W. Jamie, and Jamie W. Moore. 2005. *Growing Up in Davie County: Reflections from One Hundred Years Ago* [N.C.]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 190 pp.

Morgan, Larry G. 2002. *Mountain Born, Mountain Molded* [memoir]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 168 pp. Well written observations of daily life in 1940s-50s Nantahala region, Macon County, western N.C.

Morgan, Larry G. 2003. *Appalachian Mountain Memories* [amusing anecdotes from Poor Valley, Va., and Nantahala, N.C.]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 118 pp.

Morgan, Robert. 2004. "The Lunchroom Victory: A Memoir" [fifth grade, 1956 Henderson Co., N.C.]. In *CrossRoads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 241-246. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Mountain Makin's in the Smokies: A Cookbook. [1957] 2004. Rpt. ed. Gatlinburg, Tenn.: Great Smoky Mountains Natural History Association. 54 pp. Old-timey recipes; "edited by Mary Ruth Chiles and Mrs. William P. Trotter; illustrated by Mrs. Patsy Gilbert; compiled by the wives of the Park Service employees and their friends."

Mounts, Willard. 1997. The Rugged Southern Appalachia Early Settlement, Early Feuds, Strikes, Drugs, Poverty, Schools, Beauty, 1700-Present. Denver, Colo: Ginwill Pub., 1997. 176 pp.

Mounts, Willard. 2010. "We Lived Along the Railroad Tracks: My Early Years in Mingo County" [b. 1915]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 2 (Summer): 34-38.

Mowery, Rozetta. 2007. *Tragedy in Tin Can Holler* [Athens, McMinn Co., Tenn. case study; family violence, murder]. Saint Augustine, Fla.: Global Authors Publications. 200 pp.

Mozier, Jeanne. 2006. "Postcards from the Pepperoni Highway" [varieties of pepperoni rolls available along I-79]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 1 (Spring): 15-19.

Muller, Heidi. 2007. *Patchwork Dreams: Stories, Songs and History from Big Ugly Creek and Harts Creek, West Virginia* [Lincoln Co.; community project; photos and oral histories]. Edited by Heidi Muller. Charleston, W. Va.: Step by Step, Inc. 202 pp., plus two CDs. Publication made possible through a grant from the West Virginia Humanities Council, and funding from the West Virginia Commission on the Arts and The Greater Kanawha Valley Foundation.

Munske, Roberta R., and Wilmer L. Kerns, ed. 2004. *Hampshire County, West Virginia: 1754-2004*. Romney, W. Va.: Hampshire County 250th Anniversary Committee. 263 pp.

Murray, Kenneth. 2008. *A Day Before Yesterday: Appalachia*. Introduction by Roberta Herrin. Johnson City, Tenn.: Center For Appalachian Studies and Services, East Tennessee State University. 146 pp. Retrospective, black & white photographs, 1960s-2005.

Mutzenberg, Charles G. [1917] 2008. *Kentucky's Famous Feuds and Tragedies: Authentic History of the World Renowned Vendettas of the Dark and Bloody Ground*. Foreword by James C. Klotter. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 205 pp. "Reprint of 1917 edition; text has been reformatted, spelling and punctuation have been corrected; footnotes and an appendix of supplemental materials have been added." Contents: Introduction -- The great Hatfield-McCoy feud -- The Tolliver-Martin-Logan vendetta -- The French-Eversole war -- Bloody Breathitt -- Conclusion -- Appendix: Eureka Detective Agency; Charles Mutzenberg biographical timeline [1863-1931]; Advertisements from the 1917 edition.

Myers, Sylvester C. 2007. From Coal Fields to Oil Fields: A Life in Pursuit of All I Could Be [b. 1932; W. Va. coal camp to business professional; African American]. Pittsburgh, Pa.: RoseDog Books. 315 pp.

Nardy, Jane Gibson. 2008. *Historic Tales of Cashiers, North Carolina*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 126 pp. Contents: Merry tales from Camp Merrie-Woode -- Remembering Etrulia Rice White -- Apple blossom time in Cashiers Valley -- Walter R. Tolbert, federal prohibition agent -- The Dr. Van Epp House -- Sol's Creek School in Little Canada -- The death of Nora Deal -- Pleasant Grove School in Bull Pen -- William Norton's daughters and the bushwhackers -- Cashiers Valley in 1877 -- Uncle Roy's 1920 and 1921 Christmas letters -- Cashiers ghost buster -- Bird Zachary Raines and the box turtle -- October 1878 letter from T.R.

Zachary to his fiancé in Georgia -- A mother's lament -- The ace and the actress -- The ballad of Kidder Cole -- Story of the Zachary Clock -- Geneva's Eden -- History of the Zachary Reunion -- Bountiful living in Norton, 1880 style -- Buried history at the village green -- Life in nineteenth-century western North Carolina -- Will Thomas slept here -- Before Bartram, 1767 journey of Thomas Griffith -- A picture is worth a thousand words.

Nasby, Dolly. 2004. *Charles Town* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Nasby, Dolly. 2004. *Harpers Ferry* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Nasby, Dolly. 2005. *Shepherdstown* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Nasby, Dolly. 2007. *Harpers Ferry* [pictorial retrospective: buildings; Storer College; bridges; note: the author published another photo history, same title, in 2004]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 95 pp.

Neely, Jack. 1998. *Secret History: Stories About Knoxville, Tennessee II* [local history]. Knoxville, Tenn.: Scruffy City Publishing. 176 pp.

Neely, Jack. 2009. *Knoxville: This Obscure Prismatic City*. American Chronicles series. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 126 pp. Anecdotal local history; essays previously published in Knoxville's "Metro Pulse."

Neely, Jack. 2009. *Market Square: A History of the Most Democratic Place on Earth.* Knoxville, Tenn.: Market Square District Association. 207 pp.

Nelson, Louise K. 1997. *Country Folklore, 1920s & 1930s: And That's the Way It Was* [folk customs; Haywood Co., N.C.]. Alexander, N.C.: WorldComm. 160 pp.

Nesbitt, J. Todd. 2000. "Ethnography and Participatory Rural Appraisal in Central Appalachia" [fieldwork methodology in Pendleton and Randolph Counties., W. Va.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 6 no. 1-2 (Spring/Fall): 49-70.

Neville, Gwen Kennedy. 2003. "Kin-Religious Gatherings: Display for an 'Inner Public'" [Montreat, N.C., and elsewhere]. In *Southern Heritage on Display: Public Ritual and Ethnic Diversity within Southern Regionalism*, ed. Celeste Ray, 130-143. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Nice, Donetta. 2001. "Born in the Hills: Bill & Mary Moats of Preston County" [human interest interview with resourceful, elderly mountain couple]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Spring): 27-31.

Niemeyer, Lucian. 2010. *West Virginia: Mountain Air* [pictorial; 160 color photos]. Atglen, Pa.: Schiffer. 128 pp. Contents, with introductory essay for each section: Mountains and rivers - Early humanity -- European settlement -- Statehood -- Railroads, coal, oil, gas, and timber -- Appalachia -- A tour of the state -- Mountain air.

Nighswander, Larry. 2003. "Zip USA: Athens, Ohio" [Dawn to Dusk Project, photo essay by 114 students]. *National Geographic* 203 (January): 114-118.

Nixon, Genus. 2009. "Genus Nixon: A Visit." Interview by Logan Finley and Thia Heater. *Foxfire Magazine* 43, no. 3-4 (Fall/Winter): 3-13. Rabun Co., Ga.; Persimmon Community; Tallulah Falls School and Railroad.

O'Brien, John. 2001. *At Home in the Heart of Appalachia* [W. Va.; memoir]. New York: Knopf. 288 pp. Weatherford Award winner.

O'Bryant, Jeff. 2009. *A Brief History of Catoosa County: Up Into the Hills* [Ga.; site of Cherokee Removal and the Civil War Battle of Chickamauga]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 157 pp.

O'Dell, Earlene Rather. 2000. *The Flavour of Home: A Southern Appalachian Family Remembers* [foodways, recipes]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 302 pp.

O'Donnell, Kevin E. 2009. *Historic Photos of Appalachia*. Nashville, Tenn.: Turner Publishing Co. 205 pp. Nearly 200 captioned images from special collections at East Tennessee State University and Appalachian State University. Contents: An American Region Industrialized (1870-1899) -- Tourism, Education, Modernization, and the Great War (1900-1919) -- Boom, Bust, and Dams (1920-1939) -- Highways, Revivalism, and Coal-Country Poverty (1940-1970).

O'Hanlon-Lincoln, Ceane. 2004. *County Chronicles: A Vivid Collection of Fayette County, Pennsylvania Histories* [72 informed local history accounts]. Chicora, Pa.: Mechling Bookbindery. 419 pp.

O'Hanlon-Lincoln, Ceane. 2006. *County Chronicles: A Vivid Collection of Pennsylvania Histories* [20 informed local history accounts]. County Chronicles, vol. 2. Chicora, Pa.: Mechling Bookbindery. 276 pp.

O'Shields, Ashley. 2005. "Paw': An Interview with My Grandpa, J. P. Speed" [b. 1931, Clayton, Ga.]. *Foxfire Magazine* 39 (Spring/Summer): 34-45.

Obermiller, Phillip J., and Robert L. Ludke. 2012. "Appalachia and Its Aging Cohort: An Early Warning System for American Aging?" *Aging Today* 33, no. 5 (September/October): 1-14.

Offutt, Chris. 2002. *No Heroes: A Memoir of Coming Home* [Ky.; cf. Offutt's 1993 memoir, *The Same River Twice*]. New York: Simon & Schuster. 288 pp.

Oglesby, Carl. 2012. "Catfishing in South Carolina" [memoir; 1935-2011]. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 1 (Winter): 74-87.

Olson, Ted, and Anthony P. Cavender, ed. 2009. A Tennessee Folklore Sampler: Selections from the "Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin", 1935-2009. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press, published in cooperation with the Tennessee Folklore Society. 429 pp. Contents: PART 1: MATERIAL FOLK CULTURE: Illicit Whiskey Making / Charles S. Pendleton --Basketmakers of Cannon County: An Overview / Lawrence Alexander -- The Vanishing Art of Cooking Table-Grade Sorghum Molasses / Ben S. Austin -- Dale Calhoun and the Reelfoot Lake Boat / Robert Cogswell -- Further Reading in Material Culture. PART 2: FOLK MEDICINE -FOLK REMEDIES: T. J. Farr -- Folk Medicine in McMinn, Polk, Bradley, and Meigs Counties, Tennessee, 1910–1927 / Grady M. Long -- Folk Veterinary Medicine in Upper East Tennessee / Rosemary Brookman -- Further Reading in Folk Medicine. PART 3: FOLK BELIEFS AND PRACTICES: A Collection of Middle Tennessee Superstitions / Neal Frazier -- Switching for Water / E. G. Rogers -- Witchlore and Ghostlore in the Great Smokies / Joseph S. Hall -- Some West Tennessee Superstitions about Conjurers, Witches, Ghosts, and the Devil / Anna Lett --Further Reading in Folk Beliefs. PART 4: CUSTOMS: The Shivaree / Frances Boshears --Historic Egg Fight / Allison Yeager -- Social Activities Associated with Two Rural Cemeteries in Coffee County, Tennessee / Donald B. Ball -- Shooting the Anvil / Bill Harrison and Charles K. Wolfe -- Further Reading in Customs. PART 5: PLAY AND RECREATION LORE: Children's Games and Amusements in Sumner County in the Good Ol' Days / Martha Freedle --"Let's Go Hunting": A Nursery Song and Its Background / West Livaudais -- Cockfighting in East Tennessee and western North Carolina / Charles R. Gunter Jr. -- Further Reading in Play and Recreation Lore. PART 6: FOLK SPEECH: Riddles from West Tennessee / Herbert Halpert -- Pert Nigh Almost: Folk Measurement / Kelsie B. Harder -- Does Tennessee Have Three "Grand" Dialects?: Evidence from the Linguistic Atlas of the Gulf States / Michael Montgomery -- Further Reading in Folk Speech. PART 7: LEGENDS: The Hanging of Mary, a Circus Elephant / Thomas G. Burton -- Champ Ferguson: A Legacy of Blood / Linda C. White --Twentieth-Century Aspects of the Bell Witch / Teresa Ann Bell Lockhart -- Davy Crockett, David Crockett, and Me: A Personal Journey through Legend into History / Michael A. Lofaro --Further Reading in Tennessee Legends. PART 8: FOLK BALLAD AND SONG: McDonald Craig's Blues: Black and White Traditions in Context / W. H. Bass -- "Jim Bobo's Fatal Ride": A Study in Progress of a Tennessee Ballad / Debra Moore -- Successes of the "Spirit" / Kip Lornell -- The Lion's Share: Scottish Ballads in Southern Appalachia / Thomas G. Burton --Further Reading in Folk Ballad and Song. PART 9: FOLK MUSIC: INSTRUMENTAL TRADITIONS AND FOLK MUSIC COLLECTING: The Appalachian Mountain Dulcimer Enigma / Charles Faulkner Bryan -- John Wesley Work III: Field Recordings of Southern Black Folk Music, 1935–1942 / Bruce Nemerov -- J. W. and Don Gallagher, Master Guitar Craftsmen / David J. Brown -- Tennessee Music Box: History, Mystery, and Revival / Sandy Conatser and David Schnaufer -- Further Readings in Folk Music: Instrumental Traditions and Folk Music Collecting. PART 10: FOLK COMMUNITIES: The Traditions of Cocke County / Mildred Haun -- Free Hill: An Introduction / Elizabeth Peterson and Tom Rankin -- Further Reading in Folk Communities -- Epilogue: Current Attitudes toward Folklore / Donald Davidson.

Olson, Ted. 1998. *Blue Ridge Folklife*. Folklife in the South Series. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 211 pp.

Osborne, David. 2006. *An Appalachian Childhood* [b. 1943; memoir; Portsmouth, Oh.]. Savannah, Ga.: Williams & Co. 266 pp.

Osborne, Roger, comp., ed. 2002. *Voices from Appalachia* [stories, poems, reflections]. Bloomington, Ind.: 1st Books Library. 110 pp.

Osborne, Roger. 1999. *Pilgrimage to an Appalachian Mining Camp* [b. 1936, Wharton, W. Va.; biography; Green Co., Oh.]. Dayton, Oh.: Our Common Heritage. 215 pp.

Osthaus, Carl R. 2004. "The Work Ethic of the Plain Folk: Labor and Religion in the Old South" [incl. Lowcountry, piedmont, backcountry, frontier]. *Journal of Southern History* 70 (November): 745-782.

Otterbein, Keith F. 2000. "Five Feuds: An Analysis of Homicides in Eastern Kentucky in the Late Nineteenth Century." *American Anthropologist* 102 (June): 231-243.

Overbay, DruAnna Williams. 2005. *Windows on the Past: The Cultural Heritage of Vardy, Hancock County, Tennessee* [oral histories; 1920s-1950s]. The Melungeons: History, Culture, Ethnicity, & Literature. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 225 pp.

Owens, Edgar. 2007. "Front Porch Stories" [b. 1925; early years in Rabun Co., Ga.; WWII]. Interview by granddaughter Alex Owens. *Foxfire Magazine* 41 (Spring/Summer): 28-44.

Owens, Jack. 2001. "Hollow Journey" [McDowell Co., W. Va.; return trip memories of 1940s/50s coal camp of author's youth]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 18 (Winter): 11-14.

Ozersky, Josh. 2012. *Colonel Sanders and the American Dream*. Austin: University of Texas Press. 144 pp. Biography of Kentucky Fried Chicken founder, Harland Sanders (1890-1980).`

Pack, Clyde Roy. 2002. *Muddy Branch: Memories of an Eastern Kentucky Coal Camp.* Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 256 pp.

Pack, Glenna R. [1995] 2005. *Cookin' in a Coal Camp* [W. Va.; recipe variety, quick and easy to prepare]. Charleston, W. Va.: G.R. Pack. 82 pp. Addendum: "Household Hints': Tips to Remedy This of That in the Household," 38 pp.

Painter, Jacqueline Burgin. 2006. *The Stackhouses of Appalachia: Even to Our Own Times* [Western N.C., Quaker family history]. Asheville, N.C.: Grateful Steps. 421 pp.

Parker, H. Jane. 1992. "Engendering Identity(s) in a Rural Arkansas Ozark Community." *Anthropological Quarterly* 65 (July): 148-155. Special issue: Negotiating Identity in Southeastern U.S. Uplands.

Parmer, David. 2012. *Tales of Old Orlando: A Forgotten Railroad Town* [W. Va.]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 396 pp. Exhaustive, engaging local history of this central W. Va. town which straddles Lewis and Braxton Counties; the author is a retired lawyer; 300 photos.

Parmer, David. 2012. *Uncle Zeke: The Bard of Buzzard Town*. Parsons, W.Va: McClain Printing. 182 pp. Patrick Newton Blake (1867-1951), newspaper columnist, Braxton and Lewis Counties.

Parsons, Darlene Irvin. 2007. *The Parsons Pioneers* [Tucker Co., W. Va.; history, genealogy]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 250 pp.

Parsons, Penny, Ken Beck, and Jim Clark. 1997. *The Bluegrass Music Cookbook* [recipes, photos, and biographies of artists, past and present]. Winston-Salem: John F. Blair. 251 pp.

Parton, Willadeene. 1996. *Smoky Mountain Memories: Stories from the Hearts of the Parton Family*. Nashville: Rutledge Hill Press. 229 pp.

Patterson, Christine P., and Wilma Dykeman. 1996. *Haunting Memories: Echoes and Images of Tennessee's Past* [36 hand-tinted photographs matched with evocative, poetic text]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 76 pp.

Patton, Paul W. 2003. *Rix Mills Remembered: An Appalachian Boyhood* [Muskingum Co., Ohio; 100 folk artist paintings of 1920s-30s village life, with narrative – now erased by strip mining]. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press. 186 pp.

Pauley, Lawrence Lyman. 2000. *Mud River Tales: A Collection of Stories in Rhyme*, with illustrations by the author [1930s memoir; Hamlin, Lincoln Co., W. Va.]. Huntington, W. Va.: Discovery Press. 118 pp.

Paying Tribute. 2002. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Winter): 1-44.

Payne, Dale. 2009. *Pictorial History of Paint Creek: 1750's-1950's* [W. Va.]. North Kansas City, Mo.: Technical Communication Services. 336 pp. "History of the towns, the early settlers, the mine wars, the 1932 flood."

Payne, Dale. 2010. Fayette County: The Early Years: Late 1800's - Early 1900's [W. Va. coal mining towns]. Benton Harbor, Mich.: Patterson Printing. 327 pp. "A Photographic journey back to the early days of Fayette County with a brief history of each town visited."

Payne, Dale. 2011. *Vintage Fayette County: Images of the Past* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. Benton Harbor, Mich.: Patterson Printing. 249 pp.

Payne, Norma. 2009. "Christmas in a One-Room School" [author's mother, b. 1930; Barbour Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 35, no. 4 (Winter): 54-55.

Pearce, John Ed. [1994] 2010. Days of Darkness: The Feuds of Eastern Kentucky. Rpt. ed. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 227 pp.

Peine, Emelie K., and Kai A. Schafft. 2012 "Moonshine, Mountaineers, and Modernity: Distilling Cultural History in the Southern Appalachian Mountains" [Cocke Co., Tenn.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 18, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 93-112.

Pemberton, Robert L. [1929] 2002. *A History of Pleasants County, West Virginia*. Rpt. ed. Baltimore: Genealogical Publishing Company. 272 pp. Orginally published, St. Mary's, W. Va.: Oracle Press.

Pendarvis, Edwina D. 2008. *Raft Tide and Railroad: How We Lived and Died: Collected Memories and Stories of an Appalachian Family and Its Seventh Son*. Ashland, Ky.: Blair Mountain Press. 207 pp. Ky., Va., W. Va.; Donald T. Johnson family.

Penix, Amanda Griffith. 2007. *Arthurdale* [W. Va.; first New Deal Homestead Community, 1933; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Perry, Woodrow. 2011. "Life on Perry Ridge: Memories of a Wayne County Family." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 4 (Winter): 36-41. The author, b. 1940, was the seventh of ten children.

Peters, Charles Jack. 2001. "The Life of a Farm" [Vandergrift, Westmoreland Co., Pa.; tracing 18th-century beginnings]. *Western Pennsylvania History* 84 (Spring): 22-33.

Pettry, Danny. 2012. *150 Wonderful Things You Should Know About West Virginia: A Celebration of the 150th Anniversary of West Virginia*. Beckley, W.Va: DannyPettry.com. 147 pp. Includes references but no index.

Peyton, Billy Joe. 2010. *Charleston* [W. Va. state capital; vintage photos]. Then & Now series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 95 pp.

Phillips, Anna. 2005. "'Startin' on the Next Hundred Years': An Interview with Ernest Vinson" [b. 1904; Rabun Co., Ga.]. *Foxfire Magazine* 39 (Fall/Winter): 104-110.

Phillips, Cynthia A. 2005. *Tucker County* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Phillips, Jayne Anne. 2008. "West Virginia." In *State by State: A Panoramic Portrait of America*, ed. M. Weiland, and S. Wilsey, 487-500. New York: Ecco. Personal essay in a book of essays modeled after 1930s Federal Writers Project guides.

Piacentino, Ed. 2011. "Ham Jones, North Carolina Backwoods Humorist, and the Art of 'Democratic Elbow-Rubbing'." *Mississippi Quarterly* 64, no. 1-2 (Winter-Spring): 59-74.

Pickett, Suzanne. 1998. *Hot Dogs for Thanksgiving: A Memoir* [Depression-era Alabama; coal miner family]. Montgomery, Ala.: Black Belt Press. 190 pp.

Picturing West Virginia: A Century of Collecting by the West Virginia State Archives, 1905-2005 [150 selected b&w photographs profile the state]. 2005. Charleston: West Virginia Division of Culture and History. 120 pp.

Pittman, Margie J. 2012. *Coal Camp Teens: Proud Creekers*. Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse. 143 pp. Stories of growing up in 1950s-60s Campbell's Creek, W. Va.

Pittman, Patsy Evans. 2011. *Pocket Change* [biography, W. Va., inspirational vignettes]. Terra Alta, W.Va: Headline Books. 75 pp.

Pittsburgh, 1758-2008 [archival photos]. 2008. By the Pittsburgh Post-Gazette and Carnegie Library of Pittsburgh. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Contents: 1. A wilderness fort and early settlement: 1758-1815 -- 2. A city's first steps, then disaster: 1816-1845 -- 3. Pittsburgh rebuilds and expands: 1846-1859 -- 4. The Civil War and the Iron City: 1860-1879 -- 5. The gilded age of industry: 1880-1899 -- 6. A new century, a world war: 1900-1919 -- 7. A skyscraper university grows in Oakland: 1920-1939 -- 8. Another world war and a renaissance: 1940-1959 -- 9. Civil unrest and title teams: 1960-1979 -- 10. Big steel falls, high-tech rises: 1980-2008.

Poling, Newton L. 2002. "Growing Up in a Family Store" [Philippi, W. Va.; 1920-33]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Spring): 45-49.

Poling, Warren. 2006. "Slim Bosely and His Outhouse" [1905-1992; Barbour Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 1 (Spring): 52-55.

Pope, Douglas W. 2009. "Confessions of a Half-Assed Reformed Alcoholic." *Nantahala: A Review of Writing and Photography in Appalachia* 4, no. 1 (Summer/Fall): Non-Fiction section, 3746 words. Creativenonfiction; dysfunctional college dropout. http://nantahalareview.org/issue4-1/nonfiction4-1/POPE.htm.

Portelli, Alessandro. 2002. "We Were Poor But... How Appalachians and Italians Look at Poverty." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Spring): 31-35.

Powell, Katrina M. 2007. *The Anguish of Displacement: The Politics of Literacy in the Letters of Mountain Families in Shenandoah National Park* [1930s Va.; 300 handwritten letters; eminent domain relocation]. Charlottesville: University of Virginia. 212 pp.

Powers, James, and Terry Baldridge. 2008. *Ashland* [Ky., photo-retrospective]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Boyd County; Ohio River.

Prather, Paul. 2009. A Memory of Firelight: Selected Columns from the Lexington Herald-Leader [2002-2008; religion, spirituality]. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 176 pp.

Prichard, James M. 2009. "The Devil at Large: Anse Hatfield's War" [Hatfield-McCoy feud origins]. In *Virginia at War, 1863*, ed. W. Davis and J. Robertson, 55-84. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.

Priest, Karl. 2006. "Over the Hill Is Out: Baseball in the Projects" [1955-56 Charleston; public housing boys]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 2 (Summer): 46-51.

Pritt, Troy Wye, and Troy Lynn Pritt. 2008. *Troy Wye Pritt in His Own Words: Oral History, 1916-2005, Elkins, West Virginia.* Wilmar, Ark.: Mtnpride Books. 202 pp.

Probasco, Susan Elizabeth. 2011. "Miss Lillibelle, Moonshine, and Midnight at the Crystal Café: Remembrances of a Southeast Arkansas Culture-Scape." In *Museums and Memory:* Selected Papers from the Annual Meeting of the Southern Anthropological Society, Staunton, Virginia, March, 2008, ed. M. Huber, 181-195. Knoxville, Tenn.: Newfound Press. The author takes direction from Kathleen Stewart's A Space on the Side of the Road: Cultural Poetics in Another America (1996) in these four narratives.

Pross, Lester. 2000. "November 9, 1947" [heirloom letter from new professor, Berea College]. *Appalachian Heritage* 28 (Fall): 7-12.

Pruitt, Beth. 2005. "Traveling with the Lord: From the Journals of Claudine Palmer Cantrell" [1920-2004; Ga.]. *Foxfire Magazine* 39 (Spring/Summer): 46-69.

Puckett, Anita. 2000. Seldom Ask, Never Tell: Labor and Discourse in Appalachia. Oxford Studies in Anthropological Linguistics, no. 25. New York: Oxford University Press. 309 pp. "Puckett takes a new look at the relationship between language, society, and economics, by examining how people talk about work in a rural Appalachian community. Through analysis of conversations in casual yet commercial contexts, she finds that the construction and maintenance of this discourse is essential to socio-economic relationships." Contents: Note on Transcription - 1. Introduction: "I am just a simple man"-- 2. Possessive Constructions and Linguistic-Economics: "Whose girl are you?" -- 3. Participant Frameworks Indexed by Requesting Discourse: "That's not right" -- 4. "Volunteerins," Direct "Askins," and Optional Uses of Nonimperative Requesting Discourse: "You shouldn't have to ask for that" -- 7. "Helpin Somebody Out": Imperatives in Task Situations: "Hey, Claude, hand me that rope" -- 8. "Doin for Somebody": Orders and Imperatives: "You should a done this and you should a done that" -- 9. Conclusion: "The way we do things is different" -- Appendix A: Participants -- Appendix B: Summary of Daily Activities.

Pulling, Anne Frances. 2000. Northern Cambria [Cambria Co., Pa.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp. Coal mining center; Allegheny Mountains.

Purcell, Aaron D. 2012. "A Mountain Country." *Journal of East Tennessee History* 84, (January 2012): 1-2.

Quigley, Martha Hall. 2000. *Hazard, Perry County* [Ky.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp. Images were culled from the collection of Bobby Davis Museum and Park, Hazard, Ky., and cover 1910s-1950s.

Quigley, Martha Hall. 2006. *Railroading Around Hazard and Perry County* [Ky.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Quillen, Robert. 2008. *The Voice of Small-Town America: The Selected Writings of Robert Quillen, 1920-1948*. Edited by John Hammond Moore. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 321 pp. Fountain Inn, S.C., newspaper editor.

Rae, Kelley. 1999. "Our Bars" [Mineral Co., W. Va., bar culture]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 16 (Summer): 28-31.

Rae, Kelley. 2001. "Blue Beach" [W. Va.; family camp on the South Branch of the Potomac; creative nonfiction essay]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 18 (Spring): 25-29.

Raised Up in the Mountains: The Youth of Appalachia. 2003. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 20 (Spring): 1-40.

Rakes, Paul H. 2011. "Waiting for the Ride: The Automobile and the Southern West Virginia Coalfields: A Memoir." In *Anthology of Appalachian Writers: Bobbie Ann Mason*, Vol. III, ed. S. Shurbutt, 72-76. Shepherdstown, W. Va.: Shepherd University.

Ramps: The Cookbook: Cooking with the Best Kept Secret of the Appalachian Trail [wild leeks]. 2012. Introduction by Glen Facemire. Pittsburgh, Pa.: St. Lynn's Press. 114 pp. Fifty ramp recipes and photos from well-known chefs.

Raskin, Hanna. 2009. "Latter-Day Corn Likkers" [moonshine]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25, no.2 (Fall/Winter): 45-47. Sidebar: three cocktails made with moonshine.

Rasmussen, Thomas Houser. 2009. Ox Cart to Automobile: Social Change in Western New York [Allegany Co.]. Lanham, Md.: University Press of America. 195 pp. Contents: Organizing ideas: central place and prisoner's dilemma -- Distance, elevation and early settlement decisions -- Making farms and raising crops 1810-1850 -- The Western New York farm at mid-century -- Dairy farming, commerce and rural industry 1865-1900 -- The automobile and rural decline: 1900-1950 -- Life in a barely agricultural Western New York: 1950-present.

Ray, Boyd S. 1996. *Blue Mountains & Green Valleys: Stories from Upper East Tennessee* [27 local stories and anecdotes]. Kearney, Neb.: Morris Publishing. 105 pp.

Ray, Janisse. 2003. *Wild Card Quilt: Taking a Chance on Home* [Baxley, Ga.; biography; by the author of *Ecology of a Cracker Childhood* (1999)]. Minneapolis, Minn.: Milkweed Editions. 308 pp.

Reed, Dale Volberg, and John Shelton Reed, ed. 2008. *Cornbread Nation 4: The Best of Southern Food Writing*. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 308 pp. Fifty-four short essays, poems, and recipes including: The South's love affair with soft drinks / Tom Hanchett -- The Moon Pie: a Southern journey / William Ferris -- Mountain dogs / Fred Sauceman -- Let us now praise fabulous cooks [*White Trash Cooking*] / John T. Edge -- Molly mooching on Bradley Mountain [W. Va.; mushrooms] / Mary Hufford -- Making a mess of poke / Dan Huntley -- Something special [cornmeal] / Carroll Leggett -- Cornbread in buttermilk; Salt; and Pork skins [3 poems] / Michael McFee -- By the silvery shine of the moon / Jim Myers -- Dennis Water Cress [Huntsville, Ala.] / Christopher Lang -- Frank Stitt [Birmingham, Ala.] / Pat Conroy.

Reed, Jeannie. 1996. "I Wannabe a Real Mountain Woman" [growing up in Appalachian Va.]. *Appalachian Heritage* 24 (Summer): 19-22.

Reighley, Kurt B. 2010. *United States of Americana: Backyard Chickens, Burlesque Beauties, and Handmade Bitters: A Field Guide to the New American Roots Movement*. New York: Harper Paperbacks. 244 pp. "A vivid survey of how and why young urban Americans are finding inspiration in Americana and the cultural traditions of an earlier time in many areas of contemporary life."

Reuther, Galen, and Lu Ann Welter. 2005. *Hendersonville* [N.C.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Rice, Oliver. 2011. "Pickin' and Preachin'" [Rabun Co., Ga.]. Interview by Jesse Owens. *Foxfire Magazine* 45, no. 3-4 (Fall-Winter): 68-73. Student interview with bluegrass-gospel playing preacher, Oliver Rice.

Richardson, Jerry. 1996. "Growing Up in Lynch" [Ky. coal camp]. *Appalachian Heritage* 24 (Summer): 12-15.

Risley, Eleanor De La Vergne (1867-1945). [1930] 2004. *The Road to Wildcat: A Tale of Mountain Alabama* [1920s travel encounters with mountaineers]. Introduction by Carroll Viera. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 266 pp. Originally published serially in the Atlantic Monthly in 1928 and 1929 and then in book form by Little, Brown, and Company in 1930.

Robe-Terry, Anna Lee. 1997. *Bootstraps and Biscuits: 300 Wonderful Wild Food Recipes from the Hills of West Virginia*. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 189 pp.

Robertson, Campbell. 2012. "Yesterday's Moonshiner, Today's Microdistiller." *New York Times*, 21 February, 10(A). 1,064 words. Marvin "Popcorn" Sutton died 2009 at age 62 in Cocke County, Tenn., where microdistilling is now legal. Mr. Sutton was a principal figure in a Discovery Channel TV series on moonshiners. http://www.nytimes.com/2012/02/21/us/popcornsuttons-whiskey-once-moonshine-is-now-legal.html?pagewanted=all& r=0.

Robson, Houghton. 2007. "Soap Box Derby 1937" [Patrick Street Bridge, Charleston]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 2 (Summer): 50-51.

Romano, Judy Bowen. 2011. *South Charleston* [W. Va., vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. In the past nicknamed "Chemical City" [the title of a 1991 Appalshop docmentary by Mimi Pickering and Anne Lewis about Union Carbide] due to its chemical plants along the Kanawha River; also site of the state's second largest Adena burial mound.

Romano, Mark. 2002. Webster: A Pictorial History of Webster County 2002 [W. Va.]. Cowen, W. Va.: M. Romano. 340 pp.

Romano, Mark. 2004. *A Pictorial History of Nicholas County* [W. Va.; profusely illustrated]. Cowen, W. Va.: M. Romano. 400 pp.

Romano, Mark. 2006. "Bergoo, the Town" [timber/coal/railroad center on the Elk River, named for the wild game stew, burgoo]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 1 (Spring): 34-37.

Rose, Jessamine. 2010. *Don't Let the Secret Out* [child abuse; b. 1937; Harlan Co., Ky.]. Brandenburg, Ky.: Bearhead Publishing. 113 pp.

Rose, Nicole. 2006. "Blackberry Tales" [picking blackberries; Pocahontas Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 2 (Summer): 52-55.

Rosenberg, Debra. 2001. "How One Town Got Hooked" [Hazard, Ky.; OxyContin addiction]. *Newsweek*, 9 April, 48-51.

Ross, Deborah McHenry. 2007. "Decoration Day" [Knight cemetery; 1960s Braxton Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 1 (Spring): 32-33.

Rowland, Tim. 2009. *Maryland's Appalachian Highlands: Massacres, Moonshine, & Mountaineering*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 126 pp. Contents: The mountains' rocky beginning | Native Americans exit the hills | Settlers face an uphill battle | Maryland's Daniel Boone | A road pierces the wilderness | The mountains get to work | War at the summit | A tale of two monuments | The ghosts of the gap | The industrial revolution takes a break | The Army channels its inner intelligence | What prohibition? | The mountains at play.

Rowley, Matthew B. 2007. *Moonshine!: Recipes, Tall Tales, Drinking Songs, Historical Stuff, Knee-Slappers, How to Make It, How to Drink It, Pleasin' the Law, Recoverin' the Next Day.* New York: Sterling. 175 pp.

Rubin, Rachel. 2006. "'The Anti-Slavery Act of 2002': An Interview with Si Kahn" [songwriter and organizer]. Chap. 12 in *Radicalism in the South since Reconstruction*, ed. C. Green, R. Rubin, and J. Smethurst, 239-253. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Rudder, Marie Tuller. 1999. *Memories From the Heart: Growing Up In the Foothills of Appalachia* [Laurel Co., Ky.]. London, Ky.: Janze Publicatons. 154 pp.

Rule, Bernadette. 2006. "The Chicken House" [memoir, 1950s, "Chickasaw territory," Ala.-Miss.(?)]. In *CrossRoads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 299-305. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Rusher, James Thomas. 2003. *Until He is Dead: Capital Punishment in Western North Carolina History*. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 246 pp.

Rutherford, Justine Felix. 2002. *Rough Lumber: Stories from Spurlock Creek* [Depression-era W. Va.]. San Jose, Calif.: Writers Club Press (iUniverse). 143 pp.

Rutherford, Justine Felix. 2005. *Wild Mustard: Flavorful Characters, Opinions, and Recipes from Spurlock Creek* [Depression-era Cabell Co., W. Va.]. Huntington, W. Va.: Mid-Atlantic Highlands Publishing. 158 pp.

Rutherford, Justine Felix. 2012. *Root Jumper: Stories from the "Hills and Hollers" of West Virginia*. Bloomington, Ind.: iUniverse. 82 pp. Memoir; growing up on a farm on Spurlock Creek in Depression-era, 1930s Cabell County.

Sale, Anna. 2005. "Bus on a Rock': Bruiser Cole's Camp at Gauley Bridge" [Greyhound bus/fishing camp; Fayette Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 4 (Winter): 36-42.

Salsi, Lynn. 2007. *Voices from the North Carolina Mountains: Appalachian Oral Histories* [six mountaineers living traditional lifestyles]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 127 pp. Contents: Amy Michels: banjo picker, fowl farmer and coon hunter / Glenn Bolick: sawmill man, potter, singer and songwriter / Robert Dotson: champion flatfooter, dance caller and 'baccer farmer / Ora Watson: champion fiddler, dancer and entertainer/ Eula Ross Osborne: farmer, lacemaker and Grandma's darlin' / Clyde Lewis: turkey farmer, blues musician and milkman.

Samples, Mack. 2012. "Hope and Success in Corton" [Kanawha Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 4 (Winter): 56-61. 1930s-1960s profile of this Elk River Valley community that "grew up around a large natural gas pumping station."

Sanford, Michael. 2006. "Aunt Mary's Slick Tomato Bake" [i.e., okra; recipe]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 1 (Spring): 62-63.

Sauceman, Fred. 2005. "A Smelly Business But Good" [ramps and Eastern Cherokees]. In *Crossroads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 39-49. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Sauceman, Fred W. 2006. "'Kentucky's Soft Drink' Turns 80: Gingery Refresher Produced by 104-Year-Old Family Business Has Scandinavian Origins" [Ale-8-One, Winchester, Ky.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 1 (Spring): 60-61.

Sauceman, Fred W. 2006. "Appalachian Foodways." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 7: *Foodways*, ed. J. Edge, 18-22. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Sauceman, Fred W. 2006. *The Place Setting: Timeless Tastes of the Mountain South, from Bright Hope to Frog Level*. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 210 pp. Columnist's profiles of foodways in 58 locales, and 17 recipes from Tenn., N.C., and Va.

Sauceman, Fred. 2007. "A Smelly Business but Good" [cooking ramps, as a Cherokee tradition; N.C.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 69-72. Sidebar: "The First Family of Ramps" [festival; recipe], 73-74.

Sauceman, Fred. 2007. "Boiled Peanuts and the Bonds of Family." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 78-79.

Sauceman, Fred. 2007. "Bright Hope" [1960s frog-hunting forays, Greene Co., Tenn.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 75-77.

Sauceman, Fred W. 2007. *The Place Setting: Timeless Tastes of the Mountain South, from Bright Hope to Frog Level: Second Serving* [cookbook]. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 255 pp. Contents: Pioneers and practitioners | Baklava in beanland: immigrant influences in Appalachia | Waterfront fare | Fancy digs | From the sugar sack | Loaf and linger.

Sauceman, Fred. 2008. "Dr. Enuf: A New Age Nutraceutical with a Patent Medicine Pedigree." *Tennessee Folklore Society Bulletin* 64, no. 1 (Spring): 1-7. Tri-City Beverage bottling facility, Johnson City, Tenn., "...the nation's first carbonated, vitamin-enriched soft drink...promoted as a curative."

Sauceman, Fred. 2008. "The Fabric of War" [Greenville, Tenn.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 77-79. Memoir: author's father at Battle of the Bulge; mother working for war effort at Southern Garment Corporation; Italian Gualano family's comfort gift of recipes to Greenville.

Sauceman, Fred. 2009. "Inside Mario's Fishbowl" [legendary WVU tavern]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25, no.2 (Fall/Winter): 35-37.

Sauceman, Fred W. 2009. The Place Setting: Timeless Tastes of the Mountain South, from Bright Hope to Frog Level: Thirds [cookbook]. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 250 pp.

Sauceman, Fred W., ed. 2010. "High on the Alabama Hog" [barbecue restaurants]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 26, no. 1 (Summer): 25-27.

Sauceman, Fred W., ed. 2010. *Cornbread Nation 5: The Best of Southern Food Writing*. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 314 pp. Seventy-two short essays, poems, and recipes including: Gratitiude: May / Barbara Kingsolver -- Corn as a way of life / Loyal Jones -- Between the rows with both hands: bean picking in Northeast Tennessee / Margaret Carr -- Onion medicine / Anthony Cavender -- Coveted, French, and now in Tennessee [truffles] / Molly O'Neill -- Mulling over mull: a North Georgia foodways localism [soup] / Charles C. Doyle -- So long, White Lily [Knoxville; White Lily Flour] / Jack Neely -- What happened to poor man's pâté? [N.C.; livermush] / Chuck Shuford -- Malabsorption Syndrome [poem] / Marianne

Worthington -- Platters and permanence walk and talk a-plenty at Spartanburg's Beacon [Drive-In] / Susan Shelton -- Dr. Enuf: a New Age nutraceutical with a patent medicine pedigree [Tri-City Beverage, Johnson City, Tenn.] / Fred W. Sauceman.

Sauceman, Fred. 2010. "Interview with Fred Sauceman." *Still: The Journal*, no. 4 (Fall). 3,633 words. "Fred Sauceman, a native of Greeneville, Tennessee, is... Associate Professor of Appalachian Studies at East Tennessee State University, where he teaches a course entitled 'The Foodways of Appalachia' and edits *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine*." http://www.stilljournal.net/fred-sauceman-interview.php.

Sauceman, Fred. 2011. "Scoring with Mettwurst and Beans" [Knoxville, Tenn.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 2 (Winter): 47-48. Still an "anchor" to the menu at the Old College Inn which opened in 1939 as Brownies.

Scarboro, Bob, and Mike Goodson. 2004. *Etowah County* [northeast Ala.; vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Schacht, Matthew. 2008. "Freeing Families: Non-Profits in Northeast Tennessee Help Families Fight Cycle of Recidivism." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 51-54. Losing a parent to incarceration.

Schraff, Marilyn Thornton. 2010. *Appalachian Childhood: Memories of Growing Up in Rural Southern Ohio During the Mid 20th Century* [Lawrence Co.]. Cleveland, Oh..: M.T. Schraff. 220 pp.

Schramm, Robert W. 2004. *Moundsville* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Schurer, S. M. 2003. "H. Winslow Fegley and the FSA in Pennsylvania: Agenda and Context" [1930s photographs, Farm Security Administration]. *Pennsylvania History* 70 (Summer): 269-286.

Schwaner, Shawn L., and Thomas J. Keil. 2003. "Internal Colonization, Folk Justice, and Murder in Appalachia: The Case of Kentucky" [Eastern Ky.; examines cultural predictors of homicide]. *Journal of Criminal Justice* 31 (May): 279-287.

Scott, Shaunna L. 1995. *Two Sides to Everything: The Cultural Construction of Class Consciousness in Harlan County, Kentucky*. SUNY Series in Oral and Public History. Albany: State University of New York. 259 pp.

Scott, Shaunna L. 1996. "Drudges, Helpers and Team Players: Oral Historical Accounts of Farm Work in Appalachian Kentucky." *Rural Sociology* 61 (Summer): 209-226.

Scott, Shaunna L. 1996. "Gender among Appalachian Kentucky Farm Families: The Kentucky Farm Family Oral History Project and Beyond." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Spring): 103-113.

Seguret, SG. 1999. "Rumors." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 16 (Summer): 17-19. Profiles Seguret's parents, Polly and Peter Gott, model homesteaders in 1960s Shelton Laurel, N.C.

Selby, David. 2005. *A Better Place* [Hollywood actor's memoir of W. Va. upbringing]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 227 pp.

Serving Appalachia. 2012. Special issue, *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 1-68. Essays on people, service organizations, and examples of "labors of love" in the region, many profiles of women.

Shaffner, Randolph P. 2001. *Heart of the Blue Ridge: Highlands, North Carolina* [local history]. Highlands, N.C.: Faraway Publications.

Shaffner, Randolph P. 2008. *Highlands* [N.C.; pictorial retrospective]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Shannon, Joe Wayne. 2007. My Old Gray Coat: Mountainhome Musing [N.C.; anecdotes, stories, poems]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 95 pp.

Shapiro, Tricia. 2012. Review essay of *Transforming Places: Lessons from Appalachia*, ed. Stephen L. Fisher and Barbara Ellen Smith (University of Illinois Press, 2012). *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 3 (Summer): 104-106.

Shaw, Harry Franklin. 1999. *Memories from the Hills of West Virginia: True Stories of Life in Appalachia from the Private Papers of Harry Franklin Shaw* [Sassafras, W. Va.]. Transcribed and edited by Herbert L. Roush, Sr. Baltimore, Md.: Gateway Press; Little Hocking, Ohio: H. L. Roush. 122 pp.

Shearer, Katharine C. 2006. *Wilder Days: Coal Town Life on Dumps Creek: Wilder, the Shaft, Dixie Splint, South Clinchfield* [1910-1937; company towns, Russell Co., Va.; oral histories; 600 photos]. Emory, Va: Clinch Mountain Press. 336 pp.

Shearer, Katharine C., ed. 2001. *Memories From Dante: The Life of a Coal Town* [Russell County, Va.; oral histories, photographs; Clinchfield Coal Corp.]. Introduction by Jean Haskell. Abingdon, Va.: People Incorporated of Southwest Virginia. 525 pp. See also: http://www.peopleincorp.org/dante.htm.

Shelby, Anne. 2011. "Dear Appalachia." *Appalachian Heritage* 39, no. 1 (Winter): 71. "You can't run me off" love letter, from "your daughter."

Shifflett, Peggy A. 2004. *The Red Flannel Rag: Memories of an Appalachian Childhood* [b. 1941; detailed memoir; Hopkins Gap, Rockingham Co., Va.]. Salem, Va: P.A. Shifflett, Inc. 278 pp. Contents: Introduction; 1. The Setting; 2. Memorable Characters; 3. Making a Living; 4. Moonshine; 5. Superstitions, Magic, and Big Snakes; 6. Getting and Keeping Babies; 7.

Childhood Games and Lessons Learned; 8. School Days; 9. Gimme That Old Time Religion; 10. Hopkins Gap Meets the World.

Shipley, Melissa. 2007. "The Wildflower Woman of Scott County, Virginia" [91-year-old Minnie Curtis; two recipes, for salad and jelly]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 78-79.

Shirey, Sally. 2001. *Ligonier Valley* [Pa.; Westmoreland Co.]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp. Vintage photos.

Shirley, Beth, and Mae Carnes Cragg. 1998. "Aunt Mae" [Ga.; oral history interview with Cragg, b. 1912]. *Foxfire Magazine* 32 (Fall/Winter): 144-152.

Shope, Tommie Lee. 2006. "A Walk Through Time: An Interview with Tommie Lee Shope" [b. 1908?; Cowee Valley, Otto, N.C.]. Interview by student Cynthia Green. *Foxfire Magazine* 40 (Fall/Winter): 129-137.

Shortridge, Barbara G. 2005. "Apple Stack Cake for Dessert: Appalachian Regional Foods." *The Journal of Geography* 104, no. 2 (March-April): 65-73.

Shoupe, Carl. 2009. "Carl Shoupe: Man of Many Hats" [b. 1946, Harlan Co., Ky.; survived a coal mine roof fall; UMWA organizer]. Interview by Alex Owens. *Foxfire Magazine* 43, no. 1-2 (Spring/Summer): 28-42.

Shreve, D. Bardon. 1997. *A Place Called Smoke Hole* [Pendleton Co., W. Va.; 1930s-40s; biography, stories]. Fredericksburg, Va.: D.B. Shreve. 205 pp.

Shreve, D. Bardon. 2000. *More about Smoke Hole* [W. Va.; characters, stories]. Fredericksburg, Va.: D.B. Shreve. 194 pp.

Shriver, Thomas E. 2000. "Risk and Recruitment: Patterns of Social Movement Mobilization in a Government Town" [Oak Ridge, Tenn.]. *Sociological Focus* 33 (August): 321-337.

Shriver, Thomas E., Sherry Cable, Lachelle Norris, and Donald W. Hastings. 2000. "The Role of Collective Identity in Inhibiting Mobilization: Solidarity and Suppression in Oak Ridge" [80 interviews]. *Sociological Spectrum* 20 (January-March): 41-64.

Shumate, Sam. 2006. *The Bridge Crew: Growing Up in the Blue Ridge Mountains in the 1940's and 50's* [Warrensville, Ashe Co., N.C.; biography]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 158 pp.

Sikora, Frank. 2005. *Let Us Now Praise Famous Women: A Memoir* [rural poverty and race, 1960s Calhoun Co., Ala.]. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.

Simmons, Gina. 2009. *Discovering Lavalette*. [No location]: Gina Simmons. 148 pp. Wellwritten, illustrated, self-published history of Wayne Co., W. Va., village of Lavalette.

Sims, Elizabeth, with Chef Brian Sonoskus. 2011. *Tupelo Honey Cafe: Spirited Recipes from Asheville's New South Kitchen* [N.C.]. Kansas City, Mo.: Andrews McMeel. 222 pp. "...an early pioneer in the farm-to-fork movement...since it first opened in 2000."

Sink, Alice E. 2011. *Hidden History of the Western North Carolina Mountains* [vignettes of common folks]. Charleston, S.C.: History Pres. 142 pp. Contents: There's no place like home | All in a day's work | Hotels, lodges, inns, and assembly grounds | People | Education | Believe it or not | Entertainment and celebrations | Recipe appendix.

Six, Dean. 2011. *The Practical Mountaineer Handbook*. Charleston, W.Va: West Virginia Book Company. 34 pp. "If you are wondering about planting parsnips, singing about crawdads, or how to pickle our much beloved ramps it is here in this useful book."

Slatalla, Michelle. 2006. *The Town on Beaver Creek: The Story of a Lost Kentucky Community* [oral histories memoir; Martin, Ky.; Floyd Co.]. New York: Random House. 242 pp.

Smith, Arnold R. 2001. *Appalachia: As I Remember It* [memoir; 1930s-40s Hazard, Ky.]. Tucson, Ariz.: Hats Off Books. 171 pp.

Smith, Barbara, and Carl Briggs. 2000. *Barbour County* [W. Va.; pictorial history]. Images of America series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Smith, Barbara Ellen. 2006. "'You Dig Where You Stand': An Interview with Barbara Ellen Smith" [gender scholarship; new immigrants]. Interview by Dare Cook, Ashley Crabtree, Aaron Davis, Katie Gray, Michael Troy, with Patricia Beaver. *Appalachian Journal* 33, no. 2 (Winter): 188-208.

Smith, Barbara. 2000. "'Lovingly, Mama': The Letters of Viola S. Springer" [Colfax, Marion Co.; 1901-1903; 67 letters reveal family life]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Spring): 12-16.

Smith, Jordan W., Roger L. Moore, Dorothy H. Anderson, and Christos Siderelis. 2012. "Community Resilience in Southern Appalachia: A Theoretical Framework and Three Case Studies." *Human Ecology* 40, no. 3 (June): 341-353. Haywood, Macon, and Mitchell Counties., N.C.

Smith, Larry R., and Guy Mason. 2011. *Mingo Junction* [Ohio; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp. Mingo Junction is a river/steel town located in the Upper Ohio Valley.

Smith, Lee, ed. 2000. Sitting on the Courthouse Bench: An Oral History of Grundy, Virgin[i]a. Oral history by Grundy High School Students. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Tryon Publishing Company. 254 pp.

Smith, Lee. 2002. "Raised to Leave" [to get "culture," now the outside comes to us; cf. *O Brother, Where Art Thou?* soundtrack]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Spring): 20-23.

Smith, Melissa. 2003. "Fountain Hobby Center: Passing the Test of Time" [landmark soda fountain, toy store; Charleston; founded 1947]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Winter): 26-31.

Smith, Mike. 2004. *You're Not from Around Here: Photographs of East Tennessee* [77 fenced landscapes, rural yards, and faces - stark, unsentimental, non-captioned]. Introduction by Robert Sobieszek, "Rerelating Place: Mike Smith's Appalachia," x-xvi. Santa Fe, N.M.: Center for American Places. 108 pp.

Smith, Tony. 2008. *These Old Hills* [memoir; b. 1960; Rockcastle Co., Ky.]. Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse. 208 pp.

Smith, Virgil L. 2012. "Recalling Life along the Little Kanawha" [River; Gilmer Co.; 1940s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 4 (Winter): 30-35.

Snyder, Betty Bowers. 2004. "'Across the Ocean in Philadelphia': My Early Days in Mineral County" [b. 1941; hardships; Granny-raised]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 30 (Summer): 56-61.

Snyder, Ken. 2012. "Pot of Beans." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 2 (Summer): 58-59. Pinto beans as a staple with West Virginia cooking.

Sohn, Mark F. 1996. *Mountain Country Cooking: A Gathering of the Best Recipes from the Smokies to the Blue Ridge*. Foreword by John Egerton. New York: St. Martin's Press. 364 pp.

Sohn, Mark F. 1998. "Spring Onions and Killed Lettuce" [foodways; recipe]. *Appalachian Heritage* 26 (Spring): 32-35.

Sohn, Mark. 2005. *Appalachian Home Cooking: History, Culture, and Recipes* [photos, bibliography, glossary, mail-order sources, index]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 345 pp.

Sohn, Mark, section editor. 2006. "Food and Cooking" [signed entries]. In *Encyclopedia of Appalachia*, ed. R. Abramson and J. Haskell, 911-961 (with introductory essay, 911-915). Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Southards, Senia. 2003. "'Still Got Life to Go': An Interview with Senia Southards" [b. 1929; Ga.; Depression-era hardships]. Interview by students LeAnne Puckett and Stacy Ammons. *Foxfire* 37 (Spring/Summer): 60-66.

Space, Place, and Appalachia series. 2004. In *Southern Spaces: An Interdisciplinary Journal about the Regions, Places, and Cultures of the American South* [online, occasional series of photo-essays]. An Emory University Digital Library Research Initiative. http://www.southernspaces.org/.

Spalding, Susan Eike, and Jane Harris Woodside, ed., under the auspices of the Center for Appalachian Studies and Services. 1995. *Communities in Motion: Dance, Community, and Tradition in America's Southeast and Beyond*. Contributions to the Study of Music and Dance, no. 35. Westport: Greenwood Press. 273 pp.

Special 30th Anniversary Issue. *1996. Foxfire Magazine* 30 (Spring/Summer): 1-80. Reprints articles on courting, glowing foxfire, superstitions, moonshining, mountain recipes, faith healing, and more.

Speed, J. P., and Mary Grace Speed. 2004. "From Mill to Meal...Cornbread and Grits." Interview by student Ashley Grace O'Shields with her grandfather and grandmother [b. 1934, Oconee Co., S.C.; photographs, recipes]. *Foxfire Magazine* 38 (Fall/Winter): 109-120.

Speer, Allen Paul. 2010. From Banner Elk to Boonville: The Voices Trilogy, Part Three [Yadkin County, N.C.; memoir; stories]. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 135 pp.

Speer, Jean Haskell. 1998. "Uppity Mountain Cooking" [Appalachian professional chefs]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 25 (Spring): 6-11.

Spence, Robert Y. 1998. "After the Feud: Livicey Hatfield's Photo Album" [interview; photographs; Hatfield-McCoy Feud]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Fall): 50-55.

Spence, Robert. 2002. "'I Never Wanted to Live Anywhere Else': Wallace W. Farley of Williamson" [city's coal heritage and famous Coal House]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Spring): 20-26.

Spence, Robert. 2002. "The Devil Turned to Stone" [contrasts post-feud lives of Henry Drury Hatfield, physician and governor, and William Anderson "Cap" Hatfield, outlaw and attorney]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Spring): 27-29.

Stafford, Patricia. 2006. "Tomato Ketchup from an East Tennessee Farm" [recipe; 'shelved in Mason jars and Pepsi bottles']. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 71.

Staley, Kathryn L. 1998. "Identity in a Mountain Family" [Alleghany Co., N.C.; 1998 Carl A. Ross Student Paper Competition Award winner]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 4 (Fall): 239-253.

Stalnaker, Bill. 2004. "Jordan Coal Camp Memories: An Interview with Johnnie Johnson" [1924-2005; rock and roll pianist from Fairmont]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 9: 22-25.

Stalnaker, Karen. 2003. "The Odd Fellows Home in Elkins: 'So Charitable a Mission'" [children's home, 1911-1954; built 1908]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Fall): 8-25.

Stamper, Georgia Green. 2008. *You Can Go Anywhere: From the Crossroads of the World*. Nicholasville, Ky.: Wind Publications. 217 pp. Essays, humor, historical sketches; Ky.

Stanberry, Dosi Elaine Cook. 2005. *Mountain Echoes: Beech Mountain, North Carolina* [b. 1911?; biography]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 259 pp.

Stanley, Talmage A. 2012. *The Poco Field: An American Story of Place* [McDowell Co., W. Va.; Va.]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 232 pp. Both biography and sociological study of the author's "grandparents' middle-class aspirations...in the once-booming Pocahontas coalfields": 1920s-1940s Keystone, W. Va. and Newbern, Va.

Stapler, Alisa. 2010. "Gardening and Gathering: A Visit with Wanda Tucker Jarrell of Winifrede" [Kanawha Co.; wild greens; b. 1927; memoir]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 36, no. 3 (Fall): 54-58.

Stealey, Robert F. 2000. *Harrison County* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Stealey, Robert F. 2001. *Doddridge and Ritchie Counties* [W. Va.; pictorial history]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Stealey, Robert F. 2005. *Clarksburg* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Steelhammer, Rick. 2012. *The Ultimate Book of West Virginia Lists*. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 126 pp. "...hundreds of fun and interesting facts about the Mountain State."

Stephenson, Morris. 2012. A Night of Makin' Likker: Plus Other Stories from the Moonshine Capital of the World [Franklin Co., Va.]. Raleigh, N.C.: Lulu Press. 180 pp. The author is a former newspaper reporter who frequently accompanied state and federal agents on raids. See review by Duncan Adams, Roanoke Times, 22 January 2013, http://www.roanoke.com/news/1607057-12/books-tell-tales-of-moonshine-in-franklin-county.html.

Sterste, LeAnna Alderman, and Drew Tanner. 2008. *The Old Man of the Mountain: Eldridge McComb* [1924-2007; Marlinton region, Pocahontas Co.; mountain life]. Dunmore, W.Va: Pocahontas Communications Cooperative. 53 pp. www.alleghenymountainradio.org.

Stevens, Robert L., and Jared A. Fogel. 1999. "From Mountain Men to Miners" [the move from mountain farms to coal camp life]. *Social Education* 63 (September): 262-268.

Stevenson, Amy A., and Rae Jean V. Sielen, ed. 1997. *Mountain State Stories of the People: Celebrating West Virginia* [collection of more than 200 brief oral histories]. Morgantown, W. Va.: Populore Publishing Company. 186 pp.

Stevenson, Mary Legg. 1998. *Coal Towns of West Virginia: A Pictorial Recollection*. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 170 pp.

Stevenson, Mary Legg. 2003. *Coal Towns of West Virginia: Volume 2* [79 towns; 350 rare old photographs]. Charleston, W. Va.: Quarrier Press. 265 pp.

Stewart, Bruce E. 2006. "This Country Improves in Cultivation, Wickedness, Mills, and Still': Distilling and Drinking in Antebellum Western North Carolina." *North Carolina Historical Review* 83, no. 4 (October): 447-478.

Stewart, Bruce E. 2007. "Select Men of Sober and Industrious Habits: Alcohol Reform and Social Conflict in Antebellum Appalachia" [Western N.C.; temperance organizations]. *Journal of Southern History* 73, no. 2 (May): 289-322.

Stewart, Bruce E. 2008. *King of the Moonshiners: Lewis R. Redmond in Fact and Fiction* [1854-1906; N.C.]. Edited by Bruce E. Stewart, with a foreword by Durwood Dunn. Appalachian Echoes series. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 176 pp. Contents: Introduction: the life and legacy of Lewis R. Redmond -- C. McKinley's interview of Redmond, 1878 [*Charleston News and Courier*] / C. McKinley -- The entwined lives of Miss Gabrielle Austin, daughter of the late Rev. Ellis C. Austin, and of Redmond, the outlaw, leader of the North Carolina "moonshiners" [1879 dime novel] / Edward B. Crittenden -- The true life of Maj. Lewis Richard Redmond, the notorious outlaw and famous moonshiner, of western North Carolina, who was born in Swain County, N.C., in the year 1855, and arrested April 7th, 1881 / R. A. Cobb.

Stewart, Bruce E. 2010. "The Forces of Bacchus Are Fast Yielding': The Rise and Fall of Anti-Alcohol Reform in Antebellum Rowan County, North Carolina." *North Carolina Historical Review* 87, no. 3 (July): 310-338. Temperance movement, 1775-1865; rural-urban relations.

Stewart, Bruce E. 2011. *Moonshiners and Prohibitionists: The Battle over Alcohol in Southern Appalachia* [N.C., 1790-1908]. New Directions in Southern History series. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 325 pp. Contents: The beginnings of antialcohol reform, 1790-1860 -- "This country improves in cultivation, wickedness, mills, and still": distilling and drinking during the antebellum period -- Select men of sober and industrious habits: alcohol reform and social conflict during the late antebellum period -- The golden age of moonshining, 1861-1876 -- "Is there any way to get at the distillers?": the fall and rise of the moonshiners, 1861-1868 -- "They tax us and give us Negro civil rights": moonshiner violence and the politics of federal liquor taxation, 1868-1876 -- The road to Prohibition, 1870-1908 -- Civilization requires Prohibition: the beginning of the end for the moonshiners, 1870-1882 -- "These bigboned, semi-barbarian people": creation of the myth of violent Appalachia and its consequences, 1878-1890 -- "Afloat on the tide of improvement": the uplift movement and rise of Prohibition sentiment in rural communities, 1885-1900 -- "Wilt thou send the revenues down upon the distillers": a political history of Prohibition, 1882-1908.

Stewart, Bruce E., ed. 2012. Blood in the Hills: A History of Violence in Appalachia. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 412 pp. Contents: Introduction / Bruce E. Stewart --Violence, statecraft, and statehood in the early republic: the state of Franklin, 1784-1788 / Kevin T. Barksdale -- "Devoted to hardships, danger, and devastation": the landscape of Indian and white violence in Wyoming Valley, Pennsylvania, 1753-1800 / Kathryn Shively Meier -- "Our mad young men": authority and violence in Cherokee country / Tyler Boulware -- The "ferocious character" of antebellum Georgia's gold country: frontier lawlessness and violence in fact and fiction / John C. Inscoe -- "A possession, or an absence of ears": the shape of violence in travel narratives about the mountain South, 1779-1835 / Katherine E. Ledford -- Violence against slaves as a catalyst in changing attitudes toward slavery: an 1857 case study in east Tennessee / Durwood Dunn -- "These big-boned, semi-barbarian people": moonshining and the myth of violent Appalachia, 1870-1900 / Bruce E. Stewart -- "Deep in the shades of ill-starred Georgia's wood": the murder of Elder Joseph Standing in late-nineteenth-century Appalachian Georgia / Mary Ella Engel -- Race and violence in urbanizing Appalachia: the Roanoke riot of 1893 / Rand Dotson -- Assassins and feudists: politics and death in the Bluegrass and mountains of Kentucky / T.R.C. Hutton -- "A hard-bitten lot": nonstrike violence in the early southern West Virginia smokeless coalfields, 1880-1910 / Paul H. Rakes and Kenneth R. Bailey -- "The largest manhunt in western North Carolina's history": the story of Broadus Miller / Kevin W. Young -- The murder of Thomas Price: image, identity, and violence in western North Carolina / Richard D. Starnes.

Stewart, Kathleen. 1996. A Space on the Side of the Road: Cultural Poetics in an "Other" America [ethnography; Raleigh County, W. Va.]. Princeton: Princeton University Press. 243 pp.

Stone, Olive Smith. 2002. "Hard Times, Proud Memories in Jackson County [b. 1922]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Fall): 24-29.

Stoneberger, John W. 1993. *Memories of a Lewis Mountain Man*. Edited by Michael E. Monbeck. Vienna, Va.: Potomac Appalachian Trail Club. 80 pp. Greene County and Rockingham County, Va.

Stratton, Dorothy C., and Alinde J. Moore. 2002. "Older Appalachian Men and Family Life" [values; interviews]. *Arete* 26 (Fall): 1-12.

Street, Joe. 2007. *The Culture War in the Civil Rights Movement*. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 229 pp. Includes discussions of Highlander Folk School, Myles and Zilphia Horton, Guy and Candy Carawan, the Southern Folk Cultural Revival Project, and other organizations.

Stuart, David E. 2009. *The Morganza, 1967: Life in a Legendary Reform School* [Canonsburg, Pa.]. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press. 225 pp. Nineteenth-century farm for orphaned boys, "converted into a detention center for Allegheny County youth convicted of crimes ranging from petty theft to armed robbery, rape, and murder...in reality, a youth prison camp."

Stuever, Hank. 2010. "'Jamie Oliver's Food Revolution' Regurgitates the Worst of Reality TV Pap." *Washington Post*, 20 March, 2(C). 742 words. ABC-TV reality show, set in Huntington, W. Va. http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2010/03/19/AR2010031901683.html.

Sturm, Philip W. 2005. *Wood County Reflections: A Pictorial History* [with generous text; Ohio River town; Parkersburg, county seat]. Virginia Beach, Va.: Donning Company. 191 pp.

Stylos, Ramona Layne. 2001. *Bearwallow Road: A Kentucky Childhood* [memoir; Depressionera Madison Co.]. Brevard, N.C.: Bellbird Books. 195 pp.

Suppertime: Traditional Recipes [submitted by interviewees]. 2006. *Foxfire Magazine* 40 (Fall/Winter): 158-159. [Red Skinned Potato Salad; Cornmeal Gravy; Walnut Cake and Icing; Potato Patties; Apple Pizza Pie; Strawberry-Rhubarb Pie].

Suter, Scott Hamilton, and Cheryl Lyon. 2005. *Places Faces & Traces: Historical Photographs of Harrisonburg and Rockingham County* [Va.]. Dayton, Va.: Silver Lake Mill. 126 pp.

Suter, Scott Hamilton. 1999. *Shenandoah Valley Folklife*. Folklife in the South Series. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 129 pp.

Sutphin, Lois. 2005. *Making Do: How to Cook Like a Mountain MeMa* [recipes and stories]. Greensboro, NC: NeDeo Press. 167 pp.

Sutton, Charles E. 2011. *They Called Me Shep!* Charleston, W. Va.: 35th Star Publishing. 114 pp. West Virginia memoir: Depression era; WWII; Kanawha and Pocahontas Counties.

Sutton, Charles E. 2012. *They Called Me Shep* [W. Va. memoir; Depression-era youth; WWII]. Charleston, W. Va.: 35th Star Publishing. 114 pp.

Sutton, Popcorn, with Ernestine Upchurch. 2009. *Me and My Likker: The True Story of a Mountain Moonshiner* [1946-2009, N.C., Tenn.]. Rev. ed. S.l: self-published. 128 pp.

Swannanoa Valley Museum. 2004. *Black Mountain and the Swannanoa Valley* [N.C.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Swartz, Patti Capel. 2012. "Sunday Afternoons" [memoir]. *Appalachian Heritage* 40, no. 2 (Spring): 113-116. Cherished twice-a-year walks with Mother through pastures and woods.

Swell, Barbara. 1996. *Log Cabin Cooking*. Asheville, N.C.: Native Ground Music. 64 pp. "Pioneer recipes & food lore."

Swick, Gerald D. 2010. *Historic Photos of West Virginia* [198 b&w archival photos spanning 1859-1979]. Nashville, Tenn.: Turner Publishing Company. 205 pp.

Szakos, Joe, and Kristin Layng Szakos. 2008. *Lessons from the Field: Organizing in Rural Communities*. New Orleans, La.: Social Policy Magazine. 127 pp.

Szakos, Kristin Layng, and Joe Szakos. 2007. We Make Change: Community Organizers Talk About What They Do-- and Why. Nashville, Tenn.: Vanderbilt University Press. 263 pp.

Tabler, Kenneth A. 2006. *The Day is Far Spent: Memoir*. Fort Myers, Fla.: Montani Publishing. 402 pp. Coming of age in Depression-era, eastern-panhandle W. Va.

Tanner, Borgon. 2012. "Night Sounds" [New Martinsville, Wetzel Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 38, no. 2 (Summer): 30-31. Childhood memories of industrial night sounds along the Ohio River, including coal trains and steamboats.

Tanner, Donna McGuire. 2000. "A Country Girl Comes Home: A Visit With Olive Workman Persinger" [1930s girlhood, Fayette Co.; 1950s radio singer]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Spring): 23-27.

Tanner, Donna McGuire. 2003. "Milroy's Road" [story of paraplegic, self-sufficient Milroy Grose, b. 1897; Fayette Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Spring): 34-37.

Tavernise, Sabrina, and Robert Gebeloff. 2011. "With Death Outpacing Birth, A County Slows to a Shuffle" [Brooke Co., W. Va.; Weirton]. *New York Times*, 7 May, 1(A). 1067 words. Includes shaded outline map of other eastern U.S. counties with "More Coffins Than Cradles." http://www.nytimes.com/2011/05/07/us/07aging.html.

Tavernise, Sabrina. 2011. "Tackling the Problems of Appalachia, Theatrically." *New York Times*, 15 May, 23(A). 778 words. Robert Gipe staged a series of uplifting plays titled "Higher Ground" in downtrodden Harlan Co., Ky., employing dozens of local residents telling their stories.

Taylor, Elizabeth M. 1992. "The Taxidermy of Bioluminescence: Tracking 'Neighboring' Practices in the Coal-Camps of West Virginia." *Anthropological Quarterly* 65 (July): 117-127. Special issue: Negotiating Identity in Southeastern U.S. Uplands.

Taylor, Joe Gray. [1982] 2008. *Eating, Drinking, and Visiting in the South: An Informal History*. Rpt. ed. New introduction by John Egerton. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press. 184 pp.

Taylor, Wesley. 2006. "Spotlight on a Former Foxfire Student: Wesley Taylor" (b. 1963; Rabun Co., Ga.]. Interview by student Christina Mitcham. *Foxfire Magazine* 40 (Spring/Summer): 47-55.

Teague, Ed. 2012. "An Interview with Ed Teague" [b. 1927; Franklin Co., Ga.]. By student Kayla Mullen. *Foxfire Magazine* 46, no. 1-2 (Spring/Summer): 18-29. Teague is a bluegrass banjo player.

Tending the Commons: Folklife and Landscape in Southern West Virginia [website; 1,250 online photos and 679 audio recordings; 1992-1999]. 2000. Washington: American Folklife Center (Coal River Folklife Project), Library of Congress. http://memory.loc.gov/ammem/cmnshtml/cmnshome.html.

Tenkotte, Paul A. 2007. "The Blossoming of Regional History and the Role of Arcadia Publishing" [pictorial-retrospective books; 14 titles deal with northern Ky.]. *Ohio Valley History* 7, no. 2 (Summer): 85-91.

Terry, Anna Lee. 1997. Bootstraps and Biscuits: 300 Wonderful, Wild Food Recipes from the Hills of West Virginia. Fairmont, W. Va.: ALT Press.

Tevis, Jamie Griggs. 1999. "Stories Told Around the Quilting Frame" [childhood reminiscence]. *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Fall): 29-33.

Tevis, Jamie Griggs. 1999. "The Piano" [Doylesville, Ky.; Depression-era church Sundays]. *Appalachian Heritage* 27 (Winter): 31-34.

Thacker, Dixie L. 2001. "Lucy's Place" [W. Va.; reverie on country lifestyles]. *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Summer): 7-8.

Thomas, Charles A. 1998. *Images of Preston County* [W. Va., 1870s to 1950; captioned photographs]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia Publishing. 128 pp.

Thomas, Max S. [1977] 2002. *Walnut Knob: A Story of Mountain Life and My Heritage in Song* [1908-2001; Blue Ridge Franklin Co., Va.; 32 songs and 13 stories]. Rpt. ed. Floyd, Va.: Harvestwood Press. 139 pp. Originally published: Radford, Va.: Commonwealth Press.

Thomas, Sarah. 2006. "The Big House" [traces four generations of a farming family living in Sherrill's Inn, built 1834, on US 74 just south of Asheville, N.C.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 1 (Spring): 12-15.

Thomas, Sarah. 2012. "The Shepherd of the Hills" [western N.C.; orphanages]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 36-37. Reverend R. P. Smith and Black Mountain Home for Children, Youth & Families, built in 1923 near Asheville.

Thompson, Charles D., Jr. 2011. "Whiskey and Geography." *Southern Spaces*, 9 May. Online overview of the author's 2011 book, *Spirits of Just Men: Mountaineers, Liquor Bosses, and Lawmen in the Moonshine Capital of the World* [1930s Franklin County, Va.], with a video reading of an excerpt. Contents: Making Whiskey in the Backcountry | Taxing Whiskey | Recommended Resources. http://www.southernspaces.org/2011/whiskey-and-geography.

Thompson, Charles Dillard. 2011. *Spirits of Just Men: Mountaineers, Liquor Bosses, and Lawmen in the Moonshine Capital of the World*. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 269 pp. Franklin County, Va. (Blue Ridge Mountains); Great Moonshine Conspiracy Trial of 1935.

Thornton, James H. 2007. *Greetings from Steubenville, Ohio* [historic postcards]. Wheeling, W. Va.: Creative Impressions. 108 pp.

Thornton, James H., and George S. Jones. 2003. *Greetings from Wheeling* [W. Va.; historic postcards]. Wheeling, W. Va.: Creative Impressions. 105 pp.

Thornton, James H., and Leann M. Thornton. 2006. *Greetings from Washington, Pennsylvania* [historic postcards]. Introduction by Rebecca Davis Pauley. Wheeling, W. Va.: Creative Impressions. 98 pp.

Tice, Carolyn J. 2005. "Celebrating Rural Communities: A Strengths Assessment" [Appalachian focus; community narratives; love of place]. In *Social Work in Rural Communities*, 4th edition, ed. L. Ginsberg, 95-107.

Tinnell, Shannon Colaianni. 2011. *Morgantown* [W. Va., photo retrospective]. Then & Now series. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp. Home of West Virginia University.

Toompas, Stanley, and Steven Toompas. 2012. *I'm the One the Other Isn't*. Terra Alta, W. Va.: Headline Books. 128 pp. Coming-of-age sketches by two twin brothers born 1958 in Clarksburg, W. Va.

Torok, George D. 2004. *A Guide to Historic Coal Towns of the Big Sandy River Valley* [Ky., Va., W. Va., including Tug Fork, Harlan County, and Big Stone Gap; 1880s-1920s focus]. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. 350 pp.

Touma, Jospeh B., and Don Daniel McMillian. 2009. *The History and Rebirth of Downtown Huntington West Virginia* [pictorial]. Huntington, W. Va.: Beau Soleil Publishing. 129 pp.

Trakas, Deno. 2010. *Because Memory Isn't Eternal: A Story of Greeks in Upstate South Carolina*. Spartanburg, S.C.: Hub City Press. 212 pp. Memoir of four generations of a Greek family and Greek-American culture in Spartanburg, beginning in 1895.

Trigiani, Adriana, and Mary Yolanda Trigiani. 2004. *Cooking with My Sisters: One Hundred Years of Family Recipes from Bari to Big Stone Gap* [Italian cooking; family history]. New York: Random House. 167 pp.

Trigiani, Adriana. 2010. *Don't Sing at the Table: And Other Life Lessons from My Grandmothers* [Pa.; Italian-Americans; work ethic]. New York: HarperCollins. 224 pp. One grandmother a clothing factory owner, the other a seamstress.

Trimble, Ruth. 1998. "Ginger: The Spice for Life" [wild ginger root remedies and recipes]. *Appalachian Heritage* 26 (Winter): 35-37.

Trimble, Ruth. 1999. "Dandelion Jelly" [recipe]. Appalachian Heritage 27 (Summer): 51-52.

Trimble, Ruth. 2001. "Summer Serendipity: The Elderflower" [recipes, medical uses, wine]. *Appalachian Heritage* 29 (Summer): 5-6.

Triplett, George R. 2003. *Our Proud Mountain Roots and Heritage* [Randolph Co., W. Va.; photographs; railroad history]. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 384 pp.

Tucker-Sullivan, Lori. 2007. "Of Graves, Grandfathers, and Wild Leeks" [funeral; memoir; 1930s East Tenn.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 23, no. 1 (Spring/Summer): 35-39.

Tunnell, Kenneth D. 2008. "Illegal Dumping: Large and Small Scale Littering in Rural Kentucky. *Southern Rural Sociology* 23, no. 2: 29-42. http://www.ag.auburn.edu/auxiliary/srsa/pages/TOCs/vol23-2.htm.

Tyler, Samantha. 2002. "A Fish Out of Water" [interview with Ga. wood carver Terry Tyler]. *Foxfire Magazine* 36 (Spring/Summer): 13-20.

University of Pittsburgh. 2011. *The Pittsburgh Reader: Seventy-Five Years of Books About Pittsburgh* [southwestern Pa.]. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. 287 pp. Excerpts from 75 regionally focused titles covering history, industry, biographies, sports, artists, and tours of local attractions. http://www.upress.pitt.edu/htmlSourceFiles/pdfs/PittsburghReader.pdf.

Upshur County Historical Society. 2001. *Upshur County* [W. Va.; vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Vaughan, James E. 2003. *Bankmules: The Story of Van Lear, a Kentucky Coal Town* [1910-1940]. Ashland, Ky.: Jesse Stuart Foundation. 256 pp.

Venable, Sam. 1996. *I'd Rather Be Ugly Than Stuppid: -- and Other Deep Thoughts*. Knoxville, Tenn: Knoxville News-Sentinel. 266 pp. Collected columns, 1991-1995.

Venable, Wallace, and Norma Venable. 2007. *Around Morgantown* [W. Va.; home to WVU; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Voelker, Richard M. 2009. "County Fair Encounters" [photo essay; 1970s-80s]. Western Pennsylvania History 92, no. 4 (Winter): 48-59.

Von Matthiessen, Maria. 2001. Looking for Magical Country: A Gathering of Savory Southern Characters [portraits of authors, musicians, and lesser-knowns who characterize the land]. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 193 pp.

Waage, Fred. 1998. "Ithaca" [N.Y.]. Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine 15 (Winter): 30-32.

Wagaman, Gena D. 2007. *Fairmont's Cemeteries* [and town history, Marion Co., W. Va.; vintage photos]. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 127 pp.

Wagner, Melinda Bollar, Shannon T. Scott, and Danny Wolfe. 1997. "Drawing the Line between People and Power: Taking the Classroom to the Community" [Craig Co., Va.; Appalachian Power Co.]. In *Practicing Anthropology in the South*, ed. James M. Time Wallace, 109-118. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, no. 30, Athens: University of Georgia Press.

Wagner, Melinda Bollar. 1999. "Measuring Cultural Attachment to Place in a Proposed Power Line Corrider" [ethnographic interviews; Va.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 5 (Fall): 241-246.

Wagner, Melinda Bollar. 2002. "Space and Place, Land and Legacy" [ethnographic interviews analysis; Craig Co., Va. (proposed power line route)]. In *Culture, Environment, and Conservation in the Appalachian South*, ed. B. Howell, 121-132. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Wagner, Melinda Bollar. 2009. "Playing the Power Game: The Limits of Participatory Development." In *Participatory Development in Appalachia: Cultural Identity, Community, and Sustainability*, ed. S. Keefe, 141-156. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press. Case study: cultural intrusion of a high voltage power line being constructed through W. Va. to Va.

Waldrop, Dave, and Michael Rigsby Revere. 2010. *Appalachian Roots* [autobiographies; Jackson Co., N.C.]. Cullowhee, N.C.: R&R Publishing. 244 pp. One (b. 1943) from a dysfunctional family with an alcoholic father; the other (b. 1951) a nomadic wanderer for 40 years.

Walker, Melissa. "Narrative Themes in Oral Histories of Farming Folk" [East Tenn.]. *Agricultural History* 74 (Spring): 340-351.

Walker, Melissa. 2009. "Appalachian Men and Women." In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 13: *Gender*, 22-26. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Wall, Dee Jay, and Florine Wall. 1999. "Florine Wall: At Home in the Country" [b. 1928; Rabun Co., Ga.; interview]. *Foxfire Magazine* 33 (Spring/Summer): 22-28.

Walls, Jeannette. 2005. *The Glass Castle: A Memoir*. New York: Scribner. 288 pp. Case study of dysfunctional youth and hardships in Welch, W. Va.; New York City.

Ward, John "J.J." 2003. "Spinning Memories on Fowler Branch" [childhood memories; Logan Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Spring): 52-55.

Warmuth, Donna Akers. 2003. *Abingdon, Virginia* [pictorial retrospective]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Warmuth, Donna Akers. 2003. *Boone* [N.C.; pictorial retrospective]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Warmuth, Donna Akers. 2004. *Blowing Rock* [N.C.; vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Warmuth, Donna Akers. 2006. *Washington County* [southwest Va.; Abingdon; vintage photos]. Images of America. Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Warren, Rhoda Bailey. 1998. *Appalachian Mountain Girl* [b. 1922; memoir of 1930s Letcher, Ky., coal country]. Chicago: Academy Chicago Publishers. 175 pp.

Watkins, Floyd C., and Charles Hubert Watkins. 2000 (1963). *Yesterday in the Hills* [Cherokee Co., Ga.]. Rpt. ed. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 200 pp. Originally published: Chicago: Quadrangle Books.

Watkins, Julia Alice Stephens. 2004. "Here I Go: An Interview with Julia Alice Stephens Watkins" [b. 1897, Union Co., Ga.; spirited life, hardships]. Interview by students Cody Brown, Teresia Thomason, and Angie Cheek. *Foxfire Magazine* 38 (Fall/Winter): 83-96.

Watman, Max. 2010. *Chasing the White Dog: An Amateur Outlaw's Adventures in Moonshine* [history of moonshining]. New York: Simon & Schuster. 292 pp.

Weals, Vic. 2002. *Legends of Cades Cove and the Smokies Beyond* [Blount Co., Tenn.; anthology; human interest columns from Knoxville Journal, 1976-1986]. Knoxville, Tenn.: Olden Press. 192 p.

Webb, Janet Threlkeld. 2006. *Haywood County: A Brief History* [N.C.]. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 126 pp.

Welch, Wendy. 2012. *The Little Bookstore of Big Stone Gap: A Memoir of Friendship, Community, and the Uncommon Pleasure of a Good Book* [Va.]. New York: St. Martin's Press. 291 pp.

West, Mildred. 2006. "Teaching Has No Boundaries: An Interview with Mildred West" [b. 1910; teacher, Gum Log School, Towns Co., Ga.]. Interview by student Cody Brown. *Foxfire Magazine* 40 (Spring/Summer): 65-73.

West, Stephen A. 2008. From Yeoman to Redneck in the South Carolina Upcountry, 1850-1915. The American South Series. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press. 261 pp.

West Virginia 24/7: 24 Hours, 7 days: Extraordinary Images of One Week in West Virginia [color photos]. 2004. Created by Rick Smolan and David Elliot Cohen. New York: DK Publishing. 144 pp.

West Virginia Social Indicator Survey Methodology, 1993-1997. 1999. Appendix A, In *Inside West Virginia: Public Policy Perspectives for the 21st Century*, ed. B. Keith and R. Althouse, 135-143. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Whipkey, Harriet. 2005. "I Never Dreamed I'd be this Old!" Gilmer County's Roxy Ellyson at 105." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 31, no. 3 (Fall): 30-35.

Whisnant, David E. [1983] 2009. *All That Is Native & Fine: The Politics of Culture in an American Region*. Reprint, 25th anniversary edition, with a new foreword by the author. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 340 pp.

Whitcomb, Bob. 2002. "Crider's Store" [South Branch Mountain; Hardy County]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Winter): 34-39.

White, Elesse D. 2011. "Hard Work a Must: Chaney Boone's Braxton County Farm" [1891-1997]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 37, no. 2 (Summer): 54-58. The author is Boone's granddaughter.

White, James Edward, and Eleanor Triplett White. 2001. *Squire's Legacy: The Life and Struggles of Clifford Earl White, the Justice of the Peace, Clear Fork District, Raleigh County, WV, 1948-1966* [b. 1904; coal miner; paraplegic]. San Jose, Calif.: Writer's Showcase. 349 pp.

White, Thomas. 2010. *Forgotten Tales of Pittsburgh*. Illustrations by Kyle McQueen. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 159 pp. Collection of brief tales and entertaining historical anecdotes.

White, Thomas, and Michael Hassett. 2012. *Gangs and Outlaws of Western Pennsylvania*. Charleston, S.C.: History Press. 125 pp. "Violent bank heists, bold train robberies and hardened gangs....crooks, murderers and outlaws."

Whitson, Alex. 1999. "The Infamous Weaver Family" [Millertown, Tenn.; humorous essay on unwelcome neighbors from down the road]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 16 (Summer): 32-34.

Whitt, Jan. 2012. *Rain on a Strange Roof: A Southern Literary Memoir*. Lanham, Md.: Hamilton Books. 172 pp. "...personal narrative about adoption, childhood abuse, and fifty years of searching for her family in rural Appalachia"...."reliant on books for escape."

Wigginton, Eliot, and his students, ed. [1989] 1996. *A Foxfire Christmas: Appalachian Memories and Traditions*. New preface by Bobby Ann Starnes, Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 144 pp. Originally published: New York: Doubleday.

Wigginton, Eliot. 1998. "Reaching Across the Generations: The Foxfire Experience." In *The Oral History Reader*, ed. R. Perks and A. Thomson, 206-213. New York: Routledge.

Wildsmith, Dana. 2006. "Where I Live" [Barrow Co., Ga.]. In *CrossRoads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 307-312. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Wiles, Bill, and Mary Wiles. 2009. *Up on Location: The Story of a West Virginia Mountain Farm, a Road and the People Who Lived There*. Parsons, W. Va.: McClain Printing. 217 pp. Memories of life in 1940s St. George, Tucker County. Photos.

Williams, J. Patrick, Anthony Cavender, Dennis Butler, Misty Gaugler, Kimberly Napier, and Tim Stanton. 2003. "Marijuana Use in a Rural Appalachian Community" [Tenn.; tables]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 9 (Spring): 93-113.

Williams, Michael Ann. 1995. *Great Smoky Mountains Folklife*. Folklife in the South Series. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. 216 pp.

Williams, Michael Ann. 2004. "Folklife" [overview: crafts, foodways, music]. In *High Mountains Rising: Appalachia in Time and Place*, ed. R. Straw and H. Blethen, 135-146. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Williams, Sherman R. 2000. *Sometimes a Hillbilly, Always a Mountaineer*. Prince Frederick, Md.: Sherell Publishing. 211 pp. Memoir (b. 1931), McDowell County, W. Va., coal camps.

Williamson, Elizabeth. 2005. "W. Va.'s Burgeoning Gambling Habit: State's Proposal for Table Games Seen By Critics as an Inevitable Outcome of Slots." *The Washington Post*, 14 March, 1(B). 1203 words.

Williamson, J. W., and Edwin T. Arnold, ed. 1994. *Interviewing in Appalachia: The* Appalachian Journal *Interviews*, 1978-1992. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press; Chicago: University of Chicago Press. 468 pp.

Wilson, Eleanor Lambert. 2009. *My Life in Brasstown: An Appalachian Memoir* [Clay Co., N.C.; b. 1919]. Fairview, N.C.: Bright Mountain Books. 125 pp.

Wilson, Jess. 2008. *From Huckleberry to Possum Trot* [b. ca. 1921]. Manchester, Ky.: Possum Trot University Press. 519 pp. Collected stories, poems, and essays of this popular "chronicler of the people, places and doings of the Southeast Kentucky Mountains": Clay, Jackson, Owsley, and Laurel Counties.

Wilson, Jim. 2000. "One With Nature" [profiles 90-year-old mountain man Coy Fitpatrick; Randolph Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Summer): 25-30.

Wilson, Rock S. 2004. *Ritchie County in Vintage Postcards* [W. Va.; retrospective pictorial]. Columbia, S.C.: Arcadia. 128 pp.

Wilson, Stephan M., and Gary W. Peterson. 2000. "Growing Up in Appalachia: Ecological Influences on Adolescent Development" [traditional/modern conflict]. In *Adolescent Diversity in Ethnic, Economic, and Cultural Contexts*, ed. R. Montemayor and others, 75-109. Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage Publications.

Wilson, Stephan M., Carolyn S. Henry, and Gary W. Peterson. 1997. "Life Satisfaction Among Low-Income Rural Youth From Appalachia" [technical, 10-year longitudinal study]. *Journal of Adolescence* 20 (August): 443-459.

Winebrenner, Margaret Grose. 1999. "A Nicholas County Christmas" [1930s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Winter): 44-47.

Winerip, Michael. 1997. "What's a Nice Jewish Lawyer Like John Rosenberg Doing in Appalachia?" [Eastern Ky.; legal service operation for the poor]. *New York Times* 29 June, 24-27.

Wintz, Bill. 2001. "Bill Wintz: Nitro's Grassroots Historian." Interview by Richard Andre. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Fall): 30-35.

Witchger, Brenda. 2004. "Measure for Measure" [Ala. dialect and time]. In *CrossRoads: A Southern Culture Annual*, ed. Ted Olson, 5-11. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press.

Withrow, Dolly. 2011. "Greening in the Heart of Appalachia" [W. Va.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 35-36. Meditation on the unconsciously "green" traditional lifestyles of the author's grandparents.

Witschey, Elizabeth Thurmond. Interview by Sheila McEntee. 2000. "My Memories of Logan: More Than Feudin' and Fightin'!" [1920s Logan, W. Va.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Spring): 17-22.

Wolf, John Quincy. [1974] 2000. *Life in the Leatherwoods* [biography, 1864-1949; Ozark Mountains]. Edited by Gene Hyde and Brooks Blevins; drawings by Jim Barnett. Arkansas Classics series. Fayetteville: University of Arkansas Press. 219 pp. "With new introduction and two new appendices of Wolf's writings and new original illustrations by Barnett." Originally published: Memphis, Tenn.: Memphis State University Press.

Wolfe, Martha. 2002. "Walking to School" [dangers of; 1960s Charleston, W. Va.; personal essay]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 19 (Summer): 22-25

Wood, Amy Louise, ed. 2011. *Violence*. Vol. 19 of *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 299 pp. Contents: 100 entries including: Violence in the American South -- American Indians -- Blood sports -- Capital punishment -- Civil rights-era violence -- Civil War -- Feuds and feuding -- Guns -- Hunting -- Labor violence -- Lynching -- Memory -- Mexican Americans -- Militarism -- Outlaw-heroes -- Prisons -- Slaves -- Song, White, Violence in -- American Indian slave trade -- Convict leasing -- Deliverance -- Greensboro, N.C. Massacre (1979) -- Guerrilla bands -- Harlan County, Kentucky -- Hatfields and McCoys -- Ku Klux Klan -- Night Riders -- Regulator movement -- Scottsboro Case -- Trail of Tears.

Woodall, Barbara Taylor. 2011. *It's Not My Mountain Anymore* [Rabun Co., Ga. history; b. 1954]. Sylva, N.C.: Catch the Spirit of Appalachia. 192 pp. Themes: mountain lifeways;

Foxfire phenomenon; filming of "Deliverance" and negative stereotyping; destructive residential and tourism development.

Woodard, Colin. 2011. *American Nations: A History of the Eleven Rival Regional Cultures of North America*. New York: Viking. 371 pp. Spans years 1590-2010 in twenty-eight chapters including: Chap. 9, "Founding Greater Appalachia"; Chap. 14, "First Secessionists"; and Chap. 17, Appalachia Spreads West."

Woods, Lee Ann. 2000. *Up This Hill and Down: Thoughts on Life from the Southern Appalachians* [Tenn., N.C.]. Asheville, N.C.: Bright Mountain Books. 180 pp.

Woodward, Nancy Hatch. 2012. "Southern Snow." *Southern Cultures* 18, no. 1 (Spring): 114-117. Personal essay; enjoying snow in Chattanooga, Tennessee.

Woody, Margaret. 2009. "A Conversation with Margaret Woody, Faithful Friend of Foxfire." Interview by Casi Best and others. *Foxfire Magazine* 43, no. 3-4 (Fall/Winter): 3-13. Born 1922; family farm; Great Depression; chair making.

Woofter, Betty Langford. 2001. "A Good Start on Duck Run" [Gilmer Co.; 1930s-40s memories]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 27 (Winter): 60-65.

Workman, Barbara J. Young. 2008. "The Train, the Smoke, the Whistle, and the Bell: Memories of Widen." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 34, no. 4 (Winter): 38-44. Clay County, 1930s-50s.

Workman, Patricia, interviewer. 2000. "Racoon Tales" [coonhunter Ralph Bryant], 20-23; "Straight Talk On Coondogs: Clennie Workman On the Air," 24-27. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 26 (Winter): 20-27.

Workman, Patricia Samples. 1998. "Country Vet Doc White" [Webster Co. veterinarian Minor Ezekial White; 1888-1978]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Winter): 10-17.

Wyatt, W. Joseph. 2004. *Buckskin Boys: A History of the Buckskin Council, 1919-2004, Boy Scouts of America* [south-central W. Va.]. Charleston, W.Va: Pictorial Histories. 235 pp.

Wyatt, W. Joseph. 2006. "When We Were Boy Scouts" [Charleston; summer camps; 1930s-present]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 32, no. 2 (Summer): 38-45.

Yarup, Robert L. 2006. "Haunting & Illusory: Growing Up along the Mon" [Monongahela River coal mining village, Maxwell]. Western Pennsylvania History 89, no. 1 (Spring): 52-60.

Young, Harold P. 2002. "When I Was a Young Man in Clay County" [b. 1917]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 28 (Fall): 45-51.

WOMEN and GENDER STUDIES

Women's experience as settlers, mothers, miners and miners' wives, elderly, teachers, missionaries; family role and LGBTQ studies; Mother Jones and other leaders; artists and entrepreneurs

Adams, Carolyn Hazlett. 1999. "Aunt Molly Jackson: The Benefits and the Costs of Cussedness." *Appalachian Journal* 26 (Spring): 264-273. Review essay of *Pistol Packin' Mama: Aunt Molly Jackson and the Politics of Folksong*, by Shelly Romalis (University of Illinois Press, 1999).

Alghrary, Becky I. 2002. *Mountain Magnolias: Women of Avery* [Avery Co., N.C.; portraits of 14 mountain women; spans 100 years]. Banner Elk, N.C.: Puddingstone Press. 144 pp.

Allen, Nancy Kelly. 2008. *Ring the Silver Bell*. Louisville, Ky.: MotesBooks. 71 pp. Adolescent literature; story of Alice Stone (b. 1904), Caney Creek, Ky., and her heroic quest for an education.

Anderson, Cynthia D., and Michael D. Schulman. 1999. "Women, Restructuring, and Textiles: The Increasing Complexity of Subordination and Struggle in a Southern Community" [Fieldcrest Cannon; Kannapolis, N.C.]. In *Neither Separate Nor Equal: Women, Race, and Class in the South*, ed. B. Smith, 91-108. Women in the Political Economy series. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.

Anglin, Mary K. 1995. "Lives on the Margin: Rediscovering the Women of Antebellum Western North Carolina." In *Appalachia in the Making: The Mountain South in the Nineteenth Century*, ed. M. Pudup, D. Billings, and A. Waller, 185-209. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Anglin, Mary K. 1998. "Looking Beyond the Factory: Regional Culture and Practices of Dissent" [N.C.; women; Moth Hill Mica Co.]. In *More Than Class: Studying Power in U.S. Workplaces*, ed. A. Kingsolver, 53-72. Albany: State University of New York Press.

Anglin, Mary K. 2002. *Women, Power, and Dissent in the Hills of Carolina* [N.C.; mica plant; women, labor, and resistance]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 168 pp.

Anglin, Mary. 2000. "Toward a Workable Past: Dangerous Memories and Feminist Perspectives." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 6 no. 1-2 (Spring/Fall): 71-99.

Ansley, Fran, and Susan Williams. 1999. "Southern Women and Southern Borders on the Move: Tennessee Workers Explore the New International Division of Labor" [U.S.-Mexico exchanges]. In *Neither Separate Nor Equal: Women, Race, and Class in the South*, ed. B. Smith, 207-244. Women in the Political Economy series. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.

Appelt, Kathi, and Jeanne Cannella Schmitzer. 2001. *Down Cut Shin Creek: The Packhorse Librarians of Kentucky* [Depression-era; juvenile literature]. New York: HarperCollins. 58 pp.

Baldwin, Fred D. 1999. "Sarah's Place: Transforming Lives" [Sarah's Place Women's Resource Center, Elliott Co., Ky.]. *Appalachia: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission* 32 (January-April): 30-35.

Baldwin, Fred D. 2004-2005. "Leveraging Hope: The New Opportunity School for Women" [Berea, Ky.]. *Appalachia Magazine: Journal of the Appalachian Regional Commission*. 20 para. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS3423.

Barnett, Janice Willis. 2012. "Coming Full Circle: Jennie Moore's Work at Rocky Fork." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 19-21. Presbyterian missionary teacher, 1903-1933, Unicoi County, Tenn.

Barry, Joyce M. 2012. Standing Our Ground: Women, Environmental Justice, and the Fight to End Mountaintop Removal. Series in Race, Ethnicity, and Gender in Appalachia. Athens: Ohio University Press. 190 pp. Contents: Living in a sacrifice zone: gender, the political economy of coal, and anti-mountaintop removal activism -- Gender and anti-mountaintop removal activism: expanding the environmental justice framework -- Remembering the past, working for the future: West Virginia women fight for sustainable communities and environmental heritage -- Saving the endangered hillbilly: Appalachian stereotypes and cultural identity in the anti-mountaintop removal movement -- Situating the particular and the universal: gender, environmental justice, and mountaintop removal in a global context.

Barton, Bernadette C. 2012. *Pray the Gay Away: The Extraordinary Lives of Bible Belt Gays*. New York: New York University Press. 304 pp. The author teaches at Morehead State University, Kentucky.

Bean, Heather Ann Ackley. 2001. *Women, Music, and Faith in Central Appalachia*. Studies in Women and Religion, vol. 40. Lewiston, N.Y.: Edwin Mellen Press. 236 pp.

Beatty, Bess. 2002. "I Can't Get My Bored on Them Old Lomes: Female Textile Workers in the Antebellum South." In *Neither Lady nor Slave: Working Women of the Old South*, ed. S. Delfino and M. Gillespie, 249-260. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Beaver, Patricia D. 1999. "Women in Appalachia and the South: Gender, Race, Region, and Agency." *NWSA: A Publication of the National Women's Studies Association* 11 (Fall): ix-xxix.

Beaver, Patricia, ed. 1999. "Appalachia and the South: Place, Gender, and Pedagogy" [10 papers]. Special issue, *NWSA Journal: A Publication of the National Women's Studies Association* 11 (Fall): 1-171.

Beckwith, Karen. 1998. "Collective Identities of Class and Gender: Working-Class Women in the Pittston Coal Strike" [Va.; 1990]. *Political Psychology* 19 (March): 147-167.

Bell, Shannon Elizabeth, and Yvonne A. Braun. 2010. "Coal, Identity, and the Gendering of Environmental Justice Activism in Central Appalachia" [20 interviews]. *Gender & Society* 24,

no. 6 (December): 794-813. "...with a focus on how women's and men's identities both shape and constrain their involvement in gendered ways."

Bentley, Anna Briggs. 2002. *American Grit: A Woman's Letters from the Ohio Frontier* [Quaker; 1826-1870s]. Edited by Emily Foster. Ohio River Valley Series. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 344 pp. "Determined not to lose contact with her mother and sister, Anna [1796-1890] began writing them long letters detailing the ordinary activities of her days and the trials of life on the frontier: building a house, growing crops, raising a large family, and bartering for clothes and furniture."

Berkley, June Langford. 2005. "Telling the Untold Stories." In *Beyond Hill and Hollow: Original Readings in Appalachian Women's Studies*, ed. E. Englehardt, 232-250. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Berry, Daleen. 2011. *Sister of Silence*. Foreword by Kenneth V. Lanning. Morgantown, W. Va.: Nellie Bly Books. 344 pp. Mother of four by age 21, Berry manages to break free of an abusive relationship and build a career as an award winning journalist.

Berthelot, Emily R., Troy C. Blanchard, and Timothy C. Brown. 2008. "Scots-Irish Women and the Southern Culture of Violence: The Influence of Scots-Irish Females on High Rates of Southern Violence." *Southern Rural Sociology* 23, no. 2: 157-170. http://www.ag.auburn.edu/auxiliary/srsa/pages/TOCs/vol23-2.htm.

Best, Gary Dean. 1994. Witch Hunt in Wise County: The Persecution of Edith Maxwell [1930s Va. murder trial given "feud" overtones; cf. Sharon Hatfield's 2005 book, Never Seen the Moon: The Trials of Edith Maxwell]. Westport, Conn.: Praeger. 186 pp.

Bingman, Mary Beth. 1999. "Women in Appalachian Community Organizations: Sites of Learning and Change" [Va.; adult learners; from interviews]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 5 (Fall): 215-226.

Black, Kate, and Marc A. Rhorer. 1995. "Out in the Mountains: Exploring Lesbian and Gay Lives." In *Appalachia and the Politics of Culture*, ed. E. C. Fine. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 7: 18-28. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Black, Kate, and Marc A. Rohrer. 2001. "Out in the Mountains: Exploring Lesbian and Gay Lives." In *Out in the South*, ed. C. Dews and C. Law, 16-25. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.

Blackwell, Deborah L. 2003. "A Murder in the Kentucky Mountains: Pine Mountain Settlement School and Community Relations in the 1920s" [teacher's unsolved murder; female administrators confront Harlan Co. power structure]. In *Searching for Their Places: Women in the South Across Four Centuries*, ed. T. Appleton and A. Boswell, 196-217. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

Blackwell, Deborah L. 2010. "The Maternalist Politics of Road Construction at Pine Mountain Settlement School, 1900-1935" [Ky.]. *Appalachian Journal* 37, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 226-241. Community activist and "benevolence" workers, Katherine Pettit and Ethel DeLong. Pettit also co-founded Hindman Settlement School in 1902.

Block, Mary R. 2011. "Limited to Errors of Law': Rape Law and Adjudication in the Nineteenth-Century Kentucky Court of Appeals." *Ohio Valley History* 11, no. 3 (Fall): 44-64. Clay, Elliott, Knox, and Laurel County court cases referenced.

Blum, Louise A. 2001. *You're Not From Around Here, Are You?: A Lesbian in Small-Town America* [northern Pa.]. Madison: University of Wisconsin Press. 271 pp.

Bossman, Marilyn J. 2010. "High on the Mountain: Callie Hash Wright, Virginia's First Lady Mayor." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 26, no. 1 (Summer): 55-56. Memoir; b. 1894; unincorporated Troutdale, Va., the state's highest town at 3,200 feet elevation.

Boyd, Donald C. 2007. "The Book Women of Kentucky: The WPA Pack Horse Library Project, 1936-1943." *Libraries & the Cultural Record* 42, no. 2 (May): 111-128.

Braund, Kathryn E. Holland. 2011. "Reflections on 'Shee Coocys' and the Motherless Child: Creek Women in a Time of War" [Coosa]. *Alabama Review* 64, no. 4 (October): 255-284. The author's "goal in this article is to examine the Creek War from the inside out: through the experiences of Creek women."

Brooks, Shannon. 1999. "Coming Home: Finding My Appalachian Mothers through Emma Bell Miles." *NWSA Journal: A Publication of the National Women's Studies Association* 11 (Fall): 157-171.

Brown, Ellen Apperson. 2004. "Portrait of a Survivor: The Long and Eventful Life of Mary Draper Ingles" [1732-1815]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 8: 55-69. Ingles was taken captive by the Shawnee in 1755 during the Drapers Meadow Massacre (near Blacksburg, Va.) and forcibly marched west to the Ohio Country. In the fall of that year she escaped and made her way home on a harrowing two-month trek nearly 600 miles across rivers and mountains.

Brown, Emma. 2011. "Julia 'Judy' Bonds, 58, Dies: Outspoken Foe of Mountaintop Strip Mining." *Washington Post*, 4 January. 1,096 words. http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2011/01/04/AR2011010406697_2.html.

Brown, Joyce Compton, and Les Brown. 2001. "The Discourse of Food as Cultural Translation and Empowering Voice in Appalachian Women during the Outmigration Process." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 7 (Fall): 315-329.

Brown, Vickie Osborne. 2010. *Mountain Midwife: Life and Times of Isabella Brown Neal* [1879-1957; Clay Co., W. Va.]. Charleston, W.Va: Mountain Memories Books. 150 pp.

Burk, Martha. 2007. "Bluegrass Liberation: Appalachian-Grown Bluegrass Music Remains a 'Boys Club,' but There's Feminism at Its Roots and Women Topping Its Charts." *Ms.*, 1 July, 50-53.

Cashin, Joan E. 1995. "Women in the Promised Land: A Review Essay of *Daughters of Canaan: A Saga of Southern Women*" [by Margaret Ripley Wolfe, University Press of Kentucky, 1995]. *Register of the Kentucky Historical Society* 93 (Winter): 79-85.

Charron, Katherine Mellen. 2009. Freedom's Teacher: The Life of Septima Clark [1898-1987]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 462 pp. African American civil rights activist; Highlander School.

Chesky, Anne. 2010. "From Sewing to Shopping: Signals of a Shifting Economy." *North Carolina Folklore Journal* 57, no. 1 (Spring-Summer): 20-41. Oral history interviews with women in Meat Camp community, Watauga County, documenting the transition "from weaving to sewing to quilting, which accompanied...the transition to market-oriented industrialism."

Cirillo, Marie. 2000. "Stories from an Appalachian Community" [land reform; Tenn.]. Twentieth Annual E. F. Schumacher Lectures, October 2000, Salisbury, CT. Edited by Hildegarde Hannum. 9,769 words. "For thirty-three years Marie Cirillo has lived and worked in Clairfield, Tennessee, located in a valley hemmed in by two big mountains, and made up of a network of twelve unincorporated communities most of which are former coal camps. Her single goal has been to gain some measure of economic self-sufficiency for the Appalachian people whose land and livelihood were wasted as a consequence of the extractive practices of absentee corporate owners."

http://www.centerforneweconomics.org/publications/lectures/cirillo/marie/stories-from-anappalachian-community.

Corbin, David. 2009. "Workers' Wives" [coal miners' wives]. In *The New Encyclopedia of Southern Culture*, Vol. 13: *Gender*, 287-290. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Cordery, Simon. 2010. *Mother Jones: Raising Cain and Consciousness* [1837-1930]. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press. 213 pp. "...an exhaustive biography of Mary Harris Jones, drawn mostly from her own testimonials and primary source accounts of her work - which the activist-agitator didn't begin until her sixties," spending 23 years in West Virginia.

Cordery, Simon. 2010. *Mother Jones: Raising Cain and Consciousness* [biography; 1837-1930]. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press. 213 pp.

Couto, Richard A. 2003. "It Takes a Pillage: Women, Work, and Welfare" [welfare reform; poverty; public policy]. *Race, Gender & Class* 10, no.1: 60-78.

Cummings, Lindsay B. 2005. "Women and Appalachian Opera Houses: A Place in the Public Domain" [Oh., Pa., Ky., W. Va.]. In *Beyond Hill and Hollow: Original Readings in Appalachian Women's Studies*, ed. E. Englehardt, 124-136. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Cunningham, Mia. 2001. *Anna Hubbard: Out of the Shadows* [1902-1986; Ohio; wife of Harlan Hubbard]. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 224 pp.

Darnell, Maxine, and Jan Lunsford. 2011. "Generations of Tradition" [Rabun Co., Ga.]. Interview by Katie Lunsford. *Foxfire Magazine* 45, no. 1-2 (Spring-Summer): 47-59. Katie interviews her mother and grandmother (b. 1943 and 1965) "on how cooking has changed though the years and how the roles of housewives have changed."

Davis, Emili, and Winnie Lovell. 1998. "Winnie's World" [interview with owner of first beauty parlor in Rabun Co., Ga.; b. 1912]. *Foxfire Magazine* 32 (Spring/Summer): 34-40.

Delfino, Susanna. 2002. "Invisible Woman: Female Labor in the Upper South's Iron and Mining Industries." In *Neither Lady nor Slave: Working Women of the Old South*, ed. S. Delfino and M. Gillespie, 285-307. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Dewey, Susan. 2011. *Neon Wasteland: On Love, Motherhood, and Sex Work in a Rust Belt Town* [case study]. Berkeley: University of California Press. 258 pp. "...examines the lives of five topless dancers in the economically devastated 'rust belt' of upstate New York." Contents: Introduction | Feminized labor and the classed body | Everyday survival strategies | Being a good mother in a 'bad' profession | Pseudointimacy and romantic love | Calculating risks, surviving danger | Body work and the feminization of poverty | Conclusion.

Dickinson, W. Calvin. 2011. "Dr. Dora Lee Wilder: Pioneer Female Physician of the Cumberland Plateau" [1877 or 1878-1963]. *Journal of East Tennessee History* 83: 72-79. First woman licensed to practice medicine in Tennessee (1906); profile of her industrialist husband, John Thomas Wilder.

Dublin, Thomas, and Walter Licht. 2000. "Gender and Economic Decline: The Pennsylvania Anthracite Region, 1920-1970." *Oral History Review* 27 (Winter/Spring): 81-97.

Duff, Betty Parker. 2005. "Stand By Your Man: Gender and Class Formation in the Harlan County Coalfields" [Ky.: Benham, Lynch, Cumberland]. In *Beyond Hill and Hollow: Original Readings in Appalachian Women's Studies*, ed. E. Englehardt, 152-169. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Dunaway, Wilma A. 2000. "Women at Risk: Capitalist Incorporation and Community Transformation on the Cherokee Frontier." In *A World-Systems Reader: New Perspectives on Gender, Urbanism, Cultures, Indigenous Peoples, and Ecology*, ed. T. Hall, 195-210. Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield.

Dunaway, Wilma A. 2008. *Women, Work, and Family in the Antebellum Mountain South.* New York: Cambridge University Press. 301 pp. Contents: Introduction -- No gendered sisterhood: ethnic and religious conflict among Euroamerican women -- Not a shared patriarchal space: imperialism, racism, and cultural persistence of indigenous Appalachian women -- Not a shared sisterhood of subordination: racism, slavery, and resistance by Black Appalachian females -- Not even sisters among their own kind: the centrality of class divisions among Appalachian women --

The myth of male farming and women's agricultural labor -- The myth of separate spheres and women's nonagricultural labor -- Family as privilege: public regulation of non-patriarchal households -- Motherhood as privilege: patriarchal intervention into women's reproductive labors.

Durbin, Hazel. 2011. "Hazel Durbin: An Oral History conducted by Vickie Cimprich" [1915-2002; Breathitt and Lee Counties, Ky.]. *Still: The Journal*, no. 7 (Fall). 2,330 words. "From 1999 to 2002, Hazel Durbin recorded the stories that became her autobiography, *A Quilted Life*, co-authored with Vickie Cimprich (Contrary Beartrack Press, 2002)." http://www.stilljournal.net/hazel-durbin-interview.php.

EagleTree, Phyllis M. 2007. *Roll the Wheel: The Abundant Life and Wisdom of Mae Phillips* [1912-2006]. Foreword by N. Scott Momaday. Louisville, Ky.: ForSight. 135 pp. Portrait of a mountain woman in her words, with sepia tone photographs; Evarts, Harlan Co., Kentucky.

Ebel, Julia Taylor. 2003. *Addie Clawson: Appalachian Mail Carrier* [juvenile literature; story of first woman mail carrier in Boone, N.C.; 1930s]. Art by Sherry Jensen. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 27 pp.

Edds, Margaret. 2009. *Finding Sara: Loss, Letters and a Daughter's Journey* [1915-1950; coal camp]. Louisville, Ky.: Butler Books. 280 pp. Memoir of the author's mother, who died when she was three, traced through letters and tracked to Oak Ridge, Tenn. and Lynch, Ky.

Edwards, Grace Toney, Mary Margaret Thompson, and M. Lynda Ely. 1996. "Our Mothers' Voices: Narratives of Generational Transformation." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 2 (Spring): 131-139.

Edwards, Pamela. 2008. "West Virginia Women in World War II: The Role of Gender, Class, and Race in Shaping Wartime Volunteer Efforts." *West Virginia History*, n.s. 2, no. 1 (Spring): 27-57.

Engel, Mary Ella. 2010. "The Appalachian 'Granny': Testing the Boundaries of Female Power in Late-19th-Century Appalachian Georgia" [Chattooga Co., Mormon community]. *Appalachian Journal* 37, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 210-225.

Engelhardt, Elizabeth S. D. 2001. "Placing Their Feminism in the Southern Appalachian Mountains: Emma Bell Miles, Grace MacGowan Cooke, and the Roots of Ecological Feminism" [Spirit of the Mountains (1905); The Power and the Glory (1910)]. Tulsa Studies in Women's Literature 20 (June): 11-31.

Engelhardt, Elizabeth S. D. 2001. "Wilma Dykeman and the Women of Appalachia: The Ecology of Mid-Century Environmental Activism" [French Broad river]. *Women's Studies Quarterly* 29 (Spring/Summer): 155-169.

Engelhardt, Elizabeth S. D. 2005. "Creating Appalachian Women's Studies: Dancing Away from Granny and Elly May." In *Beyond Hill and Hollow: Original Readings in Appalachian Women's Studies*, ed. E. Englehardt, 1-19. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Engelhardt, Elizabeth S. D., ed. 2005. *Beyond Hill and Hollow: Original Readings in Appalachian Women's Studies* [13 contributors, three sections: activism, class, space]. Ethnicity and Gender in Appalachia. Athens: Ohio University Press. 260 pp.

Farr, Sidney Saylor. 2003. "New Opportunities for Appalachian Women" [New Opportunity School for Women, Berea, Ky., founded 1987 by Jane Stephenson]. *Appalachian Journal* 30 (Summer): 350-354.

Few, April L. 2005. "The Voices of Black and White Rural Battered Women in Domestic Violence Shelters" [southwest Va.; 30 women interviewed]. *Family Relations* 54 (October): 488-500.

Fink, Krista R. 2007. *Silent No More: Speaking Out About Domestic Violence*. Terra Alta, W. Va.: Headline Books. 171 pp.

Fisher, Diane Gilliam. 1999. *Recipe for Blackberry Cake* [poems; W. Va.]. Wick Poetry Chapbook, series 2, no. 6. Kent, Ohio: Kent State University Press. 41 pp.

Flanigan, Beverly Olson. 2005. "Appalachian Women and Language: Old and New Forms as Reflections of a Changing Image" [dialects: Upper Ohio Valley]. In *Beyond Hill and Hollow: Original Readings in Appalachian Women's Studies*, ed. E. Englehardt, 177-195. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Fonow, Mary Margaret. 1998. "Protest Engendered: The Participation of Women Steelworkers in the Wheeling-Pittsburgh Steel Strike of 1985." *Gender & Society* 12: 710-728.

Fredette, Allison. 2009. "The View from the Border: West Virginia Republicans and Women's Rights in the Age of Emancipation." *West Virginia History*, n.s. 3, no. 1 (Spring): 57-80. 1860s new statehood, gender role attitudes and politics.

Gay, Kathlyn. 2006. *Mother Jones* [1837-1930; biography; juvenile literature]. Greensboro, N.C.: Morgan Reynolds. 144 pp.

Gazarik, Richard. 2011. *Black Valley: The Life and Death of Fanny Sellins* [UMWA organizer; 1870/72?–1919]. Publications of the Saint Vincent College Center for Northern Appalachian Studies. Latrobe, Pa.: Saint Vincent College. Documentary account of 1919 labor strikes in Pa.'s Allegheny Valley and the shooting of Fannie Sellins, gunned down by deputy sheriffs at a peaceful march past a coal mine on the eve of a nationwide steel strike.

Giesen, Carol A. B. 1995. *Coal Miners' Wives: Portraits of Endurance*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 170 pp.

Gillespie, Michele. 2002. "To Harden a Lady's Hand: Gender Politics, Racial Realities, and Women Millworkers in Antebellum Georgia." In *Neither Lady nor Slave: Working Women of the Old South*, ed. S. Delfino and M. Gillespie, 261-284. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Goehring, Susan. 1999. "Sweeter Than the Flowers: Edith Baker of King Knob" [Ritchie Co. reminiscence; 1930s]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Fall): 50-55.

Goh, Debbie. 2010. "Who We Are and What We Want: A Feminist Standpoint Approach to Defining Effective ICT Use for West Virginian Women" [Top Student Paper Award winner]. Conference Papers -- International Communication Association, 2010 annual meeting. "Through a 14-month ethnographic study of participants in beginner computer and internet courses, this study examines why West Virginian women are at the lower end of America's digital divide."

Grant, Judith. 2008. *Charting Women's Journeys: From Addiction to Recovery*. Critical Perspectives on Crime and Inequality series. Lanham, Md.: Lexington Books. 142 pp. 26 rural drug and alcohol addicts.

Gray, Mary L. 2009. *Out in the Country: Youth, Media, and Queer Visibility in Rural America* [Kentucky]. New York: New York University Press. 279 pp. Contents: Preface: Never met a stranger -- Introduction: There are no queers here -- Part I: Queers here? Recognizing the familiar stranger | Unexpected activists: homemakers club and gay teens at the local library -- School fight!: local struggles over national advocacy strategies -- From Wal-Mart to websites: out in public -- Part II: Queering realness | Online profiles: remediating the coming-out story -- To be real: transidentification on the Discovery Channel -- Conclusion: visibility out in the country -- Epilogue: You got to fight for your right... to marry? -- Appendix: Methods, ad-hoc ethics, and the politics of sexuality studies.

Greenwald, Maurine. 1996. "Women and Pennsylvania Working-Class History" [textiles, shoes, paper, iron, lumber]. *Pennsylvania History* 63 (Winter): 5-16.

Greer, Jane. 2012. "Women's Words, Women's Work: Rural Literacy and Labor." Chap. 5 in *Reclaiming the Rural: Essays on Literacy, Rhetoric, and Pedagogy*, ed. K. Donehower, C. Hogg, and E. Schell, 90-106. Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press.

Gugliotta, Angela. 2000. "Class, Gender, and Coal Smoke: Gender Ideology and Environmental Injustice in Pittsburgh, 1868-1914" [antismoke activism]. *Environmental History* 5 (April): 165-193.

Guy, Roger. 2001. "Identity, Pride, and a Paycheck: Appalachian and Other Southern Women in Uptown, Chicago, 1950-1970." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 7 (Spring): 46-63.

Haberstich, David. 1997. "Barbara Beirne's Women of Southern Appalachia" [Smithsonian photographic exhibition]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 14 (Summer): 3-7.

Hagen, Sarah Cornett. 2010. *Still Point, Life Notes from a Kentucky Woman: A Coal Camp.* Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse. 103 pp. Born 1936, Letcher County; 1950s coming of age.

Hall, Eula. [1999] 2001. "If There's One Thing You Can Tell Them, It's that You're Free" [domestic abuse; Appalachian Volunteers; Mud Creek Clinic, Ky.]. In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 191-199. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Hall, Jacquelyn Dowd, with Eugene P. Walker, Katherine Mellen Charron, and David P. Cline. 2010. "'I train the people to do their own talking': Septima Clark and Women in the Civil Rights Movement" [b. 1898; African American grassroots freedom activist]. *Southern Cultures* 16, no. 2 (Summer): 31-52. "…four months before Rosa Parks's infamous arrest [1955], she attended a workshop at the Highlander Folk School, an interracial adult education center in Monteagle, Tennessee…where Clark served as Director of Education."

Hannaford, Alex. 2011. "Growing Up Gay and Transgendered in Appalachia" [Ky., Va.]. *The Atlantic*, 30 April. 1,302 words. http://www.theatlantic.com/national/archive/2011/04/growing-up-gay-and-transgendered-in-appalachia/238047/.

Harman, Patricia. 2011. *Arms Wide Open: A Midwife's Journey*. Boston: Beacon Press. 287 pp. Prequel to *The Blue Cotton Gown: A Midwife's Memoir* (2008); W. Va.; 1970s counterculture communal life.

Harsh, Sharon Wilmoth. 2003. "Win With Katie McGee" [profiles winner of first Girls' State citizenship training school, summer, 1941]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 29 (Summer): 18-24.

Hatfield, Sharon. 2005. *Never Seen the Moon: The Trials of Edith Maxwell* [1935 Wise Co., Va., murder trial and women's injustice]. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 286 pp. Weatherford Award winner for nonfiction.

Helton, Lonnie R., and Shirley M. Keller. 2010. "Appalachian Women: A Study of Resiliency Assets and Cultural Values." *Journal of Social Service Research* 36, no. 2: 151-161. Ten women were interviewed about their school-age years, ages 5-18.

Herring, Scott. 2007. "Out of the Closets, Into the Woods: RFD, Country Women, and the Post-Stonewall Emergence of Queer Anti-Urbanism." *American Quarterly* 59, no. 2 (June): 341-372.

Herring, Scott. 2010. "Queer Infrastructure: Pittsburgh to the East, Philadelphia to the West" [rural gay men and lesbians; Pa.]. Chap. 5 in *Another Country: Queer Anti-Urbanism*, by S. Herring, 149-180. New York: New York University Press. 237 pp.

Hevesi, Dennis. 2011. "Judy Bonds, an Enemy of Mountaintop Coal Mining, Dies at 58" [W. Va.; Coal River Mountain Watch]. *New York Times*, 16 January: 26(A). 771 words. "In 2003 Ms. Bonds received the Goldman Environmental Prize, an annual \$150,000 prize that goes to

unrecognized 'grass-roots environmental heroes'." http://www.nytimes.com/2011/01/16/us/16bonds.html?_r=1&ref=dennishevesi.

Heyman, J. D., and Lauren Comander. 2003. "A School for Appalachian Women Jump-starts Lives in Limbo" [Berea, Ky.; New Opportunity School for Women, "a crash course in self-esteem designed to jump-start the lives of Appalachian women"]. *People Weekly*, 18 August, 121-123.

Houk, Rose, and others. 2005. *The Walker Sisters of Little Greenbrier* [Sevier Co., Tenn.; profile and photos of turn-of-century artifacts and folkways]. Gatlinburg, Tenn.: Great Smoky Mountains Association. 60 pp.

Hovanec, Evelyn. 2001. *Common Lives of Uncommon Strength: The Women of the Coal and Coke Era of Southwestern Pennsylvania, 1880-1970* [oral histories; spouses of immigrant miners]. Uniontown, Pa.: Pennsylvania State University, Fayette Campus, Coal and Coke Heritage Center. 227 pp.

Howe, Barbara J. 2002. "Patient Laborers: Women at Work in the Formal Economy of West(ern) Virginia." In *Neither Lady nor Slave: Working Women of the Old South*, ed. S. Delfino and M. Gillespie, 121-151. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Howe, Barbara J. 2005. "Urban Wage-Earning Women in a Rural State" [1830-1870 Wheeling, W. Va., employment options]. In *Beyond Hill and Hollow: Original Readings in Appalachian Women's Studies*, ed. E. Englehardt, 101-123. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Howe, Barbara J. 2010. "On Stage and In Class: Women Artists in Mid-19th-Century Wheeling" [W. Va.; 1830-1870]. *Appalachian Journal* 37, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 184-209.

Howe, Barbara J. 2010. "Pioneers on a Mission for God: The Order of the Visitation of the Blessed Virgin Mary in Wheeling, 1848-1860." *West Virginia History*, n.s. 4, no. 1 (Spring): 59-92. Eight Visitandine nuns, in their "woman-defined space," opened the Wheeling Female Academy in 1848.

Howe, Barbara J. 2011. "Expansion Despite 'National Difficulties': The Order of the Visitation of the Blessed Virgin Mary in Wheeling, 1861–1870" [Mont de Chantal Academy]. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 5, no. 2 (Fall): 59-101.

Howe, Barbara. 2006. "Practicing Medicine in Mid-Nineteenth-Century Wheeling: The Story of Dr. Eliza Clark Hughes" [1817-1882; the first woman to earn a M.D. degree (1860) in what is now W. Va.]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 12, no. 2 (Fall): 7-35.

Howell, Benita J., and Judith Ivy Fiene. 2005. "Designing Employee Assistance Programs for Appalachian Working-Class Women: The Alcohol and Stress Research Project." Chap. 11 in *Appalachian Cultural Competency: A Guide for Medical, Mental Health, and Social Service Professionals*, ed. S. Keefe, 247-264. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Howie, Irene B. 1999. "Callie" [character profile of Howie's grandmother]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 16 (Summer): 39-42.

Inman, Myra. 2000. *Myra Inman: A Diary of the Civil War in East Tennessee* [b. 1845, d. 1914; social sphere in Cleveland, Bradley Co., Tenn.]. Edited by William R. Snell. Macon, Ga.: Mercer University Press. 395 pp.

Jensen, Joan M. 2000. "Now You See Her, Now You Don't: Historians and Rural Women" [blacks and whites]. In *After the Backcountry: Rural Life in the Great Valley of Virginia, 1800-1900*, ed. K. Koons and W. Hofstra, 221-232. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Jepsen, Thomas C. 2009. "'A Look into the Future': Women Railroad Telegraphers and Station Agents in Pennsylvania, 1855-1960." *Pennsylvania History* 76, no. 2 (Spring): 141-163.

Joslin, Michael. 2012. "Service Through Opportunity." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 16-18. Jane Stephenson and the New Opportunity School for Women. "Berea has graduated 599 women from the NOSW," and summer 2012 marked the 25th anniversary class.

Latimer, Melissa, and Ann M. Oberhauser. 2004. "Exploring Gender and Economic Development in Appalachia" [tables; 2000 Census]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 10, no. 3: 269-291.

Latimer, Melissa. 2000. "A Contextual Analysis of the Effects of Gender and Place on Workers' Incomes" [national and Appalachian subsample]. *Sociological Spectrum* 20 (July-September): 345-356.

LeRoy, Dan. 2001. "Rural Women on Welfare Facing Bleak Prospects" [Welch, W. Va.]. Women's Enews 27 May 2001. 40 para. November 27, 2013.

Lewis, Helen Matthews. 2011. "Mountain Feminist: Helen Matthews Lewis, Appalachian Studies, and the Long Women's Movement" [b. 1924]. Interview by Jessica Wilkerson; Introduction by Jessica Wilkerson and David P. Cline. *Southern Cultures* 17, no. 3 (Fall): 48-65.

Lewis, Helen. 2012. "Full Transcript of the Seedtime 2012 Helen Lewis Reading," 8 June. Seedtime on the Cumberland Festival, Whitesburg, Ky. 3,000 words. http://seedtimefestival.org/?p=481. "Helen Lewis, along with editors Judi Jennings and Pat Beaver joined Beth Bingman, Amelia Kirby, and Herb E. Smith in reading selections from *Helen Matthews Lewis: Living Social Justice in Appalachia* [University Press of Kentucky, 2012], a brand-new anthology of Lewis's writings and memories that document her life and work."

Locklear, Erica Abrams. 2011. *Negotiating a Perilous Empowerment: Appalachian Women's Literacies* [focuses on highly literate, central female characters in the works of Arnow, DeRosier, Giardina, and Lee Smith]. Series in Race, Ethnicity, and Gender in Appalachia. Athens: Ohio University Press. 256 pp. Contents: Appalachia on our pages: situating Appalachian literacy and literary analysis -- Shaping biscuit dough and rolling out steel: responding to literacy

commodification in *The Dollmaker* -- Narrating socialization: Linda Scott Derosier's memoirs. Interview with Linda Scott DeRosier -- "Overcoming" backgrounds: competing discourses in *The Unquiet Earth* -- Invasion of the mountain teachers: literacy campaigns and conflicts in Lee Smith's work. Interview with Lee Smith.

Lundy, Ronni. 2006. "Silvy's House" [octogenarian Silvy Nett's house in Southwest Va.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 1 (Spring): 26-29.

Maggard, Sally Ward. 1994. "Will the Real Daisy Mae Please Stand Up? A Methodological Essay on Gender Analysis in Appalachian Research." *Appalachian Journal* 21 (Winter): 136-150.

Maggard, Sally Ward. 1995. "Gender and Schooling in Appalachia: Lessons for an Era of Economic Restructuring." In *Appalachia and the Politics of Culture*, ed. E. C. Fine. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 7: 140-151. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Maggard, Sally Ward. 1998. "We're Fighting Millionaires!': The Clash of Gender and Class in Appalachian Women's Union Organizing." In *No Middle Ground: Women and Radical Protest*, ed. K. Blee, 289-306. New York: New York University Press.

Maggard, Sally Ward. 1999. "Gender, Race, and Place: Confounding Labor Activism in Central Appalachia" [Pikeville, Ky.; 1972 hospital strike]. In *Neither Separate Nor Equal: Women, Race, and Class in the South*, ed. B. Smith, 185-206. Women in the Political Economy series. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.

Maggard, Sally Ward. [1999] 2001. "Coalfield Women Making History" [Ky.; 1970s hospital and coal strikes]. In *Back Talk from Appalachia: Confronting Stereotypes*, ed. D. Billings, G. Norman, and K. Ledford, 228-250. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. Originally published as *Confronting Appalachian Stereotypes*.

Mann, Jeff. 1999. "Stonewall and Matewan: Some Thoughts on Gay Life in Appalachia" [identity; characterized in Appalachian literature]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 5 (Fall): 207-214.

Mann, Jeff. 2003. "Appalachian Subculture" [essay on gay mountaineers]. *Gay & Lesbian Review Worldwide* 10 (September/October): 19-21.

Mann, Jeff. [2003] 2008. *Edge: Travels of an Appalachian Leather Bear* [gay culture; autobiographical essays; Hinton, W. Va.]. Maple Shade, N.J.: Lethe Press. 207 pp. Originally published: New York: Southern Tier Editions, Harrington Park Press. Contents: Raised by lesbians: early education of the Hinton Heathcliff | Watching dark shadows | Ecce homo | Teaching gay and lesbian literature | Kilts | Drambuie | Risks | Provincetown triptych | Ludwig | Ireland | Key West.

Mann, Jeff. 2005. *Loving Mountains, Loving Men* [memoir: growing up gay in W. Va.]. Athens: Ohio University Press. Ethnicity & Gender in Appalachia. 248 pp.

Mann, Jeff. 2006. "Making and Taking Space for Mountaineer Queers: A Talk Given at the 2006 Associated Writing Programs Conference in Austin, Texas." *Appalachian Heritage* 34, no. 3 (Summer): 24-27.

Mann, Jeff. 2007. "Mountaineer Queer: An Interview with Jeff Mann" [gay creative writing professor, Blacksburg, Va.]. By Rebecca Baird and Kathryn Staley. *Appalachian Journal* 35, no. 1-2 (Fall 2007/Winter 2008): 58-75. Includes a list of 22 Appalachian books and films that feature GLBTIQ characters.

Mann, Jeff. 2008. "Here and Queer." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 24, no. 2 (Fall/Winter): 47-50. Life as a gay couple in rural Southwestern Va.

Mann, Jeff. 2010. *Binding the God: Ursine Essays from the Mountain South* [gay Bear culture; identity]. New London, Conn.: Bear Bones Books. 231 pp.

Marsh, Ben. 2007. *Georgia's Frontier Women: Female Fortunes in a Southern Colony*. Athens: University of Georgia Press. 253 pp.

Marshall, Grace. 2006. "Essie" [profile of Essie Riggs, four-foot-nine and mother of thirteen; hardships and endurance; Coeburn, Wise Co., Va.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 22, no. 1 (Spring): 34-36.

Martin, Darcy. 2002. "Aunt Molly Jackson: The Perfect Miner's Voice" [Mary Magdalene Garland, 1860-1960; folk singer]. *Journal of American & Comparative Cultures* 25 (Fall/Winter): 468-478.

Martini, Adrienne. 2006. *Hillbilly Gothic: A Memoir of Madness and Motherhood* [postpartum depression; Knoxville]. New York: Free Press. 224 pp.

Mattaliano, Jane. 1998. "The First Miss West Virginia" [1923; Neva Jackson]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 24 (Summer): 20-25.

McCleary, Ann E. 2006. "Seizing the Opportunity': Home Demonstration Curb Markets in Virginia" [1930s Augusta Co., Va.; Shenandoah Valley]. In *Work, Family, and Faith: Rural Southern Women in the Twentieth Century*, ed. M. Walker and R. Sharpless, 97-134. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

McDonough, Greta. 2010. *Her Troublesome Boys: The Lucy Furman Story* [adolescent fiction; historical biography]. Kentucky Hero Series. Louisville, Ky.: Motes Books. 143 pp. Furman was a writer (*The Quare Women*, 1923, 1937) and influential teacher at the Hindman Settlement School on Troublesome Creek, Hindman, Ky.

McElroy, James T. 1999. We've Got Spirit: The Life and Times of America's Greatest Cheerleading Team [Ky.; Greenup County High School]. New York: Simon & Schuster.

McInnis-Dittrich, Kathleen. 1997. "An Empowerment-Oriented Mental Health Intervention with Elderly Appalachian Women: The Women's Club" [Eastern Ky.]. *Journal of Women and Aging* 9 (nos.1-2): 91-105.

McMullen, David Lee. 2010. *Strike!: The Radical Insurrections of Ellen Dawson* [1900-1967]. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. 239 pp. Labor activist, born in Scotland, who helped organize the 1929 textile workers strike in Gastonia, N.C.

Mead, Susan. 2007. "Planting Seeds, Inspiring Hope: The Appalachian Women's Alliance Ironweed Festival" [annual; October]. *Pluck: The Journal of Affrilachian Arts & Culture*, no. 2: 7-10.

Messer, Mary Judith. 2010. "Moonshiner's Daughter" [biography]. Lake Junaluska, NC: Doing Well Now Publishers. 218 pp. Poor and abused as a child; 1940s-50s Great Smoky Mountains, Haywood County, N.C.

Messinger, Penny. 2010. "Restoring the Woman Reformer: Helen Hastie Dingman and 'Mountain Work,' 1916-1950" [d.1978 at 93]. *Appalachian Journal* 37, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 242-264. Female Progressive, Presbyterian missionary, and Berea College faculty member who played a central role in the Conference of Southern Mountain Workers, "and helped define the Appalachian region for outsiders."

Randall, Elizabeth J., and Leslie E. Tower. 2010. "Appalachia: Addressing Domestic Violence in the Rural Environment." Chap. 13 in *Domestic Violence: Intersectionality and Culturally Competent Practice*, ed. L. Lockhart and F. Danis, 343-368. New York: Columbia University Press. Case study; 15 women interviewed; "...traditional values...may, inadvertently, promote cultural tolerance of family violence."

Miewald, Christiana E., and Eugene J. McCann. 2004. "Gender Struggle, Scale, and the Production of Place in the Appalachian Coalfields" [Ky.; interviews with fourteen women]. *Environment & Planning* A, vol. 36, no. 6 (June): 1045-1064.

Miller, Tia. 2001. "Aunt Jennie" [W. Va. banjoist Virginia Myrtle Ellis, 1900-1992]. *Traditions: A Journal of West Virginia Folk Culture and Educational Awareness* 6: 28-30.

Moore, Marat. 1996. "Women Go Underground." In *The United Mine Workers of America: A Model of Industrial Solidarity?*, ed. J. Laslett, 484-512. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.

Moore, Marat. 1996. *Women in the Mines: Stories of Life and Work*. Twaynes's Oral History Series, no. 20. New York: Twayne. 337 pp.

Nava, Margaret. 2012. "A Labor of Love" [Tenn.?]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 24-25. Anecdotal memories of a granny midwife's remarkable service.

Newton, Roxanne. 2007. Women Workers on Strike: Narratives of Southern Women Unionists. Studies in American Popular History and Culture. New York: Routledge. 187 pp.

Noble, Zola Troutman. 2007. "An Ordinary Woman: Sarah A. Geer McIntyre of Saltville, Virginia" [1860-1928]. *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 11: 51-76. Profile of this widow and mother's difficulties and responsibilities in Smyth County, Va.

Norris, Randall, and Jean-Philippe Cypres. 1996. *Women of Coal* [interviews, photographs]. Introductions by Denise Giardina, Nikki Giovanni, Jim Wayne Miller, and Helen M. Lewis, Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 128 pp.

O'Brien, Robert J. 1997. "Persecution and Acceptance: The Strange History of Discrimination Against Married Women Teachers in West Virginia" [1930s; women forced out of teaching when they married]. West Virginia History 56: 56-75.

Oberhauser, Ann M. 1995. "Gender and Household Economic Strategies in Rural Appalachia." *Gender, Place and Culture* 2 (March): 51-70.

Oberhauser, Ann M. 1995. "Towards a Gendered Regional Geography: Women and Work in Rural Appalachia." *Growth and Change* 26 (Spring): 217-244.

Oberhauser, Ann M. 2002. "Relocating Gender and Rural Economic Strategies" [knitware; 60 home-based workers]. *Environment and Planning A* 34 (July): 1221-1237.

Oberhauser, Ann M. 2005. "Scaling Gender and Diverse Economies: Perspectives from Appalachia and South Africa" [hegemony of global capitalism challenged]. *Antipode* 37 (5): 863-874.

Oberhauser, Ann M., Amy Pratt, and Anne-Marie Turnage. 2001. "Unraveling Appalachia's Rural Economy: The Case of a Flexible Manufacturing Network" [gendered economic strategies]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 7 (Spring): 19-45.

Oberhauser, Ann M., and Anne-Marie Turnage. 1999. "A Coalfield Tapestry: Weaving the Socioeconomic Fabric of Women's Lives" [W. Va.; informal economy]. In *Neither Separate Nor Equal: Women, Race, and Class in the South*, ed. B. Smith, 109-122. Women in the Political Economy series. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.

Orr, Mabel Chappell; interview by Mary E. Lynn Drew. "Heroic Women of the Southern Highlands" [1920s Robbinsville, Graham Co., N.C.; excerpt from oral history series in progress]. *Appalachian Heritage* 26 (Spring): 42-45.

Pearson, Nelda K. 1999. "Empowerment and Disempowerment of Women in Central Appalachia, U.S.A." In *Democratization and Women's Grassroots Movements*, ed. J. Bystydzienski, J. Sekhon, 328-351. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.

Pendarvis, Edwina. 2003. "At the Edge of the Past: Jenny Wiley's Story and Its Relevance Today" [1789 Indian captivity; POW Jessica Lynch]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 20, no. 2-3 (Summer/Winter): 13-17.

Pendarvis, Edwina. 2012. "Exotic Dancing and the Odds for a Happily Ever After." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 33-35. Blaze Starr, and Cabell County, W. Va.

Peterson, Angela Marsh. 2005. *One Woman's Century: The Remarkable Story of Angela Marsh Peterson*, 1902-2000. Edited by Kevin J. Todeschi. `Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 243 pp.

Pienkowski, Joni. 2001. "Malissia of Tom's Creek and Brush Mountain." *Smithfield Review: Studies in the History of the Region West of the Blue Ridge* 5: 46-63. Story of the life and character of former teacher and fiercely independent 60-year recluse, Malissia Surface (1889-1988) of Tom's Creek just west of Blacksburg, Montgomery County, Va. From tape transcriptions beginning in 1974.

Pohlman, H. L. 1999. *The Whole Truth: A Case of Murder on the Appalachian Trail* [Pa.; death-penalty trial; lesbian victims]. Amherst: University of Massachusetts Press. 249 pp.

Pollitt, Phoebe. 2012. "Mary Rose Batterham: The Second Registered Nurse in the United States" [b. 1858; Asheville, N.C.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 12-14.

Puckett, Anita. 1992. "Let the Girls Do the Spelling and Dan Will Do the Shooting': Literacy, the Division of Labor, and Identity in a Rural Appalachian Community" [Ky.]. *Anthropological Quarterly* 65 (July): 137-147. Special issue: Negotiating Identity in Southeastern U.S. Uplands.

Ramey, Jennifer. 1996. "Nanny: An Interview With Clara Mae Ramey" [Rabun Co., Ga.; reminiscences]. *Foxfire Magazine* 30 (Fall/Winter): 141-152.

Rasmussen, Barbara. 2007. "Food and Rebellion in Monroe County: Recalling Georgia Wickline" [1904-1995, the author's grandmother]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 3 (Fall): 40-45.

Reed, Wendy, and Jennifer Horne, ed. 2006. *All Out of Faith: Southern Women on Spirituality*. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press. 198 pp. Contents: That old-time religion / Shirley Abbott -- This is our world / Dorothy Allison -- Why Jesus loved whores / Vicki Covington -- Awakening / Sue Monk Kidd -- The making of a preacher's wife / Cassandra King -- Knowing our place / Barbara Kingsolver -- Relics of summer / Frances Mayes -- From Birmingham to redemption / Diane McWhorter -- Full circle / Pauli Murray -- When woods are dark: the enchantment of the infinite / Sena Jeter Naslund -- Sex, race, and the stained-glass window /

Sylvia Rhue -- Becoming a cantor / Jessica Roskin -- I lead two lives: confessions of a closet Baptist / Mab Segrest -- Interview with Lee Smith / Susan Ketchin -- Where the spirit moved me / Jeanie Thompson -- A Baptist-Buddhist / Jan Willis.

Reichart, Karaleah S. 2001. "Narrating Conflict: Women and Coal in Southern West Virginia" [ethnographic interviews]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 7 (Spring): 6-18.

Resor, Cynthia Williams. 2007. "A Whistling Girl and a Crowing Hen: Changing Productivity and Gender Expectations" [Eastern Kentucky University]. *Southern Rural Sociology* 22, no. 1: 98-109.

Rezek, Jan. 2010. "Gender Role Patterns: How They Factor Into Support Systems for Young Mothers in Rural Appalachia" [unmarried, age 15-17]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 16, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 131-143. Tables. From interviews with eight teen mothers in three W. Va. counties: Fayette, Raleigh, Kanawha.

Rice, Connie Park. 2006. "Shepherdess of the Hills': The Salvation Army Mountain Ministry of Cecil Brown" [N.C.; first Salvation Army mission in Appalachia, 1935]. In *Work, Family, and Faith: Rural Southern Women in the Twentieth Century*, ed. M. Walker and R. Sharpless, 200-225. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

Rieff, Lynne. 2006. "Revitalizing Southern Homes: Rural Women, the Professionalization of Home Demonstration Work, and the Limits of Reform, 1917-1945" [Alabama]. In *Work, Family, and Faith: Rural Southern Women in the Twentieth Century*, ed. M. Walker and R. Sharpless, 135-165. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

Roberts-Gevalt, Anna. 2010. "Effie Smith Pierson." *Old-Time Herald* 12, no. 5 (June-July): 10-17. Biography of this midwife and fiddler, born 1902 in Sturgeon, Owsley Co., Ky. http://oldtimeherald.org/archive/back_issues/index.html.

Roberts-Gevalt, Anna. 2010. "Lella Christopher Todd." *Old-Time Herald* 12, no. 6 (August-September): 10-13. Profile of Todd, a notable fiddler, born 1891 in Estill Co., Ky.

Roberts, Ronald, and Carol Cooke-Roberts. 1998. *Mother Jones and Her Sisters: A Century of Women Activists in the American Coal Fields*. Dubuque, Iowa: Kendall/Hunt Publishing Company. 290 pp.

Romalis, Shelly. 1998. *Pistol Packin' Mama: Aunt Molly Jackson and the Politics of Folksong* [Ky. midwife, labor activist, songwriter; 1880-1960]. Music in American Life. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. 264 pp.

Rose, Jessamine [a.k.a. Susan Haynes]. 2010. *Don't Let the Secret Out* [b. 1937; Ky.]. Brandenburg, Ky.: Bearhead Publishing. 113 pp. Child abuse; biographical anecdotes.

Ross, Paul E. 1995. "Annie Oakley and the Hillbilly Jinx." *Appalachian Journal* 22 (Winter): 262-275.

Roydhouse, Marion W. 2007. *Women of Industry and Reform: Shaping the History of Pennsylvania*, 1865-1940. University Park: Pennsylvania Historical Association. 106 pp. Includes short sections on coal mining and silk mills, plus "Bibliography and Suggestions for Further Reading," 101-104.

Sale, Anna. 2007. "Sisters in Coal: A History of Women in the West Virginia Mines." *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 33, no. 1 (Spring): 10-17.

Sauceman, Fred. 2011. "Getting Lessons In Between." *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 1 (Summer): 37-40. Profile of East Tennessean Besse Brown Cooper, world's oldest living person at age 114.

Sauceman, Fred. 2012. "Editor's Notebook" [preface to special issue, "Serving Appalachia"]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 3. Profile of Ilo Birchfield Salyer of Cole Springs, Tenn., television host of the variety show, "Memo from Ilo," which "ran on WJHL from 1957 to 1966, 30 minutes a day, five days a week."

Savage, Carletta. 2000. "Re-gendering Coal: Female Miners and Male Supervisors." *Appalachian Journal* 27 (Spring): 232-248.

Seaton, Carter Taylor. 2012. "Adrienne Belafonte Beisemeyer: Weaver, Social Activist, Dancer" [Lewisburg, W. Va.]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 28-30. Adrienne is the daughter of Harry Belafonte.

Seitz, Virginia Rinaldo. 1995. *Women, Development, and Communities for Empowerment in Appalachia*. SUNY Series in Gender and Society. Albany: State University of New York Press. 288 pp.

Shainbaum, Barry. 2001. "Judy Hensley." In *Hope and Heroes: Portraits of Integrity*, photographs by Barry Shainbaum, text by Madelaine Palko and Shannon Fitzgerald, 50-51. Toronto: London Street Press. With her Wallins Elementary School students in Harlan County, Ky., Hensley led the successful Save Black Mountain (from strip mining) project. Black Mountain is Kentucky's highest peak.

Shaw, Moira P. 2005. "From Every Mountainside, Let Freedom Ring: A Transnational Feminist Journey through the Experiences of West Virginian and Bolivian Mountain Women." In *Beyond Hill and Hollow: Original Readings in Appalachian Women's Studies*, ed. E. Englehardt, 196-211. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Smith, Barbara Ellen, ed. 1999. *Neither Separate Nor Equal: Women, Race, and Class in the South* [13 essays: 7 Appalachian]. Women in the Political Economy series. Philadelphia: Temple University Press. 286 pp.

Smith, Barbara Ellen. 1998. "Walk-Ons in the Third Act: The Role of Women in Appalachian Historiography" [feminist approach needed]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 4 (Spring): 5-28.

Smith, Barbara Ellen. 1999. "Beyond the Mountains': The Paradox of Women's Place in Appalachian History." *NWSA Journal: A Publication of the National Women's Studies Association* 11 (Fall): 1-17.

Smith, Karen Cecil. 2003. *Orlean Puckett: The Life of a Mountain Midwife, 1844-1939* [Blue Ridge Va.]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 166 pp.

Smith, Margaret Supplee, and Emily Herring Wilson. 1999. *North Carolina Women: Making History* [essays, biographies; prehistory to WWII]. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press. 382 pp.

Smith, Sandra Wilson. 2010. "Frontier Androgyny: An Archetypal Female Hero in *The Adventures of Daniel Boone.*" *Journal of American Studies* 44, no. 2: 269-286.

Smith, Tammy Robinson, ed. 2007. *Self-Rising Flowers* [fiction]. Bristol, Va.: Mountain Girl Press. 201 pp. Short stories about Appalachian women, by 15 women authors.

Sohn, Katherine Kelleher. 2003. "Whistlin' and Crowin' Women of Appalachia: Literacy Practices Since College" [eight women: literacy; self-confidence; identity]. *College Composition and Communication* 54 (February): 423-52.

Sohn, Katherine Kelleher. 2006. *Whistlin' and Crowin' Women of Appalachia: Literacy Practices Since College* [Eastern Ky.; case studies of three women]. Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press. 176 pp. Based on the author's 1999 dissertation of the same title.

Spatig, Linda, Laurel Parrott, Carolyn Carter, Marian Keyes, and Pat Kusimo. 2001. "We Roll Deep: Community and Resistance in the Lives of Appalachian Girls" [W. Va.; eight voices/social-structural models; urban and rural, including African American]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 7 (Spring): 64-92.

Speer, Jennie, and Ann Speer. 2000. *Sisters of Providence: The Search for God in the Frontier South (1843-1858)* [diaries; Providence, N.C.]. Edited by Allen Paul Speer and Janet Barton Speer. Johnson City, Tenn.: Overmountain Press. 290 pp.

Staley, Kathryn. 2012. "Gay Liberation Comes to Appalachian State University (1969-1979)." *Appalachian Journal* 39, no. 1-2 (Fall 2011/Winter 2012): 72-91. An earlier version of this essay won ASA's 2009 Carl A. Ross Student Paper Award.

Steadman, Jennifer Bernhardt, Elizabeth Engelhardt, Frances Smith Foster, and Laura Micham. 2002. "Archive Survival Guide: Practical and Theoretical Approaches for the Next Century of Women's Studies Research" [Engelhardt focus on Appalachian Native- and African-American women]. *Legacy* 19, no. 2: 230-240.

Steel, Edward M., ed. 1995. *The Court-Martial of Mother Jones*. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky. 319 pp.

Steele, Virginia. 1999. "Good for the Soul': Gladys Larew at 100" [profile; Monroe Co.]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Summer): 40-47.

Stephens, Carol C. 2005. "Culturally Relevant Preventive Health Care for Southern Appalachian Women." Chap. 9 in *Appalachian Cultural Competency: A Guide for Medical, Mental Health, and Social Service Professionals*, ed. S. Keefe, 197-217. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Storrs, Landon R. Y. 2003. "Gender and Sectionalism in New Deal Politics: Southern White Women's Campaign for Labor Reform" [textile industry]. In *Searching for Their Places: Women in the South Across Four Centuries*, ed. T. Appleton and A. Boswell, 218-237. Southern Women. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

Strong, Cliffie. 2004. *Strong Survival: The Life and Times of a Mountain Woman* [Owsley Co., Ky.; biography; case study]. Hagerhill, Ky.: Christian Appalachian Project. 104 pp.

Swank, Eric, Breanne Fahs, and Holly N. Haywood. 2011. "Evaluating Appalachian Distinctiveness for Gender Expectations, Sexual Violence, and Rape Myths." *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 17, no. 1-2 (Spring-Fall): 123-143. Tables. Study of eastern Kentucky college students.

Swartz, Patti Capel. 2003. "It's Elementary in Appalachia: Helping Prospective Teachers and Their Students Understand Sexuality and Gender" [discrimination toward lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, and intersex students]. *Journal of Gay and Lesbian Issues in Education* 1 (Fall): 51-71.

Tallichet, Suzanne E. 1998. "Moving Up Down in the Mine: The Preservation of Male Privilege Underground" [from interviews with ten women coal miners]. In *More Than Class: Studying Power in U.S. Workplaces*, ed. A. Kingsolver, 124-147. Albany: State University of New York Press.

Tallichet, Suzanne E. 2000. "Barriers to Women's Advancement in Underground Coal Mining." *Rural Sociology* 65 (June): 234-252.

Tallichet, Suzanne E. 2006. *Daughters of the Mountain: Women Coal Miners in Central Appalachia* [W. Va.; sex discrimination; interviews with 14 women; 1990s]. Rural Studies Series. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press. 210 pp.

Tallichet, Suzanne E. 2011. "Digging Deeper: Rural Appalachian Women Miners' Reconstruction of Gender in a Class Based Community." Chap. 8 in *Reshaping Gender and Class in Rural Spaces*, ed. B. Pini, and B. Leach, 144-160. Burlington: Ashgate.

Thompson, Brock. 2010. *The Un-Natural State: Arkansas and the Queer South* [gay culture; Eureka Springs]. Fayetteville: University of Arkansas Press. 247 pp.

Tice, Karen W. 1998. "School-Work and Mother-Work: The Interplay of Maternalism and Cultural Politics in the Educational Narratives of Kentucky Settlement Workers, 1910-1930" [Lucy Furman and Ethel deLong]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 4 (Fall): 191-224.

Turner, Elizabeth Hayes. 2009. *Women and Gender in the New South: 1865-1945* [approx. 60 essays]. Wheeling, Ill.: Harlan Davidson. 271 pp.

Tyler-McGraw, Marie; photographs by Gary Simmons. [1977] 1999. "Mother's Day Revisited" [Grafton, W. Va.; home of Mother's Day founder Anna Jarvis]. *Goldenseal: West Virginia Traditional Life* 25 (Spring): 10-17. Reprint, originally published vol. 3, no. 4.

Ulrich, Laurel Thatcher. 2001. *The Age of Homespun: Objects and Stories in the Creation of an American Myth.* New York: Knopf. 501 pp.

Ulrich, Laurel Thatcher. 2001. *The Age of Homespun: Objects and Stories in the Creation of an American Myth* [19th-century New England; applicable to Appalachia]. New York: Knopf. 501 pp.

VanLandingham, Frances Henson. 2003. *Back on Nowhere Road* [Tenn., autobiography]. Boone, N.C.: Parkway Publishers. 168 pp.

Vines, Georgiana. 2010. "For more than 40 years, a former nun from New York has helped Appalachian communities" [Marie Cirillo; Eagan, Tenn.; interview]. *Knoxville News Sentinel*, 27 March. 2,677 words. "Marie Cirillo came to Appalachia 43 years ago to help educate locals and give them job skills after deciding she could't do it as a Catholic nun in the Midwest. The 80-year-old Brooklyn, N.Y., native remains a community developer here three generations later, having influenced natives as well as a president's daughter." Sidenote: Cirillo retired as director of the Clearfork Community Institute in 2013. http://www.knoxnews.com/news/local/for-more-than-40-years-a-former-nun-from-new-york-has-helped-appalachian-communities-ep-408780736-358831361.html.

Walker, Melissa, and Rebecca Sharpless, ed. 2006. *Work, Family, and Faith: Rural Southern Women in the Twentieth Century* [ten essays]. Columbia: University of Missouri Press. 294 pp.

Walker, Melissa, ed. 2004. *Country Women Cope with Hard Times: A Collection of Oral Histories* [16 oral histories; East Tenn., S.C.]. Women's Diaries and Letters of the South, no. 20. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. 208 pp.

Walker, Melissa. 2000. *All We Knew Was to Farm: Rural Women in the Upcountry South,* 1919-1941. Revisiting Rural America series. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 344 pp.

Walker, Melissa. 2003. "The Changing Character of Farm Life: Rural Southern Women." In *Southern Women at the Millennium: A Historical Perspective*, ed. M. Walker, J. R. Dunn, and J. P. Dunn, 145-175. Columbia: University of Missouri Press.

Warren, Sarah T. 2002. "One Step Further: Women's Access to and Control Over Farm and Forest Resources in the U.S. South." *Southern Rural Sociology* 19, no. 2: 94-113.

Watkins, Charles Alan. 1999. "Weaving Day at Penland: A Photographic Analysis" [Bayard Wootten photos; 1920s]. NWSA: A Publication of the National Women's Studies Association 11 (Fall): 18-23.

Webb-Sunderhaus, Sara. 2012. "Living with Literacy's Contradictions: Appalachian Students in a First-Year Writing Course" [identity; values]. Chap. 12 in *Reclaiming the Rural: Essays on Literacy, Rhetoric, and Pedagogy*, ed. K. Donehower, C. Hogg, and E. Schell, 207-222. Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press. Twelve student participants, at majority-women State University–Sciotoville (pseud.).

Weise, Robert. 1995. "Property, Gender, and the Sale of Mineral Rights in Pre-industrial Eastern Kentucky." In *Appalachia and the Politics of Culture*, ed. E. C. Fine. *Journal of the Appalachian Studies Association* 7: 79-90. Johnson City: East Tennessee State University, Center for Appalachian Studies and Services.

Weissman, Karen Hyde. 2005. "Property and Gender in the Inheritance Patterns of a Southern Appalachian Community: Boone County, West Virginia, 1865-1924" [reviews recorded wills, property distribution]. *Journal of Family History* 30 (January): 48-65.

Wells, Jane. 1996. *Run Jane Run: A True Story of Murder and Courage* [Ky.; wife abuse]. Far Hills, N.J.: New Horizon Press. 327 pp. Biography/case study.

Williamson, Celia. 2005. "Appalachian Women and Poverty: Work in the Underground Economy" [prostitution: Toledo, Ohio, 1970s-1990s]. In *Beyond Hill and Hollow: Original Readings in Appalachian Women's Studies*, ed. E. Englehardt, 137-151. Athens: Ohio University Press.

Willis, Stacey M. 1998. "'Recovering from My Own Little War': Women and Domestic Violence in Rural Appalachia" [W. Va.; case study]. *Journal of Appalachian Studies* 4 (Fall): 255-270.

Withrow, Dolly. 2012. "Jenny Carnell: Born to Serve" [Ripley, W. Va.]. Lewisburg, W. Va. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 27, no. 2 (Winter): 31-32. Profile of this 79-year-old, along with her recipe for "chow-chow," (Chunky Zucchini Relish).

Wolensky, Kenneth C., and Robert P. Wolensky. 1999. "Against the Odds: Min Matheson and the ILGWU" [Minnie Lurye Matheson, union leader; 1940s Wyoming Valley, Pa.; International Ladies' Garment Workers' Union]. *Now & Then: The Appalachian Magazine* 16 (Summer): 22-27.

Wolfe, Margaret Ripley. 1998. "The Feminine Dimension in the Volunteer State." In *Tennessee History: The Land, The People, and the Culture*, ed. C. Van West, 29-55. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press.

Women in Appalachia. 2010. Special issue, *Appalachian Journal* 37, no. 3-4 (Spring/Summer): 140-312. Poetry, an interview with Patricia D. Beaver by guest editor Bruce E. Stewart, and articles by Barbara J. Howe, Mary Ella Engel, Deborah L. Blackwell, Penny Messinger, Robert C. Poister, and Mary K. Anglin. Note also: "Recent Scholarship on Women in Appalachia," which lists 20 references, in "From the Editor" column, pp. 140-141.

Young, Virginia C. 2010. "'A Little Extra Persuasion': Gender and Craft Unionism in West Virginia's Glass Industry, 1900-1950s" [tables]. *West Virginia History*, n.s. 4, no. 2 (Fall): 35-58. Fostoria Glass, Moundsville, W. Va.; American Flint Glass Workers Union (AFGWU), Local 507.

DISSERTATIONS

Doctoral theses indexed in ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database

Abbate-Winkel, Dee. 1995. "Voices, Mirrors, Names, and Dreams: A Case History of Participatory Management at Appalshop." Ed.D. diss., Northern Illinois University. 280 pp.

Abram, Susan Marie. 2009. "'Souls in the Treetops': Cherokee War, Masculinity, and Community, 1760-1820." Ph.D. diss., Auburn University. 270 pp.

Adams, Kathy Lynne. 2001. "The Making of Robots: Control and De-Skilling of Fourth-Grade Teachers in an Urban Appalachian School After the Implementation of the Ohio Proficiency Test." Ed.D. diss., University of Cincinnati. 119 pp.

Adams, Sean Patrick. 1999. "Old Dominions and Industrial Commonwealths: The Political Economy of Coal in Virginia and Pennsylvania, 1810-1875." Ph.D. diss., University of Wisconsin - Madison. 435 pp.

Addington, James R. 2011. "Education and Development in Rural Appalachia: An Environmental Education Perspective." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 188 pp.

Adkins, Alfred Bradley. 2003. "Reaping the Whirlwind: A Psychological and Cultural Study of the Hatfield-McCoy Feud" [W. Va., Ky.]. Ph.D. diss., Union Institute and University. 99 pp.

Adkins, Tabetha. 2009. "In the Wor(l)d but Not of It: Literacy Practices of an Amish Community in Southeast Ohio." Ph.D. diss., University of Louisville. 142 pp.

Agostini, Thomas Charles. 2002. "Cousins in Arms': Experience and the Formation of a British-American Identity among Regular and Provincial Soldiers during the Seven Years' War." Ph.D. diss., Lehigh University. 396 pp.

Ahn, Soeun. 1997. "Economic Analysis of the Potential Impacts of Climate Change on Trout Fishing in the Southern Appalachian Mountains." Ph.D. diss., North Carolina State University. 137 pp.

Alagan, Ramakrishnan. 2007. "Participatory GIS Approaches to Environmental Impact Assessment: A Case Study of the Appalachian Corridor H Transportation Project." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 227 pp. Highway; W. Va., Va.; community involvement.

Albrecht, Matthew A. 2006. "Reproductive Biology of Medicinal Woodland Herbs Indigenous to the Appalachians." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 138 pp.

Alessi, Joseph P. 2005. "Settling America: Indians, Euroamericans, and the Establishment of Frontier Towns, 1600--1830" [Pa., N.Y., N.M., Or.]. Ph.D. diss., Saint Louis University. 394 pp.

Alexander, Danrick W. 2006. "The Expected Value of Catastrophes in Underground Coal Mines, 1987-2001." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 238 pp. "On average these catastrophes resulted in the loss of 57% of a mine's annual production and cost \$10 million plus \$14 per lost ton."

Alexander, John Murad. 1995. "The Design of a Book: Ethnographic Form in *Let Us Now Praise Famous Men.*" Ph.D. diss., University of New York. 510 pp.

Algeo, Catherine Marie. 1998. "Tobacco Farming in the Age of the Surgeon General's Warning: The Cultural Ecology and Structuration of Burley Tobacco Production in Madison County, North Carolina." Ph.D. diss., Louisiana State University. 233 pp.

Allegretto, Kimberly O. 2007. "Adopting Maize in the Eastern Woodlands of North America." Ph. D. diss., Brandeis University. 399 pp. Between 170 and 0 B.C.; archaeology.

Allen, April Diane. 2004. "The Social Importance of a Small-Town Theater: A Case Study of the Pulaski Theatre, Pulaski, Virginia" [1911 to present]. Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 162 pp.

Allison, Tammy L. 2005. "The Real College is within Us': The Transformation of Women's Higher Education in Tennessee from 1880 to 1925" [Maryville College, Tennessee College for Women, Ward-Belmont College, and Fisk University]. D.A. diss., Middle Tennessee State University. 306 pp.

Altman, Rebecca Gasior. 2008. "Chemical Body Burden and Place-Based Struggles for Environmental Health and Justice (A Multi-Site Ethnography of Biomonitoring Science)." Ph.D. diss., Brown University. 440 pp. Communities in Appalachia, Maine, and Alaska use biomonitoring to characterize the presence of environmental chemicals in human tissue.

Amarasinghe, Anura Kumara. 2006. "A Socioeconomic and Spatial Analysis of Obesity in West Virginia: Policy Implications." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 154 pp.

Amason, Jessica Hope. 2010. "Seasonal Lives: Tourism and the Struggle for Place in Gatlinburg, Tennessee." Ph.D. diss., University of Arkansas. 233 pp. "...focuses on the ways tourism industries perpetuate, re-shape, fragment, and even destroy a community's 'sense of place'."

Ambrose, Nathan Robert. 2008. "Overcoming Barriers to Student Achievement: A Case Analysis of High-Poverty Schools Becoming High-Performing Schools" [Ky.; two high schools]. Ed.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 242 pp.

Amonkar, Mayur Mohan. 1997. "Matching Appalachians' Preventive Services' Utilization and Managed Care Strategies for Preventive Care" [underutilization of mammograms, breast physical exams, Pap smears, cholesterol and blood pressure screenings]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 382 pp.

Andersen, Nancy Keever. 1999. "Cooperation for Social Betterment: Missions and Progressives in the Methodist Episcopal Church, South, 1894-1921." Ph.D. diss., Vanderbilt University. 284 pp.

Anderson, Bridget LeAnn. 2003. "An Acoustic Study of Southeastern Michigan Appalachian and African-American Southern Migrant Vowel Systems" [linguistics; 6 African American and 6 Appalachian white Detroit females]. Ph.D. diss, University of Michigan. 211 pp.

Anderson, Cara Everett. 2004. "Multicultural Initiatives at ACA Colleges" [Appalachian College Association]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 243 pp.

Andrews, Ashley Q. 2006. "A Certain Measure of Achievement': Ellen Glasgow, Beyond the Story" [feminist narrative theory; *Vein of Iron* (1935)]. Ph.D. diss., University of Houston. 178 pp.

Anderson, Cynthia Diane. 1997. "The Social Consequences of Economic Restructuring in the Textile Industry: Change in a Southern Mill Village" [Fieldcrest Cannon; Kannapolis, N.C.]. Ph.D. diss., North Carolina State University. 240 pp.

Anderson, Robert L. 2000. "Voices of Steel: New Left and Worker Resistance to Steel Industry Restructuring, Western Pennsylvania, 1979-1986." Ph.D. diss., University of New Mexico. 420 pp.

Anderson, Robert Thomas. 2001. "The Transformation of the Upper Ohio River Valley" [18th century]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 320 pp.

Andreescu, Viviana. 2000. "Beyond Myth, Toward Reality: Homicidal Violence in Appalachia in the 1990s." Ph.D. diss., University of Louisville.

Anthony, Darlene M. 2003. "Landscape Evolution and Cave Development Across the Appalachian Highlands in Response to Episodic Incision of the Cumberland River, Tennessee and Kentucky, United States." Ph.D. diss., Purdue University. 252 pp.

Applegate, Darlene Ann. 1997. "Lithic Evidence of Prehistoric Rockshelter Use in Eastern Kentucky." Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 342 pp.

Applegate House, Renae Ruth. 2008. "Trinity of Consciousness: Body, Mind, Soul, and Female Identity in the Novels of Gail Godwin." Ph.D. diss., Indiana University of Pennsylvania. 318 pp.

Arnold, Andrew Bernard. 2002. "Ordering Coal: Labor, Law, and Business in Central Pennsylvania, 1870--1900." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 387 pp.

Asbury, Robin Lynn. 2001. "Pitfalls, Promises, and Potential: West Virginia Community Colleges, Economic Development, and Senate Bill 547." Ed.D. diss., West Virginia University. 159 pp.

Ashendel, Anita J. 1997. "'She is the Man of the Concern': Entrepreneurial Women in the Ohio Valley, 1790-1860" [Ky., Ohio, Ind.]. Ph.D. diss., Purdue University. 168 pp.

Ashurst, James Ray. 2002. "Rural Grief: The Grief Experience in Union County, Georgia" [eight males and 30 females from four age groups; in response to death of family member]. Ph.D. diss., Walden University. 105 pp.

Atkinson, Leigh A. 2008. "Factors Impacting Student Retention on the Regional Campuses and Centers of Ohio University." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 174 pp.

Aurand, Harold Wilson J., Jr. 1998. "Regional Origin and Political Culture on the Upper Susquehanna Frontier, 1750-1800" [Pa.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Minnesota. 286 pp.

Avery, Patricia Jo Kinman. 2001. "An Investigation of Music Education Rudiments in Selected American Tunebooks of the Eighteenth and Nineteenth Century: 1700 to 1900." D.M.A. diss., Shenandoah University. 239 pp.

Badgett, Paul R. 2009. "The Most Evangelistic Kentucky Baptist Churches in Eastern Kentucky." D.Min. diss., Liberty University. 140 pp.

Bagchi, Bratendu. 2007. "Computer Modeling of Tennessee Valley Authority's Coal Based Power Plant at Kingston to Predict the Effluent to Emory River." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 222 pp. [Editor's note: on Dec. 22, 2008, TVA's Kingston Fossil Plant experienced a devastating coal fly ash slurry spill measuring 1 billion gallons].

Bailey, Brent. 1999. "Social and Economic Impacts of Wild Harvested Products" [W. Va.; ginseng]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 111 pp.

Bailey, Heather L. 2010. "Hillbilly Skits to Buford Sticks: Sustainable Heritage Tourism in Tennessee." Ph.D. diss., Middle Tennessee State University. 153 pp.

Bailey, Rebecca J. 2001. "Matewan Before the Massacre: Politics, Coal, and the Roots of Conflict in Mingo County, 1793--1920" [W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 556 pp.

Baker, Christopher Warren. 1995. "The Small Town in the Global Economy: A Case Study of Development and Resistance in a Southern Appalachian Industrial Center" [Hamblen County, Tenn.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 324 pp.

Baker, Pamela L. 2003. "The National Road and the Promise of Improvement, 1802-1850." Ph.D. diss., University of Illinois at Chicago. 255 pp.

Ballew, David Edwin, Jr. 2000. "The Popular Prejudices of Our People: Kinship, Community, and Male Honor in the Alabama-Mississippi Hill Country, 1820-1890." Ph.D. diss., University of Mississippi. 425 pp.

Banks, Mata J. 2006. "In Pursuit of the Ed.D.: A Study of East Tennessee State University's Doctors of Education, Who They Are and Why They Persisted." Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 160 pp.

Barclay, Sonya Marie. 2008. "Reading the Social Landscape: A Lexicon of Rural Class in Western Pennsylvania, 1790-1860" [Indiana Co.]. Ph.D. diss., Carnegie Mellon University. 488 pp.

Bardill, Jessica Dawn. 2011. "Beyond Blood and Belonging: Alternarratives for a Global Citizenry." Ph.D. diss., Duke University. 269 pp. "...the Cherokee Nation's expulsion of Freedmen and the Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians' new membership requirement of DNA testing, which demonstrate influences of a blood narrative upon policy and legislation."

Barfield, Loretta May. 1994. "Family Influence on Fertility, Migration, and Aging: Coping and Adaptation in the Blue Ridge Province of Appalachia: Floyd County, Virginia." Ph.D. diss., Indiana University. 220 pp.

Barksdale, Kevin T. 2005. "Upon the Shoulders of Giants': Deconstructing the Lost State of Franklin, 1784--2005" [Tenn.]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 300 pp.

Barnes, Jodi A. 2008. "From Farms to Forests: The Material Life of an Appalachian Landscape" [Appalachian Trail, 1800 to present]. Ph.D. diss., American University. 261 pp. Study of slavery, tenancy, and displacement based on lives of three individuals.

Barney, Sandra Lee. 1995. "'Accepting the Findings of Medical Science': Gender, Class and the Political Economy of Health Care in Central Appalachia, 1880-1935" [Ky., W. Va., Va.]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 333 pp.

Barr, Daniel P. 2001. "Contested Land: Competition and Conflict Along the Upper Ohio Frontier, 1744-1787." Ph.D. diss., Kent State University. 436 pp.

Barry, Joyce. 2004. "Mountaineers Are Always Free? An Examination of Mountaintop Removal Coal Mining in West Virginia" [natural, economic, social and political impact]. Ph.D. diss., Bowling Green State University. 196 pp.

Bassett, Dorothy Elizabeth. 1995. "Small Business Assistance Programs in Eastern Kentucky: Tailoring Services to Target Population Needs." Ph.D. diss., University of Pittsburgh. 147 pp.

Batch, Rachel Ann. 2000. "Finding Stability in a Company Town: A Community Study of Slickville, Pennsylvania, 1916-1943" [immigrant families; coal mining; Westmoreland Co.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Pennsylvania. 386 pp.

Baumann, Robert William. 2003. "Three Essays on the Appalachian Region" [white poverty: wage and employment gaps]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 123 pp.

Bays, Kimberly Ann. 2003. "Beating the Odds: A Case Study of Post-Secondary Participation in Higher Education of Norton, Virginia High School Graduates." Ed.D. diss., University of Virginia. 183 pp.

Bean, Heather Ann Ackley. 1997. "Fly Pretty Bird: An Appalachian Woman's Theodicy" [Migrants; Songs; Bird Symbolism]. Ph.D. diss., Claremont Graduate University. 199 pp.

Beard-Moose, Christina Taylor. 2004. "Public Indians, Private Cherokees: Indigenous Identity at the Intersection of Tourism, Acculturation, and Cultural Continuity" [N.C.; Eastern Band of Cherokee]. Ph.D. diss., University of Iowa. 339 pp.

Beattie, Linda Elisabeth. 1997. "Tracking the Muse: A Study of the Nature of Creativity in Texts and Contexts of Selected Contemporary Kentucky Writers" [Jim Wayne Miller, Bobbie Ann Mason, Leon Driskell, James Baker Hall, Sena Jeter Naslund]. Ed.D. diss., Spalding University. 115 pp.

Beck, Lisa D. 2009. "The Current State of Professional Development in Appalachia." Ed.D. diss., Marshall University. 181 pp. Survey of 650 National Board Certified Teachers to gauge perceived receipt of high-quality professional development activities in light of No Child Left Behind legislation.

Beckner, Walton Thomas. 1994. "Pulling Time in Appalachia: A Comparative Study of Prison Argot." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 298 pp.

Beeman, Robert P. 1996. "The Pennsylvania Turnpike: An Historical Operating Technological Artifact" [includes cultural factors]. Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 361 pp.

Beisswenger, Donald Andrew. 1997. "Fiddling Way Out Yonder: Community and Style in the Fiddle Music of Melvin Wine" [W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Memphis. 541 pp.

Bell, Shannon Elizabeth. 2010. "Fighting King Coal: The Barriers to Grassroots Environmental Justice Movement Participation in Central Appalachia" [W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Oregon. 393 pp. 54 women interviewed.

Benhart, John Edward, Jr. 1995. "Capitalism, Regional Development, and Place Formation: An Analysis of the Upper Tennessee River Valley, 1860-1900" [Roane and Louden Counties, Tenn.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 298 pp.

Bennett, Milledge Franklyn. 1999. "Black Other: The Identities of Racially Mixed Native Americans in Northeastern Georgia" [Augusta, Ga.; tri-racial: Africans, American Indians, Europeans]. Ph.D. diss., University of California, Berkeley. 182 pp.

Bergmann, William H. 2005. "Commerce and Arms: The Federal Government, Native Americans, and the Economy of the Old Northwest, 1783-1807" [Ky., Oh., Ind.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Cincinnati. 247 pp.

Berkey, Jonathan M. 2003. "War in the Borderland: The Civilians' Civil War in Virginia's Lower Shenandoah Valley" [Unionists and secessionists]. Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 324 pp.

Berry, Chad Thomas. 1995. "Social Highways: Southern White Migration to the Midwest, 1910-1990." Ph.D. diss., Indiana University. 434 pp. Examines southern white migration to five states: Illinois, Indiana, Michigan, Ohio, and Wisconsin.

Berry, Kenneth Wesley. 2000. "Landscapes of Healing: The Sick Self and Ecological Communities in Recent American Prose" [incl. Wendell Berry, Cormac McCarthy]. Ph.D. diss., University of Mississippi. 197 pp.

Best, Ramona Goddard. 2002. "Perceptions of the Educational Experiences of Students Educated Exclusively in K--12 Rural Unit Schools in East Tennessee." Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 166 pp.

Bicknell, Teresa Adele. 2001. "Faculty Perceptions of School Success in Four High-Achieving, High-Poverty Schools in Appalachian Tennessee." Ed.D. diss., Tennessee State University. 213 pp.

Bidgood, Lee Butler. 2011. "'America is all around here': An Ethnography of Bluegrass Music in the Contemporary Czech Republic." Ph.D. diss., University of Virginia. 277 pp.

Biles, Rebecca S. 2000. "Regional Disparities in Welfare Reform: Appalachian Poverty and the Dilemmas of Public Policy" [welfare to work transition]. Ph.D. diss., University of Louisville. 210 pp.

Bingman, Mary Beth. 1995. "Appalachian Women Learning in Community" [southwest Va.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 220 pp.

Binnicker, Margaret Duncan. 1999. "Erwin, Tennessee: Transformation of Work and Place in an Appalachian Community, 1900-1960" [Unicoi Co.; railroad, pottery]. D.A. diss., Middle Tennessee State University. 349 pp.

Bjorgo, Kimberly Ann. 2006. "Distributional ecology of fish in the Kanawha River, West Virginia." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 202 pp.

Black, Brian Clyde. 1996. "Petrolia: The Landscape of Pennsylvania's Oil Boom, 1859-1873" [social and cultural impact]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kansas. 425 pp.

Blackwell, Deborah Lynn. 1998. "The Ability 'To Do Much Larger Work': Gender and Reform in Appalachia, 1890-1935" [May Stone, Katherine Pettit, Eleanor Marsh Frost, Olive Dame Campbell, Mary Breckinridge]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 214 pp.

Blakeney, Anne Bacon. 2002. "Power, Politics, and Reproduction: 'Teenage' Motherhood in a Rural Appalachian County." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 272 pp.

Blalock, Kay J. 1998. "Shades of Green: Ethnic Diversity and Gender Considerations Among the Irish in a Southern Industrial Community, 1871-1921" [Birmingham, Ala.; mills, mines, political, cultural]. Ph.D. diss., University of Toledo. 259 pp.

Blanton, Anderson. 2011. "Until the Stones Cry Out: Materialities of Faith and Technologies of the Holy Ghost in Southern Appalachia." Ph.D. diss., Columbia University. 295 pp. "...this work explores the objects and technologies that provide the material underpinnings for Pentecostal performances of faith, prayer and the miraculous."

Blevins, Brooks Robert. 1999. "A Social History of the Arkansas Ozarks" [19th century to present]. Ph.D. diss., Auburn University. 451 pp.

Boback, John M. 2007. "Indian Warfare, Household Competency, and the Settlement of the Western Virginia Frontier, 1749 to 1794." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 228 pp.

Boehm, Melissa L. H. 2011. "From Harlem to Harlan County: Print Media's Framing of Poverty in the *Congressional Record* between 1960 and 1964." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 213 pp. "...explores the framing of poverty by politicians and news media in the United States during the critical discourse moment of the early 1960s" [War on Poverty].

Boggess, Carol B. 1995. "Following *River of Earth* from Source to Destination: A Critical and Contextual Study of James Still's Appalachian Classic." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 252 pp.

Bohannon, Keith Shaw. 2001. "The Northeast Georgia Mountains during the Secession Crisis and Civil War." Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 264 pp.

Bonimy, Madlyn M. 2008. "Residents Attitudes and Perceptions towards the Impact of Tourism on the Environment in Pigeon Forge, Tennessee." Ph.D. diss., Tennessee State University. 220 pp.

Booker, Clyde G. 2005. "Dying for a Job: African Americans, Industrial Hegemony, and the Hawk's Nest Tunnel, 1930-1936" [W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 282 pp.

Bosman, Marcellus Martin. 2000. "Space, Power and Representation: The Case of 'Team Toyota' and the State of Kentucky" [Georgetown, Ky., assembly plant]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 361 pp.

Boulware, Tyler W. 2005. "'Rim of the Gap': Negotiating Identity on the Southern Colonial Frontier" [S.C.; Cherokees and backcountry Euroamericans]. Ph.D. diss., University of South Carolina. 263 pp.

Boyd, Donald Cameron, Jr. 2009. "The WPA Packhorse Library Program and the Social Utility of Literacy, 1883-1962." Ph.D. diss., University of Florida. 230 pp.

Boyd, Lawrence William. 1993. "The Economics of the Coal Company Town: Institutional Relationships, Monopsony, and Distributional Conflicts in American Coal Towns." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 167 pp.

Brackenridge, Keith William. 1999. "Appalachian and Non-Appalachian School Districts in Ohio: A Comparative Study." Ph.D. diss., Miami University. 156 pp.

Bradbury, Barbara L. 2008. "The Integration of First-Generation, First-Term College Students from Ohio Appalachia: A Multiple Case Study." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 235 pp.

Brammer, Charlotte Devon. 2002. "Identifying Southern Dialect Influences on Business Student Writing." Ph.D. diss., University of Alabama. 166 pp.

Brandon, Jamie Chad. 2004. "Van Winkle's Mill: Mountain Modernity, Cultural Memory and Historical Archaeology in the Arkansas Ozarks." Ph.D. diss., University of Texas at Austin. 344 pp.

Brandon, Stephen. 2003. "Sacred Fire and Sovereign Rhetorics: Cherokee Literacy and Literature in the Cherokee and American Nations, 1760-1841." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Greensboro. 244 pp.

Bransford, Stephen Henry. 2008. "Trying To Make It Real: The Documentary Imagination of American Roots Music" [1899-2003]. Ph.D. diss., Emory University. 373 pp. Focuses on photographic work by a number of people including Doris Ulmann, Ben Shahn, Alan Lomax, John Cohen, and the Appalshop media collective.

Brashear, Charles Craig. 2000. "Election Ground: Place, Markets, and Class in East Tennessee's Second American Party System" [1837-1844]. Ph.D. diss., University of Georgia. 215 pp.

Brashears, Kathy McCollum. 2004. "'They Ain't all Blueberries': An Examination of the Teaching of Writing Practices in an Appalachian Elementary School" [Ky.]. Ed.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 232 pp.

Brauer, Benjamin T. 2008. "Insights from the Field: Perceptions of In-Home Interventionists Working in Appalachian Maryland." Ed.D. diss., West Virginia University. 219 pp.

Brennan, Mark Anthony. 2003. "Community Agency: A Comparison of Rural Community Action in Ireland and Pennsylvania." Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 235 pp.

Brescoach, Sharon Wills. 2006. "The Coal Miner's Daughter or the Governor's Daughter? A Comparative Study of Media Coverage of Two Appalachian Women Politicians" [W. Va.; Charlotte Pritt (1996); Shelley Moore Capito (2000)]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 337 pp.

Bretthauer, Scott M. 2006. "The Effects of Prescribed Burning by the National Park Service on Pine-Oak Forests Within Great Smoky Mountains National Park." Ph.D. diss., University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign. 258 pp.

Brewster, Thomas M. 2000. "An Historical Coal Mining Community and Its School: Study of Pocahontas High School, 1908-1991" [Tazewell Co., Va.]. Ed.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 164 pp.

Briggs, Michael. 2010. "On the Outside Looking in: A Qualitative Study of Southern Appalachian First-Generation Students Perceptions of Higher Education." Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 245 pp. Eleven students interviewed.

Bringardner, Charles Albert. 2007. "Popular Entertainment and Constructions of Southern Identity: How Burlesques, Medicine Shows, and Musical Theatre Made Meaning and Money in the South, 1854-1980" [including Medicine Shows in rural Appalachia in the 1920s and 30s]. Ph.D. diss., University of Texas at Austin. 225 pp.

Brock, David Alan. 1996. "A Foundation for Defining Southern Shape-Note Folk Hymnody from 1800 to 1859 as a Learned Compositional Style." Ph.D. diss., Clarement Graduate School. 220 pp.

Brock-Fowler, Tammy Kay. 2001. "Alternative Education in West Virginia: Perceptions of Programs, Leadership and Success." Ed.D. diss., West Virginia University. 115 pp.

Brost, Molly. 2008. "Mining the Past: Performing Authenticity in the Country Music Biopic." Ph.D. diss., Bowling Green State University. 135 pp. Considers female characters in four movies: Coal Miner's Daughter; Sweet Dreams; Walk the Line; and Shut Up and Sing.

Brown, James Arnold. 2007. "The Clyde A. Erwin High School Mascot Controversy." Ed.D. diss., Western Carolina University. 254 pp. Derogatory meaning of "Squaws"; Asheville and Cherokee, N.C.

Brown, Malcolm B. 1997. "Is It Not Our Land?": An Ethnohistory of the Susquehanna-Ohio Indian Alliance, 1701-1754." Ph.D. diss., Oklahoma State University. 368 pp.

Brown, Margaret Lynn. 1995. "Smoky Mountains Story: Human Values and Environmental Transformation in a Southern Bioregion, 1900-1950." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 258 pp.

Brown, Ruth Payne. 2005. "The Transition of a Historically Black College to a Predominantly White Institution" [Bluefield State College, W. Va.]. Ed.D. diss., University of Maryland. 182 pp.

Brown, Ryan A. 2006. "Getting a Life in Rural America: Life Course Models, Derailment, and Resilience Among Cherokee and Anglo Emerging Adults" [Great Smoky Mountains Study]. Ph.D. diss., Emory University. 525 pp.

Brumfield, Susan Hendrix. 2000. "Jean Ritchie's 'Field Trip--Scotland': An Examination of Unpublished Field Recordings Collected in Scotland, 1952-1953" [transcriptions of 15 songs]. Ph.D. diss., University of Oklahoma. 291 pp.

Bryant, Angelia Shaw. 2000. "Relationship Between Domestic Violence, Abuse, and Gender-Equity Perceptions: A Study of the Appalachian Region of Kentucky." Ed.D. diss., University of Louisville. 151 pp.

Bryant, Angelia Shaw. 2000. "Relationship Between Domestic Violence, Abuse, and Gender-Equity Perceptions: A Study of the Appalachian Region of Kentucky." Ed.D. diss., University of Louisville. 151 pp.

Bryson, Heather. 2011. "To Give Racism the Face of the Ignorant: Race, Class, and White Manhood in Birmingham, Alabama, 1937-1970." Ph.D. diss., University of Florida. 235 pp. "...examines how white men...responded to the black freedom struggle across the middle of the twentieth century."

Bryson, J. Scott. 1999. "Place, Space, and Contemporary Ecological Poetry: Wendell Berry, Joy Harjo, and Mary Oliver." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 212 pp.

Buchanan, Linda Rose. 1997. "Not Harvard, Not Holyoke, Not Howard: A Study of the Life and Death of Three Small Colleges" [Bowdon College, Ga.; Mary Sharp College, Tenn.; Simmons University, Ky.]. Ph.D. diss., Georgia State University. 414 pp.

Buckley, Geoffrey Littlefield. 1997. "Tapping the Big Vein: Coal Mining and Environmental Alteration in Maryland's Appalachian Region, 1789-1906" [George's Creek Valley; Allegany Co.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Maryland. 291 pp.

Buhite, Leslie Allen. 2007. "The Chautauqua Lake Camp Meeting and the Chautauqua Institution." Ph. D. diss., Florida State University. 260 pp. Considers evolution from camp meetings and holiness meetings.

Bukenya, James Obadiah. 2001. "An Analysis of Quality of Life, Income Distribution and Rural Development in West Virginia." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 283 pp.

Bundrick, Christopher. 2006. "Region, Narration and National Authority: Genre and Resistance in Turn-of-the Century Southern Regionalism" [as a literary form: George Washington Harris, Augustus Baldwin Longstreet, Mary Murfree, Thomas Nelson Page, Charles Waddell Chesnutt]. Ph.D. diss., University of Mississippi. 196 pp. "In the second chapter, I concentrate on Mary Murfree's short story collection, *In the Tennessee Mountains*, and her first novel, *The Prophet of the Great Smoky Mountains*, focusing on the way Murfree's brand of regionalism seems to address the social regionalization of women and their subsequent isolation from the structures of power and authority."

Bundy, Rosemary Gray. 1997 "Identity Development and Student Involvement of African-American Undergraduate Students at Historically White Colleges and Universities in Southern Appalachia." Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 208 pp.

Burch, John Russell. 2005. "The Dammed: Imagining the American Dream in Appalachian Kentucky" [Owsley County]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 236 pp.

Burgraff, Donna L. 1995. "A Social/Cultural Perspective of the Development of Southern West Virginia Community College." Ed.D. diss., West Virginia University. 183 pp.

Burke, Dawne Raines. 2004. "Storer College: A Hope for Redemption in the Shadow of Slavery, 1865-1955" [Harpers Ferry, W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 477 pp.

Burkes, Constance Mae. 1995. "The Adjustment Problems of African-American Undergraduate Students Studying at West Virginia University." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 337 pp.

Burkette, Allison Paige. 2001. "An Examination of Language Variation in a Small Blue Ridge Community" [western N.C.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Georgia. 181 pp.

Burkley, Margaret Nola. 1998. "Floyd County, Georgia, During the Civil War Era." Ph.D. diss., Florida State University. 450 pp.

Burks, Jarrod D. 2004. "Identifying Household Cluster and Refuse Disposal Patterns at the Strait Site: A Third Century A.D. Nucleated Settlement in the Middle Ohio River Valley." Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 335 pp.

Burns, John Conor. 2006. "Networking Ohio Valley Archaeology in the Nineteenth Century." Ph.D. diss., University of Toronto. 382 pp.

Burns, Sean. 2008. "Vernacular Strut: The Intellectual and Activist Legacy of Archie Green." Ph.D. diss., University of California, Santa Cruz. 242 pp.

Burriss, Theresa Lynne. 2005. "A Voice of their Own: The Affrilachian Writers" [Frank X. Walker, Nikky Finney, Crystal Wilkinson]. Ph.D. diss., Union Institute and University. 146 pp.

Bush, Carletta A. 2006. "Faith, Power, and Conflict: Miner Preachers and the United Mine Workers of America in the Harlan County Mine Wars, 1931-1939." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 253 pp.

Byerly, Victoria Morris. 1994. "What Shall a Poet Sing? The Living Struggle of the Southern Poet and Revolutionary Don West." Ph.D. diss., Boston College. 385 pp.

Cahill, Kevin John. 1999. "Fertilizing the Weeds: The New Deal's Rural Poverty Program in West Virginia." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 269 pp.

Callahan, Richard Joseph, Jr. 2002. "Working with Religion: Industrialization and Resistance in the Eastern Kentucky Coal Fields, 1910-1932." Ph.D. diss., University of California, Santa Barbara. 262 pp.

Callaway, Patricia Birch. 2008. "Don't you fall': Resiient [sic] and Academically Successful African Americans' Literacy and Family Involvement Practices." Ed.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 347 pp. Case study; oral history methods; African American siblings in an Appalachian mining community, 1940s to 1970s.

Cameron, Andrew Elliot. 1998. "A Real Options Model for the Evaluation of Telemedicine" [West Virginia Mountaineer Doctor TeleVision]. Ph.D. diss., University of Michigan. 165 pp.

Cameron, Mary E. 2001. "The Land Developer's Disputed Frontier: A Geographical Interpretation of Northwestern Pennsylvania Settlement, 1790--1820" [Erie and Crawford Cos.]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 241 pp.

Camp, Joe Hardin, Jr. 2002. "Birch Rod to Arsenal: A Study of the Naval Ordnance Plant at South Charleston, West Virginia and the Search for a Government Industrial Policy" [Kanawha Valley; Franklin D. Roosevelt]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 233 pp.

Campbell, Diana Kaye. 1999. "'Mutual Answerability': Aesthetics, Ethics, Transgredients from Mikhail Bakhtin to Lee Smith to Leslie Marmon Silko" [Lee Smith's 1992 novel *Devil's Dream*]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Greensboro. 254 pp.

Campbell, Patricia R. 2006. "Portraits of Gastonia: 1930's Maternal Activism and the Protest Novel" [based on the 1929 strike at the Loray Mill in Gastonia, N.C.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Florida. 166 pp. Novels include Mary Heaton Vorse's *Strike!* (1930), Grace Lumpkin's *To Make My Bread* (1932), Dorothy Myra Page's *The Gathering Storm: A Story of the Black Belt* (1932), Olive Tilford Dargan's *Call Home the Heart* (1932).

Campbell, Roberta Marilyn. 1994. "Appalachian Experience and Appalachian Self-Concept: Toward a Critical Theory of Regional Identity." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Greensboro. 279 pp.

Campbell, Wendy Sellers. 2004. "From Mexico to South Carolina: The Journey of Undocumented Women." Ph.D. diss., University of South Carolina. 164 pp.

Campbell, William J. 2008. "Land and Diplomacy on the Fringes of Empire: Indians, Agents, Speculators, and the 1768 Treaty of Fort Stanwix." Ph.D. diss., McMaster University (Canada). 183 pp.

Campet, Fidel Makoto. 2011. "Housing in Black Pittsburgh: Community Struggles and the State, 1916-1973." Ph.D. diss., Carnegie Mellon University. 493 pp.

Canada, Joe L. 2006. "African American Public School Principals in East Tennessee: Motivation for Leadership." Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 96 pp.

Canaday, Andrew McNeill. 2011. "Southern Liberalism and its Limits: Religion, Race, and Appalachian Reform in the Life of Willis Duke Weatherford, 1875-1970." Ph.D. diss., Rice University. 366 pp. "Weatherford's southern background, the financial constraints he faced as director of several institutions, the climate of white supremacy in the South, and his religious focus limited how far he pushed for social justice." "In the last twenty-five years of his life he primarily addressed Appalachian poverty and this region's religious life."

Carlson, Richard Allen, Jr. 2003. "Who's your people?': Cumulative Identity among the Salyersville Indian Population of Kentucky's Appalachia and the Midwest Muckfields, 1677-2000." Ph.D. diss., Michigan State University. 711 pp.

Carney, Virginia Moore. 2000. "A Testament to Tenacity: Cultural Persistence in the Letters and Speeches of Eastern Band Cherokee Women." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 313 pp.

Carr, Philip James. 1995. "Hunter-Gatherers, Mobility, and Technological Organization: The Early Archaic of East Tennessee." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 263 pp.

Carr-Lambert, Marsha. 2005. "State Takeover Sustainability of a Public School District in West Virginia" [Logan Co.]. D.M. diss., University of Phoenix. 206 pp.

Carson, James Taylor. 1996. "Searching for the Bright Path: The Mississippi Choctaws from Prehistory to Removal." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 382 pp.

Carter, Debra L. 2006. "Providing Inclusive Classroom Environments at a Small Liberal Arts College" [University of Virginia's College at Wise, Southwest Va.; student perceptions of teacher behaviors surveyed; effects on students' persistence, retention, self-confidence, and graduation rates]. Ed.D. diss., University of Virginia. 133 pp.

Carter-Schwendler, Karen Lea. 1995. "Traditional Background, Contemporary Context: The Music and Activities of Jean Ritchie to 1977." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 374 pp.

Cash, Wiley. 2008. "The Rain Barrel: The Interstices of Race, Class, and Religion in North Carolina." Ph.D. diss., University of Louisiana at Lafayette. 228 pp. Charles W. Chesnutt and Thomas Wolfe; Asheville, N.C.; charismatic Pentecostalism and folk tradition.

Casner, Nicholas A. 1994. "Acid Water: A History of Coal Mine Pollution in Western Pennsylvania, 1880-1950." Ph.D. diss, Carnegie Mellon University. 297 pp.

Castelow, Teri L. 2005. "Behold Me and this Great Babylon I have Built': The Life and Work of Sophia Sawyer, 19th Century Missionary and Teacher among the Cherokees" [1792-1853; Tenn., Ga., Ark.]. Ph.D. diss., Florida State University. 149 pp.

Chambers, Ian David. 2006. "Space, The Final Frontier?: Spatial Understandings in the 18th-Century American Southeast" [British and Cherokee]. Ph.D. diss., University of California, Riverside. 310 pp.

Chambers, Thomas A. 1999. "Fashionable Dis-Ease: Promoting Health and Leisure at Saratoga Springs, New York and the Virginia Springs, 1790-1860." Ph.D. diss., College of William and Mary. 413 pp.

Chaney, Ryan. 2008. "Signing Sounds of the South: Representing Culture and Performing Heritage in Appalachian Virginia." Ph.D. diss., Columbia University. 242 pp. Case study of heritage tourism, particularly in the form of The Crooked Road: Virginia's Heritage Music Trail (Blue Ridge Plateau, New River Valley, and Southwest Virginia).

Charbonneau, Stephen Michael. 2007. "Screen Angst: Young Auto-Ethnographies and Alterity in American Documentary." Ph.D. diss., University of California, Los Angeles. 317 pp. Considers five community media organizations and productions including Appalshop (Whitesburg, Ky.), and *In Ya Blood* (1971).

Che, Deborah Lisa. 2000. "Tourism, Timber, and Manufacturing: Rural Restructuring, Commodification, and Institutional Relationships in Forest County, Pennsylvania" [Allegheny National Forest]. Ph.D. diss., Clark University. 318 pp.

Chhabra, Deepak. 2001. "Heritage Tourism: An Analysis of Perceived Authenticity and Economic Impact of the Scottish Highland Games in North Carolina" [Grandfather Mountain; Flora Macdonald]. Ph.D. diss., North Carolina State University. 187 pp.

Chilenski, Sarah Meyer. 2006. "Community Risks and Resources in Rural America: What Matters?" [study sample includes 28 sites in Penna. and Iowa]. Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 263 pp.

Churchill, Mary Cecilia. 1997. "Walking the 'White Path': Toward a Cherokee-Centric Hermeneutic for Interpreting Cherokee Literature" [women's literature]. Ph.D. diss., University of California, Santa Barbara. 291 pp.

Clark, Renia H. 2011. "Teacher Research and Leadership the 'Write' Way: The Appalachian Writing Project's Impact in Rural Virginia." Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 144 pp. Southwest Virginia; 2001-2010.

Clawson, Laura. 2007. "I Belong to This Band, Hallelujah': Community, Spirituality, and Tradition among Sacred Harp Singers." Ph.D. diss., Princeton University. 239 pp. Examines four communities of singers: Sand Mountain, Ala. and West Ga. in the South, and Chicago and Minneapolis-St. Paul in the North.

Clay, Leslie. 2005. "The Clergy's Response to Domestic Violence" [focus groups: 18 clergy, Greater Kanawha Valley, W. Va.]. D.Min. diss., United Theological Seminary. 277 pp.

Cleveland, Roger Craig. 1998. "Through Black Eyes: Perceived Key Factors that Affect the Academic Success of African American Students of Appalachian Descent." Ed.D. diss., University of Cincinnati. 155 pp.

Clifton, Amanda Keedy. 1996. "Mission Women in the Southeast and on the Southern Plains, 1817-1861" [Mt. Holyoke; Cherokee, Chickasaw, Choctaw, Osage]. Ph.D. diss., University of Memphis. 218 pp.

Coburn, Merry J. 2006. "Walking Home: Women's Transformative Experiences in the Wilderness of the Appalachian Trail" [12 mid-life women who walked over 2,000 miles]. Ph.D. diss., Institute of Transpersonal Psychology. 274 pp.

Cockley, David Edward. 1996. "The Effect of Subsidized Primary Care Centers on Avoidable Hospitalizations in West Virginia Communities During 1988-1992" [57 centers surveyed]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 101 pp.

Cockley, Suzanne K. 2003. "School and Community on Their Minds: Appalachian Perspectives on Education" [attitudes toward leadership and familial structure of schools]. Ph.D. diss., University of Virginia. 148 pp.

Cole, Daniel. 2007. "Indian Questions: Native American Writing in Response to Removal." Ph.D. diss., Fordham University. 199 pp.

Coleman, Phillip D. 2007. "What Are the Perceived Economic Effects to the Communities When Broadband Internet Is Available in Three Small Kentucky Cities?" D.Ed. diss., Ball State University. 195 pp.

Colley, Sharon Elizabeth. 2002. "'Getting Above Your Raising': The Role of Social Class and Status in the Fiction of Lee Smith" [Max Weber, Pierre Bourdieu, Richard Peterson]. Ph.D. diss., Louisiana State University and Agricultural & Mechanical College. 352 pp.

Collins, Lisa Phelps. 2008. "Venturing Out: Students at Eastern Kentucky State Normal School, 1910-1924" [Richmond, Ky.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 190 pp.

Combs, Jason E. 2006. "Dwellers of the Deep Hollow: An Existential-Phenomenological Exploration of Integration, Fragmentation, and Communication in a Central Appalachian Family" [outmigration]. Ph.D. diss., Purdue University. 375 pp.

Concotelli, James Anthony. 1996. "The Influence of Culture on Participation in Nutrition Programs: A Case Study of Rural Appalachian Elderly." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 114 pp.

Conrad, William Charles. 2008. "Development in Extractive Communities: Ridgway and St. Marys, Pennsylvania, 1850-1914." Ph.D. diss., University of Pittsburgh. 212 pp. Successful shift from a coal and timber economy to one based on manufacturing.

Cook, Jeffery Blane. 1998. "The Ambassador of Development: Aretas Brooks Fleming, West Virginia's Political Entrepreneur, 1839-1923" [governor (1890-93), coal magnate, business investor]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 402 pp.

Cook, Samuel Robert. 1997. "Monacans and Mountaineers: A Comparative Study of Colonialism and Dependency in Southern Appalachia" [Amherst Co., Va., and Wyoming Co., W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Arizona. 429 pp.

Coon, Michael Dennard. 2004. "Mists of the Mountains: The Contributions of a Mountain Woman, Louisa Smith (Lula) Vollmer, Playwright" [1885-1955; American folk drama]. Ph.D. diss., Bowling Green State University. 231 pp.

Cooper, Lydia R. 2008. "Cormac McCarthy's Heroes: Narrative Perspective and Morality in McCarthy's Novels." Ph.D. diss., Baylor University. 228 pp.

Copeland, Thomas Wayne. 2011. "Good Neighbors: Agents of Change in the New Rural South, 1900 to 1940." Ph.D. diss., University of Mississippi. 241 pp. "...an intimate portrait of rural people who lived in the hill counties of northeast Mississippi and southwest Arkansas....Howard County, Arkansas and Union County, Mississippi serve as the representative counties." Also examines race relations, "how rural women developed mutual support networks and....the important work of agricultural extension agents."

Cordery, Renee Helene. 1999. "Addressing Issues of Domestic Violence Among Urban Appalachian Women and Their Families." Psy.D. diss., Wright State University. 45 pp.

Corey, Jean Thompson. 2000. "The Gendering of Literacies: The Reading and Writing Practices of Adolescent Girls in Rural Appalachia." D.A. diss., Middle Tennessee University. 132 pp.

Corley, Elizabeth Ann. 2002. "Public Values and Spatio-Temporal Scales of Logging: A Case Study of Citizens and Experts in the Chattahoochee National Forest" [Ga.]. Ph.D. diss., Georgia Institute of Technology. 273 pp.

Cox, John Jobe. 2003. "Community Dynamics among Reintroduced Elk, White-tailed Deer, and Coyote in Southeastern Kentucky" [1997-2001; Redbird Wildlife Management Area, Daniel Boone National Forest]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 292 pp.

Crawford, Carol D. 2006. "The Relationship of Missional Outreach to United Methodist Church Growth in the Central Appalachian Region, 1990-2005." D.Min. diss., Asbury Theological Seminary. 126 pp.

Creamer, Kimberly. 2004. "Integration, Adaptation, and Change: An Ethno-History of Reading Instructional Methods at a Rural Primary School" [20 years; mountain community]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 102 pp.

Crescenzo, Michele. 2005. "Reading Women Reading: Literacy and Consciousness in Four American Novels" [Frances Newman, Ann Petry, Elizabeth Madox Roberts, Jessie Redmon Fauset]. Ph.D. diss., Emory University. 172 pp.

Crouch, Eric A. 2003. "A Rural Perspective: A Study of the Utilization of Workforce Development in Selected Small Businesses in Huntingdon County, Pennsylvania in 2002." Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 233 pp.

Crutchfield, Lisa Laurel. 2007. "Indispensably Necessary': Cultural Brokers on the Georgia Frontier, 1733-1765." Ph.D. diss., College of William and Mary. 353 pp. Europeans, Indians, and Africans.

Cugliari, Christine Wetherholt. 2005. "A Post-Positivist Qualitative Study of Philanthropic Donors to Appalachian Ohio." Ph.D. diss., The Ohio State University. 138 pp.

Cumfer, Cynthia Dee. 2001. "The Idea of Mankind is So Various': An Intellectual History of Tennessee, 1768--1810" ["explores the ideas and cultural assumptions of the Cherokee and the white and black borderers who met"]. Ph.D. diss., University of California, Los Angeles. 632 pp.

Cumming, Gabriel Benjamin. 2007. "Explorations in Discursive Ecology Addressing Landscape Change with Rural North Carolinians" [Macon Co. and Charlotte region]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 472 pp. "The rapid spread of suburban...threatening the ecological and cultural heritage of numerous rural communities."

Cummins, Linda K. 1996. "In and Out Homelessness and 'Making It on My Own': A Qualitative Study of Rural Women" [Ohio]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 360 pp.

Cummisk, Gary Thomas. 1995. "Appalachian Springs: Nature Writing and Environmental Views of the Southern Mountains." Ph.D. diss., University of Oregon. 275 pp.

Currie, Rebecca J. 1999. "Identification of Ecosystem Stressors in Developing an Enhancement Plan for the Leading Creek Watershed, Meigs County, Ohio" [1993, acid mine water flood, Southern Ohio coal company]. Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 233 pp.

Cushman, James E. 1978. "Beyond Survival (The Reemergence of the Small Church as the Center of Community in Rural West Virginia)." Ph.D. diss., Union Institute and University. 316 pp.

Dabbs, Jennifer Mae. 1994. "Women and Men in Central Appalachia: A Qualitative Study of Marital Power." Ph.D. diss., University of North Texas. 355 pp.

Daily, Mark Alan. 1999. "Cultural Models of Forests and Ecological Change on the Appalachian Plateau, 1750-1840" [W. Va.; Pa.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Georgia. 305 pp.

Dalbey, Matthew. 1999. "Regional Vision versus Metropolitan Reality: Putting the Parkway in the Region, 1921-1936" [Skyline Drive, Va., and Green Mountain Parkway, Vt.]. Ph.D. diss., Columbia University. 352 pp.

Damalas, Andreas P. 2005. "Landscape Ecology of Birds on Mount Leconte, Great Smoky Mountains National Park." Ph.D. diss., Old Dominion University. 358 pp.

Daniel, M. Jane. 1997. "A Case Study of Barriers to Adult Undergraduate Education As Perceived by Degree-Seeking Adults Enrolled at the University of Rio Grande" [Gallia Co., O.]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 157 pp.

Daniels, Anthony Hawthorne. 1997. "Empowering the African-American Church in Appalachia with a Focus on Youth and Alternative Funding" [Pulaski, Va.]. D.Min. diss., United Theological Seminary. 159 pp.

Daoudi, Mohammad Jamal. 2005. "Bridge Building between Christianity (St. John Episcopal Church) and Islam (the Islamic Association of West Virginia)." D.Min. diss., United Theological Seminary. 161 pp.

Darling, Ruth Ann. 1999. "The Experience of Rural, Southern Appalachian, First-Generation College Students at a University: A Narrative Study" [eight student interviewees]. Ed.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 246 pp.

Davis, Donald Edward. 1993. "Where There Be Mountains: Environmental and Cultural Change in the Appalachian South." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee.

Davis, Jeffrey Alan. 1997. "The Democratic-Republican Societies of Pennsylvania, 1793-1796" [frontier leadership; Whiskey Rebellion]. Ph.D. diss., Washington State University. 244 pp.

Davis, Luise Kalberkamp. 1995. "Wetlands Protection and Surface Mining in Pennsylvania: Effectiveness of the Permitting Program, 1980-1992." Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 139 pp.

Davis, Paul Gordon. 2006. "The Historical and Musical Correlation of *The Southern Harmony and Musical Companion* with Donald Grantham's *Southern Harmony*" [1835; shaped-note music tradition examined]. D.M.A. diss., University of Texas. 125 pp.

Day, Douglas Turner, IV. 1994. "In the World of My Ancestors: The Olive Dame Campbell Collection of Appalachian Folk Song, 1908-1916." Ph.D. diss., University of Pennsylvania. 462 pp.

Day, James Sanders. 2002. "Diamonds in the Rough': A History of Alabama's Cahaba Coal Field" [1840s-1950s]. Ph.D. diss., Auburn University. 301 pp.

De Sousa-Brown, Semoa Costa Batista. 2008. "County-Level Analysis of Small Business and Entrepreneurship in West Virginia: Impact on Rural Economic Growth." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 212 pp.

Deakins, Mark Alan. 1999. "Appalachian Music, the Kentucky Education Reform Act, and Jesse Stuart: Preserving a Musical Heritage" [music in secondary school curricula]. Ph.D. diss., Union Institute. 456 pp.

Dean, Rebecca Kay. 1998. "I'll Meet You in the Air: A Cultural Study of Appalachian Pentecostal Radio Preaching." Ph.D. diss., University of Pittsburgh. 349 pp.

Deardorff, Karen Sickels. 2009. "Catalytic Innovations in Appalachia Ohio Health Care: The Storying of Health Care in a Mobile Clinic." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 280 pp.

Dee, Christine Doyle. 2002. "Land Worth Fighting For: Scioto County, Ohio and Madison County, Alabama during the American Civil War." Ph.D. diss., Harvard University. 715 pp.

Demchak, Jennifer. 2005. "Water Quality Changes of Underground Mines in Northern West Virginia" [data across years]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 148 pp.

DeMeo, Thomas Eugene. 1999. "Forest Songbird Abundance and Viability at Multiple Scales on the Monongahela National Forest, West Virginia." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 159 pp.

Denham, Sharon Ann. 1997. "An Ethnographic Study of Family Health in Appalachian Microsystems." D.S.N. diss., University of Alabama at Birmingham. 447 pp.

Denkler, Ann Elizabeth. 2001. "Sustaining Identity, Recapturing Heritage: Exploring Issues of Public History, Tourism, and Race in a Southern Rural Town" [Luray, Va.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Maryland College Park. 202 pp.

Dennis, Jeffrey William. 2003. "American Revolutionaries and Native Americans: The South Carolina Experience." Ph.D. diss., University of Notre Dame. 359 pp.

DePalma, Margaret C. 2000. "Dialogue on the Frontier: Catholic and Protestant Relations, 1793-1883" [Ky., Ohio]. Ph.D. diss., Miami University. 343 pp.

Derk, Angela Marie. 2007. "Highlighting Hope: An Exploration of the Experiences of West Virginia University McNair Scholars." Ed.D. diss., West Virginia University. 215 pp. Firstgeneration, low-income and/or minority students.

Despain, Stanley Matthew. 2000. "The Mountain Man in American History and Culture." Ph.D. diss., University of Oklahoma. 298 pp.

Detamore, Mathias J. 2010. "Queer Appalachia: Toward Geographies of Possibility." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 244 pp. "Stereotypes about Appalachia abound through dubious and reductive representations of the 'hillbilly' icon....This project begins to uncover and theorize the ways in which kinship as a 'social technology' mitigates social strangeness and operates as a means for social protection and intimacy within rural queer populations."

Deufel, Benjamin J. 2006. "Trial Membership: Responses to Immigrants in American Communities" [Latinos: N.C., Minn.]. Ph.D. diss., Harvard University. 436 pp.

Dewees, Sarah. 1998. "The Role of Social Infrastructure in Rural Community Economic Development in Kentucky, 1970 to 1990" [98 county study]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 231 pp.

DiCiccio, Carmen Peter. 1996. "The Rise and Fall of King Coal: A History of the Bituminous Coal and Coke Industry of Pennsylvania from 1740-1945." Ph.D. diss., University of Pittsburgh. 560 pp.

Dickson, Louise Ratcliffe Bailey. 2008. "A Legacy of Lifelong Learning: Leadership, Lessons, Love, and Laughter in the Life of Elizabeth Gammon Pendleton" [95 years old]. Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 323 pp.

Dieterich-Ward, Allen J. 2006. "Mines, Mills and Malls: Regional Development in the Steel Valley" [Pa., Oh., W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Michigan. 400 pp.

Ditto, Susan C. 1998. "Conjugal Duty: Domestic Culture on the Southern Frontier, 1830-1910" [Miss.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Mississippi. 197 pp.

Dobbs, Gladys Rebecca. 2006. "The Indian Trading Path and Colonial Settlement Development in the North Carolina Piedmont" [mid-18th century]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 155 pp.

Documet, Patricia Isabel. 2001. "Latinos' Health Care Access in Southwestern Pennsylvania." Dr.P.H. diss., University of Pittsburgh. 397 pp.

Donehower, Kimberely Kay. 1997. "Beliefs About Literacy in a Southern Appalachian Community" [ten informants]. Ph.D. diss., University of Minnesota. 206 pp.

Dorwart, Catherine Elisabeth. 2007. "Exploring Visitors' Perceptions of the Trail Environment and Their Effects on Experiences in the Great Smoky Mountains National Park" [Tenn.-N.C.]. Ph.D. diss., North Carolina State University. 169 pp.

Douglass, Thomas Edward. 1995. "The Other Side of Both Dreams: The Life and Work of Breece D'J Pancake." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 332 pp.

Dowis, Joe Malcolm. 1996. "A Multivariate Analysis of the Political Motivation of the Religious Right in the Greenville County, South Carolina, School District" [71-question survey]. Ph.D. diss., Clemson University. 130 pp.

Downs, Matthew L. 2010. "Creating a 'Different Citizen': The Federal Development of the Tennessee Valley, 1915-1960." Ph.D. diss., University of Alabama.

Drew, Bettina Lee. 2001. "Master Andrew Jackson: Indian Removal and the Culture of Slavery" [1767-1820]. Ph.D. diss., Yale University. 269 pp.

Drew, Elaine Marie. 2004. "Just Get Rid of It': The Cultural Politics of Hysterectomy in a Rural Appalachian County." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 304 pp.

Druggish, Rick. 2003. "Nourishing Roots and Inspiring Wings: Building a Culturally Responsive Pedagogy for Southern Appalachia" [study conducted at two elementary schools and one college over three years]. Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 106 pp.

Drumright, William Wade. 2005. "A River for War, a Watershed to Change: The Tennessee Valley Authority during World War II." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 230 pp.

Duff, Betty Parker. 2004. "Class and Gender Roles in the Company Towns of Millinocket and East Millinocket, Maine, and Benham and Lynch, Kentucky, 1901-2004: A Comparative History." Ph.D. diss., University of Maine. 264 pp.

Duggan, Betty Jean. 1998. "Being Cherokee in a White World: The Ethnic Persistence of a Post-Removal American Indian Enclave" [Ducktown Basin, Tenn., 1838-1910s]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 376 pp.

Dunaway, Wilma Alene. 1994. "The Incorporation of Southern Appalachia into the Capitalist World-Economy, 1700-1860." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 1161 pp.

Duncan, Joyce. 2005. "Historical Study of the Highlander Method: Honing Leadership for Social Justice" [Myles Horton; founded 1932, Monteagle, Tenn.]." Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 133 pp.

Dunmore, Ralph E. 2001. "Appalachian Essays from North Central Pennsylvania: A Forest History and Natural History of the Lost Run Watershed, with a Buddhist Emphasis." Ph.D. diss., The Union Institute. 326 pp.

Dunning, Jennifer C. 2006. "Far Hills" [original writing, short stories]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 210 pp. "A number of the stories are set in Ellisville, Ohio, a fictional town with similarities to Athens and surrounding southeast Ohio towns."

Dusch, Charles D., Jr. 2009. "Great War Aviation and Commemoration: Louis Bennett, Jr., Commander of the West Virginia Flying Corps." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 442 pp.

Duvall, Jeffery Alan. 2007. "Burley Paid the Bills': Twentieth Century Tobacco Culture in the Central Ohio River Valley." Ph.D. diss., Purdue University. 310 pp.

Dye, April Koren. 2008. "Investigating and Responding to Stereotyping and Stigmatization of Appalachian Women." Ph.D. diss., Miami University. 97 pp.

Dzialak, Matthew Richard. 2003. "Peregrine Falcon, Falco Peregrinus, Reintroduction in Cliff Habitat in Kentucky" [33 birds: Red River Gorge and Dorman State Nature Preserve]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 219 pp.

Eason, Thomas Hunter. 2002. "Population Ecology of Black Bears in Great Smoky Mountains National Park" [1968-1998]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 158 pp.

Eastman, Jane M. 1999. "The Sara and Dan River Peoples: Siouan Communities in North Carolina's Interior Piedmont from A.D. 1000 to A.D. 1700." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 382 pp.

Eelman, Bruce William. 2000. "Progress and Community from Old South to New South: Spartanburg County, South Carolina, 1845-1880." Ph.D. diss., University of Maryland, College Park. 504 pp.

Egolf, Jennifer Ann. 2008. "Keep America American': Great Depression, Government Intervention, and Conservative Response in Somerset County, Pennsylvania, 1920s-1940." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 351 pp. Miners and farmers; values of thrift, self-help, and minimal government clash with New Deal policies; labor disputes.

Eilbert, Kay Wylie. 2003. "A Community Health Partnership Model: Using Organizational Theory to Strengthen Collaborative Public Health Practice" [W. Va.; New Orleans]. Dr.P.H. diss., George Washington University. 413 pp.

Elam, Constance. 2003. "That's Just the Way It Was: Teacher Experiences in Appalachian Kentucky, 1930-1960" [Pike Co.; 16 retired teachers interviewed]. Ph.D. diss., University of Texas at Austin. 225 pp.

Elisha, Omri. 2005. "A Movable Faith: Social Outreach, Community Evangelism, and Megachurches in Knoxville, Tennessee." Ph.D. diss., New York University. 457 pp.

Elliott, Sarah E. 1998. "Dead Bodies, Burned Letters, and Burial Grounds: Negotiating Place Through Storytelling in Contemporary Southern Fiction" [Clyde Edgerton, Lewis Nordan, Lee Smith, regionalism]. Ph.D. diss., Northern Illinois University. 165 pp.

Ellis Anne Michelle. 1995. "Theatre and Community Formation: Two Models of Self-Representation" [Roadside Theater]. Ph.D. diss., Cornell University. 298 pp.

Ellis, Jay. 2003. "No Mind's Compass: Spatial Constraint and Character Flight in the Novels of Cormac McCarthy." Ph.D. diss., New York University. 377 pp.

Engelhardt, Elizabeth Sanders Delwiche. 1999. "Southern Appalachian Ecological Literature and Feminism: Women Authors Address the Land, 1890-1910." Ph.D. diss., Emory University. 231 pp.

English, Beth Anne. 2003. "A Common Thread: Labor, Politics, and Capital Mobility in the Massachusetts Textile Industry, 1880-1934" [relocation to N.C., S.C., Ga., Ala.]. Ph.D. diss., College of William and Mary. 317 pp.

Engstrom, James Denton. 1998. "Industry, Social Regulation, and Scale: The Carpet Manufacturing Complex of Dalton, Georgia." Ph.D. diss., Clark University. 397 pp.

Ennis, Lynn Jones. 1995. "Penland and the 'Revival' of Craft 'Traditions': A Study of the Making of American Identities." Ph.D. diss., Union Institute. 553 pp.

Ethridge, Robbie Franklyn. 1996. "A Contest for Land: The Creek Indians on the Southern Frontier, 1796-1816" [Ala. and Ga.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Georgia. 465 pp..

Etienne, Freed G. 2006. "Urban Growth and Segregation in the Roanoke, Virginia, Metropolis: The Effects of Low-Density Development on Low-Income Populations and Racial Minorities." Ph.D. diss., Virginia Commonwealth University. 173 pp.

Evans, Betsy Erin. 2001. "Dialect Contact and the Northern Cities Shift in Ypsilanti, Michigan." Ph.D. diss., Michigan State University. 110 pp.

Evans, Jason R. 2007. "Determining Consumer Perceptions of and Willingness to Pay for Appalachian Grass-Fed Beef: An Experimental Economics Approach." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 186 pp. At grocery stores in Morgantown, W. Va. and Pittsburgh, Pa.

Evenick, Jonathan Charles. 2006. "Potential Subsurface Structures and Hydrocarbon Reservoirs in the Southern Appalachian Basin Beneath the Cumberland Plateau and Eastern Highland Rim, Tennessee, Kentucky, and Southwestern Virginia." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 421 pp.

Faberson, Tanya Alexandra. 2005. "In the Shadow of Greatness: The Archaeology of Capitalism, Agriculture, and the Informal Economy at Marble Springs, Knox County, Tennessee, 1847--1932" [archaeological study]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 315 pp.

Fain, Cicero M., III. 2010. "Race, River, and the Railroad: Black Huntington, West Virginia, 1871-1929." Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 408 pp.

Farmer, Jackie Dean, II. 1999. "'If You Don't Have Your Heart in It, Get Your Hind End Out of It': Discursive Practices, Identification, and Power in the Sandy Valley Basin" [community solidarity; UMW/Pittston coal strike, 1989-1990]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 389 pp.

Farry, Andrew Stephen. 2006. "'The Peculiar Circumstances of This Army': An Archaeological Study of Anglo-American Cultural Variability Along the Seven Years' War Frontier." Ph.D. diss., Michigan State University. 307 pp.

Faux, William V., II. 2004. "The Discursive Enactment of Anthracite Coal Miner Identity" [Pa.; interviews]. Ph.D. diss., University of Denver. 196 pp.

Fayard, Kelly N. 2011. "We've always known who we are': Belonging in the Poarch Band of Creek Indians" [Alabama]. Ph.D. diss., University of Michigan. 304 pp.

Feeley, Stephen Delbert. 2007. "Tuscarora Trails: Indian Migrations, War, and Constructions of Colonial Frontiers." Ph.D. diss., College of William and Mary. 583 pp.

Fennell, Christopher Connor. 2003. "Consuming Mosaics: Mass-Produced Goods and Contours of Choice in the Upper Potomac Region" [Harpers Ferry region, W. Va., Va., 1750-1865]. Ph.D. diss., University of Virginia. 764 pp.

Ferguson, Kaethe Post. 2005. "Impact of Technology on Rural Appalachian Health Care Providers: Assessment of Technological Infrastructure, Behaviors, and Attitudes" [survey: 429 ETSU grads]. Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 241 pp.

Fernandez, Wanda Louise. 2002. "Teacher Descriptions of How the Principal Influences the Culture of Southern Appalachian Rural Schools" [cultural values]. Ed.D. diss., Western Carolina University. 127 pp.

Ferrence, Matthew Joseph. 2010. "You Are and You Ain't: Redneck Literature and the Imposition of Identity." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 278 pp.

Fitzpatrick, Caroline. 2007. "Women's Voices, Women's Quilts: A Study of Discourse Practices in a Pennsylvania Quilting Circle." Ph. D. diss., Indiana University of Pennsylvania. 247 pp. "Literate activity emerged in three categories: literacy construction, feminine discourse, and oral traditions."

Flaherty, Paula W. 2007. "Regional Learning Opportunities: A Story of Place-Based Learning among Adults in West Virginia." Ed.D. diss., Marshall University. 201 pp.

Flanagan, Barry Edgar. 2003. "Race, Employment and Poverty in Two New South Cities: The Case of Greenville-Spartanburg" [S.C.; blacks and Hispanics, 1960–2000]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 198 pp.

Fletcher, Rebecca Adkins. 2011. "Global Transformations, Local Activism: 'New' Unionism's Engagement with Economic and Health Care Transformation in Urban Central Appalachia." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 277 pp.

Fondren, Kristi McLeod. 2009. "Walking on the Wild Side: An Examination of a Long-Distance Hiking Subculture" [Appalachian Trail]. Ph.D. diss., Mississippi State University. 152 pp.

Foraker, Margaret D. 2004. "A Socio-Spatial Analysis of Rural Poverty in East Tennessee" [using 1990 census]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 248 pp.

Ford, Jennifer Lee. 2001. "Landscape and Material Life in Rural Southwestern Pennsylvania, 1798--1838." Ph.D. diss., University of Pittsburgh. 133 pp.

Fotos, Michael A. III. 2000. "Organized Interests and the Implementation of Environmental Policy" [U.S. Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977]. Ph.D. diss., Indiana University. 283 pp.

Fowler, John Derrick. 2000. "Mountaineers in Gray: The Story of the Nineteenth Tennessee Volunteer Infantry Regiment, Confederate States of America" [East Tenn.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 385 pp.

Fox, Jan Isobel. 2000. "Review of the Factors Influencing the Satisfaction of Learning in Online Courses at Marshall University." Ed.D. diss., West Virginia University. 128 pp.

Francis, Sam Wilson. 1998. "Plant Communities of Sandstone Rockshelters in Kentucky's Red River Gorge." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 170 pp.

Franklin, Jay Douglas. 2002. "The Prehistory of Fentress County, Tennessee: An Archaeological Survey." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 275 pp.

Frazier, Kevan Delany. 2000. "Big Dreams, Small Cities: John Nolen, the New South, and the City Planning Movement in Asheville, Roanoke, and Johnson City, 1907-1937." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 246 pp.

Freed, Jason Eric. 2004. "Creating the Appalachian Trail: Technological Influences on Symbol Production." Ph.D. diss., Clemson University. 125 pp.

Freund, Jason Gregory. 2004. "Local and Regional Impairment of Fish Assemblages in a Mined Appalachian Watershed" [Cheat River; acid mine drainage]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 173 pp.

Fry, Richard. 2010. "Fighting for Survival: Coal Miners and the Struggle Over Health and Safety in the United States, 1968-1988." Ph.D. diss., Wayne State University. 391 pp.

Fuller, John Lewis. 1998. "An Investigation of Administrators' Perceptions of Enrollment Management at Public Colleges and Universities in West Virginia" [declining high school graduates; low college-going rate]. Ph.D. diss., Kent State University. 242 pp.

Furedi, Mary Ann. 2004. "Effects of Herbivory by White-Tailed Deer (Odocoileus Virginianus Zimm.) on the Population Ecology and Conservation Biology of American Ginseng (Panax Quinquefolius L.)." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 206 pp.

Gabriel, Selvamany P. 1997. "When I Had Her, My Life Turned to Hers': A Phenomenological Study of the Perceptions of Low-Income Single/Sole-Parent Mothers in Appalachia of Their Communication with Their Adolescent Children" [12 participants]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 238 pp.

Gagnon, Michael John. 1999. "Transition to an Industrial South: Athens, Georgia, 1830-1870" [cotton mills]. Ph.D. diss., Emory University. 424 pp.

Gallaway, Suzanne. 2010. "The Geography of Industry Specialization: Tourism Development Strategies within the Appalachian Regional Commission Area." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Greensboro. 177 pp. Utilizes NAICS-based County Business Patterns data.

Gammell, Gloria Ruth. 2006. "The Transition to College Experience for First-Year Appalachian Students" [11 participants]. Ed.D. diss., Peabody College for Teachers of Vanderbilt University. 156 pp.

Gammons, Phillip Keith. 2001. "Revivalist Rhetoric and the North Carolina Regulator Rebellion." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Greensboro. 157 pp.

Gantt, Patricia Miller. 1993. "'Appalachia in context': Wilma Dykeman's Search for the Souths." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina. 172 pp.

Garland, Hettie Lou. 1997. "Reactions of Native Southern Appalachian Children and Youths to Sudden Death." Ed.D. diss, North Carolina State University. 230 pp.

Garrett, Linda H. 2006. "Childhood Reflections of Adult Male Incarcerated Child Sexual Abusers" [interviews with eight male inmates at a Southern Appalachian prison]. D.S.N. diss., East Tennessee State University. 203 pp.

Garrison, Timothy Alan. 1997. "The Legal Ideology of Removal: The Southern State Judiciary and the Sovereignty of Native American Nations, 1776-1838." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 426 pp.

Gatrell, Jay Dean. 1999. "Localized Innovation: A Geography of the Petro-Chemical Industry in the Kanawha Valley of West Virginia." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 235 pp.

Gearhart, Dona G. 1996. "Surely, a Wench Can Choose Her Own Work!": Women Coal Miners in Paonia, Colorado, 1976-1987" [includes discussion of history of women in the mines; gender and labor issues]. Ph.D. diss., University of Nevada, Las Vegas. 231 pp.

Genco, Jessica T. 2005. "Adult Re-Entry Students: Experiences Preceding Entry into a Rural Appalachian Community College" [24 participants; Mountain Empire Community College, Big Stone Gap, Va.]. Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 131 pp.

George, Samuel Bolivar, III. 1995. "Ministry to Persons With HIV Infection in Cherokee County" [South Carolina]. D.Min. diss., Drew University. 55 pp.

Gibbons, Damiana. 2011. "A Question of Ethics: Media Literacy in Youth Media Arts Organizations." Ph.D. diss., University of Wisconsin - Madison. 182 pp. Chap. 5: "What's in a Place?: Rural Media Literacy in Appalachia," 112-152.

Gibson, Alvin L. 1999. "Employee Involvement and Underground Coal Mine Safety" [seven case studies; nine years]. Ph.D. diss., University of Alabama. 189 pp.

Gillespie, Margaret Gail. 1998. "Havens for the Fashionable and Sickly: Society, Sickness and Space at Nineteenth Century Southern Spring Resorts" [Va., W. Va., mineral springs]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 246 pp.

Gilliam, Karen Lynn. 2006. "We Take from It What We Need: A Portraiture Approach to Understanding a Social Movement Through the Power of Story and Storytelling Leadership." Ph.D. diss., Antioch University. 209 pp. Inspiring story of 73-year-old Joan Southgate who walked the underground-railroad 519 miles across Oh., Pa., N.Y., into Canada.

Gilmer, Robert A. 2011. "In the Shadow of Removal: Historical Memory, Indianness, and the Tellico Dam Project" [TVA]. Ph.D. diss., University of Minnesota. 315 pp. "...examines the struggles between non-Indians and Cherokees...over how their identity as Indians would be defined and used within the context of the environmental and Red Power movements during the 1960s and 70s."

Gilmore, Peter E. 2009. "Rebels and Revivals: Ulster Immigrants, Western Pennsylvania Presbyterianism and the Formation of Scotch-Irish Identity, 1780-1830." Ph.D. diss., Carnegie Mellon University. 768 pp.

Glawson, Gailya T. 1996. "Evaluating and Modeling Flood Potential in Ungaged High Relief Basins in East Tennessee: A Hydrogeomorphic Approach" [Roaring Creek, Richland Creek, Piney River]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 163 pp.

Gneiting, Gary Layne. 2002. "Brigadoon Reborn: Forming and Performing Culture at the National Storytelling Festival" [Jonesborough, Tenn.]. Ph.D. diss., Arizona State University. 341 pp.

Goan, Melanie Beals. 2000. "'First, Foremost, and Above All for Babies': Mary Breckinridge and the Frontier Nursing Service" [1881-1965]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 361 pp.

Goerman, Patricia Lynn. 2004. "The Promised Land? The Gendered Experience of New Hispanic 'Proletarian' Immigrants to Central Virginia" [interviews with 73]. Ph.D. diss., University of Virginia. 242 pp.

Gold, Debra Lynn. 1999. "Subsistence, Health and Emergent Inequality in Late Prehistoric Interior Virginia" [archaeological study; A.D. 1000 to 15th century; Monacan peoples]. Ph.D. diss., University of Michigan. 343 pp.

Gonzales, Christian Michael. 2010. "Cultural Colonizers: Persistence and Empire in the Indian Antiremoval Movement, 1815-1859." Ph.D. diss, University of California, San Diego. 243 pp.

Goodall, Suzanne H. R. 2008. "Perceptions of Leadership and School Climate through Eyes of Principals and Teachers of Appalachian No Child Left Behind Blue Ribbon Schools, (NCLBBRS)" Ed.D. diss., West Virginia University. 173 pp. Three questionnaires plus demographic surveys.

Gooden, Randall Scott. 1995. "The Completion of a Revolution: West Virginia From Statehood Through Reconstruction." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 374 pp.

Gore, Prasanna Rameshchandra. 1996. "Childhood Immunizations in Rural West Virginia: Identification of Immunization Barriers and Development of Persuasion Strategies." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 408 pp.

Gorman, Michael Joseph. 1997. "Political Culture in the Lower Shenandoah Valley: Frederick County, Virginia, 1836-1861." Ph.D. diss., University of California, San Diego. 401 pp.

Grammich, Clifford Anthony, Jr. 1996. "The Bible and Political Change: A Study of White Bible-Based Protestant Southerners" [Tenn. and eastern Ky.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Chicago. 228 pp.

Grand, Jeffrey Scott. 2001. "A Study of an Innovative Approach to the Delivery of Mental Health Services in Rural Appalachia: The RHOP in Perry County, Kentucky" [Rural Health Outreach Program]. Psy.D. diss., The Wright Institute. 64 pp.

Graybeal, Daniel Y. 2001. "A Snow Hydroclimatology of the Central and Southern Appalachian Mountains, United States of America" [flood vulnerability]. Ph.D. diss., University of Delaware. 216 pp.

Green, Christopher Allen. 2004. *The Social Life of Poetry: Pluralism and Appalachia, 1937-1946.* Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 384 pp.

Greene, Gail Curtis. 2001. "Working Toward Literacy for a New Social Order: Human Agency and the Curriculum Work of Septima Poinsette Clark, 1898--1987" [Highlander School]. Ed.D. diss., University of South Carolina. 177 pp.

Greene, Janet Wells. 2000. "Camera Wars: Images of Coal Miners and the Fragmentation of Working Class Identity, 1933-1947" [variant portrayals by UMWA, Truman Administration, and National Coal Association]. Ph.D. diss., New York University. 580 pp.

Greene, Lance. 2009. "A Struggle for Cherokee Community: Excavating Identity in Post-Removal North Carolina." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 247 pp. "...how one Cherokee family....embraced alternative concepts of race, ethnicity, and gender to help maintain a traditional Cherokee community."

Greene, Winifred. 2001. "Knowledge, Beliefs, and Health Behaviors among African Americans Residing near the Coosa River" [Ala.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Alabama. 120 pp.

Greenwood, Kristine Louise. 1997. "A Study of the Rhetoric of John D. Rockefeller IV, 29th Governor of West Virginia: 1977-1985" [examines six speeches to identify outsider's forms of identification with West Virginians]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 234 pp.

Gregg, Sara M. 2004. "From Farms to Forest: Federal Conservation and Resettlement Programs in the Blue Ridge and Green Mountains" [Va., Vt.; 1920s-30s]. Ph.D. diss., Columbia University. 298 pp.

Gregg, Sara M. 2004. "From Farms to Forest: Federal Conservation and Resettlement Programs in the Blue Ridge and Green Mountains" [1920s-1930s Va. and Vt.; Shenandoah National Park]. Ph.D. diss., Columbia University. 298 pp.

Gregory, Michael McCallum. 2002. "The Incorporation of Denmark, Virginia, into the World Economy: A Historical Archaeological Study" [1870s-1920, transition to capitalism]. Ph.D. diss., Arizona State University. 406 pp.

Griffin, Frank Winger. 1997. "Walking 'The Same Path': Indian Voices and the Issues of Removal" [Indian Removal Act of 1830]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 281 pp.

Griffin, Patrick Neil. 1999. "The People With No Name: The Ulster Presbyterian Transatlantic Experience and Identity in a British Atlantic World" [Pa. frontier]. Ph.D. diss., Northwestern University. 256 pp.

Grimes, Richard S. 2005. "The Emergence and Decline of the Delaware Indian Nation in Western Pennsylvania and the Ohio Country, 1730--1795." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 248 pp.

Griner, Brian Porter. 1997. "A Valuation of Water Quality Enhancements in the Lower Allegheny Watershed Using Discrete Choice Models and Conjoint Analysis" [Loyalhanna Creek and Conemaugh River, Pa.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Pittsburgh. 217 pp.

Groover, Mark Davis. 1998. "The Gibbs Farmstead: An Archaeological Study of Rural Economy and Material Life in Southern Appalachia, 1790-1920" [Knox Co., Tenn.; world systems theory]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 858 pp.

Grube, Wendy. 2010. "Talk and Backtalk: Negotiating Cervical Cancer Screening among Appalachian Women in West Virginia." Ph.D. diss., University of Pennsylvania. 186 pp.

Gruenwald, Kim Marie. 1994. "Settling the Old Northwest: Changing Family and Commercial Strategies in the Early Republic." Ph.D. diss., University of Colorado at Boulder. 366 pp.

Gubele, Rose. 2008. "The 'Cherokee Phoenix' and the Syllabary: Cherokee Rhetorics of Balance." Ph.D. diss., Washington State University. 191 pp. Bilingual newspaper published before 1838 Trail of Tears removal.

Guess, Angela Cole. 2000. "Dropping Out of School in One Rural, Appalachian School System in Alabama" [574 eighth-graders; 1989-90]. Ed.D. diss., University of Alabama. 145 pp.

Gugliotta, Angela. 2005. "Hell with the Lid Taken Off': A Cultural History of Air Pollution-Pittsburgh" [coal smoke]. Ph.D. diss., University of Notre Dame. 691 pp.

Gunter, Terry D. 2010. "Jerry Rose: An Appalachian Man at the Barre'." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 196 pp. Story of one man's life and how he managed to flourish as a dancer for the outdoor drama, "Honey in the Rock," in 1960s Beckley, W. Va.

Gutierrez, Gustavo A. 2005. "Occupation and Displacement in the Old Northwest: The Role of Three Technologies" [Iroquois, Delawares, Shawnees, Miamis, Wyandots, Ottawas, Menominees, Illinois, Sacs, Foxes, and Chippeways; 1760--1840s; rum, military forts, and land survey]. Ph.D. diss., Iowa State University. 328 pp.

Guy, Roger Stephen. 1996. "Diversity to Unity: Uptown's Southern Migrants, 1950-1970" [Chicago]. Ph.D. diss., University of Wisconsin - Milwaukee. 249 pp.

Guyon, Lyle J. 2004. "Regeneration Dynamics in Old-Growth and Second-Growth Southern Appalachian Cove Forests. [Tenn.; Great Smoky Mountains]. Ph.D. diss., University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign. 150 pp.

Haas, Johanna Marie. 2008. "Law and Property in the Mountains: A Political Economy of Resource Land in the Appalachian Coalfields." Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 324 pp.

Haggard, Dixie Ray. 2005. "'Their Own Way of Warring': The Making and Persistence of Cherokee and Muscogulge Identity, 1500--1800." University of Kansas. 404 pp.

Haimes-Bartolf, Melanie Dorothea. 2004. "Policies and Attitudes: Public Education and the Monacan Indian Community in Amherst County, Virginia, from 1908 to 1965" [Episcopal Diocese of Southwestern Virginia]. Ph.D. diss., Virginia Commonwealth University. 316 pp.

Hall, Betty Watson. 1997. "William Benjamin Townsend: The 'Cynical Seer' of the North Georgia Mountains from 1897 to 1933" [editor of *The Dahlonega Nugget* weekly]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 253 pp.

Hall, Joseph McLean, Jr. 2001. "Making an Indian People: Creek Formation in the Colonial Southeast, 1590--1735." Ph.D. diss., University of Wisconsin - Madison. 335 pp.

Hall, Karen C. 2006. "Ethnobotany of the Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians: A Path to Sustaining Traditional Identity with an Emphasis on Medicinal Plant Use." Ph.D. diss., Clemson University. 76 pp.

Hall, Katherine Lelia. 2001. "Trade Readjustment Act Women in Developmental Writing: Preparing for Education and Retraining." Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 286 pp.

Halverson, Joel A. 2005. "Suicide and Socioeconomic Context in the Appalachian Region" [1980-1990; 1990-2000]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 107 pp.

Halvi, Sharon. 1995. "The Path Not Taken: Class, Gender, and Race In the South Carolina Backcountry, 1750-1800." Ph.D. diss., University of Iowa. 446 pp.

Hamilton, Michelle Dawn. 2004. "Seeking After Empire: Bioarchaeologists and American Indians in the New Millennium" [Eastern Band of Cherokee; Native American Grave Protection and Repatriation Act in 1990]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 259 pp.

Hamlin, Amy Kay. 2004. "Compensatory Education or Maximum Feasible Participation: Voices of Head Start Mothers/Teachers from the Blue Ridge Mountain Foothills." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Greensboro. 134 pp.

Hamlin, Amy Kay. 2004. "Compensatory Education or Maximum Feasible Participation: Voices of Head Start mothers/teachers from the Blue Ridge Mountain Foothills." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Greensboro. 134 pp.

Hancock, Carole Wylie. 2008. "Honorable Soldiers, Too: An Historical Case Study of Post-Reconstruction African American Female Teachers of the Upper Ohio River Valley" [1875-1915]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio University.

Hanna, Stephen Phillips. 1997. "Representing Appalachia: Appalshop Films and the Politics of Regional Identity." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 382 pp.

Hannah, Leslie Deon. 2002. "We Still Tell Stories: An Examination of Cherokee Oral Literature." 2002. Ph.D. diss., University of Oklahoma. 288 pp.

Hao, Richie Neil. 2009. "(Mis)diagnosing Silence: A Cultural Criticism of the Virginia Tech News Coverage of Silence as Public Pedagogy" [April, 2007 shooting]. Ph.D. diss., Southern Illinois University at Carbondale. 215 pp.

Hardt, Richard Alan. 1993. "Characterization of Old-Growth Forests in the Southern Appalachian Region of the United States and Implications for Their Management." Ph.D. diss., University of Georgia. 162 pp.

Harkins, Anthony Andrew R. 1999. "The Hillbilly in Twentieth-Century American Culture: The Evolution of a Contested National Icon." Ph.D. diss., University of Wisconsin - Madison. 486 pp.

Harper, Craig Andrew. 1998. "Analysis of Wild Turkey Brood Habitat Within the Southern Appalachians." Ph.D. diss., Clemson University. 166 pp.

Harper, John Robinson. 2008. "Revolution and Conquest: Politics, Violence, and Social Change in the Ohio Valley, 1765-1795." Ph.D. diss., University of Wisconsin - Madison. 314 pp.

Harris, Jim. 2003. "A Study of a Variant Black English Vernacular Developed by African American and White Immigrant Coal Miners in the Coal Mining Camp Towns of Central Alabama." Ph.D. diss., Indiana University of Pennsylvania. 167 pp.

Harrod, Jonathan C. 1999. "Disturbance History and Ecological Change in a Southern Appalachian Landscape: Western Great Smoky Mountains National Park, 1936-1996" [Tenn.; vegetation patterns]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 171 pp.

Hartley, Lou Ann. 2003. "Longitudinal Analysis of Access to Health Care, Use of Preventive Health Services, and Practice of Health-Related Behaviors of Appalachian and Non-Appalachian Adults in Kentucky" [six-year period]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 163 pp.

Hartman, Ian Christian. 2011. "From Daniel Boone to the Beverly Hillbillies: Tales of a 'Fallen' Race, 1873-1968." Ph.D. diss., University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign. 305 pp. "Today, the word 'Appalachia' conjures the competing and irreconcilable images of manly, frontier independence on the one hand, and unrivaled levels of poverty and deprivation on the other."

Hartz, Lynn Richardson. 1978. "Feminist Therapy in Appalachia." Ph.D. diss., Union Institute and University. 156 pp.

Harvey, Hannah Blevins. 2006. "Mines-Bodies: A Performance Ethnography of Appalachian Coal Mining" [Southwest Va.; narratives of women and disabled miners]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 455 pp.

Hassan, Ruby Jewel Anderson. 1999. "Desegregation in Knoxville, Tennessee: A Case Study" [1989-1996]. Ed.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 297 pp.

Hatfield, Sharon Lynn. 2010. "Exploring Entrepreneurialism in Community Colleges in the Appalachian Region." Ph.D. diss., Old Dominion University. 190 pp.

Hawkins, Robert Dean, Jr. 1998. "Social Control in the Eastern Kentucky Subculture of Violence" [1971-1990]. Ph.D. diss., Sam Houston State University. 228 pp.

Haynes, Julie Ann. 2003. "Feminist Cowboys and Other Contradictions: Women's Rights Rhetoric and Country Music Videos in the 1990s" [12 videos analyzed; Appalachian folk ballad roots]. Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 188 pp.

Hayslette, Sandra Diane. 2002. "'Not at the Top, but Climbing': Teaching and Learning About Appalachia and Identity at Berea College, 1920-1940" [Ky.]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 423 pp.

Hazen, Helen Diane. 2006. "The Role of the World Heritage Convention in Protecting Natural Areas" [1972]. Ph.D. diss., University of Minnesota. 114 pp. Interviews and survey with

visitors to: Great Smoky Mountains, Grand Canyon, Hawaii Volcanoes, and Yellowstone National Parks.

Hebert, Keith Scott. 2007. "Civil War and Reconstruction Era Cass/Bartow County, Georgia." Ph.D. diss., Auburn University. 374 pp. Bi-racial society transferred from post-Removal S.C. and Ga.

Helmer, Joel William. 2005. "Float Trips, Dams, and Tailwater Trout: An Environmental History of the White River of Northern Arkansas, 1870--2004" [Ozark tourism]. Ph.D. diss., Oklahoma State University. 260 pp.

Hennen, John C., Jr. 1993. "The Americanization of West Virginia: Creating a Modern Industrial State, 1916-1925." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 443 pp.

Henry, Kathleen Marie. 2000. "The Social, Political and Economic Disenfranchisement of American Tribal Women" [Cherokee matriarchy eroded]. Ph.D. diss., Fielding Institute. 84 pp.

Henwood, Dawn Elayne. 1998. "Voice From the Borderland: Rebecca Harding Davis and the Southern Roots of American Social Protest Fiction" [1831-1910; (West) Virginia]. Ph.D. diss., University of Toronto. 303 pp.

Herman, Karl Robert. 2001. "An Investigation into the Relevance of Postmodern Versus Traditional Analyses of the Appalachian Population in Appalachian Ministry" [United Methodist; Pa.]. D.Min. diss., Lancaster Theological Seminary. 119 pp.

Herndon, Connie Jeanette. 2003. "At the Limits of Cultural Identification and Personal Integrity: Border Theory from an Appalachian Frame of Mind." Ph.D. diss., University of Louisiana at Lafayette. 228 pp.

Hess, Michael E., II. 2009. "The Long Walk with Democracy: Democratic Teacher Narratives in Rural Appalachian Ohio." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 372 pp. Study of a grassroots teacher group called the Friday Roundtable.

Hester, Jessica Lynn. 2005. "White Trash Fetish: Representations of Poor White Southern Women and Constructions of Class, Gender, Race and Region, 1920-1941" [depictions of poor white southern women produced by four plays]. Ph.D. diss., University of Texas at Austin. 245 pp.

Hetherington, Dan. 2001. "Disaster Trauma: A Phenomenological-Linguistic Analysis of Buffalo Creek Flood Accounts" [W. Va., 1972]. Ph.D. diss., Duquesne University. 231 pp.

Hiam, Jonathan. 2005. "Music at Black Mountain College: The European Years, 1939--46" [N.C.; Heinrich Jalowetz, Edward Lowinsky]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 264 pp.

Hickman, Carolyn Neale. 1999. "What to Throw Away/What to Keep': Mobilizing Expressive Culture and Regional Reconstruction in Appalachia" [five case studies: Jim Wayne Miller; Gurney Norman; Herb Smith; Denise Giardina; Hazel Dickens]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 295 pp.

Hidalgo, Thomas Gene. 1999. "Reconstructing a History of Spanish Immigration in West Virginia: Implications for Multicultural Education" [drawn to coal mining jobs primarily]. Ed.D. diss., University of Massachusetts. 257 pp.

Hilliard, K. Mark. 1998. "An Instructor's Guide to Traditional Native American Games of the Eastern Band of the Cherokee: Grades 5-8." D.A. diss., Middle Tennessee State University. 255 pp.

Hinshaw, John. 1994. "Dialectic of Division: Race and Power Among Western Pennsylvania Steelworkers, 1937-1975." Ph.D. diss., Carnegie Mellon University. 431 pp.

Hoeynck, Joshua S. 2008. "Poetic Cosmologies: Black Mountain Poetry and Process Philosophy." Ph.D. diss., Washington University in St. Louis. 423 pp. Traces associations with Alfred North Whitehead's speculative philosophical text, *Process and Reality* (1928).

Hollenbach, Kandace Detwiler. 2005. "Gathering in the Late Paleoindian and Early Archaic Periods in the Middle Tennessee River Valley, Northwest Alabama" [plant remains examined at four rockshelter sites]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 484 pp.

Hopkins, Robert Dale. 2001. "A Comparison of Attitudes of Clergy and Psychologists toward an Indigenous Appalachian Religious Sect" [snake handling]. Ed.D. diss., Tennessee State University. 56 pp.

Horton, Frank L. 1968. "The Rural Church: A Study of West Virginia Methodism." Rel.D. diss., Claremont School of Theology. 126 pp.

Hosley, Brenda Lea. 2004. "We Survived: Health Care Choices of Appalachian African Americans" [folk medicine; interviews with eight women from Ky. and W. Va. coalfields]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 187 pp.

Hough, Jill Suzanne. 1999. "Fathers and Brothers: Familial Diplomacy of the Creek Indians and Anglo-Americans, 1733 to Removal" [Georgia]. Ph.D. diss., University of California, Davis. 264 pp.

Househ-Collins, Linda Gail. 1998. "Selling Bread and Freedom: The Aircraft Organizing Drives of the United Automobile Workers in Birmingham, Alabama, 1943 to 1952" [wages, Communism, and race issues]. Ph.D. diss., University of Michigan.

Hovis, George Rhyne. 2001. "The Yeoman Ideal in Contemporary North Carolina Fiction" [Doris Betts, Reynolds Price, Fred Chappell, Lee Smith, Clyde Edgerton, and Randall Kenan]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 359 pp.

Howard, Steven Paul. 2010. "Northeastern Middle Woodland, from the Perspective of the Upper Allegheny Valley" [Hopewell mound building influence]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University.

Howley, Craig Barrett. 1996. "Sizing Up Schooling: A West Virginia Analysis and Critique." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 294 pp.

Huber, Patrick Joseph. 2000. "The Modern Origins of an Old-Time Sound: Southern Millhands and Their Hillbilly Music, 1923-1942." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 290 pp.

Hudson, Angela Pulley. 2007. "Reading between the Lines: Creeks, Slaves, and Settlers on the Borders of the U.S. South, 1790s-1820s" [boundaries and the opening of roads]. Ph.D. diss., Yale University. 318 pp.

Hudson, Bert W. 1981. "The Relationship between Learned Helplessness and Poverty in Central Appalachia" [Culture of Poverty model, Galbraith theory, and learned helplessness models]. Ph.D. diss., Union Institute and University. 135 pp.

Hudson, Fraser Berkley. 2003. "Possum Town 'Photo-Biography': Culture, History, and Identity through the Mississippi Lens of O. N. Pruitt, 1920–1955" [Lowndes Co.]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 376 pp.

Hudson, Karen Elaine. 1995. "God Held the Torch That Brought the Old House Down': Class, Gender, and the Built Environment of the Appalachian Kentucky Social Settlement Movement, 1880s-1930s." Ph.D. diss., University of Pennsylvania. 189 pp.

Hudson, Kent. 1979. "Mine-Mill: The Voices from the Mountains" [International Union of Mine, Mill and Smelter Workers]. Ph.D. diss., Union Institute and University. 217 pp.

Huebner, Karin L. 2009. "Remembrance and Reform: A Multi-Generational Saga of a Euro-American-Indian Family, 1739-1924." Ph.D. diss., University of Southern California. 366 pp. "...this study traces the complicated history of the Moravians' evangelization of North American Indians, which.... ended tragically with the massacre of ninety-six Indian converts at Gnadenhutten, Ohio in 1782."

Huffman, Karen Lynn. 1999. "Dropouts and Dropout Prevention Programs: How West Virginia High School Principals View Their Roles." Ed.D. diss., West Virginia University. 165 pp.

Hughes, Mark Handly. 1994. "The Spatial and Temporal Distribution of Fishes in the Holsten River System of North Carolina, Tennessee, and Virginia." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 538 pp.

Hughes-Tafen, Denise C. 2005. "Throwing Black Women's Voices from the Global South into an Appalachian Classroom" [Ohio; theater: performative inquiry with 25 student participants]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 393 pp.

Hunt, Patricia White. 2007. "Keeping the PROMISE?: A Study of West Virginia's Merit-Based Scholarship Program" [introduced 1999]. Ed.D. diss., University of Pennsylvania. 106 pp.

Huskins, Anita Kay. 2003. "Culture and Value Perceptions in the Experience of Identity, Self, and Meaning for Southern Appalachian Women: A Qualitative Analysis." Ph.D. diss., James Madison University. 84 pp.

Hutton, T. R. C. 2009. "Bloody Breathitt: Power and Violence in the Mountain South" [Breathitt, Co., Ky.]. Ph.D. diss., Vanderbilt University. 485 pp. "...deals with political violence involving white southerners in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, and the circumstances through which the political significance...was obscured or erased in the public memory." Guerilla skirmishes; racial discord.

Inman, Natalie. 2010. "Networks in Negotiation: The Role of Family and Kinship in Intercultural Diplomacy on the Trans-Appalachian Frontier, 1680-1840." Ph.D. diss., Vanderbilt University. 254 pp. Cumberland region; Cherokee country; Chickasaws; Donelson family.

Ishii, Izumi. 1999. "Poisoned by the Bad Fruits of the Civilized Tree': Cherokees and Alcohol, 1700-1907." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 253 pp.

Israel, Charles Alan. 2001. "There Can Be No Education without Religion': Tennessee Evangelicals and Education, 1875--1925." Ph.D. diss., Rice University. 387 pp.

Jackson, Clarence Alan. 1999. "A Certain Essence of the Sun': Byron Herbert Reece and the Southern Poetry Tradition" [1917-1958]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 168 pp.

James, Jenny. 1996. "A Reconstructive Hermeneutic of Eastern Cherokee Spirituality Via the Theology of Bernard Lonergan." Ph.D. diss, University of St. Michael's College (Canada). 344 pp.

Janda, Sarah Eppler. 2002. "The Intersection of Feminism and Indianness in the Activism of LaDonna Harris and Wilma Mankiller." Ph.D. diss., University of Oklahoma. 241 pp.

Jasper, Debra Elaine. 2008. "Life Histories in the Flatwoods: 1,000 Tiny Resistances to Power in Kinship Knowledge Networks in (an) Other Space" [Ky.]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 234 pp. Negative stereotypes; Appalachia as an internal colony; identity; stories of resistance.

Jennings, Matthew H. 2007. "This Country Is Worth the Trouble of Going to War to Keep It: Cultures of Violence in the American Southeast to 1740" [English, French, and Spanish]. Ph.D. diss., University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign. 283 pp.

Jennison, Watson Woodson. 2005. "Cultivating Race: Slavery and Expansion in Georgia, 1750-1860." Ph.D. diss., University of Virginia. 309 pp.

Jenrette, Jerra. 1996. "'There's No Damn Reason for It--It's Just Our Policy': Labor-Management Conflict in Martinsburg, West Virginia's Textile and Garment Industries." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 422 pp.

Johnson, Bart Reinholdt. 1995. "The Ecology and Restoration of a High Montane Rare Plant Community" [15 rare herbs]. Ph.D. diss., University of Georgia. 199 pp.

Johnson, Dolores M. 1995. "Not a Story to Be Told: Discourse, Race, and Myth in Huntington, West Virginia Newspapers, 1872 and 1972." Ph.D. diss., Indiana University of Pennsylvania. 291 pp.

Johnson, Freddie Lee, III. 1999. "The Tracks of War: Confederate Strategic Rail Policy and the Struggle for the Baltimore and Ohio" [Civil War; 500-mile route, Baltimore to Ohio River]. Ph.D. diss., Kent State University. 365 pp.

Johnson, Jeffrey Guy. 2000. "Feud, Society, Family: Feud Narrative in the United States, 1865-1910" [John Fox, Jr.]. Ph.D. diss., Harvard University. 338 pp.

Johnson, Susan Allyn. 2006. "Industrial Voyagers: A Case Study of Appalachian Migration to Akron, Ohio: 1900-1940." Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 262 pp.

Johnson-Webb, Karen Denise. 2000. "Formal and Informal Hispanic Labor Recruitment: North Carolina Communities in Transition" [research triangle]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 157 pp.

Johnston, Cheryl A. 2002. "Culturally Modified Human Remains from the Hopewell Mound Group" [Ohio]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 341 pp.

Joiner Miller, Victoria L. 2011. "Singing in a Strange Land: A Phenomenological Examination of Government Sponsored Forced Displacement of African Americans in Madison County, Alabama." Ed.D. diss., Fielding Graduate University. 147 pp.

Jonas, Shannon Tate. 2009. "Little to No Stars." Ph.D. diss., Western Michigan University. 49 pp. "Poems that...represent the landscape, language, mannerisms, and way of life of the people of the Appalachian region of Virginia....of my childhood."

Jones, Debra Calhoun. 2006. "Jo Carson's Contribution to the Swamp Gravy Recipe." Ph.D. diss., Florida State University. 175 pp. "Swamp Gravy, an oral history/community performance project in Colquitt, Georgia, has been named Georgia's 'Official Folk Life Play'."

Jones, Gary Richard. 1998. "American Cossacks: The Pennsylvania Department of State Police and Labor, 1890-1917" [strike-breaking; violence; class, conflict, reform]. Ph.D. diss., Lehigh University. 251 pp.

Jones, Jane Myers. 2001. "University Image: Perceptions Held by Internal and External Stakeholders of East Tennessee State University." Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 189 pp.

Jones, Kimberly Marie. 2003. "Pittsburgh Ex-Steel Workers As Victims of Development: An Ethnographic Account of America's Deindustrialization." Ph.D. diss., University of Pittsburgh. 258 pp.

Jones, Lois Faye Helms. 1994. "Inefficiencies and Inequities Identified in a Study of Federal Regulations, and Those of Ten Southeastern States, for Municipal-Solid-Waste-Landfill Disposal." Ph.D. diss., University of Alabama. 178 pp.

Jones, Reba Pestun. 2003. "An Examination of Coal Mining Song Repertoire in the Virginia Elementary Music Curriculum with the Creation and Incorporation of a Suggested Coal Mining Musical Unit of Study." D.M.A. diss., Shenandoah University. 230 pp.

Jones, William Brent. 2011. "Moving Mountains: Southern Appalachia and the Faith of the Nation, 1730-1835." Ph.D. diss., University of Virginia. 286 pp. "Early residents of southern Appalachia practiced faith in a unique geographical environment that mitigated the dominance of evangelicals, which resulted in a mountain religious ecology that harbored more diversity than other areas of the South."

Joy, Natalie Irene. 2008. "Hydra's Head: Fighting Slavery and Indian Removal in Antebellum America" [1830s; Cherokee]. Ph.D. diss., University of California, Los Angeles. 262 pp.

Jurgens, Eloise Hollyfield. 1996. "Southern Appalachian Settlement Schools as Early Initiators of Integrated Services" [Hindman (Ky.); Pine Mountain (Ky.); Crossnore (N.C.)]. Ph.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 204 pp.

Justice, Daniel Heath. 2002. "Our Fire Survives the Storm: Removal and Defiance in the Cherokee Literary Tradition." Ph.D. diss., University of Nebraska - Lincoln. 229 pp.

Justice, Robert A. 2006. "Historic Preservation Leading to Heritage Tourism as an Economic Development Strategy for Small Tennessee Towns." Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 174 pp.

Kader, Emily. 2011. "Surviving Folklore: Transnational Irish Folk Traditions and the Politics of Genre" [oral traditions]. Ph.D. diss., Emory University. 281 pp. "...project approaches five major folklore collections [including]...Cecil Sharp's *English Folk Songs from the Southern Appalachians*, and Richard Chase's *The Jack Tales*."

Kahn, Patricia Hymson. 2003. "How the Social Reform Movement Impacted Handiwork at Hindman Settlement School in Hindman, Kentucky During 1902-1920." Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 203 pp.

Kahn, Si. 1994. "Habits of Resistance: Cultural Work and Community Organizing." Ph.D. diss., The Union Institute. 312 pp.

Kairies, Candace Lianne. 2003. "Characterization of Precipitates Associated with Bituminous Coal Mine Drainage, Northern Appalachian Region, United States." Ph.D. diss., University of Pittsburgh. 98 pp.

Kalme, Albert P. 1977. "Racial Desegregation and Integration in American Education: The Case History of West Virginia State College, 1891-1973." Ph.D. diss, University of Ottawa (Canada).

Kanayama, Tomoko. 2003. "Strategic Web Use by Nonprofit Organizations in Appalachian Ohio: The Influence of Resource Dependency and Institutional Expectations." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 291 pp.

Kane, Michael J. 2001. "Administration and Operations of Local Law Enforcement Agencies in the Southern Appalachian Mountain Region of West Virginia." Ph.D. diss., The Union Institute. 222 pp.

Kang, Daiwen. 2001. "Measurement, Modeling, and Analysis of Nonmethane Hydrocarbons and Ozone in the Southeast United States National Parks" [Shenandoah, Great Smoky Mountains, Mammoth Cave]. Ph.D. diss., North Carolina State University. 229 pp.

Kant, Kristin Mary Agnes Helen. 2009. "Painting the Mountains: An Investigation of Tourist Art in North America." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 348 pp. "This study examines the use of regional cultural icons, like hillbillies, nineteenth century pioneer caricatures, and rural/wilderness landscapes, in paintings from an Appalachian tourist center."

Kathryn, Erica Lillian. 1996. "Theory of Profound Knowing: A Study of Nurse-Midwifery Knowledge" [Frontier Nursing Service, Hyden, Ky., 1925-1965]. Ph.D. diss., Case Western Reserve University (Health Sciences). 608 pp.

Keefer, Bradley S. 2006. "Constructing Memories of the "River of Death": Conflict, Landscape, and the Impact of the Spanish-American War on the Chickamauga and Chattanooga National Military Park" [1898; Tenn.-Ga.; war training ground for 70,000; conflict between two sets of Civil War veterans]. Ph.D. diss., Kent State University. 495 pp.

Keeney, C. B. 2009. "Soldiers and Stereotypes: Mountaineers, Cultural Identity, and World War II." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 226 pp. "Using interviews, letters, and a collection of over 1,200 firsthand written accounts of Appalachian veterans collected by West Virginia University in 1946."

Kegley, Michele Dawn. 2011. "Socio-Economic Stability and Independence of Appalachian Women." Ph.D. diss., Antioch University. 215 pp. "Through a set of criteria, 15 Appalachian women ages 34 to 74 that left their first marriage [and] were socio-economically stable and

independent were interviewed....Each woman discussed her experience in her own voice and explained how she led change in her family's life."

Kell, Glenn Leroy. 2003. "Estimated Effects on Selected Student Outcomes of Attending a College with an Evangelical Identity in the Appalachian Region" [28 schools; 4130 alumni: 1974-96]. Ph.D. diss., University of Iowa. 101 pp.

Keller, Vagel Charles, Jr. 2005. "Forgotten Brownfields: Rural Industrial Districts in Pennsylvania, 1870-1930" [the wood chemical and leather industries of the upper Allegheny Valley, and the merchant pig iron industry in the Juniata region]. Ph.D. diss., Carnegie Mellon University. 289 pp.

Kelly, Brian. 1998. "'Up Against It': Race, Class, and Power in the Alabama Coalfields, 1908-1921." Ph.D. diss., Brandeis University. 361 pp.

Kelton, Paul Timothy. 1998. "Not All Disappeared: Disease and Southeastern Indian Survival, 1500-1800" [European-introduced epidemics; Cherokees, Creeks, Choctaws, Chickasaws].

Kennedy-O'Neill, Joy D. 2007. "The Sacred and the Sublime: Caves in American Literature" [Ky., Va., Calif., N.Y.; from 18th-century]. Ph.D. diss., Indiana University of Pennsylvania. 253 pp.

Kerr, T. Patrick. 2005. "Journey Home: Christian Meditation for a Deeper Experience of God" [Appalachian responses]. D.Min. diss., United Theological Seminary. 86 pp.

Ketterer, William Piatt. 2011. "Psychological Change among Appalachian Trail Thru-Hikers: An Interpretive Phenomenological Analysis." Psy.D. diss., Antioch University New England. 118 pp.

Kievit, Joyce Ann. 2002. "Trail of Tears to Veil of Tears: The Impact of Removal on Reconstruction" [Cherokee, Choctaw, Chickasaw, Creek and Seminole; 1830s-1877]. Ph.D. diss., University of Houston. 317 pp.

Kiffmeyer, Thomas J. 1998. "From Self-Help to Sedition: The Appalachian Volunteers and the War on Poverty in Eastern Kentucky, 1964-1970." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 443 pp.

Kim, Yoonmi. 2005. "East Asians' Experience of Sojourning in East Tennessee: A Phenomenological Investigation" [interviews with 16, from China, Japan, Korea, and Taiwan]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 168 pp.

Kimbrough, David L. 1992. "Park Saylor and the Eastern Kentucky Snake-Handlers: A Religious History." Ph.D. diss., Indiana University. 346 pp.

King, Adam. 1996. "Tracing Organizational Change in Mississippian Chiefdoms of the Etowah River Valley, Georgia" [northwest Ga., AD 1000-1550]. Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 309 pp.

King, David Ashley. 2001. "Christ-Haunted': Religion and the South in Four American Films" [*The Night of the Hunter, Wise Blood, The Apostle, Sling Blade*]. Ph.D. diss., Georgia State University. 208 pp.

King, Fred Willis. 1939. "A Herpetological Survey of Great Smoky Mountains National Park." Ph.D. diss., University of Cincinnati. 78 pp.

King, Spurgeon C. 2009. "The Geography of Civil War: Conflict and Legacy in Upper East Tennessee, 1861-1865." Ph.D. diss., Middle Tennessee State University. 182 pp. Mountain valleys, ridges, and passes, rivers and railroads.

King, William E. 2007. "A Qualitative Study of Individuals in Transition from Welfare to Work in an Appalachian Area." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 160 pp.

Kinney, Jill. 2009. "Letters, Pen, and Tilling the Field': Quaker Schools among the Seneca Indians on the Allegany River, 1798-1852" [Allegany Reservation, Western Pa.-N.Y. border]. Ph.D. diss., University of Rochester. 258 pp.

Kirk, Ryan William. 2009. "Land Use and Terrestrial Carbon Storage in Western North Carolina from 1850-2030: A Historical Reconstruction and Simulation Study." Ph.D. diss., University of Minnesota. 177 pp. "...dynamic land-use changes....successive waves of immigration, development, resource extraction, and abandonment."

Klein, Janet Ginsberg. 1997. "I Never Knew You Could Play with Your Kids': The Experience of Some Families in a Family Support Program in Appalachia" [Cumberland Mountains region]. Ph.D. diss., New York University. 239 pp.

Kleit, David H. 2003. "We Wanted the Land': The Cherokee Country during the Era of Removal and Resettlement" [Ga., Ala., Tenn., N.C.]. Ph.D. diss., Duke University. 394 pp.

Klenzendorf, Sybille A. 2002. "Population Dynamics of Virginia's Hunted Black Bear Population." Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 168 pp.

Klingensmith, Daniel E. 1998. "'One Valley and a Thousand': Remaking America, India and the World in the Image of the Tennessee Valley Authority, 1945-1970." Ph.D. diss., University of Chicago. 488 pp.

Klingler, Jill C. Rieman. 1999. "Relation of Adaptation, Life Meaning and Belief in God in Central and Southern Appalachian Culture in Response to the Unexpected and Violent Death of a Child" [interviews with six women]. Ph.D. diss., Union Institute. 175 pp.

Klocek, Christopher A. 2004. "Estimating the Economic Value of Canaan Valley National Wildlife Refuge: A Contingent Valuation Approach" [W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 133 pp.

Kluhsman, Brenda Carol. 2009. "Where Science and Communities Meet: A Comparative Case Study of Strategies to Increase Cancer Screening among Rural Residents." Ph.D. diss., University of Colorado at Denver. 171 pp. Telephone interviews; Appalachian states.

Knaff, Sheila Rhaan. 1998. "Case Study of the Effects of Integration on Two Black High Schools in East Tennessee." Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 175 pp.

Knecht, Andra Mari. 2010. "Education in the New South: Efficiency, Philanthropy, and Women in the Creation of Tallulah Falls School in Southern Appalachia, 1880-1909" [Ga.]. Ph.D. diss., Mississippi State University.

Knott, William M. 2006. "Foot Soldier of the Empire: Hannah More and the Politics of Service" [1809-1868; Conn. missionary; Cherokee and Choctaw]. Ph.D. diss., George Washington University. 487 pp.

Knowles, John William, III. 2006. "Winds of Change: Mexico in a Town in Appalachia" [Galax, Va.]. Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 221 pp.

Knowles, Lloyd Alan. 2000. "The Appeal and Course of Christian Restorationism on the Early Nineteenth Century American Frontier: With a Focus on Sidney Rigdon as a Case Study." Ph.D. diss., Michigan State University. 395 pp.

Knox, Kenneth K. 2008. "The Relationship between Leadership Style and Financial Results: A Study of Small Business Owners in Southeastern Ohio." Ph.D. diss., Capella University. 142 pp.

Koehler, Anita Nucci. 1997. "The West Virginia Healthy Schools Nutrition Study." Ph.D. diss., University of Pittsburgh. 290 pp.

Kokolus, John Joseph. 1999. "Imagined Burdens: Lithuanian Ethnicization On an American Industrial Frontier, 1870-1894" [Shenandoah, Pa.]. Ph.D. diss., Temple University. 233 pp.

Kollman, Dana Denise. 2007. "Life and Death in the Eastern Woodlands: A Bioarchaeological Synthesis of Seven Late Woodland Period Mortuary Sites in Maryland" [A.D. 900-A.D. 1600; seven sites in western Md.]. Ph.D. diss., American University. 364 pp.

Konhaus, Timothy P. 2010. "Freedom Road: Black Refugee Settlements in Northwestern Pennsylvania, 1820-1870" [Mercer Co.]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 213 pp.

Koshan, James C. 2005. "We Hold the Center of the Line of Battle: The IWW, Immigrant Labor, and Industrial Unionism in the Pittsburgh District, 1909--1913." Ph.D. diss., Kent State University. 306 pp.

Krehbiel, Lee Edward. 1997. "From Race to Region: Shifting Priorities at Berea College Under President William Goodell Frost, 1892-1912." Ph.D. diss., Indiana University. 413 pp.

Kruja, Zana. 1997. "Capital Access in Rural Virginia" [five-county survey: southwestern Va.]. Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 133 pp.

Kuempel, Eileen Devine. 1997. "Development of a Biomathematical Lung Model to Describe Respirable Particle Retention and to Investigate Exposure, Dose, and Disease in U.S. Coal Miners" [autopsy studies of 131 W. Va. miners]. Ph.D. diss., University of Cincinnati. 364 pp.

Kunkle, Barbara Lynn. 1997. "Appalachia and the Imagination of Empire" [literature; postcolonial theory]. Ph.D. diss., Bowling Green State University. 184 pp.

Kurtz, Rebecca J. 2002. "God-Centered Living: The Cultural Meaning of Spirituality among Appalachian Christian Women: An Ethnography." Ph.D. diss., Duquesne University School of Nursing. 182 pp.

Kyriakoudes, Louis Michael. 1997. "Country Comes to Town: Rural Migration to Nashville, Tennessee, 1890-1930." Ph.D. diss., Vanderbilt University. 307 pp.

Lafon, Charles Wilber. 2000. "Patterns and Consequences of Ice Storms in Forested Appalachian Landscapes." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 230 pp.

Lafrenz, Martin Dietrich. 2005. "A Watershed Classification System Based on Headwater Catchments in Great Smoky Mountains National Park, Tennessee-North Carolina." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 169 pp.

Laing, Craig Robert. 1997. "Mountain Aid: Geographic Assessment of the Appalachian Regional Commission's Social Programs" [education and health care]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 318 pp.

Lancaster, Jamie L. 2011. "Coal Mine Characteristics Associated with Progressive Coal Worker's Pneumoconiosis." Ph.D. diss., Walden University. 124 pp.

Lane, Janet E. 2004. "The Silenced Cry from the Factory Floor: Gastonia's Female Strikers and Their Proletarian Authors" [studies six novels based on the 1929 Gastonia, N.C., Loray Mill strike; Fielding Burke, Myra Page, Grace Lumpkin, Mary Heaton Vorse]. Ph.D. diss., Indiana University of Pennsylvania. 199 pp.

Lang, Stephanie May. 2009. "Selling the Mountains: The Broad Form Deed and the Economic, Legal, Social, and Political Transformation of Eastern Kentucky, 1880-1930." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 216 pp. "The broad form deed gave the mineral owner a wide range of rights which included use of timber on the property for mining purposes, the right to construct company buildings necessary for operations, transportation lines, or diversion of watercourses, and access to the minerals in any manner 'deemed necessary or convenient'."

Lange, Jeffrey John. 1999. "Smile When You Call Me a Hillbilly': The Modernization of Country Music and the Struggle for Respectability, 1939-1954" [six sub-genres and 5000 recordings analyzed]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 674 pp.

Lanham, Jennifer. 2010. "Impact of Globalization on Central Appalachian Women: Social Capital and Social Support Networks" [Ky.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Denver. 119 pp. Eight rural women; factory layoffs.

Lanham, Joseph Drew. 1997. "Attributes of Avian Communities in Early-Successional, Clearcut Habitats in the Mountains and Upper Piedmont of South Carolina." Ph.D. diss., Clemson University. 126 pp.

Lapham, Heather Alynn. 2002. "Deerskin Production and Prestige Goods Acquisition in Late Woodland and Early Historic Southwest Virginia" [1400-1700]. Ph.D. diss., University of Virginia. 303 pp.

Larkin, Jeffery Louis. 2001. "Demographic and Spatial Characteristics of a Reintroduced Elk Population" [Ky.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 146 pp.

Lazazzera, Adrienne Joy. 2009. "Hopewell Community Dynamics: Evidence from the Fort Ancient Site." Ph.D. diss., University of Virginia.

Leach, Corinne Rose. 2008. "Breast Cancer Belief Development and Screening Among Older Appalachian Women" [Estill Co., Ky.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 215 pp.

Leader, Mary Bryce. 2000. "Legible Ashes: Muriel Rukeyser's 'The Book of the Dead'" [poem dealing with W. Va.'s 1930s Hawk's Nest tunnel industrial disaster in which hundreds of workers died of silicosis]. Ph.D. diss., Brandeis University. 293 pp.

Ledford, Katherine Elizabeth. 2002. "Progressive Desires: Travel Writing, National Identity, and the Mountain South in the Early Nineteenth-Century United States." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 237 pp.

Lee, Charles Franklin. 2006. "Carnival of Blood?: African American Workers and the Building of the Pittsburgh, Bessemer and Lake Erie Railroad, 1897-1912." Ph.D. diss., Carnegie Mellon University. 216 pp. Andrew Carnegie; Coal Strike of 1897; Unity, Pa.; "allegations of violence in the rail workers' camps by racist newspapers."

Lee, Elizabeth Oliver. 2008. "'Potomac's Valley Shall Become a Domain We Create': Commercialism and the South Branch Valley, 1750-1800" [Hampshire Co., Va. (present-day Hardy County, W. Va.)]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 244 pp.

Lee, Frederick I. 2010. "The Racial Constitution of the Public: Four Exercises in Historicizing the American Polity." Ph.D. diss., University of California, Los Angeles. 373 pp. 1830-1840s removals of the Cherokee, Choctaw, Chickasaw, Creek, and Seminole; slavery; WWII Japanese internment.

Lee, Rebecca Crews. 2008. "Culture Care Meanings, Expressions, and Lifeways of African American Appalachian and European American Appalachian Mothers Caring for Their Children

in an Urban Homeless Shelter" [ethnonursing study]. Ph.D. diss., University of Cincinnati. 256 pp.

Lee, Renee Gravois. 1996. "Uneasy Tensions in Health Care Delivery in a Rural Appalachian Coal Mining Community: Envisioning Alternative Solutions." Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 196 pp.

Lee, Tommy David, II. 2001. "'Rise Up and Call Us Blessed': From Farm to Factory in the Tri-Cities, Tennessee-Virginia, 1900--1950" [Johnson City, Kingsport, Bristol]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 443 pp.

Leeman, Mark A. 2007. "From Good Works to a Good Job: An Exploration of Poverty and Work in Appalachian Ohio." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 288pp.

LeGrow, Tracy L. 2007. "Access to Health Information and Health Care Decision-Making of Women in a Rural Appalachian Community." Psy.D. diss., Marshall University. 114 pp.

Leimgruber, Peter. 1998. "Landscape Structure in a Managed Forest Mosaic of the Southern Appalachian Mountains and Its Influence on Songbirds and Small Mammals" [logging; George Washington National Forest, Va.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Oklahoma. 181 pp.

LeMaster, Michelle Marie. "'Thorough-Paced Girls' and 'Cowardly Bad Men': Gender and Family in Indian-White Relations in the Colonial Southeast, 1660--1783." Ph.D. diss., Johns Hopkins University. 451 pp.

Lennon, Mary Ellen. 2002. "Creating Coalitions: 'Outside Agitators' and the Harlan County Coal Strike, 1931-1932" [Ky.]. Ph.D. diss., Harvard University. 308 pp.

Lerman, Hilary. 1997. "Power to the People: Community Organizing in South-Eastern Ohio, 1969-1973" [Athens, Hocking, and Perry Counties]. Ph.D. diss., Miami University. 308 pp.

LeRoy, Donald Todd. 2004. "The 'Church Hymnal' (1951): A Shape-Note Hymnal of the Church of God" [Cleveland, Tennessee]. D.M.A. diss., University of Memphis. 180 pp.

Lewin, Virloy Elizabeth. 2002. "Effectiveness of Pre-Baccalaureate Health Careers Opportunity Programs (HCOP) for Disadvantaged Students in Three Southern States" [Tenn., Va., Ky.; 393 participants, 1990-1999]. Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 114 pp.

Lewis, Charlene Marie. 1997. "Ladies and Gentlemen on Display: Planter Society at the Virginia Springs, 1790-1860." Ph.D. diss., University of Virginia. 676 pp.

Lewis, John Sherwood. 2000. "Becoming Appalachia: The Emergence of an American Subculture, 1840-1860." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 342 pp.

Li, Huilan. 2006. "Economic Evaluation of Air Pollution Reduction of Phase I Power Plants in West Virginia: An Output Distance Function Approach." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 178 pp.

Li, Yaoxiang. 2005. "Modeling Operational Forestry Problems in Central Appalachian Hardwood Forests." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 153 pp.

Liang, Xiaoli. 2005. "Three Essays on Social Security and Retirement" [incl. coal mining, deindustrialization, old-age expenditure]. Ph.D. diss., Syracuse University. 151 pp.

Lilly, Everett A. 1997. "Leaving Clear Fork Valley: A Story of Appalachian Migration" [1950s-60s W. Va.; 86 interviewees]. Ph.D. diss., Brandeis University. 114 pp.

Lipold, Paul F. 2003. "Laying It All on the Line: The Configuration and Causes of Strike Fatalities within the United States, 1877-1947." Ph.D. diss., Florida State University. 215 pp.

Littleton, Robert Allen. 2001. "African American Student Persistence at Small Colleges in Appalachia." Ed.D., diss., University of Tennessee. 353 pp.

Livers, Ancella Bickley. 1998. "Defining Ourselves: Gender Construction and the Creation of a Black Community in Pittsburgh, 1925-1955." Ph.D. diss., Carnegie Mellon University. 310 pp.

Lloyd, Timothy Charles. 2002. "Mortuary Patterns, Social Organization, and Ideology at the Hopewell Site" [Ross Co., Ohio]. Ph.D. diss., State University of New York at Albany. 238 pp.

Loberg, Kristi Kay. 2008. "An Exploratory Study of Leadership in Social Work Based on the Highlander Approach to Social Leadership." Ph.D. diss., North Dakota State University. 289 pp. Highlander Research and Education Center, Tenn.

Lobertini, Jo Alison. 2000. "Rural Nonfarm Scott County, Tennessee Women and Their Pathways to Baccalaureate Degrees." Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University.

Long, Creston S., III. 2002. "Southern Routes: Family Migration and the Eighteenth-Century Southern Backcountry" [N.C., Pa., Va.]. Ph.D. diss., College of William and Mary. 222 pp.

Long, Laura. 2000. "What Will Burn: A Novel." Ph.D. diss., University of Houston. 251 pp. "...reveals the troubled, hopeful lives of three seventeen-year-olds....set in the town of Letter Gap, West Virginia."

Long, Lucy Margaret. 1995. "The Negotiation of Tradition: Collectors, Community, and the Appalachian Dulcimer in Beech Mountain, North Carolina." Ph.D. diss., University of Pennsylvania. 617 pp.

Lopez, Janet Kier. 2007. "We Asked for Workers and They Sent Us People': A Critical Race Theory and Latino Critical Theory Ethnography Exploring College-Ready Undocumented High

School Immigrants in North Carolina." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 234 pp.

Loughry, Allen Hayes, II. 2003. "'Don't buy another vote. I won't pay for a landslide': The Sordid and Continuing History of Political Corruption in West Virginia." S.J.D. diss., American University. 467 pp.

Love, Revella Logan. 1995. "Assessing the Common Bonds Between African-American Appalachians and European-American Appalachians: An Exploratory Study." Ph.D. diss., Union Institute. 128 pp.

Lucas, M. Lois. 2006. "African American Women's Activism in West Virginia" [Memphis Garrison, Elizabeth Drewry, Lucile Meadows, Mildred Bateman]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 368 pp.

Lucas, Rebecca L. 2000. "The Southern Appalachian, Adolescent Female's Experience of Being Violent" [ten interviews]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 172 pp.

Lueders, Pamela A. Evans. 2003. "Disaster, Trauma and Community: The Impact of Floods on Buffalo Creek and Riley County" [W. Va. (1972) and Kansas (1993)]. Ph.D. diss., Kansas State University. 173 pp.

Lutz, Regan Ann. 1995. "The Historiography of the Trail of Tears." Ph.D. diss., University of Toledo. 266 pp.

Lynch, Timothy. 1995. "Strike Songs of the Depression Era: Reading Between the Lyrics." Ph.D. diss., Miami University. 232 pp.

Lyons, Jane E. 2007. "When She Comes Back Home She'll Be Changed: Experiences of Nontraditional Appalachian Female Community College Graduates" [study of 11 women, southern Ohio]. Ph.D. diss., Walden University. 134 pp.

Mac Donald, James M. 2006. "Politics of the Personal in the Old North State: Griffith Rutherford in Revolutionary North Carolina" [Rowan Co.; militia officer and elected official]. Ph.D. diss., Louisiana State University and Agricultural & Mechanical College. 204 pp.

Mackey, Robert Russell. 2000. "The Uncivil War: Irregular Warfare in the Upper South, 1861-1865" [Ark., Tenn., Ky., Va.]. Ph.D. diss., Texas A&M University.

Mackin, Randal Thomas. 2002. "Walking the Paths of His Own Premise: The Life and Literature of George Scarbrough." D.A. diss., Middle Tennessee State University. 160 pp.

MacLennan, Jamie. 2005. "Solitude and Sociability: Social Processes among Appalachian Trail Long-Distance Hikers." Ph.D. diss., Rutgers The State University of New Jersey - New Brunswick. 217 pp.

MacTavish, Katherine Anne. 2001. "Going Mobile in Rural America: The Community Effect of Rural Trailer Parks on Child and Youth Development." Ph.D. diss., University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign. 180 pp.

Malcolm-Woods, Rachel. 2005. "Igbo Talking Signs in Antebellum Virginia: Religion, Ancestors and the Aesthetics of Freedom" [West African grave markers in Amherst Co.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Missouri - Kansas City. 284 pp.

Mallinson, Christine. 2006. "The Dynamic Construction of Race, Class, and Gender Through Linguistic Practice Among Women in a Black Appalachian Community" [Texana, Cherokee Co., N.C.]. Ph.D. diss., North Carolina State University. 274 pp.

Mallory, Kristin L. 2006. "Employment Success of Community and Technical College Program Graduates as an Indicator of Economic Development in West Virginia." Ed.D. diss., Marshall University. 95 pp.

Maloney, Courtney. 2006. "Images of Steel: Labor, Memory, and the Cultural Work of Corporate Photography" [Jones & Laughlin Steel Corporation]. Ph.D. diss., Carnegie Mellon University. 217 pp.

Mangin, Michael. 2002. "Freemen in Theory: Race, Society, and Politics in Ross County, Ohio, 1796-1850." Ph.D. diss., University of California, San Diego. 467 pp.

Mannion, Elgin. 2003. "The Method of Growth: Development Models and Income Distribution in Appalachian Kentucky from 1969-2003." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 489 pp.

Mantooth, Wes. 2004. "'You factory folks who sing this song will surely understand': Cultural Representations in the Gastonia Novels of Myra Page, Grace Lumpkin, and Olive Dargan" [N.C.; 1929 textile-mill strike]. Ph.D. diss., George Washington University. 335 pp.

Marcikonis, Mary Frances. 2001. "Scars of the Anthracite: A Critical Study of the Sculpture, Painting, and Drawing of Anthracite Miners of Northeastern Pennsylvania, 1830-1930, and Its Implications for Art Education." Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 183 pp.

Marcoux, Jon Bernard. 2008. "Cherokee Households and Communities in the English Contact Period, A.D. 1670-1740." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 461 pp.

Marrow, Helen Beckler. 2007. "Southern Becoming: Immigrant Incorporation and Race Relations in the Rural United States South" [129 interviews with Latin American immigrants in two rural counties in eastern N.C.]. Ph.D. diss., Harvard University. 507 pp.

Marrs, Aaron Wagner. 2006. "The Iron Horse Turns South: A History of Antebellum Southern Railroads." Ph.D. diss., University of South Carolina. 407 pp.

Martin, Christopher Brenden. 1997. "Selling the Southern Highlands: Tourism and Community Development in the Mountain South" [focus on Buncombe Co., N.C., and Blount and Sevier Cos., Tenn.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 290 pp.

Martin, Karla Susanne. 2011. "Four Generations of Poarch Creek History" [1920-2011]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 298 pp. "The Poarch Band of Creek Indians are a segment of the original Creek Nation that avoided removal and remained in Alabama."

Martin Lou. 2008. "Working for Independence: The Failure of New Deal Politics in a Rural Industrial Place" [Upper Ohio River Hancock Co., W. Va.; steel mills, potteries]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 404 pp.

Martin, Maria A. 2007. "In the Forest' [original composition; audiovisual]. D.M.A diss., University of Cincinnati. 7 pp. "In The Forest is a non-narrative, audio-visual work exploring fall foliage filmed in northwestern Pennsylvania."

Maskey, Vishakha. 2007. "Economic Analyses Explaining Historic Preservation: The Impact of Social and Economic Values." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 122 pp. National Register; Reckart's Mill, Preston County, W. Va.

Massey, Carissa A. 2009. "The Responsibility of Forms: Social and Visual Rhetorics of Appalachian Identity." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 263 pp. Materials studied: *Jesco White: The Dancing Outlaw*, media coverage of the 2006 Sago mine disaster, Jessica Lynch and Lynddie England, and Hillbilly Days.

Mathis, Regina. 2011. "A Qualtitative Study of High Student Achievement in a Rural Appalachian Region: Perceptions of Selected Superintendents." Ed.D. diss., Lincoln Memorial University. 128 pp. "This rural Appalachian region has historically outperformed the remainder of the southeastern state"...."two overarching themes were identified as critical factors that enhanced student achievement: culture and leadership."

Matsunaga, Kyoko. 2006. "Post-Apocalyptic Vision and Survivance: Nuclear Writings in Native America and Japan" [incl. Marilou Awiakta]. Ph.D. diss., University of Nebraska - Lincoln. 194 pp.

Matthews, Ronald Eric. 2006. "Charitable Choice and Faith-Based Organizations: Welfare, Policy and Religion in American Politics." Ph.D. diss., Kent State University. 185 pp. In-depth interviews of thirty-six Protestant evangelical ministers from central Appalachia.

Matthews, Scott Leslie. 2008. "Up against the World Like It Is': Documentary Expression in the South, 1925-1965." Ph.D. diss., University of Virginia. 392 pp. Including the work of folklorist John Lomax and filmmaker John Cohen.

Maunula, Marko Heikki. 2004. "Guten Tag, Y'all: The Economic Change and the Arrival of Foreign Corporations in Spartanburg County, 1945-1992" [S.C.]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina. 281 pp.

Maxwell, Louise Passey. 1999. "Remaking Jim Crow: Segregation and Urban Change in Birmingham, Alabama, 1938-1963." Ph.D. diss., New York University. 466 pp.

Mayfield, Jana. 1994. "A Clash of Ideas: 'Progress' among West Virginia Baptists, 1830-1880." Ph.D. diss., Southern Baptist Theological Seminary. 360 pp.

Maynard, Peter William. 1996. "A Discrete Choice Conjoint Analysis and a Discrete Contingent Valuation Assessment of Southern Appalachian Resources: A Comparison and Contrast" [environmental resources; technical economic study]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 257 pp.

Mazak-Kahne, Jeanine. 2009. "Birthplace of Aluminum, Cradle of Crime: Spheres of Influence in the Deindustrialization of New Kensington, Pennsylvania, 1930-1970" [Allegheny-Kiski Valley]. Ph.D. diss., Michigan State University. 357 pp.

McBride, Kristina Holland. 2006. "Roots and Wings: Language Attitudes of Professional Women Native to the Blue Ridge Mountains of North Carolina." Ph.D. diss., Indiana University of Pennsylvania. 232 pp.

McCarthy, William David. 2002. "Building the Beaver and Lake Erie Canal: The Politics of Public Improvements in Pennsylvania, 1783-1845." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 391 pp.

McClellan, Craig S. 2006. "Perspectives of 12th Grade Students, Their Families, and School Officials Related to Affordability and Accessibility of the West Virginia PROMISE Scholarship Program at Logan High School." Ed.D. diss., West Virginia University. 219 pp.

McCleskey, Nathaniel Turk. 1990. "Across the First Divide: Frontiers of Settlement and Culture in Augusta County, Virginia, 1738-1770." Ph.D. diss., College of William and Mary. 377 pp.

McClinton, Rowena. 1996. "The Moravian Mission among the Cherokee at Springplace, Georgia." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 563 pp.

McConnell, Michele S. 2011. "Appalachian and Standard English Code-Switching Strategies among Primary Classroom Teachers." Ed.D. diss., Walden University. 103 pp. "Students who grow up speaking regional dialects benefit from learning code switching (CS) strategies to allow bidialectal communication across their social worlds."

McCormick, Silas Lee. 2007. "Transylvania University: 'Public' Higher Education in Kentucky, 1780-1878." Ph.D. diss., University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign. 245 pp.

McCoy, Cindy Lee. 1996. "The Impact of Southern West Virginia Community and Technical College on Appalachian Women: A Naturalistic Inquiry" [interview data]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 64 pp.

McCoy, Karissa. 2004. "Re-Writing Region, Re-Constructing Whiteness: Appalachia and the 'Place' of Whiteness in American Culture, 1930-2003" [draws on writings of James Still, Harriette Arnow, Dorothy Allison, Cormac McCarthy, Lee Smith, Frank X. Walker, Dolly Parton]. Ph.D. diss., Vanderbilt University. 254 pp.

McCubbin, Diane K. 2005. "Longitudinal Survey of the Upper Ohio River with Implications on the Impact of Tributaries." Ph.D. diss., University of Cincinnati. 156 pp.

McCusker, Kristine Marie. 2000. "It Wasn't God Who Made Honky Tonk Angels': Women, Work and Barn Dance Radio, 1920-1960" [focuses on Linda Parker, Lily May Ledford, Sarah Colley Cannon (Minnie Pearl), and Rose Lee Maphis]. Ph.D. diss., Indiana University. 377 pp.

McDaris, Jeffrey Scott. 2005. "Transylvania County and Vocational Education: An Historical Analysis of Vocational Education and Training in a Rural Mountain County" [N.C; 1920s to 1990s]. Ed.D. diss., Western Carolina University. 273 pp.

McFarland, Robert Ernest, Jr. 1997. "Of Time and the River: Economy, People, and Environment in the Tennessee Valley, 1500-1990." Ph.D. diss., University of Alabama. 404 pp.

McGlennen, Molly Suzanne. 2005. "It is Evidence of Faith to Create: Spirituality and Contemporary Native American Women's Poetics" [incl. Diane Glancy (Cherokee)]. Ph.D. diss., University of California, Davis. 191 pp.

McKelway, Henry St. Clair. 1994. "Slaves and Master in the Upland South: Archaeological Investigations at the Mabry Site." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 299 pp.

McKinney, Karen Janet. 2004. "'Mountaineers guard well the past': Ethnologists, Adventurers, Storytellers, and the Representation of Twentieth Century Appalachia" [Frantz Fanon, Mary Louise Pratt, James Mooney, Horace Kephart, Harvey Miller]. Ph.D. diss., University of New Mexico. 337 pp.

McKnight, Brian Dallas. 2003. "'The grate strugel of war': The Civil War in the Mountains of Eastern Kentucky and Southwestern Virginia." Ph.D. diss., Mississippi State University. 388 pp.

McMillan, Fay Cobb. 2003. "A Qualitative Study of Adult Women in a Northeast Tennessee Community College" [returning students, ages 23-50]. Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 92 pp.

McNeil, Bryan T. 2005. "Searching for Home Where Mountains Move: The Collision of Economy, Environment, and an American Community" [Coal River Mountain Watch, W. Va.; mountaintop removal mining; UMW]. Ph.D. diss., The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 331 pp.

McNeil, Bryan T. 2005. "Searching for Home Where Mountains Move: The Collision of Economy, Environment, and an American Community" [Coal River region, W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 331 pp.

McTammany, Matthew E. 2004. "Recovery of Southern Appalachian Streams from Historical Agriculture." Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 153 pp.

Megalos, Mark Arthur. 1999. "North Carolina Landowner Responsiveness to Forestry Incentives" [nine counties sampled statewide]. Ph.D. diss., North Carolina State University. 119 pp.

Meier, Kathryn Shively. 2010. "'No Place for the Sick': Nature's War on Civil War Soldier Health in 1862 Virginia." Ph.D. diss., University of Virginia. Peninsula and Shenandoah Valley campaign case studies relying on diaries, letters, and memoirs.

Merovich, George T. 2007. "Stream Water Quality and Benthic Macroinvertebrate Ecology in a Coal-Mining, Acid-Sensitive Region." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 181 pp. Northern W. Va.; Tygart Valley and Cheat River basins.

Messinger, Penny. 1998. "Leading the Field of Mountain Work: The Conference of Southern Mountain Workers, 1913-1950" [leadership; gender dynamics]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 539 pp.

Metheny, Karen Bescherer. 2002. "The Landscape of Industry and the Negotiation of Place: An Archaeological Study of Worker Agency in a Pennsylvania Coal Company Town, 1891--1947" [Helvetia]. Ph.D. diss., Boston University. 860 pp.

Meyers, Maureen Elizabeth Siewert. 2011. "Political Economy of Exotic Trade on the Mississippian Frontier: A Case Study of a Fourteenth Century Chiefdom in Southwestern Virginia." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 486 pp.

Mickelson, Andrew Michael. 2002. "Changes in Prehistoric Settlement Patterns as a Result of Shifts in Subsistence Practices in Eastern Kentucky." Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 258 pp.

Middlesworth, John Paul. 2000. "The Epic Transition in Contemporary American Drama: Robert Schenkkan, August Wilson, and Tony Kushner" [Schenkkan's *The Kentucky Cycle* (1993)]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 155 pp.

Miewald, Christiana Elke. 2000. "Women's Work? Caring, Kinship and Community in Appalachian Kentucky." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 413 pp.

Miles, Tiya Alicia. 2000. "Bone of My Bone': Stories of a Black-Cherokee Family, 1790-1866." Ph.D. diss., University of Minnesota. 250 pp.

Miller, Dana Ellen. 2002. "A Comparison of the Effectiveness of Direct Reading Instruction on Students of Caucasian and Hispanic Backgrounds" [Dalton, Ga.]. Ed.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 70 pp.

Miller, Paul William. 1998. "A Coal Region Opera" [for six singers; set in Pa.'s 19th century anthracite coal fields]. D.M.A. diss., Temple University. 226 pp.

Miller, Sarah E. 2006. "An Ohio River Boundary? The Contested Ohio Country, 1783--1795." Ph.D. diss., University of Toledo. 245 pp.

Mills, Lisa A. 2003. "Mitochondrial DNA Analysis of the Ohio Hopewell of the Hopewell Mound Group" [near Chillicothe, Ohio]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 177 pp.

Minich, Frances Johanna. 2004. "Hopewell Stone Carvers: Reinterpreting the Roles of Artist and Patron" [Ohio, Ill.; 100 B.C.–A.D. 600]. Ph.D. diss., Virginia Commonwealth University. 233 pp.

Mitchell, Anne Virginia. 1997. "Parkway Politics: Class, Culture, and Tourism in the Blue Ridge" [1933-42]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 351 pp.

Mittlefehldt, Sarah. 2008. "The Tangled Roots of the Appalachian Trail: A Social and Environmental History." Ph.D. diss., University of Wisconsin - Madison. 387 pp. "...explores conflict and cooperation between citizen volunteers, local landowners, and state agencies in the creation of the Appalachian Trail corridor," 1968 National Trails Act.

Miyake, Mark Y. 2009. "The Discourse on Race within the Bluegrass Music Community." Ph.D. diss., Indiana University. 262 pp.

Modesitt, Maureen Cecile. 2001. "Dolly Parton: A Semiotic Study of Her Life and Lyrics." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 231 pp.

Mohney, Kenneth Walter. 2002. "Steubenville Projectile Points: Social and Technological Functions in the Panhandle Archaic of the Upper Ohio River Valley" [W. Va.; archaeology]. Ph.D. diss., University of Pittsburgh. 331 pp.

Mojica, Maribel N. 2009. "Examining the Role of Entrepreneurship in Economic Development in Appalachia." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 126 pp.

Montag, Michele Lynn. 2001. "Small Sites and the Monongahela Settlement System: A View from the Sandrocks Shelter (36GR68)" [Pa. archaeological site; AD 1050-1640]. Ph.D. diss., State University of New York at Binghampton. 222 pp.

Montrie, Chad. 2001. "To Save the Land and People: A History of Opposition to Coal Surface Mining in Appalachia." Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 376 pp.

Mooney, Stephen Douglas. 1998. "'Coal Dust in Our Blood': Central Appalachian Coal Mining Culture in the American Novel" [1890-1930; 1930-1970; 1970--]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 426 pp.

Moore, Christopher C. 2008. "Using Empirical Benefit Estimates in a Bioeconomic Model of Invasive Species Control." Ph.D. diss., North Carolina State University. 167 pp. Insect threat; hemlock decline in southern Appalachians; Great Smoky Mountain National Park, Pisgah National Forest, and Nantahala National Forest.

Moore, Dwayne Phillip. 2005. "The Perceived Effects of the Rapid Rise of Hispanic English-Limited Language Learners on the School Systems of Northeast Tennessee." Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 107 pp.

Moore, Jonathan Barrons. 2003. "Local Economic Development in the Post-Industrial Service Economy: Manufacturing Communities in the Ohio River Valley" [Ohio: Jackson, Athens, Muskingum Cos.]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 255 pp.

Moore, Martha Norris. 2003. "A Cross-Case Study of Six Women Who Experienced Layoffs in the Apparel Industry and Enrolled in Retraining Programs at a Southwest Virginia Community College." Ed.D. diss., University of Virginia. 143 pp.

Moore, Mary Buchanan. 1994. "Early Childbearing in Kentucky Communities: An Ecological Approach." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 129 pp.

Moore, Toby Harper. 1999. "The Unmaking of a Cotton Mill World: Place, Politics and the Dismantling of the South's Mill Village System" [1870-1970]. Ph.D. diss., University of Iowa. 267 pp.

Moran, Nathan Kent. 1999. "Isham Harris and Confederate State Government in Tennessee" [secessionist governor; based in east Tenn. 1862-1863]. Ph.D. diss., University of Memphis. 277 pp.

Morgan, Jewel Dean Thomas. 1998. "The Nature, Scope, and Consequences of Drug and Alcohol Use of Students Enrolled at Three Southern Appalachian Community Colleges" [Va., Tenn., N.C.]. Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 129 pp.

Morris, Christine Marie. 1995. "Roots, Branches, Blossoms, and Briars: Cultural Colonialism of the Mountain Arts in West Virginia." Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 204 pp.

Morris, Louis Ray, Jr. 2011. "Jefferson County, Alabama: A Perfect Storm of Ethical, Financial, Political, and Market Failures" [Birmingham; 1993-2010]. Ph.D. diss., Auburn University. 147 pp.

Morris, Tony Ray. 2002. "A Quiver in the Wire" [original writing, poetry: two mountain women]. Ph.D. diss., Florida State University. 68 pp.

Morrissey, Janice Clark. 1996. "Citizen Participation in Environmental Policy: A Study of Landfill Siting in Two Appalachian Communities" [Oliver Springs, Tenn.; McDowell County, W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 339 pp.

Moyer, Paul Benjamin. 1999. "Wild Yankees: Settlement, Conflict, and Localism along Pennsylvania's Northeast Frontier, 1760-1820" [upper Susquehanna and Delaware Rivers]. Ph.D. diss., College of William and Mary. 322 pp.

Mugleston, Theran K. 1998. "Leadership and Decision-Making: The Legacy of the K-25 Site in Oak Ridge, Tennessee" [1942-1997]. Ph.D. diss., Walden University. 177 pp.

Mullins, Terry Wayne. 1996. "A Coal Camp and Its Classrooms: A Historical Study of a Virginia Coalfield Community and Its School, 1888-1987" [Bishop; Tazewell County]. Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 350 pp.

Murphy, Caroline E. 2005. "Parental Perceptions of Barriers to Care: An Examination of Rural Appalachian Parents' Expectancies of the Availability, Process, and Outcome of Mental Health Services for Elementary School-Aged Children" [Ohio]. Ph.D. dis., Ohio University. 116 pp.

Murrell, Amy Elizabeth. 2001. "The Divided Family in Civil War America, 1860--1870" [200 families: Tenn., Ky., Va., Md., Mo.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Virginia. 337 pp.

Myers, Aimee Patrice. 1995. "Developing the Rural Landscape: A Case Study of Two Early National Pennsylvania Communities" [Chester and Fayette Counties]. Ph.D. diss., University of California, Riverside. 247 pp.

Myers, Judith Gay. 2005. "A Socio-Historical Analysis of the Kentucky Birth Control Movement, 1933-1943." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 232 pp.

Myers, Mark S. 2008. "Deindustrialization and the Decline of Community in the Coalfields: McDowell County, West Virginia, 1950-2000." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 251 pp.

Najar, Monica Elizabeth. 2000. "Evangelizing the South: Gender, Race, and Politics in the Early Evangelical South, 1765-1815" [Va., N.C., Ky., Tenn.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Wisconsin - Madison. 252 pp.

Napier, Jerry Wayne. 1997. "Mines, Miners, and Machines: Coal Mine Mechanization and the Eastern Kentucky Coal Fields, 1890-1990. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 254 pp.

Nash, Carole L. 2009. "Modeling Uplands: Landscape and Prehistoric Native American Settlement Archaeology in the Virginia Blue Ridge Foothills." Ph.D. diss., Catholic University of America. 691 pp. Upper Rappahannock River basin.

Nassif, Nader Raif. 2002. "Predicting Intentions for Cervical Cancer Screening in Eastern-Band Cherokee Women." Ph.D. diss., University of Alabama at Birmingham. 84 pp.

Natalini, Robert S. 2004. "'Chi lascia la via vecchia...': Law, Ethnicity, and the Immigration Experience. Italians in Industrial America, 1890-1925" [Washington Co., Southwestern Pa.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Pennsylvania. 330 pp.

Nathan Wright, Amy. 2007. "Civil Rights 'Unfinished Business': Poverty, Race, and the 1968 Poor People's Campaign" [Washington, D.C.; National Mall]. Ph.D. diss., University of Texas. 589 pp.

NeCamp, Samantha Hope. 2011. "The Moonlight Schools: Adult Literacy Education in the Age of Americanization" [initiated 1911]. Ph.D. diss., University of Louisville. 285 pp. "...though the Moonlight Schools movement invoked a rhetoric of whiteness and nativism to gain support for its educational programs, the movement also worked to promote an image of immigrants as both literate and intelligent and of non-white people as worthy of educational opportunity."

Nelson, Joshua Bourne. 2010. "Progressive Traditions: Cherokee Cultural Studies." Ph.D. diss, Cornell University. 237 pp.

Nelson, Julia Burckes. 1999. "Soil and Soil Solution Chemistry in the Rooting Zone of a Southern Appalachian High Elevation Spruce Fir Forest Ecosystem" [technical study; Clingman's Dome, Great Smoky Mountains National Park, N.C.]. Ph.D. diss., North Carolina State University. 156 pp.

Nelson, Marion Christina. 2006. "Power in Motion: Western Success Stories of the Jeffersonian Republic" [John Breckinridge (Ky.); Thomas Worthington (Northwest Territory)]. Ph.D. diss., University of Pennsylvania. 313 pp.

Nesbitt, James Todd. 1997. "'Regional' Political Ecology and Underdevelopment in Appalachia: Case Studies from Two West Virginia Counties" [Pendleton, Randolph]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 222 pp.

Neumann, Tracy. 2011. "Goodbye, Steeltown: The Politics of Space in Pittsburgh and Hamilton" [Ontario; deindustrialization; urban revitalization]. Ph.D. diss., New York University. 502 pp.

Newell, Carol Elena. 2002. "Women Folk and the Landscape of Modernism: The Novels of Elizabeth Madox Roberts, Julia Peterkin, and Zora Neale Hurston" [Roberts' The Time of Man (1926)]. Ph.D. diss., Emory University. 271 pp.

Newell, Claire Leigh. 1997. "Local and Regional Variation in the Vegetation of the Southern Appalachian Mountains." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 1008 pp.

Newfont, Kathryn D. 2001. "Moving Mountains: Forest Politics and Commons Culture in Western North Carolina, 1964-1994." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 294 pp.

Newton, Roxanne. 2004. "The Fabric of Hope and Resistance: Narratives of North Carolina Women Workers on Strike" [13 women across the state]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Greensboro. 230 pp.

Nicolaeva, Marina Yurevna. 2001. "Multilevel Analysis of Migrant Selectivity to Appalachian Counties" [1980, 1990 U.S. Census]. Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 351 pp.

Nigro, Augustine. 2002. "Landscaping the Lehigh: The Creation of a Middle Industrial Landscape in Nineteenth-Century Pennsylvania." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 264 pp. Lehigh Valley, 1820-1870; Lehigh Coal and Navigation Company.

Nixon-Auguste, Nicol. 2006. "The Rhetoric of Nuna Dual Tsuny: Retelling the Cherokee Trail of Tears." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Greensboro. 176 pp.

Noakes, Jennie. 2008. "From the Top of the Mountain': Traditional Music and the Politics of Place in the Central Appalachian Coalfields." Ph.D. diss., University of Pennsylvania. 227 pp.

Nolan, Andrew Shane. 2001. "A Defining Moment for Dayton: The Scopes Trial as an Act in the Theater of the Modern" [Tenn.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign. 379 pp.

Nolen, Carolyn Pilla. 1996. "The History of Ferrum College: From a Mission School to a College." Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 210 pp.

Nondo, Chali. 2009. "An Empirical Analysis of the Interactions between Environmental Regulations and Economic Growth." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 138 pp.

Noor, Ismail Khalil. 1996. "Northern Michigan and Eastern Kentucky: A Comparative Study of Regional Development" [1940-1993]. Ph.D. diss., Michigan State University. 413 pp.

Norman, Julie Marie. 2001. "The Relationship between Interorganizational Collaboration and the Perception of School-Business Partnership Effectiveness in West Virginia." Ed.D. diss., West Virginia University. 114 pp.

Norris, Randall Ted. 1998. "God and Nature in Cumberland County: Disaster Narratives from East Tennessee" [camp meetings, singing schools, core religious beliefs]. Ph.D. diss., Bowling Green State University. 249 pp.

Norwood, Karen Kay. 2002. "Propensity of West Virginia Craftspeople to Use Electronic Media for Marketing Their Products." Ed.D. diss., West Virginia University. 165 pp.

Nystrom, Eric Charles. 2007. "Learning to See: Visual Tools in American Mining Engineering, 1860-1920." Ph.D. diss., Johns Hopkins University. 384 pp. Mine maps, blueprints, photographs, and models.

O'Boyle, Timothy J. 2001. "Gambling and Small Business Crime Deterrence: The Illegal Use of Video Poker Machines by Public Bars and Private Social Clubs in Pennsylvania." Ph.D. diss., Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey - Newark. 212 pp.

O'Keefe, Joy Marie. 2009. "Roosting and Foraging Ecology of Forest Bats in the Southern Appalachian Mountains" [Western N.C.]. Ph.D. diss., Clemson University. 144 pp.

Oakley, Christopher Arris. 2002. "The Reshaping of Indian Identity in Twentieth Century North Carolina." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 282 pp.

Odon, Beverly Williams. 2002. "Ties that bind' Contemporary Grandparents: Voices Securing Families of the Past; Embracing Families in the Present; Re-Defining Families for the Future" [black and white Appalachian family elders raising their grandchildren; Dayton, Ohio area]. Ph.D. diss., Union Institute and University. 168 pp.

Oladosu, Gbadebo Ayodeji. 2000. "A Non-Market Computable General Equilibrium Model for Economic Analysis of Climate Change in the Susquehanna River Basin" [Pa.; carbon tax]. Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 234 pp.

Oliver, Sylvester Walker, Jr. 1995. "African-American Music Traditions in Northeast Mississippi" [religious and secular oral music traditions]. Ph.D. diss., University of Memphis. 668 pp.

Olson, Charles Strong (Ted). 1997. "The Folklife of the Blue Ridge Region" [published as *Blue Ridge Folklife*, University Press of Mississippi, 1998]. Ph.D. diss., University of Mississippi. 397 pp.

Osborne, Mary Nelle. 2003. "Without a Vision the People Perish: Introducing Collaborative Learning to Community Service Leaders in Southern Appalachia." Ed.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 137 pp.

Osha, Jen. 2010. "The Power-Knowledge to Move Mountains: Subaltern Discourses of Mountaintop Removal in Coal River Valley, West Virginia." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 217 pp. Interviews with 59 local residents, with participatory maps showing specific concerns.

Ouattara, Gnimbin Albert. 2007. "Africans, Cherokees, and the ABCFM Missionaries in the Nineteenth Century: An Unusual Story of Redemption." Ph.D. diss., Georgia State University. 322 pp.

Owen, Helen Mintz. 2000. "The Significance of a Rural Education: An Examination of the Ways Work and Play Set Patterns for the Heritage of Learning of One Appalachian Family" [Gloucester, Transylvania Co., N.C.]. Ed.D. diss., Western Carolina University. 145 pp.

Owen, Sheldon F. 2003. "Ecology and Management of Raccoons within an Intensively Managed Forest in the Central Appalachians." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 102 pp.

Owen, Stephen M. 2008. "Power, Culture, and Sustainability in the Making of Public Policy in an Appalachian Headwaters Community" [western N.C.]. Ph.D. diss., Union Institute and University. 354 pp.

Owston, James Martin. 2007. "Survival of the Fittest?: The Rebranding of West Virginia Higher Education" [college-to-university]. Ed.D. diss., Marshall University. 1052 pp.

Page, Karen Lund. 2003. "Blood on the Coal: The Effect of Organizational Size and Differentiation on Mine Accidents from 1983-1999." Ph.D. diss., Stanford University. 96 pp.

Palmer, Ronald R. 1998. "The Politics of Ethnic Identity: The Case of the Cherokee." Ph.D. diss., University of South Carolina. 298 pp.

Palumbo, Carmine David. 1997. "Folklore and Literature: The Poetry and Fiction of Fred Chappell." Ph.D. diss., University of Southwestern Louisiana. 238 pp.

Pancake, Ann. 1998. "Past (Im)perfect and the Present Progressive: Time in Americans' Class Consciousness" [Appalachia in literature and film]. Ph.D. diss., University of Washington. 247 pp.

Papyach, Joan Boyer. 1993. "Gardening, Food Preservation and the Dietary Status of Older Rural Kentuckians." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 154 pp.

Paris, Sandra Kay Carroll. 2001. "Service Utilization and Readmission in a Rural Southern Appalachian Battered Women's Shelter" [339 women; 1996-98]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 126 pp.

Parris, Stanley Glenn. 2008. "Instituting a Missional Worship Style in a Local Church Developed from an Analysis of the Culture." D.Min. diss., Asbury Theological Seminary. 151 pp. Baptist church in southwest Va., 1995; pastor newly arrived from Fort Worth, Tex.

Parsons, Tara. 2008. "Personality Traits and Stereotypes Attributed to People with Appalachian Dialects in Comparison to the General American Dialect" [W. Va. and Ill.]. Psy.D. diss., Chicago School of Professional Psychology. 46 pp.

Patterson, Larry Richard Patlis. 2001. "The Eastern Band of Cherokee and Their Boarding School Experiences: Stories and Reflections from the Elders." [N.C., 1917-1950]. Ed.D. diss., Tennessee State University. 523 pp.

Patterson, Laura Sloan. 2001. "Where's the Kitchen? Feminism, Domesticity, and Southern Women's Fiction" [Ellen Glasgow, Eudora Welty, Lee Smith]. Ph.D. diss., Vanderbilt University. 229 pp.

Patterson, Stuart. 2006. "A New Pattern of Life: The Public Past and Present of Two New Deal Communities" [Arthurdale, W. Va. and Aberdeen Gardens, Va.]. Ph.D. diss., Emory University. 453 pp.

Pattillo, Laura Grace. 2001. "Appalachia on Stage: The Southern Mountaineer in American Drama" [1880s-1990s]. Ph.D. diss., Louisiana State University and Agricultural & Mechanical College. 366 pp.

Pauff, James Richard. 2002. "Symbolization, Social Structure, Collective Behavior and the Yellow Creek Massacre of 1774" [Ohio, W. Va.; Upper Ohio Valley group violence patterns]. Ph.D. diss., Bowling Green State University. 185 pp.

Paulett, Robert. 2007. "Trading Lives: Mapping the Pathways and Peoples of the Southeastern Deerskin Trade, 1732-1775" [S.C., Ga.]. Ph.D. diss., College of William and Mary. 278 pp.

Pauley, Rudy Dale. 1998. "A Study of Factors Relating to the Attrition from the West Virginia University - Marshall University - West Virginia Graduate College Cooperative Doctoral Program Administered by the West Virginia Board of Trustees." Ed.D. diss., West Virginia University. 124 pp.

Paulin, Lisa M. 2007. "Newspaper Discourses of Latino Labor and Latino Rights in the New U.S. South" [N.C.]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 259 pp. Examines newspaper coverage in the Raleigh *News & Observer*, the Winston-Salem *Journal*, *La Conexión*, and *Qué Pasa*.

Pavesic, Christine Lynn. 2002. "Ray Hicks and the Jack Tales of Appalachia: Their Origins and Significance." 2002. Ph.D. diss., Northern Illinois University. 167 pp.

Payne, Cordelia Manuel. 2010. "House on the Ridge: Towards Preserving the African American Heritage of Greeneville, Tennessee." Ph.D. diss., Union Institute and University. 457 pp. Story-based preservation; 110-year-old folk style house; family of John Franklin Manuel.

Pecknold, Diane Elisabeth. 2002. "The Selling Sound: Country Music, Commercialism, and the Politics of Popular Culture, 1920--1974." Ph.D. diss., Indiana University. 306 pp.

Pennefather-O'Brien, Elizabeth. 2006. "Biological Affinities Among Middle Woodland Populations Associated with the Hopewell Horizon" [Ohio and Illinois River Valleys; ca. 150 B.C.–A.D. 400]. Ph.D. diss., Indiana University. 218 pp.

Pennington, Michael Sean. 2008. "Is the Coal Industry Worth Protecting? An Examination of the Effects of Competing Advocacy Coalitions on Implementation of the Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act (SMCRA) of 1977." Ph.D. diss., Texas A&M University. 179 pp.

Perkins, Carol Compton. 1994. "The Piano in an American Society: The Coalfield Area of Bluefield, West Virginia, 1890-1960." D.M.A. diss., University of South Carolina. 117 pp.

Perkins, Caroline Courtney. 2000. "Living Responsibly in Community: Wendell Berry's Port William Fiction." Ph.D. diss., University of Texas at Dallas. 195 pp.

Perkins, Deborah Godwin. 1999. "Power, Resistance, and the State: A Case Study of Economic Development in Roane County, Tennessee." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 195 pp.

Perry, Lisa Renee. 2011. "Memory, Identity, and Paternalism: Creating an Appalachian Camelot" [coal town, Wheelwright, Ky., 1930s-1960s]. Ph.D. diss., Arkansas State University. 338 pp.

Peters, Emma Gene. 1997. "Southern Bells: Voices of Working Women. A Telling in Three Parts" [storytelling performance piece: mill girl; mill labor organizer; Appalachian woman]. Ph.D. diss., Union Institute.

Peyton, Billy Joe. 1999. "To Make the Crooked Ways Straight and the Rough Ways Smooth': The Federal Government's Role in Laying and Building the Cumberland Road" [1811-1821; Cumberland, Md., to Wheeling, (West) Va.; 131 miles]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 239 pp.

Philyaw, Leslie Scott. 1995. "Virginia's Western Visions: Political and Cultural Expansion on an Eighteenth-Century Frontier." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 325 pp.

Piecuch, James R. 2005. "Three Peoples, One King: Loyalists, Indians, Slaves and the American Revolution in the Deep South, 1775--1782 [Ga., S.C.]. Ph.D. diss., College of William and Mary. 655 pp.

Pierce, Daniel Smith. 1995. "Boosters, Bureaucrats, Politicians and Philanthropists: Coalition Building in the Establishment of the Great Smoky Mountains National Park." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 248 pp.

Pitts, Wayne J. 2003. "Recent Mexican Immigration to the Rural South: A Case Study in Western North Carolina" [Buncombe Co.]. Ph.D. diss., University of New Mexico. 187 pp.

Plaut, Thomas. 1973. "The Implications of Community for Planning and Regional Reconstruction" [rural hamlet of Kerens, Randolph County, W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., Union Institute and University. 98 pp.

Plyler, Jennifer Lee. 1997. "An Evaluation of the Organizational and Interpersonal Communication Strategies Used by a Major Forest Products Firm in East Tennessee" [Champion International Corp., and 54 community leaders from four counties]. Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 211 pp.

Podber, Jacob J. 2001. "The Electronic Front Porch: An Oral History of the Early Effects of Radio, Television, and the Internet on Appalachia and the Melungeon Community." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 261 pp.

Pokladnik, Randi J. 2008. "Roots and Remedies of Ginseng Poaching in Central Appalachia." Ph.D. diss., Antioch New England Graduate School. 279 pp.

Polhemus, Richard Rowand. 1998. "Activity Organization in Mississippian Households: A Case Study from the Loy Site in East Tennessee" [archaeological site; Jefferson Co.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 349 pp.

Poole, H. Randall. 1989. "From Black to White: The Transition of Bluefield State College from an Historically Black College to a Predominantly White Institution" [Bluefield, W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Maryland. 202 pp.

Porter, Maureen K. 1997. "Moving Mountains: Reform, Resistance, and Resiliency in an Appalachian Kentucky High School" [set against Kentucky Education Reform Act (KERA) of 1990]. Ph.D. diss., Stanford University. 455 pp.

Porter, Robert Preston, Jr. 2001. "Environmental Justice and North Georgia Wilderness Areas: A GIS-Based Analysis." Ph.D. diss., University of Georgia. 101 pp.

Posadas, Benedict de la Cuadra. 1998. "Evaluating the Use of Constructed Wetlands in Producing Catfish in Multi-Enterprise Farming in Mississippi Black Belt Area" [Noxubee Co.]. Ph.D. diss., Mississippi State University. 137 pp.

Powell, James Edward. 1995. "Teachers' Beliefs About Young Learners in an Appalachian Geographic Setting." Ed.D. diss., University of Cincinnati. 271 pp.

Powell, Scott M. 2008. "Perceptions of Appalachian Students about Post-Secondary Education." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 212 pp. Students from Ohio University and Shawnee State University interviewed.

Powers, Mary Therese Osweiler. 1999. "The Ballot, the Bayonet, and the Schoolhouse: The Dynamics of Change in the Common Schools in Franklin County, Tennessee" [1806-1873]. Ph.D. diss., University of Dayton. 497 pp.

Powers, William Douglas. 2001. "'In the Beginning...': An Eliadean Interpretation of Frank G. Speck's Account of the Booger Dance of the Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians." [Mircea Eliade]. Ph.D. diss., University of Missouri - Columbia. 211 pp.

Prajznerova, Katerina. 2001. "Cultural Intermarriage in Southern Appalachia Cherokee Elements in Four Selected Novels by Lee Smith" [*The Last Day the Dogbushes Bloomed, Black Mountain Breakdown, Oral History, Fair and Tender Ladies*]. Ph.D. diss., Baylor University. 215 pp.

Pratt, Amy Danielle. 2006. "Women's Livelihood Strategies in Diverse Contexts: Constructing Feminist Topographies in Appalachia and South Africa" [W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 402 pp.

Puckett, Anita Marie. 1993. "Seldom Ask, Never Tell: Speech Acts and Economic Relationships in A Rural Eastern Kentucky Community." Ph.D. diss., University of Texas at Austin. 505 pp.

Purcell, Aaron D. 2006. "White Collar Radicals: New Deal Labor and Red Scare Communists in the Tennessee Valley Authority, 1935--1955" [fifteen employees accused as radicals]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 375 pp.

Putman, Heidi Patricia. 2002. "Knowledge, Health Beliefs, Attitude, and Behavioral Intention as Predictors of Compliance with Prescribed Treatment Regimens in Rural Appalachian Adults Diagnosed with Asthma" [Western Md.]. D.N.Sc. Diss., Widener University School of Nursing. 170 pp.

Quinn, Edythe Ann. 1994. "Delivering Health Care to Rural America: The Community Health Care Program in Southwest Virginia, 1975-1994." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 346 pp.

Qureshi, Rashida. 1996. "Dependency and Internal Migration: A Comparative Study of Outmigration from the Appalachian South and Core South" [European Americans and African Americans; 1930-1960]. Ph.D. diss., Kansas State University. 282 pp.

Raines, Belita Diane. 2003. "Nontraditional Female Students Enrolled in Developmental English Courses at Roane State Community College" [Oak Ridge, Tenn.]. Ed.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 188 pp.

Rake, Valerie Sanders. 2000. "In the Old Days, They Used Scraps': Gender, Leisure, Commodification, and the Mythology of Quiltmaking, Wayne County, Ohio, 1915-1995." Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 369 pp.

Rakes, Paul Hellmut. 2002. "Acceptable Casualties: Power, Culture, and History in the West Virginia Coalfields, 1900-1945." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 240 pp.

Ralston, Charles Frederick. 2000. "Adult Education As a Welfare Measure during the Great Depression: A Historical Case Study of the Educational Program of the Civilian Conservation Corps, 1933-1942" [Pa.]. D.Ed. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 443 pp.

Ramos, Rigoberto A. 2006. "Hispanic Orientation Center: A Model" [Cleveland, Tenn.; Church of God; Pentecostal]. D.Min. diss., Drew University. 87 pp.

Rapp, Carl Steven. 1997. "A Survey of Factors Affecting Computer Implementation in Rural Northeast Tennessee K-12 Public Schools." Ph.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 158 pp.

Rasheed, Saba. 2001. "Prediction of Post Secondary Plans for Rural Appalachian Youth" [374 high school juniors]. Ph.D. diss., University of Oregon. 203 pp.

Reckner, Paul E. 2009. "Social Difference, Community-Building, and Material Social Practice: Solidarity and Diversity at the Ludlow Tent Colony, 1913-1914" [Colo. coal miners, massacre]. Ph.D. diss., State University of New York at Binghamton. 583 pp.

Reed, Betty Jamerson. 2000. "The Brevard Rosenwald School: An Historical Case Study" [black education; Transylvania Co., N.C.; 1910-1966]. Ed.D. diss., Western Carolina University. 218 pp.

Reed, Diane Jeannette. 2001. "Burning Spring" [novel about an urban Appalachian family]. Ph.D. diss., University of Cincinnati. 305 pp.

Reel, Sally Jane. 1994. "The Meaning of Childbearing among Appalachian Adolescent Women Living in Eastern West Virginia." Ph.D. diss., University of Virginia. 227 pp.

Reeves, Amy L. 2004. "Childhood Experiences of Appalachian Women Who have Experienced Intimate Partner Violence during Adulthood." D.S.N. diss., East Tennessee State University. 110 pp.

Reichart, Karaleah Sabina. 2000. "Walking the Line: Women and Industrial Conflict in Southern West Virginia" [coal; labor conflicts; Logan Co.; Pittston Strike; UMWA corruption; mountaintop removal]. Ph.D. diss., Northwestern University. 346 pp.

Reichert Powell, Douglas Andrew. 1999. "Hick Town: The Cultural Politics of American Regionalism" [southern Appalachia; Abraham Verghese's *My Own Country* (1994), James Dickey's *Deliverance* (1972), James Still's *River of Earth* (1940), Jo Carson's *Stories I Ain't Told Nobody Yet* (1988)]. Ph.D. diss., Northwestern University. 316 pp.

Reid, William H., Jr. 1996. "Prehistoric Settlement and Subsistence in the Cumberland Gap Region of Southwest Virginia." Ph.D. diss., American University. 325 pp. Based on excavation and analysis at Sites 44LE121 and 44LE129.

Reiter, Paul Lawrence. 2008. "Appalachian Self-Identity, Cervical Cancer Screening, and Risky Sexual Behavior among Women in Ohio Appalachia." Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 241 pp. Baseline data on 571 women from the CARE study.

Reynolds, Claire E. 2008. "Speaking Out: Class, Race, and Gender in the Writings of Ruth McEnery Stuart, Edith Summers Kelley, and Harriette Simpson Arnow" [*The Dollmaker*, 1954]. Ph.D. diss., University of Rhode Island. 168 pp.

Reynolds, Melissa Jo. 2006. "The Effects of Forest Management on Habitat Quality for Black Bears in the Southern Appalachians." Ph.D. diss., Auburn University. 266 pp.

Rezek, Janis Evelyn. 2010. "Appalachian Women's Experiences of Unmarried Adolescent Motherhood" [W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., Union Institute and University. 132 pp. Eight mothers in Fayette, Kanawha, and Raleigh Counties.

Rhoades, Matthew Lawson. 2000. "Assarigoa's Line: Anglo-Iroquois Origins of the Virginia Frontier, 1675-1774." Ph.D. diss., Syracuse University. 303 pp.

Rhorer, Marc Alan. 2007. "Believers in Dixie: A Cultural Geography of the Kentucky Shakers." Ph.D. diss., Florida Atlantic University. 236 pp.

Rice, Christopher Scott. 2002. "Discourses of Sustainability: Grassroots Organizations and Sustainable Community Development in Central Appalachia" [Letcher Co., Ky.; Lee Co., Va..; and Athens Co., Ohio, former coal-economy counties]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 398 pp.

Rice, Connie Park. 2007. "For Men and Measures': The Life and Legacy of Civil Rights Pioneer J. R. Clifford" [1848-1933]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 292 pp. Newspaper publisher and W. Va.'s first African-American attorney; Niagara Movement.

Richards, Melinda Lou. 2001. "An Examination of Change in Selected Vowel Structures of Three Generations of Native Appalachian Speakers." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 237 pp.

Richardson, David Barrie. 1997. "Time-Related Factors in Radiation-Cancer Associations Among Workers at Oak Ridge National Laboratory." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 214 pp.

Ricketts, Elizabeth Cocke. 1996. "Our Battle for Industrial Freedom': Radical Politics in the Coal Fields of Central Pennsylvania, 1916-1926." Ph.D. diss., Emory University. 597 pp.

Riggs, Brett H. 1999. "Removal Period Cherokee Households in Southwestern North Carolina: Material Perspectives on Ethnicity and Cultural Differentiation." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 641 pp.

Riggs, Brett High. 1999. "Removal Period Cherokee Households in Southwestern North Carolina: Material Perspectives on Ethnicity and Cultural Differentiation" [examines two competing classes: full blood and mixed blood Cherokees]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 641 pp.

Rikard, Gabriel D. 2008. "An Archeology of Appalachia: Authority and the Mountaineer in the Appalachian Works of Cormac McCarthy." Ph.D. diss., University of Mississippi. 311 pp.

Roades, Rebecca Nicole. 2011. "Dual Consciousness: Identity Construction among Appalachian Professional Women in Southern Ohio." Ph.D. diss., Antioch University. 181 pp. "...with particular regard to the blending of their cultural heritage in a society in which they are often marginalized."

Roberts, Katherine R. 2006. "Storehouses of Abundance and Loss: Architecture, Narrative and Memory in West Virginia." Ph.D. diss., Indiana University. 230 pp. "...examines the production of locality in rural Appalachia by looking at the use and maintenance of vernacular

architecture and cultural landscapes and the social and symbolic significance of home-produced food. The study centers on a traditional food storage building known as a cellar house, which is characteristic to the Mid-Ohio Valley in West Virginia..."

Roberts, Lisa Sue. 1995. "Population Redistribution and the Restructuring of Rural Settlement: A Western Virginia Case Study" [three county area, 1960-1980]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 185 pp.

Roberts, Mark Allen. 2007. "Hillbilly Authentication: Investigating Authentic Regional Identity in Postmodern Appalachian Culture" [hillbilly stereotype]. Ph.D. diss., Union Institute & University. 315 pp.

Robertson, Judith Hale. 2003. "The Influence of the Monitoring Process on Special Education Services in West Virginia" [1996-2001; 22 counties]. Ed.D. diss., West Virginia University. 126 pp.

Robertson, Wendy Lee. 2000. "The Discovery of a New Measure: Creative Institutions and the Visionary Arts from Black Mountain College to MoMA." Ph.D. diss., University of Iowa. 334 pp.

Robins, Roger Glenn. 1999. "Plainfolk Modernist: The Radical Holiness World of A. J. Tomlinson" [cultural biography; Holiness-Pentecostal tradition co-founder]. Ph.D. diss., Duke University. 537 pp.

Robinson, Barbara Smith. 2001. "To Thine Own Selves be True: The Possible Selves of Low-Income Women" [East Tenn., eight counties.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 119 pp.

Robinson, Jennifer Meta. 2001. "Writing Before the Ending: Art and Gender in the Work of Rebecca Harding Davis" [1831-1910; W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., Indiana University. 209 pp.

Robinson, Linda Kay. 2000. "The Influence of Curricular and Co-Curricular Experiences on Students' Openness to Diversity at a Predominantly White, State-Supported University in the South" [Appalachian State University; N.C.]. Ph.D. diss., The Union Institute. 147 pp.

Robinson, Sherry Lee. 1998. "Lee Smith: The Flesh, the Spirit, and the Word." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 208 pp.

Robison, Scott A. 2007. "Online Courses in Appalachian Ohio High Schools: Perceptions and Experiences of Superintendents and Principals" [29-county region surveyed]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 198 pp.

Roby, John R. 2011. "Memory, Practice and Process at the Perkins-Dennis Farm, a 19th-Century Free African American Farmstead in Susquehanna County, Pennsylvania" [Brooklyn Township]. Ph.D. diss., State University of New York at Binghamton. 256 pp.

Rockwell, Joti. 2007. "Drive, Lonesomeness, and Genre of Bluegrass Music." Ph.D. diss., University of Chicago. 265 pp.

Rodning, Christopher Bernard. 2004. "The Cherokee Town at Coweeta Creek" [N.C.; archaeological study; upper Little Tennessee River; 15th-early 18th-centuries]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina. 561 pp.

Rohr, Karl Barousse. 2003. "The Road to Nowhere and the Politics of Wilderness Legislation" [Swain Co., N.C., unfinished road (1943) into Great Smoky Mountains National Park; 1960s wilderness management; access to cemeteries]. Ph.D. diss., University of Mississippi. 236 pp.

Rohrer, Stephen Scott. 1999. "Planting Pietism: Religion and Community in the Moravian Settlements of North Carolina, 1750-1830." Ph.D. diss., University of Virginia. 361 pp.

Rose, Mariel. 2008. "South Meets South: Work, Immigration, and Neoliberalism in the Carolina Appalachians" [Latino immigration; Western N.C.]. Ph.D. diss., New York University. 244 pp.

Roth, Cathy A. 1993. "'Our Best Hope is in the People': Highlander Center and Education for Social Change Toward a More Just and Democratic Society." Ph.D. diss., University of Massachusetts. 231 pp.

Rulli, James. 1998. "Restructured Communities and Well-Being: Infant Deaths and Industrial Change in the Ohio River Valley, 1970-1990." Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 133 pp.

Runyon, Shane Alan. 2005. "Border and Rumors: The Georgia Frontier in the Atlantic World" [17th-18th centuries]. Ph.D. diss., University of Florida. 269 pp.

Rush, Leslie Susan. 2002. "Multiliteracies and Design: Multimodality in the Appalachian Trail Thru-Hiking Community." Ph.D. diss., University of Georgia.

Russ, Kathryn A. 2006. "Effects of Appalachian Culture on Career Choice." Ed.D. diss., University of Cincinnati. 214 pp.

Sabatini, Thomas Joseph. 2006. "A Nation Made of Steel: The Remaking of the White Republic in Ohio's Mahoning Valley, 1915-1942" [Oh., Pa.; labor, immigrants, racism]. Ph.D. diss., University of Minnesota. 289 pp.

Sachs, Honor R. 2006. "Not the Best Poor Man's Country: The Social World of the Eighteenth-Century West" [1775-1800 Ky.; race and gender]. Ph.D. diss., University of Wisconsin-Madison. 234 pp.

Safford, Sean C. 2004. "Why the Garden Club Couldn't Save Youngstown: Social Embeddedness and the Transformation of the Rust Belt" [Ohio, Pa.; 1980s-90s]. Ph.D. diss., Massachusetts Institute of Technology. 753 pp.

Sakaris, Peter Constantine. 2006. "Effects of Hydrologic Variation on Dynamics of Channel Catfish and Flathead Catfish Populations in Regulated and Unregulated Rivers in the Southeast USA" [Coosa River and Tallapoosa River Basin, Ala.; Ocmulgee River, Ga.]. Ph.D. diss., Auburn University. 149 pp.

Salafia, Matthew. 2009. "Slavery's Borderland: Freedom and Bondage Along the Ohio River, 1787-1851." Ph.D. diss., University of Notre Dame. 309 pp.

Salinas, Rene Armando. 2003. "Modeling the Effects of Harvesting on Black Bears in the Southern Appalachians" [Great Smoky Mountains National Park region]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 145 pp.

Salinas, Tracie McLemore. 2004. "Parent and Student Perspectives on Mathematics Education in Four Rural East Tennessee Communities" [four high schools; questionnaire surveys to 2,530 students and 1,018 parents]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 137 pp.

Sampson-Cordle, Alice Vera. 2001. "Exploring the Relationship between a Small Rural School in Northeast Georgia and its Community: An Image-Based Study Using Participant-Produced Photographs" [Woody Gap School]. Ph.D. diss., University of Georgia. 395 pp.

Sandow, Robert Matthew. 2003. "Deserter Country: Civil War Opposition in the Mountains of Pennsylvania." Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 263 pp.

Sarris, Jonathan Dean. 1998. "'Hellish Deeds. . .in a Christian Land': Southern Mountain Communities at War, 1861-1865" [Fannin and Lumpkin Co., Ga.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Georgia. 222 pp.

Satterwhite, Emily M. 2005. "Locally Colored: Popular Appalachian Fictions and Geographies of Reception" [Charles Egbert Craddock, John Fox, Jr., Silas House, Adriana Trigiani, Jan Karon]. Ph.D. diss., Emory University. 285 pp.

Sauder Muhlfeld, Sharon M. 2007. "Ambiguous Alliances: Native American Efforts to Preserve Independence in the Ohio Valley, 1768-1795." Ph.D. diss., College of William and Mary. 312 pp. From a Native American perspective: Wyandots, Shawnees, Ottawas, Delawares, Miamis, and their native neighbors.

Savage, Carletta Harvey. 1999. "Women Coal Miners: Another Chapter in Central Appalachia's Struggle Against Hegemony, 1973-1998" [sexual harassment]. M.A. thesis, West Virginia University. 114 pp.

Schafer, Patricia Day. 1998. "Cherokee Education: Balancing History, Culture, Language and Traditions With Modern Methods and Technology to Prepare Students for the 21st Century" [Qualla Boundary, Cherokee, N.C.]. Ph.D. diss., Indiana State University. 170 pp.

Schaub, Joseph Henry, Jr. 2001. "Regional Borderlands: Contemporary Southern Authors Go West" [Cormac McCarthy, Barbara Kingsolver]. Ph.D. diss., University of South Carolina. 210 pp.

Scheper, Dianne Ganz. 1999. "Sacramental Style and Vision in Annie Dillard's Nature Texts" [metaphor; *Pilgrim at Tinker Creek* (1974)]. Ph.D. diss., Catholic University of America. 355 pp.

Scherch, Jonathan Matthew. 1997. "Living Responsibly: A Study of Sustainable Living in East Tennessee and the Southern Appalachian Bioregion" [94 interviewed]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 240 pp.

Schlueter, Luke Cyril. 2000. "The Ground Sense Necessary: Mining the Domestic in Gary Snyder and Wendell Berry." Ph.D. diss., Kent State University. 321 pp.

Schmoll, Brett Jordan. 1998. Chapter One: "Male and Dead in the Mining Community: The Gendering of Death and the Monongah Mine Explosion of 1907" [W. Va.]. In "Gendered Death in Public Life." Ph.D. diss., University of California, Santa Barbara. Pp. 55-112.

Schneider, Bethany Suzanne. 2002. "From Place to Populace: Indian Removal and State-Formation in Antebellum American Literature" [Elias Boudinot, Ralph Waldo Emerson, John Ross, Catharine Brown, Catharine Maria Sedgwick]. Ph.D. diss., Cornell University. 221 pp.

Schneider, Gary A. 2008. "The Effect of MSHA Inspections and Regulation Enforcement on Unplanned Roof Fall Events in Underground Coalmining" [1995-2003]. Sc.D. diss., University of Massachusetts Lowell. 162 pp.

Schneider, James Dennis. 1999. "Documentary Film in the Public Sphere: Pare Lorentz's *The River* and Its Alternatives" [1937 New Deal classic film; *March of Time's* "Tennessee Valley Authority"; and *People of the Cumberland*]. Ph.D. diss., University of Wisconsin - Madison. 401 pp.

Schneider, Stephen. 2007. "Organic Classrooms: Rhetorical Education at the Highlander Folk School, 1932-1961" [Tenn.]. Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 288 pp. "...describes the development of the folk school's educational programs—particularly drama, labor journalism, music, and literacy education—as agencies for promoting and achieving social change."

Schorger, John Rodger, Jr. 1997. "A Qualitative Study of the Development and First Year of Implementation of the Blacksburg Electronic Village" [Blacksburg, Va., Virginia Tech, and Bell Atlantic; 1994]. Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 89 pp.

Schraffenberger, Jeremy Daniel. 2008. "Shadow and Breeze" [personal and historical poems]. Ph.D. diss., State University of New York at Binghamton. 102 pp. Focused on coal-camp town Jenkins, Ky., and celebrating the lives of people "struggling with poverty, social isolation, and cultural marginalization."

Schuler, Thomas Myrl. 1998. "Patterns of Oak Regeneration in Central Appalachian Forest" [W. Va.; technical study; 1787-1997]. Ph.D. diss., Purdue University. 121 pp.

Schwartz, Tammy Ann. 2002. "Write Me': A Participatory Action Research Project with Urban Appalachian Girls." Ed.D. diss., University of Cincinnati. 203 pp.

Scott, Michelle Renee. 2002. "The Realm of a Blues Empress: Blues Culture and Bessie Smith in Black Chattanooga, Tennessee, 1880-1923." Ph.D. diss., Cornell University. 271 pp.

Scott, Rebecca R. 2007. "Making Sense of Mountaintop Removal: The Logic of Extraction in the Southern West Virginia Coalfields." Ph.D. diss., University of California--Santa Cruz. 293 pp.

Scully, Michael F. 2005. "American Folk Music Revivalism, 1965-2005." Ph.D. diss., University of Texas. 535 pp.

Seamon, Marc. 2005. "Media and Claimsmaker Framing of Controversial Environmental Issues: A Frame Mapping Analysis of Mountaintop Removal Mining" [assessed 1985-2004]. Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 230 pp.

Seehorn, Terry. 2004. "Brook Trout in the Chattooga Drainage: A Stream Suitability Index." Ph.D. diss., Clemson University. 57 pp.

Seelinger, Kathy L. 2000. "'I'm Right There': Central Appalachian Women in Public School Leadership" [five women; feminist standpoint theory]. Ed.D. diss., West Virginia University. 140 pp.

Seivers, Lana Carmen. 2002. "Words of Discrimination, Voices of Determination: Reflections on the Desegregation of Clinton High School" [Tenn., 1956-58]. Ed.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 321 pp.

Sellers, Candace Ann. 1998. "Urban Appalachian Women: Changing the Barriers of Oppression Through Reentry Education" [case study, five women]. Ed.D. diss., University of Cincinnati. 109 pp.

Sepko, Catherine Cook. 1998. "Critical Literacy in an Appalachian Classroom" [S.C.; Appalachian literature in the curriculum]. Ph.D. diss., Clemson University. 395 pp.

Serafini, Tina Marie. 2002. "Electronic Business Issues in Rural Manufacturing" [13 county area, northwestern Pa.]. D.Sc. diss., Robert Morris University. 117 pp.

Shackleford, Ben A. 2005. "Going National While Staying Southern: Stock Car Racing in America, 1949-1979." Ph.D. diss., Georgia Institute of Technology. 296 pp.

Shadbolt, Ryan P. 2009. "Climate Trends and Synoptic Patterns Associated with Major Precipitation Events of the Southern Appalachians" [1931-2006]. Ph.D. diss., Michigan State University. 277 pp. Data collected from 463 stations.

Sharif, Zaki Jamal. 1999. "The Social Construction of Underachievement Among Urban Appalachian Youth: A Case Study" [Ohio]. Ph.D. diss., Miami University. 177 pp.

Sheidley, Nathaniel J. 1999. "Unruly Men: Indians, Settlers, and the Ethos of Frontier Patriarchy in the Upper Tennessee Watershed, 1763-1815" [masculine ethos]. Ph.D. diss., Princeton University. 327 pp.

Shevitz, Amy Hill. 2002. "Streams: Small Jewish Communities on the Banks of the Ohio" [1830-1990]. Ph.D. diss., University of Oklahoma. 415 pp.

Shope, Dan. 2007. "Shattered Glass and Broken Dreams: Utilizing the Works of Michel De Certeau to Analyze Coping Mechanisms and Overt Forms of Resistance Among Glass Workers in Huntington, West Virginia." Ph.D. diss., Bowling Green State University. 208 pp. Owens-Illinois Glass manufacturing plant, downsized in 1980s, closed in 1990s due to deindustrialization.

Shrestha, Suraj Prasad. 2002. "Opportunities and Limitations of Animal Logging in the United States South" [mules, horses]. Ph.D. diss., Auburn University. 174 pp.

Shriner, Susan Ann. 2001. "Distribution of Breeding Birds in Great Smoky Mountains National Park" [GIS]. Ph.D. diss., North Carolina State University. 179 pp.

Shriver, Thomas Eugene. 1995. "Social Control and Environmental Degradation by the Military: The Case of Oak Ridge, Tennessee." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 134 pp.

Shubert, Natalie E. 2010. "No Farm, No Food: Organizing Appalachian Family Farms Around the Politics of 'Good Food'" [southeastern Ohio]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 288 pp.

Sias, Betty A. 2008. "Marginalized Students' Perspectives of School Consolidation: A Case Study in Rural West Virginia." Ed.D. diss., Marshall University. 273 pp.

Sickels, A. Carter. 2010. "What Does Masculinity Mean to You: Trans Males Creating Identities of Possibilities." M.A. thesis, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 163 pp.

Silver, Peter Rhoads. 2000. "Indian-Hating and the Rise of Whiteness in Provincial Pennsylvania" [18th-century]. Ph.D. diss., Yale University. 402 pp.

Simpson, Mary Rado. 2001. "God Healed Me': Religious Responses to Events in the Cancer Trajectory of Breast Cancer Survivors in Central Appalachia." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 234 pp.

Simson, William R. 2010. "Removing Reds from the Old Red Scar: Maintaining an Industrial Peace in the East Tennessee Copper Basin, from the Great War through the Second World War." Ph.D. diss., Georgia State University. 364 pp. Polk and Fannin Cos., Tenn.; Ducktown, Tenn.; smelter workers.

Siudzinski, Robert Andrew. 2007. "Not All Who Wander Are Lost: An Ethnographic Study of Individual Knowledge Construction Within a Community of Practice" [Appalachian Trail (AT) long-distance hikers]. Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 285 pp.

Skirtz, Alice. 2006. "The Place Known as Over-the-Rhine: A Self-Reflective Study of a Twentieth Century Urban Community Marginalized by the 'Problem of Poverty'" [Cincinnati]. Ph.D. diss., Union Institute and University. 137 pp.

Slavishak, Edward Steven. 2002. "Bodies of Work: Industrial Workers' Bodies in Pittsburgh, 1880--1915." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 446 pp.

Sleipness, Ole Russell. 2009. "Exploring How Residential Communities in the Rural Southern Appalachian Mountains are Branded as 'Green': A Qualitative Analysis" [S.C., N.C., Tenn.]. Ph.D. diss., Clemson University. 530 pp.

Smalley, Andrea L. 2005. "The Liberty of Killing a Deer': Histories of Wildlife Use and Political Ecology in Early America [Va., Ky.]. Ph.D. diss., Northern Illinois University. 342 pp.

Smardon, Regina. 2006. "Learning to Label: Disability Narratives in Clear River, United States of America" [a high-unemployment community of 73 thousand; labeled over 23 percent of their children with a disability]. Ph.D. diss., University of Pennsylvania. 230 pp.

Smith, David G. 2006. "On the Edge of Freedom: The Fugitive Slave Issue in South Central Pennsylvania, 1820-1870" [Adams, Franklin, and Cumberland Cos.]. Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 436 pp.

Smith, Devona. 2006. "Appalachian Women Leaders: Product of Culture and Critical Life Events" [Executive M.B.A. female students at WVU]. Ph.D. diss., Touro University International. 210 pp.

Smith, Jennifer Sue. 2001. "Mining the Mountain of Appalachian Children's Literature: Defining a Multicultural Literature." Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 207 pp.

Smith, Langdon, Jr. 2002. "The Democratization of Nature: State-Park Development During the New Deal" [500 state parks built between 1933-1942]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kansas. 236 pp.

Smith, Lisa Marie. 2011. "Netta Taylor and the Divided Ohio Home Front, 1861-1865." Ph.D. diss., University of Akron. 168 pp. "...experiences of women in that region....Fear of Confederate raids, the reality of tensions along the Ohio border, family divisions caused by the war, and the role of the Copperheads, as well as the domestic upheaval created by the war."

Smith, Roland M. 1995. "A Project to Design, Administer, and Analyze an Instrument to Test for Cultural Awareness of Pastors Working in an Appalachian Conference of the Seventh-Day Adventist Church." D.Min. diss., Andrews University. 237 pp.

Smith, Stephen Garth. 2000. "Secession, War and Rebirth: The Civil War in West Virginia's South Branch Valley of the Potomac." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 278 pp.

Smith, Trevor Augustine. 2003. "Pioneers, Patriots, and Politicians: The Tennessee Militia System, 1772--1857." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 239 pp.

Smith, Troy Duane. 2011. "Slavery, Race, and Nation in Indian Territory,1830-1866." Ph.D. diss., University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign. 261 pp. "Cherokees, Choctaws, Creeks, Chickasaws and Seminoles....adopted the plantation slavery system, and instituted unprecedented racialized social hierarchies."

Smith, Tyrie J. 2008. "'A Voice That Was Thin and Pure': Folklore As Literature and Literature As Folklore in the Works of Byron Herbert Reece" [1917-1958; Ga.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Louisiana at Lafayette. 167 pp.

Smoller-Phillips, Mary-Jeane Elizabeth. 2000. "Wake: A Narrative of the Life of David Crockett of Franklin County, Tennessee" [historical fiction novel]. Ph.D. diss., University of Wisconsin - Milwaukee. 316 pp.

Smoot, Pamela Annette. 1999. "Self Help and Institution Building in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, 1830-1945" [black history; migratory city]. Ph.D. diss., Michigan State University. 502 pp.

Smoot, Stephen A. 2011. "Iron and the Bloody Shirt: Leadership in the West Virginia Republican Party 1872-1896." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 234 pp. Nathan Goff; Stephen Benton Elkins.

Sneed, Nedra Ann. 2000. "Interactional Discourse Used in Book Reading by Urban Appalachian Mothers and Their Preschool Children." Ed.D. diss., University of Cincinnati. 141 pp.

Snow, Mary Margaret. 1999. "A Reintroduction of American Ginseng" [significant difficulties; three studies at Hart Co., Ky., and Ind.]. Ph.D. diss., Indiana State University. 133 pp.

Snyder, Todd D. 2011. "The Hillbilly Speaks of Rhetoric: Critical Theory, Composition Pedagogy, and the Appalachian Region." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 344 pp. "...an exploration of the various ways that social, economic, and cultural factors influence the identities of the rural Appalachian students who enter our first year composition classrooms."

Sobol, Joseph Daniel. 1994. "Jonesborough Days: The National Storytelling Festival and the Contemporary Storytelling Revival Movement in America." Two volumes. Ph.D. diss., Northwestern University. 592 pp.

Sohn, Katherine Kelletter. 1999. "Whistlin' and Crowin' Women of Appalachia: Literacy Development Since College" [eastern Ky.; case studies of three women]. Ph.D. diss., Indiana University of Pennsylvania. 245 pp.

Soliman, Hussein Hassan. 1993. "Factors that Influence Family Response to Contamination of Water Resources: The Case of the Pigeon River." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 254 pp.

Soucek, David John. 2001. "Integrative Bioassessment of Acid Mine Drainage Impacts on the Upper Powell River Watershed, Southwestern Virginia." Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 152 pp.

Spalding, Susan Eike. 1993. "Aesthetic Standards in Old Time Dancing in Southwest Virginia: African-American and European-American Threads." Ph.D. diss., Temple University. 385 pp.

Specht, Neva Jean. 1997. "Mixed Blessing: Trans-Appalachian Settlement and the Society of Friends, 1780-1813" [western Pa.; Ohio Valley]. Ph.D. diss., University of Delaware. 246 pp.

Spero, Patrick Kehoe. 2009. "Creating Pennsylvania: The Politics of the Frontier and the State, 1682-1800." Ph.D. diss., University of Pennsylvania. 429 pp.

Spurlock, Cindy Michelle. 2009. "Making Conservation Public: Rhetorical Environmentality and the Contested Future(s) of America's National Parks." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 294 pp. Focus: Great Smoky Mountains National Park, the Blue Ridge Parkway, and Cape Hatteras National Seashore.

Spyker, Stephen Kenneth. 2004. "Spirituality and Technology on the Appalachian Trail: A Study in Frontiers" [based on 2002 thru-hike]. Ed.D. diss., Ball State University. 440 pp.

Stanlake, Christy Lee. 2002. "Mapping the Web of Native American Dramaturgy." Ph.D. diss., Ohio State University. 262 pp.

Stanley, Talmage A. 1996. "The Poco Field: Politics, Culture, and Place in Contemporary Appalachia" [McDowell County, W. Va.: David Huddle; Lee Smith; Denise Giardina; Meredith Sue Willis; Donald Secreast; Harry Caudill]. Ph.D. diss., Emory University. 698 pp.

Starcher, Stephanie Diane. 2005. "The Triracial Experience in a Poor Appalachian Community: How Social Identity Shapes the School Lives of Rural Minorities." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 176 pp.

Starling, Mariah Long. 1997. Influencing the Probability of Dropping Out of School in an East Tennessee Rural County" [Sevier Co.; study population of 233]. Ed.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 140 pp.

Starnes, Richard Dale. 1999. "Creating the Land of the Sky: Tourism and Society in Western North Carolina" [19th century to present]. Ph.D. diss., Auburn University. 286 pp.

Stechly, Judith Ann D'Amico. 2008. "Madison School, 'the White Building': Its Beginnings 1916-1939." Ed.D. diss., West Virginia University. 144 pp. The school is located on Wheeling Island, W. Va. and surrounded by the Ohio River.

Steelman, Toddi Angela. 1996. "Democratic Theory, Public Participation and National Forest Management: A Case Study of the Monongahela National Forest" [W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., Duke University. 285 pp.

Stephens, Carol Crane. 1994. "Health Beliefs and Practices of Rural, Southern Appalachian Women from an Ethnographic Perspective." Ph.D. diss., University of Alabama at Birmingham. 160 pp.

Stephens, Randall James. 2003. "The Fire Spreads': The Origins of the Southern Holiness and Pentecostal Movements." Ph.D. diss., University of Florida. 295 pp.

Stephenson, Robert Scott. 1998. "With Swords and Plowshares: British and American Military Society in the Trans-Allegheny West, 1754-1774." Ph.D. diss., University of Virginia. 305 pp.

Stern, Marc Jonathan. 2006. "Understanding Local Reactions to National Parks: The Nature and Consequences of Local Interpretations of Park Policies, Management, and Outreach [Great Smoky Mountains National Park and others]. Ph.D. diss., Yale University. 411 pp.

Stevens, Max Bodean. 2001. "Black Diamonds and White Knights: Capitalist Class Formation in America's Bituminous Coal Industry." Ph.D. diss., University of California, Los Angeles. 279 pp.

Stevenson, Susan P. 2006. "Place Advocacy at Snowshoe Mountain Resort: A Case Study of a Destination Ski Resort" [W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Missouri - Columbia. 205 pp.

Stewart Burns, Shirley L. 2005. "Bringing Down the Mountains: The Impact of Mountaintop Removal Surface Coal Mining on Southern West Virginia Communities, 1970-2004." Ph. D. diss., West Virginia University. 232 pp.

Stinnett, Carolyn Elizabeth. 1996. "A Qualitative Study of Family Resource Centers in Rural East Tennessee" [human service and education]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 246 pp.

Stockdale, Kay Little. 2000. "Elizabeth B. Williams: Portrait of a Rural Missionary Educator" [N.C.; Asheville Farm School, 1895-1942; Presbyterian]. Ed.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Greensboro. 136 pp.

Stoller, Terry. 2003. "Staging Local and Oral History in America: Maryat Lee's EcoTheater, Bloomsburg Theatre Ensemble, and Tectonic Theater Project" [W. Va., Pa.; community stories staged through voices of townspeople]. Ph.D. diss., City University of New York. 205 pp.

Stout, Sherry A. 2008. "A Survey of Chief Academic Officers and Academic Department Heads about Part-Time Faculty issues at Community Colleges in the Appalachian Regions of Kentucky, Ohio, and West Virginia." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 168 pp. Questionnaire mailed to 23 two-year colleges.

Sturgeon, Douglas Aaron. 2002. "Filling a Need: Administrative Practices in Mason County, West Virginia One-Room Schools from 1935-1950." Ed.D. diss., Marshall University. 188 pp.

Sturgis, Amy Halleen. 1998. "From Aniyuwiya to Indian Territory: Cherokee Civilization, 1500-1839." Ph.D. diss., Vanderbilt University. 215 pp.

Sturm, Philip W. 2004. "Kinship Migration to Northwestern Virginia, 1785-1815: The Myth of the Southern Frontiersman" [to Wood Co., (W.)Va.]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 272 pp.

Sulfridge, James Horace. 2007. "The Teaching of Appalachian Cultural Values in Appalachian Bible Colleges." Ed.D. diss., Southern Baptist Theological Seminary. 202 pp.

Sult, Donald B. 2004. "The Effect of Coal Mine Bonding Systems on the Probability of Reclamation" [W. Va., Va., Ky.]. Ph.D. diss., Colorado School of Mines.

Summerlin, Donna Jan. 1995. "A Portrait of the Woman as Artist: Woman's Struggle for Artistic Expression in the Fiction of Six Appalachian Women Writers" [Roberts, Dargan, Arnow, Settle, Smith, Giardina]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 305 pp.

Swafford, Tamrala Greer. 2009. "The Gadu:gi Spirit: Community Development Strategies among the Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians, 1934 to 1984." Ph.D. diss., Arizona State University. 278 pp.

Swain, Patricia Elizabeth. 1993. "Bessie Mae Eldreth: An Appalachian Woman's Performance of Self." Vols. I and II. Ph.D. diss., Indiana University. 750 pp.

Swanson, Mark A. 2001. "No Substitute for Tobacco: The Search for Farm Diversification in Appalachian Kentucky." Ph.D. diss., University of Florida. 204 pp.

Swearingin, Steven David. 2005. "A Reassessment of Cherokee Identity Consciousness during the Colonial Era: Myth, Historiography, and Material Culture." Ph.D. diss., Southern Illinois University. 496 pp.

Swedberg, Anne Kristin. 2006. "Take it Outside: Community-Based Theater and Maryat Lee, 1949-1989" [W. Va.; EcoTheater, 1975--1989; New York City]. Ph.D. diss., University of Wisconsin - Madison. 212 pp.

Takatsuka, Yuki. 2004. "Comparison of the Contingent Valuation Method and the Stated Choice Model for Measuring Benefits of Ecosystem Management: A Case Study of the Clinch River Valley, Tennessee." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 197 pp.

Takebayashi, Shuichi. 2010. "The Making of Folk Identity: Politics, Consumption, Tradition, and Rebellion in the Folk Music Revival Movement" [1950s-60s]. Ph.D. diss., Michigan State University.

Talley, James Robert. 2001. "Demographic Shifts and Green Values in Rural America: A Southern Appalachian Case" [Norris Lake area, East Tenn.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 212 pp.

Tamburro, Paul Rene. 2006. "Ohio Valley Native Americans Speak: Indigenous Discourse on the Continuity of Identity" [Oh., Ky., Ind.]. Ph.D. diss., Indiana University. 225 pp.

Taul, Glen Edward. 2001. "Poverty, Development, and Government in Appalachia: Origins of the Appalachian Regional Commission" [1956-1965]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 433 pp.

Taylor, La'Shan Denise. 2009. "Assessing Health Status, Disease Burden, and Quality of Life in Appalachia Tennessee: The Importance of Using Multiple Data Sources in Health Research." Dr.P.H. diss., East Tennessee State University. 126 pp. Eight-county study area.

Taylor, Melissa Anne. 2002. "Regional Variation in New Firm Formation: An Analysis of Socio-Economic Factors" [Ky.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 282 pp.

Tehie, Janice Beveridge. 1996. "A Trans-Generational Study of Education and Employment among Slovak Women on the 'Mountain Top', 1900-1995" [central Pa.]. Ph.D. diss., The Pennsylvania State University. 290 pp.

Temple, Alan Jon. 1997. "The Effects of Coal Mining on Sedimentation and Fish Assemblages in the Powell River, Virginia." Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 386 pp.

Terrell, Lavern. 2000. "Assessing the Racial Awareness of Majority Group Member Students at East Tennessee State University and the Factors Related to Racial Awareness." Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 118 pp.

Teunissen van Manen, Frank. 1994. "Black Bear Habitat Use in Great Smoky Mountains National Park." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 229 pp.

Thacker, Katrina Suzanne. 2006. "Whittling the Double Bind: Appalachian Poets Carving Out Tradition and Resistance." Ph.D. diss., Indiana University of Pennsylvania. 203 pp. [examines works of Louise McNeill, James Still, George Ella Lyon, Diane Gilliam Fisher, Frank X Walker, Leatha Kendrick, Sidney Saylor Farr, Nikki Giovanni, Richard Hague, and Jim Wayne Miller].

Thanner, Meridith Hill. 2006. "Military Base Closure Effects on a Community: The Case of Fort Ritchie Army Garrison and Cascade, Maryland." Ph.D. diss., University of Maryland, College Park. 209 pp.

Thapa, Brijesh. 2000. "The Association of Outdoor Recreation Activities and Environmental Attitudes and Behaviors among Forest Recreationists" [Bald Eagle State Forest, Pa.]. Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 220 pp.

Thayer, Cynthia L. Sibley. 2010. "Chicken and Dumplings: The Motif of Food in Appalachian Literature." Ph.D. diss., University of Texas at Arlington. 236 pp.

Theeke, Laurie Ann. 2007. "Sociodemographic and Health-Related Risks for Loneliness and Outcome Differences by Loneliness Status in a Sample of Older U.S. Adults" [W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss, West Virginia University. 135 pp.

Thomas, Carolyn K. 2001. "The Portrayal of the Cherokee in Children's Fiction Books." Ed.D. diss., Oklahoma State University. 118 pp.

Thomas, Kara Rogers. 2004. "Music in the Mountains: Music and Community in Western North Carolina" [ballads, old-time music, bluegrass; outsiders' and insiders' conceptualizations of regional identity]. Ph.D. diss., Indiana University. 347 pp.

Thomas, Stacy Edward. 2003. "Community Colleges and Economic Development: A Case Study of Appalachian Southwest Virginia." Ed.D. diss., University of Virginia. 170 pp.

Thompson, Claire Elizabeth. 2011. "Ritual and Power: Examining the Economy of Moundville's Residential Population" [Alabama]. Ph.D. diss., The University of Alabama. 557 pp. Native American; archaeology.

Thompson, Ellen Keith. 1996. "The Demise of the One-Room School: School Improvement and Consolidation in the Whitfield County, Georgia, Schools, 1916-1939." Ph.D. diss., Georgia State University. 207 pp.

Thompson, Katherine A. 2010. "Social Worlds of Rock Climbers at Seneca Rocks, West Virginia." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 149 pp.

Thompson, Matthew D. 2009. "Staging 'The Drama': The Continuing Importance of Cultural Tourism in the Gaming Era" [Cherokee, N.C.]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 358 pp. With the advent of a casino, the outdoor drama *Unto These Hills*, produced 1950-2004, was reinvented into *Unto These Hills... a Retelling* in 2006.

Thurman, Sharon Wimpey. 2000. "'A Rolling Town': The Long Bus Ride in a Rural Southern Appalachian County." Ed.D. diss., Western Carolina University. 248 pp.

Timm, Patricia Ziegel. 1996. "Early School Leaving: An Analysis Across Three Generations of Urban Appalachian Women." Ph.D. diss., University of Cincinnati. 160 pp.

Tirpak, John Michael. 2005. "Modeling Ruffed Grouse Populations in the Central and Southern Appalachians." Ph.D. diss., Fordham University. 354 pp.

Titsworth, Karen Cozetta. 2008. "Moving Beyond Blame and Shame: Rethinking Mothering Practices in an Urban Appalachian Community." Ed.D. diss., University of Cincinnati. 235 pp. "Examines nine...single White and African American...women's...practices of mothering centered around generative themes of abuse, good-vs-bad mothering, and education."

Todd, Amanda J. 2010. "Spiritual Landscapes in the 21st Century: The Geography of Power Mountains and Healing Waters of the Southern Appalachian Region." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Greensboro. 192 pp.

Todd, James E. 2011. "The Anatomy of a Race: Labor, Salvation and the Intimacy of Spectacle in NASCAR Nation." Ph.D. diss., University of California, Santa Cruz. 237 pp.

Toler, Kenneth D. 2004. "The Preaching Method That Will Best Speak to a Postmodern Generation in Appalachia." D.Min. diss., Asbury Theological Seminary. 215 pp.

Toma, Kathleen A. 1999. "AFDC Spell Durations: A Comparison of Urban and Rural Regions" [Ky.; poverty]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 180 pp.

Tong, Quansong. 2003. "Measurement, Modeling, and Analysis of Ozone and Its Key Precursors in the Southeast United States National Parks" [Shenandoah, Great Smoky Mountains, and Mammoth Cave National Parks]. Ph.D. diss., North Carolina State University. 199 pp.

Tooman, L. Alex. 1995. "The Evolving Economic Impact of Tourism on the Greater Smoky Mountain Region of East Tennessee and Western North Carolina." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 524 pp.

Torbert, John Lee. 1995. "Reclamation of Surface-Mined Forest Land in the Southern Appalachians" [Va., W. Va., Ky.]. Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 90 pp.

Tortora, Daniel J. 2011. "Testing the Rusted Chain: Cherokees, Carolinians, and the War for the American Southeast, 1756-1763." Ph.D. diss., Duke University. 427 pp. "...by destabilizing relations with African and Native Americans, the Cherokee Indians raised the social and political anxieties of coastal elites to a fever pitch during the Anglo-Cherokee War."

Toth, Barbara Joselyn. 1999. "The Hatfields and the McCoys: Beliefs About Arguing and Aggressive Communication in the Appalachian Culture" [speech communication study; 57 respondents]. Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 169 pp.

Towne, Erik L. 2008. "'British in Thought and Deed': Henry Bouquet and the Making of Britain's American Empire." Ph.D. diss., Bowling Green State University. 395 pp. Seven Years' War (1756-63); militarizing Indian Country.

Trawick, Benton Jefferson. 2001. "New Blood: A Study of Session Transitions in a Small Rural Church" [Va.; Presbyterian]. D.Min. diss., Princeton Theological Seminary. 105 pp.

Troha, James A. 2005. "The Mountaineer Parent's Club at West Virginia University: A Case Study" [founded 1995; student-centeredness, outreach, retention]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kansas. 173 pp.

Trollinger, Linda Judith. 2004. "Perceptions of Autonomy and Parental Influences among Appalachian Adolescents" [questionnaire administered to 705 high school English students in "distressed" counties]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 171 pp.

Tronsen, Beverly Kay. 2005. "The Rhetoric of Disappearance: Racialized Discourse and the Cherokee Removal [1838; Ga.; public protest, Congressional debate]. Ph.D. diss., Washington State University. 279 pp.

Tugman-Gabriel, Laura. 2011. "Seeking Roots in Shifting Ground: Ethnic Identity Development and Melungeons of Southern Appalachia." Ph.D. diss., Fielding Graduate University. 211 pp. "...the data consisted of 16 semi-structured interviews with 14 adults between the ages of 46 and 89. The stories they shared...emphasized the effect of generational family and cultural values, historical trauma, and stigma on the ethnic identity development process."

Turcott, Jean Marie. 2001. "Waiting for the Erie Line: Property, Improvement, and Market Revolution in the Southern Tier of New York State, 1790-1850." Ph.D. diss., State University of New York at Buffalo. 378 pp.

Turner, James Morton. 2004. "The Promise of Wilderness: A History of American Environmental Politics, 1964-1994" [a dozen case studies includes Dolly Sods, W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., Princeton University. 360 pp.

Turner, Martha Billips. 1997. "Agrarianism and Loss: Kentucky Novels of Harriette Simpson Arnow" [Mountain Path (1936); Between the Flowers (1939); Hunter's Horn (1949)]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 209 pp.

Uchimura, Kazuko. 2007. "Miners Without Unions: Work and Labor Relations in West Virginia's Smokeless Coalfields, 1873-1935." Ph.D. diss., Georgetown University. 285 pp.

Underwood, Susan O'Dell. 1995. "The Appalachian Literary Tradition and the Works of Fred Chappell: Three Essays." Ph.D. diss., Florida State University. 247 pp.

Unger, David Edward. 2007. "Population Dynamics, Resource Selection, and Landscape Conservation of a Recolonizing Black Bear Population" [Ky.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 315 pp.

Valentine, Valerie D. 2008. "An Investigation of Authenticity and Accuracy in Children's Realistic Fiction Picture Books Set in Appalachia." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 252 pp.

Van der Voort, Martha E. 2005. "An Ecological Study of Panax Quinquefolius in Central Appalachia: Seedling Growth, Harvest Impacts and Geographic Variation in Demography" [American ginseng]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 176 pp.

Van Tassel, Kristin Lynn P. 2003. "The Yeoman in Nineteenth- and Twentieth-Century American Literature: Resisting, Reviving, and Revising the Agrarian Myth" [Wendell Berry, Charles Frazier, Barbara Kingsolver, et al.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kansas. 282 pp.

Vande Brake, Katherine G. 2006. "Through the Back Door: Melungeon Literacies and 21st Century Technologies." Ph.D. diss., Michigan Technological University. 360 pp.

Vanderburg, Timothy Warren. 2001. "Cannon Mills: A Case Study of Southern Industrialization" [Kannapolis, N.C.; 1887-1971 industrial paternalism]. Ph.D. diss., Mississippi State University. 371 pp.

Vandermast, David B. 2005. "Disturbance and Long-Term Vegetation Change in the High-Elevation Deciduous Forests of Great Smoky Mountains National Park." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 191 pp.

Varat, Daniel Raymond. 2002. "The Champion Family: Mountaineers in the Modern World" [paper mill; Pigeon River; Haywood Co., N.C.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Mississippi. 301 pp.

Varcoe, Annette L. 2011. "To Move the Country': Women and Benevolence in Susquehanna County, Pennsylvania, 1820-1890." Ph.D. diss., State University of New York at Binghamton. 310 pp.

Vautrot, Leaona Diane. 2004. "Why Don't They Come? Perceptions of Illiterate Adults in an Appalachian Mountain Region Regarding Nonparticipation in Adult Literacy Programs." Ph.D. diss., University of New Orleans. 151 pp.

Vlahovic, Gordana. 1999. "Seismotectonic Model of the Eastern Tennessee Seismic Zone" [technical study]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 225 pp.

Vonhof, Sarah L. 2001. "Of Sticks and Seesaws: Private Property and the Stewardship of America's Lands and Forests." Ph.D. diss., State University of New York College of Environmental Science and Forestry. 304 pp.

Waddell, Kenneth Gary. 2000. "'I'm Not Like Them!': Voices of At-Risk Students in a Southern Appalachian, Urban Middle School." Ed.D. diss., Western Carolina University. 469 pp.

Waldrep, George Calvin, III. 1996. "Politics of Hope and Fear: The Struggle for Community in the Industrial South" [Spartanburg Co., S.C. textile workers]. Ph.D. diss., Duke University. 353 pp.

Walker, Melissa Annette. 1996. "'All We Knew Was to Farm': Gender, Class, Race and Change Among East Tennessee Farm Women, 1920-1941." Ph.D. diss., Clark University. 469 pp.

Walkingstick, Tamara Lynne. 1996. "Pulpwood, Dinettes, and Double-Wides: Comparative Case Studies of Forest Dependency in Alabama." Ph.D. diss., Auburn University. 256 pp.

Wallace, Kim Elaine. 2005. "De/industrializing Material Culture: Refractory Bricks and Company Housing in South-Central Pennsylvania Brickyard Towns, 1890-1990." Ph.D. diss., University of Pennsylvania. 366 pp.

Wallace, Robert M. 2004. "This Wild Strange Place: Local Narratives of Literacy Use in Appalachian Families Over Three Generations" [southern W. Va.; case studies of three families]. Ph.D. diss., Indiana University of Pennsylvania. 190 pp.

Walsh, Brendan Michael. 2001. "A New World Proletariat: Expropriation, Transience, and Redemption in Twentieth-Century United States Narrative" [Part II: Harriette Arnow]. Ph.D. diss., Yale University. 336 pp.

Walton, Christina D. 2006. "Urban Appalachian Professional Storytellers' Narratives: An Analysis of Their Life Experiences and Their Performance Content" [22 storytellers, 50 performances; Cincinnati]. Ed.D. diss., University of Cincinnati. 277 pp.

Wang, Jenny Jie. 2003. "First-Generation College Students: College Impacts and Labor Market Outcomes" [28 schools; Central Appalachian Region]. Ph.D. diss., University of Iowa. 126 pp.

Wang, Tian. 2007. "The Leaching Behavior of Arsenic, Selenium and Other Trace Elements in Coal Fly Ash." Ph.D. diss., University of Missouri-Rolla. 191 pp.

Ware, William J. 2009. "African/Native American Cherokees: The Politics of Ethnic Identity." Ph.D. diss., Union Institute and University. 173 pp.

Warlick, Leslie Taylor. 2003. "A Study of Robert Ward's Three Works for Violin and Piano" [including *Appalachian Ditties and Dances*, inspired by James Agee's book, *Let Us Now Praise Famous Men*]. D.M. diss., Florida State University. 70 pp.

Warren, Amanda Rachelle. 2006. "Ridge-Runner" [original writing, poetry]. Ph.D. diss., Western Michigan University. 58 pp. Abstract: "Ridge-runner is a term used disparagingly in Appalachian culture in reference to a person who attempts to bridge a gap between the world inside and outside of Appalachia....The poems in this collection try to find stable footing---or better, a ridge road running back and forth---between the two spaces."

Washburn, Donald Lee. 2003. "Teacher Commitment to Place-Based Education in Rural Southeastern Ohio Appalachian High Schools" [samples 407 teachers]. Ed.D. diss., Ohio University. 206 pp.

Wasserman, Melanie R. 2004. "Latina Immigrants, Bridge Persons, and Utilization of Preventive Health Services." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina. 127 pp.

Wathen, Sandra Duncan. 2000. "The Relationship Between Spirituality, Religious Affiliation, Psychological Well-Being, and Adjustment of Undergraduate, Appalachian, First-Generation College Students." Ed.D. diss., University of Cincinnati. 106 pp.

Wayland, John Walter. 1907. "The German Element of the Shenandoah Valley of Virginia" [W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Virginia. 312 pp.

Weikum, Mary Lynn. 2011. "Do Be Faithful to Yourself and to Your God: Women Missionaries' Activism and the Southeastern Cherokee, 1819-1839." Ph.D. diss., State University of New York at Binghamton. 250 pp. American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions (ABCFM). "...tells the story of women's experience in the Cherokee missions in what is today Tennessee, Georgia, Alabama, and North Carolina."

Weiler, Stephan A. 1994. "Industrial Structure and Unemployment in Regional Labor Markets: Tales from the West Virginia Hollows." Ph.D. diss., University of California, Berkeley. 168 pp.

Weiner, Deborah R. 2002. "A History of Jewish Life in the Central Appalachian Coalfields, 1870s to 1970s" [W. Va., Ky., Va.]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 499 pp.

Weise, Robert Spencer. 1995. "Economy and Society in Appalachian Kentucky, 1850-1915." Ph.D. diss., University of Virginia. 468 pp.

Weissman, Karen Hyde. 1997. "Hidden Treasures: Stories of Coal in Ethnography and Ethnohistory from the West Virginia Coal Fields" [strike activity and resistance]. Ph.D. diss., University of Virginia. 295 pp.

Welborn, Steven Keith. 1998. "'Come All You Coal Miners': The Struggle for Justice in the Coal Fields of Central Pennsylvania, 1924-1933" [human rights struggle]. Ph.D. diss., State University of New York at Buffalo. 334 pp.

Welleford, Paul B. 1998. "Leadership in a Community-Based, Nonprofit Organization: Total Action Against Poverty, Roanoke, Virginia." Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 248 pp.

Wells, Randall L. 1975. "A Descriptive Study of the Morehead State University Teacher Aide Program in Three Kentucky Counties." Ph.D. diss., Union Institute and University. 119 pp.

Werner, Tammy Marvin. 2007. "From Hillbillies to Welfare Queens: Representations of the Poor in the Poverty Wars." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 195 pp. 1960s War on Poverty, and 1990s War on the Welfare Poor.

West, Stephen Alan. 1998. "From Yeoman to Redneck in Upstate South Carolina, 1850-1915." Ph.D. diss., Columbia University. 619 pp.

Westerman, Jennifer H. 2009. "Landscapes of Labor: Nature, Work, and Environmental Justice in Depression-Era Fiction." Ph.D. diss., University of Nevada, Reno. 212 pp. Focuses on Appalachian novels: Hubert Skidmore's *Hawk's Nest* (1941), Grace Lumpkin's *To Make My Bread* (1932), James Still's *River of Earth* (1940), and Ann Pancake's *Strange as this Weather Has Been* (2007).

Westman, Erik Christian. 1999. "A Characterization and Determination of the Coal Reserves and Resources of Southwest Virginia" [14 percent still mineable]. Ph.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 250 pp.

Wetzel, Karen Michelle. 2005. "Intimate Partner Violence in Appalachia: A Study of Relationship Violence among Community College Students in Southern Appalachia." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 92 pp.

White, Jill Collins. 2005. "The Figured Worlds of Mexican Teens in Kentucky: Identity and Educational Decision Making" [14-month ethnographic study, Lexington, Ky.]. Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 266 pp.

Whittemore, Barry Thomas. 1996. "The Rural to Urban Shift in the Appalachian South: Town Building and Town Persistence in Virginia's Blue Ridge, 1880-1920" [Carroll and Grayson Counties]. 260 pp. D.A. diss., Carnegie Mellon University.

Wilkins, Robert Clark. 2005. "The Initiation and Documentation of a Staff Team Approach to Problem Solving at Heart and Hand Ministries [W. Va.; United Methodist Mission Project]. D.Min. diss., United Theological Seminary. 120 pp.

Williams, Dennis R. 1997. "The Frequency and Perceived Value of Formal Training in Selected Small Business Firms in Pennsylvania's Lycoming and Columbia Counties" [survey]. Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 95 pp.

Williams, Gary Allan. 2002. "Appalachian Male Attitudes toward Drinking and Counseling." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 179 pp.

Williams, Jennifer Mravintz. 2003. "Impacts on Terrestrial and Streamside Herpetofauna by Mountaintop Removal Mining in Southern West Virginia" [snakes, salamanders]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 164 pp.

Williams, Robert D. 2005. "A Study of the Effect of an Integrated Continuum of Intensive Crisis Intervention Services (ICICIS), Including Assertive Community Treatment (ACT), on Civil Commitments in North Central West Virginia" ["The mental health service delivery system in West Virginia is ineffective at resolving psychiatric emergencies"]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 141 pp.

Williamson, William Paul. 1999. "The Experience of Religious Serpent Handling: A Phenomenological Study" [17 participants]. Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 305 pp.

Willis, Stuart David. 2009. "Left to Themselves, the Cherokee would Become a Prosperous, Independent Commonwealth, and would Never Sell their Lands': Cherokees, Slaves and Moravians at Springplace Mission, Georgia, 1799-1838." Ph.D. diss., Michigan State University. 381 pp.

Wilson, Carol Lynne White. 2000. "Faculty Issues and Attitudes About Distance Learning: A Case Study of the Kentucky Virtual University." Ed.D. diss., University of Louisville. 275 pp.

Wilson, David E. (Woody). 2008. "Exchange of the Feminine: Representations of Multiple Marginality in Contemporary West Virginia Fiction." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 207 pp. Study engages the work of three writers: Denise Giardina's *Storming Heaven* (1987) and *The Unquiet Earth* (1992); *The Stories of Breece D'J Pancake* (1983); and Laura Albert's *Sarah* (2000) -- Albert published under the pseudonym JT LeRoy.

Wilson, Gregory D. 2005. "Between Plaza and Palisade: Household and Community Organization at Early Moundville [Ala.; archaeology]. Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 286 pp.

Wilson, James William. 2005. "Historical and Computational Analysis of the Long-Term Environmental Change: Forests in the Shenandoah Valley of Virginia." Ph.D. diss., University of Maryland, College Park. 147 pp.

Wilson, Linda Joy. 1994. "Appalachian Studies in Grades 6-12 Language Arts and English Curricula in Central Appalachia." Ed.D. diss., Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 280 pp.

Winders, Jamie Lynn. 2004. "(Re)working the United States South: Latino Migration and the Politics of Race and Work in Nashville, Tennessee." Ph.D. diss., University of Kentucky. 418 pp.

Winecoff, Bonnie Watts. 2009. "North Carolina Community Colleges Provide for Latino Student Success." Ed.D. diss., Western Carolina University. 195 pp.

Wingler, Sylvia Adams. 2009. "Freedom, Imagination and Grace: The Life Stories of Rural Women Art Educators from the Foothills of North Carolina." Ph.D. diss., University of North Carolina at Greensboro. 129 pp.

Winston, Amy Rebecca. 2002. "Factions and Corporate Political Strategies in Harlan County, Kentucky: Implications for Community Sustainability" [economic shift from coal mining; female activism of Benham Garden Club]. Ph.D. diss., Purdue University. 569 pp.

Wise, Larry Anthony, Jr. 1997. "A Sufficient Competence to Make Them Independent': Attitudes Towards Authority, Improvement and Independence in the Carolina-Virginia Backcountry, 1760-1800." Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee. 214 pp.

Wolensky, Kenneth Carl. 1996. "We Are All Equal: Adult Education and the Transformation of Pennsylvania's Wyoming Valley District of the International Ladies' Garment Workers' Union, 1944-1963." Ed.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 268 pp.

Wood, Gerald Emerson. 1998. "Organizational Culture and Leadership at Berea College: An Historical Inquiry into Saga Development and Underlying Cultural Assumptions" [founded 1858]. Ed.D. diss., West Virginia University. 314 pp.

Wood, Lawrence E. 2006. "The State and Regional Development: A Case Study of the Appalachian Regional Commission." Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 333 pp.

Woodrum, Robert H. 2003. "Race and Industrial Transformation in the Alabama Coalfields, 1933-2001" [Birmingham]. Ph.D. diss., Georgia State University. 506 pp.

Woods, Bradley R. 2010. "Social Well-Being in the Appalachian Coalfields" [Ky., W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 222 pp. Mountaintop removal mining.

Wooley, Amy Suzanne. 2003. "Conjuring Utopia: The Appalachian String Band Revival" [ethnographic study]. Ph.D. diss., University of California, Los Angeles. 362 pp.

Wooten, Marian Hinnant. 2006. "The Contribution of Object and Setting to the Symbolic Meaning of a Cultural Special Event" [Kentuck Festival of the Arts, in Northport, Ala.]. Ph.D. diss., Clemson University. 201 pp.

Workman, Michael Edward. 1995. "Political Culture and the Coal Economy in the Upper Monongahela Region: 1776-1933" [northern W. Va.]. Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 573 pp.

Wray, Matthew Taylor. 2000. "Not Quite White: Poor Rural Whites in the Southern United States, 1877-1927" [class, racial, cultural stereotyping]. Ph.D. diss., University of California, Berkeley. 385 pp.

Wright, Brenda White. 2008. "Expectations and Experiences of African American Students at Two Predominantly White Universities in Southern Appalachia." Ed.D. diss., East Tennessee State University. 179 pp.

Wright, Kallia O. 2009. "Putting 'Sugar Diabetes' on the Table: Evaluating *The Sugar Plays* as Entertainment-Education in Appalachia." Ph.D. diss., Ohio University. 419 pp. Narrative performance of diabetes and its pedagogical effects. Six Ohio counties; 30 in-depth interviews.

Wyatt, Julie L. 2009. "Recovery and Resilience of Appalachian Herbs" Ph.D. diss., Wake Forest University. 218 pp. With logging rotations of 100–150 years and forest succession.

Yandle, Paul David. 2006. "'The Relapse of Reconstruction': Railroad-Building, Party Warfare and White Supremacy in Blue Ridge North Carolina, 1854-1888." Ph.D. diss., West Virginia University. 897 pp.

Yarbrough, Fay Ann. 2003. "'those disgracefull and unnatural matches': Interracial Sex and Cherokee Society in the Nineteenth Century." Ph.D. diss., Emory University. 363 pp.

Yeager, Kevin Lee. 2000. "The Power of Ethnicity: The Preservation of Scots-Irish Culture in the Eighteenth-Century Backcountry" [Pa., N.C.]. Ph.D. diss., Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College. 422 pp.

Zealand, Clark T.W. 2007. "Decolonizing Experiences: An Ecophenomenological Investigation of the Lived-Experience of Appalachian Trail Thru-Hikers." Ph.D. diss., University of Waterloo (Canada). 255 pp. Explores the lived experience of Appalachian Trail thru-hikers; 27 participant interviews.

Zogry, Michael Jonathan. 2003. "Playing or Praying? The Cherokee Anetso Ceremonial Complex" [ritual ball game as a symbol of identity and culture]. Ph.D. diss., University of California, Santa Barbara. 444 pp.

Zuck, Rochelle Raineri. 2008. "Imagined Citizens: Ethnic Nationalisms and Crises of Culture in the United States, 1816-1856." Ph.D. diss., Pennsylvania State University. 241 pp. Examines: African Colonization, Cherokee Removal, and Kansas-Nebraska Act and Dred Scott Decision.